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'Go, little book, Grod send thee good passage,

And specially let this be thy prayere

Unto them all that thee will read or heai-.

Where thou art wrong, after their help tu cal

Thee to correct in any part or all.'



PREFACE.

The Handbook for Southern France, which includes the regions

formerly dealt with in the Handbooks for South-Eastern and South-

Western France, and which corresponds with the ninth French

editions of these volumes, is intended to render the traveller as

far as possible independent of guides, commissionnaires, and inn-

keepers, and to enable him to use his time and money to the best

advantage.

Like the Editor's other Handbooks, it is based on personal

acquaintance with the country described, which has been specially

revisited with a view to ensure accuracy and freshness of informa-

tion. For the further improvement of this work the Editor looks

forward to a continuance of those valuable corrections and sug-

gestions with which travellers have been in the habit of favouring

him, and for which he is sincerely grateful. Their hotel-bills, with

annotations, are especially useful.

The Handbook is divided into Six Sections f, each of which

may be separately removed from the book by the traveller who

desires to minimize the bulk of his luggage. To each section is

prefixed a list of the routes it contains, so that each forms a fairly

complete little volume apart from the general table of contents.

The Maps and Plans, on which the utmost care has been be-

stowed, will often be found of material service to the traveller,

enabling him at a glance to ascertain his bearings and select his

routes.

Heights are given in the text in English feet, and on the maps

in metres. Distances are given in English miles, except in the

mountain-routes, where they are expressed by the time they

usually take.

t I. South-Western France to the Pyrenees, pp. 1-114; II. The Pyre-
nees, pp. 115-198; III. South-Eastern France to the Loire, Auvergne, and
the Cevennes, pp. 199-306; IV. The French Alps, pp. 307-474; V. The
Khone Valley, Provence, and the French Riviera, pp. 475-594; VI. Corsica,

pp. 595-616.



vi PREFACE.

The Handbook mentions both the first-class hotels and those of

humbler rank. The latter may often be selected by the 'voyageur

en gar(^^on' with little sacrifice of comfort and much saving of ex-

penditure. The asterisks indicate those which the Editor believes

to be provided with modern comforts and conveniences, to be well-

managed, and to be reasonable in their charges. Houses of more

modest rank, when good of their class, are described as 'good' or

'well spoken of. At the same time the Editor does not doubt that

good quarters may occasionally be obtained in hotels that are

unstarred or even unmentioned. It should be borne in mind that

hotels are liable to constant changes, and that the comfort of the

traveller often depends on circumstances which cannot be foreseen

or controlled. Although prices generally have an upward tendency,

the charges stated in the Handbook will enable the traveller to

f(irm a fair estimate of his expenditure.

To hotel-proprietors, tradesmen, and others the Editor begs to

intimate that a character for fair dealing and courtesy towards

travellers is the sole passport to his commendation, and that ad-

vertisements of every kind are strictly excluded from his Hand-

books. Persons calling themselves agents for Baedeker's Hand-

books are impostors.

Abbreviations.

E. = Room, light, and atteudHuce;
also = Route.

B. = Breakfast.
D. = Dinner.
L. = Luncheon (dejeuner).

P. = Pension, hoard and lodging.
rfmts. = refreshments.
aub. = auberge (inn).

rest. = restaurant.

K. = North, Northern, etc.

S. = South, etc.

E. = East, etc.

W. = West. etc.

PI. = Plan.
hr. = hour.

min. = minute.
M. = Engl. mile,

ft. = Engl. foot,

fr. = franc,

c. = centime,
m. = metre,
km. = kilometre,
kg. = kilogramme,
omn. = omnibus,
carr. = carriage,

comp. — compare.
ca.'= circa (about),

C.A.F. = Club Alpin FranQais.

P.L.M. = Paris, Lyon et Mediter-
ranee (railway).

The letter cl with a date, after the name of a person, indicates the

year of his death. The number of feet given after the name of a place

shows its height above the sea-level. The number of miles placed before

the principal places on railway-routes and high-roads generally indicates

their distance from the starting-point of the route.

Asterisks denote objects of special interest or imply commendation.
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I. Language. Money. Expenses. Passports. Custom
House. Octroi.

Language. A slight acquaintance with French is indispen-

sable for those who desire to explore the remoter parts of Southern
France, but tourists who keep to the beaten track will generally

find English spoken at the chief hotels and tourist-resorts. If,

however, they are entirely ignorant of French, they will oc-

casionally have to submit to the extortions practised by porters,

cab-drivers, and others of a like class, which even the data in the

Handbook will not always enable them to avoid.

Money. The decimal Monetary System of France is extremely
convenient in keeping accounts. The Banque de France issues

Bank Notes of 1000, 500, 100, and 50 francs, and these are the

only bank-notes current in the country. The French Gold coins

are of the value of 100, 50, 40, 20, and 10 francs; Silver coins of

5, 2, 1, and i/g franc; Nickel of 25 centimes; Bronze of 10 and
5 centimes (100 centimes = 1 franc). 'Sou' is the old name, still

in common use, for 5 centimes; thus, a 5-franc piece is 'une pi^ce

de cent sous', 2 fr. = 40 sous, 1 fr. = 20 sous, ^/o ^^- = 10 sous.

Belgian, Swiss, Italian, and Greek gold and silver coins (except

Swiss coins with the seated figures of Helvetia and Italian and
Greek coins of a value less than 5 fr.) are current at full value.

Austrian gold pieces of 8 florins and 20 crowns and Russian 5-roublc

pieces (worth 20 fr., 21 fr., and 13 fr. 25 c. respectively) are accepted
also. The stranger should refuse all Roumanian, Spanish, and Papal
silver coins, and also French coins of 2 fr., 1 fr., and ^g fr. earlier
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than 1866, with the head of Louis Philippe or with that of Napo-
leon III. without the laurel wreath.

English bank-notes and gold are generally received at full value

in tke larger towns, and often realize a small premium at the banks;

but at the offices of the money-changers a trifling deduction is

sometimes made. The table at the beginning of the book shows

the values of the French, American. English, German, and Austrian

currencies, when at par. Circular Notes or Letters of Credit, ob-

tainable at the chief English and American banks, are the safest form

for carrying lai'ge sums, as their value, if they are lost or stolen, is

recoverable. The cheques issued by the American Express Companies
and by the American Bankers Association are convenient also.

The traveller should always be provided with small change

(petite monnaie) for convenience in giving gratuities, buying cata-

logues, etc.

Expenses. The expense of a tour in Southern France is, as

a rule, not greater than in most other European countries, except

at the larger watering-places and the more fashionable resorts. On
the Riviera in particular the charges at the first-class hotels have

become well-nigh prohibitive to all but the wealthy. Walkers, who
are tolerably proficient in the language, and who avoid the beaten

track as much as possible, may limit their expenditure to 12-15 fr.

a day; but travellers who prefer driving, choose the dearest hotels,

and employ guides and commissionnaires must be prepared to spend

at least 20-30 fr. daily. A party of two or three gentlemen may
journey more economically than a single tourist, but with ladies

the expenses are higher in proportion.

Passports, though now dispensed with in France, are often

useful in proving the traveller's identity, procuring admission to

museums M'hen not open to the public, or obtaining delivery of

registered letters. Walkers in remote districts, especially on the

frontiers of Germany, Italy, and Spain, will often find that a pass-

port obviates inconvenience and delay.

Passports may be obtained in Great Britain direct from the Passport
Department of the Foreign Office. Whitehall (fee '2s.), or through any
of the usual tourist-agents (fee 3s. <od. to 5s.).— In the United States

application for passports should be made to the Bureau of Citizenship^

State Department. Washington, D. C.

Sketching, photographing, or taking notes near fortified places

sometimes exposes innocent travellers to suspicion or even to ar-

rest, and should therefore be avoided.

Custom. House. In order to prevent the risk of irksome de-

tention at the 'douane' or custom-house, travellers should avoid

carrying with them articles that are not absolutely necessary. Cigars,

tobacco, and matches are chiefly sought for by the custom-house

oflacers. The importation of matches or of unauthorized editions

of books is entirely prohibited. The duty per lb. on cigars and
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cigarettes amounts to about 27s., on Turkish tobacco to 12s., and on

other kinds to 7s. 2d. (But 10 cigars, or 20 cigarettes, or lYg oz. of

tobacco are free if declared.) Articles liable to duty (i.e. practically

everything except personal belongings in actual use) should always

be declared. The examination of luggage generally takes place at

the frontier-stations, where the traveller should superintend it in

person. Luggage registered to Paris is examined on arrival there.

Octroi. At the entrance to the larger towns (Lyons being one

of the rare exceptions) an 'octroi', or municipal tax, is levied on

all comestibles, but travellers' luggage is usually passed on a simple

declaration that it contains no such articles. The officials are,

however, entitled to see the receipts for duty paid at the frontier

on dutiable articles.

n. Routes to Southern France.

Most travellers from England to Southern France travel via

Paris, choosing one of the routes given in Baedeker^s Northern
France; but those who have time and inclination for a sea-voyage

may go to Marseilles by a P. & 0., Orient, Bibby, or other liner, or

make the shorter passage by a Bordeaux steamer. Travellers from
the United States may cross direct to N. France (Le Havre, Cher-

bourg, or Boulogne) by Atlantic liner (see Baedeker's Narthern
France), or to Marseilles by a Fabre liner from New York or by
a White Star steamer from Boston. Or they may sail to Genoa and
enter France thence by railway or steamer.

Seats may be reserved in advance in any through-train for a small
fee. Luggage may be registered from London to the chief towns of S.

France, but the points at which the customs-examination takes place
vary. Information as to this should be obtained at the chief London
stations or from any tourist-agent.

Besides the ordinary train-service from Paris to the south there are
several Trains de Luxe with restaurant (L. 5, D. 7 fr.) and sleeping-
cars, carrying first-class passengers only, who pay a supplement in ad-
dition to the Ist cl. fare. Tickets are obtained from the Internatiamd
Sleeping-Car Co. (20 Cockspur St., London, or 5 Boul. des Capucines,
Paris), from whom all information may be obtained, and it is advisable
to engage places several days in advance (1-2 fr.). (1) Sud Express from
Paris to Madrid, daily, via Bordeaux, Biarritz, Iriin, and San Sebastian.
(2) Cote-d'Argent Express, night-train (daily during the season) from
Paris to San Sebastian via Biarritz, with a through-carriage for Pau.
(3) Cote-d'Azur Express in winter (daily in the height of the season)
from Paris to the Pdviera via Lyons, Marseilles. Nice, Mentoue, and
Ventimiglia. (4) Calais-MediterraneanEopress daily in v^•inter from Calais
via Paris to the Riviera, as above. (5) Barcelona Express twice weekly
frora Paris to Barcelona via Lyons. Nimes, Montpellier, Cette, and Per-
pignan. (6) Vichij-Royat Express, thrice weekly in summer from Paris.

(7) Savoy Express from Paris daily in summer to Aix-les-Bains and
Chambdry. (8) Peninsular Express, weekly from Calais to Brindisi (Indian
mail), via Amiens, Dijon. Culoz. Aix-les-Bains, and Modane. (9) Simplon
Expjress daily from Calais to Milan, via Paris, Lausanne, and Martigny.

Steamboat sailings and fares must be ascertained at the tourist-
agencies or at the offices of the different companies.



m. Period and Plan of Tour. Tourist Agencies.
Syndicats d'Initiative.

Season. Most of the places described in this Handbook may
be visited at any time of the year, but the plains between Auvergne
and the Pyrenees and the more southerly regions (Rhone valley,

Provence, Mediterranean coast, Corsica) are rather too hot in summer.
Mountaineering, on the other hand, is scarcely possible except in

summer.

Plan. The traveller is advised to plan his tour before starting.

Though he need not rigidly adhere to his plan it will help him to

regulate his movements, to economize time, and to fix his attention

on places of special interest. The regions described in the present

Handbook are not only rich in natural beauties, but they abound
also in great architectural monuments and in points of artistic and

historic interest.

Below we give a list of the most attractive points, arranged in

the form of short tours. With the aid of the railway time-tables

the tourist should adjust his route so as to avoid detention at unin-

teresting junctions.

Between the Loire and the Gironde (lo days). Tours, Loches,
Poitiers, Angouleme, Bordeaux, Eoyan, Pons, Saintes, Eochefort, La
Rochelle, Niort, Loudun, Chinon, Tours.

Central France and Auvergne (10 days). Orleans (or Tours),
Bourges, La Bourboule, Le Mont-Dore, Puy de Sancy, Clermont-Ferrand,
Puy de Dome, Arvant, Ligne du Cantal, Aurillac, Gorge of the Cere,

St-Denis-pres-Martel, Brive. Perigueux, Limoges, Angouleme, Bordeaux
(or Limoges, Cbateauroux. Orleans).

Lozere and the C6vennes (10 days). Clermont-Ferrand, Arvant,
Neussargues, St-Flour, Meude, Gorges of the Tarn, Grotto of Dargilan,
Millau, Beziers, Montpellier, Nimes, Aigues-Mortes, St-Georges-d-Aurac,
Le Puy, St-Etienne, Lyons.

Gascony, Languedoc, and the Pyrenees (1 montli). Bordeaux,
Bayonue, Biarritz, San Sebastian, Pau, Eaux-Bonnes, Eaux-Chaudes,
Lourdes, Cauterets, Luz, St-Sauveur, Bareges, Bagneres-de-Bigorre, Luchon,
Toulouse, Carcassonne, Xarbonne, Perpignan, Castelnaudary, Castres,

Albi, Capdeuac, Cabors, Montaubau, Agen, Bordeaux (or Pdrigueux).

Savoy and Dauphine (1 month). Geneva, Chamonix, La Roche,
Annecy. Lac d'Annecy. Seninoz, Aix-les-Bains, Chambery, Albertville,

Movltiers, Brides-les-Bains, Praloeruan, Col de Yauoise, Termignon, Modane,
Montmelian, Grenoble, Grande-C^hartrense, Le Boiirg-d'Oisans, La Grave,
Col de la Lauze, St-Christopbe, La Berarde, Col de la Temple, Vallouise,

Briangon. Gap, Grenoble, Lyons (or Valence), Dijon.

Savoy and Dauphin^ without Moimtaineering (1 month).
From Geneva to Grenoble, as above; Uriage, Le Bourg-d'Oisans. La Berarde,
La Grave, Le Lautaret, Briau(,'on, Gap, Grenoble, Lyons (or Valence).

The Rhone Valley and Provence (3 weeks). Lyons, Vienne,
Valence. Orange, Avignon, Aries, Marseilles, Toulon, Hyeres. St-Raphael,
Cannes, Grasse, Xice, Monaco, Meutone, Frejus, Marseilles, Aix, Rognac,
Aries, Montpellier, Mmes, Aigues-Mortes. St-Georges-d'Aurac, Le Puy,
St-Etienne, Clermont-Ferrand, Lyons.

Tourist Agencies. Messrs. Thomas Cook & Son, Ludgate

Circus, London, E.G., and Place de I'Opera and Champs-Elysees,
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Paris, have offices also in the leading towns of S. France. The follow-

ing French agencies of Paris also have brancli-offices in the more
important places: Voyages Univet'sels, 25 Boul. Poissonniere and

10 Rue Auber; Lubin, 36 Boul. Haussmanu; Duchemin, 20 Rue
de Grammont; Voyages Pratiques, 5 Rue de Rome; Voyages Mo-
dernes, 4 Av. de I'Opera; Gh-ands- Voyages, 1 Rue du Helder,

corner of the Boul. des Italiens. These agencies make travelling

easy; they organize parties, issue circular and combined tickets,

sell hotel coupons, and render many other useful services; but the

enterprising traveller will often prefer to dispense with such aid

and to maintain his independence and liberty of action.

Syndicats d'liiitiative. Travellers who intend to pay more
than a passing visit to any of the chief excursion-centres, will find

the Syndicats d'Initiative of great use. These are local associations

which give information gratuitously as to the resources and attrac-

tions of their centre. They publish useful little local guides, often

gratis, and some of them organize excursions at fixed chai'ges. The
addresses of the various Syndicats will be found in the Handbook.

Touring Clubs. Travellers about to take a long tour, or who make
frequent visits to France, will tind it very advantageous to join a society
such as the Touring-Cliih de France (65 Av. de la Grande-Armee, Paris).

For a subscription of 5 fr. (or 6 fr. for foreign countries) they obtain a

number of special facilities, including a reduced taritf at many of the
hotels, which far outweigh the annual payment. The Club Alpin Franqais
(•C.A.F.'; 80 Eue du Bac, Paris) and the Fed&ration des Societes Pyre-
li^isites (Campan, Hautes-Pyr^n^es) are other most useful institutions.

IV. Railw^ays. Omnibuses. Carriages.

The regions treated of in this Handbook are served mainly by
the OrUatis, Etat, Midi, -Awdi Pdris-Lyon-Mediterranee railways.

French or W. European time is now the same as Greenwich or

Biitish time, i.e. one hour behind mid-European time. The French
railways adopted the plan of numbering the hours from to 24
(midnight to midnight).

The fares per mile are approximately : 1st. cl. 18 c, 2nd cl. 12 c,

3rd cl. 8 c, to which is added, on each ticket costing more than

10 fr., a tax of 10 c. The mail trains (trains rapides) generally

carry first-class passengers only; the express trains (trains ex-

press) take first, second, and sometimes third class passengers ; the

ordinary trains are known as trains omnibus. The first-class car-

riages are good, but the second-class, especially on the branch-

lines, are inferior to those in other parts of Europe ; those of the

third-class are now usually cushioned. Trains de luxe and sleeping-

berths, see p. xiii. In winter all the carriages are heated. Smok-
ing is permitted even in non-smoking compartments, unless any
of the passengers object. On most of the lines the fast trains have
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wagons-lits and tvagons-restaurants (L. 21/4-4, D. 3V2-6 fr.).

Return-tickets, circular and combined tickets, family tickets, and

tickets for trains de plaisir are issued by all the companies, under
varying conditions, but the excursion trains cannot be recommended.
'International tickets', available for 45, 60, or 90 days, are issued

for journeys of over 600 km. (372 M.) to Germany, Switzerland,

Italy, etc., and they must include a section (not less than 8-10 km.)

on some foreign railway beyond France. No free luggage is allowed.

The trains always keep to the left (whereas the rule of the road

in France is 'keep to your right').

Travellers must take tickets before entering the waiting-rooms.

Passengers within France are allowed 30 kg. (66 lbs.) of luggage

free, but there is always a booking-fee of 10 c. ; those who are

bound for foreign countries are allowed 25 kg. only (55 lbs.) and
are charired 60 c. for booking. In all cases the heavier lu^gao-e

must be booked, and a ticket procured for it; this being done, the

traveller need not inquire after it until he presents the ticket at

his final destination. Where, however, a frontier has to be crossed,

he should personally see his luggage cleared at the custom-house

icomp. p. xii). Where there is no left-luggage office (consigne),

the officials will generallv take charge of luggage for a trifling fee.

There are Refreshment Rooms (huffeisj at the large stations only;
but as their fare is often poor and dear, the traveller is advised to provide
himself with food beforehand and eat it at his leisure. Luncheon-baskets
are sold at some of the buffets for 3-4 fr.

Trustworthy railway information is contained in the large Tn-

dicateur Chalx des Chemins de Fer, published every Saturday,

and sold at all the stations (1 fr. 25 c.) There are also smaller

time-tables (livn^ets Chalx) for the different lines (50-60 c).
The following are terms with which the railway traveller in France

should be familiar: Railway station, la gave (also Vembarcadere) ; booking-
office, le gidchet or bureau: first, second, or third class ticket, un hiUet
de x>rera{'ere, de seconde, de troisieme classe ; to take a ticket, x^rendre
un billet: to register the luggage, faire enregistrer les bagages ; luggage-
ticket, bulletin debagage: waiting-room, salled'attente : refreshment room.
le buffet (third-class refreshmonf-room, ?a burette); platform, le perron^
le trottoir: railway- carriage, le icagon; compartment, le compartiment,
le coupe; smoking compartment, fumeurs; ladies' compartment, dames
seules: guard, conducteur ; porter, facie wr; to enter the carriage, monter
en u-agon: take your seats! en voitnre! to alight, descendre; to change
trains, changer de voiture; express train to Lyons, le train expiress x>our
Lyon. Vexxjress de Lyon.

Omnibuses and Motor Omnibuses {cars alpins, auto-

cars, etc.) now ply on all the great tourist-routes, almost entirely

superseding the old diligences. They are generally roomy and com-

fortable, and run in connection with the chief trains. Seats should,

if possible, be engaged beforehand. The Indicateur mentions only

those recognized by the railway companies, but there are others

which may be of use to the tourist. In the busy season it is some-
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times difficult to get luggage forwarded by them unless accompanied

by the traveller in person.

Carriages (voitures de louage) may be hired at the chief

resorts of tourists at charges varying from 12 to 20 fr. per day for a

single-horse vehicle and from 25 to 30 fr. for a carriage-and-pair,

with Sijjourboire of 2-5 fr. to the driver. A distinct bargain should

always be made beforehand. A return-fee is due when the carriage

is left at a distance from its home, unless the contrary has been

stipulated. Return-carriages may sometimes be hired at much lower

fares.

V. Motoring. Cycling.

Motoring enjoys immense popularity in France. Even in

the smallest towns motorists will find garages, depots of petrol,

and workshops for repairs and the supply of accessories. Every
motor-car must be provided with a white and a green lamp in front

and with a horn or other sounding apparatus, and must have its

distinctive number and letter attached behind. Motor-cars belong-

ing to residents in France must be registered and pay an excise-

duly, varying with the size and power of the car. The driver must
hold an official certificate of capacity. The tariff for the conveyance

of motor-cars by railway varies according to the wheel-base (em-

pattement) of each machine.

For motor-cars entering France the owner must deposit a

customs-duty (150 fr. per 100 kg. for cars not exceeding 125 kg.

in weight, 60 fr. per 100 kg. for cars above that weight) ; but the

amount is refunded without deduction when the country is quitted.

If the car remain in France for more than four consecutive months,

it becomes liable to the excise-duty. A 'permis de circulation'

and a drivers' licence must be obtained at the nearest prefecture.

Members of the Automobile Association and Motor Union or other

large clubs may deposit the amount of the duty with their club

at home, in exchange for a trijjtyque, a document which reduces

the customs and other formalities to a minimum. Similarly an

International Pass, issued by the large motor-clubs, obviates the

necessity of obtaining drivers' licences abroad. A single such pass

is valid throughout Europe, but a separate triptyque should be

obtained, and a separate deposit made, for each country included

in a European tour. Otherwise, motorists extending their journey

beyond France, with the intention of returning to that country,

should obtain at the French douane a jjassavant, a document Avhich

secures their free re-admission to France, although, of course, they

have to deposit the duty required by the new country they enter.

Cycling. Cyclists entering France with their machines must
deposit a sum equal to the duty on the latter (22 fr. per 10 kg.
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or 22 lbs.\ which is returned to them on quitting the country.

Members of well-known cycling-clubs are spared this formality on

conditions explained in the handbooks of these clubs. On French

railways cycles accompanced by their owners are treated as pass-

engers' luggage (p. xvi); otherwise they must be securely packed

and forwarded as goods.

Motor Cycles are, speaking generally, subject to the same re-

gulations as motor-cars; but owners of motor-bicycles, if membei's

of any of the large motor associations, may obtain Customs TicJcets

admitting their machines to France without any deposit. Motor-

cyclists should provide themselves with international passes (see

p. xvii). ~

The rule of the road is 'keep to the right and overtake to the left'.

VI. Hotels. Restaurants. Cafes. Furnished Houses.

Hotels. Hotels of the highest class, with every modern con-

venience, are found only in the larger towns and fashionable water-

ing-places, such as Biarritz, Pan, Luchon, and Cauterets, in S.W.

France, and Cannes, Nice, Monte Carlo, and Mentone, on the Eivicra.

In other places the inns generally retain their provincial character,

but of late years they have improved in many cases, particularly

as to sanitary arrangements. The beds are usually clean, and the

cuisine good. As a rule, it is advisable to put up at none but the

leading hotels in places off the beaten track, and to avoid being

misled by pretentious titles ('grand', 'splendid', 'palace', etc.). The
Touring-dub de France (p. xv) has done good service in raising

the standard of cleanliness and comfort in the country inns.

The charges are usually lower than at Paris, but at many of the

largest modern hotels the tariff is on quite a Parisian scale. At

such places, for example, as those mentioned above, 10-12 francs

is often the lowest charge for a bedroom, 10-12 fr. for dinner, and

20-25 fr. for 'pension'. It is prudent to inquire as to the charges

in advance. The following is the average tariff at other hotels:

room 172-"^ fr. ; breakfast or 'premier dejeuner', consisting of 'cafe

an lait' with bread and butter, 1-1 V2 f^'-5 luncheon or 'deuxieme

dejeuner', about noon, 2'^/^-4: fr. ; dinner, about 7 p.m., 3-5 fr. ; the

charges are higher for meals served in the traveller's own room

or out of ordinary hours. Light and attendance are now usually

included in the charge for a bedroom. Wine is generally included

in the charges for luncheon and dinner, except in the most fre-

quented resorts, where everything is expensive. The second dejeuner

will sometimes be dispensed Avith by English and American tra-

vellers, as it takes too much time during the best part of the day.

A slight luncheon at a cafe, which may be had at any hour, will

be found far more convenient. The table-d'hote is not compulsory,
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but the charge for rooms is sometiines raised if meals are not taken

in the house. On the other hand the traveller will seldom obtain

so good a dinner at a restaurant. In many hotels visitors are received

'en pension' at a charge of 7-12 fr. per day, but the 'premier

dejeuner' is not always included. The usual fee for attendance is

at least 1 fr. per day, if no charge is made in the bill; if service is

charged, the servants still expect a small gratuity.

When the traveller remains for a week or more at a hotel, it is

advisable to pay, or at least call for the bill, every two or three

days, in order that errors may be at once detected. Verbal reckon-

ings are objectionable, except in remote and primitive districts

where bills are never written. A habit too often prevails of pre-

senting the bill at the last moment, when mistakes or impositions

cannot easily be detected or rectified. Those who intend starting

early in the morning should therefore ask for their bills over-night.

iSnglish travellers often give trouble by ordering things un-

familiar in French usage ; and if, besides, they are ignorant of the

language, misunderstandings are apt to ensue. They should there-

fore try to conform to the habits of the country, and to acquire

enough of the language to make themselves intelligible.

Valuables should never be kept in the drawers or cupboards

at hotels. The traveller's own trunk is safer; but it is still better

to entrust them to the landlord, from whom a receipt should be

obtained. Doors should be locked at night.

Travellers who are not over-fastidious as to company will often

find an excellent cuisine, at moderate charges, at the commercial

hotels.

Many hotels send omnibuses to meet the trains, for which

Y2-I fr- or more is charged in the bill. But travellers who are not

encumbered with much luggage should first ascertain how far off

the hotel is, and whether the omnibus will start at once or wait

for another train.

Restaurants. Except in the larger towns there are few re-

staurants in France suitable for tourists. But the traveller may
always join the table-d'hote at a hotel, though not staying in the

house. He may also dine a la carte, though less advantageously,

or d jwix fixe.

Cafes. The cafe is as great a feature of French provincial as

of Parisian life, and in small country towns there is seldom any

other attraction. Tourists often take their morning coffee there

instead of at their hotel, while with the natives it is a favourite

evening resort for card-playing, letter-writing, etc.

Furnished Houses and Apartments abound in the chief

watering-places and winter-stations, and may be found to suit every

purse. A personal inspection should always be made before hiring,
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and in the case of inyalids a doctor should be consulted as to situ-

ation, etc. The contract (on stamped paper) should specify the

condition of furniture, linen, wall-papers, etc., as disputes are apt

to arise on the termination of the lease. Landlords sometimes make
exorbitant demands on the death of one of their guests, in which

case the aid of the authorities should be invoked. As a rule it is

advisable to go first to a hotel, and thence search for apartments.

Those, however, who would avoid trouble with servants will often

find it preferable to arrange for a prolonged stay at a hotel 'en

pension'.

VII. Public Buildings and Collections.

The Churches are usually open all day, except from 12 to 2.

Divine service is held in the morning and evening, but at other

times the traveller is free to inspect the interior. The attendance

of the sacristan is seldom necessary (Y2 fr.). Many of the churches

are maintained by the Ministere des Beaux-Arts as 'monuments
historiques'. Visitors should move about noiselessly in order not

to disturb worshippers, and should keep away from altars where

the clergy are officiating. Other interesting buildings, such as pa-

laces, chateaux, and castles, belonging to the state or to munici-

palities, are open to the public with little or no formality. Foreigners

are often admitted to private houses of historic or artistic interest

and to the parks attached to them.

Most French towns have a Musee, containing a picture-gallery

and various collections, which are open to the public on Sundays,

and often on Thursdays also, from 10 or 12 to 4; but strangers are

readily admitted on other days for a small fee.

Vni. Walking Tours, Guides, Horses, etc.

Walking Tours. Much of the beautiful scenery in S. France

can be reached only on foot, and even where riding or driving is

practicable walking is often more enjoyable. For a short tour a

couple of flannel shirts, an extra pair of stockings, slippers, the

articles of the toilet, a light waterproof, and a stout umbrella will

generally suffice. Strong and well-tried boots are essential. Heavy
and complicated knapsacks should be eschewed; a light rucksack

is far less irksome. A pocket-knife with a corkscrew, a leather

drinking-cup, a spirit-flask, stout gloves, and a piece of green crape

or coloured spectacles to protect the ej^es from the glare of the

snow should not be omitted. Take also, if possible, a field-glass

or small telescope, sewing-materials, some strong cord, sticking-

plaster, a small compass, a phial of ammonia (for mosquito-bites),

a pocket-lantern, a thermometer, and an aneroid barometer. The
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reserve of clothing left behind in a valise or portmanteau may be

forwarded from town to town by post.

The mountaineer should have a well-tried Alpenstock or staff

shod with a steel point, and for the glaciers an Ice Axe and a Rope
also. In crossing a glacier the use of the rope should never be

neglected. It should be securely tied round the waist of each

member of the party, leaving 12-15 ft. of it between each pair.

Glaciers should be traversed early, before the sun has time to soften

the crust of ice formed over the crevasses at night. Mountaineers

should carry fresh meat, bread, and wine or spirits for long excur-

sions. The chalets usually afford nothing but milk, cheese, and

stale bread. Glacier-water should not be drunk except in small

quantities mixed with wine or cognac. Cold milk also is safer when
qualified with spirits. One of the best beverages for quenching the

thirst is cold tea.

The first golden rule is to start early. If strength permits, and

a suitable resting-place offers, a walk of one or two hours may be

taken before breakfast. It is desirable to end the day's walk about

midday; but if that is not practicable, rest should be taken during

the hottest hours (12-3), aud the journey then continued till 5 oi'

6 p.m., when a substantial meal (evening table-d'hute) may be par-

taken of.

The traveller is cautioned against sleeping in chalets, uuless

it be absolutely necessary. The night before a mountain expedition

should be spent either at an inn or at one of the club-huts erected

by the French Alpine Clubs for the use of travellers. In the latter

case inquiry should be made beforehand as to the condition of the

hut, aud whether it is already occupied by another party. The
advantage of arriving betimes at a hotel, so as to secure good rooms,

is well worth an extra effort on the march. In the case of a mountain
ascent the top should be reached by 9 or 10 a.m., as at a later

hour the view is apt to be shrouded in mist.

Over all the movements of the walker the weather holds des-

potic sway. He should if possible consult the barometer and weather-

wise natives before starting. The blowing down of the wind into

the valleys in the evening, the melting away of the clouds, the fall

of fresh snow on the mountains, and the ascent of the cattle to the

higher pastures, are all supposed to be signs of fine weather. On
the other hand it is generally a bad sign if the distant hills are

dark-blue in colour and very distinct in outline, if the wind blows
up the mountains, and if dust rises in eddies on the roads. West
winds also usually bring rain.

It may be added that the particulars in the Handbook as to the

mountain-expeditious cannot claim absolute exactitude. The weather,

the state of the suow, and the dift'erent capacities of travellers must
all be taken into account as variable factors.



xxii VIII. HORSES AND MULES.

Guides. For all great mountain-expeditions guides are in-

dispensable, except where the contrary is stated; above all, a glacier

should never be crossed without an experienced guide. Good guides

are to be found at the great tourist-centres, such as Ohamonix, St-

Christophe-en-Oisans, La Grave, Pralognan, and Tignes. Those

only should be employed who are certificated by the C.A.F. (Club

Alpin Frangais) or the S.T.D. (Societe des Touristes du Dauphine),

and they should be asked to show their credentials {livret, con-

taining the regulations and the tariff;. The guides and porters are

bound to find their own night's lodging, but are fed at the hirer's

cost during the expedition. If discharged at a distance from home
they are entitled to a return fee. The Pyreneau guides are mostly

inferior to the Alpine. They often decline to walk, and insist on

being well mounted at the traveller's expense. The usual fee for

a day of 8 hrs. is 6-8 fr., but on longer or more difficult expeditions

10 fr. and upwards.

Horses and Mules. In the Alps a horse or mule usually

costs 10-12 fr. per day, besides a gratuity of 1-2 fr. ; but at Oha-

monix and some other places as much more is charged for the

attendant. In the Pyrenees, where the excellent little horses are

more used, the charges are lower. As a rule, however, unless the

ascent is long and gradual, walking is less fatiguing than riding,

while a descent on horseback is uncomfortable and apt to cause

dizziness.

Signals of Distress. Tlie C.A.F. lias adopted a code of signals,

such as the waving of a flag or the blowing of a horn or whistle, with
which the guides are acquainted. The main point is that the same signal

should be repeated six times in a minute and the series renewed at inter-

vals of a full minute. The answer, or promise of help, consists of a

signal repeated three times per minute, followed by a pause of a minute,
and then renewed.

Hints. The Manuel d'Alpinisme and the C'arnet de VAlpiniste (Paris,

L. Laveur, 1904 and 1911; 4 and 2 fr.), edited under the auspices of the

C.A.F., are recommended to mountaineers, and will familiarize them with

the French phraseology of the subject. Tourists who make use of the

club refuges, so generously provided for their benetit. are requested to

refrain from throwing down broken bottles or other rubbish round the

buildings. Among homely hints on health the following may be useful.

Before starting on a rough walk it is a good plan to rub the inside of

one's socks with soap or tallow. A blister is best disposed of by run-

ning a silk thread through it and leaving the thread in it. Before a long

walk over the ice or snow the face may be anointed with lanoline, or,

better, blackened with a burnt cork, in order to save it from being burnt

by the glare. The ears and neck are sufficiently protected by a -puggaree'

of cambric hanging down from the hat. A chafed skin is relieved by the

application of lanoline, vaseline, or tallow.
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Post Office. Letters should be addressed very distinctly, with

the name of the department added alter that of the town. The offices

are usually open from 7 a.m. in summer, and 8 a.m. in winter, to

9 p.m.; on Sun. and holidays the head post offices only are open

till 11 a.m. In applying tor poste restante letters, the passport or

visiting-card should be presented; but it is preferable to have

letters addressed to one's hotel or pension. There are letter-boxes

(boites aux lettresj at the railway stations and at the tobacconists'

shops, where stamps (timbres-poste) may be purchased.
Tariff. France. French colonies and protectorates, and Monaco

:

Letters: 10 c. up to 20 grammes; 15 c. for 20-50 gr.; 20 c. for 50-100 gr.;

then 5 c. per 50 gr.

—

Post Cards: 10 c; with reply paid 20 c.; if bearing
live words only, 5 c.— Imprimes (up to 3 kg.): newspapers and periodi-
cals 2 c. up to 50 gr., then 1 c. per 25 gr.; books, etc., 2 c. up to 15 gr.;

3 c. for 15-50 gr.; 5 c. for 50-100 gr.; then 5 c. per 100 gr . Papier

s

d'Affaires: 5 c. up to 20 gr.; over 20 gr. at letter rates (maximum 1 kg.).
— Echantillons (samples, incl. tlovv^ers): 5 c. per 50 gr. (maximum 500 gr.).

— Eecommandation (registration-fee) for letters and post-cards 25 c.; for
printed matter and echantillons 10 c.

—

Lettres Chargees, containing
valuables (up to 10,000 fr.), with value written in words on the cover,
and closed with at least two seals : 25 c. over and above postage, with
10 c. more for every 500 fr. declared.

—

Mandats de Paste: 5 c. per 5 fr.,

up to 20 fr.; 25 c. for 20-50 fr.; 50 c. for 50-100 fr.; 75 c. for 100-300 fr.;

1 fr. for 300-500 fr.; 2 fr. for 500-1000 fr.; then 25 c. per 500 fr. more.
Foreign Countries (within the Postal Union): Letters: 25 c. up to

20 gr.; then 15 c. per 20 gr.— Post Cards, as above.— Imprivies: 5 c. per
50 gr. (maximum 2 kg.).— Papiers d' Affaires: 25 c. up to 250 gr.; then
5 c. per 50 gr. (maximum 2 kg .). ~ Echantillons : 10 c. up to 100 gr.; then
5 c. per 50 gr. (maximum 350 gr.).— Registration Fee 25 i:. -Lettres Char-
gees: 10-30 c. for every 300 fr. declared, besides postage and registration
(rate for Great Britain 20 c. per 300 fr.).— Mandats de Paste: 25 c. per
50 fr., up to about 1000 fr. (rate for Great Britain and United States 10 c.

per 10 fr.).

Parcels (calis postaux) must not contain letters, plate, jewellery,
or dangerous matter. They must be booked at a railway station, or (25 c.

extra) at the post office if there is no railway near. Within France, up
to 3 kg. CO c. 3-5 kg. 80 c, 5-10 kg. 1 fr. 25 c. ; these must be called for
at the railway station, or in some cases at a post office; if to be delivered
at the addressee's house, 25 c. more. Insurance 10 c. per 500 fr., up to
5000 fr.— For foreign countries parcels up to 5 kg. (11 lbs.) are conveyed
at varying rates. They must be sealed, and then handed in at the rail-

way-offices with three declarations (for which 10 c. is charged), filled up
by the sender, stating contents, value, destination, and name and address
of sender. As these formalities are very tedious and puzzling to a foreigner,
and as the offices are often extremely dirty, parcels containing tlowers,
fruit, etc., had better be sent direct from the shop or through a goods-
agent. To Great Britain the rates are: for 1kg. 360 gr. (about 3 lbs.),

1 fr. 60 c; for 3 kg. (6^/3 lbs.) 2 fr. 10 c; for 5 kg. (11 lbs.) 2 fr. 60 c.

Telegrams. Per word : for France, Monaco, Corsica, Algeria,

and Tunis 5 c. (minimum charge 50 c.); Luxemburg, Switzerland,

and Belgium I2Y2 c; Grerraany and Spain 15 c; Holland 16 c;
Italy I71/.2 c; Great Britain, Austria-Hungary, Denmark, Portugal

20 c. ; Roumania, Servia, Sweden 25 c. ; Norway 30 c. ; Russia 35 c.

;

(rreecc 50 c; Turkey in Europe 52'/.^ c; New York 1 fr. 25 c, etc.



XXIV

X. Weights and Measures.

(In use since 1799.)

P^ I f-L

"S

^ 1
2

9
03

§
s S

£
'

a
X

i
w

a
1

ĉ
W

<
K w

<

1 0,30 1 3,28 1 1,61 1 0,62 1 0,40 1 2,47

2 0,61 2 6,56 2 3,22 2 1,24 2 0,81 2 4,94

3 0,91 3 9,84 3 4,83 3 1,86 3 1,21 3 7,41

4 1,22 4 13,12 4 6,44 4 2,48 4 1,61 4 9,88

5 1.52 5 16,40 5 8,04 5 3,10 5 2,02 5 12,35

6 1,83 6 19,69 6 9,65 6 3,73 6 2,42 6 14,82

7 2,13 7 22.97 7 11,26 7 4,35 7 2,83 7 17,30

8 2,44 8 26,25 8 12.87 8 4,97 8 3.23 8 19,77

9 2,74 9 29,53 y 14;58 9 5,59 9 3.63 9 22,24

10 3,04 10 32,81 10 16,09 10 6,21 10 4,04 10 24,71

11 3,35 11 36,09 11 17,70 11 6,83 11 4.44 11 27,19

12 3,66 12 39,37 12 19,31 12 7,45 12 4.85 12 29,65

13 3.96 13 42,65 13 20,92 13 8,07 13 5,25 13 32,12

14 4,27 14 45,93 14 22,53 14 8,69 14 5,66 14 34,59

15 4,57 15 49,21 15 24,13 15 9,31 15 6,06 15 37,05

16 4,88 16 52,49 16 25,74 16 9,93 16 6,46 16 39,53

17 5,18 17 .55,78 17 27,35 17 10.55 17 6,87 17 42,00

18 5,49 18 59,06 18 28,96 18 11,18 18 7,27 18 44,47

19 5,79 19 62,34 19 30,67 19 11.80 19 7,67 19 46,95

20 6,10 20 65,62 20 32.18 20 12.42 20 8,08 20 49,42

1 gramme = V28 *^^'z.

1 kilugramnie = 1000 gr. = 2^/^ lbs.

1 quintal = 100 kg. = 220 lbs.

1 millier = 1000 kg. = i^' ton.

1 litre = 13/4 pint.

1 decalitre ^= 10 litres gallons.

22 ffallous.
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Thermombtric Scales.
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+30,22 + 100 +37,78 + 21,78 +81 + 27,22; +13,33
1 1

+62 +16,67| + 4,89 +43'+ 6,11

29,78 99 37,22 21,33 80 26,67: 12,89 61 16,11 4,44 42! 5,56

29.33 98 36,671 20,89 79 26,111 12,44 60 15.56! 4,00 41 i 5.00

28,89 97 36,ll! 20,44 78 25,56 12,00 59 15,00 3,56 40! 4,44

28.44 96 35,56 20,00 77 25,00

24,44]

11,56 58 14,4^
13,89

3,11 39 3,89
28,00 95 35.00 19.56 76 11.11 57 2.67 38 3,33
27,56 94 34,44 19,11 75 23,89 10,67 56 13,3.81 2,22 37 2,78

27,11 93 33,89i 18,67 74 23,33j

22,78!

10,22 55 12,78: 1,78 36 2,22

26,67 92 33,33 18,22 73 9,78 54 12,22[ 1.33 35 1,61

26,22 91 32.78 17,78 72 22,22i 9.33 53 11.67 0,89 34 1,11

25,78 90 32,22! 17,33 71 21,67 8,89 52 11.11 0,44 33 0,56

25,33 89 31,67| 16,89 70 21,11 8,44 51 10,56; 0.00 32 0,00

24,89 88 31,ll' 16,44 69 20,56 8.00 50 10,00

9,44

8,89

-0,44 31 — 0,56

24,44 87 30,5(^ 16,00 68 20,00 7,56 49 0,89 30 1,11

24,00 86 30,00
29,44^

28,891

15,56 67 19,44 7.11 48 1,33 29 1,67

23,56 85 15,11 66 18,89 6,67 47 8,33 1,78 28 2,22
23,11 84 14,67 65 18,33 6,22 46 7,78 2,22 27 2,78

22,67 83 28,33' 14.22 64 17,78 5,78 45 7,22 2.67 26 3^33

22,22 82 27,7a 13.78 63 17,22 5,33 44 6,67 3,11 25 3,89

To turn Centigrade (^Celsius) into Fahrenheit, multiply by 9,

divide by 5, and add 32, — To turn Reaumur into Fahrenheit, mul-

tiply by 9, divide by 4, and add 32.

XI. Maps.

The best maps of France are those of the Service Cl^ographique

de I'Armee, known as the Cartes de VEtat-Major. The chief series

of these is on a scale of 1 : 80,000 (executed in 1820-80), and in-

cludes 273 sheets, in black, sold in quarter-sheets at 30 c, each.

Since 1891 the same Service has been working at a new map in

colours, on a scale of 1 : 50,000, sold at 1 fr. 60 c. per sheet. Of
this a few sheets only have as yet been issued (Paris and Environs,

Lyons, Nice, etc.). A reduction (1:200,000) of the first-named

map was issued by the same Service in 1883-95; it is in five

colours and is published in 82 sheets at 1^/2 fr. each. Another
military map, in black, on a scale of 1 : 320,000, published in 33
sheets in 1852-83, is not kept up to date except as regards the

railways (2 fr. per sheet engraved, 50 c. zincographed).

The same authorities have published also the Cartes de la Fron-
tiere des Alpes, on a scale of 1 : 80,000 (in 1875) and of 1 : 320,000
(in 1886). These are in three colours, and are sold at 1 fr. per
sheet. Unlike the general map, they extend beyond the French
frontier, but they are not kept up to date.

There is another map of France in five colours, on a scale, of
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1 : 100,000, published in 1881-94 by order of the Ministry of the

Interior (80 c. per sheet; mounted on linen 1 fr. 55 c; Hachette,

79 Boul. St-Germain, Paris), which is convenient for tourists, though
inadequate in details.

This last-mentioned map shows the Spanish slope of the Pyre-

nees, which does not appear in the military maps. An excellent

map of the Pyrenees is that of ScJvrader, published by the French
Alpine Club, on which the maps in the Handbook are based. Six

sheets: 1. Mont Perdu (5 fr.); 2. Posets and Monts Maudits (1882;

out of print); 3.Val d'Aran (1883; 2 fr.); 4. Eio Ara (1902; 2 fr.);

5. Cotiella, Turbon (1883; 2fr.); 6. Nogueras, Sierra de los En-
cantados (1893; 2 fr.). For the French and Spanish Pyrenees, be-

tween Navarre and the valley of the Aure, Wallon's map (1 : 150,000

;

in several colours; 3 fr.) will be found useful.

For the French-Swiss frontier the best maps are the Atlas
Topographique de la Suisse ('Atlas Siegfried'), or Swiss Ordnance
Map (1 : 25,000 for the level districts, 1 : 50,000 for the mountains),

at 1 fr. per sheet, and the Carte Topographiqiue de la Suisse ('Carte

Dufour'; 1:100,000), which is kept up to date (2 fr. per sheet).

The best Italian maps are those of the military geographical in-

stitute on the scale of 1: 100,000, at 1^2 fi"- per sheet.— Maps of

Mont Blanc, see p. 343; Pelvoux Group, p. 448; Esterel, p. 541.

An excellent Carte Touriste of France (1 : 400,000) was pub-

lished in 1899-1905, with the aid of the Touring-Club, by the firm

of Andriveau-Goujon (H. Barrere, 21 Rue du Bac, Paris), indicating

the different classes of roads, the chief gradients, the historical

monuments, etc. (15 sheets in six colours; per sheet 2^ 2? mounted
4 fr.). The Carte Becherel, published by the firm of Theuveny

(80 Rue Taitbout, Paris), is the same as the above-named military

map on the scale of 1 : 200,000, but with the addition of special

indications (2^2 fr- per sheet). Other good cyclists' maps are pub-

lished by Taride, 18-20 Boul. St. Denis, Paris (90 c. per sheet,

mounted 2Y2 fr-)i ^^^ ^^^^e Carte Gaillot, by Plon, Nourrit, & Cie,,

8 Rue Garanciere, Paris (1 fr. per sheet, mounted 2^/2 fr.). Lastly,

the Touring-Club de Fra7ice and the Club AlpAn Frangais have

special maps which they sell to their members.

The firm of Dion-Bouton publishes a motorists' map of France

(at Theuveny's, see above), on the scale of 1 : 900,000, in four co-

lours (four sheets at 4 fr.), and also special maps (1 : 200,000; 1 fr.

per sheet) for the Environs of Paris and other regions.

All these maps may be obtained at the chief tourist-resorts, but

it is better to procure them iu advance from Barren (see above),

Chapelot, 30 Rue et Passage Dauphine, Plon (see above), etc.

The catalogue of the Service Geographique de I'Armee (1 fr.) contains
key-plans (10 c. each) of its maps. Barrere's catalogue (gratis) has key-
plans of the 1:80.000. the 1:200,000, and the 1:320,000 maps; that of

The 1:100,000 map may be had at Hachette's (see above).



I. FEOM THE LOIEE TO THE PYEENEES.

Route Page

1. From Tours (Paris) to Bordeaux 3

I. From Tours to Poitiers 3

From Port-de-Piles to Le Blanc, 3. — From Poitiers

to St-Martin-Lars, to Nantes, to La Rochelle, and to

Limoges via Bellac. 10; to Chateauroux, 11.

II. From Poitiers to Augouleme 11

From St-Saviol to Lussac-les-Chateaux and to St-Jean-

d'Ang^ly, 12.— From Ruffec to Roumazieres-Loubert,
12. — From Angouleme to Matha and to Saintes, 14;

to Riberac and to Limoges, 15.

III. From Angouleme to Bordeaux 15
From Coutras to St-Mariens-St-Yzan, 16.

2. From Saumur (Paris) to Bordeaux 17

I. From Saumur to Niort 17

From Montreuil-Bellay to Bressuire, 17.— From Mort
to Ruffec, 20.

II. From Xiort to Bordeaux 20
From St-Jean-d'Angely to Taillebourg, 20. — From
Pons to Royan and to La Grreve, 22 ; to St-Ciers-sur-

Gironde and to Barbezieux, 23. — From St-Andre-de-
Cubzac to St-Ciers-snr-Gironde, 23.

3. From Nantes to Bordeaux 23

a. Via Clisson and La Rochelle 23
From Montaigu to Chantonnay, 24. — From La Roche-
sur-Yon to Les Herbiers, 24. — From Lu^on to L'Ai-
guillon, 25. — La Pallice, 28. — From La Rochelle to

the He de Re and to the He d'Oleron, 29. — Fouras,

He d'Aix, 29. — From Rochefort to Le Chapus and
the He d'Oleron, 30.

b. Via Challans and La Rochelle 31
He de Noirmoutier, He d'Yeu, 31.— From Comme-
quiers to St-Gilles-Croix-de-Vie, 32.

4. From Tours to Les Sables-d'Olonne 32
From Chinon to Port-de-Piles and to Richelieu, 32. —
From Loudun to Chatellerault, to Angers, and to

Poitiers, 33. — Oiron, 33. — From Bressuire to Niort
and to La Rochelle, 34. — From Les Sables-d'Olonne
to Champ-St-P^re, 36.

5. From Orleans (Paris) to Bordeaux via Perigueux . . 36
I. From Orleans to Limoges 36

From Vierzon to Tours, 36.— D^ols, 38. — From Cha-
teauroux to Valen^ay, to Tours, and to Montlugon, 38.

— Valley of the Creuse, 39. — From St-Sebastien to

Crozant and to Grueret, 39. —From Limoges to Cler-

mont-Ferrand, 42.

II. From Limoges to Bordeaux via Perigueux . . 42
From Thiviers to Brive, 43. — From Perigueux to

Parcoul-M^dillac, 45; to St-Pardoux-la-Rivifere, to St-

Yrieix, and to Vergt, 46.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 1



Route Page

6. Bordeaux 46
From Bordeaux to Eyraet, to Cadillac, to Lacanau-
Ocean, and to Aurillac, 55.

7. From Bordeaux to Royan 56

a. Via the Medoc Railway 56

b. Via the Gironde 58
St-Georges-de-Didonne. Lighthouse of Cordouan, 59.—
From Royan to Mortagne, 60.

8. From Bordeaux to Arcachon 60
From Facture to Lesparre, 61. --From La Teste to

Cazaus, 61.

9. From Bordeaux to Bayonne and Biarritz .... 63
From Morcenx toTarbes, 63. — From Dax to Pau, 64.

-From Bayonne to St-Jean-Pied-de-Port and Ronce-
vaux, 70.

10. From Bordeaux to Toulouse 71

From Beautiran to Luxey, 71. — From Langon to Bour-

riot-Bergouce, 71. — From Marmande to Bergerac and
to Mont-de-Marsan, 72. — From Tonneins to Cahors,

72. — From Port-Ste-Marie to Mont-de-Marsan, 73.

—

From Nerac to Riscle, 73.

11. Toulouse 77

From Toulouse to Auch and to Boulogne-sur-&esse, 85.

12. From Perigueux to Tarbes 85

13. From Limoges (Paris) to Toulouse ...... 88

I. From Limoges to Brive 88

a. Via ITzerche 88

b. Via St-Yrieix 89
From Brive to Aurillac, 90.

II. From Brive to Toulouse 90

I
a. Via Cahors 90

I

b. Via Capdenac 94
Rocamadour, 94. — Grottoes of Lacave, Gouflfre de Padi-

rac, 95. --From Capdenac to Cahors, 96. — From Le-

xos to Montaubau, 97.— From Vindrac to Cordes, 97.

— From Tessonnieres to Albi, 97.— From Albi to

Alban, 99.

14. From Toulouse to Cette 100

From Castelnaudary to Castres, 100. — From Bram to

Lavelanet. 100. — From Carcassonne to Lastours, 103.

— From Lezignan to La Nouvelle, 103.— From ISTar-

bonne to Bize, 106.— From Beziers to Montpellier

via Paulhan or Meze, 107.

15. From Montauban to Montpellier via Castres ... 108

From Castres to Ferrieres and to Lacaune, 109.— From
St-Pons to La Salvetat, 110.— From Paulhan to Lo-

deve, 112.

16. From Capdenac to Rodez and Beziers 112

Decazeville, Conques, 112. — From Rodez to Castres

and to Espalion, 114.



1. Prom Tours (Paris) to Bordeaux.
214 M. to the Gare de la Bastide, 2171/2 M. to the Gave St-Jean (see

below). Railway in 41/2 lii'S. (Sud Express and C6te-d' Argent Express)
to 53/4 hrs. (38 fr. 55 c. 26 fr.. 16 fr. 95 c, or 39 fr. 30. 26 fr. 55, 17 fr. 35 c).

Bordeaux has two main stations, the Gare de la Bastide. on the right bank
of the Garonne, and the Gare St-Jean or du Midi, in a suburb on the left

bank, for travellers going farther S. on the main line (comp. p. 46). Many
of the trains proceeding to points S. of Bordeaux stop at the Gare St-Jean
only. Passengers with through-tickets are allowed 48 hrs. in the town if

they present their tickets for examination on arrival, but they cannot
remove luggage registered to a more distant destination.

From Paris to Bordeaux via Tours, 3QV!.,-S65^io M. (65 fr. 30, 44 fr. 10.

28 fr. 80 c. or 65 fr. 95, 44 fr. 55. 29 fr. 10 c). Trains de luxe (see p. xiii):

'Sud Express', in 6 hrs. 55 min.; ' Cote- d' Argent Express', in 7 hrs.

25 min. The other trains are much slower. The trains start from the

Q,uai d'Orsay at Paris and run via Orleans, Blois, and Amboise. The
express-trains do not enter Tours station; passengers for Tours change
carriages at St-Pierre-des-C'orps (see below).— Sleeping-berth by night-

express, 24 fr. in addition to the fare; berth in an ordinary 1st cl. compart-
ment, 10 fr. — The morning-expresses have restaurant-cars (comp. p. xvi).

I. Prom Tours to Poitiers.

61 M. Railway in 1 hr. 20 to 1 hr. 40 min. (11 fr. 10, 7 fr. 40, 4 fr. 80 c).

Tours, see Baedeker^s Northern France. Trains run in con-

nection with the expresses to the (2 M.) station of St-Pierre-des-

Corps, on the Paris line (see above). Slow trains use a loop-line.

We leave the lines to Nantes and Les Sables-d'Olonne (R. 4) on

the right, cross the Cher, and pass over a viaduct (view) above the

Chateauroux line (p. 38). Then, to the left, we see the handsome
Chdteau de Cande, built by Fran(^^ois Brigonnet in 1508. The
valley of the Indre is next crossed by a viaduct, 7.2 M. long and

69 ft. high (view).— 12V2 M- Villeperdue.
To the S.E. (33/4 M.) lies Ste-Catherine-de-Fierbois. a village with

a fine Gothic church of the 15th cent., containing the relics of St. Cath-
arine, revered by pilgrims. It was here that Joan of Arc, guided by "hea-
venly voices', found the sword with which she fought against the Elnglish.
Her statue (1895) rises in front of the church.

Viaduct over the Manse. On the right, the Chdteau de Brou.— 191/2 M. Ste-Maure, an old town (pop. 2527), 21/2 M. to the left,

with an interesting Romanesque church. A plateau beyond it con-

sists of 'falunieres', or sea-shell deposits, now used as manure.

—

2672 M. Port-de-Piles. Branch-line to Chinon, see p. 32.
From Port-de-Piles to Le Blanc. 4li/.^ M.. railway in 21/4 hrs. (7 fr. 50,

5 fr. 5, 3 fr. 30 c). The line ascends the valley of the Creuse.— 6 M.
La Haye-Descartes, the birthplace of Descartes (1596-1650), the famous
philosopher, to whom a statue was erected in 1848. —From (91/2 M.) Abilly,
short 01 which the line begins to follow the valley of the Claise, a road
leads along the E. bank of the Creuse to (191/2 M.) Tournon-St-Martin (p. 4),
passing (41/2 M.) La Guerche-sur-Vreuse, with a fine 15th cent, chateau.— 13 M. Le Grand-Pressigny (hotel), with a keep of the 12th cent, and
a castle of the 17tli. The Hotel de Yille contains a collection of flint imple-
ments found hcri' since 1867. Branch-line to Loches. see p. 38. - 22 M.
Preuilly-sur-Claise has the very interesting Romanesque-Byzantine

1*



4 Route 1. CHATELLERAULT.

abbey-church of *St-Pierre (early 12th cent., restored in the 19thj. — The
train soon returns to the Creuse valley. — Sli/g M. Tonrnon-St-Martin,
junction for Chatellerault (see below). About 5 M. to the S.W. lies

Angles-sur-VAngli 71 (Hot. du Lion-d'Or), with a ruined chateau (llth-13th
cent.). — 36 M. FontgomhauU, with a Benedictine abbey, founded by Pierre
de I'Estoile in 1091. burned down by the Lutheran i)uke of Deux-Ponts
in 1569. occupied by Trappists in the 19th cent., and dissolved in 1905.

The buildings now contain a school of colonization and social economy.
The Romanesque chapel (11th cent.) deserves a visit. —We soon join the
Poitiers line (p. 11).-41V2M. Le Blanc (p. 11).

We cross the Creuse and ascend the valley of the Vienjie.

401/2 ^I- Chatellerault (Buffet; Nouvel-Hotel & Hot. Mo-
derne, good, R. from 3, B. l^/^, L. 31/0, D. 4 fr.; Hot. de I'Univers,

de France; pop. 18,260), on the Vienue. is famous for its cutlery

and weapons. The Boul. Carnot, to the left from the station, and
then the Rue du Berry, to the right, lead to the Hotel de Ville,

with a small museum. In front lies the oblong Boul. Blossac, the

finest part of the town. Near the end of it we turn to the right to

St-Jean-Baptiste. Consecrated in 1469 and restored in the 19th

cent., this church contains several fine stone altar-pieces. At the

other end of the boulevard is the little Square Gambetta, which

contains a fountain, surmounted by a Monument of the Revolution
with a bronze statue by F. Dudoit (1890). The Rue des Mignons
(3rd to the left beyond the square) and the Rue St-Jacques, in line

wath it, lead to St-Jacques, a church in the florid Romanesque
style, consecrated in 1066, with a rich modern facade. From St-

Jacques, following the Rue Sully (No. 31 in which is the Hotel

Sully, of the late 16th cent.) and bearing to the left, we reach the

Pont Henri IV (1564-1611), at the farther end of which rise two

massive round towers with turreted roofs. A little upstream is the

Manufacture cVAmies (no adm.). Beyond the bridge is the modern
church of St-Jean-VEvangeliste, in the 13th cent, style.

Line to Loudu7i, see p. 33.

Brakch Like to (281/2 M.) Toumon-St-Martin (see above), via (20 M.)

La !Roch.e-Posay (Hot. Central, good. Hot. du Pare, both closed in winter),

a little town on the Creuse. with a 12th cent. keep. Near it is a mineral

spring, with baths, used chiefly as a cure for eczema.
Steam-tramway from Chatellerault to Chauvigny (p. 11), Lhommaize

(p. 11), and Bouresse, now being laid.

We next cross the Vienue and ascend the valley of the Clain.—
4.572 ^^- ^^s Barres. Close by is the site of Vieux-Poitiers, where

we see a menhir, 9 ft. high, bearing a Gallic inscription. Farther

on is Moussais-la-Bataille, the probable scene of the second battle

of Poitiers (A.D. 732; p. 5).— Beyond (49 M.) La Tricherie, on

a hill to the right, rises the Toui' de Beaumont (14th cent.). About

1/2 hr. X.E. is the fine Chateau de Beaudiment, of the 15th cent,

(restored).— 51 M. Dissais, with a chateau (16th and 18th cent.).

— 56 M. Chasseneuil. On the right is the line to Bressuire (p. 34).

To the left we see part of Poitiers, with the turrets of Montierneuf

and the old Grand-Seminaire.— 61 M. Poitiers (buffet).
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Historn. POITIERS. l. Route.

Poitiers.

Hotels. *Gr.-n6t. du Palais (PI. a; B, 3), 2 Rue Boncenne, modeiu-
ized, R. from 4, B. IV2, L- *? D- 5, omn. from 1/2 ii. — Hot. de France
(PI. b; B, 4), 28 Rue Carnot, R. from 3, B. IV2, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.; Hot.
de VEnrope (PL d; B, 4), 39 Rue Carnot, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3,

P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des Trois-Piliers (PL c ; B, 4), 37 Rue Carnot, com-
mercial, R. 3, L. 21/2, D- 3 fr.

Restaurants. *I)urocher, 9bis Rue de la Tranch^e (PL B, 5), L. 3,

D. 31/0 f r. ; Robert's, Place d'Armes, L. 2V2, D. 3 fr. ; Chedozeau, 1 Rue
Magenta, L. 21/4, D. 21/2 fr-

Cabs. Per drive 1, at night 11/2^1".
;
per hour 2 or 2V2 fr. — Motor Cabs.

Drive in town IV2) within octroi-limits 2 fr.
;

per hour 31/2 fr- ; at night

2, 21/2) or 5 fr. ; outside the town 50 c. per km.
Omnibus to or from station 50, at night 60 c. ; trunk 20 c.— Tramways.

Steam-tramway from the station (PL A. 4), via the Boidevards in the lower
part of the town, to the Pont Neuf {2\. D, 2, 3); to St-Martin-Lars (beyond
PL A, 6), see p. 10. Electric tramways from the station to the Place
d''Armes (10 c), and thence to Trois-Bourdons (beyond PL B, 6; 15 c.) and
to Pierre-Levee (beyond PL D, 3; 15 c).

Baths. Modernes, 29 Rue Gambetta ; Maison de Sante de Pont-Achard,
1 Route de Vasle (good, but rather remote).

Banks. Societe Generate and Credit Lyonnais, 5 and 24 Rue Victor-
Hugo; Comptoir d'Escompte, 68I'''* Rue Gambetta.

Post & Telegraph Office, temporarily in the Hotel de Ville (PL C, 3)

;

new office now building in the Rue de la Visitation (PL B, 3, 4).

Syndicat d'Initiative, 11 Rue Victor-Hugo.

Poitiers (pop. 41,242), the ancient capital of Poitou, and now
chief town of the department of the Vienne, is the seat of a bish-

opric and of a university founded in 1432. It lies on a hill at

the confluence of the Olain and the Boivre. Most of the streets are

narrow, tortuous, and steep, and some of the buildings are curious

and antiquated.
Poitiers first appears as the Gallic Limonnm, the capital of the Pic-

tones. About 350 St. Hilary (pp. 9, 184) became its first bishop. Poitou was
included in the Visigothic kingdom of Aquitaine, founded in 419, but after
the defeat of Alaric II. by Clovis in 507 (see p. 10), it was added to the
Frankish dominions, and later erected into a duchy, whose holders were
more or less independent. One of the dukes invited the Saracens to this part
of the country, but they were defeated by Charles Martel, not far from
Poitiers, in 732 (see p. 4). By the marriage of Eleanor, sole heiress of Poitou
and Aquitaine, to Louis VII. of France in 1137 these important provinces
fell to the French crown; but on her divorce and remarriage to Henry
Plantagenet in 1154 they passed into the power of England. The chief
event in the century of strife which began later is the Battle of Poitiers
(p. 11) in 1356, wlien John the Good was defeated by Edward the Black
Prince and lost over 11,000 men. By the Treaty of Br^tigny (1360) Aqui-
taine and Poitou were given up to Edward III., but they were finally
won back in 1372 by Du Guesclin. Charles VII. was crowned at Poitiers,
and resided there until sought for by Joan of Arc. In 1569 the Protestants
under Coligny vainly besieged tlie town for seven weeks. In 1822 Gen.
Berton was executed at Poitiers for attempted rebellion.

Leaving the station (PI. A, 4; tramway to Place d'Armes, p. 6),

in the lower town, we ascend the Eoul. Solferino opposite. To the

right in the boulevard is the Monument des Coloniaux (1904).
Hounding this statue, we go straight on to the Prefecture (PI. A,
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B, 4), opposite which the Kue Victor-Hugo leads to the Place

d'Amies (see below).

At No. 9, Rue Yictor-Hugo, is the Mus^e des Augustins or

de Chievres, so named from its founder, who bequeathed it to the

Societe des Antiquaires de I'Ouest (comp. p. 9;. It is open daily

(fee). The fine Renaissance portal was brought hither from the

old church of the Augustinians.
The court contains ancient sculptures. The collections in the build-

ing at the back comprise furniture, faience, porcelain, and paintings. The
latter include a John the Baptist of the Lombard School (? not L. van
Leyden); a landscape erroneously attributed to Hobbema; Holy Family,
by Gil/Ho Romano; "Witch-scene, after Tenters; Still-life, by Fyt;Ba.iile-
scenes, by Bourguignon. Also engravings, ivories, enamels, rings. -R-atches,

and medals.

In the Place d'Armes (PI. B, 3, 4), the centre of the town, is

the handsome Hotel de Ville (PI. B, C, 3) , in the French Renais-

sance style, by Guerinot (1869-76). It contains the Musee des

Beaux-Arts et d^Archeologie, open daily 12-4. Catalogues 50 c. each.
First Gallery (ground-floor, left). Paintings, largelv attr. to famous

old masters. Right to left: 118. Titian (;'), Portr. of himself; 124. J. van
Oost (9), Portr. of a.woman; Idl. Mierevelt {? not S-pun.), Chevalier of the
Annonciade; 13.S. Van Dyck (r), Portrait; 138. Vanloo (?), Duke of Or-
leans; 114. Tintoretto (?), Portrait; 63. LargilUere (?), Member of the
Parlement; 191. Italian School, Nvmph and Cupid; 10. Fr. Boncher f'/j,

Tlie chaste Susanna (1740): 88. H. Rigaiid (r), Portrait; 74. P. Mignard (?),

Son of Louis XIV. Old drawings; antii^ue and medifeval sculptures (mostly
casts); pottery, bronzes, capitals. The cases in the centre contain pre-
historic and Gallo-Roman objects, glass, and vases. Sculptures: M. Bour-
geois. Snake-charmer; Escoula, Sleep; Charron, Renaudot (replica of statue
at Loudun, p. 33); 805. J. Gonjon, Jeanne de Vivonne (d. 1583).

Ctalerie de la Minerve. In the centre is a *Statiie of Athena, in

the archaic Ionic style (6th cent. B.C.), found at Poitiers in 1902. French
paintings, old Italian drawings, and sculptures.

Third Gtallert. Pictures, French drawings, faience, sculptures, furni-

ture. Left, a picture of 1619: Siege of Poitiers by Coligny in 1569 (p. 5).

AVeapons, ivories, fine enamels, prehistoric and other curiosities (as, left

of exit, a sculptured frieze of the 16th cent.).

Handsome Staircase, preceded })y models of two lions by Cain. On
the first landing, caryatides by Barrias (Architecture and Painting); above
are paintings by Pnvis de Chavannes: Reception of Charles Martel at

Poitiers, and St. Radegonde.
The Salle des Fetes on the first floor has a stained-glass window

:

Eleanor of Aquitaine confirming the town's privileges. Ceiling: Du Gues-
clin delivering Poitiers from the English.— The Salle du Coxseil, to the
right at the top of the staircase, and the Salle des Mariages, to the
left, have ceiling-paintings by Perranlt.

From the exit of the Hotel de Ville the Rue Lebascles descends

to the left to the pretty Hotel Jehan-Bauce (PI. 1; C, 3), in a

German Renaissance stj-le (1554).

To the left of the Hotel Bauce the Rue du Puygarreau descends

to the Rue du Lycee. The Lycee (PI. C, 3,4), once a Jesuit col-

lege, was founded by Henri IV. in 1608. The chapel contains good

sculptures and paintings, notably an altar of 1697, with a painting

by Finsonius (1615). and wood-carvings (in the sacristy).— The
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Rue du Lycee, to the left of the Lycee, passes the small Square de la

Republique (PLC, 4), with its Monument to the fallen of 1870-71,

adorned with a wounded soldier in bronze, by Coutau (1895).

We return via the Rue de Magenta to the Place d'Armes, and, to

the left of the Hotel de Ville, follow the tramway-line down to the

Rue du Pont-Xeuf. In this street rises the *Tem.ple St-Jean
(PI. D, 3), the oldest Christian building in France. Erected in the

4th cent., it forms a rectangle of 43 by 26 ft., to which a narthex

was added in the 12th century. In the 7th cent, the piscina was

filled up, three apses were added, and the walls heightened and

pierced with six windows. The small columns on the walls and the

pediments with their pilasters were brought from earlier buildings.

Secularized under the Revolution and restored about 1850, this

curious edifice was presented by the government in 1885 to the

Societe des Antiquaires de I'Ouest. The floor is now about 11 ft.

below the level of the street. Adm. 9.30-11 and 2-5; in the absence

of the concierge, apply at 30 Rue St-Simplicien. The temple, bare

and sombre in the interior, with the piscina in the centre, contains

sarcophagi, etc., of the 6th -9th cent., and remains of frescoes of

the 11th and 12th.

Ascending the Rue du Pont-Neuf a short way. we now follow

the Rue Paschal-le-Coq to the right, and thence descend the Rue
de la Cathedrale to the right to the Cathedral of St-Pierre
(PI. C, D, 2). Begun in 1162 by Henry II. of England (p. 5), it

was not consecrated until 1379. Some parts are Romanesque, but

the Angevin or Plantagenet style predominates. This is a local

form of early-Grothic, developed at Angers under Henry II. of Eng-
land, and characterized by cupola-like domed vaulting. The fagade

(14th cent., partly restored in the 19th) is too broad, while the

unfinished towers increase its heaviness. Adjoining the N. aisle

is the pleasing Porte St-Michel (13th cent.).

The Interior is imposing in its bold proportions. The architect has
enhanced the perspective by narrowing the uave and aisles and lowering
the arches towards the choir. Superb stained glass of the 12th -13th cent.,

notably the Crucifixion in the central window of the apse. The fine

choir-stalls are said to date from the late 13th cent. ; on the right side
of the choir is an interesting Descent from the Cross, in carved wood.

The flat apse at the back of the Cathedral still bears traces of

projectiles fired from the dunes during the siege of 1569. We
descend direct to Ste-Radegonde (PI. D, 2), a church founded
about 560 by Radegonde, wife of Clotaire I., who had retired hither

to her convent of Ste-Croix, and was buried here in 587 (p. 8).

The church was rebuilt in the 11th -13th cent, (notably the nave
in the 12th) in the Angevin style (see above), and the portal was
added in the 15th. It is preceded by an ancient Parvis, restored

in the 15th cent., where the church held its courts. From the facade
rises a curious clock-tower (11th cent.).
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In the IsTEKiOR, on the right of the nave, is a kind of niche, the
'Chapelle du Pas-de-Dieu', with two modern statues, between which is

a footprint, made, according to the legend, by Christ when he appeared
to St. Eadegonde. The Crypt, of the 11th cent., contains the sarcophagus
of the saint (now empty), revered by pilgrims. Her statue, in front,
bearing the features of Anne of Austria (by X. Le Gendre), was presented
by that queen in gratitude for the recovery of her son Louis XIV. (1658).
The stained-glass rose of the second window on the left (14th cent.) re-

presents the Last Judgment. To the right of the choir is the Sacristy
(ca. 1200), with fine vaulting in the Plantagenet style.

From the main portal we follow the Rue des Carolus to the left,

leading to the Clain, near the Pont Xeuf (PI. D, 2, 3 ; 18th cent.).

Beyond the bridge we follow the Rue du Faubourg-du-Pont-Xeuf,
Then (left) the Rue de la Pierre-Levee to the Dolmen of that name, on
the left. We now turn back, skirt the buildings to the right, and, to
the right, soon reach the Hypogee-Martyriuin, a modern building,
within which is a cavity in the rock, dating from the 7th cent., once
probably a burial-vault. We now turn to the right, and then to the left
of a drill-ground, and soon reach the Boul. Aboville. leading to the right
to the Caserne des Dimes (PI. D. 1). where we obtain a superb *View
of Poitiers. We nest descend the Boul. Coligny to the left. On the right
rises the Rocher de Coligny (PI. D, 2); on the left is a gilded statue of
Notre Dame des Dunes (1872).

The Boul. du Pont-Joubert leads N. to the Pont Jouhert (PI.

D, 2), dating from the 12th cent., rebuilt in the 15th and 16th, and
modernized in 1906. Thence, to the left, we ascend the Gh'and' Rue
(PI. D-B. 2). Among the old houses here are Xo. 118, the 'Maison

de Charles YII' or "des Trois-Clous' (15th cent.), and No. 159, the

'Hotel du Grand Prieur d'Aquitaine' (1667). This street leads to—
^Wotre-Dame-la-Grande (PL B, 2), in the Romanesque-

Byzantine style, "la perle des eglises de Poitiers'. It was rebuilt at

the end of the 11th cent, and remodelled in the 15th and 16th. The
superb -West Facade, like that of Angouleme Cathedral (p. 13),

resembles an elaborate piece of repousse work. It has three tiers

of arcades, in the lowest of which is a round-arched portal, flanked

with two obtusely pointed blind doors subdivided into two semi-

circular arcades. The upper tiers, broken by a large window, con-

tain mutilated statues of St. Hilary, St. Martin, and the Apostles;

in the pediment is Christ blessing, vrith the attributes of the Evan-
gelists. There are also reliefs recalling the mystic life of the Virgin.

This facade is flanked with turrets, with conical fish-scale roofs.

The spire is similarly roofed.
The Interior, disfigured by gaudy decoration in 1857, consists of a

nave with barrel vaulting and groined aisles. The side-chapels were added
later (15th-16th cent.). There is no transept, but the aisles are prolonged
round the choir. The latter contains the remains of a late 12th cent,

fresco on its vaulting and two brass lecterns of the 18th century. In a

chapel on the right is a Holy Sepulchre of the I6th cent., the tomb of

the abbess Marie d'Amboise.

The University (PL B, 2), opposite Xotre-Dame, was installed

in 1806 in the old Hotel-Dieu and enlarged in 1892-4. It contains

the Mvniripal Library of 75,000 vols, and 629 MSS.. including

manv rarities.



St-Hilaire. POITIERS. i- Route. 9

To the S. of Notre-Dame runs the Rue du Marche-Notre-Dame,

No. 9 in which dates from 1557. Taking the Rue des Cordeliers to

the right, we see, on the right, the skilfully restored Tour Mauhet^-

geon (late 14th cent.), the old part of the Palais de Justice. At the

end of this street we turn to the right to the—
Palais de Justice (PI. B, 3), which, behind late additions,

contains remains of the castle of the Counts of Poitou (12th -14th

cent.). The *Salle des Pas-Perdus, the old guard-room, 160 by

53 ft., was built in 1393-1415 for Due Jean de Berry, brother of

Charles Y. At one end is a carved triple chimney-piece, with a gal-

lery and three fine windows above, and flanked with two staircase-

turrets. (View from roof; fee to concierge.)

TVe next follow the Rue du Palais to the right, and the Rues des

Vieilles-Boucheries and Cloche-Perse in line with it, to the Place

de la Liberte. On the left is the Prevdte (PL A, B, 2), or Hotel

Fumee, of the 15th-16th cent., with a fine faQade, four turrets, and

tasteful pediments over the windows. Interesting courtyard.

Lower down is the noteworthy Hotel Berth/lot, 24 Rue de la

Chaine, begun in 1529. The continuation of this street, the Rue
Jean-Bouchet, leads to the Place Montierneuf, on the right of which
is the Eglise Montiei'neuf (PL A, 1), once a church of the Bene-

dictines, consecrated by Pope Urban II. in 1096 but altered in the

14th-15th centuries. It has a small cupola over the crossing, above

which rise two bell-turrets connected by three arches.

From the Palais de Justice the Rue Gambetta leads S.; to the

left diverges the Rue des Grandes-Ecoles. The latter recalls the

old university, the chapel of which (15th cent.) is now the Mus^e
des Antiquaires de VQuest (PL B, 3; 'Societes Savantes'; entrance

in the Passage Gambetta), containing interesting ancient and medi-
aeval objects and the library of the society.

In the Rue Gambetta, near the Place d'Armes, is St-Porchaire
(PLB,3), of the 16th cent., with a fine Romanesque tower of the 11th.

The streets continuing the Rue Gambetta to the S.W. lead to—
*St-Hilaire (PL B, 5), an abbey-church founded, it is said,

before the 6th cent., rebuilt in the Uth and 12th, and partly in

1869-75. Its chapter once had jurisdiction over a hundred churches
in France and England. This edifice is of the highest architectural

interest. The disposition of the nave and six aisles, with their

octagonal cupolas, is very curious. The Choir, high above the nave,

has its original girdle of miniature apses (completed in 1049). The
facade and tower, damaged in the siege of 1569, are modern. The
crypt, under the choir, contains part of the relics of St. Hilary.

Behind the apse is the old Renaissance Doyenne, now a school.

The Rue du Doyenne and the Rue Chateau-d'Eau lead thence to

the *Parc de Blossac (PL B, C, 5, 6), at the S. end of the town,

22 acres in area, laid out in 1752-71 by the Conite de Blossac. At



10 Route 1. CHOLET. Frcm Tows

the entrance are 'Joys and Griefs of Motherhood', in marble, by
Etex. The Tour a VOiseau, at the S. end of the park, affords a

pretty view of the valley of the Clain.

About 11/2 M. from the town, on the left of the Bordeaux road, are

the Arcs de Parigny, fragments of a Roman aqueduct. On the opposite
bank of the Clain are the Grottes de C'cdvin, where the reformer once
taught, and the Grottes de Passelourdin, mentioned by Rabelais.

A tramway to Lavanssean through the Boivre A'alley is projected.

From Poitiers to St-Martin-Lars. 30 M., steam-tramway from the
station (3 fr. 70 or 2 fr. 45 c). — 17 M. GenQciy, on the Clouere. with a fine

ruined castle (13th-14th cent.). On the opposite bank lies St-JSIaurice,

with a Romanesque church (12th cent.). — 30 M. St-Martin-Lars (p. 12).

From Poitiers to Loudtin (Angers), see p. 33.

From Poitiers to Xaxtes, 126 M.. railway in 4 hrs. 35 to 7 hrs.

25 min. (20 fr. 80. 15 fr. 45. 10 fr. 10 c.). — IO1/2 M. Neuxille. junction of the
Loudun line (p. 33).— 131/2 M. ViUiers-VoinUe. Voitille, 21/2 M. to the S.,

is the probable scene of the first battle of Poitiers in 507 (p. 5). — 35 M.
Parthenai/ p. 18). —56 M. Bressuire (p. 34). — 72 M. Chdtillon-St-Auhin.
Ckatillon-sur-Sevre (hotel), called Jla/deon until 1736, lies 11/2 M.
to the S.W.. St-Aubin-de-Beai(bignt IV4 M. to the X.E. — 85M. Cholet
(Hot. de France, de la Boule-d'Or; pop. 21,058), on a hill on the Moine,
was ruined during the Vendean wars, but has since become prosperous.
It manufactures linen and cotton goods and has a large trade in cattle.

The church of Notre-Dame is a handsome modern building in the Ange-
vin style (p. 7). The Mnsee (Sun. and Thurs.. 1-4) contains art, natural
histoiy, and industrial collections. Lines to Angers and Saumur, see

Baedeker'' s N. France. Also a narrow-gauge line via Beaupreau to Nantes
(50 M.).— 981/2 M. Torfou-Tiffauges. Tiff'anges, 2 M. to the S., is domi-
nated by a ruined castle (llth-15th cent.) of Grilles de Laval (p. .34).

—

109 M. Clisson (p. 24). — 126 M. Nantes (see Baedeker's N. France).

From Poitiers to La Rochelle, 90 M.. railway in 31/2 hrs. to 5 hrs.

40 min. (14 fr. 90, 11 fr. 5, 7 fr. 15 c). The line to Rochefort (88 M.)
diverges at Aigrefeuille, lOVo M. before La Rochelle (see below).— The
Angouleme line is followed to (21/., M.) St-Benoit (p. 11). Beyond (12 M.)
Couloinhiers we cross the pretty valley of the Vonne by a lofty viaduct.
— 17 M. Lusignan (Hot. de la Melusine; pop. 2123) has a picturesque
site, partly on the Vonne, and partly on a hill crowned with the scanty
remains of the Chateau of the illustrious family which gave kings to

Jerusalem and Cvprus. Church of the 11th cent, and interesting old houses.

Oiun. (45 c.) in 2 hrs. to Sanxay (Hot. du Bienvenu), 91/2 M. to the X.W.,
with interesting Gallo-Roman remains. — 29 M. La JIothe-St-Heraye (hotel

;

pop. 1997). largely Protestant, like many other places in this region. "We
follow the valley" of the Sevre Niortaise. — Si M. St-Maixent (Hot. do

I'Ecu-de-France.du Cheval-Blanc; pop. 5651) has an interesting *Church
of the 12th-15th cent., rebuilt in 1670-82. Fine 15th cent, tower over the

"W. front, but the modern spire is too small. The crypt contains the tombs
of the abbots SS. Maxentius (d. 515) and Leger (d. 678). Line to Parthenay,
see p. 18. — The line ascends, skirting the valley of the Sevre. — 481/2 M.
Niort (p. 18). — 691/2 M. Surgeres (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 3579) has
a Romanesque church of the 12th cent., with a good faQade, and a ruined
chateau (14th-16th cent.). Line to Marans and St-Jean-d'Angely, see p. 25.

— 791/2 M. AigrefeuiUe-le-Thou, junction for (81/2 M.) Rochefort (p. 29).—
The line describes a wide curve. The sea comes in sight on the left, and
La Rochelle on the right. "We join the Nantes and Bordeaux line (R. 3).

— 90 M. La Rochelle (p. 25).

From Poitiers to Limoges via Bellac, 861/2 M., railway in 4 hrs.

20 min. to 5 hrs. (15 fr. 65, 10 fr. 60, 6 fr. 85 c.).— Beyond (21/2 M.) St-Benoit

(p. 11) a short tunnel.— 71/2 M. Mignalovx-Nouaillp (branch to St-Savin and
Le Blanc, see p. 11). The line passes close to the famous battlefield of
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1356 (p. 5). — I8V2M. Lhommais^. To the N., I1/2 M., is the Chateau de
Morfhemer (12th cent.), whore Sir John Chandos died in 1.S70. after having
been wounded three days previously at Lussac. -- 251/2 M. Lussac-les-
Chdteaux. Branch to St-Saviol, see p. 12. — 331/2 M. Montmorillon
(Buffet; Hot. de France; pop. 4944) lies on the Gartemx>e. The Gothic
church of St-JIartiaJ flSth cent.) has a handsome spire. Notre-Dame, on
the left bank, has a Romanesque choir and transept and a Grothic nave.
The Petit-Seviinaire has a Romanesque church of the 12th cent., with an
interesting portal and tower. In the court is the Octogone, a curious
building of the 12th cent., consisting of two chapels, one above the other.

Brancli-line to (24 M.) Le Blanc (see below), via La TrhnomUe.~ 51^12 M.
Le Dorat (Hot. de Bordeaux, good; pop. 2532) has a noteworthy Roman-
esque church (llth-12th cent."). Another line to Limoges runs hence via

(12V2 M.) C'hdteaupousac, (23 M.) Bersac (p. 39), and (26V2 M.) St-S/djnce-
Laurihre (p. 39). — 591/2 M. Bellac (Hot. de la Promenade; pop. 4875) lies

on a hill above the Vincou. Beyond (6OV2 ^I-) Chapterie the Monts de Blond
(1690 ft.) appear on the right. Beyond (8I1/2 M.) Cof/zeix-C'haptelat we
descend rapidly and join the Paris line (R. 5, l"). — 861/2 M. Limoges (p. 40).

From Poitiers to Chateauroux, 88 M., railway in 43/4-71/4 hrs. (16 fr. 5,

10 fr. 85 c, 7 fr.). — To (71/2 M.) Mignaloirx-Xoiuiille , see above. — 20 M.
Chauvigny (Hot. de France; pop. 2632), a picturesque and interesting
little town on the Vienne, with two line churches of the llth-12th cent.

(Notre Dame and *St-Pierre) and the ruins of four castles.— 3IV2 M.
St-Savin (Hot. de France), on the Gartempe, has a famous *Ahhey-C'hurch.
of the 11th cent., with a fine square tower over the porch, crowned with
an octagonal Gothic spire (15th cent.), while a low square tower surmounts
the crossing. The interior is veiy lofty. The nave is round-arched, the
aisles are pointed. Most interesting, but only partly preserved, are the
*Frescoes (end of 11th cent.), the oldest in France'.— Beyond (431/2 M.)
St-Aigmj we join the Port-de-Piles line (pp. 3, 41. — 45i/.>M. Le Blanc
(Buffet; Central & Modern Hotel, Hot.de la Promenade; "pop. 6493), the
Roman Oblina/m, lies on the Creuse. The church of St-Genitour dates
from the 12th-15th centuries. Line to Port-de-Piles, see pp. 4, 3; to Mont-
morillon, see above. A narrow-gauge line runs also to (58 M.) Valen^-ay
(p. 36), via Mezieres-en-Bremie (interesting 14th cent, church), Bitzan^ais
(p. 38), and Pellevoisin (13tli cent, church). — Beyond (64 M.) St-Gaidtier
we join the Limoges line (R. 5, I).— 691/2 M. Argenton, and thence to

Chateauroux, see pp. 39-37.

II. From Poitiers to Angouleme.
70 M. Railway in 1 hr. 15 to 1 hr. 35 min. (12 fr. 75, 8 fr. 55. 5 fr. 60 c).

Beyond a tunnel we obtain a fine view of the Pare de Blossac.

We cross the Clain three times.

21/0 M. St-Benoit, junction for Niort (see p. 10), Le Blanc (see

above), and Limoges (see p. 10).

4^2 ^I- Liguge, famed for its Benedictine abbey founded about
360 by St. Martin but closed in 1904, has a line 15th cent, abbey-
church. Farther on, to the right, is the castle of Bei'fiay {liiih cent.).

— 121/2 M. Vivonne (Hot. de la Croix-Blanche
;
pop. 2393), birth-

place of the Marquise de Rambouillet, is the starting-point for

excursions in the pretty valleys of the Vonne and the Clguere.

Chdteau-Larchei^, 3 M. to the E., has a ruined castle and, in the

cemetery, a 13th cent, 'lauterne des morts', in which a lamp used
to be kept burning at night.— 32^/2 M. St-Saviol. To the right

of the station is the Dolmen de Pierre-Fe.se, 24 ft. long.
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From St-Saviol to Lussac-les-Chateaux (Montmorillo7i) . 40 M., rail-

way in 2-21/2 hrs. (7 fr. 15, 4 fr. 85. 3 fr. 15 c.)-— 41/2 M. Civray (Hot. de
France; pop. 2515). *St-Xicolas, its 12th cent, church, has a striking fagade.
The hotel (15th cent.) and the Maison de Louis XIII (16th cent.) are interest-
ing. — 7 M. Savigne, near the famous Grottes du CJiaffaud, where many
flint implements have been found.— IQi/o M. C'harroux (Hot. du Lion-d'Or';
pop. 1862), with the octagonal Tour Charlemagne (end of 11th cent.).

—

181,2 ^I- St-JIartin-Usson, station ior St-Martin-Lars, whence a tramway
runs to Poitiers (see p. 10). We enter the Vienne valley. — 24 M. Le Vigeani,
junction for Roumazieres-Loubert (p. 15). —271/2 M. i'/s?e-Jowrrfoi/i (Hot.
de la Paix), prettily situated on the Yienne. — 40 M. Lussac-les-Chdteaux,
on the Poitiers and Limoges line (p. 11).

From St-Saviol to ST-jEAS-D'AsGi^Ly, 44V2 M.. railway in 2 hrs.

50 min. C8 fr. 30. 6 fr. 20. 4 fr. 55 c.).— 15 M. CTief-Bontonne (Hot. du
Commerce; pop. 2170), on the line from Xiort to Euffec (p. 20).— 331/2 M.
Aulnay (hotel), with a 13th cent, keep and (1/4 hr. X.E.) the charming
church ot *St-Pierre. built in 1135 and riehlv adorned with sculptures.—
441/2 M. St-Jean-d'Angehj (p. 20).

41 M. Ruffee (Buffet; Hot. des Anibassadeurs, de France;

pop. 3483) is noted for its 'pates truffes'. Romanesque church, but

with degraded facade. Line to Niort, see p. 20.
Branch Line to (281/2M.) Roumazieres-Louhei-t (p. 15), via (221/2 M.)

St-Claud, 3-^4 M. to the W. of which, at CeUefromn, are a fine 'lanterne
des morts' (p. 11) and a Romanesque church.

From (52 M.) Luxe narrow-gauge lines run E.S.E. to (11 M.)

St-Angeau and S.W, to (17 M.) RouiUac.— 0872 M. St-Amant-
de-Boixe, 1 M. to the S.W. (omn. 10 c), has an abbey-church,

consecrated in 1170, with a 14th cent, choir. Nearing Angouleme,
we have a fine view of the town.— 70 M. Angouleme.

Angouleme.
Stations. Gave d^ Orleans (buffet), for Bordeaux and Limoges (p. 15),

and Gave de VEtat (buffet), for Saintes (pp. 14, 15). facing each other in

the Av. Gambetta (PI. F, 1); Gare de Ennillac. for Matha (p. 14), next
the Gare de I'Etat. — Omnibus to the hotels 50 c; trunk 25 c.

Hotels. *Edt. de France (PI. b : E, 2. 3). 4 Place des Halles-Cen-
trales. with garden, R. from 4. B. li'^, L. 4,' D. 5. P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. des
Posies (PI. d; D, 3). 44 Rue de 1' Arsenal, R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. or D. 31/2,

P. from 7 fr.; Hot. die Palais fPl. a; D, 3), 4 Place du Murier, R. from 3,

B. 11/2, L. 31/2, D. 4. P. 10 fr.; Grand-Hotel & Hot. Moderne (PI. c; E, 2),

54-56 Av. Gambetta; Hot. des Trois-Piliers & Noiivel-Hotel (PI. e; F, 3),

Place du Champ-de-Mars, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 8 fr.

Cabs (bargain necessary). Per drive, with one or two horses, within
the walls or in the upper town 3/4 fr. ; within the octroi-limits II/2 fr.

;

per hour with one horse 2. two horses 21/2 fr.; landau or open cab 1/2 fr.

extra. Xo tariff' at night (6 or 7 p.m. to 8 a.m.).
Electric Tramways (10 c.) from the stations to the town, from the

Hotel de Ville to various suburbs:
Post & Telegraph Office (PI. D, 3). Place du Murier.
Banks. Credit Lyonnais. Rue des Halles-Centrales ; Societe Genirale,

8 Place de la Commune; Comptoir d' Escompte and Banqne de Bordea?ix,
44 and 34 Rue Marengo.

Baths. Bains du Chateau, 24 Boul. de I'Est; Martin, 34 Rue de la

Corderie.

Angouleme (pop. 38,211), the ancient capital of the Angoumois,
is now the chief town of the department of the Chare7ite a.nd an epis-
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copal see. Like Poitiers, it occupies a height between two rivers,

the Charente and the Anguienne, and is encircled by promenades
affording charming views. It is noted for its paper-mills.

Angouleme, the Encolisma of tbe Romans, was included in the king-
dom of Aquitaine. but later became the capital of a county ceded to the
English by the Treaty of Bretigny in 1360. It revolted in 1373, and, as

a reward for its fidelity to France, it was erected into a duchy and made
the appanage of one of the royal princes. The town was sacked several
times in the Religious "Wars, notably by Coligny in 1569. It was the
birthplace of Margaret of Vcdois (see below), the poet IleUin de St-Gelayn
(1491-1558), the author Giiez de Balzac (1597-1654), and the sculptor
R. Verlet (b. 1857).

From the stations we ascend the Av. Gambetta. On the left

are the old seminary and the fine modern church of St-Martial
(PI. E, 3), by Paul Abadie (1853). The Boul. Pasteur, to the right,

with a fine view of the Charente valley, brings us to the Holies

Cerdrales, or Mardie Convert (PI. D, 2, 3). The Rue des Halles-

Centrales leads thence to the Place de PHotel-de-Ville, off which
runs the narrow Rue de la Cloche-Verte, containing (Xo. 15) the

Hotel St-Simon (PL 1; D, 3), a Renaissance mansion of 1535-40.

The *H6tel de VHle (PL D, 3), a very fine building, largely

modern (1858-66; by Abadie), in the style of the 13th cent., occu-

pies the site of the castle of the Counts of Angouleme, to which
belonged the Tour Polygone (13th cent.) and the Tour de Valois
(15th cent.) on the left. The small Picture and Sculpture Gallery
(Sun., Thurs., and holidays) and the Arch<eological Museum (Sun.

and holidays, 12 to 4 or 5) are open to strangers at any time. —
In a small garden to the left are a statue of Margaret of Valois,

sister of Francis I. and Queen of Navarre (1492-154:9), and a War
Monument for 1870-71, by R. Verlet.

In the Place Bouillaud (PL D, 3), to the right of the Hotel de
Ville, is a statue of Dr. Jean Bouillaud (1796-1881), in bronze,

by R. Verlet. The adjoining Place de la Commune contains, on the

left, the Theatre (PL D, 3; 1866-72), by A. Soudee.

The Place de la Commune ends at the Ramparts, where we
see the Monument of Carnot (PI. C, 3), by R. Verlet (1897), and
obtain a survey of the valley of the Anguienne. The Rempart
Desaix, to the right, leads to the—

*Cathedral of St-Pierre (PL C, 3), one of the most interest-

ing Romanesque-Byzantine churches in France, recalling Notre-
Dame at Poitiers (p. 8) and St-Front at P^rigueux (p. 44). It dates

from 1105-28, but was entirely restored in 1630-54, and largely

rebuilt between 1866 and 1875 by Abadie. The nave, without aisles,

is surmounted by three cupolas; the transept with its cupola forms
a lantern in the centre; the N. transept has a tower (see p. 14), and
the S. transept has remains of another; the apse terminates in four

bays. The *Fagade is richly sculptured, but has been completely
altered in the restoration, the Poitevin turrets, Rhenish pediment,
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and other features being modern. It is composed of four tiers ^of

arcades, divided b}- columns into five bays. The lowest tier has five

arches, of which the largest, in the centre, contains the only door

in the facade. Above the modern tympanum is a large window,
above which, between attributes of the Evangelists, is Christ pre-

siding over the Last Judgment.

The splendid ^ Tower of the N. transept, 195 ft. high, was
taken down at the restoration, but was rebuilt in its former shape

and largely with the same materials. It has six square stories,

diminishing in size, four of them having open bays. The S. tower
was destroyed by the Calvinists in 1568.

We descend into the sombre Interior by five steps. Note the

cupolas of the nave, borne by slightly pointed arches, and the lan-

tern of the transept, pierced by sixteen windows. In the right

transept is the monument of Mgr. Sebaux (d. 1891), by Verlet.

To the E. of the Cathedral is the old Eveche (PI. C, 3), of the

same date as the church, and restored by Abadie; it is proposed to

install the museum here.

The Av. de la Colonne leads N.W. from the Cathedral to the

Jardin Vert fPl.B, 2), a charming promenade on the hillside, near

the modern church of St-Ausone. We now ascend in the same
direction to the shady Place de Beaulieu (PI. B, 2), which skirts

the large Lycee and commands a fine view of the Charente valley,

with the suburb of St-Cybard on the right bank. Behind the Lycee
is the Hotel-Dieu (PI. C, 2). Its chapel, of the 12th -14th cent.,

open on Sun. only (on other days apply to the concierge), contains

the tomb of G. de Balzac (p. 13).

From the Rempart du Nord (PL C, D, 2) we may follow, to the

right, the Rues des Trois-Fours and Taillefer to the church of St-

Andre (PI. D, 2), which contains a fine carved pulpit (1692). The
Rue Taillefer ends at the Place du Mitrier (PL D, 3).

From Angouleme (Gare de Rouillac) a local line runs to (38V2 M.)
Matha, where St. Jean de Matha (1161-1213) founded the order of Trini-

tarians or Mathiirins, and to (49i;.j M.) St-Jean-d'Angely (p. 20).

From Angoul:6mb to Saintes (Rochefort, La RocheUe), 48V2 ^I-> rail-

way from the Gare de I'Etat in 2-31/4 hrs. (7 fr. 95, 5 fr. 90, 3 fr. 85 c.)-

— 31/2 M. St-JIichel-sin'-C'harente., with a curious octagonal church of 1187.

The line follows the valley of the Charente.
15 M. Ch^teauneuf-sur-Charente (Hot. du Soleil-d'Or; pop. 8025),

once a stronghold of the English, was recovered from them after a siege

of four years (1376-80). [Branch-line to (43 M.) St-Mariens-St-Yzan (p. 23),

via (12 M.) Barbezieux (Hot. de la Boule-d'Or, de France; pop. 4312), with
remains of a castle of the 15th cent., and the church of St-Mathias (12th

and 16th cent.). Barbezieux is connected by a narrow-gauge line with
Pons (p. 23) and by tramways with Angouleme and Chalais (p. 16).]

23 M. Jarnac"(H6t. de France, Couturier; pop. 4619), chiefly known
for the victory of the Duke of Anjou, afterwards Henri III., over the

Protestant army of the Prince of Cond^ in 1569. — To the left of our
route, and S. of the Charente, as far as Cognac and beyond, lies the
Petite Champagne. Farther S. is the Grande Champagne. Both produce
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excellent brandies, the finest being called 'Fine Champagne'. After this

first 'cru' and the second, that of Petite Champagne, come six others:

Borderies, Premiers Bois, Fins Bois, Bons Bois, Bois Ordinaires, and
Bois Communs or a Terroir.

31V2 ^I- Cognac (Hot. de Londres, d'Orleans; American consul; pop.

19,188), "an old town, is the centre of the brandy trade of the Charente.

The interesting church of St-Leger dates from the 11th cent., but is

mainly of the 11th and 15th. The facade has a fine Romanesque portal

and a flamboyant rose-window. The large brandy distilleries and vast

storehouses should be seen. One of the latter is on the site of the castle

in which Francis I. was born (1191). Cognac was staunchly Protestant in

the Religious Wars, and during the Fronde, in 1651, it victoriously repelled

a siege by Conde. —Branch-lines to St-Jean-d'Angely (p. 20), via Matha
(p. 14), and to Barhezieiio: (p. 14), via Archiac (p. 23).

At (48 M.) BeiUant (p. 22; buffet) we join the Xantes and Bordeaux
line. — 48V2 M. Saintes (p. 20).

From Angouleme to Riberac, 42 M., railwav in 2 hrs. to 2 hrs. 40 min.

(7 fr. 60, 5 fr. 15, 3 fr. 35 c), from the Clare de I'Etat. — 41/2 ^I- Quelle
(pop. 4187), with a large cannon-foundry dating from 1750. — (5 M. Magnac-
Toiivre, with the copious Sources of the Touvre. —Beyond (38V2M.) VeUes-
Villetoureix we pass the Tour de Ja Rigale, said to be the *cella' of a

Roman temple. —42 M. Rib6rac (Hot. du Perigord, de France; pop. 3636),

a trading town, prettily situated. Branch-line to Ferigueiix and Parcoul-
Medillac, see p. 45; to 3Iussidan, see p. 46.

From Angouleme to Limoges, 761/2 M., railway in 2 hrs. 50 to 3 hrs.

40 min. (13 fr. 30, 9 fr. 30, 6 fr. 5 c). — To (6 M.) Magnac-Touvre, see

above. — Near (10 M.) Le Queroy-Pramac is a large stalactite grotto. To
the N. is the Foret de Braconne, containing curious chasms (guide).

Branch-line to (39 M.) Thiviers (p. 43), via (211/2 M.) Nontron (Orand-Hotel

;

pop. 3508), prettily situated, and (26V2 M.) St-Pardoux-la-Biriere (p. 46).

171/2 M. La Rochefoucauld (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 2984), on the
Tardoire. The Chateau, founded in the 9tli or 10th cent., dates chiefly

from the 12th and 16th. The finest parts are the Renaissance staircase

built by Fontant (1528-38), the galleries, surmounted by arcades, which
enclose the inner court, and the chapel (14th-15th cent.'). - From (33 M.)
Roumazidres-Loubert (buffet) a branch-line goes to Ruff'ec (p. 12). Another
diverges to (29 M.) U Isle-Jourdain (p. 11), via (IO1/2 M.) Confolens (Hot.
Chaboussant; pop. 3088), so named from the confluence of the Vienne and
the Croire, with a castle and two old churches. —We now enter the vallej'

of the Vienne. —46 M. SaiUat-Chassenon. C'hassenon, 2V2 M. to the S.W.,
was the Roman C'assiyioviagus, with the remains of an ancient palace
('Caves de Longea'). From Saillat-Chassenon a branch-line runs to (42 M.)
St-Yrieix (p. 89), via (41/2 M.) Rochechouart (Hot. Beausoleil; pop.
4559), with a picturesque castle on a lofty rock, rebuilt in the 15th cent.

;

(231/2 M.) Chdlus (hotel) , with two keeps of the castle before which
Richard Coeur-de-Lion was mortally wounded in 1199; and (28 M.) BussUre-
Galant (p. 43).]

501/2 M. St-Junien (Hot. du Commerce, de France; pop. 11,379), an
industrial town, with leather-work and glove factories, has an interesting
Church of the 12th and 14th cent., containing the riclily sculptured tomb
of St. Junien (12th cent.), and a fine high-altar. Near the station is a
bridge of the 13th cent., with a chapel of the Virgin, to wliich Louis XL
was once a pilgrim, — Beyond (67 M.) Aixe-sur-Vienne we leave the valley
of the Vienne. —761/2 M. Limoges (Gare de Montjovis; p. 40).

m. From Angouleme to Bordeaux.
861/.^ M. Railway (to the Gare St-Jean, p. 46) in IV2-2 hrs. (15 fr. 65,

10 fr. 60, 6 fr. 85 c). Restaurant-car on the arternoon-express (comp. p. 8),

Best views to the right.
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The train passes under the town through a tunnel of 1/2 ^v
and then under the Saintes line.— 5 M. La Couronne (hotel; pop.

3852), with the grand ruins of a Gothic abbey-church (12th cent,).

— 81/2 M. Mouthiers-sur-Boeme , 4 M. to the S.W. of which is

Plassac, with a fine 12th cent, church.— We pass from the Charente
to the Dordogne basin by a tunnel of 1 M., and enter the valley of

the Tude. The country now assumes a more southern character.

— 3172 ^i- Chalais (Hot. de France), a decayed little town, well

known for its attachment to the English in the 15th cent., with an
old castle. Tramway to Barbezieux (2072^^-; P- 14).

35 M. Par'coul-Medillac. Branch to Perigueux, see pp. 46, 45.
— We enter the valley of the Dronne.

51 M. Coutras (Buffet; Hot. du Lion-d'Or & d'Orleans, D. 3,

P. 7 fr.; pop. 4807). In 1587 Henri IV. defeated the Leaguers
here. Church of the 15th and 19th cent., with a fine tower.

From Coutras to P4rigu€Ho:, see p. 46.

From Coutras to St-Mariens-St-Yzan, I81/2 M., railway in 50-70 min.
(3 fr. 5, 2 fr. 25, 1 fr. 50 c). — 41/2 M. Guitres, a small town on a hill to
the right, has a fine Romanesque church. — 13 M. Marcenais, junction for
Libourne (see below). — 16 M. C'avignac (p. 23). Then by the Xiort and
Bordeaux line to (IS'/g M.) St-2Iariens (p. 28).

We cross the Isle and enter the Dronne valley.— 56 M, St-Denis-

de-Pile (pop. 2557), with a church of the 12th and 15th centuries.

61 M. Libourne (Buffet; Hot. Loubat, good, E. from 21/2, D.

3 fr.
;
pop. 20,085), a trading town at the confluence of the Dm-

dogne and the Isle, is of ancient origin, but has been largely

rebuilt since the English and the Eeligious Wars. The Hotel de

Ville dates from the 16th cent., the church of St-Jean-Baptiste,

with a fine modern tower 235 ft. high, from the 15th. The bridge

over the Dordogne affords a fine view. The Tour de I'Horloge, on

the Quai de Tlsle, is a relic of the 14th cent, fortifications.

About 2 M. to the W. is Fronsac, on a hill (235 ft.) which affords

a very fine view (omn. from station 40 c. ; steamer from harbour 10 c).

The hill was fortified from the time of Charlemagne, but the castle is

now destroyed.
Branch-line from Libourne to (121/2 M.) 2Iarcenais (see above), con-

necting the Paris-Bordeaux and Nantes-Bordeaux lines. — From Libourne
to (5 M.) St-Emilion and (38 M.) Bergerac, see pp. 55, 56.

Beyond Libourne we cross the broad Dordogne.— Beyond (74 M.)

La Gi^ave-d'Ambares ('Orleans' station; other station, see p. 23)

we cross the line coming from Saumur and from Nantes (Routes 2, 3),

and soon sight the Garonne On the right.— 79^2 ^- Lormont
(pop. 3303), on a hill by the Garonne, with ship-building yards.

Steamers and tramway to Bordeaux (pp.49, 47).— Beyond two

tunnels we have a splendid view of Bordeaux on the right.

82^2 M. Bordeaux-Bastide (p. 46). Some of the trains corre-

sponding with the Eigne du Midi back out a little from this statiou,

and then cross the Garonne.

86^2 ^I- Bordeaux- St-Jean (p. 46).
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2. Prom Saumur (Paris) to Bordeaux.
2041/2 M. from the Gare d' Orleans, 200 M. from the Gare de FEtat (slow

trains only). Eailway in 6-IO1/2 Ijrs. (38 fr. 95, 24 fr. 80, 16 fr. 40 c), arriv-

ing in Bordeaux at the Gare St-Jean. Break of journey, see p. 3.—
From Paris to Bordeaux via Saumur, 379 M. to the Gare de I'Etat (slow
trains only), 382 M. to the Gare St-Jean, in 71/3-121/2 hrs. (68 fr. 10, 46 fr. 35,

30 fr. 45 c). Trains, from the Gare Montparnasse at Paris, go via Chartres,
Brou, and Chateau-du-Loir. Dining-car on the 'rapide' and on the morning-
express (comp. p. xiii).

From Saumur to Les Sables-d' Olonyie, II91/0 M., via Thouars (see below)
railway in 4 hrs. 20 min. to 7 hrs. (19 fr. 10, 13 fr. 70, 8 fr. 90 c.). — From
Saumur to La RocheUe and to Rochefort: via Niort fp. 18), 122 or 120 M.,
in 4 hrs. 15 to 6 hrs. 40 min. (17 fr. 95, 13 fr. 25, 8 fr. 65 c, or 18 fr. 75,

13 fr. 35 c, 9 fr.); via Thouars and Bressuire (p. 34), 113 and 131 M., in

4 hrs. 10 and 5 hrs. 20 min. (fares nearly the same as by Niort).

I. From Saumur to Niort.

80 M. from the Gare d'Orleans (fast trains), 76 M. from the Gare de
I'Etat (slow trains). Railway in 2 hrs. 20 to 2 hrs, 35 min. (12 fr. 25,

8 fr. 40, 5 fr. 85 c).

Saumur, see Baedeker's N. France. The Bordeaux Hue, ou
leaviug the Gare d'Orleaus, describes a long curve to the E., crosses

the Tours line and the Loire, and passes through a tunnel to (3 M.)

Nantilly, junction of the line from the Gare de I'Etat.— T^/o M.
Breze-St-Cyr-en-Bourg. To the S.E. (^/^ M.) lies Breze, with a

fine 16th cent, chateau.

137.2 M. Montreuil-Bellay (Buffet; Hot. Lalleron, de Lon-
dres; pop. 2227), an old town ou the Thonet, is reached by a road

passing through the town walls (13th and loth cent.). To the left

is the old Porte de Thouars. The ^Chclteau (15th cent.), on a bold
height, consists of two parts, an old and a new, the latter well

restored. The church (1472-84) has a fine nave.
Railway to Londun and Angers, see p. 33.

From Montreuil-Bellay to Bkessuire, 38V2 M., narrow-gauge line

(30 M. by the main line). — 23 M. Argenton-Chdtean (hotel), with remains
of an old chateau built by Philippe de Commines, who died there in 1511,
and an interesting 12th cent, church. Near it (2 M.) are the fine ruins of
the Chateau de V Eheanpinais (15th cent.). — 381/2 M. Bressuire (p. 34).

25 M. Thouars (BuflFet; Hot. du Cheval-Blanc, good, R. from 2,

D. 31/2 fr.; Hut. de la Gare; Hot. de la Paix
;
pop. 7111), an old

town on a height above th€ Thouet, was the capital of the powerful
Viscounts of Thouars, partisans of the English. After the town had
been taken by Du Gucsclin in 1372, it belonged to the Dues de
La Tremouille, who built the large Castle (16th cent. ; now a prison),

on rocks rising sheer from the river. Visitors are admitted after

10 a.m. to the Sainte-Chapelle, a fine Gothic edifice of 1503-14;
its crypt is the vault of the Tremouille family. The church of

St-Medard, in the main street, has a superb Romanesque *Port;il.

St-Laon, to the left of the same street, dates from the 12th and

Baedeker's Southern France. 6tl» Edit. o
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15tb centuries. The abbey of St-Laon is now the H6tel de Yille. The

Maison Barre, in the Place St-Pierre, contains a small museum.
From Thouars to Les Sables-d' Olonne and to Tours, see R. 4.

The Xiort line follows the Bressuire line for some way, and then,

beyond a lofty viaduct, diverges to the left— 327-2 M. St-Varent.

To' the right is the fine Chdteau de Soulievres.

40 M. Airvault-Gare. Branch to Moncontour (for Loudun), see

p. 33. Airvault (Hot. des Yoyageurs), a small town, lies near the

small station of Airvault-ViUe (for slow trains only) and V^^^i.

from the Gare. The abbey-church of St-Pierre, consecrated in 1100,

is a noteworthy example of the Romanesque style modified by the

Gothic. On a hill X. of the church are the ruins of the Chdteaii.

On the Thouet is the handsome Pont de Yernaij (12th cent.).

421/.2 M. St-Loup-sur- Thouet has a 17th cent, chateau with

a keep of the loth cent., and interesting old houses.

53 M. Parthenay (Buffet; Grand-Hotel, R. 3, D. 31/.^ fr.: pop.

7544), a picturesque old town, played an important part in the

wars against England. The church of St-Laurent, Romanesque

and Gothic, has a modern tower in front and one of the 12th cent,

over the crossing. Ste-Croix, of the 12th cent., has a tower of the

15th. The ruined Chdteau (1202-26), the Porte St-Jarques, and

the ruins of Notre-Dame-de-la-Coiddre, with its rich 12th cent,

portal, are noteworthy. In the Rue Delavault-St-Jacques are several

old timber-built houses (15th cent.).

To the S.W. of Parthenay (I1/4 M.) lies Parthenay-le-Vieux, with a

famous abbev-church (12th cent.). —To the S.E. (6 M.) rises the Terrier

de St-Martin-du-FouiUouo: (890 ft. ; *Panorama).
From Parthenay to Nantes and Poitiers, see p. 10. —Xarrow-gauge

lines from Parthenay to (26V-2 M.) St-Laurs (p. 34) via (IOV2 M.) Secnndigny,

and to ( 261/0 M.) St-Maixent (p. 10) via (15»/-2 M.) Menigoide.

We leave the Thouet valley and cross the Gdtme, an undulating

and wooded region like the Bocage (p. 35), of which it is the E.

continuation.— 59i/\> M. St-Pardouj:.— 68^/2 M. Champdeniers,

with a Romanesque church of the 11th cent., restored in the 15th.

— 711/5 M. Cherveax, with a fine chateau (15th cent.).— 74^/2 M.

Echire-St-Gelais. About 2 M. to the ^Y. are the impressive ruins

of the Chdteau du Couldray-Salbart (13th cent.).

80 M. Niort.- BufjTet, good.— Hotels. *Hdt. du Raisin-de-Bour-

yogne (PI. a; B. 3), 38 Rue Yietor-Hugo. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P-

from 8. omn. i/.> fr. ; Hot. de Frame (PI. c; B. 3), 11 Place du Temple,

R. from 21/.,. B' 1. L. 2V», D. 3 fr. : Hot. des Etrangers (PI. b; B, 3),

8 Rue des Cordeliers; H6U delaBreche (PI. d; B. 4), Place de la Breche,

R. from 2. B. 1, L. 2i/.>
, !>• 3 fr. — Cabs, 1 fr. per drive, 2 fr. per hour

(at night 2 and 4 fr.). "Motor-cabs, 75 c. up to 600 metres, and 10 c. for

each 200 m. more.— Post & Telec+raph Office (PI. B, 4). Rue Dupin.

Nio7't (pop. 23,775), on the Sevre Xiortaise, is the chief town

of the department of Deux-Sevres. Handed over to England with

the domains of Eleanor of Aquitaine (p. 5), it was several times
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takeu and retaken in the Hundred Years' War, on the last occasion

(1372) by Du Guesclin. Its Calvinist sympathies also led to suffer-

ing in the Religious Wars. In 1588 the Protestants sacked the town

and destroyed the Cathedral of St-Andre. The chief trade of Niort

is in hides and skins, and glove-making is its chief industry.

The Rues de la Grare and Quatorze-Juillet lead to the large

modern church of St-Hilaire (PLC, 4j. Farther on is the spacious

Place de la Breche (PL B, C, 3, -4), preceded by a pretty garden.

The Rue Ricard leads thence to the Rue Victor-Huyo, the main

street. In the court of Xo. 19 is the Maison de Candie (PL 2;

B, 3j, of the 15th-16th cent., where Mme. de Maintenon (Fran^oise

d'Aubigne; 1635-1719; is said to have been born. From the Rue
Victor-Hugo we ascend the Rue Mathurin-Berthome to the Palais

d'Eleonm^e (PL B, 3), the old Hotel de Ville. The present build-

ing, flanked with two round t&rrets, dates from 1520-35 (the poor

belfry from 1694 and 1839;. It contains the Musee Lajndaire et

Archeologique (Sun. and Thurs. 12-4 or 5 ; admittance on other

days also; concierge at 13 Place du Pilori).

St-Andre (PL B, 2), reached by the Rues Yvers and Vieille-

Rose, was rebuilt about 1850 in the loth cent, style. To the N. is

the Jardin des Plantes (PL B, 1), on a hillside above the river,

affording pretty views, and adorned with sculptures.

Several steep lanes descend from the Jardin to the Sevre, whose
(jnce busy harbour traded even with London in the 13th cent., but

is now choked up with mud. We follow the quay down to the

bridge, and thence, to the left, ascend by the Rue du Pont, passing

several old houses, to the Halles (PL A, B, 3), where, of a morning,

picturesque Poitevin head-dresses are to be seen. Adjacent is the

Donjon (PL A, 3), a relic of a castle built by Henry IT. of England
about 1160. (Small museum of costumes; line view from the top.)

Beyond are the Prefectwe and the Palais de Justice, close to

which is the imposing modtrn Hotel de Ville. The cliurch of Notre-

Danie (PL A, 3, 4;, dating from 1491-1535, was altered in the

19th cent., when the choir was transferred to the W. end. The
vaulting of the choir having collapsed in 1910, it is now under

repair. The tower has a stone spire, with turrets, under which are

statues of the Evangelists. In the interior are a fine Gothic pulpit

and an Adoration of the Magi by Bon Boullogne.

The Grande-Rue-Notre-Dame leads to the right to the Rue St-

Jean, in which, at the corner of the Rue du Musee, is the Musee
Departemental (Pl.B, 3; adm. as for Musee Archeologique, see

above;, containing pictures and a library, but nothing of special

value. Opposite are the Ecole de Dessin and the Public Library
rPl. B, 3).

From Xiort to Poitiern und L(i Rochdle, hcc p. i(i; to Brtmuire (Xanti-s

urul Angers), see p. 34.
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From Niort to Ruffec, 5IV2 M., railway in 2 hrs. 20 to 2 hrs. 35 min.

(8 fr. 45, 6 fr. 25. 4 fr. 10 c). —31/2 M. Aiffres, junction for Bordeaux (see

telow). — 2OV2 ^I- Melle (Hot. Ste-Catherine
;

pop. 2568), the ancient

Metalltim, is built partly on the Beronne, and partly on a steep hill, which
contained a silver and lead mine worked by the Romans. The interesting

church oi*St-Hilaire, dating from the 12th cent., has a richly sculptured

N. porch and contains good stained glass and pillars with sculptured capi-

tals. St-Pierre, a church of the same period, is likewise interesting.

231/2^1- ^lazieres-St-Romans. To the S.E., I1/4 M., is a modern chateau,

with the fine Tour de Melzeard (15th cent.). We ascend the valley of the

Bontonne.—Sb M. Chef'Boiitonne{^. 12).— 511/2 M. Rufec (p. 12).

n. From Niort to Bordeaux.
1241/2 M. Railway (to the Ciare St-Jean, p. 46) in 3 hrs. 40 to 4 hrs.

15 min. (26 fr. 80, 16 fr. 40, 10 fr. 55 c.^; to Saintes, 46 M., in about 1 hr.

20 min. (7 fr. 85, 5 fr. 80, 3 fr. 80 c).

Beyond Niort the line is less interesting. —3Y2 ^- Aiffres,

junction for Ruffec (see above).— SQi/a M. St-Jean-d'Angely
(Hot. du Commerce, E. from 2^/^, L. 2^U, D. 3 fr.; pop. 7060), a

prosperous town on the right bank of the Boutonne, w^hich here

forms a small harbour, was the Grallic Angeriacum. It owed its

development to a Benedictine abbey, destroyed in 1568 by the Cal-

vinists, who had made the place one of their chief strongholds.

In 1569 it was taken by the Duke of Anjou (Henri III.), and in

1621 by Louis XIII., who levelled its fortifications. In the Jardin

Public is a monument to Andre Lemoyne, the poet (1822-1907).

Farther on is the Tour de VHorloge, a Gothic gateway (15th cent.).

In the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville are the modern town-hall, the Palais

de Justice, and an interesting building called the "Salle Municipale'.

Note also in the Rue de I'Horloge the tasteful Fontaine du Pilm'i

(1546). The Rue du College leads to the remains of the Abbey and

its church, of the 13th cent., with a fagade of the 18th.

Local line via (11 M.) Matha (p. 14) to (28V2 M.) Cognac (p. 15).— To
St-Saviol, see p. 12; to Surgeres and Marans, see p. 25.

From St-Jeas-d'Angelt to TAiLLEBorRO, 12 M., railway in 30-35 min.

(1 fr. 85, 1 fr. 35, 90 c.).— Beyond the Boutonne the main line to Saintes

diverges to the left. — 12 M'. Taillebourg (Hot. de France), a small

town on the Xantes and Bordeaux line (p. 31), was the scene of a victory

of Charlemagne over the Saracens, in 808. and of that of St. Louis over

the English in 1242. By the Treaty of Bretigny (1360) it fell to the English,

but it was recovered from them by Du Guesclin in 1372. It is overlooked by
its ruined castle. The stone embankment on the left bank of the Charente,

3/4 M. long, now used by a narrow-gauge line to (IOV2 M.) St-Porchuire

(p. 22), dates from the early 13th century.

We cross the Boutonne, leaving the old line via Taillebourg on

the right.— 40 M. Le Douhet-Ecoyeux. Le Douhet, 1^/4 M- to the

W., has a Romanesque church of the 13th cent., remains of a Roman
aqueduct, and prehistoric grottoes.— TVe join the Nantes and Roche-

fort line (p. 31).

46 M. Saintes.— 5?//fef.— Hotels. Hot. du Palais (PI. c; C, 2),

Sq. du Palais-de-Justice. R. 3, L. 21/2. omn. V" fr- ; Hot. des Messageries
(PL a; 0, 2), near the bridge, R. from 3, L. 2\'.i,J). 3, omn. 1 fr.— Cabs. Per
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drive 1, per hour 2 fr. ; at night l^/^ and 3 fr.

—

Steam Trajviway from
the station, via the Av. Gfambetta, Cours National, and Cours Reverseaux
(25 or 15 c), to Gemosac {-p. 22).— Post & Telegraph Office (PI. C, 2),

30 Cours National. — Baths, 8 Cours National.

Saintes (pop. 20,802), the ancient Mediolanum, capital of the

Santones and afterwards of the Saintonge, now a thriving town,

lies prettily on the left bank of the Charente. It was in great fa-

vour with the Romans after their conquest of Gaul, and still has

many interesting Roman and mediseval remains.

From the station we take the Av. de la Gare to the left, then the

Av. Gambetta to the right, through the Faubourg des Dames. The
Rue du Perat (second on left) leads to the interesting abbey-church

of *Ste-Marie-des-Dames, consecrated in 1047, but entirely altered

in 1119-34. It is now within the barracks and is used for military

stores. (Adm. to see the exterior only.) The fagade (12th cent.)

is richly decorated. Over the crossing rises a fine tower (restored),

with a conical fish-scale roof. At the entrance to the barracks is the

church of St-Palais (12th-13th cent.).

We follow the Rue de I'Arc-de-Triomphe, to the left, to the

Place Bassompierre, in which rises a Triumphal Arch (PL 1 ; C, 2),

erected under Tiberius (A. D. 21) in honour of Germanicus. At the

opposite end of the Place is a statue of Bernard Palissy (PI. 4,

C 2; 1510-90).

We now cross the bridge and ascend the Cours National, the

main street. The Rue d'Alsace-Lorraine, to the left, leads to the

old cathedral, passing, on the right, the Public Library (PI. C, 2),

a Renaissance building with a turret.

The church of St-Pierre (PI. C, 2, 3), once the cathedral, is said

to have been founded by Charlemagne, but was rebuilt in 1117, in

the 15th cent., and again after its destruction by the Calviuists in

1568. The great tower (235 ft.), except for the dome at the top,

still dates from the 15th cent., and the small cupolas of the tran-

sept are of the 12th. Fine flamboyant portal.

Farther on, to the right, is the Hotel de Ville (PI. C, 3), contain-

ing a Mus^e des Beanx-Ai'ts (pictures, antiquities, and a fine col-

lection of Roman and other coins; apply to the concierge, 8.30 to

10.30 and 12.30 to 4.30). The concierge shows also the Musee
d'Antiquites, in the same street, farther on.

The Rues de l'H6tel-de-Ville and Monconseil lead to the Place
Blair (PI. B, 3; fine view). We ascend thence by the Rues de la

Bertonni^re and St-Fran^ois to the church of—
St-Eutrope (PI. A, 3), of very ancient foundation, but rebuilt

in the late 11th cent, and consecrated by Pope Urban II. in 1096.

It was altered in the 15th cent., and then, like the cathedral, rebuilt

after the Religious Wars. The architecture has been influenced by
the styles peculiar to Auvergne and Languedoc. The fine stone

spire dates from 1480-96. The original nave, demolished in 1803,
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once occupied the wliule of the present square, while the present

nave is composed of the old choir and transept. The capitals of

the columns and the vaulting of the aisles should be noticed. The
present choir (15th cent.) contains modern statues of the Apostles
under old canopies. Below the church is a large Komanesque
Crypt of the ilth cent., entered direct from the street (open 8-10
a.m.). Behind its chief altar is the tomb of St. Eutropius, first

bishop of Saintes, who suffered martyrdom here (1st cent.).

We descend the Kue des Arenes, and turn to the left to visit the

ruins of the Arenes (PL A, 2; 1st or 2nd cent. A.D.). The amphi-
theatre measures 415 by 335 ft., and could hold 20-22,000 specta-

tors. It had only one series of arches, inclined towards the arena,

and one "preecinctio'. with three tiers of steps. Of its 74 arches

only nine remain.

The Rues Bouriguon and St-Macoult, on the other side of the

hollow, lead to the Cours Reverseaujc (PI. A, B, 3, 2). Opposite, on
the site of the Hospital (PI. B, 2, 3), once stood a Roman building

erroneously called the Capitol, destroyed during the wars with the

English. To the X. the Cours Reverseaux leads to the Cours National

(p. 21), whence the Rue d'Alsace-Lorraine leads to the right to the

Grande-Rue Victor-Hugo, Xo. 32 in which is the so called Maison
de Henri IV, of 1605 (PI. 3; C, 2).

From Saintes to Nantes, see R. 3a; to AngouUvie, see pp. 15, 14. — A
uew line is being laid between Saintes and Scutjon (see below), shortening
the journey from Paris to Royan.— Steam-tramways to (15 M.) Gemozac
(Royan, etc. ; see below), and to (SOi/jM.) Marennes (p. 30) via St-Porchaire
(p. 20) and St-Jnst-Luzac (see below and p. 30).

50^/2 M. Chaniers, with a Romanesque church. We ascend the

valley of the Seugne.— 52 M. Beillant (buffet). Line to Angouleme,
seep. 15. — 56 M. Montils-Colomhiers. Colomhiers, lY* ^^- to

the W., has a Romanesque church.

61 M. Pons (Buft'et; Hot. de Bordeaux; pop. 4549) lies prettily

on a hill rising abruptly from the Seugne. We note the remains of

its ancient ramparts, the 12th cent, donjon, and the Hotel de Yille,

formerly the chateau (15th-16th cent.). The* pretty Jardin Public
and a gateway of the old walls are interesting also. Xear the station

is the Renaissance Chdteau cVUsson (1535-45).
Pons is a good centre for visits to the region between the Gironde

and Charente. with its interesting old buildings.

From Poxs to Royas, 29 M., railway in IV4-IV2 hr. (3 fr. 90, 3 fr. 5,

2 fr. 20 c). — 71/2M. Gemozac. junction for Saintes (see above), for Mor-
tagne-siir-Gironde. a busy little seaport (to Royan, see p. 60). and for

La Bergerie and Jonzac (p. 23). — 231/2 ^I- Saujon (Hot. du Commerce, du
Cheval-Marin : pop. 3137), on the Seudre, has a large hydropathic. To
Saintes. see above. Branch to La Greve (p. 30). Narrow-gauge line to

(16 M.) Mare?m es (Tp. 30) via St-Jnst-Lttzac (see above and p. .30). -- 29 M.
Royan (p. 58).

From Poks to La Greve. 38i/. M., railway in 21/2-3^/4 hrs. - To (231/.2 M.)
Sai(jon, see above. — 371/2 M. La Tremblade (Hot. de France; pop. 3547),
surrounded bv salt-marshes and sand-dunes, and noted for its ovsters. lies
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2V)j M. (omn. 30 c.) from the seaside-resort of Ro7ice-les-Bain^ (Hot. de la

Plage). — 38V2 M. La Gr'eve, port of La Tremblade, on the Soudre, facing
Marennes (p. 30; free ferry), and near the Pertuis de Maumusson (p. 30).

From Pons to St-Ciers-suk-Gtironde, 251/.2 M., narrow-gauge line.

—

8 M. Plassac, with the grand Chateau de Dampierre (1775).— 12 M. La
Bergerie, on the Gemozac and Jonzac line (p. 22).— 15 M. Mirambeau,
with an old chateau. — 251/2 M. St-Oiers-sur-Gironde (see below).

From Pons to Barbezieux, 22i/.^ M., narrow-gauge line.— 13 M. Archiac
(Hot. des Voyageurs), with a castle-ruin. Braueli to Cognac (p. 15).

—

221/2 M. Barbezieux, on the Chateauneuf and St-Mariens line (p. 14).

771/2 ^^- Jonzac (Hot. de I'Ecu; pop. 3210), on the Seugne, has

a castle of the 14th-18th cent., now the Sous-Prefecture and Hotel

de Ville, with a line gateway and a donjon (15th cent.). Line to La
Bergerie and Gemozac, see p. 22.

86^/2 M. Montendre, on a hill to the right, with a restored keep

(12th cent.).— 96V2M. St-Mariens- St-Yzari (buffet). Branch-lines

to Coutras (p. 16), Chateauneuf (p. 14), and Blaye (p. 58).— 99 M.
Cavig7iac, junction for Coutras (p. 16).

1071/2 M. St-Andre -de-Cubzac (Hot. du Liou-d'Or, R. 2,

D. 3 fr.
;
pop. 4019), an industrial town, with a modern chateau and

a theological college.

From St-Andre to St-Ciers-sur-Gtironde, 311/2M., narrow-gauge line.

^7V2M. Bourg-sur-Gironde (hotel; pop. 2555), an old town, with quar-
ries and famous vineyards. Near it are the Grotte de Pair-non-Pair and
other caves. — 181/2 M. Blaye (p. 58). The line leaves the Gironde. — 32 M.
St-C'iers-sur-Gironde, or St-Ciers-Lalande (pop. 2894). Line to Pons,
see above.

Beyond (IO972 M.) Cuhzac-les-Fonts the train crosses a tine

viaduct, 11/4 M. long, including a bridge over the Dordogne. The
Paris and Bordeaux road, 1^/4 M. to the left, crosses the river by a

great iron and stone bridge nearly 1 M. long.— The Dordogne joins

the Garonne, a little to the right, at the Bee d'Ambes (p. 58). These
two rivers together form the Gironde; the tract between them is

know^n as Entre-deux-Mers.
11 21/2 M. La Grave-d^Amhares (Etat). AVe pass under the Paris-

Orleans-Bordeaux line (p. 16).— 120M.Bordeanx-Benauge. Some
trains turn to the right to the (121 M.) Bordeaux-Etat station;

others cross the Garonne, affording a fine view on the right ot.

Bordeaux and its harbour, to—
1241/2 M. Bordeaux-St-Jean (p. 46).

3. From Nantes to Bordeaux.
a. Vi^ Clisson and La Rochelle.

232 M. to Bordeaux-Etat. 235V..' M. to Bordeaux-St-Jean (see p. 46);
Railway in 5 hrs. 50 (by the 'rapide' in summer) to 8 hrs. 40 min. (37 fr. 90,
28 fr. 5, 18 fr. 35 c). The trains start from the Gave de V Etat, but are
joined at Vertou (p. 24) by the trains from the Gare d' Orleans. Restaurant-
car (as far as Saintes) on the morning-express and the 'rapide' (see p. 3).

—

Break of journey, see p. 3.
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Nantes, see Baedeket^^s N. France. We cross four arms of

the Loire ; fine view to the right.— 41/2 M. Vertou (p. 23).— 12 M.
Le Pallet, birthplace of Abelard and of Astrolabe, son of Helo'ise.

We then cross the Sevre Nantaise.

171/2^- Clisson (Hot. Milaguet, du Grand-Olivier; pop. 2760)

lies prettily on two hills at the confluence of the Sevre and the

Moine. The latter is crossed by a handsome viaduct (view). The
*Castle (13th-14th cent.; apply to custodian) and the town itself

were destroyed in 1794 in the first war of the Yendee. The churches

and other buildings are mostly modern. Both rivers are bordered

with pretty 'garenues' or parks (private). Clisson has given its

name to a family whose most famous member was Olivier de Clisson,

Constable of France (d. 1407).
From Clisson to C'holet, Bre^suirt, PaHhenay, and Poitiers, see p. 10.

We now enter the Vejidee, skirting the W. end of the Socage
(p. 35).— 24 M. Montaigu, a small town, prettily situated on the

Maine, was the birthplace of Lareveillere-Lepeaux (1753-1824),

one of the five members of the Directory, and has a monument to

Col. de Yillebois-Mareuil (1847-1900), killed while fighting for the

Boers in the Transvaal War.
Railway (narrow-gauge) to (26V2M.) Chantonnay (p. 35), via (151/2 M.)

Les Quatre-CJiemins-de-VOie. where it crosses the La Roche-sur-Yon and
Les Herbiers line (see below).

40 M. Belleville-sur-Vie. On the right are the Lege (see below)

and Challans-Nantes (p. 31) lines; on the left the Tours line (R. 4).

48 M. La Roche-sur-Yon (Buffet ; Hot. de I'Europe, R. from

2^2? I^- or D. 3 fr.; Hot. du Pelican; Hot. des Yoyageurs. at the sta-

tion, plain; pop. 14,885). capital of the department of the Vendee,

lies on a hill washed by the Yon. It once had a strong castle, a

place of importance in the Religious Wars, but the town dates only

from 1804, when Napoleon I. built it to replace Fontenay-le-Comte

(p. 34) as the departmental capital. It is regularly built and almost

featureless. The Place d'Armes is adorned with a bronze statue

of Napoleon I., by De Nieuwerkerke. Here also are the church of

St-Louis and the Hotel de Ville (with a small museum). Behind

the church is a bronze statue of Gen. Travot (1767-1836) 'paci-

ficator of the Yendee' during the Hundred Days. In front of the

Prefecture rises a statue of Paid Baudry (1828-86), the painter,

by Gerome.
From La Roche to Xantes via ChaUans, see R. 3b; to Les Sables-

d'Olonne and Tours, see R. 4.

Narrow-gauge lines to Lege (Nantes
; p. 31) and to (26 M.) Les Herbiers

(Hot. du Lion-d'br). via (ISV'oM.) Les Quafre-Chevuns-de-VOie (see above).

To the N. of Les Herbiers rises the Mont des Alouettes (760 ft.), one of

the chief peaks of the Yendean Alps (*Yiew).

61 M. Champ-St-Pere. Line to Les Sables-d'Olonne (p. 36).—
Hedges disappear and are replaced by ditches.
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71 M. Lugon (Hot. du Croissant, good, R. from 2721 L. 2721
D. 3 fr.; pop. 6759), on a canal with a small harbour, is the seat of

a bishopric which Richelieu held in 1607-24. The Cathedral, an

abbey-church of the 11th cent., was built in the 13th, 14th, and

18th cent., and restored in the 19th; it contains a Renaissance pul-

pit. Adjoining are interesting Cloisters (15th -16th cent.). The
modern College Richelieu contains a museum which ma}^ be visited.

We note also the Chapelle des Ursulines, with its fine altar-screen

and curious painted vaulting (15th cent.).

LuQon stands on the N. border of the Marais, a swampy part of

the Vendee, extending in the direction of the Pevtuis Breton to the Bay
of Aiguillon, with which the town is connected by a canal. Down to

the 6th cent, this district was a gulf, an arm of which extended E. to

Niort, a place now 37 M. from the sea. The marshy tracts are drained by
countless canals. The Marais contains excellent pasturage and productive
salt-marshes (p. 36), while near the mouth of the Sevre Niortaise are

'bouchots', in which mussels are reared. This and the other marshy
regions fringing the sea-shore are unhealthy in hot weather, but atford

good wild-fowl shooting.

Xarrow-gauge line from Lu§on to (I41/2 M.) V Aiginllon-sur-3Ier (hotel),

a small seaport at the mouth of the Lay. The chief station is (IO1/2 M.)
St-Michel-en-VHerm (Aub. Caillaud), with a grand chateau (early 17th cent.)

and a ruined abbey, where we note specially the cloisters and the chapel.
From Lugon to C'hantonnay, see p. 35.

86 M. Velluire (buffet), junction for Fontenay-le-Comte (p. 34)

and Saumur.

88 M. Vix. The village lies 2^/^ M. to the E., on a hill (once

an island in the gulf).— 93 M. L^Ile-d'Elle, also once an island.

97 M. Marans (Hot. des Postes, R. 2-4, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.; Hot.

des Etrangers; pop. 4427) is a well-built town on the Sevre, with

a large grain trade.

Narrow-gauge line to (41V2 M.) St-Jean-d'Angely (p. 20), via (21 M.)
Snrgeres (p. 10).

At (102 M.) Andilly-St-Ouen we leave the Marais.— 1071/2 M.
Dompierre. To the left are salt-marshes.— 112 M. La Rochelle

(good buffet).

La Rochelle.
Hotels. Hot. de France & d'Avgleterre (PI. a; B, S), 22 Rue Gar-

goulleau, with garden, good, R. from 4, B. 1V2> L- ^^1-2, D- 4, P. from 12,

omn. 3/^ fr.; Palace Hotel & du Commerce (PI. c; B. 2), 8 Place d'Armes,
good, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2. P- from 8. omn. V- fr.; Hot. de la Paix
(PI. d; B, 3), 14 Rue Gargoulleau, R. from 2, L. or D. 21/2 fr. ; Hot. des
Etrangers (PI. b; C, 3), 12 Rue Thiers, R. from 2'/2 fr. ; Hot. Terminus,
Place St-Nicolas. — Near the Mail (p. 28): Touring-Hotel & de la Plage,
3 Av. Coligny, well spoken of, R. from 3, L. 3, D. S'/a- P- 10 fr.

Cabs. Tariff for '1st zone' (nearly the whole town), 1 fr. per drive
for 2 pers., or 2 fr. per hour; for 4 pers. 2 or 3 fr. For longer drives
a bargain should he made. At night (after 9 in winter, 10 in summer) 50 c
more. Trunk 25 c. — Motor Cahs. Ist zone IV2 or 2fr.

;
per hour 6 fr.

At night 1 fr. extra.

Tramways (compressed air). 1. From Tasdon (PI. D, 6) to La Pallice
(p. 28), via the station. Place d'Armes. St-Maurico, and Laleu (fare 30 c.
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or 10 c. per section). — 2. From the Place d'Ai-mes (PI. A, B, 3) to. the
JFctU (heyoiul PI. A, 5), via the Av. Carnot; fare 10 c.

Steamboats to the Jle de Ee and He d'Oleron, see p. 29. — Rowikg
Boat, 1 fr. each pers. per hour (minimnm 5 fr.).

Sea Baths (p. 28). Bains du Mail (50 c; hot sea-water, 75 c);
Bains de la Xouvelle-Plage (PI. A, 5; 25 c.). — Warm Baths. Bruno,
6 Rue Fleuriau.

Casino du Mail (p. 28), with cafe. Adm. 50 c. ; theatre and concerts
daih- in summer.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3), Place de l"H6tel-de-Ville.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais and Societe Generale, 19 and 12 Rue du
Palais: C'omptoir d'Escompte, Place des Petits-Bancs. — Stndicat d'Ini-

tiative, 28 Rue Chaudrier.
British Coksul, C. J. Hans Hamilton, 16 Cours des Dames (PI. B, 4).— Stkdicat d'Ixitiative, Place d'Armes (PI. A, B, 3).

La Rochelle (pop. 36,371), a thriving seaport, the seat of a

bishopric, was the ancient capital of the Aunis, and is now that of

the department of Charente-Inferieure. It lies in a bay of the

Pertuis d'Antioche, sheltered by the islands of Re and Oleron (pp.

29. 30). The domestic architecture is partly that of the Huguenot
period. The houses have arcades called 'porches', tall brackets sup-

])orting the roofs, and prominent carved gargoyles.
La Rochelle was perhaps the Partus Santonum of the Romans. It

tirst appears in history at the end of the 10th cent, as Rnpella. It was
later annexed to England along with Aquitaine, but was restored to

France in 1372. Its prosperity during the next two centuries was ended
by the outbreak of the Religious Wars. Protestantism already counted
many converts here when Conde and Coligny made the town their head-
quarters in 1568. It was the chief stronghold of the Huguenots, whose
cruisers were well known in the Atlantic and the English Channel. In
1572-3 the town withstood a siege of over six months. The revival of

religious bitterness in the reign of Louis XIII. involved it in new wars
(1622. 1626. 1627-8). in which it was less successful. In the last of these
the English expedition sent to its relief under the Duke of Buckingham
failed, and Richelieu, who had closed the port by a mole, starved it into

surrender, after a siege of 13 months. Riclielieu did not abuse his vic-

tory, but the Huguenots never recovered from this blow. La Rochelle
trades in timber, coal, brandy, wine, vinegar, salt, and grain. The new
harbour at La Pallice (p. 28) has greatly enhanced the prosperity of the
town. The fishing is of considerable importance. — Reaumur (1683-1757),

Bonpland (the naturalist; 1773-1858), Admiral Duperre (1775-1846), Eug.
Fromentin (painter and author: 1820-76), and Bouguereau (painter; 1825-

1905) were natives of La Rochelle.

The town is entered bv the double-arched Porte de la Gare,
or Porte St-Nicolas (PI. C, 4; 1857). The Fortifications, 3^'^ M.
in circuit, were constructed by Vauban under Louis XIV., the older

works, except those next the sea, having been demolished after the

siege of 1627-8; but the later works also are doomed to demolition,

and a new railway station is being built on the horuwork near the

present station.

The busy and picturesque Harbour i PI. B, C. 4, o) comprises

the Avant-Port, two Bassins a Plot, the Port d'Echouage (for beach-

ing), with its two striking towers (p. 27), and also a Canal and the

Retenue de Maubcc. the waters of which serve to scour the harbour.
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As, however, Richelieu's mole (p. 26) had led to the choking up

of the outer harbour, the new Port de la Pallice was constructed

in 1883 (p. 28).

The Quais Valin and Duperre lead to the Cours des Dames,
or Cours Richard (P1.B,4). with a bronze statue of Adm. Duperre

(p. 26), by P. Hebert. Opposite is the massive Porte de la Grosse-

Horloge, the only old gate remaining, a square tower with round

turrets (14th-15th cent., altered in the 17th and 18th). The Rue
St-Jeau leads thence past the fish-market and the Tour St-Jean

(PL B, 5; 17th cent.), both on the right. We then turn to the left to

the Tour de la Lanterne (PL A, 5), built in 1-445-76 as a light-

house (view).

The Rue Sur-les-Murs now leads back to the Parte des Dames,
at the entrance to the Port d'Echouage (PL B, 5). This entrance is

flanked with two more towers, the Tour de la Chaine (1390) and

the Tour St-Xicholas (p. 28). In the distance, in the outer harbour,

rises the small black Richelieu Tower, Avith a bell to warn vessels

of the mole (p. 26), which is visible at low-tide only.

At the Porte de la Grosse-Horloge (see above) begin the street

of that name and the Rue du Palais, flanked Avith arcades, and
forming the main artery of the town. In the Place des Petits-Bancs,

where the Rue du Temple diverges to the right, is a monument to

Euy. Fromentin (^p. 26). Farther on are the Bourse (18th cent.)

and the Palais de Justice (PL B, 3; 1783-9j. The Rue du Palais

is continued by the Rue Chaudrier; in the Rue des Augustius, di-

verging to the right, is the Maison de Henri If, of 1544 (fee).

The Cathedral of St-Louis or St-Barthelemy (PL B, 3), at

the corner of the Rue Chaudrier and the Plact- d'Armes, was rebuilt

in 1742-62 in the Greek style. The interior contains stained glass

and modern paintings, including a ceiling-painting by Bouguereau.

Behind it is a Totcer of the original church (14tli cent.).

The Place d'Armes (PL B, 3), extending W. as far as the

ramparts, occupies the site of the ancient castle, destroyed in 1590.

Behind the Cathedral is the llopital d'Aufredij, founded in

1203. In the street opposite is the Maison ]^enette (17th cent.).

The Rue Dupaty leads from the Rue du Palais E. to the Place

de I'Hotel-de-Ville'. with the Hotel des Pastes (PL B, 3) and a

monument to Jean Gniton (p. 28i.

The *H6tel de Ville (PL B, 3i, the most interesting building

in La Rochelle, was erected in 1486-1607, and restored in 1872-7.

The wall in front, completed in 1498, is pierced with a Rouble

gateway and surmounted by a batllemented gallery flanked by two

belfries. The fine facade of the Hotel consists of two parts. The
smaller, to the left, built about 1540, has a modern staircase in

front, and a modern lantein with a statue in faience of Henri IV.

The othcc part, begun in 1595. has superl) arcades on the ground-
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floor, with a sculptured ceiling, bearing the letters jffand itf(Henri IV.

and Marie de Medicis). Above are four niches with allegorical sta-

tues, each between two fluted columns, and on the top story are

dormer windows of 1607. Inside is the Council Hall, in which Jean

Guiton, the mayor, and defender of the town against Eichelieu,

swore to stab anyone who suggested surrender. The Hotel de Yille

has another fagade (1607) in the Rue des Gentilshommes.

The Rue des Merciers, to the N. of the Rue des Gentilshommes,

also has old arcades and houses (as No. 3, Guiton's house). It leads

to the Place du Marche, whence the Rue Gargoulleau goes to the

left. Here, on the right, is the old Hotel Gargoulleau (alderman

of the town in 1599), now the Hotel de France (p. 25).

Adjacent is the Musee (PL B, 3), which, together with the

Municipal Library^ occupies the old Eveche (18th cent.). Adm.
Sun. and Thurs., 12-4 (but open to strangers at other times).

Ground Floor. Two rooms and garden, devoted mainly to sculp-

tures.— The First Floor contains the librarj' (Mon., Thurs., and Sat.,

12-4).— On the Second Floor is the picture-gallery. The first three

rooms contain a few older works (Italian, Dutch, French, etc.); also

ivories, miniatures, enamels, and faience. The next three are chiefly

occupied bv modern French pictures (notablv No. 50, by Corot, and No. 129,

by E. Le Sueur, both in R. VI).

From the adjoining Place d'Armes the Rue Dauphine leads to

the right to the Jardin des Plantes (PI. B, 2), which contains an

important Natural History Museum (always open to strangers;

to the public Thurs. and Sun. 12-4, except in Dec, Jan., and Feb.).

In the garden are a marble group of Hero and Leander and an

ancient dolmen.

Outside the town, to the W., lies the Pare Charruyer (PI. A,

5-2), laid out in 1887, and extending to the Bains de la Nouvelle-

Plage (PL A, 5; p. 26). Near these baths begins the Mail (beyond

PL A, 5), an avenue Vg M. long, which may also be reached direct

from the quays via the Porte de Mer (PL A, 5). Farther on the

Mail passes the Casino (p. 26).

On the way back to the station we may visit the Tour Si-

Nicolas (PL B", 5), of 1384, opposite the Tour de la Chaine ^p. 27).

Splendid view from the top (fee). We may thence walk, S., to the

'Point de Vue' (PL B, 5), which afl'ords a picturesque *View of

the harbour.
Bevond the bathing-place, and 3 M. from the harbour (railway and

tramway), lies La Pallice Butfet'; Hot. de rUnivers, R. orD. 3fr.; Hot.

Continental), with an excellent harbour, constructed in 1883-90 in a deep
bay opposite the He de Re, and probably to be extended. Several steamship-
lines touch regularly at La Pallice.

From La Rochelle to Essandes, 6 M. to the N., by carr. (6-10 fr.).

Esnandes has a church of the 11th cent., fortified by the English in

the 15th, and restored in the 19th. We may visit (by boat, at high tide)

the curious 'boucliots'. At low tide the 'bouchoteurs' collect the mussels
with the aid of 'aeons', flat-bottomed boats constructed to slide over the

mud. We may return by MarsiUy. with a relic of its old fortified tower.
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From La Rochelle to the Ile de R6. (1) Steamer to St-Martin-
de-R6 daily, touching (in fine weather) at La Flotte; fare to St-Martin

21/2, return 33/4 fr. — (2) From La Pallice to Sablanceaux, four times daily

in summer (in 12 min. ; 75 c.)-

The lie de R^, 91/2 M. to the W. of La Rochelle, is about 151/2 M. long
and 3-4 M. broad. It is populous, but of little interest. It contains pro-

ductive salt-marshes and vineyards. — From Sabla?iceaux a light railway
runs to (22 M.) Les Fortes, at the X.W. end of the island, via (51/2 M.)
La Flotte and (8 M.) St-Martin-de-Re (Hot. du Grand-Pacha, de France;
pop. 2236), a small port on the N. side of the island, which suffered much
in the English wars and was later fortified by Vauban.

From La Rochelle to the Ile d'Oleron (p. 30). Steamer daily,

touching at the lie d'Aix (see below), to Boyardville (p. 31; fare 3,

return 4 fr.).

From La Rochelle to Poitiers, see p. 10; to Saumur (Paris), see

pp. 17, 34.

Beyond La Rochelle the line to Bordeaux skirts the PeiHiiis

(straits) d'Antioche, between the Ile de Re and the lie d'Oleron,

and passes several 'marais salants'.— 118 M. Chatelaillon (Hot.

Beau-Sejour, good, R. or D. 3, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. de la Plage;

Family Hotel, P. T^/g fr.; Hot. de I'Arrivee), a pleasant bathing-

resort with a sandy beach and a casino. Good wild-fowl shooting.

The sea is steadily encroaching on the land here, and has already

engulfed the villages of Montmeillau and Vieux-Chatelaillou. Traces

of the latter are visible at low tide. Near Chatelaillon is a settle-

ment of 'bouchoteurs' (p. 28).— 125 M. St-Laurent-de-la-Free.
Branch-line to (3 M.) Fouras (Hot. des Bains, de I'Ocean; pop. 2499),

a bathing-place at the mouth of the Charente, with a castle of the 14th

cent., a casino, and pleasant woods. Near the Pointe do I'Aiguille, at

the end of the right bank of the Charente, is the small lie d^Enet,
connected with the mainland at low tide. About 2 M. from the Pointe
is the lie d'Aix (3 V4 by V-U M.), the last refuge of Napoleon I. before
his surrender to the British. A French squadron was defeated here by
the British in 1809. Steamer from La Rochelle, see above. Both islands
are fortified.

At (126 M.) Charras the train crosses the canal of that name.

130 M. Rochefort. — Buffet. — Hotels. Hot. du Grand-Bacha
(PI. c;B, 4), 53 Rue de 1' Arsenal, corner of Rue de la R^publique, R.
from 3, B. 1, L. 8, D. 31/2, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de France (PI. a; B, 3, 4),

Rue Emile-Zola, R, from 21/2, B. 1, L. 21/21 !>• 3, omn. Vafr.; Hot. de la

Rochelle (PI. b; B, 3), 110 Rue Chanzy. — Cabs. Per drive, 1-2 pers., 1 fr.

;

8-4 pers. I1/2 fr-
5
per hour 2 fr. ; at night 2 or 3 fr. — Post & Telegraph

Office (PI. B, 4), Rue Emile-Zola. — Baths, 87-89 Rue Chanzy. —Syndicat
d'Initiative, Place Colbert.

Rocliefort (pop. 35,019), on the right bank of the Charente,

9^2 ^- from the sea, is a modern fortified town of little interest.

It has an unimportant naval and a busy commercial harbour, which,

like the town, were founded by Colbert in 1666.

From the station (Y^ M. from the town) an avenue leads to the

Porte Begon (PL B, 2), From the Rue Begon the Rue Chanzy leads

to the right, past the Lycee and the church of St-Louis, to the

Plare Colbert (PL B, 4), the focus of traffic (with an 18th cent, foun-
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tain). AVe follow the Rue de la Republique, and then the Rue de

I'Arseual to the left, to the imposing Porte du Soleil (PL C, 4).

The *Arsenal and Dockyard (PI. C, D, 2-6) can be visited

(9 a.m. to 2.30 p.m.) only by leave obtained at the guard-house,

or at the Majorite-Generale (PL 0, 4). Foreigners must show an
introduction from their government, countersigned by the French
minister. Photographing and sketching are prohibited.

The chief sights are the Bassins de Eadoub (graving-docks), the Salle
des Modeles, and the grand Salle d'Armes, decorated with arras arranged
as trophies.

Leaving the arsenal by the Porte du Soleil, we follow the Rue
de I'Arsenal to the Masee-Bibliotheque (PL B, 4; open on Sun. and
Thurs. 1-4; at other times, fee), which contains several good pic-

tures and drawings, chiefly modern.

We now follow the Rue Chanzy to the left, and the Rue Victor-

Hugo thence to the right, to the pretty Jardin Public (PL C, 2, 3),

laid out in 1771, overlooking the Chare nte. At the S. end of it is

the Prefecture Maritime.
We may visit also the great Hopital de la Marine (PL A, B, 2),

with 800 beds and an Ecole de Medecine Navale (founded in

1712). Adjoining is an artesian well, 2820 ft. deep.— Lastly, to

the N.E. of the town (beyond PL C, D, 1, 2), is the Port Marchand,
or Cahane Carree, a busy commercial harbour.

Rochefort was the birthplace (1850) of the well-known author Jidien
Yiaud ('Pierre Loti'), whose house is in the Rue Chanzy.

Excursions from Rochefort. From the Porte Martrou (PI. B, 5) we
may visit the (I1/4 M.) Pont Transhordeur, by means of which passengers
an(l goods are swung across the river. — To the S.W. (71/2 M. ; carr. IS-

IS fr.) is BroKoge, with old fortitications, birthplace of Samuel de Cham-
plain, the founder of Quebec in 1()08. Tlie road to it passes Souhise (witli

its memorials of the Rohan family) and Moeze, the cemetery of whicli

contains a curious Renaissance cross (16th cent.). The road goes on from
Brouage to Marennes (S-V^ M. : see below).

From Rochefort to Niort and Poitiers, see p. 10.

From Rochefort to Le Chapus (He d'Oleron), 25' /2 ^-^ railway in

about 11/2 hr. (4 fr. 20. 3 fr. 10 c, 2 fr.). — To (6 M.) Cabariot, see p. 31.—
13V-> M. St-Agnant. To the X., 21/2 M.. is Echillais, with a tine church of

the"l2th cent., fortified in the 15th. — 20 M. St-Jt/sf-L/tsac i^. 22).— 21 M.
Marennes (Hot. du Commerce & de la Poste, R. from 2, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.;

pop. 4519), famous for its oysters. The church of St-Pierre has a 14th cent,

tower (view). To the S., '^U M., is a small harbour. Narrow-gauge line,

through 'marais salants', to La Caijenne-de-Seudre (3 M. ; 40 or 25 c.).

Thence steam-ferry (free) to La Greve, the terminus of a line to Saujon
(Pons, Royan; see p. 22). Karrow-gauge lines from Marennes t» Saintes
and to Saujon, see p. 22. -From (251/2^0 Le Chapus a steamer (75 c.)

crosses (in 15-20 min.) to Le Chateau or (in summer only) to St-Trojan
in the lie d'Oleron.

The lie d'Oleron, which is separated from the mainland by the

Pertnis de Manmusson, is a flat, fertile, and populous island (I8V2 by
21/2-6 M.). — A narrow-gauge railway crosses the island from S.E. to N.W.
(23 M.; 21/2 hrs.; fare 2 fr. 85 or 1 fr. 90 c). St-Trojan-les-Bains (Hot.

des Bains & Moderne, R. from 2, L. or D. 2, P. from 6 fr. ; Hot. du Soleil-

Levant), a bathing-resort. 51/2 M. Le Chateau (Hot. de France; pop. 3734),

a smuli fortifitMrtowii, capital of the island. 14 M. St-Pierre (Hot. de
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la Renaissance; pop. 4322), with a cemetery containing a pretty 13th cent,

'lanterne des morts' (p. 11). Branch-line to (5 M.) Boyardville (steamer to

La Rochelle, see p. 29).— 23 M. St-Denis (Hot. des Voyageurs, des Bains),

whence a road leads to (3 M.) the Phare de C'hassiron.

Beyond Rochefort the line ascends the valley of the Charente.

On the left is the Poitiers line.— 134 M. Ton nay-Charente (Hot.

de Paris; British vice-consul; pop. 4911), with a harbour on the Cha-

rente, here spanned by a grand suspension-bridge.— 136 M. Caba-
riot. Branch-line to Le Chapus, see p. 30.— Beyond (146V.2 ^^•)

St-Savinien (pop. 2665). with a harbour, are the chateaux of Cra-
zanues (13th-18th cent.) and Paulois.— 151 M. Taillebourg (p. 20).

157 M. Saintes (p. 20). Thence to Bordeaux, see pp. 22, 23.

b. Vi£i Challans and La Rochelle.

256V2 M. Railway in lOVa-lS^/j hrs. (fares as via Clisson). We start

from the Gare d' Orleans, but stop also at the Gare de V Etat.

Nantes, see Baedeker's N. France. We cross four arms of

the Loire.— l\uM. Pont-Ronsseau. A narrow-gauge line diverges

for (271/a M.) Lege (p. 24).— 91/2 M. Bouaye. To the left is the

shallow Lac de Grand-Lieu, 6^/., M. long by 8^/4 M. wide.

17 M. Ste-Pazanne. Lines to Painibaeuf and Parnic, see Bae-
deker's X. France.— 25 M. Machecoid (pop. 4078), once the capi-

tal of the old Duchy of Rais.— At (30 M.) Bois-de-Cene we enter

the Vendee.

36^2 M- Challans (Hot. des \'oyageurs; pop. 5877), a trading

town.
Omnibus twice daily to (10 M. to the S.W.) St-Jean-de-Monts (Hot.

de la Plage; Hot. des Voyageurs, in the town; pop. 4797), a sea-bathing
place, 1 M. from the beach.

From Challans to thk Ile de Noirmoutier and the Ile d'Yet.
Narrow-gauge railway to Frome/ittne, 16'/2 M., in 1 hr. to 1 lir. 20 min.
(2 fr. 30, 1 fr. 65 c). In summer, the former island is more easily reached by
boat from Pornic (see above).— From (10 M.) Beauvolr a causeway ('goua'),

dry at low water, crosses to join the Noirmoutier and Barbatre road.
Carr. from Beauvoir to (13 M.) Noirmoutier, about 12 fr. — 15V2M. Frovien-
tine (inn), whence we cross by a small steamer in 5 min. to (1/2 M.) La
Fosse, on the island of Noirmoutier. Thence a road leads by Barbatre
to (10 M.; omu. in IV/., hr., 2 fr. : rapid service bj' brakes in summer)
Noirmoutier.

The lie de Noirmoutier, 12 by 4V2 M., is for the greater part
below the level of high tides and requires to l»e protected by dykes.
It consists of salt-marshes and fertile i)lains. In 1793-4 tlie possession
of the island was disputed by the Vendeans and the Republicans, and
D'Elbde, the commander of the former, was captured ancl sliot. — iVo/r-
laoutier (Hot. Moderne, R. from 2'/2, L. 2V2, D. 3 fr.

;
pop. 6849). the

chief town of the island, has a small castle of the 14th cent, and a.church
with a fine crypt of the 11th. To the N.E., IV4 M., is the bathing-resort
of La Chaise (Hot. Beau-Rivage, R. from 3, D. 3»/2, P- from 9 fr.), witli

the beautiful Bois de la Chaise, a forest of pines and evergreen oaks.
La ('liaise is only 10 M. from Pornic on tlie mainland (see above).

Till- He d'Yeu, <". by 2Vv. M., lies 18 M. from the mainland. Steamer
daily from FromtMitiiH' in 1"., hr. ffan- :{. n-tiini 1'/., fr.). The coast is
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very abrupt on the W. side, but easily accessible on the E., where lies

Port-Joinville (Hot. des Voyageurs, R. 2, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Turb^).
Sea-bathing at Eer-C'halo7i, 1/2 M. to the S.B. The chief town is (11/2 M.)
St-Sauveur, in the centre of the island. On the W. side of the island

(21/2 M. from Port-Joinville) is a picturesque ruined Castle (16th and
17th cent.; key at the Mairie). Great Lighthouse, 150 ft. high, with an
electric light visible 60 M. round.

43^/2 M. Commequiers, with a ruined castle and (1 M. to the

S.) two dolmens known as the Pierres Folles.

Branch-line to (8 M.) St-&iUes-C'?-oix-de-Vie. St-Gilles-sur-Vie (Hot.

Malescot) is a small seaport and bathing-place. Opposite to it is Croix-
de-Vie, with a iishing-harbour and sea-baths. To the N". (2 M.) is the small
bathing-resort of Sion (Hot. de I'Oc^an, P. from 6 fr.), with fine rocks.

We cross the Vie. — 46 M. St-Maixent-sur-Vie. To the E.

(3 M.) is the ruined Chdteau (VA]y)'emont (16th cent.).— 631/2 M-
La Genetouze. We join the line from Nantes, via Clisson (p. 24),

and that from Tours to Les Sables-d'Oloune (R. 4).

69 M. La Roche-sur-Yon (p. 24). Thence to La Rochelle and

Bordeaux, see pp. 24-31.

4. From Tours to Les Sables-d'Olonne.
156 M. Railway in 53/4-73/4 hrs. (25 fr. 70, 19 fr. 10, 12 fr. 45 c).

Tours, see Baedeker's N. France. We cross the Nantes line

and the Cher.— 3V2 ^- Joue-les- Tours. On the left is the Loches-

Chateauroux line (p. 38).— Near (6 M.) Ballan is the Chdteau de

la Carte, the birthplace of Pope Martin IV.

16 M. Azay-le-Rideau (Hot. du Grand-Monarque, R. from 2,

L. 3, D. 3V2 fr.
;
pop. 2142), on the Indre, I74 M. from the station,

has a famous Renaissance ^Chdteau (adm. daily, 9-6 or 10-4; fee),

built in 1518-29 by Grilles Berthelot, treasurer of finance, and pur-

chased by the state in 1905. It is now fitted up as a museum.
We cross the Indre.— 21 M. Rivarennes. Then a long ascent

through the forest of Chinon.

31 M. Chinon (Hot. de I'Union, R. 21/2-5, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.

;

Hot. de la Boule-d'Or; Hot. de France, R. from 2, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.;

pop. 5943 j, picturesquely situated on the right bank of the Vienne,

is famed for its history and its Castle. It consists mainly of

narrow streets, with 15th and 16th cent, houses. Further details,

see Baedeker's N. France.
From Chinon to Port-de-Piles. 231/2 M., railway in 1 hr. 10 to 2 hrs.

25 min. (3 fr. 85, 2 fr. 85, 1 fr. 85 c), ascending the valley of the Vienne.
— IOV2 M. UIle-BoHchard, with the ruins of an 11th cent, priory, near
which is a large dolmen. —23'/2 M. Port-de-Piles (p. 3).

From Chinon to Richelieu, 13 M., railway in 3/^-1 hr. (2 fr. 15,

1 fr. 60, 1 fr. 15 c). — 10 M. Champigny-stir-Veude once had a sumptuous
chateau of the early 16th cent., demolished by order of Richelieu. Little

of it survives except the chapel, with its superb *Stained glass by R.
Pinaigrier. — 13 M. Richelieu (Hot. du Faisan, L. or D. 3 fr. ;

pop. 2124)

was the home of the family of the famous Card. Richelieu (1585-1642),
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who was probably born at Paris. The town was built almost entirely

by Lemercier (one of the Louvre architects) at Richelieu's order, and still

shows remarkable uniformity. Of the cardinal's magnificent chateau (also

by Lemercier) little now remains.

451/2 M. Loudun (Buffet; Hot. de France, R. 2, L. 2V2,
D, 3 fr.; Hot. de la Poste; pop. 4781), the Laucidunum of the

Grauls, on a hill to the left, played a part in the Religious Wars
and gave its name to an edict favourable to the Protestants in 1616.

The cure Urbain Graudier was burnt alive here as a sorcerer in 1634.

We follow the Av. de la Gare and the Rue du Portail-Chaussee,

and then the Rue de la Mairie, to the left, to the Mairie, in front

of which rises a statue (1894) of Theophraste Renaudot (1586-

1653), physician of Louis XIII. and founder of French journalism.

Straight on, we come to the Place Carnot and St-Pierre-du-Marche,
a Gothic church with a good Renaissance portal and a curious stone

spire. The Rue Carnot leads thence to Ste-Croix, a fine old Ro-
manesque church now used as a market. Behind the Mairie rises

the lofty Donjon, relic of a castle of the 12th cent., beyond which

a street to the left leads to Ste-Hilaire, a church with some good
flamboyant details. Farther on is the Porte du Martray, the chief

relic of the old ramparts.
Branch-line to (311/2 M.) CMtelleranlt (p. 4), via (201/2 M.) Lencloitre,

with a Romanesque church.

From Louduk to Angers, 54 M., railway in 21/4-3 hrs. (8 fr. 70, 6 fr. 45,
4 fr. 25 c.). — 141/2 M. Montreidl-Bellay (p. 17). We cross a new bridge
over the TAowe^.— 18M. LeVcmdelnay. About 2 M. to the S.W. is LePtnj-
Notre-Dame, with a fine 12th cent, church. — 33 M. Jofmnnet-Chavagnes.
Jotiannet, near the station, has chalybeate and sulphur baths. — 411/2 M.
Quince-Brissac. On the left, beyond the station, lies Bnssac, with a
superb chateau rebuilt in the 17th cent., but with survivals of the 13th-
15th.— 48 M. Les Poiits-de-C6 (Hot. de la Loire, du Commerce, du
Pigeon-d'Or; pop. 3224), on the Loire, lies on three islands, across which,
from bank to bank, runs a road nearly 2 M. long, with four bridges. The
bridges, rebuilt in 1846-66, are of ancient origin (Pons Saii), and have
repeatedly witnessed armed contests from the Roman period onwards.
A statue of Dumnacus, tlie Gallic chieftain, adorns the Pont St-Maurille.
On the second island is a Castle of the 9tli cent., rebuilt in the 15th; on
the third is the church of St-Maurille, with interesting 16th cent, stalls.
—We cross the Loire and soon reach (54 M.) Angers (see Baedeker's
N. France).

From Loudun to Poitiers. 431/2 M., railway in 1 hr. 25 min. to
2 hrs. (7 fr. 15, 5 fr. 15, 3 fr. 45 c). — 5 M. Argay (see below).— 12 M.
Moncontour, famous for the victory of the Duke of Anjou (Henri III.)
over the Protestants under Coligny in 1569. Ruined castle and keep (12th
cent.). Branch to (9i/o M.) Ah-vanlt (p. 18), via St-Jonin-de-Marnes, with
its famous abbey and" Romanesque *Church (mainly 11th and 12th cent.).
— 231/2 M. Mirebeau, with remains of fortifications. —33 M. Neuville,
junction of the Parthenay line (p. 10).— 43V2M. Poitiers (p. 5).

The train skirts Loudun, passing near the Porte du Martray.
— 50^2 M!. Argay, where the Poitiers line diverges (see above).

53^2 M. Pas-de-Jeu, at the head of the Canal de la Dive.
To the S.W., 21,;, M., is Oiron (Hot. de France), with an interesting

*C'hdteau, designed by Artus (rouffier, and built by his son Claude (ca.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 3
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1530-50). The fine staircase, a small chapel, and the left wing are alone
original. The rest of the building was altered by the Due de La Feuillade
after 1669. It was sacked during the Revolution, but the interior is still

richly decorated, especially in the older part. We note the enamelled plaques
probably made in the same factory as the famous Henri II. (or Oiron)
faience in the Louvre. The C'oUegiale. or chapel, consecrated in 1526,

contains four fine mausoleums, sadly mutilated by the Huguenots in 1568.

The Hospice, founded in 1704 by Mme. de Montespan, has a portrait of

her as a penitent Magdalene, attr. to Mignard.

61Y2^I- Thouars, also on the Sanmur and Bordeaux line (p. 17).

The Les Sables-d'Olonne line now forms a great bend and crosses

a viaduct 130 ft. high (view). The fields here resemble those of

the Bocage (p. 35).

Beyond (74 M.) Noirterre we join the line from Nantes to Poi-

tiers (p. 10), noting on the left the fine tower of Bressuire.

80 M. Bressuire (Buffet, good; Hot. du Dauphin, good, R.

from 2, L. 21/3, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de France; pop. 5274), on a hill on

the left, with a castle-ruin, took part in the wars with England, and

was captured by Du Guesclin in 1371. The church of Notre-Dame,
of the 12th-16th cent., has a fine tower, completed in 1538 (upper

part 18th cent.). The Chateau, dating from the 12th and 15th cent.,

of which the ruins alone remain, is now private property, but visitors

are admitted. The most interesting parts are those on the left.

Lines to Nantes and to Poitiers, see p. 10; to Montreuil-Bellay, see p. 17.

From Bressuire to Niort, 48 M., railway in 2 hrs. to 2 hrs. 40 min.

(7 fr. 85, 6 fr. 80, 3 fr. 80 c). We cross the Bocage (p. 35).— 10 M. Mon-
coutant, where flax is grown and a woollen stuff called 'breluche' is

made. — 18'M. Breuil-Barret, junction for La Rochelle (see below). — 271/2 M,
St-Laurs, junction for Parthenay (p. 18).— 311/2M. Coidonges-sur-VAutize,
with a ruined castle (16th cent.). — 39 M. Benet, junction for Fontenay-le-

Comte (see below). —We cross the Sevre Xiortaise. — 48 M. Niort (p. 18).

From Bressuire to La Eochelle, 691/2 M., railway in 2-4 hrs. (11 fr. 60,

8 fr. 55, 5 fr. 60 c.). — To (18 M.) Breuil-Barret, see above. Beyond (22 M.)

La Chataigneraie we follow the valley of the iJiere.- 36 M. Fontenay-
le-Comte (Butfet; Hot. de Foutarabie, de France; pop. 10,379), an inter-

esting old town, lies partly on a hill on the right bank of the river Ve7idee,

which here becomes navigable. It was taken by the English in 1361,

recaptured by Du Guesclin in 1372, and suffered greatly during the Religious

and Yendean' Wars. The church of Notre-Dame, dating from the 15th cent.,

has a fine spire of 1700. The Chateau de Terre-Neuve (1595-1600) contains

interesting art collections, furniture, etc. (fee). Many interesting old houses,

notably 85 Rue des Loges, the Maison des Millepertuis, occupied by
Henri IV. in 1587. To the S.E. of the town, 71/2 M., is Maillezais, with the

ruins of a famous abbey and a church of the 12th-13th cent, (restored).

Branch-lines to (121/2 M.) Benet (see above) and to (jhantonnay (p. 35).

—

At (431/2 ^I-) Vellmre we join the line from Nantes to La Rochelle (p. 25).

89 M. CeiHzay, with a modern chateau on the right. We cross

the Sevre Nantaise.— 921/2 M. St-Mesmin. We now enter the

Vendee and the Bocage region (p. 35).

98 M. Pouzauges (Hot. de France & d'Europe; pop. 3356). The

little town lies picturesquely on a hillside 21/2 M. to the N., where

we see the ruins of a grand keep of the 13th-14th cent., once owned

by Gilles de Laval, the original of 'Bluebeard'.
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Pouzauges lies nearly in the centre of the Bocage Vend6en, a

picturesque, undulating, and wooded region, broken at places by pasture-

lands, and watered by rapid brooklets. It extends between Cholet, Bres-

suire, Fonteuay-le-Corate, Chantonnay, and Tiffauges, and is divided into

sections of 5-8 acres, enclosed by high hedges which played an important
part in the wars of the Revolution. The culminating point is the Ptiy

Crapeau (945 ft.), about IV4 M. to the E. of Pouzauges. Pleasant trip

from Pouzauges to (11 M.) Les Herbiers (p. 24) via (41/2 M.) Michel-Mont-
Merciire (motor-omu. to Cholet, p. 10), at the foot of Mont Mercvre (935 ft.)-

At the top is a church, whose tower affords an immense view.

Near (104 M.) Chavagnes-les-Redoux we cross the Grand-
Lay twice.— 107Y2 ^^- Sigournais, with a 15th cent, chateau.

—

112^0 M. Chantonnay. Branch-lines to Montaigu (see p. 24),

Fonteuay-le-Comte (p. 34; 24 M.), and LuQon (p. 25; 20 M.).

The line traverses a very hilly tract and curves to the left.

We cross the Yon and join the line from Nantes to La Rochelle and

Bordeaux (R. 3), and leave it again beyond (13372 M.) La Roche-sur-

Yon (p. 24).— 139 M. Les Clouzeaitx, where the republican Gen.

Haxo was defeated and slain by the Veudeans in 1795.— 152 M.
Olonne. To the right are salt-marshes and a chain of sand-dunes.

156 M. Les Sable s-d'Olonne.— Hotels. *Grajid-Hdtel & Gr.-
Hot. du Casino, E. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 31/2. !>• 4, P. from 13 fr., *Splendide-
Hotel, Gr.-Hot. de la Plage, E. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/2, !>• 4, P. from 10 fr.,

omn. 60 c. Hot. du Remblai & de V Ocean, same charges, these four on
the beach and open in summer only ; Hot. des Pins, near the Casino des
Pins, B. 1, L. SVo, D. 4, P. from 8, omn. lit. — Touring-Hotel, near the
station, good, E. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 2V2, D- 3, P. from 7, omn. 1/2 fr- ; Hot. du
C'heval-Blanc, 21 Eue de la Poissonnerie; Hot. de France ifc des Strangers,
Place de la Libert^; Hot. Jouet, Eue Chanzy.

Sea Baths. Cabin and towel 30, costume 30 c—Warm Baths, Quai
de Franqueville.

Casino Municipal. Adm. 1/2) theatre 3/4-21/., fr.— Casino des Pins.

Adm. 1/2, theatre 1-21/2^1.

Cabs. Per drive I1/2, per hour 2 fr. — Donkey 50 c. per hour. — Electric
Tramway, in the season, between the two casinos (10-20 c).

Post & Telegraph Office, Place des Chantiers, at entrance to harbour.
Aquarium, Quai de Franqueville (8 to 11 and 12.30 to 6; adm. 50 c.).—

Syndicat d'Initiative, 26 Av. de la Gare.
British Consular Agent, F. Maillard, Cours Dupout.— Anglican

Church Service on Sun. at 2 p.m.

Les Sables-d'Olonne (pop. 14,005), a favourite sea-bathing

place, has a small harbour and a beautiful sandy beach, sloping

gently towards the S. in a semicircle of over 1 M., and flanked with

a broad esplanade, called the Remhlal and Quai de Franqueville,

with many handsome houses. The town itself is badly built; its

only object of interest is the church of Notre-Dame-de-Bon-Port,
built in 1646, and restored in 1869. Fishing and oyster-culture are

the great industries, yielding some 2^/2 million francs per annum.
To the W. of the Remblai is the Casino Municipal ; farther

on is the Chenal, and beyond it rises the modern Tour d'Arundel,
used as a lighthouse. Adjacent are the relics of a 14th cent, chateau.

To the N. lies the suburb of La Chaume, inhabited by fishermen

(ferry 5 c). The Harbour lies between the town and La Chaume.
3*
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An animated and interesting scene is presented by the port, with
the gaily painted fishing-boats with coloured sails, the fish-market, and
the comely women of the fishing population in their costume of short
skirts, black stockings, and curious white caps known as 'papillons'.

Other picturesque head-dresses are seen on Sun. and holidays.
The Marais Salants are interesting when the 'paludiers' are at

work. The sea-water floods them at high tide, leaving a deposit of salt.

The salt is then collected and heaped up in 'mulons', which look like
tents. The industry is, however, decadent, and does not pay.

A favourite excursion, by tramway or on foot, is to the Bois de la
Riideliere, the only shady walk near the town. The Sunday balls of the
Sablaises at the Casino des Pins are curious.— Another trip may be taken
(steam-launch in 20-30 min.; 1 fr. return) to the Foret d' Olonne.

Steamboats ply in summer to the lie d' Yeu and He de Re (pp. 31, 29),
La Pallice (p. 28), St-Gilles-sur-Vie (p. 32), etc.

From Les Sables-d-Qlonse to CnAiiP-ST-PERE, 24 M., narrow-gauge
line in 2V4-23/4 hrs. — 8V2M. Talmont, with a ruined chateau of the 11th
cent., besieged by Henry of Navarre in 1587.— Near (19 M.) Les MoiUiers-
les-Maufaits is the fine Dolmen de la Frehouchere. — 24:^1. Chavip-St-
Pere, on the Nantes and Bordeaux line (p. 24).

5. From Orleans (Paris) to Bordeaux
via Perigueux.

3161/2 M. Eailway in 9V2-13V2 hrs. "(56 fr. 65, 88 fr. 30 c, 25 fr.). — From
Orleans to Bordeaux via Tours, see R. 1.

I. From Orleans to Limoges.
176 M. Railway in 4 hrs. 15 to 4 hrs. 40 min. (31 fr. 35, 21 fr. 20,

13 fr. 85 c.).— From Paris, 251 M., in 5 hrs. 40 to 6 hrs. 15 min. (45 fr. 35,

30 fr. 65 c, 20 fr.).— Dining-car by morning, and sleeping-car by evening-
express.

Orleans, and thence to Vierzon, see Baedeker's JSf. France.

511/2 M. Vierzon (Buffet; Hot. des Messageries, du Boeuf
;
pop.

11,856), on the Cher and the Canal du Berry, has agricultural

machine works and potteries.

From Vierzon to Tours, 691/2 M., railway in 2-3 hrs. (12 fr. 65, 8 fr. 45,

5 fr. 50 c), down the valley of the Cher. Best views to the left.— 91/2 M.
Mennetou-sur-Cher, with an old chateau and ramparts. — 15 M. Villefranche-
sur-C'her (Hot. du Croissant). Branch-line to Romorantin and Blois, see
Baedeker's K. France. — 20 M. Gievres. [Narrow-gauge line to (10 M.)
Valengay (Hot. d'Espagne), noted for its superb Renaissance *C'hdteau
(adm. free). Designed by Philibert Delorme, it was built in 1540, en-
larged in 1691, bought by Prince Talleyrand in 1805, and was the place
of retirement of Ferdinand YII. of Spain in 1803-14; it now belongs to the
Due de Valengay. Narrow-gauge line from Valen^ay to Le Blanc, see

p. 11; steam-tramway to (Jhateauroux, see p. 38.]— 251)2 M. Selles-snr-Cher
(Hot. du Lion-d'Or; pop. 4074) has an interesting church (13th-15th cent.)

and a chateau of the time of Henri IV. — 34 M. St-Aignan-Noyers.
St-Aignan (Hot. St-Aignan, de la Gerbe-d'Or; pop. 2992), an old town,
lies 11/4 M. to the S. of the station (omn. 30 c). The Chateau (13th-16th

cent.) was restored in the 19th. It contains various works of art, including
an ancient marble sarcophagus. The Church, is late Romanesque. — At
(381/2 M.) Thesee (Thassiaca) are Roman remains, perhaps of a 'mansio',
or storehouse on a Roman road. — 451/2 M. Montrictiard. (Hot. de la Croix-
Blanche, de la Tete-Noire; pop. 2769) has a Donjon of the 11th cent. (?),
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with an enceinte of the 13th and 15th. In a W. suburb is the fine Church
of Nanteuil (12th-15th cent.).— 491/2 M. Chenonceaux, with its famous
chateau, see Baedeker'' s N. France. — At (671/2 M.) St- Pierre-des-Corps we
join the Orleans line (p. 3).— 691/2 M. Tours'{see Baedeker's N. France).

From Vierzou to Bourges, see Baedeker's X. France.

We cross the Yevre, the Canal du Berry, the Cher, and the

Arnon.— 631/., M. Eeuitly. On the right is the fine Chdteau de

la Ferte-Reuilly, built by Mansart (1659 ; burned down in 1907, but

rebuilt).— The line follows the valley of the Theols.

74 M. Issoudun (Hot. de Toulouse, R. 3-4, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.;

Hut. du Commerce & Central; pop. 13,709), an industrial town
amidst vineyards. It sustained several sieges by the English and

by the army of the Fronde (1651), which have left few old houses.

We follow^ the Boul. Diderot to the left, and then the Boul.

Nicolas-Leblanc to the right, to the Place du Marche, in which are

the Palais de Justice and a 16th cent. Toicn Gate. We pass through

the gateway to the Place Voltaire (post office) and the Hotel de ViUe,

with the Tour Blanche, a buttressed donjon of the late 12th cent.,

90 ft. high.

The Rue de la Republique leads from the Place du Marche to St-

Cyr, a Gothic church (15th cent.) wath a large stained-glass window.
— The chapel of the Hotel-Dieu (1502) contains fine carvings.

Branch-line to (15 M.) St-FIorent-sur-Cher (p. 258).

85 M. Montierchaume. We cross the Indre.

9OY2 ^I- Chateauroux (Buffet; *H6t. Moderue & du Faisan,

R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/0, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. Ste-Catheriue; Hot.

de France; cab 75 c. per drive, 2 fr. per hour; pop. 26,095), capital

of the department of the Indre, on the left bank of the Indre, is

a busy and thriving place, of which the poet M. Rollinat (1846-

1903) was a native. Its chief products are woollen stuffs and coarse

cloth. From the station we turn to the right and soon reach the

modern church of St-Andre. A little farther on are the Place La-
fayette, to the right, and, to the left, the Place Gambetta, with the

Theatre, the Post Office, and a War Monument for 1870-71. The
Rue Victor-Hugo, to the left of the theatre, leads to the Place du
Marche and the Hotel de Ville, with an interesting Musee (Sun.

and Thurs. 1-4; at other times, fee). It contains paintings, engrav-

ings, furniture, weapons, souvenirs of Napoleon I. and Gen. Bertrand

(p. 38), etc.

From the Hotel de Ville the Rue Admiral-Ribourt descends to

Notre-Dame, another modern church. From the exit we follow the

Rue Porte-Neuve to the left, the Rue Ernest-Renan to the right,

and an avenue to the right, descending to the Indre bridge, where
we have a good view of the Chdteau Raoul (14th-15th cent.),

which gave its name to the town. It is now occupied by the ar-

chives. From beyond the bridge we get a better view, embracing
also the Prefecture and the old Tour de la Prison.
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Returning, we may skirt the river, past the foot of the Chateau,

ascend to the right near the Tour de la Prison, and follow the Rues
Dauphine and Grande, passing the church of St-Martial, to the

Place Lafayette. The adjacent Place Ste-Helene is adorned with a

bronze ^Statue of Gen. Bertrand (1773-1844), friend of Napo-
leon I. On the N. side of the square is the old Church of the Cor-

deliei^s (13th cent,), now a school, with fine stained glass.

At Deols, 1 M. from the Place Lafayette, reached by the Valengay
tramway (see below), are the ruins of a famous abbey, to which belonged
the fine *Toicer (12th cent.) of the Romanesque church and fragments of

sculpture (to the right on entering the village). Farther on, to the left, is

the Porte de V Horloge, a 15th cent, belfry, with two round towers. Beyond
is the church of St-Etienne (15th-16th cent.), the crypt of which contains
the Tovih of St. Lmlre, a Gallo-Eoman v>ork (cast in the Musee, p. 37).

Steam-tramway to (31 M.) Valengaij (p. 36), via (14i/o M.) Levroux
(Hot. de la Promenade; pop. 4032), the Eoman Gabhatum, later Leprosvm,
with a church of the 12th-13th cent., Eoman remains, and a ruined castle.

From Chateauroux to Tours, 74 M., railway in 2 hrs. 25 to 3 hrs.

25 min. (13 fr. 45 c, 9 fr., 5 fr. 85 c), down the valley of the Indre.

—

16 M. Buzanqais, also on the line from Le Blanc to Valen^ay (p. 11).

—

22 M. Palluau-St-Genou. Palliiau-sur-Indre has a ruined chateau, at

some distance to the left. At St-Genoti is an interesting 11th cent, abbey-
church.— Near (26 M.) Clioii. to the right, is the Chdtecm de V Isle-Savary.
— 31 M. C'hdtiUo7i-s?ir-Jndre (Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 3621) has a ruined
castle, with a keep of the 13th cent., and a church of the 11th. Nearing
Loches we have a fine view of the town, to the right.

441/2 M. Loches (Hot. de France, de la Promenade; pop. 5346), pictur-

esquely situated on the left bank of the Indre, is famed for its *t'astle,

the ancestral home of the Plantagenets. Description, see Baedeker^s N.
France. Branch-lines to (131/2 M.) 3Io7itresor, with a Eenaissance chateau
and church, and via (13 M.) Ligueil to (251/2 ^0 Le Grand-Pressigny (p. 3).

57 M. Cormery, with a fine tower, the relic of a Benedictine abbey
(8th cent.). — 631/2 M. Monthazon, dominated by a huge keep (11th cent.).

— 70 M. Joue-les-Tours (p. 32). — 74 M. To?<rs (see Baedekers N. France).

From Chateauroux to Moktlu^on, 65 M., railway in 2 hrs. 50 min.
to 3 hrs. (11 fr. 85, 7 fr. 95, 5 fr. 15 c). — Ascending the Indre valley, we
reach {b'^/.^'M.) Ardentes (pop. 2725), with a church partly Romanesque.

—

20 M. Noha7it-Vic, with a chateau in which George Sand died in 1876.

23 M. La Chatre (Hot. Descosses; pop. 4770), an industrial town,
on the left bank of the Indre. In a square, 1/2 M. from the station, is a

fine marble statue of George Sand, the famous authoress (Baroness
Dudevant, 1804-76), by A. Millet. To the left we reach the Church, con-

taining fine stained glass (partly 16th cent.). To the left, beyond the
church, is a square Toicer, a relic of the chateau, and farther on lies

the fine Promeyuule de I Abbaye, overlooking the valley. Branch-lines
to (29 M.) Argenton (p. 39) and (47 M.) Gueret (p. 260).

Beyond (271/2 M.) Briantes, on the right, we pass the mediaeval Cha-
teau de la Motte- Feidlly. — Sl M. CharnpiUet- Urciers. Branch-line to

(231/2 M.) Lavaufranche (p. 260), by (20 M.) Boussac. — 35^12 M. C'hdteau-

meillant (pop. 3756), with the interesting church of St-Genest (11th cent.).

Branch-line to La Guerche, see p. 204. — Beyond (42 M.) C'ulan is a small
lake; then two viaducts, the second high above the pretty valley of the

Arnon. We join first the Bourges, then the Gueret line, and cross the

Cher. — Qb M. Montlugon (p. 257).

Beyond Chateauroux the Tours line diverges to the right.

—

98 M. Luant, at the E. end of the Brernie, a marshy and sterile

region.— Beyond (lOl^/a M.) Lothiers we pass through a tunnel
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and cross a viaduct, obtaining a fine view, to the right, of the superb

15th cent. Chdteau de Chabenet.

110 M. Argenton (Buffet; Hot. de Poitiers, good, R. from 2,

D. 31/2 fr.; Central-Hotel & Promenade; pop. 6122), on the Creuse,

the Roman Argentomagus. The Gothic Church has a good modern

spire. Below the second of the two bridges are several quaint old

houses. On the right bank are the relics of a Castle, destroyed

after the Fronde, and a statue of the Virgin (view).

From Argenton to Poitiers, see p. 11; to La C'hdtre, see p. 38.

Excursions. To the N., I1/4 M., is St-3Iarcel, formerly walled, with
an interesting transitional church.— In the pretty Valley of the Boiizanne,

through which runs the road from Argenton to Chateauroux, are several

castles, about 4 M. from St-Marcel, some in ruins, others still inhabited.

Down the river, V2 J^^I- below the Ijridge, is the Chateau de EocheroUe,
and above the bridge (!/» M.) are the ruins of Prunget, both on the right

bank. Farther on (I1/4 M. ; left bank) is the ruined Chdteau de diazieres,

on the site of a Grallo-Roman town.
The Valley of the Creuse, above Argenton (tramway under construction),

as far as Fresselines, is pretty, but its charms have been exaggerated by
George Sand, and part of it can be explored only on foot. We walk or

drive on tlie right bank from Argenton to (8i/.> M.) Gargilesse (Hot.

Chamblant, P. 5 fr.), a picturesque village. The transitional Church
(12th cent.) contains a crypt, wall-paintings of the 15th cent., and an old

tomb. On the left bank of the Creuse, 2 M. to the W., is the ruined
Chdteau de la Pru7ie-au-Pot. —From Gargilesse the road leads to (71/2 M).
Eguzon (see below); walkers may follow the banks of the Creuse all the

way to Crozant (see below), passing the ruins of Chdteauhrun (13th-16th

cent.; no adm.).

We now ascend rapidly into the 'Massif Central' region.— 123 M.
Eguzon (Hot. de France, good, R. IV2-2, L. 21/2, D- 3, P. 5-6 fr.).

The village lies IV2M. to the E.— 1271/2 M. St-S^bastie?! (buffet).

About 41/2 M. to the W. (omn. IV4 fr.) is Crozant (840 ft.; Hot.
Ldpinat, good; Hot. -Rest, des Ruines), a picturesque little village. On a

bold rock at the confluence of the S^delle and Creuse rises a grand ruined
*Castle (12th-l3th cent.). -- To the E. (41/2 M.) is Fresselines, a pretty village
at the confluence of the two Creuses. The church contains a relief by
Rodin (1906) in memory of the poet Rollinat (p. 37).

Branch Line from St-S^bastien to Gu^.ret (28V2 M.
; p. 260). Extensive

views of the conspicuous Trois-Cornes (2085 ft.).

139 M. La Souterraine (Hot. du Lion-d'Or, de la Paix;

pop. 4308) has a fortified gate of the 16th cent, and an interesting

Romanesque and Gothic church (restored). In the cemetery is a

13th cent, 'lanterue des morts' (p. 11).

145 M. Fromental, with a castle (14th-16th cent.).— To the

right runs the Poitiers line (pp. 10, 11). "We cross the Viaduc de

RorheroUe, 175 ft. high, with a *View of the wild valley of the

Gartempe. — 15 1^/2 M. Bersac (p. 11). The train skirts the wooded
Echelles (2245 ft.).

1551/2 M. St-Sidpice-Lauritre (buffet). Lauritre is a pictur-

esque village among hills, 2 M. to the N. To Poitiers, see pp. 11,10;
to Gu^ret, Montlugon, etc., see R. 36 a.

The Limoges train passes through a tunnel under the hills of
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La Marche.— 164Ya M. Ambazac (pop. 3649), with a Romanesque
and Gothic church.— 1681/2 M. Les Bardys. We join the Clermont-
Ferrand line (p. 42) and cross a viaduct.— 17 1 M. Le Palais (p. 42).

Then, to the right, runs the line to Bellac and Foitiers (pp. 11, 10).— 176 M. Limoges (buffet).

Limoges.

Stations. Gare des Benedictins (PI. D, 2, 3), the main station ; Gave de
Montjovis (PL A, 2), for Angouleme.— Omn. 50 c; tramway, see below.

Hotels. *Centred-Hotel (PI. 1.; C, 4), Place Jourdan, E. from 4, B. I1/4,

L. 31/2, D. 1 fr. ; *Gr.-E6t. de la Paix (PI. a, C4; formerly Amblard),
Place Jourdan, R. from 31/2, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr. ; Grand-Hotel (PI. e;

A, 3), 29-33 Rue Montmailler, near the Gare de Montjovis, good, R. from
21/.2, B. 1, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Moderne (PL c; A, 3), 6-8 Boul. Victor-Hugo,
R. from 3. B. 1, L. or D. 3, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de Bordeaux & Terminus,
opposite the main station, R. from 2i/o, L. 21/2. D- 3 fr. ; Hot. du Commerce,
30 Boul. Louis-Blanc (PI. C, 5), Hot.'Vialle, 38 Rue de Paris, R. at both
from 2 fr.

Cab for 1-2 pers., per drive 1 fr., per hour IV2 fr. (at night IV4 or 2 fr.);

for 3-4 pers. I1/2 or 2 fr. (at night 2 or 2V2 fr.).

Tramways. 1. From the Faubourg du Pont-Neuf (beyond PL D, 5)

to the Place Sadi-Carnot (PI. B, 1). — 2. From the Avenue Baudin (beyond
PL B, 6) to the Place Sadi-Carnot. ~i. From the Place Sadi-Carnot to the
Cimetiere de Louijat (beyond PL B, 1). — 4. From the Faubourg desCasseaux
(beyond PL D, 3) to the Faubourg Montjovis (beyond PL A, 3).— 5. From
the Gare des Benedictins (PL D. 2, 3) to the Ecole Norviale d^Institutrices
(beyond PL A. 4).— 6. From the Faubourg d'Ajigouleme (hejoni PL A, 3, 4)
to the Route d'Amhazac (beyond PL D, 1). Fare 10 c, with transfer
(except on line 3) 15 c.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL B, 3), corner of the Rue Daniel-La-
magiere and Rue de la Prefecture.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais and Societe Genercde, Place Jourdan; Covip-
toir d' Escornpte, 2 Boul. Carnot.

British Vice-Consul, H. F. de Luze, 8 Rue d'Isly (PL C, 3). —
Americas Conslt:,, E. L. Belisle, 3 Rue d'Isly.

Baths. Bains Chinois, 2 Av. Gambetta.
Syndicat b' Initiative, 6 Boul. Victor-Hugo.

Limoges (950 ft.; pop. 92,181), the ancient capital of the Li-

mousin, now that of the department of Haute- Vienne, headquarters

of the 12th army-corps, and seat of a bishopric, rises in a crescent

on the right bank of the Vienne. The older quarters still have

narrow streets, with timber-built houses.
In the Crallo-Roman period Augustoritum ("ford of Augustus') was

the capital of the powerful tribe of the Lemovices. After its union with
the empire it had a senate, and possessed numerous public buildings, of

which scarcely a trace remains. St. Martial, the patron-saint of the Li-

mousin, first preached the Gospel here. The town retained a certain im-
portance down to the middle ages, but it suffered much during the English
wars, especially in 1370, when it was sacked by the Black Prince. The
Religious Wars, plague, and famine ravaged it anew in the 16th cent., and
in 1630-31 it again suffered terribly from the plague. Under the regime
of Turgot (1762-74) it began to revive, but a great fire consumed nearly
200 of its houses in 1790.

Limoges is famous for its enamel-work of the 16th cent. ; the greatest

of the masters of that period were Nardon Penicaud, Leonard Liviousin,
Jean and Pierre Courteys, Pierre Reymond, and Noel Laudin. Its por-

celain is in high repute, and the kaolin prepared here is exported to
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America and other countries. Admittance is easily obtained to one of the

38 factories, which employ over 8000 hands and produce porcelain valued
at 20 million fr. per annum. Limoges also manufactures textiles, shoes, etc.,

and holds a great fair for human hair on 23rd-25th June.

From the Gare des Beuedictins (PL D, 2, 3) we ascend the Av.

de la Gare to the left, passing on the right a war-monument for

1870-71, and soon reach the Place Jourdan (PL C, 3, 4), the busi-

est part of the town, adorned with a bronze statue of Marshal
Jourdan, a nature of Limoges (1762-1838).

To the right, at the end of the Place, begins the long Av. Garibaldi,

leading to a 'rond-point' with a monument to President Carnot (1837-94),

a native of Limoges.— In the Boul. de Fleurus, to the S. of the Place,

a monument was erected in 1911 to Gen. Dalesme (1763-1832).

From the Place Jourdan the Rues du Maupas and Neuve-

St-Etienne lead to the—
^Cathedral of St-Etienne (PL D, 4), th«' most important

building in the Limousin, on the site of a Romanesque church, of

which the crypt still exists. It was founded in 1273; the choir was
finished in 1327, the S. portal a little later, and the N. portal and

two bays of the nave early in the 16th cent.; the rest is partly of

the 16th cent, and partly modern. Over the W. fagade is an earlier

Tower (205 ft.), Romanesque and Gothic. The *N. Portal is richly

ornamented, but has no statues except on the central pier.

The Interior is imposing. From the "W. entrance we pass through
a Romanesque chapel below the tower, and then through the modern
narthex, to the superb *Bood Loft, executed in 1533-4. Its delicate orna-
mentation includes six reliefs : the Labours of Hercules. The Stained
Glass dates from the 14th cent., but was restored in the 16th and 19th.

In the choir are the interesting, but dilapidated Tombs of three bishops;
that of Jean de Lanjeac (d. 1541), on the left, has lost its bronze statue,
but retains fourteen reliefs of the Visions of the Apocalypse.

The Jardins de VEvecM (PI. D, 5), S. of the Cathedral, are laid out
as a botanical garden (entered from the Av. Pont-Neuf).

The streets to the W. of the Cathedral lead to the Hotel de

Ville (PL C, 5), a fine modern Renaissance edifice.

We now ascend the Boul. Gambetta and follow the Rue Vigne-

de-Fer, to the right, to the curious Ruie de la Bouchei^ie (PL B, 4, 5),

still exclusively occupied by the butchers, whose guild was once

very influential. In front of the little church of St-Aurelien is a

Pieta, to the right of which rises a fine stone cross (15th cent.).

At the end of the Rue de la Boucherie we pass to the right of the

Halles, and soon reach the church of St-Michel-des-Lions (PL B, 4

;

14th-15th cent.), whose spire is crowned with a liuge ball. At the

S. portal are two stone lions of the 12th cent.; the stained glass in

the interior is partly of the 15th,

To the W. is the Place d'Aine (PL A, 4), with the statue of

Gay-Lussac (1778-1850), the chemist, by A. Millet (1890). The
adjacent Palais de Justice and Place d'Orsay occupy the site of

the Roman amphitheatre. The square is adorned with the 'Oak and
the Reed', in marble, and 'Ceramic Art', in bronze.
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To the N. of the Palais lies the large Place du Champ- de-Foire,

with the Musee Adrien-Dubouche (PL A. 3). Adm. daily,

except Mon. and certain holidays, 10 to 4 or 5. The ceramic col-

lection (catalogue 50 c.) is important.
Ground Floor. At the entrance, a statue of A. Dubouche (d. 1881),

a former director. — Gallery on the right: Sevres and Dresden porcelain;
Spanish. English, and Italian faience (three dishes from Pesaro, 16th cent.);
Persian, Chinese, and Japanese porcelain; faience from Delft, German^',
Switzerland, and Sweden. — Room at the end: French, Italian, and Spanish
faience; Chinese and Japanese porcelain.— We return to the preceding
gallery. On the right: French porcelain and faience (notably old Xevers,
Rouen, and Moustiers).— Gallery to the left of the entrance : French por-
celain and faience; *Enamelled terracotta by Bernard Palissy; foreign terra-
cottas; Limoges products; Chinese bronzes. —Room at the end: Oriental
porcelain.—We return to the preceding gallery. On the right: Sevres and
Copenhagen por<^'^i»in, enamelled specimens, etc.

First Floor. Paintings, etc. Salon Central: Troyon, *Vintage at
Suresnes.^Gallet; on the right. Room I: Ma/tzaisse, Portr. of Turgot.
Room III: Leonard Limoiisin, *Portr. of Constable Anne de Montmorency.
— Gallery on the left. Room I : Nattier, *Portr. of a lady (1751): Le Br»n,
Battle of Constantine against Maxeutius, after Raphael ; "four Early Italian
small panels of a predella. Room III : Coins, antiquities, wood-carvings.
Room IV: Models, bronzes, enamels, ivories, etc. — Room V (apply to cus-
todian) : *Limoges enamels; L. Limousin, Doubting Thomas, painting on
wood (1551); ancient jewellery. .

The Rue Turgot leads N.E. from the Place du Champ-de-Foire
to the Boul. Carnot, which descends to the right, past the large

Place de la Republique (PI. B, C, 3, 4), to the Carrefour Tourny
and the church of St-Pierre-du-Queyroix (PI. C, 4), begun in the

12th cent., but altered later. It is of irregular shape, and has double

aisles. Fine stained-glass window of the 16th cent., by Penicaud
(Death and Coronation of the Virgin).

The chapel of the Lycee Gay-Lussac (PI. C, 4), a little to the

S., contains an Assumption, attributed wrongly to Rubens, and a

richly carved old altar-screen.
Interesting excursion from Limoges to Solignac and the Chateau de

Chalusset (p. 88).

From Limoges to Angozdevie, see p. 15; to Poitiers, see pp. 11, 10;
to P6rigueux, see below; to Brive (Aurillac) and Toulouse, see R. 13.

From Limoges to Clermokt-Ferrakd. 135 M., railway in 6 hrs. 40 (in

summer) to 8 hrs. 35 min. (24 fr. 40, 16 fr. 50, 10 fr. 80 c). —bM.Le Palais
(p. 40). —We ascend the Vienne valley. — 15 M. St-Leonard (Hot. de la

Boule-d'Or; pop. 6443), an old industrial town, has a Romanesque church
(llth-12th cent.). —31 M. Eyvioidiers (Hot. Pintou; pop. 4094), pictur-

esquely situated, has a Romanesque church, with fine old stained glass,

interesting stalls, and valuable plate. — From (62 M.) Meymac, where we
join the line from Brive, to Clermo-nt-Ferrand, see pp. 270, 269.

n. From Limoges to Bordeaux vi^ Perigueux.

From Limoges (Gare des Bdn^dictins) to Perigueux, 6I1/2 M., in 1 hr,

hrs. 30 min. (11 fr. 20, 7 fr. 50, 4 fr. 90 c). — From Perigueux to Bordea
«I., in 1 hr. 45 to 4 hrs. 20 min. (14 fr. 30, 9 fr. 60, 6 fr. 25 c).

We pass under the town by a tunnel and cross the Vienne.
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1272^1- Nexon (1080 ft.; Hot. de France; pop. 3135), with a

church of the 12th and 15th cent., and chateau of the 16th. Line

to Brive via St-Yrieix, see R. 13, lb.— 11^j^^. Lafarge. View
to the left.— 23 M. Bussiere-Galant, also on the line from Saillat-

Chassenon to St-Yrieix (see p. 15).

38V2 M. Thiviers (830 ft. ; Hot. de France
;
pop. 3398), prettily

situated, has a Romanesque Church (12th cent., but altered) and

the Renaissance Chdteau de Vococour (now a hotel).

From Thiviers to Le Queroy-Pranzac (Angouleme) via Nontron., see

p. 15. — Steam-tramway to (201/2 M.) St-Yrieix (p. 89).

From Thivieks to Brive, 42Vo M., railway in 2 hrs. 10 to 2 hrs.

45 min. — 12 M. Excidetdl (p. 46). — At (20 M.) Hautefort is a superb
chateau of the 11th cent., rebuilt in the 16th-17th. Line to Terrasson,
see p. 272. — At (31 M.) Ayen-Juillac we cross the La Riviere-de-Mansac
line (p. 272).— 36V2 M. Le Burg, on the Limoges and St-Yrieix line (p. 89).
— 421/2 M. Brive (p. 89).

5172^- Agonac, with a Romanesque-Byzantine church.— 56 M.
Chdteau-VEveque (p. 46), with a chateau of the 15th cent., once

the residence of the Bishops of Perigueux.— The Bordeaux line

runs to the right, crossing the Isle.— 61^2 ^i- Perigueux.

Perigueux.
Hotels. Hot. du Commerce & des Postes (PI. e; D, 2), Place du

Quatre-Septembre, good, E. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8V2 fr-

;

Hot. de France (PI. a; D, 3), Place Francheville; Hot. des MessageHes
(PI. b; D, 3), Place Francheville, good. B. I'/i, L. 3, D. 31/0, P. 10-12 fr.;

Hot. de VUnivers (PL c; D, 3), 23 Eue de Bordeaux. R. from 21/2, B. I1/2,

L. 3, D. 31/2, P. 8V2 fr.; Hot. du Pengord (PL d; D, E, 1), Cours Michel-
Montaigne, R. from 2V2, L. or D. 3 fr.

Cabs. Per drive in the town a/4, per hour lV2fr. ; with two horses
1 or 2 fr.

;
per hour outside the town, 2 or 2V2 fr.— Tramways, see p. 46.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. D, 2), 29 Rue Gambetta.
Banks. Credit Lyonnais, 22 Place Bugeaud; Soci^te G^nh-ale and

Comptoir d'Escompte, 23 and 5 Cours Michel-Montaigne.
Centre de Tourisme du Peuioord, Cours Michel-Montaigne.
Perigueux is noted for its 2^ates truffes ('P^rigord pies').

Perigueux (pop. 33,548), a lively town, formerly the capital

of the Perigord, now that of the department of the Dordogne,
lies on the right bank of the Isle.

Perigueux was the ancient Vesunna, capital of the Petrucorii, or
rather it has taken the place of that town, which lay to the S.E. of the
station. The Pny St-Front, on which the Cathedral now stands, was once
the site of a monastery, the nucleus of still existing picturesque houses.
In the 16th-18th cent, the town spread to the E. ; the Cit4, to the S., stands
partly on the site of the Roman town. The English besieged the town
three times, but not with success till 1356. It was afterwards sacked
by tlie Huguenots, who occupied it in 1575-81.

From the station the Rue Denis-Papin, to the right, and Uien,
to the left, the Rues des Mobiles-de-Coulmiers and de Bordeaux, lead
to the Place Bugeaud (PI. D, 2), with a bronze statue of Marshal
Bugeaud (1794-1849). The Rue Taillefer leads straight on to the
old Place Marcillac or de la Clautre (PI. E, 2).
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The *Cathedral of St-Front (PI. F, 2), in this square, dedi-

cated to the patron-saint of Perigord, is one of the most interesting

churches in France. It was originally an Augustinian abbey-church,

founded in the 6th cent., and was not made a cathedral until 1669,

after the destruction of the old Cathedral of St-Etieuue by the

Huguenots. The part through which we enter from the Place de la

Clautre was built early in the 11th cent,, or possibly in the 7th or

8th. The '^ Tower above it, 215 ft. high, though frequently altered,

is most impressive. It consists of two square stories, the first with

pilasters, the second with columns, and of a round story above,

enclosed by a colonnade and crov.ued with a kind of tiled dome.

Adjacent, on the right, are the Cloisters, a relic of the old abbey,

dating from the 12th-14th cent., and under restoration since 1909.

(Apply to the sacristan.) Whatever be its original date, St-Front

was practically rebuilt by Abadie in 1858, and the apse is entirely

modern. The church is Byzantine in design, in the form of a Greek
cross with cupolas. The interior measures 185 ft. each way, and

its five great cupolas, resting on pendentives and fluted square

piers, are about 90 ft. high.
We descend the Rue du Calvaire (old houses), to the left of the Place

de la Clautre, then the Rue Aubergerie to the left, which leads via the
Place Hoche to the Cours Fenelon and the Pont St-Georges (PI. F, 3).

Crossing the bridge, we obtain a superb view of the Cathedral, We then
follow the Rue des Tanneries to the Po72t des Barris (PI. F, 2) and cross

it to the Place Daumesnil. On the way we have a good view of the old

houses on the right bank.

From the Place Daumesnil (PL E, F, 2; the Rue St-Front leads

past the Freemasons^ Lodge (PI. 1 ; E, 2) to the pleasant Allees

de Tourny (PI. E, F, 1). Here we turn to the right to the —
Musee du Perigord (PI. F, 1), containing Roman antiquities,

paintings, and sculptures, and on the first floor a most valuable

prehistoric collection (catalogue 1^4 fi'-)- Adm, Sun, and Thurs.,

12-5; on other days, fee.

Gkouxd Floor. Vestibule. Busts of celebrities. — Room I. Glass-cases

containing arms, curiosities, china.— Room II. On the right, J. B. Vcailoo,

Marshal de Belle-Isle; H. Scheffer, Virgin and Child; De Heem. Fruit;

Guesnet, Roland at Roncevaus. — Room III, G. Renault, Child praying;
Dcmzats, View of Toledo, — Room IV (left of R. II), or Salle St-Astier.

Bloernaert, Landscape; Verbrnggen, Holy Family; Beerstraaten, Dutch
village; P. Brueghel, Egg-dance: L/<ca Giordano, St, Paul on the way to

Damascus; Fra Filippo Lippi, Madonna and Child; Ribera, St, Francis

of Assisi; De Heem, Still-life; LocateUi, Rural pastimes. —Room V,
Water-colours, engravings, and drawings.

We next pass through Room IV to the Cloisters, which contain Roman
and Gallo-Roman relics. — Straight on, we come to three rooms and a

vestibule, with Roman and Gallic antiquities, pottery, shells, and minerals.

First Floor. Vestibule. Coins, local views.— Room I. Portraits,

curiosities, faience, crystal. —Room II (Salle Michel-Hardy) contains one
of the finest prehistoric collections in France. Slabs of breccia and soil

from the cavern of Eyzies (p. 86), containing bones, reindeer-horns, flints,

coal, ashes, etc.; flint implements, carved or engraved bones; tusk of

mammoth; cast of 'homo Aurignacensis', and original skeleton of a pre-

historic man from Raymonden (Dordogne),
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On the ground-floor, to which we return, another room contains a

miscellaneous collection of old furniture, seals, pictures, tapestry, etc.

The Library, adjoining the Musee, contains 36,000 vols., 185 of which
once belonged to Marie Antoinette.

At the end of the Allees de Touruy, to the right as we leave the

Musee, is a Monument for 1810-11. Fine view of the valley of the

Isle. On the left rises the Prefecture (PI. F, 1). At the opposite

end of the Cours is a statue of Fenelon (p. 56).

To the left the Cours Michel-Montaigne (PI. E, D, 1, 2), the

busiest part of the town, extends to the Place Bugeaud (p. 43). It

is adorned with statues of two illustrious natives of Perigord, Mon-
taigne (1533-92; p. 54) and Gen. Daumesnil (1776-1832).

To the left of the Place Bugeaud is the Place Francheville
(PI. D, E, 3), where, on the left, rises the Tour Mataguerre, a

relic of the 15th cent, fortifications.

The Eue de la Cite, on the opposite side of the square, leads to

the interesting church of St-Etienne (PI. D, 4), in the 'Cite', the

cathedral down to 1669. It dates from the 11th and 12th cent.,

resembling St-Front in style, but was almost entirely destroyed by
the Huguenots in 1577. It contains a huge carved oak reredos, exe-

cuted by a Jesuit in the 17th cent., representing the Assumption.
To the N., in the convent of Ste-Marthe (PI. D, 3, 4), is the disused

Chapelle de VEvecM, containing excellent Renaissance sculptures.

From the exit of St-Etienne the Rue de I'Ancien-Eveche leads

to the ruins of the Gallo-Roman Ar^nes (PLC, 3; 3rd cent.). The
only remains are a few passages, mostly on the W. side. There
was room for 20,000 spectators. Pretty grounds in the interior.

Returning to St-Etienne and leaving it on the left, we follow

the Rue Romaine (with remains of the Gallo-Roman walls), to the

S., and the Rue Turenne to the right, to the ruins of the CMteau
Barri^re (PI. C, 4). Dating from the 10th-16th cent., it was built

on the Roman ramparts, of which two towers still remain. Adjacent
are parts of these ramparts and the Porte Normande. The castle

was burned down by the Huguenots in 1577.

We return to the Rue Romaine and follow it, to the right, to a

railway bridge, which we cross to the Tour de V6sone (PL D, 4),

another Roman relic. This was evidently the cella of a temple,

recently excavated. The tower is 76 yds. in circuit and 80 ft. high,

but must have been higher. The breach on the E. side was caused
by the demolition of the doorway and of the peristyle in front.

From Perigucux to Agen and Tarbes, see R. 12; to Btive (Clermont-
Ferrand), see R. 3(5 b, III.

From P^rigueux to Parcoul-M^dillac, 41V2M., railway in 2 hrs. 10
to 2 hrs. 50 min. (7 fr. 50, 5 fr. 5, 3 fr. 30 c.).— 121/2 M. Lisle. We follow
the valley of the Dronne.— 15 M. Tocane-St-Apre, 3 M. to the N. of which
is Le Grand-Brassac, with a Romanesque-Byzantine church (13th - 14th
cent.), with cupolas and fine sculptures. — 23 M. Rihprac (p. 15). — 81 M.
Aubeterre (Hot. de France), picturesquely overlooking the Dronne, has
a ruined C'hdtecm (14th and Kith cent.), the church of Sf-Jenn (12th cent.),



46 Route 5. BRANTOME.

hewn in the rock, and the church of St-Jacques with a superb facade (11th
cent.). —411/2 M. Parcoul-Medillac (p. 16).

From Perigueux to St-Pardoux-la-Riviere, 33 M., steam-tramway
from the Place Francheville (p. 45). — 41/2 M. Chancelade has a 17th cent,

abbey-church, with a 12th cent, facade.— 7 M. ChdteaUrVEveque (p. 43).

—

16 M. Valeuil-BoiirdeiUea. To the W. (3/4 M.), on the Dronne, is Bourdeilles,
with an interesting castle of the 14th and 16th cent., and a lofty keep.
We ascend the picturesque valley of the Dronne.— 201/2 M. Brantome
(Hot. Chabrol, Moderne; pop. 2428), prettily situated on the Dronne, has
interesting remains of a Benedictine Abbey dating from Charlemagne, and
once occupied by the chronicler Pierre de Bourdeilles (ca. 1527-1614). The
abbey, rebuilt in the 18th cent., is now the Mairie. Behind are curious
Grottoes, containing sculptures (16th cent.). The Church has a tower of

the 11th cent., one of the oldest in France. Adjacent are relics of the
15th cent. Cloisters. Brantome is a good centre for excursions. — 271/2 M.
Q?iinsac -Villars, 2 M. from which is the Chateau de Puyguilhem (16th

cent.). — 33 M. St-Pai'dottx-la-Riviere (p. 15).

From Perigueux to St-Yrieix (p. 89), 461/2 M., steam-tramway from
the Place Francheville (p. 45). The chief station on this interesting route
is (221/2 M.) Excideuil (p. 43), with a chateau of the Talleyrand-Perigord
family (13th-16th cent.).

From Perigueux to Vergt, 15 M., steam-tramway in 1 hr. 25 min., from
the Place Francheville (p. 45). Thence to Bergerac, see p. 56.

Beyond Perigueux the Bordeaux line follows the valley of the

Isle to its confluence with the Dordogne.— 61^/2 M. JRazac-sur-

risle, in a hilly district.— 72 M. St-Astier, with a domed church

of 1010, but altered later.— 77 M. NeuviCj with a 16th cent,

chateau.— 83^2 M- Mussidan. Branch-lines to Riberac (I91/2 ^-i
p. 15) and Bergerac (17 M.; p. 56).— 93 M. Monpont. To the N.,

21/2 ^I-j is the Chartreuse de Vauclaire (14th cent., restored in

the'lOth).— 104 M. St-Medard-de-Guizieres. At Petit-Palais-et-

Cornemps^ 2^/2 M. to the S., are a Romanesque church (12th cent.)

and a ruined abbey. We join the line from Paris to Bordeaux.

108 M. Coutras, and thence to Bordeaux, see p. 16.

6. Bordeaux.
stations. Gare St-Jean or du Midi (PI. D, 5; bufifet and hotel),

for the fast Paris trains, to the S., on the left bank of the Garonne, connected

with the two following stations: Gare de la Bastide (?\. D, 3, 4), of the

Orleans Co., on the right bank; Gare de VEtat (PI. D, 4), near the last,

for slow trains on the State line; Gare du Medoc or St-Loins (PI. C, 1),

to the N., for the Medoc (R. 7 a) and Lacanau (p. 55) lines.— Railway-omni-
buses (50 c; trunk 20 c.) and cabs- (see p. 47), but no hotel-omnibuses.

Hotels. At the Gare St-Jean, I1/2 M. from the centre of the town

:

*H6t. Terminus, first-class, R. from 6, B. I1/4, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 15 fr.

— Opposite are several fair hotels for a short stay: Regina-Hotel, R.

from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. SV-, fr.; Hot. Commercial, R. from 31/2, B. 1,

L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Faisan, R. from 21/2, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.; Hot. du
Printtvvps, same charges.

In the town: *H6t. de France & Grand-Hotel (PI. a: C, 3), 9-11 Rue
Esprit-des-Lois, R. 4-20, B. li/.„ L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. 13-30 fr.; Hot,

de Bayonne (PI. c; C. 3. 4), 6-10 Rue Martignac, good, R. from 4, B. I1/4,

P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. de Bordeaux (PI. e; C, 3, 4), 1-5 Place de la Comedie,
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R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 5, D. 6, P. from 14 fr.; Hot. des Princes & de
la Paix (PI. b; C, 4), 40 Cours du Chapeau-Eouge, R. from 4, B. 1V2>
L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr.; Hot. du Chapon-Fin (PI. d; B, 3), 7 Rue
Montesquieu, R. from .3 fr.; Gr.-H6t. M4tropole & Excelsior (PI. f ; C, 3),

2 Rue de Condd, R. from 5, B. li/2» L- 4, D. 5, P. from 12fr. — iTo^.

Gobineau (PI. g; C, 8), corner of Cours du Trente-Juillet and Allies de
Tourny, good, R. from 8, B. 1, L. 2V2, D- 3, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. des
Americains & Nicollet (PI. h; 0, 8), 4 Rue de Conde, commercial, R. from
31/2, B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 8V2fr.; Gr.-Hot. Frangais, 12 Rue du Temple, R.
from 3, B. 1, L. 2V>, D. 3, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Beeli, 10 Rue Voltaire,

R. from 21/2, L. or D."2i/4, P. from 7 h. — Mle. Dupeyron, 14 Rue du Pont-
de-Ia-Mousque, family hotel, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 2V2, D- 3, P. from 8 fr.

Hotels Meubles. *Gr.-H6t. Montre (PI. i: B, 3, 4), 4 Rue Montesquieu,
R. from 23/4, B. 1 fr. ; Hot. de Norvxandie (PL k; C, 3), 1 Rue Gobineau,
R. from 3, B. 1 fr. ; Hot. de Nice, 4 Place du Chapelet, E. of Xotre-Dame
(PI. C, 3. 4), R. from 31/", B. I1/4 fr.; Hot. des Quatre-Soetirs, 6 Cours du
Trente-Juillet, R. from 2"^^/4, B. 1 fr.; Hot. du Centre, 8-10 Rue du Temple,
R. from 23/4, B. 1 fr.

Restaurants. *Chapon-Fin (see above) and *Bayonne (p. 46), k la

carte and first-class ; *3Ietropole (see above), a la carte ; Cafe de Bordeaux,
at the Hot. de Bordeaux (p. 46), good.— Gr.-Cafe Anglais, 37 Allies de
Tourny, good, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Gobineau (see above), good ; Rest, du Louvre,
21 Cours de I'lntendance, good, L. 2i/o, D. 8 fr. ; Rest, de Paris, 13 Allees
de Tourny, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Tav. Gruber, 15-19 Allies de Tourny, L. or

D. 3 fr. (incl. cotfee); Cafe de Madrid, 9 Allees de Tourny, a la carte,

good; Rest. Moderne, 5 Rue Gobineau (1st floor), L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Beeli
(see above); Rest, de la Presse, 6 Rue de la Porte-Dijeaux; Rest. Pa-
risien, 7 Rue Mably.

Cabs. One horse, per drive 11/2? per ho^ir 2 fr. (open cab 21/2 ft".)

;

at night (12-6) 2 or 3 fr. ; two horses, 2, 3, 3, and 8 fr. Luggage : 50 c.

for 1 or 2 trunks, then 50 c. each. — Taximeters (red flag): 75 c. (IV2 ft'-

at night) for 1000 metres, then 10 c. for each 250 m.; for waiting, 3 c. per
8 mill.; with white flag, slightly higher fares. — Motor Cabs: 1 fr. (2 fr.

at night) for 1200 m., then 20 c. for each 400 m. ; for waiting, 20 c. per
4 min.; return-fare, if beyond boulevards, 25 c. per 500 m.

Electric Tramways (10 c, return 16 c). From the Quai de
Brienne (beyond Pl.E, 6): lb, to the Passerelle (Pont du Chemin de
Fer; PL E, 5); 12, to the Rue d' Omano (PL A, 5), by the S. boulevards.
— From the Gare St-Jean (PL D, 5): lac, to the Bo'ul. Albert-Branden-
burg (bevond (PL E, 1; free transfer between Lines lac and lb); 3, to

the Gare du Jledoc (PL C, 1); 3^'', to the Quai de Bacalan (PL E, 1, 2);

9, to the Rue d' Omano (PL A, 5). — 2 a. From the Quai Deschamps
(PL E, 4) to the Port de Lorviont (bevond PL E, 2 ; 15 and 25 c.). — From
the Place JJagenta (PL B, 4): 2b, to the Av. Thiers (PL E, 3); 2c, to

the Barriere de la Benauge (bevond PL E, 4); 15, to the Place de Tourny
(PL B, C, 8). —4. From the Place de Bourgogne (PL D, C. 4) to St-

Augustin (bevoud PL A, 5). — From the Place Richelieu (PL C, 3): 5,
to the Pare Bordelais (PL A, 2); 5^'", to the Cours St-Medard (PL A,
3); 13, to St-Augustin (beyond PL A, 4). —From the Place Richelieu
(Pi. C, 3) to the Boul. de Caudiran (PL A, 3): 6, by the Rue de la Croix-
Blanche (PL A, 3); 6^18, by the Rue Judaique (PL B, A, 4). —From the
Place Richelieu (PL C, 3) to the Bo7d. de Talence (PL A-C, 5, 6): 7, bv
the Rue de Pessac (PL B, 5); 7bi^ by the Rue de St-Genes (PL B, 5, 6);

8, by the Cours de Bayonne (PL C, B, 5, 6); 8^'^, bv the Cours de Tou-
louse (PL C, 5, 6).— 10. From the Quai des Chartrons (PL D, 2) to the
-Rue d'Ornano (PL A, 5). —11. From the Bovl. du Bouscat (PL A, 2) to

the Cours de la Martinique (PL C, 2). —From the Place des Quinconces
(PL C, 3) to the Boul. de Bugles (bevond PL C, D, 6): 14, by the Cours
d'Espagne (PLC, 5,6); 14»^i«, by the Rue de B6gles (PL C, D, 5,6).—
There are also services to the suburbs.
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Motor Omnibus (15 c.) from the Jardin Public (PI. B. C, 3) to the
Place d'Aqiiitaine (PI. 0, 5).

Steamers. Steam-launches ply in the harbour and to places near.
Ferry across the river, every 5 min., 10 c. In summer larger steamers ply
upstream to Langoiran (p. 55) and downstream to Royan (see p. 58).

Steamboat Offices. Messageries Maritimes. 20 Allees d'Orleans;
Compagnie Generale Transatlantiqne. C'horgeters Retoiis. and Pacific
Steam Navigation Co.. 15; 16. and 6 Q,uai Louis XVIII; Worms & Co.,
7 Allees de Chartres; General Steam Navigation Co.. 39 Quai des Char-
trons. — Tourist Agents. Lubin, 42 Cours de I'lntendance; Voyages
Duchemin. A.&'^^ Cours du Chapeau-Roiige.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 1), 7-18 Rue du Palais-Gallien

;

sub-offices at the Bourse (PI. C, 4), etc.

Theatres. Grand-Theatre (PI. C. 3. 4; p. 50; adm. 1-6 fr.), closed for
repairs in 1913; Theatre Franqais (PI. B, 3, 4; 3/4-41/2 fr.). —Variety
Theatres. Alhamhra (PI. A. B, 4). Rue d'Alzon (1-8 fr.); Ajyollo-Thedtre
(PI. B, 4), 3-11 Rue Castelnau-d'Auros (3/4-4 fr.); La Scala, 16 Rue Vol-
taire; Boiiffes-Bordelais, 97-101 Rue Judaique. — C'as/?io des Lilas, Boul.
de Cauderan; adjacent, the American Park.

Banks. Comptoir d'Escompte, 10 Allees de Tourny; Credit I/yon-
nais and Societe Generale, 13 and 14 Cours de I'lntendance; Banqve de
Bordeano:, 8 Rue d'Orleans.

Baths. Grands Thermes du Hammam, 45 Rue Vital-Carles ; Bains
St-Semnn, 23 Rue Jean-Soula; Chartrons, 29-31 Rue Xotre-Dame; 3Iidi,

47 Rue St-Vineent-de-Paul; Fondaud'ege, 152 Rue Fondaudege; Palais-
Gallien, 136-138 Rue du Palais-Gallien.— River Baths above the Pont
de Bordeaux.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 7 Cours de Tourny.
British Consul, A. L. S. Rowley, 18 Rue Blanc-Dutrouilh.

—

American Consul, A. K. Moe, 52 Cours du Jardin-Public.
Clubs. Anglo-American Club, 26 Allees de Tourny. — Golf Club

(9 holes). 21/2 M. from the town.
Anglican Church(Pl.C,3). lOCours du Pave-des-Chartrons; services

at 10 and 3.30; chaplain. Rev. J. W. L. Burke, 14 Quai des Chartrons.

Bordeaux (pop. 261,678) the ancient capital of Guyenne, the

chief town of the department of the Gironde, headquarters of the

18th army-corps, and seat of an archbishopric and a university,

lies on the left bank of the Garonne. Its excellent harbour, the

third in France, is 16 M. from the confluence of the Garonne and
Dordogne (p. 58), and 60 M. from the Atlantic. It is the fourth

town in France in size, and one of the most important in virtue of

its trade (p. 49) and its splendid site. The buildings erected by the

Marquis de Tourny (p. 49) are masterpieces of the 'royal' architec-

ture of France.
Burdigala, capital of the Bituriges Vivisci, was one of the chief

cities of G-aul under the Romans. It then became the capital of Aqui-
tania Secunda, endured the devastations and the yoke of Vandals, Visi-

goths, Franks, and Normans, and became part of the Duchy of Aquitaine
or Guyenne. which passed to England on the marriage of Eleanor to

Henry Plantagenet (s"ee p. 5). More fortunate than other towns of the
province, it suffered little from the wars between France and England,
and became loyally attached to its new masters, who greatly encouraged
its commerce, and retained it for 300 years (down to 1453). The im-
position of the salt-tax. under Henri II., caused a serious revolt, for

which the town was cruelly punished by the Constable de Montmorency
in 1548. Conflicts also arose between the Catholics and Protestants, and
264 of the latter were massacred after St. Bartholomew's Dav. The town
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was again disturbed by dissensions at tbe time of the Fronde (-rOrmce').

In the reign of Louis X\\ Bordeaux had for its governor the Marquis de

Tourny (1743-57). to whom it owes its finest buildings and streets. The
ambition of its -Parlement' was easily repressed; but the citizens suffered

for revolting against the Convention after the proscription of the Girondins,

The town disliked the rule of Napoleon, who ruined its trade, and it

rejoiced in the restoration of the Bourbons. In 1870-71 it was for three

months the seat of the Provisional Government, and then that of the

National Assembly (p. 51), which here accepted the preliminaries of peace.

Those who alight at one of the stations in La Bastide (PI. D,

3, 4), the suburb on the right bank, obtain the best idea of the

grandeur of the town. Those who arrive at the Gare St-Jean (PL

i), 5) reach the most interesting parts of the town by following the

left bank downstream, towards the N.

The Pont de Bordeaux (PL D, 4), or Pont de Pierre, long,

considered the finest bridge in the world, was built of stone and

brick in 1819-21 by Deschamps and Billaudel. (Splendid view.) It

is 550 yds. long and 16 yds. wide, and has 17 arches. Between the

arches and the roadway are passages which lighten the structure

and facilitate repairs. The interior may be visited (9-11 and 1-5;

apply to the custodian, at the Bastide end). Upstream, near the

Gare St-Jean, is the Pont MetaUique du Chemi/i de Fer (PL E, 5),

a tabular bridge 550 yds. long, with a passage for walkers.
Below the Pont de Bordeaux two new bridges are to be erected, one

a Pont a Travee Mobile, which may be opened for the passage of vessels

(PI. C, 3 ; opposite the Quinconces), the other a Pont Transbordeur, oppo-
site the Cours du Medoc (PI. D, 2).

The Harbour is one of the chief sights. The Graronne here

describes a great curve, 31/2 M. long, on which stretches the town.

Although 60 M. from the mouth of the Grironde, the harbour is

tidal and may be entered by vessels of 10,000 tons. The average

depth of the river here is 20 ft., but is sometimes doubled at spring-

tides. The large dock at the lower end of the quays ('Bassin a Flot

N'o. 1'; PL D, E, 1), 25 acres in area, can hold 76 large vessels.

Another ('Bassin a Flot No. 2') has just been constructed behind it,

and further improvements are projected. Spacious quays, dating

partly, like most of the adjoining buildings, from the end of the

18th cent., line the river on both sides. Those on the left bank are

over 3 M., those on the right bank over ^4 M. long.
Bordeaux trades regularly with most of the Atlantic ports, the Eng-

lish Channel, the North Sea, and the Baltic, with N. and S. America,
Africa, and India. Vessels of an aggregate tonnage of 4 million enter
and clear the port annually. Its commerce is chiefly in wines, French
plums, colonial produce, metals, English coal, timber from N. Europe,
vinegar, grain, brandy, and manufactures. Bordeaux is also an industrial
town, containing in particular many ship-building yards and prorision-
ing warehouses. A trip by 'bateau-omnibus' to Lormont (p. 16) affords

a good survey of these various industries.

The Cours Virtoi'-Hugo (PL C, 4; see p. 54), in line with the

Pont de Bordeaux, marks the limits of the old town, which did not

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 4
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extend beyond the Place des Quinconces (see below). The Porte de
Bourgogne or des Salinieres, at the beginning of the Cours, erected

in 1751-5, was altered in 1808. From the Quai de Bourgogne, the

first below the bridge, the handsome Cours d'Alsace-Loi'raine

(PI. C, 4) leads W. to the Cathedral (p. 53). Farther on, to the

left, a little back from the quay, is the Porte de Cailh.au or du
Palais (PL C, 4), begun in 1493 and converted in 1495 into a trium-

phal arch in memory of the victory of Charles VIII. at Fornovo.

It once preceded the Palais de I'Ombriere, demolished in 1800, the

former residence of the Dukes of Aquitaine, and later the seat of

the governors and of the Parlement of Bordeaux. The gateway con-

tains the Musee du Yieux-Bordeaux (Sun. 2-4, free ; on other days,

9-5, adm. 50 c).

Next comes the Quai de la Douane, with the Hotel de la

Douane (PI. C, 4), built by Jacques Gabriel in the 18th cent., ad-

joining which is the Place de la Bourse, with a bronze Fontaine
des Trois-Grdces (1869). The handsome Hotel de la Bourse (PL

C, 4, 3), a counterpart to the Hotel de la Douane, built by Gabriel

in 1749, was restored and completed in 1862.

In the Place Richelieu (PL C, 3) rises a monument to President

Carnot, by Barrias (1895).

A little farther X. is the Place des Quinconces (PL C, 3),

on the site of the Chateau Trompette, built by Charles VII. at the

same time as the Fort du Ha (p. 54), after the submission of Bor-

deaux in 1453, but destroyed in 1789. The square is 426 yds. long

and 360 yds. wide, apart from the crescent on the W. side. Next the

river are two Rostral Columns, 65 ft. high, crowned with statues

of Commerce and Navigation, and serving also as lighthouses. In

the square rise colossal marble statues of Montaigne (1533-92;

p. 54) and Montesquieu (1689-1755).

The ^Monument to the Girondins, on the W. side of the square,

by Dumildtre and Rich (1897j, consists of a column bearing a bronze

statue of Liberty. In front of the pedestal are statues of Eloquence
and History ; at the back, those of Bordeaux, the Garonne, and the

Dordogne; on the right and left are figures of the Republic and
Concord in cars drawn by sea-horses.

The Cours du Treute-Juillet leads N. to the Jardin Public (p. 51)

and S. to the Allees de Tourny (p. 51) and Place de la Comedie
(PL C, 4). The latter is the busiest centre of trafiic. To the E. runs

the handsome Rue Esprit-des-Lois, and to the S. the busy Rue
Ste-Catherine. On the S. side passes the great thoroughfare formed
by the Cours du Chapeau-Rouge, the Cours de Vlntendance, and

the Rue Judaique.
The -Grand-Theatre (PL C, 3, 4), built in 1753-80 in the

classical style by V. Louis, and restored in 1864 and 1881, is one

of the finest theatres in France. In front is a portico of twelve
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Corinthiau columns, above which runs a balustrade with twelve

colossal statues. At the sides are broad colonnades. Most notable

in the interior are the vestibule with its sixteen Ionic columns,

the grand staircase ascending in two flights, and the auditorium

itself, embellished with twelve composite columns. Above the

vestibule is a concert-hall. It was in this theatre that the National

Assembly sat in 1871.

Behind the theatre is the Prefecture (PL C, 3), built by Louis

in 1775.

The Allees de Tourny (PL C, 3), formerly planted with

trees, present one of the liveliest scenes in Bordeaux. At each end

is a fountain. In the middle is a statue of Gamhetta (1903).

A little to the left is the church of Notre-Dame, or St-Domi-
nique (PL C, 3, 4), founded in the 13th cent., rebuilt in 1684-1707,

and restored in 1834. It contains paintings by Romain Gazes,

notably a large fresco of the Triumph of the Madonna (1874).

To the right of the church, 3 Rue Mably, is the Library (PL
C, 3), containing 200,000 vols, and 3940 MSS. It is open daily,

9-12 and 1 to 4 or 5, except Sat., Sun., and holidays; in Aug. on

Wed. (9-12 and 4-5) only. The chief treasure is a copy of the Essays
of Montaigne, annotated by the author. Here also is an interesting

Museum of Antiquities, especially rich in inscriptions (Sun. and
Thurs., 11 to 4 or 5; at other times, fee).— Behind the library is

the covered Marche des Grands-Hommes (PL B, C, 3).

To the N.W. the Allees de Tourny end in the round Place de

Tourny (PL B, 3), with a bronze statue of Tourny (p. 49). To the

left the Cours de Tourny leads to the Place Gambetta (p. 52) ; to

the right is the Cours du Jardin-Public.

The Jardin Public (PL B, C, 3), laid out by the Marquis de

Tourny, but remodelled in 1858, is the finest promenade in Bor-
deaux. It consists of a Pare Anglais, with splendid magnolias
and other exotics, and a well-stocked Botanical Garden, with large

hothouses. On the terrace is a fine seated figure of Rosa Bonheur
(1822-99), a native of Bordeaux.— On the S.W. side of the garden
is the Natural History Museum (Sun. and Thurs., 12 to 4 or 5;

at other times, fee). It occupies the old Hotel de Lisleferme, and
still contains a fine Salle Empire on the first floor.— On a terrace

near this is the Institut Colonial, where an exhibition of paintings

takes place in spring.

Leaving the Jardin Public by the gate at the S.W. angle, near
the museum, we follow the Rue du Colisee, the fourth cross-street

to the right, to the Palais Gallien (PL B, 3), ruins of a Roman
amphitheatre, so called from its supposed founder, the Emperor
Gallienus (d. 268). The four arches under which the walk passes
formed the W. entrance.

A little farther on, the Rue de la Tr^sorerie leads to the left

4*
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to St-Seurin (PL B, 3), once the cathedral, built in the 12th cent,

on the site of an earlier church. Parts of it date from the 13th-

16th cent., and additions were made later. The AV. fagade, with its

tower, is of the 11th cent., but was masked in 1830 by a poor porch.

On the S. side is an interesting ^Portal of the 13th cent., with a

Renaissance porch; the chief subject of the sculptures (restored) is

the Last Judgment.
The Interior is borne partly by enormous round pillars, and partly

by pillars with half-columns, and is lighted with fine modern glass.

The choir contains an elaborate episcopal throne in marble, in the flam-
boyant style. On an altar in front of the throne is an ancient alabaster
altar-screen, part of which is in the Chapel of the Virgin, to the left of

the choir. Its sculptures represent the Crucifixion and scenes from the
life of St. Seurin. Bishop of Bordeaux (5th cent.). Under the choir is a

verj' old and interesting *Cryi)t, with round-arch nave and aisles. (Apply
to the sacristan.) It contains a Renaissance cenotaph over the tomb of

St. Fort, and six marble sarcophagi (4th -6th cent.).

In the adjoining Alices Damour (where remains of a Oallo-

Roman cemetery were discovered in 1910) rises a statue of Ver-

cingetorlx. We may now descend the Rue Judaique to the hand-

some Place Gambetta (PL B, 4). At the S.E. angle of this square

is the Porte Dijeaux, erected by the Marquis de Tourny in 1748,

whence two streets lead S. to the Hotel de Ville (PL B, 4), for-

merly the Archeveche. It was built in 1771-81 for Card, de Rohau-

(xuemenee. and restored after a fire in 1862.

The Musee de Peinture et de Sculpture (PL B, 4), at the

back of the Hotel de Yille, consists of two wings, enclosing a small

garden. It is open daily, except Mon. and Fri., 12 to 4 or 5 ; on

Mon. and Fri. also, on payment of a fee. Catalogue (1910), 85 c.

Right-wing. Old Masters.— Sculptures in the Vestibule: Dalou,
Triumph of Silenus (plaster); L. Bottee, St. Sebastian; 792. Maniglier,
Shepherd playing the flute.— Room I. Right, 29. Carpioni, Bacchanalia
of children; 79. After Murillo, St. Anthony of Padua in an ecstasy; 10.

Pietro da Cortona, Madonna and Child; 20. P. Veronese^ Woman taken
in adultery; Salv. Bnsa, 100. Group of soldiers. 101. Ajax; 19. P. Veronese,
Adoration of the Magi; 72. MnriUo (r^j, Portr. of Don Luis de Haro; 98.

Seb. Ricci. Love jealous of Fidelity; 125. Vasari, Holy Family; *124.

Perugino, Madonna and Child, with SS. Jerome and Augustine; 40. Dughet,
Landscape ; 90. Guido Beni, Magdalene; *119. Tiepolo, Eleazar and Rebecca

;

52. Goya, One of theParcse; 86. Preti {^ox Hendrik Terhrugghen?), Gui-
tar-player; 15. Bordone, Venetian noble. — Room II. Right, 538. Parrocel,

Joshua'; Lancret, Conversation; 383. N. C'oypel, Triumph of Apollo ; 616.

Claude Vernet, Sea-piece; 488. LaUernand, Flight into Egypt; 440. Marg.
Gerard, Portr. of Mme. Tallien and Mme. Recamier ('?); 454. Grimoti,

Mandoline-player; 437. 438. C'l. Lorrain, Landscapes; 453. Grimon, Young
pilgrim; 519. J. F. Millet (1666-1723), Landscape; 527. Xattier, Daughter
of Louis XV. ; 455. Grimon, Capuchin ; 518. Jlignard, Portr. of Louis XIV.

;

382. Ant. C'oypel, Vision of St. Catharine. Sculptures: J. L. Lemoyne,
Bust; etc. — Room III. Right, 482. P. Lacour, Harbour of Bordeaux;
155. P. Brueghel the Elder. Flemish festival; 195. J. van Goyen, Laud-
scape; 276. Tenters the Yoioiger, Fete; 224, 223. Mats, Portraits; *255.

Rubens, Martvrdom of St. Just; 268. Molenaer, Tavern - scene ; *201.

F. Hals, Portrait (retouched); 165, 164. B. Cuyp, Interiors; Snyders,
267. Fox-hunt, 266. Lion grown old; 237. A. van der Neer, Sea-piece;
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*254. Rubens, Martyrdom of St. George (retouched); 260. S. van Ruysdael,
Landscape; 193. J. van Goyeii, Landscape; 176. Vati Dyck (?), Penitent

Magdalene ; 258. Rubens, Crucifixion ; *196. J. van Goyen, Landscape with
figures; 206. Holbein the Younger, Portrait.— Room IV. Raggi, Bronze
statue of Louis XYI., 20 ft. high (1829).

Left "Wing. Modern Works. — Sculptures in the Vestibule: 753.

Carnielo, Mozart dying; 768. HoursoUe, This age is without pity; 747.

Blanchard, A discovery; 779. Longepied, Neapolitan fisherman. — Room I.

Right, 316. H. Bellange, Cuirassiers at Waterloo; 457. Gros, Embark-
ation of the Duchesse d'Angouleme after the return of Napoleon (1815);

834. Bouguereau, All Souls' Day; 477. Jotiy, Burning of Urbain Grandier

(p. 33); 357. J. Calve, Plain of Medoc; im. Augiiin, Summer day on the

Grande-Cote. — Room II. 359. Carriere, Head of a woman; 392. E. Dela-
croix, Arab; 576. Sabatte, My grandmother; 403. 31. Drolling, Interior;

517. L. O. Merson, Salutation; Rosa Bonheiir, 330. Study of a fox,

329. Head of a goat; 396. E. Delaunay, Ophelia; 469. Harpignies, Banks
of the Seine; 391. E. Delacroix, Lion; 368. Chardin, Still -life; 497.

J. P. Laurens, Pope and Inquisitor. Also bronzes by Barye, Meissonier,
etc.— Room III. 601. F. Thaidoic, Monastery; 373. Benjamin Constant,
Moroccan prisoners; 568. Roll, Old quarryman; 590. A. Smith, Quays of

Bordeaux; C. Cottet, Old fisherman; 468. Harpignies, Vesuvius; 514.

H. Martin, "A chacun sa chimere' ; 411. Carolns-Dnran, Danae; R.Billotte,

Snow-scene; 570. Roll, The invalid; 461. Guignard, Dealer in calves;

^:401. Diaz, Forest of Fontainebleau ; 510. Lmninais, Gallic pioneers;
*386. Danbigny, Banks of the Oise; *395. Delacroix, Boissy d'Anglas at

the National Convention in 1795; *374. Corot, Diana bathing; 314. Baudry,
Toilet of Venus; 372. Cogniet, Tintoretto painting liis dead daughter;
*611. Troyon, Oxen ploughing; *393. Delacroix, Greece expiring on the

ruins of Missolonghi. — Room V. Pictures; also a cast of a figure by Rodiii.

Staircase. *394. Delacroix, Lion-hunt (damaged by a fire).— First
Floor. Collection Emile-Lalanne: Coins, antiquities, sketches, engravings.

The ^Cathedral of St-Andre (PI. B, C, 4), cue of the finest

Gothic churches in S. France, consists of a large nave, with Roman-
esque arches, dating from the 12th cent., a transept, and a choir

with double aisles of the 14th. The W. facade is plain. The main
portal, on the N. side, with its rich sculptures, is flanked with two
towers ending in stone spires. The sculptures in the tympanum
represent the Last Supper and the Ascension. On the pier is a

statue of Bertrand de Goth, Archbishop of Bordeaux, afterwards

Pope Clement V. (p. 71). Farther W. on the N. side is the Porte-

Royale, dating from the time of St. Louis, Avith still liner sculptures

(13th cent.) than those of the other portal. On the lintel are sculp-

tures of the Resurrection, and in the tympanum Christ with the

attributes of the Passion. Above runs a gallery with statues. The
portal of the S. transept is similar to the N. portal, but its towers

are without spires.

Interior. Under the organ are two large Renaissance reliefs: Descent
into liell (left) and Resurrection (right). Stone organ-loft, also Renaissance.
Among the pictures we note (right) : German School, Bearing of tlie Cross

;

Alex. Veronese, Resurrection; Jordaens, *Crucifixion; Jadin, Raising of

Lazarus. — The Choir is much admired. The choir-chapels contain a fine

group of St. Anne and the Virgin (early 16th cent.), good wood-carvings,
and the monument of Ant. de Noailles (1562). — Richard II. of England
('Richard of Bordeaux') was baptized in this Cathedral.

Close to the back of the choir rises the Oloolier Pey-Berland,



54 Route 6. BORDEAUX. St-Michel.

built in 1440 by Archbishop Pierre Berland, sold at the Revolution

and partly pulled down, but bought back in 1850 and restored. The
truncated spire is crowned with a statue of the Virgin. The great

bell weighs 11 tons. (View from the top; 25 c.)

To the S.W. of the Cathedral, at 30 Rue des Freres-Bonie, is

the Musee Bonie, bequeathed to the city in 1894. (Adm. 1 fr.) It

contains collections of furniture, wood-carving, porcelain, weapons,

Chinese curiosities, etc., and copies of Moorish rooms.— To the S.,

in the Place Magenta, rises the Palais de Justice (PL B, 4), erected

in 1839-46, with a heavy fagade, over 150 yds. long. Behind it is

the Prison, on the site of the Chateau du Far, or Fort du Ha, built

at the same time as the Chateau Trompette (p. 50). On the S. side

of the square is the Hopital St-Andre (650 beds).—A little to the

S.E. is the church of Ste-Eidalie (PL B, C, 5), consecrated in 1174,

rebuilt in the 13th-15th cent., and restored in the 19th.

The Rue Ste-Eulalie (PL C, 5, 4) leads N.E. to the junction of

the Cours Pasteur and Cours Victor-Hugo (p. 49), where rise the

extensive buildings of the Facultes des Sciences et des Lettres

(PL C, 4), built in 1881-6. The vestibule contains a Renaissance

monument to Montaigne (p. 50), who is interred in the basement.

The University comprises also faculties of medicine and law.

The Cours Victor-Hugo leads thence to the Grand Marche
(PL C, 4; left), behind which is St-Paul, once a chapel of the

Jesuits (1676). On the S. side of the Cours is the Lycee. Opposite,

the short Rue St-James leads to the Grosse Cloche, or Porte
St-Eloi (PL C, 4), a fine relic of a fortified gateway near the old

Hotel de Ville. The lower part dates from the 13th cent. ; the upper,

with its three turrets, was rebuilt in the 15th. Above the arch,

through which the street runs, is a curious Renaissance clock (1592).

Higher up is another arch with a bell, and above this is a lantern

surmounted by a lion.— Adjoining the Porte is the church of

St-Eloi (15th cent.).

We next visit the church of St-Michel (PL D, 4), near the

river, a little above the Pont de Bordeaux, a fine Gothic edifice of

the 14th-15th cent., on the site of an earlier Romanesque church.

Its three portals bear interesting sculptures of the Nativity, Ado-

ration of the Shepherds, Adoration of the Magi, Sacrifice of Abra-

ham, and appearance of St. Michael to the Archbishop of Siponto.

The choir ends in a square apse with a large window.
Interior. In the first chapel on the right, St. Ursula and the eleven

thousand Virgins (15th cent.). The fourth chapel on the left contains an
Altar Screen in carved stone (16th cent.), with statues of the Virgin,
St. Catharine, and St. Barbara. The iron railings of the chapels are partly
ancient. Good stained glass, but much restored.

The Tower of St-Michel (360 ft. high; adm. 25 c), isolated

like that of the Cathedral, in front of the fagade of the church, was
built in 1472-92. The spire, destroyed by a gale in 1768, was re-
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built by Abadie in 1861-9, and the structure has been strengthened

by six buttresses (crowned with statues).

The soil of an old cemetery close by had the property of preserving

bodies interred in it. A guide shows a Crypt where about forty natural

mummies may be seen (adm. 50 c).

Ste-Croix (PI. D, 5), in the artisan quarter to the S.E. of

St-Michel, once the chapel of a powerful Benedictine abbey, was

founded in the 7th cent., but was rebuilt in the 10th cent, in the

Romanesque style, altered several times, and restored by Abadie

iu the 19th. The ^Facade (late 12th cent.) was modified by Abadie,

who added the tower and the turret to the left. Beautiful portal

with interlaced figures, flanked with arcades and columns. The

interior, partly Gothic, contains an abbot's tomb of the 14th cent.

;

in front of it is an old mosaic pavement.

Adjacent is the Ecole des Beaux-Arts, in part of the Bene-

dictine abbey mentioned above. The fine Renaissance gateway has

been removed to the opposite side of the street. This street leads

hence to the Gare St-Jean or du Midi (PL D, 5),

The Boulevards are noted for their extent, fine trees, and hand-

some buildings. The Pare Bordelais (PI. A, 2; tramway No. 5),

beyond the Boul. Cauderan, was laid ont in 1880-87.
From Bordeaux to Tours (Paris), see R. 1 ; to Saumtir (Paris) via Xiort,

see R. 2; to La Eochelle and Nantes, see R.3; to Orhians (Paris) via

Perigueiix and Limoges, see R. 5; to Eoyan, see R. 7; to ArcacJion, see

R. 8; to Bayonne and Biarritz, see R. 9; to Toidouse and Cette, see R. 10,

14; to Conors via Tonneins, see p. 72; to Tarbes (Pyrenees), see p. 63;
to Lyons, see R. 36.

From Bordeaux to Eymet, 641/2 M., railwav from the Gare de la Bastide
in 3 hrs. 10 to 3 hrs. 30 min. (11 fr. 75, 7 fr. 85, 5 fr. 15 c.).— Near (18 M.)
La Sauve (Hot. Franoais) are the ruins of an abbey founded in 1095.

—

At (35 M.) Sauveterre-de-Guyenne are mediaeval fortifications and a square
with Gothic arcades. — 52 M. Duras, likewise once fortitied.— At (6IV2 M.)
La Sauvetat-du-Drot we join the Marmande and Bergerac line (p. 72).—
641/2 M. Eymet (p. 72).

From Bordeaux to Cadillac, 201/2 M., steam-tramwav from the Quai
Deschamps (PI. E, 5) in I1/2-21/4 hrs. (2 fr. or 1 fr. 20 c). — 131/2 M. Le
Tourne-Langoiran. To the E. (1 M.) is Langoiran, with a ruined castle

(14th and 16th cent.). Steamboats to Bordeaux, see p. 48.— 18 M. Rions,
with ruined citadel and ramparts (14th cent.).— 201/2 M. Cadillac (Hot.
du Comm(?rce; pop. 3195) still has 14th cent, walls with interesting gates.
The Chateau d' Epernon (late 16th cent.) is now a house of correction
for women. Large lunatic asylum. Omn. (25 c.) to Cerons (2 M. ; p. 71),
on the Toulouse line.

Steam-tramways also to (10 M.) Camarsac and (81/2 M.) Montnsson-
Beychac.

From Bordeaux to Lacanau-Opean, 38 M., railway in 2-23/4 hrs.

(6 fr. 30, 4 fr. 75, 3 fr. 50 c.). — The line diverges at Bruges (21/2 M. ; p. 57)
from the Royan line, and traverses the Landes (p. 60).— 301/2 M. Lacanau
(Hot. du Commerce), at the E. end of a large lake. Line from Facture
(Arcachou) to Lesparre, see p. 61. —38 M. Lacanati- Ocean (hotel), a small
sea-bathing place.

From Bordeaux to Aurillac, 180 M., railway from the Gare de la

Bastide, in 10 or 11 hrs. (32 fr. 55, 22 fr. 5, 14 fr. 40 c). No through-trains.
-To (221/2 M.) TAhourne, see p. 16.-271/2 M. St-Emilion (Hot. Gar6-
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Dussaut, K. from 2, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.; pop. 3408), famous for its wines and
interesting ruins, in a picturesque site, still retains part of its medieeval
ramparts, vrith a large moat hewn in the rock. Among other points of

interest are a ruined Franciscan Convent fl5th-17th cent.), the remains
of tlie Palais Cardinal (13th cent.), and the fine Collegiate Church and
Cloisters (12th-15th cent.). Here, too, is a Monolithic Church, scooped out

in the rock in the middle ages. It adjoins the hermitage of St. Emilion,
who lived here in the 8th cent.; on a terrace above stands a fine 15th cent,

tower. Of the Castle, to the W. of the town, there remains little more
than a square keep.

331/2^1- Castillon (Hot. de la Boule-d'Or; pop. 3037), memorable for

the defeat which finally deprived the English of Guyenne. in 1453, when
John Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury, was among the slain.— 461/2 M. Ste-Foy-
la-Grande (Hot. des Yoyageurs

; pop. 3277). once a Huguenot stronghold.
— 6O1/2M. Bergerac (Hot. de Londres. good: Grand-Hotel; pop. 16,162),

on the Dordogne. was one of the Calvinist strongholds in the 16th centurj-,

Xotre-Dame is a fine modern church in the 13th cent, style. Brisk trade

in wine and truffles. Line to Marmande, seep. 72; to Mussidan (Eiberac,

Angoulerae). see p. 46. Steam-tramway to (20^/2 M.) Vergt (Perigueux;

p. 46).- 651/2 M. Creysse-Moitleydier, with paper-mills and a castle-ruin.

Beyond a tunnel we see a canal made to avoid the rapids of the Dordogne.
— From (711/2 M.) Couse an omnibus plies to (7 ^l.) Beaumont^ with ram-
parts and a fortified church dating from the English occupation. — 83 M.
Le Buisson (buffet; p. 86). Change trains. — 871/2 M. Siorac (p. 86). "We
cross the Dordogne and continue to ascend its beautiful valley.— 971/2 M.
Castelnaud-et-Fayrac. with a 14th cent, castle, beyond which appears
the fine Chateau de Beynac (13tli-16th cent.), on the left.

104 M. Sarlat (Hot. de la Madeleine; pop. 6481). in the prett>' vale
of the Cuze, 3/^ M. to the left of the station. The large building on the

hill to the left, formerly a Jesuit college, is now a co-operative dairy.

The first turning to the' right, in the Rue de la Republique. the main
street, leads to the Church, formerly cathedral, of the 11th - 15th cent.,

with fine altar-screens. A house in front was the birthplace of La Boetie

(1530-63), the author and friend of Montaigne. In a private garden behind
the church is the round Tour des MoH? {12Xh cent.). Branch-lines to Gourdon
(141/2 M. ; p. 91) and Terrasson (p. 272).

We return to the valley of the Dordogne.— 112 M. Calviac. To the left

is the Chateau de Fenelo'n. the birthplace of the archbishop (1651-1715).
— At (118 M.) Cazoules (p. 91) we join the Cahors line and follow it to

(121 M.) Sovillac (p. 91).— 129 M. Martel (Hot. de I'Union). a little town
to the left, has a curious Hotel de Yille (I4th-16th cent.) and an interesting

church (15th cent.). The best 'Perigord truffles' are found near Martel.

—

AVe obtain an admirable view of the famous Cirque de Jlontvalent (p. 94).

We join the line from Toulouse via Capdenac. — 133 M. St-Denis-les-Martel,

and thence to Aurillac, see pp. 94, 90.

7. From Bordeaux to Royan.
a. Via the Medoc Railwray.

Railway from the Gare du Medoc (p. 46) to (64 M.) Pointe-de-Grave.
at tlie mouth of the Gironde, and Steamer thence, meeting the day trains,

to Boriun (in all, 2i/o hrs. in summer. 31/2 in winter; 11 fr. 70, 8 fr. 80.

6 fr. 50 c. : return, va'lid for 8 days, 14 fr. 25, 10 fr. 90, 8 fr. 5 c). Tickets
to Royan allow break of journey at Soulac and Le Yerdon. Cheap ex-

cursions in summer. Steamboat-fare alone, from Pointe-de-Grave to Royan.
1 fr. 80, return 3 fr. 10 c. The sea is sometimes rough at the mouth of

the Gironde.
All the wav from the Gare St-Jean to Royan by train, via Pons (p. 22).

921/2 M., in 2-31/4 hrs. (13 fr. 45, 10 fr. 5, 6 fr. 80 c).
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Bcyt'deaux, see p. 46.— 2Y2 ^^- Bruges. Branch-line to Lacanau,

see p. 55.— At (5 M.) Blanquefort are a ruined castle of the 13th

cent, and a church of the 12th and 16th.

Here begins the M^doc ('in medio aquae'), a region famous for its

wines, on a tongue of land between the Gironde and the sea. The vine-

yards extend on the left bank of the river, in a zone 5-12 M. in width, as

far as (47 M.) St-Vivien (see below). The soil consists of siliceous deposits
and quartz, brought down from the Pyrenees by the Garonne, and is

especially favourable for vine-culture, being porous and retentive of heat.

The vintage takes place between mid-September and the end of October.

7 M. Parempu'ip^e, with a fine modern chateau.— 9^2 M. Lu-
don produces wines of the 3rd 'cru' (Chateau la Lagune).— 11 M.
Macau, with a small harbour.— 13 M. Laharde. To the right lies

Cantenac, famed for its Brane-Cantenac, of the 2nd 'grand cru'.

15^2 ^I- Margaux (Hot. Delas) yields wine of the 1st, 2nd,

and 3rd 'grands crus', Chateau-Margaux being the finest. Branch
line to (6 M.) Castelnau.

251/2 M. St-Laurent-St-Jidien. St-Laurent, 2 M. to the ^Y.,

yields wine of the 4th and 5th 'ems'. The wine of St-Jidien, 2^/2 M.
to the E.. is 2nd cru, and also 3rd and 4th.—We next pass, on the

right, Chdteau-Latour , whose wine is one of the first crus of Medoc.
29 M. Pauillac (Hot. de France & d'Angleterre; British vice-

consul; pop. 5872), on the left bank of the Gironde, has a harbour
used by vessels which cannot ascend to Bordeaux. Its wine-district

includes the well-known Chateau-Lafite, belonging to the first cru.

This domain (170 acres) was bought in 1868 for 4'/2 million fr. by

the Rothschilds. The wine is worth 1200-5000 fr. p'er 'tonneau' of

198 gallons. Over 80,000 bottles are stored in the vaults. The
domain of Moutou-RotJischild (170 acres) produces the best wines
of the 2nd crus.

301/2 ^^- Troiiipeloup, with the port and hospital of Pauillac

and a large foundry.— 321/2 ^I- St-Estephe has the largest vineyard
in this region. Its chief growth, Cos-Destournel, is 2nd cru.— 35 M.
Vertlieuil has a fine '^Church (12th cent.).

411/2 M. Lesparre (Hot. du Lion-d'Or, de la Paix; pop. 3699)
has a donjon of the 14th cent., a relic of an old caslle. Line to

P'acture, see p. 61.— 461/2M. Queip-ac, station for MontaUvet-
les-Balm (hotel), 71/2 M. to the W.— At (511/2 M.) St-Vivien the

vines are succeeded by marshes.

58 M. Soulac-sur-Mer, or Soidac-les-Balns (Hot. Marman-
dais, R. from 3, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. de I'Ocoan), a

favourite sea-bathing place, with an admirable beach and pleasant

pine-woods. To the rigJit, in the (1/2 M.) village, is the curious

Romanesque church oi Notre-Dame-de-Fin-des-Tcrres {V2t\\ cent.),

buried in the 13th cent, by sand-dunes, but restored in 1859-64. To
the S. is (21/2 M.; omn.) AmeUe-sur-Mer (hotel), a bathing-place.

At '^Les Kpi!<\ 11/4 M. to tiie X. of 8oulac, seven submersible dykes
liavo been constructed to break the force of the waves and arrest' the
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encroachment of the sand, which has already buried the harbour of Soulac
and other places, notably the Roman town of Noviomagus. Pines have
also been planted on the dunes to consolidate them.

62 M. Le Yerdon (Hot. de la Marine).— 64 M. Pointe-de-Grave
(hotel), at the end of the left bank of the Garonne. The crossing

to Eoyan takes V2 hr. ; far to the left is the lighthouse of Cordouan

(p. 59). Fine view as we near RoyoM (see below).

b. Via the Gironde.

Steamers ply from Bordeaux to (62 M.) Royan three times weekly
in June and Oct., and daily, except Sun., in July- Sept., in 4 hrs.,

starting from near the Place Richelieu (PI. C, 3), and touching at Blayo
(in June and Oct.), Pauillac, and La Marechale. Fare 6 fr. 60 or 4 fr. 40 c.

;

return, for 8 days, 9 fr. 90 or 6 fr. 60 c. ; Sat. to Mon. 7 fr. 70, 5 fr. 50 c.

Cheap excursions in summer. Restaurant on board.

The scenery is tame, and the water is turbid, but the great width
of the Gironde (the estuary of the united Garonne and Dordogne), 71/0 M.
at places, is impressive. The Mascaret, a tidal wave, sometimes 10 ft.

high, ascends the river to above Bordeaux in August and September. It

appears on a rising tide and is partly due to the two opposing currents.

The steamer threads its way through part of the harbour of

Bordeaux. On the right, the hills of Lm^mont (p. 16), with its cha-

teau; left, Parempuyre (p. 57); r., Montferrand; 1., Macau
(p. 57); r., Amhes and the Bee d'Ambes, a low, narrow tongue of

land at the confluence of the Garonne and the Dordogne. We pass

several islands on the left, and quarries on the right.

On the right is (23 M.) Blaye (Hot. Bellevue, good; pop. 4741),

which existed under the Romans, and was long important as a

stronghold. Its Citadel, on a rock by the river, was built by Vauban
in 1683. Other defensive works are the Fo7^t du Pate, on an islet,

and the Fart Medoc, on the opposite bank. In 1832-3 the Duchesse

de Berry, mother of the Comte de Chambord, was imprisoned in the

citadel for instigating a legitimist revolt. Branch-line to (15 Y-2 M-)

St-Mariens (p. 23). Line from St-Andre-de-Cubzac to St-Ciers-sur-

Gironde, see p. 2.3,

We now steer for the left bank, on which are the Chateau de

Beychevelle, the slender spire of St-Jidien, and several vineyards

(p. 57). To the left lie (29 M.) Pauillac (p. 57), Trompeloup (p. 57),

St-Estephe (p. 57), on a height, and (37i/o M.) La Marechale. Also

to the left rise the towers of St-Christoly and Valeyrac. A little

lower down, the Gironde is at its widest. Next, on the right, is St-

Georges-de-Didonne (p. 59). On the left stretches the Pointe de

Grave (see above). Out in the open sea rises the Lighthouse of
Cordouan (p. 59). On the right bank lies (62 M.) Royan.

Royan. — Hotels. Palace Hotel, Boul. Thiers, by the harbour,

B. 1, L. 5. D. 6, omn. 1 fr. ; Gra7id-Hotel & du Pare, on the Grande
Conche, R. from 5, B. I1/2. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.

de Paris, Boul. Thiers, R. from 3, B. V-U, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.

d'Orleam, Boul. Thiers; Rnyal-Hotel. Boul. Thiers. R. from 5, B. IVg, L- ^,
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D. 5, P. from 11 fr. ; Hot. La Vigie & Foncilloii, Facade de Foncillon; Hot.
Richelieu. 58 Boul. Botton, good, B. 1, L. 31/2, I>- 4 fr. ; Hot de la Croix-
BlancJie, Rue de Rochefort and Boul. Botton; Nouvel-Hotel Charreyre,
Rue Gambetta and Boul. Lessors, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from
10 fr.; Hot. dn Commerce, 1 Boul. Lessore, good, R. from 3, B. 3/4, L. 3,

D. 31/2, P- fi'om 9 fr. ; Family Hotel, on the Cirande Conche, R. from 21/2,

B. 1, L. 3, D. 3V<' fr.; Hot. du Centre, 33 Rue Gambetta. good, R. from 3,

B. 3/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 9 fr.; Hot. de France, Rue Gambetta, R. from
21/2, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8 fr. ; Hot. du Louvre, 10 Boul. Botton, R. from 3,

L. 21/2, D- 3. P. from 81/2 fr. — At Pontaillac: Hot. de VEurope, P. from
12 fr. ; Hot. de Pontaillac. R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 10 fr.

;

Hot. d' Angleterre, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/2, I>. 4 fr. ; Nouvel-Hotel de la
Plage. — OTpen the whole year: Hotels d'Orleans, La Vigie, Croix-Blanche,
Charreyre, Commerce, Family, and France.

Cafes-Restaurants. At the Casino. L. 5, D. 6 fr. ; Caf4 des Bains,
Boul. Thiers; Rest, de la Plage, 22 Boul. Botton, L. or 1). 2 fr.

Sea Baths, with costume, 1/2-I fr. — Warm Baths, 28 Grande Rue and
90 Rue Gambetta; Maison de Sante Amiot, Promenade de Foncillon.

Casino Municipal. Adm. 1 fr. — Arenes de Vallieres, near the Pointe
de Vallieres (see below ; open-air performances).

Cabs. Per drive 1-2 fr., per hour 3 fr. ; at night 2-3 or 4 fr. ; trunk 25 c.— Railway Omnibus 40 c; to Pontaillac 60 c. Luggage extra.— Steam
Tramway along the coast from St-Georges-de-Didonne to Pontaillac, Bureau-
St-Palais, and the Grand.e-Cote, see below and p. 60.

Post & Telegraph Office, 54 Boul. Botton. — Inquiry Office. Agence
Couturier, 9 Rue Gambetta.

Royan (pop. 9330), a modern town, is one of the chief seaside

resorts in France, attracting some 350,000 visitors annually. It is

well built, partly on the rocks overlooking the Gironde, opposite

the Pointe de Grave, and offers the usual amenities of a great water-

ing-place. Its four Conches, or beaches, covered with fine sand,

and facing the S., are admirable for bathing, and the woods afford

pleasant walks.

The four quarters of Royan (S.E. to N.W.) are the Quartier du
Pare, bordered by the Grande Conche ; Royan-Centre, commercial,
N. of the harbour; Fo7icillon et Chay, W. of the last, with the Fort
du Chay and the small Conches de Foncillon, du Chay, and du
Pigeonnier; lastly Pontaillac, 1^4 M. from the harbour, on the

Conche de Pontaillac, the most fashionable quarter.

The Av. de la Gare and the Av. du Pare, in line with it, lead

to the Grande Conche, which extends to the Pointe de Vallieres

(2 M. to the S.E.). This beach is adjoined by the pretty Pare, and
skirted by the Boul. Frederic-Garnier, with numerous villas. Near
the N.W. end of the boulevard is the large Casino Municipal.

Above the unimportant Harbour runs the Boulevard Thiers,
with the best hotels, leading at a right angle past the Fagade de
Foncillon.

About 21/2 M. by road (tramway, see above), and 3 M. by the beach,
is St-Georges-de-Didonne (Hot. de l'0c(5an, L. 2V2, D- 3 fr. ; Hot. du
Nord), another bathing-place, with an ample and sheltered beach.

The chief excursion from Royan is to the (71/2 M.) Lighthouse of
Cordouan, to which steamers ply during the season. Visitors land in
small boats or on the backs of sailors. The rock on which the lighthouse
stands is accessible at low tide only. The tower was perhaps founded
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by the Saracens or by Louis the Pious, but was rebuilt by the Black
Prince in 1370, and again in 1584-1610 from the plans of Louis de Foix,

an architect of the Escurial. The third story is modern (early 19th cent.).

The total height is 230 ft., and its light is visible for 18 miles. Such is

the violence of the sea here that the waves, though broken by reefs, dash

to a height of over 40 ft. against the tower. In the second story is the

chapel of Xotre-Dame-de-Cordouan.
The Pontaillac tramway goes on to Vanx-Natizan (8 M. from the

Casino of Boyan), to (31/2 M.) Le Bttreau-St-Palais-sur-Mer (Hot. de la

Paix, L. 2i/2/l>- 3fr. : Hot. Lafleur: Hot. de la Plage), with forests and
sea-baths, and to the (5 M.) Grande Cote (Cafe-Rest.), where the sea

presents a grand sight in stormy weather.-- Another tramway then goes on

to La Couhre. with a lighthouse built in 1903-5. to replace an older tower.

It is 215 ft. high, and its light is visible for 30 M.

From RoyA>- to Mortagse, 17 M., a pleasant road along the Gironde.
— 7 M. Meschers (hotel; sea-baths), famous for its troglodyte grottoes,

still partly inhabited. — 10 M. Tabnont. picturesquely perched on a rock,

has an interesting Romanesque church (12th cent.). — 131/2 M. St-Seurin-

cVUzet, with an old castle on a rock. — 17 M. Mortagne (p. 22).

From Royan to Marennes (Rochefort) via Saujon, see p. 22.

New line under construction to Saintes (Paris), see p. 22.

8. From Bordeaux to Arcachon.

35 M. Railway, from the Gare St-Jean (p. 46), in 1 hr. 10 to 1 hr. 50 min.

(4 fr. 25, 3 fr. 25, 2 fr. 25 c. ; return 6 fr., 4 fr. 50. 3 fr. 50 c). Cheap fares

on Sun. in summer.

Bordeaux, see p. 46. We diverge to the right from the Tou-

louse line (R. 10), and traverse a wine-growing district yielding,

among other wines, the Haut-Brion, of the 'premier cru'.— 3V2 ^^

Pessac, a favourite resort of the Bordelais, also has good wines.

To the vineyards now succeed plantations of pines, indicating that we
have entered the region known as the Landes, a vast triangular plateau,

150-200 ft. above the sea. bounded by the Atlantic and the valleys of

the Garonne and the Adour. On the "side next the sea it is upwards of

120 M. long, its maximum width is about 60 M.. and it covers an area

of 2300 sq. M. The soil is composed of a layer, about l^/o ft. deep, of

sand and -alios', a vegetable detritus solidified by a ferruginous cement,

which renders it unfit for cultivation. In spite of great modern improve-

ments the country is still parched in summer and marshy in winter, the

alios rendering the soil impervious to moisture, while the sand-dunes

(200-300 ft. high) along the coast hinder the escape of surface-water.

These dunes used to invade the country, by about 20 yds. everj' 5-ear,

but the attack has been arrested by the planting of sea-pines (Pinna

maritima). begun in 1786. The flow of the waters, too, has been regu-

lated, and great forests are daily gaining on the barren ground. There

still remain, however, vast tracts, unique but monotonous, overgrown
with heath, furze, reeds, bracken, and broom. It will be noticed that the

trunks of the pines are scored with gashes, below which are placed small

tin vessels to collect the resin, an important article of commerce. Be-

sides the sea-pine the acacia, the ailanthus. the oak, and the cork-tree

are successfully grown, the last chiefly near Bayonne.
The native's used often to walk across the marshes on stilts, 5-6 ft.

high, with a pole for a walking-stick, but improved drainage and better

roads now render the quaint custom far less necessary.

23 M. Facture (hotel).
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From Factcre (Arcachon) to Lesparrk (Royan), 56V2 M., narrow-
gauge line in A^/V^'/a ^'rs. (9 fr. 40, 7 fr. 5, 5 fr. 15 o,.), through the Landes of

the Grironde. The train at lirst skirts the N.E. side of the Bassin d'Arcachon

(p. 62).— 8 M. 2'aNSSat, a small seaside place. — 13 M. ^?'es (hotel), a bath-

ing-resort, with oyster-parks. The line then turns X., skirting the Sand
Dunes, here over 200 ft. high, which have driven back several hamlets.
— 28 M. Lacanati (p. 55), junction for Bordeaux. Beyond (351/2 M.) C'arcans
we pass the Etany iV Hoiirtin. — b^^l.i'^^- Lesparre (p. 57).

This line is continued to the S.E. of Facture by one through the

Leyre valley to (21 M.) Hastens, on the Beautiran and Luxey line (p. 71).

We cross the Leyre, and at (25 M.) Lamothe diverge to the

right from the Bayoune line (p. 63).

33 M. La Teste (hotels; pop. 7023), successor of the ancient

capital of the Boil, has been driven back by the dunes to its pre-

sent site. It was once the residence of the Seigneurs of Buch,

whose castle has disappeared. To the S., 21/2 M., begins the

'Gi'ancle-Montague de la Teste-de-Buch', a large forest.

Branch Line to (8 M.) Cazaux (buffet), on the lake of that name,
14,000 acres in area and 100 ft. deep. It formerly joined the sea, but
is now 65 ft. above it and 3 M. inland. On the E. and S. bank are

Sanyuinet and Navarosse, with picturesque woods.

35 M. Arcachon.— Hotels. In the town: *Gra7id-Hotel, Boul. de
la Plage, with salt-water baths. R. from 6, B. IVj, L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra),

P. from 15, omn. 1 fr. ; *Hdt. Victoria, 181 Boul. de la Plage, R. from 5,

B. 13/4, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; *Hdt. de France, Place
Thiers. R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 31/2, D- 4 (wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; *Hdt.
Richelieu, Place Thiers, R. from 5, B. IV2, L- ^i/o, D. 4 (wine extra). P.
from 12, omn. 1 fr.; Hot. Jampy, 268 Boul. de la Plage. — i7o/. Lapachet,
Place de la Mairie, L. or I). 2^/0 fr. ; Hot. Terminus & de la Gare, R. from 2'/",

B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 71/., fr. ; Hot. de VEtoile-d'Or, 212 Boul. de fa

Plage, R. from 3, L. or D. 2, P'. from 6 fr. — In the forest (-Ville d'Hiver')

:

Hot. des Pins & Continental, Allee Carmen, R. from 4. B. V'.,. L. 4, D. 5

(wine extra), P. from 12, omn. 1 fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. Reyina-Forei & d'Angle-
terre, adjacent, R. from 3. B. I1/2. L. 4, D. 41/2, P- from 10 fr. ; Hot.
Moderne, Allee Lakme, R. from 5, B. 1, L. 4, D. 5fr.— There are also
Family Pensions. — Furnished Houses, 100 to 2500 fr. per month.

Restaurants. Rest, des Bains, Boul. de la Plage; Lapachet (see above).
Warm Baths. Bains d'Fyrac and Grands Bains, 101 and 233 Boul.

de la Plage (8OC.-I1/4 fr.). — Sea Bathing at these 'Bains' (50-75 c.) and
at the hotels on the beach.

Casinos. Palais d'Hiver (in winter), at the Ville d'Hiver, adm. 50 c.

(gratis in tlie morning) ; theatre, 1-4 fr. ; subscription (incl. theatre), week 15,

season 80 fr.— Casino de la Plage (in summer), at the Chateau Deganne,
same charges.

Clubs. Cercle des Etranyers, Rue du Casino; Societe de la Voile,
Boul. de la Plage; Golf Club, Boul. Deganne. — Golf Course (9 holes),

1 M. from the town.
Omnibus from the station to the Ville d' Hiver 30 c, to the Ville d'Eti

50 c. ; same charges for eacli trunk.
Electric Tramway from the Pointe d'Aiyuillon to Le Motdleau (p. 62).

Cabs. Per drive IV2 fr. ; with two horses 2 fr.
;
per hour 2V2 or S fr.

;

V2 or 1 fr- extra on Sun. and at night; trunk 25 c.

Rowing Boat 2-3, sailing boat 4, motor-launch 5 fr. per Htiur. —
Ste.ajsiers to the Lighthouse and the Cote du Cap Ferret (return 11/2 fr.);

to the Pointe du Cap Ferret in summer (same fare); to the open sea
on Thurs. in summer (3 fr. 15 c).

Post & Telegraph Office, Rond-Point Tartas, corner of Cours Tartas
and Av. Orambetta.
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Musi:E-AQUARiuM, 161 Boul. de la Plage; adm. 12-6 (Sun. 9-7), 1/2 fr.

Stsdicat d'Initiatiye, 193 Boul. de la Plage.
British Vice-Consul, F. Audap, 224 Boul. de la Plage.
Anglican Church (Si. Thomas's), in the Ville d'Hiver; services at

10.30 and 4.30 (3.30 in winter); chaplain, Rev. E. Weston.

Arcachon {poi:). 10,26&) is a charmiug seaside and winter resort,

attracting some 250,000 visitors annually. On Sun. and holidays

it is inundated with excursionists from Bordeaux. It consists of

the town, or 'Ville d'Ete', on the Bassin d'Arcachon (see below),

and the 'Ville d'Hiver', to the S., in a forest planted on the dunes.

The former extends W. from the Pointe de I'Aiguillon to (2^/2 M.)

the Pare Pereire, and its pretty houses are scattered amid gardens.

From the station the Av. du Chateau leads to the Chateau
Deganne, a modern Renaissance mansion, now the Casino de la

Plage. Adjoining it is the small Musee-Aquarium.
To reach the centre of the town we follow the Boul. d'Haussez,

to the left from the station, then the Boul. Gambetta to the right, to

the Place Tliiers, from which a Jetee-Promenade projects 220 yds.

into the sea.

The Bassin d'Arcachon is a large gulf or lagoon, triangular in

form, 53 M. in circuit and 60 sq.M. in area, with the He d'Oiseaux (550

acres) in the middle. The shore, sloping gently and with fine sand, is

very safe for bathing.
On the opposite side of the lagoon extends a tongue of sand-dunes

ending to the S. in Cap Ferret (steamboat, see p. 61; lighthouse, 5 M.
from Arcachon). The roadstead protected by the cape is broad and safe,

but banks of shifting sand make it difficult of access.

The long Boulevard de la Plage skirts the houses fringing the

Bassin and is continued by the Boul. de I'Ocean, "W"., to the Place

Pereire. To the W. of this point are the villas most in request.

Nearly opposite the Grand-Hotel, to the W. of the Place Thiers,

a street ascends to the Palais d'Hiver, a large building in the

Moorish style, containing a concert-hall, theatre, reading-rooms,

card-rooms, and a cafe. Adjacent is an iron Belvedere, a fine point

of view (20 c). Farther W. is the modern church of Notre-Dame.
The Ville d'Hiver is ensconced among pine-woods, whose

resinous fragrance combines with the bracing sea-air to make it

especially healthful. Its temperature also is favourable to invalids,

the average for the year being 56° Fahr., and that of winter 47°.

Pleasant walk to Le Moulleau (*Gr.-H6t. du Moulleau, R. from 8,

B. 11/2, L- 4, D. 5, wine extra, P. from 10, omn. 1/2 fr-)- a bathing-resort

21/2 M. to the W. (electric tramway), with a chapel founded by the

Dominicans and two sanatoria. It is- reached also by a road passing Xotre-
Dame and skirting the Pare Pereire (adm. in the absence of the pro-

prietor). From Le Moulleau we may visit the (2 M.) Dune du Sabloney
or du Pilat (about 330 ft.; fine view), the highest in Europe.

Oyster Parks. Those parts of the Bassin which are left dry by the

tide are utilized for the breeding of oysters, the chief industrj' of the

district, supporting about 20,000 persons. The oysters of Arcachon are

in high repute, and over 300 millions of them are sold annually for about
4 million fr. A visit to the oyster-beds is interesting. Fresh oysters may
be obtained (Sept.-April) there and in the town, from 15 c. per dozen.
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9. From Bordeaux to Bayonne and
Biarritz.

Eailway, from the Gare St-Jean (p. 46), to Bayonne, 123 M., in 3 hrs.

5 to 3 hrs. 55 mill. (22 fr. 30, 15 fr. 5, 9 fr. 75 c); by the 'Sud Express'
or the 'Cote-d'Argent Express' (p. xiii) iii 2 hrs. 40 to 2 hrs. 45 min. From
Bordeaux to Biarritz-Ville via La Negresse (p. 67), 131 M., in 3 hrs. 30
to 4 hrs. 25 min. (by the trains de luxe in 3 hrs. 5 to 3 hrs. 10 min.).

Local line and tramway from Bayonne to Biarritz, see p. 67.

From Paris to Biarritz-Ville, 496i/2 M., in 11 hrs. 50 to 13 hrs. 10 min.
(89 fr. 60, 60 fr. 50, 39 fr. 50 c); by the trains de luxe in 10 hrs. 10 to

10 hrs. 50 minutes.

From Bordeaux to (25 M.) Lamothe, see pp. 60, 61. The Hue
theu crosses the Laudes for 28 M.— 47 M. Ychovx (hotel).

Narrow-gauge Lines from Ychoux to (13V2 M. to the E.) Moustey
and to (13 M. to the N.AV.) Biscarosse (Hot. du Grrand-Ocean

;
pop. 2585),

a village near the Etang de Biscarosse and 41/2 M. from Navarosse (p. 61).

Narrow-gauge line from Biscarosse to (18 M.) Mimizan-les-Bains (see below),
via (41/2 M.) Naouas, whence a branch runs to (41/2 M.) Biscarosse-Plage.

55Y2 M- Lahouheyre (Hot. de Frauce), an industrial town.

Narrow-gauge lines to Sabres, 13 M. to the S.E. ; to Bias, ll^l^ M.
to the S.W. ; and to Mimizan-les-Bains (hotels), 21 M. to the W., with
a fine beach.

671/2 M
11/4 M. to the S.

FnoM MoRCEXx to Tarbes, 85 M., railway in 21/2-4 hrs. (15 fr. 45,

10 fr. 45, 6 fr. 75 c.). — 24 M. Mont-de-Marsan (Hot. Richelieu, des
Ambassadeurs; pop. 12.091), a commercial town, capital of the Landes
department, lies at the confluence of the Midou and the Douze, which
together form the Midouze, an affluent of the Adour. Branch-lines to

Marmande (p. 72), Port-Ste-Marie (p. 73), and Luxey (p. 71). A fourth runs
to (40i/o M.) Dax (see below), via (IOV2 M.) St-Sever (hotels

;
pop. 4527),

with an abbey-church (10th cent., altered in the 15th). —We now enter
a more fertile region, in sight of the Pyrenees. — 44 M. Aire (Hot. du
Commerce; pop. 4023), a very ancient town, the seat of a bishopric. The
Cathedral and the church of Mas-d'Aire (13th-14th cent.) are interesting.
Steam-tramway to (5OV2 M.) Orthez (p. 121), via (8 M.) Eu.g6nie-les-Baills
(Grand-Hotel), with its copious alkaline and sulphurous springs and four
bath-houses. Narrow-gauge line to Lembeye and Pau, see p. 125. — 531/2 M.
Riscle, junction for Nerac (p. 73).— 741/2 M. Vic-en-Bigorre, junction for
Ageu and Perigueux (see p. 88). — 85 M. Tarbes (p. 129).

83^/5 ^^- Laliique. Narrow-gauge lines to Tartas, 8^L M. to

the E., and to St-Girons-en-Marensin, 22 M. to the N.W.
Omn. from Laluque to (41/2 M. to the S.E.) the baths of Prichacq.

In clear weather we sight the Pyrenees on the left.— 891/2 M.
Berceau-de-iSt -Vincent-de-Paul, with the ancestral house of the

saint (1576-1660).—We enter the valley of the Adour.

92 M. Dax. — Hotels. Hot. des Grands-Thermes, at the Thermes
de Dax, P. from 9 (in winter from 11), treatment 2-3 fr., with cheaper
Annexe; Gr.-H6t. des Baignots, P. from 9, 2nd cl. from 6 fr. ; Hot. de
VEurope, 21 Rue Vincent-de-Paul, good, R. 3-4, B. 1, L. 31/2, D. 4, P.
8-9 fr. ; Hot. de la Paix, Rue des Penitents, R. from 2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2,

P. from 7, omn. 1/2 fr.; Hot. Richelieu, Av. Victor-Hugo, R. from 2, B. 1,
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L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 6V2, omn. 1/2 fr. ; Hot. Folin ph-e, R. 3. P. 9 fr.

;

Hot. des Thervies Seris, P. 5 fr.

—

Villas and Forkished Houses to let.

Baths (open the whole year). Thermes Sali)is: 1st cl., l-23/4fr. ; 2nd cl.

60 c. to 21/4 fr.
;
public bath 1/2 fr. ; douches 1/2-I tr. — Baignots: douche

or mineral bath ^/^ or 1/2 fr., mud-bath I1/2 or 1 fr. ; baths and medical
attendance for regular patients 40 or 20 fr. — Thermes de Dax, similar

charges.— Thermes Seris: douche or mineral bath 30, mud-bath 50, sulphur
bath' 70 c.

Casino (open the whole year). Adm. 1 fr. 10 c, incl. theatre; 20 fr. for

one month.
Cabs. Per drive 1^/2, at night 13/4 fr.

;
per hour 2 or 8fr. — Omnibus

from the station to the town, 80 c.

Post & Telegraph Office , Rue de la Fontaine-Chaude , near the

theatre.

Dax (pop. 11,387), on the left bank of the Adour, the old

capital of the TarbelU, was called by the Eomans Aquee Tarhel-

licse, later Civitas Aquensium, and then simply Aquce or Acqs.

The town belonged to England from 1177 to the end of the 15th

century.

Dax is important as a thermal station and winter resort (winter

mean temperature 46° Fahr.). The waters (140-149°), containing

chlorates and sulphates, are chiefly used in mud-baths, for rheumatic

affections. Saline water from the environs is used also.

A bridge crosses the Adour, from the suburb of Sablar, to the

(Y2 M.) town. To the right, on the opposite bank, are the Casino

and the Thermes Salins, with the Thermes de Dax and the Hotel

des Grands-Thermes behind. To the left, beyond the bridge, is the

copious Fontaine Chaude, or Source de la Nehe, which supplies

several bath-houses, and is used also for domestic purposes.

On the site of the old walls adjoining the Adour now lies the

pretty Promenade des Remparts, and in the old moat are the

Bains St-Pierre. The Church, formerly cathedral, was rebuilt

in the 17th-18th cent.; the interior contains a line Gothic portal,

restored, in the left transept. The Hotel de Ville, behind the

cathedral, contains a small museum. Farther down the left bank

are the Thermes Seris and the Baignots, 1/4 ^^- from the bridge.

To the S. of Dax, 1 M.. to the left of the St-Pandelon road, are the

Salines (Thurs. 2-5).— Not far from the station, opposite the town, lies

St-Paid-ies-Dax, whose church has an interesting old apse. — To the S.W.
(41/2 M.) is Tercis, with warm baths containing chloride of sodium.

FrojS Dax to Pau, 531/2 M., railway in I1/4-2V4 hrs.—We skirt tlie

town on the S. and cross the Adour. — The train passes through a tunnel

and enters the valley of the Gave de Pau. Fine view of the Pyrenees.

—

191/2 M. Piiyoo, and thence to Pau, see p. 121.

From Dax to 2Iont-de-Marsan, see p. 63.

The Bayonne line descends the valley of the Adour, and beyond

(lOiy^ M.) Saubusse enters the Foret des Landes (p. 60).

—

10772^1. St-Vincent-de-Txjrosse. Branch-line to (22 M.) Leon.

From (115 M.) Labenne a narrow-gauge line goes to (o^/o M.) Ca])-

breton (Hot. de la Plage), with sea-baths, once a thriving port when
the Adour had its mouth there.— We now near the sea, which
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appears ou the right as we leave the forest.— 121 M. Le Boucau
(hotel), not far from the mouth of the Adour.

123 M. Bayonne. — Stations. Uare dii Midi (PL C, D, 1), in

St-Esprit, on the right bank of the Adour; Gare de Biarritz (PI. A, 2),

on the left bank. Onm. between the stations 1.5 c.; trunk, 20 c.

Hotels. Grand-Hotel (PI. b; B, 3), 21 Rue Thiers, good, R. from 4,

B. IV2, L- 3, D. 4, P. from 10 f r. ; Hot. de Paris & Bdhaina (PI. c; B, 3),

13-15 Rue Thiers. R. from 3Va, B. IV4, L. 31/0, D. 4, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.
du Panier-Fleuri (PI. d; B, 3), Impasse Port-Neuf, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. SV-^,

D. 4, P. from IIV2 fr. ; Hot. d'Eiirojje & Guipuzcoana (PI. e; B, 3), 33 Rue
Thiers, L. 21/2, D- 3, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot-Rest. Capagorry, 14 Rue Thiers.

Restauraxts. At the hotels; Patisserie-Rest. Guillot-Duraiid, Arceaux
du Port-Neuf; Rest.du Louvre, close bv, corner of the Rue des Carmes,
L. 21/4. D. 21/2 fr. ; Hot.-Rest. du Sport, 26 Rue du Port-Xeuf.

Cabs. Per drive, with one horse I1/2 fr., two horses 2 fr. ;
per hour 2

and 2V2 fr. ; outside the octroi-limits, or at night, 50 c. extra.

—

Motor
Cabs. Up to 1200 metres IV4 fr. ; for each 1000 m. more 75 c.

Garages. Gambade, 3 Rue Jacques-Laffitte; Artigue, 25 Rue Tliiers

;

Garage des Autobus, Lafontaine, both in the Allees Marines.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. C, 3), Rue Jacques-LafRtte.
Banks. Credit Lyoimais, Place de la Liberte; Societe Generate, Rues

du Reduit and Frederic-Bastiat; Comptoir d''Escompte, Rue Thiers.
Baths. 3Iarenyo, 24 Rue Marengo; Paidmy, Allees Paulmy.
Arenes (see Map opposite), for bull-fights and other fetes, a little W.

of the ramparts, reached by the Allees Paulmy.

—

Race Course, see p. 70.

Syndicat d' Initiative, Av. L^on-Bounat.
British Vice-Consul, P. Schoedelin, 8 Rue Vainsot (PI. A, B, 3, 2).

Bayonne (Basque 'harbour'; pop. 27,886), a fortified towu, once

capital of the Labourd (see below), lies prettily at the confluence

of the Adour and the Nive, 3^2 ^i- from the Bay of Biscay. The
Cathedral is the chief building of note.

Bayonne, probably the Roman Lajiurdum, acquired importance in the
middle ages by its whale-fishery, its trade with Spain, its tanneries, and
its manufacture of arms. The bayonet is said to have been invented
here. Acquired by England along with Aquitaine, the town remained
faithful to that country till 1451, thanks to the privileges granted to it.

It offered a vigorous and successful resistance to Spain in 1523. Here,
in 1565, amid great rejoicings, took place the interview between Charles IX.
of France and his sister Elizabeth, Queen of Spain, in presence of their

mother, Catherine de Medicis, and the Duke of Alva, when the Massacre
of St. Bartholomew is said to have been planned. The town was again
'en fete' on the conclusion of the Peace of tlie Pyrenees in 1659 (p. 119),

and on the passage of Philip V. of Spain, grandson of Louis XIV., in

1700. In 1808 Napoleon I. made some stay at Bayonne, during which he
compelled Charles IV. of Spain to abdicate in favour of Joseph Bonaparte.
Lastly, in 1814, Bayonne stoutly resisted the British and Spanish troops
under Sir John Hope, and was still untaken when peace was declared. —
The traffic of the port is nearly a million tons per annum.

The Basques, settled from time immemorial on tlie slopes of

the W. Pyrenees, occupy the French districts of Labourd ('Lapurdum'),
Basse-Navarre (St-Jean-Pied-de-Port, p. 70), and the Soule (Maul^on,
p. 121), and abound in the Spanish provinces oi Biscaye, Guipuzcoa, Alava,
and part of Navarre. They number about 660,000, of whom 120,000 live

in France. They are descendants of the pre-Aryan and Iberian aborigines,
and call themselves Euskaldunac ('clever people'), whence the corruptions

Vascos, Basques, and Gascons. Their language (Enskara) differs from all

others. Their character is independent and impetuous, and they excel in

Baedbkeiis Soutliern France. Gth Edit. a
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their ball-games and dances. The men wear a blue cap, red or brown
jacket, white vest, and black velvet or white trousers, with a broad red

woollen girdle, and thej^ usually carry a viakila, or sword-stick. The
women are mostly handsome, and have remarkably fine, curly hair. They
wear a long white or dark blue kerchief as a head-dress. Many Basques
emigrate to S. America, where they number over 600,000. The revolts of the

Spanish Basques in 1821, 1833, and 1841 atford an idea of their character.

The suburb of ^t-Esprit (PI. D, 1, 2), with the Gare du Midi,

is dominated by a Citadel (PL C, 1), built by Vauban (1674-9)

and considered one of his best works. As it has never been captured,

it bears the words 'Nunquam poUuta' over the entrance. Fine view,

but admittance not easily obtained.

From the station we cross by the Pont St-Esprlt (PI. 0,2;
view) to the Place du E^duit, named after an old gateway. It

lies at the mouth of the Nive, vrhich separates Petit-Bayonue on

the right bank, an artisan quarter, from Grand-Bayonne on the

left bank. We cross the Nive, by the Pont Mayou (PL B, 3), to

the Place de la Libert^, where a building (PL B, 2) contains the

Mairie, the Theatre, and the Custom House. Beyond it lies the

Place d'Armes (tramway to Biarritz, see p. 67), prolonged by

public grounds and the Jardin Molinie, near which is the small

Gare de Biarritz (PL A, 2).

The Rue Thiers, in which are the chief hotels, leads from the

Place d'Armes to the Chateau Vieux (PL A, 3), a castle of the 12th

and 15th cent., built on part of the Roman enceinte. A little higher

up, in the same direction, is the—
^Cathedral of Notre-Dame (PL A, B, 3, 1), founded in 1140,

but rebuilt after a fire in 1213. The rebuilding began with the

choir and was continued till 1544, when the great portal was left

unfinished. The work was resumed in 1847. The spires are modern.

The N. portal is preceded by a narthex. The proportions of the in-

terior are vast and harmonious. We note the triforium, the stained

glass of the 15t.h-17th cent., and the chapels of the apse. On the S.

side of the church is a sculptured ^Poi'tal (13th cent.), enclosed

within the sacristy, vrhich itself occupies one side of the superb

13th cent. ^Cloisters, formerly the burial-place of the chapter.

From the X. side of the Cathedral we may either follow the

Rue de la Monnaie and the picturesque Rue du Port-Neuf (PL B, 3)

to the Place de la Liberte, or we may go by the Rue Argenterie

and the Rue Victor-Hugo back to the Pont Mayou.
From the Pont Mayou the Rue Frederic-Bastiat (PL C, 3) leads

to the "Mus6e Bonnat, containing an admirable collection of pic-

tures presented to the town in 1901 by the painter Leon Bonnat
(b. at Bayonne in 1833), besides th^ older municipal collection. It

is open on Sun., Thurs., and holidays, 1 to 4 or 5 ; on Tues., AYed.,

and Fri. on application. Catalogue 1, illus. 2 fr.

Grouki> Floor. On the left is the Blbliotheq/te Mnuicipale (32,U00 vols.

;

open daily, except Sun. and Mon.).
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First Floou (Salles Bouiiat). In Room I are good drawings by *Barije,

Delacroix, *Ingres, Frnd'hon, etc. — Room II. Right to left, 146. Raphael,
Study of St. Joseph; 2()-.Sl. Sketches in grisaille by Van Dyck; 35. Rubens,
Triumph of Venus; 21. Ribera, Woman in despair; 456-458. Sketches by
Rubens; 326. RosselUno, Relief of the Madonna and Child ; 7. Fra Fit. Lipjn,
Head of a saint; cabinet of bronzes by Chapu, David d''Angers, etc.; 320,

318. Terracottas; 2. Florentine School of 14fh (Jent., Crucifixion; 32.

Flemish School of 15th Cent., Madonna; 13. 11 Greco, Portrait; 20. Murillo,
Daniel in the lions' den; 2o. Bromcer, Drunkard deciphering a letter;

12. II Greco, St. Jerome as a cardinal; 100. X. Poussin, Nymphs and
Cupids; 38. F. Fotter, Cows; Rembrandt, 41. Biblical subject, 39. Head of

an old man, 40. Rabbi, 42. Interior of a cellar. Glass-cases in the centre :

Terracottas, Greek vases, small bronzes; also a fine collection of *Drawing!j
by great masters.— Room 111. Sketches and drawings; 86-90. Portraits by
Ingres; 61. t'orot. Landscape ; 24. Reynolds, Portr. of a colonel. — Room IV.
72. Diaz, Forest of Fontainebleau; 322. Florentine School of IGthCent.,
Bust of Michael Angelo; Ai. Barye, Tiger; 10. Goya, Portrait. In the
centre, a cabinet containing 49 *Bronzes by Barye. — Gallery. Drawings
by Ingres, *Frtid'hon, etc.

Second Floor. Municipal Collection, chiefly of modern pictures.

Room II contains several interesting works by Bonnat.

To the N.W. of the citadel, 2 M. from the town, is the Cimetiere
des Anglais, where the English who fell at the siege of 1814 are buried.
We follow the Rue Maubec (PI. D, 1) and the Bordeaux road, then the
first turning to the left, to (10 min.) a guide-post with directions in English
(reached also via the Route du Boucau, skirting the Bordeaiix railway,
and then turning to the right).

Pleasant drive (2 hrs. there and back) to the C'roioi de Moiigtierre,
a plateau to the S.E.; superb view of the Adour valley and the Pyrenees.

From Bayonne to San Sebastian, see R. 17; to Totdottse via Fan,
see R. 18; to St-Jean-Fied-de-Fort and Roncevaux, see pp. 70, 71.

From Bayonne to Biarritz.

1. Chemin de Fer du Midi, 8 M., in 30-35 min. (1 fr. 45, 1 fr., 65 c);
through-trains from Bordeaux and from Paris to Biarritz-Ville, see p. 63.

2. Local Railwat, via Anglet, 5 M., in V4 tr- (60 or 35 c; return
1 fr. or 60 c).

3. Electric Tramway, 41/2 M., in 31 min. (50 or 35 c. ; return 90 or
55 c), from the Place d'Armes (p. 66).

The maiu line goes via (6 M.) La Negresse (p. 117), whence
we diverge by a branch to the right for (8 M.) Biarritz-Ville.

Biarritz.— Hotels. At the first nine hotels the charges are exclusive
of wine: *Hdt. du Folais (PI. b; B, C, 2), Av. Edouard VII, overlooking
the Grande Plage, in a park, R. from 12, B. 2, L. 7, D. 9, P. from
25 fr.; * Carlton Hotel (PI. c; C, 2), Av. de la Reine- Victoria and Av.
Edouard VII, R. from 15, B. 2, L. 7, D. 9, P. from 20, omn. 2 fr.

;

*H6t. dti Favillon Henri IV (PI. g; B, C, 2), annexe of the Carlton,
R. from 10, B. 2, L. 5, D. 6 fr. ; *H6t. Regina (PI. a; C, 1), near the
lighthouse and golf-course, R. from 5, with bath from 12, B. 2, L. 6,

D. 10, P. from 1(5, omn. 2 fr. ; *H6t. Continental (PI. f; B, C, 2), Av.
de la Reine- Victoria, R. from 4, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 12. omn.
1 fr. ; *H6t. Victoria & de la Grande-Flage (PI. h; B, 2), Av. Edouard
VII, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 121/2, omn. IV2 fr. ;

* Hot.
d' Angleterre (PI. e; B, 3), 4-6 Rue Mazagran, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 5, D.

7, P. from 18 fr. ; * Grand-Hotel (PI. d; B, 3), Places de la Mairie and
Bellevue, R. from 10, B. 2, L. 6, D. 7 fr. ; Hot. dii Casino, at the Ca-
sino Bellevue (PI. B, S). Hot des Frinces (PI. n; B, 3), 13 Rue Gam-
betta, good, R. liom 4, B. l'/-, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10, omn. 1/2 f r-

J
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XoureJ-Hofel de V Europe (PL m: B. 3), Rue tie France, R. from 5, *B.

li/o. L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12, omu. 1/2 ^r. : Hot. de Paris (PI. q ; A, B. 3),

Place Ste-Eugenie. R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/2, D- 4. P. from 10 fr. ; tidt.

XonMu-ExceUior (PI. t; B, 3). Rue Garderes. R. from 4. B. I1/4. L. 4,

D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. de Baijonne & Metrojjole (PI. k;

B. 3), 12 Rue Gambetta, good, R. from 4. B. I1/4, L. 4, D. 5, P. from
12 fr. ; Hot. C'osmopolitain (PI. s; B, 3), Place de la Mairie. R. from 4.

B. 11 o. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10, oran. V2 fr. : Hot. de France
(PL i'; B, 3). Place de la Mairie; Hot. Biarritz-Salim & des Thermes
(PL 0: D. 3), Av. de la Reine-Xathalie, with a bridge to the baths, R.
from 3. B. li/.^, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. du Pavilion
Alphnns^ XIII (PL 1:C. 2), Av. de la Reine-Viftoria, R. from 4. B. 2.

L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10. omn. 1 fr. : Hot. du Pavilion Louis XIV.
Av.de la Reine-Xathalie, R. from 4, B. IV4, L. 31/0, D. 41/2 (^vine extra),

P. from 10, omn. 3/^ fr. ; Hot. Maif^on Carree, same avenue. R. from 4,

B. 11/4, L. 3i/>. D. -41/.^ (wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Bristol good,

R. from 4, B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 4 (wine extra), P. from 10 fr., and Hot. Bellevue,

both on the Grande Plage ; Hot. Miramar (PL p ; A, 3), 5 Rue Miramar,
good, R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 31/25 I>- 41/2 (wine extra), P. from 10, omn.
3/4 fr. ; Hot. St-Julien. 12 Av. Carnot, good English familv hotel, R.
from 4. B. 1, L. 31/2, D. 4. P. from 10, omn. 1 fr. ; Pension Villa Mon-
Plaisir. Rue Pevrotoubille. English. P. from 8 f r. ; Hot. St-James, on the

Grande Plage, R". from 4. B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/2; P- from 9, omn. ^Uh.; Modern-
Hotel du Louvre, Av. du Helder. L. 21/2. D- 3 fr.

Villas and Furnished Houses abound. Agents: Bliss. 4 Place de la

Liberte; Loumian. i Rue Simon-Etcheverry.
Restaurants at most of the hotels; Rest, du Casino Bellevue (see

below; L. 5, D. 6 fr., wine extra); Rest. Cyprien, at the Casino Muni-
cipal (see below).

Sea Baths with costume, etc., 60 c. ; on the Cote des Basques
40 c. ; attendant 50 c; cabine de luxe 3 fr.

Cabs. With one horse, I'/ofr. per drive, 2 fr. per hour; with two horses

2 and 2' 2 fr. ; 1 fr. extra at night (10-7); outside the town according to

arrangement.

—

Moving Staircase ('rampe mobile') from the beach to the

Casino Bellevue, 10 c.

Garages (motor-car 75 c. per km., or 1 fr. 20 c. per M.). J. Lafptte,
2-6 Av. de la Liberte; Croix-de-Lorraine and Garage d.u Palais. Av.de
la Reine-Victoria : Laporte & fils and Belaunaij-Belleville, IG and 13 Av.
de Bavonne: Levav<isseur. 24 Av. de la Liberte.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL B. 3), Rue des Postes.

Casino Municipal (PL B, 3). Adm. 1. per fortnight 12, per season
90 fr. — Casino Bellevue (PL B, 3 ; in summer), same charges.— At both,

theatre, concert-room, card-room, restaurant, etc.

Basks. Societe Generale, Credit Lyonnais, and Comptoir d^Es-
compte, all in the Place de la Liberte; Salzedo flls & Cie., Place de la

Mairie; British & Interncdional Bank, 10 Rue Garderes; H. Bellairs
& Co.. Place de la Mairie.

Clubs. British Cluh (PL B, 2); Neu: Club; etc. - Golf and Tennis
Club (PL C, D, 1), at Cap St-Martin.

British Vice-Consul, A^. .4. BtUairs, 10 Rue Garderes (office-hours

10-12 and 2-4).

—

American Consular Agent.
Anglican Church [St. Andreu's; PL B, 3), Rue des Postes; services

at 8.30, 11, and 6; chaplain, Rev. W. G. Batty. — Scottish Presbtterias
Services (Jan.-April) at 11 and 5.30 at the French Protestant Church (PL A, 3).

English Physician. Dr. Mcdpas, Av. Cavnot.— King Edicard' s Xursiny
Home. Rue des Chantiers.

Biarritz (pop. 18.260), situated on cliffs facing the Ba}' of Bis-

cay, is one of the most frequented bathing-places in France, especially

in September. The court patronage of the Second Empire contrib-

uted mnch to its popularity, but its reputation is mainly due to
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its striking situation and its splendid beach. As tlie climate is

mild, Biarritz is in vogue also as a winter resort. It is frequented

by all nationalities, the English and American predominating in

winter and spring.

The new Gave du Midi (PI. B, 3, 4j is in the Av. de la Liberte,

opposite the Jardin Public. The Gare B.-A.-B. (Biarritz-Anglet-

Bayonue; PL B, 3) is in the Place de la Liberte, in which is also

the Bayonue tramway terminus.

To the AV. of the Place de la Liberte are the Place de la Mairie

and beyond it the Place Bellevue (PL B, 3). Here, on the right, are

the Palais Bellevue (club) and the Grand-Hotel, and on the left

the Casino Bellevue and the Hotel d'Angleterre, in a bold rocky

site. *View, finest from the casino-terrace (baud in summer).

The Grande Plage (PL B, 3, 2), to which we descend by steps

or by the 'rampe mobile', extends N.E. to a small promontory, with

the Hotel du Palais. Farther on is Cap St-Martin with its lighthouse.

Overlooking the Plage, which presents a lively scene at bathing-

hours, rises the Casino Municipal (PL B, 3), with the Etablisse-

ment de Bains, preceded by a long covered gallery, a favourite

resort of visitors. The sandy beach is safe and pleasant for bathing,

being sheltered from the full force of the waves by a barrier ef rock.

The boulevard passing below the Casino Bellevue leads W. to

the Atalaye (PL A, 3, 2), a headland crowned with a semaphore
and relics of an old castle, and connected by footbridges with the

Rochers Ganiarritz. A tunnel under the Atalaye leads to an open
space, whence a footbridge crosses to the Eocher de la Vierge
(PL A, 2), with its statue. At the end of the rock is a half-ruined

breakwater, a relic of the harbour whicli Napoleon III. endeavoured

to construct here; fine view of the coast and of the Spanish moun-
tains near the mouth of the Bidassoa. To the S. of the Atalaye is the

Port Vieux, a narrow and sheltered creek, with a bathing-estab-

lishment for delicate persons. Farther along the coast we pass a

deeply furrowed promontory and soon reach the Cote des Basques
(PL A, 3, 4), on which the waves often dash with great violence.

The name is due to an old custom of the Basques, who used to come
here in great numbers to bathe on the second Sun. in September.
The rocks here will interest geologists.

Behind the Etablissement a zigzag path ascends to the Rue des

Falaises, which is continued to the left by the Perspective Miramar
(PL A, 3; superb view), A path leads thence to the Place du Port-

Vieux, from which, to the right, we return by Rues Leroy and

Mazagran to the Places de la Mairie and de la Liberte.

The Bayonne tramway leads from the Place de la Liberte, by
the Av. Edouard VII and (to the right) by the Av. de la Reine-

Victoria, to the well-ordered Thermes Salins (PL D, 2, 3), sup-

plied by the saline springs of Briscoiis (11 M. to the E.). This is the
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qimrter df liandsome villas, notably the Chdteau de La Roche-

foi'cauld. once occupied by Queen Victoria.

From the point where the Av. de la Reiue-Victoria diverges,

the Av. Edouard YII leads on, N.N.E., past the back of the Hotel

du Palais (PI. b; B, C, 2), on tlie site of the Villa Eugenie, Avhere

Xapoleonlll. and Bismarck met in 1864. On the right is the Russ-
ian Church. Farther on, beyond the Hotel Regina and the golf-

course, we turn to the left to Gap St-Martin (PL C, 1), with its

Lighthouse, 155 ft. high. (Visitors ring; fine view from the top.)

To the S., uear La Xegresse (p. 67), is the Bois de Boulogne, to

which we may go by the Rue Gambetta and the Av. du Bois-de-Boulogup
(PI. A, 4, 5). We may return by the Route de la Xegresse, a pleasant walk
or drive of about 5 M. in all. (See Map, p. 65.)— Another excursion is

to (171/2 M.) Behohie, by the coast-road, b.'yond Bidart (p. 117).

The Race Course of Biarritz and Bayonue is at La Barre, 41/2 M. to

the X.E. of Biarritz. The nearest railway station is Auglet (p. 67).

Route des Pyrenees. Motor-omu. of the Comp. du Midi, starting

from 16 Av. de Bavonne, (1) on Mou., Tues. Thurs.. and Fri. to St-Jean-
de-Luz (p. 117), San Sebastian (p. 120; 10 fr.), and Bilbao {i5 h.); (2) on
Mon., Wed., and Fri. to Pampelvna (p. 71; 35 fr.), either via St-Jean-
Pied-de-Port (see below) and Roncevaux (p. 71), or vi^ Cambo-les-Baivs
(see below) and the Col de Maya.

Electric tramway to St-Jean-de-Luz, Hendaye. and Irun, seep. 117.

From Bayonne to St-Jean-Pied-de-Port and Roncevaux.
To (321/., M.) St-Jean-Pied-de-rort, railway in 1 hr. 40 to 2 hrs. 10 min.
(.5 fr. 80, 3 fr. 95.2 fr. 55 c); thence to (20 M.) Roncevaux by omn. (in

summer), going on to (22 M.) to Biagitete (51/4 hrp. : fare 4 pesetas). Car-

riage to Burguete, 50-60 p. Motor-omn. from Biarritz, see above.
Bayonne, see p. 65. We ascend the left bank of the Nive.— 12 M.

Cambo-les- Bains (Hot. d'Angleterre, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. Colbert;
Hot. de France) lies picturesquely, partly on a steep hill on the left bank
of the Nive (Haut-C'ambo), and partly in the valley fBas-Cambo). About
1 M. farther (station, see below) is a bath-house, with iron and sulphur
springs. The climate is hot in summer, but pleasant in spring and autumn.
A great gathering of Basques takes place here on St. John's Eve (23rd

June), when each tries to drink as much water as possible while the

clock is striking twelve (midnight), in order to insure his health until

next anniversary. They also take away a supply for those who have
been unable to come. The Church, in the style peculiar to the country,
lias three galleries for men and a painted ceiling. Charming environs.

The train still ascends the right bank of the Xive.— 18 M. Camho-
les-Thermes. — 151/2 M. Itxassou, or Itsatsou (Hot. Teillery). The pres-

bytery here contains church-plate of the 17th -18th cent., of Spanish origin.

About 20 min. up the Xive valley is the Pas de Roland, an opening
made in the rock, according to the legend, by a kick of the paladin's
foot. The Pic Mondai-rain {2M0 t\.:. vievir). to "the W., is easilj' climbed
(5 hrs. there and back, with guide).— 21^1., M. Bidarray, 3 M. from which
is a grotto containing a venerated stalactite. — From (25i/o M.) Osses (Hot.
Central) a branch-line ascends the valley of the Xive de St-Etienne to

('51/0 M.) St-Etienne-de-Ba'igorrij (Hot. des Pvrenees).— Our line ascends the
valley of the Xive d'Arneguy.— 821/2 M. St-Jean-Pied-de-Port (530 ft.;

Hot. Central, good, L. or f). 31/2 fr. ; Hot. de France, des Pyrenees), a

small town fortified by Vauban to command the Port de Roncevaux (p. 71),

and once the capital of Basse-Xavarre, has belonged to France since the
Treaty of the Pyrenees in 1659. Omn. to St-Palais, see p. 121.

The Road to Roncevaux ascends S., on the right bank of the N^ive

d'Arneguy, which forms picturesque gorges. — At (5 M.) Arneguy we
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cross the river into Spanish territory'.— T'/a M. VulcarloB, or Lvza'ide

(Hot. Mosqneia) is a Spanish village with a hydro.—We Jiow ascend a

superb rocky valley in -windings (sliort-cut for walkers) to the (I8V2 M.)
Port de Roncevdiiy {M10 ft. ; old chapel; fine view). —We descend rapidly

to (20 M.) Roncevaux, Span. Roncesvolles {?,22(\ H.; inn), in the valley

famous for tht- defeat of Charlemagne's rearguard in 778 and for the deatli

of Roland, hotti-r known in poetry than in history. Eginhard is the only
clironicler wlio mentions tlie famous paladin among the slain. The old

Augustinian Abbe// has a Gothic pilgrimage-church containing a costly

statue of the Virgin, interesting paintings, and a valuable treasury. The
Chcq^el of the Holy Ghost, near the church, is said to mark the spot

wliere Cliarlemagne's heroes were buried. Wellington also passed through

this valley in 1813, in pursuit of ^,ou\t.''Yrom'Bu7-g//ete, 2 M. beyond
Roncevaux, another omn. goes on to (50 M.) Pampeluna (12 hrs.; 10 p.).

with its finp Cxothic cathedral. See Baedeker''^ S'paiu & Portugal..

10. From Bordeaux to Toulouse.
1591/2 M, Railway, from the Gare St-Jean (p. 46). in 3 hrs. 20 to

5 hrs. 50 min. (28 fr. 90, 19 fr. 55, 12 fr. 75 c).

Bordeaux, see p. 46. The line asceuds the Garonne valley.

—

12 M. Beautiran.
Fkoai Beautiran to Luxey, 431/2 M-- narrow-gauge line. -41/2 M.

Labrede (hotel), a small town, near which is the Chateau de Montes-
quieu, of the 13th-15th cent., where the room of the famous author (1689-

1755) may be visited. —201/2 M. Hastens, junction for Facture (p. 61).

—

30 M. St-Sym2)horien. Branch-line to Le Nizan (11 M. ; see below), via (6 M.)

ViUandraid. with the ruined chateau of Pope Clement V. (Bertrand de

Goth. d. 1314), and (71/2 M.) Uzeste, with a fine 13th cent. Gothic church,

containing the mutilated tomb of the pope. — 38 M. Sore, once fortified.

— 431/2 M. Ltixey, whence a line runs to (281/2 M.) Mont-de-Marsan (p. 63).

I8Y2 ^'I- Cerons. Omn. to Cadillac, see p. 55. This region

is noted for its white wines, those of (21 M.) Barsac and (23 M.)

Preignac being highly esteemed. Sauternes, famous for its

'Chateau-Yquem', lies 4 M. to the S.W. of Preignac.

26 M. Langon (Hot. du Liou-d'Or; pop. 4900), on the Garonne,

has a small harbour to which the tide ascends.
From Langon to BouRRioT-BERf^oNCE. 34 M.. railway in 1 lir. 25 to

2 hrs. 25 min. (6 fr. 15, 4 fr. 15, 2 fr. 70 c). --About 2 M. to the N. of

(71/2 M.) Le Nizan is the Chateau de Raquetaillade (early 14th cent.),

with six towers and a keep. Branch to St-Symphorien. see above. —
121/., M, Bazas (Hot. du Cheval-Blanc; pop. 4704), on a rock washed
by the Beuve. belonged to the ancient Vasates. It played an important
part in the Religious Wars, w^hen it was the scene of great excesses
committed by both parties. Down to 1790 it was the seat of a bishop.
The Cathedral dates from the 13th-17th cent.; part of the town-walls
(13th cent.) and several old houses are interesting. Omn. from Bazas
(also from Langon station) to (11 M.l Cours-les-Bains (Grand-Hotel), with
its strongly impregnated ferruginous waters. — 34 M. Bourriot-Bergoncc
(p. 72). Tlie line is to be extended to Castera-Verduzan (Auch ; seej). 88).

We cross the Garonne by a bridge succeeded by a long viaduct.

28 M. St-Maeaire (hotel; pop. 2037), the ancient i/^ewa, suf-

fered much in the Hundred Years' War and the Religious Wars.

It still has a gateway Qf the 13th cent, and many quaint old houses.
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The interesting church of >S'f-/SV/?R*e?//*. Romanesque and Gothic Cllth-

14th cent.), contains old mural paintings, badly restored.

30 M. St-Pierre-cVAurillac. A little farther on the river is

joined by the Canal Lateral a la Garonne, 120 M. long, which
meets the Canal du Midi at Toulouse (p. 79).

38 M. La Reole (Grand-Hotel; pop. 4241 i, on a hill rising

from the Garonne, was built in the 10th cent, round the Benedictine

abbey of Regula. The church of St-Pierre (13th cent.) has a modern
spire. Adjacent is the old Abbey (17th cent.; now public oflBcesK

and behind the church is a fine TeiTace. Near the church is a

ruined Castle, built by the English, and now private property. In

the town is a curious old Halle, or arcade.

49 M. Marmande (Hot. du Centre & de la Poste. des Mes-
sageries; pop. 9832) is an industrial town on the Garonne. The
church of Noire-Dame (12th-15th cent.) is adjoined on the right

by remains of a Renaissance cloister.

From Makmasde to Bergerac. i& ., M.. railway in 2-2i;2 brs. (8 fr. 40,

5 fr. 65. 3 fr. 70 c.). — 15 M. Miramont "(pop. 2166), "with a brisk trade in
'prunes d'Agen'. — 18 M. La Sauretat-du-Drot (p. 55).— 21 M. Eymet. Line
to Bordeaux, see p. 55. — 461/2 M. Bergerac (p. 56).

From Marmakde to Mont-de-Marsan, 61 M.. railway in 23/4-33/4 lirs.

(11 fr. 10, 7 fr. 40, 4 fr. 85 c.). — This line, crossing the Garonne and the
lateral canal by a viaduct, ascends the Avance valley.— 16 M. Castel-
jaloux (Hot. Fages: pop. 4026), with a ruined Chdtea'u, remains of forti-

fications (15th cent.), an old Commandery of the Templars, and chaly-
beate springs.— The line next traverses the E. end of the Landes (p. 60).—
381/., M. Boio-riot-Bergonce, junction for Bazas (p. 71). —461/0 M. Boquefort
(Hot. de France\ a small town with a 13th cent, church. — 61 M. Mont-
de-Marsan (p. 63;.

591/2 M. Tonneins (Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 6230), on the Ga-
ronne, formerly consisted of two towns, destroyed in 1622 by
Louis XIII. on account of their attachment to Protestantism.

From Tokkeins to Cahors, 691/0 M.. railway in 41/4-43/4 brs. (12 fr. 60.

8 fr. 50. 5 fr. 50 c.). — Beyond a tunnel the train enters the valley of the
Lot. which it ascends to Cahors.— 41/9 M. Clairac (pop. 2824) embraced
the Reformation with ardour, and was captured by Louis XIII. in 1621.—
Beyond (ISi'o M.) Ste-LJvrade we cross the Lot.'— 21 M. Villeneuve-
sur-Loti (Hot. Gache, de France: pop. 13.181; has a large trade in 'prunes
d"Agen'. The Porte de Pujols is a relic of the old ramparts (13th -14th
cent.), and the Lot is crossed by a 13th cent, bridge. The Porte de
Paris, on the boulevards, also belonged to the old walls. Farther on
is the Place Lafayette, bordered with arcades of the same date. — 261/2 M.
Penne. on the line from Perigueux to Tarbes (p. 86). Thence to (371/., M.)
Monsempron-Lihos. see p. 86. — Beyond Libos the valley of the Lot is

picturesque.— 41 M. Fmnel (Hot. de la Poste : pop. 4459), 5 M. from the
well-preserved *C'hdtean de Bonagvil (1450-80). — On the right are the
ruins of the old town of OrgueiJ. — M^j.2 M. C'astelfranc, with a castle
on the right.— 58 M. Luzech. with a ruined castle (13th cent.), on a
peninsula once defended by a Gallic fortress.- 6O1/0 M. Parnuc. To the
left is the Chateau de Grezette.— 6i'Si. Mercues. with an interesting
castle of the 13th cent., on a hill to the right. To the left runs the
Brive railway (p. 91).— 691/0 M. Cahors (p. 91).

641/2 M. Nicole. We cross the Lot, neij,r its confluence with
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llu' (jraronne. — 67 M. Aigtu'llov (Hot. du Clialeaii; pop. 2811j, the

lioinau AcUio, has a riiiued castle of tlie Dukes of Aiguilloii.

72 M. Port-Ste-Marie (Hot. de I'Europe), an ancient little

town on the Garonne, with two Gothic chnrclies of tlie 14th cent,

and houses of the 14th-15t]i.

From Port-Ste-Marie to Mont-de-Marsa.\. 70 M., raihvav in o'/^-

i'/i Ins. (12 fr. 80, 8 fr. 50, 5 fr. 55 c). 12 M. N6rac (Hot, de France,
tlu Commerce; pop. 6279), a pretty place ou the Baise, was often the
residence of tiio court of Navarre in the 16th cent., before the accession
of Henri IV. to the French throne. Taken and dismantled by Louis XIII.
as a Calvinist town, it lost all its importance. Only part of its 15th
cent. Chateau remains. The park now forms the beautiful Promenade
de Jo Garemie. The Sons-Frefecture contains a small Musee with two
paintings by Turner. Outside the town, near the Ba'ise, is the picturesque
ruined Chateau de Nazareth. From Nerac to Riscle, see below. — Beyond
Nerac we pass through a tunnel and ascend the pretty valley of the

Gelise. — 21 M. Mezin, witli a church of the 12th-14th centuries. — At
(26^/2 M-) Sos are the ruins of the ancient capital of the Satiates, dis-

covered in 1911. — 33V.2 M. St-Pe-St-Simov. The line passes from the
basin of the Oaronne into that of the Adour. — 421/2 M. Barbotan (Hot.

des Thermes), a village with hot sulphur and mud springs. -Beyond
(441/2 M.) Cazavbon we descend the valley of the Douze, and later that
of the Midon. -IQ M. Mont-de-Marmn (p. 6.S).

Froji Nerac to Riscle, 59V-' M., railway in 23/4-31/2 brs. (10 fr. 85,
7 fr. 25, 4 fr. 70 c.).- 13 M. Condom (Hot. du Lion-d'Or; pop. 6380), on
the Baise, trades in Armagnac brandy. It was formerly a bishopric,
once held by Bossuet. The line Gotliic Cathedral (1506-21) is adjoined
by old cloisters, now containing the Hotel de Ville. — 34 M. Eauze (Hot.

Soubiran; pop. 3592), on the Gelise, is the successor of Elasa, an im-
portant town in the time of Caesar, which was completely destroved about
910 A.D. The old town was at La Ciiitat ('civitas'), 3/^ M. to the E.,

where niany antiquities have been found. Eauze has a tine Gothic church
(16th cent.).- 46 M. Noyaro lias an interesting Romanesque church (late

11th cent.). — 591/2 M. Rii^de (p. 6.8).

81 M. Colayrac. We pass under the aqueduct (p. 74).

84V2M. A.gen.^Bu/fet.-'RoT:ELs. Hot. du Petit-St-Jean, 47 Cours
Voltaire, modernized, good, R. from 3, B. li/,, L. 31/2, D. 4, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot.
Marty, 8 Rue Jacquard, same charges ; Hot. Jasmin-Termin us , opposite the
station, R. from 3, L. or D. 3, P. 9 fr. ; Grand- Hotel & du Midi, Place du
Quatorze-Juillet, R. from 2i/.^, L. or D. 21/2, P. 7, omn. 1/., fr. ; Hot. Continen-
tal, at the station, L. 2, D. 21/2, P. 6i/2fr.— Cab with two seats, per drive 3/4,

per hour 1^/4 and 2 fr. ; with four seats H/4, 21/4, and 21/0 fr. —Post & Tele-
graph Office, Boul. Carnot.

—

Baths. Dallas, on the Gravier, near the
footbridge. Sykdicat d'Initiative, 49 Boul. de la Republique.

Agen (pop. 23,294), the capital of the department of Lot-et-

(jraro/me, and seat of a bishop, lies on the right bank of the Garonne.

The new Boul. Carnot, running N. to S. and crossed by the Boul. de

la Republique, has much improved the town.
As the capital of the Nitiobriges, Agcn was important under the

Gauls, and it was later the chief citj' of the Agenais. The executions
of Albigenses and Ilnguenots form tragic pages in its history. It was
the birthplace of the philologist Joseph Scaliger (1540-1609), and of the
naturalist Lacepede (1756-1825). It lias a large trade in dried plums.

In the Boul. Carnot rises the Cathedral of St-Caprai.s, with a

line apse and a transept of the 11th- 12th cent., and a nave rebuilt
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in the 14tli-16tJi. The interior is decorated with paintings of local

martyrs. The hnge piers, which once supported a dome, are adorned
with columns ending in curious capitals.

The Rues Raspail and Jacquard lead from the Cathedral to tlse

Market Hall, AvJience tlie Boul. de la Repuldique descends to a

small square with a bronze statue of Jasmin (Jacques Boe; 1798-

1864), author of several poems in the Agenais dialect.

On the other side of the Place Jasmin runs the broad Cours Vol-

taire, continued by the Cours Gambetta, which skirts the Prome-
nade du Gravier, on the Garonne. The river is crossed here by a

suspension-bridge ; higher up is a stone bridge ; lower down is a

Pout-Canal, or aqueduct of the Canal Lateral (p. 72). In the Boul.

Scaliger, off the Cours Voltaire, is the church of St-Hilaire, of the

15th cent., with modern facade and tower.

The Rue du Pont-de-Garonne (off the Cours Gambetta; and Rue
Cuvier lead to the CJmrch of the Jacobins, a brick building of the

13th cent., adorned with old paintings. Farther on, the Rue du

Pont-de-Garonne leads past the back of the Theatre (1907-8) to the

Hotel de Ville (built in 1666, and now containing the Library).

Adjoining the theatre is the Musee, occupying three mediaeval

mansions, with an interesting old spiral staircase. (Adm. Sun. and
Thurs., 1-4 or 1-5; at other times on application.)

The collections of the Comte de Chaudordy are valuable. Boom 8:
*Veni(s du Mas-d' Agenais. a marble antique; Tiepolo, ^Distribution of
bread; School of L?;ca Signorelli. *Portrait; Dresden and Sevres porcelain;
*Medallion of a young woman, attr. to Jlino da FiesoJe. .

The Rue Chaudordy, to the left of the Hotel de Ville, leads to

the Rue Montesquieu, opposite Notre-Dame-du-Bourg, a pretty

little church of the 13th cent., with an arcaded tower in the Tou-
louse style. The Rue Montesquieu. I^o. 8 in which is a fine 18th

cent, mansion, leads to the Promenade de la Plate-Forme, in

which are the Prefecture (18th cent.), the modern Palais de Justice,

and the Archives. In front of the Palais de Justice is a bronze War
Monument, and farther on, in the Jardiu de Jayan, is a bust of

Frangois de Cortete de Prades (1586-1667), an Agenais poet.

From Agen to Pei iytteirx and Tarbes. see E. 12.

871/2 ^^- Bon-Encontre, the junction for Auch and Tarbes

(p. 87). To the N.E. (174^^^-) is a pilgrimage-resort.— The Garonne
is crossed by numerous suspension-bridges; one of the finest, near

Moissac, is prolonged by a viaduct across the railway.

IIOY2 M. Moissae (Hot. du Luxembourg, de Bordeaux; pop.

8137), a trading town on the Canal Lateral and the right bank of

the Tarn, a place of very ancient origin, suffered in the wars
between the 5th cent, and the 17th. It is now noted for its grapes.

Its famous abbey, whose church and cloisters remain, founded about

650, was suppressed in 1790.
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Tlie Av. de la Gare, to the left, and tlie Promenade Marengo lead

to the church of St-Pierre, founded in the Romanesque period, but

n^huilt several tiriies. In its present form it dates from the 12th

and 15th centuries. vSnperb *P<yrtal of the 12th cent., orij^imilly on

the W. facade, but removed to the 8. when the tower was foi-tiiied.

Tlio portal is williiii a tleeply recessed arolnvay forming a kind of

porch. The central pier is adorned with lions and statnes of the Pro-

phets; the lateral piers have similar statues of Isaiah and St. Peter, with
winding courses of rats and birds. Tlie three rows of s(!ulptures in the

porch represent the Annunciation, the Visitation, and scenes from the

Childhood of Christ on the right; Avarice and Luxury, Dives and Lazarus,
on the left. The tympanum group represents Christ surrounded by the

Elders of the Apocalypse. The reliefs are framed in decorative bands of

great beauty, and at each side are three attached columns, whose capitals

are adorned with griffins and arabesques.
Xote in the interior the Benaissance choir-screen, the organ (presented

))y Card. Mazarin). a Merovingian sarcophagus, and wood-carvings (13th

and 15th cent.). We may visit also the old guard-room (12th cent.).

The "Cloisters, adjoining the church on the left (entered from

the little square in front; custodian), date from about 1100, and

are among the finest in France. The brick vaulting, of the 14th

cent., rests alternately on single and double columns, besides which

there are square pillars at the angles and in the middle of each

side. The capitals are adorned with scenes explained by inscrip-

tions. On the square pillar opposite the entrance is a figure of

Abbe Durand, Bishop of Toulouse (11th cent.; p. 84), who con-

secrated the abbey-church in 1063.

Returning to the Promenade Marengo, w^e may cross the railway

to visit the church of St-Martin (10th cent.).

Railway to Cahors (p. 91) projected.

Under Moissac are two short tunnels. We ci'oss the Tarn by a

tubular bridge.

116 M. Castelsarrasin (Hot. de France, de I'Europe; pop.

6996). The name is supposed to be a corruption of 'Castel-sur-

Azin' or 'Castrum Cerrucium'. The brick church of St-Sauveur
(i2th-15th cent.), with a modern tower, is interesting. Branch-line

to (16 M.) Beaumont-de-Lomagne.
Beyond (121 M.) LaviUedieu the lines to Lexos (p. 97) and to

Cahors and Limoges (pp. 93-88) diverge to the left.

128 M. Montauban.— The Gave d if Midi (PI. A. 4; good buffet)

and the Gare d'' Orleans (PI. E, 1) are each 1/2 M. from tJie centre of the

town. Omn. 30 c. (trunk 30 c).

Hotels. *H6t. du Midi (PI. a: D. 3). Place d'Armes, R. from 3, B. 1,

L. 31/0, D. 4fr.; Hot. Terminns (PI. d; A, 4), opposite the G-are du Midi,
good, R. from 21/2 fr. ; Grand-Hotel, Rue St-Georges; Hot. des Qfratre-

Saisons (PI. c; D, 3). 24 Rue Bessi^res.
Cabs. Per drive 60 c, per hour 1 fr. 20 c; at night 1 fr. and 1 fr.

60 c; with two horses, 80 c. and 1 fr. 80 c., 2 fr. and 3 fr.— Motor Cabs,
50 c. per km.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. D, 3), 29 Rue des Lixes. — Bank. Credit
Luonnuis, 20 Rue des Lixcs.- Syndicat d'Initiative, 19 Rue d'Elie.
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Montoiiban (pop. 29,778), a prosperous towu, capital of the

department of Tarn-et-Garonne, and the seat of a bishop and of

a consistory, lies pleasantly on the right bank of the Tarn.

Montanban was founded in 1144 by Alphouse I., Count of Toulouse,
on the site of the Eouian station of Mans Alhanus. It embraced with
ardour the doctrines of the Albigenses, ijartly from hatred of the monks
of Le Moustier. The Inquisition wrought terrible havoc here, but did not
prevent the Eeformatiou from making such progress that the town became
one of the strongholds of the Huguenots. Louis XIII. failed to capture
Montauban in 1621, but after the fall of La Rochelle the town submitted
to Richelieu, in 1629. and had its fortifications levelled. It is still partly

Protestant. and has a faculty of Protestant theology.

From the Oare du Midi \s-e go via the Av. Mayenne. Place de la

Laque, and Faubourg Gasseras to the ^Bridge (PI. B, C, 3) connec-

ting the suburb of Villebourhoii with the town. This bridge across

the Tarn, built of brick, was begun in 1304 and was completed and

fortified in 1338. Under its floor runs an internal passage.

Bevond the bridge is a square adorned with a curious Monu-
ment fm- 1870-71 (PL 4; C, 3). On the left side of the square is the

Bourse, containing a Natural History Museum (Sun. and Thurs..

2-4). On the right side of the square rises the *Mus6e (PI. C, 3), a

large brick building, used as an Hotel de Yille down to 1910. This

was the Chateau, begun by the Counts of Toulouse, continued by the

Black Prince in the 14th cent., and completed by Bishop deBerthier

in the 17th. The Musee (Sun. 1-4: at other times 1 fr., or 50 c.

each for a party) is chiefly interesting for its collection of the

works of Ingres (1780-1867). a native of Moutauban.

First Floor. Room I. Right , 259. J. Jouvenet, Descent from the

Cross; 34. Ingres. Ossian's dream (unfinished); 267. LeXain, Three beggars.
— Room II. 50. Ponssin, Landscape; *44. Ingres. Jesus among the doctors;

199. .Jordaens. Silenus and the Seasons ; 36.3. Bassano, Rural scene ; 197. Van
Dyck. Portr. of a monk.— Room III is the first of the *Mus6e Ingres.
In the centre is the master's easel, with his last study of 'Jesus among
the doctors'. On the right, small pictures by Van der Xeer, Veronese,
Velazquez, and others. 4li Ingres, Ruggiero releasing Angelica; 21. E.
Flandrin, Portr. of Ingres. A cabinet contains souvenirs of Ingres, hjs

violin, and a ^Portrait of his father. --Rooms lY-VI. ^Drawings. Among
them, left of the entrance. Portr. of his grandfather by Ingres, when a boy
of ten; *15. Seb. Boin-don, Portr. of Moliere. Rooms IV and V have fine

ceilings.—Room YII (left of staircase), formerly the library, now con-

tains a few pictures. — On the second and ground floors are to be ex-

hibited the drawings bequeathed by Ingres to his native town.

The Basemext contains a collection of antiquities, objects of art, and
curiosities. — A narrow staircase leads to a large vaulted room called the

*Salle du Prince-Xoir. where a Musee Lapidaire has been begun. The
executioner's axe and instruments of torture are likewise shown here.

The Hotel de Ville (PI. C, 3), a little to the S.E., was installed

in 1910 in the old Eveche. To the N.E. of the Musee, at the farther

end of the square, rises the church of St-Jacques (PL C, 3), a brick

edifice of the 14th-15th cent., with a fine octagonal tower in the

Toulouse Gothic style, with triangular arcades. The tile-work

over the main portal is modern. Behind St-Jacques is the quaint
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'Place Natlonale (PI. C, 3), bordered with double arcades and

with gates at the corners (17th cent.).

To the S. of St-.Tacques, in the Eue de la Republique, is the

Palais de Justice (PI. 6; C, 3), to the right of which (No. 45) is the

Maison de Bar (PL 3; C, 3), of the 15th cent., interesting chiefly

in the interior. The Palais de Justice faces the Place de I'Horloge,

so named from an old tower which collapsed in 1910, The Rue de

la Eepublique, to the S.E., and Clrande-Rue-St-Louis, to the right,

lead to the Cathedral (PL D, 3, 4), the sacristy of which contains

the 'Vow of Louis XIII.' by Ingres, one of his finest w^orks.

The Allees de Mortarieu, behind the Cathedral, lead to the

Promenade des Cannes, at the end of which rises a Monument to

Ingres (PL 5; C, 3, 4), by Etex. In clear weather the Pyrenees

are visible from this point. From the promenade we may enter

the Jardiu des Plantes (PL C, D, 4), laid out on both banks of

the Tescov, an affluent of the Tarn.
From Montauban to Limoges (Paris), see E. 13, II a and I; to Mont-

peUier via C'ast7-es, see R. 16; to Lexos, see p. 97.

The train now returns towards the Canal Lateral.— 155^/2 M.
Lacourtensourt. We join the line to Paris via Capdenac (R. 13, lib).

1591/2 M. Toidouse (Gare Matabiau).

11. Toulouse.
Railway Stations. Gare Matabiau (PI. F, 1 : good buffet, L. 31/0,

D. 4 fr.), the chief station, on the X.E. side of the town; Gare St-Cyprien
(beyond PL A, 4), to the S.W., I1/4 M. from the Pont Xeuf, for the line to

Auch ; Gare Rognet (PI. A, 4, 5), for the narrow-gauge lines (p. 85).

Hotels, *H6t. de la C'omp. dn Midi, at the Gfare Matabiau (PI. F, 1),

new. R. 4-20, L. 4, D. 5 fr. (wine extra); *Grand-Hdtel & Hot. TivoUier
(PI. a; E, 3), 31 Rue de Metz, with rest., R. from 5, B. IV-., L. or D. 5,

P. from 12, omn. 1 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. de VEurope & du Midi (PI. b; E, 2),

Place Lafayette, good, R. from 4, B. 11/4. L. 31/.,, D. 4 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. Capoid
(PL c; E, 2), Place Lafayette, R. from 2i,'.,. B. 1. L. 3, D, 3i/.„ P, from 9,

omn. 1/2 fr.; Hot. Baichere (PL d; E, 3), 7 Rue des Arts, R. from 21/2,

B 1, L, 3, D. 31/.,. P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Terminus, opposite the Gare Matabiau
(PL F, 1), R. from 2i/.>, L. 3. D. 3'/2. P. from SVo fr. ; Hot. de Paris (PL e;

D, 3), 66 Rue Gambetta, li. from 3, B. 1, L. 3. D. 31/2, P- from 8V2 fr.

;

Hot.-Rest. du Frogres. 10 Rue Rivals (PL D, 2), R. from 2, B. 1, L. or D. 3,

P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. dn Bon-Pasteur. 85 Rue Pargaminieres (PL C, 2),

R. from 21/2. P- from 71/j fr. ; Hot. des Capitouls & de V Opera (PL 1;

D, 3), 1-2 Place du Capitole, R. from 21/2, L. or D. 21/4-3, P. from 8 fr.

;

Hot. du Grand-Balcon (PL f ; D, 2), 8 Rue Romiguieres, R. from 2, L. or

D. 21/0 fr. ; Hot.-Rest. Chaumond (PL g; D, 2), 19 Rue Lafayette, plain.

Hotels Meubles. *Gr.-H6t. de la Poste (PL h; E, 2), 36-38 Rue
Alsace-Lorraine, commercial, R. from 21/2; B. 1 fr. ; Hdt. Regina, 73 Rue
Bayard, new, R. from 4, B. IV4 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. des Bains (PL i; E, 2),

1 Place Lafayette, R. from 21/2, B. 1 fr. ; Hot. des Americains (PL k; E, 2),

5 Rue d'Austerlitz; Hot. des Arcades (PL m; D, 2, 3), 9 Place du Capitole.

Restaurants^ At the hotels; Cafe Albrighi, Boul, de Strasbourg
and Av. Lafayette, good, L. 31/.^, D. 3^/4 fr. ; Cafe-Rest. Lafayette, Place
Lafayette, good, L. or D, S'/a fr. ; Sion, S**** Boul. de Strasbourg and Rue
d'Austerlitz, L. or I). 3 fr. ; Cafe de la Camt'die, Place Lafayette and 2



78 Route 11. TOULOUSE. Practical Notes.

Rue d'Austerlitz, L. or D. 21/2 fr.; Cafe de la Paix, 7 Place du Capitole,
corner of Rue St-Rome (a la carte); Rest. Dor6, 15'"'^ Place Lafayette, L. or

D. 21/2 fr-; Bihent, Place du Capitole. corner of Rue St-Rome, L. or D.
21/2 fi"'; Bi([f'et2itt\\% Gare Matabiau. — Specialities are 'cassoulet toulousain'
(ragout with potatoes and haricot-beans) and 'pates de foie gras'.

Cabs (one or two horses). Per drive in the town I1/4 fr., beyond the
octroi-limits 21/4 f i'.

;
per hour 2 or 2V4 fr. ; when sent for to a private

address, 25 c. more. Trunks 20 c. eacli. — Motor Cabs. For 1-2 pers. 1 fr.

for 1000 metres, then 10 c. per 200 m. ; for 3-4 pers. IV4 fr. for 1200 m.,
then 20c. per 400 m. ; for waiting, 10c. for 3 min., or 20 c. per 5 min.

;

luggage f)Q c. ; from 12.30 to 6 a.m., 50 or 75 c. extra.
Railway Omnibuses. From the stations to the hotels, 40 c. per

pers.. 25 c. per tnnik; to any private address 50 and 25 c. Omn. for (>

pers., 13/4 and 2 fr.

Tramways. From the AlUe Lafaijette (PI. E, F, 1, 2) to the Pouts-
Jumeaux (beyond PI. A, 1). —From the Place Lafayette (PI. E, 2) to Guille-
m^ry (beyond PI. CI, 3); to the Cimetiere de Terre-Cahade (PI. Gr, 2).

—

From the Capitole (PI. D, 2) to the Barrikre de Pa?-«s (beyond PI. C, 1);
to the Barriere Matabiau (beyond PI. E, 1); to the Croix-Daurade (beyond
PI. E, 1); to Lalande-Aiicamville (beyond PI. C, 1); to the Cote-Pave
(beyond PI. Gr, 4); to the Pont des Demoiselles (beyond PI. F, 5); to Busca-
ia-Gravette (beyond PI. F, 5); to the Barriere de Mnret (beyond PI. B, 5).— From the Place Esqiiirol (PI. D, 3) to the Gare St-Agne (beyond PI.

D, 5); to the Place Bog?iet (PI. B, 4); to the Gare St-Cyjjrien {heyoxu\
PI. A, 4 ; p. 77) ; to St-Agne (beyond PI. D, 5) ; to Lardenne (beyond PI. A, 4).— From the Place Jnterieure St-Michel (W. side of Palais de Justice; PI.
D, 5) to the Gare Matabiau (PL F, 1).— From the Place Exterieure St-
jiichel (PI. D, 5) to the Place de Brienne (PI. B, 4). — Also Omnibuses in
the town and suburbs.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. D, 2), 6 Rue de la Poste; also in
the Place de la Bourse, Place Dupuy, 48 Rue Bayard, etc.

Theatres, Grand-Theatre (PI. D, 2), at the Capitole, for operas
and comedies (55 c. to 5 fr. 30 c); Theatre des Varietes (PI. E, 2), 9 Av. La-
fayette, for dramas and operettas (V2-3^'2 fr.); Lafayette (PI. E, 2), Place
Lafayette (1/2-^ fr-); Nonveautes, 56 Boul. Lazare-Carnot (V2-3 fr.).

Baths. Dutemps, at the Hot. des Bains (p. 77), bath 1 fr. ; Capoul,
at the Hot. Capoul (p. 77); Bains St-Cyprien, 15 Rue de la R^publique;
Grand-Rond. 2 Allee Alphonse-Peyrat. - River Baths. Nogties, 34 Quai
de Tounis; Laporte, Q,uai de la Daurade.

Banks. Compjtoir d'Escompte and Credit Lyonnais, 21 and 27 Rue
Alsace-Lorraine; Societe Genercde, 36-38 Rue de Metz.

British Vice-Consul, T. Huggins, 2 Rue de la Poste.
Syndicat d'Initiative, at the Capitole.

Toulouse (460 ft.; pop. 149,576), the ancient capital of

Languedoc, now that of the department of Haute-Garonne,
headquarters of the 17th army-corps, and seat of an archbishopric

and a university, lies in a fertile plain on the right bank of the

Garonne, at the junction of the Canal du Midi and the Canal Lateral

(see p. 79). It is a wealthy and important city, being one of the

chief centres of trade, literature, and art in S. France.
Toulouse, the ancient Tolosa, an important town before it was con-

quered by the Romans, was the capital of the Tectosages and had a

temple famed for its treasures, stored in a sacred pond. Having allied
itself with the Cimbri to shake off the Roman yoke, it was taken, in

106 B.C., by the consul Quintus Servilius Caepio, who appropriated its

treasures. Cfepio was routed by the. Cimbri the following year, but he
was succeeded by Marius, who reduced Toulouse to submission. It was
converted to Christianity by St. Saturnin (martyred in 252), its first bishop.
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lu 119 Toulouse became the capital of the Visigoths, aud in 507 fell to the

Franks, after Clovis hadvanquished AlaricII. atVouille(p. 10). It later recov-

ered its independence, and in 778 was ei-ected into a countship. govern-
ed by hereditary princes, until it was united to France in 1271. Under
its counts the city enjoyed a long period of prosperity, but the Albigen-
sian wars brought disaster. Count Raymond VI., too tolerant in the eyes
of the Inquisition, tried to save the town by a humiliating submission,
but it was besieged by Simon de Montfort, leader of the crusade, to whom
the countship had been adjudged. Raymond successfullj- defended the town
against the first attack, but was driven out in 1214, after the Battle of

Mnret (p. 131). Toulouse did not, however, tamely accept the rule of

De Montfort, aud down to 1229 it was the scene of many revolts and
sieges. Louis VIIT., King of France, having succeeded to the claims of

Amaury de Montfort, son of Simon. Raymond VII. had finally to submit,
and the Inquisition crushed out with the utmost cruelty all traces of

lieresy. After the 14th cent, tlie University, founded in 1233. became very
flourishing, the faculty of law being specially famous. (Academy, see

p. 82.) The great jurists Jacques Cujas (1520-90) and .Jean de Coras (1513-72)

lectured there, the classes of the latter being attended by 4000 students. In
1562 war broke out between the Catholics and the Huguenots; 4000 of

the latter perished, and 300 more were massacred on St. Bartholomew's
Day in 1572. Vanini, accused of atheism, was burnt alive here in 1619,

and an aged Protestant, Jean Calas (generously championed by Voltaire),

unjustly accused of murdering his eldest son to prevent his becoming a

Catholic, was broken on the wMieel in 1762. On 10th April, 1814, the
last battle of the Peninsular War took place at Toulouse between Wellington
and Soult, some days after Xapoleon's abdication. — Toulouse was the
birthplace of Jacques Cujas (see above), N. Bachelier (1485 -ca. 1566), the
sculptor, and many other artists (p. 84).

The Gare Matahiau, or main station (PI. F, 1), lies to the

X.E. of the town. We cross the Canal du Midi, and soon reach,

on the left, the AlUe Lafayette (PI. F, E, 1, 2), where we observe

a marble statue of Riquet, founder of the Canal.

The Canal du Midi or du Languedoc was made in 1666-81 by
Paul Riquet of Beziers (p. 106) entirely at his own expense (17 million
francs). It connects the Atlantic and the Mediterranean with the aid of

the Graronne. It begins at the Port de I'Embouchure (p. 82), and ends
at the Etang de Thau, beyond Agde (p. 108), after a course of 150 M.
It is 35 ft. wide at the bottom and 65 ft. at the surface, and is 6V2 ft.

in depth. Its highest point, 8 M. to the N.W. of Castelnaudary (p. 100), is

reached by means of locks, 17 on the side next the Garonne, with a fall of

205 ft., and 48 on the other side, with a fall of 620 ft. It is fringed with
a double row of trees, those next the Mediterranean being cypresses,
which are best fitted to mitigate the mistral. The Canal LaUral (see

p. 72), unfinished till 1838, was made to obviate difficulties presented by
the 6aronne in its upper course. It has lately been proposed to replace
the Canal du Languedoc by a ship-canal.

Beyond the canal and the railway rises the large Veterinary
College (PI. F, G, 1). Behind it is the Observat(yry (PI. 0, 1; no

adm.), adjoining which is a brick Obelisk, erected in memory of

the Battle of Toulouse (see above). In clear weather the Pyrenees

are visible thence.

At the end of the AUee Lafayette we cross the Boulevards, which

girdle the old town, and soon reach the oval Place Lafayette (PI.

E, 2), adorned with sculptures. The Hue Lafayette leads thence to

the Capitole, crossing the Riie d^Alsace-Lorraine.— Behind the
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Capitule is a square, adorned with statues, in which rises the

Donjon, a square tower of 1525, restored by Yiollet-le-Duc iu 1880,

and now containing the archives. The earliest charter preserved

here dates from 1141. Adjacent are relics of the Eonian ramparts.

Facing the Place du Capitole rises the Capitole, or Hotel de

Ville (PI. D, 2), which owes its name to the 'capitouls', as the ma-

gistrates were called prior to 1789. The first court, dating from

Henri lY., contains a fine Kenaissance gatevray. It was here that

Duke Henry II. de Montmorency, marshal and governor of Langue-

doc (pp. 100, 205), was beheaded in 1632 for taking part in the re-

volt of the Duke of Orleans against Richelieu. Adm. to the interior

free on Sun., Thurs., and holidays, 1 to 4 or 5 ; on Mon. (1 to 4 or 5)

and other days (9 to 4 or 5), adm. 50 c; apply at the 'poste des

pompiers'. The Salle des Illustres contains mural paintings by

Toulouse artists. The S. wing of the Capitole contains the The/ttre

Municipal.
To the N. of the Place du Capitole the Rue du Taur passes the

cliurch of Notre-Dame-du-Taur (PI. D, 2), built on the spot to

which St. Saturnin (p. 78; is said to have been dragged by the bull

he had refused to sacrifice to Jupiter. It dates from the 14th cent.,

and has a lofty fagade, surmounted by a curious 'clocher-arcade'

(prototype of the Toulouse style), with triangular arcades, battle-

ments, and lateral turrets, which give it the appearance of a fortress.

The paintings in the choir represent the Martyrdom of St. Saturnin.

Farther up the street is the old Porte de VEsqville, by N. Bachelier,

on the left. Beyond it, on the right, is the old Grand-Seminaire
(PI. D, 2) ; the chapel, of 1609-35, contains good paintings by Despax

(1750). The Rue du Taur ends at the Place St-Sernin.

The church of *St-Sernin, or St-Saturnin (PI. D, 1), the chief

sight of Toulouse, is one of the finest Romanesque churches iu exis-

tence, and is the prototype of the Toulouse Romanesque style. The

choir, begun ca. 1080, was consecrated in 1096, and the building

was extended in the 12th-13th cent., but the great W. portal

remained unfinished. A thorough restoration was begun in 1855

under Viollet-le-Duc. The church is cruciform and has a nave with

double aisles. The ^AjJse is flanked with five semicircular chapels,

and each arm of the transept has two similar chapels. Above these

chapels rise picturesquely the apse, the choir, and the transept, over

which a fine octagonal *Tower was built in 1250. This is composed

of five tiers of arcades, round and triangular, in the Toulouse style,

ending with a gallery and a spire (1478), 215 ft. high. A fine Owfer

Gatey;ay, of 1525, precedes the ^Porte Miegeville, in the S. tran-

sept, with its sculptures of 1136, a relic of the old abbey.
The IsTERiOR is unusually spacious for a Romanosque church. The

general effect, however, is marred by the central pillars added in the 14th

cent, to support the tower. The aisles and tlie transept are flanked with
galleries. The central vaulting is round-arch, that of the aisles groined.
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In a chapel of the N. transept is a Byzantine Christ (12th cent.)- The 16th
cent. Stalls deserve notice; on one of them is a pig in a pulpit, repre-
senting Calvin. On a pillar to tlie right of the entrance to the ambu-
latory is the 'Crucifix of St. Dominic' (1213). Behind the choir are bas-reliefs

of the 12th cent, and a Holy Family by Correggio(?). Farther on is a votive
offering of 1528. Under the choir is a crypt (adni. 50 c.) containing many
relics and other treasures (the oldest dating from the 12th cent.).— The
carillon of St-Sernin plays the 'Ave Maria de Lourdes' hourly, and parts
of it every 1/4 hr.

Opposite the fagade of St-Seruin is the Musee St-Rayraoud
(PI. D, 1, 2; iudustrial art and antiqiiities), in the old college of

that name (1509-4:5, restored in 1875 by Viollet-le-Duc). Adm. as

to the Musee des Beaux-Arts (p. 84).

GrKouND Floor. Collections of foreign art and ethnography, curiosities

of the 17th-18th cent., etc. — Room I (Salle Toulousaine). Furniture of

the Renaissance and medals. In the centre, a double figure of Christ,

from the old rood-loft of St-Etienne (late 15th cent.). —Room II (Salle

Chinoise et Africaine). Chinese, Japanese, and African curiosities.

Staircase. Oak door from the rood-loft of the Cathedral (16th cent.);

fine balustrade in wrought iron; portraits of celebrities.

First Floor. Room I (on the left). Collection of 5000 coins; glass
case containing six gold *Collars, and other Gallic jewellery; a fine head
of Vitellius; fragments of an ancient chariot in bronze. In other cases
are Gallic and Roman antiquities, notably statuettes.—Room II (Salle

Egj-ptienne). Egyptian amulets: Etruscan and Greek statuettes and vases.
—Room III (Salle de la Renaissance), on the other side of staircase.

Mediseval and Renaissance objects (as a 'chemin de croix' in alabaster);

*Miniatures from Mirepoix (1530); antependium in embroidered silk

(14th cent.); caskets, faience, etc. In the central case, superb *Enamels
(by L. Limousin and Penicaud), medals, ivories, *Horn of 12th cent.,

'champleve' enamels, astrolabes, pitchers.

Eeturning to the Place du Capitole we follow the Rue Ronii-

guieres to the W. ; to the right, in the Rue Deville, are remains of

the Church of the Cordeliers (lith cent.), burned down in 1871.

To the left of the Rue Romiguieres diverges the Rue Lakanal.

The Gothic ^Church of the Jacobins (PL C, D, 3), within the Petit

Lycee, is a brick edifice of 1260-92. The ^Toiver, 145 ft. high,

erected in 1301-4:, resembles that of St-Sernin. Adjacent is the court

of the old Cloisters (1310), with the Chapelle St-Antonin (1347)
and the Salle Capitidaire (1303), two tasteful Gothic buildings.

The Lycee (PL 0, D, 3), at the end of the street, was once the

house of Bernuys, the Spanish merchant who guaranteed the ransom
of Francis I. (2,000,000 fr.) after the battle of Pavia (1525). It was
built in 1509-34. The older parts arc Gothic, the remainder is

early Renaissance, notably the first court (entered from the Rue
Gambetta), The building contains also the Town Library.

The Rue Gambetta, to the right, leads towards the Garonne,

La Daurade (PL C, D, 3), on the quay, a church rebtrilt in

1773-90, stands on the site of a Gallo-Roman building w^hich was
covered with mosaics on a gold ground, whence the name (Lat.

deaurata). The church, partly shut in by houses, is entered by a

passage at 29 Rue Peyrolieres, or from the quay (No. 1). The

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 6
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choir is adorned with paintings from the life of the Virgin. Cle-

mence Isaure (see below) is said to be buried under the altar. The
flowers for the victors in the Jeux-Floraux (see below) are blessed

here on 3rd May.— Adjacent is the Ecole des Beaux-Arts.

Higher up, the Garonne is crossed by the Pont Neuf (VI. D, 4),

a stone bridge of seven arches, begun in 1543 by Nie. Bachelier

and completed in 1614. The roadway was lowered in 1867,
Owing to its proximity to the Pyrenees, the Garonne is still a

rapid river at Toulouse, and has frequently caused disastrous inundations.
That of 23rd-27th June. 1875, swept awaj' the suspension-bridge of St-

Michel above the Pont Neuf, and that of St-Pierre below it.

Within the town are two large mills on the right bank of the river.

each with 34 pairs of mill-stones. Below the Pont St-Michel, at the end of

the He de Tounis, is the Moulin du t'hdtean (PI. D, 5), mentioned as earlv

as 1182. The other, the Jloidin du Bazade (PI. B, 2), of the 9th cent., is

below the Pont St-Pierre. Close by is a Tobacco Factory (1500 hands).

A little below it is the new Pont des Ainidonniers.— Just above the

Moulin du Bazacle issues the small Canal de Brienne, which joins the

Canal du Midi and Canal Lateral at the Port de VEmbouchure^ about 1 M,
to the X.W.

The great pile of buildings to the right, on the other side of the

Pont Neuf, in the Faubourg St-Cyprien, is the Hotel-Dieu

St-Jacques (PI, C, 3, 4), a hospital founded in the 12th century,

— Farther down is the Hospice St-Joseph-de-la-Grave (PL C, 3),

with a domed chapel (1755-1827),— On the left, near the Hotel-

Dieu, rises the old Chdteau d'Eau (FLO, 4), which formerly sup-

plied the town with water.

At the E, end of the Pont Neuf is the Place du Pont-Xeuf. whence

the Hue de Metz (PL D, E, 4, 3) crosses the town to the Boul. La-

zare-Carnot. intersecting the Kue d'Alsace-Lorraine, and passing

near 8t-Etienne 'p. 83). On the left, in a side-street, is the handsome

Hotel d'Assezat et de Clemence-Isaure (PL D, 3), of 1555,

designed by Bachelier for Pierre d'Assezat, merchant and magistrate.

The finest parts are the quadrangle and the doorway and staircase

leading to the tower. This interesting mansion was presented to

the town by T. Ozeune in 1895 for the use of the Academic des

Jeux-Floraux and the learned societies of the city. In the left

arcade of the court is a statue of Clemence Isaure (see below).

The Acadevne des -Jeux-Floraux, perhaps the oldest literary society

in Europe, was founded in 1323 as the 'college du gay sgavoir'. which
used to distribute gold and silver flowers to its laureates. According to

tradition Clemence Isaure. a noble dame of Toulouse, left a legacy to the

college, at the end of the 15th cent., wliich enabled it to increase the

number of these flowers, and the Flower Fete is held every year with
great solemnity on 2nd-3rd May. Nine flowers are distributed : the amaranth
of gold, and the violet, marigold, primrose, eglantine, and lily of silver,

all for poetry ; the violet or eglantine and immortelle or jasmine of

gold, for prose, and the silver carnation, a 'consolation prize'. The Academy
consists of 40 'mainteneurs', bound to maintain the language and litera-

ture of Languedoc. and a number of -maitres-es-ji-ux'.

The Hotel d'Assezat is the seat also of an Acade'mie des Sciences,

InscHptions et Belles-Lettres (1640) and of an Academie de Legislation

(1851).
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From the Place du Pont-Neuf the Rue des Couteliers leads S. to

La Dalbade (PI. D, 4), or church of Notre-Dame-la-Blanche
(deall)ata), rebuilt in 1503-42, with a line square tower and modern
spire. The pretty Portal (1537) has a modern terracotta group in

its tympanum (Coronation of the Virgin). The interior, a good
example of the Toulouse Gothic style, is impressive. The pulpit

dates from the 17th century.

Beyond the church is the Hotel St-Jean (32 Rue de la Dalbade

;

17th cent.), once the seat of the Knights of Malta, now a commercial
school. No. 25, on the right, is tlie Maison de Pierre (Pl.D, 4;

no adm.), a fine mansion of the 16th cent., with a facade (1612) by
Souffron. No. 22, on the left, is the Hotel Fehins (1550). The
Rue St-Jean, opposite the Maison de Pierre, leads to the Place des

Carmes, at the S.E. angle of which rises the stately Hotel du Vieiix-

Baisin (PL E, 4; 1530-73), with fine sculptures in the court (apply

to the concierge). Behind it, 2 Rue d'Aussargues, is the Hotel de
Roquettes, containing an interesting 15th cent, staircase.

The Rue de Languedoc descends to the small Place du Salin
(PL D, 5), where the Inquisition held its autos-da-fe.

To the S. is the Palais de Justice (PL D, E, 5), containing three

richly decorated rooms. In front rises a statue of Cujas (p. 79),

the great jurist, a native of Toulouse.

Behind the Palais runs the Allee St-Michel, at the N.E. end of

which are the buildings of the Faculties of Science, Medicine,
and Pharmacij (PL E, F, 5).

The Jardin des Plantes (PL E, F, 5), behind these buildings,

is entered by a handsome portal with marble columns. Adjacent
is the Natural History Museum, specially rich in human pala?on-

tology. (Adm. Sun. and Thurs., 1 to 4 or 6.) The well-kept garden,

with its modern statuary, is one of the finest promenades in Tou-
louse. At the S. end, on the Grande-Allee, is a gateway of 1545,
by N. Bachelier, brought from the Capitole.

Nearly opposite the entrance to the Jardin des Plantes is tlie

Jardin Royal (PL E, F, 4, 5). Adjacent are the promenades of the

Gi'and-Rond, or BouUngrin ('bowling-green'; PL F, 4, 5), the

focus of five avenues.

To the N. of the Grand-Rond, a little W. of the Allee St-Etienne,

rises the Cathedral of St-Etienne (PL F, 4), consisting of three

incongruous parts. The Portal, of 1444, flanked on the left by a huge
square tower, and now much mutilated, has succeeded an earlier

fagade, whose rose-window (1230) has been retained. The Nave,
the oldest part (early 13th cent.), is broad and rather low, without
aisles. The Choir, begun in 1272 on a larger scale and with a

different axis, but not completed till the 16th cent., is a grand struc-

ture, with aisles, but Avith vaulting badly restored in 1609-12. It

is surrounded with seventeen chapels and adorned witli stained
6^
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glass (15th-17th cent.). The railings (1771), the stalls, and a Stoning

of St. Stephen, in marble and stucco (1670), deserve notice.

The Eue St-Etienne, opposite the Cathedral, takes us back to

the Rue d'Alsace-Lorraine, where the museum is on the right.

The *Musee des Beaux-Arts fPl.E, 3). founded in 1729.
occupies an Augustinian convent, erected in 1309-41, but modified

in the 16th-17th cent., of which interesting features remain, and
also a modern brick building. Adm. free on Sun., Thurs., and holi-

days. 1 to 4 or 5; on other days. 9 to 4 or 5 (on Mon. after 1 only),

50 c. Catalogue of the sculptures and inscriptions (1913), 5 fr.

Ground Floor. The Gtrande Galerie, which we enter first, contains
antique sculptures, *Busts, altars, sarcophagi, inscriptions; Xo. 52, 'Venus
de Martres', and the Seven labours of Hercules, bas-reliefs opposite the
windows, are interesting. — To the left is the picturesque *GRAyD Cloitre,
of the 14th cent., the trefoil arches of which, borne by double columns^
recall the Moorish stj'le. It contains sculptures, Christian sarcophagi, and
inscriptions; note especially (Xo. 555) twelve ^Statues of apostles and
saints, from the Chapelle de Rieux. by J. Tissandier (1324 and 1348), and
(Xo. 515) sis Statues of Benefactors' (Ibth-lQth cent.), brought from St-
Sernin.— Adjoining, on the E., is a Chapel of the 15th cent., bisected
by a row of graceful columns, containing other Christian antiquities, capi-
tals, reliefs, handsome altar-screens. Virgins of the 14tb-15th cent., tomb-
statues of prelates, of the Chevalier Bayard, and of *Abbe Durand (p. 75).— The Petit Cloitre, at the X.W. angle of the Grand Cloitre, built in

1626 and restored in 1885, contains reliefs, busts, and fragments of
sculpture (15th-19th cent.).

Xext comes the old Church, now containing part of the picture-
gallery, chiefly pictures by Toulouse masters. Right, 104. Henri Martin,
Man between Virtue and Vice; 64. Gros, Hercules and Diomedes (1885);
250. Bespao: (1709-73), Christ in the house of Simon the Pharisee; *198.

Tournitr (ca. 1604-70). Descent from the Cross; J. P. Laurens, 94. St.

Chrysostoin and Empress Eudoxia, 93. Pool of Bethesda. — 195. Chalette
(1585-1645). Portr. of the eight Capitouls (p. 80); Gervais, Titania; Ben-
jamin-Constant, Mahomet II. entering Constantinople; 229. A. Eivalz
(1667-1785), Pope Urban II.

First Floor. The Staircase, containing sculptures and drawings
(notably by Puvis de Chavannes), ascends from the Grande Cloitre near
the end of the Grande Galerie. The two rooms next the street contain
the principal pictures.

Picture Gallery. —Room I. Right, 33. Couture, Love of gold;
146. Robtrt-Fleury, Pillage of a house in the Giudecca ; 58. Gerome,
Anacreon, Bacchus, and Cupid: 57. Gerard, Portr. of Louis XVIII. ; *36.

E. Deiacroix, Muley Abd-er-Rahman. Emperor of Morocco; 40. Diaz,
Xymphs and Cupids'; 32. Corot, Morning star; 72. Ingres, Virgil reading
the ^ueid to Augustus; 66. Gros, Portr. of his wife; 28. Coignet, Ruins
of Baalbek.— 176. Auhin Voziet, Release of St. Peter; 19. Guido Reni,
Apollo flaying Marsyas: *44. Rubens, Christ between the thieves (un-

finished; ca. 1630); 46. Seghers, Adoration of the Magi.— 47. Siberechts,
Pastoral scene; 21. Van Dyck, Christ with angels; 52. VereJst, Head of

an old man: 32. Ealff, Kitchen-scene; 8. Van Bloemen, Farrier; 7. Cer-
quozzi. Knife-grinder; 20. Van Dydc, Miracle performed at Toulouse by
St. Anthony of Padua; Boucher, 16. Pastoral scene (sketch). 17. "Women
bathing; 143. Rigaud, Portrait; 82. De Lafosse, Venus and Vulcan; 106.

Mignard. ChristVith the reed; 162. De Troy, The golden fleece; 37. Van
der Meulen, Louis XIV. before Cambrai; 141. Rigaud, Portr. of the
Regent; 15. Fh. de Champaigne, Annunciation; 2. Canaletto, Bridge of

the Rialto; 142. Rigaud. Portr. of Racine (1727); 17. Ph. de Champaigne,
Crucifixion; *114. Oudry, Capture of the stag (1730); 125. Poussirij John
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the Baptist; 87. De Largilliere, Portr. of himself; 31me. Vigee-Lehrim,
*Baronne de Crussol; 183. French School of 17th Cent., Henri d'Effiat de
Oinq-Mars; 88. LaryiUiere, Portr. of a woman; 18. Guercino, Patron-
saints of Modena; 61. Murillo, St. Diego; *29. Pentgino, St. John and
St. Augustine, shutter of a great altar-piece painted ca. 1502 for tlie Au-
gustiniaus of Perugia (comp. pp. 249, 412); Flemish School of 16th Cent.,
*54. Historj- of the Baptist (on wood), 56. Evangelists; 16. Ph. de Cham-
paigne, Louis XIII. conferring the order of the Holy Ghost (1663); 81. De
Lafosse, Presentation in the Temple; 9. Cortona. Moses treading under foot

the crown of Pharaoh. — 17. Guercino, Beheading of St. John and St. Paul;
*32. Procaccini, Betrothal of St. Catharine.— 13. Ph. de Champaigne,
Virgin interceding for souls in purgatory; Conrbet, Landscape; 21. Bras-
cassat, Sorceress; 11. Henner, Magdalene in the desert; IB. Jsaheij, Port
of Boulogne. — In the centre, Falgidere, Nymph hunting, in marble.

Room II. Right, 33. Raphael (?), Head of Damaris; 23. Locatelli,
The angel and Tobias; 20. Gtiido Rem, Christ bearing the Cross; 4. A. Ca-
racci, Apparition of the Madonna; 24. Locatelli, The disciples at Emmaus

;

39. Tempesta, Cavalry fight.— 22. Van Dyck, Achilles recognized by
Ulysses; 100. Le Sueur, Sacrifice of Manoah. — 35. De Lairesse, Christ
on the Cross; 77. Joyant, Palace of the Popes at Avignon.

In the Square du Musee rises a statue of the shoemaker-poet
Louis Vestrepain, by A. Merci6 (1909).

From Toulouse to Bordeaux, see R. 10; to Limoges (Paris), see R. 13;
to Bayanne (Pan), see R. 18; to Lnchon, see p. 131 and R. 25; to St-Girons,
see R. 26 ; to Ax, see R. 27 ; to Lyons via Le Puy and Aurillac, see R. 37

;

to Cette (Nimes, Lyons), see R. 14.

From Toulouse to Auch, 551/2 M., railway in 2 hrs. 45 to 3 hrs. 5 min.
(9 fr. 95, 6 fr. 75, 4 fr. 40 c). Three trains daily from the Gare Matabiau
(p. 77) and one from the Gare St-Cyprien (p. 77). Picturesque and diver-
sified country.— 141/2 M. Pibroc, with a 16th cent, chateau, birthplace of
Germaine Cousin, a young shepherdess (1579-1601) canonized in 1867,
whose tomb attracts pilgrims.— 26 M. V Isle-Jourdain (Hot. Daubriac;
pop. 3774).— "We cross the Save and then the Gimone. — Z^^l. Gimont-
Cahuzac. At Gimont (pop. 2690) is an interesting Gothic church, of brick.
Simorre (Hot. de France), 15 M. to the S.W,, has a fortified brick church
(1301), with stalls of the 15th cent, and stained glass of the 16th.— 44 M.
Auhiet. We cross the .4/-ra<s.— 481/2 M. Marsan, with a fine chateau.—
551/2 M. Auch (p. 87).

From Toulouse to Boulogue-sur-Gesse, 61 M., narrow-gauge line in
41/4-51/4 hrs. (7 fr. 55, 5 fr. 55 c), from the Gare Roguet (p. 77).— 371/2 M.
Lombez has an interesting 14th cent, cathedral.— 61 M. Boulogne-sw-
Gesse. Omn. to (I81/.2 M.) St-Gaudens (p. 131).

Narrow-gauge lines from the Gare Roguet (p. 77) to (30 M.) Cadours
and to (47 M.) Sabarat (p. 131); from the Gare St-Sauveur (PI. G, 5) to
(33 M.) Revel (p. 100).

12. From Perigueux to Tarbes.
I861/2 M. Railway in 9 hrs. 45 to 11 hrs. 40 min. (33 fr. 70, 22 fr. 75,

14 fr. 90 c). — F7-0VI Paris to Tarbes, via Limoges, 499 M., in 18 hrs. 50 min.
(90 fr. 5, 60 fr. 80, .39 fr. 70 c); via Bordeaux, 518 M., see R. 1 and p. 63.

Perigueux, see p. 43. Views mostly to the left.— 7 M. Niveisac
(p. 272), junction for Brive. The line ascends.— Mauzens, with
its ruined castle, is picturesquely situated on a hill to the right,

2 M. from (21 M.) Mauzens-Miremont. To the E., 3 M., is the

Grotto of Miremont, or Cro de Granville, with passages measur-
ing 3 M. in aggregate length.— We cross the V^zdre.
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25 M. Les Eyzles-de-Tayac (Hot. de la Gare, plain but good;

Hot. de France), a picturesque village with kaolin-mines.
In the Vezere valley, above Les Eyzies, are numerous Grottoes,

where bones of extinct animals, human skeletons, and implements of flint

and reindeer-horn have been found. The first discoveries were made in

1863 by MM. Lartet and Christy, -^ho were thus enabled to determine
the chronology of the Stone Age. The caves have been brought to public
notice of late years through the discovery of skeletons of the 'homo Mous-
teriensis Hauseri' (in the grotto of Le Moustier) and the 'homo Aurigna-
censis Hauseri' (in the Combe-Capelle, near Montferrand-du-Perigord),
representatives of the earliest known European races. A little E. of the
station is the Grotte de Cro-Magnon, where skulls of the 'Cro-Magnon'
race were found in 1870. M. Peyrony, a schoolmaster who devotes himself
to the scientific exploration of this district and has published a good guide-
book, is always willing to place his services at the disposal of students.

30 M. Le Bugue (pop. 2545), a trading place, lies 1^4 M. to

the right, within about 1^/4 M. of the Gouffre de Proumeyssar..

On the left is the old Chateau de Perdigat: on a hill to the right

lies the village of Limeuil, once a fortified town. We now enter

the beautiful valley of the Dordogne.
351/2 M. Le Buisson (buffet; p. 56).

To the S. (31/2 M. ; omn. 1 fr.) lies Cadouin (Hot. du Lion-d'Or), once
famed for its abbey, relics of which are the Church (12th cent.), with a fine

painting of the 15th cent., and the superb ^Cloisters (end of 15th cent.),

in the flamboyant style.

Beyond (40 M.) Sion'ac-et-Fongauffier we leave on the left

the Dordogne valley and the St-Denis-les-Martel line (p. 56;.

431/2 M. Belves. The country becomes hilly.— 501/2 M. Le Got,

whence mushrooms are largely exported.
To the W. (71/2 M.; omn.) lies Monjiazier (Hot. de France), a little

town founded by Edward I. of England in 1284, and still retaining its

primitive appearance.

541/0 M. VillefrancJie-du-Perigord (hotel), a small town 2 M.
to the E., on a hill rising from the Lemance.— 581/, M. Sau-
veterre-la-Lemance, -with d. Tnined castle (13th cent,).— 6O1/2 M.

St-Front, with a Romanesque church, partly fortified.

67 M. Mo/isempron-Libos (buffet). Moftsempi^oyi, on a height

to the right, has an interesting Gothic and Romanesque church.

Line to Cahors, see p. 72.

The line skirts the Lot— 17^/.̂ 3L Peiine (hotel; pop. 2413),

lying picturesquely on a hill 174^- from the station, has scanty

remains of a famous mediaeval castle. Near it is the pilgrimage-

church of Xotre-Dame-de-Peyragude. At a distance to the left

are the ruins of Castel Gaillard.
From Penne to ViUenenve-su?'-Lot and Tonneins, see p. 72.

We traverse a pretty valley to (81 M.) Hautefage-Auradou,
with a lofty tower (15th cent.).— 85 M. Laroque-Timbaut, with

remains of fortifications. — Beyond (9O1/2 M.) Pont-du-Casse we
cross the Canal Lateral a la Garonne (p. 72) and join the Bor-

deaux line.

941/2 M. Agen (p. 73), on the Bordeaux and Toulouse line.
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We leave the Orleaus Eailway here and follow the Toulouse

line to (98 M.) Bon-Encontre (p. 74), then cross the G-aronne and

ascend the Gers valley.— 101 Y2 ^i- Layrac (pop. 2245) has a

fine Romanesque church (11th cent.).

117 M. Leetoure (Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 4166), an ancient

town, on a steep and isolated hill. The church of St-Gervais-

St-Protais, once a cathedral, to the right, at the end of the Rue
Nationale, is a massive building of the 13th-16th cent., with a

tower of 1488. At the end of the Promenade du Bastion (with

view of the Pyrenees), behind the church, is a statue of Marshal
Lannes (1769-1809), Due de Montebello, who was born at Leetoure

of humble parents. The Rue de Fontelie, descending to the right

of the old Eveche, near the church, leads to the Fontaine Hondelie,

or Fo7it-Elie, once sacred to an ancient Gallic goddess, but partly

rebuilt in the middle ages.

123 M. Fleurance (pop. 4050), an old town on the left bank
of the Gers, with a 14th cent, church.— Beyond (133 M.) Bambert-
Preignan the Toulouse line diverges to the left.

138 M. Auch.— Hotels. Hot. de France, to the left of the Hotel
de Ville, E. from 2V2, L. SVa, D. 4 fr. ; Hot. Georges, Place Villaret-
Joyeuse. P. 7 fr. ; Hot. de la Paix , behind the Palais de Justice.

—

Cabs. Per drive 90 c., per hour IV2 fr. ; with two horses, 1 fr. 10 and
1 fr. 80 c. — Post & Telegraph Office, Rue St-Antoine.

Auch (pop. 13,638), the ancient capital of Gascony, now that

of the Gers department, lies on a steep hill rising from the G-ers.

It was once the capital of the Ausci, and prospered under the Ro-
mans. Since the 9th cent, it has been the seat of archbishops.

The Rue Blazy, to the left of the station, and the Av. d'Alsace

lead to a bridge over the turbid Gers. Beyond it, the Rue de Lor-
raine ascends to a small square, with a statue of Adm. Villaret-

Joyeuse (1750-1812). Via the Rue Gambetta, to the left, we soon
reach the Place Jean-David, with a marble statue of Gen. Espagne
(1769-1809), and then the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville and the Cowrs
d'Etigny, a promenade with a statue of Megret d'Etigny (1720-67),
a governor and benefactor of this region (comp. p. 167). In the

Hotel de Ville is a small Musee of paintings and antiquities (Thurs.

& San., 2-4). At the other end of the Cours is the Palais de Justice.

The ^Cathedral of Ste-Marie, in the Place de la Republique,
rebuilt in 1489-1662, one of the finest churches in S. France, is

built in the form of a Latin cross, with a transept in a debased
Gothic style. Over the classical portico rise two towers of the

composite order.
Interior. The first chapel on the left side of the nave contains the

tomb of Megret d'Etigny. Handsome organ-loft (1690). The choir (closed)
containsll3 beautifully carved *StaUs, masterpieces of theirperiod(1520-51).
The pretentious screen round the high-altar (1609) is surmounted with
figures from the old rood-loft. The chapels of the ambulatory have rich
*Stnined Glass of the Renaissance period. The third chapel on the right
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contains wood-carving, painted and gilded, and good stained glass ; in the
5th, a Holy Sepulchre (16th cent.); in the 3rd on the left, an altar-screen

of 1670. Behind the choir are Renaissance reliefs of the Annunciation
and the Visitation.

Behind the Cathedral is the Archeveche, of the 18th cent., with

a Totcei' of the 14th. A long flight of steps descends from the ad-

jacent Place Salinis to the Gers.
From Auch to Toulouse, see p. 85.— Another line goes to the small

baths of (141/2 M.) Caste'ra-Verduzaii, and is to be prolonged to Eauze
and Bourriot-Eergonce (p. 72). — Railway under construction from Auch
to Lannemezan (p. 130).

15572 ^^- Mirande (Hot. Metropole; pop. 3424), with remains

of ramparts, was built on a regular plan after 1285. Interesting

church of Kotre-Dame (loth cent.).

We cross the Osse and then the Arros. The Pyrenees become
more distinct as we descend the valley of the Adour.

174 M. Rahastens-de-Bigorre (Hot. Trouette), at the. siege of

which Blaise de Montluc, the bitter opponent of the Calvinists, re-

ceived a frightful wound in the face, obliging him to wear a mask
for the rest of his life (1570-77). In revenge he ordered a general

massacre, from which only four persons escaped.

The train crosses the Adour and turns to the S.— 1^8^/2 M.
Vic-en-Bigorre (Hot. de France, de la Poste; pop. 3480), junction

for Morceux (p. 63).— 180 M. Andrest.—We join the Bayonne line

(R. 18).— I861/2M. Tarbes (p. 129).

13. From Limoges (Paris) to Toulouse.
194 or 216 M. Railway in 5-II3/4 hrs. (35 fr. 15, 23 fr. 75, 15 fr. 50 c).

— From Paris to Tonlouse, via Uzerche, Brive, and Cahors, 4451/2 M.,
in 10 hrs. 55 to 12 hrs. 10 inin. (80 fr. 40,' 54 fr. 30, 35 fr. 40 c).

I. From Limoges to Brive.

a. Vi4 Uzerche.

611
/a M. Railway from the Gare des Benedictins (p. 40), in 1 hr.

80 to 3 hrs. 5 min. (11 fr. 20, 7 fr. 50, 4 fr. 90 c).

Limoges, see p. 40. We pass under the town by a tunnel, cross

the Vienne, and ascend the valley of the Briance.

I'^l^^l. SoUgnac-le-Vigen. On the right (74M.) lies Solignac
(Hot. du Chemin-de-Fer) ; its once famous Benedictine abbey, founded

in the 7th cent, and rebuilt in the 18th, is now a porcelain-factory.

The interesting Romanesque church (12th cent.) has a domed nave.

Le Vigen, on the left, has quarries of feldspar and kaolin. To the

S.E., on the left bank of the Briance, is the ruined Chdteau de

Chalusset, once the seat of the Viscounts of Limoges, built in the

12th- 13th cent, and dismantled in 1593. Two towers and other

parts are still standing.
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12Y2M. Pierre-Buffiere (Hot, du Nord, de la Providence), with

porcelain-factories, was the birthplace of the surgeon Dupuytren

(1777-1835).— We enter the valley of the Blanzou and cross the

Briauce. — Beyond (20 M.) Magnac-Vicq the Petite-Briance is

crossed.— 22^2 ^^- St-Germain-les-Belles, a little town 174^^^- to

the left.— 26 M. La Porcherie. We enter the basin of the Dor-

dogne and descend to the valley of the Vezere.

36 M. Uzerche (Hot. de France, du Commerce; pop. 3175),

3/4 M, to the S. of the station, lies picturesquely on a steep hill

washed by the Vezere. Interesting Romanesque Church of the

llth-12th cent., with a fine old tower, and houses of the 12th-16th

centuries. Uzerche claims to be the ancient Uxelloduuum (comp.

p. 94). To Tulle, see p. 271.

The train next enters the Gorges de la Vezere.— To the S.W.

of (41^2 ^I-) Vigeois (Hot. des Voyageurs; pop. 2559), on the road

to Pompadour (9^2 ^'^•'1 see below), is the (4^2 ^^-j Carthusian

monastery of Glandiefr (now deserted).— 51 M. Allassac (pop.

4396). To the N.W., 2 M., lies Le Saillant, prettily situated on

the Vezere. We now descend the valley of the Maumont.
54 M. Donzenae (Hot. duPerigord; pop. 2943), picturesquely

situated to the left, has an interesting Church (12th-14th cent.)

and several quaint houses.

56^2 ^I- Ussac. We cross the Correze, and enter the pleasant

basin of (6IY2 M-) Brive (see below).

b. Vi4 St-Yrieix.

611/2 M. Railway in 3 hrs. 5 to 3 hrs. 20 min. (fares as by above route).

We follow the Perigueux line as far as Nexon (12^2 ^I-; P- 43),

where we diverge to the left.

251/2 M. St-Yrieix (1210 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs, du Faisan;

pop. 8205), where the first French quarries of kaolin, or porcelain-

clay, were discovered in 1765, has a Church of the 12th-13th cent.

('Le Moutier', minster), with three choirs. Around it are several

picturesque old houses.
Steam-tramway Xo Thiviers, see p. 43; io Perigueux, see p. 46. Eail-

way to Bussiere-Galunt and Saillat-Chassenon, see p. 15.

31 M. Coussac-Bonneval, with a chateau of the 15th -16th
cent, to the left.— 41V2 M. Pompadour (1350 ft.; Hot. Vitaud,

Teixier), with a chateau presented by Louis XV., with the title of

marquise, to Antoinette Poisson (1721-64). There is an important
stud-farm here.— We then descend, with a fine view to the right,

to (48V2 M.) Vignols-St-Solve {lib ft.).— At (56 M.) Le Burg we
join the Thiviers line (p. 43).— Beyond (58 M.) Varetz the V^z^e
and the Correze are crossed.

61 V2 M. Brive (470 ft. ; Buflfet; Hot. Terminus, good, R. from 3,

L. 3, D. 372 fr.; Hot. de Bordeaux, good; pop. 21,486), the Gallic
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Briva ('bridge'), where G-uudebald was proclaimed King of Aqui-
tania in 585, was the birthplace of Card. Dubois (1656-1723) and
Marshal Brune (1763-1815). It is now a thriving place, trading

largely in early vegetables. In the centre of the town rises the

Eomanesque church of St-Martin (llth-12th cent.). At the end of

the large Place du Quatorze-Juillet ('La Guierle') is a riverside

promenade. The Musee, in the Rue du Docteur-Massenat (Thurs.

and Sun. 1 to -4 or 5; at other times on application), contains good
prehistoric and other collections. No. 47, Rue Blaise-Reynal, is the

Petit Seminaire (16th cent.), with a fine facade.
To the S., 3/^ M., are four Grotto CtiapeU (pilgrimage-resort), near a

Franciscan convent founded in 1226 by St. Anthony of Padua. The Grot-
toes of Lamonrovx (about 50), V;^ M. farther on, were once inhabited.

From Brive to Tulle, Clermont-Ferrand, etc., see R. 36b. II: to

Thiviers, see p. 43; to Perigueux, see p. 272.

From Brite to Aurillac, 64 M., railway in 2 hrs. 30 to 3 hrs. 55 min.
(11 fr. 60, 7 fr. 75, 5 fr. 5 c). Open first-class car (2 fr. extra) in summer
between St-Deuis-les-Martel and Le Lioran (p. 279).— To (17 M.) St-Denis-
les-Martel, see p.94. — We ascend the valley of the Dordogne.— Beyond
(24 M.) Piiyhrun we cross the Dordogne.

271/2 M- Breteiioux (Hot. Bussiere; Hot. de la &are, plain), once for-

tified, on the left bank of the Cere. The *CMteau de Castelnau (12th-

15th cent.) is a picturesque ruin (partly restored) on a steep rock, 21/2 M.
to the S.W. of the station (adm. Sun.. Tues.. Thurs., & Sat.. 1 fr.). The
village Church, of the 15th cent., contains stalls of that period. [Tram-
way from Bretenoux station to (6 M. to the S.E. ; 65 c.) St-C6re (Hot.
Moiinie. good, E. from 31/2- D- SV'2 fr. : pop. 3184), dominated by the
ruined Tours de St-Laurent (12th and 14th cent.). This was the birthplace
of Marshal Canrobert (1809-95). The Renaissance Chateau de Montal,
1 M. to the "W., is being restored. St-Cere is a good centre for excursions
in three different regions : the valley of the Dordogne, the X. margin of

the Causses of the Quercy, and the plateaux of schist and granite be-
longing to the Massif Central. To Padirac and Rocamadour. see p. 95.—
Omn. from Bretenoux to (41/2 M. to the N.; 50 c.) Beaulieu (Hot. de
Bordeaux), on the right bank of the Dordogne, with a fine Romanesque
*Church (llth-13th cent.). Xarrow-gauge line being laid thence to Auhazine
(p. 271). Omn. from Beaulieu \o{14^',.^^L) Argentat{j). 271), up the picturesque
and winding valley of the Dordogne. Gorges above Argentat, see p. 259.]

Beyond Bretenoux the valley of the Cere contracts and becomes
highly picturesque. Views to the right.— 331/2 M. Laval-de-Cere. The
*Gorge, nearly 1000 ft. deep, has barely room for the railway. The water
of the torrent is beautifully clear. Several rapid ascents and 22 tunnels. —
39 M. Lamativie. Views now on the left. — 51 M. Laroquebrou (Hot.
Dabernat, Rieu). a small shoemaking town on the right bank, has a ruined
castle and a Gothic church.- The valley expands. — 52 M. Miecaze, junc-
tion of the line from Aurillac to Montiu§on via Eygurande (pp. 259, 258).

In the distance, to the left, appear the Auvergne Mts. — 551/2 M. Viescamp-
sous-JaUes, and thence to Aurillac, see p. 282.

n. From Brive to Toulouse.

a. Via Cahors.
133 M. Railway in 3 hrs. 25 to 3 hrs. 50 min. (24 fr. 5. 16 fr. 25,

10 fr. 60 c).

Beyond Brive the Cahors line ascends towards the Causse de

Martel, between the Correze and the Dordogne. Several tunnels
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and viaducts.—-4^/., M. Noailles (655 ft.), to the left, has given

its name to a well-known family. Fine view to the left.— 8 M.

Chasteaux. The train soon leaves the basin of the Correze, and

descends towards the Dordogne, traversing tunnels and viaducts.

The last viaduct, crossing the Borreze valley, is used also by the

line to St-Denis-les-Martel (p. 56), which joins ours on the left.

23 M. Souillac (410 ft.; Hot. Moderne, good; pop. 2761), with

its tanneries, lies 1 M. to the left. Near the end of the main street

is a ruined church. The handsome Church behind it, formerly an

abbey-church (12th cent.), is in the Romanesque-Byzantine style,

with domes, transept, and rounded apses. In the interior is a fine

relief of the Last Judgment. Grottoes of Lacave, see p. 95.

To Bordeaux and to St-Denis-les-2Iartel, see p. 56.

Two curved viaducts.— At (25^2 ^^^0 CazouUs (330 ft.) the Le
Buisson line diverges (p. 56). We cross the Dordogne. — 30 M.
Lamothe-Fenelon (475 ft.) recalls the Perigord family of that name,

but the famous Fenelon was born near Calviac (p. 56).

3672 M. Gourdon (690 ft.; Hot. de la Providence; pop. 4293)
lies on a hill to the right, with a tine view. The long Av. Gambetta,

to the right, leads past the Church of the Cardeliet^s (1287) and

the Chapelle clu Majou (16th cent.) to an old gateway, the entrance

to the picturesque Rue de rHOtel-de-Ville, with its 15th cent, houses

and arcaded Hotel de Ville. Opposite the latter rises the church

of St-Pierre (1304--1415). Near it are fragments of the old castle

(view). Branch-line to Sarlat, see p. 56.

4OV2 M. St-Clair (560 ft.). Then the Tunnel de Marot (2/3 M.).

— At (48 M.) Thedirac-Peyi'illes the line reaches its highest point

(1570 ft.), and passes from the basin of the Dordogne into that of

the Lot, an affluent of the Garonne. Then the Tunnel de Roques, over

1 M. long.— 53 M. St-Denis-Catus (685 ft.). Catus, 2 M. to the

W., has a church of the 11th and 14th cent., with cloisters and a

line chapter-house of the 12th.— 5672 ^- Espere. Farther on, to

the right, is the Chateau de Mercues (p. 72). We enter the valley

of the Lot. To the right is the Monsempron-Libos line (p. 72),

to the left (62 M.) Cahors (buffet). Continuation of the Toulouse

line, see p. 93.

Cahors. —Hotels. Hot. Terminus, near the statiou (PI. A, 2), new,
R. from 4. B. 1, L. 31/2, !>• 4 fr. ; Hot. de V Europe {VI. b; B, 3), Rue du
T-ycee, good, R. 2Vo-3, L. 2'/2> D. 3, omn. V" fr. ; Hot. des Ambassadeurs
(PI. a; B. 3), 20 Bonl. Gambetta, R. from 3, L. 3, D. 3V-.fr.; Hot. du Midi,
5 Rue Brive; Hot. du Lion-d' Or (PI, c; B, 4), 111 Boul. Gambetta, R. 2-3,

L. 2V2, D. 3, omn. V2 fr. — Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3), Rue des
Tabacs.— Syndicat d'Initiative, 1'''* Rue des Cadourques.

Cahors (395 ft.; pop. 13,650), the chief town of the department

of the Lot, and seat of a bishop, but once more important than now,

lies picturesquely on a peninsula on the right bank of the Lot.
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Cahors was the old capital of the C'adurci aud afterwards of Quercy.
It was sacked by the Saracens and Xormans, occupied for a time by the

English, and taken by Henry of Navarre in 1580. Until 1751 it possessed
a university founded by Pope John XXII. (Jacques d'Euse, 1244-1334;
seep. 507)," a native of 'the town. Clement Marot (1495-1544), Olivier de

Magny (ca. 1530-61), and Leon Gambetta (1838-82) were also born here.

The station is in the new Quartier des Hortes, where a theatre,

destroyed in 1851, and other Roman remains have been found. The

Av. de la Gare, to the right, and the Rue du Lycee, to the left, lead

to the old town.
The *Pont Valentr^ (PI. A. 3}. in the opposite direction, at the

beginning of the Rue du Lycee. is a most interesting bridge of 1308-80.

well restored in the 19th century. Its three towers, its gates, and a

barbican on the left bank made it an important defensive work.
On the opposite bank are steep rocks. Below a rock. 300 paces to

the left of the bridge, behind a mill, is the Fontaine des Chartreux
(PI. A, 4) , a limpid spring supplying the toAvu with drinking-water,
whence the Romans called the town Divona ("holy fountain').

On the right in the Rue du Lycee, beyond Xo. 9, in which Gam-
betta was born, is the Lycee Gambetta (PI. B, 3), once a convent of

the Cordeliers and then a Jesuit college, with a fine brick tower

(17th cent.). The Boulevard Gambetta, farther on, separates the

old tow-n from the new. Xearly opposite the Rue du Lycee rises

the Hotel de Ville (PI. B. 3), with a small Musee (Sun. and holidays

2-4; other days on application).

The Boul. Gambetta descends S., past the BihliotMque Muni-
cipale, to the ^Gambetta Monument iPl. 7 ; B. 3), a large work by

Falguiere, with a bronze statue of the dictator. To the W. are

the Allees Fenelon and the Square Gambetta, with its fountain.

The boulevard leads S. to the Pont Louis-Philippe (PI. B, 4, 5).

On the opposite bank is the suburb nf St-Georges, with a Statue

of tlie Virgin, by Pradier.

The old town, lying between the Boul. Gambetta and the Lot,

contains some picturesque old houses, as in the Quartier des Ba-
dernes, near the Pont Louis-Philippe. From the Boul. Gambetta

the Rue Fenelon leads E. to the church of Ste-Urcisse (PI. C, 3),

of the 12th-13th centuries. A little to the N., on the Quai Cham-

pollion, is a 15th cent, house, with Renaissance windows, known as

the Maison Henri IV (PI. 5; C. 3).

The Cathedral of St-Etienne (PI. C, 3), close by, belongs, like

those of Perigueux aud Angouleme, to the Romanesque-Byzantine

period. Built late in the 11th cent, and consecrated in 1119, it has

been much altered; the choir was in great part rebuilt in 1285-93,

and chapels were added later (14th-15th cent.). The X. Portal,

too freely restored, has fine sculptures in the tympanum. We descend

into the interior by seventeen steps. The aisleless nave has two

bays, each covered by a low flat dome or cupola. The paintings of

the choir and in the first cupola (14th cent.) are specimens of early

French art. The chapel behind the choir contains a relic called the
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Sainte-Coiffe, which is said to haA^e been used at the Entombment.
On the S. side of the nave are flamboyant Cloisters (15th cent.;

restored).

To the N. is the old Eveche, now the Prefecture. The Rue de

la Liberte descends thence to the small Place Champollion, with a

monument of the poet Clement Marot (PI. 6 ; C, 3). A little to the

N. is the iron Pont de Cabessut, built in 1909 to replace the pict-

uresque Pont Neuf, which dated from the 13th century. Beautiful

view of the town from the middle of the bridge.

At Cabessut. a suburb on the other bank, is the ruined Gothic choir

of the Church (PI. C, 3; 14th cent.) of a Dominican or Jacobin convent,
destroyed in 1580 by the Huguenot troops of Henry of Xavarre.

On the right bank, above the Pont Cabessut, are remains of the

College Pelegri (PI. 2; C, 2), of the 14th cent., with an octagonal

tower. Not far from it rises the square tower of the Chdteau du
Roi (14th cent.), now a prison.

The Rue Pelegri, or the quaint Rue du Four-Ste-Catherine,

adjoining the College, leads to the Rue du Chdteau, with interesting

old houses. At the N. end are remains of the Palace ofJohn XXII.,
with a large square tower, and the church of St-Barthelemy
(PLC, 2). From the Place Lafayette (PLC, 1, 2), beliind the church,

the Rue de la Barre leads N". to the Barbacane, a guard-house (15th

cent.), near the lofty Tour de la Barre, or Tour des Pendus
(PL B, C, 1), which rises on a steep rock near the Lot. Since the

13th cent. Cahors has had Ramjyarts, shutting ofl" the peninsula.

Near the Barbacane is the old Porte St-Michel (PL B, 1), now the

entrance to the cemetery. The tower beyond is a powder-magazine.

The Rue Emile-Zola leads S. from the cemetery, past the bar-

racks, to the Place Thiers. The 'Porte de Diane', in an enclosure

on the right, was once a gateway of the Roman baths.

The Boul. Gambetta leads S. from the Place Thiers to the Hotel de

A'ille, past the Palais de Justice (PL B, 2).

Omn. twice daily to (16 M. to the S.W. ; 2 fr.) Montcuq, which played
an important part in the Albigensian wars. Donjon 110 ft. high. Rail-
way projected, and to be continued to Moissac (p. 74).

Railways to Capdenac and to Monseynpron-Lihos, see pp. 96, 72.

•i>ssCoMiNUATiON OF TouLOusE LiNE.—-Bcyoud Cahors we cm.,

the Lot and leave the Capdenac line on the left. Long curved via

duct.— 641/2 M. SejH-Ponts. Lofty viaduct.— 77 1/2 M. Montpezat-
de-Quefrcy (Hot. de I'Europe), an ancient little town, 3 M. to the

S.W. (omn. 60 c), has a church founded in 1334, rich in works of

art (14th-16th cent.).

86V2 ^I- Caussade (Hot. Larroque; pop. 4321), once a fortress

of the Huguenots, has a fine 14th cent, tower.— We cross the Tarn
and join the Bordeaux line.

1011/2 M. Montanhnn (Ville-Bourbon), and thence to Toulouse,

see p. 77.
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b. Vi4 Capdenac.

1541/2 M. Railway in 5hrs.40 to 8 hrs.5 inin.(saiue fares as via Cahors).--
From Paris to Toulouse by this route, 467V2 M., in 12 hrs. 25 or 14 hrs.

30 min. — The section between Brive and Lexos should be seen by day.

Beyond Brive (p. 89) the most picturesque part of the route begins.

Two tunnels; the second, the Tunnel de Montplaisir, is the longest

on the Orleans system (IV2 ^^O-

91/2 M. Turenne (hotel). To the X.E., I1/2 M., is the ancient

little town, once the capital of the 'vicomte' which gave the famous

Marshal Turenne (1611-75) his title. The ruins of his Chdteau
consist of two grand towers (one round, 13th cent. ; the other square,

14th cent.), situated on bold and lofty rocks. Eailw^ay to Aubazine

and Beaulieu under construction.

13 M. Quatre-Routes. Farther on is a plateau (left) on which

lies the village of Puy-d'Issolud, the probable site of the Celtic

Uxellodunuin, taken by Caesar in 51 B.C. (conip. p. 89).

17 M. St-Denis-les-Martel (395 ft.; Buffet, good; Hot. Her-

meilj, a small town in the valley of the Dordogne.
To AuriJlac, see p. 90; to Bordeaux via Le Buisson, see pp. 56, 55.

We now reach the "^Cirque de Montvalent, a very picturesque

part of the valley. The line crosses the river and ascends the left

side of the winding dale, overhung by rocks 600 ft. high. The

Buisson line (p. 56) runs on the other side.—Beyond (22 M.i

Montvalent is the Causse de Gramat, the rocky and barren pla-

teau between the valley of the Dordogne aud that of the Cele.

The Causse de Gramat, one of the most curious plateaux in France.

contains numerous 'igucs'. or natural wells, which collect the rainfall and

discharge it through subterranean channels. The water eventually returns

to the surface and forms the sources of rivers. The chief of these wells is

the Gouffre de Padirac (p. 95).

281/2 ^i- Rocamadour (915 ft. ; Hot. des Yoyageurs). The village

lies 3 M. to the S.W. (Motor-omn. in 1/4 hr., 1 fr. 10 c; onm. 1/0 fr.

;

trunk 25 c.) The road leads via VHospitalet (2 M.), affording a

superb '^Yiew of Rocamadour. Walkers may go direct from L'Hospi-

talet to the castle, but the carriage-road commands the finest views.

Kocamadour (*H6t. du Lion-d'Or, R. from 1, B. s/^, L. 3, D. 4 fr.

;

Hot. Xotre-Dame. R. 2-21/2, P. 7fr.: Hot.-Rest. Ste-Marie, good, R. 3-4,

L. 3. D. 31., fr.: pop. 1048). romantically situated in the ravine of the

Alzou, bounded by rocks 4(30 ft. high.' is one of the oldest pilgrim-resorts

in France, most frequented in mediaeval times. Above the houses are the

church and chapels, and higher up is an old castle. The name is derived

from St. Amadour. a hermif who is said to have lived here in the 1st cent.,

and to have been Zacchseus. the publican.

The church and chapels (12th-15th cent.) are reached from the lower

town bv two flights of steps, the second passing below the EvecM.
The Church, an early Gothic building, consists of the parish church,

St-Sauveur, and the crypt, or chapel of St-Amadour. under it. The walls

of the former are entirely covered with paintings, portraits, and inscrip-

tions, recalling illustrious pilgrims.
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The Chapel of the Vi7-gi7i, dating from the 15th cent., was partly

rebuilt in the 19th, and is lavishly decorated. The stained glass is modern.
On the altar is a small black image of the Virgin, ascribed to Zacchfeus.

Opposite the entrance are ancient mural paintings. The huge sword fixed

to the wall is said to be a copy of Roland's famous -Durandal', which
was vowed by the Paladin to the Virgin, brought here after his death,

and stolen in the 12th century. The small Chapel of St. Michael, in

pure Romanesque style, is the earliest building in Rocamadour. A passage
under St-Sauveur leads to the steep zigzags of the Chemin de Croix,
ending in a huge cross. The path to the left ascends thence to the Castle,

built in the middle ages to defend the shrines, and now a clergy-house.

Fine view from the wall and the old tower.
Attractive walk of 3/4 hr., up the new Cahors road to the crossing

with the old road, down the latter to the bridge, and thence back to the

village.

Environs. — Interesting excursions from Rocamadour to the numerous
'gouffres' around, and to several waterfalls. Near the village is the Puits
Anglais, 20 ft. in diameter and 100 ft. deep. To the S.E. (I1/2 M.) is the
Igue de Biaii, 160 ft. deep. Farther off is the Cascade du Moidin-du-
Said, in a fine gorge; then the Gouffre du Saut-de-la-Pucelle, 5 M.
beyond the railway, towards Gramat (see below). — To tlie N.W. of

Rocamadour (81/2M. ; motor-omu. from the station and back. 3 fr. ; omn.
21/2 fr.) are the Grottoes of Lacave (rest.), with fine stalactites in

thirteen well-lighted chambers. (Adm. 5 fr.) At the village of Lacave,
near the grottoes, and 71/2 M. from Souillac (p. 91), rises the picturesque
Chateau de Belcastel. — The Oiiysse, of which the Alzou is an affluent,

is fed from the Gouffres de Cabouy SiUd de St-Sauveur, 21/2 and 3 M. to

the W. of Rocamadour, both worth seeing. They in turn are fed by the
infiltrations of the Causse de Qramat (p. 94).

To THE GouFFRE DE Padirac, 8V2 J^v motor-omn. from the station

in 1/2 br., 31/2 fr. there and back; omn. in 1 hr., 2V2 fr. ; carr. from tlie

village to the Goutfre, 4 fr., but bargain advisable. Adm. to the Gouffre
5 fr. ; duration of visit IV2-2 hrs.; Rest. Barriere, inside the Goufi"re.

About 1 M. to the E. of the station we pass the Gouffre de Reveillov,

i^hiU.), ISO ft. deep; then (2 M.) the pretty village of Alviqnac (Hot.

Branche-Lescure, Carbois). About 1 M. beyond (7»/.j M.) Padirac is the

*Goufi!re de Padirac, a great abyss 108 yds. in circuit and 250 ft.

deep. AVe descend into it by a flight of steps, and then by a broad
path to its floor. We then enter the cavern by wooden stairs and reach
the bed of a subterranean river, 340 ft. below the surface of the soil.

After a walk of 300 yds. we are rowed to a point where the river ex-
pands into three lakelets, flanked with grand stalactites. We next laud
and walk across several dams to the middle of a lake 1/2 M. from tlie

entrance. On the way back we visit the *Salle du Grand-Dome, 300 ft.

high and 12-55 yds. in diameter, one of the loftiest caverns known.
From Padirac (see above) we may go to Gramat (see below), 5V2 M.

to the S., or to St-Cere (tramway to Bretenoux; p. 90), 8V2 M. to the
E., passing Autoire, in its rocky cirque, and the interesting Grotte de
Presque.

To the N. of Rocamadour station (41/2 M.) is the curious Gouffre de
Roque-de-Corn, 11 yds. in diameter and 120 ft. deep, with a grotto, 1/4 M.
long, at the bottom.

33 V2 M. Gramat (1000 ft.; Hot. de Bordeaux; pop. 2652) lies

61/2 M. from the Gouffre de Padirac (a drive of l^j^ hr. ; 10-15 fr.).—

44 M. Assier, with an interesting church and remains of a 16th

cent, chateau. Omn. to (257-2 ^I-) Conduehe (p. 96), via (13 M.)

Marcllhac (aub.), a good centre for excursions.— Beyond (48 M.)

Le Pournel we descend into the picturesque valley of the C6le, a

tributarv of the Lot,
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56 M. Figeac (Hot. des Voyageurs; pop. 5808), an old town
on the right bank of the Cele, has some interesting 13th- 14th cent,

houses. To the right of the bridge is an obelisk in memory of

ChampoUion, the Egyptologist, a native of Figeac (1790-1832).

The church of St-Sauveur is an old abbey-church of the

llth-15th centuries. In the interior are two fine Corinthian capitals

bearing holy-water basins. Xote also the font (first chapel on the

right) and a large, low chapel of the 13th cent., containing fine

reliefs in wood. Xotre-Dame-du-PiLy, in the upper part of the

town, is of the 12th-14th centuries. It has no transept, but the

aisles run all the way round the church. It contains a superb wooden
*Altar-screen, of the late 17th cent., in perfect preservation.

From Figeac to AuriUa.c (Clermont-Ferrand), see p. 282..

Two tunnels carry us into the pretty Lot valley. On the right

is the Cahors line (see below).

59 M. Capdenac (buffet-hotel, good, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.) is the

station for Capdenac-Gare (pop. 4348^ and Capdenac (pop. 949),

a village 2^/2 M- to the N.W,, on a steep hill on the right bank of

the Lot. The latter was important in the middle ages, and still

has remains of fortifications. Sully had a chateau here.

From Capdenac to Rodez and Beziers, see E. 16.

From Capdenac to Cahors, 44 M.. railway in 1^1^-2^!^ hrs. (8 fr.,

5 fr. 35, 3 fr. 50 c), descending the picturesque valley of the Lot, at the
foot of lofty cliffs. Numerous tunnels, cuttings, and bridges.— 8 M.
Toirac, with an 11th cent, church.— lo^l» M. C'ajarc. a village to the right,

with a ruined chat-au.— 20 M. C'alvignac. To the right, farther on, is

the large Chateau de Cenecieres (13th-16th cent.). — 2'5i/2 M. St-Cirq-la-
Popie lies most picturesquely on the left bank, with a ruined castle

of the 13th cent, and a fine church of the 15th.— From (271/2 M.) ConducJie,
likewise finely situated, an omn. plies to Marcilhac and Assier (p. 95).

—

We pass through the Defile des Anglais. — M^L Vers (hotel). To the
N., 5 M.. on the right bank of the Vers, is the (Javerne du Roc d'Aucor.
On the plateau above lies 2[urcens. the site of a large ancient Gallic

township.— 42 M. Cabessut, an E. suburb of Cahors, on the left bank of

the Lot.— 44 M. Cahors (p. 91).

Beyond Capdenac the line ascends. Several tunnels and via-

ducts; fine views. "We cross the Aveyron.

11^12 ^r. Villefranclie-de-Rouergue (H6t. Moderne, de

France, du Grand-Soleil; pop. 8439), a trading town, was rich

and important in the middle ages, and distinguished in the wars

with England. In the 16th cent, it was noted for its devotion to

Protestantism. Three times in the 15th-17th cent, it was ravaged

by the plague, and in 1643 it became the centre of the revolt of

the Croquants, or peasants, against the exactions of the Intendants.

This was the birthplace of Bories, one of the four sergeants execute«(

at La Rochelle in 1822 for plotting against the Bourbons. The chief

sights are the church of Notre-Dame (13th-16th cent.), with its

great tower, and an old Carthusian Monastery, on the left bank,

now a hospital, with pretty cloisters in the florid Gothic style.
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We now skirt the Aveyrou.— At (84 M.) Moiite'ds the valley

contracts to a highly picturesque rocky and wooded *Gorge.

88 M. Najac (675 ft.; Hot. du Midi) lies on a hill bounded

on three sides by the Aveyron, and crowned with a ruined '^Castle.

It was founded in the 12th cent., and rebuilt in the 13th. The chief

part is the keep, 100 ft. high. (For adm. apply at the 'ecole libre'.)

The Church dates from the 13th century.

We pass under the town by a tunnel.— At (941/.2 M.) Laguepie

a ruined 16th cent, chateau is seen to the left. The valley expands.

— 99^/3 M. Lexos (buffet; hotel at the station).

From Lexos to Montauban, 411/2 M., railway in 1 hr. 40 min. (7 fr.

50, 5 fr. 5, 3 fr. 30 c), through the rocky and picturesque Avei/ron valley,

crossing the river several times. -Si/., M. St-Antonin (Hot. Albouy,
good; pop. 3364), an ancient town, has a noteworthy *H6tel de ViUe of

the 12th cent., restored by Yiollet-le-Duc, with time sculptures, a uiodern

Gothic Church, au old bridge, and several mediaeval houses. — Old chateaux
at (17 M.) Penne, (21 M.) BruniqueU and (25 M.) Montnconx. The train

leaves the Aveyron. — 29 M. yegi-epelisse (pop. 2210), on the left bank of

the Avevron. devoted to Protestantism in the Religious Wars, was sacked
by Louis XIII. in 1622. Beyond (38 M.) Montaubau-Ville-NouveUe the

Tarn is crossed \o iiV!o^\.)'Movtatihan-Villeboitrbon (p. 75).

We now ascend the valley of an affluent of the AA'eyron.—106^2^.
Vindrac. In the distance to the left is the town of Cordes.

From Yikdrac to Cordes, 3^4 M., motor-omn. or carr. (25 c; luggage

35 c). Cordes appears more picturesque as we near it. Below is the village

of Les Cabanes (Hot. Groc), whence we may ascend direct on foot. By
the road, winding round the N. side of the hill, it is 1 M. distant.— Cordes
(Hot. Yiguier, at La Bouteillerie; Hot. du Nord, near the church; pop.

1822). perched on an isolated hill, is a highly interesting mediaeval town.
The Rue de I'Hotel-de-Ville, leading to the right from the diief gate

(where the omn. stojjs), passes several fine houses of tlie 13tli-14th cent.,

including the Mcdfions du Grand-Fanconnler (now the Hotel de Ville),

du Grand -Veneur, und du Grand-Ecuijer. all three on the left and note-

worthy for their Gothic windows. The church of St-Michel, also of tlie

13tli-14th cent., was largely rebuilt in the 15th. It has a fine nave and
poor modern paintings. The ramparts (13th cent.) afford a fine view of

the valley of the Cerou.

Two viaducts and a tunnel.— Beyond (112 M.) Donnazar a

viaduct over the Vere affords a pretty view.— 114Ya^- Cohiizar-

sur-Vh'e. Beyond a tunnel are two chateaux of the 15th-16th cent,

on the right, and another on the left.— llS^/o ^I- Tessonnih'es

(buffet). Continuation of the Toulouse line, see p. 99.

From Tessonnieres to Albi, IOV2 M., railway in 25-10 min. (1 fr.

75, 1 fr. 25. 80 i\). — From Paris to Albi, 441 M., in about 13 hrs.

50 min. (79 fr. 60, 53 fr. 80, 35 fr. 10 c).

We enter the valley of the Tarn.— 41/2 M. Marssac. 'So the

left is Castehian.-de- Levis, with a 13th cent, tower.

107.^ M. Albi. --The Gare d' Orleans (PI. A, 4), to the W., is con-

nected with tlie Gare du Midi (PI. A, 1). on the N., by a loop-line. Omn.
from the former .30 c. - Hotels. *Gr.-IIdt. de la Paxfe (PI, a; B, 3), in

the Lices, R. from 4, B. l'/*, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr- ; Gr.-H6t. du Vigan (PI. b;

Baedekkk's Southern France. 6th Edit, 7
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B.3), Place du Vigaii, R. from 21/2, L. 3, D. 3'/.^, P. from 8V2fr. ; Hostelleric
fill Grand- St-Aiitoine (PI. c; C,3), 15-17 Rue St-Antoine, R. from 2V2,
L. or D. 3. P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. du Nord (PI. d; B. S), Place Ste-Claire,
R. 2-3, L. 21/2. !>• 3, P.eVafr. — Cabs. Per drive 80 c, per hour 1 fr. 80 c.

;

at night 2 and 3 fr.— Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B.3), Place du
Yigau. — Syndicat d'Ikitiative, Place du Vigan.

Albi (570 ft.; pop. 25,300), an ancient town, the capital of the

department of the Tarn, and seat of an archbishop (since 1676),

lies on the left bank of the Tarn, and gave its name to the famous
sect of the Albigenses and to the vrar which deluged S. France with

blood in 1209-29.

From the Gare d'Oiieans (PI. A, 4) we enter the town by the

Ay. de la Gare and Av. Laperouse, to the left. In the Place Lape-

rouse is a bronze statue of Laperouse (PI. 5; B, 4), the famous

but ill-fated navigator (1741-88), a native of Albi. On the N. side

of the square is the Palais de Justice (PI. B,3), with old cloisters.

In a ravine on the W. side is the Fontaine de Verdusse (PI. 1

;

B,3), which is to nuike way for the new Boul. du Pigne.

The **Cathedral of Ste-C^cHe (PI. A, B, 3), built mainly be-

tween 1282 and 1390, is one of the finest and quaintest churches

in S. France, and a perfect example of Southern Gothic. It was

constructed to serve as a fortress as well as a church, and is entirely

of brick, except the S, porch. The huge West Tower looks like

a keep; the lower stories, pierced with narrow loopholes, date

from 1365, the three upper stories from 1485. The plain outer

walls are 130 ft. high. On the S. side of the church are an Avant-
Porte and a porch. The former, a crenellated stone portal, connecting

the last tower of the ramparts with the substructures of the church,

was built early in the 15th cent, by Bishop Dominique de Florence,

whose name it still bears, and was restored in the 19th century.

The *Porch, at the top of the flight of 50 steps, was executed in

the early part of the 16th cent., and presents a wonderful sym-

phony of sculptures in white stone, contrasting most effectively

with the red brick walls. It forms a kind of canopy with four ar-

cades, and is richly crowned with open-work sculptures.

The Interior, without aisles or transept, 20 j'ds. wide and 100 ft.

high, is of majestic simplicity. The **Rood Screen (ca. 1500), 14 ft. in

width, is a marvel of sculpture. Its delicate lace-like forms are the more
remarkable as the stone is hard and brittle. The ornamentation includes

statues under beautiful canopies and graceful pinnacles. The *Ambulatory
round the choir (adm. 50 c.) is scarcely inferior in richness and beauty;

its exterior is decorated with statues of angels, prophets, and other Old
Testament characters. Above the N. and S. doors are Constantine and
Charlemagne, and inside are Xew Testament characters, corresponding with
those outside, making 72 figures in all. These masterly works were
executed by order of Bishop Louis I. d'Amboise, to whom, and particularly

to his nephew and successor, Louis II. d'Amboise (1502-11). are due the

paintings on the walls. From Louis I. dates the Last Judgment, which
is barely visible under the great organ. All the other paintings, more or

less retouched, are by Bolognese artists of the early 16th century. — The
28 two-storied chapels, inserted between the buttresses, are likewise
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wortliy of notice. In tlie apse-chapel is a Hue modern statue of the Virgiu.

The pulpit is an Italian work of 1736. -The Toirer (50 c.; 367 steps)

affords a fine view.

The old *Archev6clie (PI. A, B, 3i, erected late in the 13th cent.,

to the N. of the Cathedral, is really a great fortress, with a keep.

A Musee is now being installed here. (Visitors ring at the door in

the Place de I'Archeveche.)—Higher up the river are the Pont

VieuDZ (PI. B, 2; ca. 1034) and the Font Neuf; the latter, at the

end of the Lices (see below), affords a fine view of the town.

In the suburb of La Madeleike, on the opposite bank, are the churcli

of the Madeleine (PI. A, 2; paintings) and the Gave du Midi (PI. A. 1),

for the Carmaux-Rodoz line (p. 114). Near the station is an interesting

Verrerie (beyond PI. B, 1), making about seven million bottles annually.

The Rue Maries, behind the Cathedral choir, passes St-Salvi

(PI. B, 3), a church dating from 942, partly destroyed in the 13th

cent., and then restored in the Gothic style. The porch, apse, and

base of the tower are still Romanesque. The interior is mainly

Gothic, but there still remain four bays in the Poitevin style (12th

cent.). On the S. side are relics of the Romanesque cloisters (1270).

The Rue Maries goes on to the Prefecture (PI. B, 3), which

faces the Lices, a boulevard descending N. to the Tarn, and ascend-

ing S. to the Place du Vigan (PI. B, 3), in the centre of the town.

On its W. side are the Rne Timbal, with two 16th cent, houses

(No. 14 and corner of Rue des Penitents), and a street leading to

the Hotel de Ville. To the S. of the square is the Jardin National
(PI. B, 3, 4), beyond which are the Theatre on the E., the Allees

Laperouse on the W.. and the Place du Manege to the S. From the

latter the Av. Gambetta leads S.W. to the pretty Pare Boohegude,
presented to the town by Adm. Henri de Rochegude (1741-1834).

From Albi to Cantres and Rodes, see p. 111.

From Albi to Alban, 21 M., narrow-gauge line; station opposite the

Gare d'Orleans (PI. A, 4). — 5V;; M. St-Juery (aub.), where the Tarn has a tine

fall ('Saut de Sabo'). The great Saut-du-Tarn ironworks may be visited

here. A branch-line from the Gare d'Orleans to St-Jucry is being continued
to St-Affrique (p. 285). — 13 M. ViUefranche-d'Albigeois. To the N.E., 6 M.,
in a must picturesque site, is Ambicdet, with an old priory and a ruined
castle. — 21 M, Alban (hotel) is the station for the baths of Tribas, 51/2 M.
to the N. (June-Sept.; P. eVj fr.), strongly charged with salts of copper.
The road to it crosses the Tarn by a bridge of 27 arches.

Continuation of the Toulouse Line. Beyond Tessoniiieres

(p. 97) we follow the valley of the Tarn.— \2\ M. Gaillac (Hot.

du Commerce, de France; pop. 7269), on the right bank of the river.

The main street leads to the church of St-Pierre (13th-14th cftnt.),

in the Place Thiers, with an old fountain, and to St-Michel (also

13th-14th cent.). The Maison de Brens, at the end of the Rue de

I'Aucienne-Mairie, and the Maison Yversen, in the Rue Solf^rino,

are both quaint 15th cent, houses. Near the latter rises the Tour
de Palmata (13th cent.).

7*
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127 M. Lisle-sirr-Tarn (pop. 3607), to the left, has a t4th

cent, churclu with a brick belfry in the Toulouse style.— 131 M.
Rabastens (Hot. Pongis; pop. 4249), a picturesque town on the

right bank of the Tarn, has a church of the 13th cent., with frescoes

of" the 14th-15th.—We cross the Agoi(t. — lSb^/\, :M. St-Sidpice
(buffet) has a church with a 14th cent, facade. Line to Montauban
and Castres, see p. 108. — We leave the valley of the Tarn.

—

145 M. Gragnafjite. The Pyrenees now become more distinct.

—

1541,:, M. Tortlouse (Gfare Matabiau : p. 77V

14. From Toulouse to Cette.

136 M. Railway in B^/.^-l hrs. (24 fr. 60, 16 fr. 65, 10 fr. 90 c). To
Carcassonne, 56\l.2 M., in li/2-2V2hrs. (10 fr. 30. 6 fr. 95, 4 fr. 50 c). Trains
start from the Gare Matabiau (p. 77).

Toulouse, see p. 77. The line ascends the broad valley of the

Lliers, in which runs also the Canal du Midi (p. 79).— The church

of (17 M.) VUleaoiLvelle has a curious facade in the Toulouse style.

— 20i/\,M. Villefranche-de-Lauraguais has a church with a forti-

iied tower (14th cent.).— 25 M. Avlgnonet has a 14th cent, church

and remains of ramparts.— Beyond (28 M.) Segala, near which the

Canal du Midi reaches its highest point, m'c cross the watershed

and descend towards the Mediterranean.— 31 M. Mas-Saiiites-

Puelles. On the left appear the spurs of the Massif Central.

34 M. Castelnaudary (Hot. Notre-Dame, de France; pop.

9542) lies on a hill adjoining the Canal du Midi. It was sacked

several times in the Albigensian wars, and was burned by the Black

Prince in 1355. The Due de Montmorency (p. 80) was defeated

here by the royalists in 1632. The church of St-2Echel, partly

of the 14th cent., has a tower at the W. end, under which passes a

street. A favourite local dish is the 'cassoulet' (p. 78).

To the N.E.. 4V2 M., lies the large village of St-Papoul, formerly

the seat of a bishop.' It has a fine Abbey Church, part of which, includ-

ing the cloisters, is Romanesque.
From Castelnaudary to Castres (Albi. Rodez), 34 M., railway in

1 hr. 20 to 1 hr. 35 min. (6 fr. 15, 4 fr. 15, 2 fr. 70 c.). —We skirt the town,

with its windmills at the end of the hill.— 16 M. Revel-Soreze. Revel
(Hot. de la Lune, Notre-Dame; pop. 5596) lies at the W. end of the

Montagne Xoire (p. 103). To the S.E.. 2 M., is the Bassin de St-Ferreol,

the chief feeder of the Canal du Midi (p. 79). It is formed by a dam 1/2 M.
long and 100 ft. high. To the E. of Revel (31/2 M. ; omn. 60 c.) is the small

town of Soreze, long famous for its Benedictine abbey, which was con-

verted into a college in 1682 and acquired by the Dominicans in 1854. Lacor-

daire (d. 1861), the famous preacher, is buried here.— 30 M. La Cremade,
where we join the Montauban line (p. 109). — 34 M. Castres (p. 109).

The Cette line continues to descend through a fertile plain,

traversed also by the Canal du Midi.— 44 M. Bram.
From Bram to Lavelanet, 39 M., narrow-gauge line. —6 M. Belveze.

junction lor Limoux (p. 184). — 191/0 M. Moidin-Netif, junction for Pamiers

(p. 179).— 281'^ M. Chalahre (1220ft.; Hot. de France: pop. 1872), the an-
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cienl capital of" the Kerkorlioz, has a ruined castle of the loth-lHth cent,

and a church of 1552. —^o'J Z\I. Lavelanet (p. 180).

56^2^1. Carcassonne.— S/z/fe"!^ (L. 3, D. 3V2 fi-)-— Hotels. In
tiie Cite: *II6t. de la Cite, Place de I'Eglise, with terrace and view, R.
from 6, B. 2, L. 5, D. G (wine extra), omu. 2 fr. — In the Ville Basse
(oran. 50 c.) : Gr.-H6t. Bernard (PI. a; C, 2). Place du Marche and 53

(rrande-Rue, R. from 3, B. 11/4- L- Si/g, D. 4, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Bonnet
(PI. c; C. 21. 41 Rue de la Mairie, good, R. from 2>/2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3V-2, P-

from 9 fr.; Hot. Moderne & du Commerce (PI. d: C, 2), 14 Rue du Port,

good, R. from 2i/.>. B. 1. L. 3, D. S'/o, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. St-Jean-Baptiste
(PI. b; C, 1). Boul. Omer-Sarraut, R. from 2V-,, B. 1. L. 3, D. 4, P. from
8 fr.; Hot. Central (PL e; D, 2), 16 Boul. de la Prefecture, good, R. 2-21/2,

B. 3/4, L- 2V2) !>• 3, P. 71/2-8 fr. ; Hot. de la Gare.
Restaurant. Aider, 22-24 Rue Courtejaire (PI. C, 2), closed July-Sept.,

good, L. 4, D. 5 fr.

Cabs. With one horse, per drive 1, per hour I1/.2 fr. ; at night IV2
or 2 fr.; with two horses IV2 or 2, at night 2 or 2^/2 fr. In the Cite, per
drive or hour 2V4, with two horses i^!., fr.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. D, 2), Rue de la Prefecture and Rue
Barhes.

Syxdkat d'Initiative. 37 Rue de la Prefecture.

L'arrassonne (365 ft.; pop. 30,689j, on the Aude, capital of

the Aitde department, and seat of a bishop, consists of the Ville

Basse, on the left bank, near the railway, and the wonderful Cite,

on a hill on the other bank.
Carcciao existed in the Roman period, but first gained imi)ortance

under the Visigoths (418-725). In the 11th -13th cent, it prospered under
its viscounts, the Trencavels, but it suffered greatly in the Alhigensian
war, when it whs taken by treachery. The viscounty was united to

France in 1209, like the rest of the lands which the Montforts had claimed
after the Albigensian crusade (p. 79). Under the last of the Trencavels,
Carcassonne, having revolted in vain, was isolated by St. Louis, who
founded the Ville Basse (1247). The latter was pillaged "and burnt by the
Black Prince in 1355. In 15(>o many Huguenot iniiabitants were massacred
for having dragged a statue of the Virgin through the mire.

The Ville Basse, regularly laid out, is encircled with pleasant

boulevards. The Cxothic church of St-Vincent (PI. C, 1, 2 ; late 13th

cent.) has a massive uulinished tower, where Mechain andDelambre
calculated the position of the meridian of Paris, which passes 46"

to the W. The church, remarkable for its width, is lighted by rose-

wiuilows above the chapels. Fine W. portal.

The Place Carnot (PLC, 2), planted with line plane-trees, has

a marble 18th cent, fountain. The (iothic Cathedral of\St-Mirhel
(PI. C, 3; end of 13th cent.) seems to have been the model for St-

Vincent. It was restored by VioUet-le-Duc in 1849. The W. wall

is pierced with a fine rose-window. The entrance is by a small

door on the N. side, in the Eue Voltaire.

Near the church passes the Boul. Barbrs, in which lises a

bronze statue of Barbes (1809-70), the revolutionary. On tiie E.

side is the old Porte des Jarobins (PI. C, D, 3). The boulevard,

pi-olonged by the Allee des Tilleiils, passes tlie foot of an old bastion,

and takes the name of Boul. du Musee. Farther on, to the I'ight, is

the Square Gambetta (PI. D, 2), acbtrncd with sculptures.
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Near this, iu the Grande-Rue, is the Mfsee (PI. D, 2; Suu. aud

Thurs., 12-4), chiefly containing pictures. Under the peristyle is

an interesting Calvary (15th cent.).

St.urcase. 130. J. P. Laurens, Eelease of prisoners of the luquisitiou

at Carcassonne (1303; original in the Luxembourg).— Boom I. Eight,

38. Le Boiirguignon. Cavalry charge; 24. Chardin, Still-life: *176. *175.

Bigaud. Portraits. --Room II. Left, 202. Teniers the Elder. Alchemist's
study; 196. Salv. Bosa. Head of a soldier. Also modern pictures. Shepherd-
boy "drinking, hronze i'Y JForeau-Vauthier.— Room III. Modern pictures.

Also medals, small bronzes, etc.— Room IV. 27. Coignet. Lake and cascade
of 05; 21. Cahanel, Christian martyrs; ?,l.Dai'higny. Landscape near Lyons.
Meditation, a statue by Diebolt. At the end. a small cabinet of drawings.
— RoomY. Left, 26.'Fcdgnure, Cain and Abel; *iQ. Benjamin-Constant.
The sherifs: 76. Laurence. Portrait: 61. Van Dt/ck, Virgin aud Child;
68. Greuze^ Boy's head; *39. Liiminais. Battle of Romans and Gauls.

—

Room YI. Left, 38. Lerolle, Adoration of the shepherds; 15. Chartran^
Vision of St. Francis.

—

Room XTl. Right, four 15th cent, reliefs, from
St-Sernin in the Cite; enamels, notably a fine 11th cent, goblet; llth cent,

ciborium. etc.— Room VIII. Left, 6i. Zuber, Approaching storm; 9. Bou-
tigny. 'Boule de Suif, scene from the Franco-German war: GtiiUemet,
View of the Cite.

—

Room IX. Small pictures, faience, curiosities. Good
paintings hx Teniers the Elder, W.van deVelde, VanGoyen. dind. Berghen}.

The same building contains the Towx Library (^60,000 vols.).

We cross the Aude by the Pont NeufiVl. E, 2), or by the Po7it

Vieux (13th cent.), to the suburbs on the right bank.

The **Cit6 (485 ft.; see Plan, p. 103), with its double enceinte

and its fifty-four towers, is a unique example of a mediseval for-

tress. It dates from the days of the Visigoths (5th cent.), who built

it on the ruins of the Roman ramparts (stiil visible at places); but

the works were modified by Vicomte Atou about 1130, by St. Louis

in 1250, and especially by Philippe le Hardi about 1280. Being

deemed impregnable, they remained intact down to the Revolution,

and in 1855-79 they were thoroughly restored by Yiollet-le-Duc,

who considered them the most perfect aud picturesque example in

Europe of defensive works of the llth-13th centuries.

The Cite has only two entrances, the *Porte Xarbonnaise (PI.

D, 2) on the E. side, the sole carriage-entrance, with outworks

and two drawbridges, and the Pm'te cVAude (PI. B, 3) on the W.,

with elaborate defensive works. The Enceinte Exterleure, dating

mainly from the time of St. Louis, is 1600yds. in circuit; the En-
ceinte Interieure, older and higher, measures 1200 yds.; between

them lies the space called the Lices. (Adm. free to both 'enceintes',

but to the inner under the guidance of a custodian only, to be

found at the Tour de Justice; fee optional.)

The most interesting towers, beginning at the Porte d'Aude, are the

Tour de Justice (PI. B, 3) and the Tour de VInquisition (PI. A, 4), both
of the 13th cent.- the square Tour de I'Eveqne (PI. A, 4; end of 13th

cent.), built over both enceintes; the Tour St-Nazaire (PI. B, 5), with
its watch-turrets (fine view of the Pyrenees); the Tours Narhonnaises and
the Tour du Tresor (PI. D, 2). We afterwards walk round the Lices,

where we obtain an interesting survey of the defensive works of both
Roman and mediseval times.
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The Chdteau (PL B, 2, 3), near the Porte d'Aude, is a square

building of the 11th cent., restored in the 13th, with massive round

towers, and is now used as barracks (no adm.). It was once connec-

ted with the river by a great outwork called the Barbacane, on

whose site now rises the church of St-Gimer (PI. A, 2). In the Place

du Chateau is a monument to J. P. Cros-Mayrevieille, who did

much for the preservation of the Cite.

The church of *St-Nazaire (PI. F, 4), formerly a cathedral,

founded probably in the 8th cent., but rebuilt in the llth-14th, was

largely restored after 1840. The W. facade, quite military in style,

has a small Romanesque tower on the left and a kind of battlemented

belfry on the right. The nave (early 12th cent.) is Romanesque,

the choir and transepts (13th-14th cent.) are Gothic. The transepts

are flanked with elegant turrets and adorned with a balustrade, which

is carried round the apse. The main entrance is on the N. side.

Interior. The nave and aisles are borne by round and square pillars,

and are flanked with Ciothic chapels. The bold and elegant Gothic tran-

septs and choir, with beautiful rose-windows and rich *Stained glass of the
14th-16th cent., present a striking contrast. The first chapel on the left

(1326) contains the monument of t'ierre de Roquefort (d. 1322), the bishop
who completed the church, with three tine life-size figures in high-relief;

near the altar are good statues of SS. Peter and Paul. In tlie chapel oppo-
site (ca. 1324) is a fragment of a relief representing a siege. On the left

of the choir is a bishop's tomb, with a tine statue in marble and alabaster.

Interesting 13th cent, statues by the pillars of the choir. In a chapel
adjoining the S. transept is the striking tomb of Bishop Radulph (d. 1266).
— Fine view from the platform of the church.

A good view of the Cite is obtained from the Cimetiere St-Michel,

in the Ville Basse (PI. C, D, 4).

From Carcassonne to Quillan, see R. 28.

Narrow-gauge line from Carcassonne to (IOV2M.) Lastonrs, with its

four ruined castles. About 4 M. to the E. are the grottoes of Limonsis
(adra. 50 c.). Omn. from Lastours to (SVa M. ; 50 c.) Mas-Cabardes, a vil-

lage on the S. spurs of the Montagne Noire, at the W. end of the
Cevennes. To the N.E. of Mas-Cabardes (6 M.) is Fradelles-Cabardes
(hot. -rest.), whence we may ascend the Pic de Nore (3970 ft.), the high-
est peak of this range, accessible also from Mazamet (p. 110).

Leaving Carcassonne, the train crosses the Canal du Midi and

the Aude, with a glimpse of the Cite to the right, and follows the

vine-clad valley of the latter.— 67 M. Capendu. To the right rises

the Montagne cVAlaric (1970 ft.), where the Visigoth kings are

said to have had a castle, with 14th cent, ruins and marble quarries.

— From (72 M.) Moux a branch-line runs to (17^2 ^jf-) Caunes,
with marble quarries.— 79 M. Lezignan.

From Lezignan to La Nouvelle, 33 M., narrow-gauge line, with
several branches, across the Corbieres, a chain of hills branching from
the Pyrenees near the Pech de Eugarach, and running N.E. between the
Aude and the Agly. Good roads and picturesque scenery. — 7 M. Fabre-
zan, on the Orbieu, with a castle and tower, dating in part from the 12th
century. Branch-line up the valley of the Orbieu to (9V2 M.) St-Pierre-
des-C'hamj)S, by (7 M.) Lagrasse, prettily situated, with an old Benedictine
abbey, nov/ an asylum for old men. - 131/2 M. TMzan (p. 106). - 28'/.^ M.



104 Route 14. NARBONNE. From Toulouse

Sigean (Hot. du Midi; pop. 2988), with a lake (p. 187) and large salt-works.
— 33 M. La Nouvelle (p. 187).

We next cross the Orhieu.— 87 M. Marcorignan.

93 M. I^arbonne.— Sw/Te^.— Hotels. *Grand-n6teI (PI. b; D, 3),

22 Boiil. Gambetta. R. from 3, B. li/.^. L. or D. 4, omn. 1/2 fr- ; Hot. de
la Dorade (PI. a; B, 3;. 44 Rue de la Republique, good, R. from 3. B. l-li/->j

L. 4. D. 5, P. from 9, omn. 1
'.> fr. : Hot. de France (PI. c; B. 3), 7 Rue de

la Republiriue; Hot. de VUnivers (PI. d; C, 1). at the station. R. 2V2 fr.

—

Omnibus-Tramway from the station to the town, 15 c. — Post & Telegraph
Office (Pl. C, 3), Place du Tribunal.

Nai'honne (pop. 28,173) lies iu a dusty plain, 5 M. from the

Mediterranean, and connected with it by the Canal de la Robine.

It carries on various industries (distilling, coopering, etc.), and

is noted for its honey.
Xarbo was a prosperous town long before its colonization by the Romans

in 118 B.C. It then lay amidst lakes, connected with the Lake of Sigean

(p. 187) and with the sea, a position making it one of the chief ports of

the Mediterranean and a rival of Massilia. It gave its name to Gallia

Xarbonensis, a part of Gaul conquered bj' the Ronjans before the time of

Csesar. Martial, in 95 A.D.. speaks of it as a beautiful town, and Sidonius
Apollinaris (d. 488) praises its theatre, temple, capitol, baths, and triumphal
arches. Of these nothing remains but fragments found in the walls of

the enceinte, demolished in 1867. The Visigoths settled here in 413 and
held the town till 720. when it was taken by the Saracens after a two
years' siege. So strongly did the latter fortify it that Charles Martel
"failed to take it, and Pepin captured it only through treason, in 759, after

a seven years' siege. In 817 the town became the capital of the duchy
of Septimania or Gothia, which fell to Charles the Bald in 843 by the
Treaty of Verdun. It afterwards passed to the Counts of Auvergne, then
to those of Toulouse, with whose dominions it was finally united to

France in 1507. The decay of the town dates from the early 14th cent.,

when the Jews, to whom a quarter of their own had been assigned by
Charlemagne, were expelled. About that same period the harbour was
silted up through the bursting of a dyke, by means of which the Romans
had conducted into it a branch of the Aude.— The orator Fronto (2nd
cent.), the emperors Cams, Carinus, and Xumerianus (3rd cent.), and the
martyr St. Sebastian (250-288) were natives of Xarbonne.

From the station we follow the Boul. de la Gare (PI. C, B, 1, 2)

to the right, and the Rue de la Republique to the left, along the

Canal de la Robine, to the Place de rH6tel-de-Yille (Pl'. C, 3).

The old Arch.evech^ (13th-14th cent.), on the left, was once a

fortress, to which belonged the three towers of the fagade. The
largest tower, on the left, dates from 1318; the central tower (1375)

and that on the right (1273) are separated by the curious Passage
de VAncre. Between the first two towers is the Hotel de Ville. built

by Yiollet-le-Duc.

The "Musee is installed in the same building. (Adm. Sun. and
Thurs. 2-4; at other times apply to the 'gardien' at the back.) It

fills ten rooms on the 2nd floor, and comprises antiquities, pictures,

and a valuable ceramic collection.

Staircase. Fragments of sculpture. — Room I. Gallic and Roman
antiquities; impressions of fossils; six portraits of 'consuls' of Xarbonne
in the lfith-17th centuries.

—

Room II. in the large tower. Fine ceiling;

Roman mosaic found at Xarbonne. Paintings: to the right. \b-i. Biyaud.
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Portrait; oH. L. David. Portrait; 250. Lidni, Head of Joiin tlic Bajitist

;

14. Boilly, Dante at Verona. In the embrasure, 100 (left). Fragment of

(freek stele (boy with bird), and (right) Silenus, in marble; also Young
Hercules, a mutilated antique.

—

Room III. Right, 323. P.deVns, Ama-
zons hunting; 54. L. David, David and Goliath ; 291. Brueghel the Younger,
Village feast ; 125. P. Mignard, San Carlo Borromeo ministering to the
plague-stricken; School of H. de Bles, *Adoration of the Magi (triptych);

307. Bubeiis and Snyder.^, Jesus in the house of Martha and Mary. Sculp-

tures: Woman surprised while bathing, by Falgniere: Andromeda, by
Lescorue. In glass-cases, part of the ceramic collection. — Adjoining
is Room IV (Galorie Barathier): Furniture, pastels, drawings, engravings,
ivories, enamels, etc.

Rooms V and VI. *Ceramic Collection. Room V contains French ware

;

Room VI chieflv foreign.

Room VII (Salle Chaber). Right, 280. Eibera, St. Andrew; 245. Gmr-
cino. Judith; 258. Salv. Rosa, St. Jerome in the desert; 299. Jordaens
(after Rubens). Revelry; 261. Seb. del Piombo, Portr. of a scholar; 234.

P. da Cortona, Massacre of the Innocents : 538. P. Puget. Bust of Louis XIV.

;

297. Jordaens, Familv of Darius before Alexander. Coins and ironwork.
Room VIII (Galerie Peyre). Above the door, 294. Fijt, Cook; 318.

I. van Ostade, Winter scene; 42. C'hardin, Portr. of a girl; 89. Greuze,
Head of a girl; 128, 129. Miguard. Portraits of women; 155. Rigaud,
Portr. of himself; 140. Nattier, Duchesse de Bourbon as a Vestal: 40.

Ph. de Champaigne, A marshal of France. Antique mosaic: Lycurgus slay-
ing a msenad.— Room IX. Casts, Sevres porcelain, and modern ware.

To the left of the lauding, opposite the Musee, is the Libuary
(Tues., Thurs., and Sat., 2-5). In the vestibule (X) are inscriptions and
a line Gallo-Roman mosaic.

In the Place du Tribunal, to the X.E. of the Musee. is the

"Cathedral of St-Just (PI. B, C, 3 ; closed 12-3). The superb choir

was built in 1272-1332 in the bold style of the great churches of X.

France, but the church remained unfinished. The work was resumed
in the 18th and the 19th cent., but was again interrupted. The two
lowers of the transept date from the 15th cent.; the buttresses

terminate in the form of turrets.

Interior. The choir, with its slender pillars, is 130 ft. high. In
the 3rd chapel on the left is the tomb of Jean de Seigneuret (time of

Henri IV.); around the sanctuary, tombs of bishops of the 14th and 16th
cent. ; line Virgin in marble (14th cent.), in the apse-chapel ; organ-loft of

1741. The treasury contains MSS.. missals, ivories, portable altars, etc.

(7th-16th cent.).—We may ascend to the platform, ai>ove the choir, and to

the top of one of the towers (view).

The small cloisters on the right of the Cathedral ( 14th-ir)th cent.)

are being restored.

The Rue Droite leads N.W. from the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville.

In the Rue Michelet, to the E., is the church of St-Sebastien (PI.

C. D, 2), in the flamboyant style (early 16th cent.).

To the S.W., beyond the canal, is the church of St-Paul-Serge
(PI. A, 4), begun in 122-t in the early-Gothic style, and partly

fortified. To the S.E., at the corner of the Rue Edgar-Quinet (PI.

B, 4), is the Maison des Trois-Nourrires, with two 16th cent,

facades. Farther on, in the Boul. de la Liberte, is the former Eglise
de Lamowgider (PI. C, 4; 13th- 14th cent.), with a crenelJatod

apse. It now contains a Mnnee Lapidaire (adni. daily, 9-12 and
2-4; entrance on \V. side).
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From Narbonne to Peridynan, see R. 2i9, I.

Branch-line from Narbonne to (13 M.) Bize (Hot. du Xord), an industrial

lown ou the Cesse, with prehistoric caves. To the N.W., lO'/a M., is

Minerve (720 ft.), picturesquely perclied on a rock above the gorges of

the Brian and the Cesse, with their curious natural tunnels. Buined ram-
parts and castle. Road to St-Pons (p. 110).

Narrow-gauge line from Narbonne to Thezon (p. 10.").

97 M. Coursan (Hot. de la Maison-Doree; pop. 3793), ou the

Aiule. has an artesian well yielding an aerated and fprruginous

water.— We cross the Aude and farther on the Orb.

IO8Y2 ^^^ Beziers. — Plan, see p. 1U5. -Stations. (Tare du Midi
(PLC, D, 5; buffet), to the S. : Gave du Xord (PI. D, 1), to the N.E.. for
Montpellier and St-Chinian (see pp. 107, 108). Omn. to town 30 c. trunk 30 c.

Hotels. Hot. de la Camp. d?i Midi, at the Gare dn Midi, R. 4-20,

B. 11/0, L. 4, D. 5. P. 121/.-25 fr.; Hot. du Nord (PI. e; C, 4), Place de la

Oitadelle, R. from 3. B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/2 fr. ; Hot. Glacier (PI. b; C, 3), with
rest.. Hot. de la Pair (PI. a; C. 3). Hot. du Commerce (PL c; C, 3). all

in the Alices Paul-Riquet; Hot.-Re^t. du Midi (PI. d; C, 3), Rue Coquille.
Cabs. Per drive 1, per hour IV2 fr. : with two horses IV4 or 2 fr.

;

at uight 11/0. 21/4, 2, 3 fr.

Electric Tramways (10 c with transfer) from the Place de la Repid)-
lique (PI. C, 3) to the Gare du Midi (PI. C, D, 5), Gare du Nord (PI. D, 1),

Place d'Espagne (beyond PI. A, 5), etc. — To Serignan, see p. 107.

Post & Teleoraph Office (PI. 2; C, 3), 6 Av. de la Republique.
Baths, 58 Av. da la Republique; 1.5 and 24 Rue Alexandre-Cabanel.
Basks. Sociefe Generate. 17 Place de la Citadelle; Credit Lyonnais

and Comjytoir d^ Escompte. 18 and 26 Alices Paul-Riquet.
Bull-fights and theatricals in the Arenes (beyond PI. D, 3).

Beziers (pop. 51,042), finely situated on a hill, is a pleasant

town of ancient origin, having been colonized by the Romans under
tlie name of Beterrse Septimanorum. It suffered terribly in the

Albigensian war, and in 1209 some 20-30,000 persons were mas-
sacred or burned here. Beziers produces good red wines and has a

large trade in brandy.

Leaving the Gare du Midi, walkers ascend across the Jardin
des Poetes (PI. D,5), with its monumental fountain, to the Allies

Paul-Riquet (PL C, 3, 4), the centre of the town, a shady prom-
enade 650 yds. long. In the first half is a statue (by David d'Angers)

of Paul Piquet (PL 3; C, 4), the constructor of the Canal du Midi

(p. 79), a native of Beziers (1604-80). Adjacent is the large Place
de la Citadelle, with a marble fountain. At the end of the avenue

rises the Theatre (PL C, 3).

Behind the theatre lies the Place de la Pepidjlviue. The Rue de

la Republique to the W., and then the Rue Trencavel to the right,

lead to the Madeleine (PL B, 2, 3), an old Romanesque church, al-

tered in the 18th cent., where most of the massacres of 1209 took

place. The Rue Rude leads thence N. to St-Aphrodise (PL B, C, 2),

of the 10th-15th cent., now embedded among houses. The font, to

the left of the entrance, is made of a sarcophagus of the 5th cent.,

adorned with a lion-hunt. The chapel to the right of the choir con-

tains a Christ, in bronze, by lujalbert.
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To the S. of the Madeleiue the Eue Paul-Riquet leads to the

Place de la Mairie, whence the Eue Yiennet leads W. to the small

Place de la Revolution and the old Cathedral of St-Wazaire (PI.

A, 4; 12th-14th cent.), the chief building in the town. It is in the

Gothic style peculiar to this region, and is partly fortified. The
windows of the choir retain their curious old iron lattice-work. In

the W, facade is a large rose-windoY\', and at the back rises a mas-
sive square tower. To the S. of the transept are Gothic Cloisters

of the 14th cent, (apply to the sacristan), containing Roman and
Christian sculptures.— Fine view from the terrace of the church.

The Mus^e (PL 1 ; A, B, 4) occupies No. 6, Rue Anguste-Fabre-
gat, on the E. side of the Place de la Revolution. (Adm. Sun. and
Thurs. 10-12 and 1 to 4 or 5 ; at other times apply to the concierge,

8 Rue de Bonsi.)
The G-ROUND Flock contains drawings, a ceramic collection, etc.

First Floor. First Room: 310. Berchem, Landscape; 2.54. Francia.
Madonna and child; 285. J/o?/a, 8t. Francis; 85. Grhnon, Young woman:
299. Van Orley, Madonna and child. G^rande Salle : 170. Raff'aeUi. Peasants

;

50. Dcwbigny, Banks of Ihe Oise; 41. Corot, Pond at Yille-d'Avray
;

291. Van Dycl\ Portrait; 255. Francia, Ecstasy of St. Francis; 230.
Gnercino, 'Femme aiis trois couronnes'; 267. Bornenichino, Pope Gre-
gory XV. and his nephew; 315. Van Goyen, Landscape; 316. 3Iaes, Horses;
256. Guido Reni, Cleopatra taking leave of Mark Antony; 111. J. F.
Ixxurens., Funeral of William the Conqueror.

—

Second Floor. Archaeo-
logical collection.

On the S. side of the old town is the church of St-Jacqnes
(PI, B, 5), partly of the 12th cent., but modernized in the interior.

Fine altar-screen in the chapel opposite the pulpit.

To the S.W. of B^ziers, Va ^m are the Locks of Fonserannes, by
which the Canal du Midi descends 80 ft. within 340 yds. — At the mouth
of the Orb, 8^/2 M. to the S.E., are the modest sea-baths of i>erignan,
3 M. beyond the little town of tliat name; tramway (75 c.) from the Place
d'Espagne (l)eyond PI, A, 5).

From Beziers via St-Flonv and Bort to Montluqon (Paris), see R. 38
and pp. 260, 259; to Clermont-Ferrand via St-Flour and Brioude, see R. 38
and pp. 219, 218; to Rodez and C'apdenac, see R. 16.

From B^ziers to Montpellier via Pauluan, 47 M., railway in 23/4-

.33/4 hrs. (8 fr. 50, 5 fr. 75, 3 fr. 75 c.). — The Cette line is left at (IIV2 M.)
Vias{\}. 108), wiience we ascend N. through the valley of the Herault.—
221/a M, P^zenas (Hot, de la Paix, du Commerce; pop. 6910), the Roman
PiscennsR, a very ancient town, with a large trade in brandy. In the 17th
cent, it was fretjuently the meeting-place of the Estates of the large and
wealthy province, and it still has buildings of tliat period: the Hotel d'Al-
fonse (16th cent.), the Theatre (formerly a chapel where the Estates met),
etc. Here Moliere made his debut in 1655-6 and composed his 'Precieuses
Ridicules'. Other station, see below. The Chdtedu de la Grange-des-
Fres, once that of the families of Montmorency and Conti, lies ^U M. to
tlie N. — 28V2 M, Paulhan, and thence to Montpellier and Lodih'C, se« p. 112.

From Beziers to Montpellier via Meze, 49'/^ M., starting from the
Gare du Nord (p. 106), uninteresting.— 15Va M. Fezenas (see above),—
271/2 M. Meze (Hot. Grand-Galion; pop. 6009), on the N, bank of the
Etang de Thau, with salt-works and a small liarbour. Steamer to Cette,
see p. 306, — 331/2 M, Balarnc, IV2 M. from Balurnc-les-Bains (p, 306).-
35 M. Ponssan. Branch to (3 M.) Montbazin-Gigean (p. 112). - 37V2 M.
Montbazin (p. 112). 491/2 M. Montpellier (Oare de Rabieux; p. 298).
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The preceding Hue is eontiuued beyoud Beziers to (20 M.) St-Chinian
(Hot. du Grand-Soleil

;
pop. 2745), an industrial town, in a picturesque

site. Omn. to St-Pons, see p. 110.

1121/2 M. Villeneuve-les-Bezlers. The ^Mediterranean soon

comes into view on the right.— 120 M. Vlas, with an interesting

14th cent, church. To Moutpellier via Pezenas, see p. 107.

To the S.E.. 11/4 M., is a modern Aqnedtict carrying the Canal du
Midi across the Libron. It consists of two movable parts, which open
and shut for the passage of boats on the canal.

122 M. Agde (Hot. de la Poste; pop. 9265), the ancient

Agathe, founded by the Massiliaus, lies on the Herault and the

Canal du Midi, 2^/0 M. from the sea, and has a harbour trading with

Spain and Italy. Like most towns in S. France. Agde was sacked

by Yandals, Visigoths, Saracens, Franks, and in the Albigensian

war. The Calviuists held it in 1562-77.

We enter the town by a suspension-bridge over the Herault. To
Ihe right is the Cathedral (12th cent.), with a crenellated roof which

makes it look like a castle. Below are large Romanesque arcades

with small loop-holes. The W. portal has been built up, and the

chuir transferred to the W. end; the entrance is now in a chapel of

the old choir at the E. end.— The main street ascends in the oppo-

site direction to an Esplanade, with remains of ramparts.
To the S.E. rises the Pic St-Loiip, or Montague d'Agde (375 ft.), an

extinct volcano, of whose lava the town is built. Otf the coast is tlie

fortitled He de Brescou.

On the left lies the Etang de Thau, a salt lagoon 11 M. long

and 3-5 M. wide, with large salt-works on its banks. The Canal du

Midi (p. 79) ends here and is prolonged to the sea by the Canal

de Cette.— IBeyond (I251/2 M.) Les Onglous the line follows a neck

of laud, 1/0 M. broad, between the sea and the lake. At the X.E.

end are the baths of Balaruc (p. 306).

136 M. Cette (p. 305).

15. Prom Montauban to Montpellier via
Castres.

168 -M. Eailway in 8 hrs. 15 to 8 hrs. 35 min. (30 fr. 35, 20 fr. 50,

13 fr. 40 c). The route via Toulouse and Cette (185 M. ; see p. 77, E. 11,

and pp. 305, 301) takes 5-7V2 hrs. only.

Montauban, see p. 75. We ascend the valley of the Tarn.—
151/.2 M. Villemur (pop. 3255), on the right bank.— 25 M. Buzet.

To the right is the line from Toulouse to Limoges via Capdenac

(E. 13).— 271/2 ^1- St-Suljnce (buffet
; p. 100). We cross the Agout

and ascend its valley.

361/., ;m Lavaur (Hot. Bertrand, Goulard; pop. 6130), an

ancient town on the left bank of the Agout, once a stronghold of

the Albigenses, was sacked by Simon de Montfort in 1211. The
Cathedral of St-Alain, a brick edifice of the 13th cent., with an
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octagonal tower, contains a Christ by Kibera. The church of ;S'^-

Francois (14th cent.) has a richly decorated interior. The public

Jardiii de VEveche has a statue of Las Cases (1766-1842), who
shared the exile of Napoleon I. Important silk-worm culture.

IJranch-line to Laboutarie, see p. 114.— Beyond (57 M.) La Ore-
made the line to Castelnaudary (p. 100) diverges to the right.

6lY2M.Castres..g//7f<;f. — Hotels. Grand-Hotel, Rue Thiers;
Modern Hotel du JSford, Rue de l'H6tel-de-Ville, R. from 2, L. 21/^, D. S fr.

;

Hot. de VEurope, 7 Rue Victor-Hugo, same charges.— Omnibus-Tramway
to tlie town, 10 c. — Post & Teleuraph Office, Rue Grambetta. —-Syndicat
d'Initiative, Hotel de Ville.

Castres (pop. 27,830), an industrial town manufacturing tex-

tiles, on the Agout and the Durenque, Mas until 1625 a great strong-

hold of the Calvinists.

The Hotel de Mile occupies the old Eveche, built by Mausart
(1666), and has a Romanesque tower dating from an old Benedictine

abbey, round Avhich the town sprang up. It contains a library and
a museum. Opposite is the church of St-Benoit, once a cathedral,

rebuilt in 1678-1718. Behind the Hotel de Ville is the Jardin de
VEveche (17th cent.), now^ a promenade. On the opposite bank are

picturesque old houses. From the Place Nationale the Rue Emile-
Zola leads towards the boulevards. To the right is the Rue Frede-
ric-Thomas, No. 18 in which is an interesting old mansion.

From Castres to C'astelnaiidarij. see p. 100; to Rodez, see p. 114. To the
Montagne Noire by the Moutpellier or Castelnaudary line, see pp. 110, 100.

To the E.N.E. of Castres, 5 M., rises the Sidobre, a granitic plateau
with fantastic rock-scenery (numerous rocking-stones), 6 by 5 M., averaging
2150 ft. in height, bounded by the Dureiuiue and the Agout. Carr. and
pair 16 fr. per day. Guide advisable.

From Castres to Ferrieres, I8V2 M., a picturesque road crosses the
Sidobre, skirting the Agout, to (51/2 M.) BurJats (aub.), with its ruined
Romanesque-Qothic church (11th cent., restored in the 13th-14th) and the
Pavilion d' Adelaide, the remains of a 12th cent, cliateau. — 10 M. Lacrou-
zette (aub.). —We cross the Agout by the (15 M.) Pont de Luzieres.—
I81/2 M. Ferrieres (1940 ft.; aiib,). with the grand ruins of a Renaissance
castle. Railwajf, see below.

From Castres to La(iaitne, 371/2 M., narrow-gauge line in 3 lirs.

(3 fr. 85, 3 fr. 10 c.).-- 131/2 M. Ln Paragrip-Beaudecamg, junction for
Ferrieres {i^l-i M. ; see above) and Brat^mc (8V2 M. ; see 'below). —17 M.
Vahre (Hot. Biau; pop. 2086). —371/2 M. Lacavne (see below).

From Castres to Lacaune, by the new road, 33 M. (omn. tlirice daily
in 73/4 hrs., 5 fr. ; motor-omn. in 21/.^ hrs., 5fr.); by the old road, 29 M.
(carr. 25-35 fr.), more interesting. — The latter at tirst' follows the Ferrieres
road and then ascends to (5 M.) La Fontasse (1435 ft.; aub.) and (91/2 M.)
La Glevade (2255 ft.; aub.). — 15 M. Brassac (hotel), on the Agout; here
we join tlie new road, which goes round by tlie valley of the Durenque.
Railway, see above. •

Lacaune (2790 ft.; Hot. de I'Etablissement, 15th June to 25th Sept.,
R. from 3, L. or D. 3, P. from 81/2 fr. ; Hot. Central, R. 2-4, P. 7-8 f r.

;

pop. 3.360), prettily situated on the Gijou, has a hot spring, containing
bicarbonate of soda and lime, and a cold ferruginous spring. The baths
are used in the treatment of cutaneous diseases, rlieumatism, anaemia,
and affections of the stomach. Narrow-gauge line to (10 M.) Murat-Hur-
Vl'hre (Hot. Rascol), on tlie Agout. witli au old castle.



110 Routt 15. MAZAMET. From Montauhan

We cross the Agout and the Thore.— 66Y2 M- Lahruguiei'e

(pop. 3184), with a ruined castle and a fine Romanesque tower.

7372^^- Mazamet (Hoi. Martinet; pop. 14.764) has thriving

cloth-factories. The town is entered by a beautiful avenue of planes.

On a hill (2^/2 M.) are the scanty ruins of the Chdteau d'Hautpoul.

To the S., on the Carcassonne road, is the (3 M.) Cascade du
TAnouhre, 165 ft. high.

The Pic de Nore\3910 ft.), to the S.E., a peak of the Montagne
Xoive (p. 103), may be ascended in 4-41/2 lirs. by the valley of the Arnette.

At (79 M.) St-Amans-Soidt Marshal Soult (1769-1851) was

born and died.— 87 M. Labastlde-Eouairoiix (pop. 2272), with

cloth factories.

A tunnel of Y2 ^^- carries us from the basin of the Atlantic to

that of the Mediterranean. Fig-trees and olives appear.

95 M. St-Pons-de-Tliomieres (Hot. Pastre; pop. 2738), a

cloth-making tov/n, 1/2 M. to the X., in a valley at the head of which

rises the Jaur. A fine avenue of plane-trees leads to the town. Near

the other end of the town is the Cathedral (12th cent.; rebuilt in

the 18th), with a fine old portal and interesting wood-carvings. In

the town is the curious Grotte du Jaur (adm. 1 fr.). Pretty walks

in the environs.
Omn. four times daily (2 fr.) through the defile of the Noiivre to

(13 M.) St-Chinian (p. 108).

From St-Poxs to La Salvetat. 131/2M., omn. twice daily in 3 hrs.

(21/2 fi'-)> — The road leads over the C'ol du Saumail (3115 ft.), whence a

path leads to the fine cascade of the Saut-de-VesoIes. La Salvetat
(2200 ft.; Hot. Calberac; pop. 2711), a summer resort on the right bank
of the Agout, is a good centre for excursions. Mineral springs of Rieu-
innjou. The air here is bracing, and game and fish abound.

971/2 ^i- Riols, with cloth-factories and iron-mines.— IOIY2M.
>St-Etienne-d'Albagnan. The bare hills to the left are the Monts
de rEsjjhiouse (3690 ft.).— 105 M. Olargues, on a rock on the right

bank.— lOl^j^H. Mons-la-Trivalle. Gorges d'Heric, see p. 111.

—

110 M. Colombieres.

1141/2 M- Lamalou-les-BairLS.— Hotels (omn. 50 c). At La-
malou-le-Bas: Gr.-H6t. Mas, Av. Charcot, open all the year, E. from 3,

B. 1, L. 31/.,. D. 4. P. from 10 fr. ; Hdt. des Bains, adjoining the baths,

Pt. from 3, "B. 1. L. or D. 31/2. P- from 8 fr. ; Hot. du Nord & Continental,
Av. Charcot. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3. D. 31/2, P- from 9 fr. ; Hot. du Midi,
Av. de rUsclade, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de la Paix. near the baths, P. from
7 fr. ; Hot. de France, Av. de la Gare, P. Oi/o-'i/, fr. ; Hot. de la Paste, Av.
Charcot, plain but good. — At Lamalou-le-Centre: Gr.-H6t. du Centre. —
At Lamalou-le-Haut: Hot. des Thermes. E. from 3. B. 3/^. L. or D. 31/2,

P. from 9fr. ; Hot. Moderne, E. 2-3. L. 3, D. 31/2. P. from 71/2 fr. — Also
Pensions, Villas, and Furnished Houses.

Baths. At Lamalou-le-Bas: bain de piscine I1/4-3, douche 11/2-1^/4,

baignoire 3 fr. At Lamalou-le-Centre: baignoire or douche 2 fr. At La-
malou-le-Haut: piscine 11/2-2, baignoire 3, douche IV2 fr- —Mineral water,
10 c. per glass.

Carriages, usually 15-25 fr. per day; special drives, 10-40 fr. (tariff).

— Motor Cabs, 50-60 c. per km. — Trajiway-Omnibus (15 c.) between the

station, the three bath-houses, and La Verniere. -Donkey, 5 fr. per day.



to Montpellier. LAMALOU-LES-BAINS. 15. Boide. m
Casino Municipal (June-Sept.), Av. Charcot; throe weeks 45 fr.

;

theatre, IS h. — Ecleti-Concert, Pare de rUsclade (V2-I fr.).

Post & Telegraph Office, near the Place du March e. — Syndicat
d'Initiative, Hotel de Ville.

Lamalou-les-B ains (610 ft.; pup. 939), noted for its theriual

springs, lies iu the dale of the Bitoulet, near its union with the

valley of the Orb, and at the foot of the hills connecting the Re-

venues and tlie Montague Noire (p. 103). It consists of Lamalou-
le-Bas or VAncien, La/nalou-le-Centre, and Lamalou-le-Haut.
The waters (82-124:° Fahr.), containing bicarbonate of soda, arsenic,

lithia, iron, aud carbonic acid, are efficacious in rheumatic and

nervous affections. Season May to November.
At the end of the Av. de la Gare is the Fontaine Charcot, with

a bust of the famous physician (1825-93), by his widow. The Eta-
BLissEMEXT DU Bas, Tcached by the Av. de I'Usclade to the left, lies

pleasantly in a shady court, open towards the valley. On the slope

behind is a pretty Park, with the Source de VUsclade (118°).

—

The Etablissement du Ceis'tke, reached by the Av. Charcot and

Av. de Capus, has the Source Capus, a park, and a hydropathic.

— The Etablissement du Haut, 1/2 ^^- farther on, well equipped,

lies in a pleasant Park, with the Petit-Vichy spring.

Excursions (carriages, etc.. see p. 110). To the S.E., ^/4 M., on the
right bank of the Orb (trumway-omuibu.s 15 c), is the Park of La Ver-
niere (adrn. 10 c.).— To the N.W. of Lamalou-le-Centre, IVa M. (I1/2 hr.

there and back; carr. 10 fr.), are ViUecelle, a typical C^veuole village,

aud Le Fra'isse, with its great chestmit-tree. — To the E. (3 hrs. there aud
back) are the hermitage and church of Notre-Dame-de-C'apimont (view).

—

To the S.S.W., close to Lamalou-le-Bas, is the priory of St-Pierre-de-
Rhedes, said to have been founded by Charlemagne. — To the S.E. (3 hrs.)

is the Ermitage de St-Michel, in aruined castle (view). — To the N.E.
(31/2 M. ; carr. 10 fr.) is ViUemagne, said to have been endowed by Charle-
magne, with the ruins of two churches and a miut (12th-14th cent.); about
1/2 M. farther on is the picturesque Po7it du Diable (1768).— To tlie N.
(8V2 M. ; carr. 20 fr.) lies St-Gervais (Hot. Soulie), a little town in a
picturesque situation. We go there by the (5 M.) Col de Pierre-Plantee,
and return by the Mare valley. Road to Graissessac, see p. 287.

GoKGES d'Heric (interesting; half-a-day). Railway to Mons-la-Tri-
valle (7 M. ; p. 110), 1/4 hr. S.W. of the entrance to the gorge. — Or by road
(carr. 15 fr.) down the pretty Orb valley. 5 M. Colovibieres (hotel; p. 110),

with its cascade, ruined castle, and huge chestnut-tree. Short ot (7 M.)
La Trivalle (see above) a road diverges to the Pont Tarassac (superb
view). — The *Gorge8 d'Heric form a grand rocky cirque (guide 5 fr.).

A path ascends the wild defile to a bridle-path (near a bridge, 3^/4 hrs.),

which leads, to the left, back to La Trivalle in 3 hrs. ; the path to the
right leads to (1 hr.) Douch (see below).

Ascent of Mont Caroux. "We walk or drive (carr. 25 fr.) to (11 M.)
Douch, and ascend thence (guide from Lamalou 6 fr., from Douch 2 fr.) in

^I'f^U lir- to the plateau of Mont Caroux (3585 ft.), an admirable point
of view, whence we survey the Pyrenees, the Mediterranean, and part
of the Alps.

Beyond Lamalou we continue to ascend the valley of the Orb.
— We join the main line from Clermont-Ferrand (Paris) to Beziers
(R. 38)'.— 118 M. Beda.rieux (buffet; p. 287).



11-2 Roidt 16. DECAZEVILLE. From C'apdenac

The Montpellier line follows the Beziers line to {12-V-j^ M. ) Fau-
geres (p. 287), and then turns to the E. — ISQi/o M. Gabian, a

village with a ruined cliateau.

1411/0 31. Paulhan (buffet). Line to Beziers, see p. 107.
From Paulhax to Lodeve. 18 M.. railway in 1 hr. (3 fr. 25, 2 fr. 10,

1 fr. 45 c). continuing the Beziers line through the valley of the He-
rault. — 71/2 M. Clermont-l'Herault (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 5177).
-with tanneries and cloth-factories. Church of tlie 13th-14th cent, and
ruined castle. To the S.W.. 6 M., is the small village of Moureze
(cafe-rest.), in a curious cirque of dolomites recalling Montpellier-le-Vieux
(p. 293). Carr. (4-8 pors. ; 20-30 fr.) should he ordered 12 hrs. in advance,
througii the station-master. — 101/2 M. i?a6i(??/,r, junction for Montpellier
(see p. 304). — 18 M. Lodeve (Hot. du Nord. du Commerce; pop. 7668),
the ancient Lideva. prettily situated, was governed hy viscounts, and then
by bishops, who down to 1789 had the right of coining money. It now
has several military clotli-factories. The "old Cathedral of Si-Fulcrand
dates from the 13th and 16th centuries.

1551/0 M. Monthazia-Gigean, junction for Cette (see p. 306)
and for Poussan (p. 107), has another station on the line from
Beziers to Montpellier via Meze (p. 107).

168 M. Montpellier (buffet; p. 298).

16. Prom Capdenac to Rodez and Beziers.
From Capdeuac to Rodoz. 11'

;, Z\I.. railway in 2-2i'.^lirs. :7 fv. 50.

5 fr. 5. 3 fr. 30 c.).— From Rodez to Beziers. 120 M.. in 5-73/4 hrs. (21 fr. 75.

14 fr. 70. 9 fr. 50 c).— From Pans to Beziers via Rodez. 533 M.. in

183/4 hrs. (96 fr. 25, 64 fr. 95. 42 fr. 35 c); via Bort (or Clermont-Ferrand)
and St-Flour. see pp. 258-260 and R. 38.

Capdenac, see p. 96. This line, interesting in part, ascends

the valley of the Lot.— 5 M. Sf-Martin-de-BouUlac. To the left

is the ruined Chateau de la Tlotpie-BouiUac.— 71/2 M. Panchot,
with zinc-works and a glass-factory. — 10 M. Viviez, with coal-

mines and zinc-woriis.

Brasch Line to (2 M.l Decazeville (Hot. de la Poste : pop. 14.144),

the centre of the coal-fields of tlie Aveyron, 38 sq, M. in area. Here and
at Firmi. 3 M. farther on. the coal, in" beds over 160 ft. thick, crops out
at places. \Yith the mines are connected smelting-works. blast-furnaces,

and foundries. The town owes its name to the Bt/c Decazes (1780-1860),

minister of Louis XYIII., the chief promoter of these works.

12 M. Aubin (Hot. du Cheval-Noir; pop. 9574), with coal and

iron mines and iron-works.— ISi/g M. Cransac (hotel; pop. 6651:),

with coal-mines, factories, and mineral springs.

To the S., 5 M., is the fine Chateau de Bournazel (I5th-16th cent.).

In the CoUines du Montet and des Fontaines, to the X.. coal-mines have
been on fire for centuries, with smoke and even flames issuing from them.
At Les Fontaines the fumes are utilized as a cure for rheumatism.

26^/^'M.Marcillac, connected with Decazeville by a mineral line.

To the S.E., 2 M.. is Pont-Jes-Bains. with sulphur-springs.— To the

X.W., 121/i M.. lies Conques (Hot. Ste-Foy), with an interesting Ro-
manesque abbey-church (11th cent.), containing an extremely valuable
collection of reliquaries and other treasures.



to B^&iers. RODEZ. 16. Route. I13

At (30 M.) Nuces we reach a high plateau. View to the left.

—

351/2 ^'I- Salles-la-Source (Hot. Ponhet; pop. 2185), a picturesque

village 2 M. to the left, with cascades and grottoes.

417^ M. Rodez.— ^M/fe^.-- Hotels. Hot. de France, 7 Place de la

Cite, R. from 2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3i/a, P. from 71/2 fr., omn. 30 c. ; Hot. de
VTJnivers. Boul. de Guizard, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr- ; Sot. Bineij,

7 Boul. Gambetta, R. 21/2-3, L. 21/2; I>- 3 fr. — Electric Tramway from
the station to the Palais de Justice, 25 c. — Post & Telegraph Office,

Place d'Armes. — Syndicat d'Initiative, Place de la Cite.

Rodez (pop. 15,386), the ancient capital of the Ruteni, and

later of the Rov£rgue, is the chief town of the department of the

Aveyron and the seat of a bishop. It lies on a hill (2075 ft.),

above the Aveyron, 1^4 M. from the station. The Av. Tarayre and

the Rue St-Cyrice, to the left, ascend to the boulevards round the

old town. Here we take the Boul. Belle-Isle to the right and pass

between the Graud-Seminaire and the small Square Monteil. Fine

view (indicator). The Boul. d'Estourmel leads thence, past the

Eveche, with its arcades and massive mediaeval tower, to the Place

d'Armes, with a statue of Samson.

The grand *Cathedral of Notre-Dame was built between

1277 and 1535. Like most churches in S. France, the exterior is

bare and severe. The W. front, flanked with two massive towers,

is without a portal, but is pierced with loop-holes. Above are a

flamboyant rose-window and a gallery in the same style, crowned

with a Renaissance pediment. The *Tower (1510-26), to the N. of

the apse, is square below and has three octagonal stories above,

which are lavishly decorated and are flanked with four turrets

bearing statues of the Evangelists. On the platform (view) is a

statue of the Virgin.
Note in the Interior the Renaissance gallery, at the beginning of the

nave; in the third cliapel on the right, a beautiful Gothic screen and a

tine Renaissance Holy Sepulchre; by the next chapel, in a Gothic niche,

an Agony of Christ; in the S. transept, the rood-loft (15th cent.); in the

choir, rich Gothic stalls; in the N. transept, the sumptuous organ-loft;

in the cliapels of the ambulatory, tombs of bishops since the middle ages;
Renaissance screen, in stone, on the right side; stately sacristy-door on
the left, whence the staircase of the tower ascends; altar-piece of the 6th

cent, in the apse-chapel.

The Rue Frayssinous, to the N., leads to the Place de la Cite,

in which rises a bronze statue of Mgr. Affre (1793-1848), Arch-

bishop of Paris. The Rue Neuve, to the right, leads to the Place

du Bourg, where an old house with a corner-tower is adorned with

an Annunciation. In the Place de I'Olmet, to the S.W., is the Re-

naissance Hotel d'ArmagnaCj also adorned with an Annunciation.

The Rue St-Ainans leads S.W. to the church of St-Amans, with a

Romanesque nave, restored in 1754. Its paintings, altars, and

tapestry relate to the history of the saint. The Rue d'Armagnac

descends to the boulevards near the Palais de Justice, which con-

tains a small Musee (Sun., 1-3). Fine view from the esplanade
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behind the Palais. The visitor is recommended to go S. from the

Palais de Justice by the Boiil. Laromiguiere, and to complete the

round of the boulevards from S. to E., enjoying several fine views,

and passing the Miisee Denys-Puech.
From Rodez to Castees (C'astd-naudary) via Albi, 81 M., railway

iu 41/4-5 hrs. (13 fr. 65. 9 fr. 85. 6 fr. 40 c.).— The line ascends rapidly,

with tine views to the left, and beyond (131/2 ^^0 Carcenac-Peyrates
descends (view to the right) to St-JIartial. After a tunnel we cross the
Viaur by the *Viaduc de Tanus, built by Bodin in 1896-1902 on the
cantilever system. The central span. 720 ft., is the widest in France.
--41 M. Carmaux (Hot. Mader; pop. 11,064) has coal-mines and glass-

works. The hospital-chapel at JfoJiesties. 41/2 M. to the X.W. (omn.),

contains an Entombment of 1490. by Bishop Louis I. d'Amboise (p. 98).

—

47 M. La DrecJie. At Lescure. VU -^I- to the S.E., is a priory-church of

the 11th cent., with a line portal. — SOi/., M. Alhi-Midi (p. 99). We cross the

Tarn, enjoying a splendid *View of the town. — 51 M. Albi-Orleans (p. 97).

—We enter the Seux valley, and, beyond (591/2 M.) Mozisqiiette, descend
the left bank of the Assoii. — 631/2 M. Lahoutarle. 3 M. from Realmont
(tramway), with its 16th cent, church. From Laboutarie a narrow-gauge
line runs" to Lavanr (21 M. : p. 108), via (8 M.) Granlhet (Hot. Clavel: pop.

7912). an industrial town on the Dadou. —We cross the Dadou. — 711/2 M.
Lautrec (pop. 2337), a decayed town on a hill, with a 15th cent, church
and remains of ramparts. — 81 M. Castres (p. 109).

From Rodez to Espalion (LagnioU. Entraygues), 251/2 M., railway in

11/2-31/4 hrs. (4 fr. 65, 3 fr. 10 c, 2 fr.). —We follow the Beziers line to Ber-
f?io?e«e (111/2 M. ; see below). —IS1/2 M. Bozozds {B.()\. Monjaux), in a very
picturesque 'site above the ravine of the Dourdou. — Xearing Espalion, we
enjoy fine views.— 251/2 M. Espalion (Hot. Moderne; pop. 3716), a pic-

turesque old town, with a chateau of 1572, lies in the deep valley of

the Lot, above which rise the picturesque ruined Chateaux de C'ahnont-

d'OU and de Roquelaure. The Hotel de Ville occupies a 15th cent, church,

with an octagonal tower. The 13th cent, bridge and the curious Ohapelle
de Perse (llth cent.), in the cemetery, should be noticed also. —Omnibuses
from Espalion to Lagniole (Chaudesaigues, St-Flour; p. 283), 15 M. to the

X.E., in 31/, hrs. (21/2 fr.), and io Entraygues {AxmlUc; p. 282), 17 M. to

the X.W., in 33/4 brs. (21/2 fr.). The latter passes (6 M.) the pretty little

town of Estaing. and then runs high above the river, a most picturesque

route.— In the opposite direction an attractive road leads from Espalion

to (151/2M.) St-Geniez-d' on (p. 284).

Beyond Rodez we ascend the valley of the Aveyron, through

a partly wooded district, with coal-mines.— 53 M. Bertholene,

junction for Espalion (see above), lies to the left, dominated by a

ruin.— 591/2 ^^- Lugans, with a chateau, to the left.

At (6972 ^0 Severac-le-Chdteau we join the direct line from

Paris to Beziers (p. 284).
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I

17. From Bayonne to San Sebasti^Q 117

j

From St-Jeau-de-Luz to the Ehiine, 118. — Fuenter-
rabia, Pefla del Aya, 119.

I

18. From Bayonne to Toulouse 120
I. From Bayonne to Pan 120

From Puyoo to St-Palais, to Mauleon, and to Oloron-
Ste-Marie, 121.

II. From Pan to Lourdes 125
III. From Lourdes to Toulouse 129

From Lannemezan to Arreau-Cadeac and to Ara-
gnouet, 130. — Encausse, 131. — From Carbonne to
Le Mas-d'Azil, 131.

19. From Pau to Oloron. Vallee d'Aspe 132
St-Christau, 132. — Lescun, Pic d'Anie, 133. — From
Urdos or Le Soraport to G-abas, 134.

20. Eaux-Bonnes, Eaux-Chaudes, and the Yallee d'Ossau 134
I. From Pau to Eaux-Bonnes and Eaux-Chaudes 134

II. Eaux-Bonnes 135
Excursions: Eaux-Cliaudes, Pics de Ger and de
Goupey, Lacs d'Anglas and d'Uzious, Grand-Pic de
Gabizos, Argeles, 137.

III. Eaux-Chaudes 138
Excursions : Grotto of Eaux-Chaudos, Gabas and
Bious-Artigues, Pic du Midi d'Ossau, Lac d'Artouste,
Baths of Panticosa, 138-140.

21. Cauterets and Environs 140
I. From Lourdes to Cauterets 140

St-Savin, Beaucens, 141.

11. Cauterets 141
III. Excursions from Cauterets 145

Col de Riou, Pic de Viscos, Monue, Lac Bleu, Caba-
liros, Lac de Gaube, 145. — Peguere, Valley of Mar-
cadaou, 146.— Pic de Balaitous, 147. — To Gavarnie
via the Refuge d'Ossoue, 147. — Pic de Cliabarrou,
Vignemale, Pics d'Araille and do la Scbe, 148. —
Valley of Lutour, Pic d'Ardiden. 149. — To Luz-St-
Sauveur and to Gedre, 149.

22. Luz, 8t-Sauveur, and Environs 150
I. From Lourdes to Luz and St-Sauvenv . . . 150

II. Luz and St-Sauveur 150
111. Excursions from Luz and St-Sauveur . . . 151

Pics de Viscos, de Bergons. de Nere, 151. —Cirque
deTroumouse, 152.— Vallee'd'Aure, Ciniue de Gavar-
nie, 153.— Brcche deTuquerouye, 154. --Mont Perdu, ^
Cylindre, Valley of Arazas, Breche de Roland, Col
du Taillon, 155. —Pic du Marbore. Pimcne. 15(i.

23. Bareges and Environs 156
I. From Lourdes to Bnreges 156

II. Bareges 157
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III. Excursions from Bareges 158
Pijcs de N6re, dn Midi de Bigorre, 158. — Lac Bleu,

Pic d'Ayre, Lac d'Orredon, Pic de Xeouvielle, 159.

—

ToBagneres-de-Bigorre via the Col duTonimalet, 159.

24. Bagneres-de-Bigorre and Environs 160

I. From Tarbes to Bagneres-de-Bigorre . . . 160

II. Bagneres-de-Bigorre 160

III. Excursions from Bagneres-de-Bigorre . . . 163
Monne, Pic de Montaigu, Lac Bleu, 163.— Lac de
Peyralade. Peue de Lheris, 164.— To Arreau over the

Coi d'Aspin, 164. — To Gripp and Lartigues, 164.

25. Bagneres-de-Luchon and Environs 165
j

I. From Montrejeau to Bagueres-de-Luchon . . 165
|

St-Bertrand-de-Commiuges, 165. !

II. Bagneres-de-Lucliou 166

III. Excursions from Luclion 168
Lac d'06, 168. —Port d'06, Portillon d'06, 169.—
Pics de Hourgade, de Cecire. de Mousegu, Moutne,
Pie d'Autenac, 170. — Superhagneres, Vallee du Lys,
Rue d'Enfer, 171. — Lac Vert, Pics de Bacanere, de
Burat, de Poujastou, Yallee d'Aran, 172. — Port de
Venasque, 173.— Port de la Picade, Col de la Glere,
174. — Pic de rEutecade, de Nethou, 175. — Pic Po-
sets, 176.

26. From Boussens (Toulouse or Tarbes) to Aulus via St-

Girons 176
j

From St-Girons to Foix, to Sentein, and to Tarascon,
j

177. -Pic du Montvalier, 177. — Couflens, 178.

27. From Toulouse to Foix, Tarascon, Ussat, and Ax . 178
!

From Pamiers to Moulin-Xouf, 179. — From Foix to I

Massat and to Quillan, 180. — From Tarascon to Vic-
|

dessos, 180.— Pics Saquet, de St-Barthelemy, and do
Tarbezou, Pay de Carlitte, 182. — From Ax to Quillan

{

and to Bourg-Madame, 182; to Andorra, 183. --From i

Andorra to La Seo-de-Urgel, 184.

28. From Carcassonne to Perpignan via Quillan . . . 184 1

Rennes-les-Bains, 184. — From Quillan to Mont-Louis,
185. —From Asat to Ax, 186.

,

29. The Eastern Pyrenees 187
j

I. From Narbonne to Perpignan 187 1

From Perpignan to Canet, to Le Barearos, and to i

Port-Bou, 189.
,

II. From Perpignan to Bourg-Madame .... 190
I

Baths of Molitg, 190. - Le Yernet, 191. — Canigou, 192.
;— From Mcnt-Louis to Bourg-Madame and to Xuria,
|

193.- Llivia, Puigmal, 194. — From Puycerda to
j

Ripoll, 194. — From Bourg-Madame to Les Escaldes,
194. — Puy de Carlitte, 195.

;

III. From Perpignan to Amelie-les-Bains, Aries-

sur-Tech, and La Preste 195 \

I

Col du Perthus, 195.— From Arles-sur-Tech to St-

j

Laurent-de-Cerdans and Coustouges. 197.— Pla Guil-

I

lem, 197. — Col d'Ares, Pic de Costabonne, 198.
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17. Prom Bayonne to San Sebastian.
331/2 M. Railwat in 1 hr. 50 to 3 hrs. 10 min. (6 fr. 25, 4 fr. 40, 2 fr.

75 c.)- To Irun, where we change carriages, 231/2 M. (4 fr. 25, 2 fr. 90,
1 fr. 90 c). Eestaurant-car to In'm by morning-express (see p. xvi). Inter-
esting scenery. The customs-examination at Iriin is severe.— French
money is accepted at San Sebastian, the franc and centime corresponding
to the Spanish peseta and centivio, but as the French is worth slightly more
than the Spanish, it is advisable to obtain a supply of the latter at Bayonne
or at the station of Hendaye or Irun ('cambio de monedas'). — For details
of this route beyond Hendaye, see Baedeker's Spain & Portugal.

Motor-omn. from Biarritz to St-Jean-de-Luz, San Sebastian, and
Bilbao, see p. 70.— Electric tramway from Biarritz to St-Jean-de-Luz
under construction; its prolongation to Hendaye and Irun is to be opened
early in 1914.

From Bayoune to (6 M.) La Negresse, see p. 67. To the left

rise the Pyreaees. — At (9^2 ^I-) Biclart we have a fine view of

the sea.— 101/2 M. Guethary (Hot. de la Plage, K. from 3, L. 31/2,

D. 4 fr. ; Hot. Juzan), with sea-baths. The hills dominated by the

Rhune (p. 118) appear to the left. Behind us, to the right, is Biarritz.

141/2 M. St-Jean-de-Luz.— Hotels. On the beach, first-class:

*Golf-H6tel Beau-Rivage, R. from 5, with bath from 10, B. I1/2, L. 4,
D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12, omn. ^/^ fr. ; '^Modern Hotel, R. from 5,

L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12, omn. 1/2 fr.; *Gr.-H6t. d'Angleterjr.
& de la Plage, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 31/0, D. 5, P. from 10, omn. 1/2 fr.

— In the town: Hot. de la Poste, 85 Rue Gramhetta, R. from 2, L. 3,
D. 31/2, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. de la Cote-Basque. 10 Rue Tourasse, R. 3,
L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. de Paris, opposite the station, R. from 2V->,
L. 21/21 E>. 3, P. from 7 fr. : Hot. du Commerce, Boul. des Pyrenees, R.
from 21/4, L. or D. 21/2, P. from 71/4 fr.

Pensions. Hot.-Pens. Bel-Air (Miss Stewart), Villa les Goellands (in

summer) and Villa Sangomar (in winter), P. from 8 fr. ; Villa deV Octav.
Rue des Bains, P. from 5 fr.— Also Furnished Houses.

Post & Telegraph Office, Rue Tourasse. — Sea Baths. Bathing-
box 35, costume 20, towel 5 c. — Casino. Adm. 1 fr., whole day I1/2 fr.

English Church (Nativity), 11 Rue Gambetta; services at 8, 10.30,
and 3.30; chaplain. Yen. C.A. Gillmore. — English Library and Club.

Ctolf Clubs. Nivelle (18 holes) and St-Jean-de-Luz (9 holes).

St-Jean-de-Luz (pop. 5372), a quiet little seaport and favourite

bathing-resort (many English, visitors), lies on a bay at the mouth
of the Nivelle. From the 14th to the middle of the 17th cent., the

town throve, having at one time 12,000 inhabitants, chiefly engaged
in the Avhale-fishery of the Bay of Biscay and the cod-fishery off

Newfoundland. But with the disappearance of the -whale from the

bay, the loss of Newfoundland, and the inroads of the sea, the place

rapidly declined.

The Av. de la Gare leads to the Place Louis XIV, with the

Maison Louis XIV {on the left), a curious 16th cent, edifice, \rith

two square corbelled towers. Louis XIV. lodged here at the time
of his marriage with the Infanta Maria Theresa in 1660. Farther
on, to the left, on the quay, is the Maison de VInfante (17th cent.),

with square towers at the corners, and double arcades on the fagade.

From the Place Louis XIY the Rue Gambelta leads to the church
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of St-Jean (13th cent.). Like all Basque cliurches it has galleries

ffir the men, the scats in the nave being reserved for women. In

I he apse is a large gilded reredos, in the Spanish fashion.

The Kue Garat leads past the v-hurch to the beach, with the

Casino and the EfabUssement des Bains on the right. The bay,

almost circular in shape, partly enclosed by a breakwater and piers,

is bounded on the right by the Pointe Ste-Barbe, and on the left by

the little harbour of Socoa. Beyond the bathing-beacli the coast-

promenade goes on to the Pointe Ste-Barbe (Y4hr. ; view).

Ciboure, a quaint Basque suburb, is reached by the Pont de

Ciboure, to the left as we leave the station. Thence we may walk

along the harbour, to the right, to the breakwater of Socoa. Wc
may diverge to the left and climb (10 min.) the Colline de Borda-
(jain i265 ft.), with ruins and a splendid view.

From St-Jeak-de-Luz to the Ehune, an interesting excursion of 7 lirs.,

there and back. A shadeless road leads S.E.. up the valley of the Nivelle,

to Ascain (41/2 M. ; omn. : Rest, a la Ehune, plain but good), where a guide
and mule are obtained (10 fr.). Beyond the village we ascend to the right

for 1/2 hr., by a stony path on the N. slope of the hill; then, to the right,

we reach (i/o hr.) a chalet, and beyond (1 hr.) a second chalet we mount
in zigzags to" the top. La Ilh.une, or Larrune (2955 ft.), the only im-
portant mountain at the W. end of the Pyrenees, on the Spanish frontier,

affords a splendid *View (indicator) of the valleys on the N."W.. and ("W.

to E.) of the mountains from the Peiia del Aya to the Pic du Midi de
Bigorre (p. 158). The Ehune, once fortified, was the object of desperate

fights in 1813, at the close of the Peninsular War.

We cross the Xivelle. — loi/., M. Urrugne (pop. 334:8) has a

fine 15th cent, church, with a sundial bearing the inscription, 'vul-

nerant omnes, ultima necat'. A tunnel soon takes us into the valley

of the Bidassoa, where we have a superb view.

22 M. 'Kenda.ye.— Buffet, good. L. 3. D. 31/, fr. —Hotels. In the

town: Hot. de France & cV Angleterre, E. from 31/21 B. I1/4. L. 31/2, C 4,

P. from 10. omn. s/jfr.. Hot. Imatz, E. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 31/0, D. 4 (wine extra),

P. from id. omn. 1 fr.. both verv fair. On the beach : Gr.-Hot. Eskualdi/na,
new. R. from 8, B. IVi, L. 5, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 15, omn. 2fr.;

Hot. Ccitinental & de'la Plage, E. from 5, B. li/.^. L. 31/2- !>• » (wine

extra). P. from 12i/.>, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Central, E. from 31/2, B. 1, L. 31/2,

D. 4, P. from 9 fr.

Electric Tramway from the station to the town (10 c.) and to the

beach (25 c); to Biarritz and Iriin, see p. 117.— Cab to the town 1-2 fr.,

to the beach 2-21/2 fr.— Golf Course in the Pare d'Abbadia.

Hendaye, Span. Hendaya (pop. 4213), is a large village, the

last in France, 1/2 ^I- from the station. A famous liqueur is distilled

here. The Sea Baths are 1^4 ^I- distant, at the mouth of the

Bidassoa. On the excellent beach is the Casino, a building in the

Moorish style. The city of Paris has a sanatorium here for children.

*ExcrRSioN to Fuexterrabia (3-4 hrs.). It is more interesting to

cross the Bidassoa by boat (2 fr. each pers., there and back) than to go by
tramway from Iran. The Bidassoa is here 1/2 M. wide (on the right is the

house of Pierre Loti). and 21/0 M. at its mouth a little way off, near the

Cap dii Figider (Span. Cabo de Higuer) in Spain. For 91/2 M. the river
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is the boundary between Fiance and Spain. Higher up, above tlie Pont
International (see below), is the lie des Faisans or de la Conference, on
which interviews between rulers and envoys of France and .Spain have
taken place, and where tlie Treaty of the Pyrenees was concluded in 1659.

Fuentorrabia, Fr. Funtarabie (Hot. Concha and Hot. Penon Canta-
brico, on the beacli : Hot. Mouriscot, near the Puerta Mayor, L. 3 fr.

;

pop. 5)33), a curious little Basque town, with narrow streets and massive
liouses adorned with armorial bearings, iron balconies, and overhanging
eaA^es, is typically Spanish. Once a frontier-fortress, it has sustained
many a siege. From the Puerta Mayor, a small gateway, the Calle
Mayor, or main street, ascends to the castle and the church. The Grothic

church has a Renaissance portal and a 17th cent, tower. The interior is

lavishly decorated, as in most Spanish churches. The castle, or Palacio
de Carlos v.. is partly in ruins (adm. 25 c.); the oldest part dates from
the 12th century. Picturesque court and tine view from the terrace. We
may visit also the Calle de las Tiendas, opposite the church-tower; the
Calle Fampinof, to the left, with timber-built houses; and the Calle de
Fuentes y Gorgot, which leads back to the Calle Mayor. On 8th Sept. a

popular festival is held here in memory of the raising of tiie siege laid

by the (xraud Conde in 1638. The Fuerte de (.TiindAtlupe is occupied by
a small garrison. —We may then follow the crest of the bare hill of Jaiz-
quibel (1805 ft.), which is crowned with a ruinous fort, and descend (view)
to Pasajes (see below).

We cross the Pout International de la Bidassoa (the Spanish

frontier) and enter the Basque province of Guipilzcoa (p. 65).

23Y2M. Iriin (Buffet; Palace Hotel, Casino de la Amistad, both

good; Hot. de Bayoune, near the station, plain; tramway to the

town 10 c, to Fuenterrabia 25 c; pop. 5799), charmingly situated,

1/2 M. from the station, is comparatively modern. The church of

Nuestra Senoi'a del JimcaL a plain Renaissance edifice, contains

a lavishly decorated reredos. The Casa Conslstorial (town-hall)

dates from the 17th century. Fine view from the Ermita de San
Afarcial, near the town.— Luggage is examined here. Carriages

are changed, as the gauge of the Spanish lines is a foot broader
than that of the French. Travellers from Spain change at Hendaye.

Electric tramway to Biarritz, see p. 117.
The Pena del Aya or Haya, Fr. Trois-Cotironnes, a famous point

of view, is ascended in 3-4 hrs. from Iriin. Riding is practicable to the
(21/2 hrs.) Pradera de Laisanyu. We then mount the second highest peak
(2680 ft.). The highest (2730 ft.) is fit for good climbers only.

The train next traverses a pretty, undulatiug region, studded
with farms and fruit-trees.— 30 M. Lezo-Eenteria. We cross the

Oyarzun and soon reach the superb Bay of Pasajes, which is so

shut in as to resemble a lake.

31 M. Pasajes, Fr. Les Passages (pop. 789), once a busy
port of the Basque whalers in the 16th-18th cent., is now a small

trading village. The station is in the modern quarter of Ancho,
adjoining which is the old quarter of San Pedro (Fonda del Puerto,

P. 5 fr.). On the right bank of the Oyarzun lies San Juan (Rest.

Camara), where Victor Hugo resided in 1843. His house has been
converted into a museum.

On the left lies Alza; on the right rises Monte Ulia (755 ft.),

and at its foot is Barrio de Gr-'s, a suburb of San Sebastian.
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331/2 ^^- San Sebastian.—Hotels (charges raised from July to

Sept.). Hot. Continental (PL a; F, 3). Hot. Maria Cristina (PI. i; Gr, 2),

Hot. du Palais (PI. b ; F, 3), at these B. 2, L. 6, D. 7-8 pesetas (wine
extra); Hot. de Londres & d'Angleterre (PI. c; F, 3); Hot. Ezcurra (PI. d;

G, 2). — Hot. Reina Victoria (PI. g; G, 3), Hot. de France (PI. e; G, 2),

Hot. Ursida, Hot. de Paris, at these B. I-I^/q, L. 4, D. 5 p. ; Family Hotel
(PI. h; F, 3); Hot. Berdejo (PI. f ; G, 3), commercial; etc.

Restaurants. At the Casino, L. 6, D. 8 p. (wine extra); Bourdette,
35 Av. de la Libertad, L. 31/2? D. 4 p. ; tlrhana. Plaza de Guipiizcoa.

Cabs (coches de punto). Per drive I-IV2, P^i" bour 2 p.; with two
horses 1-2 and 3 p. ; outside the town, according to bargain. — Motor Cabs
(coches automoviles), IV4 P- per km., then 10 e. for each 100 m.

Electric Tramways through the town and to the suburbs.
Post Office ifiorreo; PL F, 2), Plaza de Guipiizcoa.

—

Telegraph
Office (PL G, 3), corner of Calle de San Martin and Calle Guetaria.

Casixo (PL F. 2), with restaurant, concerts, etc. ; adm. till 7 p.m.
1 p., later IVo p. — Bull Fights in the Plaza de Toros (PL H, 1) on Sun.
from Aug. 1st to Sept. 15th.

Sea Baths. Pluya de Barcos (PL E, F, 4; 25-50 c); Playa del Antigtio
(PL B, C, 3, 4); Playa de la Zurriola (PL G, 1, 2).—Warm Baths at the

Casino, at Perla del Oceano (PL E, 4), and at 13 Calle de San Juan.
British Vice-Coxsul, A. Budd, 5 Calle de Prim. — Sindicato de

Ikiciativa, 14 Alameda.

San Sebastian (pop. 43,000), beautifully situated, is the sum-

mer-residence of the royal family and most fashionable seaside

resort in Spain. The Old Town, rebuilt since it was burned down
by the British under Gen. Graham in 1813, lies between the mouth
of the Urumea and the ^Concha, at the base of Monte Urgidl

(445 ft.). On the latter, crowned with a castle, are the graves of

the British officers who fell in 1813 and 1836. The Plaza de la

Constitucion (PL F, 2) has arcaded houses with balconies. The

Gothic church of San Vicente (PI. F, 1), of 1507, has a curious

W. porch. The church of Santa Maria (PI. E, F, 2), in the baroque

style (1743-64), has a handsome fagade.

The focus of the New Town is the Plaza de Guipiizcoa (PI.

F, 2), with the stately Palacio de la Diputacion. On the E. side

of the Concha is the Casino (PI. F, 2). Near the W. end of the Concha

rises the Palacio de Miramar (PI. C, 4), built by the English

architect Selden Woruum in 1889-93 for the royal family.— For

further details, see Baedeker''s Spain & Pm^tugal.

18. From Bayonne to Toulouse.
200 M. Railway in 7 hrs. 10 or 7 hrs. 20 min. (36 fr. 15, 24 fr. 45, 15 fr.

95 c). Tickets allow 24 hrs.' break of journey at Pau or Lourdes.

I. From Bayonne to Pau.
60 M. Railway in 2-4 hrs. (11 fr. 95 c, 8 fr., 5 fr. 20 c.).— This route

is too far from the Pyrenees to be interesting.

Bayonne, see p. 65. The line crosses the Adour, and, farther

on, ascends its valley.— On a hill to the right is the ruined castle

of Guiche (13th cent.). We cross the Bidouze and enter the valley



'Buaijuas-sdrtsrBj -TjjdxjJo^aTV -*' ^""Jth JJT/"^Tfirn .:,



120 Roide r SAN SEBASTIAN.



Map, p. 117. OKTHEZ. is. Routt. \2\

of the Gave cle Pau.— 21 M. Peyrehorade (Hot. Baucon; pop,

2568), with the ruius of a 15th cent, castle. To the right of the

flave d'Oloron rises the Pic d'Auie (p. 133).

3172 ^^- Puyoo (BuflFet; Hot. de la Gare), junction for Dax (see

p. 64), is ^4 ^- ^^om the village ot Bellacq, with its ruined castle,

on the left bank of the river.

From Puyoo to St-Palais (St-Jean-Pied-de-Port), ISVa M., railway
in 1 hr. 10 min. (3 fr. 35, 2 fr. 25, 1 fr. 50 c.). — 5 M. Salies-de-B6arn
(Gr.-H6t. dn Pare, P. from 9 fr.; Gr.-Hot. de France & d'Angleterre, P.

from 7 fr.; Gr.-Hot. Bellevue, Hot. du Chateau, Hot. do la Paix, Gr.-Hot.
de Paris; pop. 5857) owes its name to its salt-springs, utilized since the

16th century. The water, which is cold, is used for bathing all the year
round. — The line ascends the valley of the Gave d'Oloron. — 12^1^ M.
Avteviclle, junction for Mauleon (see below). — IS^/.^ M. (Si- Patois (Hot. de
la Paix, du Trinquet), a small town on the Bido uze. Omn. daily in 41/4 hrs.

(31/2 fr.) to (191/2 M.) St-Jean-Pied-de-Port (p. 70).

From Puyoo to Mauleox, 28^/2 M., railway in 11/4-1^/2 hr. (5 fr. 15,

3 fr. 50, 2 fr. 25 c.). — To (121/2 M.) Atdevielle, see above. — 15 M. Sauve-
terre-de-B6arn (Hot. Rospido), a small town with remains of a chateau
of the 12th-13th cent., a church (Romanesque and Gothic), and a ruined
bridge with a tower of defence (14th cent.). Splendid view of the Pyre-
nees.— 28V2 M. Maiil^on. (Hot. Bidegain, Saubidet; pop. 4827), pictur-

esquely situated on the Saison, with a ruined castle.

From Puyoo to Oloron-Ste-Marie via Mauleon or ?7avarrenx. —
(1) To MauUon, see above. Then narrow-gauge line (271/2 M., in

2-^/.i
hrs.)

via (81/2M.) Tardets-Sorhoh/fi (Hot. Soule, ties Voyageurs), a typical Basque
village. From Larran, lOi/^ M. from Tardets, the Pic d'Orhij (6615 ft.;

view) may be ascended in 31/, hrs. —(2) To Sauveterre, see above. Then
narrow-gauge line (25 M., in 21/3 hrs.) through the valley of the Gave
d'Oloron, via (11 M.) Navarrenx (Hot. de France, du Commerce). — Oloron-
Ste-Marie, see p. 132.

Beyond (36 M.) Baigts the valley becomes picturesque.— 41 M.
Orthez (Hot. de la Belle-Hotesse; pop. 6247), prettily situated on

the right bank of the Gave de Pau, was a centre of Calvinism in

the 16th cent., under the protection of Jeanne d'Albret (p. 123).

One-fourth of the inhabitants are still Protestants. The only sights

are the mediaeval Bridge across the Gave, and the Tour de Mon-
cade, a relic of the chateau of the Viscounts of Beam. Marshal
Soult was defeated here by Wellington in 1814.

Steam-tramwaj' to Aire, see p. 63.

6172^^- Lescar (hotel; pop. I486) was important in the 16th

cent., and long the seat of a bishop. The Cathedral is of the 12th

and 16th cent., the castle of the 14th. Lescar is perhaps the ancient

Beueharnum, which gave its name to the old province of Beam.—
66 M. Pau (buffet, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.) is seen to the left.

Pau.

Hotels. The first three are superbly situated. *Hdt. de France
(PI. b; D, 4), Place Royale, R. from 6, B. I1/2-2, L. 5, D. 6 (wine extra),

P. from 18 fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. Gassion (PI. a; D, 4), Boul. des Pyrenees, R.
from 5, B. iVa, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 121/^, oniu. 1 fr. ; *Gr.-
Hot. dn Palais & Beau-S<ijour (PI. c; E, 4), 1 Boul. des Pyr^n^es, R.
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from 4, B. IV2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 11, omn. 1 fr. ; Hotel Continental, corner
of Eue Samonzet and Rue de la Nouvelle-Halle, to be opened early in

1914, R. from 4. B. li/o. L. 31/:;. D. 4, P. from 10. omn. 1 fr. ; Grand-Hotel
(PL e; D, 2), 4 Eue 6'Quin; Gr.-H6t. de la PaLv (PI. d; D, 4), 9 Place
Rovale. good. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4. P. from 10, omn. V2 fr. ; Hot.
Bristol (PI. 0; E. 3), 3 Rue Gambetta. R. from 3, B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/2- P-

from 9 fr. ; Hot. de Londres (PI. k; C, 2), Av. Gaston-Phoebus. The fore-

going are suitable for families wintering at Pan. — "^Hot. de la Poste (PI. f

:

b, 3), Place de Gramout, R. from 3, B. I1/4: L. 31/2, D. 4. P. from 10. omn.'

1/2 fr.; Hot. du Commerce (PI. g; I). 4). 9 Rue de la Prefecture, R. from
21/2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.; Hot. de V Europe & Modeme (PI. h; D, 4),

9 Place de la Halle. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3. D. 31/2, P- from 9 fr. : Hot.
Henri IF (PI. i ; E. 3). 12 Place de la Halle, good, R. from 2V-, B. 1, L. 2i/...

D. 3. P. from 9, omn. 3/4 fr. : Hot. des Pyrenees (PI. j ; D, 4), 1 Place de
la Halle. L. 21/2- D- 3. P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de la Poynme-d' Or {Fl. 1; E. 3),

11 Rue de la Xouvelie-Halle, plain but good. R. 2. L. or D. 2, P. 6 fr.

Pensions. Villa Mirador (Hattersley; PI. m, C 2). 17 Rue de Bor-
deaux. Colbert (PI. n ; D, 2), 1 Rue Manescau. at both P. from 8 fr.

Furnished Apartments and Villas, 400-10.000 fr. for the season.

Restaurants. At the hotels; *Iie$t. du Palais-d^ Hirer (p. 125). L. 5,

D. 6 fr. (wine extra).

Cabs. For more than 2 pers. With one horse
jj
With two horses

with one horse, same fare as -p.
,

9-12
j

12-7 ''
-p. .

j

9-12 12-7

for two horses.
|

^
\

p.m.
\
a.m.

|}
^

|
a.m. p.m.

Per drive within octroi-limits
i

„ ofSkm.fromtheHalle
j

11/4

„ hour, within radius of 3 km.
Tramways. .1. From the Croix-du-Prince (PL B, 5) to the Bonl.

Gmllemin (bevoud PL G. 2); 2. From the Halle (PL D, 3, 4) to the Boide
de Bordeaux (beyond PL C, 1); 3. From the Station (PL D, 4) to the
Halle (PL D. 3. 4). Fare per section 10 c, with transfer 15 c. — Funicular
from the station to the Place Royale, 10 c. ; return 15 c.

Garages. J. Pommes, 24 Rue de la Nouvelle-Halle; Labesque &
Lajjlle, 2 Place Gramont; Cavssat-Claverie, 17 Rue du Lycee; J. A^yprato.
16 Eue Montpensier.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL E, 3), Cours Bosquet and Rue Gambetta.
Casino. Palais d' Hirer {VI. E, F. 4), Pare Beaumont (p. 125). with

restaurant, theatre, card-rooms, etc. (adm. 1 fr. in winter, 1/2^1". in summer).
— Clubs. Cercle Anglais (PL D, 4), Place Royale; Cercle de V Union,
Place Royale; Cercle yational, Place de la Halle.

Banks. Credit Lyonyiais. 1 Place Royale; Comptoir d'Escomjyte.
18 Place de la Halle; Societe Generale. 12 Eue Gambetta.

Baths. Bernata. 15 Rue d'Orleans; Cristofenie, 10 Rue Alexandre-
Taylor: Guigne. 1 Place Mnlot.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 5 Rue Gambetta.
Sport. Horse Races, in winter; race-course (beyond PL C, 1), 21/2 M.

to the N. — Aviation, see p. 125.— Tennis Court (PL F, 3), Pare Beau-
mont. —Cz/du^y Track (PL E, 4),- Pare de la Gare.— Cricket, Lawn
Tennis, Polo. Golf (18 holes), and Pigeon Shooting, in the Plaine de
Billere (p. 124); apply at the Cercle Anglais.— Fox Hunting, organized
by the English colony.

Anglican Churches. St. Andrew' s {V\. i^; D, 2), Rue O'Quin; ser-

vices (Sept. -June) at 8.15. 10.30, 11, and 5.80; chaplain. Rev. R. Acland-
Troyte.— Christ Church (PL 2; D, 3), Rue Serviez; services at 8.30. 11,

and'5.30; chaplain. Rev. L. H. Nicholl.— Holy Trinity (PL 3; D, 2), Rue
de I'Edit-de-Kantes; services at 8.30. 11, and 3; chaplain. Rev. W. Neville.
— Scottish Presbyterian Church (PL 5; D, 2), Rue O'Quin; services at

11 and 2.30; minister. Rev. A. F. Buscarlet.
British Vice-Consul, H. T. H. Hewetson, 2 Boul. des Pyrenees

(office-hours 10-12). — English Reading Room, 4-6 Rue Montpensier.
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Pau (670 ft.; poj). 87,.l49j, the old capital of Bear/i, now that

of tlie department of the Basses-Pyrenees, iu a splendid site on

the right bank of the Gave de Pau, has a delightful climate which
makes it a favourite winter resort (Oct.-April).

The mean temperature is 43^ in winter and 56*^ for the whole year,
lower than that of Hyeres, Cannes, Mentone, and Nice, to which, how-
ever, Pau is superior iu its freedom from wind, and in the equability of

its climate. Life at Pau is quieter than at Nice, and it is therefore a

more suitable place for invalids, and especially for nervous patients.

Pau sprang- up round a castle of the Viscounts of Beam, built about
the 10th cent., and rebuilt by Gaston Phoebus (13.81-91), and the town
became tlie capital of their dominions in 1460. It attained great import-
ance when its seigneur, Francois Phoebus, was made King of Navarre
in 1479, and still greater in 1527, when his third successor Henri d'Albret
married Margaret of Valois. sister of Francis I. of France. This charming
and witty princess held a brilliant court, at which the Calvinists were
well received. The successors of Henri and Margaret were Antoine de
Bourbon and Jeanne d'All)ret, under whom and their son, later Henri IV.
of France, Pau attained the zenitli of its prosperity. Jeanne d'Albret was
no ordinary woman; she had 'Fame entiere aux choses viriles'. and is

said to have sung a Bearuaise song at the birth of her son, in order that
lie might be 'ni pleureur ni rechigne'. Antoine on his part carried off

the infant to rub his lips with garlic, and to make him taste the Ju-
rangon wine. Jeanne had become a Calvinist, as was her son up to his
accession to the throne of France (1592); the Beam therefore had to suifer
during the Religious Wars. Under Henri IV., and during the regency of his
sister Catherine, the Calviiiistic worship was maintained, but Louis XIII.
]>ut a)i end to the claims of the Estates of Beam by annexing tlie country
ill 1620. Pau was the birthplace of Marshal Ciassiou (1609-47) and of

Bernadotte (1764-1844), King of Sweden.

The station (PL D, 4) is at the foot of the plateau on which the

town lies. Carriages make a long round, but we may ascend by
the funicular (p. 122) or by a zigzag path to the spacious Place
Royale (PI. D, 4), bordered with tine buildings, and adorned with

a maible statue of Henri IV. From each side of the square runs the

Boulevard des Pyrenees, noted for the superb ''''^Panorama
it affords of the valley of the Gave and the Pyrenees.

The plain is charmingly enlivened with villages and villas. The
large building in the middle is the stud-farm of Gelos. Beyond it are
vine-clad and wooded hills, backed by the majestic Pyrenees, a chain
60 M. in length. The most conspicuous peak is the Pic du Midi d'Ossau
(p. 139), in reality two peaks, 9465 ft. and 9155 ft. in height, presenting
a bolder appearance than the others towards the right. On the left, near
the other end, rises the conical Pic du Midi de Bigorre (9440 ft.; p. 158),
and near the centre is the cirque of the Vignemale, with its glacier
(10,820 ft.

; p. 148).

AVe follow the Boul. des Pyrenees, AV. from the Place Royale,

passing behind the modern church of St-Martin (PI. D, 4). ^

The *Castle (PI. C, 4), rebuilt in the 14th cent., but altered

since, and restored in the 19th, rises at the W. end of the town.

It has the form of an irregular pentagon with six square towers.

We enter by a stone bridge, substituted under Louis XV. for the

old drawbridge. The moat is filled up and planted with fine trees

To the left is the Chapel (1840). The Portico, farther on, dates
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from 1SJ9-G4. Ou ihe left of it is tiie Tour de Gaston- Ph/eb us,

or donjou, 115 ft. high; to the right, the Tour Neuve, built under

Napoleon III., and the Tour Montauzet ('Moute-Oiseau'), so called

because, in case of siege, the defenders ascended by ladders which

the}^ drew up after them. The other towers, at the end, are the

Tour Bilhere. to the right, the Tour Mazeres to the left, and near

the latter the Tour Louis-Philippe.— The interesting S. facade of

the Cour d'Honneur, with its tasteful dormer-windows, dates from

the Renaissance. (Adm. in summer 10-5, in winter 11-4; a guide

shows visitors round ; entrance at the end of the court.)

Grockd Floor. Salle des Gardes. Antique vaulting; modern fur-

niture; paintings. — Salle a Mange?' des Ofjiciers. Vaulting; two old

buifets; statues of Henri IV. and Sully; Sevres vase. — Salle a Manger
des Souverains, successively Salle d'Armes, Salle des Etats de Beam, and
a stable (1793). Flemish tapestry (16th cent.), from the Chateau de Madrid
at Paris, with hunting-scenes under Francis I. ; Gobelins tapestry at the

corners; good statue of Henri IV.. bj" Francheville (1625); Louis XIV.
clock. — Grand Staircase, an interesting Renaissance work.

First Floor. Salle d'Attente. Fine Gobelins tapestry; table of Fran-
cis I., with slab of Pyrenean marble.— Salon de Reception, where six

Catholic nobles of Beam were massacred by order of Montgomery, general
of Jeanne d'Albret. Flemish tapestry (continuation of hunting-scenes on
ground-floor); I6th cent, table, and casket with medallion of Henri IV.

(1607); table inlaid with Swedish porphyry and agate, presented by Berna-
dotte ; three Sevres vases: on the chimney-piece, two Chinese vases (15th

cent.) and a Louis XIV. clock. — Salon de Famille. Gobelins tapestry (17th

cent.); table of Swedish rose-porphyry, gift of Bernadotte. — Lharahre a
Coucher dii Souverain. Fine chimney-piece; Flemish tapestry(16th cent.);

statue of Henri IV. when a child; Gothic arm-chair and chest ; fine chest

from Jerusalem (14th cent.). — Boudoir de la Reine. Gobelins tapestry

(1785). — Chambre a Coucher de la Reine. Antique furniture; superb Ee-
naissance cabinet; Francois I. and Henri IV. in Sevres porcelain.

Secoxd Floor (S. Side). Rooms I-III. Gobelins and Flemish tap-

estry; two chests of Henri II. and one of Francis I.; wardrobe of

Louis XIII.; bronze fire-dogs (16th cent.).

—

Bedroovi of Henri IV., said

to be that in which he was born, 14th Dec, 1553; his cradle, made of

a tortoise-shell; Brussels tapestry; antique bed, with 74 medallions and
portrait-busts, and 12 small figures; crystal chandelier of Francis I.;

Gothic chest, on which is a statuette of 'Crillon. comrade of Henri IV.

:

equestrian bas-relief of Henri IV. — Chamber of Jeanne d'Albret. Gobelins
tapestry; bed of 1562.

—

Corridor. Four *Flemish tapestries (15th cent.).

We descend by the arch to the right of the donjon. On this

side (S.), lower down, is the ruined Tour de la Monnaie. On the

terrace behind the castle is a statue of Gaston Phoebus. A bridge

across the Rue Marca leads thence to the Basse-Plante (PI. C, 3,

4), connected by a footbridge with the charming Pare National.

At the W. end of the latter begins the Plaine de Billei^e (beyond

PI. A, 3; comp. p. 122).

Returning to the Rue Marca, we turn to the right at its N. end

to the Rue Bernadotte, at Xo. 5 in which Bernadotte was born. At
the E. end of this street rises the modern church of St-Jacques
(PI. D. 3). Adjacent is the Palais de Justice (1847-55). In the

Place Duplaa is a statue of Gen. BourbaJci (1816-97). The Rue
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Serviez, to the E. of tlie Palais, leads 8.E. to the Place de la Halle,

whence the Rue de la Nouvelle-Halle and Cours Bosquet lead N.E.

to the Musee (PL E, 3; Sun. and Thurs., 12 to 4 or 5; at other

times on application).

Ground Floor. Casts from the autique; modern sculptures and casts.
— Staircase: Kiss of Judas and Mount of Olives, reliefs in wood from a

Spanish church (1602).

First Floor. Eoom I, to the left. Right, 87. Van der Heist, Portr.
of a woman; 106. Mca'otta, Preaching of John the Baptist; 163. Zurharan,
Mitred abbot; Rubens f^j, 130. Death of Hector, 129. Thetis demanding
arms for Achilles from Vulcan; 15. Moretto, Portrait; 142. Teniers the

Elder. Landscape; 93. Joj'daeiis, Woman with a ewer; 152. Vernet, Sea-

piece; 115. Oudri/, Stag-hunt; 89. Hoet the Elder. The golden calf; 122.

Rigaud, Lute-player; *147. De Troij, Mme. de Miramion (d. 1696); 118.

Bassano, Christ with the reed. In the centre, sculptures. — Room II.

Etchings, drawings, and water-colours; medals. — Room III, on the other
side of the staircase. Modern pictures. Right, 4i. Deveria. Birth of

Henri IV.; Fantin-Latour, Poet's dream; 121. Ribot, Good Samaritan;
29. Capdevielle, Wedding at Laruns; Degas, *Cotton warehouse at Xew
Orleans (1873); 55. Duez, St. Francis of Assisi; 123. Roll, Vendor of vege-
tables; 58. Falgui'ere, Magdalene. In the centre, sculptures. — Room IV.
50. Deveria, Reception of Columbus (sketch) ; 108. H. Merle, Assassination
of Henri III. Glass-case in centre, miniatures, medals, faience. — Room V.
47. Deveria, Portr. of his daughter; 98. J. P. Laurens, Lawyer of the 14th
<;eut. ; 111. Milliii du Perrenx, Chateau of Pau (1822); 141. Alf. Smith,
Place de la Concorde; Dehat-Ponsan, The furrow. — Rooms VI & VII.
iVatural history collection; Pyreueau costumes, weapons, and reliefs.

A little S.E. of the Musee is the Fare Beaumont (PL F, 3, 4),

a beautiful public garden, containing the Palais cTHivei^ (p. 122)

and modern sculptures.

Aviation. The Bordeaux road leads N. to (31/2 M.) the station of

the dirigible 'Ville de Pan', opposite the Aerodrome de la Compagnie
Airienne. To the N.W., 2 M. farther on, is the Aerodrome Bleriot (French
military school).— To the N.W. of Pau, 71/^ M. by the Bayonne road, is

the Aerodrome Wright (American school), 2 M. to the S.W. of the Aero-
drome Bleriot.— Adm. in each case 3 fr.

About 1/4 M. to the E. of the C'roix-dti-Prince (tramway, see p. 122)

is the village of Gelos, with its national stud-farm (shown daily after

noon). The Coteaux de Gelos extend to the S. of the village, up the
smiling Vallee Heureuse.

From Pau to Bordeaux, see pp. 63, 64; to Oloron (Vallde d'Aspe),
see R. 19; to Eaux-Bonnes and Eaux-Chaudes, see R. 20.

Narrow-gauge line from the Place de la R^publique (PI. D, 3) to

(17 M.) Pontacq, the home of Gon. Barbanegre, the gallant defender of

Hiiningen in 1815.

Xarrow-gauge line from the Gare du Midi (PI. D, 4) to (17 M.) Monein
(pop. 4203), with an interesting church (15th-16th cent.).

Narrow-giiuge line from the Place de la Republique (PI. D, 3) to Aire
(43 M.; p. 63) and Lembeye (29 M.), via (8V2 M.) Morlads, the capital of

the Beam from the 9th cent, to 1194, with an interesting church (12th
and 15th cent.).

II. From Pau to Lourdes.
24 M. Railway in 50-65 min. (4 fr. 40, 2 fr. 95, 1 fr. 95 c). Views

generally to the riglit.

We ascend the valley of the Gave de Pau. TBi/g M- (from

Bayonne) Coarraze-Nay. At Coarraze, on the left, Henri IV. was
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brought up like a peasaut. Nay (Hut. de France, du Commerce;
pop. 3950), on the left bank of the Gave, has factories of caps and

Turkish fezes and the Renaissance house of Jeanne d'Albret.

8OV2 M. Moiitaut-Betharrain. To the S., V2 M., is Betharram
(Hot. de France), a resort of pilgrims, dating from the Crusades: it

lies on the left bank of the Gave, which is spanned by a picturesque

ivy-clad bridge. On the other side are the church and Lestelle,

with the inn. The church (17th cent.) is adjoined by a series of

chapels, v\'ith statuary, marking the Stations of the Cross. On the

top of the hill are a Calvary and a church of the Resurrection.

Pilgrimages on Sept. 8th and 14th.

The curious ^'G-rottes de Betharram, 2 M. to the S., are in four
stories, 1/4-1^/2^1- lonej the Irighest, with its stalactites, and the lowest,

both lighted hy electricity, are shown. The latter contains a subterranean
river. 1 M. long, explored by boat. The visit takes li/o hr. ; adni. for

1 pers., incl. guide, 5 fr. ; 2 pers. 8, 3 pers. lO^/ofr.; for larger party.

:3 fr. each. Restaurant close by. Carr. from Lourdes, see p. 128.

The next part of the route is interesting.— Beyond (83\/., M.)

St-Pe, to the left, we have a striking view of Lourdes.

90 M. liOXirdes.—B/tff-ef, good, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.— Hotels (bargain

advisable, especially in Aug. and Sept. ; oinn. i/o-i fr.). Or we may sleep

at Tarbes" or elsewhere, and go to Lourdes for one day, which suftices

for the chief sights. At the station: Terminiis-Touring-Hotel, e:ood, R.
from 3, B. 1, L. 31/., D. 4. P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Beaus'^joiir, R. from 3.

B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2. P- from 8 fr.— In the Rue de la Grotto: at the corner

of the Rue St-Joseph. Hot. Jloderne (PI. d; B, 3). good. R. from 5, B. I1/4,

L. 4, D. 5. P. from 12 fr. : No. 158. Gr.-Hot. d'Angleferre (PI. e; B, 3),

R. from 5,' B. li/.„ L. 4, D. 4V->, P. from 12 fr. ; Nos. 144-148, Gr.-H6t.
Heins & du Boulevard (PI. f ; C, 3), R. from 2V», B. li/o, L. 31/2, D. 41/.,.

P. from 10 fr.; No. 66, Gr.-Hot. de la Grotte (PI. g; D. 3), half-way up
the slope, with view, R. from 3, B. l^/o, L. 31/2, D- 4. P- from 10 fr. ; Nos.
150-154, Hot. de la Chapelle (PL c; C, 3), R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31 /a, D. 4.

P. from 10 f r. ; at the corner of the Place Mgr-Laurence. Gr.-Hot. Royal
(PL a; B, 2). R. from 4, B. H/.^, L. 4, D. 41/2, P. from 12 fr.; No. 156.

Hot. Xotre-Dame-de-Lourdes (PL b; B, 3), open April-Oct., R. from 3,

B. 1, L. 3i/.>, D.4, P. from 10 h. — Xouvel-Hotel & Hot. St-Louis-de-France
fPl. v; C, 4'), 7-9 Chemin du Paradis, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/2. D- 4, P. from
9 fr.; Gr.-Hot. des Ambassadeurs (PI. k; D. 2), No. 66, BouL de la Grotte.

good. R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/.,, D. 4. P. from 12 fr. ; No. 79, Gr.-Hot. de
Londres (PL 1; D, 2), R. from 3. B. 1, L. 3, D. SV'.- P- from 8 fr. ; No. 60,

Hot. Beige & de Madrid (PL n; D, 2), R. from fi/.^, B. 1, L. 3, D. SVa-
P. from 8 fr. ; No. 58_, Hot. St-Joseph (PL o; D, 2); Nos. 6.5-67, Hot. du
Sacre-C'ceur. Henri IV & du Pare (PL p; D, 2), good, R. from 4. L. 2,

D. 3-31/2, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. de VAnge-Gardien (PL m; D, 2). same boul.

;

Xo. 14, Hot. de VUnivers, R. fror^i 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 8 fr.

;

Hot. des Araericains & de Rome (PI. i; D, 3, 4), 53 Rue de la Grotte;

Hot. Moura & du Commerce (PL q; E. 2, 3), 11 Rue Basse, fair, R. from 3,

B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/.,. P. from 8 fr.; Hot. Bellevue (PL h; D, 3). 58 Rue de
la Grotte, closed Jan.-March, R. from 2i/.., L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de VEr-
mitage (Pl.t; A, 3), Chemin du Calvaire; Hot. Richelieu (PL u; B, 3),

5 Rue Ste-Marie; Hot. des Pyrenees (PL r; F, 4), Hot. de France (PL s;

F. 3). 1 and 9 Place du Champ-Commun.-
Cab to the town, 50 c. each pers.

;
per hour 1^/4, with two horses 21/2,

landau 31/2 fr. ; at night 50 c. extra. Trunk, 30 c.

Garages. Lourdes-Touriste, 1 Rue Ste-Marie; Moderne, 20 Place
Marcadal ; Central, Chaussee Maransin.
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Tramways (10 c. in winter, 15 c. in summer) from the station to the

Bdsilica (PI. A, 2), by the Boulevard or the Place Marcadal; from the

station to Soum (beyond PI. E, 4; p. 140) and to the Pic de Jer Fimi-
cidar (p. 128).

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. F, 2), 2 Chaussee Maransin.— Syndicat
d'Initiative, 8 Rue La Fitte.

Lowrdes (1265-1380 ft.; pop. 8805) is finely situated on the

Gave du Pau, which descends from the valley of Argeles, and here

turns W. towards the plain. Since the law of separation Lourdes

has been the seat of the Bishopric of Tarbes.

The town owes its fame to its Pilgrimage, dating from 1858.

Beruadette Soubirous (who died in a convent in 1879), when a pea-

sant-girl of fourteen, declared that the Virgin had appeared to her sev-

eral times in a grotto, and had ordered a sanctuary to be erected on the

spot, to which many would resort for prayer. Pilgrims soon flocked

thither, at first from the environs, then from all parts of France and
from abroad, attracted by reports of miraculous cures effected by a spring-

in the grotto. Not a day now passes in the season without the arrival

of pilgrims, either singly or in organized parties. The public interest

in the place is so well niaintained that special trains from every quarter

(especially in summer) bring thousands of passengers to pay their devotions

or to seek relief from their ailments. The chief pilgrimages take place

between the end of April and mid-October, attaining their maximum
between 15th Aug. and 15th Sept., when within four weeks the number
of pilgrims and tourists is estimated at 120,000. For the whole year

the total number is about 600,000. The most interesting time to visit

the place is during the 'national pilgrimage' of three days about Aug.
20th. The 'Procession du Saint-Sacrement', in the afternoon, is a most
imposing religious ceremony, and the torch-light procession, about 8 p.m.,

presents a fairy-like scene. (Beware of pickpockets.)

The Boul. de la Grotte leads from the station to the (-74 M.;

7 min, by tramway) Grotto, crossing the Gave and a square adorned

with statues of St. Michael and the Virgin, and with the 'Croix des

Bretons' (sometimes illuminated). By the roadside are numerous

stalls for the sale of 'objets de piete'.

The Grotto (PL A, 2; 'Grotte de Massabielle'), in the rocks by

the river, is a recess 16 ft. deep and 16 ft. wide, closed in with a

railing. On a rock above, to the right, is, a statue of the Virgin, as

Bernadette described her, in a white robe wnth a blue scarf. The
walls of the grotto, blackened with the smoke of candles, are hung
with crutches and other votive offerings. In front are a pulpit and

benches. To the left is the Miraculous Spring, now shut in by a

wall with taps. The basins where the pilgrims bathe are in the

adjoining building. (Visitors admitted 2-3 p.m.)

The scene is one of indescribable excitement. A priest is in the

pulpit. From time to time he interrupts the chant sung by the multi-

tude with his fervent prayers, or with a peremptory order to kneel and
kiss the earth. Meanwhile the suffering pilgrims are brought in litters by
charitable men and women to bathe in the healing waters. During the

bath the prayers grow ever louder and more ardent, and when one or

other of the bathers suddenly shouts, 'I am cured', ten thousand voices

intone a triumphant Magnificat. The patient is then subjected to a

medical examination, in order to ascertain whether the cure has been
complete, or partial, or merelj^ imaginary.
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The Church of the Rosarij (PL A, 2; 1885-9), in front of the

Basilica and a little below it. is a kind of rotunda in the Byzantine

style. Fifteen chapels, with modern mosaics, radiate from the

centre beneath the low dome. Two flights of steps and two inclined

planes, in horseshoe form, ascend to the terrace. The Basilica

(PL A, 2), a little higher up, a highly ornate building in the Gothic

style, was consecrated in 1876 in presence of thirty-five arch-

bishops and bishops, presided over by the Cardinal-Archbishop of

Paris and the papal nuncio. Over the W. facade rises a handsome
tower. The interior, a nave with side-chapels, is completely hung
with gold or gilded hearts, banners, medallious, and other votive

offerings. The crypt below extends under the whole church.

To the right of the exit fi-om the Basilica, on the other side of

the road, begins a zigzag Chemin de Croix, with monumental sta-

tions, ascending in 1/4 hr. to a Calvary (PL A, 2, 3), where we obtain

a fine view. We descend on the other side of the hill, past the

Grottes des Spdugues (lOmin.; now chapels), where prehistoric

relics have been found. In 10 min. more we may reach the Grrotfe

du Loup, consisting of several chambers with stalagmites, lighted

by electricity. (Adm. 1 fr.; the visit takes 20 minutes.)
In the new quarter near the Grotto are a large Abri, or shelter for

pilgrims, a new Hospital (PI. E, 2), several Convents, an Asfjlinn for the
Aged, an Orphanage, and the great Hospice de Kotre-Dame-des-Dov-
leurs (PL B, 3), or Hosjiice St-Frai, so named after its foundress. Most
of the sick pilgrims are received here on their arrival, presenting a most
distressing spectacle of every phase of human suffering.

The Rue de la Grotte (PL B-E, 3; crosses the river by the Pont

Vieux and ascends to the old town. It passes to the S. of the pic-

turesque Chdteau (PL D, E, 2, 3), which commanded the entrance

to the valley and was often besieged during the wars with Eng-
land. (Entrance from Rue du Fort; adm. 25 c; beautiful view.)

The Rue de la Grotte goes on to the N. end of the Place Marcadal
(PL F, 3), whence the Rue St-Pierre leads N. to the station, passing

near the church of the Sacre-Cceur (PL F, 3; on the right), begun
in 1877 by the cure Peyramale, but still unfinished.

To the S. of the town. H'4 M. from the Lourdes station (tramway, see

p. 127), is the funicular ascending the Pic de Jer (5/4 M. long; 21/2 fr.

there and back). From the upper station we mount by a good path in

8 min. to the top (3115 ft.), with a Cross, illuminated at night, and a

restaurant. Splendid ^Panorama.
The Lac de Lourdes (1380 ft.) is a small lake 2 M. to the N.W.—

To the Grottoes of Betharram (p. 126), 81/2 M. from Lourdes, omn. from
the Hotel Royal (4 fr. there and back), or by motor-car (5 fr.).

From 15th July to 15th Sept.. thrice weekly, a motor-omn. runs to

ArgeVes (p. 140; 3"fr.) and Eaiix-Bonnes (p. 135), and next day to the
Baths of Panticosa (p. 140). — From June onwards, motor-omn. daily to

Gavarnie (p. 153; 10-20 fr. return). — Electric tramway being laid to

Bagn'eres-de-Bigorre (131/2 M.
; p. 160) and Lart.igues (p. 164).— Motor-

omn. to Bagneres and Luchon (Route des Pyrenees), see p. 168.

To Cauterets, St-Saztvenr, Bareges, etc., see Routes 21, 22, 23.
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III. From Lourdes to Toulouse.
110 M. Railway in 3 his. 40 min. to 6 hrs. (19 fr. 90, 13 fr. 50, 8 fr. 70 c).

92 M, (from Bayonne) Ade.— 96^2 ^I- Ossun. Far to the right

rises the Pic du Midi de Bigorre (p. 158).

1027o M. Tarbes.-.ewyff^ — Hotels. *Gr.-H6t. Moderne, Placo
Maubourguet, R. from 4, B. IV2- L- 31/2^ D. 41/2, P. from 10, oran. 1 fr.

;

Hot. Dannaii & du Commerce, 8 Rue Massey aad 28 Place Maubourguet,
B. 1, L. 31/2? !)• 4 fr. ; Terminus-Hotel Loustau, opposite the station,

good, R. from 2Vo, L. 21/2. D- 3 fr.; Hot. de Paris & de V Europe, 21 Rue
Thiers, L. 2V2, D" 3 fr. ; Famih/ Hotel (meuble), 64 Rue Victor-Hugo, near
the station, R. from 21/2 fr. ; Hot. de la Gare, 45 Rue Victor-Hugo.

Cabs. For 2 pers., per drive ^U, at night 1 fr.
;
per hour li/^ or 2 fr.

;

for 4 pers. 1 or I1/4, 2 or 21/2 fr. ; outside the octroi-limits 1/2 fi'- more.
Post & Telegraph Office, Place de la Republique.
Casino Eldokado, Rue Larrey. — Baths, 14 Rue Massey.
Stkdicat d'Initiative, Maison Ducor, Place de la Republique.

Tarbes (995 ft.; pop. 28,615), the capital of the department of

the Haides- Pyrenees, lies in a rich plain on the left bank of the

Adour. It became important in the middle ages as the capital of

the County of Bigorre, and it was occupied by the English from
1360 to 1406. It suffered greatly in the Religious Wars of the 16th
century. Tarbes now trades in the excellent Pyrenean horses, and
has an important stud-farm.

The Rue Victor-Hugo, opposite the station, leads to the Sede,
or Cathedral, a heavy building of the 12th -14th cent., with an
octagonal cupola over the transept. The Rue Abbe-Torne, to the

left, leads thence to the Place Maubourguet, the centre of the

town, from the end of which the Rue Thiers leads to the right to

the Rue des Pyrenees, near the Haras (stud-farm; apply to the con-
cierge). We proceed by tlie Rue du Haras to the Allees Carnot, a

fine promenade, with a bronze staiue of Larrey (1766-1842), the

surgeon.

The Rue Larrey, at the other end of the Allees, leads to the
right to the Place Marcadieu, with the church of Ste-Therese and
a modern fountain ou the left. To the right lies the Forail, with
fine plane-trees, where the picturesque fairs are held.

The Rue des Grands-Fosses leads back to the Place Maubourguet,
passing the Place de la Republique, with the Hotel de Ville (1906)
and a Monument for 1792. To the W. of the Hotel de Ville is the
new Post Office.

The chief sight at Tarbes is the *Jardin Massey, 1/4 M. to the
N. of the Place Maubourguet, and not far from the statian. It is

planted with exotic trees, and threaded by streamlets, and affords

a delightful walk. Near a small lake are Cloisters (15th cent.),

brought from the Abbey of St-Sever-de-Rustan.
The garden contains a Musee, in a brick building with a Moorish

tower. (Adni. Sun., Thurs., and holidays, 12 to 4 or 5; on other
days, 50 c.) It contains sculptures, antiquities, and natural history
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collections, besides Italian, Dutch, and modern French pictures.

Fine view from the tower (25 c).

From Tarbes to Agen anci Perigvenx, see R. 12; to Bordeaux, see

p. 63: to Cauterets, St-Sauvenr, Bareges, etc.. see p. 129 and Routes 21,

22, 23; to Bagmres-de-Bigorre, see R. 24; to Liichon, see belo-«^ and R. 25.

At (104 M.) Marcadieu the line toBagneres-de-Bigorre (p. 160)

diverges to the right. Beyond several tunnels we cross a curved

viaduct (fine view to the right) and ascend rapidly. Conspicuous to

the right are the Pic d'Arbizon (see below), the Pic du Midi de

Bigorre (p. 158), and the Pic de Montaigu (p. 163),

121 M. Capvern, station for the baths of that name, 2-3 M. to

the S.W. (omn. 1 fr.V

The Bains de Capvern (Grand-Hotel. R. from 5. B. 1. L. .SVo.

D. 41/.,. P. from 12. omn. 2 fr. : Hot. des Pyrenees, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.
Beau-Sejour, Richolieu. des Bains, des Tliermes, de France) have two
springs, impregnated with sulphate of lime, like those of Bagneres-de-
Bigorre (p. 160), The chief spring is that of Honnt-Caoiido, the other is

Le Bouride. Bath-house at each. Season, June 15th -Sept, 15th.

125 M, Lannernezan (2010 ft,; Hot, Central, du Grand Soleil),

Electric railway to Auch (p, 87) under construction.

From Las^cemezas to Arreau-Cadeac. 16 M., railway in 45-65 min,
(2 fr, 90, 1 fr, 95, 1 fr, 30 c), up the Vallee d'Anre. watered by the Xeste,
with marble quarries and mineral springs, — We cross the t'anal de la

Xeste. — 31/2 M, La Barthe-Avezac, station for La Bartlie-de-Neste (Hot,

Loflficier, Forgue), with mineral springs. — 71/2 M, Heches has quarries of

black marble. — 11 M. SarrancoUn, noted for its red marble. — 16 M,
Arreau-Cadeac. Arreau (2310 ft, : Hot, d'Angleterre, R, 2i/<,-3, B, 1, L, 4,

D, 4, P, from 8 fr, ; Hot, Sajous, R, from 2, B, 1, L, 31/.27 !>• J, P- 8 fr,

;

Hot, du Midi), on the Neste d'Aure, is a good centre for excursions. The
linest is that over tlie Col d'A^unn to (7'/2 M,) Bagn'eres-de-Bigorre (see

p, 164), Another road (Route des Pyrenees, see p. 168) leads to (2OV2 ^'^•)

'Bagneres-de-L?/chon (p. 166), ascending the valley of the Xeste de Loiiron,
via (51/2 M.) Avajan, where we cross the river (leaving the old road on
tl'.e right), and (8V2 ^0 Loi/deiivielJe; it then mounts in zigzags to the

(12 M.) Port or Col de Pe/jre$oin-de (5130 ft.), and descends into the Vallee
de Larboust. in which, at (16 M.) Cazeanx-de-Larbovst (p. 168), we join

tlie route from the Lac d'06 to Bagneres-de-Luchon.

From Arreau to Aragsouet, 141/2 M., by road; omn. to St-Lary 1 fr,

;

{•arr, to Tramezaigues 18, to Aragnouet 25 fr. We ascend tlie upper part of

the Vallee d'Aure. — lV4 M, Cadeac (2S60 it.; hotel), an old village, with
two bath-houses, — 3 M, Gtidien (aub,). whence the Pic d'Arbizon (9290 ft,

;

*View) may be ascended in 5 hrs, (with guide). — From (51/2 ^0 VieUe-
Aure (2630 ft. ; Hot. Passerieu) numerous frontier-peaks may be ascended.

Tlie best view is from the Pic de Ljistou (9925 ft.), an excursion which
usually takes more than one day (ascent 71/.2 hrs.; guide 15 fr.).— 7 M.
St-Lary. — From (S^/^ M.) Tramezaigues a road ascends the Vallee de
Riouviajou to the (3 hrs.) Ho-^pice de Riomnajou. whence two mule-tracks
cross into Spain. The Pic de Batoa (9960 ft.; 6V2 hrs. from Tramezaigues;
with guide) is a magnificent point of view. — A little beyond (10 M.)
Eget the Comp. du Midi has large electric works (30.000 h.p. ; comp. p. 159).

— 131/., M. Fabian (Chalet-Hotel Fouga). — 141/0 M. Aragnouet (4165 ft.;

quarters at Le Plan, a little beyond it), from Avhich various ascents may
be made.

1331/2 M. Aventlgnan. To the S.W., 21/2 M., is the fine Grotto

of Gargas (adni. V-j^ fr. and fee; custodian at Aventignan).
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135'/^ M. Montr6jeau (Buffet ; Hot. du Pare, good, L. 3, D. 37-2

i'r. ; Hot. Lecler; Hot. Terminus, at the station; pop. 2632), 2/4 M-

to tlie left, on the edge of a plateau above the Garonne (view).

From Montrejeau to Bagneres-de-Luchon, see R. 25.

The line follows the Garonne.— Beyond (139 M.) Martres-de-

Riviere it crosses the river.

1431/2 M. St-Gaudens (1220 ft.; Hot. Ferriere; Hot. de

France, R. 2, D. 3^/2 fr.; pop. 7127), once a prosperous place, lies

on a hill with a fine view. The Romanesque Church, of the llth-12th

cent., with a Gothic portal of the 16th, contains old tapestry.
Omu. to Boulogne, see p. 85.

Narrow-gauge line to Aspet (13 M. ; p. 177), passing (S1/2 M.) Lespiteau-
Encausse. To the S.W. of that station, IV.. M., lies Encausse (1150 ft.;

Hot. des Thermes, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de
Paris, de Londres), which has three warm springs containing sulphate
of lime (71^), beneficial in cases of malaria. Season May-September.
Pretty scenery. Omn. to St-Gaudens, 1 fr.

Xear (I0OY2 ^1^-) Labartlie-Inard are the picturesque ruins, on

the right, of the Chateau de Moiitespan (13th-15th cent.). We
cross the Garonne.— 1551/2 ^I- St-Martory, to the left of which,

on a hill, is the picturesque old Chateau de Montpezat. — At

(159 M.) Boussens (Hot. Picard) the Garonne becomes navigable.

To the S. rises the ruined Chateau de Roquefo-rt (12th-13th cent.).

From Boussens to Atilus via St-Giro7is, see R. 26.

Near (161 1/2 '^^) Martres-Tolosaiie the remains of a Roman
villa were excavated in 1826-1901. To the N.W., 5 M., at Alan,
is a ruined episcopal palace (16th cent.), with a beautiful Gothic

portal. — 1691/2 M. St-Julien. At St-Elix, 2 M. to the N., is a

Renaissance chateau.— Scenery less interesting as the line recedes

from the hills.— 174 M. Carboiine.
From Carbonne to Le Mas-d'Azil, 221/2 M., narrow-gauge line in

1 hr. 50 min. (2 fr. 80, 2 fr. 5 c.), up the valley of the Arize.— S^I-^M.
Rleux, once a bishopric, with a tine cathedral of the 15th cent, and a
bridge of the 16th. — 71/2 M. 3fo7itesqmeu-Volvestre (pop. 3023), with a
fortified church of the 14th century.—We pass through a picturesque
defile. — 191/2 M. Sabarat, junction for Toulouse (p. 85). — Near (221/2 M.)
Le 3[as-d'Azil (Hot. Savi^nac, Gardel), on the Lescure road (p. 177), is the
large Grotte du Mas-d'Azil, 1/4 M. long, and 160-260 ft. high, where
prehistoric relics have been found.

187 M. Muret (Hot. Pigot; pop. 3654) lies at the confluence

of the Louge and the Garonne. The Church (14th-15th cent.) has
been altered in the interior in the classic style, and adorned with
mural paintings. In the Allee Niel are statues otDalayrac, the mu-
sician (1753-1809) and Marshal Niel (1802-69), natives of Muret.

In the plain, to the N., Don Pedro, King of Aragon, marching to the
succour of Toulouse, was defeated in 1213 by Simon de Montfort, and
slain with 15-20.000 of his followers.

1921/2 M. Partet- St-Simon, junction for Foix (see p. 179). On the

left is the loop-line connecting the Auch line and the Gare St-Cyprien
(see p. 84). We cross the Garonne and the Canal du Midi.

200 M. Toulouse (Gare Matabiau; p. 77).

Baedkker's Southern Praoce. 6th Edit. 9
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19. Prom Pau to Oloron. Vallee d'Aspe.
Oomp. the Map, pj. 117.

From Pau to Oloron. 22 M., Railway in 1 hr. 5 to 1 hr. 15 min. (3 fr.

90, 2 fr. 65, 1 fr. 70 c). From Oloron to Jaca, 531/2 M., motor-omn. twice
daily. From Oloron to drdos. 26 M., omn. in 51/2 hrs. (4 fr. 20 c. ; oarr.

30 fr.). From Urdos to Jaca. 27i/« M. (carr. 35 fr.). Railway' from Jaca
to (115 M.) Saragassa, via (691/2 M.) Huesca and (821/2 M.) Tardienta.
— Trans-Ptkeneax Railway from Oloron to Jaca under construction.

At Jaca it will join the Spanish line, shortening the journey from Paris
to Madrid by 60 M. The French part as far as Bedous will probably be
completed in 1914.

Pau, see p. 121. The Oloron line, at first the same as that to

Laruns and Eaux-Bounes (R. 20), ascends the valley uf the Nez.

—

At (5 M.) Gan (pop. 2538) there is a chalybeate spring, with remains

of Roman baths.— I2Y2 M. Buzy, junction for Laruns (see p. 134).

22 j\I. Oloron-Ste-Marie (720 ft. ; Hot. Loustalot, R. from 21/2,

B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 fi'-; Hot. de la Poste; Hot. de France, opposite

the station; pop. 9495), the ancient Uitro, is a trading and industrial

town (hosiery, blankets, sandals), prettily situated at the confluence

of the Gaves d'Ossau and d'Aspe, which form the Gave d'Oloron.

The station is at Ste-Marie, on the left bank of the Aspe. The
church of Ste-Marie (11th -14th cent.), once a fortified cathedral,

has an interesting Romanesque portal, surmounted by a massive

square (iothic tower. The *Tympana of the portal contain the finest

sculptures; the capitals of the columns are also noteworthy (12th-

13th cent.). A second Gothic tower rises on the S. side.

Oloron itself rises picturesquely on the right bank of the Aspe.

The promenade skirting the old ramparts, and passing the Tour
Forie, affords a fine view. The Romanesque church of Ste-Croix,

of 1080, restored in the 19th cent., has interesting vaulting in the

interior, and in the left transept a large altar-screen in gilded wood,

in the Spanish style.

From Oloron to Fiiyoo via Mauleon or Xavarrenx. see p. 121.

The "Vallee d'Aspe, to the S. of Oloron, is ascended by a good road,

one of the most frequented of those crossing the Pyrenees. From Oloron
to the frontier at Le Somport 341/2 M. ; to Jaca 19 M. more. Railway
under construction. The valley begins at Asasp , 51/2 M. from Oloron

;

its finest part is between Asasp and the Fort d'Urdos, I81/2 M. farther up.

.Smiling green dales alternate with picturesque defiles through the lime-

.stone rocks. Bears are still found in the woods here.

The RoAP TO Urdos ascends from Ste-Marie, on the left bank

uf the.Aspe, to (11/4 M.) Bidos.
At Bidos we may cross to the right bank and follow it to Escot,

passing near (41/5, M.) St-Christau. Omn. in summer from Oloron (I1/2 fr.),

through the uninteresting part of the valley, to St-Ckristau (1050 ft.

;

Hot. du Grand-Turc, R. from 21/2, board 4-7 fr. ; Hot. du Mogol, de la Poste),

a thermal station with sulphurous waters, efiicacious in diseases of the

skin, the mouth, and the throat. Bath-house and casino. —To the S. rises

Mont Binet; one of its chief peaks^ the Mail Arrouy (4100 ft.; splendid

view), is easily scaled in 3 hrs. Farther E. is the Pic d'Escuret (4730 ft.

;

4 hrs.). from which we may descend to Arudy (p. 135).



Map, p. U7. LESCUN. 19. Route. 133

5^2 M- Asasp. On our right soon opens the valley of the

Lourdios. We then enter the first gorge of the Aspe.

From (9^2 M.) Escot, on the right bank, a path crosses the Col

de Mariehlanqne (3254 ft.) to (3 hrs.) Bielle (p. 135).—We cross

the Aspe by the Pont d'Escot, and soon pass the small Bains
d'Escot

.

— 11 M. Sarrance (1190 ft. ; aub.), with a pilgrims' shrine

and a ruined convent.— Farther up the valley we pass a waterfall,

the Pont Suzon, and the Cirque d'Ourdinse or de Gee, to the

left, with the Pic de Mouste (5235 ft. ; ascent from Bedous 4^2 hrs.),

151/0 M. Bedous (Hot. de la Poste) lies in a basin which was
probably a lake before the torrent had hollowed out the gorge. The
hillocks in this basin are of ophite, a volcanic product. On the left

bank lies Osse, a pleasant Protestant village.

A path, difficult in places, leads from Bedous to Laruns (p. 135) in

7 hrs,, via Aijdius and the Col de Sieste, or via the Col de Rioidort (about
.5580 ft,). — From Osse we may ascend iu 4 hrs., through the forest of

Petraouhe, to the top of the Ohillarisse (65-10 ft. ; view); or we may scale

the Pic d'Anie (see below), skirting the forest of Issaux and crossing
the fine Pa.t d'Azuns (6150 ft.), well known to botanists.

Farther up the valley of the Aspe is Suberlache, a small water-

ing-place.— 171/2 M. Accous (1470 ft.), supposed to be the Aspa
Luca of the Romans.

A path leads E. from Accous, in 6-7 hrs., to Eaux-Chaudes (p, 138),
over the Col d'lseye (about 5900 ft,), situated between the Lamarere
(7320 ft,) and the Pic de Scarpnt or de Sesques (8545 ft,; 6 hrs, from
Accous), both interesting ascents (with guide). See Map, p, 135.

The A'alley again contracts. Midway in the gorge is the bold

Pont d'Esquit ; but we cross neither this bridge nor the next.

— 20 M. Pont de Lescim, leading to the valley of that name.
A zigzag road ascends this valley to Lescun. About 1/2 ^I- from the

bridge walkers may cross the Pont du Roi, and thence ascend the Pic de
Labigotier (7140 ft. ; 4 hrs. ; splendid view), or they may follow a narrow
path on the right bank of the Gave de Lescun to (i/., hr.) a house, near
whicli is a fine waterfall, and thence in 1/2 br. more to Lescun (2960 ft.

;

hotel: gtiides J. P. Campagne and P. Loustallot-Lapassat, 1st cl., and J. P.
Carrassoumet, 2nd cl.), on the brink of a plateau, superbly backed liy

the mountains.

Excursions (guide 8-15, porter 5-8 fr.). The Pic d'Anie (8215 ft.)

may be ascended in 4-4V2 hrs. from Lescun. We pass the (li/.j hr.) little

chalybeate Bains de I^aherouat and, beyond the huts of (1 hr.) Azun.s,
climb the slopes of the Pic de Contende to the (1 hr.) source of the Langa,
and then scale the mountain on its E. side. The *Panorama from the
top is one of the most superb in the Pvrenees.—We may ascend also
the Pic de la Table-des-Trois-Rois (7985* ft. ; 41/2 hrs.) and the Pic de la

Rusqve or de las Tajeras (7815 ft.; 41/0 hrs.), in Spain.

At the (24 M.) Po7it de Sebers we cross the stream and enter

a gorge, at the end of which, on the left, rises (241/2 ^I-) the pic-

turesque *Foi't d'Urdos or du Portalet (2605 ft.). This fort, built

in 1838-48, stands partly on a rock overhanging the torrent, and
is reached by 50G steps. The front, flanked with two turrets, is

distinguishable from the rocks only by its embrasures,

9*
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Eecrossing the river by the Po)it d^Urdos, we enter another

small basin, 3 M. long.

26 M. Urdos (2495 ft.; Hot. Ferras, de la Poste) is the last

French village.

From Urdos to Gabas, by luule-track in 6, or by footpath in 5 his.

The former leads over the CoJ d'Aas de Bielle (7095 ft.; 4 hrs.), beyond
which we have a splendid view of the Pic du Midi d'Ossau (p. 139);
then to the plateau of Bions-Artigues. and to Gabas (p. 139), 1 hr. more.
— The footpath ascends to the (3 hrs.) Col de Bio/es, X. of the Pic des
Moines (8015 ft.). Descent by Bious-Artigues.

Beyond (28 M.j a ruined hospital, a gorge, followed by a small

basin, leads to (29 ]\r.) the Auberge du Feillou (3340 ft.; good).
The pretty Lac d'Estaes (5725 ft.; guide 6 fr.). in Spain, lies 3 hrs.

S.W. of Peillou. Farther on rises the Yisanrin (8755 ft.), the highest of

the Aspe Mts.. 7 hrs. from Peillou (guide, 20 fr.); the Pic d'Aspe, or
Pico de la Garganta (8680 ft.), takes 5 hrs.

To the right, ^/^ M. farther on, diverges the road to an old

Foundry^ where the works of the Intet^national Tunnel (5 M. long;

on the new railway have formed quite a little town. Higher up,

our road passes near the (31Y2 M.) Auberge de Peyrenere (4760 ft.).

341/2 M. Le Somport, or Port d' Urdos (5380 ft.), a bare and
sombre pass on the frontier, lay on the Roman road from C^esarea

Augusta (Saragossa) to Iluro (Olorou). View limited.
From Le Somport to Gtabas, 5 hrs., a path leads over the (I1/2 hr.)

Col des Moines (7230 ft.), descending, in view of the Pic dn Midi d'Ossau,
to the Col de Bious path (see above).

The road now descends in zigzags on the Spanish side.

—

35Y2 ^^- Santa Cristina, a ruined hospice.— 38 M. Foi^t Sail A/i-

tonio, near Avhich are the works at the S. end of the new tunnel.

4:V/2 M. Canfranc (3410 ft,; Hot. Sisas), a village on the right

bank of the Aragon, commanded by an old castle.— Farther on are

two picturesque gorges, between which, on the left, rises the Peiia

Collarada (9460. ft.; ascent 5 hrs.; view).

531/0 3L Jaca (2690 ft.: Hot. Mur; pop. 4900), a walled town.

Interesting cathedral and citadel (view) of the 15tli century.
Railway from Jaca to Huesca and Saragossa, see BaedeTcer^s S2)ain

& Portugal. On the Huesca line is (10 M.) Sabindnigo, whence an onui.

runs in summer to the (20 M.) Baths of Pauticosa (p. 140).

20. Eaux-Bonnes, Eaux-Chaudes, and
the Vallee d'Ossau.

I. From Pau to Eaux-Bonnes and Eaux-Chaudes.
From Pau to (24 M.) Laruns, Railway in I1/4-13/4 hr. (4 fr. 40, 2 fr. 95.

1 fr. 95 c). From Laruns to (31/2 M.) Eaux-Bonnes or Eaux-Chaudes.
Omkibus in 55 min. (1'/., fr. ; motor l^/^ fr. ; vehicles outside the station
cheaper). Best view from outside seats. Landau for 4-5 pers., 8 fr.

Electric railway to Eaux-Bonnes projected.

From Pau to (12^/2 M.) Buzy, see p. 132. Leaving the Olorou
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line on the right, we cross the Gave d'Ossau, near the fine bridge

by which the road crosses.— 16 M. Arudy (Hot. de France, de la

Poste), to the left. Pleasant road to St-Christau (11 M.; p. 132).

The *Vall6e d'Ossau begins here and extends S., 17 M., to G-abas

(p. 139). Tlie name is sometimes restricted to the part between Arudy
and Laruns. This valley is one of the most picturesque in the Pyrenees,

though sadly stripped of its woods since the 18th cent. ; at its head rises

the famous Pic du Midi d'Ossau, and a lateral valley is backed by the

Pic du Ger (p. 137). The valley, in which lie the important waterinji-

places of Eaux-Bonnes and Eaux-Chaudes, is separated from the Vallee

d'Aspe (p. 132) by a minor chain of hills, easy to cross and affording fine

excursions. The valley of Ossau, like that of Aspe, once formed a small

commonwealth, which retained its privileges long after its annexation to

the B^arn, and still longer its peculiar manners and costumes.

At (I772 ^^0 Izeste (Hot. des Pyrenees), where a picturesque

gorge begins, is an interesting grotto. (Apply at the inn; guide

5 fr.) On the opposite bank lies Louvie-Juzon, which has a 15th

cent, church with a stone spire. Farther on is Castet, with the

ruined Chdteau de Gelos (13th cent.).

20 M. Bielle (aub.), the ancient capital of the Viscounts of Ossau.

The church of St-Vivien (15th-16th cent.) contains fine sculptures.

Near Bielle are numerous cromlechs and Roman relics. To Escot,

see p. 133.— 21 M. Pont-de-Beon. We now reach the mountains.

24 M. Laruns (1380 ft.; Hot. des Touristes; pop. 1860), the

chief village in the valley, presents an interesting scene on its

festival-day (15th Aug.), when the costumes and the dances of the

peasantry are seen to advantage.
Motor-omn. to the Baths of Panticosa and Argeles, same days and

fares as from Eaux-Bonnes (see p. 136).

From Laruns to Bedous, see p. 133.

The Eaux-Bonnes road leaves to the right the old road to Eaux-
Ohaudes via the Hourat (see below), recommended to walkers for the

sake of the view. Beyond a bridge over the Gave d'Ossau we reach

(1^4 M.) the point where the Eaux-Chaudes road (see below) diverges

to the right. Farther on, to the left, diverges the very steep old

Eaux-Bonnes road. We ascend the N.E. fiank of the Gourzy (p. 137)

in zigzags, affording fine view^s.— 31/2 ^I- Eaux-Bonnes (see be-

low) is not visible until we are close to it.

The *Eaux-Chaudes road, diverging to the right from the Eaux-

Bonnes road (see above), is hewn in the rock on the left side of the

Hourat, the ravine through which the Gave d'Ossau dashes 150 ft.

below, and it is overhung by high rocks. On the other bank is the

old road, which descends rapidly and joins the new I'oafl at the

Pont Crabe.— 31/0 M. Eaux-Chaudes (p. 138).

II. Eaux-Bonnes.
Hotels. Hot. des Princes. R. from 4, B. li/-^, L. 4, D. .5 (wine extra).

P. from 11 fr., Royal-Hotel de Fravce. E. from 4, B. IV2, L- 4, D. 5 (wine
extra), P. from 12 fr., both by the Jardin Darralde; Hot. delaPaix, near
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the Etablissement; Hot. des Themies, by the church, E. from 3. L. or

D. 31/21 P- from 9 fr. ; Hot. Continental, Jardin Darralde. open all the
rear, K. from 2, B. 1. L. 3. D. SVa^ P- from 8 fr. ; Hot. Bernis. Place Ste-

JEugenie, R. from 2, B. 1, L. 81/2: I>- ^1 P- from 71/2 fr. ; Hot. cle la Poste.

open the whole year, P. from S'/g fr. ; Hot. des Pyrenees. Jardin Darralde.
— Furnished Houses and Pexsioks abound.

Etablissements. Bath 1-2, douche 1 fr. ; subscription to the buvette
(for drinking), from 25th June to 25th Aug., 22 fr. ; at other times, 12 fr.

— Casiso. open in July and August.
Horse, with mounted guide. 6-10 fr. a day, but no tariff.— Guides

(C. Carrere and J. P. Esquerre, 1st cl. ; J. B. Esquerre. 2nd cl.). 8-11 fr. a

day (bargain advisable). — Carriages dear (bargain advisable).

Motor Omsibus thrice weekly from 15th July to 15th Sept. to th.'

Baths of Panticosa (p. 140; 30 fr. there and back), via Lar?ms (p. 135) and
Eaiix-Chandes (p. 138; l^/^. return 31/4 fr.); to Argeles, see p. 141.

Post & Telegraph Office, to the left, on the way up to tin.'

Promenade.

Kaiw-Bonnes (2455 ft.; pop. 622) lies at the confluence of two

torrents, the Valentin and the Sourde, at the entrance to a most

picturesque gorge. Its importance is due to its mineral springs,

containing sulphur, soda, lime, and above all chloride of sodium.

They are eificacious in throat, bronchial, and tubercular atfections.

The climate is mild in summer (season June-Sept.; mean tempera-

ture 65-70° Fahr.). Winter sports 15th Dec. to 15th March.

The centre of Eaux-Bonnes is the Jardin Darralde, with its

fine trees, where a band plays daily. The Casino terrace affords a

fine view of the Pic du Ger (p. 137).

The Rue Nationale. beyond the Jardin, ascends to the Grand
Etablissement Thermal, with a pump-room, fed by the Source

Vieillc (91°), and baths. The water has a sulphurous odour, but

is not unpleasant to the taste. Farther up, at the end of the village,

is a pavilion with the Fontaine Froide (52°). To the left is a

Protestant Church. Near it rise the mineral waters, on the Butte

du Tresor, with its kiosk. Xear the bridge over the Valentin is the

Etablissement d'Orteig or Neo-Theinnes, adjoined by a hydro-

pathic.

The Promenade Eynard, round the Butte du Tresor, is reached

from the interior of the Etablissement Thermal. The fine, shady

Promenade de VImperatrice or du Gros-Hetre, nearly 2 M. long,

diverges from the former behind the Butte, and runs high above the

valley of the Valentin. Above the Cascade d'Iscoo it crosses a

bridge and joins a road leading to the fine Cascade du Gros-Hetre
I dairy), 2 M. from the village. We may return by the Promenade du
Valentin, below the preceding, on the left bank of the stream,

passiiig near the pretty Cascade d^Eau.y -Bonnes.

On the other side of the village is the Promenade Horizontale,

on the flank of the Gourzy (p. 137), with pretty views. Beginning

at the Casino terrace, it extends for V/^ M., and is continued by a

footpath to the Eaux-Chaudes road (see p. 137). The Promenade
Gramont. also on the wooded flank of the Gourzv. ascends in zig-
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zags behind the Casino. The Promenade Jacqueminot, diverging

from the last-named, ascends to the first plateau (beautiful view).

Excursions.

To Eaux-Chaudes. 1. By Road, 5 M. ; omn., viaLariuis station, see

p. 135; carr. 4-6fr. — 2. By the Promenade Horizontale. li/y lir. We
follow the promenade (p. 136) for 20 min., then a footpath, joining the

road 1/2 M. short of Eaux-Chandes. — 3. Over the Gourzi/, 4-41/4 hrs., inter-

esting, practicable on horseback, but guide desirable (6-8 fr.). We ascend

through woods to the (1 hr.) first plateau, to which the Promeuade Jac-

queminot (see above) leads. The second plateau is 3/4 hr. farther on.

Here we leave on the left the path to the Pic du Ger (see below), and

in 3/4 hr. more reach the Col du Gourzij (5150 ft.; superb panorama, incl.

the Pic du Midi d'Ossau). Thence we descend S.E., and then W., by a

bad path, which (1 hr.) joins the road to the grotto of Eaux-Chaudes

(p. 138), 1/2 hr. from Eaux-Chaudes itself (p. 138).

To THE Pic du Ger. 6 hrs., most interesting, partly on liorseback

(guide 15 fr.). Following the Gourzy route to the second plateau (I1/2 hr.

:

see above), we turn to the left. In IV2 br. more we reach the huts on

the Plateau d'AnoniUas (5950 ft.), where riders dismount. Thence on

foot to (1 hr.) the Plateau de Cardoua, and lastly a stiff climb, by the

Col du Pambassibe, to (1^/4 hr.) the top. The other peak, to the X., the

Salon, is reached by a short, but difficult arete. The *Pic du Ger
(8570 ft.) affords a superb panorama, with strong contrasts: a chaos of

desolate mountains to the S. and a sea of verdure to the N. The chief

peaks visible, E. to W.. are, in the foreground, the Latte de Bazen
(8105 ft.) and the Peneviedaa (8165 ft.); farther away, to the right, the

Pics de Gabizos (see below); then the mountains enclosing the valleys

of Gaube and Marcadaou, with the Vignemale (p. 148), the.Balaitous (p. 140)

and Palas (p. 139), and other peaks from 8500 to 9500 ft. higli, extending

to the Pic du Midi d'Ossau (p. 139). To the S.. on the left of tiie Pic
Amotdat (8515 ft.), is seen the Lac d'Artouste (p. 139).

To THE Pic de Goupet, about 4 hrs., fairly easy (guide 12 fr.). We
follow the above route, but short of the (3 hrs.) Plateau d'Anouillas we
turn to the right. From (1/2 hr.) the Col de Lurde (6400 ft.) the Pic du

Midi is seen in front; in 3/4 hr. more we reach the top of the Pic de
Goupey or deCezij (7250 ft.). View, finest to the S., of the valleys of

the Gave de Soussoueou, descending from the Lac d'Artouste (p. 139), and
of the Gave de Brousset, the valley of Gabas, etc.

To the Lacs d'Anglas and d'Uzious, a fine excursion for a wiiole day
(guide 12 f r. ; food necessary), either by the gorge of the Valentin, partly

practicable for horses, or by the gorge of the Sourde and Coume d'Aas.

The small round Lac d'Anglas (6790 ft.) lies on a plateau between the

P^nemedaa and the Sourins: the oval Lac d'Uziovis (6955 ft.) lies a

little farther S.E. Higher up is the Col fZ' Uzioi/s (7325 ft. ; fine view).

To the Graxd-Pic de Gabizos, a fine excursion for one day, partly

on horseback (guide 20 fr. ; food necessary). The route leads by the

gorge of the Valentin and the Rochers de la Nieras. The Grand-Pic
de Gabizos, or Pic d' Eras-TaiUades (8805 ft.), to the S., is the chief

of a group in which the Petit-Pic. or Pic de Gabizos proper (8660 ft.),

ranks second. Panorama similar to that from the Pic du Ger (gee above).

To Argelks (Caiderets), 26 M., a very interesting road, known as

the Route Thermale (carr. 60-70 fr., with" four horses 100 fr. ; motor-
omn., see p. 141), through a striking and desolate tract. From the gorge
of the Valentin we make a long detour to (7'/.2 M.) the Col d'Aubisque
(5610 ft.), whence the Sovi de Grmn or de Cruvi (6140 ft.) is easily as-

cended in 20 minutes. Leaving the Col d'Arbaze on the left, we round Mont
Laid (6205 ft.), pass through a tunnel, and cross (13 M.) tiie Col de Sonlor
(4755 ft.) into the prettv ValUe d'Azun to (IB'/.^ M.) Arrens (29.55 ft.:
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Hot. de France; guides, F. Tisnes-Mousques, 1st cl., and P. Androt and
Jos. Tisnes, 2nd cl.), the chief place in the valley, dominated by the
Pic du Midi d'Arrens (7435 ft.). To the Balaitous, see p. 140. — Then
down the valley of the Gave d^Arrens to (24 M.) Ar7'as, with the ruined
Chateau de tastelnau-d'Azun (14th cent.). Argeles. see p. 140.

—
"Walkers

save 7 M. by taking a path to the right, on leaving the gorge of the
Valentin; this crosses the Co? de Tories (5900 ft.) and rejoins the road
1 M. from the pass. Then, 1/2 M. short of the Col de Soulor, another
short-cut to the right crosses the Col de Savcede (5010 ft.) and follows
the brook of Latin down to Arrens.

Other excursions, see below.

m. Eaux-Chaudes.
Arrival from Pau, see pp. 134. 135; from Eaux-Bonnes, see p. 137.

Hotels. Hot. Baudot. R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 9 fr.

;

Hot. de France. R. from 2, B. 1. L. 3. D. 31/.,. P. from 9fr.; Hot. HennlV,
B. 1. L. 3. D. 31/.,, P. 7-9 fr.

Etablissemext. open the whole year. Fee for drinking, 5 fr. ; baths
1-21/2 fr.; reduced taritf from 1st Oct. to 15th June. — Casino. Adm. 25 c.

Guide. Toussaint Saintmartin tils, 1st cl. ('skieur' in winter).

Anglican Church Service in summer (at the French Church).

Eawx-Chaudes (2215 ft.), in a wilder site than Eaux-Bormes,

lies in a narrow gorge on the right bank of the Gave d'Ossau or

de Gabas, shut in by huge rocks. The waters are potent, but less

patronized than those of Eaux-Bonnes, and life is quieter. Season

from June 15th to Oct. 1st.

The Etablissement, on the Gave, is partly built of Pyreneau

marble. The springs (which contain sulphur, soda, lime, etc.) are

chiefly beneficial for maladies of women, for rheumatism, and af-

fections of the respiratory organs and the nerves. On the first floor

of the bath-house is the Casino.

Eaux-Chaudes has fine promenades: Promenade Henri IV, near

the baths. d'Argout. and Horizontale, one above the other on the

left bank of the Gave. Two bridges lead to them, one near the bath-

house, the other higher up. to the right, outside the village; on this

side also is a waterfall. There are three other walks on the oppo-

site side ; the chief is the Promenade Minvielle, to the left, not far

from the road, with the spring of that name; also Promenadea
Fouchet and du Gourzy.

Excursion;?.

To THE Grotto of Eaux-Chaudes. about 1 hr. S.E. (adm. 2 fr., or

for a party I1/2 fr. each). The path ascends to the left of the Gabas road,

and for 1/., hr. is identical with that to Eaux-Bonnes over the Gourzj-

(p. 137): it then turns to the right. The G-rotto of Eaux-Cliaudes,
1475 ft. deep, which is very cold, has a torrent running through it,

forming at its source a high fall. Rfmts. at the entrance.

To Gabas and Bious-Artigues, easy and interesting. 5 and 8 M.

;

road to Gabas. then a bridle-path. The' road continues that from Pau
to Eaux-Bonnes towards the Spanish frontier. It crosses the Gave
d'Ossau bv the Pont d'' Enfer. and ascends the left bank of the picturesque
valley. (Walkers should follow the old road.) After li/o M. the Vcd de
Bitet diverges to tlie right; through it leads the path to the Col
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d'Iseye and Accous (p. 133). Farther on the valley narrows, and we
sight the grand Pic du Midi d'Ossau on the right. To the left is one of

the routes to the Lac d'Artouste (see below).— 5 M. Gabas (3395 ft.;

Hot. des Pyrenees, du Pic-du-Midi), the last French hamlet, lies at the

confluence of the Graves de Brousset and de Bious, which form the Gave
d'Ossau. It is a good starting-point for czcursions in the upper valley.
—We ascend the (rave de Bious valley, to the right, as far as the plateau

of (IV4 hr.) *Bious-Artigues (4920 ft.l, for the sake of the striking

view of the Pic du Midi. —The Pic de Biscaou (6625ft.), W. of Gahas.

is another splendid point of view. Easy ascent (3 hrs.), partly by the

Bious-Artigues road, which we leave in the valley of Aule and ascend

to the E. The descent may be made in 2 hrs., by a couloir on the X.
side. - From Gabas to Urdos and Le Somport, see p. 134.

Ascent of the Pic du Midi d'OssAU, for experts only, requiring a

full day and a good guide (20 fr. from Gabas). The route ascends the

valley of Gabas, and then that of the Gave de Brovsset or that of the

Gave de Bious. which skirt the mountain on the E. and W. sides. In

the former case we drive or ride on the road to Spain, for about 2 hrs.,

to the Case de Brousset (4535 ft.), a ruined inn; then ascend to the right

for 2 hrs. (riding still practicable) to the Col de Suzon (6890 ft.), be-

tween the Pic deSaonhiste (7250 ft.) and the Pic du Midi. The difficulties

of the ascent (21/2 hrs. more to the top) soon begin, lessened however by
iron bars in the three chimneys we have to climb. The last arete is

on the brink of a precipice. — The route by the Gave de Bious valley
follows the Bious-Artigues route to (1/2 M.)" the Vallon de Magnaba'igt,
ascends this dale to the Col Long de Magnaba'igt (13/^ hr. from Gabas),
and at the Col de Suzon (21/4 hrs.) joins the above route. — The Pic du
Midi d'Ossau (9465 ft.), reached in 5-6 hrs. from Gabas, is one of the
most characteristic peaks of the Pyrenees, rising precipitously on almost
every side. Its base is only IV4 M. in diameter, while for a mile all

around the earth is covered with its debris. The view is extensive. To
the N. are seen the Pic d'Atde (7905 ft.), the Vallee d'Ossau, and the
plain as far as Pan; to the E., theViguemale and Mont Perdu; to the S.,

the hills and plains of Aragon ; to the W., the Pic d'Anie.— The Petit-

Pic (9135 ft.), more difficult than the Grand-Pic, is reached via the Col
de Peyreget, between the Pic du Midi and the Pic de Peyreget {8115 ft.),

to the S.

To THE Lac d'Artouste (Refuge d'Arremo?dit), one day, partly
practicable on horseback; we may either cross the Col d'Arrius or ascend
the valley of the Gave de Soussoueou (guide from Gabas 9 fr.). In the
former case we follow the road to Spain for 1^/4 hr. beyond Gabas, V4 hr.

short of the Case de Brousset (see above), and ascend to the left, through
woods and pastures, to the (i:V4 hr.) Col d'Arrius (7395 ft.), whence the
lake below is reached in

'^/i hr, more. —The other route, a little longer,
diverges from the Gabas road 21/2 M. from Eaux-Chaudes, crosses the
Gave, and ascends on the right bank of the wild gorge of the Soussoueou,
a torrent issuing from the Lac d'Artouste. Half-way (about 3 hrs.) we
come to the Plateau de Soussoueou and a small plain, where on the left
a path comes up from.Eaux-Bonues over the Col de Lnrde (p. 137). Splen-
did views, especially of Pics Palas, d'Arriel, and de Balaitous (see below
and p. 140). The Lac d'Artouste (6445 ft.) hemmed in by mountains,
is impressive in its solitude. — About 1 hr. farther up, to the S., are the
three Lacs d'Arremoulit (7.S25-7545 ft.), and on the right badk of the
third is the Refuge d'Arr^moulit of tlie C.A.F. (7560 ft. ; room for
6-8 pers.), tlie starting-point for the three following ascents.

The Pic d'Arriel (9260 ft.; fine view; guide from Eaux-Chaudes
12 fr.), to tlie S.. on the frontier, is easily ascended in 3 lirs. from the
refuge, by the col to the S. of the Faux-Arriel, or Pic Sayet (8115 ft.),

or in 21/4 hrs. from the Col d'Arrius (see above), bv the little Lac d'Ar-
rius and the Col de Sobe (8020 ft.). —The Pic Palas, or Cuje la Palas
(9765 ft.; guide from Gabas 20 fr.), also on the frontier, is difficult, but
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affords a grand view of the Balaitous. The ascent, by the Col de la

PaJas. takes 3 hrs. from the refuge, the easier route by the N. ridge

41/2 hrs. — The Pic de Balaitous, Batlaytouse. ot Mannure (10,320 ft.;

guide from Eaux-Chaudes 30 fr.)- farther E.. for experts only, is ascended
in 6 hrs. from the refuge. The route leads by (1 hr.) the Col d'Arremoidit
(8055 ft.), between the Arriel and the Palas. We then descend towards
the Lac Superieur d' Arriel and ascend again to the 'Rocher du Dejeuner".
The rest of the ascent is made by an easy couloir and a giddy chimney.
Thf ascent from Arrfns (p. 137) is made via the (31/4 hrs.) Cahane de
Do/nnblas and the Vallon de Larribet, joining the preceding route at

the Rocher du Dejeuner. An easier route is on the Spanish side, by the
Cabane de Darre-Sp/nnni/s and the Glacier de la Breche-Latour.

To THE Baths of Pasticosa (Spain), 34 M., an interesting excursion.
Service of landaus, there and back 22 fr.

;
private carr. 125 fr. ; motor-

omn. from Eaux-Bonnes. see p. 136; private motor-car 140 fr. The road
leads by the Case de Bronsset (p. 139) to the Col du Pourtalet (13i'2 M.

;

5770 ft."), on the frontier; then descends the beautiful Vol Roumigas to

the (I1/2-2 hrs.) large Spanish village of Salient (4160 ft.; Hot. Bergua;
custom-house) and the village of (I1/2 hr.) Panticofta. beyond which we
pass through the *Gorge del Escalar to" (21/4 hrs.) the Baths of Panticosa
(5370 ft. ; Hot. Continental, Grand-Hotel. B. 1. L. 4, D. 5. P. from 9 pesetas),

famed for tlieir alkaline and sulphurous waters. They lie on the bank
of a blue lake, into which four cascades fall from the bare granite rocks
around. Season June 15th to Sept. 21st. —The Pics d'Enfer (p. 147), de
las Arualas (10.040 ft.). d'Algas (9990 ft.), and de Ganno Negro (9945 ft.)

may be ascended hence by good climbers. — To Caiderets (8V2-91/2 hrs.),

see' pp. 147. 146; or we mav cross bv the Col de Brazato (8385 ft.), the

Port de Plalaube (8230 ft.). 'and the Vallee d' Ossoue (p. 147) to (71/2 hrs.)

Gavarnie (p. 153).

21. Cauterets and Environs.
Coiiij'. the ?-[ap. p. loO.

I. From Lourdes to Cauterets.

20 M. To (13 M.) Pierrefitte-Xestalas. Railway in 35-60 min. (2 fr. 35.

1 fr. 60. 1 fr. 5 c). Thence Electric Railway to (7 M.) Cauterets in 50-

60 min. (2 fr. 25. 1 fr. 70 c). From Lourdes to Cauterets and back, 8 fr. 5.

7 fr. 5, 5 fr. 5 c— Route des Pyrenees, see p. 168.— The hotel-touts from
Cauterets should be disregarded.

Lourdes, see p. 126. The train sweeps round to the E., and

approaches Lourdes and the Gave de Pau at the station of Soum
('cable-line up the Pic de Jer. see p. 128). The valley becomes more

interesting.— 7\'o M. Boo-Silhen. On the right rises the small

Tour de Vidalos (14:th cent.). ^Ve cross the Gave.

91/2 ^I- Argeles-Gazost. —Hotels. Hot. de France, good, R.

from 3, B. I1/2. L- 3, D. 4. P. from 9. omn. 1/2 ^r. : Hot. du Pare & d'Angle-

terre. near tlie Pare; Hot. Beau-Sejour. at the station. R. from 2. B. 1.

L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 7 fr. — Etablissemest. Buvette 10 fr. ; bafh 2-3,

douche 1-11/2 fr- Institut de Therajyeutique Phi/sique (June-Nov.).—
Casixo. adm. 1-3 fr. — Golf Cofrse. — G-uide. Bern. Cazenave (2nd cl.).

— AsGLiCAX Church Service in summer at the Hot. de France.

Aryeles-Gazost (1410 ft.; pop. 1739), prettily situated at the

mouth of the Vallee d'Azun (p. 137), a good centre for excursions,

has of late become a favourite resort, even in winter. The sulphur-

ous waters are brought to the baths from Gazosf, 6 M. to the E.
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Motor-omn. fioiii 15tli July to 15th Sept., thrice weekly, to Eaiix-
Boimes (p. 135) and Laruns (p. 135) via the (Jot d'Atibisqi/e (p. 137). 12 fr.

;

to Lourcles, see p. 128. — Road to Eavx-Bonnes, see pp. 138, 137.

13 M. Pierrefitte-Nestalas (Hot. de la Poste, R. 3-4, B. 1,

L. 3, D. 31/2-4, P. 1072-12, omn. 1 fr.; Hot. des Pyrenees; Hot. de

France, at the station), a village 1/2 ^^- to the S.W., where the roads

to Cauterets and to Luz-St-Sauveur and Bareges begin, is a pleasant

place and a good centre for excursions.

A road which diverges from the Lourdes road to the left, at the end
of the village, leads to (25 min.) St-Savin, passing the little C'hapelle de
Pietat (16th cent.; view). The village of St-Savin (Panoramic Hotel)
sprang up round the famous abbey of that name. It has a fine Roman-
esque Church of the llth-12th cent., with a tower of the 15th, and two
paintings of the 15th cent., from the history of St. Savin, the hermit,
and also his tomb, of the Romanesque period, surmounted by a ricli

canopy (14th cent.).

On the other side of the valley is the (8/4 hr.) village of Beaucens,
with a ruined Castle of the 12th-16th cent., and small baths. The road
to it from Pierrefitte diverges to the left from the Bareges road. Motor-
omn. from Beaucens to Argeles (31/2 M. ; p. 140).

From Pierrefitte to the Lac Bleti and to Bagnh-es-de-Bigorre, see

pp. 164, 163.

The *Elbctric Railway to Cauterets starts from the railway

station, calls at (1/2 M.) Nestalas (p. 150), and ascends in zigzags.

Fine retrospect. It then skirts the E. bank of the Gave de Cau-
terets, high above the stream. To the right is an argentiferous lead-

mine. To the left of the valley rises the Pic de Viscos (p. 145).

Up the valley we sight the Hourmegas (p. 143) and the Peguere

(p. 146). Crossing a lofty viaduct, we then have fine views to the

right. — 41/2 M'- Calypso (2625 ft.). The vallev expands into a

small plain.— 7 M. Cauterets (2980 ft.).

The *RoAD TO Cauterets (Route des Pyrenees, see p. 168) leaves the
road to Luz-St-Sauveur and Bareges (R. 22) on the left, and ascends (fine

views). It then sweeps round to the W. side of the valley. Crossing the
stream (2 M.). it tlireads a wild defile, hewn in the rock at places, and
supported by walls above the torrent. One of tlic most curious points is

the Limax-on, where the road ascends in spiral curves through a chaos of
fallen blocks of marble. We then skirt the railway to Cauterets.

H. Cauterets.

Hotels (open May-Oct. ; omn. 50, trunk 50 c.). *Gr.-H6t. d' Angleterre
(PI. a), open the whole year, R. from 5, B. 11/..-2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra),
P. from 12'/.,. omn. 1 fr., *Continevtal Hotrl'iPl. h). R. from 5, B. IVn,
L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr., large houses of the first class,
in the Boul. Latapie-Flurin, near tlie Espldnadc. — Gr.-Hot. dei" Uiiive7-s
(PI. c), 1 Rue de la Raillcre, R. from S'/a- B. I1/4, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 10,
omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Rpgma (PI. d), Esplanade des GEufs, R. from 3, B. IV2,
L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12 h. — Hut. de France (PI. e), Rue St-Louis and Rue
Richelieu, R. from 3, P. from 12 fr. ; Uot. du Fare (PI. f). Place St-Martin,
R. from 2V.2. B. IV4, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. du Boulevard &
de Russie (PI. g), Boul. Latapie-Flurin, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/.,, D. 41/2,

P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. de Paris & Moderne (PI. h), Place St-Martin, good,
R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 31/2, D. 41/2, P- from 10 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. de la Paix
(PI. i), Place de la Mairie, good, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3"/... D. 4, P. from
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10 fr.; Hot. de Londres & des Thermes (PI. k), Rue Richelieu, open the
whole year, R, from 2, B. 1, L. S'/z. D- 4, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. Bellevve
(PI. 1), near the station, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. SVa, P- from 8 fr.

;

Hot. des Pi/rene'es (PI. m), Rue Richelieu, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 8V2.
P. from 8 iFr. ; Hot. des Amhassadeurs (PI. n), Rue Richelieu, L. 21/2,

D. 31/2^ P- from 8 fr. — Furnished Houses abound.

C_a"^e A Tnprm-i?par Magne, AiDel^es,Leipzig

Baths. Of the ten Etablissements nine belong to the 'Commission
Syndicale de la Vallee de St-Savin'. The Etablissement du Petit-St-
Scmve?ir (p. 144) is private. The charges at these vary (highest in July
and Aug.): baths Va-^fr.. douches 1/2-2 fr., etc. The Etablissement de
C^sar alone is open the whole year. — List of Phtsiciaks posted up in all

the bath-houses.

Cabs. Drive in the town, 1-2 pers., 1 fr. ; 3-4 pers. I'/g fr- ; trunk
25 c. Ascent to La Raillere or Pauze 3 or 4 fr., there and back 4 or 5 fr.;

ascent to Le Bois 4 or 5, there and back 5 or 6fr. — Outside the town,
4 or 5 fr. the first hour, and 2 or 3 fr. per hour afterwards.

Carriages. Per dav 15-40 fr. (bargain necessary). Cascade de C^risey
8-10 fr,. there and back"l2-14 fr. ; Pont d'Espagne 12-16 fr., or 15-20 fr.

Electric Railway (every 10 min. from the Esplanade, p. 143) to
La RailVere in 7 min. (fare 50 or 40, descent 30 or 20, there and back
70 or 50 c). No cars between 11.30 and 2. or after 6 p.m.
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Q-uides, about 60. the tirst class having a white cloth crown above
their badge. First cl. : Paul Batan, the four Bordenaves (skieurs), two
Labasses, and A. Palax. Second cl. : Leon and Louis Bordenave (skieurs).

A. Boueyrie, F. Crenthieu, E. Latapie (skieur). Jos. Matrassy-Bordenave
(skieur), J. B. Poulot, M. Soubirous. Usual fee 1.5 fr. per day (less be-

tween 15th Sept. and 15th June; more when the guide is discharged at a

distance).

Casino at the Thermes des (Eufs (see below), adm. 50 c. ; seat in

theatre, from 2 or 3 fr. — Casino Club, Boul. Latapie-Flurin. — Band on
the Esplanade 1.30-3.

Post & Telegraph Office, Rue de Belfort. —Syndieat d'lnitia-
tive, at the Mairie.

Anglican Church Service in summer at the French Protestant
Church.

Golf Course on the Plateau de Cayan (p. 146).

Caiderets (3060 ft.; pop. 1424) is beautifully situated in a

valley enclosed by lofty mountains, and on the banks of the torrent

of Cauterets. As a thermal station it ranks amongst the foremost

in France, and is a great centre for excursions. It is visited annually

by over 50,000 patients and tourists. Season 1st May to loth Oct.

;

winter sports loth Dec. to 15th March.
The Wateis contain chiefly sulphates and silicates, and there are

also alkaline waters. They are supplied by 24 springs, several of tliem
very copious, yielding in all about 352,000 gallons per day. They vary
greatly in temperature (89° to 136°) and in composition.

Opposite the station is the shady Park, with the Thedfre de la

Nature. The Rue de Richelieu leads thence to the Place Sf-Martm,
which, with the adjoining Place de la Mairie, forms tiie centre of

the town. The Mairie contains a relief-plan of the Central Pyrenees

(adm. 50 c).

On the left bank of the stream lies the Esplanade des Gllufs,

the rendezvous of visitors, adjoined by a covered promenade. At
the end of the Esplanade is the Gare des (Eufs, the terminus of

the RailUre railway.
The Esplanade des ffiufs is a good point from wliich to take our

bearings. The Peyuere rises to the S., behind Les CEufs. Beyond La
Raillere is the Pic de Ho/n'me'gas, separated from the Peguere by the
Vallee de Je'rcf. in which runs the road to the Lac de Gaube. To the
left of the Hourmegas is the Valli'e de Lutoitr. on the opposite side of

wliich rise bare peaks, with snow even in summer. The chief of these
is the Pic d'Ardiden. beyond which ^es St-Sauveur. To the N.E., above
the town, are the Pics de Phne-Nire and de Viscos; tlien. to tlie left of

the valley of the (xave de Cauterets, are the Cabaliros, closing the valley
to the N.. and the 3Ionne, separated from the Peguere by tlie Vallee de
L'ambasque. in which lies the Lac Bleu.

The Thermes des GElufs, built in 1867-9 at the foot of the

Peguere, arc the most interesting of the Etablissemeuts. The baths

are fed by the six Sources des CEufs, 174 M. to the S., which
supply 132,000 gallons a day. This bath-house contains a swimming-
batli of running water. The waters (113°; are chiefly used in the

treatment of chlorosis, aujemia, and diseases of the skin and mucous
membrane. The offices of the company also are here. On the first

Moor is the Casit/o (sec aboxo. with a eafe-rcstaiii-ant mid a theali-c.
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Behind, on the VN-ooded slopes of the Beguere, is the pleasant Pro-

menade des Lacets or du Cambasque.
From the N. side of the Esplanade des CEufs the Av. and Pro-

menade du Mamelon-Vert lead to the Mamelon-Vei^t, a fine point

of view.

On the right bank, to the E. of the Place St-Martin, are the

Th.erines de C6sar et des Espagnols, fed by the Source de Cesar
(118"), recalling an alleged visit of Csesar, and by the Source des

Espagnols (117°), both of which issue higher up from the Montague
de Peyraoute. These waters, the strongest at Cauterets, are used

chiefly in treating chronic diseases of the respiratory orgaus, scro-

fulous affections, skin diseases, and rheumatism.

In a garden, a little to the N., are the Neothermes, reached

also by a passage through the Hotel du Pare. They are supplied

by three springs, the Source du Rocher (95°), containing iron,

that of Rieumiset (61°), and a small branch of the Source de Cesar,

and are used for cutaneous and rheumatic affections. From the Neo-

thermes the shady Avenue de Canceru leads up the Montagne de

Peyraoute to (1^4 ^^•) the hamlet of Canceru (fine views), whence

we may descend to the Pierrefitte road.— On the slope of the

Peyraoute, higher up is the smaller Etahlissement de Pauze-Vieiu:

(109°), past which a road leads X. to the (^2 lir.) Grange de la,

Reine-Hoi'tense (3985 ft.; aub.\ where that queen once took shelter

from a storm.

The Etablissement de la Raill^re, most important of all, lies

1 M. to the S., on the road continuing the Rue de la Raillere. (Short-

cut from the Esplanade.) Electric railway, see p. 142. This bath-

house, rebuilt in 1888, with galleries and promenades, is 3455 ft.

above the sea-level, on a slope covered with fallen rocks ('raillere' j.

It is built over a spring (102°), which is so abundant that even

horses are treated. In the cure of diseases of the respiratory organs

it vies with Eaux-Bonnes (p. 135). Adjacent is the Etahlissement

du Pre-Nouveau.
We enjoy a fine view from the Raillere, but a finer farther on,

where two small waterfalls unite to form the Gave de Cauterets. Here

are the Buvette de Mauhourat-Inferieur (118°) and the Buvette

des CFJufs (129°j. We cross the Gave de Jeret by the Poiit de

Benqu^s (3450 ft.), and next reach the Thermes du Petit-St-Sauveur
(94°), rebuilt in 1908, and beneficial in cases of neurasthenia, de-

bility, maladies of women, etc. Xext come the Etahlissement du
Pre (,108°j, the Source Mere de Mauhourat (122°j, the Source

des Yeux (73°), and, still higher up, the Etahlissement du Bois
(108°; 3675 ft.), highly esteemed for the cure of rheumatism. The

Cascade de Cerisey (p. 146) is 20 min. farther on; thence we may
take a beautiful walk to the Pont d'Espagne.





hi ^ r

-**'" ^>

To? flfe aiia^ta--

'y- .\iiier(je

Pic deCulxuoxiS

';

SoumdeCestrede '

rtcjneTiiala ricclelaSeDe ; -. ^.---^'Safihiism

Picde^pnt-Bn-^e

PicAe Laba'sse

^^ Pique Wou^up FetilVienemide f^-t--
'

. ^f^.! ^ij
-\ y ^ / Pass* Ja» ^ , r—

J-

,

M; ClotdelulEojjLfj^KJtef: /jssO^--''—— ^ PicPomflj^ttrou . 2930

Scnundlajsp^ \

1 ; 100 000

i'*^X— J OS*

,*9ibTitfefmi ,

KilQin.. °
-i En|Li"iIile.



Map, p. 150. LE MONNE 21. Route. 145

III. Excursions from Cauterets.

Motor-omu. to Lourdes, Bagneres, and Luchon (Route des Pyrenees),
see p. 168.

To THE Col de Riou, 2^2-3 hi"s. E., very attractive (guide, un-

necessary, 8, horse 8, donkey 6 fr.). The bridle-path ascends past

the Grange de la Reine-Horteuse (p. 144), and through a fine forest

of firs, to the Col de Riou (6320ft.; good inn; striking view,

with indicator). To Luz and St-Sauveur, see p. 149. The col is

1/2 hr. from the top of the Pene-Xere (6725 ft.; extensive view).

To THE Pic de Viscos, 4V2-5 his. X.E. (guide 10, horse 10, donkey
8 fr. ; from St-Sauveur, see p. 151). To the (3Va hrs.) Pene-Nere, see above.

Thence following- to the N. the E. slope, we reach in 1/2 hr. the foot of the
peak, and easily climb, N.W., to the top of the Pic de Viscos (7025 ft.).

The view is finest towards the plain.

To THE MoxE, about 4V2 hrs. V*'^., easy (guide 12, horse 12,

donkey 10 fr,). AYalkers turn to the left from the Av. du Mamelon-
\'ert and skirt the Peguere from E, to W,, by the Vallee de Cam-
basque, cross (1 hr,) the torrent, and ascend to the (1 hr.) Cabaiie

(le Cinquet (5725 ft.), then (1 hr.) to that of Chibirrou (6200 ft.),

11/2 hr. from the top.— The bridle-path follows the Raillere road,

crosses the bridge, turns to the right, and skirts the Peguere until

(•^4 hr.) it joins the preceding path. Horses are left about 1150 ft.

below the top. The passage from the first peak (8920 ft.) to the

second is short but not easy.— The Monne, or Soiiin de Monne
(8935 ft,), is one of the most prominent peaks seen from Cauterets;

it serves as a barometer, the weather being foretold from the mists

in which it is often slirouded. The S, side, next the Val du Lys,

is abrupt, but the N. side descends gently to the valley of Bun; it

ends in a slaty crest, where we have a superb view.

To THE Lac Bleu, 3'/;, hrs. S.W. (guide 10, with return by the Pont
d'Espagne 15 fr. ; horse to the waterfall 8, donkey 6 fr.). We take the
Mound route as far as the bridge (see above), and then follow the Vallee
de Oauibasque, past (I1/2 hr.) the fine Cascade d^ lUeou and the little Lac
Noir. The wild and lonely site of the Lac Bleu or d'llleou (6515 ft,)

contrasts witli its deep blue limpid waters. To the W. rises the Grand-
Bnrbat (9225 ft.; 3 hrs., with guide; vast panorama); to the E, the Pic
de Nets (8025 ft.). We may return (41/2 hrs.). S.E,, by the Col de la Haoii-
yade, the Plateau deCayan (p. 146), and the Pont d' Espagne (p. 14t>),

To THE Cabaliros, about 41/2 lirs, N.W, (guide, needless, 10,

hor.se 10, donkey 8 fr,). We follow the Promenade du Mamelou-Vert
for 10-12 mill,, then turn to the left behind the shed of a white

house, and skirt the Peyrenere to the (1 hr.) Plateau d'Esponne
(rfmts.). Thence we gain (1/2 hr.) the E. buttresses of the Monne,
beyond which the ascent is steeper. We reach in l^/^ hr, the Col
de Contente (6950 ft,; superb view; inn, open July to mid-Sept.).

The rest of the climb is easy. The rounded Cabaliros (7655 ft,),

the chief peak to the N, of Cauterets, commands a splendid *Pan-
iiiauia (view-indicator), one of the finest in the Pyrenees.

*To THE Lac de (taube, 2^2 hrs. S.S.W. (guide, unnecessary,
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S, horse 8, donkey 6 fr.). We may go by rail to the Raillere, and

then drive to the Pont d'Espagne (motor-cars prohibited). We
ascend the Val de Jeret, on the right bank of the torrent, whose
bed is strewn with huge boulders. On the opposite side rises the

Peguere (see below). We reach, in ^/^ hr. from the Raillere, the

imposing -Cascade de Cerisey (4060 ft.; rfrats.; belvedere, 15 c),

divided by a rock and falling into a deep abyss. Between 10 and

2 o'clock rainbows are formed above it by the sun. Grand scenery.

About Y4hr. beyond the v.aterfall, we come to the -Pont d'Espagne
(4900 ft.; cafe-rest.), at the confluence of the Gaube and Marcadaou
torrents. The former has a superb fall here. (The upper fall is

reached by a wooden bridge across the Gave de Marcadaou.) Valley

(if Ivlarcadaou, see below. The bridle-path to the (^j^ hr.j Lac de

Gaube, rather steep for ^4 hr., continues to ascend the right bank

of the torrent. The scenery becomes wilder, and we sight the

Vignemale with its glacier. The Lac de Gaube (5870 ft.), about

800 by 350 yds., lies in a wide and bleak basin formed by the bare

sides of the Pic Meya (8185 ft. ; E.) and the Pic de Gaui>e'{764=0 ft.

;

W.). It abounds in trout and is fed by the N. glacier of the Vi-

gnemale (p. 148). On the bank are an Inn (L. or D. 4 fr.) and a

monument to a Mr. Pattison and his wife who were drowned in the

lake in 1832.

To THE Peguere, S^/g hrs. S.W. (guide 12, horse to the Ca banes

10, donkey 8 fr.). To (1^4 hr.) the Cascade de Cerisey, see p. 145

and above. Opposite the buvette a forest-path diverges to the right.

It ascends in zigzags above precipices 1600 ft. high, on the S. side

of the mountain, to (1/2 hr.) the last spring (4395 ft.) on this slope.

Higher up i}/.^ hr.) the path forks and riders dismount. We then

ascend the ravine of the Laoune, which is often swept by aval-

anches. The Pic Peguere ;,7175 ft.) is the wooded peak which
appears up the valley as we come from Pierrefitte. A superh view

is obtained from the path at a height of 6500 ft. To the E. and W.
the view embraces the valleys of Jeret and Cambasque.

To the Valley of Marcadaou, 4 hrs.' walk, or 3^0 hrs. on

horseback as far as the Refuge Wallon (guide, unnecessary, 12,

horse 15, donkey 10 fr.). To the (2 hrs.") Pont d'Esjjagne, see

p. 145 and above. We cross the bridge and ascend by the Gave de

Marcadaou to the (^4 hr.) Plateau de Cayan (5255 ft.), a romantic

solitude amidst wooded mountains, in which chamois, heath-cocks,

and bears (now rare) are found. A golf-course has recently been

laid out here. Farther on v.e leave to the left the Yallon de Pouey-
trenous, which ascends towards the Pic de Chabarrou (p. 148),

cross the torrent, and reach the (V^ hr.) EscaUer de la Pourtere
(5510 ft.). We recross the torrent and reach (1,0 hr.) the Refuge
Wallon \6100 ft.;, in the pastures of the Pla de la Gole. Fine view

of the Grande-Fache (p. 147).
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Still ascending (N.W.) the Gave de Marcadaou, then to the right the
brook Battans, we come to the cirque of the Lacs de Cmnbales, whence
we may mount to the Br'eche de Cambcdes (8725 ft.), 3 hrs. from the refuge.

The mule -track in the valley of Marcadaou ascends to the Po7-t de
Marcadaou (about 2 hrs. : 8385 ft.), on the frontier, and then descends to

(2V2-3 hrs.) the Baths of Fanticosa (p. 140). From Cauterets to the Port,

guide 12, horse 15, donkey 10 fr. ; to the Baths, guide 30, horse 30 fr.— From
the Refuge Wallon we may go in 6 hrs. to Panticosa by the Breche de la

Badette (8870 ft.), to the S., and past the Lacs de Byaraatiiero (guide 12 fr.).

— The ascent of the Pic d'Enfer, or Quejctda de Fi/iidiUos (10,110 ft.), in

Spain, S.W. of the Port de Marcadaou, fit for experts only, takes 43/4 or

7 hrs., according to the route from the Port, the shorter crossing the N.
glacier, the longer by the Col de Salient (guide 30 fr.).

To THE Pic de Baxaitous. Two routes, two days each (guide 85 fr.).

1st, by Argeles and Arrens, see R. 211 and pp. 138, 137, 140. — 2nd, by the

Ool de la Fache. sleeping at the Cabaue de Darre-Spumous, an excellent
excursion. To the Refuge Wallon, 4 hrs., see p. 146. For 1/2 hr. more we
follow the Port de Marcadaou route, then ascend to the right to the Col
de la Fache (21/3 hrs. ; 8985 ft.), between the Petite-Fache (9700 ft.; N.)

and the Grande- Fache, or Sount de Bacchnaille (9910 ft. ; S. ; ascended
from the col in IV4 hr.). From the col we descend rapidly into Spain,

follow the Piedrafitta torrent, and beyond the lake of Campo-Plano reach

tlie C'ctbane de Darre-SpumoKS (2V2 hrs.
; p. 140).

To (tavarxie by the Refuge d'Ossoue (route by Pierrelitte and

8t-8auveur, see pp. 141, 150-153).— 1. Via the Lac de Gaube,

about 10 hrs., guide 15 fr. (not needed by experts in fine weather;,

and same for return. We may ride (same charge), but it suffices to

take a horse to the Refuge d'Ossoue (12, donkey 10 fr.). To the

Lac de Gaube, see pp. 145, 146. (Boat up the lake, 1 fr. each

person.) AVe continue to ascend the stream, which forms several

falls, notably the Petite and the Grande Cascade de Splumous
{V/.2 hr. from the inn on tlie lake). From the hut by the latter

fall we may scale the Pic de Chabarrou (p. 148). We next come
to the (hdettes de Gaube (6750 ft.), and then to the Oidettes du
Vignemale (7210 ft.), the last terrace in the valley (1 hr. from the

Grande Cascade). Hei-e we have a grand view of the N. glacier and

the precipices of the Vignemale, over 3300 ft. high. To the left

rise the Pics d'Araille and de la Sebe (p. 148). The Gavarnie bridle-

path leads S.E. (to the right of that to the Hourquette d'Araille,

p. 148) to tlie Hourquette d'Os.soue, or Col du Vignemale (8985 ft.

;

;ibout 6 hrs. from Cauterets), 10 min. beyond which is the Refuge
d'Ossoue or Bayssellance, of the (J.A.F. (8760 ft.; teuanled in

summer). We next pass near the thi-ee Grottes-Refuges cBelle-

Wie'; 7875 ft.), leave the Vignemale path on the left, and desceml

S. to the Gave d'Ossoue ('/a hr-)- We follow the right bank of

the torrent, cross it where it turns S.E., and recross it above the

Cascade des Ouleties. We cross the Fas des Oulettes : then, at

the Bansin des Oulettes (1 hr.; 6110 ft.), return to the left bank.

Here we leave to the right the (1 hr.) Cabanes de Sansst^ (5480 ft.).

The path, regaining the right bank, then descends rapidly through

woods, again crossing the torrent twice as we near Gavarnie
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(p. 153).— 2. Via the Vallee de Lutour, about 11 hrs.; guide

15 fr. each way. There are two exits from the head of the valley:

the Col cVEstom-Souhiran (6V2-7hrs.
; p. 149), crossing to the

Vallee d'Ossoue (p. 147), and secondly the Col de Mallerouge

(8860 ft.), 1 hr. E. of the first Lac d'Estom-Soubiran (p. 149),

leading S. to the (V2 tr.) Col de la Hoide (8445 ft.) and the

(V2 tr.) Cahane de Salent (6515 ft.); then E., down the valley of

the Gave d'Aspe, and lastly S. to Gavarnie (p. 153).

To THE Pic de Chabarrou, 7 hrs. S.W., or 4i/._, his. from the Lac de
Graube (guide from Cauterets 15, or returning by the valley of Marcadaou,
20 fr.). Following the Vignemale route to the Grande Cascade de Splumous
(p. 147), we there take a path to the right (W.) to (1 hr.) the beautiful
Lac de Chabarrou (7485 ft.). Thence to the top in 1^/4 br., by a very
steep slope, over debris, a short neve, and precipitous rocks. The Pic
de Chabarrou (9550 ft.) is one of the finest ascents near Cauterets.
The view extends from the Pic d'Anie to Mont Perdu and the Pic du
Midi de Bigorre. We mav descend X.. bv the A^allev of Marcadaou, past
the (1.2 hr.) Breche (8925'ft.), the Vallon, and the *(li/.j hr.) t'abane de
Pouetjirenous, to the (V2 br.) Plateau de Cayan (p. 146) and the (^/i hr.)

Pujit d'Espagne (p. 146).

To THE ViGSEMALE, 2 (lavs (oue from Gavarnie, see p. 156), a night
being spent at the Refuge d'Ossoue (3 hrs. from the top). The ascent is

toilsome and good guides are necessary (30 fr. ; a single tourist should
take two; to the refuge 15, horse 15 fr.). Rope and axe necessary. From
Cauterets to the Refuge d'Ossoue, see p. 147. Beyond the grottoes, to

the right, lies the Glacier d'Ossoue, or E. glacier of the Vignemale,
2 M. long and 1/2 M. wide. Early in the season this glacier may be
crossed safely; but after the middle of August it is dangerous, and we
hiuve to make a detour of IV2 hr. by the crest of the Montferrat (10,575 ft.).

In this case we cross only a small part of the glacier, using the rope.
"We then cross the nev^ between the VerbiUona (10,605 ft.) and the Pique-
Longue, arriving in 1/2 hr. at the foot of the latter, which is climbed in

20 min. more across loose red slate. The Vignemale (10.820 ft.) is the
highest peak on the frontier, all the higher peaks being in Spain. It

rises in nine peaks, chief of which is the Pique-Longue, separated by a

chasm from the Pic Carre (10.515 ft.). The lowest is the Petit-Vignemcde
(9970 ft.), to the S. of the Hourquette d'Ossoue, and easily ascended in

11/4 hr. from the Refuge d'Ossoue (guide 20 fr., returning by the valley
of Lutour). The vast panorama from the Vignemale embraces a chaos of

mountains, notably the Gavarnie group. Count Russell (p. 153) had four
Grottes-Befnges excavated on the Pique Longue; three of them, near the
Col de Cerbillona (10,520 ft.), have been buried by the glacier and are
often inaccessible; the fourth ('le Paradis') is 260 ft. higher up, closi' to

the top. "We may descend on the Gavarnie side (see p. 156).

To THE Pios d'Araille akd de la Sebe, 7V4 and b^/o hrs. to the S.

fguide 20 fr. for each). To the (51/4 hrs.) Oulettes du Vignemale. see

p. 147. Thence, to the left, by the new bridle-path to the Hourquette
d'Araille (1^/4 hr.

; p. 149), between the two peaks. A little short of the
top of the pass we mount the steep, but easy slopes, to the N., to the
summit of the Pic d'Araill6 (9065 ft. ; splendid view). The Pic de
la Sebe (9780 ft.j is trying, in the higher part at least. From the col

we follow the "W. slope to the X. breche of the Sebe (35 min.), beyond
which we ascend a broad ridge and then a jagged arete to the (li/.^ hr.)

top. The view is still finer than that from the Araille. The accent
from the Hourquette d'Ossoue (p. 147) is easier, taking 1^/4 hr. only.
From either of these peaks we may descend in I-I1/4 hr. to the Lac
d'Estom (p. 149).
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Valley of Lutour. To the Lac d'Estom 31/2 iirs. (guide, un-

necessary, 10, horse 10, donkey 8 fr.). This valley opens to the

left at the Pont de Benques (p. 144). The path ascending it diverges

to the left from the road to the Pont d'Espagne, between the bath-

houses of Le Pre and Le Bois, and soon passes the Cascade de

Lutour, just short of which riders cross the stream, while walkers

ascend straight on. After a steep ascent we reach (1 hr. from the

Pont de Benques) the Pont d'Arrioutm^t (4440 ft.), which walkers

cross to regain the bridle-path. A little farther up is the dairy

of La Fruitiere. The scenery becomes grander. The slope on the

right is wooded ; that on the left is furrowed with ravines, and

surmounted by a rocky crest, culminating in the Pic d'Ardiden

(see below). To the left, farther on, we see the Kavin de Lanusse,

through which a path ascends to the Refuge Henry-Russell (see

below). Higher up, we recross to the left bank by the Pont de

Pouey-Caou (5035 ft.), near a triple Cascade, and lastly ascend a

rocky slope to the picturesque Lac d'Estom (5845 ft. ; inn at the

N. end).

From the ina a good bridle-path ascends iu zigzags to tlie (-^4 hr.)

Hourquette or Col d'Araille, whence we may ascend (with guide) the

Pics d'Araille, and de la Sebe (p. 148), or join the path from Cauterets
to Gavarnie at (IJ/2 hi-) the Oulettes du Vignemale (p. 147), 1V> hr. from
the Lac de Gaube (p. 146).

Still higher up lie the small Lacs d"Estom-Souhiran (guide 15 fr.).

It takes about 3 hrs. to reach the head of the valley, interesting all the

way; we may thence ascend (I'o hr.) to the CoZ d' Estom-Soubiran, which
affords a striking *View of the Vignemale. — To Gavarnie over this col

or the Col de Mallerouge, see pp. 147, 148.

Ascent of the Pic d'Ardiden, 6V2 hrs. S.E. of Cauterets, interesting

(guide 20 fr. ; riding practicable to the Refuge Russell). We ascend the

Vallee de Lvtour to the Ruisseau de Lanusse (see above; about 21/2 hrs.),

on whose right bank a bridle-path leads to the (IV4 hr.) Refuge Henry-
Russell (6595 ft.; untenanted), on the Plateau de C'ulaous. Thence, N.E.,
we reach the W. arete of the peak, by which we climb to the top (2^/4 hrs.).

The Pic d'Ardiden (9805 ft.), a chaos of disintegrated rocks, afl'ords a

superb view of the plain and surrounding valleys, etc. We may descend
to (4 hrs.) Luz (p. 150) through a deep, rock-strewn gorge containing the

Lacs d'Ardiden, the largest of which presents a most striking scene. We
then cross the Col d'Astrets and descend the Vallee du Bertiazaou.

From Cauterets to Luz and St-Sauveur over the Col de Riou
(by railway, see pp. 141, 150), 6 hrs.

;
guide and horse to tlie col 8 fr.

each, to Luz 15 fr. (10 fr. only to the guide if mounted). To (2V.r3 hrs.)

the Col de Riou, see p. 145. We descend by the Granges de Cnreilles

(4165 ft.) to the hamlet of Grust ; then S.E., by Sazos and Sassis (p. 150),

to Luz or St-Sauveur (p. 150). Reversed, the excursion takes 5 hrs. (3 hrs.

to the col).

From Cauterets to G^dre over the Col de Culaous, lOV^-H hrs.

(guide 15 fr. per day). To the Refuge Henry-Russell, SVa-* hrs., see above;
then an ascent of 2 hrs. to the Col de Culaous (8760 ft. ; view), whence
the difficult Soum de Cestr'ede (9670 ft.; *View), I'/a hr. S., may be
climbed. Descent from tlie col by the Lac Noir (»/;. hr. ; 7650 ft.), the

pretty Lac d'Arrouyes (3/4 hr. ; 6810 ft.), and the Granges de But' (IV2 hr.

;

I'-jOft.) to the (2 hrs.) (iavarnie road, V4 hr. from Gi^dre (p. 152).
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22. Luz, St-Sauveur, and Environs.

I. From Lourdes to Luz and St-Sauveur.

Eail\yai- to (13 M.) Pierrefltte-Xestcdas (p. 141) ; thence Electric Rail-
way (8 M. ; 2 fr. 70 c, 2 fr. ; views to the right). From Lourdes to Lj/z- St-
Sauveur. in li/'r2 hrs. (5 fr. 5. 4 fr. 30, 3 fr. 5 c. ; return 8 fr. 95, 7 fr. 95,

5 fr. 65 c). Carriages during the season; to Gavarnie, see pp. 151, 152.
— Route des Pyrenees, see p. 168.

To Piei'refitte-Nestalas, see pp. 140, 141. The electric line

diverges from the Cauterets line at Nestalas (p. 141) and crosses the

Gave de Cauterets. At Soulom are power-houses (21,000 h.p.) for

the electric lines of the Comp. du Midi. The Gave de Pau is next

crossed. The line then follows the carriage-road and ascends the

^Gorge de Luz, 5 M. long, the finest part of which is beyond the

Pont de VEchelle on the old road. The line, often hewn in the rock,

rises to a height of 260 ft. above the stream. Facing us rises the

Pic de Xere (p. 151). We now enter a grassy basin and descend to

the (5 M.) Pont de la Peine or de la Hiladere.— 7 M. Pont du
Pescadere (2130 ft.), by which both road and railway recross the

stream.
The Road to St-Sauveur (I1/4 M.) leads to the right before the bridge

and ascends on the bank of the Gave de Pau, then on that of the Gave
de Gavarnie. which unites with the Bastan at Sassis (p. 149) to form
the Gave de Pau.

In fi'ont of us rises the Bergons (p. 151). To the left is the

ruined Chdtean de Sfe-Marie (14th cent.).—^8 M. Luz-St-Sanveur
(2330 ft.j, whence Luz is reached by crossing the Bastan.

n. Luz and St-Sauveur.
Luz. — Hotels, near the station, good. Hot. de VUnivers, R. from

21/2- B. 1. L. 3, D. 4.' P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Londres. open April-Oct.. R.
from 3. B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/2. P. from 8 ix. — Rest, de la Gare, L. or D. 21/2 fr.

Luz (2425 ft.; pop. 1525) lies on the Bareges road and the

Bastan, in a valley of which it was once the almost independent capi-

tal. It attracts summer visitors, both on its own account and from
being near St-Sauveur. The curious Church, attributed to the Temp-
lars, dates perhaps from the 12th cent., but with later additions.

Like many other churches in this region it was fortified, and is

still enclosed by a defensive wall. The apse is flanked with two
towers, that on the N. being a kind of keep. The Eomanesque N.

portal is interesting. At the W. end, on the right, is a large 16th

cent, chapel. The X. tower contains a small museum (^/g fr.).

The road to (^2 M.) St-Sauveur passes the old Thermes of Luz
and crosses the Gave de Gavarnie. Short-cut near the bridge.

St-Sauveur.— Hotels (omn. 1 fr.). Hot. des Bains & des Princes,
good. R. from 3. B. IV2, L. 3. D. 4 (w-ine extra). P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de
France, open 15th May to 15th Oct., good, R. from 21/2. B. I1/4. L. 3, D. 4
(wine extra), P. from "s fr. ; Hot. de Paris, open May-Oct.. R. from 2i/i,

B. 11/4, L. 21/2, D. 31/.2, P. from 8 fr.
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ST-SAUVEUR. ?^- Route. 151

Etablissements. Bains des Dames and Thermes de la Honfalade,
buvette and baths at both. Season June - September.

Guides. 1st cl., J. 31. C'atala (skieur) and J. M. Thomas; 2nd cl.,

31. C'azaux ('Palu'), B. Chai-let, and J. 31. Lons flls. Tariff, see excursions.
Post & Telegraph Office, next the Etablissement des Dames. —

Anglican Church Service in summer.

St-Sauveur (2525 ft.) is a pretty modern village of a single

street, on the E. slope of the So7n de Laze (6025 ft.), above the

gorge of the Gave de Gavarnie. The warm sulphur-springs are

chiefly used for maladies of women and for nervous diseases. The
Etablissement des Dames is fed by the spring of that name (94°).

Below it is the fine public Jardi?i Anglais, sloping steeply down
to the stream, which is crossed by a bridge leading to the direct

road from Luz to the Pont Napoleon (see below).

The Theinnes de la Hontalade lie on a slope 820 ft. (10 min.)

above St-Sauveur. The water (72°), beneficial for the respiratory

organs, resembles that of Les Dames, but contains more sulphate

of soda. The Plateau de la Hontalade affords a fine view.
On the road to Gavarnie the *Pont Napoleon, 215 ft. high, crosses the

stream. From a distance it looks like a gigantic portal to the ravine.

in. Excursions from Luz and St-Sauveur.
Motor-omu. to Cauterets (Route des Pyrenees), see p. 168.

To Cauterets by the Col de Rio/t, or to the Pic d"Ardiden, see p. 149.

Ascent of the Pic de Viscns, 41/2-5 hrs. (guide 10, horse 7 fr.), easy
and interesting. We follow the Col de Riou route, N.W., to the (1 hr.)

Granges de Cnreilles (p. 149), tlien turn to the right, and scale the Pic on
the N.W. side (see p. 145).

Ascent of the Pic de Bergons, a favourite excursion, 4-5 hrs.

(guide, unnecessary, 8, horse 6 fr.). We leave Luz by the Bareges

road (p. 156) and ascend S.E., past Villenave (2620 ft.), by a well-

beaten track. (From St-Sauveur a bridle-path ascends to the left

at the Pont Napoleon; see above.) The *Pic de Bergons (6790 ft.),

almost isolated, is an admirable point of view, inferior only to the

Pimene (p. 156) ; the Cascade de Gavaruie, more than 14 M. distant,

is visible to the S.

Ascent of the Pic de Nere, 5 hrs. N. of Luz, interesting, partly

on horseback (guide 12, horse 8 fr.). We start by the Bareges road,

cross the stream, and ascend to (17* hr.) Set's (3705 ft.), then N. to

the (1 1/4 hr.) Cabanes d'Arbeousse (5850 ft.), and W. to the (1 V4 hr.)

Col d'ArbeoHSse (7105 ft.; view). A climb of 3/4 hr. up the argte

brings us to the top of the *Pic de Nere or de N^re {1^1^ ft.;

admirable view). Ascent from Bareges, see p. 158.

To THE Cirque de Gavarnie. Road to Gavarnie 12 M., then 1 hr.

by bridle-path (guide needless), one of the finest excursions in the

Pyrenees, on no account to be missed. By starting early, the ascent

of the Pimene (p. 156) may be included in the excursion.
Seat in brake .S, return-ticket 4 fr. ; in motor-car 4, return 5 fr. ; vic-

toria with 4 seats 20, landau 25 fr. per day. If a satisfactory bargain cannot

10*



152 Route 22. GEDRE. Excursions
Maps, pp. 153, loO.

be made at Luz, a carr. may be hired at Pierrefitte-Nestalas {f. 141); thence
to Gavarnie (31/.2-4 hrs.' drive) carr. with 4 seats 25 fr. for 1 day, 30 for

2 days, 35 fr. with heavy luggage.

The roads from Luz and St-Sauveur unite at the Pont Napoleon
(p. 151). We then ascend the right bank to the foot of the Bergons

(p. 151) and enter the grand Gorge de St-Sauveur, which was once

fortified.— Near the (3 M.) Pont de Sia (2610 ft.) is a waterfall.

— 41/2^. Pont rf'J.rroMc«^(2840ft.), near the hamlet of Pra^w^res.
Facing us rises the Pimene ; the Cirque de Gavarnie soon comes in

sight.

71/2 M. Gedre (3265 ft.; Hot. de la Grotte, good; Hot.-Rest.

des Pyrenees), a village at the junction of the Heas, Campbieil, and

Gavarnie valleys. Behind the Hotel de la Grotte is a 'grotto', or

rather cutting, whence the Gave de Heas issues (adm. 25 c).

Guides: 1st cL, F. Lavignole, J. Marcou ('Coulouscou'), V. Paget
('Chapelle'). J. Soul6 ('Lixandre'); 2nd cL, Bern. Lavignole, F. Paget
('Cantou').

From Gedre to tlie Pim^iie,, see p. 156; to Cauterets, see p. 149.

To THE Cirque de Troumocse, 31/2 hrs. S.E. ; bridle-path (road being
made), guide unnecessary. A stony path near the Hotel de la Grotte leads
to the Vftllee de Heas. which we ascend on the left bank of the torrent.

Farther on is a short-cut across meadows. On the other side is the
Valley of Campbieil (p. 153). We next cross, at the foot of the Coumelie,
a Chaos similar to ihat on the Gavarnie road (p. 153); then. 1 hr. 10 min.
from Gedre, we cross the stream by the Po72t de Souarou (3725 ft.). On
the left is the Montague de C'amplong. On the other side is the mouth
of the Val d'Estaube. which also ends in a cirque. At a place called the
Peyrade (4435 ft.), the valley of Heas is choked with blocks of rock.

On the left is the Caillou de VArraye, a huge block on which the Virgin
is said to have appeared. About 50 min. from the bridge (4 M. from Gedre)
is the little hamlet of Hias (4855 ft.). From Heas to the valley of the

Aure oveT- +he Hourquette des Signatures, see p. 153. We next come to the

(10 min.) Chajyelle de Heas (5075 ft.), a pilgrim-resort. Adjoining it is the

small Hotel de la Munia. The path soon forks. We continue to follow
the right bank of the torrent, called the Rion de Tonyeres higher up,

and ascend on the slope above a gorge, beyond which we see, to the S.,

the Pics de Troumouse and de la Munia. The torrent has several falls,

notably the Cascade de Matacas. We next reach (1 hr.) the Cirque de
Troumouse, less grand than that of Gavarnie, yet of noble dimensions,

21/2 M. in diameter, and 2600-3900 ft. in height. At its head rise the Pic

de la Munia (see below) and the Pic de Troumouse (10,125 ft.).

We may reach the cirque also by the opposite slope of the valley.

We cross tlie Gave de Heas beyond the chapel, and also its right branch,

the Riou de Maillet ; we then ascend a zigzag path, cross the Riou de
Cot twice, above a waterfall, and reach the huts of that name. Above
rises a height (6950 ft.), crowned with a statue of the Virgin, which af-

fords the best general view of the cirque. — About ','4 hr. short of the

huts, and before the second bridge across the Riou de Cot, the path as-

cends straight on, S.. to the Port de la Canaou (8580 ft.), 3 hrs. from
Heas, whence we may descend to Bielsa (3315 ft.; inn), by the fine Cirque
de Bielsa and the superb Vallee de Pinede (small hospice).

To the right of the Cirque de Troumouse rises the Pic de la Munia
(10.335 ft.; 41/2 brs. from Heas; guide 15-20 fr.), a splendid point of view,
but fit for experts only. — The Pic GerbatS (9580 ft.; guide 15 fr.), S.E.

of Heas, takes 4 hrs., by the Cabane de Lieusaoube (IV2 br.) and Col de

la Sede (2 hrs. ; 8690 ft. ;' view). — From the Col de la Sede we may ascend
in 3/4 hr. to the GRa (9345 ft.), an excellent point of view.
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from Luz. riAYARXIE. 2^- Boide. 153
Mujj.p- loO.

Valine d'Aure. — 1. By the Port de Cajifbieil, 61/2 hrs. from Gedre
to Aragnoiiet (guide 12. horse 10 fr.). The bridle-path diverges to the left

from the H^as route (p. 152), and ascends to the Valine de Campbieil by
the Granges of that name (II/2 hr. ; 5595 ft.) and the C'abanes de Saoucet
(1 hr. ; 6430 ft.). Then IVa Hr. to the Port de CamjJbieU (8515 ft.), be-

tween the Pic des Aiguillons (9710 ft. ; on the S. ; easily scaled from
the col) and the Pic de Carapbieil (10,415 ft. ; on the N."; ascent from
the Hourquette de Badet in 3/^ hr.

;
guide 15 fr.). From the Port we descend

in 1 hr. into the vale of the Badet and (I1/2 hr.) Aragiiouet (p. 130).—
The Pic Badet (10,370 ft.) and Pic Long (10,480 ft. ; the highest peak of

the French Pyrenees), N.W. of the Pic de Campbieil, are for first-rate

climbers only (guide 15 fr.).

2. By the Houkquette des Signatures, 6 hrs. from Heas to Aragnouet
by a new path through Wi^Vallon d'^Aguila to Xhe Hourquette {^^j^^hrs.;

8530 ft.); then down the dale of the Badet (1 hr.), where we join the first

route. — The Pic des Aiguillons (see above). X.W. of the Hourquette. is

a fine ascent of 1 hr.

The road ascends in three loops. Several -waterfalls on the

right; the Cascade d'Arroudet is the last and iinest. We next

traverse the Chaos of huge rocks that have fallen from a spur of

the Coumelie. The valley is bare and desolate. The Cirque de Ga-
varnie soon comes distinctly into view. Just before the bridge is

a statue of Count Russell (1834-1909), explorer of the Pyrenees.

12 M. Gavarnie.— Hotels. *Gr.-H6t.du Vignemale, lOmin. from
the bridge, open May-Sept., R. from 5, B. li/.^, L. 4. D. 6 (wine extra).
P. from 15 fr. ; Hot. des Voyageurs, at the entrance to the village, 1st March
to 15th Dec. good. R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 31/2' D- ^i/o. P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.
dii Point-de-Vue-de-la- Cascade, between the first two. 15th July to 15th
Sept. ; Hot. du Poi)it-de-Vue-du-Marbore, R. from 4, B. 1. L. 31/2, D- 4.

P. from 10 fr. — At the entrance to the cirque. 2V2 M. from the village.
Hot. dn Cirqne & de la Cascade. R. from 3, B. I1/4." L. 31/.^. D. 4, P. from
8 fr. (telephone). Hot. -Rest, du Pont-de-Neige. 5 min, farther on, R. from
2V2, B. 1, L. 31/2, D, 4, P. from 9 fr. , these two open from May 1st to
Oct. 15th.

Guides. 1st cl. : C. and H. Passet, A. L. Arrouy, F. B. Salles, G.
Castagne, Henri and Hipp. Courtade, H. 0. Salles ('Mahon'), F. Fedacou
(skieur), M. Haurine, L. Junte, J. M. Lartigue. H. Poc, P. Pujo. A. Pujo
fils, P. J. Soubie, Henri, Jean (skieur), and Jean Marie Trescazes, B.
Trescazes-Adagas, and A. and J. M. Bernat-Salles (skieurs). — 2nd cl. : H.
Balansac (skieur), G. Junte. J. M. Pocous. and H. Pujo.

Horses, with or without attendant, 3-4 fr. per hour; donkeys 2-3 fr.,

attendant 2 fr. : each hour more for horse IVa? donkey 1, attendant 1 fr.

Gavarnie (4430 ft.), a small village, was originally built round
a hospice of the Templars. Pretty waterfall 5 min. below the village.

International fair on 23rd July.

The **Cirque de Gavarnie seems quite near, but it takes

an hour to reach its entrance, and 1/2 ^r. more to go to its head.

The path diverges to the left from that to the Port de Gavarnie

;

it skirts the left and then the right bank of the stream, and crosses
two spurs of the valley. At the entrance to the cirque, 2^/2 M. from
the village, is the Hotel du Cirque (5018 ft.), 5 min. beyond which
is the Hotel du Pont-de-Neigc. A rough path to the left ascends
thence in 1/2 hr. to the foot of the cascade at the end of the cirque
i'>380ft.). In the afternoon a wide berth should he given to the



154 Route 22. CIRQUE DE GAVARNIE. Eipcursions

Map, p. 153.

cliffs, from which stones often fall. Like the other Pyrenean cir-

ques, that of Gavarnie has been formed by glacier-action. The
superb amphitheatre is enclosed by limestone mountains, rising

in three stages to heights of 6900, 8500, and 9000 ft., and forming

a basin 2^/4 M. wide, while the crest-line of the mountains, from

the Pic des Sarradets (8990 ft.) on the W. to the Pics d'Astazou

(9920 and 10,105 ft.) on the E., measures nearly 9 M. The other

peaks, beginning from the W., are the Gabietou (9950 ft.) ; the

Taillon (10,320 ft.), to the left of which are the Fausse Br^che
(9675 ft.) and the Brdche de Roland (9200 ft.); the Casque
(9860 ft.), Tour (9900 ft.), Epaule (9975 ft.), and Pic du Marhcyre

(10,675 ft.); but the last four only are visible from Gavarnie. The
slopes between the successive stages are covered with snow and

glaciers, farming 13 cascades, of which two never dry up. The chief

fall, the famous ^Cascade de Gavarnie, is the highest in Europe

(1385 ft.). If there is plenty of water it forms a single fall, but in

summer two falls (960 and 425 ft.). The effects of light and shade

in the cirque are singularly beautiful, both at sunrise and sunset;

and about noon in summer the sun shines full upon the cascade. If

the traveller does not ascend the Pimene (p. 156), he should at

least mount (20 min.) the height near the hotel, which affords a

line survey of the cirque.

If unable to visit the cirque itself, the traveller may view it ad-

mirably from the Terrasse des Entortes, 1/2 hr. from Gavarnie, on the

Port de G-avarnie route.

Gavarnie is the best centre for ascents in the Pyrenees. The follow-

ing round is recommended to climbers : 1st day, to the Refuge de Tuque-
rouye (see below); 2ud day, Mont Perdu, Yalle'e d'Arazas, inns of Ordesa

(p. 155); 3rd day. back to Gavarnie by the Breche de Roland or the Port
de Gavarnie (p. 155). An easier excursion is from Gavarnie direct to the

Yallee d'Arazas by the Port de Gavarnie.

To THE Bkeche de Tuquekoute, 41/4 hrs. S.E. ; we may ride to the
Borne de Tuquerouve. 1 hr. short of the Breche (guide 12 fr.). "We ascend
for 1/4 hr. by the cirque path, then to the left (S.E.) via the (IV2 hr.)

Cahanes de 'V Espugnette to the (3/4 hr.) Breche d'AUanz (7975 ft,), N.E.
of the cirque, between the Pic de Pimene (X.

; p. 156) and the Pic Ronge
de PaiUa (S. ; 9110 ft.). AVe then descend S.E. to (2/4 hr.) the Bonie de
Tuqueroiuje (7790 ft.), and reach (1/2 hr.) the Echelle de Tuquerouye. a

couloir with a ladder of iron rods (danger from falling stones when
another party is ahead; we may avoid the first part of it by taking to

the glacier, if practicable). In 1/0 hr. more we reach the Breche de Tuque-
rouye (8745 It.), with the Refuge de Tuqueroiiye or Lonrde-Rochehlave
(wood must be taken), between the Pic de Tnqueronye (9260 ft. ; "W.) and
the Pic de Pin'ede (9405 ft. : E.). Splendid *View of Mont Perdu. The refuge

is the best starting-point for the ascent of Mont Perdu, the Cylindre. etc.

(see below); the Pics d'Astazou or Estazou (Pic Occidental 9920 ft.,

Grand-Pic 10,105 ft.) are also ascended thence (guide 20 fr.). From the

Col d'Astazou we may (with a good guide) descend N.W., by the RocJiers

BUmcs. to Gavarnie," or we may cross the glacier to the Col du Mont-
Perdu (p. 155).

AscEKT OP Mont Perdxj akd the Ctxjitdre, 7 hrs. from Gavarnie,
with guide (30 or 25 fr.), rope, and axe. To the (4 hrs.) Breche de Tu-
qiieroziye. see above. "We then round the E. end of the Lac Glad and
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cross its efflux and a crevassed glacier (beware of falling stones), keeping
to the S. A wide crevasse is followed by several chimneys and cornices,

beyond which we ascend a glacier to (2 hrs. from the refuge) the Col
die Mont-Perdu (10,185 ft.). We then descend in 5 min. to the Etang du
JTont-Perdti (9925 ft.)- From this point we may ascend the Mont Perdu,
in 1 hr., over a glacier and through a chimney of debris; or we may
reach the Cylindre, in 1 hr., up fatiguing screes and a sloping chimney
with good foothold. Mont Perdu (11,000 ft.), one of the highest peaks
in the Pyrenees (comp. pp. 175, 176). is on Spanish territory. It offers

an interesting view of the deep-cut valleys of Xiscle and Escuain and
the verdant dales of Bielsa and Arazas. The Cylindre, or Cylindre
du Marhore (10.915 ft.), affords a fine view of Mont Perdu and the Lac
Glace. These two peaks, with the Soinn de Ramond (10,655 ft.) to
the S.E., are called by the Spaniards Las Tres Sorores. From the Col
du Mont-Perdu we may return to Gavarnie by the valley of Arazas
(interesting; see below); or else by the back (S'. side) of the Cirque de
Gavarnie, over the crest of the cirque to the Col de la Cascade (p. 156),
and by the Breche de Eoland (see below).

To THE Valley of Arazas. — 1. By the Breche de Tuquerouye and
Col du Mont-Perdu (13 hrs. to the inns). From Gavarnie to the (4 hrs.)

Refuge de Tuquerouye and thence to the (2 hrs.) Col du Mont-Perdu, see

p. 154 and above. We descend to the Etang and then over stony terraces
to the huts of Gaulis (7055 ft.). Next, across the pastures to a precipice
overlooking the upper valley of Arazas (fine waterfall on the right). The
passage down the rocks, not easy to find, is on our left as we turn our
backs to Mont Perdu. The first few yards are nearly perpendicular, but
the rest is easier. We cross the stream (cascades) and strike the path to
the inns (see below ; 9 hrs. from the refuge). We return to Gavarnie in
about 6 hrs., either by the Po7-t de Gavarnie (see below), or by the Cor-
niches de Salarous (rather difficult) and the Breche de Roland (see below).

2. By the Port de Gavarnie. Bridle-path to the head of the valley
of Arazas (7 hrs. to the inns). The path leads S.W. from Gavarnie. past
Les Entortes (p. 154), to the (21/2 hrs.) Port de Gavarnie or de Boucharo
(7485 ft.), an important pass. Traces of glacier erosion are noticed on
the rocks to the left on the way up. We descend through a fine gorge
to (IV2 hr.) Boucharo, or Bujaruelo (4350 ft.), a Spanish hamlet on the
Rio Ara. We next descend the Gorge de Ste-Helene to (IV2 hr.) the Pont
des Navarrais (3390 ft.), leave the road to To7-la (31/4 hrs. from Boucharo)
on the right, enter the *Valley of Arazas or Arrasas. and reach the
two rustic, but clean inns of Ordesa (4290 ft. ; 6 hrs. from the Port). This
valley, behind the Cirque de Gavarnie, is 91/2 M. long. It is watered by
the Rio Ordesa and opens into the valley of Torla. Its abrupt wooded
slopes are remarkable for their beautifulcolouring. The grandest point
is at the Cotafuero, an enormous rocky bastion near the inns.

To the Breche de Roland and Col du Taillon, 4 or 41/2 hrs. from
Gavarnie; guide (10 fr.) and axe necessary. From Gavarnie to the Hotel
du Cirque (1 hr.). see p. 153. To the W. of the cirque, and to the right
of the last waterfall, we reach (V2 hr.) a cornice, not easv to find, called
the Echelle de« Sarradets. This leads to the pastures of the Saitadets
and the (1 hr.) Fontaine des Sarradets (7875 ft.; view). Then over ter-
races, leaving on our right a col leading to the Glacier du Taillon. In 3/^ hr.
we reach the Glacier de la Breche. over which wo have a toilsome as-
cent of 1/2 hr., and in V^ br. more the Breche de Roland (9200 ft.), a
cleft 200 ft. wide, 330 ft. deep, and 55 yds. long, which the famous pal-
adin is said to have made with liis sword Durandal to open a passage
back from Spain. On the W. side of tlie entrance is a shelter; a better
one is the 'Villa Gaurier'. a grotto 500 yds. W.S.W., on the Spanish side.
We pass through the Breche and go on,"W.S.AV.. to ('/•> hr.) tlie Col du
Taillon (9175 ft.) for the superb view of tlie S. side of the cirque, of
Mont Perdu, etc. Tlie Pic du Taillon (10, .^20 ft.) may be ascended in
1"2 hr. from the Breche, through the Fausse-Br'eche (9675 ft.). Grand
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view. Guide from Gavarnie 15 fr. (by the glacier 20 fr.). — From the Pic
du Taillon we may follow the mountain-crest to the top of the Gabietou
(9950 ft.

;
guide 15 fr.). It may be ascended also by the Port de Gavarnie

route (p. 155) and the N. glacier, with its fantastic pinnacles.

Ascent of the Pic du Marboke. — 1. By the Breche de Roland.
e^/.j hrs. from Gavarnie; with guide (20 fr.) and axe. To the Breche de
Roland (4 hrs.), see p. 155. We then ascend S.E., passing the Casque and
the Tour du Marhore. which may be climbed from this side also, to (1 hr.)

the Col de la Cascade (9640 ft.), between the Tour and the Epaule du Mar-
bore, whence we have a superb view into the cirque. Then, mounting
the glacier on the S. slope, we reach the top of the Pic du Marbore in

11/2 hr.— 2. By the Breche de Tuquerouye, returning by the Breche de
Eoland, a grand ascent similar to the last. To the (4 hrs.) Breche (refuge),

and thence to the crevasse, short of the Col du Mont-Perdu, see pp. 154,

155. We ascend to the right by a cornice to the (21/4 hrs. from the refuge)
Col du Cylindre (10,070 ft.), between the Cylindre and the top, which
rises 1/2 hr. farther X.W. The *Pic du Marbor^ (10.675 ft.), culminat-
ing in a great platform, commands a fine view of the higher peaks around
the cirque. We complete the round bv returning past the Pic de la Cas-
cade (10,230 ft.) and by the Breche de" Roland.

The shortest ascent of the Vignemale (10.820 ft.) is by Ossoue and
the Montferrat. (From Cauterets. see p. 148.) This grand, but trying
ascent takes 6-7 hrs. (half, if preferred, on horseback) from Gavarnie;
guide (30 fr.). rope, and axe necessary. We ascend the Vallee d'Ossoue
to the Grottes Belle-Vue : then turn to the left, up the Glacier d^ Ossoue,
or else up the crest of the Montferrat (see p. 148).

From Gavarnie we may visit the Cirque de Troumouse, either by
Gedre (41/.^ M. by road), or by an easy path skirting the Coumelie (p. 153)

and joining the Gedre route in 21/0 hrs. (1/2 hr. short of Heas, p. 152).

From Gavarnie over the mountains to Cauterets. see pp. 148, 147 ; to

the Baths of Panticosa, see p. 140.

Ascent or the Pimexe, easy aud interesting, 31/.2-4 hrs. from

Gavarnie, or 5^, hrs. from Gedre (p. 152). to which the descent may
be made. Guide 10, horse 6, donkey 4 fr. From Gavarnie we ascend

E., through woods, to (^/^ hr.) a terrace aud f//, hr.) a spring. Thence

to the right, up steep slopes, to (2^4 hrs. from Gavarnie) the Col de

Pirnene (8265 ft.; view). Here we turn to the X. and mount by a

narrow arete to the top of the *Piniene (9195 ft.), which affords

the best survey of the Cirque de Gavarnie. though the great water-

fall is not seen.

23. Bareges and Environs.
I. From Lourdes to Bardges.

Railway to Pierrefltte-Xestalas and Electric Lise to Luz-St-Sauveur.
Motor Omsibus thence during the season in ^U ^^- to (5 M.) Bar'eges (2 fr.

;

return 3i/.^fr.); carr. 8-10 fr. Walkers take li/.^-ia/^ hr. (short-cuts).

From Lourdes to (21 M.) Luz, see R. 22, I. The road (Route des

Pyrenees, see p. 168) then ascends IST.E. into the valley of the Bas-
tan, or Gave de Bareges. At first, left and right, are the wooded

slopes of the Pics de Nere and de Bergons.—Beyond (2^/2 '^^) Bet-

pouey (3155 ft.) the hills become bare and furrowed. We cross the

torrent twice in the Pontis ravine (p. 158), V/^ M. from Bareges,

and (1 M. farther) reach the bath-house of Barzun-Bareges (81°).
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n. Bareges.

Hotels. Hot. de V Europe & de France and Hot. Richelieu & d'Angle-

terre, 15th May to 20th Oct., good, R. from 3, B. 1, L. or D. 31/2, P- from
8 fr. ; Hot. Teinturier, open the whole year, good, same charges.

Etablissement. Buvette 2-10 fr. ; bath or douche i/2-2Va fr. — £^06-

lissement de Barzim (p. 156). Buvette 21/2, bath or douche 3/4-IV2 fr-

Small Casino, at the entrance to the village.

Post & Telegraph Office, on the right.

Guides. 1st cl. : B. and J. M. Auclade, Jean and P. Casaux-Palu, M.
Menvielle-Lanusse. 2nd cl. : A. and B. J. Casaux-Palu, L. Lort, and Gr.

Vergez.

Bareges (4040 ft.), a village of one loug street on the left bank

of the Bastan, has long been noted for its warm sulphur-springs.

Owing to its height it is scarcely habitable in winter, but it at-

tracts numerous visitors in summer. The replanting of the hillsides

has already improved the aspect of the valley.

The Waters, impregnated with sulphate of soda, are the strongest in

the Pyrenees. They are all charged with a peculiar nitrogenous substance,
called 'baregine' or 'glairine', which renders them oily to the touch. Their
temperature is from 76° to 111° corresponding with the amount of sul-

phate of soda they contain. They are used for baths and drinking, in the
treatment of surgical cases, the healing of wounds, for scrofula, gout,
rheumatism, skin-diseases, chlorosis, anaemia, and nervous affections. The
fifteen springs yield about 57,000 gallons a day.

The Etablissement Thermal is in the upper part of the village.

All the springs are united here, and the arrangements are very

complete. Opposite the baths is a Military Hospital, founded in

1760, but recently rebuilt. Higher up is the Hospice Ste-Eugenie,
reserved for the clergy and nuns from 15th June to 1st Sept., and

for the poor before and after these dates.

The Promenade Horizontale, a favourite walk, begins at the

Hospice and runs W. below the Ayre (see p. 159), and above the

village, to the Rioulet ravine (see below). There are also walks
higher up in the Fm^et de Bareges, or Bois d'Artigou, which pro-

tects the baths from avalanches and the ravages of the Moure torrent.

Among them is the Allee Verte (5900 ft.), a clearing in the forest,

1 hr. distant, between the valleys of the Lienz and the Rioulet. The
Heritage d Colas, beyond the Rioulet, Y2 h^'- from the Promenade
Horizontale, is another pleasant resort.

Avalanches and floods from the hills are the chief dangers to which
Bareges is exposed. Avalanches of the most destructive kind gather on
the flanks of the mountain of Labas-Blanc, to the N., and sweep down
four ravines into the valley and across the stream to the opposite slope.
Masses of snow of more than 100,000 cubic yds. liave thus been hurled
upon the village. On the spots most liable to tliis danger wooden build-
ings only are erected, and these are removed bcfon; tlie winter. The
most dangerous spot was formerly the Ravin d/i Midaoii or de Cape,
behind the military hospital. The forest-department has succeeded in
averting or lessoning the avalanches by means of plantations and em-
bankments. The works are interesting, and they alt'ord a good view
(2 hrs. there and back). —The torrent in the Ravin du Rioulet, on the
left bank below Bareges, used to be terribly destructive after a tliaw or
lieavy rain, carrying away everything that was not solid rock, and de-
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strojing the main road; but it has been rendered almost harmless by the

embankments and channels which distribute its waters higher up. The
Ravin cle Pontis. lo\ver down, now requires similar treatment. An alter-

ation of the road was necessitated by the risks it formerly ran.

III. Excursions from Bareges.

Motor-omn. to Luz-St-Sauveur and Cauterets (Route des Pyrenees),
see p. 168.

Ascent of the Pic de Were, S^/i-^ hrs. W.
;
guide 10, horse

6 fr. (From Luz, see p. 151.) We cross the Bastan 500 yds. below

Bareges, near the Source de Barzun (p. 156), and ascend W. to

(3/4 hr.) St-Justin, a fine point of view. Then N. to the (^2 hr.)

Cirque de Sers, and again W. farther on, descending into a dale

and ascending the steep slopes on the other side to the Cabanes
fVArheousse (about 1 hr.), where we join the route from Luz (p. 151).

Ascent of the Pic du Midi de Bigorre, easy and most at-

tractive, 41/2-0 trs. N.E, (guide, unnecessary except when snow is

lying, 10, horse 7 fr.). The traveller may spend the night in the

inn near the top, to see the sunrise (telegraph for bed). In any

ease he should start early and reach the top before noon, as mists

often rise later. We follow the Col du Tourmalet road (p. 159) on

the left bank of the Bastan, cross the stream by the (40 miu.) Pont
de Tourndbout (4755 ft.), and ascend, E., the flank of the Pene-

Blauque (p. 159). Near (l^/, hr.) the Cabanes de Toue (6370 ft.)

the path turns N. and is lost among the pastures. We leave on the

right a path which joins the great bend of the Tourmalet route,

and on the left a prostrate column erected in 1839 to the Due de

Xemours. Beyond the huts a well-beaten path leads to the left and

then ascends in zigzags. Walkers may ascend due N. The greyish

dome of the Pic du Midi and its observatory are now in sight. We
cross a brook issuing from the Lac d^Oncet (7345 ft.), which we
leave below on the left. In 374-372 lirs. from Bareges we reach

the Hourque des Cinq-Cours or de.Sencowrs (7800 ft.), a col where

we join the route from Bagneres (Hotellerie du Pic du Midi, open

15th July to 1st Oct., adm. 7^, bed 3, B. 1, L. 27.2, D. 372 fr., wine

extra). From the col we may afterwards descend to Gripp (I72-

2 hrs.; p. 164). In I-I74 tr. more we reach the top by many zig-

zags, practicable for horses, crossing the Col du Laquet (8530 ft.

;

fine view). The **Pic du Midi de Bigorre (9440 ft.) ranks

high among Pyrenean peaks for its superb survey of nearly the

whole chain (view-indicator). Being isolated towards the plain, it

commands an almost boundless view in that direction, even extend-

ing W. to the Atlantic. The contrast between the plain and the

snow-capped peaks to the S. is very striking. At the W. end of the

peak is a small platform, with a dangerous precipice to the N. On
the E. side is an Obset^vatory (adm. under the escort of an official).
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To the Lac Bleu, 3V4-4 hrs. N.
;
guide 10, horse 7 fr. (From Bagaeres,

see p. 163.) For 1 hr. we follow the Pic du Midi route (p. 158), then
turn to the left and ascend in 1/4 hr. to the Cabanes d'Aouhe (5970 ft.)

and to (11/2 hr.) the Col d^Aoube (8300 ft. ; fine view). We descend thence.
W., past a little blue lake, to the (1 hr.) Lac Bleu (p. 164). —We may
reach it also by ascending N.E. from Bareges by a good bridle-path to

the crest of Pene-Blanqne., whence we may easily mount. E., to the top
(8630 ft. ; view). 8 hrs. from Bareges, or else descend X. to the lake.

Ascent of the Pic d'Ayre, SVa-^ hrs. S. ;
guide and horse 10 fr. each

(guide needless as far as the col). The bridle-path ascends through the
forest of Bareges (p. 157) and the Allee Verte (p. 157), and winds up to

the pastures above the Rioulet ravine. The same point is reached direct

by a steep footpath along the torrent. To the W, we next reach a fine

point of view. 21/2 hrs. from Bareges; then, retracing our steps a short
way, we ascend flower-carpeted slopes in zigzags to the (3/4 hr.) Col
cVAyre (view). We may climb in 1/2 hr. more to the top of the Pic
d'Ayr6 (7985 ft.), but the ascent is toilsome and requires a guide.

To THE Refuge Packe, 5-6 hrs. S. (guide useful), bridle-path by Bet-
pouey (p. 156) and the Bolou ravine. This Refuge (8280 ft.), above the
Col de Rabiet, for ascents in the Neouvielle region, is little frequented.

To THE Lac d'0rr6don akd Pic de Neouvielle, 5V4-6 hrs., easy
and interesting (guide 20. horse to the Col d'Aure 10 fr.). We follow the
Tourmalet route (see below), crossing (50 min.) the Escoubous torrent.
The track ascends through a rocky chaos past the {^1^ hr.) Valloi d'Aigne-
Clnse on the left, and again across the torrent, to the (35 min.) Lac
d' Escoubous (6395 ft.), amidst wild mountains. Farther up is (V2 hr.) the
Lac Blanc. Leaving the Lac de Tracens on the left, we next reach
(3/4 hr.) the Lac Noir (7200 ft.) and follow its left bank. Passing the
Lac Espagnol, we ascend to the (1/2 hr.) Col d'Aure or d'Aubert (8200 ft.

;

splendid view). — Descending to the left, to the lakes of Aubert and
Aumar. which we see from the col, we may reacli (IV2 hr.) the Lac
d'Orredon or Oredon (6070 ft. ; refuge-hut), dammed up bv an embank-
ment 80 ft. high. To the W. is tlie Lac de Cap-de-Long (6825 ft.), similarly
confined. These lakes are tbus enabled to store up 18 million tons of
water, to be conducted down to the Aure valley in case of drought, or to
be distributed among the torrents rising on the Plateau de Lannemezau.
To the E. of the Lac d'Orredon a storage lake ha.*^ been formed for the
power-houses at Eget (p. 1.80) by a dam, 100 ft. high and 400 ft. long.—
The X^ouvielle route descends from the Col d'Aure to tlie riglit, enters
another chaos of rocks, and higher up, ascends from S. to W., a snow-
slope, free from risk, but very steep towards the end. In 2V2 hrs. from the
col we reach the top of the *Pic de Neouvielle or d'Aubert (10,145 ft.).

which commands a magnificent panorama of the Pyrenees and a striking
survey of the lakes of this region, of which 27 may "be counted. A difficult
return-route descends by the Breche de Chausenque and the Lacs and
ValUe de Glaire, W. of the valley of Escoubous.

To BAGXiaiES-DE-BlGORRE BY THE COL DU ToURMALET, 26^/0 M.,
a drive of 5-6, on foot 7 hrs. (carr. 40-60, to the col 8-lb" ft'.

;

horse 12, to the col 5 fr.). The road, a section of the Route des
Pyrenees (p. 168), ascends rapidly on the left bank of the Bastan
and leaves on the left the Pont de Tournabont (p. 158). Walkers
may cross this bridge, ascend on the right bank, and rejoin

the high-road in the middle of the long loop near the col. The
road then describes a great curve to the right in the Vallon d'Ks-
roubous, whose torrent it crosses. (To the right diverges the Pie
de Xeouvielle route, see above.) It soon returns towards the Bastan,



160 H^'tte 24. BAGNERES-DE-BIGOREE. ^lap. p. 150.

reaches the head of the valley, and ascends by a long bend, N., to

the (7 M.) Col du Tourmalet (6935 ft.), between the Pic du
Tourmalet (8095 ft.; left) and the Pic cVEspade (8075 ft.; right),

the highest carriage-pass in the Pyrenees. The road descends rap-

idly. The old road to the left is a short-cut. To the right of

the road rise the Pic de Pene-Blanque (8010 ft.; namesake, see

p. 159) and the Pic Barasse (7765 ft.). To the left are the slopes

of the Pic du Midi. The road makes a long detour, S.E., into the

VaUon du Garet, which contains fifteen lakelets higher up. Its

torrent and that of the Tourmalet form, 5^2 ^^' from the col, the

two Cascades de Ghripp.— 13 M. Lartigues, aud thence to Ba-

gneres, see p. 164.

To THE Vallee d'Aure, S.E., 71/2 hrs.; bridle-path to Fabian (guide
15 fr.). To the Lac d' Orredon (51/4 hrs.), see p. 159. Then down the
valley of the Neste de C'ouplcm, past a waterfall on the left, to (2 hrs.)

Fabian., 1 M. from Aragnouet (p. 130). — To the Aure valley via the Col
de Tourmalet^ Ste-Marie, and the Col d'Aspin. see pp. 159, 160, 164.

24. Bagneres-de-Bigorre and Environs.

I. From Tarbes to Bagneres-de-Bigorre.

131./.J M. Raflway in I/2-I hr. (2 fr. -45. 1 fr. 65. 1 fr. 10 c).

Tarbes, see p. 129. We follow the Toulouse line to Marcadieu
(p. 130), and turn to the right into the pretty and fertile valley of

the Adour. Views on the right.— 12^2 ^^- Pouzac, with a fortified

church (reredos of the 18th cent, and other works of art). On the

hill are relics of an earthwork called Caesar's Camp.— To the right

near Bagneres rises the Mont du Bedat (p. 163).

n. Bagneres-de-Bigorre.

Hotels. *H6t. VictoHa & d'Angleterre (PI. b; B, 2), open the whole
year. Promenade des Coustous, R. from 4. B. IV". L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10,

omn. 1 fr. ; *Gr.-Hdt. de Paris (PI. a; B, 3). open 1st April to 15th Oct.,

R. from 4. B. l\'o, L. 4. B. 5 (wine extras. P. from 12, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot.
de France (PI. c; B, 2), 7 Boul. Carnot. R. from 3, B. I1/2. L. 4. D. 5,

P. from 10. omn. 1 h. — Hot. BeaKseJour cPl. d; B, 2), Place Lafayette;

Hot. Frascati (PI. e; A, 3). 6 Rue de Salies; Hot. du Bon-Pasteur (PI. f

;

B. 2). Rue de I'Horloge, near the tower. R. from 2V2, B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/2,

P. from 8 fr.. omn. 30 c. : Hot. Vignes. 9 Rue de la Republique (PL B, 2).

R. 21/2-3V2, B. 3/4. L. 3, D. 31/2 • P- 9-10 fr., omn. 30 c.

Numerous Villas and Apartmests to let.

Etablissemexts (open the whole vear). Thermes, Neothermes, Labas-
sire, Salut, and La Peyrie: bath 1-3*, douche 1-2, buvette 8-12 fr. ; fami-

lies at a reduction. — List of Physiciaks in the bath-houses.

Cabs. For 2 pers., per drive s/^. at night IV2 fr.
;
per hour 2 or 21/2 fr.

;

in the country 21/2 or 3 fr. ; for 4 pers.. per drive 1 or 2 fr., per hour 3,

31/2, or 4 fr. — Caleches and Landaus, 30-40 fr. per day. —Horse, per
day 10 fr.

Electric Tramway being laid to Lonrdes and Lartigues (pp. 126, 164).
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Post & Telegraph Office (PI. 9; B, 3), Rue des Thermes.
GruiDES. Joseph Laouna ('Lahune'); J. P. Baylac-Luquet, at Campan

(p. 164); Carrere, at La Seoube.
Casino Municipal (15th June to 30th Sept.). Adm. 1/21 theatre 3-31/2 fr.

Bank. Society Genercde, Boul. Carnot. — Stndicat d'Initiative, Villa
Theas (PI. A, 3), Boul. du Casino.

English Church (Holy Trinity; PL B, 3, 4), Rue du Temple.

1. Bains de Cazanx . .

•2. Bains du Grand-Pre .

3. Bains du Petit-Bareges
4. Bains Tivoli . . .

5. Bains de Versailles .

G. Buvette de Lasserre .

. A3

. B4

. B3
. B4
. B3
. B3

7. Buvette de Salies . .

8. Petit Bain or Lias . .

9. Post & Telegraph Office

10. Thermes de la Reiiie .

11. Tour dos Jacobins . .

12. Cloisters of St-Jeaii .

A3
A3
B3
A3
B2
B3
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Bagneres-de-Bigorre, or simply Bagneres (1805 ft.
;
pop. 8455),

lies prettily on the left bank of the Adour, at the exit of that stream
from the Canipau valley into the plain of Tarbes. It is one of the

cliief thermal stations of the Pyrenees, with a mild climate, and is

visited by some 30,000 patients and tourists annually. Its waters

were known to the Romans, who erected bath-houses and a temple
of Diana. Season, July to Sept. ; winter-sports at Gripp (p. 164)
and Payolle (p. 165).

The Waters are supplied by 30 springs, mostly impregnated with
sulphate of lime, yielding 500,000 gallons daily, but varying greatly in
their composition and uses. They are of three kinds: 23 warm springs
containing sulphates of lime and soda (77-124°); a cold spring containing
sulphate of soda (55°); and cold chalybeate springs (64°). The waters are
prescribed for rheumatism, nervous and feminine ailments, diseases of

the skin and the digestive and respiratory organs, and for anaemia, sur-
gical cases, etc.

From the station (PL B, 1) the Av. de la Gare leads to the plea-

sant Square des Vigneaux (PI. B, 1, 2). The Rue Pasteur leads

thence to the interesting church of St-Vincent (PI. B, 2; 14th-

15th cent.). Its fagade consists of a great wall, crowned with Gothic

arcades, and flanked with a Gothic turret. Pretty S. porch of 1552.

The Place Lafayette and the shady Promenade des Coustous
(Pl.B, 2, 3), near the church, lie in the centre of the town, and form
the usual evening rendezvous. From the former the Boul. Carnot

leads W. to the bath-houses and the Casino. In the Rue de I'Hor-

loge, to the S., rises the Tour des Jacohins or de VHorloge (PI. 11

;

B, 2), a relic of a 15th cent, church, not far from which, at the

corner of the Rues St-Jean and des Thermes, are the picturesque

remains of the Cloisters of St-Jean (PI. 12; B, 3).

The Boul. Carnot ends near the Casino (PL A, 2, 3), a large

edifice built in 1880-84, containing a concert-hall, reading and card

rooms, and a restaurant. The right side of the ground-floor is oc-

cupied by the N^otliermes, with its large swimming-bath, fed by
the spring of La Tour, and two smaller basins supplied by the

Salies spring. A band plays in the park in the afternoon.

The Boul. du Casino, continuing the Boul. Carnot, passes the

Villa Theas (PL A, 3), which contains a picture-gallery and a geo-

logical museum. A little farther on are the Tlierines (PL A, 3),

erected in 1824 on the site of the Roman baths, at the foot of the

hills where the chief springs rise. Its well-appointed baths and

other appliances are fed by ten springs. The building contains also

the Public Library (open 9-11 and 2-5).— Adjacent, on the N.,

is the Burette de Salies (PL 7 ; A, 3), so called from the important

Salies spring. Behind are the Baths of CazaujX (PL 1; A, 3).

A rustic fountain in the Place des Thermes is a memorial of

F. Soidjies, a benefactor of Bagneres. To the left of the Thermes
is a statue of 'La Muse Bagneraise', and behind it a figure in relief

(1910) of Sophie Cottin. the novelist (1770-1807).— The Rue des
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Thermes, opposite the Thermes, leads past the burette of Lasserre
(PI. 6; B, 2), the Post Office (PI. 9; B, 3), and the Hotel de Ville,

to the Place Achille-Jubiual, at the S. end of the Promenade des

Coustous.

The Rue d'Alsace-Lorraine, which continues the Place des

Thermes to the E., contains the baths of Petit-Bartges (PI. 3 ; B, 3),

on the left, and opposite them those of Versailles (PI, 5; B, 3).

Adjacent runs the handsome Av. de Salut, past the Reformed Church
(PL B, 4) and the baths of Grand-Pre (PL 2 ; B, 4) and Tivoli

(PL 4; B, 4), and ending at the Thei^mes de Salut (beyond PL A, 4

;

omn.).— The Rue d'Alsace-Lorraine ends at the Alices Towniefoi^t

(PL B, 3), which lead N. to the Place Achille-Jubinal.

Many pleasant walks. The Allees de Maintenon (PL B, C, 4)

are reached by the Rue des Pyrenees, in line with the Allees

Tournefort. The Alice du Mont- Olivet or du Montaliouet, on

the slope behind the Thermes, ascends to the chalybeate springs.

The Allees Dramatiques, S. of the Mont-Olivet, near the Thermes
de Salut, ascend to the right to the Mo7it du Bedat (2890 ft. ; 1 hr.),

with a statue of the Virgin and several grottoes.

In the valley of Campan (p. 164), and elsewhere, are marble quarries,
yielding many valuable varieties, and the town contains important marble
works. Bagneres is noted also for its knitted woollen goods.

m. Excursions from Bagn^res-de-Bigorre.

Motor-omn. to Luchon (Route des Pyrenees), see p. 168.

Ascent of the Monnk, a walk of 3, or ride of 2V2 hrs. S.W. (guide,

unneces8arj\ 8, horse 8-10, donkey 5 fr.). We ascend the Allies Drama-
tiques, turn to the right, and skirt the hillside from E. to W. The Monn6
(4125 ft. ; inn), affords an extensive view. Descent via Beaud^an (see below).

Ascent of the Pic de Montaigu, 51/2-6 hrs. S.W., tiring (guide 20 fr.).

"We follow the Monne road for IV2 hr., then cross, to the right, the Plaine
d'Esquioi/, turn to the left, and skirt the Conret (4290 ft.). We next climb
the steep path of the Echelles de Pilate, skirt La Peyre (5710 ft.), on tlie

left, follow a rocky crest, and lastly round the mountain to the right.

The Pic de Montaigu (7680 ft.) affords an extensive view to the N.,
but that to the S. is limited by the Pic du Midi and its W. neighbours.
We may descend by the Lesponne valley (see below).

To the Lac Bleu, S.W,, 3»/^ hrs, to the electric works of Le Ohiroulet,
6 hrs, to the lake. The lake should be visited wlien its dam is open. We
can drive as far as the works only, but we may ride all the way to

the lake. Guide (unnecessary) 10, horse or donkey 10, carr, 25-30 fr. We
ascend S. by the Adour valley, leaving Gerde and Aste (p, 164) to the
left, and Medons, with its old convent (now a villa; park usually open),
to the right, all three being favourite objects for walks. At (1 hr,)

Beand^an Larrey, the famous surgeon (1766-1842), was born. We leave
the Campan valley (p, 164) and turn to the right, up the Valine de Lespoiine,
shut in by spurs of the Montaigu and Pic du Midi, Cultivation ceases.
In 1 hr. we reach Lesponne (2460 ft,); =*/4 hr. farther are L' Hospital and
(on the right) a ravine with the pretty Cascade d^Asjn. At the liead of

the ravine appears the Montaigu, which may be ascended hence. Farther
on, to the left (Va lir-)? is another ravine with a view of the Pic du Midi,
also accessible on this side; 1/4 I""- more brings us to the electric works of

Le C'kiroulet (Hot, du Lac-Bleu, II, 4"/ii, L- 3'/^, D, 4Va fr.)- Beyond them
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we leave, on the right, the road to Pierrefitte-Nestalas (p. 141) by the
Hourquette de Barane and the Izaby vallev, and ascend to the left to

(21/4 hrs.) the dam and (1/4 br.) the Lac Bleii (6455 ft. ; shelter-hnt), shut
in by huge rocks, and fully justifying its name. A tunnel has been made
on the X. side (closed), for the purpose of iiushing the Adour in dry
seasons. —A good bridle-path leads from the lake to the (3 hrs.) inn on
the Pic du Midi (p. 158). over the Col d'Aonbe (Bareges route, p. 159) and
the Col d'Oncet.

The Lac de Peyralade (6405 ft.), E. of the Lac Bleu, and domi-
nated by the Pic du Midi, is worth seeing also. We reach it (4-5 hrs. from
Bagneres) by the Lesponne valley and the Vallon d'Ardalos.

Ascent of the Pic du Midi de Bigorre (p. 158), S., 121/2 M. by
road, then 5-51/2 hrs. by bridle-path. It is usual to spend a night in the
C.A.F. inn and to ascend next morning to the top in time for the sunrise.

Easy path, with guide-posts
;
guide (10-20 fr.) needless. From Bagneres to

Lartigues, 12V2 M., see below. The path to the Pic ascends to (35 min.)
the Cabanes ds Tramezaygues. We pass through the Gotdet d' Arizes,
cross the Pont d' Arizes (1 hr.), and follow the right bank, up the pastures,

to the (50 min.) Pierre Fendue. We next ascend the Gorge de Sencours
and (1 hr. 40 min.) reach the col and the inn, where we join the path from
Bareges (p. 158).

Ascent of the Pene de LH:feRis, 3 hrs. S.E. (guide, via Ast^, V2 day 5,

whole day 8, via Ordincede 8 fr.), specially interesting for botanists.

We follow the Adour valley to the S., cross" the (1/2 M.) Poni de Gerde,
and go on to (IV4 M.) Aste. We next ascend to the left for 1 hr. in the

ravine of the Lheris, and then climb the slope to the right, through a

wood and pastures, to the Col du Teillet (4215 ft. ; view); thence, through
another wood, we come to a grassy basin (fine iiora). On the left towers
the Casque, a wall of rock with a capital echo. Lastly we clamber direct

to the top by the Pas du Chat, or, longer but easier, climb to the left,

by the Puits d'Arris or des Corneilles. The Pene de Lheris (5225 ft.)

affords only a limited view of the mountains, but a beautiful survey
of the plain. Descent often made by the Col de Lheris (4530 ft.) and
Cabanes d' Ordincede (4415 ft.) to the S., where we have a splendid view
of the Campan valley (see below), by which we return to Bagneres.

From Bacjxeres to Arreau (Luchon) over the Col d'Aspin, 231/2 M.,

section of the Route des Pyrenees (p. 168); carr. to the col 20-30 fr. ; tram-

way to Ste-Marie being laid (see below). — To (3 M.) Beaudean, see p. 163.

We" then follow the charming YalUe de Campan. bordered on the right with
green hills and on the left with bare rocks, so named from the Campani,
who inhabited it in Roman times. —41/2 M. Campan (Aub. du Centre) has

given its name to a well-known green marble, streaked with red and
white. Interesting church (16th cent.). —At (8 M.) Ste-Marie we diverge

to the left from the road to Bareges via Lartigues and the Col du
Tourmalet (p. 160) and ascend the Vallee de la 6V'o?^&g. — 121/2 M. Payolle

(3640 ft.; Hot. de I'Arbizon. R. from 11/2, L. or D. 31/2 fr-)- in a grassy

basin (winter-sports), surrounded by forests. The Pic d'Arbizon (9290 ft.),

to the S., may be ascended in one day (guide 15 fr.); descent to the

Aure valley, see p. 130. — 13 M. Espiadetl a hamlet, with a marble quarry.
— The road now winds up through pine-forests (short-cuts). — 16 M. Col
d'Aspin (4885 ft.), between the Monne (5760 ft.; X.) and a long ridge

(5380-5770 ft. ; S.). From the pass, and still better from a wooded plateau

1/2 hr. above it, we have a superb *View of the Vallee d^Aure (p. 130),

into which we now descend in windings (short-cuts). — 231/2 M. Arrean
(p. 130).

Prom Bagijeres to Gripp and Lartigues (Bareges). 121/2 M., by the

Route des Pyrenees (p. 168); carr. 20 fr. ; tramway being laid (comp. p. 128).

To Ste-Marie (8 M.). see above. We diverge to the right into the picturesque
valley of Gripp. — 101/2 M. Gripp (3495 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs), visited for

winter-sports. — The road ascends on the left bank.— 121/2 M. Lartigues
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(Hot. des Pyrenees, open May-Oct., bed 3, B. 1, L. 4, D. 41/2, P. 9 fr.

;

Hot. des Cascades; guide, Danglade; mule to the Pic du Midi 10 fr.), a

hamlet lyiug below the road, terminus of the new tramway. Near it are

the Cascades de Grripp (p. 160). A cart-track leads from Lartigues to

(I1/2 lir.) Payolle, I1/4 hr. from Ste-Marie (p. 164). Footpath from Lartigues
to the Lac d' Orredon (8 hrs.

; p. 159). — Continuation of the Route des
Pyrenees to Bareges, see pp. 160, 159.

25. Bagneres-de-Luchon and Environs.

I. From Montrejeau to Bagn^res-de-Luchon.

221/2 M. Railway in a/^-ii/^ hr. (4 fr. 5, 2 fr. 70, 1 fr. 75 c.).— From
Paris to Luchon, 512V2 M., in 17 hrs. 20 min. (96 fr. 10, 64 fr. 90, 42 fr.

30 c). — The Luchon hotel-touts should be ignored.

Montrejeau, see p. 131. We leave the Toulouse line on the left

and enter the Garonne valley.— 31/2 M. Lahroqy^re.
To the S., 2 M., lies St-Bertrand-de-Comminges (Hot. de Com-

miuges), an ancient city (Lngdunum C'onvenarmn). It was important
under the Romans, but was reduced to ruins at the end of the 6th cent.,

after the overthrow of Gondovald, the rival of King Ciuntram, who had
taken refuge here. Its picturesque situation on an isolated rock makes
it conspicuous from a distance. The *C'athedral, one of the most inter-

esting in S. France, dates in part from the time of St. Bertrand (1082).

but is chiefly the work of Bertrand de Croth (1295-9), afterwards Pope
Clement V. The fagade is surmounted by a square tower. Its portal
is borne by columns with interesting capitals, sculptures, and Roman
inscriptions. The interior has a fine Gothic nave, over 80 ft. high, with
eleven side-chapels. Most important of all are the *Rood-loft and the
*Choir-screen, superb early Renaissance woodwork, completed in 1536,
and forming as it were a second edifice within the church. They are

remarkable for the richness and variety of their carving, and are even
surpassed by the 68 ^Stalls within. The high-altar also is adorned with
beautifully carved scenes from the history of the Virgin and of Christ.

By the entrance of the church is a Renaissance organ-case (restored).

Behind the choir is the tomb of St. Bertrand (1432). In the Ist chapel 011

the left is the *Tomb of Bishop Hugues de Chatillon (15th cent.). The
sacristan shows the choir (ring thrice) and also the fine Romanesque
cloisters (11th cent.), to the S. of the church, and the sacristy, with two
14th cent, copes, and the mitre, ring, and pastoral staff of St. Bertrand.
Visitors make a small offering for the church.

To the E. of St. Bertrand, in the fields, on the way to (35-40 min.)
Loiires (see below), is (V2 M.) the basilica of St-J/tst, in a burial-ground
entered by a Romanesque gateway. The church, in part of ancient ma-
terials, is a heavy building in the Romanesque style, with an interesting
side-portal of the 12th cent, and a ciborium of the 14th.

We cross the Garonne.— 5 M. Loures-Barhazan, statidn for

Loures-Barousse (1495 ft.; Hot. Verdier. L. 2^/^, D. 3 fr.; Hot.

de France, R. from 2, P. 71/2 fr.; Hot. de Paris, Grand-Hotel), to

the right, at the entrance to the pretty Vallee de la Barousse, and
for Barbazan (Hot. des Thermes, L. or D. 31/2, P. TVs -10 fr.),

174 M. to the N.E., with a mineral spring (sulphate of lime) and a

16th cent, castle (view).— 972^1- Salechan, station for the baths

(if Siradan (Hot. des Thermes), IV4 M. to the N.W.— IOV2 M.
Fronsac, with a keep of the 12th cent., on the left.— We recross
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the Garouue, which descends on the left from the valley of Aran

(p. 172).— 13 M. Marignac-St-Beat. St-Beat (p. 172) lies on the

left, in the distance.— 18 M. Cier-de-Luchon. We enter the

Luchon valley and have a good view of the snow-clad mountains at

its head.— 22^2 ^I- Bagneres-de-Luchon.

II. Bagneres-de-Luchon.

Station (PI. B, l), ^U M. from the centre of the town. Omnibus-
tramway, 20 c.; hotel-omn. 60 C.-I1/2 fr. (luggage 40-50 c).

Hotels. *Royal Hotel (PI. a; B, 4), Place des Quinconces, R. from 12,

B. 2, L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra). P. from 25 fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. Bonnemaison
(PI. b; B. 4). 81 Allies d'Etignv. R. from 5, B. 2. L. 5. D. 6 (wine extra),

P. from 16 fr. ; *Hdt. Sacaron (PI. c: B, 4). 65 Alices d'Etigny, R. from
5, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra), P. from 16 fr. ; *Gr.-Edt. du Casino
(Pi. d; C, 3), Boul. Amedee-Fontan. open also for winter-sports, R. from 8,

B. li/2» L- 5, D. 6 fr. (wine extra); Pyrenees Palace, Boul. Charles-Tron,
opposite the Casino (PL B, 3), new, R. from 10, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8 (wine
extra), P. from 25, omn. 2 fr. ; *Hdt. Continental (PI. e; A, B, 3),

22 Allees d'Etignv, R. from 5, B. I1/2. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra). P. from
11 fr.; *Gr.-Hdt. des Bairis (PI. f; B. 4). 75 Allees d'Etignv, R. from 5,

B. 1, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr. ; *H6t. des Thermes & Richelieu (PI. g;
B, 4), Cours des Quinconces and Rue des Thermes. R. from 4, B. IV2,
L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 121/2 fr. ; *H6t. d' A?igleterre (PL m; B, 3),

24 Allees d'Etignv. R. from 6. B. iV2> L- 4. D. 5 (wine extra), P. from
10 fr.; *Grand-H6tel (PL h; B. 4). 79 Allees d'Etignv. R. from 3, B. IV4,
L. 31/2. D- 41/, (wine extra). P. from 11 f r. ; Hot.'Baque (PL i ; B, 4),

12 Allee des Bains, good. R. from 3. B. 1, L. 31/2, !>• 41/2, P- from 10 fr.

;

Hot. de la Paste (PL k; B. 3). Allees d'Etignv and Av. du Casino, good,
R. from 31/4. B. I1/4. L. 4. D. 41/2- P- from 10 'fr.; Hot. de Paris (PL n;
B. 4), 17 Cours des Quinconces, R. from 3. B. 1, L. 4. D. 5, P. from
10 fr. : Hot. de la Paix (PL 1: B. 3), 19 Allees d'Etignv. R. from 3, B. 1.

L. 3, b. 31/0. P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Canton (PL o; B. 4). 29 Rue d'Espagne;
Hot. Cave '& d'Europe (Pl.p: B. 3). .80 and 12 Allees d'Etignv. good,
R. from 2, B. 3/^, L. 2i/.>. D. 3.' P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Bordeaux:, 15 Allees
d'Etignv, B. 1, L. or D. 31/.,, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Central. 14 Allees
d'Etignv, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de France & du Midi, 10 Allees d'Etigny,
L. or b. 3 fr. ; Hot. Sors. 1 Av. Carnot, P. from 8 fr. — Open the whole
year: Hotels de la Poste, Paix, Cave & d'Europe.

Villas. Flats, and Rooms to let. — Living is expensive in the height
of the season.

Restaurants at the hotels and the Casino; Amative, 40 Allees
d'Etigny. L. 5, D. 6 fr. (wine extra); Hdt.-Rest. de la Chatimiere (p. 168),

L. 5, D. 7 fr. (wine extra).

Etablissement Thermal (open the whole year). Buvette, 10 fr.

for the season, 10 c. per glass ; baths and douches of every kind ^j^-b fr.

Chaise a porteurs, to or from the baths, 75 c.—A list of Phtsiciaus is

posted up in the bath-house.
Carriages for excursions, with 2 horses 20-35 fr. ; with 4 horses,

25-40 fr.— Brakes for the Vallees du Lys and d'Oueil, Lac d'06, and
Hospice and Port de Yenasque, 4-6 fr.

—

Motor Omkibuses, see p. 168.

Garages. Dupont & Lacombe, 22 Boul. Charles-Tron; Laporte, 32

Av. de la Gare.
Rack-asd-Pinios Railway to Superbagneres. see p. 171.

Guides and Horses, numerous and regulated by tariff (see excursions),

but bargain necessary. Admittance fees and horses for the guides are

at the traveller's cost. Most of the 'guides' merely let horses or attend
parties on horseback (6-12 fr. per day. and the same for the horse).

Mountain Guides. The C.A.F." tariff is generally 15 fr. per day
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(porter 9 fr.). Griiides who accept this tariff: J.-M. Sausuc, at 06; J. Fouil-

louse; J. F. Haurillon; J. M. Castex ('Pechic'); J. Dusastre ('Testut'); B.

Sale; G. Autesdebat; F. Sarthe; J. L. Sarrieu; J. F. Martre, at 08.

Casino (PI. B, 3), Jime-Sept. ; adm. 1^/2 fr.

—

Theatre, at varying
prices. — Bull Fights in summer, Allee des Soupirs — Also horse-races,

battles of flowers, etc.. in the season.

Golf CjDXirse, Route de Montauhan.
Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3), Eue Sylvie. — Syndicat

d'Initiative, 20 Alices d'Etigny.
Anglican Churcli Service in summer.

Bagneres-de-Luchon, or simply Luchon (2065 ft.; pop. 3415),

is charmingly situated at the end of the valley of Luchon, and is

the nearest town to the central Pyreuean range. It has been famed

for its baths from Koman times. Frequently sacked in the middle

ages, and later also, the town and its baths were at one time al-

most deserted; but since the 18th cent, the place has revived, and

has long been the most prosperous watering-place in the Pyrenees,

visited annually by about 50,000 patients and tourists. It has the

advantage over Cauterets, its rival, in possessing a greater variety

of springs and a milder, though more variable climate. The season,

from June to Sept., is at its height from mid-July to Sept. 1st.

Luchon consists of the old town and the new. The former, the

nearer to the station, reached by a grand avenue of plane-trees dat-

ing from 1788, is small and mean, with narrow streets, on the left

bank of the One and at the mouth of the Larboust valley.

The new town, lower down, between the One and the Pique,

five times as large as the old, is handsomely built, with pleasant

villas and fine promenades. The -Alices cVEtigny, which we enter

just beyond the old town, a double avenue of old lime-trees, ex-

tends to the Etablissement, forming the centre of the town. It

takes its name from Megret d'Etigny, intendant of the province

of Auch (p. 87), who came to Luchon after 1751 and had the waters

examined, the INIontrejeau and Bigorre roads made, and this pro-

menade laid out. At the head of the valley appear the Pics de

Sauvegarde and de la Mine (p. 173).

The Etablissement (Pl.B, 4), backed on the W. by the plateau

of Superbagneres, on which the springs rise, is a large building

with a peristyle of 28 marble columns. The Salle des Pas-Perdus

is adorned with mural paintings by Romain Gazes. Two corridors

lead to the halls for baths and douches, and a staircase at the back

leads to the left to the buvettes and the curious subterranean gal-

leries. An annexe is allotted to vapour baths and inhalations.

The Waters contain chiefly sulphate of sodium. They offer a great

diversity of treatment, as tlicre are 48 springs, varying much in com-
position, in amount of sulphuration, and in temperature (62-151°). Thej-

are mainly used for skin affections, rheumatism, scrofula, lymphatic
cases, catarrhs, and surgical cases. The waters are drunk and inhaled,

but chiefly taken in baths. They cliange rapidly on exposure to the air,

becoming milky and precipitating sulphur. The yield of the springs in

the baths and buvettes averages 100,000 gallons per day. There is also

a Sniive Spring (62), yielding 125,000 gallons.

Baedeker's Suuthern France. 6th Edit. H
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In front of the Baths runs the fine Promenade des Quiticonces,

with a statue of Megret d'Etigny (p. 167). Adjacent is the Jardin
Anglais with a pond, the Buvette du Pre, and a Fruitiere for the

sale of milk. Higher up is the Bosquet, a favourite walk at the

foot of Superbagneres (p. 171). Behind the Buvette du Pre is a

Funicular (PI. B, 5; fare 75 c, return 1 fr.), ascending the slope

of Superbagneres every ^4 tr. to the Hot.-Rest. de la Chaumiere
(PL A, 5; p. 166), whence we obtain a fine view^ of the valley.

The Allee des Bains (PI. B, C, 4), extending from the Quin-

conces to the Pique, and continued by the Allee de la Pique on the

river-bank, forms a promenade within the town.

The Casino (PI. B, 3), a handsome building in a park, contains

concert and ball rooms, a theatre, a restaurant, etc.

On the first floor are interesting relief models. One represents the
whole of the Pyrenees on a scale of 1:40,000; another shows the central
range on 1 : 10.000 horizontal and 1 : 5000 vertical scale. There are also

geological and botanical collections, paintings, etc.

The favourite walks are to Juzet. Montanban, and Castelvieil. Juzet
lies 2 M. to the X.E., on the right bank of the Pique. We pass under
the railway near the station, and cross the stream. The waterfall, 130 ft.

high (25 c.), is quite well seen from the opposite side of the valley.

—

Montauban, 11/4 M. to the E. of Luchon, on the road prolonging the
Rue Lamartiue and Av. Dumas, may be reached also from Juzet (1/2 hr.).

The cascade, at the top of the village, is usually approached through the
cure's garden (50 c). — These two walks may be combined in the 'tour

de la vallee' (8 M. ; carr. and pair 8fr.): to St-JIcanet 0^4 M.
; p. 173),

Montanhan (I1/4 M.). Ji(zet (21/2 M.), Salles-et-Fratvieil (4V-2 M. ; iron
springs), and lastly by the Montrejeau road back to Luchon by the left

bank of the Pique.'— Castelvieil, a tower of the 14th cent, (restored),

on an isolated hill (2535 ft.) 2 M. up the valley, rises to the left of the
road to Spain. It aifords a fine view (50 c).

m. Excursions from Luchon.
Route des Pyrenees. Motor-omn. of the Comp. du Midi run four

times weekly in summer to Canterets (p. 141 ; 35. return 60 fr.), via Arrean
(p. 130), Ste-Marie (p. 164), Gripp (p. 164), the Col dn Tonrmalet (p. 160).

Bareges (p. 157 ; 30, thence to Cauterets 10 fr.), Lvz-St-Sauveiir (p. 150).

and Pierrefltte-Nestalas (p. 141). The retnrn-journey is made via Loiirdes

(p. 126; thence to Luchon 30 fr.). Bagneres-de-Bigorre (p. 160; 15, thence
to Luchon 25 fr.), Capvern (p. 130), and St-Bertrand-de-Comminges (p. 165).

To St-Bertrand-de-Comininges, 201/0 M. (railway to Labroquere,

p. 165); carr. 30-40, horse 12fr.— To Arreau and Bagneres, see p. 130.

*To THE Lac d'Oo, 10 M. to the S.W., 41/4 hrs.' walk, of which

we may drive 8 M. (guide, unnecessary, 8, horse 7 fr. ; carr. and

pair to the Grranges d'Astan 25, with 4 horses 35 fr.; brake, sec

p. 166). Early start advisable, to avoid the heat.—We pass through

the old town and the Allee des Soujpirs (PI. A, 2), and follow the

Bagneres road, which descends into the Vallee de Larhoust. —
23/4 M. Chapelle St-Aventin, at the mouth of the Oueil valley

(p. 170).— 3^/2^. St-Aventin, a village with a Eomanesque church

(11th cent.). — 41/2 ^1^- Cazeaux-de-Larhoust has a church with

rude 15th cent, frescoes. Here we leave the Arreau road (p. 130),
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turn to the left, and skirt, on the right, the huge moraine of a

glacier which once filled the 06 valley. Numerous erratic blocks.

— 51/2 ^1^- 06 (3065 ft.), at the mouth of the narrow Vallee d'Oo,

or Val d'Astau (toll for horse 20 c.).— Beyond the (8 M.) Granges

cVAstau (inn) we must either ride (2-3 fr.) or walk. To the left

opens the Vallon de Medassoles, to the right the Val d'Esquierry,

both interesting to botanists. From the latter, at whose entrance

is the Cascade de la CJievelure-de-Madeleine, starts the difficult

but interesting ascent (2 days) of the Pic des Gourgs-Blancs

(10,290 ft.), by the Lac de Caillaouas (7075 ft.).

The path now ascends in zigzags among huge rocks, to the left

of the torrent which descends from the (1 hr.) *Lac d'Oo or de

Secidejo (4920 ft.; hotel, E. 4, L. or D. 4 fr., wine extra; toll for

each pers. or horse 25 c). The lake, rich in trout, is Y2 ^^- longi

1/3 M. broad, and 220 ft. deep. The scene is impressive. Above the

rocky banks appear the peaks of the Quairat (left), the Montarque

(in front), and the Crete de Spijoles and Pic de Nere (right; nearer).

At the head of the lake a fine * Waterfall (895 ft.) descends in

three leaps, while the effect of the scene is enhanced by the chang-

ing hues of the greenish Avaters of the lake. Boat across the lake,

1 pers. 11/2 fi'-) 2 pers. 2 fr., 3 pers. 3 fr., each pers. more 75 c;

row round the lake 272; 3, and 4 fr., each pers. more 1 fr. To the

waterfall on foot, 35 min., along the W. bank.

To THE Port d'Oo, 93/4 hrs. from Luchon, 51/2 hrs. from the Lac d'Oo,

an interesting excursion ; ffuide necessary, 25 fr. ; horse to the Lac d'Espingo

8 fr. From the Lac d'Oo (see above) we ascend to the left (E.), with a fine

view of the Cirque d'Oo, and in IV2 hr. pass the Lac d'Espingo (6150 ft.

;

guide 10 fr. ;
quarters at fishermen's hut), whence the Pic Quairat and

the Pic de Hourgade may be ascended (p. 170). In V2 hr- more we reach

the Lac de Saousat (6430 ft.), where we leave the path to the Portillon

d'Oo (see below) on the left. The pyramid in front is the Tnc de Mon-
tarqu^ (p. 170). Our path, to the right, is very steep; 1 hr. farther on

it skirts a small lake, and then the Pic de Spijoles (see below). We next

come to the (IV4 hr.) Lac Glad d'Oo (8760 ft.), where the region of per-

petual snow begins. From this lake is made the ascent of the Pic de

Spijoles (10.055 ft.: guide 25 fr. ; fine view). To the N.W. of the lake

we may cross the Col des Gourgs-Blancs to (SVa hrs-) the Imc de Cail-

laouas (see above). Beyond the Lac GIac6 the ascent is easier to the

(•'/4 lir.) Port d'Oo (9520 ft.), the col between the Pic du ForUV On
(10,055 ft. ; 25 fr. ; right) and the Seil de la liaquo (10,215 ft. ; 25 fr.

;

left). The view is striking; on every side are snow-clad mountains and

glaciers. On the other side of tlie Port d'Oo we descend in 4-1'/., h«. to

V^nasque (p. 175), by the Oabaue de Turmo and the Pont de Cubcrre

(p. 176). With the Port d'Oo excursion may be combined the ascent of

the Pic Posets (11,045 ft.; p. 176); descent 'to the (2i/^ hrs.) Cabane de

Paoul, where the Port de Venasque route is reached (p. 176).

To THE PouTiLLON d'06, 9V4hrs. from Luchon (guide and horse as for

the Port d'Oo). To the (6V4 hrs.) Lac de Saousat, see above. We ascend to

the left between the Tuc de Montarque; and Pic Quai'rat (p. 170). Superl)

view. We pass the Cascade Michot, and to the right of tlie Lac du
I'ortillon (2 hrs. ; 8695 ft.). The last part of the ascent is difti<Milt. The
Portillon d'Od (1 hr. ; 9085 ft.) affords a similar view to that from the

Port d'Oo (see above). Chamois are sometimes seen here. — From the Lac

11*
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du Portillon we may ascend the Tuc (Tusse) de Montarqiie (9500 ft.;

Ihr. W. ; guide 20 fr. ; easy: *View of the Cirque d'06), the Pic des

Crahioides (10.225 ft. ; 30 fr. ; l^j^ hr. E., rather difficult; fine view) and the

*Pic Perdighero (10.560 ft. ; 30 fr. ; 2V-2 hrs. S.. fairly easy ; vast panorama).

AscEXT OF THE Pic DE HouRGADE, A^j^r^ hrs. fxom the Lac d'06 (guide
25 fr.). To the (IVa lir.) Lac d'Espingo. see p. 169; thence we mav make
the difficult ascent of the Pic Qtiaircd (10,035 ft. : 4 hrs. S.E. ;' guide
25 fr.). A little short of the lake we turn to the W. into the Val
d'Arouge, ascend thence to the Col de Kere-Aro2ige (9020 ft.; 21/2 hrs.),

near a small lake, and then without difficulty to the top. The Pic de
Hourgade (9730 ft.), adjoined on the N. by the Pic de Belle-Sayette
(9235 ft.

;
guide 25 fr.), affords an excellent view of the range between

the valleys of 06 and Clarabide and of the peaks to the S. "We may
descend X.AV. to Lucbon in 5 hrs. by the Lacs de Nere, the Pas de Couret
(see below), and the valleys of Esquierry and 06 (p. 169), or we may
descend in 4 hrs. to Loudenvielle (p. 130) by the Vallee d'Auhe and the
Cabanes de VHoio'tiga.

AscEXT OF THE Pic DE Cecire. 4-41/2 hrs. S.W. (guide 12, horse 10 fr.).

We lirst go to Cazeaiix (p. 168). then take an easy path to the S., which
beyond (40 min.) Les Bordes-de-Lahach ascends direct to the peak, by the
Col de la Couvie-de-Bourg (7380 ft.). A shorter but more trying route
is by Superbagneres (p. 171), then W., up an arete. The Pic de C6cire
(7875 ft.) affords one of the finest views near Luchou. To the S. rises a

grand amphitheatre of snow-clad peaks. Descent in 31/2 hrs. by the Lys
valley (p. 171).

AscEKT OF THE Pic DE MoKSEGU, 6 hrs. S.W. (guide 12, horse 10 fr.).

To (41/2 M.) Cazeaux. see p. 168. We go on for I1/2 M. more, passing
(.51/2 M.) Garin. then diverge to the left by the route to (7 M.) Gouanr-
de-LarhoKSt. We ascend thence to a slate-quarry, turn to the left, and
reach (2 lirs.) a little col with a spring. Lastly, 2 hrs. more to the top.

To return by the Esquierry valley, we dismount 1/2 hr. from the spring
and send the horse, S., to the Pas de Couret. The Pic de Mons^gu
(7890 ft.) affords an excellent view of the central Pyrenees. At the foot

of the truncated peak is an echo which repeats eight svllables. Descent
S.S.E., in 3/4 hr., to the Pas de Couret (6990 ft.); then by a path. E.,

through the Val d*Esquierry, to the Granges d'Astau (2 hrs.; p. 169).

Ascent of the Moxtxe, 4^0 lirs. N.W. (guide 12, horse 10 fr..

or 12 fr. when the ascent is made at night in order to see the sun-

rise; caiT. to Bourg-d'Oueil 30 fr.). We follow the Lac d'06 road

to (3 M.) the Chapelle St-Aventin (p. 168), and there turn to the

right into the pretty Vallee cVOueil, Avhere we pass a series of

villages: Benque-Dessous and Benque-Dessus, whence a path to

the left ascends the Montague de VEspiaup, with its cromlechs;

then St-Paul-cVOueil, with an old mansion on the right, Mayregne
(Rest. Terminus), and Bourg-cVOiieil (4440 ft.; 8V2 M.). We then

ascend to the right to (2 hrs.) the top of the Montne (7045 ft.;

line Aaew), rising between the plain and the highest range.

AscEKT OF THE Pic d'Autexac, 3^4 ln's. N.N.W. (guidc, needless,

10 fr.; horse 7, at night 10 fr.). To (IV^ hr.) St-Paul-d'Oueil, see

above. We ascend to the right by a steep bridle-path into a bare

valley. From its head, by a (l^/g hr.) spring, we ascend E. to the

Col de la Serre. The Pic d'Autenac or Antenac (about 6530 ft.),

with its three peaks, aft'ords a view of the flouts Maudits and a fine

outlook towards the Garonne. We may return by the crest of the
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hill, S., and descend either into the Oueil valley at Saccou7'vieUe,

opposite Beuqiie-Dessous (p. 170) or, farther on, into the Larboust

valley at Trebons, near the Chapelle St-Aventin (p. 168).

To SuPERBAGXEREs, S.W., by rack-and-pinion railway from the

Allees d'Etigny, 3^2 ^^v i^ ^^ min.; 12 cars daily (4, return 6 fr.).

Walkers (S-SYg hrs.; guide 8 fr.) ascend either direct from the

town or by a path to the left at the first bridge on the Lac d'06 road

(p. 168) ; but both routes are hard to find. Riders (horse 7 fr.) go to

(37.3 M.) St-Aventin (p. 168), and then ascend to the left to the

(•Y4 hr.) Granges cle Gourron. Crossing the brook beyond the

hamlet, they turn to the left, and ascend through piue-v>"oods to the

(•Y4
hi'-) pastures and plateau of Superbagneres (5895 ft.; Splen-

dide-Hotel, to be opened in 1911, June-Sept, and Jan.-March, R.

from 6, in winter from 10, B, 2, L. 6, D. 8, wine extra, P. from 15

or 20 fr.). This is a kind of terrace of the Pic de Cecire, 1980 ft.

above it, which may be scaled in 2 hrs. more (with guide; see

p. 170). The plateau, which commands a charming view (indicator),

is visited for winter-sports also. AVe may descend E. into the

Vallee du Lys.

*To THE Vallee du Lys and Rue d'Exfer, a favourite ex-

cursion; road to the (8 M.) head of the valley, then a bridle-path

(IY2 hr.). Carr. and pair 20, with 4 horses 30 fr.
;
guide (needless)

6, horse 7 fr. ; brake, see p. 166. Wc at first follow the road to

Spain, crossing the Pique by the Pont Lapade; we leave on the

right the Luchon reservoir, and on the left the Port de Venasque
route (p. 173), and recross the stream by the Pont de Ravi (3 M.;

buvette). We now enter the Vallee du Lys, narrow at first and
flanked with woods. The torrent forms several cascades, the chief

of which is the Trou de Bouneou (fee), between huge rocks. The
valley soon expands ; in front of us is the ^Cirque du Lys, shut

in by grand ice-clad peaks, notably that of the Crabioules (p. 170).

Two inns here: the Pavilion des Cascades, on the right bank, near

the fall (3600 ft.; R. 4, B. 1, L. or D. 4, P. 10 fr.), and the Hotel
des Delices, on the left bank (May-August; R. 3-4, B. 1, L. or D. 4,

P. 10 fr.). The Cascade d'Enfer is a copious fall in a sombre
gorge, but is only partially visible. To the Gouft're d'Enfer (^^4 hr.

;

guide needless) there are two paths, which unite at a bridge above.

One, steep and stony, to the left, behind the Pavilion des Cascades,

ascends in zigzags to the bridge in 25 min.; the other, longer but

easier, ascends on the left bank. In ^/^ hr. from the bridge we
reach the grand *Gouifre d'Enfer, best viewed from the foot of

the steps descending into it (50 c), or from the Promonfoire Jnlien-

Sacaze, ahoxo the steps. We next cross (10 min.) the Poj^f Nadie
and continue to ascend on the left bank of the torrent. In 40 min.

for I'/j, hr. from the hotel) we reach the '^Rue d'Enfer (5050 ft,),

:i mio-htv chasm in a mountain of shite. Refntre de Pratb)n<r, sec
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below.— From the Pavilion des Cascades we may visit the smaller

Cascade du Co&ur i^j^ hr.), formed by an affluent of the Pique on

the left bank.
To THE Lac Vert, 41/2 lirs. ; road to the head of the Vallee du Lys,

then bridle-path (guide 15, horse 10 fr.). From the (1/4 hr.) Cascade du
Coeur (see above) we ascend through woods to the (25 min.) Cascade de
Solage, then pass the Cascade de Tregon, on the left, and (l^/^ hr. from
the Pavilion des Cascades) reach the Cirque des Graoues, an ancient lake-

bed. Turning to the right here, we come to (1/4 hr.) the pretty horseshoe-
shaped Lac Vert (6430 ft.), bounded on the E. by high rocks. The lake
is fed by a cascade on the S. with the waters of the Lac Bleu, which
lies 40 min. higher. — The Eue d'Enfer path (p. 171) goes on to (1 hr.) the

Refuge de Pratlong (6100 ft.; guide 14 fr.), on the N. arete of the Pic
de Maupas, S^/^ hrs. from the Pavilion des Cascades. Interesting also

to make this excursion in the reverse direction. From the refuge we may
ascend the Tuc (Tusse) de Maupas (10,205 ft.; Si/V^ hrs.), the Pic Inter-
mediaire or du Passage (10,170 ft.; 31/2-4 hrs.), and the Pic de Bojnn
(10,040 ft. ; 4 hrs. ; difficult).

Ascent of the Pic de Bacaxere ats^d Pic de Burat, 4-5 hrs.

N.E. (guide 12, horse 8 fr.), a line excursion. We go first to Juzet

(p. 168), then ascend N.E. to (3 M.) Sode (2990 ft.). Through woods
we reach (5 M.) Artigues (4075 ft.) and (1^/4 hr. E.) the Rochers
de Cigalere, a fine point of view. We next skirt the mountain to

the left, and in 1^4 hr. more gain the top of the Pie de Bacanere
(7200 ft.). The view embraces the valley of Luchon and its side-

valleys, the Montne and the Pic du Midi, the Mouts Maudits, etc.

About Y2 lir- ^"- rises the Pales or Pic de Burat (7055 ft.; aub.;

guide 15 fr.), which affords a splendid view like that from the

jMontne or the Pic d'Autenac (p. 170). We may descend W. to

Gouaux-de-Luchon, 2 M. from Cier-de-Luchon (p. 166).

AscEST OF THE PoujASTOu, 41/2 hrs. E. (guidc 8, horse 7 fr.). The
route leads by (20 min.) Montauhan (p. 168), through a small wood, across

the (11/2 hr.) Prairies d'Erran (fine view), and through the (10 min.)

Foret Sisartigues, where we turn to the right. Then to the (l^/a hr.)

Fontaine Rouge, a chalybeate spring, and (V2 hr.) the Col des Courets
(6990 ft.). Lastly a climb of 1/2-^/4 br., over slippery turf, to the top of

the Pic de Poujastou (6335 ft.), on Spanish territory. Fine view of

the Aran valley and of the glacierg of the Vallee du Lys.

To THE Vallee d'Arak. — 1. By St-Beat. Eailway from Luchon to

Marignac (91/2 M.
; p. 166; 1 fr. 70, 1 fr. 10, 70 c); omn.' thence to Viella

(241/2 M. ; 4 fr.). Tramway being laid from Marignac to the Pont du
Roi. Carr. and pair from Luchon to St-Beat 25, to the Pont du Roi 30 fr.

;

horse to Viella 12 fr. — 21/2M. (from Marignac) St-B6at (Hot. du Commerce
& de la Terrasse, L. or D. 3 fr.), on the Garonne, at the entrance to a

picturesque defile, with a church and a chateau dating from the 11th cent.,

and old marble quarries. To the X. rise the Pics du Gars and Saillant.
—We follow the Garonne to (6 M.) Fos, where we cross the river.—
91/2 M. Pont du Roi (1915 ft.), on the Garonne (Spanish douane). Here
begins the Valley of Aran, the upper Garonne valley. — 12 M. Les
(hotel), with sulphur-baths. — 141/2 M. Bosost (2505 ft.), with a 12th cent,

church. Farther on the Portillon route diverges to the right. —We cross

(171/2 M.) the Garonne de Joueou, near Las Bordes, where the valley
of Artigue de Lin diverges to the right. (Pas de Mountjoyo and de
I'Escalette, see p. 174.)— 22 M. Aubert. Beyond, on the right, is the

chapel of Mitg-Aran, on the site of a famous monastery. —24 M. Viella
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(3200 ft. ; Fonda de los Pireneos), capital of the valley. Farther up, a

cart-track and bridle-path. — 281/0 M. Arties (3735 ft.), beyond the baths
of that name. — 301/2 M. Salardti (4160 ft.; inn, fair), the last village.

Pretty lakes near it," especially in the dale of Colomes, beyond the Baths
of Tredos (2 hrs. ; 5665 ft.).

2. By the Portillon, 8 M. to Bosost, whence we may return by the

preceding route. Carr. to the Portillon 30-35 fr., and back by St-Beat
50 fr. — The road ascends the Pique valley, crosses the river at (V2 M.)
St-3Iamet, and not far from Castelvieil (p. 168) enters the Vallee de Burbe
to the left. — 21/2 M. Cascade Sidonie.—QM. Portillon (4290 ft.), a

col on the frontier (douane). Then a rapid descent in windings to the

Garonne valley near Bosost (8 M.
; p. 172).

*To THE Port de Venasque and Port de la Picade (Pic de

Sauvegarde), very interesting, taking a whole clay.

We may ride all the way, or drive as far as the (6V2 M.) hospice.

Guide (not indispensable) to the Port de Vi^nasque 12 fr. ; with ascent of

the Pic de Sauvegarde or return by the Picade 14 fr. Horse to the
hospice 5, to the Port de Vdnasque 8 fr. ; with ascent of tlie Pic de
Sauvegarde 9, return by the Picade 10 fr. Carr. and pair to the hospice
25, with 4 horses 35 fr.

We take the road to Spain as far as the Pont de Ravi (p. 171),

We then continue to ascend the Pique valley, passing (^/^ M.) the

Granges de Lahach or de Castaing. A road diverging here to

the right (old road over the Col de la Glere, see p. 174) leads to

(20 min.) the Cascade des Demoiselles, in a deep gorge, whence a

path ascends to the (1 hr.) hospice, by the Cascade du Parisien.

Our road goes straight on through the Bois de Charuga.

672 M- Hospice de France, de Luchon, or du PmH de

Venasque (4460 ft.), an inn (L. 4 fr.) and 'fruitiere', where the

road ends. Paths lead hence to the Port de Venasque in the middle,

to the Col de la Glerc to the right, and to the Ports Mountjoyo and
de la Picade on the left.

Beyond the Hospice the valley divides at the foot of the Pic de
la Pique (7850 ft.; ascent dangerous; guide 20 fr.). To the left is

the Val de la Freche; to the right is the desolate Val du Port-

de-Venasque, through which our toilsome bridle-path ascends to

the (3Y2 M.) Port.— 7^2 M. Le Culet, a spot covered with the

debris of avalanches.— 8^2 ^I- Vallon de VHomme. F'arther on,

to the left, is the Trou des Chaudronniers, where nine tinkers

were buried in the snow. Then, above five small lakes, on the right,

the path mounts in zigzags.— 10 Y2 M. *Port de Venasque
(7930 ft.), a dip in the frontier-rocks, between the Pic de la Mine
(8880 ft.; guide 15 fr.) on the left and the Pic de Sauvegarde on

the right. A superb view of the Monts Maudits is suddenly revealed

here (see the Panorama, p. 174). Hannibal is supposed to have

crossed the Pyrenees by this col (comp. p. 195).— The view is still

finer from the *Pic de Sauvegarde (9145 ft.; 1 hr. from the

Port; 1 fr. for use of path).

On the other side of the col is a small Spanisli inn. Bearing to

tiie left along the Pefia Blanca, wo pass the springs of Peiia
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•74 hr. more, by the Port cle la Picade path, aud to the left agaiu,

through pastures and past the (Y2 l^i'-) Spanish shepherds' hut of

Pouylane. Passing the little Etangdes Garses, we reach (10 min.)

a col with a view of the Maladetta and (20 min.) another col over-

looking the Aran valley. The top of the Pic de rEntecade
(7285 ft.) is gained in 10 min. more. Magnificent view, including

the Monts Maudits, the peaks to the W. as far as the Pic du Midi,

the Vignemale, and Mont Perdu; to the E. the Spanish peaks beyond

the Aran; and to the N. the plains.

AsCEST OF THE Pic DE Xf.thou, S.S.E., two clays, long and costly,

but without difficulty for experts. Best season between July 20th and
Sept. 1st. Advisable to take two guides (35 fr. each), with ice-axes, ropes,

and provisions. We may ride as far as the (7 hrs. ; horse 15 fr.) Rencluse.
where the night is usually spent. To the Port de Venasque and the
Pena Blanca spring (5 hrs. from Luchon), see p. 173. We then turn to

the right to the (1 hr.) Plan des Etangs; farther on, to the right again,

to (1 hr.) the Chalet de la Rencluse (6970 ft.). Near it is the Gon^fre
de Turmon, where the Esera, the torrent of the Maladetta glacier,

becomes subterranean, to reappear in the Venasque valley. The torrent
of the Nethou glacier disappears into the Tvoh du Toro, 1/2 hr. from the
Rencluse route, near the top of the Plan des Etangs. We start very
earlj^ on the second day, to ensure a clear view from the Nethou. We
ascend S.S.E. to (21/2 hrs.) the Portillon (9540 ft.) between, right and
left, the Maladetta and the Nethou Glaciers. Then (using the rope) we
ascend the latter from N.W. to S.E., as far as the (1 hr.) Lac Vorone
(10,410 ft.) at the foot of the Dome dn Nethou, which we scale with
difficulty (1/2 hr.). Next comes tlie (V2 hr.) Potd de Mahomet, the most
trying point for persons subject to giddiness, a ridge 80 ft. long and only
3 ft. wide, with an abyss on each side. This brings us to the top of the

Pic de Nethou. or d'Aneto (11.170 ft.), the higliest peak of the Pyrenees,
and the centre of the granitic Monts Maudits, a group to the S. of

the main range, in Spanish territory. This group is attached to the main
range by the Pic Margalide (p. 176), from which branch off the peaks
of Las Salanques (9825 ft.

;
guide 15 fr. per day), Las Moutlleres (9860 ft.

;

15 fr. per day), Fourcanade (9455 ft. ; 35 fr.), Los Barrancos (8695 ft.), and
Poum^ro (8975 ft.). — The top of the Nethou is a platform of 75 by 26 ft.

;

view very extensive, but often obscured by mist. (Register of visitors on
the summit.) We may descend by the Col Coroni (10,475 ft.), aud thence
either to the Malibierne valley (see below) or over tlie (2 hrs.) Col de
Gregonio (9605 ft.) to the (^/4 hr.) Lac de Uregonio (8715 ft.), one of the
largest in the Pyrenees, and thence tlirough the Gorge de Gregonio to

the Bains de V*^nasque (see below), 5 hrs. from the top.

Other ascents from the Rencluse: Pic d'Jibe (10,160 ft. ; 31/2 brs-). or

Dent d'Alhe (10,215 ft.), bv the Lac Paderne; Pics Occidentaux de la

Maladetta (10,510 and 10,455 ft. ; 41/2 hrs.), by the Col d'Albe and tlie slopes
of Gregonio; Pic de la Maladetta (10,865 ft.; 3V2 hrs-; guide 35 fr.), by
the N. glacier; Pic Coroni (10,860 ft.); Pic du Milieu {l{),%&b it.)] Pointe
d'Astorg (11,005 ft.), by the Portillon and the- Nethou glacier.

The other peaks of the Monts Maudits are scaled from the Malibierne
valley. From the Port de V^nasqite (p. 173) we descend to the right to

the (1 hr.) Hospice de Vinasque (5770 ft.), and then follow the pretty
Venasque (or Esera) valley. About 2 hrs. from tlie Port, 20 min. to the
left, are the Bains de Venasque, with warm sulphur-springs similar to

those of Luchon. In V4 hr. more we pass, on the left, the (iorge de Gregonio
(see above), then (V2 It.) diverge to the left from tlie road to (1 hr.) Vniasquc,
a small fortified town. We now ascend the ValUe de Malibierne, witli

its cascades and tine woods, to the Ribereta Hut (6655 ft.), 11 hrs. from
Luchon, or to the Llosas Hut, 1 lir. farther. We may thence ascend, with
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a good guide, the Pic Maudit (10,990 ft.), l>y the Vallon d'Eroueil and
the diflScult arete of the Col de Gregonio, or by the S. chimney leading
to the Pointe d'Astorg. The path up this dale leads past the Lac Snperietir
d'Eroueil (9070 ft.) to the Col Corone, where it joins the Nethou route

(p. 175). The Llosas hut is the starting-point for the ascents of the Pic
des Temx)etes (10,790 ft. ; 3 hrs.

;
guide 15 fr. per day), the Pic MargaZide

(10,690 ft. ; 3 hrs. ; superb view), and the Pic Bussetl (10,500 ft. ; 31/2 hrs.

;

guide 15 fr. per day). Passing the Lacs de Malihierne (where chamois
abound), we may climb the Pic Orieiital de Jlalibierne (10,065 ft.) and
cross thence by a sharp arete to the Pic Occidental (10,025 ft.).

The Ascent of the Pic Posets (long and toilsome, seldom made) takes
2-3 days, the nights being spent at the Turmo hut (to which we may ride),

or better at the Paoul hut. Guide 40 fr. ; horse 15 fr. per day. (Ascent
by the Port d'06, see p. 169.) "\Ve follow the route last described, down
the Venasque valley and past the mouth of the Malihierne valley, to

the (71/2 hrs.) Pont de Cuherre, 2 M. short of Venasque (p. 175). We then
ascend the Astos valley, N.W., with its fine Avaterfalls, to the (I1/2 hr.)

Turmo Hut (5510 ft.) aud tlie {Vl.^ hr.) C'abane de Paoul (6775 ft.). At
least an hour is saved by leaving the Venasque road opposite the Baths
and ascending W. into the Val de Literola or de LitaijroUes, and thence
into the Astos valley, below the Turmo hut. This hut lies 51/2 hrs. below
the top. We turn first to the S., then S.W., mounting several rocky terraces
to the glacier, which we reach at the (4 hrs.) Col de Paoul (about 9500 ft.).

Here we join the route coming up (in 21/2 hrs.) from the Cabane de Paoul.
Crossing the glacier to the W. we reach (1 lir.) a rocky wall, the scaling
of which (20 min.) is the chief difficulty of the ascent. The Pic Posets,
or Punta de Lardana (11,045 ft.), the second highest peak in the Pyrenees,
forms, like the Xethou on the E., the centre of a nearly isolated mass.
Immense panorama. We may return by the Port d' 06 (p. 169), 31/2 hrs.

from the Paoul hut; there is no path, and the descent to the Lac d'06 is

fatiguing, but the view to the X. is superb. ^From the Pic Posets we may
follow the crest to the (2 hrs.) Pic de las Espadas (10,910 ft.). The other
peaks of the group. Pic de las Tonrets (9880 ft.). Pic Beraldi (9930 ft.).

Pic Central d'Eriste (10,025 ft.), and Pic Sud (9930 ft.), are ascended by
Venasque and the Vallon d'Aigueta de Eriste or d'Aigueta de la Vail:
and they afford a finer view to the S. than the Pic Posets.

26. Prom Boussens (Toulouse or Tarbes)
to Aulus via St-Girons.

Camp, the Map, p. 111.

Kailway to (201/2 M.) St-Girons in about 1 hr. (3 fr. 70, 2 fr. 50, 1 fr.

65 c). Omnibus in the season from St-Girons to (201/2 M.) Aulus in 3 hrs.

(3 fr.); also private omn. (1 fr. up, 2 fr. down); carr. for 4 pers. 25 fr.

;

motor-car in I1/4 hr., 5 fr. ; hotel carriages also meet the trains. Trans-
Pyrenean railway under construction between St-Girons and Oust; also

an electric tramway between Oust and Aulus.

Boussens, see p. 131. Our line crosses the Garonne, and ascends

the Salat valley.— 3^2 M. Mazeres-sur-Salat.

6 il. Salies-du-Salat (Hot. Raufast, Feuillerat), a small town
dominated by a ruined castle (13th -14th cent.), has saline and

sulphur springs.— The valley contracts.

191/2 M. St-Lizier (pop. 1280), a decayed little town, pictur-

esquely situated on a hill to the left, the ancient Lugdunum Con-
sm^anorum, still has a large part of its Roman %valls, with twelve

towers. The church, with its cloisters, is of the 12th-13th centuries.
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201/2 M. St-Girons (1285 ft.; Hut. de rUiiiou, de Frauce;

pop. 5929), an industrial town, at the confluence of the Salat, Lez,

and Baup, is convenient for excursions among the Pyrenees. The
church of St-Girons\idiS a tower of the 14th cent., that oi St-Voilier

has a porch of the 12th. To the N.E. of St-G-irons (3 M.; omn.) is

AudinaCy a hamlet with mineral springs and baths.
Trans-Pj'renean railway under construction from St-Girons to Lerida,

in Spain, via the Port de Salau (p. 178).

From St-Giroks to Foix, 29 M., railway in 1 hr. 10 to 1 hr. 20 min.
(5 fr. 25, 3 fr. 55, 2 fr. 30 c). The line ascends E., up the valley of the
Baup. — From (7 M.) Lescnre a road leads to (IOV2 ^0 Le Mas-d' Azil
(p. 131) and (30 M.) Pamiers (p. 179). —Leaving the Baup valley by a

tunnel, we next pass (8V2 M.) Rimoiit, with its castle, and (121/2 *M.)

Castelnau-Durban (aub.), with a ruined castle. — 171/2 M. La Bastide-de-
Serou (1395 ft.; Hot. Vives; pop. 2528), with old ramparts, lies pictur-
esquely on the Arize. Near it is the Groffe de la Garosse. To the S.E.
lies Alzen, with copper and silver mines.

—

iZ 'iS.. Baulou. We cross the
Viaduc de Vernajoids, 120 ft. high, and join the Toulouse line in the
valley of the Ariege. — 29 M. Foix (p. 179).

From St-Giroxs to Castillon and Sentein, 151/2 M. ; electric tramway
to Castillon (1 fr. 45 or 85 c), to be prolonged to Sentein. — The road and
tramway ascend the valley of the Lez. — 21/2 M. Aubert, with a tine

grotto. — 3 M. 3Ioidis, with a castle-ruin.— 8 M. Castillon (hotel), with
the Eomanesque chapel of St-Pierre. From Castillon a road leads, by
{81A.) St-Lary, up the valley of the Btllongne, across the Col de Fortet
(11 M.; 3525 ft.; view) and the (141/2 M.) finely situated Font de Henne-
Morte, to Asj^et (201/.3 M.

; p. 131). — Our road goes on to (10 M.) Les
Bordes-sur-Lez, with prehistoric burial-places. "\Ve leave on the left the
pretty Valh'e de Bethmale, whose inhabitants wear a picturesque costume,
and enter the Vallte de Biros, one of the finest in this region, with zinc
and lead mines. To the left diverges the route to tlie Pic du Montvalier
(see below); to the left also lies the Vallee d' Oi'le. —Ib^,'., M. Sentein
(2495 ft. ; Hot. Aragon), with a fortified church of the 14th cent, and a
spring containing iron and arsenic. To the S., 6 hrs., ia the Port d' Urets
(8355 ft.), leading to the valley of Aran in Spain and commanded by the
Pic de Mauberme (9450 ft.).

From St-Girons to Tarascon, 36 M., by road; electric tramway be-
tween the Pont de Kercabanac and Massat projected. —To (71/2 M.) the Pont
de Kercabanac, see below. The road crosses the bridge and ascends the
pretty valley of the ^rac. — 10 M. Custef. On the right bank lies Soulan.
Then a rocky defile. — 17 M. Massat (Hot. Lapene, good; pop. 3058), a
decayed town, with prehistoric grottoes near it. —We leave (2OV2 M.) to
the left the Foix road (p. 180). — 25 M. Le Port (4100 ft.

;
poor shelter-

hut), a col between the Tuc de VHomme-Mort (5490 ft.; on the left) and
the Pic d'Estibat (5475 ft.; on the right; 1 hr. from the col; fine view).— 31 M. Saurat (hotel). Omn. to Tarascon (50 c.).— 33 M. BedeOhac-et-
Aijnat, with a ruined castle and a stalactite grotto, containing prehistoric
remains.— 36 M. Tarascon {\). 180).

The ascent of the conical and isolated Pic du Montvalier (9315 ft.),

S.W. of St-Girons, is best made from Les Bordes (10 M. ; see above) and
llie pretty Vallee du Rib^rot, with its fine cascades. At the E. end of
the valley, 8 lirs. from Bordes aud 2 hrs. from the top, is the Refuge des
Estagnous (7220 ft.). Extensive view from tlie summit.

The Road to Aulus ascends the fertile valley of the Sahit,

which narrows to a defile.— 372 M. Lacourt, with a donjon of the

14th cent, and a ruined castle of the 16th.— 7^2 ^1- Pont dt Kcr-
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cabanac, at the uuiou of the Salat and Arac. Eoad to Tarascon, see

p. 177,— Our road now turns to the S. (short tunnel).— 8 M. St-

Sernin. The valley expands.

—

8^^^ M. Soueix.
The Eoad to Cocflexs (81/2 M.) diTerges to the right from the Aulus

road, a little farther on, and continues to ascend the Salat valley. — 21/2 M.
Seix (Hot. Courtade; pop. 2805), an ancient town, with baths and marble
quarries. On a hill (4175 ft.) are the ruins of the Chateau de Mirahah
— From (41/2 M.) Covflens-de-Betmajou we may ascend the Pic du Jlont-

valier (p. 177 ; 7-71/2 hrs. : guide from Seix); we ascend the valley of Estours
to the (4 hrs.) huts of Aula, where we may sleep; then over the Col de
Peyreblanque (21/2 hrs.) and through a gap. where we pass under a rock,

the only difficult point. — 51/2 M. Pont-de-la-Taule. E. of which lies Ustou
(41/2 M. ; 2430 ft.), a village whose chief industry was formerly the train-

ing of dancing bears, one of which was the usual dowry of a bride.

—

Our road next passes through a gorge, dominated by the ruined Chateau
de la Garde. — 8^/4 M. Coufiens (hotel). Higher up is (21/2 M.) the village

of Salau (aub.), 1 M. from which are the Xeuf Fontaines, the sources
of the Salat, near the mouth of the Traus-Pyrenean tunnel (comp. p. 176).

Bridle-path from Salau to the Port de Salau {Ql SO ft. ; 31/2 hrs.), on the
frontier, and thence down the Spanish valley of Xoguera Pallaresa.

We ascend the Garbet valley. To the right is the Montvalier

(p. 177).— IOV2 M. Oust ('Augusta').— 1572^^- Erce (pop. 2634).

20^1^ M. Aulus. — Hotels. Grand-Hotel, open the whole vear,

R. from 4, B. 1, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr., and Hotels du Pare & du
Casino, near the Etablissement, first-class; Hot. de France, George,
Crouzat (meuble). and des Bains, in the new quarter; Hot. du Midi, in

the village, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Paris, farther otf, P. 6-71/2 fr.—
Etablissement Thermal. Buvette, 10 fr. for 3 weeks; baths and douches,
l'/2-2 fr. — Casino du Parc, at the Hot. du Pare.

Anlus (2500 ft.) is a pretty village on the Garbet, in a dale eu-

closed by grassy and Avooded mountains. Its mineral Springs (SO-

SO"; sulphate of lime and iron) are charged with soda and magnesia,

and are purgative and diuretic. Season May 15th to Oct. loth.

Excursions (guide 3-5 fr.). The Ca'izarde (4595 ft.), II/2-2 hrs. X., reached
l)y a path skirting the church-wall, atiords an admirable survey. — The
^Cascade d'Arse, I1/2 hr. S.E. of Aulus, is one of the finest in the Pyre-
nees. We cross the bridge opposite the Hotel du Midi, follow a broad
mule-track to the valley of the Arse, cross the torrent (^/^ hr.), and mount
by a steep path to the "foot of the fall (360 ft. high; three leaps). From
the fall we may climb the Pic du Pouech (5700 ft.; 21/4 hrs. 'N.). — The
Cabane d^Agneserre (3725 ft.), a shepherd's hut 2 hrs. S.E., reached by
a stony track up the valley of the Garbet, is the starting-point for the

following excursions; Lac de Garbet (5480 ft.), 2 hrs. S., in the upper
valley of the G-arbet (waterfall); Pic du Potiech (see above), I1/2 hr. E.

;

Port' de Saleix, or Col de Couviebiere (5910 ft.; splendid view), 2 hrs.

N.E., whence we may descend to Vicdessos (21/4 hr.
; p. 180).

27. Prom Toulouse to Foix, Tarascon,
Ussat, and Ax.

From Toulouse to Foix, 51i/q M., Rah^way in 1 hr. 35 to 2 hrs. 40 min.
(9 fr. 30, 6 fr. 25, 4fr. 10 c); to Tarascon, 61 M.. in 2 hrs. 15 to 3 hrs. 25 min.
(11 fr. 10. 7 fr. 40, 4fr. 85 c); to Ussat, 631/2 M.,iH 2 hrs. 25 to 3 hrs. 30 min.
(11 fr. 50, 7 fr. 70, 5 fr. 5 c); to A.r, 77 M.. in 2 hrs. 55 to 4 hrs. 25 min.
(14 fr., 9fr. 35, 6 fr. 10 c).
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Toulouse, see p. 77. Leaving the Gare Matabiau, we follow the

Tarhes line to (7V2M.) Portet-St-Simon (p. 131).— Beyond (8V2M.)
Pinsaguel we ascend the valley of the Ariege.— 25 M. Cintega-

belle (pop. 2109) has an interesting church with a 14th cent, spire.

3OY2 ^1- Saverdun (pop. 3449), an old town, one of the chief

places in the County of Foix in the middle ages, was the birthplace

of Benedict XII., the third Avignon pope (1334-42).

4OV2 ^^- Pamiers (Hot. de la Poste, good, R. 3-4, L. or D.

31/2 fi'- ; Hot. Catala
;
pop. 10,017), an industrial town on the Ariege,

and seat of a bishop, is noted for its iron-foundries.

The town sprang up around an abbey and castle of the 12th cent., and
its founder, Roger II. of Foix, named it after the Syrian town of Apa-
mea in memory of the First Crusade. It often suffered from the rivalry
among the Counts of Foix, the abbots, the bishops, and the townsfolk.
In 1553 it was ravaged by the plague; and in 1628. having become Pro-
testant, it was sacked by the Prince de Condd.

The Romanesque church of Nofre-Dame-dii-Camp, modern in

part, has a crenellated brick facade (14th cent.). The Rue des Nobles

ascends to the modernized Cathedral, with its transitional portal,

concealed by a modern brick tower and other parts in the Grieco-

Roman style (17th cent.). "We may then ascend to the left to the

Castela, a })romenade on the site of the old castle (view).

From Pamiers to Le Mas-(V Azil and Lescure, see p. 177.

From Pamieks to Moulin-Neuf, 2OV2 M., narrow-gauge line in 50-

70 min. (3 fr. 70, 2 fr. 50, 1 fr. 65 c.).--16 M. Mirepoix (Hot. du Com-
merce, L. 2'/2i D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Rigaud; poj). 3558) is a pleasant town 011

tlie Hers, once tlie seat of a bishop. St-Matirice, formerly the cathedral.
• lating mainly from the 15th cent., has a fine nave and stone spire. On
the right bank is a ruined castle. — 20'/a M. Montin-Xe ftf (^. 100).

46 M. Varilhes. The valley contracts, and we cross the Ariege.

— 48^2 M. St-Jean-dc- Verges. The scenery improves. To the

right are a modern clu'itcau and the Yernajouls viaduct (p. 177).

511/2 M. Poix (1310 ft.; Hot. Bem)it, R. 3-4, B. 1, L. 3, D.

4 fr. ; Hot. Lacoste; pop. 6806), the chief town of the department
d' the Ariege, is finely situated at the c<uitiuence of the Ariege and

Arget, and is dominated by its picturesque castle.

In the mi(hlle ages Foix was tlie cajiital of the Counts of Foix, oiu'

of whom, Raymond (1188-1223), successfully resisted Simon de Montfort's
attack on his rastlo during the Albigonsian crusade (comp. p. 70). The
i^ountship |)ass."d in 1225) under the suzerainty of the Kings of France;
but, owing to iliflerences between Roger Bernard III. and Philip tbe Bold,
it was invaded in 1272 by the latter, who captured the castle only by
threatening to blow up the rock on which it stood. The territory was
united later to B^arn and annexed to France under Henri IV.

The ruined Castle looks very picturesque from a distance. Jt

stands on a rock 190 ft. high, and still has two square towers,

partly of the 12th cent., and a round tower, 140 ft. high, of the

14th. To enter the castle (fee) we skirt the rock to the i-ight.

At the foot of the rock are the Palais de Justice, containing a

small Musee, and the church of St -]\}lnsien, of the 12th cent., re-

cently restored.
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To the E., near the village of (51/2 M.) V Heiin. is a large cavern
interesting to geologists.

Line from Foix to St-Girons. see p. 177.

From Foix to Massat, 221/2 M., very picturescxue ; motor-omnibus to

Serres 70 c. (returning by Be'nac. Bj^assac, and Ganac, a round of 121/2 M.

;

11/2 fr.). —We ascend the pretty Fa?/^'e de la Bai'gtnJVere. — 51/2 M. Serres.

To the S. are the great forests of Brassac and Ganac. —71/2 M. Burret
(2755 ft.). We ascend to the right to the Col des JTarrou's (3610 ft.;

101/2 M.); then, S.W., to the grassy plateau of C'aplong (131/2 M.) and the
Tour Lafont (16 M. ; 4525 ft. ; *View). From the col we may ascend, 1 hr.

E., the Pic de Fontfrede (5320 ft.; view). — The road now descends rap-

idly and joins the Tarascon and St-G-irons road, 31/2 M. from Massat
(p. "177).

From Foix to Qutllan. 38i/., M.. bv road (railway projected). Motor-
omn. daily in 31/4 hrs. (61/2 fr.).— Beyond (7 M.) Celles, to the left, is the
ruined Chateau de Roqueflxade (13th -16th cent.). The road traverses a

hilly and wooded region. —17 M. Lavelanet (Hot. d'Espagne, du Pare;
pop. 3532), a cloth-making town, prettily situated on the Touyre, which
has formed a defile through the hills of the Plantaurel. Picturesque
environs. Railway to Bram, see pp. 101. 100. To the S., 7 M., are the
ruins of the Chateau de Montsegur. destroved in the Albigensian war
(1244).— 21 M. Belesta (Hot. Delpech; pop." 2021), prettily situated on
the Hers. On the right bank. 1/4 hr. upstream (opposite the pilgrimage-
chapel of >Totre-Dame-de-Val-d' Amour), is the intermittent Fontaine de
Fontestorhes, with a grotto above it. Farther up the Hers we may pass
through the wild Gorges de la Frau (51/2 M. from Belesta), 2 M. long,

and at (121/2 M.) Prades join the Quillan and Ax road (p. 182). —Our road
ascends. Fine views. On the right is the Forest of Belesta. — 231/2 M.
Puivert, with the ruins of a castle (12th -14th cent.). In the village is

the Gorge du Blau. — 33 M. Xe'bias. Farther on is the Ax road, on the
rig-ht (p. 182). We now descend in windings (view) to the banks of the
^wde. — 3S1/2 M. Quillan (p. 185).

The train passes under the bridge of Foix and ascends the right

bank of the Ariege. Best views to the right.— So^/g M. St-Paul-

St-Antoine. Beyond a tunnel we have a view of the gorge of the

Ariege, spanned by an old fortified bridge.

61 M. Tarascon (Hot. Francal), a small old town, lies very

picturesquely at the confluence of the Ariege and Vicdessos.

Tarascon-le-Vieux, to the left, is built round a rock, crowned with

a tower, the relic of a castle destroyed in the 17th century. Iron-

foundries and gypsum quarries.

Grottoes abound in the limestone mountains of this district, such as

the superb Grotte du Pounchet, in the Montague de Sabart, those at Be-
deilhac-et-Aynat (p. 177), Le Mas-d'Azil (p. 131), etc.

From Tarascok to Vicdessos, 91/2 M., by steam-tramway, which goes
on to Auzat (see below). To Vicdessos in I1/4 hr. (1 fr. 15 or 85 c). —
The road leads S., up the narrow valley of Vicdessos, flanked with bare
mountains. — 21/0 M. Nianx, with the stalactite Grotte de la Calbierc. con-

taining two small lakes.— 11/2 M. Capiotdet. near the ruined Chateau de
Miglos (13th cent.). V\^e pass through the Foret de Teillet (fine scenery).
— 91/2 M. Vicdessos (2280 ft. ; Hot. du Pare, Fabre), to the S.E. of which
is the Montague de Eancie, with valuable iron-mines. From Vicdessos
to Aldus, see p. 178.

From Vicdessos we may ascend, S.W., the Montcalm (73/4 hrs.) and
the Pic d'Estax (81/2 hrs.); guide necessary. We may ride to the Pla
Subra (p. 181). We continue to ascend the Vicdessos valley, via (1/4 hr.)

Auzat (2430 ft. ; hotel), with its chemical works, terminus of the Tarascon
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tramway, and past the (1/2 lii'O fine Cascade de Bassies, ou the right, to

Marc (1 hr. ; guide, Pierre Rauzy. 'Pierrou'). Here we enter the lateral

valley on the right, then another on the left, and ascend steeply by the
C'abanes de Pigeol (5585 ft. ; IV2 lir.) to the C'abanes da PJa Suhra (2/4 hr.

;

6265 ft.). Thence a climb of 3 hrs., toilsome at first, to the crest (9335 ft.)

between the valleys of Subra and Rionfred, and ^U hr. more to the top
of the Montcalm (10,105 ft.). View very extensive; to the S. it is partly
blocked by the Pic d'Estax, or Pique' d' Esfats (10,305 ft.), which may
be scaled in 3/4 hr. from the Montcalm.

We cross theVicdessos and continue to ascend the Ariege valley.

631/2 M. Ussat-les-Bains.— Hotels. Hot. des Bains & duParc,
on the right bank, near the Etablisseraent, R. from 2Va5 L- 21/2? D. 3,

P. from 6, omn. V4 fr- ; Sof. Modele (meiibl^), on the right bank, R. from
21/2 fr.; Hot. Verge, farther on, to the right, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 3, D.
31/2? P- from 6V2, omn. 1/2 fr. ; Hot. de la Renaissance (open the whole
year) and Hot. de France, left bank; Hot. Menville (meiible), beyond
the Etablisseraent (whole year). — Baths, 70 C.-IV2 fr. ; douches, 60 c.-l fr.

— Casino, next the Hotel des Bains. — Telegkaph Office in the season.

Ussat-les-Bains (1590 ft.), named after Ussat-le-Vieux, a

village on the right bank of the Ariege, is noted for its copious

springs (bicarbonate of lime), supplied by a subterranean lake in

the rocks bordering the valley. The water (103°) is sedative, and
is efficacious in nervous and feminine complaints. The Efablisse-

ment Thermal is on the left bank of the Ariege, beyond a small

park. The Then^mes Ste-Germaine and the Bains St-Vincent are

on the right bank. Season from June 1st to Sept. 15th.
The Grotte de Lombrives, V2 Jir. from Ussat, is one of the largest

caverns in this region (2i/., M. long); its mouth is seen on the hill on
the left bank, opposite the station. (Apply to the farmer, opposite the
station; adm. l^/o fr. ; the visit takes 21/2 trs.)

67^2 M. Les Cabannes (Hot. d'Espagne). On a liill to the right

is the Chdfeau de Gudane, and at the head of a dale rises the Pic
de Riez (8500 ft.). To the left, farther on, are the Pic de St-

Barthelemy (p. 182) and the picturesque ruins of the Chdteau de
Lordat (13th- 14th cent.).— Tl'/a M. Luzenac-Garanou, whence
a road leads to the (Qi/g M.) Col de Marmare (p. 182).

77 M. Ax-les-Thermes.— Hotels. Hot. Sieve, at the Etablisse-
meut du Breilh, R. from 21/2. L. sy.„ D. 4, P. from 71/.. fr. ; Hot. de France,
Av. Theopliile-Delcasse, with rest., R. from 31/2, B. I1/4, L. 3'/,, D. 4,
P. from 8V2- omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Fair, Av. Adolphe-Authier, R.'from 3,

L. 3, D. 31/2, !'• from 8fr.— Baths, 80 c.-V/.^ h.; douches, 90 c.-^V^ fr.

;

buvette, 15 c. — Casino. — Post & Teleokapii Office, Av. Tht^oi)hiie-Dcl-
casse. — Si'NDicAT d'Initiative, at the Mairie.

Ax-les-Thermes (2350 ft.; pop. 1024), an ancient town, is well

situated at the confluence of three streams. Its famous sulphur-

springs were known to the Romans, as indicated by its name (Aqiur).

Ax has no fewer than 61 springs, which vary in temperature (77°-

172°), composition, and uses. The waters (used for drinking, for

l)athing, and for domestic pur})oses) are beneficial in cases of rheu-

matism, skin-diseases, scrofula, and catarrh. The climate of Ax is

variable; evenings generally cool.
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There are four bath-houses, each fed by a different group of

springs: the Couloubret, to the left, at the end of the Place du

Couloubret, 10 min. from the station by the Av.Theophile-Delcasse;

the ^Modele, on the bank of the stream to the right of the Place

du Couloubret; the Breilh, in the Place du Breilh, a little farther

on, in the shady court of the Hotel Sicre; and the Teich, on the

other side of the town, reached by the Rue du Coustou from the

end of the Place du Breilh. Behind the Teich is a pretty park, and

higher up are some ruins, with a statue of the Virgin (view).

—

The Hospital, in the Place du Breilh, was founded for leprous

soldiers by St. Louis in 1260. Near it is the church of St-Vincent,

dedicated to St.Udaut, 'conqueror of Attila, martyred at Ax in 452'.

From Ax to Axat. bv the Yallee du Rebentv, see p. 186.

Asceut of the Pic Saquet, or Tnte de TO^/rs (7410 ft.), to the S.W.,
51/5, hrs.. easy and interesting. We ascend to the (21/4 hrs.) Plateau de
Bonascre (4195 ft.) and (I1/4 hr.') the Chalet Forestier de Manseille (5465 ft.

;

to which we may ride), whence we reach the top in 2 hrs. more (splendid
view). We may return to Ax in 31/2 hrs. by the three farms of Bazerque
and the 'Pont d'Espague' (1/2 M. above Ax).

The Pic de St-Barthelemy (7705 ft.), KW., may be ascended in

6 hrs. from Luzenac (p. 181: guide 10 fr. ; easy and interesting). We as-

cend N. by Lordat (2870 ft. ; 1 hr. ; castle, see p. 181) to (1/2 hr.) Aaciat,

with its Romanesque church; then by a stony path, leaving the ravine
of the Satiquet on the left, to the Grange Sarrado (3870 ft. ; I'/i* hr.),

and to the top in 3 hrs. more (famous view).

The Pic de Tarbezou (7765 ft.), 5 hrs. E., also interesting and
easy, is ascended partlv bv a cart-track and a bridle-path leading via

(2V2M.) Ascon, the (41/2 M.') old Forge d'Ascou (3585 ft.), the (61/2M.)

Granges de 3Iontinija, and the Jletairie del Pere (8 M. ; 4740 ft.
;
quarters

and rfmts.). Here we leave on the left the path to the baths of Carca-
nieres (p. 185; 51/4 hrs., over the Col de Pailheres), and ascend direct

to (IV2 br.) the top of the Tarbezou. Superb view. Easier ascent from
Montmija, by the right bank of the torrent, and then turning N.

The ascent of tlie Puy de Carlitte (9585 ft.; with guide), to the

S.E., may be made, by the Lac Lanoux (p. 183), in 2 days from Ax
(1 day from L'Hospitalet or from Porte), but better from Les Escaldes
(9 hrs. from Ax; see p. 195). We mav descend X.E. to Formigueres

(p. 185; 41/2 hrs.). or S.E. to Mont-Louis' (p. 193; 6 hrs.).

From Ax to Qdillan, 331/2 M., motor-omn. twice daily between
Belcaire and Quillan, in I1/2 hr. (3 fr.). The road ascends N., by (3 M.)
Sorgeat, to the Col de Chioida (6 M. ; 4710 ft. ; view), and at the Col de
Marmare (4460 ft.; 71/9 M.) it joins the road from Luzenac (p. 181). It

then descends by Prades (91/2 M. ; p. 180) and (151/2 M.) Belcaire (Hot.

Bayle), joining the Foix road 3 M. short of Quillan (p. 185).

From Ax to Bourg-Madame. 34 M., a section of the Route des Py-
renees (p. 193), motor-omn. daily from May to Nov., twice daily from
1st July to 20th Oct. (9 fr.); omn. 7 fr. Motor-omn. to Font-Romeii via

Bourg-Madame, see p. 193. Trans-Pyrenean railway from Ax to Ripoll

(p. 194) under construction. — The road leaves the Oriege valley on the

left, and ascends (vS.) the picturesque vallev of the Ariege. — 5 M. Merens
(3460 ft.; hotels), with warm sulphur-springs. —91/2 M. Pont de Saillens,

with a sulpliurous spring.
11 M. L'Hospitalet (4710 ft. ; Hot. Soule) lies near the N. entrance

of the new Trans-Pyreuean tunnel under the Col de Puymorens (nearly

31/2 M. long). — To ascend the Puy de Carlitte (see p. 195), we return to

the Pont de Saillens, then ascend E. to the (31/2 lirs.) Col de Besines
(7710 ft.), X.E. of the Pics PHrotix (9290 ft.), and descend to the (1 hr.)
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Lac Lanoux (7135 ft. ; hut), the largest lake in the French Pyrenees.
Thence to the top in 3 hrs. more.

Beyond L'Hospitalet the roarl ascends in three loops (SV-j M. in all;

short-cuts); from the third the new Andorra road diverges to the right,
while ours leaves the Ariege valley. — 171/2^- Ool de Pnymorens (6295ft.

;

refuge). The road now descends in windings. — 22 M. Porte (5325 ft.;

Aub. Michette) is another starting-point for the ascent of the Puy de
Carlitte (6 hrs.), by the Gorge de Fontvives and the Lac Lanoux "(see
above).

—
"We follow the Carol through a short defile, commanded on the

right by the ruined Tour C'erdane (11th cent.); at its exit we see on the
right the S. end of the great tunnel (p. 182). — 231/2 M. Porta (4950 ft.;

aub.). whence the Pic de Vampcardos (9560 ft. ; 41/2 his. ; splendid view)
may be ascended. The two picturesque Tours de Carol or Querol (13th
cent.) now come in sight. — 281/2 M. La Tour-de-Carol (4070 ft.; Aub.
Pelegry), a pretty village, whence a road diverges to the right to Puy-
cerda (p. 194). — 3OV2 M. Etiveitg, with an interesting church. The road
turns J^. farther on. and descends into the Raour valfey (view). — 321/2 M.
Ur, whence a road leads to the left to Les Escalde.s (21/2 M.

; p. 194).

We cross the Raour and then the neutral road to Llivia (p. 194). — 34 M.
Bonrg-Madame (p. 194).

From Ax to Andorra, 40^2 M. (25 M. by road to Soldeu ; then bridle-
path). Guide needless in fine weather, but may be useful as an inter-
preter. (Horse and man from L'Hospitalet. 15 fr. per day, besides man's
food and gratuity.) Inns in the Andorra poor and often dirty (ask charges).
— To (11 M.) U Hoapitalet, see p. 182. The new Andorra road diverges
from the Bourg-Madame road, 41/2 M. from Hospitalet, and reaches (31/., M.)
the frontier at the Pas de las' Casas (6;il0 ft.). — 21 M. Port de Frai/-
Miqnet, or Col d'En-Valira (80i0 ft.), whence we survey the whole region
of Andorra. The road descends through ravines into the vallev of the
Valira. — 25M. Soldeu. (6100 ft.; inn), the first Andorrau village".

The bridle-path from Soldeu to (l5'/2 M.) Andorra continues to de-
scend the Valira valley. It passes Canillo (IVihr. ; 5180 ft.; inn), the
pilgrimage-chapel of Notre-Dame de MeTitxell (festival on 8th Sept.), La
Mosquera, Encamp (2 hrs. ; 4460 ft. ; Hot. Oros, plain but good), and,
beyond a wild gorge, Las Escaldas (1 hr. ; 3625 ft.; inns of Fr. Pla and
of Ant. Font), a smiling village with warm sulpliur-springs, in a valley
planted with olives and tobacco. Thence to Andorra 40 min. more.

Andorra la Vella (3560 ft. ; inns of Juan Arajol and of Calones

;

post, telegraph, and telephone office; pop. 600) is the capital of the little

republic of Andorra. It is well situated at the foot of the Anklar
(7635 ft.) and above a fertile and picturesque plain, but is badly built.
Its chief attraction consists in the primitive character of the inhabitants
and their government. The Romanesque church (12th cent.) contains
interesting carved wood. The modest Casa de la Vail, or palace (16th
cent.), with its tower pierced with loopholes, is the seat of the republican
government, serving as a lodging for the members and their horses, and
also as a law-court, town-hall, and school. The primitive council-chamber,
the chapel with a picture presented by Felix Faure, and the kitchen with
its monumental fire-place are objects of interest. The archives gontain
the privileges of the republic, saicl to date from the time of Charlemagne
and Louis le Debonnaire, and kept in a cupboard with six locks. Near
the village rises the Moorish tower of Carol.

The Neidral Valleys of Andorra, a miniature republic, under the
suzerainty of France and Spain, are about 19 M. long from E. to W.
and 15 M, broad from N. to S., and have an area of 232 sq. M., with
5231 inhabitants. Their privileges are said to have been accorded to tliem
by Louis Ic D^lionnaire in recognition of the services they had rendered
him in his wars against the Moors. In tiie middle ages the overlordship
was held jointly by the Spanish Bishops of Urgel and the Counts of
Foil, the latter being succeeded by the Kings of Frame from 1278 to
1798. Since the Revolution the state has been practically independent.

Bakdekkk's .Soutliorn France, f.tli K.ljt. {')
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The French goTernment receives from it a tribute of 960 fr. per annum
aud the Bishop of Urgel 460 fr. The post and telegraph office is French,
the money Spanish, and the language Catalonian. The state is gOTerned
by a council of 24 members, 4 from each of the six parishes, who appoint
a -syndic general' as president. The French government and the Bishop
of Urgel each appoint a -viguier', or vicar, the former for life, the latter

for three years. These viguiers. each with his -bayle'. form the executive,
governing in accordance with the laws and customs of the country. The
law of primogeniture still exists; every citizen must serve as a" soldier

at his own expense; taxes are based on income; education is gratuitous.
The chief industry is cattle-breeding, and smuggling is prevalent.

From Andorra to La Seo-de-Urgel, 16 M. to the S., 43/4 hrs. by a

bad bridle-path. We descend the valley of the Yalira, passing Santa
C'oloma and San Julidn de Loria (41/2 M. ; 3085 ft.: inn), the last An-
dorran village, a resort of smugglers. The Spanish frontier is crossed
3 M. farther down, S^'., M. beyond which is La Seo-de-Urgel (2315 ft.

;

inns of Juan Pallares and of Andria; pop. 4000). This typical mediaeval
town, a bishopric since 840, has a tine Romanesque-Gothic cathedral and
cloisters (11th cent.}. — From La Seo a bridle-path ascends tlie valley of

the Segre, across the Spanish Cerdagne (p. 193), to Puycerda (p. 194).

—

Routes to Cardona, Barcelona, etc., see Baedeker's Spain & Portugal.

28. From Carcassonne to Perpignan
via Quillan.

821/2 M. Railway in 4 hrs. 40 to 7 hrs. 20 min. (15 fr., 10 fr. 15, 6 fr.

55 c.).— From Carcassonne to Quillan, 34 M., in 1^/4-2 hrs. (6 fr. 15. 4 fr. 15,

2 fr. 70 c).

Carcassonne, see p. 101. The line ascends the valley of the

Aude.— 8 M. Vei'zeille. Omn. to (3 M.; \/.> fr.) St-Hilaire, with

remains of a famous abbey, including the 13th cent, church, the

tomb of St. Hilary (p. 5), 11th cent, bas-reliefs, and 14th cent, clois-

ters.— lOYo M. Pomas, with a chateau (14th cent.).

17 M. Limoux iHot. Moderne, R. 2-4, L. 3, D. 37, fr.; pop.

7010), on the Aude, lies amidst vine-clad hills, which yield a good
white wine known as 'blauquette'. The Gothic church of St-Martin
(12th-15th cent.) has a tower and spire in red sandstone. To the N.,

3/4 M., is Xotre-Dame-de-Marceille (13th cent.), a great pilgrim-

resort, especially on 8th Sept., containing a black statue of the

Virgin aud a fine altar-screen. Fine view.
From Limoux to Btlvize (Bram. Lavelanet. Pamiers). see p. 100.

22Y2M. Alet (Hot. des Bains), an ancient little town, was the

Electa of the Eomaus, who used its mineral waters. The ruined

Cathedral, founded in 873, rebuilt in 1018, and destroyed by the

Protestants in 1577, has an interesting pentagonal apse. The
Etahlissement Thermal (June-Sept.) has two warm springs (bicar-

bonate of lime, laxative; 84-86°) aud a cold chalybeate spring. ^

—

27 jM. Couiza-Montazels.
Omn. (1 fr.) daily in summer from Couiza to the village of Rennes-

les-Bains (1015 ft. ; Grand-Hotel, Hot. de la Reine, de la Terrasse).
51/2 M. to the S.E.. with mineral springs (chalybeate aud saline). There
are three bath-houses, Xht Bain Fort (126^), Bain de Ja Reine (113=), and
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Bain Doux (91°). Interesting environs, "We may ascend the Pech de
Bugarach (4040 ft.; 4 hrs. ; view). — From Rennes a road leads to (17 M.)
St-Paul-de-Fenouillet (p. 186), by the defile of St-Antoine-de-Galamus.

28^/3 M. Esperaza.— 30Yg^^- Campagne-sur-Avde, with three

mineral springs (79-88°) and a bath-house.

34 M. Quillan (950 ft.; Hot. cles Pyrenees, R. from 2, L. 3,

D, 372? P- 8-9 fr.; Hot. Yerdier, Boyer; pop. 2725), an industrial

town on the Aude, with a ruined castle, is the centre of an important

forest-region. 'Pates de foie gras' a speciality. A statue of Ahhe
Armand (1742-1823) recalls his services as initiator of the road

in the upper Aude valley. To the W. {^j^ M. ; omn.) lies Ginoles,

with three springs (sulphates of lime and magnesia).
Interesting excursion, 7 hrs. there and back (carr. 25 f r. ; 'car pyre-

neen' on Mon., July-Sept., 4 fr.), S.E., to the beautiful Foret des Fanges.

From Quillan to Foix, see p. 180; to A.v, see p. 182. —The Quillan
and Belcaire motor-omn. (p. 182) goes by (15 M. ; 2V4 fr.) Espeztl (Hot.
Liraouzy), whence we may visit the Rebentj' valley (p. 186), to which a 'car

pyreneeii' makes an excursion from Quillan on Thurs. (July-Sept. ; 5 fr.).

Fkom Quillan to Mont-Louis, 42 M., by road (a section of the Route
des Pyrenees, p. 19::!) ascending the *Upper valley of the Aude; motor-
omn., Ist July to 15th Oct., in 31/2 hrs. (10 fr. ; to Axat V'-^ fr. ; to Usson,
Carcanieres, or Escouloubre 5 fr.), far preferable to the railway between
Quillan and Axat. Motor-omn. to Fo)it-Romeu, see p. 193.

Beyond (2V2 M.) Belvianes, whence a path to the left ascends to tlic

Foret des Fanges (see above), the Aude valley contracts to the *Deflle of
Pierre-Lys, Vj^^. long, flanked by lofty limestone cliffs. The road passes
through three galleries and three tunnels. The first tunnel is called
the Trail dii Cure, in reference to Abbe Armand (see above). — 5 M. St-

Martin-Lyfi (station, see p. 180); IV4 M. farther we pass the mouth of the
Vallde du Rebenty on the right (p. 186). Then, to the left, diverges the
Rivesaltes road, over the Col Comp^rie (p. 186). — 7'/2 ^I- -Axat (p. 186).

Beyond Axat the road leads under the railway viaduct, past large
electric works, and through the *Gorges de St-Georges, with their im-
posing rocks. — 13 M. Gesse, with a fish-breeding establishment. Opposite
is a ruin, perched on a bold rock, and to the right rises a rock rosembling
a donjon. We pass through anotlier defile. Above, on the right, are
remains of a wooden gallery, once the sole access to the upper valley.
Fartlier on, to the right, diverges the Aunat road (p. 186), beyond whicli
we soon sight the picturesque Chateau d' Usson.

2OV2 M. Bains d'Usson (2540 ft.; hotel, L. 3, D. SVa, P. S'/g fr.),

with springs containing sulphur and arsenic, a cure for chest and skin
diseases. The old Mont-Louis road ascends hence through a side-valley
to Que.rig/d (5J/2 M.), i;ros8es the Col dei^ Hares (8 M. ; 52.50 ft.), and
joins tlie new road at Puyvalador (10 M. ; sec ijelow).

23 M. Bains de Carcanieres et d'Escouloubre (2970-2»e5 ft.),

villages on th(; riglit and left sides of tiic valley, have springs containing
sulpliur and soda, some of them very hot (1.38°), used as a cure for

catarrh and rheumatism. Bath-houses: Esparre, on tlie right bank (June-
Oct.; R. from 2, L. 3, D. S'/^, P. SVa'^'/vi fr-); farther up, Roquelaure, on
the left hank, near a waterfall; then Bonnail, right bank (P. 5-7 fr.),

all frequented chiefly by natives of this region.
The Mont-Louis road winds up on tiie right bank of the Aude, wliich

soon disappears in a gorge. We skirt, for IV4 M., the fine Finrt. de
Carcanet and tlien reach a cultivated basin (4545 ft.), where we rejoin the
Aude. This basin, called the Capcir, 10 hy7V2M., slightly oiten to the
N., is almost always told and bleak. - 31 M. Piiyvaludur (4785 ft.), where
we join tlie old road from Usson (see above).—-33>/.2 M. Pormigu6res

12"^
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(4855 ft.; Hot. Merlat, L. or D. 21/2 fr.), a centre for botanical and other
excursions in the vast forests to the W. of the Capcir. One of the lakes
here is the source of the Aude. From Formigueres we mav easily ascend
the Jiladres (8105 ft.; 3 hrs. X.E. ; view). Puy de Carlitte, see p. 182.—
Our road intersects the Capcir, again crosses the Aude. and then leaves
this basin by the Col de CasteiUou (881/2 M. ; 5645 ft.). — 40»/o M. La
Llagone (5540 ft.). We now descend and cross the Tet. Opposite us lies

Mont-Louis, which we round on the S. side to join the Bourg-Madame
road. Extensive view. — 42 M. Mont-Louis (p. 193).

Beyond Quillau we continue to ascend the Aude valley.-— 36^2 ^'^•

Belvianes. We cross the stream and pass through the Pierre-Lys

tunnel (74M.),—40 M. St -Martin-Lys, on the right bank, at the

end of the Pierre-Lys defile (p. 185).— 41 M. Axat (1350 ft.; Hot.

Saurel-Labat), a village overlooked by picturesque ruins.
From Axat to Ax by the Valley of the Rebenty, 33V2 ^v by

road, passing through a succession of wild ravines. The most interesting
part extends as far as Niort, 41/2- 5 hrs. from Axat. Niort is only 3 M.
to the S.W., and Belfort 21/2 M. to the E., of Espezel (p. 185).— The en-
trance to the valley is IV4 M. from Axat, to the left of the Quillan road
(p. 185). Passing through (51/2 M.) Marsa and Joucou (8V2 M. ; 1940 ft.),

we reacli the *D6file de Joucou, where the mad runs high above the
rocky b<*d of the torrent. On the opposite bank the rocks, worn down
vertically by the action of the water, form a kind of huge colonnade.
The stream and the road now wind round a projecting bluff, pass a mill,
and enter the even wilder *Defil6 d'Able. Farther on (11 M.), a road
diverges to the left to Aunat (5 M. from Joucou; aub.), going on 6 M.
farther to join the Mont-Louis and Quillan road at a point 51/2 M. from
Gesse (see p. 185). —12 M. Belfort (2345 ft.). Then (1/4 hr. farther) the
Defll6 de Niort, with its fantastic rocks. — 14' /o M. Kiort (2725 ft.;

aub.).-— The upper part of the vallev also is interesting. The road ascends
past the hamlets of Merial (I61/2 M. ; 3020 ft. ; hotel) and Lafajole (I71/2 M.

;

3570 ft.). From the latter we may ascend in 21/2 hrs. to the Col del Pradel
(231/2 M. ; 5515 ft.), dominated on the N.W. by the Pic de Seremharre
(6085 ft.), and then descend past the Forges d''Ascou (28 M.

; p. 182) to

Ax (321/2 M. ; p. 181).

Motor-omn. from Axat to Ford-Romeu, see p. 193.

Beyond Axat the line describes a curve to the S. of the village,

crosses the Aalley by a viaduct (view to the right), and ascends its

right slope. It then forms a loop, passes above Axat, and ascends

to the Col Comperie (1675 ft.). Beyond the col it follows the

valley of the Boulzane (views).— 46 M. Lapradelle. On a rock

to the S. is the picturesque Chateau de Pailaurens (13th cent,).

56V2 M. St-Paul-de-Femuillet (800 ft. ; Hot. des Postes, St-

Pierre; pop. 1905), once the capital of the district, is prettily

situated on the Agly.
To the S., 3/4 M., are the little baths of La Fou. — To the X., 21/2 M.,

the Agly forms the wild ^Defile de St-Antoine-de-Galamus, through which
runs a road to Rennes-les-Bains (p. 184). A zigzag path ascends from
the gorge to (3/^ hr.) the hermitage of St-Antoine.

671/2 M. Estagel (Hot. Gary; pop. 2588) has a statue of Arago

(p. 188).— 75 M. Espira-Baixas. To the N. is Espira-de-VAgly,
with a 12th cent, church; from Baixas (pop. 2524), to the S.W,,

a tramway runs to Perpignan (see p. 189).— ll^/^'M.. RivesaUes,
and thence to Perpignan, see p. 187.
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I. From Warbonne to Perpignan.

40 M. Railway in I-21/4 hrs. (7 fr. 15, 4 fr. 85, 3 fr. 15 c).

Narbonne, see p. 104. Beyond (5V2 M.) Mandirac we skirl

the Canal de la Robine and pass between the Etang de Bages el

de Sigean (p. 104; right) and the Efang de Gh'uissayi (left), both

communicating with the Mediterranean.— 6M. Gruissan-Tourne-

belle. On the right are the Corbieres (p. 103).— IOV2 M. Ste-

Lucie. To the left are salt-marshes.

1372 M. La Nouvelle (Hot. du Commerce, St-Michel, d'ltalie

;

pop. 2018), a modern seaport, owes its importance to its trade with

Algeria and to its sulphur-works, supplied from Sicily. Sea-baths

at the end of the channel, 1 M. from the town. Line to Lezignan,

see pp. 104, 103.

The train runs close to the sea, skirting the Etang de Lapalme,
and crossing its mouth.— 17 M. Lapalme (hotel).

207^ ^i- Leucate-la-Franqui. To the S.E., 2 M., lies Leucate,

a village probably of Greek origin, near Cap Leucate, so called

from its white rocks. To the N.W. of the cape, 1 M. from the

station (omn.), are the sea-baths of La Franqui (Hot. Excelsior).

—We next skirt the Etang de Leucate or de Salces.

2872 ^^- Salces (Hot. de la Dorado; pop. 1931), so named from

two salt-springs near it, was once a stronghold, with a castle built

by Charles v., now a powder-magazine. Salces produces 'macabeu',

a highly esteemed white wine.

The train now crosses a broad, fertile plain, where by dint of

irrigation two or three crops are produced annually. On the right

appear the imposing Canigou (p. 192) and other Pyrenean peaks.

— At (35 M.) Rivesaltes (hotel; pop. 5714), noted for its Muscatel

wine, we cross the broad and often dry bed of the Agly.
To Quillan and Carcassonne, see R. 28. Tramway to Perpiynan,

see p. 18'J.

40 M. Perpignan. — Hotels (omn. 30 c. each pers. or trunk, at

niglit 50 c). Gru)id- Hotel, Quai Sadi-Caruot and Kiie Lazarc-KscarKuel,
R. from 3, B. 1'/.,, L. 3V-.. D- 4, P. from 9 f r. ; Hot. de la Loye, Place
de la Loge, with rest., R. from 3, B. l'/4. L- 3, D. S'/a. I'- from 10 fr.

;

Hot. du Nord & du Pctit-l'aris, 2 Rue Font-P'roide, good, R. 2Va-3'/.,,
H. •'/4, L. 3, D. 3';.... P. from 7'/. fr. ; Hot. de France, Quai Sadi-Carnot;
Hot. Central, Place Arago, with >,^uod rest., L. 3, D. 3'/j fr. ; Hot. de la

I'oste & de la Perdrix, 5 Rue Fabri(iues-Nabot, R. from 2»/a. P- from 8'/afr.

Electkic Tuamway from the station to the Loge, 10 c. ; from St-

Martin to the V'eriiet suburb, 15 c.; to Le Barcarcs, see p. 189.

Post & Telkouapii Office, Rue de la Poste. — Syndicat d'Initiativk,
25 Quai Vauban.

Perpignan (pop. 39,510), formerly the capital of the Roussillon,

nnw that of th*; department of the Pgrenees-Orientnles, and the seat
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of a bishopric, is a pretty tovn on the right bank of the Tet, 7 M.
from its mouth.

Its importance, now- sligbt, dates from the 12th and especially from
the 13th cent., when it was the residence of the Kings of Majorca. On
the extinction of their kingdom. Perpignan reverted to Aragon. to which
it had been ceded by its last count in 1172. and it remained faithful to

its new masters for nearly fire centuries. It was captured by Louis XI.
in 1475, during his war with Aragon, but was besieged in vain by
Francis I. in 1542. A century later, the Spanish governor having viol-

ated its privileges, the town invoked the aid of Richelieu, who annexed
it to France. Owing, however, to its long connection with Spain, Per-
pignan is still more Spanish in character than any other frontier town.

The old town consists of a labyrinth of narrow streets; the well-

built new quarters occupy the site of the old ramparts. From the

station we follow the tramway, crossing the Basse, a tributary of

the Tet, to (10 min.) the Place Arago, with a statue of the astron-

omer i^ra/ieois Arago (1786-1853). To the left is the Pahnarium
cafe ; on the right is the modern Palais de Justice.

The Eue d'Alsace-Lorraine, to the right, at the opposite end of

the square, is prolonged by another street to the Place de la Loge.

The Loge (Span, 'lonja', covered market), formerly the exchange, a

curious building of the end of the 14th cent., is partly occupied by

the Mairie and a cafe. It presents a strange combination of the

Gothic and Moorish styles, and its courtyard has Romanesque ar-

cades. The Rue St-Jean leads straight on to the Place Gambetta.

The Cathedral of St-Jean, at the N.E. end of the square, dates

from 1324, in the reign of Sancho, second king of Majorca, but the

E. end was not finished until the end of the 15th cent., during the

French occupation. The nave, begun in the 16th cent., is preceded

by a porch of the 17th.

In the IsTERioR we are struck by the bold proportions of the nave,
230 ft. long, 60 ft. wide, and 90 ft. high, and by the gorgeous decoration
of the altars in the Spanish taste. The *Reredos of the high-altar (1620)

is of white marble, with scenes from the life of St. John, etc., by Soler
of Barcelona. In the left transept is the marble tomb of Louis de Mont-
mor (d. 1695). first French bishop of Perpignan. A chapel off this tran-

sept, to the left of the choir, contains a curious altar-screen of painted
wood (15th or 16th cent.). The stained glass, the organ-case, the mural
])aintings in the chapels, and a Gothic chapel (with two old reliefs out-

side) near the porch to the right are worthy of notice.

The Rue Bartissol leads N. to the beautiful Promenade des

Platanes, with its double avenue and its war-monument for 1870-71.

The adjoining Jardin Public is adorned with modern sculptures.

At the opposite end of the promenade rises the Castillet, a massive

brick edifice of 1368, restored in the 19th cent.; adjacent is the

Parte Notre-Dame (1481).

"We return by the Rue Louis-Blanc to the Loge, and go straight

on to the Place de la Republique, with its covered market. On
the E. side is the Theatre. We pass to the right of it and then

turn to the right to the Place Rigaud, with its statue of Hyacinthe
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Eiyaud (1659-1743), the painter. The Rue Emile-Zola leads on

in the same direction to the old building of the University, which
contains the civic Musee and Library (Sun., Thurs., and holidays,

1-5 or 12-4; on other days on application). The Musee contains a

picture-gallery, drawings, etc.

At No. 12, Rue Font-Neuve (in line with the Rue Emile-Zola),

on the right, is the Natural History Museum (Sun., Thurs., and

holidays, 2-5 or 1-4). At the end of the street, on the right, is the

Citadel, now of little interest (adm. only by special leave). The
keep, entirely transformed, was once the castle of the Kings of

Majorca ; the chapel is now an arsenal. Fine view of the Pyrenees.
Near the station, on the bank of the Tet, is the Bromenade de la

Pepinihre, with an observatory. To the S.W. are a stud-farm and the
grounds of the Fontaine d^Amour.

From Perpiguan to Villefranche-de-Conflent, Mont-Lotds, and Botiry-
Madame, see E. 29, II; to Amelie-les-Bains and La Preste, see R. 29, III.

From Perpignan to Canet, 71/2 M., tramway hourly from the Pro-
menade des Platanes (70 c. ; return Ifr. 5 c). — To the left (3 M.) lies the
hamlet of Castel-Roussillon, with its 12th cent, tower, 65 ft. high. This
was the site of Ruscino, later Rousseillio, whence the name Roussillon
came to be applied to this region. Hannibal made a treaty here with the
Gauls for the free passage of his army : Ruscino then lay near the sea,

at the mouth of the Tet.— 71/a M. Canet. The tramway runs IV4 farther
to the. sea-baths (hotels), on a sandy beach. To the S.W., 3/4 M., is the
Etang de Canet or de St-Nazaire.

From Pekpigxan to Le Barcares (Rivesaltes, Bairas), 14' /2 M. to

the N.E., by tramway. —6 M. Pia, where a branch diverges to Rivesaltes
(3»/2 M.

; p. 187) and Baixas (7 M. ; p. 186). — 11 M. St-Laurent-de-la-
Salanque (hotel; pop. 4259). — 14>/2 M. Le Barcares (hotel) is a small sea-

port with good sea-baths, I1/4 M. to the S.E. of the Etang de Leucate (p. 187).

Railway from Perpignan to (10 M. to the S.W.) Thuir (hotel
;
pop. 3197),

with potteries and a liqueur-distillery, at the foot of the Aspi'es (2600 ft,).

From Perpigkan to Port-Bou, 26V2M., railwav in 55 miu. to 2 hrs.

40 min. (4 fr. 85, 3 fr. 25. 2 fr. 10 c); to Barcelona, 131 M., in 5 hrs.

20 miu. to 8 hrs. (27 fr. 20. 20 fr. 30, 13 fr. 15 c). Interesting route; best
views to the left. —We pass under an aqueduct built by the Kings of
Majorca, and cross the Rcart.

81/2 M. Elne (Hot. Bailie; pop. 3525), a decayed town, with remains
of fortifications (fine view), once lay on the sea, which is now 3 M. dis-

tant. Elne was the ancient Illiberts, a city of tlie Sardones, under whose
walls Hannibal encamped after crossing the Pyrenees (B.C. 218). It was
named Helena by Coustautine in memory of liis mother, and it witnessed
the assassination of the Emp. Constantius (A.D. 350). Elne was sacked
by the Moors in the 8th cent., by the Normans in the 11th, and by the
Kings of France in the 13th and 15tli. The bishopric was removed to

Perpignan in 1602. The Romanesque church of Ste-Eidalie, formerly the
cathedral, begun in the 11th cent., was altered in the 14th and 15th." The
plain crenellated facade (12tli cent.) is Hanked with two square towers. On
the N. are small *C'loisttrs \a white marble (9th-llth cent. ; entered from
the Mairie), containing sculptun'S and inscriptions and three fine sarco-
phagi. From Elne to Ceret, Am^lie-les-Bains, and La Preste, see pp. 195-198.
—We cross the Tech. — From (10 M.) Palaii-del-Vidre we may ascend the
(4 hrs. S.) Neidous (4125 ft.), the culminating point of the Monts Alberes,
the E. oflfslioots of the Pyrenees. Beyond (13V2 M.) ArgeVes-sur-Mer
(hotel; pop. 2837), now IV4 M. from the coast, we near the sea.

17 M. CoUioure (Hot. de la Gare, nlain; pop. 3137), the ancient C'ai/co
Jlliberis, a small seaport with an old castle, is picturesquely situated.
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Fort St-Ehne, on the S.E. side, a relic of the fortifications, was built in
the 16th cent., under Charles V. Trade in -wine and cork.

IbVa ^- Port-Vendres (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 2972), the Roman
Partus Vefieri s. has an excellent harbour, one of the safest in the Mediter-
ranean. The roads. 4U ft. deep, can accommodate the largest vessels, and
the fast steamers from Cette to Algiers touch here. To the S.E. (35 min.)
is Cax> Bear (665 ft.), with a lighthouse (view). — Between Port-Vendres
and the frontier we obtain fine glimpses of the Mediterranean.

22 M. Banyuls-svir-Mer (Hot. Roussillonnais, des Bains; pop 3111)
is noted for the best Roussillon wines. It lies on a small bay, with
pleasant sea-baths, and enjoys a mild climate. — We pass through a tunnel,
between two fine bays, to (25i/jj M.) (Jerbtre (butfet-hotel), the last French
station, 1 M. from Cap C'erbere, which from ancient times has marked
the frontier of France and Spain. —A tunnel under the Col des Balistres
(850 ft.) carries us into Spanish territory.

261/9 M. Port-Bou (burtet; douane). Change trains for (131 M..) Barce-
lona (see Baedeker's Spain & Portugal).

II. From Perpignan to Bourg-Madame.
From Perjiignan to Villefranche, 29 M., Electric Railway in 3/4-13/4 hr.

(5 fr. 25. 3 fr. 55, 2 fr. 30 c.). — From Villefranche to Bom-g-3fadame, 35 M.,
ELECTPac Railway in 2 hrs. 40 to 3 hrs. 5 min. (11 fr. 50 or 5 fr. 5 c).

Bold engineering and picturesque scenery. As the line ascends to a

height of 5225 ft., it passes through a great variety of climates. — Instead
of returning by the same route, the traveller is recommended to take the
motor-omn. from Mont-Louis to Axat and Quillan (see pp. 186, 185), or

from Bourg-Madame to Ax-les-Thermes (see pp. 183, 182).

Ptrpignan, see p. 187. The railway ascends the fertile valley

of the Tet. Fine view of the Canigou (p.*192) to the left.— 10V2 M.
Millas (Hot. Delpech), on the right, once fortified.

1472 M. llle (Hot. du Midi; pop. 3254:) lies in a plain noted for

its fruit.— 17 M. Bouleternere, with a ruined castle. The valley

contracts.— 20 M. Vinga (Hot. St-Pierre), on the left; to the N.W.,

11/4 M., are the baths of Vinca, with sulphur-springs.

251/2 M. Prades (Hot. Malet, good; pop. 4146), in a fine site.

The church (13th -16th cent.) contains altars in the Spanish taste,

notably the sumptuous high-altar (14th cent.).

The pretty valley of the Taurinya, 2 M. to the S., contains iron-

mines and the picturesque ruined abbey of St-Michel-de-Cnya (9th cent.),

presented to the state in 1913 by the American artist, Mr. Gray-Barnard.

From Prades to the Baths of Molitg (pron. -Molitch'), 5 M., omn.
(1 fr.) during the season. — The Baths of Molitg (1475 ft.; Hot. de
I'Etablissement, Auter; guide. Jean Bruzy) lie in the gorge of the Castel-

lane, in which it was diflicult to find room for the three bath-houses. These
are supplied by 12 sulphur-springs (77-100°), used for drinking and bath-
ing, in the treatment of mucous and skin diseases, rheumatism, etc.

The AscEKT OF the Cakigou may be made from Prades in about 8 hrs.

(but by walkers better from Le Veinet, p. 191). Carr. to Taurinya 5 fr.

We start early and ascend the valley of the Taurinya. Beyond (3 M.)
Taurinya (1925 ft.

;
guide Jean Limeul; horse or donkey 8-12 fr. per day)

we follow a bridle-path, shadeless till the forest of Balatg is reached;
short-cuts very steep. At the Col de Millieres, at the head of the valley,
1 hr. from Taurinya, we join the Le Vernet route (p. 191).

Beyond Prades the valley of the Tet narrows.— 28 M. Ria,
with iron and marble works.
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29 M. Villefranche -Vefi-net. Villefranche-de-Conflent
(1400 ft.; H6t. Lhoste, plain), a small toAvn, is picturesquely situ-

ated on the Tet. It was once fortified by Vauban to defend the

narrow valley of the Tet. The Chateau, or fort, commands the

valley of Le Vernet also. The extensive caves, used as casemates

and magazines, can be visited by special leave only. The Church
dates from the 12th century.

From ViLLEFRAxcHE TO Le Vernet, 31/2 M., omn. from the station (75 c.

;

hotel motor 3 £r., luggage extra ; carr. 6fr.),: electric railway projected.

—

2 M. Corneilla-de-C6nfitnt, on a hill to the left; its Romanesque church
has a tine white marble portal and a marble altar-screen of 1345.

31/.. M. Le Vernet. — Hotels (open the whole vear; charges exclusive
of wine). *Gr.-ndt. dn Portugal, R. from 51/.,, B. l^U. L. 6, D. 7, P. from
leV'fr. ; *H6t. du Pare. R. from 5. B. IVj, L. 5, D. 6, P. from 1-4 fr.

;

*H6t. des Bains-Mercader, R. from 31/.,, B. IV4. L. 4. D. 41/2. P. from 11 fr.

;

*H6t. Ibrahim-Pacha. R. from 3, P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. de la Prefecture.
Hot. des Commandants., two 'hotels meubles'.

Bath 2-5 fr. ; douche 2-4 fr. ; buvette 50 c. per day. — Casino, adm.
I-I1/2 fr. — Post & Telegraph Office, opposite the Hotel Mercader.

Carriage and Pair 25 fr. per day. — Guide, Jacques Nou, at Casteill.

For others, inquire at the bath-house (bargain advisable).

—

Hokse, per
hour 4, half day 10, whole day 15 fr.

English Chcrch being built.

Le Vernet, or Vernet-les-Bains {il^b-it^b ft.), is a village beautifully
situated in a mountain-basin, the E. side of winch is a shoulder of the
Canigou (p. 192). The two FJablissements Thermaux, well titted up, lie

in a tine park on the bank of the Cady, a little beyond the village. The
sulphurous waters, supplied by the 10 chief springs (54-151°), are used
especially for chronic rheumatism and affections of the respiratory organs.
The climate being mild, patients may remain during the winter.

Interesting excursion, 1 hr. S., by (V2 hr.) Casteill, to the ruined,
but restored abbey of St-Mai-tin-de-Canigou and its 11th cent. Byzantine
church, v/ith marble monolitliic columns.

The Ascent of the Canigou is most frequently made from Le Vernet.
To the Chalet-Hotel des Cortalets. 131/2 M. by road (carr. there and back
40-50 fr.), or by the footpath 4'/a-5 hrs. (gui'do, needless, 15 fr. for one
day, 25 fr. for two days). Thence to the top, 2 hrs. more. Riders usually
order (by telephone) 'mules at Taurinya (p. ISiO) to meet them on the
Col des Millieres. An early start should be made, luncheon taken at
the chalet, and the final ascent made in the afternoon. Those who
sleep at the chalet may there witness the sunrise next morning. — The
road leads by C'orneilla-de-Con/ient (2 M. ; see above), Fillols (3 M,

;

reached also in 50 min. by a path over the Col de la Trouge), and the
Col de JiHllih-es (31/2 M.

;
path from Taurinya, see p. 190). It then zig-

zags up the arete between the valleys of Fillols and Prades (steep short-
cuts), enters tlie fine Fo7-et de Bcdatg. and passes above the uppe^valley
of Taurinya (fine views). Walkers from Le Vernet should ascend direct
(follow telegraph-wires), over the (l'/4 hr.) Col de Joutl. to tlie foot of
the zigzags, leaving Fillols below on the left. We pass (about 8 hrs. from
the Col de Millieres) the Maison Forestiire de Bcdatg (10'/^ M. ; 5905 ft.)

and 3 M. farther (siiort-iut on the right bank of torrent) reach the Chalet-
Hotel des Cortalets (7055 ft. ; 15th June to 15tli Sept.; bed 3, B. 1, L.
or D. 4'/2 fr- ; telepiione), erected by the C.A.F. on a kind of wooded col
(extensive view).

The old route, ascending by the Vallee de Cady on the S., is longer
and rather monotonous (7-8 hrs. from Le Vernet to the chalet); we may
ride to within 1 hr. of the suinniit (liorse 10, guide 10 fr.). This route
may be iliosen for tlie descent. - Tlie routes from Ythnanya -AniX Am(^lie-
cs-Bains (p. 196) also are more suitable for the descent.
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A bridle-path ascends from the chalet to the top in 2 hrs. more,
passing the Grand-Etang and the Fontaine de la Perdrix, and then follow-
ing the crest. The ascent by the glacier and the Breche Durier (IVg hr.)

is "endangered by falling stones.

The *Canigou (9135 ft.), which culminates in a platform of 2.5 by
10 ft., is the easternmost peak of the Pj'reuees. It is a huge mass of greyish
limestone, with buttresses radiating 8-12 M. down to the plains, and
precipitous aretes on the X. and E. sides. Superb view : from S.E. to

S^.E., beyond the Alberes and Corbieres hills, stretches the Mediterranean
coast from Barcelona to Montpellier; to the X. are the Corbieres and the
plain, bounded by the Aveyron Mts. on the W. ; to the X. also rise the
Ariege Mts. and to the S. those of Catalonia. The chief nearer peaks are,

E., the Piiig Barbet (9015 ft.), easily reached by the crest of the Canigou

;

S. the Puig Sec (8530 ft.) and Pic des Treize-Vents (9065 ft.); and W. the
Quaz4mi (7945 ft.).

The Electric Railavay to Bourg-Madame ascends the pretty

valley of the Tet. Views chiefly to the right.— 3 M. Serdinya, with

a picturesque old bridge and an aerial ropeway connected with the

iron-mines.— S^o M. Joncet, with a similar ropeway and a cable

tramway, to the left. On the right arc the ruins of the Chdtemi de

Labastide.

6 M. Olette-Canaveilles-les-Bains (1995 ft.; Hot. de la

Fontaine, Gaillarde), a village on the right. Upstream, on the right,

are two picturesque valleys, whose torrents are crossed by the train.

— 7^2 ^I- y^yers (2175 ft.). Fine glimpses of the deep Gorge de
Thues, once only accessible by steps or 'gratis' (Lat. gradus); we
see the village of Canaveilles (3060 ft.), high up on the left bank
of the Tet.— 81/2^. Thues-les-Bains (2590" ft.). The rustic baths

of the Gh'aUs de Canaveille are supplied by 10 sulphur-springs

(95-129°); near them are the more modern Graiis d'Oletfe, or

Bains de Thues, with 42 sulphur-springs (81-192°), chiefly used

in the treatment of rheumatism, neuralgia, and diseases of the

urinary organs.— 10 M. Thues (2710 ft.); on the hill to the left

lies Thues-entre-Vcdls, and on the left bank is Thues-de-Llar.
On the right bank open the picturesque Gorges de CaranQa, through

which a path ascends to the Lac de Caranca (about 6 hrs. : 7435 ft.).

Good walkers may cross thence into Spain by the Col de Xciifonts and
the Ermitage de Xurla (p. 193).

The train then crosses the Tet by the '=^Viad.uc Sejourn^, so

named after its engineer. This great bridge, 272 yds. long and

215 ft. high in the middle, has 16 arches and consists of two stories

at the point where it crosses the torrent. View to the left.— i'^^/2 ^^

Fo/itpedi'ouse (34:00 ft.; hotel). Striking glimpses of the profound

valley of the Tet.— 141/2 M- Sauto (4010 ft.).— \A^e cross the stream

again by the *Pont Gisclard, a rigid suspension-bridge, the first

of its kind in France, boldly bridging the vrild ravine, 265 ft. below.

It is 270 yds. in length, the central span measuring 170 yds. Its

engineer, Major Gisclard, met with a fatal accident here in 1909.

Fine view to the right farther on.— 151/2 ^I- Planes (4500 ft.), with

a curious triangular church (belated Romanesque, 15th cent.;.
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171/2 M- Mont-Louis (4955 ft.; Hot. de France, R. from 2,

L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. des Pyrenees), the old capital of

the French Cerdagne (see below), a small town on a plateau

(5135 ft.), was once an important fortress, built by Vauban in 1681.

Above it rises the Pic de la Tausse (6685 ft.; view), to the N.E.,

with a fort. The cool climate attracts many Spanish visitors in

summer. The winter is severe.

A road leads N.W. from Mout-Louis to the (8^/2 M.) huge and grandly
situated Reservoir des Bouillouses (6625 ft.), from which a fall of

I.SIO ft. feeds the railway electric works. — Puy de Carlitte, see p. 182.

From Mont-Louis to Quillan, see pp. 186. 185; to Font-Romeu, seehelow.

From Mont-Louis to Boukg-Madame by the Solaxe Road, 17 M.
This picturesque road leads via (3 M.) Bolqnere and (6 M.) OdeiUo (stations,

see below), theu via (81/2 M.) Targassonne and its fantastic chaos of rocks,

and finally via (ISi/j, M.) ViUeneiive-des-Escaldes, 1/2 M. to the S. of Les
Escaldes (p. 194), to (15 M.) Ur, where it joins the Ax and Bourg-Madame
road (p. 183).

From Mont-Louis to the Hermitage of Nuria (in Spain), 51/2-6 hrs.,

interesting; as the inn is very poor, it is advisable to take provisions.
From the old road to La Cahan'asse, a village 3/4 M. to the S. of Mont-Louis,
a path to the left leads to (IV2 hr.) Eyne (station, see below). We then
ascend its valley, famed for its flora, to the Phi de la Bayoiide (IV2 It.

;

7455 ft.), and thence to the Cul de Nuria {V-j.^ hr. ; about 8200 ft.), between
the Pic d'Eyne (9140 ft.; left) and the Pic de Nuria (9145 ft.; right).

Fine view of the Cerdagne. Descent of 1 hr. to the Hermitage of
Nuria, or Xuestra JSenora de Nuria (6300 ft. ; inn), a famous resort of

pilgrims from the whole of Catalonia, specially interesting on festival-days
of the Virgin and on that of St. Gilles, its founder (1st Sept.), to whom is

attributed the black wooden Madonna (ca. 700). That saint is said also to

have executed the copper basin, called the 'oulle', into which the pilgrims
put their heads in order to be cured of all kinds of maladies, particularly
sterility. They also ring a small bell (A.D. 618) for the same purpose.

Beyond Mont-Louis we cross the Col dela Perche (oil 5 ft. ; view),

a sliglit depression, where the Spaniards were defeated by the French
in 1793.— x\t (181/2 M.) Bolquerc-Eynt the line reaches its highest

point (5225 ft.).— 22 M. OdeiUo-V'la-Font-Pomeu (5035 ft.).

To the N.W. (2 M.; hotel-motor) lies Font-Romeu (5905 ft.; Grand-
Hotel, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, wine extra, P. from 14 fr.), a new
summer resort and centre for winter-sports, with fine views of the Cer-
dagne. The Ermituge de Font-Romeu (58:50 ft.) is a great resort of pil-

grims on Sept. 8th. —Route des Pyr6n6es. Motor-omn. of the Comp.
du Midi start from the Grand-Hotel thrice weekly (Ist July to 15th Sept.)

for Ax-les-Thermes (p. 181; 20 fr.), and thrice weekly for Quillan (p. 185;
20 fr.) via Mont-Louis (see above) and Axat (j). 186). „

We pass under the Col Riyat (4850 ft.) and emerge into the

plain of the Cerdagne.
The Cerdagne, the upper basin of the Segre, an aflBuent of the Ebro,

averages 3900-4900 ft. in height, and is enclosed on three sides by high
mountains. These are crossed by roads over the Col de Puymorens (p. 183

;

N.W.), the Cols Rigat and de la Perclie (see above; N.E.), and the Col
de Tosas (p. 194; S.E.). France owns one-third of this region, but physi-
cally the whole belongs to Spain.

View, S.W., of the Siei^ra del Cadi. — 2Q^I^ M. Estavar
(4355 ft.), on the Segre, with a Romanesque church (12th cent.) and

lignite mines.
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A road leads hence to the N"., round the hill crowned with its castle,

to (IV4 M.) Llivia, the centre of a Spanish enclave of 4 sq. M. in area

(pop. 1000). This was the Roman Julia Livia. and was the capital of

the Cerdagne down to the 11th cent., hut is now both uninteresting and
unsavoury. Being styled a 'town', it was excluded by the Treaty of the

Pyrenees in 1659 from the cession by Spain to France of 33 villages of

the Cerdagne. The Chateau of the Counts of the Cerdagne (12th cent.)

was destroyed by order of Louis XI. in 1479. The Church (late 16th cent.),

gaudily decorated in the Spanish style, contains the archives. Smuggling
dutiable goods into France is facilitated by the flatness of the country
and its extensive frontier. A neutral road, on French soil for nearly 1 M.,
crosses the road from Ax to Bourg-Madame (p. 183), and connects Llivia
with (3 M.) the Pont de la Eaour on the Spanish frontier.

The railway rounds the enclave of Llivia (view to the right).

—

28 M. Saillagousse (4270 ft.; Hot. Planes), on the Segre. Roman-
esque church, and a monument to Oliva, the sculptor (1902).

The Puigmal (9545 ft.; 6-7 hrs.), on the frontier to the S.E., is easily

ascended from Saillagouse. bv (^1^ hr.) Llo. the (2-V4 hrs.) Cirque de la
Cidasse, the (1^4 hr.) Col de'Llo (8395 ft.), and (1 hr.) the Pic de Segre
(9170 ft.). Extensive view to the S. and towards the sea. From the Col
de Llo we may descend S.E. to the Hermitage of Nuria (p. 193).

33 M. Osseja (4070 ft.; Hot. Puig), a village with factories,

villas of Spaniards, and thriving fruit-culture.

35 M. Bourg-Madame (3755 ft.; Hot. Salvat, E. 2, L. 21/2,

D. 3 fr.), the terminus of the railway, at the confluence of the Segre

and Raour, is the last French town. The Raour forms the frontier;

the French and Spanish custom-houses lie on opposite banks.

Puycerda, Span. Pm'^ce9'C?ff (3905ft.; omn. 50 c.; Hot.Europa,
Tixaire; pop. 2500), Y2 ^^- to the W. of Bourg-Madame, is the

capital of the Spanish Cerdagne (p. 193). It was once fortified

and was taken several times by the French. It is now a favourite

summer resort of wealthy Barcelouians (two casinos). The Plaza

Mayor contains a statue of Cabrinety, who defended the town
against the Carlists in 1873. The interior of the church of Santa
Maria is interesting. Santo Domingo (15lh cent.) has a fine

Gothic porch. Nuesti^a Sehora de Gracia contains two paintings

on w^ood (15th cent.).

The first Spanish station of the new Trans-Pyrenean railway (p. 182)

is to be at Puycerda.
From Bourg-Madame to A.r, via L'Hospitalet, see pp. 183, 182. —From

Puycerda to La Seo-de-Urgel. see p. 184.

From Puycerda to Ripoll, 38 M., by road; omn. in 8 hrs. (12 or

10 fr.). Kailway projected. — We cross the Col d,e Tosas (about 5900 ft.;

131/2 M. : splendid view). — Bevond a picturesque ravine, we come to (29 M.)
Ribas, 2M. from which are Xha BatJis of Rihas.— ^SM. Ripoll (2230 ft.

;

Hot. de rUnivers; pop. 4900). a pretty place in a coal-mining district,

with a superb *Church (once that of a Benedictine abbey), founded in the
9th cent., completed in the 16th, and restored in 1879-93. Richly sculptured
facade; heavy nave of 9th-10th cent. ; transept and apse of the 11th; tombs,
side-chapels, and marble altars all later; choir of 16th cent.; interesting
Romanesque cloisters in two stories. — Railway to (67 M.) Barcelona.

From Bourg-Madame to Les Escaldes, 41/2 M. ; omn. during the season
(1 fr.), by Ur and Villeneiive-des- Escaldes (p. 193).

—

Les Escaldes
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(agiias caldas, -hot waters'; 4480ft. ; hotel at the Etablissement) is a French
hamlet with 10 sulphur, chalybeate, and other springs (63-108^), chiefly

frequented by Spaniards. The bath-house is well managed, and there
are shady walks with fine views. — Guide, Jean Durand of Dorres.

Put de Carlitte. The ascent, best made from Les Escaldes (.5 hrs.N.),

is not difficult, and we may ride the greater part of the way. We ascend
first to the N., and then YV". to the pastures of the (i/a hr.) Coma Armada.
Crossing an irrigation canal, we next mount to a col to the left of the

Casteilla (IV4 hr. ; 6855 ft.). Beyond the col we cross the Desert de Carlitte,

studded with ponds, and reach the refuge of the Etang Llat (IV4 hr.

;

7055 ft.; quarters at the brothers' Aymar, fishermen and good guides).

Passing (1/2 br.) a spring, we arrive in 1/2 hr. more at the base of the peak,
where the mules must be left. A fatiguing climb of 1/., hr. now takes us
to the Col de Carlitte (8530 ft.) and 20 min. more to the very narrow
crest of the Puy de Carlitte (9585 ft.), the highest of the E. Pyrenees.
Superb view, embracing the Central Pyrenees and the Mediterranean, the
plains of Languedoc, and the distant peaks of Catalonia. — Descent to

L'Hospitalet (Ax), Formigueres, or Mont-Louis, see p. 182.

III. From Perpignan to Amelie-les-Bains,
Arles-sur-Tech, and La Preste.

Kailwat to Arlea-mr-Tech, 3OV2 M. (5 fr. 50, 3 fr. 70, 2 fr. 40 c), via

Amelie-les-Bains (28V2 M. ; 1 hr. 30 to 1 hr. 50 min. ; 5 fr. 20, 3 fr. 45,

2 fr. 30 c). — From Arles-sur-Tech to Prats-de-MoUo, 12V2 M., Electric
Railway in 13/4 hr. (1 fr. 60, 1 fr. 20 c); thence to (5 M.) La Preste-les-

Bdins, motor-omn. during the season meeting the trains.

From Perpigiian to (S'/a M.) Elne, see p. 189. The line then

turns to the left into the valley of the Tech, bounded on the S. by

the Monts Alberes (p. 189). To the right is seen the Canigou (p. 192).

I8Y2 M. Le Boulou-Pertkus. Near Le Boulou (pop. 1937),

on the road to Le Perthus, are (1^4 M. to the S.) the Baths of Le
Boulou (Hot. de I'Etablissement), with four springs containing bi-

carbonate of soda and iron (61-67°), used chiefly for liver-diseases.

Omnibus in 2/4 hr. (1 fr.) to the frontier-village of Le Perthi/s (Hot. Cas-
sagnes), 5V2 M. to the S., on the S. side of the Col du Perthus. and domi-
nated by the Fo7't de Bellegarde. The road passes the Baths of Le Boulou,
and affords fine views of the Canigou, to the right. The Col du Perthus
(950 ft.), like the Port de Venasque (p. 173), is said to have been Hanni-
bal's route across the Pyrenees. — Farther on (41/2 M.) is the Spanish
village of La Junqnera (custom-house; inn), 10 M. heyond wliich is

Figueras (Hot. de Paris; pop. 10,700), on the railway from Perpignan
to Barcelona (p. 189).

21 M. St-Jean-Pla-de-Corts. We cross the Tech by a long and

lofty viaduct. To the left is the Pont de Ceret (early 14th cent.),

with a bold arch of 150 ft. span. Fine view to the right.

231/.^ M. Ceret (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 3921), 1 M. to the

S.E., is an old town with remains of ramparts, two gates, four

towers, and a fountain (14th cent.). The church (12th cent.) has

a marble Gothic portal. Ceret is noted for its fruit and nuts.

The valley contracts and takes the name of Vallespir ('vallis

aspera'). Fine view of the Canigou to the right.
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2879 M. Amelie-les-Bains.— Hotels (omn. 30 c). Sot. des
Thermes-Romains. R. from 3, B. 3/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8 fr. ; Hot.
des Thermes-Pujade, E. from 8, B. 3/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 71/2 fr.

;

Hot. Martinet. R. from 21/2, P. from 63/4 fr. ; Hot. de VTJnion, R. from
21/2, P> fi'om 5 fr. ; Hot. Bocassin; Hoi. Bartre. — Post & Telegraph
Office, Rue des Thermes.

—

Sysdicat d'Initiative , at the Mairie.

—

Guides, A. Barbe and J. Piques.

Amelie-les-Bains (795 ft.), formerly Arles-les-Bains, received

its present name under Louis Philippe in honour of Queen Amelie.

It is a thriving little town, prettily situated at the confluence of

the Tech and the Mondony, at the foot of the For t-les-Bains (1225 ft.),

erected under Louis XIV. As a watering-place it is important, but

not expensive.
The Waters are derived from 30 copious sulphur-springs (73-145°),

used since Roman times as a remedy for rheumatism, skin-diseases,
neurasthenia, and especially for affections of the lungs. Owing to the
mildness of the climate the baths are open the whole year. The town
is well sheltered by the Canigou from N. and N.W. winds, but the E.
wind in spring is often trying.

The station is on the left bank of the Tech, near the sheltered

Petite Promenade, a favourite walk in winter. We cross the river,

a little lower down, to the Grand' Rue, which we follow to the right.

The Rue des Thermes, diverging to the left, with the Mairie, the

church, and the post office, leads to a square, on the right of which

are the Thermes Romains, a well-equipped modern bath-house on

an ancient site. The Roman 'lavacrum' is within the hall, to the

left of which is a piscina, with remains of ancient pavement.

At the end of the square are the Thermes Pujade, rising

picturesquely on the rock at the mouth of the Gorges du Mondony,
with its cascade. The ravine is accessible from the courtyard of

the bath-house, or by going round to the right of the Roman baths.

The Rue de PHopital, opposite the Roman baths, descends to a

bridge across the Mondony, where we have a good view of the Thermes
Pujade and the mouth of the ravine. On the opposite bank is a shady

promenade, with the Military Hospital on the left.

"Walks and Excursions. To Palalda ('Palatium Dani'), a picturesque
village on a hill on the left bank of the Tech, I1/4M. to X.N.E., with relics

of ancient buildings. —To Jlontbolo (1890 ft. ; fine view), 31/2 M. to the N.
(guide with mule 61/2 , with horse 8V2 fr. ; carr. 8 fr.). — To Arles-sur-
Tech and the Gorge de la Fou, see p. 197. — To the Serrat-d' en-Merle
(about 1640 ft.; fine view), 1/2 hr. S., beyond the military hospital. — To
Montalha, 31/2 M. to the S., by the pretty valley of the "Mondony (guide
with mule 71/2, with horse 91/2 fr.). —Ascent of the P?7o/i de Belmatx
(4195 ft.), 3 hrs. S.S.W., via Aries (guide 5, with mule 8, with horse 10 fr.;

tine view). — Ascent of the Roc de France (4755 ft.), on the frontier, about
5 hrs. S.E. (guide 5 fr. ; splendid view).

Ascent of the Canigou (p. 192). We drive to (31/2 ^0 Montbolo
(see above), and then walk up to the Redoute (11/2 hr. ; 3840 ft.; fine

view). We next ascend to Roqnejalaire, either on foot or by the mineral
railway (having got leave from MM. Valentin freres at Amelie, owners
of the mines), and thence to the Mines de la Pinouse (canteen) and the
Maison Forestiere de Velmanya. A good path then ascends to the Chalet-
Hotel des C'ortalets (41/2 hrs. from Roquejalaire; p. 191).
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3OV2 M. Aries-sur-Tech (910 ft.; Hot. Pujade, L. or D. 3 fr.;

Hot, Gardes; pop. 2403), the Roman Arulae, a quaint little town, is

the terminus of the railway. It has an interesting Romanesque
church (12th cent.) and cloisters in the transitional style, remains

of a Benedictine abbey. The old Catalonian manners and customs,

fetes, and dances are maintained here better than anywhere else in

this part of the French Pyrenees.
About 3/4 M. from Aries a path diverges to the right from the La Preste

road and, 1 M. farther, skirts the Gorge de la Fou, a fissure in the
limestone rock, nearly 1 M. long, 500 ft. deep, and only 3-16 ft. in breadth,
with a torrent at the bottom. (Descent into it requires a good guide.)

The path crosses the plateau to the right and leads to the village of

C'orsavy (2580 ft.; view; 4V2 M. from Aries).

From Arles-sur-Tech to St-Laurent-de-Cerdans and Coustouges,
13 M.; electric railway to St-Laurent in I1/2 tr. (1 fr. 45, Ifr. lOc).

—

To the (31/2 M.) Pont du Pas-de-Loup, see below. We diverge here to

the left, ascend on the right bank of the torrent, and then turn S. into the
valley of St-Laurent. — The railway diverges from the Prats-de-Mollo line

at (6 M.) Manyaqnes (see below). — 10 M. St-Laurent-de-Cerdans (2165 ft.

;

Hot. du Midi, R. 1-2, L. or D. 2i/2-3*/2 fr-
;
pop. 3022), picturesquely situ-

ated on a bold spur of rock. — 13 M. Coustouges ('custodia'), V4hr. from
the Spanish frontier, has a handsome church of the 12th century.

The Road to La Preste (electric railway, see p. 195) ascends

the beautiful wooded valley of the Tech.— 31/2 ^I- Pont du Pas-
de-Loup, with electric works. The road to St-Laureut-de-Cerdans

(see above) diverges to the left.

The La Preste road ascends a picturesque defile. A road soon

diverges to the right to Montferrer (2690 ft.), a fine point of view.

— 6 M. Manyacpies,}\xnQ,i\o\\ for the St-Laurent railway (see above).

— 71/2 ^I- Pont de la Vierge-Marie, on the left, crossed by a road

leading to (7 M.) La, Mantre, the southernmost village of France,

commanded by the medifeval Tours de Cabrens.— 8 M. Le Tech
(hotel), prettily situated.

I2V2M. Prats-de-Mollo (pron. 'moyo'; 2615 ft.; Hot. Mail-

lard, good, L. or U. 21/2 fr.; Hot. du Commerce, Fischbach, Sala;

pop. 2751), still partly walled, was once the summer-residence of

the Kings of Aragon and capital of the Haut-Vallespir. It lies most
picturesquely on the S. slope of the Canigou, and is dominated by

the Fort de la Garde (2810 ft.), built by Vauban, and by the ruined

(Jhdteau de Parella. Interesting Romanesque-Gothic Church, with

a huge altar-piece. Prats-de-Mollo is a good centre for excursions;

owing to its sheltered position it finds favour also as a health-resort,

and lias a military sanatorium.
Guides (5-6 fr. per day; with liorse 10 fr.): M. Colomer, J. Delos,

Planeille, G. Xatard.

To the X.W., 4 hrs., up the pretty valley of the Parsigoule, to the
riglit of the Tech valley, is the Pla Guillem (7480 ft. ; vast panorama),
on which lies the Refuge de Boucacers. Excursions from the refuge: to

tlic Pics des Sept-n<names (9020 ft.) and des Treise-Vents (9065 ft.; p. 192),

2 hrs.; to the Chalet-Hotel des Cortalets (p. 191), 5 hra. ; to Le Vernet
(p. 191), 8 hrs.
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A bridle-path leads from Prats-de-Mollo iuto Spain over the (2 brs.)

Col d'Ares (5280 ft.), once perhaps crossed by Ccesar, in which case

the name may be derived from an 'ara' erected by him in honour of his

victory over Ponipey's lieutenants. The path leads to (2 hrs.) the little

Spanish town of Campi'odon (3215 ft.); omn. thence to (1 hr.) San .Jimn
de las Abadesas, connected by railway with Barcelona (see Baedeker''s
Spain & Portugal).

Beyond Prats the road is still very picturesque. On a hill

(5055 ft.) to the left (S.) rises the Tour de Mir (14th cent.); to the

right lies the hamlet of St-Sauveur (guides G. Xatard and J.

Dunyach); to the left, the Cascade de Grajfouil (80 ft.); to the

right, the hamlet of La Preste.

17Y2 ^I- La Preste-les-Bains (3705 ft.; Hot. de I'Etablisse-

ment Thermal; lies partly on a plateau between the gorges of the

Tech and the Llabaue. The copious sulphur-springs (113°) are used

as a cure for gravel. Season from June 15th to Oct. 15th. Beautiful

shady walks.
To the K.W., V4 br., is the fine Grotte de Can-Brixot, not easy of

access. — The Col Pragon (5365 ft.) is IV4 br. S.; i/.> hr. beyond lies the
Spanish village of Espinabcll ; then (1 hr.) C'amjyrodop, (see above).

The Pic de Costabonne (80»5 ft. ; 5 hrs.
;
guide oVg. with mule

9 fr.), on the frontier to the W., is easily ascended by the Col de la Pale.
*View similar to that from the Oanigou (see p. 192).
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Route Page

30. From Paris to Lyons 201
a. Via Dijon and Macon 201

From Chalon-sur-Saone to Aiixonne, 201 ; to Bourg,
to Lous-le-Saunier, and to Cluny, 202. — From Ma-
con to Bourg, 203.

b. Via Nevers and Paray-le-Monial 204
From Saincaize to Bourges, 204. — From Moulins to

Montlucon and to Cosne-sur-l'CEil, 205. — From Pa-
ray-le-Mouial to Macon, 206; to Roanne, 207.

—

From Lozanne to Givors, 207.

c. Via Nevers and Eoanne 207
From Varennes to Commentry, 207. — Ambierle,
St-Alban, Thizy, and Cours. 208.

31. From Paris to St-Etienne 209
a. Via Roanne 209

From St-Just-sur-Loire to Firmiuy, 209.

b. Via Vichy and Courty 210
Excursions from Vichy, 215.

32. From Paris to Le Puy 216
a. Via Roanne and St-Just-St-Rambert(or St-Etienne) 216
b. Via Clermont-Ferrand . 216

From Riom to Chateauneuf, to Volvic-Cratere, and
to Chatelguyon, 217. — From Coudes to St-Nectaire.
218; toBesse, 219. From Issoire to St-Nectaire. 219.

c. Via Vichy, Arlanc, and Darsac 220

33. Clermont-Ferrand and Environs 222
I. Clermont-Ferrand 222

II. Royat 226
in. The Puy de Dome 227

From Clermont to Mont Rognon and tlie Plateau
de riergovie, to the Puys de Charade and de Pariou,
to the Lac d'Aydat, to St-Amand-Tallende. and to

La Bourboule and Le Mont-Dore, 230.

34. La Bourboule, Le Mont-Dore, and Environs . . . 231
I. La Bourboule 231

II. Le Mont-Dore 233
III. Environs of Le Mont-Dore 234

35. Lyons 238
a. Quarters between the Rhone and the Saono . . 242
b. Quarters on the Right Bank of the Saone . . . 250
c. Quarters on the Left Bank of the Rhone . . . 2r)3

Environs of Lyons, 254. — From Lyons to Mont-
brison, to Tr^voux, to Mornant, and to Vaugneray,
255; to Aoste-St-Genix and to Geneva, 256.

Bakdeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 13



200

^

I

Route Page

36. From Lyons to Bordeaux 256

! a. Via Roanne, Montlucon, and Limoges .... 258
From Lapeyrouse to Volvic-Cratere, 257. — From
Montlugon to Neris, 257; to Bourges and to Auril-

;

lac, 258; to St-Flour, 259. — From Busseau-d'Ahun
I to Ussel, 260. — Bouiganeuf. 260.

b. Via St-Etienne, Clermont-Ferrand, and Tulle . 260

I. From Lyons to Clermont-Ferrand .... 260
Excursions from St-Etienne, 264.— From St-Etienne
to Annouay and St-Rambert-d'Albou, 265. — From
Dunieres to La Voulte-sur-Rlione, 266. — From Bon-
son to Sembadel, 266.

II. From Clermont-Ferrand to Brive .... 269
III. From Brive to Perigueux and Bordeaux . . 272

37. From Lyons to Toulouse via Le Puy and Aurillac . 272
From Lavoiite-sur-Loire to Eaucoules-Brossettes, 273.
— From Le Puy to Langogne. to Espaly, to Polignac
and St-Paulieu, to the Durande, and to the Lac du
Bouchet, 277; to Le Monastier and the Mezenc. 278.—
Cantal, 279.

38. From Clermont-Ferrand to Beziers 282
From St-Flour to Laguiole, 283. — From Aumont to

Auhrac. 283.— From Marvejols to Mende, 283. —From
Millau to Xaut, 285. — From Tournemire to Le Vigan,
285.— From Bedarieux to G-raissessae, 287.

i

39. The Causses and the Gorges of the Tarn .... 287
;

a. Approach from the North . . 288
\

I. From Mende to Ste-Enimie 288
j

II. From Mende to Florae 288 I

III. From Bauassac-la-Canourgue to Ste-Enimie . 289

IV. From Banassac-la-Canourgue to La Malene . 289

b. From Florae to Millau through the Gorges of
|

the Tarn 289

I. From Florae to Ste-Enimie 289

II. From Ste-Enimie to Le Rozier 290

III. From Le Rozier to Millau 292

c. From Millau to Florae, by the Valley of the Jonte 294

I. From Millau to Meyrueis. The Aigoual . . 294

II. From Meyrueis to Florae 295

40. From Clermont-Ferrand (Paris) to Ximes .... 296
From La Bastide to Mende, 296.— Monts Lozere, 297.—
From Ste-Cecile-d'Andorge to Florae, 297.

41. From Nimes to Montpellier and Cette 298
From Montpellier to Palavas, to Le Vigan, and to Lo-
d^ve via Rabieux, 304. — Balaruc-les-Bains, 306.
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30. From Paris to Lyons.
a. Via Dijon and Macon.

318 M. Eailway in 7 hrs. 20 to 10 hrs. 45 min. to the Gare de Per-
rache (p. 238; 57 fr, 45, 38 fr. 80, 25 fr. 35 c). The trains start from the
Grare de Lyon. — Train de luxe, see p. xiii.

From Paris to (196 M.) Dijon (Buffet; Hot. de la Cloche, de

Bourgogne, etc.) and (2I8Y2M.) Beaune (Buffet; Hot. de la Poste,

de France), see Baedeker's Northern France.
223 M. Meursault, noted for its white wines. Farther on, to the

right, is Puligny-3IontracJiet, where Montrachet wine is grown.

228 M. Chagny (Buffet; Hot. du Commerce, de Bourgogne;

pop. 4531), a commercial town, lies between the Dlieime and the

Canal du Centre (see below).
From Chagny to Nevers and Dole, see Baedeker^ s N. France.

The Lyons line then enters the valley of the Thalie.

238 M. Chalon-snr-Sa6ne (Buffet ; Hot. Moderne, Terminus,

Grand-Hotel; pop. 31,550) is an old manufacturing town on the

right bank of the Saone, at the mouth of the Canal du Centre,

which connects this river with the Loire at Digoin (p. 206; 72 M.).
Chalon was the ancient Cabilloninn, the capital of the ^dui, and

afterwards the chief Eoman settlement in Gaul. Christianity was intro-
duced by St. Marcel in the 2nd cent., and the town was the seat of a
bishopric until 1790. Chalon was once the residence of the Kings of
Burgundy; it had counts of its own from the 8th cent, onwards; from
1237 to 1477 it was subject to the Dukes of Burgundy, and it was then
united to France by Louis XI.

The Av. de la Gare and Boul. de la R6publique lead to the Place
de VOhelisque, the obelisk in which was erected in 1730 on the

opening of the Canal du Centre. Close by are the modern Palais
de Justice and the Halle aux Gh'ains. To the E. of the latter

begins the Grande-Rue, descending S.E. to the old Pont St-Laurent
and an island in the Saone. It intersects the old town, whose narrow
lanes contain interesting old houses. To the left of the Grande-Rue
is the church of St-Vincent, once a cathedral, of the 12th -15th

cent., with a modern facade and an interesting choir and apse (13th

cent.). Below the bridge is a small harbour (steamboats to Lyons,

see p. 240). On the left bank is the dockyard of Petit-Creusot, for

the construction of torpedo-boats. In the Place du Port-Villiers,

adjoining the harbour, is a statue of Niepce (1765-1833), a pioneer
of photography. To the N. are the Hotel de Ville (with a library),

the church of St-Pierre (1692-1700; tine carved wood in the choir),

and the Musee (paintings, sculptures, antiquities, and natural his-

tory; open on Sun. 12-4, on other days on application).
From Chalon to Auxonne, 42 M., railway in 21/4-2=^/4 hrs. (7 fr. 40 c,

5 fr., 3 fr. 30 c). — 8V2 M. Gergy, on the right bank of the Saone, is united
with Verjttx by a handsome bridge. — 11 M. Allerey, on the line from
Chagny to Dole. - 22 M. Setirre (p. 312). —42 M. Auxonne {see Baedeker' ti

N. France).

13*
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From Chalon to Boukg, 48 M., railway in 2 hrs. 35 to 2 hrs. 50 min.
(8 fr. 65, 5 fr. 85, 3 fr. 80 c). — 2V2 M. St-Marcel, once famous for its abbey,
where Abelard (p. 24) died, of which the only relic is the fine transitional
church (12th cent.)- — 91/2 M. St-Germain-du-Plain. junction for Lons-le-
Saunier (see below). —48 M. Bourg (p. 312).

Fbom Chalok to Lohs-le-Sausier, 42 M., railway in 21/4-21/2 hrs.

(7 fr. 60, 5 fr. 15, 3 fr. 35 c). — To St-Germain-dAi-Plain, see above.

—

231/2 M. Louhans, also on the line from Dijon to Bourg (p. 312). —42 M.
Lons-le-Saiinier (see Baedeker^s N. France).

From Chalos to Clusy, 31 M., railway in IVa-l^/* hr. (5 fr. 60, 3 fr. 80,

2 fr. 45 c), running first W., then S., through vineyards. — 5 M. Grivry,

near the Foret de Givrv, produces good wine and has stone-quarries.

—

71/2 M. St-Desert, with a fortified church (14th cent.). — 18 M. St-Gengoux-
le-National, a very old little town, junction for (17 M.) Montchanin (see

Baedeker's N. France).— SI M. C'luny (p. 206).

Beyond Chalon the Lyons line runs parallel with the Saone. In

clear weather the Jura Mts. are seen.

253Yo M. Tournus (Hot. de la Gare, du Sauvage, de la Paix;

pop. 4772) is a trading and industrial town on the Saone.^ The
abbey-church of St-Philibert is a massive building of the Bur-

gundian-Romanesque type, dating from 1009-19, and once used as

a fortress. The nave has large round pillars and curious transverse

vaulting. In the S. aisle is a mutilated tomb (15th cent.), with

a Byzantine statue of the Virgin, in wood (12th cent.). The apse

ends in columns with fine capitals, and the outside also is worth

noticing. The crypt contains the tomb of St. Valerian, the apostle

of the town in the 2nd century.— In the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville

is a marble statue of G-reuze, the painter (1725-180.5), a native of

the town. The Hotel de Ville contains a small library and local

museum. A number of mediseval houses may be noted.

2731/, M. Macon (Buffet; Terminus-Hotel, R. from 3, B. 17^,
D. 4-6 fr.", Hot. de I'Europe, R. 3, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr., both good; Hot.

des Champs-Elysees; pop. 19,779), the capital of the department

of Saone-et- Loire, lies on the right bank of the Saone.
Macon, the Matisco of the ^dui, once a place of importance, fell into

decay under the Roman empire. It was repeatedly pillaged by the bar-

barians who invaded Gaul, and down to the 13th cent, was besieged

several times. It was annexed to the crown in the reign of Louis XI.
During the Religious Wars (1559-67) it suffered severely. It is now an
industrial and trading town, poor in historical buildings.

The Rue Gambetta leads S.E. from the station to the Quai du
Slid, a promenade adorned with a statue of Lamartine (1790-1869),

who was born at 18 Rue des Ursulines (PI. B, 2). Near the statue

is a building, partly 18th cent., containing the Hotel de Ville and

Musee (pictures, natural history, etc. ; open on Sun. 2-4, on other

days on application). The Saone is crossed, farther up,, by an old

bridge of 12 arches, leading to the suburb of St-Laurent. Behind

the.H6tel de Ville is the modern church of St-Piei^re.

The Rue Carnot, N.E. of the Place St-Pierre, and beyond it the

Rue Dombey lead to the Place de I'Herberie, in which, at the corner

to the left, is a curious Timber House (16th cent.). Not far off,
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21 Rue Sigorgne, is the Hotel de Senece (18th cent.). From the Rue
Dombey the second street to the left leads to the remains of the

cathedral of St -Vincent, whose facade with the narthex and

towers dates from the 13th-15th cent.; one of the towers still has

part of its spire and fine sculptures. The narthex is used as a

chapel. The entrance is next the market, where the graceful columns

of the church form a kind of screen, and where fragments of sculp-

tures are collected.

Above Macon, 21/2 M., is the He de la Palme, where the Helvetii
were defeated by Csesar in 58 B.C., when 368,000 of them were crossing
the Saone to settle in Gaul.

From M^con to Chmij and Paray-le-Monial (Moulins), see p. 206.

From Macon to Bourg, 231/2 M., railway in 35-60 min. (4 fr. 25,

2 fr. 85, 1 fr. 85 c). —We leave the Lyons line (see below) to the right
and cross the Saone. View of Macon to the left. — I8V2 M. M4z4riat.
The Jura Mts. come into sight. — 231/2 M. Bourg (p. 312).

Steamboat to C'halon on Mou., Wed., and Fri. at 1.30 p.m.; to Lyons
on Tues., Thurs., & Sat. at 11. .30 a.m. Fare in either direction 3 fr.

;

return 5 fr.

The train continues to descend the Saone valley.— 287^/2 M.
Belleville (pop. 2941), a small town 1 M. to the left.

Branch-line to (8 M.) Beaujeu (Hot. du Pare; pop. 2890), which
lends its name to the district of Beaujolais.

297 M. Villefranche (Hot. de I'Europe, R. from 27^, L. or D.

3 fr., Hot. de Provence, du Beaujolais
;
pop. 16,388), a trading

and industrial town, lies on the Morgon, 1^/4 M. to the W. of the

Saone, although it is known as Villefranche-sur-Saone. The church

of Notre-Dame-des-Marais (14th-16th cent.) has a fine fagade and

tower (restored) and curious gargoyles. The Rue Nationale contains

several old houses with interesting courtyards (16th cent.).

Narrow-gauge line to (26 M.) Tarare (p. 208).

Narrow-gauge line to (311/2 M.) Bourg (p. 312), via (51/2 M.) Ars, a
village with a church built over the tomb of the cur^ Vianey (d. 1858),
now a pilgrim-resort, and (17 M.) the small town of C'Mtillon-sur-Cha-
laronne (p. 314).

302 M. Qtiincieux-Trevoux, station for (1^2 M.; omn. 30 c.)

Trevoux (Hot. du Lion-d'Or; pop. 3072), an old town prettily

situated on the Saone, and connected with Lyons by another rail-

way (p. 255). Its name points to the three Roman roads which con-

verged here. Septimius Severus defeated his rival Albinus in 198
near Trevoux. In the 18th cent, the town had a famous printing-

press, whence issued the 'Dictionnaire de Trevoux'.

The sceuery improves.— 30572 M. St-Get^main-au-Mont-d'Or
(buffet), junction for the lines via Paray-le-Monial and Roanne (R.

30b and c).— 307 M. Villevert-Nenville. Neuville-sur-Saone (pop.

2935), on the left bank of the Saone, is also on the Trevoux line

(p. 255) and the Lyons tramway.— 309 M. Couzon has a modern
church with an old tower and good sculptures and paintings.— Fine
retrospect. — From (31072 M.) Collonyes-Fontaines steamboats
and a tramway ply to Lyons. Pretty wooded hills on the left bank.



204 Route 30. MOULINS. From Paris

313 M. L' lle-Barbe^ a pleasure-resort (p. 254j. Close to Lyons
is St-Bambet^t, with a fine church, now modernized.

315 M. Lyon-Vaise, the first Lyons station (p. 238). After a

tunnel w^e cross the Saone (fine view on the left).— 318 M. Lyons
(Gare de Perrache; p. 238).

b. Via Nevers and Paray-le-Monial.
315 M. Railway in 11 hrs. to 14 hrs. 55 min. (55 fr. 80, 37 fr. 65,

24 fr. 55 c). The trains start from the G-are de Lyon.

From Paris to (158 M.) Neve)'S (Buflfet; Hot. de France, Grand-

Hotel, etc.), see Baedeker^s Northeft^n France. We now leave the

Loire valley for that of the Allier.— 164 M. Saincaize (buffet).

From Saincaize to Bourges (Tours. Orleans), 36i/o M., railway in

I-IV2 hr. (6 fr. 65, 4 fr. 50, 2 fr. 90 c.).— From (6 M.) La Guerche lines

run to (38 M.) C'osne-sur-V(Eil (p. 206) and (431/2 M.) VUlefranche-d:AUier
(p. 205), and to (331/2 M.) St-Amand (p. 258) and (541/2 M.) CMteaumeUlant
(p. 38), separating at (OiA^M.) Sa7icoins. — 361/2 M. Bourges (see Baedeker's
N. France).

1741/2 M. St-PietTe-le-Moutier has a fine church (12th -13lh

cent.).— 1861/2^1- Villeneuve-sur-Allier. The broad bed of the

Allier is almost dry in summer.

1941/2 M. Moulins. — S«/7ef. -- Hotels. *H6t. de PaHs (PI. a;

B, 2), 21 Rue de Paris, R. from 31/2, B. I1/4, L. 31/a, D. 4, omn. 1/0 fr.

;

Hot. du Dauphin (PI. b; B, 3). Place d' Allier, good, R. from 3, B. IV^,

L. 3, D. 4, P. from 7. omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de V Allier (PI. c; B, 3), Place
d' Allier. R. from 3, L. 3. D. 31/2. omn. 1/2 fr. — Cabs. Per drive 1, per hour
2 fr.—Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3), Av. Rationale.

Moulins (725 ft.; pop. 21,990), capital of the department of the

Allie)\ was the capital of the Bourhonnais from 1368 till 1527,

when Francis I. confiscated the duchy owing to the treason of the

Constable Bourbon, who had gone over to Charles V.

The Place de la Republique (PI. C, 4), by the station, has a

bronze statue of Theod(yre de Banville (1823-91; PL 3), the poet.

The fine Av. Xationale, to the left, leads into the town. On the right

is the Post Office (PL B, 3), beyond which rises the Theatre (Pl.B, 3).

To the W. of it is the Rue de la Fleche, which leads, to the right,

past the Rue d'Allier (interesting old houses), to the Tour de VHoi'-

loge (PL 4; B, 3), a square belfry of 1455, and the Hotel de Ville

(PL B, 3j, with a library of 35,000 volumes.

The Cathedral of Notre-Dame (PL B, 3), to the N.W., has

its facade, with two fine towers, in the Place du Chateau. The choir,

dating mainly from the late 15th cent., and restored since 1885,

was originally the chapel of the chateau. The nave, in the early-

Gothic style, is modern.
\n the*^lNTEKioR we note the fine 15th-16th cent, stained glass; a Holy

Sepulchre (end of 15th cent.) in the crypt behind the high-altar; a tasteful

winding staircase on the right of the choir; and near it a small monument,
representing a corpse devoured by worms. The chief treasure is a superb
*Triptych attributed to Jean Perreal (ca. 1498), in the sacristy, on the

left of the choir. It represents on the outside the Annunciation (grisaille)
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and on the inside the Virgin and Child surrounded by angels, with the
donors Pierre II. of Bourbon (d. 1508) and his wife Anne of France or of

Beaujeu (d. 1522; daughter of Louis XI.) attended by their patron-saints.

The Chdteau of the Dukes of Bourbon stood opposite the Cathe-

dral, but the only parts left are the Tour Mal-Coiffee (14th cent.),

now a prison, and the Pavilion cVAnne de Beaujeu (ca. 1500). The
latter contains the Mus^e (adm. free on Sun., Thurs., and holidays,

12 to 4 or 5; at other times 1 fr. for 1-2 pers.). It comprises anti-

quities, paintings, etc., the chief gem being the ^Souvigny Bible,

a MS. of 1115, with 122 miniatures.

To the N. is the Palais de Justice (PI. B, 2), dating from 1656.

Beyond it, to the N.W., is the Lycee Banville (PI. A, B, 2), in the

chapel of which (concierge 25 c. for 1 pers., 50 c. for a party) is

the *Mausoleuin of Duke Henry U. of Montmorency, beheaded

for treason at Toulouse in 1632 (comp. p. 80). It was erected by

his widow, the Princesse des Ursins, who rests beside him. The
design is by Fr. Anguier.

In the centre is the white marble statue of the duke, with his sorrow-
ing wife (a superb figure) seated by him. To the left is a figure of Her-
cules; to the right, Charity. The framework has four columns, between
which are three niches; the middle one contains an urn which two angels
are wreathing with flowers, the others have statues of Mars and Religion.
Above are a fine pediment and the Montmorency coat-of-arms.

To the S.W. of the Cathedral is the modern church of the Sacre-

Cceur (PI. A, 3), in the Place d'AUier. Lastly, we may glance at ^^-

Pierre (PI. B, 4), in the Rue Delorme, to the S.E., partly Gothic

of the 15th cent., containing a fine organ-loft and a Crucifixion

(Flemish) of the 16th century.
The fine church of Yzenre, or Iseure, IV4 M. to the E. of Moulins

(beyond PI. C, 3), of the 12th cent., has an interesting crypt, and good
carvings and paintings.

From Moulins to Montlu^on (Limoges), SO'/a M., railway in 2-23/4 hrs.

(9 fr. 10, 6 fr. 10 c, 4fr.). — The line crosses the Allier. "To the right
are the Chateaux de C'hartiUy and de C'hassagne (both 16th cent.). —
8V2 M. Souvigny (Hot. du Lion-d'Or) was once famous for its Cluniac
priory, part of which, restored in the 17th cent., and the Church (11th-

12th cent., altered in the 15th) still remain. The interior of the church,
275 ft. long, with nave and double aisles, is very striking. By the en-
trance is part of a Romanesque column with sculptures representing the
months, the signs of the zodiac, etc. On the wall is a sort of *Reredos
(12th cent.), in three stories, elaborately carved. Right and left are the
Old Chapel and the New Chapel. The former contains the tomb of Louis II.

of Bourbon, the latter that of Charles I., with their respective wives,
splendid monuments with recumbent statues, but mutilated. The sacristy
has Louis XIV. wainscoting. — Beyond Souvigny we cross a viaduct. --

13'/2 M. Noyant-d' Allier, to the left, with a 15th cent, castle. — Beyond
(28V2 M.) Murat are the extensive ruins of the Chateau de Murat (isth-

14tb cent.). — Sl'/a 'M..Villefranche-d'Allier, junction for La Guerche (p. 204).
—We soon enter the coal-basin of Commentry. — 36 M. Doyet-la-Presle,
junction for (3Va M.) Bezentt (pop. 2411), with' its mines, anil (45 M.) Va-
rennes (p. 207). — 41 M. Commentry, and thence to Montlu^-on, seep. 257.

From Moulins to Cosne-suk-l'QCil, 35'/a M., narrow-gauge railway in

21/4-2^74 hrs. (4 fr. 60 or 3 fr. 15 c). lO'/i; M. St-Menou.r lias an interesting
abbey-church (llth-l5th cent.). -16 M. Bourbon-l'Archanibault (*H6t.
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du Pare, R. from 3, B. 1, L. SVa, D. 4, P. from 8, omn. I1/2 fr. ; *Hot. des

Bains, R. from 2, L. 3, D. 31/2, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Montespan, de France;
pop. 3423). noted for its thermal springs, the Aquas Borvonis of the Ro-
mans. The waters are used in cases of scrofula and chronic rheumatism.
Ruined castle (13th-15th cent.) of the Sires de Bourbon. Pleasant environs.
— 351/2 M. C'osne-sur-VCEil, an industrial place on the La Guerche and
Villefrancbe-d'Allier line (p. 204).

The Lyons line turns E. and crosses the Loire.— 212 M. Dom-
pierre-Sept-Fonts. Domjnerre-sur-Besbre (pop. 3206) is an indus-

trial town. To the N.E., 11/2 ^I-, is the abbey of Sept-Fonts (founded

in 1132), now belonging to the Trappists. Branch to Lapalisse, see

p. 208.— 2171/2 ^^- Gilly-sur-Loire, with marble quarries, is the

junction for Auxerre (see Baedeker''s N. France:).— 2291/2 M-

Digoin (Hot. des Voyageurs; pop. 6422), an old industrial town on

the Loire and on three canals, including the Canal du Centre (p. 201).

236 X. Paray-le-Monial (Buffet ; Hot. de la Poste, E. 3-5,

B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 fi'-; Hot. des Trois-Pigeons, du Sacre-Coeur,

de la Basilique; pop. 4814) takes the latter part of its name from
a Benedictine monastery, founded in 973. Marie Alacoque (d, 1690),

a nun in the Convent of the Visitation here, brought into favour

the worship of the Sacred Heart. The ^Basilique du Saere-CoRur,

a great resort of pilgrims, was erected in the 12th cent, by Cluniac

monks. The Musee Eucharistique contains large collections of

paintings, books, etc., relating to the Sacred Heart. The Hotel de

Mile, in the Renaissance style, has a rich facade.

From Paray-le-Moxial, to Macon, 481/2 M., railway in 3 hrs. (8 fr. 75,

5fr. 90, 3 fr. 85 c). — lOVa M. Cliarolles (Buffet; Hot. du Lion-d'Or,
du Commerce; pop. 3740), an ancient town at the confluence of the
Aronce and Semence, once belonged to Burgundy, and gave Charles the
Bold his title of Count of Charolais. —We next ascend the valley of the

Semence. — 34 M. Cluny (Buffet; Hot. de Bourgogne, good; Hot. de
I'Etoile; pop. 4150) was once far-famed for its Benedictine abbey founded
in the 9th cent., which was at its zenith in the 12th. It had 2000 religious

houses dependent on it, and was the intellectual capital of Europe until

its wealth led to a relaxation of discipline, after which the pre-eminence
passed to the Cistercian order under St. Bernard. The Cluniacs were
builders of superb churches, but little is left of their Abbey-Church,
which furnished the type. The other abbey buildings, largely modernized,
now contain the Ecole des Arts et Metiers. The abbot's palace, now the

Hotel de Ville and Musee, dates from the 15th-16th centuries. We note
also Notre-Dariie (13th cent.), St-Marcel, with a 12th cent. Romanesque
tower, several old houses, and remains of fortifications. The chapel of

the Hotel-Dleu contains two fine statues of the early 18th cent., intended
for a mausoleum of the Due and Duchesse de Bouillon. — Railway to

Chalon-snr-Saone, see p. 202.

[From Cluny a line runs to Roanne, 53V.2 M., in 2 hrs. 50 to 3 hrs.

25 min. (9 fr. 65, 6 fr. 50, 4 fr. 25 c). — 26 M. La Clayette-Baudemont (p. 207).

— 321/2 M. St-Maurice-Ves-Ohdtemmeuf. C'hdteauneuf has a picturesque
ruined castle and an interesting 12th cent, church. — 38 M. Charlieu
(Hot. du Lion-d'Or: pop. 5354) originated in a Benedictine abbey, to which
the beautiful *Church-porch (llth-12th cent.) belonged. — 4IV2 M. Pouilly-
sous-CharUeu (p. 207).— 531/2 M. Roanne (p. 208).]

Returning a little way by the same line, we ascend to the left.

Beyond a tunnel we see the old fortress of Berze on the left. — 411/2 M.
St'Sorlin-Milly. At 2Iilly, 2 M. to the right, Lamartine (p. 202) spent
his childhood. — 481/2 M. Macon (p. 202).
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From Parat-le-Monial to Roanne, 371/2 M,, railway in 13/4 hr.

(6 fr. 70, 4 fr. 55, 2 fr. 95 c.)- This line, continuing that from CTiagny
(see Baedeker'' s N. France), turns S. into the vallej' of the Loire, on the

left bank of which is the Roanue and Digoin Canal. — 151/2 M. Marcigny
(pop. 2558).— At (251/2 M.) Pouilly-sous-Charlien we join the line from
Cluny (see p. 206). — 371/2 M. Roanne (p. 208).

Beyond Paray-le-Monial the line passes from the basin of the

Loire into that of the Rhone and crosses one of the most pictur-

esque parts of the Cevennes Centrales.

254 M. La Clayette-Baudemont. La Clayette (pron. 'elate';

Hot. de la Poste & du Dauphin) is a picturesque little town. Line

from Cluny to Roanne, see p. 206. —Beyond (25872 ^1^0 Mussy-sous-
Dun (1340 ft.) we cross the great Viaduc deMussy (600 yds. long,

200 ft. high).— 2641/2 M. Belleroche-Belmont. Then the Tunnel

des Echarmeaux (23/^ M.).— From (268 M.) Poide (1705 ft.) the

line descends into the pretty valley of the Azergnes in a long loop.

277 M. Lamure-sur-Azei^gues\l270 ft.).— 2891/2 M. LeBois-
d^Oingt-Legny (805 ft.). We cross the Yillefranche and Tarare

line, which goes to Le Bois^VOingt, 2 M. to the N.— 292 M.
Chessy, with a chateau and deserted copper-mines.— 2931/2 M.
Chdtillmi-d'Azergues has a ruined castle, with a double chapel

(12th -15th cent.), containing a painting by Hipp. Flandrin.— At

(296 M.) Lozanne we join the line via Roanne (see below).
From Lozanne to Givors, 251/2 M., in li/ahr.— 7 M. Limonest, con-

nected with Lyons by tramway (p. 240). — 11 M. Tassin. on the Hue from
Montbrison to Lyon-"St-Paul (p. 255). — 181/2 M. Brignais. also connected
with Lyons by tramway (p. 240). — 2.51/2 M. Givors-Canah and thence to

Givors, see p. 261.

303 M. St-Ge>'main-au-Mimt-d'Or (buffet), where we join the

line from Dijon (R. 30a). — 315 M. Lyons (Gare de Perrache

;

p. 238).

c. Vi§, Nevers and Roanne.
321 M. Railway in 10 hrs. 40 to 11 hrs. 50 min. (same fares as by

R. 30b). No through-service to Lyons by this route; change at St-Ger-
main-des-Foss^s or at Roanne.

From Paris to (194^/2 ^i-) Moulins, see p. 204. We continue

to ascend the Allier valley.— 2121/2 M. Varennes-sur-Allier.
FromVarennes to Commentry, 431/2 M., narrow-gauge line in 6V2 hrs.

(change at Moutmarault). — 6 M. St-Poiirc/dn-sur-Sionle (Hot. de France,
du Ohone-Vert; pop. 4921), an ancient town with an interesting djjurcli.

— At (18 M.) Chantelle (hotel) is a ruined castle of the Dukes of Bourbon,
dismantled by Fraucis I. in 1527, after the treason of tlie Constable
(p. 204). Adjoining is a Romanesque church, with 11th and 15th cent,

cloisters. Branch-line to (91/2 M.) St-Bonnet-de-Rochefort (Ebreuil
; p. 256).

— 34 M. Montmarault. — 41 M. Bezenet, and thence to Commentry, see

V. 205.

2201/2 M. St-Germain-des-Fosses (840 ft.; BuflFct; Hot. du

i'arc, de la Gare), where the lines to Clermont-Ferrand (R. 32b) and
Vichy (R. 31b) diverge to the right. The interesting little priory

church, 1 M. to the S. of the station, dating from the lltli cent..
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contains a 13tli cent. Virgin, venerated by pilgrims.— 231 M. La-
palisse (1045 ft.; Hot. de I'Ecu; pop. 2913), prettily situated I1/4M.

to the left, has a castle of the 15th-16th cent., restored in the 19th.

Line to (27 IM.) Dompierre (p. 206).—We cross the Besbre; fine

view of Lapalisse, behind us to the left.— Near (2351/2 M.) Ar-
feuilles the Monts de la jVIadeleine (see below) appear on the right.

— 24:1^/.2^L St-Martin-Sail-les-Bains. Omn. {V-j^tr:) in summer
to (3 M. to the X.E.) Sail-les-Bains, the alkaline waters of which

are charged with silicates, iodine, and sulphur. — 253^/2 M. St-

Germain-VEspinasse.
To the X.W., 21/2 M., is Ambierle (Hot- Dalleris), picturesquely

situated, with a fine Benedictine Church (i5th cent.), in which we note
the stained glass, and an *Altar-piece attr. to Roger van der Weyden.

2611/2 M. Roanne (930 ft.; Buffet; Hot. du Commerce, de la

Grare; pop. 36,697), an industrial town with spinning and cotton

mills, the Roman Rodumna, lies on the left bank of the Loire.

The Hotel de Ville contains a small Musee of Gallic and Roman-
Crallic antiquities (open on Sun. & Thurs., 10-12 and 2-4, but shown
on other days at these hours). The principal church is St-Etienne,

of the 13th-16th cent., rebuilt in the 19th.
Xarrow-gauge line to (33 M.) Boen (p. 267), via (8 M.) St-Alban

(Crr.-Hot. St-Louis, etc.), a village with cold mineral springs (aerated

chalybeate), esteemed as table-Y\-aters. It has also a well-managed bath
house and a casino. Fine excursions in the 2Ionts de la Madeleine, which
command views of the Loire valley.

From Eoanne to Paraij-le-Monial and Chagny, see p. 207.

Passing round Roanne, the line crosses the Eoire at a point

where the river has been led into a new channel.— 263 M. Le Coteau
(pop. 4624), a suburb of Roanne. The line to St-Etienue (R. 31a)

diverges to the right, and that to Paray-le-Monial (p. 207) to the

left.— The Tarare line ascends the valley of the Rhius, or Reins.

— 271Y2 ^I- ^^gny (pop. 2334), an old village on the Rhius, with

a fine modern church, once had a Cluniac priory, and still has re-

mains of fortifications. Cottou goods and drawing-pencils are made
here.— 2751/2 M. St-Vicfor-Thizy (buffet).

Branch-line to (41/2 ^O Thizy (Hot. Gelay; pop. 4780), picturesquely
situated to the X.E.. with thriving cotton, silk, and other factories.

Another branch-line runs X., hy Bourg-de-Thizy (pop. 4594), to (91/2 M.)

Cours (Hot. Girard; pop. 6013), another industrial place, where cheap
blankets are made from wool refuse.

The country becomes hillier as we near the Lyonnais mountains.
— 279 M. Amplepuis (1410 ft.; Hot. du Centre, du Commerce;
pop. 7000), with cotton, linen, and muslin factories. Branch-line to

(IOV2 M.) St-Vincent-de-Relns.
Our line again ascends, passes through a tunnel, and descends

rapidly into the basin of the Rhone. Picturesque scenery.

2871/2 M. Tarare (1310 ft.; Buffet; Hot. de I'Europe; pop.

12,532), an industrial town in the narrow valley of the Turdine,

surrounded by mountains, manufactures nuislius and silk plush for
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hats. Old houses and a ruined castle. Line to Villefranche, see

p. 203.

2977, M. L'Arbresle (760 ft.; Hot. Chapet; pop. 3023), an

old town, dominated by an old Castle, with a keep now restored.

Two gateways of the old fortifications and several mediaeval and

Renaissance houses have been preserved. Quarries of barytes.

Branch-line to Monthri^on and Lyon-St-Paul, see p. 255.

302 M. Lozanne, and thence to Lyons, see p. 207.

31. From Paris to St-Etienne.

a. Via Roanne.
312 M. Railway iu 8 hrs. 30 to 9 hrs. 20 min. (56 fr. 30, 38 fr. 5,

24 fr. 85 c).

To (26IV2 M.) Roanne, see pp. 207, 208. The Lyons line is

quitted beyond (262 M.) Le Coteau (p. 208). Hilly country, and
numerous tunnels. — Near (274^2 '^^•) St-Jodard we reach the

Loire, shut in between the hills of the Forez.—^ Beyond (281 M.)

Balhigny the valley expands to the right, where it is studded with

pools and bordered by the distant Monts du Forcz (p. 221).

287 M. Fewrs (1135 ft.; Hot. Central, R. 2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de

Provence; pop. 3995), the ancient Forum Segusiavarum, was the

capital of the Forez down to 1441, and that of the department of

the Loire from 1793 to 1801. The fine flamboyant church is partly

modern.
Motor-omn. (railway projected) to PanissUres (pop. 4228), 91/2 M. to

the N.E., the birthplace of Bonnassieux, the sculptor (1810-92). Linen
factories.

294 M. Montrond (Hot. Terminus, du Geyser, Maillere) is

a village ^/^ M. to the right, with a ruined castle of the 14th-

16th cent., overlooking the Loire. We cross the Lyons and Mont-
brison line here (see p. 255). The Source du Geyser (79°), a

mineral spring rising from a depth of 1600 ft., supplies the suuill

baths and is exported also.

300 M. St-G-alrniei'-Veauche. St-Galmier (Hot. Danis, de la

Poste; pop. 3030), a small town on a hill, 2Y2 M- (omn. 45 c.) to

the left, is famed for its sparkling mineral waters, about 20 million

gallons of which are exported for table use. The Church (15th-17th

cent.) contains a curious 16th cent, tabernacle, and a painted altar-

piece. Omn. to Bellegarde (p. 255).

30272 M. La Renardiere.— At (30472 M.) St-Just-sur-Loire
(pop. 2409) we join the line from Clermont-Ferrand (pp. 269-266).

Fkom St-Just-sl'r-Loike to Fihmisy (Aunojiaij), 12 M., railway in

35-50 min. (2 fr. 15. 1 fr. 45, 95 c). -IV4 M. Sf-Just-S't-Rambert, station for

St-Rambert-sur-Loire (Hot. dii Centre; pop. 302G), with remains of
fortifications. - Wc reach the Gorges de la Loire. — 10 M. Fraisse-Unieii.r,
"II Ww Lf ?uv and St-Etienne line (p. 272). 12 M. Firmini/ (p. 272).
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3061/2 M. La Fouillouse (pop. 2304), We cross the Fureftis

and ascend its valley.— 309 M. Villars (pop. 2989). On a hill to

the left is the Chateau de St-Priest. We noAv enter one of the greatest

coal-fields in France. Coal-mines and factories become very numer-

ous ; tall chimneys rise in all directions, and everything is blackened

with smoke.— ^lO^j.^'^LLa Tetrasse (1580ft.), a suburban station

of St-Etienne. On the left is the arms-factory.

312 M. St-Etienne (p. 261).

b. Via Vichy and Coiirty.

From Paris to Vichy. 227 M. in 5 hrs. (by the 'Vichy-Royat Express',

p. xiii) to 7 hrs. 25 min. (41 fr., 27 fr. 70, 18 fr. 10 c). Dining-car in sum-
mer on the evening-express.— From Vichy to St-Etienne, via Courtv,
821/2 M. in 41/2-7 hrs. (14 fr. 90, 10 fr. 5, 6 fr. 55 c).

To (220Y2 M.) St-Germain-des-Fosses, see R. 30 c; the Vichy
touts here, and in the train, should be disregarded. The Vichy line

continues to follow the valley of the Allier. To the left diverges

the line to Roanne; to the right (fine view) that to Clermont-Ferrand

(R. 32).—We cross the Sichon.— 227 M. Vichy.

Vichy.

Hotel-omnibuses meet the trains (3/4-I1/4 fr. per pers., 1/2 fr. per trunk).

Railwaj'-omnibus, 1/2 fr. per pers. or trunk by day, 3/^ fr. at night. Cabs,
see p. 212.

Hotels (mostly open May-Oct.). Eue Cunin-Gridaine (PLC, 2-4),

facing the park, beginning at the Etablissement Thermal : *Gr.-H6t. des
Bains (PI. a), P. from 15 fr. ; *C'arUon Hotel (PL b), R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4,

D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 18 fr. ; Hot. de VArniraute (PI. c), P. from 9 fr.;

Hot. Velay & des Anglais (PI. d), P. from 9 fr.; Royal-Hotel (PI. e),

R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. : Hot. Mombrun & du Casino
(PI. e); Astoria Palace (PL g), annexe of the International Hotel, open
the whole year, R. from 10, B. 2, L. 5, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 20 fr.

— Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville: Hot. R2M (Pl.mp; A. B, 4, 5), new, R.
from 15, B. 2fr.— Rue du Pare (PL B, 3, 4), on the other side of the
park, beginning at the Casino: *Gr.-H6t. des Ambassadeurs (PL h), R.
from 6, B. 1^/4, L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra), P. from 15 fr., with its annexe,
the Villas des Ambassadeurs, opposite, in the Boul. de I'Hotel-de-Ville,

R. from 10, P. from 20 f r. ; *Thermal Palace (PL i), R. from 4, B. I1/2,

L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 13 fr. : *Hdt. de Cherbourg (PL j), R.

from 4. B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 11 fr. ; *H6t. des Princes
(PL k), R. from 5, B. 2, L. 5, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 13 fr. ; *Excelsior-
Hotel de la Paix (PL 1), R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from
11 fr. ; *H6t. du Pare (PL m). R. from 8, B. 3, L. 4, D. 6 (wine extra),

P. from 18 fr. ; *H6t. Majestic (PL ma), R. from 12, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8 (wine
extra), P. from 25 fr.

Between the baths and the new park (PL A, B, 2, 3) : Hot. de la

Grande-Bretagne & Queeii's Hotel (PL t), in an open site in the Boul.
Xational, R. from 6, B. li/-^, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 13 fr.; Hot.
d' Avierique (PL yy), second-class, good, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5

(wine extra), P. from 12 fr., with its annexe, the Hot. du Maroc, R. from 4,

B. li/j, L. 4. D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 11 fr.; Hot. de la Neva (PL xx),

P. from 8 fr.; Hot. d'Aix & de Chamberij (PL vv), R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/.,,

D. 4, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. du Portugal (PL aa), P. from 8 fr. —To the N.
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of the Etablissement there are numerous pensions in the Rues Chomel,
des Sources, Louis-Blanc, and Av. Victoria. Among others, 19 Eue Chomel
(PI. B, 1), Villa de Passy & Pavilion Bois (open the whole year), P. from
6 fr. Av. Victoria, behind the Etablissement: Hot. Desfarges & des
Nouveanx-Parcs (PI. am). R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 10 fr. —
Rue de I'Etablissement-Thermal (PI. B, 2, 1): Hot. de la Grande-Grille
6 Regina (PI. n), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. du Helder (PI. ai).— Rue Lucas
(PI. C, 2, 8) : Hot. Britanniqne (PI. 0), good, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de la

Source-Lucas (PI. p), P. from 8 fr. — Rue de Ballore : Hot. de Madrid
AMetropole (PI. q; C, 2), P. from 7 fr.— Rue de Paris (PL 0, D, 3): to the
right on the wav to the station, Hot. du Louvre & de V Univers reunis
(PI. rs), open the whole year. R. from 3. B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8 fr.

;

Hot. du Rhone & Savoia (PI. u), R. from 3, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 7 fr.

;

Hot. du Beaujolais (PL v), open the whole year, P. from 8 fr. ; on the
left, Hot. de la Poste (PL z), P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. de Brest (PL w), R. from
23/4, L. 23/4, D. 31/4, P- from 71/2 fr. ; Hot. d'Albe & de la Suisse (PL x),

P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Rome (PL v), R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/2- D- 4, P. from
9fr.—Rue de Nimes (PI C. 4, 5): Hot. de Nice (Pl. bb), P. from 8 fr.

;

Hot. de VEurope (PL cc), P. from 10 fr. ; SiAendid Hotel & Hot. d' Or-
leans (PL dd), R. from 5, B. 1, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; *International
Hotel (PL ab), open the whole year, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine
extra), P. from 15 fr. ; Hot. de Milan (PL ee), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. du
Palais (PL ee), R. from 3, B. 3/^, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 7i/>fr.; Hot. des
Alpes (PI. ff), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Geneve (PI. ag), P. from 8 fr. — Rue
Burnol: Hot. de Bourgogne (PI. ah; C, 3), P. from 7 fr. — No. 8, Boul.
Carnot (PI. 0,4), Vichy-Hotel, R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4, P. from
8V2 fr. — Av. de la Gare, behind the church of St-Louis : Hot. de Bade &
Notre-Dame (PI. ac), R. from 5, B. I1/4, L. 31/2. D- ^Va, P. from 11 fr.

;

Hot. Gallia (PI. ad), P. from 71/0 fr. — Rue du Casino : Hot. Moliere (PI. gg

;

B, 4), P. from 10 fr. — Boul. de l'H6tel-de-Ville (PI. B, 4, 5): Hot. de
Londres (PI. kk). Hot. de Seville & de Constantine (PI. jj). Hot. de Ri-
voli (PL 11), Hot. de Lishonne (PL qq), all second-class, P. from 7 or 8 fr.

— Near the Source de I'Hopital (PL 3; B, 5): Hot. des Deux-Mondes (PI.

hh), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Russie (PI. mm), P. from 71/2 fr. ; Villa de
V Union (meubl^; PL nn); Hot. St-James & des Consuls (PL ae). P. from
7 fr. ; Hot. de Venise (PI. al), P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de la Porte-de-France
(PI. 00), P. from 6V2 fr. ; Hot. du Regent & du Bon-Lafontaine (PL pp),
P. from 8V2fr.— Place de la Marine (PI. B, 5): Hot. Massena (PI. ak);
Hot. Beau- Site & d' Oceanie (PI. rr); Hot. de Tours & du Senegal; Hot.
des Charmilles (PI. ii), P. from 8fr. — Boul. National (PL A, B, 5,6),
facing the new park: Hot. Belleviie (PI. ss), P. from 8 f r. ; *Pavillon
S4vign4 (PL B, 5; p. 214), R. from 6, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra), P. from
18 fr.; Hot. Beau-Rivage (pl. zz), R. from 3, B. 1, L. 31/21 D- 4, P. from
9 fr. ; Hot. de Plaisance & de Bellecour (PL ww), R. from 3, B. ^U, L. or
D. 3V2, P- from 8 fr. : Hot. de la Cloche (Pl. af), R. from 4, B. 1, L. 8,

D. 31/2, P- from 9 fr. — Behind the Pare des O^lestius (PL C, 5): Gr.-Hot.
de Menton & du Palais-Royal (Pl. tt), B. 3/^, l. or D. 3, P. from 8 fr.,

Hot. des Cdestins (Pl. uu),' R. from 5, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 81/2 fr.,

two second-class houses in a quiet street. — No. 7, Rue de la Chaume,
Hot. de Florence & de Mulhouse (Pl. fl), plain but good, P. from 71/g fr.

In the Rue de Paris, nearer the station (PL D, 3), are several very
fair second-class houses: Hot. Beauparlant, du Globe, de Naples & des
Ntgociants, des Archers <t- Parisien, du Lion-d'Or, de Barcelone, etc.

There are also several modest hotels and many furnished houses in
Old Vichy. Living is not so dear at Vichy as one might expect from
the fame of the place, and there are hotels to suit every purse.

House Aljents. Bouculat, 12 Rue Burnol; Chardonnet, 17 RueSorniii.

Restaurants (a la carte). Hotel du Pare (p. 210); Casino (p. 212);
International Hotel (see above); Rest. Elysde-Palace (p. 212); Alhambra-
Taverne, 5 Rue Sornin; Rest, des Sources, 19 Rue Sornin. — Ca/'ti de la
Restauration, in the park.
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Etablissement Thermal, open all the year round (season from
15th May to 30th Sept.)- The waters may be drunk at the buvettes gratis,

or a carafe may be Ulled and carried away. Cases of 50 bottles are sold

by the company at 30 fr. each. The tariff is posted up in the Etablisse-
m"ent: 1st class hath or douche 1-10 fr. ; 2nd class '^'n-i^Uh.; 3rd class

30 c. to 1 fr. 10 c: water for bathing sent to a private address 3-5 fr.

The Baixs Larbaud (p. 214) are open from May 15th to Sept. 30th.

Buvette gratis; bath or douche 1 fr., incl. linen.

—

Bains Lardy (p. 215).

Bath or douche I1/4 fr., incl. linen; sulphur-bath 2 fr.—Hammam de Vichy
(with large basin). Rue Burnol.

Physiciass. a full list is posted up in the Etablissement.

Cabs. From the station to the hotels, with light luggage, with
1 horse I1/2; '^^ith 2 horses 21/0 fr., at night (8-6) 1 fr. extra. — Per drive
11/0 or 2fr.; at night 2 or 3fr.— One hour 3 or 4, at night 4 or 6 fr.,

after which the fare is per 1/0 ^r. — To the Cote St-Amand. Hauterive,
Les Malevaux, or the Montague Verte, with 1 horse 7, with 2 horses 10 fr.;

to St-Yorre 10 or 14, L'Ardoisiere 12 or 18, Chateau de Bourbon-Busset
15 or 20, Eandan 18 or 24, Maulmont 15 or 20, Chateau de Billv 18 or 24,

Chateldon 20 or 28 fr.

Omnibuses start from Place de la Marine (PI. B, 5); for times and
fares, inquire at the Cafe des Arts.— Tramway to Cusset, see p. 215.

Garages. Sporting Garage. Place de THotel-de-Ville; Garage Palace.,

14 Rue de Ballore; Catalpa. same street: ^loderne, 5 Rue de Ballore
prolongee; Paris. 43-45 Boul. National and 9 Rue Callou. For excursions,
arrange prices in advance (about 1 fr. per km.).

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. C, 4), I6I Rue de Ximes.

Casino (p. 214). Adm. 2 fr. for one day. 10 fr. for a week, 20 fr. for

25 days. Tickets admit to all rooms except the theatre and the gaming-
rooras. and include the use of chairs in the promenade and parks. Adm.
ti> theatre 3-5 fr. ; to Casino and theatre 4-6 fr.

Casino des Fle?irs. behind the Carlton Hotel (Pl.b: C. 3), with en-

trances in the Rue Lucas and Rue Sornin also. Adm. to the garden 1,

to the concerts and theatre 5 It.— Elysee-Palace (PI. C, D, 3), Rue de
Ximes.

—

Jardin de Vicky, Rue de Paris.

Banks. Credit Lyoniiais, 160 Rue de Nimes; SocUti Generals and
Comptoir d'Escompte, by the park.

—

Bookseller. F. Koehler. Place
St-Louis.

Inquiry Office, 11 Rue du Pare.

Golf Course (18 holes), on the left bank of the Allier, reached by
motor-buat (see PI. A, 3).

During the season are held a Horse Shov: (end of June), Horse Races
(July and Aug.). Pigeon Shooting (July and Aug.), Regattas (July), etc.

Anglican Church Service in summer.

Vichij (865 ft.; pop. 16,502) is prettily situated on the right

bank of the Alli&', and has a healthy and temperate climate. It

is the chief watering-place in France, attracting nearly 100,000

visitors annually. Except its old quarter, which dates only from

the middle ages, the town is modern.
Its waters, though well known to the Romans, who named the town

Aqnee Calidss, came into favour only towards the end of the 17th cent.,

when Madame de Sevigne (p. 214) "made them known at the court of

Louis XIV. ; but they did not become fashionable until the Second Empire.
Vichy was visited several times by Xapoleon III., whose villa was at

Xo. 5", Boul. Xational. He was the founder of the Xouveau Pare (p. 214)

and promoted the building of the new quarters. The place is indebted
for its fame, not onlj' to its excellent waters, but to the admirably
managed Etablissement, the property of the State, and leased by a

company. The waters, in which bicarbonate of soda and iron are the
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main ingredients, are chiefly used for drinking, and about 50 million
bottles are exported annually; in the height of the season the company
can provide 3500 baths a day.

The Place de la Gare i,s adorned with a monument of the town
of Vichy. The long Kue de Paris leads thence into the new town.

The Rue Lucas, in almost the same direction, passes between

(right) the Military 'Hospital and (left) the Source Prunelle (pri-

vate property). Farther on is the Rue Cunin-Gridaine to the left,

skirting the park, with some of the chief hotels.

The Etablissement Thermal (PI. B, 2, 3) includes the Nouvel
Etahlissement, erected in 1898-1903, and the Ancien Etablisse-

ment, built in 1853 and enlarged in 1898, on the opposite side of

the Rue Lucas. The former now contains the offices and the 1st class

baths, the latter the 2nd and 3rd class baths.

The New Establishment is a large edifice in the Moorish style,

very plain externally, and somewhat overweighted by the dome
above the fagade. The two square towers at the back are used as

reservoirs. The entrance in the Rue Lucas admits to an imposing
hall, flanked with a handsome staircase and a lift. The left wing
is reserved for men, the right for ladies. On application at the

office visitors are shown the luxurious bath-rooms and the various

appliances. At the back of the building is a department containing

almost every mechanical device used in modern therapeutics. All

the baths are supplied from the Puits Carre (111° Fahr.; 1100
gallons per hour), but the water of the other springs is used also,

and even that of other spas, with which the New Establishment is

always well provided.

On the site of the old 1st class baths now stands a large and
elegant ^Drink-HalU (1902), supplied by four of the chief springs:

the Source Chomel (111"; 350 grains of bicarbonate of soda per

gallon), the water of which is pumped up; the Grande-Grille
(108°j, the most famous, which bubbles up naturally; the Source
Mesdames (61°), conducted from the Gusset road; and the Source
Lucas (84°), the most abundant (1760 gallons per hour), which
rises in the Rue Lucas, opposite the hospital. The total supply from
the ten springs belonging to the state is over 114,000 gallons daily.

The Source Chomel is efficacious for maladies of the digestive or-

gans, the Grande-Grille for liver-complaints, the Source Mescfemes
for chlorosis, and the Source Lucas for cutaneous diseases.

To the right of the Etablissement is the l^astillerie (PI. B, 2;
adm. 2-5 p.m.), in which the Vichy salts and lozenges are prepared.
— The Rue Gallon leads thence to the Barrage (PI. A, 1), over

which a footbridge crosses to the race-course.

The Park (PI. B, C, 3, 4), between the Drink -Hall and the

casino, is shaded with fine trees. It is the centre of Vichy, the

rendezvous of the visitors during the Concerts (8.30 to 9.30 a.m..
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and 2.30 to 3.30 p.m.), and it is still more fre quented in the

evening. Two covered and asphalted galleries render walkers inde-

pendent of the weather. On the right as we come from the Etablisse-

ment is the Source du Pare (61°), little used, though in some cases

preferred to the Sources de I'Hopital and des Celestins.— Farther

on, to the right of the Casino, is the concert-enclosure; to the left

are a band-stand and the Cafe de la Restauration, adjoining which
are two 'Salles de Jeux'.

The ^Casino (PI. B, 4) is a fine Renaissance building, but rather

depressed. It was erected in 1860-65 and enlarged in 1898-1901,

when the new Theatre was added. The fagade, preceded by a small

garden, has a veranda in the middle, and on each side a pavilion

with a large window between two colossal caryatides by Carrier-

Belleuse ('The Seasons'). Within are a spacious festal hall, a read-

ing-room with French and foreign newspapers, a billiard-room,

and a card-room. The Casino is open from May 1st to Oct. 15th,

but the real season lasts from July 1st to Sept. 15th only. (Adm.,

see p. 212.)

Behind the Casino, a little to the left, is a fine Garden con-

taining a band-stand, and bounded by a semi-circular rotunda with

shops. In the centre is a 'Salon de Eepos', with a colossal relief,

'The Nymph of the Springs', by Carrier-Belleuse. A passage to the

right leads to the Place Rosalie (PI. B, 5), in which is the Source

de VHopital (93°). It is chiefly used for gastric disorders, and has

a separate bath-house in the square.

The Rue du Pont, descending thence to the bridge over the Allier,

crosses the *]S"onveau Pare, a splendid promenade of 30 acres

formed since 1861 on land which the river used to overflow, but

which is now protected by a dam nearly 1 M. long. It extends be-

tween the river and the Boulevard National, almost the whole length

of the town, and has recently been prolonged 660 yards farther up

the river. It affords a fine view of the valley.

Old Vichy, to the left (S.E.) of the Rue'du Pont, offers little

attraction. The Tour de I'Horloge is a relic of a 15th cent, cha-

teau built by Duke Louis II. of Bourbon: its old chapel is now the

churcli of St-Blaise. In the Rue Verrier is the old Maison du

Baillage (PI. G, 6), of 1581. In the lower part of Old Vichy are

the Bains Larhaud (PI. B, 5
; p. 212), which are private property,

and a little higher up is the Pavilion Sevigne (hotel, see p. 211), the

alleged residence of Mme. de Sevigne when she underwent treat-

ment at Vichy in 1676-7.

Farther on are the Sources des Celestins (PI. C, 6), named after

a convent of Celestines which existed here till the 18th century.

The waters, the richest in bicarbonate of soda, and pleasant to drink,

must be used with caution. They are efiicaciuus in cases of gout,

gravel, and diabetes. Above the springs is a pretty park, which,
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on the other side, adjoins the Rue de Nimes.— Opposite, at 120
Rue de Nimes, is the Source Dubois (PL D, 5; 52°), private pro-

perty. At No. Ill is the entrance to the private Bains Lardy (PL
D, 6; p. 212), with pretty grounds.

In the Rue de Ximes, near the Casino, is the modern church of

St-Louis (PL C, 4). The market-pLice contains a Monument of the

Republic (1904) and a Roman milestone.

Excursions (carriages, seep. 212).— To Cusset, 2 M. to the E., tram-
way (20 c, return 35 c), in 20 min., every 20 min. from St-Louis (see

above), passing the railway station. Cusset (Hot. du Globe, de I'Etoile;
pop. 6941) is an old town, with a bath-house and two cold springs contain-
ing bicarbonate of soda and iron. The baths are a little short of the
tramway terminus in the Cours Tracy. The church of St-Saturuin was
rebuilt in 1869 in the transitional style. We note several IGth cent,
houses, — About 21/2 M, to the E. is the restaurant of Les Malavaur, at

the entrance of a wooded gorge, above which are the remains of a Tem-
plars' lodge.

To THE Ardoisiere, 6^4 M. to the N.E. of Vichy. About II/4 M. from
Cusset (see above), in the valley of the Sichon, is Les Grivats, with a
fish-breeding establishment. Then, 3 M. farther, we cross the Sichon, to
the left, to the uninteresting >4?'do/s?'ere (slate-quarry ; rest.), 3 min. from
which is the Goiw SaiUant, a pretty cascade of the Sichon. Above the
quarry rises Mont Peyroux (1635 ft.).

To THE Chateau de Bourbon-Btsset, 8 M. to the S.E. of Vichy!
Omn. daily (31/2 fr-

5 P- 212) to (5 M.) St-Yorre (p. 216), which may be
reached also either by road (5 M.) or by railway. Thence an ascent of 3 M.
(views) brings us to the ChMeau de Bourbon-Busset and the village
of Basset. The chateau (no adm.) became the property of a branch of the
Bourbon family in the 18th cent., but dates from the 14th. It is a typical
feudal castle, entered by a drawbridge between two large modern towers.
The back of the building, the only old part, restored in the 19th cent.,

is severe and picturesque, with its massive machicolated tower. — Or we
may go by the Ardoisiere (see above), whence the chateau is 4»/8 M. dis-
tant by road.

To Bellerive and Hauterive. At the village of Bellerive, on the
left bank of the Allier, 1/3 M. above the bridge, is an Intermittent Spring
which rises to a height of 20 ft. (Adm. 50 c. when it plays, otherwise 25 c.

;

see bills at the bath-house.) The Gannat road leads thence to (IV4 M.)
the copious Source de Boussange, yielding 58,300 gallons daily. After
spouting forth to a height of 70 ft. it is conducted to Vichy, where it is

used chiefly for baths and for the preparation of Vichy salts. About 1/3 M.
beyond is the race-course (comp. p. 213). — The road from Vichy to Haute-
rive (31/2 M.) turns to the left beyond the bridge and ascends" on the left
bank of the Allier. It passes near the Source du Dome (142^), the hottest
in the whole region. (Omn. three times daily, see p. 212; return 75 c.) At
Hauterive (rest.), within a fine park, are several other mineral s^prings.
The water, similar to that of the C^lestins (p. 214), is used only for
exportation.

To the Cuatkau de Randan, 9V'2 M. to the S.S.W., by the Bois de
Randan. Omn. (p. 212) on Sun. and Thurs. (3'/'2 fr.). The Chateau de
Randan, in the little town of Randan (Hot. du Pare), is of very early
origin, l)ut was rebuilt in 1822 by Mme. Adelaide d'Orldans, sister of
Louis Philippe, and now belongs to the Comtesse de Paris. The park
only is open to visitors (Sun. and Thurs., 1-6 p.m.).

The Montagne Verte (1300 ft.), 2'/2 M. to the N. of Vichy, and the
Cote St-Amand (1420 ft.), 3 M. to the S.E., to the left of the Thiers
road, are chiefly visited for the sake of the views. From the Montagne
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Verte we may go farther N. to St-Grermain-des-Fosses (41/2 M.
; p. 207),

passing the ruined Chateau de Lauzet (rest.) and the priory.

Omn. run occasionally (4 fr.
; p. 212) to the picturesque ruins of the

Chateau de Billy, 91/2 M. to the X. of Vichy and 21/2 M. to the N. of

St-Germain-des-Fosses station (p. 207).

From Yichy to Thiers (see below and p. 269), 26 M., railway in 1 lir.

15 to 1 hr. 35 min. (4 fr. 70, 3 fr. 50, 2 fr. 25 c). Excursion-train on Tues.
during the season (5, 31/2? 21/2 fr- return).

From Yichy to Clermont-Ferrand (Riom, Eoyat; pp. 210, 216-218),

46V2 M., railway in 2 hrs. 5 to 2 hrs. 55 min. ; excursion-train on Thurs.

(10, 7, 5fr.; to'Eiom 8, 51/2, 4 fr. ; to Royat IOV2, 71/2, ^^kh.).

Beyond Yichy the train follows the right bank of the Allier.

232 M. St-Yorre (875 ft.; Hot. Gay) has several cold mineral

springs, similar to those of Yichy. A fine park, to the right a little

short of the station, contains the Etablissement. On the left is seen

the Chateau de Bourbon-Busset (3 M.
; p. 215).

236 31. Eis-Chdteldon (925 ft.). Rls, near the confluence of

the Allier and the Dore. has a fine suspension-bridge over the Allier.

Chdteldon (Hot. du Centre, L. or D. 3 fr.; pop. 1885), 3 M. to the

S.E. (omn.), at the foot of rocky hills, has picturesque 15th cent,

houses and an old castle (no adm.). Mineral springs, used for ex-

portation.

"We now skirt the Dore. To the right rise the Monts Dome
(p. 227).— 240 M. Puij-GvMmum (9-40ft.j.

At (247^2^-) Courty (buvette) we join the line from Clermont-

Ferrand to Thiers and St-Etienne (p. 269).

32. Prom Paris to Le Puy.

a. Via Roanne and St-Just-St-Rambert (or St-Etienne).

357V-5 (or 3651/2) M. Railway via St-Just-St-Rambert in 13 hrs. 5 to

15 hrs. 10 min. (63 fr. 25. 42 fr. 75, 27 fr. 90 c. ; no through-tickets); via St-

Etienne in 12 hrs. 45 to 13 hrs. 5 min. (65 fr. 95, 44 fr. 60, 29 fr. 50 c).

To (3041/2 M.) St-Just-sur-Loire, see p. 209. Thence via St-

Just-St-Rambert to {l^^L) Fraisse-Unieux, on the St-Etienne and

Le Puy line, or to (77o M.) St-Etienne., see pp. 209, 210. From
St-Etienne or Fraisse-Unieux to (53V-> or 43 M.) Le Puy, see

pp. 272, 273.

b. Vi§, Clermont-Ferrand.

3521/2 M. Railway in 12 hrs. 15 to 14 hrs. 20 min. by night-train

(63 fr. 45, 42 fr. 85, 27 fr. 95 c). — To Clermont-Ferrand, via Nevers, 261 M.,
in 7 hrs. 20 to 8 hrs. 40 min., or by the Yichy-Rovat Express' (p. 210) in

5 hrs. 55 min. (47 fr. 15, 31 fr. 85, 20 fr. 80 c).

To (220V2 M.) St-Germain-des-Fosses, see p. 207. The train

turns to the "w. and crosses the Allier.— Beyond (222i/o M.) St-

R&tny-en-RoUat the line ascends, affording a view of the basin
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of the AUier aud the Monts du Forez (p. 221), ou the horizou to

the left. The Monts Dome (p. 227) appear on the right.

2351/2 M. Gannat (H(5t. de la Poste; Hot. de France, at the

station; pop. 4932) has an interesting church of the 12th-13th cent,

and a chateau of the 14th (now a prison). Line to Montluc^on, see

R. 36a.—We next cross the Limagne, a fertile plain of the Basse-

Auvergne, 80 sq. M. in area, watered by the Allier, and bounded
by the Monts Dome on the AV. and the Forez range on the E.

242^/2 M. Aigueperse (Hot. des C'ommer(;ants, duLion-d'Or;

pop. 2065). The fine Gothic church of Notre-Dame has a transept,

clioir, and three chapels of 1259; the rest is of the 14th-15th cent.,

7estored in the 19th. In the interior is a Holy Sepulchre of the

loth cent, and a Nativity by Ben. Ghirlandaio. To the right of

the church is the Chapelle des Morts, with an octagonal turret

(1415). The Hotel de Yille. with its 'jaquemart'. was once an

Ursuliue nunnery.

2481/2 M. Pontmort. To the right, the Monts Donu'. dominated
by the Puy de Dome (p. 228).

253 M. Riom (Gr.-Hot. Place-Desaix, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.; Hot. du
Louvre, de la Poste; pop. 10,561). Xear the Place Desaix is the

modern Palais de Justice, with the *Sainfe-ChapeUe (1382-8),

a relic of the old chateau of the Dukes of Auvergne. In the Rue de

I'Horloge are the Tour cfe VHorloge (16th cent.) and several inter-

esting old houses. Farther on is the church of St-Aniable, mainly

Romanesque (1077-1120). We may visit also Notre-Dame-du-
Marthuret (15th cent.), with the fine "Vierge a POiseau' on the

portal. The Musee Mandet contains a collection of pictures and
sculptures.

From Riom to CHATEAtmBUF, I81/.2 M. to the N.AV., omn. four times
daily during the season (4 fr. ; carr. 25-30 fr.). — Beyond (SVa M.) St-
Hipxiohjte the road leads through a pretty valley, with the Chateau de
C'hazeron (14th tent.) on the right. --13 M' Manz'at (Hot. de la Poste) has
a church with fine Renaissance carved wood. To the N.E., 3 M., is the
Goiir de Tasenat (p. 2.57). —Lastly, down tlie Sioule valley to (iH'/a ^I-)

CluUeaitneuf-les-Bai ns (p. 257).

From Riom to Volvic-Cratere, 9V2 M., narrow-gauge line.— 4>/aM.
Volvic (2595 ft.; Hot. du Commerce; pop. 3355), at the foot of the Pntj
de la Baujiiere, trades largely in lava. Romanesque church, partly re-

stored. To the N., 1 M., are the grand ruins of the *Ch(iteati de Tuirrnoel
(llth-16th cent.), dismantled by Richelieu in the 17th cent, (fee ^ c).
Huge stone wine-vat on the ground-Hoor. Fine view from the tower.
— Beyond the Gnrges d'Euval or du Bout-de-2Ionde we reach (9^2 M.)
Volvic-Cratere (p. 269), on the Brive and Clermont line.

Tramway from Riom to Menat and St-Kloij (p. 257) projected.

From Riom to ChAtelguyon, 31/2 M., railway in 20 min. (90, 60, 40 c).
— 2 M. Mozac or Mozat lias an old Benedirtine *Church, with sculptured
t:apital8; in the sacristy are two valuable reliquaries (12th and 16th cent.)
and a processional cross in silver (13th cent.).

5 M. ChMelguyon. — Hotels (open May-Oct.). *Gr.-H6t. du Fare,
n. from 7, B. 2, 1.. 5, D. 7, P. from 15, omn. 3 fr. ; *Splendid Hotel & Nonvfl-
Uotel rt'iivis, 11. -ar tlw Ktablissement, H. from ;!, H. IV4. L. 5, I). G, P. from

14-
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121/2 fr. ; *H6t. Continental, E. from 5, B. I1/4, L. 4, D. 6 (wine extra), P.

from 12 fr. ; Grand-Hotel, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 41/2, D. 51/2, P- from 12 fr.

;

Gr.-Hot. Bartheleratj & Palace Hotel, E. from 31/2, B. I1/2, L. 31/2, D- ^i/g,

P. from 10 fr. ; Hermitage Hotel, opposite the Etablissement, R. from 4,

B. 1, L. 31/2, D- 41/21 P- from 9 fr. ; Hdt.-Villas des Brmjtres, E. from 3, B. 1,

L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de Paris, P. from s'fr.; Hot. Terminus:
Hot. de la Restauration, open the whole year. — Etablissemeis'ts. Bath
1-3 fr.; buvette 20 fr. —Physician, Dr. Rehoul (speaks English). —Casiito.
Season-ticket 3 fr. — Anglican Church Service in summer.

C'hdtelguyon (1380 ft.; pop. 2188) is noted for its warm springs (77-99°),

containing magnesia, chloride of sodiam, bicarbonate of soda, etc., used as
a cure for rheumatism, dyspepsia, obesity, and constipation. The church
contains a gilded altar-piece (18th cent.). Near the church is the Calvaire,
a good point of view. To the E., 21/2 M., is the church of St-Bonnet, with
a fine altar-piece and a painting of the Adoration of the Magi. About
2 M. to the N.E. is the church of Yssac-la-Tourette, containing two Grothic
altar-panels in alabaster (13th or 14th cent. ; Flemish?).

During the -season excursions in 'cars alpins' and motor-cars are organ-
ized. Short excursions: Chateau de Chazeron{p. 217), 1 hr. W. ; Gorges
d'Enval and Chateau de Tozirnotl (p. 217), 21/2 and 51/2 M. Longer: Via-
duc des Fades, on the Volvic and Lapevrouse line (p. 257); Gour de
Tazenat (p. 217), 18 M. to the N.W.

Beyond Riom we see the Puy de Dome (p. 228) on the right;

on the left are Mont Eognon, with a ruined tower, and the Plateau

de Gergovie (p. 230).— 256V2 M. Geo^zat (hotel).

Branch-line to (81/2 M.) Joze, with mineral springs, and (ISi/.^ M.)
Maringues (Hot. de la Poste; pop. 2444), an industrial town.

261 M. Clermont-Ferrand (buffet; p. 222).

Beyond Clermont the Limoges line diverges to the right. To the

right also are seen the Puy de Dome, the Plateau de Gergovie, and

Mont Rognon.— 266 M. Sarlieves-Cournon. To the E., V-j^ M.,

lies Cournon, with its fine Romanesque church (11th cent., restored

in the 19th).— Beyond (267 M.) Le Cendre-Orcet (1145 ft.) we
reach the Allier, which the train now follows. Undulating country

(views to the right), abounding in old castles and ruins, most of

them on 'puys' (see p. 227). — To the right of (27OV2 M.) Les
Martres-de-Veyre rises the Puy de Monton (1920 ft.), crowned

with a statue of the Virgin, 70 ft. high. To the E. rises the Puy
St-Eomain (2555 ft.), at the foot of which lies Busseol, with its

castle-ruin.

272 M. Vic-le-Comte, a little town 2^^ M. to the S.E. (hotel;

omn.; pop. 2093). Its church, the Sainte-ChapeUe, is a fine edifice

in the late-Gothic and early-Renaissance styles. To the N. of the

station are the mineral springs of Ste-Margumte.
Farther on, to the left, ^/^ hr. from Coudes, are the grand ruins

of the ^Chateau de Buron, an old castle of the Counts of Auvergne.
— To the right, on the Allier, is a ruined toll-tower; higher up lies

Mo?itpeyrouXj dominated by a 13th cent, tower.

2761/2 M. Coudes (1175 ft.; Hot. de la Poste), on the Allier,

to the right.

From Coudes to St-Nectaire, 13 M., motor-omn. twice daily in summer
in 1 hr. (4 fr.); omn. twice daily in 3 hrs. (3 fr.); carr. 20 fr.—We ascend
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the valley of the C'owse de Cliamhon.—A^I^'M.. C'hampeix (hotel). Motor-
omn. to Clermont-FeiTand, see p. S23. — 7M. Montaigtd-le-Blanc, with
an interesting ruined chateau (12th-15th cent.). —We leave the Besse road
(see below) to the left.— IOV2 M. Verrieres, with a curious volcanic rock.
— 12 M. Saillan, with a Avaterfall. — 13 M. St-Nectaire (p. 237). To
Murols and Le Mout-Doro, see pp. 237, 236.

From Coudes to Besse, ll'^U M., omn. in 5 hrs. (3-31/2 fr.). — To
(7 M.) 3Io7itaigi/t-Ie-Blanc, see above. — 13 M. Le C'heix (aub.), 20 min. S.

of which are the G-rcttes do Jonas, a deserted village of 64 dwellings
hewn in the volcanic rock, one of the curiosities of Auvergne. [Another
route from Le Cheix to Besse, longer but most picturesque, ascends the
valley of the Cause de Compains.] —We continue to ascend the valley
of the Couse d'lssoire, leaving the Murols road (p. 238) on the right.

—

171/2 M. Besse (p. 238).

On both sides rise picturesque rocks. We recross the Allier.

The Monts Dore (p. 234) bound the horizon to the right.

2821/2 M. Issoire (1265 ft. ; Buffet ; Hot. de la Poste, E. from 2,

L. 21/25 I)- 3, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de Paris; pop. 5658), a pleasant

town situated on the Couse d'lssoire, was the scene of many ex-

cesses during the Religious Wars. The church of "^St-Austremoiiie,

or St-Paul, in the Auvergnat-Eomanesque style, dates from the

12th century.
Prom Issoire to St-Neotaire, 16 M., motor-omn. twice daily in

summer in 1 hr. (5 fr.).—We ascend the left bank of the Couse d^Issoire.
— 3 M. Perrier, with grottoes, partly inhabited. — 71/2 M. Champieix, and
thence to St-Nectaire, see above.

From Issoire to Besse (20'/2 M. ; p. 238). via Cbampeix and Montaigut-
le-Blanc (see above), omn. in 5 hrs. (3-31/2 fr.).

We cross the Couse. A little to the left is the Chdteau de la

Grange. — 2S6 'M. Broc-Beaurecoeiiil. To the right, the ruined

Chdteau de Chains.— 288^/2 M. Le Breuil, on the Couse d'Ardes,
near its confluence with the Allier.

Motor-omn. twice daily to (10 M.) Ardes-szir-C'ouse (2100 ft.; Hot.
Paillurdin), a picturesque village. We may then traverse the Cezallier

(p. 259) to (IJ/4 M.) Anznt-le-L?/gziet, at the 'foot of the Signal dn Lucfiiet
(5100 ft.), and Allanche (15 M.

; p. 259). Above Ardes, between (3 M.)
Rentieres and (9Va M.) St-Alyre-es-Montagne, the Couse forms picturesque
gorges.

291 M. Le Saut-du-Loup (1310 ft.), with a suspension-bridge

across the Allier. We cross the Alagnon. On the left is a castle

in ruins. After a short tunnel we have a fine view of the Allier to

the left.— 2941/0 M. Brassacles-Mines (pop. 2306), the centre of

a small coal-field.

2981/2 M. Arvant (1400 ft.; buffet; hotel). The Aurillac line

(p. 278) diverges here.

3001/2 M. Laroche-Faiigdre. To the right, on a hill, is the

Chdteau de Panlhac (15lh cent.). Farther on, also to the right,

diverges the .St-Flour line (p. 282).— 302 M. Beaumont-Laurlat.

3041/2 M. Brloude (1425 ft.; Hot. du Commerce, R. 2-4, L. 27.,,

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Nord, Terminus; pop. 4903), an ancient town, the

Gallic Brivas ('briva', bridge), lies on the right, a little beyond
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the station. The boulevard rounding it to the right, and the third

street to the left, lead to the Place Lafayette, near which, to the

left, rises the church of *St-JuUen, a fine edifice of the 12th-14th

cent., almost entirely Auvergnat-Eonianesque in style. The lofty

nave and aisles terminate in an apse with a hemicycle of chapels.

We note also an altar-screen in wood in the first chapel on the left.

The chapel of St-Michel contains a 12th cent, fresco.

We soon leave the valley of the Allier.— Sll^/a M. Frugieres-

Ir-Pin (1600 ft.). To the E., IV4 M., lies Lavaudieu, whose 12th

cent, church has curious Romanesque cloisters.— On the right are

the ])icturesque ruins of the Chateau de Domeyrat (15th cent.).

We cross the Senow're three times.

3191/2 ^^- St-Georges-d'Aurac (1875 ft. ; hotel near the station).

We diverge to the left from the Nimes liuc (R. 40).— The train

ascends and makes a long sweep to the 8. (views).— To the E. of

(3221/9 M.) Aurac-Lafayette is the Chateau de Chavaniac, the

birthplace ofLafayette(1757-1834).— 323V2^I.Z?oi«5?e«c (2250ft.).

To the left rises Mo?it Briancon (3420 ft.), whose wooded slopes

we skirt. View to the right. Farther on is seen the village of

Vissac, on the right, with a ruined castle.— 331 M, La CJiaud

(2946 ft.). Views still more extensive. To the left, in the distance,

are the Auvergue Mts. ; to the right rise the Cevennes; behind us

are the hills of the Cantal. The train ascends the wooded ravine

of the Fioule.— 3341/2 ^r. Fix-St-Geneys (3270 ft.). The line

pierces the Monts du Velay by a tuuuel, I1/4 M. long, whence it

descends into the Loire basin. Extensive view to the right, towards

the mountains dominated by the Mezenc (p. 278).

3391/2 M. Darsac (2910 ft. ; buvette; inns), junction for R. 32c.

We cross a plateau, with the station of Lissac (extensive view),

and enter the beautiful valley of the Borne.
345 M. Borne (2535 ft.)'. Omn. to St-Paulien, see p. 277. To

the Durande, see p. 277. We cross the stream twice.— To the left

is the ruined Chateau de St-Vidal. We pass through a tunnel

between two picturesque gorges, and then descend rapidly. To the

left lies Espaly with its 'orgues' (p. 277). and on the same side we
obtain a striking *View of Le Puy. The train sweeps round the

town from W. to E.

3521/2 M. Le Puy (p. 273).

c. Via Vichy, Arlanc, and Darsac.

.S33 M. Railway in 14 hrs. 20 miii. (60 fr. 25. 40 fr. 70, 26 fr. 60 c);
only one through-connection daily, changing at St-Grermain-des-Fosses and
Darsac. Beyond Courty the scenery is very picturesque.

From Paris to Vichy and (2471/, M.) Courty, see R. 31b.—
249 M. Pont-de-Dore (buffet; p. 269).' We ascend the Dore valley

;

views to the left of Thiers and the Monts du Forez (p. 221).
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256 M. Courpiere (1035 ft.; Hot. de France; pop. 3576), an

old town on the right, whose church in the Auvergnat-Romanesque

style contains a Holy Sepulchre (15th cent.).— We cross the Dore

and enter a picturesque defile.

266V2 ^^- Oiliergues (1440 ft.), a small manufacturing town,

picturesquely situated on a hill on the right bank.—-The valley

expands.— 271i/o M. Vertolaye, in a pretty valley 72 ^"^^ to the left.

About 3 M. to the S.E. lies Job (Hot. des Yoyageurs), whence we
may ascend (2i;.2-3 hrs.) the Pierre-sur-Haute (5380 ft.), the highest of

\\\% Monts du Foi'ez, which form part of the Cevennes Mts., and separate

the Loire and Dore valleys. Descent in VI2 hr. to Chalmazelle (p. 267).

279 M. Ambert (1740 ft.; Hot. de la Tete-d'Or, R. from 2,

L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de Paris; pop. 7863), an old town to the left,

lies at the foot of the hills on the right bank of the Dore, in a

narrow and fertile valley between the Monts du Forez and the hills

of the Livradois. Its paper-mills have been noted since the middle

ages. Other products are bolting-cloth, figured net, and rosaries.

Lace-making is a busy industry higher up the valley. During the

Religious Wars of the 16th cent. Ambert was besieged several

times. The church of St-Jean, reached by the Rue du Pont, to the

left from the station, is in the Gothic and Renaissance styles (1471-

1518), with a fine tower. To make the church appear longer the

thickness of the pillars has been gradually diminished towards the

choir. The Allees, to the right from the church, are adorned with

a handsome fountain. Old houses of the 15th and 16th centuries.

ExcuRsioxfs. To the Signal de Xotve-Dame-des-Monts (3970 ft.), the
highest of tlie Monts du Livradois, 81/2 M. to the S.W. (splendid view).
— To the wild gorges of St-Jnst-de-Bajffe, on the W. slope of the Monts
du Forez. They begin at (51/2 M.) Tonvic, 2Vi M. from Marsac (see below).
The road goes on, past the Puy de Loire (4040 ft.), to (15 M.) Viverols.

Beyond (284 M.) Marsac we cross the Dore for the last time.

289 M. Arlanc (1955 ft.; Hot. du Prince; pop. 3129), on a

hill between the Dore and the Dolore, has a small Etablissement

Thermal, with two chalybeate springs.— The line ascends rapidly.

— 292 M. Mayres. View of the wooded *6ro?*^e of the Dm^e, far

below on the left.— 3011/2 M. La ChajJclle-Geneste (3180 ft.).

View, to the left, of La Chaise-Dieu, which we reach by a long loop.

3041/2 M. La Chaise-Dieu (3550 ft.; Hot. Terminus, R. 2-3,

L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Lion-d'Or; pop. 1537), a decayed old town,

owes its name to a famous Benedictine abbey, the Casa Dei, founded

in 1046 by St. Robert (not the founder of the Cistercian order, who
died in 1110;. Among its members have been Pope Clement VL
I a monk) and the titulary abbots Richelieu, Mazarin, and Card, de

Rohan, who was banished to La Chaise-Dieu after the all'air of the

necklace (1786i. The vast buildings were fortified in the 14th-15th

I'-nt.; there still remains the Tmir de Clement VI or Clementine,
a square keep erected in 1378-1420 (restored). Near it are two
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sides of the Cloisters, of the same period. The other buildings arc

now either in private hands or devoted to public uses. The hospital

contains a room with a fine echo.

The Clitircli of St-Kobert, the chief relic of the abbey, was
built by Hugues Morel in 1344-52, by order of Clement VI., but the

first three bays and the facade were not completed until twenty
years later, in the pontificate of Gregory XI. The ensemble (re-

stored) is imposing, but the sculpture is poor. The facade is ap-

proached by a flight of steps, of 1758, and is flanked with two
square towers. On the central door-post is a statue of St. Robert.

The Ikterior (82 by 26 yds., hut only 60 ft. high) is majestic, but
severe. The nave and aisles are of equal' height. The pillars, denuded
of their capitals, seem to pierce the vaulting. The aisles are not pro-
longed round the choir, on which the five recesses open directly. The
nave contains a grand rood-loft of the 15th cent., with a Christ of 1603,
and above the door is a fine * Organ Case of 1680. The choir, enclosed
by a stone screen, contains the chief works of art. The Momnnejit of
Clement VI., erected in 1346-51 by Pierre Eoye, was once adorned with
45 marble statues, but the figure of the pope alone remains. The 146
Gothic Stalls are of the 15th century. We note also the Arras *Tap-
estry, of 1516. Among the mutilated monuments in the ambulatory we
observe, in the eighth bay on the right, the supposed tomb of Renaud
de Montclar, a former abbot (d. 1346). On the left is a famous, but
sadly damaged Danse 2Iacahre ('dance of death'), a fresco of the late

15th cent, (copy at Le Puy, p. 274).

We next cross a hilly plateau, partly wooded.— SOT^/., M. Sem-
badel{S575ft.] Buvette ; Hot. Moderne), junction for Bonson (p. 266).— 314 M. Allegre (3285 ft.; Hot. de la Gare), with a 14th cent,

chateau, the 'Porte de ]\Ionsieur' flanked with two round towers, the

Oratoire de Notre-Dame, and several old houses.— To the left, farther

on, rises the Mont de Bar (3830 ft.; ^1.2'h.Y.)., an interesting extinct

volcano.— The line now descends rapidly.— At (320 M.) Darsac
we join the preceding route to Le Puy (see p. 220).

33. Clermont-Ferrand and Environs.

I. Clerraont-Ferrand.

Stations. The Gare de Clermont (PI. F, 3; omn.) lies on the E.

of the town, nearly 1 M. from the Place de Jaude (PI. B, 3) and the chief

hotels. The Gare de Ro>/at (omn.) lies 2 M. to the W. of Clermont, but
the railway to Royat makes a circuit of 3 M. (p. 269).

Hotels. At the station: *Hdt. Terminus & Touring-Hotel. R. from 3,

B. 11/4, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. from 12 fr.; Hot. da Mdi, Hot. du Globe, and
Hot. Moderne. plainer.— In or near the Place de Jaude (omn. 50 c): *Grand-
Hotel & Hot. de la Poste (PI. a; B, 3), R. from 3, B. IV4. L. 3i/p, D. 4, P.
from 11 fr. ; Hot. de V Univers (PI. b ; B, 3), good, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3,

D. 31/2 fi-. ; Hot. de la Paix (PI. e; B, 3), Boul. Desaix, R. from 21/2, B. IV4,

L. 21/2, B. 3, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Ia/ou (PI. d; B, 3); Hot. des Minimes
(PI. c; B, •i). — H6t. Richelieu (PI. f;'D, 3), 11''" Rue Bansac, a family
hotel, R. from 2, P. from 7 fr.

RestaurASTs (L. 3, D. SVa fr.). *Au Gastronome, 14 Place Royale
(PL C, 3); Brasserie de Strasbourg, 10 Rue de I'Ecu; Cafe Lyonnais,
Place de Jaude.
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Cabs (bargain necessary). Per drive 1^/2, per hour 3 fr, ; many extras

(see tariff). — Carriages. Ti'inquier, 4 Place de Jaude; Bal & Faiire,

4 Rue Blatin. To the Puy de Dome 25, in winter 20 fr.

Electric Tramways. From the Station (PI. F, 3) to the Place de

Jaude (PI. B, 3): 1. Via the Place Delille, Rue Montlosier, and Place
Gilbert-Gaillard (post office); 2. Via the Place Delille and Rue Ballain-

villiers (Pyramid).— From the Place de Jaiide: 3. Via the Place Delille

to Montferrand (beyond PI. E, 2); 4. Via Chamalieres to Royat (beyond
PI. A, 3). Fare 10 c. per section (20 c. in summer after 10 p.m.), 15 c.

with transfer. — Railway up the Puy de Dome, see p. 228.

Motor Omnibus (thrice daily; 2 fr.) to Thiers (p. 268) and Champeix
(p. 219); to St-Amand-Tallende, see p. 230.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 2), Place Gilbert-Gaillard; branch-
offices at 1 Av. de la Gare (PI. D, 2) and at the Prefecture, Square d'Assas
(PI. B, 3).

Theatre (PI. B, 3), Place de Jaude. — Concerts a.t the Eden-Theatre,
Place de la Chapelle-de-Jaude (PI. B, 4).

Banks. Credit Ljjonnais, Place de Jaude; Comptoir d'Escompte, 24
Rue St-Louis; Societe Generale, Place Gilbert-Gaillard; Banque Chains,
Place de Jaude.— Baths at 21 Rue Blatin; 2 Rue du Lyc^e; Etablisse-
ment Thermal de St-Alyre (p. 224).

Syndicat d'Initiative, 4 Place de Jaude.

Clermont-Ferrand {in 5-1SS6 ft.; pop. 65,386), once the capi-

tal of Auvergne, and now that of the department of the Puy-de-
Dome, is a busy and prosperous town, the headquarters of the 13th

army-corps and the seat of a university and a bishop. It stands on

a height at the end of the Limagne, which is here bounded by the

volcanic cones of the Mouts Dome (p. 227). Its great industry is

the manufacture of india-rubber, and it produces also chemicals

and preserved fruits ('pates d'Auvergne').
Clermont replaces the Gallic Nemet7iin, which succeeded Gergovia

(p. 230) as the capital of the Arverni, after the defeat of Vercingetorix
by Caesar at Alesia in 52 B.C. Having been specially favoured by Augustus,
it received the name of Augustonemetiim. It was sacked severiil times
by the barbarians. In the 8th cent, it was called Castrum Claremunte,
whence its present name; Ferrand was added when the little town of
Montferrand (p. 225) was annexed in 1731. At a Council held here by Pope
Urban II. in 1095 the first Crusade was proclaimed; and in 16G5 the 'Grands-
Jours d'Auvergne' were held at Clcrmout. Gregory of Tours (514-595) is

said to have been a native of Clermont, and it was the birthplace of
Pascal (1623-62; p. 224) and of Chamfort (1741-94).

From the station (PI. F, 3) the Av. Charras leads to the Av.
Croix-Morel, near the Place Delille (PI. D, 2), with a fountain,

beyond which the Hue du Port passes to the S. of—
*Notre-Dame-d.u-Port (PI. C, D, 2 ; 'port', market), a church

founded in the 6th cent., rebuilt in the 12th, and recently restored,

but partly enclosed by houses. It is the most interesting church in

(Jlermont, showing the earliest type of the Auvergne-Romanesque
style. The outside of the apse and the long narthex, or vestibule,

in front are noteworthy. The nave is borne l)y engaged columns
with curiously sculptured capitals. The stained glass in the choir

is from Sevres. The crypt contains a revered black image of the

Virgin.
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The Rue Coiironne leads hence to the Place cVEspagne (PI. 0,

D, 2), so called because Spanish prisoners of war were made to

work here in 1692. Here and in the Place de la Pote^iie (PI. C, 2),

to Avhich the Glacis de la Poterne ascends, we have fine Adews of

the Monts Dome. Lower down is the Square Pascal (PI. B, C, 2),

with a statue of Blaise Pascal, the philosopher (p. 223).

The Rue Audre-Moinier leads W. from the Place d'Espagne to the
Place Grilbert-&aillard (PI. B. 2), beyond which lie the suburbs of Fontgieve
and St-Alyre. No. 48, Rue de Fontgieve, has a faQade composed of the old
rood-loft of the Cathedral. In St-Alyre are the cmyiomh Fontaines Petri-
flantes, one in the Rue G-aultier-de-Biauzat, at the corner of the Rue du
Perou (PI. B, 1), the other at U Rue du Pont-Naturel (PI. A, 1; mineral
baths). Adm. 25 c. to the two springs.

At the top of the Rue St-Herem (PL B, C, 2) we follow the Rue
de rH6tel-de-Yille to the Hotel de Ville. and Palais de Justice

(PL C, 2), together forming one large building in the neo-classical

stA^e. Farther S. is the—
^Cathedral of Notre-Dame (PL C, 3), a fine Gothic build-

ing, begun in 1248 by Jean Deschanips. In the 14th cent, the side-

portals Avith their unfinished toAvers Avere added. The church then

remained unaltered till the 19th cent., when the facade with its

tAvo toAvers was completed by Viollet-le-Due. The church is built

of dark-grey lava from the Puy de Thiolet.

The Ikterior is of harmonious proportions. Tlie choir. Avith its

plain aisles, is flanked with chapels; the nave has double aisles, also

with chapels. The Avindows, beloAv which is a fine triforium with pointed
gables, contain stained glass of the 13th -15th cent., notably the rose-

windows in the transepts. The high-altar, in copper, the bishop's throne,
and the choir-railings were designed by Viollet-le-Duc. In the second
chapel to the right of the choir i"s a painted wooden reredos of the 16th
cent, (lives of St. Crispin and St. Crispinian). On the left of the ambu-
latory, aboA^e the sacristy-door, are remains of fine 14th cent, frescoes,

and there are others in two chapels, right and left of the choir. The
altar in the apse-chapel stands on a 6th cent, sarcophagus. In the left

transept is a 'jaequemart', taken in 1577 at Issoire. — Under the choir is

a Romanesque crypt of the 12th cent., adorned with paintings. — The
towers command a fine view fl fr.; for two or more pers. 50 c. each).

In the Place de la Cathedrale rises a Monument of the Cru-
sades, Avith a bronze statue of Pope Urban II. (see p. 223). Here
also is the house in which Pascal (see above) was born (between

the Rue dcs Chaussetiers and Rue des Gras). This quarter is one

of the oldest in the town, with many interesting old houses.

The Rue des Gras and the Rue Neuve, to the left, lead to the

Place de Jaude (PL B, 3, 4), the liveliest part of Clermont. We
enter it betAveen (right) the church of St-Pierre-des-Minimes (1630,

Avith modern dome) and (left) the TJieatre. In the centre rises the

large Monument of Vercingetorix (1903), and at the S. end is a sta-

tue of Gen.Desaix (1768-1800).

The Rue Blatin leads W. from the Place de Jaude to Royat

(p. 226), passing a Monument du Centenaire de 1189.— The Boul.
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Desaix leads E., past the Prefecture (PI. B, 3), and is continued

S. by the Rue de I'Hotel-Dieu to the ^Pyramide' (PI. C, 4), a fountain

erected in honour of G-en. Desaix.

The Musee (PI. C, 4), at the E. end of the Boul. de la Pyramidc,

and at the corner of Rue Ballainvilliers, built in 1903, is open on

Thurs. and Sun., 10-12 and 2-4 (adm. at other times on application).

The Vestibule contains sculptures. — Ground Floor. Eoom I, to the
right, contains Pascal's calculating machine. Room II: CMnard, Bust of

a child. Room III: Ancient enamels and bronzes; collection of caskets
(one in wood covered with leather, 15th cent.); also ivory, pottery, and
faience.— Staircase. On the second landing, ancient *Statuette of Mer-
cury and inscription, both in bronze, found on the Puy de Dome (see p. 229).
— First Floor (picture-gallery). Room I: Chasseriau, Vercingetorix
defending Gaul. Room II : Callet. Portr. of Louis XVI. ; 116, CorneiUe
de Lyon (?), Portrait. Room III contains, besides pictures, handsome
Louis XIV. and Louis XV. furniture from the old Eveche. — The Sous-Sol
contains the Gallo-Roman collection, notably objects from the tombs at

Les Martres-de-Veyre, including the complete costume of a Gallo-Roman
lady; also bronzes from the 'Tresor de Manson'. .

Behind the Musee is the Library (PI. C, 4), with 110,000 vols,

and 693 MSS.— Behind the library is the Musee Lenoq, in the

Rue Bardoux, containing natural history and geological collections

(Thurs. and Sun., 10-3). To the S. lies the Jardin Lecoq (PL C,

4, 5), a fine public promenade, with a botanical garden. Adjoining,

on the W., is the Unive^^sity. The faculty of science possesses the

collections of Lavoisier, the chemist (1743-94).

The handsome Cours Sablon (PL D, 5, 4) leads N., from the

E. side of the Jardin Lecoq, to the tasteful Fontaine d'Amboise,
in Volvic stone, erected in 1515 by Bishop Jacques d'Amboise.

The Av. Carnot leads thence to the left to the Eylise des Carmes
(PL C, 3), a fine Gothic edifice of the 14th-15th cent., without aisles.

Montferrand (see Plan, p. 222; tramway, see p. 223; pop.

3556), annexed to Clermont in 1731, contains a number of quaint

old houses. The centre of the town is l^g M. to the N.E. of Cler-

mont. On the way we pass the Place Carmes-Dechaux (PL D, E, 1),

at the N. end of which rises the Church of that name (1720), con-

taining a ^Sarcophagus of the early 4th cent., used as a high-altar.

We enter Montferrand by the Rue de la Fontaine, which contains

several interesting houses, best seen from their courtyards (fee).

No. 28, the Maison de Lucrece (PL 11 ; 16th cent.), has a handsome
staircase adorned with a Virgin and a relief of Lucretia between
Brutus and Tarquinius. Note also No. 20, Maison de Jean de
Doyat (PL 10), 1480; No. 18, Maison Desj^lats (PL 8), 1586.
Close by, to the loft, 1 Rue du Languedoc, is the Maison de Lys
(PL 12), with a mutilated doorway. No. 13, Rue do la Fontaine,

Maison du Sire de Beaujeu (PL 13), is one of the best-preserved.
Then, at the corner of the Rue Notre-Dame, the Maison du Bailli



226 R'^'ii^ 33. ROYAT.

(PI. 4). This street leads to the church of St-Robert (13th- 16th

cent.), with a fine rose-window over the portal, and carved altars,

stalls, and pulpit. At the corner of the Eue Notre-Dame and the

Rue Kleber, which passes the front of the church, is the Maison
des Chanoines (PI. 6), adjoined by the Maison de VElephant
(PL 9; perhaps of 12th cent.). Opposite the S. side of the church

is the Maison d'Adam et Eve (PL 1; 15th cent.), whose open

staircase in the court is adorned with a relief of Adam and Eve.

On the N". side of the church runs the Rue du Seminaire, continued

W. by the Rue de la Rodade. At the corner of the latter and the

Rue de la Fontaine is the Maison de VApothicalre (PL 3), in

timber, 16th cent., but restored, so named from the figure in the

pediment. The Rue de la Rodade is interesting also: No. 11,

Maison des Capucins (PL 5) ; No. 29, Maison de la Comtesse de
Baviere (PL 7), with a fine doorway of 1480; No. 36, nearly op-

posite, Maison de VAnnonciation (PL 2), with reliefs of the

Annunciation and St. Christopher. From the W. end of the street

we obtain a fine survey of the town.

n. Royat.
Comp. the Plan, p. 222.

From Clekmoht to Eotat, l^/g M. to the "W., vm the Eue Blatiu

(p. 224): 3 M. by railway (p. 269). Tramway, see p. 22.S. Omn. from
Clermont station to Royat 20 c. (trunk 20 c). By road and tramway
we pass through the village of C'hamalieres (pop. 3740; comp. p. 228),

the church of which (llth-12th cent.) is in the Auvergnat-Eomanesque
style.

Hotels (15th May to 31st Oct.; omn. 2 fr.). Above the park of the
Etablissemeat, with fine view: Grand-Hotel & Majestic Palace (PI. a),

E. from 5, B. 2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; Royat Palace
Hotel (PI. b), E. from 4, B. U/.„ L. 4. D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr.

;

Hot. Continental & TJiennal-Hotel (PI. c), E. from 3, B. IV-^, L. 4. D. 5

(wine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Castel-Hotel (PI. d). E. from 4, B. I1/4, L- 3Vm,
D. 4 (v.-ine extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. St-3Iart (PI. e), E. from 2, B. 1,

L. 31/.,. D. 41/i, P. from 8fr. — Facing the park, opposite the Kursaal,
Hot. du Pare & Me'tropole (PI. f), good, E. from 5, B. li/o. L. 31/2, D- 5,

P. from 12 fr. — In the Boul. Bazin, beyond the Grand-Hotel, and partly
with view of the vallev: Hot. Victoria & de Nice (PI. g), E. from 3, B.

3/4-1, L. 3, D. 31/0. P. from 1\'., fr. ; Hot. de Paris (PI. h); Hot. de VEurope
(Pi. i). E. from 3, B. 1. L. 3, D. 31/.. P. from 7 fr.; Gr.-Hot. de Lyon
(PI. kj, E. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4 (wine extra). P. from 8 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. de
la Paix (PI. 1), E. from 21/2. B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8 fr.— Lower down,
nearer the baths: Hot. EicheUeu & Excelsior (PI. m), E. from 5, B. IV2)

L. 3i/>, D. 41/2- P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Central, with cafe-rest., P. from 8 fr.

;

Hot. 'du Louvre, E. from 3, B. 1. L. 3, D. 3i/.,, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Cesar,
E. from 21/-, B. s/^, L. 2i/o. D. 3, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. de France & d'Angleterre,
E. from 31/0, B. 1. L. 3,"D. 31/0 (wine extra), P. from 8\lo fr. ; Gr.-Hot. des
Sources, E". from 2i;2,_B. 1, K 3, D. 4 (wine extra), P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de
Venise.— Numerous \"illas and Furnished Houses.

Baths, I-41/2 fr. : douches, 60 C.-2V-2 fr. ; inhalation, l-li/.^ fr. ; buvette,
compulsory subscription 10 fr., glass of water 5 c. —A list of Physicians
is obtainable at the Etablissement Thermal.

Casino (15th June to loth Sept.). Adm. 2 fr., with seat in theatre
5 fr. ; subscription for 30 days 30 fr., including theatre 50 fr.
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Post & Telegraph Office, in the upper part of the park.
Cabs, see p. 223. Carr. to the Puy de Dome 25 fr. ; see tariff posted

on the bridge.
Anglican Church Service in summer.
Syndicat d'Initiative, at the post office, open June-September.

Royat (1495 ft.; pop. 1679) lies in the narrow valley of the

Tiretaine, overlooked ou the N". by the Puy de Chateix (2240 ft.),

aud ou the S. by the Puys de Gravenoire and de Montaudou (see

below). Its higher parts command views of the Puy de Dome, to

the W., and of Clermont and the Limagne to the E.

The three bath-houses, situated at the head of the valley, are

the G-rand Etablisseme^it, well fitted up, fed by the Eugeuie spring

(96°); the Etahlissemtnt de St-Mart, rebuilt in 1912, supplied

by the St-Mart spring (86°) ; and the Etablissement de Cesar, with

the spring of that name (81°). Besides these, there are the springs

of St-Victm^ (68°) and Velleda (58°). The baths are open from
15th May to 15th Oct., and attract some 6000 patients annually.

The waters, charged with carbonic acid gas, contain bicarbonate of

soda, iron, lithia, and arsenic. The maladies treated are rheumatism,
gout, affections of the respiratory organs and of the heart, and

anaemia.

In the park are remains of Roman Baths. The village, with

its picturesque *Church (10th-12th cent.), lies farther up the valley.

Above the pleasant Pare Bargoin, to the S. of the station,

rises the Puy de Montaudou (1940 ft.; 25 min. ; view). The Puys
de Charade (1 hr.) and de Gh^avenoire (50 min.; p. 230) also are

hue points of view.

III. The Puy de Dome.
The Monts Dome, rising to the W. of Clermont-Ferrand, consist of

60 puys (Lat. 'podium'), volcanoes of the quaternary era, resting on a much
older basis of crystalline schists. The puys mostly present a succession
of isolated cones, with craters still easily recognizable. Layers ('oheires')

of lava arc still distinguishable, notably on the Puy de Pariou (p. 229).

Other peaks have a rounded form, especially the highest of them all,

the Puy de Dome (p. 228). The plateau on which the puys rise averages
2900 ft. in height. On the E. it descends abruptly to the Limagne, but
to the W. it is united by gentle slopes with the plateaux of the Com-
braille and the Limousin. Few of the puys rise more than 300-900 ft.

above their pedestal; the Puy de Dome alone, being more isolated,

overtops its environs by nearly 2000 ft. — The Monts Dome, or Cl?aine
des Puys, form an irregular group, measuring about 20 M. froin N. to

S., and averaging 3 M. in breadth. The Gour de Tazeuat (p. 257) is

regarded as its northernmost crater, and the Puy de Montnicwd (3870 ft.)

as its southern outpost. The volcanic activity of the puys is probably
in abeyance only, as is indicated by the escapes of carbonic acid gas
at Royat.

Excursions in this picturesque region are organized in summer by
the Syndicat d'Liitiative (p. 223). An excellent local guide-book is 'Le
Puy de D6ine et Vichy', by Marcellin Boyle (Paris, 1901; 41/2 fr.).

The Ascent of the Puy de Dome (8V2 M. to the E.) is most easily
made by railway from Clermont, '(^ars alpins' also ply in summer from
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the Place de Jaude to the Col de Ceyssat (see below). Carr., see pp. 223,

227. — The air at the top i.s always cold.

a. Ascent by Kailway (9^2 ^^-i ii IV4 ^^i'-
!
^^^'^ ^5 return 5 fr.,

in July-Sept. 5 and 71/2 fr. ; line on Hanschotte's system, with

supplementary horizontal wheels gripping the central rail). Views
to the left. The train starts from the Place Lamartine (PI. A, 3).

— Y2 ^^- Chamalieres (p. 226).— ly, ^^- Quatre-Roiites, whence
we mount to the plateau or basis of the puys. View of the Limagne.
— 2 M. Durtol (1580 ft.). The train crosses the Volvic line (p.

269) and forms two loops. Fine views, notably at the Grand-Tour-
nant (2160 ft.).— 47.^ M. La Baraque (2570 ft.; hotel), a hamlet

built on a lava-stream from the Puy de Pariou.— 5Y2 ^i- La Font-
de-VArhre (2695 ft.), where we reach the Royat and Fontanas road

(see below). On a hill to the left are the scanty relics of the Cha-
teau de Montrodeix (8th cent.).— 7 M. Le Bois-des-Charmes
(3030 ft.). Then an oblique ascent on the slopes of the puy.— 8 M.
Col de Ceyssat (3785 ft.), 250ft. above the road (see below). Lastly,

the line forms a spiral round the puy itself (superb views). The

(9^2 ^f-) terminus is 165 ft. below the summit.

b. By Road, 71/2 or 8 M. (21/3 hrs.' drive) to the Col de Ceyssat;

thence V/^ M. (50 min.) to the top, by a road practicable for light

vehicles (10 fr.; donkey 3 fr.). The "cars alpins' ascend by Fontanas

and descend by La Baraque.— 1. Via Royat aist> Foxtaxas. To

(IY2 '^^•) tioyat, see p. 226. From the tramway terminus we may
go either to the right or to the left to reach the W. end of Royat,

from which the road ascends to (3^2 ^^) Fontanas; in 8 min.

more we pass La Font-de-VArhre (rest.), and 10 min. farther join

the La Baraque road.— 2. Via La Baraque, nearly the same as the

railway route to (5^2 ^•) La Font-de-VArhre. Thence 2^/2 ^I- to

the Col de Ceyssat (3535 ft. ; Hot. du Coq-au-Vin. open 15th May to

15th Oct., L. or D. 5 fr. ; other small inns). Lastly a winding road

to the top.

c. Footpaths. — 1. Via Villars, 372-i lii'Sv less interesting

than the above, except that it passes parts of the Roman road paved
with blocks of lava. It starts from the tramway station at Chama-
lieres (p. 226), diverges to the right from the Royat road, passes

under the Volvic railway, and ascends a wooded dale to (1 hr. from
Clermont) Villars. It next passes to the left of Cheix (^4 hi*-)?

and then to the right of Fontanas (1/4 hr.), where it joins the Royat
road (see above).— 2. Via the Chemin des Cretes (best for the

descent, for the sake of the view). It ascends to the right from
Royat, turns to the left after 200 yds., and skirts the plateaa to

(4 M.) Fontanas, where it joins the carriage-road (see above).

The *Puy" de Dome (4805 ft.) is formed of a trachyte pecu-

liar to this mountain and therefore called domite. It is scantily

wooded below and grassy elsewhere. On the top, a plateau sloping
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towards the S., arc some ruius, an observatory, a small inn (Aub,

du Temple-de-Mercure, R. 5, L. S^/^, D. 5 fr., well spoken of; in-

quire beforehand as to beds), and the Rest, de la Gare (L. 2Y2,
I).'5Y2 fr-)- These two are open from about June 1st to Oct. 15th.

The ^Panorama is superb (better in winter than in summer). To
the N., the 'Chaine des Puys', notably the Petit Puy de Dome, a but-
tress of the chief peak, and the two Suchets; to the left, the Puj- de
Come; to the right, the Puy de Pariou; then, behind the Clierzou, the
slender Puy Chopine, the Puy de Chaudron, the Puy de la Nugere, and
the Puy de Louchadiere. Beyond the northernmost Domes stretch the
boundless plains of the Bourbonnais. To the N.E., Eiom and the distant
Morvan. To the E., the valley of Royat, Clermont, and the Limagne,
and in perfectly clear weather, through a gap in the Forez Mts., peeps
Mont-Blanc, 190 M. distant. To the S.E., the Mezenc and part of the
Megal. To the S., a number of wooded volcanic cones, 3600 to 4100 ft.

in height; farther away, the Lac d'Aydat. On the horizon are the Monts
Dore, with the Puy de Sancy. To the W., the vast plateaux of the Marche
and the Limousin.

The scanty Ruins on part of the plateau are those of a Temple
of Mercury (inscription at Clermont, p. 225), built of enormous
lava blocks bound together by iron clamps. Several platforms are

still recognizable; on the last of these are small chambers look-

ing towards the S., and ending in hemicycles, mostly with stone

seats. Many Roman coins and other antiquities have been discovered

here. Among the ruins have been found fragments of red and green

porphyry and no less than sixty different kinds of marble.

The Observatory, at the top of the plateau, was opened in

1876. Lower down, sheltered from the N., is the dwelling-house,

with public telegraph and telephone.
It was on the Puy de Dome, in 1648, that Pascal caused his first

experiments to be made in order to ascertain the weight of air.

Sure-footed walkers may descend in 1 hr. from the top to

the carriage-road by following the telegraph-wires.— Travellers

who have driven up to the Col de Ceyssat usually send their car-

riages round to the Col des Goules (see below), on the N. side of the

puy, to which they descend past the Petit Puy de Dome (4155 ft.).

There are two paths, that to the left shorter but steeper. To the

W. of the Petit Puy is a crater called the Nid de la Poule (4030 ft.).

Farther on, in front, rises the Puy da Petit-Siichet (3965 ft.),

and to the left the Grand-Sachet (4055 ft.). Passing to the right

of the former, we may reach the Pay de Pariou (3970 ft.) in about
2 hrs. from the top of the Puy de Dome. It has a crater 340 yds.

in diameter and 300 ft. deep, with a 'cheire' or lava-stream on the

E. side. The Puy de Come (4120 ft.), the second to the W., has a

double crater, with two interesting lava-streams, between which
rises the Pay de Clierzou (3935 ft.), with curious grottoes (finest

on the S. side; light required). We then descend to the Pontgibaud
road, where carriages usually wait at the Colder Goules, and drive

Ijack via La Baraquo (railway, see p. 228;.



230 Route 33. MONTS DOME. 3Iaps, 2>P- 227, 217.

From Clermont-Ferrand to Mont Rognon and the Plateau de
Gergovie, 41/2 and 6 M. to the S., 4-5 hrs.' walk there and back (carr.

about 15 fr. ; excursions, see p. 227). We follow the Av. de Beaumont
(PI. B, 5). "SValkers diverge to the right beyond the railway bridge, follow
the telegraph-poles, and rejoin the road to the rightof Beaumont (see below).
Another short-cut, to the left, beyond the chapel of Xotre-Dame-de-
I'Agneau, leads direct to Ceyrat (p. 231), at the foot of Mont Rognon
(18S0 ft. ; fine views). The top is reached in V4 iir. by a steep asvcnt to

the left. The ruined Cai<tle was built about 1160. — The Plateau de
Gergovie (2440 ft. on the W. side), 2 M. to the S.E. of Mont Rognon,
is reached direct from Clermont by the road continuing the Av. Raba-
nesse (PI. C, 5). passing Beaumont (see below) and (31/0 M.) Eoinagnat, and
thence by a steep path through a wooded dell. Carriages take a longer
route, via the Gorge d' Opvie, on the S. side. The plateau, measuring
about 1600 by 650 yds., was the site of the Grallic town of Gergovia,
which Caesar laesieged after occupying Bourges, but where he was defeated
by Yercingetorix. After the submission of Gaul Augustus tried to efface

the memory of this defeat by removing the inhabitants to Xemetum, now
Clermont, on which he showered his favours, while Gergovia fell to ruin.

Its scanty remains consist of heaps of stones by the road-sides, probably
indicating the course of the ancient streets, while the enceinte is still

traceable all round the plateau. Excavations have yielded rich results,

especially on the E. side. The view is more extensive than from Mont
Rognon. A fantastic monument to Yercingetorix was erected in 1901 on
the E. margin of the plateau. "We may descend on the E. side to the
Issoire road (steep path), or on the X. to (2V2 M.) Auhiere (pop. 2861),
2 M. from Clermont.

From Clermont-Ferrand to the Puy de Charade, 5 M. to the S.W.,
interesting (-car alpin' in the season). Beyond Royat we follow, to the
left, above the cemetery, a shady road skirting a pretty dell, or we may
ascend on the opposite bank through the Bois de la Fauze. At the head
of the dell is the village of Charade; in 10 min. more we reach the top
of the Puy de Charade (2975 ft.; fine view of the Monts Dore). Descent
either by the Puy de Gravenoire (2700 ft.), to the X.E., or by the Pepi-
ni'ere to the N.W. and through Charade.

From Clermont-Ferrand to the Put de Pariou, 7 M. to the N.W.,
by the Pontgibaud road to La Fontaine-du-Berger, and by a path in 1/2 hr.

to the top (p. 229). Or we may take the Puy de Dome railway to La
Baraque {4.^1-^ M. ; p. 228), on the same road.

From Clermont-Ferrand to the Lac d'Aydat, 121/2 M. to the S.W.
'Car alpin' three times weekly in summer (4-5 fr.), going via Thedde and
the tunnel of La Cassiere (p.' 231); returning either via St-Saturnin and
St-Amand-Talleude (see below) or via Theix and Ceyrat (p. 231). Lac
d'Aydat, see p. 231.

From Clermont-Ferrand to St-Amand-Tallende, 12 M. to the S.

;

motor-omn. six times dailv in each direction, from the Place Gilbert-

Gaillard (V-2 hr. ; V-Uh.). — St-Amand-Tallende (Hot. Perrier) is IV4 M.
from St-Saturnin, which has a very interesting church (12th or 13th cent.),

and a picturesque ruined castle (l'4th cent.). Thence to the Lac d'Aydat,
7 M., by a good road.

From Clermont-Ferrand to La Bouebol-le and Le Mont-Dore.
a. Bv railway, 48V2 -^1- in about 3 hrs. (8 fr. 70, 5 fr. 90. 3 fr. 80 c).

Yiews to the right. — To (40 M.) Laquetdlle, see pp. 269, 270. The Le Mont-
Dore branch turns S. and beyond (42 M.) St-Sauves ascends the picturesque
valley of the Dordogne.— Ab^l^ M. La BourbonU (p. 231). The valley
contracts; to the X. rise the Banne d'Ordanche and the Puy Gros (p. 236);
to the right, farther on, rises the Capucin (p. 234), and facing us, at the
head of the valley, is the Sancy (p. 236).— 48i/o M. Le 2Iont-Dore (p. 233).

b. By road to Le Mont-Dore 271/2 M., to La Bourboule 3IV2 M. Carr.

for 4 pers. 45 fr. ; excursion-car in summer to the Lac d'Aydat, 4-5 fr.

We follow the Mont Rognon route (p. 230) to (2 M.) Beazimont'd>ndi (31/2 M.)
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Ceyrat (p. 230), tlien ascend in zigzags, and beyond (51/2 M.) Saiilzet-le-

C'haud pass the hamlets of (81/2M.) Theix, with a chateau and pisciculture,
and (10 M.) Fonfreijde. To the'right appear the Monts Dome (p. 227), which
we penetrate hy the Tunnel de la Cassiere, 200 vds. long. At the exit a

road to the left leads to the pretty Lac d'Aydat (2 M. ; 2710 ft.), 3 M.
in circuit. The islet of St-Sidoine in the lake derives its name from
Sidonius Apollinaris, a Latin poet and Bishop of Clermont. The main
road next crosses the immense Cheire du Puy d.e la Vciche, one of the
largest lava-streams in this region, and then passes between the Pi/t/ de
Vichatel (3665 ft.; view) and the Pay de C'harmont (3735 ft. j to the left.

— 131/2 M. Bandanne (3165 ft.; aub.), a hamlet with the chateau of the
Comte de Montlosier (1755-1838), a benefactor of the country and a stauncli
opponent of the Jesuits. The Le Mont-Dore road here diverges to the loft

from the main road and skirts several other puys. — Beyond (16 M.) Esj^i-

nasse we obtain a superb view of the Chaine des Puys,' and then descend
into the valley of the Gorce, skirting the Puy de Servieres (4050 ft.), with
a round crater-lake. After a rapid descent we again ascend to the Roche
Sanadoire (p. 235), at the foot of wliich diverges a road to Orcival (p. 270).
— 20i/> M. Cime du Train (1290 ft.). Fine view, to the right, of the ravine
between the Roches Tuiliere and Sanadoire. — 231/2 M. Lac de Query (p. 235).

To the left, farther on, diverges the Murols road (p. 236). Opposite rise

the hills enclosing the valley of Le Mont-Dore, to which we descend in

windings, passing near the cascades of Queureilli and the Saut-du-Loup
(p. 235) and rounding tlie N.W. end of the plateau of the Angle, in view
of the Puy Gros and the Banne d'Ordanclie (p. 236). —271/2 M. Le Mont-
Dore (p. 233),' 41/2 M. by road from La Bourhoule (see below).

From Clermont-Ferrand to St-Xectaire (p. 237) and Besse (p. 238), via
Coudes or Issoire, see pp. 218. 219. Fares from Clermont to Coudes,
2 fr. 80, 1 fr. 00, 1 fr. 25 c. ; to Issoire, 3 f r. 90, 2 fr. 65, 1 fr. 75 c.

From Clerjuout-Ferrand to Limoges, seep. 42; to St-Eticune and Lyons
see R. 36b, I; to Brive, see R. 36b, II; to Xiiiie>>, see R. 40; to Nevers
and Paris, see pp. 216-218; to Le Puy, see pp. 218-220; to Beciers, see R. 38;
to Vichy, see p. 216.

34. La Bourboule, Le Mont-Dore, and
Environs.

I. La Bourboule.
HoTicLS (open from 25tli May to 30th Sept.). Most of them now and

comfortable, but it is advisable to ask charges beforeliand. *Palace Hotel,
Majestic, d- Villa Medicis, R. from 6, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 6 (wine extra),
P. from 13 fr.; *Gr.-Hdt. de Paris, R. from 4, B. Vl.^, L. 5, D. 6 (wine
extra), P. from 15, omn. I1/2 fr. ; Hot. Metropole, R. fioni 5, B. H/2, L. 5,

D. 7 (wine extra), P. from 13, omn. 2 fr. ; Hot. Continental. R. from 4,

B. IV2, L. 5, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 11, omn. I1/2 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. de
V Etahlissement, R. from 4, B. li/.,, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 f r. ; Grand-
Hotel, R. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr.

; Hot.
Borghese. R. from 4. B. li/,^, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 13, omn. 1 fr.

;

Splendid Hotel & Hot. d'Angleterre, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine
extra), P. from 12, omn. li/., fr. ; Hot. drs Iles-Britanniques, R. from 4.

H. 11/.,, L. or D. 5, P. from 12 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. Richelieu & d' Alger, R. from I,

H. 1, L. 31/2. D- J. P- from 11 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. des Etrangers, R. from 3,

B. 1, L. 31/2, D. 4 (wine extra), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Cosmojxi'litain, R. from J,

B. 1, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot. de Russie & de la Bourboule, R. from 4,
B. 1, L. or D. 4 (wine extra), P. from 12, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. du Louvre,
li. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4 (wine extra), P. from 9, omn. 1 h.; Hot. des
Anglais, R. from 4, B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 9, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. du
Pare, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 8, omn. 1 fr. ; Hdf. de Lorraine,
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open the whole year, R. from -1, B. 1, L. or D. 31/^,, P. from 8. omn. i/jj fr.

;

Hot. des Ambdssadeu)-s, R. from 3. B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2- P- from 9 fr.

;

Uof. de Loudres; Hot. du Globe; Hot. de VEnrope & des Bains, open
the whole year; Hot. de VUnivers, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Venise,
R. from 2i/.>' L. or P. 3, P. from 71/0. omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. des Sources & du
Trocadero.'R. from 2i/^, B. 1, L. 3,"D. 31/0. P. from 8, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot.
de France: Hot. des Xations; Hot. de laPoste: Hot. BeUevue.

Etablissemests Thermaux (open from 25th May to 30th Sept.). Ther-
raes. bath 3-6. cabine de luxe 5-8. douche 1-3 fr. ; C'hot/ssy. bath or douche
2>/2 fr. : Jlabrit. bath or douche 2 fr., buvette 12. 10, and 8 fr. for the season.
— List of Phtsiciaxs at the Etablissement des Tliermes. — Porters to bath
(up to 300 metres), 1 fr.. there and back I1/2 fr.

Cabs. Per drive 2, per hour 3 fr. ; at night, or with two horses, 3 or
4fr.— Excursions from the Hotel de Yille daily. — Saddle Horses, 6-10 fr.

per day.

—

Doxkets. 1;'.>-1 fr. per hour.
Electric Tramway from the Etablissement to the Funicular.

—

Fusicular to the Plateau de Charlanne (see below), every 15 or20min.,
in 10 min. ; return-fare 1^> fr.

Casino in the Pare Chardon, with theatre; adm. 2 fr., incl. theatre 4fr.
Post & Telegraph Office and Sysdicat d'Ikitiative, Hotel de Ville.

La Bourboule (2810 ft.; pop. 1905), formerly a mere hamlet,

is a rising place owing to the popularity of its waters. In 1911
there were 13,568 visitors. The chief spring, rising on the Bocher
de la Bourboule (see below), a hill above the town, is the Source
Choussy-et-Perriere (140°); another, the Source Croizaf (108**),

rises 2^/2 M. up the Dordogne; a third, the Source Fenesire (68°),

wells forth at the entrance of the park of that name. They are

used in eases of anaemia, rheumatism, lymphatic affections, diseases

of the skin and the respiratory organs, diabetes, and intermittent

fevers, and are especially strengthening for delicate children. The
baths have been organized only since 1876. The waters are highly

arsenical and charged with bicarbonate of soda, and possess great

radio-activity. La Bourboule is fashionable and expensive.

Pleasant walks are afforded by the small Pare du Casino and

the larger Pare Fenesire. Above the valley lies the Plateau de

Charlanne (3775 ft.; hotel-rest.), reached by the funicular in 10,

or by a good path in 40 minutes.
Excursions, the same as from Le Mont-Dore, which is easily reached

by railway. — The finest views near La Bourboule are obtained from the
Plateau de Charlanne (see above) and the Bocher de la Bourboule (V'4 hr.),

whence, from left to right, we survey the Banne d'Ordanche (see below),
the Tenon (4570 ft.), and the Puy Gros (see below). — Pleasant walk ou
the wooded left bank of the Dordogne. by the new road to Le Mont-Dore,
to the (3/4 hr.) Cascades de la Vernilr'e and (1/4 hr. farther) du Plat-a-
Barbe.—To the S.E., 2^^ M., rises the Hoche Vendeix (3845 ft. ; view),

easily reached by the Latour road.— To the W.. 3/4 M., is the Barrage
de la Dordogne, which supplies power for the electric works.

The *Banne d'Ordanche (4970 ft. ; view-indicator), to the X.E., is

ascended on the W. side, in 21/2 hrs.. by a path indicated by red marks.
The ascent on the S. is endangered by the friability of the rock. — From
the Banne we may reach in i/^ hr. the Puy Gros (4865 ft,

;
good view of

the Le Mont-Dore valley).
To Latour-d'Auvergne, S.W. of La Bourboule, there are three roads:

viA Liournat and Fererolles, 1 M. ; via the Roche Vendeir, 8 M.. passing
near the Quatre-Departtments{y'\t'\\ of four departments); or via St-Sauves
(p. 230) and Tauves, 14J/2 M. — The small town of Latour-d'Auveryne
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(3310 ft.; hotel), a fine point of view, has a few relics of the chateau of

the Turenne family (but the marshal was born at Sedan in 1611). Xear
it, j^.W., is Xotre-Dame-de-Xatzu, a pilgrim-resort (1st Sun. in Aug.).

n. Le Mont-Dore.
Hotels (June-Sept.). *Mont-Dore Palace Sarcirov-Rainaldtj. Place

Michel-Bertrand, with the park at the back. R. from 6. B. IV2-2, L. 5, D. 6

(wine extra), P. from 15, omn. 3 fr. ; ^International Palace., opposite the

Casino, R. from 5, B. li/,, L. 4. D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 14, omn. 1 fr.

;

Nouvel-Hotel & Hot. cle la Paste. Place Michel-Bertrand, R. from 5, B. IV^,

L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12, omn. 2 fr. ; *H6t. Gallia, Rue de I'Eglise. R.
from 4. B. I1/2, L- i, D- 5 (wine extra), P. from 10. omn. 3 fr. ; Gr.-H6t.
de Paris & du Pair. Place Michel-Bertrand. good. B. I1/4, L. Si/.^, D. 41/21

P. from 10, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Bardtt, opposite the church, B. 1, L. 3,

D. 31/2 fr. ; Hot. des Etrangers, R. from 3. B. 1, L. 31/0, D. 4, P. from 9,

omn. i fr.. Hot. Ramade aine, both in the Rue Rigny, near the Etablisse-
ment; Hot. & Villas TMvenin, R. from 4. B. IV4, L. 3, D. 4. P. from 10,

omn. IV2 fr- : Hot. de V Etablissement, Rue Favart, L. 31/2, D- 1. P- fiom 9,

omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. St-Georges, facing the park. R. from 3. B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2

(wine extra), P. from 9, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Pai.r. Rue Rignv, open
the whole year. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 9, omn. "li/^ fr.

;

Hot. du Nord & de Londres, by the park; Hot. Richelieu, Rue Favart

;

Hot. Continental. Rue Montlosier; Hot. de Nice: Hot. de VOise: Modern
Hotel, open the whole year; Hot. des Thermes. R. from 3, B. IV2, L- 3V2«
D. 4, P. from 8 fr., Hof.'de Russie, both in the Rue Favart; Hot. Barbecoi,
Rue Favart, open the whole year, good, L. 2Vo, B. 3, P. 8 fr. ; Hot. Ter-
minus, at the station. R. from 21/2, B. 1, I* 2V>, D- 3 fr.

Etablissemekt Thermal (June-Sept.). Buvette 12 fr. for 21 days; bath
or douche 3/^-3 fr. ; inhalation 3/4-4 fr. ; porters 65 c. per 300 metres, 10 c.

for each addit. 50 m. — Tariff and list of Physicians in the Etablissement.
Carriages, generally dear, about 20 fr. per day (bargain advisable).

— HoKSES and Donkeys. Xo tariff; bargain necessary. — Guides, needless
for excursions described below: 3-10 fr. per half-day, 5-12 fr. per day.

Funicular up tlie Capucin (p. 234), from the Pont Meynadier to tlie

Salon. Fare from 7 to 10.30 a.m., up 80 c, down 35 c, return 1 fr. ; from
11.30 to 6, up 1, down 1/2^ return IV4 fr. ; children, 50, 25, 60 c.

Casino. Adm. 1 fr. ; theatre 1-5 fr. — Golf Course at the foot of

the Sancy.
Post & Telegraph Office. Rue Favart, corner of the Issoire road.
Syndicat d'Initiative, Hotel deVille; inquiry-office, to the right of

the exit from the station.

Anglican Church Service in summer.

Le Mont-Dore (3310-3450 ft.; pop. 2125), on the DonJoyne,
which rises a fc\v miles higher up, lies in a beautii'ul valley en-

closed by the highest of the Munts Dore (p. 234). Its mineral

waters, used by the Romans, attract 8000 invalids annually. They
are used, both for drinking and bathing, in cases of diseases (^f the

respiratory organs, incipient phthisis, rheumatism, and chlorosis.

The Etablissement Tliermal, partly rebuilt in 1893, is an at-

tractive and well-managed institution. It contains a few fragments
of Roman architecture and sculpture. The building is backed by
the Montagne de VAngle, from which issue the mineral springs,

and it has an annexe, to the N., for the vapour-baths.
There are eleven springs, varying in temperature from 100° to 117°,

iharged with bicarbonate of soda, iron, arsenic, and silica. Tliey yield
lo^cther about 100.000 gallons of water daily. The aerated water of the
cold Ste-Marguerite spring (53°) has an agre'eable taste.

15^-
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The treatment consists chiefly in very hot baths (10-1-113°), douches,
vapour-baths, inhalation, and hot foot-baths for the reaction. Many of

the patients are carried to and from the bath-house in litters, wearing
a special flannel costume. The season, nominally from 1st June to

1st Oct.. lasts in reality from 15th June to 15th Sept. only, as the climate
at this altitude is severe; the valley is moreover exposed to the N., and
closed on the S. side by the great wall of the Puy de Sancy. — A number
of other visitors now resort to Le Mont-Doro for winter-sports.

III. Environs of Le Mont-Dore.

Le Mont-Dore is the best centre for excursions among the Mouts
Dore, most of y>'hich may be made by carriage or on horseback.

The Monts Dore are the volcanic mountains framing the upper
valley of the Dordogne. They consist of three groups, named after their

chief peaks: tlie GroKpe d// Sanctj, tlie centre of the whole range, to the
S. of Le Mont-Dore; the Groupe dii Puy du Barhier, immediately to

the E. ; and the GroJipe de la Banne d' Ordanche, to the N.W. Between
the first and third of these groups lies the Platrau de Durbize (about
1600 ft.). The Monts Dore are furrowed by the valleys of the Dordogne
and the (Jouse d.e C'hambon, called in its upper part Vallee de t'haudefonr
(p. 237). — Like the Monts Dome, the Mouts Dore rest on a foundation of

crystalline schists, but are older, having been upheaved in the tertiary

epoch. After the last eruptions, these peaks, which were much higher
than noAv, were covered with snow and glaciers, the erosive action of

which, with the attendant (wratic blocks, is chiefly visible on the S. side.

In the quaternary era the upheaval of the adjacent Domes (p. 227) led

to renewed volcanic activity in the Dore group, where, however, it now
seems to be extinct.

To THE Capucin, S.S.W. The fiinicuLir (p. 233) ascends in '/^ hr.

to the Salon du Cajmcin (4220 ft.), a forest-clearing (cafe-rest.)

;

we may walk or ride up to it by a path to the left of the Latour

road (see below), in i/, hr., crossing the Promenade des Artistes.

From the Salon a path ascends in 1/2 ^r. to the bare summit of the

Pic du Capucin {iSOO ft.; adm. 25 c), which affords an excellent

view of the Monts Dore.

The Promenade des Artistes (to the S., about 4 M.) is a good,

shady, and level path on the E. flank of the Capucin, with fine

glimpses of the Dordogne valley. It diverges to the left from the

Latour road, 10 min. from Le Mont-Dore. After 5 min. we keep

to the left, cross the funicular, and (40 min.) leave to the right the

path ascending to the Salon du Capucin, We then descend into the

valley, cross (10 min.) the Dordogne, and return to (1/2 hr.) Le

Mont-Dore by the Sancy route (p. 235).

To THE Grande Cascade (Y* hr. S.S.E.). We follow the new
Besse road (p. 238), and then (1/4 hr.) a path to the right to (25 min.)

the foot of the fall; or we may reach the fall by the Plateau de

Durbize (p. 236). The Grande Cascade falls 100 ft. from a per-

pendicular rock of trachyte.

To THE Cascades du Plat-a-Barbe and de la Verniere. We
ascend the Latour-d'Auvergne road on the right bank of the Dor-
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dogne. (Latoiir is 10 M. from Le Mont-Dore; La Bourboule is

7 M. distant via the Roche Veudeix, p. 232.) At the top of the hill

(1/2 hr.) Ave take a path to the right, leading to (10 min.) a notice

indicating the path to the Cascade du Plat-ii-Barbe. We follow this

path through the village of Rigolef-Bas, and then (20 min.) descend

to the left by a stony path to the fine Cascade du Flat-d-Barbe
(adm. 20 c), 55 ft. high, so named from the shape of the ravine into

which it falls. The Cascade de la Yerniere (adm. 15 c), 25 ft. high,

is Y4 ^1"- downstream. Thence we may go direct to La Bourboule

(see p. 232), or we may return to Rigolet-Bas, whence a path to the

left descends in 10 min. to a clearing in the wood called the Salon
de Mirabeau, and thence in 7* l^r. down to the road between La
Bourboule and Le Mont-Dore (about 1^4 M. from the latter).

To THE Saut-du-Loup, Queureilh, and Rossignolet Cascades
(to the N. ; about 4^2 ^^- there and back). The Clermont road

ascends to the right of the post office, affording splendid views, and

(1^/2 M.) crosses the stream which forms, on the right, the Cascade
du Saut-du-Loup (55 ft. high; adm. 10 c.) and, to the left, Y4 ^I-

downstream, the tine Cascade du Queureilh (100 ft.). About ^/^hr.

farther N., in another ravine, near a saw-mill, is the Cascade du
Rossigiiolef, whence we may reach the Lac de Guery in 40 min. (see

below). Or we may return to (2 M.) Le Mont-Dore by the hamlets

of Prends-t'y-Garde and Le Queureilh.

To TUE Lac de Guehy and Roches Tuiliere and Sanadoire
(6 M. to the N.; carr. 15 fr.). We follow the Clermont road to the

Lac de Guery (5 M.; aub.; 4135 ft.); 1 M. farther we come to a

superb scene: a cirque dominated by two huge masses of rock, the

Roche Tuiliere (4250 ft.), to the left, and the Roche Sanadoire
(4225 ft. ; 'rupes sonatoria'), two phonolithic dikes, far away between
which stretches the Rochefort valley (p. 270), towards which a new
road descends in windings. The summit of the Sanadoire was once

the hold of a body of English adventurers, dislodged in 1386. To
Clermont, see pp. 231, 230. Walkers may return by the Rossignolet,

Queureilh, and Saut-du-Loup waterfalls (see above). Or we may go
on to Orcival (p. 270), 11 M. from Le Mont-Dore.

To the Puy de Sancy, three routes, the first of which is practi-

cal)le for riders to within 1/4 hi"- of the top.— 1. Via the Dordogne
Vallev (about 3 hrs.). We leave Le Mont-Dore on the S. side and
ascend the right bank of the Dordogue. At the head of the valley

appears the Sancy; behind us rise the Puy Gros (p. 232) and the

Bamie d'Ordanche; on the right are the Capucin (p. 234), then the

(.'liergue (p. 236), and the mouths of the Vallee de Lacour and
the wild Gorge d'Enfen^, dominated by a series of crests and pin-

nacles. About 2'/2 M. from Le Mont-Dore we cross the Dordogue
iiikI ani\.- :il Ihc'fdot (if the Siiucv. (The road umics on into tln>
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cirque, and then turns back towards the Salon du Capucin, p. 234,

but was unfinished in 1912.) From the bridge two paths ascend

the puy. The preferable bridle-path to the left passes below^ the

fine Cascade du Sei^pent and winds up the hill-side. The steep

footpath to the right zigzags up the left bank of the Dm'e, passing

a waterfall on the left (below which, 21/2 M. from Le Mont-Dore,
the Dore and the Dogne unite to form the Dordogne). Both the

paths lead to the Col de Sancy (5825 ft. ; tethering of horse 25 c.

;

access to path 25 c), whence we have a final steep climb of Y4 hr.

— 2. Via the Graxde Cascade and the E. Crests (3^/4-4 hrs.). To
the Grande Cascade, see p. 234. Steps hewn in the rock ascend

thence in 5 min. to the Plateau de Durhize (pp. 234, 238). "We

follow a track up the crest, passing the Roc de Cuzeau (5380 ft.

;

2 hrs. from Le Mont-Dore) and the Puy de Cacadogne (5875 ft.

;

on the left), to the Col de Sancy (31/2 hrs.; see above).-— 3. Via the
Capucix, the Cliergue, and the S.W. Crests (about 4Y4 hrs.). To
the Capucin, see p. 234. Thence a track (S.), past the Puy de
Cliergue (5470 ft.), which we round to the right, and Puy Redon
or de Chabano (5760 ft.), whence the crest bends S.E. towards the

Sancy, marked by a very narrow and rather uncomfortable track.

Fine views of the W. face of the Sancy, the distant Cantal, and the

jagged rocks of the Gorges de Lacour and d'Enfer (p. 235). — The
^Puy de Sancy (6190 ft.), the highest peak in Central France,

commands an immense *Panorama (view-indicator) : N., the Dor-

dogne valley, Puy Gros, Banne d'Ordanche, Roches Tuiliere and

Sauadoire, and Lac de Guery; N.E., the Monts Dome; E., several

Alpine peaks; S.E. and S., the Cantal peaks; W. the plateaux of the

Limousin and the Marche. Interesting sub-Alpine flora.

From the Puy Ferrand (6055 ft.), a plateau V2 hr. from the Sancy,
the view is almost as extended, except to the W., and it overlooks the
Ghaudefour valley (p. 237) and Lac Pavin (p. 238).

From tlie Sancy to Vassivitre (Besse), see p. 238-

The '^Banne d'Ordanche (4970 ft.) is more often ascended

from La Bourboule (see p. 232). From Le Mont-Dore we follow the

La Bourboule road, and, by a (1^4 M.) bridge, ascend a path to the

right past Legal and Temholne to the Puy Gros (4860 ft.; p. 232;

1 hr. 50 min.), and the top of the Banne (40 min. more).

From Le Moxt-Dore to Murols axd St-Xectaire, 13 and

16 M. (motor-omn. between Murols and St-Nectaire, 3 M. in ^2 ^^^'-i

1 fr. ; omu. twice daily, in 1 hr.). We follow the Clermont road to

(1^2 ^^) the Cascade du Saut-du-Loup (p. 235), and Y2 ^I- beyond
turn to the right.— 41/0 M. Col de Dyanne or de Diane (4380 ft.;

view), between the Puy de la TacJie (5370 ft.; right) and the Puy
de la Croi.c-Morand (4965 ft.; left). We descend, passing above

the hamlet of Dyanne (4000 ft.), over a plateau, at the end of which
we see Murols and the Lac Chambou. To the right, the Monts Dure.

About '/o hr. froiu Dyanne a slioilcut to the left saves about ^'4 hr
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10 M. Chamhon (2925 ft. ; Hot. de la Poste), on the Couse, which
descends from the Monts Dore, has a curious round Romanesque
chapel in the cemetery (10th or 11th cent.).

The upper part of the Couse valley, S.W. of Chambon, called the

*Vallee de Ctiaudefour, is a profound rent in the E. flank of the
Monts Dore, terminating in a picturesque cirque, with rich flora. Chaude-
foiir (hotel), 3Vi> ^t- from Chambon, with the 'Source Ste-Anne', is now a

small watering-place. From the head of the cirque steep paths ascend to

the Puy Ferrand, Sancy, etc.

The road next passes (1/4 hr.) the N. side of the Lac Chambon,
probably formed by the upheaval of the Tariaret (3155 ft.), a wooded
volcanic cone, across the bed of the Couse.

13 M. Murols (Hot. du Chateau, good, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de

Paris) is famous for its '^Castle (13th-15th cent.), on a hill to the

N., once a superb feudal manor (adm. 50 c). Fine outer machi-

colated gateway; remains of two contiguous Romanesque chapels;

armorial tympanum over the inner gateway. The keep, restored,

commands a fine view. Custodian in the village. Road to Besse,

see p. 238; Cascade des Granges, to the E., see below.— Farther

on, near the hamlet of Boissieres, the road enters the wooded gorge

of the Frcdet.

16 M. St-Nectaire._ Hotels (June-Sept.). At St-Nectaire-le-Bas

:

Hot. des Bains-Romains, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from
11 fr. ; Hot. du Pare, R. from 5, B. li/o. L. 3Vo, D. 4 (wine extra), P. from
11 fr.; Hot. de Paris, R. from fi, B. 1, L. or D. 31/-, P- from 8 fr.; Gr.-Hot.
des Thermes & Hot. Banger, R. from 2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3'/,., P- from 7 fr.;

Hot. de V Univers, Hot. des Voyageurs, open tlie whole year. At St-Nec-
taire-le-Haut : Hot. du Mont-Cornadore, R. from 4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 (wine
extra), P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de France.

Etablissements de Bains. Bath IV-r^V-jj douche 1-2, buvette 15 fr.

St-Nectaire, picturesquely situated on the Fredet, possesses a

dozen warm mineral springs (charged with chlorate and bicarbonate

of soda and carbonic acid gas), and also several cold springs. The
waters, which were known to the Romans, arc used for the cure

of ansemia, scrofula, rheumatism, and maladies of women. At St-

Nectaire-le-Bas are the Grands-The)-mes, with the hottest spring

(Boitte, 115°), and the Bains Romains, with the most copious

spring (Mandon or Gros-Bouillon, 99°; 19,000 gals, daily). At St-

Nectaire-le-Haut., Y2 ^^- farther up the valley, is the Etahltsse-

ment de Mont-Cornadore, with the spring of that name (111";

17,600 gals, daily) and the Source du Rocher (109°; 3300 gals.).

The picturesque Church, in the Auvergne-Romanesque style (11th-

12th cent., restored in the 19th), contains a valuable treasury

(enamelled binding of the 13th cent., reliquary of St. Baudime and
statue of the Virgin of the 12th). Between the two portions of the

\ illage are petrifying spi'ings and a dolmen.
Interesting excursions in the Gorges du Fredet, in botli directions.

Fine view from the Put/ d'Fraigne (2934 ft.), to the S.W. At its foot,

2'/.. M. from St-Ncctaire-b-Bas, is tlie ^Cascade des GratK/rs {luhn. :,() c).
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— To the N.W. rises the Fny de CMteauneuf {30&o it.), a fine point of

view, with nine curious grottoes near the top. — To Cotales and Issoire,

see pp. 219. 218.

From Le Mont-Dore to Besse, to the S.E.— 1. Via Murols,

2OV2 M. hj road: 13 M. to Murols (see pp. 236, 237), and 71/2 M.
more to Besse, via Besolles and JSt- Vict(yt^-la-Riviere.— 2. Via the
PiiATEAU DE DuRBizE, 13^2 ^I- Tliis road diverges a little above Le
Mont-Dore from the Saucy road (p. 235) and ascends in a great bend

to the Plateau de Durhize (p. 234). Beyond the Col de la Croix-

St-Bohert (4640 ft.) it descends into the Yallee de Chaudefonr,

passing to the left of Chaudefonr (p. 237), and ends at (1372 ^0
Besse.— 3. Via the SA^'CY and Vassitiere, 12^2 M., by road and
path. To the Col de Sancy, see pp. 235, 236. We then pass between
the Pays de Sancy and Ferrand, and descend by a tolerably distinct

path to Vassiviere (7^2 ^I-: or about 3 hrs, from Le Mont-Dore;
Hot. Notre-Dame, in summer only, L. or D. 31/2 fr-)- The pilgrimage-

chapel here contains a black image of the Virgin (festival on the

first Sun. after 2nd July), which is removed to Besse for the winter.

At the (8^2 ^-t-) Baraque de Vassiviere we join the Condat and

Besse road (see below).

Besse-en-Chandesse (3410 ft.; Hot. de la Providence, good

;

Hot. de Notre-Dame, Tournade-Malguy, L. 21/0, D. 3, P. 5-7 fr.), a

very old and interesting little town, has remains of fortifications

(notably the Beffroi), 15th and 16th cent, houses, and a fine Roman-
esque church.

Very attractive excursion to the Lac Pavin, 2i/^> M. to the S.W., a

sombre and sequestered crater-lake, about 1/., M. across, to which fantastic
legends attach. We niav ascend thence in 1 hr. the Puy de Montchat
(4630 ft. ; view), to the S', and return to (IV2 hr.) Besse by the S.E. face,

in which there is a curious abyss, the 'C'reux de Soiicy\
From Besse to (Jokdat-en-Feniers, 17 M., onm. in .8V4 hrs. (31/2 fr-)-

—We ascend the valley of the Couse, leaving the (2i/-> M.) Lac Pavin on
the left. —31/2 M. Baraqiie de Vassiviere (3672 ft.), where the Sancy and
Le Mont-Dore road diverges to the right (see above). We then descend
the valley of the C'Janiouze, leaving the Bort road to the right (p. 258).
—We next pass (7 M.) the Lac (JJiaitvet, 1/4 M. to the right. — 11 M.
Eglisenetive-a' Entraigiies (3230 ft. ; hotel), beyond which the river forms
picturesque gorges.— 17 M. Condat (p. 259).

35. Lyons.

stations. There are nine passenger-stations, besides those of the
'ficelles' (p. 240), but the chief is the Gare de Perrache (PL C, 6; good
buffet), where all the Paris and Geneva trains stop. The others are the
Gare de Vaise (PL A, 1), on the Paris and Dijon line (R. 30a); Gare des
Brotteaux (PL G, 3), on the Geneva line (p. 256); Gare de St-Clair, also
on the Geneva line (p. 256); Gare de la Croix-Rousse or des Dombes
(PL D, 1, 2; ficelle, see p. 240), for Trevonx (p. 255), Bourg, and beyond;
Gare St-Paul (PL C, 3) and Gare de Gorge-de-Loup (PL A, 3), for the
Montbrison line (p. 255); Gare de St-Just (PI. B, 5; ficelle, see p. 240), for
the Moriiant and Vaugr.oray line (p. 2.55): Gare de V Est (PI. (i, 5), fur the
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Aoste-St-Genix line (p. 256). —Hotel, family, and motor omnibuses of the
P.L.M.Co. meet the trains at the Gare de Perrache. Cabs, see below.

Hotels. At or near the Gare de Perrache, rather out of the v^'av:

*Hut. Termimis (PI. b; 0,6). 12 Cours du Midi, first-class, R. from 's,

B. l»/o, L. 5, D. 6 ir. — Hoi. de Bordeaiio^ & du Pare (PI. k; C, 6), Cours du
Midi and Rue du Belier, good, R. from SVo^ B. IV2, L. 3V2, D. 4 (wine
extra), P. from 11 fr.. omn. 60 e. ; Hot. d'Anglelerre (PI. j ; C, 6), 21 Place
Carnot, R. from 3, B. 1'/., L. 3, D. 4, P. from 11, omn. ^Uh:; Hot. de
V Univers & de VAutoniob Hisine (PI. i; D, 6), 27-29 Cours du Midi, R. from
21/2, B. 11/4. L. 31/2, D. 4, P. from 8, omn. 3/^ fr. ; Hot. de Nice (PL r; D, 6),

23 Cours du Midi and 18 Place Carnot, unpretending, R. from 2V-., B. 1,

L. 23/4, D. 31/4. P. 8-10, omn. ^U fr.

In the town (omn. l-Vj. fr.): "^Grand-Hotel (PI. a; D, 3), 16 Rue de la

Republique, R. from 5, B. IV^. L. 4, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 14 fr.

;

Grand Nonvel-Hotel (PI. h; E, 4), 11 Rue Grolee and Quai de I'Hopital,

R. from 5, B. li/.,, L. 3, D. 3i/< (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. de
V Europe & ^Teti-opole (PI. d; D. 4), 1 Rue Bellecour, R. from 5, B. li/.,.

L. 4, D. 5, P. from 13 fr. ; Royal-Hotel, Place Bellecour, new, R. 5-30,

B. 11/4. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), board 8, omn. li/-. h.—*Gr.-Hdt. du Globe
(PI. e: D, 4), 17-21 Rue Gasparin, R. from 3i/>, B. li/o, L. 3V>, D. 4 (wine
extra), P. from 10 fr. ; Gr.-Hof. des Beaux-Arts (PI. f; D, 4), 75 Rue de
I'Hotel-de-Ville, good, R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 10 h.-^H6t.
des Archers (PI. 0; D. 4), 15-17 Rue dos Archers, R. from 3, B. 1. L. or

D. 3 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. de Rnssie (PI. m ; D, 4), 4-8 Rue Gasparin, R. from 3,

B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- 9V2-IOV/2 fr.: Gr.-Hut. Bayard (PL s; D, 4), 4 Rue
President-Carnot, Avith good rest., R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. or D. 3, P. from
9fr. ; Gr.-Hot. des Strangers (PL g; D, 4), 3-5 Rue Stella, R. from 3,

B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31/0, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Milan, 3Ionopole & de la Pair.
(PL q; D, 4), 1 Rue Quatre-Chapeaux, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 2i/.>, I). 3, P.

from 8V2 fr.

Family Pension. Mine. Verrier, 16 Rue Victor-Hugo, P. 5-10 fr.

Kestaurants. At the hotels; also, *C'afe Maderni, 19 Rue de la

Republique, 1st floor; *C'afe Neuf, 7 Place Bellecour; *Morateur, Rue
President-Carnot.

—

Eivier, 1 Place des Terreaux; Baptiste, 1 Place des
Cordeliers; *Rest. Universel, 3 Place des Terreaux; Farye, Place des
Cordeliers; Mca-tin, 7-9 Rue Childebert; *Degnin, 9 Rue Grenette, 1st floor,

L. 3, D. 5 fr. ; Garcin, 11 Rue d'Algerie; Gaud, Quai St-Antoine, L. or I).

3 fr. ; Monnier, 31 Place Bellecour, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Fillioux, 73 Rue Dn-
quesne; Vafe-Rest. de la Paix, Place Bellecour, corner of Rue de la

Republique, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr. ; Fmile, 20 Rue Ter'ma. Most of the cafes
also supply meals at 21/2-3 fr.

—

Bouillons Gailleton ('Au Rosbif), 42 Place
de la Repul)lique, 1 Quai de la Pecherie, and 7 Place Ampere.

Caf6s. Maderni (see above). Opera, Place de la Comedie, Maison-
Doree, Place Bellecour, at these three rest, a la carte; others in the Place
Bellecour, Rue de la Republique, etc.

Brasseries. Tonneau, 66 Rue de la Republique; Kleber, 2:! Rue
Puits-Gaillot; Taverne du Coq-d' Or, Tar. de LijO)i, 77 and 50 Rue de la

Republique; Archers, 93 Rue de I'Hotel-de-Ville; Guillaume-Tell, 14 Rue
Mulet; Georges, 28-30 Cours du Midi, near the Gare de Perrache.

Cabs. For 2-3 pers., IV2 fr- pf^ drive, 2 fr. per hour; for 4 pers.,

13/4 or 21/2 fr. ; 50 c. extra at night (12-6). Trunk, 25 c. ; for 3 or more, 75 c.

— Taxijietkr Cabs. 800 metres (V2 M.) 65 c. ; each 400 m. more, 10 c. ; for
waiting, IV2 fr- pei" hour. —Motor Cabs (stand on tlie Quai de Retz).
For 1-2 pers. in the town, 75 0. up to 900 ni., then 10 c. more for every
300 m. ; outside the town or for more tlian 2 pers. in tlie town, 75 c. up
to 750 m., then 10 c. more for every 250 m. ; at night, 75 c. up to 600 m.,
then 10 c. more for every 200 m. Waiting or slow driving 2'/2 fi'- per liour.

Electric Tramways. Fare in the town, 1st cl. 15, 2nd cl. 10 c.

;

no charge for transfers; outside the town the fare is l)y sections. — Fkom
TiiK Gaki; dio Vai.sk (PL A. 1): 1. To Montchat (Ix-vond PL (L 6), via the
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right bank of the Saone and the Pont de Tilsitt; 2. To ViUenrbanne
(lieyond PI. G, 3), via the left bank of the Saone and the Pont Lafayette.
— From the Place Bellecour (PI. D, 5): 3. To Le Bon-Coin (beyond PL
G, 5); 4. To St-Fons and Venissieux (beyond PL CL 8); 5. To the Poit
cVEciiUy and Les Trois-Renards (beyond PL A, 2).

—

From the Place des
Cordeliers (PL D, E. 4): 6. To Croix-Liiizet and Vaidx-en-Velin (beyond
PI. G, 2); 7. To C'mset (beyond PL G, 5); 8. To Bran (beyond PL G, 5);
1). To C'hassieitx and Genas (beyond PL G, 5) ; 10. To the C'lmetiere de La
CruiUotiere and 3Iontplaisir-la-Plaine (beyond PL G, 8); 11. To Miribel,
via St-Clair (beyond PL E, 1); 12. To Jons, \id.yillenrhanne, Bon-Coin,
and Meyzieu (beyond PL G, 3). — From the Gare de Perrache (PL C, 0):

13. To the Gare des Brotteaux (PI. G. 3), through the centre of the town;
14. To the Pare de la Tete-d' Or (Pi'. E, 1), via La Guillotiere and Les
Biotleaux; 15. To La Croix-Rousst (PL D, 1), via the centre of the town
and Les Cliartreux; 16. To the Gare St-Clair (beyond PL E, 1). via the
right bank of the Rhone; 17. To the ArchevecM (PL C, 4). via La Guillo-
tiere, Los Brotteaux, and the Pare de la Tete-d'Or, returning via the
centre of the town.

—

From the Gare St-Paul (PL C, 3): 18. To Mon-
jjlaisir (beyond PL G, 6; see p. 414). — From the Place Sathonat (PL
D, 3): 19. To Gerland (PL E, 8). — From the Place du Pont (PL E, 5):

20. To the lower station of the Funicidaire de la Croio^Rousse (PL D, 3),

with transfer for the latter gratis, via the Pont Lafayette and Place des
Terreaux. — From the Place de la Charite (PL D, 5): 21. To Oullins,
St-Genis-Laval. and Brignais, to the S. (beyond PL C, 8), via the right
bank of the Rhone; 22. To Chaponost (bevond PL C, 8) via the Pont
d'Oullins; 22^1^. To Pierre-Benite (beyond PL C, 8), via the left bank of

the Rhone.

—

From the Archeveche (PL C, 4): 23. To Vinatier (beyond
PL G, 6); 24. To Ste-Foy (PL A, 8). — From the Quai de la Pecherie
(PL D, 3): 25. Via the left bank of the Saone to Collonges-Fontaines, Cou-
zon, and NeuviUe-sur-S((dne (10 M. ; steam-tramway, every 1/2 hr. ; 1 fr.

or 65 c). — From the Post Mouton (PL A. 2): 26. To Ectilly (bevond
PL A, 2); 27. To Champagne-Livionest (bevond PL A, 1); 28. To St-'Cyr-

au-Mont-d'Or (bevond PL A. 1); 29. To St-Didier-au-Mont-d' Or (beyond
PL A, 1). — From St-Jcst (ficelle; PL B, 5): 30. To Francheville (beyond
PL A, 5).

—

From La Croix-Rousse (Funiculaire Croix-Paquet; PL D, 2):

31. To CaJuire, Le Vernay, and Les Marronniers (beyond PL D, 1).

Funicular Railways (^/?ceZZes^. — 1. From No. 4, Avenue deVArche-
veche {St-Jean; PL C, 4) to Fourviere (opposite the church), every 5 min.,
fare 20 or 15 c. (pay at the top). — 2. From the Avenue de VArchevecM
(PL C, 4) to St- Just (PL B, 5), via the Minimes station, every 6 min.
At St-Just this line connects with the Mornant and Yaugueray line (p. 255).

— 3. From the Gare St-Pa/d (PL C, 3) to Fourviere (PL C, 4), to the N.W.
of the church; electric railway thence to the Cimetiere de Loyasse (PI. B, 4),

every 6 min. ; 20 or 15 c— 4. From the Rue Terme (PL D, 3) to La Croix-
Rousse (PL D, 2), every 5min. ; 15 or 10 c— 5. From the Place Croix-
Pdqnet (PL D, 2) to La Croix-Rousse (PL D, 2), every 3 min.; 10 or 5 c.

Sfcearaboats (on the Saone). The Mouches ply between Perrache
(Pont du Midi; PL C, 6), Vaise (Pont Mouton ; PI. A, 2; every 7 min.),

and St-Rambert (Ile-Barbe; every 15 or 20 min.; the St-Rambert boats
fly a tricolour at their bows); fare 10 or 15 c. — The Parlsiens ply be-

tween Quai St-Antoine (PL D, 4), Macon, and Chalon-sur-Saone (p. 201) on
Mon., Wed., and Fri. (returning Tues., Thurs., and Sat.); fare to Macon
3 or 2 fr., to Chalon (in about 6 hrs.) 6 or 4 fr. — Steamboats on the Rhone
to Avignon, see p. 492.

Post Office. The chief office is at 96 Rue de I'Hotel-de-Yille, corner
of the Rue des Archers (PL D, 4). Branches at 3 Rue de I'Hotel-de-Ville;
37 Rue Thomassin, corner of Rue President-Carnot ; Place St-Jean, corner of

Av. de rArcheveche; 34 Cours du Midi (Perrache); also in the suburbs. --

Telegraph and Telephone. Central office (PI. D, E, 5), open day and
ni-ht, 7 Rue de la Barro.
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Theatres (closed in summer). Grand-TMdtre {V\. D, E, 3; p. 250),

Place de la Comedie (3/4-7 fr.); Theatre des Celestins (PI. D, 4; p. 244),

Place des Celestius (60 c. to 4 fr.); Eldorado (PI. F, 5), 33 Cours Gambetta.
Cafes-Coxcerts. C'asino-Kursacd (PI. D, 4), 79 Rue de la Eepublique,

Concert de VHoHoge {V]. Ct, 3), 137-141 Couis-Lafayette, both closed from
May to Sept. ; Ohjmpia (PI. F, 2), 68 Rue Duquesue, opposite the entrance
to tlie Pare de la Tete-d'Or (in summer). -Theatres de (tuignol, intro-

duced at Lyons by Laurent Mourguet in 1808 (Guignol being a 'caniit' or

silk-worker): 30 Q,uai St-Antoine (PI. D, 4); Passage de 1' Argue (near the
Place de la Republique, PI. D 4). — Cinema Pathe, 6 Rue Grrolee.

Batlis. Grands-Bains, 37 Cours Vitton (PI. F, Gr, 2, 3); Bellecour, 12

Rue du Peyrat (PI. D, 5); Bains des Deiix-Ponts, 5 Quai des Brotteaux

;

Chant re, 71 Rue de la Republique; Eammam Lyonnais. 29 Rue du Plat

;

Bains du Rhone, Quai de Retz and Quai de I'Hopital (for ladies).

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, 18 Rue de la Republique; Coviptoir d^Es-
compte, 11 Rue du Bat-d' Argent; Societe Generate, 6 Rue de la Republique.

University Offices, 30 Rue Cayenne. Special French courses for

foreigners.

Tourist Agencies. Luhin, Voyages Universels, 76 and 3 Rue de
rHotel-de-Yille. — Syndicat d'Initiative, 19 Place Bellecour (PI. D, 5).

British Consul, E. R. E. Vicars, 9 Quai de Retz (office-hours 9-12.30

and 2-3).— American Consul, C. B. Hurst, 2 Place de la Bourse (9-12

and 2-4).

Anglican Church (Holy Trinity), 4 Quai de I'Est (PI. E, 2);
service at 10.30; chaplain, Rev. R. Baker, 19 Rue Godefroy.

Lyons (560-1015 ft.; pop. 523,796), Fr. Lyon, the ancient

Luguclunum, once the capital of the Lyonnais, and now that of

the department of the Rhone, is the third city of France. It is also

an archiepiscopal see, the headquarters of the 14th army- corps,

and the seat of a university, of a school of commerce and weaving,

and of a military school of hygiene. It is splendidly situated at the

confluence of the Rhone and the Saone, which are flanked by 12 M.
of fine quays, and lies partly on the hillsides. Its fortifications,

constructed since 1874, are 50 M. in length.

The greatness of Lyons dates only from 43 B. C, when tlie consul
L. Munatius Plancus began to erect important buildings by order of the
Roman Senate. Augustus made it the capital of Celtic Gaul. The Roman
town occupied the slope on the right bank of the Saone, now Fourviere,
a name said to be derived from the Forum Vetus constructed by Trajan.
Christianity was first preached here by St. Pothinus in the 2nd century.
After the invasion of the barbarians, Lyons was abandoned by the em-
perors, and underwent many changes of masters, until it gave itself up
to the King of France at the beginning of the 14th century. It was again
sorely tried by the Italian and Religious "Wars (1562). Attached to the
ancient regime, Lyons revolted against the Convention, was besieged for

two months in 1793, and condemned to demolition. To accomplish this

as quickly as possil)le, Collot d'Herbois, tlie actor, made use of gunpowder
and grape-shot, but was prevented by the fall of Robespierre from com-
pleting his work of destruction. Lyons rose again from its ruins under
Napoleon I., when it entered on a period of almost continuous prosperity,
and became one of the handsomest of modern cities. It was long the
greatest centre in the world of the Sillc Industry, introduced by Francis I.

in 1536. The protectionist tariffs of 1897 resulted in the transference
of the centre of this trade to Milan. Lyons, liowever, still ])urchases
40 million fr. worth of raw silk and exports over 300 million fr. worth of

manufactured silk. At and around Lyons over 90,000 silk- looms are at

work, employing about 150,000 hands. Tht^e are also metal-works, clieuiical,

candle, and soup factories, and a nmnlier of Iji-cwerics. Lyons was the
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birthplace of the Emperors Claudius, Caracalla, and Geta, of Sidonius

Apolliuaiis (p. 231), St. Ambrose, Philibert Deloime, Barreme, Coyzevox,
Nicholas and Guillaume Coustou, Jussieu (p. 254), Suchet (p. 250), Ampere
(see below), Jacquard (p. 250), Hippolyte and Paul Flandrin, Meissonier,

and Puvis de Chavaunes.

Lyons is divided by the Rhone and the Saone into three parts

:

the city, on the tongue of land between the rivers, with the old

suburb of La Croix-Bousse (p. 250) on the hill above; the quarter

on the right bank of the Saone, including the hill of Fourviere and

the old faubourg of Vaise; and the quarter on the left bank of the

Rhone, with La Gulllotlere and Les Brotteaux (p. 253).

a. Quarters between the Rhoxe and the Saone.

The Gave de Perrache (PI. C, 6; p. 238), the chief station, situ-

ated on a huge embankment, owes its name to Perrache, a sculptor

of Lyons, who extended the city in 1770 by removing farther S. the

confluence of the rivers, which once met near this station. In front

runs the broad Cours du Midi, leading, right and left, to the hand-

some Pants du Midi. (Rhone bridge, to the right, see p. 253.)

The Place Carnot (PI. C, D, 6), beyond the Cours, is adorned

with a Monument of the Pejmblic (1890). A bronze statue of the

Republic, by Peynot, 24 ft. high, is preceded by a figure of the City

of Lyons and surrounded by Liberty, Equality, and Fraternity.

The Rue Victor-Hugo leads thence to the centre of the town,

passing the Place Ampere, with a statue of Ampere, the physicist

(1775-1836). A little W. of the square rises the church of *St-

Martin-d'Ainay (PI. C, 5), one of the oldest in France; it w^as

founded in the 6th cent., rebuilt in the Romanesque style in the

10th and 11th, and afterwards altered. It is said to occupy the site

of a school of rhetoric founded by Caligula (Athenxum, whence

'Aiuay'). The facade, enriched with red diamond-shaped inlaid work,

has three portals with pointed arches, surmounted by Romanesque

arcades with windows, and by a square tower with four acroteria

at the base of the spire. There is also a low square tower above

the crossing, supported by four massive antique columns.
Interior. The nave and inner aisles are vaulted and borne by

columns; the outer aisles were added later (12th or 13th cent.). The
mosaic inscription in the choir, of the early 12th cent., restored in 1859,

commemorates the consecration of the church by Pascal II. in 1106. The
apses are decorated with paintings, by Hij)p. Flandrin, of Lyons (d. 1864),

and the cupola with old paintings restored in 1899. In the chapel of the

Virgin, to the right of the entrance to the choir, are a carved altar by
Fahisch and a Virgin by Bonnassieux. On the same side is the ancient

Chapel le Ste-Blandine, with a crypt restored in 1896. At the beginning
of the left aisle is a fine old portal.

Beyond the Place Ampere the Rue Victor-Hugo leads to the

Place Belleeour (PI. D, 5 ; 'bella curia'), the finest square iu

Lyons, laid out in 1617, measuring 340 by 220 yds., and adorned

wUIi an cqiiostrian stutiie uf Louis XIV., by Lemot (1825). This
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is a favourite promenade, and adjoins the best residential quarter.

Military band every afternoon and evening in summer (adm. to the

enclosure in the evening, Y2-I ^^'•)-— The Rue Bellecour, to the N.W.
of the square, leads to the Pont de Tilsitt (p. 250). In the same

direction rises the church of Fourviere (p. 252).
At No. 12, Rue Sella (2ad floor), near the Saone, is the sm'all Musee

de la Propagation de la Foi, containing curiosities and souvenirs sent

home by missionaries (adm. free 9-11 and 1-4, Sun. 1-3).

To the S.E. of the square rise the Hospice de la Charite (PI.

D, 5); its church, built in 1617 and restored in 1842, contains

modern stained glass. The hospice (1200 beds; no adm.), founded

in 1531 by Kleberger (p. 252), was the lirst of its kind in France.

At the N.E. angle of the square begin two fine streets, the Rue
de la Republique, leading to the Place de la Comedie, and the

Bue de VHotel-de-Ville, leading to the Place des Terrcaux.

To the E. of the Rue de la Republique are the large buildings

of the Hdtel-D'ieu (PL D, E, 5, 4; 1200 beds). The facade towards

the Quai de I'Hopital, begun by Soutflot in 1741, was not completed

until 1842. It is adorned with statues of King Childebert and Queen
Ultrogothe, the founders of the hospital (542), which is the oldest

in France. The court contains a statue of Dr. A. Bonnet (1809-58),

professor of surgery. The dome may be ascended for the view (apply

to the custodian).— The quay affords a striking survey of the Rhone
and its busy bridges. The Pont de I'Hotel-Dieu and the Pont de la

Guillotiere lead to the quarter on the left bank (p. 253).

The Rue de la Republique (PL D, 4, 3) crosses the small Place

de la Republique, with its monument of President Carnot, erected

in 1900. In front of the statue is a figure of the City of Lyons; two

other statues recall the visits of French sailors to Kronstadt (1892)

and of Russian sailors to Toulon (1893). The Rue Carnot leads

hence, N.E., to the Pont Lafayette (p. 254),

The Palais de la Bourse et du Commerce (PI. D, 3, 4),

farther N. in the Rue de la Republique, is one of the finest build-

ings in the city. It was designed by Dardel, in a modern Renais-

sance style, and erected in 1855-60. The two rather heavy fa(j\ades

have huge pavilions with pointed roofs. The steps on the S. facade

are adorned with a relief of the Rhone and the Saone by Vermare
(1907). Business is transacted in the square court inside (11-12.90).

Around are two-storied arcades; above them are windows flanked

with caryatides in wood (by G. Bonnet), which support the painted

roof. Under the i)orticos are the Elements and the Seasons, by Bou-

nassieux, Fabisch, and Ronbaux. The clock is adorned with three

statues of the Hours, present, past, and future, by Bonnassieux.

As he was leaving this building on 24th June, 1894, President Carnot

was assassinated by an Italian anarchist.

The first floor is occupied by the Chamber and Tribunal of
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Commerce and the Conseil des Prud'hommcs. The second floor

contains the -Mus^e Historique des Tissus, founded in 1856 (free

on Sun., Thurs., and holidays, ll-rt; at other times, 9-4, on payment

of a fee). Entrance by the X. fagade on the Place de la Bourse;

stairs to the left. Catalogue of 1902, 3^/2 fr. ; summary 50 c.

GrALLEKY I. Textiles and embroidery prior to the 17th cent. (Egyptian.
Byzantine, Arabian, Italian, etc.). — Then two parallel rooms with textiles

of the Far East and lace. — Gallery II, to the right of the second room.
Oriental carpets; 477. Altar-front (Bruges. 16th cent.); above, a fine

Flemish tapestry; at the end, left, a Spanish cope of 1492. — To the right
of the first room is a Small Gallery containing lace. — Gallery III,

to the right, at the end of the last. French Textiles, mostly from Lyons.
--A small adjoining room contains Pictures in Silk. — Gallery IV. All
the known looms; at the end, Thimonnier's first sewing-machine (1829).

The special Library connected with the museum is entered from the

Place des Cordeliers (Tues.,Wed., Fri., and Sat. 10-4; also, from Oct. to

May, 7-10 p.m.).

The S. facade of the Bourse fronts the Place des Cordeliers, in

which rises the church of St-Bonaveniwre (PI. D, E, 4), begun in

1325, but built chiefly in the 15th cent., with a modern fagade.

—

Pont Lafayette, see p. 254.

To the X.E. of the Bourse, on the Qaai de Retz. is the Lycee
Ampere (PI. E, 3), containing the Bibliotheque de la Ville (about

250,000 vols., 871 incunabula, and 5247 JVISS.; open daily, except

Sun. and holidays, 10-12 and 2-6; in winter 12-5 and 7-10). En-
trance, 27 Rue Grentil.

The Rue de l'H6tel-de-Ville (PI. D, 4, 3), starting from the

Place Bellecour (see p. 243), passes near the Theatre des Celestins

(PL D, 4; a little to the left), the facade of which is adorned with

busts of Scribe, Alfred de 3Iusset, and Victor Hugo, and leads to

the Place des Jacobins (PL D, 4). In the centre rises a pretty

marble Fountain, in the Renaissance style, by CI. Andre (1886),

vrith statues of Delorme, Ger. Audran, Guill. Coustou, and Hipp.

Flandrin (all natives of Lyons), by Degeorge.— In the Hue 2Itr-

ciere, to the loft of the square, the Hue de la Monnaie, leading

from the Rue Merciere to the Quai St-Antoine, and other streets in

tills quarter are several interesting old houses (16th-17th cent.).

Farther X., the Rue de rH6tcl-de-Yille passes near the Old
Hotel de Ville 1 13 Rue de la Poulaillerie) and reaches the church

of St-Nizier (PL D, 3), once the cathedral, rebuilt in the Gothic

style in the 15th cent., except the central portal, an addition of the

16th. The statues on the fagade are by Fabisch and Bonnassieux

(Virgin). The spire of the tower on the right is modern also. The
nave and apse have a very fine triforium with pediments and sculp-

tured balustrades. Over the second altar to the right of the choir

is a statue of the Virgin by Coyzevox; over the second on the left

is a statue of St. Pothinus (p. 241) by Chinard. The crypt under
the choir (6th cent.) is adorned witli modern mosaics.
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The Eue de I'Hotel-de-Ville ends at the Place des Terreaux
(PI. D, 3), the most important in Lyons after the Place Bellecour,

It was laid out on the bed of an ancient Roman canal between the

Rhone and the Saone, which had to be filled up with earth ('terreaux').

The ^Fontaine Bartholdi (of 1892, named after the sculptor) is a

striking group in lead, with colossal figures of Rivers and Springs

hastening to the Ocean.
It was in this square that Cinq-Mars and De Thou were beheaded

in 1642 by Richelieu's orders on a charge of treason, and in 1794 the

guillotine was at work here, until it was found too slow and was super-

seded by grape-shot (p. 241). The revolutionary tribunal was presided over
by Collot d^Herbois, an actor who had been hissed by the Lyonnais.

The handsome *H6tel de Ville (PI. D, 3), on the E. side of

the square, built by Sim. Maupin of Lyons (1646-72), burnt down
in 1674, was restored in 1702 by H. Mansart, and again in 1853

by Desjardins. The fagade is richly decorated with a modern
equestrian statue of Henri IV., by Legendre-Heral, and sculptures

by Fabisch, Bonuaire, and Bonnet, Behind rises the quaint clock-

tower, 160 ft. high. The facade towards the Place de la Comedie

(p. 250) is simpler and far more pleasing. It consists of two wings

connected by three arcades, above which runs a balustraded gallery.

The court contains another gallery of the same kind.

The Interior (open daily, except Sun. and holidays, 9-11 and 2-4;

fee to the concierge, to the left in the vestibule) also is interesting. In
the vestibule are bronze statues of the Rhone and Saone, by the brothers
Coustou, once a part of the monument to Louis XIV. in the Place Bellecour,
destroyed in 1794. We note the Salle des Fetes (chimney-piece and Gobe-
lins tapestry), restored under the Second Empire; the Saloii Louis XIII
(ceiling borne by caryatides), preserved unaltered; the Scdle des Echevins
(ceiling dating from Henri II.); and the Salle des Travaux (portraits).

The Palais St-Pierre or des Arts (P1.D,3), on the S. side

of the Place des Terreaux, is a large building erected in 1659-80
and restored since 1879. It formerly belonged to Benedictine nuns,

whose refectory has been preserved (p. 246). The court in the

centre has been transformed into a public garden, and is enclosed

by projecting arcades, formerly cloisters.

The very valuable ^Collections which the building contains,

besides the library (p. 248), comprise a Collection of Insrriptions,

a Museum of Sculpture , a Picture Gallery, a Collection of Auti-

quities,.a. Museum of Aledia'val and Renaissance Art, and a

Natural History Collection. The first three and the last are open
daily, except Mon. and Sat., 9 to 11.30 and 1 to 4 or 5 (May-Sept.);

the others are open at the same hours on Sun. and holidays only.

Visitors are admitted at other times on applying at the secretary's

oTHce (N. wing, 1st floor) and on showing a passport or visiting-card.

The charge for admission is 1 fr. for 1-2 pers., 50 c. for ea h pers.

more (free on Tiuirs. afternoons and all day on Sun. and liolidays).

Ilhis. cHtjilo^riif! of 1899, 1 fr.
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Ground Floor.
In the vestibule : Force and Law, by Diebolt, bronze reliefs from

statue of Napoleon I. once in the Place Carnot (p. 242).

Collection of Inscriptions (Mnsee Epigrcqihique), under the ar-

cades. Ancient in-

Place desTerre aiix.

CrROUND Floor.

scriptions, frag-
ments of sculpture,
stelae, sarcophagi,
altars, vases, etc.

Explanatory no-
tices on the pil-

lars. The collec-

tion of inscrip-

tions, all from this

region, is the most
valuable in France,
and throws an in-

teresting light on
the institutions,

public worship, and
corporations of Ly-
ons in the G-allo-

Roman period. The
tablet of Claudius
is exhibited on the
first floor (p. 248).

The Garden con-
tains bronze sta-

tues by various art-

ists.

Sculpture Gallery, in the S. wing, entrance at the S.E. angle
of the cloisters (PI. E), whence also a staircase ascends to the picture-
gallery (PI. B; p. 247).— Room 1 (Musee des Busies), to the right, the
old refectory of the Benedictine nuns, is admirably adorned with life-size

reliefs of saints and Biblical scenes in stucco, by Sim. Guillauvie, and at

the ends and on the ceiling with paintings by P. L. C'reteij, representing
the Miracle of the Loaves, the Last Supper, etc., all of the 17th century.
Also busts of Lyons celebrities, mostly modern, and two antique mosaics,
the Exercises of the Paltestra and the Fish. Two glass cases contain
painted casts and terracottas by Jean Carries and C'Jiinard, of Lyons.
— The Vestibule contains architectural fragments. — Room II. Mediaeval
and Renaissance sculptures, architectural ornaments, reliefs, and statues.
Right to left: 13. Ex-voto, a relief in painted stone (Lyons, 16th cent.);

14. Madonua with donor (Auvergue, 16th cent.); 15. Medallion bust (16th
cent.); 7. Noah, probably from the Moses Fountain at Dijon; 18. Large
chimney-piece (16th cent.); 27. Desiderio da Settignano, Relief in stucco
duro of the Madonna; above, 34. Lion of Venice (1490); 29. 3Iino da
Fiesole, Bust of John the Baptist (15th cent.); 19. Chimney-piece (Bur-
gundy, 16th cent.); above, 28. Sculptured tympanum in relief (Venice,
15th cent.); 8. Kneeling abbot (Burgundy, 15th cent.); 20. Beii. Antelami,
Bust of St. Peter (end of 12th cent.); Medallion of Lodovico Sforza (N.

Italy, end of 15th cent.) ; *25. School of DonateUo, Angel and boy with
musical instruments (terracotta relief; end of 15th cent.); portrait-medal-
lion in marble (Milan, 15th cent.); 35. Andrea delta Robbia (9), Madonna
and Child (terracotta relief). In the centre, *30. Ant. Rossellino (9), Ma-
donna and Child (terracotta relief; 15th cent.); 5. Tombstone of a woman
(14th cent.). — Room III. To the right, 2. Mummy-shaped Grseco-PhoeniciTu
sarcophagi ; taurobolic altar; Roman sarcophagi (No. 3, on the left. Triumph
of Bacchus); cinerary urns; by the window, Roman (not Greek) altar.--
Room IV. To the left, 52. Foijatier, Girl witli a kid; 79. Trtipheme,
Girl at the spring; 62. Legendre-Heral, Silenus; 71. Pradier, Odalisque;
82. Viettg, Nymph of the Seine; 31. Cortot, Pandora; 70. Pallet, Twilight;
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19, 14. C'hinard, Perseus and Andromeda (unfinished); 78. Schoenewerk,
Aurora; in the centre, 40. Delorme, Mercury; 61. Legendre-Heral, Eury-
dice; 2. Barije, Tiger devouring a young stag; 39. Delorme, Psyche. In
the corner to the right, an old well.

The door at the end leads to the Grand Escalier, or Escalier
d'Honxecr (PI. A), with 17th cent, decorations after Thomas Blanchet.
On the first floor, to the right, is the picture-gallery (main staircase,

PI. B, see p. 246); to the left is the Salle des Dessins and opposite is the
Museum (p. 249).

First Floor.

The ^Picture Gallery (Musee cle Peinture) was founded by Xapo-
leon I. The French school of the 19th cent, is Avell represented, and tlie

Netherlandish collection includes several tine works, notably two by
Rubens (p. 249); the most important of the Italians is Perugino (p. 249).

The Salle des Dessiss, in the S.W. angle of the building, is reserved
for Lyons artists, notably Piivis de C'havannes, P. Chenavard, Ponthus-
C'inier, J. J. de Boissieu, Meissonier, and Racier. Bust of Puvis de
Chavannes, by Rodin. —We return to the Grand Escalier and enter the—

Galerie p. Chexavard, containing works by Lyons painters. Room I.

Pictures by Grohon, Ant. Berjon, etc. On the floors of this room and the
following ones are Roman mosaics.— Room II. Works by Hipp. Flandrin
(513. Dante in Hades), Paul and Aug. Flandrin, St-Jean (flowers). Ant.'
Owfrtdrand (landscapes).— Room III. To the right, AUemand, Ponthus-
Cinier, Landscapes; Puvis de C'havannes, *621. Autumn (1864), 625a. The
artist's wife (1883); 593. Meissonier, Paul Chenavard (1807-95). — Room IV.
Works by VoUon, Aj-pian, Vernaij, Racier, Guiyuet, Roijbet (Lesson in

astronomy). — We cross the landing of tlie S.E. staircase (PI. B) to the —
East Rooms, which contain the paintings of the 19th century. Room V.

To the right, N. Sicard, 652. Pont de la Guillotiere (p. 253), 415. Jos.
Bail, Kitchen interior; 414. Ant. Bail, The village-band. Handsome carv-
ed door from Aix-en-Provence (ca. 1720). In the centre, C'hinard, *Bust
of Mme. Recamier. — Room VI. A. Faivre, Lady in blue. — Room VII.
Casts of sculptures of the Parthenon and of the doors of the Baptistery
at Florence. — Room VIII. Paintings by Seignemartin (1848-75), of Lyons.
In the centre, Rodin, *Eve. — Room IX. To the right, 326. J. P. Laurens,
Hostages; 329. J. Lefebvre, Nymph and Bacchus; Claude Monet, Landscape
and Sea-piece; Renoir, Guitar-player; 316. Henner, Creole; A. Sislei/.

Landscapes; *253. C'aziu, After tlie day's work(18b8); Simon, Religious
ceremony at Assisi. In the centre, a fine antique mosaic (Circus Games);
also, Rodin, *The shadow, and in a glass case casts of works by the same
sculptor. — Room X. To the right, J. Blanche, Portr. of a lady; 315.

Henner, Dead Christ; Eug. Carriere, Angel of sutteriiig; Geoff'roij, Re-
signed; 364. Raffa'elli, At tbe founder's. In the centre, Rodin, Minerva
(1905), Temptation of St. Anthony, a bust and a group in marble. —
Room XI (Bernard Donation). To the left, 365. J. Rao/ix, Portr. of a
lady; 37. Piazzetta, Cream-eaters; 172. J. van Rutjsdael, Landscape; 271.
I)agna)i-Bouveret, Bridal jiair at a pliotographer's.

^Collection of Antiquities, in the N. wing, adjoining the preced-
ing gallery and with a separate (N.E.) staircase in the cloisters, to the
left of the entrance (PI. C). Entrance by the vestibule (p. 248) on non-
public days (p. 245). The bronzes are especially noteworthy.- Salle des
Medailles. Medals, coins; 7. Small marble frieze, representing suove-
taurilia (sacrifices of a pig, sheep, and ox); masks, fragments of statues;
*Bronze statue (Tiic orator), found in fragments in 1897 at Coliguy (Ain). —
Salle des Antiqies. To the right, in a glass case, *Terracottas from
Tanagra and Asia Minor, incl. a statuette of Artemis (Xo. 42, in the centre);
on the right, next the windows, a small Egyptian collection, vases and oli-

jocte in bone. In the cabinets by the left wall are glasses, vases (incl.

several locythi with a white ground), statuettes and fragments of utensils
in bronze; also an Isis from Ciim;v and (\o. 1) an *Archaic Sfafitc of
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Venus, with a dove on her right hand (middle of 6th cent. B.C.). In the
centre: 1st case, Silver plate; 2nd case, Grreek vases; 3rd case, Gold
ornaments and cameos; 4th case, Bronze cists from Palestrina and a
mirror from Corinth; above (iSTo. 52), bronze statuette of Fortune; 5th case,

Gold ornaments, some of them found at Fourviere (p. 252); 6th case.

Bronze statuettes (*Winged Victory) and utensils. 70. Portable brazier,

from Vienne; 59. Head of Juno; 49. Jupiter. By the windows, 67, 66.

Bronze heads of Domitian and Vespasian.— Vestibule, to the left (see

p. 247). On the right, 12. *Bro?ize Tablet, found at Lyons in 1528, bearing
a large part of the speech (quoted by Tacitus, Ann. xxi, 24) delivered
in the Roman Senate by the Emp. Claudius in favour of granting Gaul
tlie right of sending representatives to the Senate; in the middle, Frag-
ments of a * Gallic Calendar engraved on bronze, found in 1897 at Coligny
(Ain); on the left, objects discovered in a necropolis near the Place de
Trion (p. 253); utensils and mosaics.

^Museum of Mediaeval and Renaissance Art, occupying the
following rooms in the X. wing. — Room XII. To the right, Italian bronzes
(16th cent.); French medallions and plaquettes of the 15th -17th cent.

(57. St. Martin on horseback, 15th cent.); objects in wrought iron; to the
left, Venetian and Oriental glass, incl. an Arabian mosque lamp (14th cent.).

— Room XIII. Excellent enamels, mostly from Limoges: 3rd case, 191.

Book-cover, with Christ blessing (early 13th cent.); 197. Censer with the
Annunciation (Siena, 14th cent.); 199. Ciborium with transparent enamel,
by Picinus of Siena (early 14th cent.); on the left, 232. Triptych with
27 plaques; church-plate. On the right, locksmiths' work (15th-17th cent.);

Oriental weapons (14th-17th cent.}. — Room XIV. *180-185. Swiss stained

glass (16th cent.); 65. Gothic candcluLnim (15th cent.); furniture (16th

cent.).

—

Room XV, to the left. "Wood-carvings; in the middle, 40. Re-
cumbent woman
(Spanish, late 16th
cent.); 38. Altar-
frontal with the
Last Judgment
(German ; late 15th
or early 16th cent.);

on the left, 85.

Three wooden pan-
els, from the Cha-

de Gaillon
(early 16th cent.);

90, 91, 96. Carved
doors, table (Lyons,
16th cent.); furni-

ture.— Room XVI.
Furniture; ivories

(6th-10th and 13th-

14th cent.); at the
end-wall, carved
walnut door (Ly-
ons, 16th cent.);

right and left, *22,

23. Virgin and the

Angel of the An-
Faience and porcelain from
Persia, Turkey, and France

Place

;

^intr|sLyjiuxalpj s

j
?

-." T MpT-pps

First Floor.

nunciatiou (Pisa, 14th cent.).— Room XVII.
Moorish Spain, China, Japan, Holland, Italy
(incl. specimens by Bernard Palissy).

The Library occupies the other rooms in the N. wing of the first

floor. It contains 83,286 vols, and 350 MSS., treating especially of the arts

and sciences, industry, and archaeology, and includes 30,000 engravings

and drawings. Adm. dailv, 10-5, except Sun., holidays, and from Aug.
21st to Sept. 10th. The second floor contains the Ecole des Beanj-Arts.
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The Natural History Collection (Museum) is on the first and
second floors of the W. wing- (entrance by the Crrand Escalier, PI. A). The
first floor is devoted to mineralogy and geology, the second to zoology
(incl. a mammoth found at Lyons in 1853), anthropology, and palaeonto-
logy. The botanical collections are in the Pare de la Tete-d'Or (p. 25i}.

Second Floor.

Continuation of the Picture Gallery. — At the top of the S.E.
staircase (PI. B) are ^Paintings by P/ais de Chavannes : Sacred Grove
dear to the Arts and the Muses, Antique Vision, Christian Inspiration,
The Rhone and the Saone.

Ctallery of Old Masters, to the left of the staircase. Right to left:

220-223. German School of 1.5th Cent., Scenes from the life of Christ (on
wood); 28. L. Gioi-dano, Rinaldo and Armida; 60. Domenichino, Angelica
and Medoro; *15. Ant. Cauale, View of Venice; 34. Palma Vecchio (f),

Portr. of a woman; 13. Carlo C'aliari. Catherine Cornaro, Queen of Cyprus,
entering Venice; 171. J. van Ruysdael, Norwegian scene; 197, 196. Corn,
van der Voort, Portraits; 190. W. van de Velde, Sea-piece; 7. Guercino,
Circumcision; 119. J. D. de Heem, William of Orange, afterwards
William III. of England; 97. Corn. Janssens van Ceulen, Portr. of a
lady; 115. J. van Gojjen, Cottage on the shore; 98. Ph. de Champa igne,
Exhumation of SS. Gervasius and Protasius; 170. J. van Riq/sdael, The
stream; 99. Ph. de Chanvpaigne, Easter; 136. Sal. Koninclc, Sacrifice of

Manoah (more probably the young Tobias and liis wife); *153. Jan ran
Noordt, Young cavalier; 113. A. van Everdingen, Landscape. — 84. F. Bol,
Portrait; 14J. Van Mierevelt, Portr. of a woman; 130. Jac. Jordaens,
Visitation; *166. Rubens, SS. Francis. Dominic, and other saints saving
the world from the wratli of Christ (ca. 1618-20); 143. Van Jlierevelt,
Portr. of a lady; 189. Terhiirg, Portrait; 156. J. van Cost, Young man
receiving a letter; 131. Jac. Jordaens, Adoration of the shepherds. — 123.

Van der Heist, Portr. of a woman; 132. Jordaens, Mercurv and Argus;
120. J. D. de Heem(r'), Fruit; 159. Paul Potter, Landscape with cattle

(1646); 101. J. B. de Chavipaigne. Adoration of the shepherds; 195. S. de
Vos, Portr. of himself (study); *167. Rubens (?), Adoration of the Magi
(ca. 1618); 187. D. Teniers the Younger, Liberation of St. Peter; 109. ^l.

van Dijck, Study of heads; 77. G. Berclheijde, Groote Markt at Haarlem;
116. J. van Ilagen, Forest-scene; 179. Fr. Sngders. Dead game; Fr. Goya,
Baptism; 68. Al. Cano, Dead Christ; 70. Ribera, Saint in ecstasy; 72. Znr-
haran, St. Francis of Assisi; *58. Perugino, The Ascension, one of the
master's finest works (ca. 1495), presented to the city in 1816 by Pius VII.;
*59. Perugino, SS. Herculanus and James the Greater, painted about 1502
for Sant' Agostino in Perugia (corap. pp. 85, 412); 44. Tintoretto, Madonna
and Child with saints; 11. Paolo Veronese, Bathsheba at tl)e bath; 45.

Tintoretto, Danae; 10. P. Veronese, Finding of Moses; 22. Ag. Caracci
(or Lnca Giordanor), A canon; 399. Jean Clouet, Guillaume de Mont-
morency; 95. B. Brugn. Portrait.— 232. Flemish School of late 1.5th Cent.,
Tree of Jesse; 10H. After Dilrer, Virgin and Child distributing wreatlis
of roses, with the Emp. Maximilian and St. Catharine kneeling (on the
right Diirer himself), an old copy (late ICdli cent.) of the picture known
as the 'Feast of tlie Rosary', painted at Venice in 1506, now at Prague;
64. Ferrarese School of 16th Ce)it., St. Jerome; 229, 230. Burgundian
School of 1.5th Cent., Death and Coronation of the Virgin.

Tlie Rooms of the French Masters are on the other side of tlie

S.E. staircase.— To the riglit of tlie vestibule is a room (Salle des Dcssins)
containing engravings, prints, drawings, and pastels (103 and 104 attr. to

Quentin de la To/o-). — Room to the left. On the riglit, 260. Courbet,
Portr. of Paul Chenavard; 286. Detaille. Episode at the battle of Cham-
I)igny (1870).— Grande Galerie. To the right: 280. Desportes, Game
and fruit; 375. Rigaud, Portrait; -/. Raou.r, Portr. of a lady. - *282.

Desportes, Animals and fruit; 395a. S. Vnuef. Portr. of himself; 283.

Desportes, Boar-luint; 250. Le Brnn, Thanksgiving of Louis XIV.; 349.
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Lc yain, Portr. of a chevalier of St. Michael ; '395. S. Vonet. Crucifixion;

254. Charlet, Episode in the retreat from Russia; 273. J. L. David,
Market-woman; *363. Prnd'hon, Mrae. Antony and her children (1796);
320. Joiivenet, Expulsion of the buyers and sellers from the Temple;
262. Coia-bet, Happy lovers ; E. Delacroix, 276. Odalisque, 274. Death
of Marcus Aurelius (1844), Assassination of the Bishop of Liege (sketch);

369. Bicard, Portr. of a girl; Co/frbet, 259. Deer, 261. The wave.— 313.

CiuiUaumet, Evening-prayer in the Sahara.— 300. Gerard, Mme. de Stael
as Corinna; 256. C'orot, Landscape; Manet, Portr. of a woman ; 390. Troyon,
Cows pasturing; Danhigny, Landscape; J. F. Millet, *Portr. of a naval
officer; 258, *257. C'orot, Landscapes; C'orot, Woman in a studio; 321.

Jonvenet, Jesus at the house of Simon the Pharisee; *272. Dauhigny,
Sea-piece; Diaz, Landscape; Couture, Penitent Magdalene; Pi-nd'hon,
Triumph of Bonaparte; *306. Grenze. The charitable lady; 376. Rigaud,
Pierre Drevet. the Lyons engraver; 298. CI. Lorrain, Sea-piece; *325.

Largilli'ere, Jean Thierry, the Lyons sculptor; 381. Le Sueiir, Martyr-
dom of SS. Gervasius and Protasius; 285. Desportes, Still-life; 245. S.

Bourdon, Cuirassier. — L. Tocque, Portr. of a lady; 374. Rigaud, Por-
trait; 278. Desportes, Fruit and game.

The church of St-Pierre (PI. D, 3), in the Rue Paul-Chenavard,

adjoining the Palais des Arts, dates from the 17th cent., but has a

Romanesque portal of the 9th. Now secularized, it is to be used

as a sculpture-gallery, while a new church has been built in the

Rue du Bat-d'Argeut (PI. D, 3). The adjoining Place JMeissonier is

adorned wath a bust of Pleiiey (1784-1864), a benefactor of Lyons.
A little ]\^.W. of the Place des Terreaux are the Martiniere (PI. D, 3),

a technical school, in two buildings, and the Salle Rameau, a fine concert-

hall. Higher up is the Place Sathonay (PI. D, 3), with a bronze statue
of Sergeant Blandan, who fell at Algiers in 1842. Higher up is the Old
Jardin des Plantes, now a square, with a large monument to Auguste
Bnrdenn (1851-94), the politician, by A. Boucher" (1903), and, to the right,

the Gares de la Croix-Rousse (pp. 238, 240). — The La Croix-Rousse
quarter, on the hill to the N. of the town, is partly inhabited by the silk-

workers, popularly known as 'canuts'. The only sights in this quarter
are the monument of Jacqnard (1752-1834), inventor of the loom, by Foya-
tier, in the Place de la Croix-Eousse (PL D, 2), and the monument oi Pierre
Diipont (1821-70). the soug-writer, bv Suchetet, in the Jardin des Chartreux
(PI. C, 3). The Cours des Chartreux (PI. B, C, 3) and the Boul. de la

Croix-Rousse (PI. B-D, 2) afford in the evening interesting views of the
city with its countless lights.

To the E. of the Hotel de Ville is the small Place de la Cumedie,
with the Grand-Theatre (PI. T>, E. 3). A little farther, adjoining

the Rhone, is the Place Tolozan (PI. E, 3). with a statue of Marshal
Sachet (1712-1826).

b. Quarters on the Right Bank of the Saoxe.

To the N.W. of the Place Bellecour is the Pont de Tilsitt (PI.

C, D, 4; p. 243), leading to the right bank of the Saone. Beyond
the bridge, on the right, rises the Old Archcveche, now a library.

Facing us, at the end of the Av. de I'x^rcheveche, is the station

of the 'ficcUes', or funicular railways, to St-Just and to Fourviere

(p. 240). Turning to the right, we enter the Place St-Jean, adorned

with a pretty modern fountain in the Renaiss^nQC style, and a
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shrine containing a bronze group of the Baptism of Christ, after

Bonnassieux.

The *Cathedral of St-Jean (PL C, 4), at the foot of the Four-

viere hill, dates from the 12th-15th cent., the choir having been be-

gun about 1110. The fagade (14th-15th cent.) has three portals, now
denuded of their statues, but still adorned on the vaulting with small

dilapidated medallions; above are a gallery, a flamboyant rose-

window, and two towers (late 15th cent.). There are two other

towers at the ends of the transepts. The great bell, cast in 1622,

weighs nearly ten tons, and is one of the largest in France.
Ill the Interior the most interesting part is the choir, the arcades

and windows of which are in the Romanesque and Gothic styles. The
Romanesque style appears in the transept also. The windows of the
choir, the transept, and the adjoining chapels contain magnificent
stained glass of the 13th -lith centuries. — The nave is remarkable for

purity and elegance of outline, although the bays next the portals,
of the 15th cent., differ from the others, which are of the 16th. The
*C'hapelle St -Louis or des Bourbons, the second on the right, is a
superb work of the 15th cent., due to Cardinal de Bourbon and his

brother Pierre, son-in-law of Louis XI. The nave contains a marble
pulpit, designed by Chenavard. The Chapelle du Clocher, the fifth on
the left, contains a 16th cent, reredos. Note also, in the left transept,
an astronomical Clock, constructed by Nic. Lippius of Basle in 1598 and
restored in 1894, which plays at 5 and 6 a.m., at noon, and at 1 and 2 p.m.
The two processional crosses at the ends of the high-altar have been there
since the second (Ecumenical Council of Lyons in 1274, in token of the
union of the Greek and Latiu Churches, an object only partially attained
by the Council.

The Manecanterie, or choristers' building (Lat. mane cantare,

to sing in the morning), to the right, has a fine 12th cent, fagado,

mutilated during the Religious Wars, and badly restored.

In the Rue St-Jean, N. of the Cathedral, is the Palais de Justice

(PL C, 4), a heavy edifice by Baltard (1835) in the classical style,

facing the Quai de I'Archeveche. This quarter contains several

interesting Renaissance Homes, notably in the Rues St-Jean, du

Boeuf, and Gadagne. The Maison Henri IV, at the foot of the

Montee St-Barthelemy (p. 253), is interesting also.— Gares St-Paul,

see pp. 238, 240.

Near this is the church of St-Paul (PI. C, 3), said to have

been founded in 549, but rebuilt in the 13th cent., with a handsome
Romanesque-Byzantine cupola over the choir and a square tower with

a spire over the facade. The interior has been restored since 1900.

Gerson, the chancellor (1363-1429), to whom a statue has been

erected on the other side of the street, is buried in the right aisle.

The Pont de la Feuillee (PL D, 3), to the E., leads to the Place

des Terreaux (p. 245). On the Quai de Bondy is the Palais des

Expositions, with the Conservatoire of Music.

To the W. of St-Paul the Quai de Bondy is prolonged by the

Quai de Pierre-Seize (PI. C, B, 3), with 'L'Homme de la Roche', a

Bakijkkku's Soulliern France. 6tli Edit. 16
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monument by Bonuaire, in memory of Jean Kleberger, 'le bon

allemaud' (p. 243; d. 1546), a benefactor of Lyons.

The best vantage-ground for a survey of the great city is the

Hill of Fourviere (PL C, 4; see p. 241 ; funiculaires, see p. 240),

a spur of granite, on which, during the glacial period, a moraine

of the Ehone glacier vras deposited. The oldest of the two churches

situated on this hill, the Chapelle de Xoire-Dame-de-Fourviere
(18th cent.), 8. of the new church, is a great resort of pilgrims. It

contains a black image of the Yirgin, and its walls are covered with

votive oiferings. The tower is crowned with a bronze-gilt statue

of the Virgin, by Fabisch (adm. 25 c).

The church of ISTotre-Dame -de -Fourviere, massive in

design, but in doubtful taste, looks imposing when viewed from a

distance. It v.as designed in a modernized Byzantine style by
P. Bossan (d. 1888). Begun in fulfilment of a vov.' made by the

clergy of Lyons during the war of 1870-71, it was consecrated in

1896. It stands 400 ft. above the Place Bellecour. The dimensions

are 94 by 38 yds., and 125 ft. in height. The apse, with its semi-

circular gallery (from which the town is blessed annually on

8th Sept., the feast of the Xativity of the A^irgin), is flanked by

octagonal towers, terminating in a sort of crown. Instead of but-

tresses there are four square half-towers. The fa^^ade also is flanked

with towers, so that the whole building looks like a fortress. The

Facade has a rich portico with four granite monolithic columns,

27 ft. high, supporting a gallery with angels as caryatides, over

which is a pediment with sculptures, by Dufraine, relating to the

plague of 1643 and the vow made in 1870.
IxTERioR. The nave and aisles, of equal height, are divided into

three bays by eight pairs of columns in bluish-grey marble, with bases
and capitals in white marble, connected above by arcades with angels
as caryatides. Tlie whole building is lavishly decorated with mosaics,
painting, and gilding. The choir has ten columns in red marble with
gilded capitals; angels adorn the spring of the vaulting. The altar,

composed of the most costly materials, has a ciborium and a statue of

the Virgin. At the end of the nave is a votive picture (formerly in the
Cathedral), presented by the city after the visitation of the cholera in 1832.

The Crypt (closed 11-2), dedicated to St. Joseph, extends under

the whoi(! church and is also partly adorned with mosaics.— The
N.E. tower, to the left of the choir"(160 ft. high; 316 steps; adm.

oO c.),^ commands a magniflcent ^Panorama (view-indicator), extend-

ing over more than 120 M.
The chief points, from N. to E., are Le Mont d'Or (above the Dome

des Chartreux); La Bresse, backed bv the Jura; Le Bugev, with the
Alps; Mont Blanc. 100 M. to the E., a' little to the left of the Pont La-
fayette; the Bauges Mts., those of Allevard, and the Grrande-Chartreuse

;

the Pelvoux, the Vercors, the Rhone valley to the S. (beyond the Gare
de Perrache); and Pilat in the Cevennes.

The Feast of the Immaculate Conception (8th Dec.) is celebrated by
the illumination of the churches of Fourviere and of many private houses,
of which the quays, as well as tlie liill, afford a strikintr survey.
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The shortest descent is by the Passage du Rosaire (5 c),

below the church, to the left, a winding path bordered by fifteen

small monuments after Bossan, with coloured reliefs by Fabisch,

representing the mysteries of the Rosary, The path leads to the

carriage-road, the Montee St-Barthelemy, beyond which a flight

of 242 steps (Montee des Cha'^eaux) descends to the Rue de la

Bombarde, near the Palais de Justice (p. 251).— It is preferable,

liowevcr, to descend on the N. side, following the Montee desAnges
to the left of the facade. Farther on we leave to the left the station

of the St-Paul funiculaire (p. 240), and then the Tour Metallique
(PI. 0, 4; Cafe-Rest. Gay), a miniature Eiffel Tower, 280 ft. high

(lift 1 fr. ; view as from Notre-Dame, p. 252), and follow the 'Pas-

sage Gay' (5 c), which descends past Roman antiquities to the foot

of the Montee des Carmes, between the Gares St-Paul (pp. 238, 240).
From the square in front of Notre-Dame-de-Fourviere the Rue du

Juge-de-Paix leads to the Porte de Fourviere, passing relics of the Roman
Aqueduct which came from Mont Pilat (p. 265; 50 M.). Beyond the gate
is the Place de Trioii (PI. B, 5), from which the Rue des Fosses-de-Trion
leads to the Fort Dubois-Crance (PI. A, 5). To the right, behind tlie

l)arracks, is a better-preserved fragment of the aqueduct (V4 hr. from the
Porte de Fourviere). From the Place St-Irenee the Rue des Macchabees
leads past the Place dt C'houlans (PI. B, 5), where there are several large
Roman Tombs (1st cent. A.D.).

c. Quarters on the Left Baxk of the Rhone.

On the left bank of the Rhone lie two large modern quarters,

Les Brotteaux, an aristocratic quarter adjoining the Pare de la

Tete-d'Or, and the uninteresting La, Gaillotiere.

The latter is reached by the handsome Pont dn Midi (PL D, G;

1888-91), E. of the Cours'^du Midi, or by the Po7it de la Gvillo-

tiere (PL E, 5), E. of the Place Bellecour'and S. of the Hotel-Dieu

(p. 243). The latter bridge, the oldest in Lyons, dates from the

13th cent., but was widened in 1839. Between the two is the Pont
de rUniversite (PL D, E, 5, 6; 1903).

Near this bridge are tlie University Buildings (PL E, G); to

the S. are the Facidtes des Sciences et de Medecine, a large modern
edifice, preceded by a statue of Claude Bernard (1813-78), the

physiologist; to the N. are the FacuUes de Droit et des Lettres.

On the second tlooi- of the latter are a Musee de Moulages (casts

of antiques) and a Musee de Geographie, both open 8-11 and 2-5,

except Sun., holidays, and in vacation; ring at the gate.— Farther

on, in the Place Oilier (PL E, 5, 6), rises a statue of Oilier, tlie

surgeon (p. 484), by A. Boucher (1904).

At the end of the Pont de la Guillotieie is the Place Raspail

(PL E, 5), with busts of Fr. Hasjxiil (1794-1878), chemist and

politician, and C'apt. Kd. Thiers, who distinguished himself at

Belfort in 1870.

IG*
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The Prefecture (PI. E, 4), farther on, in the Cours de la

Liberie, near the Pont de VHotel-Dieu, is a large Renaissance

building (1885-90). The garden contains statues of two natives of

Lyons, the poet Victor de Laprade (1812-83) and Gen. Duphat
(1770-98); also the monument of Fe7ix il/«7<5^m/ (1836-1902), a

benefactor of the city, by A. Boucher.

A little higher up, on the quay, is a handsome Protestant Church
(PL E, 4), in the Romanesque style. Adjacent is a small square with

a statue of Be)'nard de Jussieu (1699-1777), the botanist. Just

beyond is the Pont Lafayette (Pl.E, 4; 1888-90), above which
begins Les Brotteaux (p. 253).—A little N. of the Cours Lafayette,

which leads E. from the bridge, rises the monument to the Victims

of the Siege of 1193 (PL F, 3; see p. 241).

The handsome Pont Morand (PI. E, 3), farther up, leads to the

Place Morand, in which rises a fountain after Desjardins, with

genii and the City of Lyons. The modern Church of the Redemption
(PL E, F, 2), in the Place Puvis-de-Chavannes, in the 13th cent,

style, contains fine stained glass.

At the 'rond-point' by the entrtince to the Pare de la Tete-d'Or

(PL E, 1) is the Monument des Legions du Phone, erected in

memory of the war of 1870-71.

The *Parc de la Tete-d'Or (PL F, G, 1, 2; tramways Nos.

14 and 17, see p. 240), a fine park of 280 acres, laid out in 1856 on

what was once marshy soil, is now protected from the floods of the

Rhone by an immense dike, which cost over 2^/^ million francs. In

the centre is a large Lake with several islands. (Ferry 10 c, row
round the lake 30 c; boat 1 fr. per hour; rest, on the E. side.) On
the E. side of the park are Zoological and Botanical Gardens.
The hothouses (open 1-6, in winter 1-4) contain fine collections of

orchids, ferns, and palms. The Conservatoire Botanique, with the

botanical collections of the Museum (p. 249), is open daily, except

Sun., 8-12 and 2-6.

Environs. The prettiest short excursion frora Lyons is to the Ile-
Barbe, 31/2 M. to the N., reached by steamboat on the Saone, whose
picturesque banks are dotted witli country-houses. Below the island is a
large 'barrage' or dam. On the island itself there are vestiges of an old
convent, inci. a small Romanesque chapel, and of a castle (llth-15th cent.).

Fetes (-vogues') are held here on Easter and Whit Mondays. The island
is connected by steps with a suspension-bridge which crosses from the
left bank to St-Eainbert, on the right bank, with a Romanesque church.
A charming path, shaded in the afternoon, ascends the right bank above
the village. — Railway, seep. 204; tramway to Neuville-sur-Saone on the
left bank, see p. 2iU,'Xo. 25.

Charbonnieres-les-Bains (770 ft.; Hot. des Bains, in the park;
Gr.-H6t. Escoffier, Hot. du Cheval-Blanc), 51/2 M. to the W. of Lyons by
the Montbrison line (p. 255), is another favourite resort of excursionists.
The village lies in a valley, partly wooded. It has a cold chalybeate
spring (adm. 10 c.) in a small park, with a casino (L. 4, D. 5 fr.) near
the railway, beyond the station.

The Mont d'Or, 5 M. to the N. of Lyons, culminates in the Mont
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Ceindre (1540 ft.), the Monton, or Mont Thou (2010 ft.), and the Movt
Verdun (2050 ft.), all fine points of view. A tramway (p. 240; No. 28.

every 20 min., fare 50 or 25 c.) runs in 35 min. to St-Cyr-au-Mont-d' Or,

whence Mont Ceindre is ascended in 35 min. (rest, at the top). The Monton
is 50 min. farther, and Mont Verdun is 40 min. beyond it. We may visit

these two hills (summits fortified and inaccessible) direct from Limonest
(tramway No. 27; p. 240); then descend to (V2 hr.) Poleymieux (Rest.

Peytel), and thence by a picturesque road to St-Germain-an-3Tont-d'' Or
(p. 203) or to Nem-iUe-sur-Saone (tramway No. 25; p. 240).

The Roman Aqueducts ofBonnand {ox Beaimant), to the S.W.
of Lyons, may be visited in SV-i hrs. These are eighteen arcades of the

aqueduct mentioned on p. 253, which cross, 3/4 hr. W. of Oullins (tramAvay

No. 21, p. 240; railway, see p. 260), the valley of the Yzeron and the

Francheville road fsce below). More considerable remains (90 arches) are

to be seen S. of C'hcqwnost (21/2 M. to the S.E. ; tramway No. 22, p. 240).

We may return by FrancheviUe, with a ruined keep and chateaux (tram-

way No. 30; p. 240), or by Ste-Foy (tramway No. 24; p. 240).

From Lyons to Dijon and Paris, see R. 30 ; to Marseilles, see R. 66 ; to

Nimes, see R. 64; to Aix-les-Bains, Chambery, And Modane, see R. 49b;
to Grenoble, see R. 56 ; to Clermont-Ferrand and Bordeaux, see R. 36 ; to

Bourg, see pp. 314, 313.

From Lyons to Mont Pilat, see p. 265.

From Lyons to Moktbrison, 49 M., railway in 3 hrs. 25 to 3 Ins.

45 min. (8 fr. 85, 5 fr. 95, 3 fr. 90 c). The train starts from tlie Gare
St-Paul (PI. C, 3), and passes under the hill of Fourviere. - -2 M. Lyoii-

Gorge-de-Lonp (PI. A, 3). We cross the Paris line. — 21/2 M. Ecully-
Demi-Liine. Ecully, to the right, is a large suburb.— 31/2 M. Tassin, where
we cross the Lozannc and Givors line (p. 207). — 51/2 M. C'harbonnieres
(buffet;, p. 254). "12 M. Flenrieux-Lozanne. The country is liilly and
partly wooded. Extensive view to the right. The line from Roanne to

St-Germain-au-Mont-d'Or and Lyons (R. 30c) diverges to the right. — 14V2 M.
UArbresle (p. 209). — Tlie line' now ascends the valley of the Brevenne.
— About IV4 M. to the N.W, of (16 M.) Sain-Bel is Savigny, once famed
for its abbey, of which few traces remain. Valuable mines of copper
pyrites. —26V2M. Ste-Foy-V Argentiere, a large village with an old chateau
and coal-mines. — Beyond (31 M.) il/(f?/.9 a tunnel carries the line into the

basin of the Loire. —33 M. Viricelles-Chazelles. Electric tramway thence
to St-Symphoricn-sm'-Coise, via C'hazelles-sur-Lyon (pop. 6041), with six

large fclt-liat factories. — The line now descends rapidly.

—

^l^j.^M. Belle-

garde-St-Galmier, 41/2 M. to the N. of St-Galmier (p. 209; onni.). — 39 M.
Monfrond (p. 209). We cross the Loire and traverse a plain studded with
ponds. —441/2 M. Grezieux-le-Fromental. We join, on the left, the St-

Etienne line.'- 49 M. Monthrison (p. 267).

From Lyons to Trkvoux, 16 M., railway in s/^-i^/^hr. (2 fr. 90, 1 fr. 95,

1 fr. 30 c). The train starts from tlie Gare de la Croix-Ronsse (PI. D, 12).

It passes many country-houses and factories. On the left is the drilling-

ground of Sathonay. — 41/2 M. Satho)iay-Eillieux, two villages on the left

and riglit. To the right diverges the direct line to Bourg (pp. 314, 313).

We reach tlie Saone. — IOV2 M. Nenville-sur-Saone (p. 203). — 16 M. Tre-
voux (p. 203). «

From Lyons to Mornant and to Vaugneray, 171/2 and 81/2 M., local

railway starting from the Gare de St-Just (PI. B, 5). — At (6 M.) Le Tn-
pinier it forks, the right branch going to (2V2 M.) Vavgneray (pop. 1980),

whence an omn. runs to {Vj., M.) Yzeron (2485 ft. ; Hot. Beau-Site, L. or D.
3fr. ; Hot. du CIieval-Blanc), a little summer resort. Tlie left branch
goes to (III/2M.) Mornant (Buffet; Hot. duNord; pop. 1713), dominated
by tlie lofty Tour du Vingtain, a relic of the 14th cent, fortifications.

A bridge here is one of the best-preserved arches of the Roman aqueduct
from Mont Pilat (p. 253). Ste-C'atherine-sous-Riverie (2555 ft. ; Hot. Beau-
jolin), 6 M. to the W. (omn. meets morning-train), is a good centre for



256 ^oide 35. CREMIEU.

excursions among tlie neighbouring hills. The old feudal village of Ri-
verie, ^/^ M. from Ste-Catherine. still retains its castle.

From Lyons to Aoste-St-Ctenix (St-Berov), 4A^I-> M., railway in

2 lirs. 20 to 2 hrs. 40 min. (5 fr. 95, 4 fr. 45, 3 fr. 25 c.)." This local line,

starting from the Gave de V Est (PI. G, 5), traverses a flat district, S.E.

of Lyons. — 2 M. Villeurbanne (pop. 42,526) is an industrial suburb of

Lyons (tramways, see p. 240). Xear it begins the Canal de Jonage,
fed by the Rhone, constructed in 1894-8 to supply electric power to the
factories of Lyons. — 11 M. Ptisignan, with the ruins of a large chateau
burnt down in 1789. We cross the Bourbre. — 16 M. Pont-de-Cherinj-
Tignieu (hotel), with a cable-factorv. Omn. to La Balme-les-G-rottes

(p. 314; 101/2 M. ; li/., fr.). — 20 M. Creraieu (695 ft. ; Buffet: Hot. Bouillet,

de la Chaite), a decayed little town, dominated by the ruined castle of

St-Laurent, still has "part of its walls (14th-16th cent.), notably two well-
preserved gates. — From (24>/., M.) St-Hilaire-de-Brens (880 ft.), the highest
point of the line, a branch-line runs to (7 M.) JaUien (p. 406). — At (26 M.)
Trept there are lime and cement factories. To the left, I1/4M., is the feudal
castle of La Poype or Serriere. — Beyond (28i/2^t-) Soleymieu-Sahlonnieres
diverges the line to Moutalieu and Amberieu (p. 314). — 35 M. Mo7-estel,

with pretty environs. I1/4 M. from Vezei-once, an old town, near which
Clodomir. son of Clovis, defeated the Burgundians in 524. — 4OV2M. Les
Avenieres. Steam-tramway to La Tour-du-Pin (p. 406). — Lastly we cross

the line from Virieu-le-Grand to Pressins (p. 315).— 441/2 M. Aoste-St-Geuix,
station for Aoste (p. 315), I1/4M. to the S.W., and St-Genix, or St-Genio^-

sur-Giders (Hot. Labully, L. or D. 3 fr.), an industrial town, 1/4 M, to tlie

E., whence a tramway leads via Le Pont-de-Beauvoisin to St-Beron (p. 407).

From Lyons to Geneva, IO41/2M., railway in 3 hrs. 22 to 6 hrs. 42 min.
(18 fr. 90, 12 fr. 80, 8 fr. 30 c). The trains start from the Ga7-e de Perrache
(PL C, 6), and call 10-20 min. later at the Gare des Brotteaux (PI. G, 3).—
51/2 M. Lyon-St-C'lair, for slow trains only. — IO1/2 M. Mirihel (pop. 3379),

an industrial town, with a ruined castle. We now quit the Rhone.

—

16 M. Jlontluel, a small town with factories and the remains of an 11th cent,

castle. — 24 M. Meximieux. dominated by an 11th cent, castle (restored).

—

29 M. Leyment. To the right is the Chateau de la Servette. We approach
the Jura Mts. and cross the AlbaHne. — 321/^ M. Amberieu, and thence to

Geneva via Bellegarde, see pp. 314, 315, 322.

36. From Lyons to Bordeaux.
a. Via Roanne, Montlu90ii, and Limoges.

.3941/2 M. Railway in 13 hrs. (74 fr. .35, 50 fr. 25, 32 fr. 75 c.). — The
trains start from the Gare de Perrache (PI. C, 6).

To (IOOV2 M.) St-Germain-des-Fosses, see E. 30c; thence to

(lloYa^I-) Grcinnat, see pp. 216, 217.— Beyond Gannat we obtain a

line view to the right. Viaduct over the rocky valley of the Sioule.

Scenery picturesque and varied.— 121 M. St-Bojinet-de-Rochefort

has a fine 15th cent, chateau.
Line to C'hantelle. see p. 207. Branch-line in the opposite direction

to (21/2 M.) Vicq, near which is the Chateau deVeauce (14th-15th cent.), and
(5 M.) Ehreuil (Hot. du Commerce), picturesquely situated on the Sioule,

with an old abbey-church.

To the right is the Chdteau de Lignat.— 12772 M- Bellenaves,

with a 16th cent, chateau and a church, mainly Romanesque. —
Beyond (13272 ^I-) Louroux-de-Bouble we cross the long Viad/m
de la Bauble.— 138 M. Lapeyrouse.



MOMTLUVON. H6. Itonte. 057

From Lapeykousb to Volvic-Cratkre, SoVa M., railway iu 2 lirs.

5 min. (6 fr. 40, 4 fr. 30, 2 fr. 80 c); to Clermont-Ferrand, 48 M., in 2 hrs.

10 mill., a finer route tlian via Gannat, but poor train-service. — 5V.> M.
St-EIoy (1590 ft.; pop. 6621) has valuable coal-mines; 7 M. to the S.E.
(omn.) is Iilenat, vrith an old Eoraanesque abbev-church. Tramway to

Iliom (p. 217) projected. — 16 M. St-Gervais-C'hatra/niet/f (2390 ft.). St-

G^rra/s (Castel-Hotel, Hot. des Voyageurs; pop. 2513) lies near the station,

whence an omn. runs to (5i/.^ M.) Chateauneuf-les-Bains (1215 ft.

;

Hot. des Grands-Bains, St-Oyr, des Thermes), in a picturesque site, with
24 mineral springs containing bicarbonate of soda and iron (12 of them
warm, ranging up to 100°), used in the treatment of anfemia, dyspepsia,
and rheumatism. Chateau of the 13th cent., restored. Interesting excurs-
ions to the Gorges de la Sio?de (road to Ebreuil, p. 256, 17V> M.), and vici

Manzaf (p. 217) to the Gonr de Tazenat (IOI/2 M. to the S.E.). The latter,

an old crater-lake, is dominated by the Puy de Chalard (2770 ft.), the
northernmost of the Monts Dome (p. 227). — Beyond St-Gervais we cross
the gorge of the Sioule by the grand *Viaduc des Fades, the highest
in France (430 ft. high and over V4 M. long), and remarkable for its

simplicity of style. — The train runs high above the deep ravine of the
Viouze, and afterwards crosses a plateau affording extensive views. — At
(351/2 M.) Volvic-Cratere (p. 269) we join the Clermont and Brive line.

149 M. Commentry (Hot. du Bom-bonnais
;
pop. 10,112) is a

niofleru towu, with coal-nnnes and irou-works.
Xarrow-gauge line to (loVa M-) Marcillat, with a 15th cent, chateau.
Line to Moidins, see p. 205; to Varennes-sur-Allier, see p. 207.

1521/2 M. Chamhlet-Neris. Omn. to (3 M.) Neris-les-Baius (see

below). —-We descend a picturesque ravine.

157 M, MontluQon (Buffet ; Hot. de France, good, K. from -I^j.,,

B. 1, L. 3, D. 3^2 fr.; Hot. du Lion-d'Or, same charges; Hot. du
Puy-de-D6me; Hot. Terminus, at the station, good, R. from 3, L.

or D. 21/2 fr.; pop. 33,799), an industrial town on the Cher, with a

mirror-factory, glass-works, iron-works, etc., was a place of some
importance in the middle ages. The English were defeated here in

the l-lth century. The Castle (15th-lGth cent.), best seen from a

distance, is now used as barracks. The mutilated church of Notre-
Dame (13th-15th cent.) contains paintings of some interest. The
Romanesque church of St-Pie^'re is partly of the 12th century.

From Montlu^on to Chdtcanroux and Tours, see p. 38; to 3ro/dins, see

p. 205; to La Bourhoide and Le Mo)d-Dore \m Ei/(/Hrande-MerUnes, see
lip. 258, 270, 230.

From Montlu^on to Ntnis, 5 M. to tlie S.E., motor-omn. starting
from the Cafe Riclie.

N6ris-les -Bains.— Hotels (open 15th May to 1st Oct.). *Gr.-Hdf.
de la Promenade, R. from 4, P. from 9 fr. ; *Gr.-IIdt. Dumoidin, R. from
5. B. 11/4. L. 4, D. 5fr. ; Gr.-H6t. de Paris, R. from 4, B. IV2, L. 3'/-.,

D. 4, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Pochette & de France: Hot. Leopold, R. from
2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3V2. P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. du Jardin, R. from 4, B.*l, L.
31/.,, D. 41/2, P- from 10 fr.; Hot. Berger, Hot. du Rhone & des Thermes,
Hot. de la Source, Hot. dn Casino, P. from 8 fr.

—

Syndicat d'Isitiative.
— Bath 1/2"^ fr-; buvette 2 fr. for 25 days. — Casino, with theatre, etc,
— Post & Telegraph Office, Rue Voltaire.

Neris (pop. 3075), Rom. Neriomagus, consists of 'Le Bourg', tlie

upper quarter (1245 ft.), and 'Le Bain'," the lower part (1160 ft.). Tliere
are six copious warm springs (109-127'^), containing chiefly carbonate of
soda, all united in the Puits Cesar, which supplies the well-equipped
Etablissemont, besides a smaller bath-house for the poor. The cure is

chiefly for rheumatism, nervous affections, and diseases of woraca. Walks



258 Route 36. BORT. From Lyons
Map, p. 217.

in the shady Grand Pare and the Jardin Boi.ssier (adm. 25 c). The
Eomans onte had a bath-house and a theatre (partly preserved) at Xeris,

and a camp ^/^ M. to the E. — The ChapeUe St-.Joseph. IV^ M. to the S.W..
affords a good view of the Monts Dome (p. 227). — To the S.W., 91/2 M., is

the picturesque ruin of the Chateau de V Ours, above a gorge of the Cher.

From Montlu^on to Bourges, 70 M., railway in l^/g-S hrs. (10 fr. 75,

7 fr. 20. 4 fr. 65 c), down the valley of the Cher. — From (141/2 M.) Vallon-
en-S/dhj an omn. runs S.E. to (71/2 M.) the pretty village of Heris-son (Hot.

Ville), with a castle-ruin (14th cent.). — 21 M. Ur^ai/, station for (7 M.) St-

Bonnet-Troncay (Hut. du Centre), near the beautiful *Forest of Tron^ais.
31 M. St-Amand-Mont-Rond (Hot. de 1' Image, R. from 21/2, L. 3,

D. 31/2 fr. ; Hot. de TEcu; pop. 8584), between the Marmande and the

Canal du Berry, has an interesting transitional church (with 13th cent,

portal). On the (1/4 hr.) Butte de Montrond, now a large and shady
promenade, once stood a castle, which was taken from the Grand Conde
and dismantled during the war of the Fronde (1652). — From St-Amand we
may visit Noirlac (3 M. to the X.W.), with the ruins of its Cistercian

*Abbey, founded in 1130, and extended in the 13th-15th centuries. The
fine chapter-house, of the late 12th cent., opens into cloisters of the 14th.

The well-preserA-ed Church, begun in 1170, was completed early in the

13th century. — Meillant, 5 M. to the X. of St-Amand, has a church
with a fine' Renaissance tower and a famous ^Chateau, built in 1500-10

by Adm. Charles d'Amboise, restored in 1843, and now owned by the
Marquis de Mortemart. (For adm., apply by letter to M. le Regisseur.)

The rich inner facade has a superb octagonal turret. The chapel contains
stained glass of the 16th cent, and an *Altar-piece of the 14th. — To the

S. of St-Amand, 21/2 ^I-- lies Drevant, Rom. Derventum, with remains
of a Roman theatre, temple, and baths. — From St-Amand to ia Giterche
(Xevers) and ChdteaumeiUant, see p. 204.

441/2 M. Chdteauneiff-snr-Cher (Hot. du Mouton; pop. 2358) has a fine

Renaissance chateau. — 541/2 M. St-Florent-snr-Cher (Hot. du Commerce;
pop. 4202), a small town, with iron-mines and factories. Branch to Issoudun,
see p. 37. — From (641/2 M.) Marviagne the Paris express runs due X.,

without entering Bourges. — 70 M. Bourges (see Baedeker'' s X. France).

From Montlu^on to Aurillac, 1421/2 M., railway in 6 hrs. to 7 hrs.

35 min. (25 fr. 75, 17 fr. 40, 11 fr. 40 c). This interesting line is the S.

continuation of the preceding. Best views to the left. — 141/2 M. Budeliere-
Chamhon. Chambon-sur-Voueize. 3 M. to the S.W. (omn. 60 c), has an
interesting old church. —We cross the *Viaduc de la Tardes, 300 ft. high,

spanning a gorge of the Tardes. an affluent of the Cher. — 171/2 M. Evaux
(1540 ft. ; Hot. de I'Etablissement, de la Fontaine, des Sources, all at the
baths; Hot. Laumet, in the town; pop. 3421). In a picturesque dell, 2 M.
from the station (omn. 50 c), are the eighteen thermal springs (84-134°).

They contain sulphate of soda, some of them iron also, and are beneficial

in cases of rheumatism, neuralgia, and skin-diseases. Romanesque church
of the 13th cent., rebuilt in the 16th. ' Pleasant environs. — Beyond (40 M.)
Lbtrade the Monts Dome become more distinct, and the Monts Dore come
in sight (S.). —58 M. Eygurande-Merjines, on the line from Brive to Cler-

mont-Ferrand (p. 270). —We now descend the valley of the Chavanon, an
affluent of the Dordogne, and pass through a picturesque ravine. — 731/^ M.
Mialet. On a rock to the lett is the ruined Chateau de Th^inieres.

79 M. Bort (1445 ft. ; Hot. Regeasse, R. 2-21/2, L. 21/2, D". 3 fr. ; Hot.
Desissert, des Voyageurs; pop. 3821). a manufacturing town, picturesquely
situated, near which are columnar basaltic formations, known as the Or-
gues de Bort (ascent of li/., hr., S.W.), and the Sautde la Saule (2 M. to

the S.E.), a fine cascade of the Rhue.' To the S.W., 31/2 M., lies Madic,
with a grand ruined castle of the 14th cent., overlooking the Dordogne.

—

To Xeussargues and St-Flour, see p. 359. — Omn. to (5 M. to the E.)

Champs-de-Bort. on the road to Condat (20 M.
; p. 259), in the Artense

district, where traces of glacier-erosion are very distinct. — Omn. to (31/2 M.
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to the N.E.) Lanohre, with its 12th cent, church and the fine 13th cent.

Chateau de Fa?s.— From Bort to (48V2 M. to the S.W.) Argentat (p. 271),
road through the picturesque Gorges de la Dordogne.

Beyond Bort we come to (841/2 M.) Saignes-Ydes, station for Ydes
(hotels), a small watering-place with an interesting church, and Saignes, a
pleasant summer resort, 2 M. to the S.E. of whicli is C'hastel-JIarlhac,
with basaltic 'orgies' like those of Bort. — Many tunnels and bridges;
superb views. — 102 M. Mauriac (2370 ft.; Central-Hotel, good, R. 2-3,

L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. des Touristes; pop. 3503), an ancient town, with the
Romanesque church of Notre-Dame-des-3Iiracles (12th cent.), containing
a black image of the Virgin. Old houses in the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville

;

against the church is a 'lanterne des morts' (p. 11). Motor-omn. to Salcrs
(12 M. to the S.E. ; see below): Mwthor to Le FalgouK {20 M. to theS.E.; aub.),

in the pretty *Valley of the Mars, a good centre for excursions. — The train
now descends from the plateau. — 107 M. Salitis, with its waterfall (100 ft.

high). — 109 M. Drngeac, with a Gothic church and a ruined castle. Omn.
to (6 M.) St-Jfartin-Vabneroux, with curious old houses, a castle-ruin,
aud a mineral spring. Omn. also to (7 M. to the S.E.) Salers (.8010 ft.

;

Hot. Serre, Chambre, Garcelon, L. or D. 21/2 fi"-), a medifeval little town,
on a hill overlooking the pretty valley of the Maronne, still partly
walled, and containing quaint gabled houses (15th-16th cent.). The Ch/rrrh,
of 1352, contains a Holy Sepulchre and an Adoration of tlie Shepherds by
Ribera (?). Motor-omn. to Aurillac (p. 281) and to Mauriac (see above)";
road to Murat, see p. 279. Ascent of the P/a/ Violent (p. 279), 2V2 hrs.
In the valley, 2i/o M. to the S., is the ruined cliateau of Fontangen, whence
we may walk to La Bastide, in a cirque at the foot of the Pug Chavaroche
(p. 282).— Beyond (111 M.) Drignac-Ally we descend to thi? picturesque
Gorge de la Maronne. —Yrom. (llSV/o M.) Loiipiac-St-C'hristophe an omn.
runs to (7 M.) St-Martin-Vahnerou.r and (91/2 M.) Fovtanges (see above).
— About IOV2 M. from (1221/2M.) St-IUide lies St-Cernin (Hot. Cambefort,
L. or D. 21/2 fr.), on the Doire, with a Romanesque church (fine wood-
carvings of the 15th cent.). — At (13OV2 M.) Miecaze we join the Brivc
line (p. 90). Thence to Aurillac, see pp. 90, 282.

From MoNTLugoN to St-Fi.our (Beziers), 135 M.. railway in 5^/4-9 hrs.
(24 fr. 45, 1(1 fr. 50, 10 fr. 80 c), highly picturesque. — To (79 M.) Bort, see
p. 258.-84 M. Antignac-Vebret, with basaltic dikes. On the right, on
a rock above the Sumene, is a ruined clmrch. To tlie N. is the Chateau
de Couzans. — Beyond a tunnel wo have a fine view of the deep valley
on the right. —871/2 M. St-Etienne-Menet. St-Etienne, on the Soulou, has
a Kith cent, chateau. Menet, 31/2 M. to the S., has interesting old houses
and a modern chateau.— 93 M. Riom-'cs-Montagne (2760 ft.; Hot. Roclio,
de Commerce), in a broad and smiling valley, with an old churcli and
Renaissance houses. Omn. to LeClaux{ll'M.. to the S. ; Hot. des Voyageurs),
in the upper valley of the Rhue, passing Ajtchon (3V.. M. ;

grand ruins,
with superb view) and Cheylade (7'/2 M. ; Hot. Cassard). — The train
enters the valley of the Petite Rhue and crosses tlie fine Viaduc de
Barajol. — 98 M. Condat-St-Amandin (3095 ft. ; Hot. do la Gare), in view
of the Monts Dore. Omn. to (41/2 M.) Condat-en-P^niers (2265 ft. ; Hot.
des Voyageurs, R. 2-4, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. 7-8 fr. ; Hot. de France; pop. 2699),
a summer resort. In the Santoire ravine, to the S., rises the Roche Pointue.
Omn. to Besse, see p. 238. —Beyond Condat we have a fine view of tlie

Cantal Mts. on the right, and we descend towards the Santoire valley.— The line crosses the stream and ascends to the Col de Chavih'es
(3550 ft.), its higliest point. — 110 M. Landegrat-Marcenat. Omn. to (5 M.
to the N.W.) Marcenat {\lt)t. des Voyageurs; pop. 2779), near which rise
the Chamaroux (4850 ft.) and the Signal du Lugvet (p. 219). These are tlie

highest peaks of the C6zallier, a range connecting the Monts Dore with
the Cantal, composed of gneiss with a thin crust of basalt, and covered
with pastures and heath. — The train now descends the valley of the >!/-

7rmc/i<'.— 1141/2 M. AUanche. Road to Le Breuil, see p. 219. -II91/2 M.
titc-AnastaHie. We pass the ^\x\\o\x^ Roc dc Cuzc, with its grotto "and
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Gothic ruins, and reach the valley of the Alagnon. — 123 M. Neussargiies
(p. 278). —The train leaves the Alagnon valley, ascends rapidly to the
S.E., and bevond a tunnel reaches the plateau of tlie PJanezc {j^. 279).

Fine view to" the left as we descend. — 126 M. Talizat {m{)b ii.). Then a
rapid descent. On the left, the old Chateau du Sailhant.— 135 M. St-
Flour (p. 282).

Beyond Montlugon we cross the Cher.— 175 M. Lavaufranche.
Branch-line to Chanipillet-Urciers, see p. 38.— l^V^j^lsi. Cressat.

AVe cross the Creuse by a viaduct, 185 ft. high.— 1961/'., M. Busseau-
cVAhun (buffet).

From Busseau-d'Ahux to Ussel, 49i/., M., railway in 2 lirs. 50 to

3 hrs. 50 min. (8 fr. 95, 6 fr. 5, 3 fr. 90 c). up the valley of the Creuse.
— 151/0 M. Aubusson (Hot. de France, de la Paix; 'pop. 7211), pic-

turesquely situated, is noted for its 15 carpet-factories, occupying over
2000 hands. (Museum in the ruined chateau.) It was the birthplace of

Pierre d'Aubusson. Grand Master of the Order of St. John of Jerusalem,
wlio defended Rhodes against Mahomet II. in 1480. — 22 M. Fdletin (hotel;
pop. 3040) also makes carpets. — Beyond (SOi/o M.) CJairavau.r we reach
the riafea/i de Millevaches (p. 270)' and pass" through a tunnel into the
ba.sin of the Diege. On the left is the militarv Camp de la Courtine. —
491/2 M. Ussel (p. 270).

2051/2 M. Gueret (Buffet, poor; Hot. St-Francois, R. from 3,

L. 3, D.'3V2 fr.; Hot. de la Paix; pop. 8281), once the capital of

the Marche, is now that of the department of the Creuse. The Pre-
fecture occupies a mediaeval mansion (15th-16th cent.). The Musee
contains Gallo-Roman antiquities, paintings, furniture, faience.

*Enamels, *Tapestry, ivories, etc., and a valuable ornithological

collection. Pretty environs. The Signal de Maupuy (2250 ft.),

2 M. to the S.AY.,"'and the Puy de Gaudy (2135 ft.), 2V2 M. to the

S.S.E., are good points of view. Lines to St-Sebastien and La
Chatre, see pp. 38, 39.— 2101/^ M. La Brionne. Omn. to (3 M. to

the N.W.) St-Vaury, with a church containing five splendid bas-

reliefs, in wood, of the Passion I'loth cent.").— 220\ oM. Vieilleville.

Branch-line to (12^ /.^ M.) Botirganeui (Hot. du Commerce. Saturnin;
pop. 3875), a busy town, mauufarturing porcelain, hats, paper, etc. It

contains the remains of a priory, v.ith the church of St-Jtan (13th-15th
cent.). Xear it are three 15th cent, towers, in the largest of which Zizim
(d. 1495), brother of Bajazet II., was imprisoned.

2331/2 ^I- St-Suljnce-Laurm'e (buffet), and thence to Limoges
and Bordeaux, see pp. 39-46.

b. Via St-Etienne, Clermont-Ferrand, and Tulle.

I^orthern Auvergne.

I. From Lyons to Clermont-Ferrand.

1251/- M. Railway in 61 0-73/4 hrs. (21 fr. 95. 14 fr. 85. 9 fr. 60 c). The
trains start from the Gare de Perrache (PI. C, 6).

Lyons, see p. 238. The train crosses the Saone twice. La
Midatiere (pop. 3631) soon appears on the right.— 3 M. OulUns
(pop. 12,243) has many chateaux and country-houses (tramway
No. 21, see p. 240). We follow the right bank of the Rhone. The
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pillars seen here and there on the banks arc used for cable-ferries.

— Beyond (11 M.) Le Sablon a branch crosses the Rhone to Chasse

on the left bank (p. 492).

121/2 M- Girors-Canal (buffet). We cross the Canal du Gier
or de Givors, and pass under the line on the right bank (R. 64b).

Line to Lozanne, see p. 207.

131/., M. Givors (Hot. de Provence; pop. 12,784), with im-

portant glass-works, lies at the confluence of the Rhone and the

Gie)'. The picturesque valley of the latter, which we now ascend,

is a very busy region, with factories of every kind and some of the

largest coal-mines in France.

221/2 M. Rive-de-Gier (830 ft. ; Hot. du Commerce
;
pop. 15,663)

lies on the Gier and the Canal du Gier. Iron-works, glass-works,

and silk-factories; the coal, formerly abundant, is now nearly ex-

hausted. Tramway to St-Etieune, see p. 262.

24 M. Lorette (pop. 4427). Farther on, to the left, Mont Pilat

(p. 265) appears.— 251/0 M. La Grand-Croix (pop. 4878). To La
Terrasse-sur-Dorlay and Mont Pilat, see p. 265.

281/, M. St-Chamond (1180 ft. ; Hot. du Lion-d'Or, du Cheval-

Noir, delaPoste; pop. 14,897) possesses coal-mines, iron-works,

silk, ribbon, boot-lace, and nail factories. The Comp. des Forges

et Acieries de la Marine alone employs over 3000 hands (adm. any
afternoon except holidays). The Jardin Public contains a monument
to Carnot by Vermare. The church of St-Pierre is of the 17th cen-

tury. Mont Pilat, see p. 265. Tramway to St-Etienne, see p. 262;
light railway to Pelussin via La Grand-Croix, see p. 264.

331/2 M. Terre-Noire (pop. 5355), with iron-foundries, forges,

and coal-mines.— A tunnel carries the line from the Rhone basin

into that of the Loire.— 36 M, St-Etienne.

St-Etienne.

Stations. Gave Centrcile or de ChCiUaucreiix (PI. E, 5; buffi-t), to

the N.E. ; Gave de la Terrasse (PI. H, 8). to the N., on tlie Roanne line

(tramway, see p. 2(j2); Gare du Clapier (PI. D, 2), to the W., on the Le
Puy line, nearest to tlie Hotel de Ville; Gare de Bcllevue (PI. A, 3), to

the S., also on the Le Puy line (tramwav. see p. 262).

Hotels. Hot. du Nord (PI. a; D, H.'l), 7 Rue de la Repul)lique, R.
from S, R. l'/4, L. or D. 3, P. from 8, omn. ^I.,h.\ Modern Hotel (PL e;

D 4), 21 Av. President-Faure, R. from 3 fr. ; Hot. de France (PI. h; D, 3),

4 Plate T)0T\A.n.~H6t. des Arts (PI. d; C 3). 11 Rue Gamhetta, R. from 3,

L. 3, D. 21/2, omn. 3/4 fr. ; Hot. de V Europe (PI. c; D, 3), 7 Rue du G^neral-
Foy, R. 3, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de la Pox^e, 7 Rue St-Jacques, L. or D. 2V2 fr.

Restaurants. Sa»to)ii-Gaillard, 2 Rue Gerentet; Gruber <& Vie.,

1 Av. President-Faure ; Brasserie du Passage. 6 Place de I'Hotel-de-
Ville; B7-ass. de VEst. 3 Av. Griiner; Brass, de la Gare, 29 Av. Denfert-
Rochereau, near the Gare Centrale, L. or D. 2V. fr. ; Brass, de St-Etienne,
13-15 Cours Victor-Hugo.— J5om7/on Parisien, 3 Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville.

Cabs. For 1-2 pers., per drive I1/4, per liour 2 fr. ; for 3-4 pers., I'/i

and2V2fr. ; at night (after 11 p.m.) V2 fr. more. — Motor Cabs. For 1-2 pers.

1 fr. for 1 km., then </, fr. for each additional km.; for 3-4 pers. I'/j fr-

and 60 c; at night 2/4 fr. extra.
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Tramavats. Comp. des Tramways Electriques (fare 10 c, incl. trans-
fer) : 1-3. From the Place Dorian (PL D, 3) to the Rond-Point (PI. A, 5),

to La Riviere, beyond Bellevue (PI. A, 3), and to Le :ilarais (PI. Gr. 5);
1-5. From the Gare de C'hdteancreux (PI. E, 5) to Bellevue (PI. A, 3) and
to the Hofd de ViJle (PI. D. 3) ; 6. From the Soleil (PL F, 6) to the Place
Raspail (PL C, 2). — Comp. des Chemins de Fer a Voie Etroite: 1-2 (electric).

From La Terrasse (PL H, 3) to Bellevue (PL A, 3), via the long street
running from N. to S. (every 5 min. ; 10 or 20 c), and to La Fouillense
(every I1/4 hr. ; 30 or 45 c); 3 (electric). From the Place du Peiiple (PL D, 3)
to the Octroi de Michon (PL E, 1), RocTie-la-Moli'ere, and St-Genest-Lerpt,
every 20 or 40 min. ; 4 (electric as far as St-Chamond). From the Place
du Penple (PL D, 3) to Terre-Noire (beyond PL D, 6), every 1/4 hr. (20 or
.SO c), and thence every 1/2 hr. to St-Chamond (p. 261; 45 or 70 c); then
steam to Rive-de-Gier (p.' 261; 45 or 65 c.) and to La Madeleine (15 or
25 c); 5. From the Place de Bellevue (PL A, 3) to Firminy (p. 272) via
La Ricarnerie and Le C'hambon, electric, every 1/4 hr. (35 or 55 c), and
thence to Le Pertuiset (p. 272), steam, hourly (20 or 30 c.): 6. From the
Place de Bellevue (PL A. 3) to La Digonniere, electric, everv 20 min.
(5 c); 7. From the Place du Peuple (PL D, 3) to St-Jean-Bonnefond
(PL D, 6), electric, every li/.> hr. (25 c).

Omsibuses ply to the environs.
Post & Telegraph Office at the Prefecture (PL E, 3). Branches in

the Cours Jovin-Bouchard (PL C, 3), Av. Denfert-Rochereau (PL D, 5), and
Place de Belleeour (PL A, 8).

Banks. C'omjjtoir d'EscompAe, 1 Rue de Paris; Credit I^yonnais,
Societe Generale, 7 and 8 Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville.

Baths. Hainmam StejjJianois, 22 Rue Balay ; Bains Moderyies, 26 Rue
de la Republique.

Theatres. Grand-Theatre (PL D, 3), Place des Ursules. — Eden-
Concert. 3 Rue de la Croix.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 8 Rue de la Prefecture.
American Consul, Tr. H. Hunt, 5 Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville.

St-Et'ienne (1695 ft.; pop. 148, 656), on the Furan, an import-

ant manufacturing town, the capital of the department of the Loire.
has developed more rapidly than any other in France, owing mainly
to its situation in the great coal-field of the Loire. It has also an
Ecole Xationale des Mines (p. 264). Fire-arms, ironmongery, and
ribbons are the chief manufactures. St-Etienne is a very busy place,

but will hardly interest the ordinary tourist.

The ribbon industry dates from the 16th cent., when Gayotti, a Bo-
lognese. introduced the' silk-mill at St-Chamond. In 1760 Dugas imported
looms from Zurich, and in 1793 Thiolli&re-Duchamp invented a'new velvet-
loom at St-Etienue. Tlie fabrics of the place, valued at 17 million fr. in
1786. have now attained a value of 93-100 million per annum.

The Gare Centrale (PI. E, 5) is a building of light construction,

owing to the proximity of its foundations to coal-mines. "We enter

the town by the Av. Denfert-Rochereau, from which the Rue de la

Republique leads to the Hotel de Yille.

The church of Ste-Marie (PI. D, 4), to the left of the Rue de

la Republique, facing the Rue de Lyon, is a modern Romanesque-
Byzantine edifice, designed by Boisson. The portals and the interior

are richly sculptured.

The Hotel de Ville (PL D, E, 3), another modern edifice, is

of massive proportions, with a dome surmounted by a lantern; the

steps are adorned with cast-iron statues of Metallurgy and Ribbon-
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making, by Moutagny.— Behind is the Place Marengo (PL E, 3),

with statues of Francis Gamier (1839-73), the explorer of Me-

kong and conqueror of Tougking, by Tony-N^oel, and Jose Frappa
(1854-1904:), the painter, by Bareau. The square contains also a

bronze Daphne by Dercheu.

Close by is the Prefecture, built in 1900 (paintings by J. P.

Laurens), with the post office. To the W. of the Place Marengo are

the Place Paul-Bert, with the small church of St-Charles. In the

Place Jacquard, to the N.W. of the church, is a monument to Jac-

quard (p. 250), by Landowski.

The Rue de la Republique with its prolongation, running E. to

W., is crossed at the Place de PHotel-de-Ville by the street (3 M.

long) intersecting the city from N. to S. In the Rue de Roanne, in the

N. part, is the great National Arms Factory (PL F, 3, 4 ; no adm.),

in which rifles and revolvers are made (3500 workmen). Besides

these, 100,000-150,000 guns are made here yearly by private firms.

From the Rue de Roanne the Rue de I'Eglisc leads to the left

to the Church of Montaud, built by Boisson, behind which is the

bust of Girodet (1849-97), a former mayor, by V. Zan.

On the left of the Rue des Jardins, the continuation of the Rue
de la Republique, is the modern Palais de Justice (PL D, 3). —
St-Etienne, or the Grand' Eglise (PL D, 3), in the Place Boivin,

to the S.E., dates from the loth cent., but is now sadly disfigured.

The pulpit is of the 17th cent., and the right aisle contains a Virgin

by Montagny. Around the church are several old houses.

On the E. side of the Rue Gambetta is the church of St-Louis

(PL 0, 3), in the classical style (17th-19th cent.). Farther S. is the

(Jours Jovin-Bouchard, with a monument to the Enfants de la Loire

(1870-71). Close by, in the Cours Victor-Hugo, arc the Halles

Centrales (PL C, 3) and the Bourse du Travail.

The Palais des Arts (PL C, 3), built in 1860 on a hill at

the back of the Cours Jovin-Bouchard, contains a Library (open on

week-days 9-12 and 4-10; on Sun. and holidays 3-7; closed from

17th Aug. to 17th Sept.) and various Musees (open on Sun., Tues,,

and Thurs., 10 to 12 and 2 to 4 or 5; at other times on application).

Ground Floor. The vestibule and staircase contain casts and fossils.

The Mus6e d'Artillerie occupies the rooms on tiie left. Room I

:

Locks, arms, powder (imitation).— Room II: Primitive weapons; by the

1st window, carved clul)s; in the adjoining case admirable specimens of

engraving and cliasing; 4th window, chasing, damascening, filigree-work;

TAh window, armoury tools. In the centre, fire-arms, notably a German
musket of 1587. — Room III: Armour and cannons; the first suit on the

riglit is that of Montecuculli; two small cannons from the Palatinate,

l.'iHe; in the glass-case in the centre are inlaid and engraved fire-arms;

horse-armour of Francis I.

In the other part of the ground-floor is the Library (50,000 vols, and
.'ii.3 MSS., relating ciiiefly to art and industry).

FiitsT Floor. On tlie staircase are two large paintings by Glaizc and
A. Fraynn(u-<J, and engravings.
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The Musee de Peinture, etc., occupies the main part, opposite
and to the right of the staircase. — Room I: Modern works by Em. Breton,
Hipx). Flandrin, Franccns. A. 3Iaignan. Xattier, etc. — Room II: Small
pictures, drawings, engravings, coins. Xote an Interior of a studio, by
Fragonard. — Room III (Salle Forezienne): Gothic chests; piano with
Chinese decoration: Sevres vase.— Room IV (beyond Room II): Furniture,
incl. a 16th cent, bed; Gobelins tapestry; Palissy ware; Sevres vase.

—

Room V: Engravings, furniture, Aubusson tapestry.
The Musee IndnstrieL at the other end of the picture-gallery, comprises

ribbons and silk stuffs, embroidery, models of looms, etc.

Second Flook. The Naturcd History M/iseum contains valuable
mineralogical specimens, and also several engravings and antiquities.

A little to the E. of the Eue Gambetta is the modern church
of St-Roch (PI. C,4), by Boissou, in the 13th cent. Gothic style.

Still farther E. is the public Jardin des Plantes (PI. C,4, 5).

To the S. lies Vcdbenoite (PI. A, 4), the church of which is the sole
relic of a Cistercian abbey (1222).

From the Place du Peuple (PI. D, 3) we follow the Av. Presideut-

Faure to the E,, passing, on the right, the monument of Jides Janin
(1804-74), novelist and critic, and then, on the left, the Lycee
(PI. D,4) and the statue of Pierre Dorian (1814-73), the statesman.

A little to the S., in the Rue Dormand, rises the church of Kotre-
Dame (PI. D,4), of 1670, containing a fine pulpit. To the E. of

the church is the Ecole des Mines (PI. D, 4), founded in 1816, the

only one in France besides that of Paris. It contains valuable

collections. Entrance in the Eue Fontainebleau.
From St-Etienne to Roanne (Paris), see R. 31a; to Le Puy, see R. 37.

Light railways from the Place Carnot (PI. F, 3) to (SVz M.) St-Heand
(1 hr. ; 1 fr. 45, 80 c), and viji St-C'liamond and La Grand-Croix (p. 261)
to (271/., M.) Pehtssin (p. 265; 31/4-41/2 hrs. ; 4 fr. 85, 2 fr. 65 c).

Excursions.— To Rochetaillee and the Barp.ages, interesting.
To (41/;; M.) RochetaiUe'e by road (omn.), see below. About IV4M. beyond,
in a wild ravine, is the Barrage du Gouffre-d' Etifer. constructed in 1861-6
to supply St-Etienne with water. It is about 110 yds. long, 180 ft. high,
and 160 ft. thick at the base, and the reservoir can contain 352 million
gallons. A path on the E. bank leads in i/^ hr. to the Barrage du Pas-du-
Riot, constructed in 1873-8, with a reservoir holding 296 million gallons.

To THE Grand-Bois, 91/.2 M. to the S.W. Excursion-cars on Sun. and
Thurs. in summer (21/2 fr. return). The road leads via La Bigonnih'e,
Le Bois-Xoir, Plavfoy, and the Bois de la Repiihliqiie (Hot. Girodet).
The Grand-Bois (Hot. Courbonl, chiefly pine-woods, extends to (5 M.)
the Croix-de-Chaubouret (see below).

To THE Mont Pilat. — a. From. St-Etienne to the Ferme du Pilat
16 M., and thence 1/0 hr. to the Cret de la Perdrix. Omn. twice a day
from 22 Place du Peuple to (41/2 M. ; 50 c.) Rochetaillee, and every morning
from 9 Place Dorian to (11 M. ; 2 fr., return 3 fr.) Le Bessat. Also excursion-
car on Sun. and Thurs. to Mont Pilat (4 fr. return). — The road leads S.E.,
by the suburb of Valhenoite (see above), and then skirts the right bank of
the Furens, a stream descending from Mont Pilat. — 41/2 M. Rochetaillee
(Hot. du Chateau), a village picturesquely situated on an isolated rock,
with a ruined castle. The church (15th cent.) contains a fine font of 1595.
— The road ascends rapidly; fine view of the Barrages (see above), the
village of Planfoy, and tlie plain of the Forez.— 6 M. Essertine. AVe
cross the wild plateau of the Barbanche. — 11 M. Le Bessat (3825 ft.;

aub.). The road then crosses (^/^ M.) the Col de la Croix-de-Chauhouret
(3940 ft.) and leads partly through woods, the Cret de la Perdrix being on
our right. — 16 M. Jasserie, or Ferme du Pilat (4290 ft.

;
quarters), lies at
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the foot of the Cret (25 miu.). — A new road, used by the excursion-cars,

starts from the Col de la Croix-de-Chaubouret, leaves the Jasserie road
to the left, and winds up through woods and pastures to the Hotel de
VcEillon (L. or D. 3 fr,), at the foot of the Cret de I'CEillon (see below;
20 min.). Walkers take IV2 hr. to go from the CrSt de la Perdrix to

the Cret de I'ffiillon, and 1/2 '"". from the latter to the Grand-Hotel du
Mont-Pilat (see below).

b. From Chavanay (p. 477), the route for those approaching from the
Khoue. (From Lyons to Chavanay, 31 M., railway in li/4-l''*/4 hr. ; 5 fr. (30,

3 fr. 80, 2 fr. 45 c.) Omn. from Chavanay, meeting the first train from Lyons,
to tlie Grand-Hotel du Mont-Pilat in 31/., hrs. (5 fr. return). — The road
passes (4V.» M.) Fehisshi (B.dt. du Commerce; light railway to St-Etieune,
see p. 264)," mounts rapidly to the Col de Ja C'roix-du-C'oUet (3095 ft. ; hotel),

and then leads through woods to the (10V'> M.) Grand-Uotel du Mont-Pilat
(4105 ft. ; May-Oct. ; R. from 3, B. l^'o, L" 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr., good), a

liandsome building surrounded with pine-woods and affording superb views.
Thence to the Cret de I'CEillon and the Cret de la Perdrix, see above.

c. From St-Chaniond (p. 261), 15 M. to the Jasserie. Omn. on Sun.
and Wed. to (lOVo M.) Le Bessat (4 hrs. ; 4 fr.). The picturesque road
passes (5 M.) La Valla (2165 ft.; Hot. St-Andeol) and the (10 M.) Croix-
de-Chaubo/iret (p. 264). From Le Bessat to the Jasserie (5 M.), see p. 264.

d. From La Grand-Croix (p. 261). Light railway to (4V> M.) La Tcr-
russe-stir-Dorlay or en-Doizieux (V2 br. ; 75 or 40 c.), on the Pelussiu line

(p. 264); thence via Doizienx and the Croix-du-Collet to (7 M.) the Grand-
Hotel du Mont-Pilat.

The Mont Pilat, to the S.E. of St-Etienne, is one of the chief
heights of the XoHhern Otveiines. Its lower slopes are clothed willi

forest, its top with pastures. It culminates in tlie Cret de la Perdrix
(4705 ft.), the Cret de VCEillun (4480 ft.), and the Pic des Trois-Dents
(3965 ft.). On the E. side of the second, near the Croix-du-Collet, is tlie

Grand-Hotel du Mont-Pilat (see above). The legend that Pontius Pilate
killed himself here in despair is related of this mountain, as it is also
of Pilatus on the Lake of Lucerne; and botli serve as barometers for the
environs. A popular saying runs 'When Pilate jiuts on his hat, put on
your cloak'. A similar remark applies to the Puy de Dome. — Tlie summit
commands a splendid *Panorama, extending £. to the Alps, S. to the
Rhone vallej- and the Southern Cevennes, W. to the Auvergne hills,

and N. to the hills of Lyonnais, Beaujolais, and Charolais. The Gier,
which rises on the Cret de la Perdrix, near the farm, forms (1 hr. lower
down) a fine cascade, 100 ft. high, the Said du Gier.

From St-Etienne to Annonay and St-Rambekt-d'Albon, 62 M.,
railway in 41/4-5 hrs. (11 fr. 30, 7 fr. 60, 4 fr. 95 c), a wonderfully
engineered line. Finest views to the right. -To (9'/., M.) Firiiiiny, .'xe

p. 272. The Annonay line now runs S. and at first ascends the valley
of the Senii'ne or Sinni'ue. To the left rises Mont Pilat (see above). —
18 M. St-Didier-la-S6auve (2415 ft.; Hot. de I'Etoile; pop. .0857), a
rihboii-making town. — 2IV2M. St-Pal-St-Romain (2840 ft.; Hot. Guillau-
mond).

—

tiS^j., M, Duiiieres (2580 ft.; Hot. Linossier; pop. 3327) has a
church of the llth-12th cent.; near it is the Tour de Joijeuse, of the
13th. To La Voulte-sur-Rhone, see p. 266. — SO'/a M. Rioiord (2840 ft.;

Hot. Souvignet; pop. 2730) is the centre of the timber-trade of the district.

Romanesque church. We pass through the longest tunnel (I'/a MO on the
line, which now reaches its highest point (3010 ft.), and de-scena E. by a
rapid gradient (1 : 33). —Beyond (36 M.) St-Sauveur-en-Rue (2570 ft.) we
reach the *Loop of Bourg-Argevtal, where the line describes a circle with
a radius of only 315 yds. - 411/.. m. Bourg-Argental (1755 ft.; Hot. de
France; pop. 4226), an industrial town on X\\c Deome. Its modernized
church has a 12th cent, portal.—We descend the Beoine valley.

491/2 M. Annonay (1170 ft.; Hot. du Midi, good, R. from 2i/..., L. 3,

1). 31/2 fr. ; Hot. Mouigue-Teissier
;

pop. 16,661), an industrial town,
picturesquely situated at the junction of the valleys of the Deome anil
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the Cance, is noted for its leather-factories and paper-mills. The Eglise
du Trachin dates from 1320. Notre-Dame is of the 18th century. In
the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville is a monument to the brothers Monfgolfler,
who in 1783 made their first balloon ascent here. Annonay and its

factories are supplied with water by the huge Barrage du Ternaij. 5V2 M.
to the N.W. — Omn. twice daily from the station to (II1/2 M.) Lalouvesc
(pron.-vay ; 3445 ft. ; Hot. Chaix, des Trois-Pigeons, Deygas), a picturesque
summer resort, with the pilgrimage-church of St. Jean Francois Regis
(1597-1640). Omn. to Lamastre, see p. 478.

Beyond (53 M.) Midon the line turns to the N.E. and rapidly de-

scends. Fine view of the Rhone valley. — 581/2 M. Peyraud, junctioD for

the line from Lyons to Ximes on the right bank of the Rhone (p. 477).

C'hamx>ag}i€, IV2 M. from Peyraud, has a Romanesfjue-Byzantine church
(11th cent.).— AVe cross the Rhone.— 02 M. St-Rambert-d'Alton (p. 495).

From Duxieres to La Voulte-sur-RhOxe. 671/2 M., narrow-gauge line

in 43/4-51/2 lirs. (12 fr. 30, 9 fr. 15, 6 fr. 70 c), very attractive. —jD//?«it?-^s,

see p. 265. — 41/2 M. Montfancon (2995 ft.; Hot. de la Gare, du Midi), an
ancient little town. — At (G M.) Raucoides-Brossettes diverges the branch
for Lavoiite-sur-Loire (p. 273). — IO1/2 M. Tence (2790 ft.; Hot. Desfran^ais,
Mourges, Choi; pop. 4574). on the Lignoii, a summer resort, pleasantly
situated. — 16 M. Le C'hambon-3Tazet (3175 ft.), station for Le C'hambon-
de-Tence (Hot. Chalaye, Riou), a summer resort, charmingly situated on
the Lignon. opposite the Pic de Lizieiix (4565 ft.). — 21 M. Devesset-St-
Romain (3480 ft.) is the highest point of the line, on the watershed
between the Rhone and the Loire. —23 M. St-Agreve (3420 ft.; Buffet,

with rooms, well spoken of, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Porte, Vivarais, du
Commerce, de la Butte-Chiniac, all near the station; Hot. Sam. Jouve,
in the town; pop. 2978), at the foot of the Butte C'hiniac (3725 ft.;

splendid view), is coming into favour as a summer station and is an ex-

cellent centre for excursions. One of the finest is to (22 M.) Les Estables
(Mezenc; p. 278), to which an excursion-car runs once a week. — Grand
views as we descend, high above the valley of the Erieux, w'here the
line has been most skilfully engineered. By means of a bold loop to

the left it rounds the valley of the Aigueneyre. — 30 M. St-Julien-
Bouti'eres (2240 ft. ; hotel), picturesquely situated, is connected with the
station by a lofty viaduct. — 331/2 M. St-Martin-de-Valamas (1715 ft.

;

Hot. de France, Boyer, Moderne; pop. 2670), on the right, at the confluence
of the Erieux and the Eysse. — Farther on, to the left, splendidly situated,

is tlie ruined Chateau de Rocheboitne. — SS'Si. Le Cheylard (1475 ft.;

Hot. Courtial, Faure; pop. 3478), an old town with silk-mills and leather-

dressing YN'orks, picturesquely ensconced in the valley of the Dome, ^U M.
to tlie right of the line. Omn. twice daily to (6 M.) the small baths of

Dornas. Line to Tournon, see p. 478; motor-omn. to Yals-les-Bains, see

p. 482; omn. to Fay-le-Froid (p. 277). — The Dunieres line soon diverges
to the left. — 52 M. St-Sauveur-de-JIontagut (690 ft. ; Hot. des Voyageurs,
Alban, de la Poste), whence an omn. runs three times daily to (15 M.)
Marcols (2295 ft. ; Hot. Vial, Lafont). a' pretty little watering-place.— From
(551/0 M.) Les OUieres (670 ft. ; Hot. du Nord, du Pont) an omn. runs to

Privas (p. 478; 12 M.). — Above (59 M.) St-Fortuiiat (Hot. de la Gare)
rises the ruined castle of Pierregourde. Omn. to Vernoux, see p. 478.

— 671/2 M. La Voulte-sur-Rhone (p. 478).

Beyond St-Etienne we follow the Koanne (Paris) line to (4372^0
St-Just-sur-Loire (p. 209).— At (-4572 M.) Andrezievx we cross

the Loire, often partly dry.— 47 M. Bonson (1245 ft.).

From Bonson to Sembadel, 411/./M., railway in 21/2-31/., hrs. (7 fr. 50,

5 fr. 5, 3 fr. 30 c.). — 17M. St-Boiinet-le-Cliateau(2775 ft. ; Hot. du Forez
;

pop. 2480), a picturesque and ancient little town, with an interesting
church (15th-16th cent.), an old town-gate, and curious old houses. - 33 M.
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Craponne-sur-Arzon (3120 ft. ; Hot. du Xord
;
pop. 3713), a lace-making

to-wn with several old towers. Motor-onin. to Le Puy, see p. 277. — 4IV2M.
Sembadel (p. 222).

•49 M. Sury-le-Comtal, with a flamboyant Gothic church and a

Renaissance chateau (17th cent.).— 52 JNI. St-Romaui-le-Puy, on

the right, with a ruined priory (early 11th cent.).

567-2 M. Montbrison (1290 ft.; Buvette; Hot. du Lion-d'Or,

E. 3-5, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de la Poste; pop. 7707), an ancient

town, once the capital of the Forez, lies on the Vizezy, at the foot

of a hill crovrned with a Calvary. The Gothic church of Notre-

Dame-d'Esperance, begun in 1223 and restored in 1904, contains

the tombs of Canon Pierre de Vernet (d. 1363) and Guy TV., Comte

du Forez, founder of the church (d. 1239). Behind the church is

the Diana (decana;, an interesting chapter-house, founded ca. 1300,

and restored in 1866 by Yiollet-le-Duc. (Adm. 2-5 on Tues., Wed.,

Thurs., Fri., except in Sept.; at other times apply at the shoe-

maker's, to the left.) The fine ^Vaulting, almost the only old part,

is enriched with painted escutcheons. Handsome chimney-piece.

The Diana now contains two small libraries, and in an adjoining

court there is a museum. We may visit also the Tour des Adrets,

a relic of the old castle; the Palais de Justice, once an 18th cent,

monastery ; the small Natural History Musetim ; the pretty Jardin

de la Viile, with a statue of the poet Laprade (1812-83), a native

of the town; and lastly the Hdtel de Ville, partly occupying an old

convent of the Cordeliers.

About 1/2 br. S. is Moingt, with Roman remains and a feudal keep.
From Montbrison to Lyons, via Montrond and L'Arbresle, see p. 255.

597-2 M. Champdieu has a fortified 12th cent, church, in the

Auvergnat Romanesque style, once belonging to a Benedictine priory

;

the porch, crypt, and font are interesting. Part of the priory-walls

still exist. Note also the 15th cent, hospital, with its tall decagonal

turret.— To the right is the Mont d'Uzm^e (1770 ft.).— 6372 M.
Marcilly-le-Pave (1415 ft.) with a fine Gothic chateau, restored in

the 19th century.— 67 M. Boiin (1275 ft.; Central-Hotel; pop. 2768)

occupies a picturesque site. To the E., 3 M., is the mediaeval Chateau
dela Bdtie-d'Urfe. To Roanne, see p. 208.— We enter the moun-
tains and cross the Lignon.

697, M. Sail-som-Couzan (1345 ft.). The village (Hot. des

Roches, du Xord), I72 ^^- to the S. (omn.), has four mineral springs,

containing bicarbouates, iron, and carbonic acid gas, witi well-

managed baths for the treatment of dyspepsia, gravel, etc.

An interesting route leads S.W.. through tlie pretty valley of the
Liqiiou. and by (5';,, M.) St-Georges-en-Couzan (Hot. Bdal), to (10 M.)
Chalmazelle (2815 ft.; Hot. Yial), with a cliateau of the 13th-lGth cent,

and a liandsonie modern church. Excursions among the Monts du Forez,
including the ascent of the Pierre-sur-Httute (2-2V2hr8. ; p. 221).

On a hill to the left are the picturesque ruins of the *Chdtean
de Couzan (llth-16th cent.).—We quit the Lignon and ascend the

Baeoekek's Soutlierii France. C.th Edit. 17
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valley of the Auzon.— 72 M. L'Hop ital-soiis-Rochefo7't (1400 ft.),

to the left, once had a fortified Benedictine priory, of which there

remain two crenellated gateways (15th cent.) and the church. The

latter contains a good image of the Virgin, of the late 15th cent.,

and a cross of the 13th.— 76 M. St-Thnrin (1580 ft.). Views to

the right.— 88^/2 M. Noiretahle (2365 ft.; Hot. du Commerce; pop.

2150 1. "We leave the valley of the Auzon and enter that of the

Z>?tro/7e. — 94 M. St-Remy-sur-Durolle (1790 ft.), 2^/^M. from

the town (pop. 4574), where cutlery is manufactured. — We skirt

the Monts du Forez (pp. 267, 221), which rise on the left. Splen-

did views of the gorge of the Durolle, also on the left.

97 M. Thiers (1435 ft. ; Hot. de Paris, R. from 2, L. 3, D. 21/2 fr.

;

Syndicat d'Initiative; pop. 17,437), an important seat of the cutlery-

trade, is most picturesquely situated on the slopes of the ravine

of the Durolle, the water of which affords abundant motive power.

There is a difference of 650 ft. between the lowest and the highest

houses. Many of these are of the 15th cent, or older, blackened

with age.

In the Place du Piroux, in the old town, stands the Chdteau
du Piroux, a curious old timber house of 1423. There are others

in the Rue de la Coutellerie (No. 21, Maison d'Adam), in the Rue
Grenette, and in the Rue du Piroux (No. 11, Maison des Sept

Peches Capitaux). The ground-floors of nearly all the houses in

this quarter are occupied by small cutlers' workshops.— The
church of St-Genes, in the Place du Palais, a little higher up,

dating from the llth-12th cent., was altered in the 13th. The

choir has a dome resting on pendentives. Under a porch on the

left side is a tomb of the 13th century.

The Rue Durolle, reached from the end of the square to the left

of the church, and then turning to the left, descends to the Durolle.

the picturesque banks of which afford the finest views of the town.

Most of the numerous factories here are paper-mills and work-

shops for polishing scissors and knives. Some of the polishers,

who work lying flat on their faces, have trained dogs sitting on

their backs to keep them warm. Farther down, to the left, is the

Romanesque Eglise du MoiUier, or St-Symphorien, formerly

belonging to a Benedictine abbey, founded in the 7th or 8th cent.,

but largely rebuilt in the 11th. It contains curious capitals. To the

X. is an old Gateicay with two towers, another relic of the abbey.

Upstream also the valley is interesting. We may ascend by the

Route du Cordon to the Lyons road at the top of the town. Still

higher, above the railv/ay, lies the Plateau des Horts (2050 ft.),

the view from which is very extensive.

Motor-omn. to Clermont-Ferrand, see p. 223.

To the N.E., 13 M.. rises the Puy de Montoncel (4240 ft.; beauti-

ful view), a spur of the Forez Mts. The ascent takes 5 hrs. on foot,

but we may drive via (41/2 M.) St-Remy-si(r-Di(roJle (see above) to (8 M.)
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Palladuc (2785 ft.; hotel; carr. from Thiers 15, with two horses 30 fr.);

then walk to (3 M.) La Lisolle, and to the top in 1 hr. more.

Beyond Thiers we descend in a curve to the valley of the Dore,

a tributary of the Allier. Fine view to the left.—At (IO272 M.)

Courty (970 ft.; buvette) the line to Vichy diverges (p. 216).—

104 M. Pont-de-Dore (995 ft.; buffet), on the Vichy and Ambert

line (p. 220).

We are now in the Limagne (p. 2 17) .— 110 M. iesowcc (1150 ft.

;

Hot. de la Croix-d'Or; pop. 3240), with numerous potteries, noted

since the Gallo-Roman period.— 113 M. Seychalles-Moissat, with

the tower of Courcour to the right.— II51/2 M. Vertaizon, on a

hill to the left.

Brancli-line to (51/2 M.) Billom (Hot. des Voyageurs; pop. 4005), an

ancient town, once famed for its school. It now has a militarj- school.

The church of St-C'erneuf (llth-lSth cent.) contains a fine tomb of the

14th cent, and other works of art. About 5 M. to the S.E. are the ruins

of the Chateau de Mauznn (13th cent.).

1171/2 M. Pont-du-Chdteau (1080 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs;

pop. 2751), 1/2 ^^- to the N., on the left bank of the Allier, has a

ruined castle and bitumen-wells.— 122 M. Aulnat, near the large

sugar-refinery of Bourdon.— Fine view of the Monts Dome.

—

1251/2 M. Clermont-Ferrand (buffet; p. 222).

II. From Clermont-Ferrand to Brive. Northern Auvergne.

1221/2 M. Railway in 5 hrs. 35 (in summer) to 7 hrs. 5 min. (22 fr. 15 c,

15 fr., 9 fr. 70 c). Views to the right as far as Meymac, afterwards to

the left.

This line makes a long loop to the S. of Clermont (fine view to

the right); it then ascends to the N. and skirts the Monts Dome

(p. 227).— 3 M.- Royat (p. 226), of which we have a good view.

—

51/2 M. Durtol-Nohanent, with a sanatorium. A road to the left

near the station leads into the pretty Vallee de Gi'essigny. Fine

view of the Limagne (p. 217) to the right. — 10 M. Chanat-la-

Mouteyre. To the left rise the Puy de Dome, Puy de Pariou, etc.

121/2 M. Volvic-Cratere (2395 ft.; Hot. du Cratere), at the foot

of the Pny de la Nugere (3260 ft.), whose 'cheire', or lava-stream,

the train crosses. The village of Volvic is on the Riom line (p. 217),

41/2 M. by railway, 3 M. by road. Line to Lapeyrouse and MontluQon,

see p. 257. On each side of the line are large quarries of lava, used

for building.— From (18 M.) La Vauriat (2755 ft.) the Ptiy de

Louchadiere (3935 ft.), 2 M. to the left, may be ascended.

231/2 M. Pontgibaud (2205 ft. ; Hot. du Commerce, de la Poste,

L. 21/2, D. 3), a pleasant little town on the Sioule, lies at the junc-

tion of lava-streams from the Puys de Come and de Louchadiere.

The Chdteau, built in the 6th cent, and rebuilt by Robert L late in

the 12th, contains a valuable collection of paintings (adm. on ap-

plication). The Church (15th-16th cent.) contains two paintings of

17*
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the Adoration, by Guido Keui, and an Assumption by Parrocel.

One of the town-gates dates from 1444:. Two mineral springs in

the environs; in the valley of the Sioule are those of Chdteaufort.
Excursions (comp. Maps, pp. 217, 227). The Valley of the Sioule,

downstream, with its basaltic colonnade, wild ravines, and fine views,

deserves a visit. We may walk or drive to (11 M.) the ruined Chartreuse
de Port-Ste-Marie. Near the Moulin des Combres, 7 M. from Pontgibaud,

is the picturesque Cascade de JIaziere. — To the S.E., I1/4M., is the Cheire
du Puy de Come (p. 229), with the curious Camp des Chazaloux, remains
of Celtic habitations (or at latest of the 4th-5th cent.). — To the Puy de

Dome (p. 228), via the Cheire de I'Aumone and Ceyssat, lOM.— Ascent
of the Puy de Pariou (p. 229), via the Col des Goules, 71/2 M.

The line rounds the Monts Dome and ascends the Sioule valley.

— 28 M. La Miouze-Eochefort (2290 ft.).

Rochefort-Montagne (Hot. Trinquier, L. or D. 3 fr., good; Hot. Marret),

with its ruined castle, is 7 M. to the S. (omn. in 11/2 hr-i 1 fr-), and 5 M.
from Laqueuille (see below). To the E. of Rochefort, 3 M., is Orcival,

the Romanesque church of which, coutaiuing a black statue of the Virgin,

is a great resort of pilgrims on Ascension Day. About li/^ M. to the N.

of Orcival, on the Clermont-Ferrand road, is the Chateau de Cordes
(11th cent.), with a fine garden. — Other attractive excursions are to the

Pmj de Banson (3420 ft.), 51/2 M. to the X.W., by the G-elles road, and
to the pretty Cascade des Saliens, 61/2 M. to the X.E.

351/0 M. Bourgeade (2725 ft.). To the left is the Banne d'Or-

danche (p. 232).— 40 M. LaqneuUle (3090 ft.; buffet), junction for

La Bourboule and Le Mout-Dore (see p. 230).

We now descend into the basin of the Dordogne.— 48 M. Bourg-

Lastlc-Messeix. Views to the right as we descend the picturesque

ravine of the Clidane.— 537-2 ^I- Eygurande-MerUnes (2345 ft.

Bufl'et ; Hot. de Paris, at the station, E
MontluQon and to Aurillac, see p. 25J

641/2 M. Ussel (Buffet; Hot. du Dauphin, L. 27.2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot.

de la Gare, de I'Agneau; pop. 4979), 3/4 M. from the station. In the

Place Voltaire is a Roman eagle, 6 ft. high, rudely carved in gran-

ite, which was found in an ancient camp near Ussel.

Branch-line to Busseau-d'Ahun, see p. 260.

Narrow-gauge line in construction to (561/2 M.) Tidle (p. 271), via (17 M.)

A^<^^/^;^c (2085 ft. r Hot. des Voyageurs, de la Poste, du Cheval-Blanc; pop.

2801), a centre for excursions (omn. to Egletons, see below).

731/.^ M. Meymac (2305 ft. ; Hot. du Commerce, at the station;

Hot. de Bordeaux, in the town; pop. 3928), 174^^- to the left, at

the foot of the Puy de Meymac. Interesting abbey-church of the

11th- 12th centuries. To the N. stretches the Plateau de Mille-

vaches (fine views). Ascents: 3fo7it Bessou (3230 ft.), the highest

point in the Limousin, and Mont Audouze, or Puy Curade

(3130 ft.), 87-2 M. to the N. Line to Limoges, see p. 42.

The Brive line turns to the S.W., in view of the Monts du Cantal

(p. 279) on the left.— From (85 M.) Egletom (Hot. de Bordeaux,

de la Poste; pop. 1921) an omn. runs to Xeuvic (see above; 17 M.),

passing (3 M.) the ruined Chateau de Ventadonr; also to Treignac

(see p. 271).— 967<, M. Correze. The village lies 31/2 M. to the K.,
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on the Correze, at the S. end of the Monedieres (see below).— We
next pass the Etang de Brack, a pretty lake on the right.

99 M. Gimel (1620 ft.), 1^/4 M. to the S., has three famous

*"Waterfalls, the finest in Central France ('Grande Cascade', 'Ee-

dole', and 'Queue de Cheval'), in all 470 ft. high, formed by the

Montane in the Pare Vuillier (adm. 50 c. ; Pavilion des Eaux-Vives,

in summer only, good, L. 2^/^^ D. 3 fr,). The church contains the

enamelled reliquary of St. Stephen (see below).

We descend, high above the Montane valley. View to the left.

1061/2 M. Tulle (Gr.-H6t. Notre-Dame, R. from 21/3, L. 3,

D. 31/2, P. from 7 fr.; Gr.-H6t. Moderne; pop. 15,942), capital of

the department of the Correze, lies on the Correze, near its junction

with the Solane. It was taken by the English in 1346 and 1369,

but soon shook off their yoke. It now possesses a national arms

factory (no adm.). The Av. Victor-Hugo, crossing the Correze, leads

from the station to (^4 M.) the centre of the town (omn. 15 c).

Farther on is the Cathedral of Notre-Dame, of the 12th cent.,

with a fine tower of the 14th, but stripped of its choir and transept

in 1793. On the S. side are cloisters in the flamboyant style (apply

at Peuch's bookshop. Place Gambetta). In the Place Gambetta,

behind the Cathedral, is the Maisou de VAhhe (15th cent.). The
streets diverging from the Place d'Arche, in front of the Cathedral,

contain several interesting old houses (Rue du Trech, Rue des

Portes-Chanac, 6 Rue d'Alverge). The old Eveche on the left bank
now contains a Musee.

Narrow-gauge line from Tulle to (20 M.) Argentat (Hot. Notre-Dame,
de Bordeaux; pop. 2895), on the Dordogne. now navigable. From Argentat
to Bort, see p. 259; to Beaulieu, see p. 90.

Narrow-gauge line being built to TJssel, see p. 270.

Narrow-gauge line to (21 M.) Uzerche (p. 89), via (11 M.) Seilhac,
where the Treignac line diverges (see below).

From Tulle to Treignac, 29 M., narrow-gauge line in 2Va-3V2 brs.

(3 fr. 55, 2 fr. 35 c). — To Seilhac, see above. — Treignac (Hot. de la

Bagatelle, good; pop. 2842), a quaint old town, lies on the Vezere, whose
valley is very picturesque. Below the town is (I1/4 M.) tlie Eocher des
Folles; above it (51/2 M.) is the Said de la Virolle, a fine waterfall. The
town still has gates, a ruined castle, and several old houses. Omn. to

Egletons (21 M.
; p. 270), across the Monedieres, a range of hills 12 M. long.

The train descends the rocky and picturesque valley of the Cor-

reze.— 111 M. Co7'nU, with a factory of chestnut- tan.— 1151/2 ^^^

Auhazine- St-Hilaire. Auhazine (Hot. St-Etienne), 2 M. to the S.E.,

grew up round a Benedictine abbey (12th cent.), whose chapter-house

still exists. The Church (1156-76) contains the superb 13th cent.

*Tomh of St. IStephen (d. 1159), founder of the abbey. To the S.

arc the Gorges du Coiroux, where the course of the stream was
altered by the monks in order to supply the abbey. Narrow-gauge
line in construction to Beaulieu (241/0 M.

; p. 90).

122V2 M. Brive (buffet; p. 89).
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m. Prom Brive to P6rigueux and Bordeaux.
1231/2 M. Railway in 33/4-51/^ hrs. (22 fr. 40, 15 fr. 15, 9 fr. 80 c).

This line diverges to the left from the two Limoges lines and
follows the valley of the Vezere.— 8 M. La Rivi^re-de-Mansac,
junction for (17 ]\I.) Juillac (p. 43). — 12 M. Terrasson (Grand-

Hotel
;
pop. 3794), with a Gothic church of the loth cent, and a ruined

abbey, is the junction for Hautefort (12^2 M-; P- 43) and for

Sarlat (26 M.; p. 56). — 191/2 M. La Bachellerie, centre of a

wine-growing region,— At (38 M.) Niversac, in the pretty valley

of the Manoir, we join the Agen line (p. 85).— 45 M. Perigueux,
and thence to Bordeaux, see pp. 43-46.

37. Prom Lyons to Toulouse via Le Puy
and Aurillac.

Southern Auvergne.
348V2 M. Railway interesting, but no through-trains.— From Lyons

to Le Pmj, 891/2 M., railway in 41/2-01/2 brs. (16 fr. 25 c, 11 fr., 7 fr. 10 c).
— From Le Puy to Aurillac, 120 M., railway in 7-12 hrs. (21 fr. 70, 14 fr. 70,

9 fr. 50 c.).— From Aurillac to Toulouse, 140 M., railway in 6-71/2 hrs.

(25 fr. 30, 17 fr. 10, 11 fr. 20 c).
From Lyons to Toulouse via Nimes and Cette (Routes 64, 41, 14),

357 M., in IO3/4-193/4 hrs. (64 fr. 85, 43 fr. 80, 28 fr. 60 c).

To (36 M.) St-Etie7ine, see pp. 260, 261. The Le Puy line

skirts the town on the W., passing the arms-factory (to the right)

and crossing a curved viaduct.— 41^2 ^I- La Ricamarie (pop.

9927) produces shoe-nails and bolts. Near it are coal-mines, one

of which has been on tire since the 15th century.— 43Y2 M- Le
Chamhon-Feugei^olles (Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 12,714) has iron-

works and coal-mines. To the S., Y2 ^-i is the Chdteau de Feuge-
rolles (llth-17th cent.).

451/2 M. Firminy (Buffet; Hot. du Xord; pop. 19,580), another

industrial town, is the centre of a coal and iron district.

Line to St-Just-sur-Loire, see p. 209; to Annonay and St-Ramhert-
(VAlhon, see pp. 265, 266. — Tramway to St-Etienne, see p. 262.

46^2 ^I- Fraisse-Unieux, the station for two small industrial

towns, is the junction for St-Just-sur-Loire (p. 209).—We reach the

Loire, flanked here with picturesque hills.— 48 M. Le Pertuiset

(hotels), with river-baths. Tramway to St-Etienne, see p. 262. A
region blackened with smoke and coal, the scene of feverish industry,

is succeeded by a peaceful valley. Views mostly to the right.— On
Mont Cornillon, to the left, is a ruined castle of the 12th-16th

cent. ; within its walls is a church of the 12th and 15th, with a

curious tower, several altar-pieces, and fine 17th cent, wood-carving.

— 491/2 M. Semene. We cross the Semene (p. 265). — 5IV2 M.

Aurec, with an old castle.— In the distance, to the right, is the

ruined Chdteau de Rochebaron.
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68^/2 M. Bas-Moiiistrol, the station for Bas (Hot. des Voya-
geurs), 2 M. to the W., and for Monistrol-sur-Loire (Hot. Mallet;

pop. 5008), 2V2 M. to the E. (omn. 40 c), with a castle of the

Bishops of Le Puy (15th cent.).— ^l^j^'K. Pont-de-Lignon, at the

confluence of the Loire and the Lignon, with paper-mills. The
pretty gorges of the Loire are partly wooded.

69 M. Betournac (1670 ft.; Hot.^Pichon, Triolayre; pop. 3674).
— We see, on a hill to the right, the ruins of the Chdteau cVArtias.
— 7172 ^- Chamaliires has an interesting Eomanesque abbey-
church, visible to the left beyond the station.— 77 M. Vorey (Hot.

Maleysson; pop. 2022).— 82 M. Lavoiite-sur-Loire (1865 ft.; Hot.

de la Loire) has a picturesque old castle, a little farther on.

From Lavoute-suk-Loire to Raucoules-Brossettes, 26V2M., narrow-
gauge line in 3-41/4 hrs. (4 fr. 80, 3 fr. 60, 2 fr. 65 c.). —We cross the
Loire and ascend the valley of the Beaulieu. — 5 M. Rosieres (2195 ft.).

The train ascends in bold windings through superb *Gorges. — 10 M. Bes-
samorel (2930 ft.). To the left rise the Pic de Glavenas (3430 ft.) and the
/S'wc d'£'?/m6' (3730 ft.). — 141/2 M. Yssingeaux (2760 ft.; Modern Hotel,
Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 7836), an old town, manufacturing hosiery and
lace, lies near the Siatdme, a tributary of the Lignon. Its old episcopal
castle of the 15th cent., with its crenellated walls and its turrets crowned
with belfries, is now the Hotel de Ville and Palais de Justice. The ad-
joining church of St-Pierre has two fine modern paintings. —We now
descend the Siaulme valley. Far to the right rises the Signed du Megal
(4720 ft.). We cross the Siaulme and the Lignon. — 18 M. Pont-de-
VEnceinte. Then a bold loop, beyond which the train runs high above
the river. We see a picturesque gorge on the left. Looking back, we have
an extensive view. — 221/2 M. Lapte (2765 ft.; Hot. du Centre), on a hill

affording a beautiful view. — 261/2 M. Raucoules-Brossettes (p. 266).

We cross the Loire twice and farther on a viaduct which afi'ords

a very striking *View of Le Puy.— 891/2 M- Be Puy.

Le Puy.
Hotels. Hot. des Ambassadeurs (PI. a; C, 4), Place du Breuil, R. from

2, B. 11/4, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 8, omn. 1/2 fr. ; Grand-Hotel (PI. b; B, 4),
17-19 Boul. St- Louis, good, R. from 2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 71/.,,

omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Loire (PI. c; D, 4), 18 Boul. St -Jean, R. from 2,
L. or D. 3, P. 71/2-9 fr.; Hot. de Paris, near the station; Terminus-Hotel.
—Brasserie du Velay, behind the theatre (PI. C, 4).

Electric Tramways from the Station (PI. E, 3, 4) to the Place du
Breuil (PI. C, 4) and to Espaly (beyond PI. A, 3 ; 10 or 15 c.) ; also from
the Place du Breuil to Brives (p. 278; beyond PI. E, 2 ; 20 c).

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3), 50 Boul. St-Louis. —Baths, Place
du Breuil and Place St-Maurice. — Syndioat d'Initiative, Place du Breuil
(to the left of the Prefecture). •

Be Puy (2065 ft.
;
pop. 20,944), Lat. Podium, the ancient capital

of the Velay, is now that of the department of the Haute-Boire
and the seat of a bishop. It is most picturesquely situated, between
the Borne and the Dolezon, on the slope of Mont Anis, on which
rises the Cathedral, dominated by the Rocher de Corneille.— Lace-
making (comp. p. 275) is the chief industry of the district, employ-
ing 90,000 women.



274 Route 37. LE PLY. Musee.

Quitting the station (PI. E, 3, 4), we pass through a suburb,

where we see on the left the church of St-PUrre, or Eglise des

Cannes (PI. D, 4), of the 15th cent.; we then cross the Dolezon

and follow the Boul. St-Jean to the left to the handsome Place du
Breuil (PI. C, 4). In the centre rises the ^Fontaine Crozatier,

presented by the bronze-founder of that name (1796-1855). It is

adorned with bronze sculptures by Bosio: a statue of the town at

the top, seated figures of the Loire, the Allier, the Borne, and the

Dolezon, and genii, grouped round four basins at the foot.

On the E. side of the square are the Theatre and the Palais de

Justice (PI. C, 4), behind which lies the Place Michelet, or Champ
de Foire, with the Fontaine Chassaing (1907). On the S. side of

the Place du Breuil are the Prefecture and a public garden, known
as the Fer-d-Cheval (PI. C, 5). The latter contains a Roman portal

from Vorey (p. 273) and a monument to the Enfants de la Haute-

Loire (1870-71), a pyramid preceded by a copy of Paul Dubois'

'Courage Militaire'. In front of the museum rises the monument
of Crozatiei' (see above), by Barthekmy (1909).

The handsome *Musee Cro25atier (PI. G, 5) also is due to the

munificence of M. Crozatier. It is open free on Sun. and Thurs.,

2-5 ; on other days for a small fee. Illus. catalogue of 1903, 1 fr.

Grotjnb Floor. Sculptures and Antiquities. —Vestibule: Sculptures

and casts from the antique. — Two rooms to the left (Collection A. Clair):

Mechanics, natural history, geology, and palaeontology. — Room I (on the

right). Sculptures in stone, down to the 13th cent., capitals, and a few
marbles. — Room II (cabinet). Prehistoric antiquities; in a case on the left,

fossil human bones found in 1844 on Mont Denise. near Le Puy, in volcanic

soil.— Room III (at the end). Vases, antiques, mummies, *Furniture and
carved wood, chest with iron lock, arms, tapestry; in the case in the

centre, enamels, ivories: nuns in white marble (14th cent.); funeral mask.
— Room at the foot of the staircase: Sculptures in stone, notably i?07«a?i

Antiquities from Le Puy. On the staircase, copies of mural paintings

of Le Puy and vicinity; pictures from the Cathedral (13th and 15th cent.)

and fromthe Abbey of Lavaudieu (p. 220); Last Judgment, from the chapel

of the Chateau de"Valprivas (16th cent.); Dance of Death, a copy of the

fresco at La Chaise-Dieu (15th cent.; p. 222); Hell, from St-Julien at

Brioude (12th cent.; p. 220).

First Floor. Paintings, etc.— Room I. On the right, 163. Em. Giraud,
Portr. of Crozatier; iSO. Ingres, Philemon and Baucis (sketch). —Room II

(to the right). 85. A. van der Wei-ff\ Queen Henrietta Maria; 268. J. B.

Scmterre, Oriil at a window; 189. French ScJiool of 18th Cent., Portr. of

an abb^ (pastel); 231. Le Nain, Portr. of Ant. Le Xain; 43. De Heem,
Flowers, fruit, and birds; 217. Largilliere, Portr. of La Bruyere; 275.

De Troy, Jason taming the bulls ; 258. H. Rigaud. Duke of Marlborough (?)

;

56. N. Maes, Protestant minister; 45. Hobbema, Landscape; 272. TocqtK'.

Portr. of a professor; 241. Oudry, The wolf and the lamb; 117. Le Brnn.
Portrait; 42. De Heem, Fruit. Also old Italian, French, and Flemish
pictures; Burgiindian School (ca. 1420), *Virgin with the mantle; 60.

Van Mieris, Bacchante and satyr; Le Nain, 232. Portr. of an old woman,
233. Mother combing her daughter's hair; 139. Drolling, Parting of

Hecuba and Polyxena; *259. Bigaud, Portr. of Marshal de Belle-Isle;

124. Clouet (?), Marguerite de Valois; 77. G. Terburg, A burgomaster;
70. Rubens and Brueghel. Adonis starting for the chase; 62. Van Miercvelt,

Portr. of a woman; 31, 32. C. Bega. Topers: 230. Mignard. Portr. of the
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Duchess of Savoy; 41. Huysmaiis, Margin of a forest; 61. Van Mierevelt,

Portrait; 76. Tenters the Younger, Portr. of a woman; 8. C'erquozzi,

Battle-field. Sculptures: 730. Theseus vanquishing the Centaur, bronze by
Barye; 758. Virgin, bronze by Crozatier.— Room III (at the end of

Room II). Natural historj- collections, chiefly birds. ^— Room IV (left of the

entrance). Modern pictures. 132. Diaz, Reading; 89. Allonge, Le Puy
seen from Espaly; 120. Cabat, Margin of a forest; 248. Quinton, Land-
scape in Auvergne; 242. Oiivrie, Chateau de Pierrefonds; 180. Giie, Combat
at the Porte Pannessac (p. 276) in the 16th cent. ; 90. Appian, Margin of a

forest: 271. Thtdllier, The town of LePuy; 128. C'orot, Landscape; 220.

L. Loir, The Seine in Dec, 1879.— Room V. *Collection of lace, braid,

trimming (see p. 273). Chest of 15th cent., inlaid with ivory.

The Rue Porte-Aiguiere, opposite the Fontaine Crozatier, leads

to the Hotel de Ville (PI. 0, 3), in the Place du Martouret, erected

in 1766. We now follow, to the right of the facade, the Eue Cour-

rerie, then the Rue Chenebouterie, on the right, noting on the left

the Fontaine du Plot (13th cent.). The Rue Raphael, to the left,

leads to the small Place des Tables, adorned with a pretty 15th cent,

fountain. To the right, at the end of a steep street, is the—
^Cathedral ofWotre-Dame (PI. C, 2, 3), wdiich dates chiefly

from the llth-12th cent., and is very peculiar in general character

and unique in some of its details. It is approached by a grand

flight of steps, 60 outside, 42 in a crypto-porticus under the nave,

then 32 on each side (left, to the cloisters; right, to the church).

Formerly the steps w^ent straight on, ending in the transept, in front

of the choir, so that the congregation on the steps outside could see

the officiating priest. The great PwtoZ has three semicircular arches

opening on to the Pm'ch; above are small arcades, then three windows
at the end of the nave, and three gables, those at the sides rising

above the roof and being open. Note also the mingling of white

and black stone, a characteristic of the Auvergne churches. Under
the porch are two 12th cent, cedar doors, with interesting Latin

inscriptions, and on the staircase are traces of painting.
The Interior consists of a nave and aisles with six bays, the nave

being roofed with domes, and the aisles with groined vaulting. The
choir ends in a square apse without ambulatory. The very short transept
has a modern lantern over the centre, galleries, and small double chapels
at the ends. On the high-altar is a small modern black image of the
Virgin, no less venerated than its predecessor which was burned in 1794.
In the choir, right and left, are copies of the old frescoes on the stair-

case and in the Chapelle des Morts. The left aisle is adjoined by the old
Chapter House, which contains a fine *Fresco of the 15th cent., represent-
ing the Liberal Arts. (Apply to the verger.)

The Sacristy, at the end of the left aisle, contains the *Bihle of
Theodulph, a superb MS. of the 9th cent., and a curious painting on wood
by a French master of the 15th century.

The *Cloisters (entrance, see above) are partly enclosed liy a tine
wrought-iron railing (12th cent.), which the verger will open. The oldest
part of this superb structure dates from the 9th or even the 8th cent,
(restored in the 19th). The chief features are the colonuettes, the capitals,
and the cornice, adorned with heads of men and beasts. The building
to the W., with arched machicolations resting on brackets, and buttresses
surmounted with balconies, is the remnant of a 12th cent, fortress. To
the N. is the Chapelle des Marts, with remains of 13th cent, frescoes,
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in which a museum of inscriptions is to be installed. To the S. is the
Mus4e Notre-Dame (fee), containing old paintings, sculptures, antiquities,

etc., connected with the church.

The Porche du Fm-, or S. portal, at the end of the right aisle,

is very curious, each side presenting a rounded arcade, attached to

it only at three points. The Tower (185 ft. high), of the late 13th

cent., one of the rare surviving examples of transitional bell-towers,

is isolated from the church by a small court. It consists of seven

stories with Romanesque arches. The sacristan shows the interior,

which contains the tomb of a Duchess of Guise.

Adjoining the S. portal is the Eveche (PI. C, 3), the small square

in front of which affords a fine view.

Re-entering the church, we leave it by the X. portal. Near this

are a Baptistery, probably of the 11th cent., but partly built of

Roman remains, and the Renaissance Chapel of the Penitents

(PI. C, 2; 1584). (Ring for porter; fee.) A lane between these

chapels leads to the gate of the—
Rocher de Corneille (PL C, 2; adm. 10 c), at the top of

Mont Anis, a mass of volcanic rock rising 435 ft. above the lower

town. We ascend it by steps hewn in the rock. At the top, on a

pedestal, is a statue of Notre-Daine-de-France, 50 ft. high, de-

signed in 1860 by Bonnassieux, and composed of the metal of over

200 Russian cannons, taken at Sebastopol. A staircase ascends inside

the statue to the head. The openings at places afford a splendid

view of the environs, with their grand girdle of hills, chiefly the

Cevennes, the Mezenc and Gerbier-de-Jonc (p. 278) being con-

spicuous to the S.E.; near us, to the N.W., rises the Rocher de

St-Michel (see below); farther oft\ to the left, is Espaly (p. 277);

to the right are the ruins of Polignac (p. 277).

The Rue Grangevieille (PL B, 3), at the foot of the Rue des

Tables (which ascends to the Cathedral) , descends to the Tour
Pannessac (PL B, 3), a relic of a town-gateway (13th cent.). Near
this, 46 Rue Pannessac, is the Maison Berard (16th cent.). In the

Boul. St-Louis, at the back of the tower, is a statue of Lafayette
(1757-1834), by Hiolle. We now descend the Boul. Carnot, in which
rises the Fontaine Vihert, by Julien (1906).

St-Laurent (PL A, B, 2), a 14th cent, church, in the lower town,

near the Borne, has a fine portal (restored). A monument in the

chapel to the left of the choir encloses the heart of Bertrand du

Guesclin (d. 1380) ; the statue is of the late 14th century.

Near the church is the Av. d'Aiguilhe, which leads N. to an

isolated rock (280 ft.), similar to the Rocher de Corneille, but more
picturesque, crowned with the church of "^Si-Michel-d'Aiguilhe

(PL B, 1). This church, reached by a series of flights of steps

(adm. 10 c), is an architectural curiosity, dating from 962-84.

The interior forms a sort of oval; the sanctuary is at the end to
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the right of the entrance, while in front is a small central nave,

bounded by low pillars and enclosed by a small aisle. The portal

is adorned with curious reliefs. Opposite the entrance rises an

isolated tower, similar to that of the Cathedral.

Close by is a pleasing octagonal edifice of the 12th cent., known
as the Temple of Diana (PL C, 1) from its antique materials.

From Le Puy to Arvant and Clermont-Ferrand, to La Chaise-Dieu,
etc., see E. 32; road to Privas, see p. 478.

Motor Omnibuses. (1) To Le Monastier (13 M.
; p. 278), three times

daily in 1 hr. (1 fr. 60 c.).— (2) To Sangnes (271/2 M.
; p. 296), past the

station of Monistrol-d'AlUer (p. 296), twice daily in 3-31/4 hrs. (41/2 fr.). —
(3) To Craponne (25 M. ; p. 267), via St-Panlien (see below), twice dailv
in 21/2 hrs. (4 fr.).

Omkibcs to Fay-le-Froid (231/2 M. to the E.), once daily, in 6 hrs.

(3 fr. 35 c.), via (IO1/2 M.) St-Julien-CTiax>tenil (Hot. des Voyageurs; pop.
2920), a centre of the lace-industry, with an old gateway and a Romanesque
church. Omn. from Fay-le-Froid to Le Cheylard (p. 266). — Omnibuses
run also from Le Puy to Le Monastier (three times daily, in 3 hrs.;

1 fr. 60 c), Sangues, and Craponne (see above).

From Le Puy to Langogne, 331/2 M., railway in about 2 hrs. (6 fr. 5,

4 fr. 10, 2 fr. 65 c).— This picturesque route soon leaves the St-Etienne
line and ascends the Loire valley.— 2i/., M. Brives-Charensac (2020 ft.;

see p. 278). — Beyond (51/2 M.) Coubon (23'65 ft.), with the fine Chateau de
Bouzols (partly of the 11th cent.), we eujoj' a beautiful view of Le Puy
to the right. ^11 M. Soligtiac-sur-Loire (281oit. ; hotel), with a Romanesque
church and the ruins or a castle. Splendid views of the Loire valley.

—

Beyond (18 M.) Costaros-Cayres the line reaches its highest point (3765 ft.)

and descends towards the Allier vallej'.— 221/0 M. Landos (3660 ft.). To
the right appears the Montagne de la Margeride (p. 282). — 29 M. Pradelles
(3765 ft. ; Hot. Brun-Baubet), with remains of fortifications and interesting
old houses.— BS^J.^M. Langogne, on the line from Clermont to Nimes (p. 296).

From Le Put to Espaly, Polignac, and St-Paulien. — To the W. of

Le Puy (i/o M. ; tramway, see p. 273) lies the large village of Espaly,
above which, visible from the road, rises a curious mass of basalt, with
fine columns, called the Orgzies d' Espaly.

The road to Polignac crosses the Borne (PI. A, 1), beyond the church
of St-Laurent. Fine view as we look back. Half-way up the long ascent
a short-cut diverges to the right, but is more suitable for the descent. —
31/2 M. Polignac (pop. 2511), to the right of the St-Paulien road, is famous
for the imposing ruins of its *Castle (12th-15th cent.), on a rocky plateau.
The chief relics consist of the square keep, 105 ft. high (14th cent.),

restored in the 19th cent, and a round tower of the 13th (fee).

The high-road goes on, through undulating country, to (8M.) St-Paulien
(2620 ft.

;
pop. 2546), on the site of the ancient Revessio, or Ruessio, the

capital of the Yellavi. The church (11th cent.) occupies the site of a 4th
cent, building. St-Paulien was the cradle of Catholicism in the Velay.
Omn. to (3 M. ; 25 c.) Borne (p. 220). The (2 M.) picturesque ruins of
the Chateau de la Roche-Lambert (15th cent.) now contain art-collections.

From Le Puy to the Durande, 12i/, M., a very attractive excur-
sion, shortened by taking train to Borne (p. 220), from which the hill is

81/2 M. off. The road from Borne passes Loudes, Le Thiolent (3230 ft.

;

fine castle), and Le Vemet, whence we climb in 3/^ hr. to the double
summit of the Durande (4155 ft. and 4265 ft.). Extensive view. To the
N. lies the Marais de Limagne, in an ancient crater.

From Le Puy to the Lac du Bouchet, 12 M. to the S. Excursion-
cars on Sun. and Thurs., from 1st June to 30thSept.; return-fare 21/2 fr.

each for 4 pers. (31/2 fr. if the vehicle returns via the pretty Cascade
delaBeaume). The lake (3965 ft.; rest.) occupies an old crater.
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From Le Put to Le Mosastieb and the Mezekc, omn. and motor-omn.
to Le Monastier, see p. 277; motor-omn. to the Lac d'Isserles via Les
Estables 2-3 times weekly (1st July to 15 Sept.) in 6V2 hrs. (10, return
15 fr.). Eoad from Le Puy to (23 M.) Les Estables; thence a bridle-path
to the (I1/4 hr.) top of the Mezenc. — At (21/2 M.) Charensac we cross the
Loire.— The Mezenc road turns to the right at (3 M.) ^ntvs (station, see

p. 277 ; tramway, see p. 273). To the left rises the 2Iont Dcnte (2740 ft.),

with an old Premonstratensian abbey (12th cent.). Farther on, to the right,

is the Chateau de Bouzols (p. 277). — 8 M. La Terrasse, with artificial

grottoes, once used as dwellings. — 13 M. Le Monastier (3110 ft.; Hot.
Ponsonaille, Gential, Chabrier; pop. 3650) owes its name to a monastery
of which the church remains, partly Romanesque in style (curious facade
of the 11th cent., and chapel of St. Theofrede of 1548). Road to Privas,
see p. 478. — The road (carr. 10 fr.) next leads past (16 M.) Freyceiiet-la-

Toiir (3890 ft.) to (23 M.) Les Estables (4465 ft. ; chalet-hotel, R. gi/a-S,

L. 21/2, D- 3, P. 4-5 fr.), a poor village on the W. side of the Mezenc; ex-
cursion-car to St-Agreve. see p. 266.— The Mezenc (5755 ft.) is a volcanic
mountain, isolated and abrupt, except on the W. side. Its slopes afford

excellent pasturage, and the top (chalet) commands a superb *Panorama:
to the W. are the'Cantal Mts., to the X. the mountains flanking the Loire,

to the E. the Dauphinc and Savoy as far as Mont Blanc, to the S. the
Cevennes, notably the Gerbier-de-Jono. and to the extreme W. the Alps,
among which Mont Ventoux is couspieuous. — About S','., hrs. from the

Mezenc (by a forest track) is the Gerbier-de-Jonc (5090 ft.), another
volcanic mountain, on which the Loire rises. A monument and a refuge
have been erected on the top (ascent fatiguing, and view inferior to that

from the Mezenc). A good road, passing the village of Le Beage (4120 ft.

;

Hot. de France, R, 1-lV'.,. L. or D. 2i/o, P- 6 fr.), leads to the Lac d'Jssarles

(3270 ft.), a crat«r-]ake'l5i/2 M. to the W. of the Gerbier-de-Jonc. On its

W. bank is a hamlet (Hot. Teyssier). Motor-omn. from Vals, see p. 483.

From Le Puy to (14372 ^^- from Lyons) Arvant, see pp. 220,

219.—We leave the line to Clermont-Ferrand on the right and follow

the interesting line through the Cantal, which displays great engin-

eering skill.— Beyond (14672 ^^) Lempdes we ascend the pictur-

esque and in places very narrow valley of the Alagnon.— 154 M.

Blesle, on the right, at the foot of basaltic columns ('orgues'), with

antimony-mines.— 162 M. Molompize. Fine view into a dell on

the left. The river dashes along on the right; on the same side

are the ruins of a castle.— 168 M. Fo-rieres-St-Mary. Beyond

a rocky gorge is the ruined Chdteau de Mei'dogne, on the right.

174 M. Neussargues (buffet-hotel). To St-Fiour and Beziers,

see p. 260 and R. 38; to Bort and Montlucon, see pp. 260. 259.

Motor-omn. in summer to Pierrefort, 21 M. to the S.W. (4 fr.), through
the W. part of the Planeze (p. 279), dominated by the Cantal. — Also to

Lagidole (48 M.
; p. 283; 8 fr.), via Chaudesaigu'es (28 M.; p. 283).

We now^ traverse a typical glacier-worn valley. To the left and

in front of us appears the Plomb du Cantal (p. 279).

1791/2 M. Murat (2950 ft.; Hot. de la Gare, L. 3, D. 31/2 fi'-;

H6t. de la Poste; pop. 2831) lies at the foot of the basaltic Bochei^

deBonnevie (460 ft.; 1/2 li^.; view), crowned with a colossal statue

of the Virgin. Several old houses. Bredons, opposite Murat. has

a fine Romanesque church (11th cent.) on a rock.
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From Mukat to Saleks, 26 M., the highest and one of the finest

routes through the Massif Central, also forms the easiest approach to the
Puy Mary (p. 280). Motor-omn. in summer to the Maisou Cantonniere
d'Eylac (IVz hr. ; 3, return 5 fr.). Omn. at intervals from the Pas de
Peyrol to Salers. Carr. from Murat to Salers 50, to the Pas de Peyrol 25 fr.

—We ascend the dale of the C'herade to (6 M.) Dienne (auh.),'aud then
the pretty valley of the Scnitoire to (91/0 M.) Lavigerie. — After 2 M. more
a road diverges to the right to Le Clanx (Cheylade, Eiom-es-Montagne,
p. 259). —13 M. 3Iaison Cantonniere d'Eylac (rustic inn, open in summer,
L. 31/2, D. 4 fr.).- 131/2 M. Pas de Peyrol (5195 ft.; see p. 280), N. of
the Puy Mary (p. 280; V2 hr.). Descent in view of the grand Cirque du
Falgoux, and then through a beautiful forest.— 18 M. Carrefour de la
Scierie (3775 ft.), where a road diverges to the right to Le Falgoux
(p. 259). —21 M. Col de Nerone (4075 ft. ; aub.). We then skirt the beauti-
ful *Vallee de la Maronne, with the P«2/ Violent on the left (5230 ft.).

—

26 M. SaUrs (p. 259).

Views now on the right. We cross the Alagnon; on the right is

the Chateau cVAntcrroche. The valley contracts; we enter the Mas-
sif du Cantal and ascend rapidly. Numerous bridges over wooded
ravines. On leaving the Tunnel de Fraisse-Haut we sight the

Griou straight ahead to the right.

I8672 ^I- Le Lioran. — Hotels. Hot. des Touristes, good, open
Jan.-Feb. and June-Sept., R. from 21/2, B. I1/4, L. 31/2, D. 41/2, P. from
Sfr.; Hot. du Lioran, plain but good, open June-Sept., and in Jan.,
Pt. from 2, B. 3/4, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 6 fr. ; Auh. Bertrand, open the
whole year, R. I1/2, L. 2, D. 21/2, P. from 5 fr.

Le Lioran (3780 ft.) is a picturesque hamlet situated in the

centre of the Cantal. It is a pleasant summer resort, and offers

winter-sports also. (Ski Club at Murat.)
The Cantal consists of several chains of hills and plateaux inter-

sected by deep valleys. To the E. of the Cere and S. of the Alagnon a
ridge ascends to the Plomb du Cantal (see below), the highest point. To
the E. of this chain stretches the Plateau de la Plan'eze. Between the Cere,
Alagnon, Santoire, and Jordanne rises the crest of the Griou (p. 280).
To the N. towers the fine Puy Mary (p. 280), whence ramify the Puy
Chavaroche (p. 282), the Roc des Ombres (5405 ft.), and the Puy de Peyre-
Arse (p. 280). Like the Dome and the Dore Mts., the Cantal is a volcanic
region, resting on a foundation of crystalline schist. The first eruptions
here took place in the primary or carboniferous era, but the volcanoes
whose ruins are still visible belong to the tertiary period (miocene and
chiefly pliocene). After the eruptions the Cantal, "which had attained a
height of about 11,500 ft., became covered with snow and ice. The glacier
action which reduced it to its present height has left very distinct traces,
such as the presence of erratic blocks, while the great width of the
upper parts of the valleys, once glacier-basins, contrasts with the ravines
furrowed through the crystalline rock below the glacier zone.

The chief Excursions from Le Lioran are the ascents of the Plomb
du Cantal, the Puy Griou, and (finest of all) the Puy Mary. We may
also walk to the Tunnel du Lioran (10 miu. W.), 1550 yds. long, through
which passes the Murat and Aurillac road; to Wia' Cirque de Font-
d'Alagnon, to the N.W. ; to the Col du Lioran (3/4 hr. W. ; 4185 ft.;
view); and to the Montague or Puy du Lioran (1 hr, W. ; 4490 ft.).

The *Plomb du Cantal (6095 ft.) is easily ascended from Le Lioran
in 2 hr.s. We follow the Vic road to the tunnel (see above), then ascend
to the right, skirting the Alagnon, and turn to the left (guide-post). We
pass the Col de Sagnes (4100 ft.) and the 'l)urons' (chalets) of RamherteL
where 'fourme', or Cantal cheese, is made, and thence ascend S. to a ridge,
where the summit becomes visible, l^ha Plomh dn Cantal, the highest
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peak of the Massif Central except the Sancy (p. 236), is a mass of basalt
crowning a liuge pedestal. Immense panorama (but less interesting than
the view from the Puy Mary): W. the Cere valley; N.W. the Griou and
Pay Mary; X. the distant Dore and Dome Mts. ; E. the faint outlines of

the Margeride; S.S.E. the Planeze and the hills of Aubrac and Aigoual.
Descent to St-Jacques-des-Blats, see below.

The ascent of the Puy Griou (5560 ft.), 2i/.^ hrs. W. of Le Lioran,
requires caution owing to the slippery slabs of phonolite on the mountain-
side. From the Col du Lioran (p. 280) the path to the right (guide-posts)
leads past the Combe-Xegre to the Col de Bombieres or de JIandailles
(4955 ft.), and then to the left to the base of the peak, up which we have
an uncomfortable climb of i/-2 hour. The puy is a sharp cone of irregular
form, rising from the centre of the ancient crater. View of the Cere and
Jordanne valleys, of the Plomb, Puy Mary, etc. — To the X.W. and S.E.
rise the Grion'not (4765 ft.) and Puy de V Usdade (4900 ft.), phouolithic
peaks, over whose steep stony slopes we may descend from the Griou.

The *Puy Mary (5860 ft.), to the X.W., is best ascended from the
Pas de Peyrol (p. 279). From Le Lioran the ascent takes 4 hrs. (71/2 hrs.

there and back
;
provisions should be taken). We ascend to the Col de

Rombieres (see above), follow the guide-posts to the right, and pass the
foot of the Puy de Bataillouze (5530 ft.) and the Col de Cabre (5050 ft.),

below the Puy de Peyre-Arse (5T95 ft.). We then follow a track up the
broad crest called the Fours de Peyre-Arse (avoiding the friable rocks
on the X.), which is crossed by the Breche de Roland (5255 ft.). The
final ascent of the puy is toilsome, but not difficult. The *Panorama
(view-indicator) is one of the finest in Central France. We are specially
struck by the radiation of several valleys, and of the cirques of Mandailles,
Le Falgoux, and Le Claux, from the puy as a centre. The distant view re-

sembles that from the Plomb. Descent to the Pas de Peyrol, see p. 279.

From the Pas de Peyrol we may skirt, to the S., the W. flank of

the Puy Mary and go round the superb Cirque du Falgoux to the arete
between it and the Cirque de Mandailles. From that arete we may scale

the Roche Taillade (5275 ft. ; 21/4 hrs.) and (500 yds. X.) the Roc d' OuzUre,
or Roche Blanche (about 5080 JFt.), a phonolithic dike about 1000 ft. sheer
above the Cirque du Falgoux. We may go on to Salers (p. 259).

Beyond Le Lioran comes the Tunnel du Lioran, I74 ^i- long,

in which the line attains its highest point (3805 ft.), passing from

the Loire basin to that of the Garonne, where we descend the typical

ice-worn valley of the Ce?'e. To the right rises the Puy Griou.

—

190 M. St-Jacques-des-Blats (3250 ft..; several aub.).

The Plomb dxi Cantal (p. 279) may be ascended hence, in 31/4 hrs.

(guide 5 fr.), but not very easily. We cross the Cere and the railway
above the station, and ascend X.E. (short-cuts) over pastures. In 20 min.
we reach the huts of Ferial, and in 35 min. more the Grange du Sarret.
Thence we turn to the left to the (50 min.) 'buron' of the Pre Delbos,
which we leave on the right (view), and in 1 hr. reach the 'buron' of

Pranadal, at the base of the crest, up which we climb in 1/2 br. to the top.

From St-Jacques we may ascend also the Elanceze, or Montagne de
Brugeyroux (5185 ft.), in 21/2 hrs., via Foujouquet (50 min.) and the Col
du Pertus (4230 ft.; 35 min.). From the col we may climb by the X.E.
arete (awkward at places), or more easily by rounding the mountain and
scaling its S. face, to the (1 hr.) small rocky girdle of the double peak,
where we have a complete view of the Cantal.

Attractive walk from St-Jacques to (7 M.) Vic-sur-Cere (p. 281).

Beyond St-Jacques the scenery is still interesting. On the right

we overlook the picturesque Pas de Compaing. Fine waterfall on
the left.— Beyond (19472 -^^0 Thitzac is a fine wooded gorge. The
valley expands, and we have an extensive view to the right.
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197 M. Vic-SUr-C^re. — Hotels. Near the station: *Gr.-H6t. de
la Camp, d' Orleans, open June-Sept., R. from 5, B. IV2, L- 4, D. 5, P.

from 12, omn. 1/0 fr.; Touring-Hotel, Mav-Sept., R. from 2V2, L- 3, D. SVm
P. from 8 fr.; Hot. du Pont & du Pare, R. 2-4, L. 3, D. Z^j,,, P. from
7 fr. In the village: Hot. Vialette, R. from 2, L. 21/2, D- 3, P. from 6 fr.

— Casino, in summer only, adm. lV2-2fr.

Vic-sur-Cere (2230 ft.
;
pop. 1837), prettily situated, 1/2 ^I-

from the station, with remains of fortifications, is a thriving water-

ing-place, with springs containing chlorate, sulphate, and bicarbonate

of soda, and highly aerated. The waters are beneficial for maladies

of the liver and intestines. The Etablissement is near the station.

The Pas de la Cere (2 hrs. there and back; guide-posts) is a pictur-

esque defile between the Pas de Compaing (p. 280) and the plain of

Vic. We may thence visit the fine Cascade de la Boucole and return by
the Le Lioran road.— On the Aurillac road, 1 M. from Vic, is the Chateau
de Comblat (15th cent.; restored). — On the Raulhac road is the (3 M.)
auberge of Curehourse, whence we may visit the Rocher des Peiidus,
1/2 M. to the S.W., and the Gisement Prehistoriqne de la Mougudo,
IV4 M. to the N., a rock containing fossil remains of a pliocene forest.

200 M. Polminhac, with the Chdteau de Pestel (15th cent.),

on a rock to the right.

2091/2 M. Aurillac— ^M/fgf.— Hotels. *H6t. St-Pierre, in the
Gravier, R. from 2, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 8, omn. 1/2 fr-; ^ot. du Com-
merce, 1 Place du Palais-de-Justice, R. from 21/2, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- from 8,

omn. 1/2 fr- ; Hot. Terminus, opposite the station, R. from 2, L. 3, D. 31/2,

P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Bordeaux, Place du Palais-de-Justice; Hot. Totirdes,
Roiiquet, both at the station.

—

Post & Telegraph Office, Rue du Rieu.
— Baths. Bains du Pont-Rouge, in the Gravier. — Syndicat d'Initiative,
23 Av. de la Republique.

Aurillac (2070 ft.; pop. 18,036), on the Jordcmne, is the capi-

tal of the department of the Cantal. The Rue de la Gare and, to

the right, the Av. de la Republique lead to the Place du Palais-de-

Justice. The church of Notre-Dame-aux-Neiges (13th cent.) has

a tasteful modern tower. The Av. Gambetta leads thence to the

Gravier, or Cours Montyon, a long square on the river-bank, with

statues of Gen. Delzons (1775-1812), by Vital-Dubray, and Ge?'-

hert (Pope Sylvester II.), by David d'Angers.

The church of St-Geraud (15th -17th cent.) was completed in

1890. It belonged to an abbey founded in the 9th cent, by St. Geraud,
who was born in the Chateau. Vaulting with fine tracery. The left

transept contains a Death of St. Francis Xavier, attr, to Zurbaran,

From the Place St-Geraud we see on a height the Chdteau St-

Etienne, rebuilt, and now a school. At the end of the Rue du Con-
sulat is the Hotel des Consuls (16th cent.), now a savings-bank,
with turrets and a fine Gothic gateway in the Rue de la Coste.

The old College, now a school of design, in the Rue du College

(concierge at No. 18), contains a small Musee of paintings and
sculptures. In the Hotel de Ville is the Musee Rames, a small
natural history collection.

From Aurillac to Montlu(;on (Paris), see pp. 259, 258; to Bordeaux,
see pp. 56, 55; to Brive. see p. 90.
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Motor Omnibuses. (1) To Salers (p. 259), 30 M. to the X.. in 2»/., his.

(41/2 fr,). — (2) To LaroquevieiUe, 121/2 M. to the N.X.E.. in 1 hr. (I1/2 fr.).

— (3) Through the picturesque valley of the Jordanne to Mandailles
(3020 ft. : Hot. Rigal, good, L. or D. 21/2 fr.), 16 M. to the X.E. (IV2 hr.

;

2 fr.). Mandailles, a picturesque village situated at the entrance to a

cirque dominated by the finest peaks of the Cantal, is an admirable centre

for excursions. (See Map. p. 279.) Ascent of the Pny Chavaroche (5820 ft.),

21/2 brs., with view of the Cantal peaks and their W. valleys; Puy Mary
(p. 280). 23/4 hrs. ; GrioN, Elanceze (p. 280), etc. A road is being made
from Mandailles to the Pas de Peyrol (p. 279). — (4) To LaguioJe (p. 283),

56 M. to the S. (8 hrs. ; 8 fr.), via (371/2 M.) Ste-Genevieve, crossing the
plateaux of Aubrac (p. 283). — (5) To Cassnpjouls, 491/2 M. to the S.E.

(73/4 hrs.; 7 fr.), a village 6 M. to the X.W. of Laguiole (p. 283); this

route passes (22 M.) 3Iontsalvy. a picturesque village with an interesting

church, and Entraygues (SOVj M. ; hotel), in a picturesque site at the
confluence of the Truyere and the Lot, with a castle founded in 1278 by
Henry II., Count of Rodez, and Gothic bridges (13th cent.). From Entray-
gues to Espalion, see p. 114.

2141/2 M. Ytrac (1955 ft.). View of the Cantal to the right.—
218 M. Viescamp-sous-Jalles (1865 ft.), juuctiou for St-Denis-pres-

Martel (see p. 90) and MontluQou (pp. 90, 259, 258).— 2191/2 M.
Lacapelle-Viescamp (1805 ft.). We cross the Cere valley b}^ a

lofty viaduct. Yiew to the right.— 225 M. Le Rouget. We de-

scend into the wild gorge of the Mouleyre.— 230 M. Boisset. We
enter the valley of the Ranee. View to the left.— 2371/2 M. Maurs
(835 ft.). We pass through a tunnel into the valley of the Cele.

250 M. Figeac, and thence to Capdenac and Toulouse, see

pp. 96-100.

38. From Clermont-Ferrand to Beziers.

2321/2 M. Railway in III/4 hrs. (41 fr. 95, 28 fr. 40, 18 fr. 50 c).

From Clermont-Ferrand to (431/2 ^^•) Brioude, see pp. 218.

219, We return along the Clermont line to Beaumont -Lauriat
(p. 219), where we diverge to the left. We then cross the Montague
de la Margei'ide (5100 ft.), ascending to a height of 3610 ft. and

then descending to the basin of the Truyere.

72 M. St-Flour (2570 ft. ; Hot. de la Poste, good, K. 2-3, L. or

D. 3 fr.; Hot. de I'Europe, L. 21/2, D. 3fr.; Hot. du Midi; pop.

5777) is curiously situated on a bold plateau, 300 ft. above the

station. The road (I1/2 M. ; short-cuts) ascends W. from the station,

skirting a number of 'orgues' or basaltic pillars, to the Promenades
(splendid view). The Cathedral (14th-15th cent.), dedicated to St.

Florus, the apostle of the district, has two massive towers in front,

and consists of a nave with double aisles, but without a transept.

Among the interesting old houses we note 17 Place Gambetta (Hotel

des Consuls), 1 Rue de Bclloy, and 8 Rue du Breuil. The (10 min.)

Calvary behind the cemetery commands an extensive view of the

town, the Planeze, and the Cantal Mts.
From St-FIour to MonnvQon. see pp. 260, 259.
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From St-Flour to Laguiole, 42 M., motor-onm. in summer in 3 hrs..

omn. ia winter in 7 hrs. (7 fr. 30 c); to Chaudesaigues in IV2 and 3Va hrs.

(3 fr. 80 c.). — 21 M. Chaudesaigues (2130 ft.; Hot. de I'Etablissement;

Hot. du Midi, P. 6-8 fr. ; Hot. Yalette), a small watering-place in the val-

ley of a tributary of the Truyere, has five thermal springs, the hottest

in" France (180^). " The water is used for all kinds of domestic purposes,

even for heating the houses in winter. There are also three cold springs,

ferruginous and arsenical. The total supply is 220,000 gallons daily. Motor-

omn.'to Neussarffues. see p. 278; omn. to St-Chely, see below. — 42 M.
Laguiole (3775 ft.; Hot. Regis; Hot. des Voyageurs, L. or D. 21/2, P. 6fr.;

Hot. Bouldoires), a small town amidst the pastures of the Aubrae, is

visited for the whey-cure. From Laguiole to Aurillac, see p. 282 ; to Neus-

sargues, see p. 278; to Espalion, see p. 114; to Aubrae, see below.

78V2 ^I- Ruines, 3 M. beyond which is the famous *Viaduc
de Garabit, crossing the gorge of the Truyere. Constructed in

1881-4 by Boyer (d. 1886) and Eiffel, it measures 620 yds. in length

and 400 ft. in height, with a central span of 540 ft.

81V2 ^^- Garabit (Cafe-Rest.; Hot. Greze). We next cross hilly

plateaux, partly wooded. Views mostly to the left. — 90 M. Ar-

comie. The line attains its highest point (3465 ft.),

941/2 M. St-Chely-crApcher (3260 ft.; Hot. Bardol), a little

town on a hill to the left, besieged in vain by the English in 1362.

Omn. (1 fr.) to Le Malzieu-VHle (2830 ft. ; hotels), 51/2 M. to the N.E.,

a good centre for excursions; also to (18 M. ; 3 fr.) Chaudesaigues (see

above), and to (151/2 M.) the small baths of La Chaldette.

1021/2 M. Aumont (3410 ft.; Hot. du Commerce), starting-point

for excursions in the Aubrae. To the S.E., 41/2 ^I-, lies Javols, the

ancient Anderitum, capital of the Gabali.

From Aumost to Aubrac, 191/2 M. (omn. 21/2 fr.).— 15 M. Nasbinals

(3790 ft. ; Hot. du Progres), with its interesting Romanesque church, was
once the home of the bone-setter Pierre Brioude (d. 1907). On the Pic de

la Sentinelle (4165 ft.), 1 M. to the KW., rises a colossal statue of the

Virgin. — 191/2 M. Aubrac (4300 ft. ; Royal-Hotel ; several inns, P. 4-6 fr.),

visited in summer for the whey-cure. Omn. in summer to Laguiole (12 M.

;

see above), a fine drive of 2 hrs. (2 fr.).

The Monts d'Aubrac, composed of granite, with overlying vol-

canic substances, extend over an area of 34 by 25 M., between the valleys

of the Truyere and the Lot, and are covered with pastures. The highest

point is the Signal de Mailhehiau (4825 ft,), a half-day excursion from
Aubrac, On the N, slopes of the plateau of Aubrac, S,E. of Nasbinals,

are the lakes of Salhiens, St-And6ol, and others. On the S. slope, towards
the Lot, is the Forest of Aubrac.

1051/2 ^^- St-Sauveur-de-Peyre. The scenery changes, and we
pass through deep ravines. Views to the left. We cross the stone

Viaduc de la Crueize, 215 ft. high, designed by Boyer (see above).

115 M. Marvejols (2235 ft.; Hot. de la Paix, R. from I1/2,

L. or D. 21/2 fr.
;
pop. 3907), on the Colagne, is a Protestant town

rebuilt in the 16th cent, after its destruction in the Religious Wars.

Three Gothic gateways still remain.
From Marvejols to Mende, 22 M., railway in 1 hr. to 1 hr. 50 min.

(3 fr. 90, 2 fr. 65, 1 fr. 70 c). See Map, p. 287. — To (3 M.) Le Monastier,
see p. 284. We cross the Colagne, and ascend the tortuous gorge of the

Lot. To the S., on the left bank, is the Causae de Sauveterre (p. 288).

— 6 M. Chanac (hotel), with a ruined castle. Road to Boyne (Millau), see

p, 292,-141/2 M. Balsihges. Roads to Ste-Euimie and Ispagnac, see p, 288,

Baedeker's Southern France, 6th Edit. 18



284 Honte 38. MILLAU. From fUrmont-Ferrand
Map. p. 287

.

22 M. Mende (2400 ft. ; Hot. Manse, R. 2-3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3i/a, P. from
6 fr. ; Hot. de Paris. R. from 2i/.^, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de Frame;
tsyndicat d'Initiative, 5 Place d'Augiran; pop. 7005), a pleasantly situated
town, formerly the capital of the Gevaudan, is now that of the department
of the Lozere and the seat of a bishopric. It lies on the left bank of the
Lot, at the foot of the C'amse de Mende (3i80 ft.), which rises 1000 ft.

sheer above it. The Cathedral of St-Pierrt-, dating from the 14th cent.,

was rebuilt in 1600-20, after being partly destroyed by the Calvinists.
The two towers are of 1508-12, the higher crowned with a fine spire. The
church once had a great bell, said to have weighed 25 tons, whose clapper
is preserved in the interior near the new central door. We note also the
woodwork in the 2nd and 3rd chapels on the left, and the altar-screen in
the 1st on the right. In front of the Cathedral rises a statue of Pope
Urban V., a native of the district. In the Sejalan quarter is a small
2I?/see Archeologique. On Mont Mimat, S.W. of the town, is the Ermitage
de St-Privat, a fine point of view. We ascend to it in '^j^ hr. by a zigzag
path diverging S. from the Boul. du Palais-de-Justice, 50 yds. beyond the
Hotel de Paris. St. Privat was Bishop of Mende in the 3rd century.—
Road from Mende to Baynols-les-Bains and La Bastide, see p. 296; to

8te-Enimie (Gorges du Tarn) and Florae, see p. 288.

We cross a loug and lofty viaduct ; to the left lies the deep gorge

of the Colague.— 118 M. Le Monastitr. "We descend the sinuous

and picturesque gorge of the Lot. To the left rises the Causse de

Sauveterre (p. 288). We next pass a ruined castle. — 124^2^1-
Banassac-la-Canourgue (1735 ft.; small inn at the station, others

at La Canourgue), station for the Gorges du Tarn (p. 289).— Beyond

(I29Y2 ^I-) St-Laurent-cVOlt the line ascends rapidly. Views to

the right. The cuttings reveal the rich reddish tint of the calcareous

rock (dolomite).— 1311/0 M. Campagnac-St-Geniez (2170 ft.).

Omn. in 1 hr. 20 min. (IV2 fr.) to (8 M. to the N.W.) St-G-eniez-
d'Olt (Hot. du Lion-d'Or; pop. 2859), a cloth-making town, picturesquely
situated on the Lot. To Espalion, see p. 114.

The train ascends, and then crosses the W. end of the Causse

de Sauveterre. Extensive view to the right.

1401/2 M. Severac-le-Chateau (2200 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Mo-
derne, at the station; Hot. Sevenie; pop. 3498). The town lies be-

hind an abrupt hill (215 ft. above the station), crowned with a ruined

castle (13th cent.). Line to Rodez, see R. 16. Road to Vignes^ 12 M.
to the S.E. (carr. 15-20 fr.), over the Causse de Sauveterre.

We cross the Aveyron and still ascend. View to the left. After

a tunnel we descend to the Tarn. Fine outlook over the Tarn valley

on the left. — 1551/2 M. Aguessac. Road to Le Rozier (Gorges of

the Tarn), see pp. 293, 292.

159 M. Millau (1245 ft.; Hot. du Commerce, good, R. from

31/2, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 10, omn. 1/0 fr.; Hot. de Paris, L. 21/2,

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de France ; Syndicat d'Initiative, 2 Place du Mandarous

;

pop. 17,673), the ancient ^miUcmum Cash'iim, is now a thriving

town on the Tarn, flanked with picturesque hills. In the 16th cent,

it was one of the chief strongholds of the Calvinists, but was partly

ruined by the Revocation of the Edict of Nantes. It is now a

busy industrial place, kid gloves being its speciality. The Rue
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Droite, the main street of the old town, leads past the massive old

Beffroi to the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville, which is bordered with

arcades (12th-15th cent.) and several old houses. At one angle rises

the Romanesque and Renaissance church of Notre-Dame, flanked

with galleries instead of aisles; the tower (16th-17th cent.) is in

the Toulouse style. On the outskirts of the town is the Jardin
des Pla?ites, a pleasant promenade, and beyond the railway is a

large Pare Ptiblic.

Road to Le Rozier (Gorges du Tarn) and Moidjiellier-le-Vieux, see
R. 39 B, III; to Meyrueis and Florae, see R. 39 C.

From Millau to Nant, 20 M., onin. twice daily in 3 hrs. (2 fr.), up the
picturesque Vallee de la Doi/rbie. — To (8V2 M.) La Roque-Ste-Margtierite,
at the foot of the rocks of Montpellier-le-Vieux, see pp. 294, 293. — 12 M.
St-Veran lies picturesquely among the rocks of the Causse ISToir (p. 293),
at the mouth of the Ravin de St-Veran. — 16 M. C'antobre, curiously
backed by dolomitic rocks resembling ruins. Road to Treves, see p. 295.— 20 M. Nant (see below).

We follow the Tarn valley a little way (view to the left), cross

it, and ascend the valley of the Cernon. To the left are the cliflFs

of the Larzac, the most extensive of all the Gausses (p. 287). Then,
perched on a hill to the right, appears Roquefort.

175 M. Tourneraire (hotel), on the left, lies picturesquely

below the cliffs of the Larzac.
To the N.W. (2 M. ; omn. 50 c.) is Roquefort, famed for its cheeses,

which the Romans knew and appreciated. These are mostly made of
goats' and sheep's milk, and then matured in the grottoes and cellars
under the village, which are kept at a temperature of 41-45°. The green
mould is due to musty bread powdered and mixed with the curds. A
visit to the grottoes is interesting. Roquefort exports about 9000 tons
of cheese per annum, of the value of 30 million fr.

Branch-line to (91/2 M. to the W.) St-Aflfrique (Hot. du Cheval-
Vert, du Commerce

;
pop. 6495), on the Sorgues, overlooked by a curious

rock. It was once a stronghold of the Calvinists, who defended it suc-
cessfully in 1628. The line is being continued to Albi (p. 99).

Continuation of the Beziers line, see p. 287.

From Tournemire to Le Vigan, 38Yo M., railway in 2 hrs. 10
to 2 hrs. 20 min. (6 fr. 95, 4 fr. 70, 3 fr. 5 c), a triumph of en-

gineering, with numerous tunnels and viaducts. See Map, p. 287.

—

At (81/2 ^I-) Ste-Eidalie-de-Ctrnon are remains of a commandery
of the Templars. Fine Virgin of the 15th cent, by the church-door.
— 121/2 M. L'Hospitalet. On the Larzac, 37.3 M. to the N.W., lies

LaCavalerie, with well-preserved ramparts (13th-15th cent.); to

the N., on the right of the Millau road, is a large military camp.
— We now cross the monotonous plateau of the Larzac (see above).

18Vii M. Nant-Comberedonde. To the N. (5 M.; omn. 75 c.) is

Nant (1545 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs, du Commerce), a little town
on the Dourbie, between the Roc Nantais (2780 ft.; N.) and the

Eoc St-Alban (2630 ft.; S.). The Romanesque-Byzantine church
of St-Pierre once belonged to an abbey founded in 669. Pretty

18*
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public gardens overlooking the river. At La Couvertoirade, on

the plateau, 3^2 ^' to the S. of the station, is a curious fortified

enceinte of the Templars. Farther off, at the S.W. end of the Larzac,

is the AMtne du Mas-Raynal, 350 ft. deep, with a subterranean

lake. From Nant to Millau, see p. 285.

The train now leaves the Larzac, skirts its E. end, and descends.

— 23 M. Sauclieres. Omn. to St-Jean-du-Bruel and Meyrueis, see

p. 295. The descent becomes more rapid.— 26^-2 M. Alzon, on the

Vis. Then the Tunnel de la Nougarede (^4 ^J^O? whence a subter-

ranean stream issues in a cascade. By the next bridge the line forms

an almost complete loop.— 31 M. Aumessas, in a wooded basin.

38V2 M. Le Vigan (725 ft. ; Hot. du Midi, L. or D. 3 fr.; H6t.

des Voyageurs, L. or D. 2Y2 fr.
;
pop. 4744), on the Arre, in a

picturesque site, with hosiery and silk factories and coal-mines,

is a good centre for excursions. In the Place d'Assas is the statue

of the Chevalier d^Assas (1733-60), who sacrificed his life to save

the French army at Clostercamp. In front of the Hotel de Ville is

the statue of Sei^geant Triaire (1771-99), who blew up the fort of

El-Arish (Egypt). We may visit also the picturesque old Gothic

bridge, and ascend the Rochet- de Buscaillou for the view.

To the S.W. (1 M. ; omn.) are the picturesque Bains de Cauvalat,
with cold sulphur-springs.

From Le Vigan to Nimes, see p. 491; to Lunel, see p. 298.

Interesting excursion from Le Vigan, N"., to the Aigoual (whence
we may go on to the Gausses, p. 287). The direct road (251/2 M.) vijl

(5 M.) Arphy, the (13 M.) Baraque de Ribot, S.W. of the Montague d'Aulas
(4605 ft.), and the Col de la Sereijrede (see below) is preferable for

the descent on account of the view. The ascent is usually made from
Valleraugue, reached by omn. in 5 hrs. from Le Vigan (91/2 M.) or from
Pont-d'Herault station (p. 491; carr. from either of these stations, 25 fr.).

— Valleraugue (1195 ft.; Hot. Bourbon, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.
;
pop. 2513), a

little town on the H^rault, was the birthplace of Quatrefages (1810-92),

the naturalist, and of Gen. Perrier (1838-88). Pretty environs. — The road

winds up (short-cuts) to (131/2 M.) the Col de la Sireyrede (4555 ft.),

where we leave the road to Meyrueis (p. 295) to the left and ascend to

the E.jST.E. Farther on, 3/^ M. from the col and 3 M. from the summit,
is the Grand-Hotel du Mont-Aigoiial (4595 ft. ; R. from 4, L. 31/2, D. 4,

P. from 9 fr.), open from May 15th to Oct. 15th. — The Aigoual, or Signal
de la Eort-Dieu (5140 ft.), with an observatory (telephone for room) and
a refuge of the C.A.F. (bed 2, L. or D. 3 fr.), is the chief peak of the

C^vennes and offers a vast *Panorama, comprising the Mont Lozere to

the X., the Rhone valley, Mont Ventoux, and the Alps to the E., and the

Mediterranean, the E. Pyrenees, and the plains of Languedoc to the W.
(view-indicator, but view seldom clear). We may descend to Meyrueis
(see p. 295) in 21/2-8 hrs.

From Le Vigan to Ganges, by the Valine de la Vis, 3IV2 M. (carr.

20-25 fr.), an interesting excursion. —We pass through (I1/4 M.) Aveze and
ascend the Gleppe valley. — 51/2 M. Montdardier (2015 ft.; aub.), with its

grand feudal chateau, restored in the 19th century. — Then across the

Causse de Blandas to (12 M.) Xavacelles, with its superb *View of the

valley of the Vis, 1000 ft. below.j— 20 M. Madieres, picturesquely situated

on the Vis. —311/2 M. Ganges (p. 491).
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Continuation of theBeziers Line. Beyond Tournemire (p. 285)

the country is still very hilly.— Beyond (19772 ^^O Liinas we

enter the charming Vallee de VOrh. Olive, almond, and ilg trees

begin to appear.— Near (204 M.) La Tour-sur-Orh is the inter-

esting mediseval village of Boussagues, with two castles. Line to

Graissessac, see below.

2051/2 M. Bedarieux (645 ft. ; Hot. Terminus & Buffet, R. from

3, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.; Hot. du Nord, Para; pop. 6186), with cloth-

factories and tanneries, lies on the Orb. Monuments to A. Cot, the

painter (1837-83), and Ferd. Fabre, the novelist (1827-98).

Line to Castres (Montauban), via Lamalou and St-Pons, and con-

tinuation to MontpelUer, see R. 15.

From Bedarieux to Gtraissessac-Estrechoux, 7 M., by main line to

La Tour-sur-Orh (see above) and thence by a branch. — Graissessac
(Hot. du Commerce

;
pop. 2042), 1 M. from the station, has valuable mines

of coal, iron, copper, and argentiferous lead. Interesting road (omn. 60 c.)

to (5 M.) St-Gervais (p. Ill), through the valley of the Mare.

Our line now diverges to the left from the Orb valley.— 212 M.

Faugeres. Line to MontpelUer, see p. 112.— 226 M. Ribaute-les-

Lieuran. To the left is the Chdteau de Ribaute ('ripa alta').

232V2 M. Beziers (p. 106).

39. The Gausses and the Gorges
of the Tarn.

The Gausses (Lat. 'calx') are plateaux of Jurassic limestone, occur-

ring in the Lozere and adjacent departments. The chief are the Causse
de Saiiveterre (p. 288), the Causse Mejean ('du Milieu'; p. 29-4), the Causse
Noir (p. 293), and the Larzac (p. 285). Originally one continuous mass,
these plateaux have been isolated from one another in the course of ages

by the profound and extremely picturesque gorges or 'canons' worn by
the Lot, Tarn, Jonte, and Dourbie. The plateaux, lying 2600-3900 ft. above
the sea-level, are without water and almost treeless. Only a little barley
and oats will grow, and the population is very scanty. Here and there

the level is broken by 'couronnes', or knolls, rising above it, and by the

'avens', or chasms, into which the rainfall sinks, to form springs in the

gorges below. In these 'avens' several superb grottoes have lately been
discovered. On the Gausses are a number of dolmens or table-stones.

The GrORGES OF THE Tarn resemble the other canons, but are ren-

dered more accessible by a service of omnibuses and boats organized by
the Societe des Gorges du Tarn (2 Place Parmentier, Neuilly-sur-Seine).

In June-Sept, apply to the director, Chateau de la Malene (p. 291).

The Syndicats" d'Initiative of Florae, Mende, Millau, etc., supply
tickets for carriage, boat, and hotel, but these are advantageous for par-

ties only, as a single tourist has to pay full fare for each vehicle or

boat. When tourists are numerous, it may be advisable to order boats
from the hotel-keepers by telephone.

The new line from Ste-G^cile-d'Andorge (p. 297) renders Florae an
excellent starting-point, from the E., for the Gorges of the Tarn. The
routes from the N., from Mende and Banassac-la-Ganourgue (see pp. 288,

289), cross the monotonous Gausse de Sauveterre and then afford a striking
view of the gorge. From Millau, on the W., we drive up the river, and
then descend by boat. With this excursion may be combined a visit to

the valley of the Jonte (Grotte de Dargilan and Meyrueis, p. 294) and
the ascient of the Aigoua! (p. 295).



288 lioute 39. COL DE MONTMIRAT. Causses and
Map, p. 287.

A. Approach from the North.

I. From Mende to Ste-Enimie.

a. Via Sauveterre, 171/2 M., in 4 hrs. ; carr. for 1-4 pers., 19 fr. ; onin.

daily, 5 fr.

Mende, see p. 283. The road first follows the valley of the Lot,

then (2 M.) crosses the stream, passes the station of Balsieges

(4Y2 ^I-
i P- 283), leaves on the left the Col de Montmirat road

(see below), and winds up to the barren Causse de Sauveterre.

Fine vieM" as we ascend. At the top the Ispagnac road (see below)

diverges to the left ; to the right is the farm of Chazal, once a chateau

(1635).— 121/2 M. Sauvetei^re (3420 ft.); then a giddy ^Descent

into the gorge of the Tarn.— 17^2 ^^- Ste-Enimie (p. 290).

b. By Ispagnac. 28 M., in 6 hrs.; carr. for 1-2 pers. 21, for 3-4 pers.

27 fr. The omn. from Mende to Florae (see below) may be utilized as far

as Ispagnac (4 hrs. ; 4 fr.).

Same route as the preceding to the Causse de Sauveterre; we
diverge to the left, by the E. end of the Causse.— 12Y2 ^'^- Barraque
de VEstrade (3415 ft.). Then an abrupt descent in loops to the

gorge.— I6Y2 ^'^- Molines (p. 290), where the direct road to Ste-

Enimie diverges to the right.— 17 Y2 ^^- Ispagnac, and continua-

tion of route, see below.

c. Via the Col de Montmirat and Ispagnac, 32 M., in 8 hrs.; fare

35 or 40 fr. (see above). This route is geologieallj' interesting as it partly
follows the line where the granitic Monts de la Lozere (p. 297), on the
left, meet the calcareous strata of the Causse de Sauveterre (see above),
on the right.

To (41/0 M.) Balsieges, see above. Our road diverges to the left

and ascends the dale of the Bramont, between the Causses of Sauve-

terre and Mende.— 71/2 M. Rouffiac, whence a road to the left leads

to Lanuejols (4 M. ; see below). Farther up the dale (3^2 ^I-) ^^
join Eoute d.—:14 M. Col de Montmirat (3430 ft.; aub.), with a

splendid *View of the Causses to the right, of the Aigoual opposite,

and of the Eschino d'Aze ('ass's back'; 4050 ft.) on the left. We
descend via (15^2 ^^0 ^ozieres to the Tarn valley and join the

Florae and Ste-Enimie road near Les Faux (20 M.; p. 289).

d. Via Lanuejols, the Col de Montmirat, and Ispagnac, 31 M.,
partly the same route as the preceding.

This road leads E. of the Causse de Mende and turns to the left

at (31/2 ^i-) Langlade.— 5^2 ^^- Lanuejols, with a Roman tomb.

"We return nearly to Langlade and turn to the left.— 10 M. St-

Etienne-du-Valdonnes, Y2 ^^- beyond which we join Route c.

—

13 M. Col de Montmirat, etc., see above.

n. From Mende to Florae.

231/2 M. Omn. twice daily in 4 hrs. (4 fr.).

We follow the Col de Montmirat road to the point (19^/2 M.;

see Route c) where the Ste-Enimie road branches to the right;

thence to Florae, see Route B I.
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m. Prom Banassac-la-Canourgue to Ste-Enimie.

17 M. Carr. in 31/2 hrs., 20 fr. Omn. from the station to the hotels at

La Canourgue, 50 c.

Banassac (station, see p. 284), at the confluence of the Lot and

the Urugne, was the ancient Banacium, of which considerable re-

mains have been found. It was famed for its pottery, and under the

Merovingians had a mint of its own. Church of the 12th century,

— 17-2 M. La Canourgue (1740 ft.; Hot. du Commerce, L. 21/2,

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. des Yoyageurs), a quaint little town, is charmingly

situated. Church of St-Martin (llth-14th cent.) and old houses.

—

We next cross the desolate Causse de Sauveterre.— 27., M. St-Fre-

zal, a pilgrimage-resort, with a fine spring.— 7 M. Barraque de

Lutran (2705 ft.). The La Malene road diverges to the right (see

below).— 12 M. Laval-du-Tarn, with a striking *View of the

gorge of the Tarn, 1300 ft. deep.— Beyond (1272^1-) Cabrunas
comes the giddy descent to Ste-Enimie (17 M.; p. 290).

IV. From Banassac-la-Canourgue to La Malene.
16 M. Carr. in 31/2 hrs., 20 fr. Hotel-omn., see above.

To the (7 M.) Barraque de Lutran, see above. We leave the

Ste-Enimie road to the left, and scale the Pavilion (3000 ft.; view).

— At (972 ^i-) Le Domal we take the road to the left.— Rapid
descent by a ravine into the Gorge of the Tarn (splendid views).

—

16 M. La Malene (p. 291).

B. From Florae to Millau through the Gorges
of the Tarn.

I. From Florae to Ste-Enimie.

I6V2 M. Carr. in 21/2 hrs., 15 or 18 fr. (see p. 288).

Flm-ac, see p. 295. The road crosses the Tarnon, and then the

Tarn, whose windings it follows. To the left towers the Causse de

Mejean (p. 294).— On our right (472 ^^O diverges the Col de Mont-
mirat road (to Mende, p. 288). Farther on (74 M.) we pass through
the hamlet of Les Faux, and then turn to the W.

6M. Ispagnac (1740ft.; Hot. Saury, unpretending; pop. 1670),
picturesquely situated at the mouth of the Gorges of the Tarn.

Small Romanesque church. Opposite the village the Tarn forms a

peninsula, on which lies Quezar, connected with Ispagnac by a

bridge built by Pope turban V. (p. 284) in the 14th cent, and re-

stored in the 17th.

The ^Gorges du Tarn, still grander beyond Castelbouc, and
notably between La Malene and the Pas de Souci, begin at Ispagnac
and extend to Le Rozier, over 30 M. distant. To the right and left

tower the sheer rocks of the Gausses de Sauveterre and Mejean,
1470 to 1970 ft. in height, while at the top they are only Vr^ V4 M.
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apart. It is difficult to imagine a more impressive ravine. Gigantic

ramparts and sheer cliffs at one time overhang the river, and at

others recede in terraces, formed of different strata of limestone,

as varied in outline as in colour. The rocks present a thousand

different shapes, and are composed of yellow magnesian limestone,

black schistous marl, pink and brown dolomite, etc., to which the

rich vegetation (vines and fruit-trees) aft'ords a charming contrast.

The Road to STE-Exi>nE (about 4 hrs.' walk) follows the right

bank of the Tarn.— At (7 M.) Molines (164:0 ft.; Hot. Pages, un-

pretending) we leave the Mende road to the right (p. 288). On the

right also rises the picturesque Chateau de Rochehlave (16th cent.),

dominated b}- a curious pinnacle of dolomite. A little farther, on

the left bank, is a mill worked by one of the numerous springs

filtered through the limestone of the Causses.— 10 M, Monthrun,
also on the left bank. The road then passes through the hamlet

of Blajoux (lli/oM-)- On the other side are the old Chdteaii de
Charhonnieres, and then Castelbouc, nestling at the foot of an
isolated rock, 195 ft. high, crowned with the ruins of a feudal castle.

This striking scene is best surveyed from a belvedere, the path to

which is indicated by a guide-post.— 13^2 ^^- Prades, on the right

bank, is overlooked by a ruined castle.

1672^1- Ste-Enimie (1575 ft.; Hot. du Commerce, on the left

bank, plain but good, R. 2, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de Paris, on the right

bank), an old little town, picturesquely terraced on the right bank
of the Tarn, at one of the great bends of the river. Above it lie

the ruins of the monastery to which it owed its origin, founded ca.

630 by St. Enimie, daughter of Clothaire II. and sister of Dagobert.

Near the bridge over which the Meyrueis road passes (p. 295) the

Fontaine de Burle and Source du Coussac fall into the Tarn.

Fine view from the hermitage (key at the cure's), ^/j hr. W. of the

town, above the Le Rozier road.

II. From Ste-Enimie to Le Rozier.

26 M. Flat-bottomed boats, propelled by two boatmen with punting-
poles, for five passengers at most, with limited luggage. Voyage 7-9 hrs., ac-

cording to the state of river. Four stages, each with change of boats : (1) from
Ste-Enimie to St-Chelv-du-Taru. 7 fr.

; (2) from St-Chelv to La Malene,
7 fr. (to La Gaze 2 fr.): (3) from La Malene to the Pas'de Souci, 9 fr.

;

(4) from Les Vignes to Le Kozier, 13 fr. ; in all 36 fr. for 1-5 persons.
From the Pas de Souci to (2 M.) Les Yignes we walk or drive (1 fr.), but
the trau sport of luggage is included in the tariff. Fee 2 fr. to each crew.

The voyage is most impressive, but wearisome after a time; for

part of the way, walking or driving is preferable. (From Ste-Enimie to

La Gaze 41/2 M., to La Maleue 8 M., to Les Vignes, 151/.2 M., to Le Rozier
221/2 M.) The views from the road are more extensive than from the
river, and for travellers in the reverse direction they are more picturesque.
Travellers who intend going all the way by boat in one day should
leave Ste-Enimie very early, so as to lunch at La Malene at noon: but
those who are not pressed for time should spend a night at the Ghateau
de la Gaze or at La Malene.
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On leaving Ste-Enimie we have a fine view up the valley. We
pass the Rochers de Conroc {^/^ hr. ; on the right) and des Egout-
tiers (lOmin. ; left); the latter is pierced with holes, from which
springs trickle out. At the ^Bout du Monde^ the river takes a

sudden turn to the left.— In about V/^ hr. from Ste-Enimie we
reach St-Chely-du-Tarn, a village on the left bank, with a bridge.

Change boats.—We next turn sharply to the N.W. and pass (10 min.

;

right) the hamlet of Pougnadoires, whose curious rocks contain

inhabited grottoes.— About 2 hrs. from Ste-Enimie we reach (right)

the Chateau de la Caze, partly of the 15th cent., converted into

a hotel (15th May to 15th Oct.; R. 3-4, B. 1, L. 31/2, D. 4 fr.); it

contains a fine carved 16th cent, chimney-piece and a ceiling painted

by Prunier in 1637.— Then, 1/4 hr. later, Hauterive, with its river-

dam, a village on the left bank, with a picturesque ruin above it.

—
^ About 1 hr. from Hauterive we land at the dam of La Malene,

1/4 M. above the bridge.

La Malene (Chateau de la Malene, open 1st June to 30th Sept.,

R. 21/2-4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 fi--; Hot. du Commerce, R. 21/2, L- or

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. des Voyageurs, same charges), a small village, with

a bridge, lies about 3^^ hrs. from Ste-Enimie, near the finest part

of the gorges. The old chateau of the Montesquieu du Tarn family

is now a hotel (see above). Romanesque church. Road to Banassac,

see p. 289.

We embark either above or below the bridge, and soon skirt

the Rocher du Planiol, with a castle-ruin. On the right lies

L'Angle, with a copious spring. We pass the scanty ruins of an-

other castle on a rock to the left.

The ^Detroit, or Les Etroits, 40 min. from La Malene, and
over 1/2 ^I- loiig) together with the Cirque des Baumes and the Pas
de Souci, forms the finest part of the valley. The rocks flanking the

gorge exceed 1600 ft. in height, and are only ^/^ M. apart at the

top. The picturesqueness of the scene is enhanced by the rich

colouring of the cliffs, while the water is beautifully clear.—We
leave the Detroit near the hamlet of La Croze (left) and next enter

(1/4 hr.) the *Cirque des Baumes, at an angle of the canon,

where the forms and colouring of the cliffs, especially of those on
the right, are most striking. Clinging to the rocks at the entrance

of the cirque, on the right, is seen the hamlet of Les Baumes-
Vieilles (now abandoned), and on the same side, 5 min. farther on,

is the hamlet of Les Baumes-Haates, dominated by the Point

Sublime (see below). Below the hill are the Grotte des Baumes-
Chaudes, geologically interesting, and the Chapelle St-lUre or

St-Hilaire. Then another defile, at the end of which we land at

the Pas de Souci, 2 M. from Les Vignes.
From the landing-place we may ascend by Les Baumes-Basses and a

zigzag path to (IV4 hr.) a cross, and thence 'to the right to (V4 hr.) the
Point Suhlivie, with a superb *Vie\v, 1970 ft. above the Cirque des Baumes.

Baedeker's youtheru France. 6th Edit.
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The Pas de Souci, 2^/4 hrs. from La Malene, is a chaos of

fallen rocks, where the Tarn almost disappears, and navigation is

interrupted (see p. 290). The road passes the Sourde, on the right

bank, a huge rock, dominated by the Aiguille, 260 ft. high.

Les Vignes (Hot. Parisien,"'E. 3, L. or D. 3, P. 6-8 fr.; Hot.

Solanet, E. 2-3, L. 21/2. D- 3. P. from 7 fr.), a village on the right

bank, opposite St-Prejet-du-Tarn. The bridge is crossed by the

Severac-le-Chateau and Florae road (pp. 284, 295).

The further voyage presents difficulties owing to the rapids,

but the skill of the boatmen renders it safe and easy. The descent

to Le Rozier takes 2 hrs. (7 M. by the road on the right bank). On
either side are curiously shaped rocks bearing fanciful names. On
the right is the hamlet of Camhon. High up on the opposite bank
is the Pas de VArc; a little farther on is the natural bridge called

Baousse del Biel. We descend the rapid called Petit Pas de Souci.

On the left is the hamlet of La Sahliere, backed by the Pic de
Cinglegros (3280 ft.). Then comes the greater rapid known as the

Eoi des Rapides, opposite the Cirque de St-Marcellin, with a

hermitage and the houses of Le Mas-de-la-Font, all on the right

bank. On the left lies Plaisance, beyond which the gorge expands

into the basin of Le Rozier. We then pass the ruins of the

bridge destroyed by a great flood in 1900 and land at the new Pont

de la Muze.

Le Rozier (1280 ft.; Gr.-Hot. du Rozier, open from 15th April

to 15th Oct., R. from 21/2, B. l^/^, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. 8- 10 fr.; Hot.

des Voyageurs, R. 2-3, L. or D. 3, P. 6-7 fr.), at the confluence of

the Tarn and Jonte, is a good centre for excursions. It lies at the

foot of the Rocher de Capluc (2000 ft.; ascent 1 hr. ; view).— On
the left bank of the Jonte, connected with Le Rozier by a bridge,

lies the village of Peyreleau, overlooked by an old tower; behind

it is the old Chateau de Triadou.
Excursions. To MontpeUier-le-Vieux, see p. 293; to the Ei-mitage

de St-Michel and Chaos du Rajol, see p. 293 ; to the VaUee de la Jonte
(Grotte de Dargilan, Meyrueis) and the Aigoual, see pp. 294, 295.

m. From Le Kozier to Millau.

a. Via Aguessac, 131/2 ^I., in 2i/j hrs.; carr. 15-20 fr. (3-5 pers.). To
Aguessac station only, 1/2 hr. less (same fare). Also onin. (2 fr.) twice
daily to (2 hrs.) Aguessac and (3 hrs.) Millau.

The valley of the Tarn is still interesting, though less so than the

upper part. The Causse Noir (p. 293) here forms, on the left, grand

cliffs over 1500 ft. high.— 272 M. Mostuejoids, on a hill to the

right, with an old castle. On the left, by the river, is the interest-

ing church of St-Pierre (12th cent.).— S^/2 M. Boyne. To the right

diverges the road to Chanac (287-2 ^^ P- 283), across the Causse

de Sauveterre.— 6 M. Riviere, a village dominated by the Rocher
de Peyrelade (1825 ft.) and the enormous Ruines de Peyrelade
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(2780 ft.), where there are caverns used for maturing cheese (comp.

p. 285).— 91/2 M. Aguessac (p. 284).— 13V2 M. Millau (p. 284).

b. Via Moktpellier-le-Vieux, 20 M., carr. (1-5 pers.) in about 7 hrs.,

28 fr. (incl. visit to Montpellier-le-Yieux). At La Roque-Ste-Marguerite

we may take the Xant omn. (p. 285).

The road leads across the Jonte and through Peyreleau (p. 292),

and ascends S. in zigzags (short-cuts) to the Causse Noir, so called

from its sombre and stunted pines. Looking back we have a fine

view of the gorges of the Tarn.

After 41/2 M. the road forks. To the left is the Lanuejols road

;

opposite to us is the uew road to La Roque-Ste-Marguerite; to the

right diverges the bridle-path to Le Maubert (see below).

The road to Lanuejols (15 M. from Le Rozier; p. 295) passes (2i/.^ M.
farther on) the Ermitage de St-Jean-de-Balme (llth-13th cent.), whence
a path leads N. to the Ravin des PaJies, which descends to the Jonte.

This path leads to a superb *Point of view, whence we see, on isolated

rocks above a precipice, the ruins of the Ermitage de St-2Iichel (10th cent.

;

8 hrs. from Le Rozier, guide necessary; line view). The head of the

ravine, the Cirque de Madasse, is interesting also.— From St-Jean-de-
Balme we may also visit St-Andre-de-Vezines (aub.

; p. 295), IV2 ^^' to

the S., in the middle of the Causse Noir; 1 hr. farther, to the S.W., on
the Biou Sec, are the Roques-Altes (160-200 ft.), a sort of natural fortress.

Close by is the chaos of the *RajoI, with the most fantastic rocks in

the Gausses, overhanging the valley of the Dourbie (p. 285). It takes
21/2 brs. to descend (W.) into the ravine and ascend the steep slope opposite
to Le Manbert (see below).

From the bifurcation mentioned above, the bridle-path to the

right leads to (V4hr.) Le Maubert (2675 ft.; Ferme Robert, R. V/^,

L. or D. 2^2 fr-)? 6 M. from Le Rozier. Guide to Montpellier-le-

Vieux necessary (for 1 pers. 3 fr., each pers. more 2 fr.).

Montpellier-le-Vieux, 74 ^r. from Le Maubert, is a chaos

of rocks, resembling a ruined city, on a plateau about 2 M. long

and V/^ M. broad. To obtain a general survey we go straight on

to the rocks where the path of access ends towards the S., and mount
those on the left, called the Ciutad, from which we obtain a striking

*View. The couloir of approach and its continuation beyond the

rocks divide Montpellier-le-Vieux into two parts. The E. part con-

tains four cirques: to the S., the Bouquettes ; to the N., the Lac,
and beyond, to the E., the Amats and the Citerne. In the other part

(on the right) is the MilUdre, comprising the Ville, to the N"., and
the Forum, to the S. The Cirque des Rouquettes is the smallest

but finest. Near the Amats are a hole in the rock called the Porte
de Mycenes and an Allee d'Ohelisques. A grand *View is obtained

from the top of the rocks, towards the Dourbie. An 'aven' (p. 287)

separates the Milliere from the Rouquettes.

Walkers may descend direct to La Roque. Those who prefer

the new road return to the bifurcation, and then descend the pic-

turesque gorge of the Riou Sec (see above).— 8 M. (from Le Rozier)

La Roque-Ste-Marguerite (1310 ft.; Hot. Terminus, L. 3, D.
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3^2 fi'-; guide or mule 5 fr.), in the valley of the Dourbie, I'^j^hr.

S. of Le Maubert. Road up the valley and Ravin de St-Veran, see

p. 285.— Downstream, the prettiest part is (10 M.) the Ravin du
Val Negre. Here also is the Grotte cVAluech.— 13 M. Le Monna,
with the chateau of the Bonald family, and the tombs of the cardinal

and the philosopher of that name.— 16^2 ^I- Millau (p. 284).

C. From Millau to Florae, via the Valley of the Jonte.
The following routes, on which omn. ply, include the pretty Jonte

valley, the grotto of Dargilan, and the ascent to the Aigoual.

I. From Millau to Meyrueis. The Aigoual.

261/2 M. Omn. twice daily in 51/2 hrs. (5 fr.) ; from Le Eozier to Meyrueis
in 3-31/u hrs. (3 fr.). Carr. from Le Eozier to the path to the grotto of

Dargilan in 2i/. hrs. (20 fr.).

From Millau to (13^2 ^^) Le Eozier , via Aguessac, see pp. 293.

292. The Meyrueis road ascends the *Vallee de la Jonte, a ravine

between the Causse Mejean and the Causse Noir, no less wild and

grand than that of the Tarn, and containing similar fantastic rocks,

but not accessible by boat. Fine view of Peyreleau behind us

(p. 292).— 15 M. Panm^ama des Terrasses (to the right; guide-

M. Les
ivith its

Romanesque chapel.— 21 M. Moulin de Sourbetfes. Higher up,

the Jonte disappears for 1^/4 M. in summer.— 23 M. Guide-post

indicating the path to the right to the —
^Grotto of Dargilan (2790 ft.), high up in the Causse Xoir,

on the left bank of the Jonte. (Path to the grotto 50 min.; donkey

1^4 fr., descent 1 fr.) A road also leads direct from Meyrueis to

the grotto. (Adm. 5 fr. ; special costume, if desired V/^ fr. ; the

visit takes 2-2^2 hrs.; chalet-rest, at the entrance, L. 3^/2 fr.)

The grotto, discovered in 1880, is lighted by electricity. Its three

branches are 1 M. long- in ao-sreg-ate length. Thev contain beautiful

stalactites, one of which, called the '^Clocher, is 65 ft. high. This

grotto, the Gouffre de Padirac (p. 95), and the Aven Armand (p. 295)

are the greatest curiosities of the kind in France.

The road continues to ascend on the right bank of the Jonte.

261/2^1. Meyrueis (2305 ft.; Hot. d'Europe, L. or D. 3fr.;

Hot. de France; pop. 1487), a tidy little town, lies prettily at the

confluence of the Jonte and the Butezon, and at the foot of a dolo-

mitic rock crowned with a chapel. Tour de I'Horloge and 16th cent,

house. Meyrueis is a good centre for excursions in the Jonte valley.

Eoad to the (4»/2 M.) Grotto of Dargilan (see above; carr. 10 fr.).

To the S., 6 M., is St-Saiivenr-des-Po7ircils, with old mines of argenti-

ferous lead and copper. Near it, to the E., is the *Braraabiau ('bellow-
ing ox'), a curious cascade, 45 ft. high, formed by the Bonhevr. which
has bored for itself a subterranean channel, 700 yds. long, ending in a

ravine 330 ft. deep. An immense cavern has thus been formed, the largest
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in France, whose ramifications have an aggregate length of nearly 4 M.
Only parts of the channel are accessible. The entrance on this side is

1/.2 M. from Caviprien (Hot. Julien, L. or D. 3 fr.), a village 12 M. from
^leyrueis (8 M. by short-cuts); adm. 1 fr., and fee to guide.

The ascent of the Aigoual (5140 ft.
; p. 286), 20 M. to the S.E., is

best made from Mevrueis. (Carr. in 4 hrs. ; 25 or 30fr.)— The road goes

by (12 M.) Caviprien (see above) and the (16 M.) Col de La Sereyrede

(p. 286). On foot the ascent is made in 4-5 hrs., up the beautiful valley

of the Biitezon, and past the Signal de Montrefu (4615 ft.).

From Meyrueis to Sauclieres, 25 M., omn. in 6 hrs. (41/2 fr-)- —
From (7 M.) Lanuejols (road to Le Eozier, see p. 293) -we may visit (71/2 M.)

St-Andre-de-Vezines (p. 293) and (121/2 M.) La Roque-Ste-Marguerite

(p. 293). — 13 M. Treves, with grottoes. Road to Cantobre in the Dourbie
valley (51/2 M.

; p. 285), still unfinished. — 201/2 M. St-Jean-du-Bruel

(1715 ft. ; Hot. du Commerce, du Midi
;
pop. 1691), on the Dourbie, which

is crossed by a picturesque old bridge. — 25 M. Sauclieres (p. 286).

From Meyrueis to Ste-Enimie, 18 M., road across the desolate Causse
Mejean, the scenery of which is wild and grand at places. The ascent

to the Causse and the descent to Ste-Enimie are most striking. — On the

plateau. 41/2 ^^- from Meyrueis, a path diverges on the left to (1 M.) the

Grotte de Xabrigas. where bones of bears have been found. To the

X.W., 1/0 M., on the Col du Dolmen (3280 ft.), is the entrance to the

Aven Armand, discovered in 1897, one of the finest caverns of the

kind, but accessible only by descending a precipice of 245 ft. (Louis

Armand at Le Rozier lets rope-ladders for the purpose, but at the tourist's

risk.) The 'aven', 110 yds. long, contains about 400 stalagmites. —18 M.
Ste-Enimie (p. 290).

II. From Meyrueis to Florae.

221/2 M. Omn. twice daily in 4 hrs. (4 fr.). Carr. 25 fr.

The road ascends the valley of the Jonte to (47, ^I-) Gatnzieres,

and then in great loops to (7 M.) the Col de Pei'juret (3385 ft.).

On the Causse Mejean, 2^/2 M. to the W., is the curious rocky chaos

of Nimes-le-Vieux, discovered in 1907.— IOY2 ^I- Fraissinet-de-

Fourques (3230 ft.). AVe descend into the valley of the Tarnon,
and at (13 M.) Les Vanels join the St-Jean-du-Gard road (see

below), which we follow down the river. On the left rise the

precipices of the Causse Mejean, nearly 2000 ft. high.— 1372 ^•

Vehron (2170 ft.), with a curious old well.— I51/2M. Saigas, with

an 18th cent, chateau.

221/2 M. Florae.

_

Hotels. Central-Hotel Melquion, R. 2-31/2,

L. or D. 3, P. 5-6, omn. 1/2 fr. ; Hot. Donnadien, R. 2-31/2, L. or D. 3,

P. 6-8 fr. ; Modern-Hotel Plan, R. 21/2-3, L. or D. 3 fr. — Syndicat d'Ini-
TiATivE, Rue Xationale.

Fl&rac (1790 ft.; pop. 1886) lies at the foot of the Causse

Mejean, ou the left bank of the Tarnon. Its chief sight is the Source
da Pecker or Peschier, which issues in a fine cascade from the

Rocher de Rochefort, 1/4 hr. above the town.
Narrow-gauge railway to Ste-Cecile-d' Andorge, see p. 297. — Road to

Ste-Enimie, see p. 289; to Mende, see p. 288.

Road to LesVignes (26 M. ; p. 292), over the Causse Mejean.- Omn.
up the Tarn vallev to (12V2 M. ; 2 fr.) Le Pont-de-Montrert (p. 297).—
Road to (38V« M.) St-.Teav-dn-Gard (p. 485), up the valley of the Tarnon.
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40. From Clermont-Ferrand (Paris)
to Nimes.

189 M. Railway in S^^-ll hrs. (34 fr. 15, 23 fr. 10, 15 fr. 10 c). This
interesting route should he taken by day. Finest views on the left.

From Paris to Xijues, via Clermont-Ferrand, 450 M., through-trains
in summer in 16 hrs. 10 to 16 hrs. 40 min. (81 fr. 20, 54 fr. 85, 35 fr. 80 c).

Yia Tarascon, see R. 64 a.

To (581/2 M.) St-Ge<yrges-d'Aurac, see pp. 218-220. The train

descends rapidly and crosses the Allier.— 63 M. Langeac (1685 ft.

;

Hot. Bardel, L.'orD. 21/2 fr-; pop. 4832), on the Allier, has a 15th

cent, church containing old wood-carving.
Omn. in 3 hrs. (2 fr. 10 c.) to Saugues (3150 ft.; hotel; pop. 3784). a

prettily situated town, 121/2 M. to the S.S.E. (in 3 hrs.; 2 fr. 10 e.). The
church of St-Medard, of the 14th cent., has an octagonal tower of the
12th. To Le Puy, see p. 277.

We skirt the river, whose valley becomes interesting, v.-ith

numerous tunnels and viaducts.— 66^9 ^- Chanteiiges (1740 ft.),

with vestiges of an old abbey, notably the church (14th-16th cent.).

On either side are basaltic hills, but granite predominates farther

on. We see St-Julien-des-Chazes, with an isolated 12th cent, church,

on the right bank.— 71^2 ^i- Prades-St-Julien. Xear it are fine

columns of basalt alternating with granite.— 777, M. Monistrol-

d'Alliei' (1995 ft.). We pass through a grand gorge.— 97 M. Jon-
cheres (2730 ft.), with a ruined 15th cent, castle on the left.

1041/2 ^I- Langogne (2990 ft.; Buffet ; Hot. de la Poste, L. or

D. 21/2 fr. ; Hot. du Luxembourg, at the station, unpretending; pop.

3919), an old town V2 ^^- ^0 the S. The church of St-Ge>'va{s-et-

St-Protais (10th cent.) contains interesting capitals. Railway to

Le Puy, see p. 277.

After crossing the Allier we see on the left a 14th cent, church

in ruins.— 112 31. Luc (3185 ft.), overlooked by a ruined castle.

Chestnut-trees abound here.— 116 M. La Bastide-St-Laurent-les-

Bains (3360 ft.; Hot. de la Gare, L. 2^/^, D. 3 fr.).

St-Lmtrent-Us-Bains, 51/2 M. to the X.E. (omn. 1 fr. ; hotels), with
two bath-houses, is a small watering-place among the mountains. The
waters (127-) contain carbonate of soda" On the St-Laurent road, about 2 M.
from La Bastide, is the Trax>pe de Kotre-Dame-des-Neiges, amid woods.

From La Bastide to Mende, 30 M., railway in 1 hr. 50 to 2 hrs.

15 min. (5 fr. 40, 3 fr. 65, 2 fr. 35 e.). This line, one route to the Gausses
(comp. p. 287), ascends the winding Jt^Zier. — Beyond (5M.) C'hasserades we
cross the picturesque ravine of the C'hassezac by a curved viaduct of 17

arches. — Beyond (11 M.) BeJvezet the line reaches its highest point (about
3940 ft.). The scenerv improves. — 201/2 M. BagnoU-Chadenet. Omn. to

(3 M.) Bagnols-les-Bains (3000 ft. ; Grand-Hotel. Hot. des Bains), a

village on the Lot, with mineral springs containing sulphur and soda
(88=-108°), now use^ for the treatment of cardiac affections, rheumatism,
and scrofula. — Fine view (left) of the valley of the Lot, which we follow
to (30 M.) Mende (p. 283).

We cross the Allier for the last time and, by a tunnel under

the watershed of the Cevennes, pass from the basin of the Loire
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into that of the Rhone. The line here attains its highest level

(3380 ft.), after which it descends rapidly. Between the tunnels

we obtain fine glimpses of the country, which assumes a more
southern character.

129 M. Villefort (1985 ft.; Buffet, good; Hot. Balme, L. 21/^,

D. 3 fr.; guide), an admirable centre for excursions.

La Garde-Guerin (2870 ft.), a hainlet 6 M. to the N., on a plateau
between the deep ravines of the Altier and Chassezac, commands superb
A'iews. — A road leads from Villefort to {IS M.) Les Vdns (p. 484) through
the ravines of the Borne, Altier, and Chassezac; another (15 M.), less

interesting, goes by the Mas de V Air (aub.).

An easy and interesting excursion (2 days) is from Villefort, S.W.,
to the Mont Lozere group, with the Roc de Malpert»s, the Fie de
Finiels, and the Signal des Lanhies. Early starts advisable.

1st day. We pass above the railway and ascend S., near the right

bank of a brook, which we cross at (2 M.) Palheres. To the left, beyond
the hamlet, we take a bridle-path running parallel with the ravine below,
and avoiding the two paths to the right. In 2 hrs. we reach the poor
hamlet of C'osteilades (3440 ft.), whence a boy or herdsman should be
taken as a guide, at least to the Sources du Tarn, I1/4 hr. higher. There
we turn to the W., and in ^/^ hr. we reach the top of the Roc de Mal-
pertus (5520 ft.), which affords a fine view, incl. the Aigoual to the S.,

the Aubrac and Margeride hills to the N"., and the Lot and Aveyron
valleys to the W. We descend S.W. (keeping away from the Tarn), via
Camarques, L'Hointal, and Le Maztt, to Le Pont-de-Montvert (Hot. des
C^vennes), a village on the Tarn, and on the road from Genolhac (18 M.

;

see below) to Florae (16 M. ; p. 295). It was here in 1702, after the Re-
vocation of the Edict of Nantes, that the revolt broke out, known as

the War of the Camisards, from the shirts ('camisa') worn by the in-

surgents. The town is still Protestant.

2nd day. We first ascend a ravine, N. of Le Pont-de-Montvert,
to (2 M.) C'hamplony-de-Lozere, (21/2 M.) Pre-Sotdayran (3905 ft.), and
(31/2 M.) Finiels, IV2 hr- from Le Pont and half-way to tlie Col de Finiels
(short-cut). To the W. rises the Pic de Finiels (5585 ft. ; tine view S.

and E.). From the Signal de Laubies (5445 ft.), -V^ hr. W., the view
includes the whole Cevennes chain and the Gausses. We return to the
col to gain the Le Bleymard road, or else descend direct N. by the sheep-
track ('draye de transhumance'), used from time immemorial by the
flocks of Provence on their way to their summer-pastures. The village
of Le Bleipnard (3470 ft. ; aub.), 18 M. from Villefort, is reached by the
Col du Bleymard (3855 ft.) and the village of Altier, and is only 5 M.
from Bagnols, on the Mende line (p. 296).

Beyond Villefort the country is still very hilly ; beautiful glimp-

ses of the Cevennes to the right.— 138 M. Genolhac. Curved via-

duct, 150 ft. high, affording a fine view as we look back to the right.

— 144 M. Ste-C^cUe-cVAndm^ge.
From Ste-Cecile-d'Andorge to Florac, 3OV2 M., narrow-gatige line

in 21/2 hrs. (5 fr. 50, 4 fr. 10 c, 3 fr.), very picturesque. — The train ascends
the valley of the Gardon via Le Collet-de-Dhze (3'/2 M. ; Hot. Pellorce),

passes under the Col de Jalcreste, and reaches its highest point (2820 ft.)

at (17 M.) Le Rouve-Jalcreste. It then descends into the valley of the
Mimente to (30V2 ^0 Florae (p. 295).

We quit the Cevennes; mulberries now appear. To the right is

the Gardon d'Alais, a torrent nearly dry in summer.— 148 M.
La Levade. Farther on, to the left, is the Montague du Gouffre;
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a landslide here in 1896 carried away the colliery buildings and

the railway. The line has therefore been transferred to the right

bank as far as the next station.

150 M. GrancV Combe-la-Pise. The towns of La GraiKV
Co7nbe, La Levade, and La Pise (pop. 11.547 in all) possess

valuable coal-mines and factories.— 156^0 ^^- Tamaris, where the

Le Teil line joins ours on the left (R. 64c).

158^ /a M. Alais (buflfet), and thence by the Lyons line to Nimes,

see pp. 484, 485.

41. From Nimes to Montpellier and Cette.

From Nimes to Montpellier, 301/2 M., railway in '^j^-l'^Jihr. (5 fr. J5,

3 fr. 70, 2 fr. 40 c). — From Montpellier to Cette. 171/2 M., railway in
25-45 min. (3 fr. 15, 2 fr. 15, 1 fr. 35 c).

Nimes, see p. 485. The plain is planted with vines, especially

beyond Lunel.— 2 M. St-Cesaire (130 ft.). To Aigues-Mortes and

to Le Vigan, see p. 491.— 13 M. (xrand-Gallargues. Line to Le
Vigan, see below. We cross the Vidonrle.

16 M. Lunel (35 ft.; Buffet; Hot. du Commerce; pop. 7730)

was once noted for its muscatel wines, but the yield has fallen off

since the destruction of the vines by the phylloxera. The Place de

la R^publique is adorned with a small reproduction of Bartholdi's

statue of Liberty (at New York) and a Calvary. The Church, partly

Romanesque, has a 14th cent, belfry.

Line to Aries (Aigues-Mortes, Le Grau-du-Roi), see p. 517.

Branch-line to (91/2 M.) Sommieres (Le Vigan; p. 491), via Grand-
Gallargnes, on the Nimes line (see above), and thence via the Vidourle
valley.

26^/2 M- Les Mazes-le-Cres. We pass into (3OV2 '^^•) Mont-
pellier in front of the citadel (left) and under the Palavas line

(P- 304).

Montpellier.

Stations. Gare du P.-L.-M. (PI. D, 5), for Nimes, Paris, Marseilles,
Cette, Bordeaux, etc.; Gare de Palavas (PI. D, 4), for the Palavas line

(p. 304); Gare de Rabieux, or Montpellier-C'haptal (PI. A, 5), for the line
to Rabieux (p. 304) and the line to Beziers via Meze (p. 107).

Hotels. "Hot. de la Metropole (PI. f ; D, 5), 3 Rue du Clos-Rene,
flrst-class, R. from 4, B. I1/4, L. 31/21 !>• ^1/2, P. from I.31/2, omn. from
V4 fr. ; Grand-Hotel (PI. a; D, 5). 8 Rue Maguelone, well spoken of, R.
from 21/2, B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 8, omn. 1/4 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. du Midi
(PI. c; C, 4, 5). Boul. Victor-Hugo, near the Place de la Comedie, R. from 3,

B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31,'.,, P. from 91/2, omn. 1/., fr. ; Hot. Maguelone (PI. b;
D, 4, 5), 5 Rue Maguelone, R. from 21/2- B. 1, L. or D. 21/2, P- 7V2-9, omn.
V4-V2 fr. ; Hot. Moderne (meuble; PI. d, D 4), 7 Rue Boussairolles, well
spoken of. R. from 21/2, B. IV4 fr. ; Hot. -Rest, du Commerce (PI. g; C, 5),

9 Boul. Victor-Hugo, L. 2, D. 21/2 fr. ; Hot. Delmas (PLe; C, 5), 9 Rue
de la Republiqne, R. from 2 fr.

Pensions. Mme. Ayviard, 6 Rue du Gymnase; Pens. Suisse, 21 Av.
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Chancel (from 5 fr.); Mme. Gcdtier, 28 Bue du Faubourg-St-Jaumes (150 fr.

per month).

Restaurants. Brasserie Moderne, 15 Boul. de I'Esplanade; Rest.

ViUaret, Rest. Courtes, Rue Maguelone; Brass, de Strasbourg, Cafe Riche,

Place de la Com^die; Rest. Regnier, 11 Rue Rationale.

Cabs. Per drive with 1 horse 1, with 2 horses IV2 fr.
;
per hour IV2

or 2 fr. ; from midnight to 6 or 7 a.m., per drive 3/^, per hour 1 fr. extra.
— Taximeter Cabs, 80 c. up to 600 m., then 10 c. for every 200 m. more;
for each pers. over two, 50 c. extra; each trunk 50 c.

Electric Tramways (10-20 c). 1. 'Tour de Ville', from the Ga7-e du
P.-L.-M. (PI. D, 5) and back, by the Rue Maguelone, Boulevards, and
Rue de la Republique. — 2. From the Octroi de Palavas (beyond PI. D,
5, 6) to the Rond-Point de VEcole-Normale (PI. A, 1).— 3. From the Place
de la Comedie (PL D, 4) to Castelnau (beyond PI. D, 1).— 4. From the

Place de la Comedie to the Octroi de Lodeve and Celleneuve (beyond
PI. A, 4). — 5. From the Chamj) de Manoetivres (beyond PI. A, 6) to the

Hopital Suhurhain (beyond PI. A, 1).

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. C, .3), Place de la Prefecture. Branch-
office, 3 Rue du Grand-Galion (PI. C, 5; closed on Sun.).

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, Comptoir d'' Escovipte, 20 and 1 Boul.
Victor-Hugo; Societe Generale, 9 Boul. de I'Esplanade.

Baths. Noiiveaux Bains de Paris. 7 Rue des Etuves and 6 Rue
Richelieu; Peyrou, 2 Rue de la Merci; Maguelone, 5 Rue du Clos-Rene,
next the Hotel Metropole; Neothervies, 3 Boul. Victor-Hugo.

University. As at Grenoble (see p. 409), special courses are given for

foreign students all the year round. Apply to the secretary of the Comite
de Patronage des Etudiants Etrangers.

Sysdicat d'Initiative, at the theatre (PLC, 4).

Montpellier (90 ft.; pop. 80,230), a handsome and prosperous

town, capital of the department of the Herault and seat of the 16th

armycorps, lies partly on a hill above the Lez.
Montpellier was founded in 737, on the destruction of Maguelone

(p. 304) by Charles Martel, but its prosperity dates only from the 12th

cent., when its still famous school of medicine was established. The see

of Maguelone was transferred to Montpellier in 1536. The latter became
a stronghold of Calvinism, and Louis XIII. besieged and took it in 1622.

The University, founded in 1289 and suppressed in 1794, was re-estab-

lished in 1896. Petrarch studied law and theology here in 1318-22. The
School of Agriculture, 1 M. to the N.W. (beyond'Pl. A, 3), was founded
in 1872. There is also a higher school of commerce. Montpellier was the
birthplace of the philosophers Comte (1798-1857) and Renouvier (1815-1903)
and of the painters Bourdon (1616-71), Raoux (1677-1734), Vien (1716-1809),

Fabre (p. 301), Glaize (1807-93), and Cabanel (1823-89).

The square outside the station (PI. D, 5) is adorned with a

statue of Planchon (1823-88), director of the Jardin des Plantes,

who introduced vines from America to replace those destroyed by
the phylloxera.

The Rue Maguelone leads thence to the Place de la Comedie
(PI. C, D,4), the centre of the town, with a Fontaine des Trois-

Grdces (1776). On the left is the Theatre, a handsome Renaissance

building (1883-9), designed by Cassien-Bernard, with sculptures

by Injalbert.

We follow, to the left of the theatre, the Boul. Victor-Hugo
(PI. C, 4, 5), ouc of the boulevards eucircliug the old town, to the

Place de I'Observatoire. Here, to the right, rises the Tour de la
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Babotte, a relic of the 12th cent, ramparts, afterwards an observa-

tory (PL C, 5). The Boul. de I'Observatoire ends in a little square

with a statue of Edouard Adam (1768-1807), whose improved

method of distillation was a great boon to the local industries.

The *Peyrou (PI. A, B, 3, 4), to which the boulevards lead

farther on, is a charming promenade (17th-18th cent.). The gate

is flanked with two groups by Injalbert, Love overcoming Force.

In the centre of the promenade is an equestrian statue of Louis XIV.
,

in bronze. On the right and left are Youth and the Chimpera and

The Siren, in bronze, and Paradise Lost and Hecate and Cerberus,

in marble. At the W. end is a monumental Chateau d'Eau, or

reservoir, in the form of a hexagonal pavilion. It is supplied by

the Aqueduc Sf-Clement, constructed in 1753-66, which brings

the water of the Lez from a distance of 8Y2 ^^- ^^^ ^nds at the

Peyrou in a double tier of arches, 1/2 ^'^' long and 70 ft. high. The

top of the Chateau d'Eau affords a fine view of the Cevennes, the

Pyrenees, and the sea.

Opposite the entrance to the Peyrou rises the Arc de Triomphe,
50 ft. high and 60 ft. broad, erected in 1691 in honour of Louis XIV.

The bas-reliefs, by Phil. Bertrand of Montpellier, recall the victo-

ries of the king, the construction of the Canal du j\Iidi (p. 79"), and

the Revocation of the Edict of Xantes. The arch forms the entrance

to the Bite Natlonale (PI. B, C, 3, 4), which leads through the old

town to the Prefecture (p. 301) and is to be prolonged to the Espla-

nade (p. 304). On the left, at the beginning, is the Palais de

Justice (PL B, 3), with a Corinthian peristyle, adorned with statues

of Cardinal de Fleury (1653-1743) and Cambaceres (1753-1824).

The ceiling of the first room of the Cour d'Appel is by Vien (1771),

that of the second by J. de Troy (1688). The paintings in the Cour

d'Assises are by E. Michel.

To the N. of the Peyrou, and to the left of the Boul. Henri IV,

is the Jardin des Plantes (PL B, 3, 2), the oldest botanical

gardens in France, founded by Henri IV. in 1593 and organized

by Richer de Belleval (d. 1623). Many exotics grow here in the

open air.

In the boulevard, opposite the Jardin des Plantes, is the Tour
des Pins (PL B, 3), a relic of the old ramparts, now containing the

municipal archives. At the top are two pines, and on the fagade

is a Provencal inscription in memory of Jaime I. of Aragon, born

at Montpellier in 1208.— To the N. is the Institut de Physique
et de Ckimie (PL B, 2).

The Faculte de Medecine (PL B, 3), to the S. of the tower,

and adjoining the Cathedral, was formerly a monastery and after-

wards the bishop's palace. At the entrance, in the Rue de I'Ecole-

de-Medecine, are statues of the phvsicians F. La Peyronie (1678-

1747) and P. J. Barthez (1734-1806).
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The professor's chair in the large amphitheatre comes from theArenes
of Nimes. The robing-room and the council-hall, to the left of the vesti-

bule, contain portraits of professors since 1239. Xote in the latter room
the portrait of La Peyronie by Rigaud. The Salle des Actes, to the right

of the vestibule, contains a so-called bust of Hippocrates.
On the first floor is the medical part of the University Library

(226, 566 vols, and 692 MSS. ; open in winter daily, 12.30-6.30, and in summer
9.30-11.30 and 2.30-6.30).— The remainder of the library, at the University
(see below), is open 9.30-11.30 and 2.30-6.30 (in Aug.-Oct. on Mon., Wed.,
and Fri. only). Among the MSS. we note a Horace of the 9th cent., a Persius
and a Juvenal of the 9th. a Lucan and a Virgil of the 10th, a Gregory
of Tours of the 9th-10th, a psalter of the 8th, an atlas on vellum of the
14th, and an autograph of Tasso.

On the second floor is the Mnsee Atger, a collection of drawings (300),
engravings, and paintings. (Apply at the secretary's oflice.)

The Conservatoire Anatomique is open to students on Thurs., and to

the public on Sun., 2-4.

The Cathedral of St-Pierre (PI. B, 3). founded in 1364 by
Pope Urban Y., and partly rebuilt after the Religious "Wars, was
restored by Revoil in 1867. The curious but unpleasing porch has

a high arch supported in front by round turrets, 13 ft. in diameter.

The facade is flanked with two unfinished square towers, and there

are two others at the transept. The modern portal of the S. transept

has a tympanum by A. Baussan (1884).
The broad and handsome nave is flanked with side-chapels between

the pillars. The choir is modern. Among the paintings are, to the left,

in the transept, Simon the Sorcerer, by Si'h. Bourdon (p. 299); to the
right, St. Peter receiving the keys, by J. de Troy. The same transept
contains the Annunciation and the xVdoration of the Shepherds, in tapestry.

A little E. of the Cathedral is the University (PI. C, 3), for-

merly the Hotel-Dieu, where the Faculties of Law, Letters, and
Science were installed in 1889. On the ground-floor, to the right,

and partly in the quadrangle, is the small Musee Lapidaire, a

valuable collection of casts (open on Thurs. afternoon, except in

vacation). University Library, see above.— Farther E. is the Ecole
de Pharmacie (PI. C, 3).

To the S.E. of the Cathedral is the Hotel dc Ville (PI. B, C, 3),

the court of which is adorned with busts from the antique. In front

is the Fontaine des Licornes, in memory of Marshal dc Castries,

the victor at Clostercamp (1760). In the adjoining Rue du Palais

is the Maison de la Coquille (16th cent.).

We now return (S.) to the Rue Rationale (p. 300) and cross it

to the church of Ste-Anne (PL B, 4). Near it, to the W., 14 Rue
Eugene-Lisboune, is the Conservatoir'e deMuslque (PI. B,4), with

an archaeological museum (shown by special permission).

On the N. of the Rue Xationale is the Prefertivre (PL C, 3). In

front rises the pretty Fontaine de la Ville (1775). Adjacent is the

Post & Telegraxoh Office (PI. C, 3).

To the E. is the *Musee Fabre (PL D. 3), in the Rue Mont-
pelli6ret, near the Esplanade. Founded by the painter F. X. Fabre
of Montpellier (1766-1837), a pupil of David, it has since been
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enriched by donations and legacies. It now contains over 800 paint-

ings, and is the finest provincial collection in France next to that

of Lille. (Adm. on week-daj^s, except Mon., from 1.30 to 4 or 5;

Sun., 11 to 4 or 5.) On the main fagade are statues of Bourdon,

Vien, and Raoux.
We ascend by the Staircase to the left. At the top, 1061. Legendre-

Heral, Bust of Pierre Puget the sculptor. — Estrasce Hall: 238. P.
Flandrin, Environs of Vienne ; 274. F. Giraud, The husband's return.

—

P. CabaneJ, 62. Nymph taken by surprise, 63. Hero and Leander; 500,

A. Scheff'er, Portrait; A. Glaize, 288. What one sees at twenty, 287 (above).

Blood of Venus; 314. Henuer, The Good Samaritan; 289. Glaize, The
mocking of Christ.— 475. Ricard, Portr. of Bruyas (p. 303); 59. Cahanel,
Portr. of himself (1852); 502. H. Scheffer, Portrait; 416. Monvoisin, Death
of Chark's IX.; 94. Cot, Mireille, after Mistral.— 371. Em. Levy, Judgment
of Midas; 245. Friant, The struggle; Harpignies, Landscapes. — 1055.

Houdon, Model of the statue of Voltaire at the Com^die-Frangaise.

Cabinet, to the right of entrance. On the right, 1079, 1080, and (in

the gallery) 1078. Busts by Canova.
Principal Gallery. To the right, 691. G. B. Moroni (?), Portr. of

Aleoni, a Venetian general (1570). — 695. Panini, Monuments of ancient
Eome (1733); 628. R. le Voyer (after Michael Angela), Last Judgment
(1570); 611. AUori, Venus and Cupid; Dietrich, 825. Landscape, 823. The
crowning with thorns, 824, 826. Landscapes; 306. Jean Grimou, Young
soldier; 864. R. Mengs, Card. York; 827. Dietrich, Waterfalls of Tivoli;
683. Locatelli, Landscape. — Fabre (see p. 301), 193. Portr. of Canova
(1812), 209. Portr. of himself (1835), 194. Death of Abel, his chief work
(1790). — 771. Juan de Joanes, Portr. of St. Francis Borgia; 818. P. C'am-
paha, Descent from the Cross; 656. C. Dolci, The Saviour; 723. After
Raphael, Portr. of Lorenzo de' Medici (original of 1518, since lost); 629.

P. Veronese, Marriage of St. Catharine; Zurharan, 780. The angel Gabriel,

781. St. Agatha; between the two, *776. Ribera, St. Mary of Egypt (1641);

777. Fr. Rizi. or Ricci, Adoration of the Shepherds; *722. Unknoicn (attr.

to Raphael), Portr. of a young man, the gem of the gallery; 655. Dolci,
Madonna with the lily (1642); 703. Guido Reni, Head of the Madonna;
755. Venetian School of 16th Cent., Portr. of an old man; 678. Giordano,
Holy Family (1685); 676. Botticelli, Madonna and Child; 745 (above),

Umbrian School of 15th Cent., St. Christopher, fresco transferred to can-

vas. — 747. Florentine School of 15th Cent., Adoration of the Magi (pre-

della); 757. Venetian School of 16th Cent., Portr. of a senator.— On the

entrance side. 1084. Santarelli, Bust of Fabre.— The cases in the centre
contain the Collection Bouissoji: Watches, cameos, ivories, porcelain,

Chinese chessmen, enamels, etc.

Small Room {Collection Valedau, chiefly Dutch pictures). To the

right, *887. Adr. van Ostade, Tavern interior (1666); 787. N. Berghem,
The faggots (landscape); 859. L. Knaus. Tipsy peasants (1853); 788.

Berghem, Landscape with cattle. — *928. D. Teniers the Yonnger, Chateau
de Teniers, with the painter's family (himself on the right, in a red
cloak); 945. W. van de Velde the Younger, The little fleet; 847. 31.

d'Hondecoeter, The white hen; 909. J. van Ruysdael, Cascade; *920. Jan
Steen, Family repast; 911. J. van Rnysdael, Landscape (damaged); *981.

Reynolds, The little Samuel (1777); 839. ./. van Goyen, Landscape. — PTiiV.

^Youverman, 954. Ploughman resting, 956. The stirrup-cup, 958. Army
on the march, 957. The horse-fair; *849. Corn. Htiysvians, Landscape;
853. Earel du Jardin, Peasants outside a tavern (1658); 865. G. Metsn,
Dutch market-woman; 931. Teniers the Younger, The smoker; 963. ./.

Wynants, Landscape; *821. A. Ctiyp. Banks of the Meuse; 804. Jan
Both, Landscape; 912. D. Ryckaert. Tooth-extractor. —951. Adr. van der

Werff, Susanna in the bath (1715); *895. P. Potter, Cows at pasture

(1648); 800. P. van Bloemen, The trough; Teniers the Younger, *934.
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Village feast, *929. Tavern interior, or Man with the earthenware jar;

*828. G. Don, The mouse-trap; *955. Phil. Wouverman, Les Petits-Sables;

*919. Steen. Traveller resting; *930. 2'eniers the Younger, Tavern, or

Man with the white hat; *869. Fr. van Mieris the Elder, Girl stringing

pearls; *850. Hinjsmans, Landscape; *942. Terhiirg, Girl pouring out

wine; *S66. 3Ietsu, The writer; 935. Teniers the Yoioiger, Rustic concert.

— 944. A. van de Velde, Landscape with cattle; 888. A. van Ostade, Lute-

player; *910. J. van Rnysdael, The storm (1649); 861. N. Maes, Portr.

of an old woman; 904. Rnbens (?), Crucifixion; 880. 21oncheron, Italian

landscape (1698); 907. Van Dyck (not Rubens), Portr. of Fr. Francken;
905. Rubens, Landscape. — In the centre, 1085. Santarelli, Bust of Vale-

dau (p. 302).

Adjoining Room. Drawings (two by Ra%>hael, to the left); also faience

and bronzes. In the centre, 1059. Injalbert, Eve after the fall.

—

Three
Cabinets. In the first are bronzes, antique vases, pictures ; 1073. Lor.
Bartolini, Odalisque, in marble. In the second are drawings by Al. Ca-
banel and his bust by P. Dubois (1040). In the third are French draw-
ings and bronzes by Barije; in the centre, 1005. Barrias, The young
Mozart (plaster).

After these cabinets comes a Room (left of the entrance) containing

French pictures of less value and some sculptures.

Staircase leading to the Galerie Haute. Right and left, sculptures

by Aizelin (1001. The suppliant) and Pradier (1066. Nyssia), and paintings

by A. Coijpel (122. ^neas at the burning of Troy, 123. Death of Dido).

Galerie Haute, or Galerie Brtiyas. To the right: *456. N. Poussin,
Portr. of Card. Rospigliosi (Clement IX.); ASl. Rigaz/d, Portr. of Fonte-
nelle; 482. Rigaud (?), Portr. of Richer de Belleval; 581. French School of
nth Cent., Portr. of the Marquise de Castries; 451. N. Poussin (?), Death
of St. Cecilia; 40. S. Bourdon, Portr. of a Spaniard (or Moliere when a

youth?); *338. X. Largilliere, Portr. of himself; *9. Jacques Aved, Portr.

of Mme. Crozat; 376. J. 3. Vanloo, Portr. of Victor Amadeus II. of Savoy
;

Greuze, 295. Morning prayer, 302. The little sluggard (1755), *294. Gateau
des Rois (Twelfth Night; 1774), 298. Girl with a basket, 296. The little

mathematician, 299. Girl turning her back, 297. Girl praving, 301. Head
of a paralytic, 304, Head of a girl, 303. Hend of a child, 300. Little

girl; 484. H. Robert, Landscape; 361. 3Ime. Vigee-Lebrnn, Portr. of the
Tsarina Elizabeth Alexievna; 486. Robert Fleurij, The toilet; 266. Gerard,
Pasta as a Muse; G. Courbet, 104. Portr. of himself (1854), 108. Portr.

of Bruyas (1853), 96. Spinning girl asleep, 103. The meeting (Bruvas and
the artist, 1854), 98. Solitude, 97. Man with a pipe (portr. of himself, 1846),

107, 106. Portraits of Bruyas (1854); G. Dore, 180 (above 103), Evening
on the Rhine, 181. Souvenir of the Alps.

—

Eug. Delacroix, 142. Michael
Angelo in his studio, 145. Daniel in the lions' den (1850), 141. Charge of

Arab horsemen (1832), 143. Mulatto woman, 144. Algerian women, 147.

Portr. of Bruyas; 540. Troijon, Norman cows (1852); 101. G. Courbet,
Women bathing (1853); 83. Cogniet, Woman and child; 492. Th. Rousseau,
The pond (Forest of Fontainebleau). — 518. Tassaert, Young woman with
a glass of wine; 246. Fromentin, Arab tents (1850); 91, 92, 90. Corot,
Landscapes; 512. Tassaert, Heaven and Hell (1850); 812. P. Brueghel the
Elder, Peasants quarrelling; 58. Al. Cabanel, Velleda (1852); 326. Eug.
Isabey, Sea-piece (1845); 57. Al. Cabanel, Albayd^; 282. Glaise, Portr.
of himself (1854); 323. Ingres, Stratonice (replica of the picture at

Chantilly); Cabanel, 56. Portr. of Mme. Mares, 50. Phaedra (1880); Jos.

Vernet, 548 (between 56 and 50), Storm, 547. Landscape (1774); 135. J. L.
David, Hector (study); 560. F. A. Vincent, St. Jerome; 133, 134. David,
Portraits of Alph. Leroy and M. de Joubert; Brascassat, 47. Cuws at

pasture (1835), 48. Study of a bull. — Sculptures. At the end, on the right,

1038. Delaplanche, Message of love; Houdon, *1054. Summer, *1057. Bust
of Turgot (rather Sylvain Bailly); to the left, 1062. Legendre-Heral,
Giotto; Houdon, *1058. Bust of Cochin (?), *105S. Winter ('La Frileuse');
1003. Aub<i, Galatea.
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In the same building is the Municipal Library (130,000 vols,

and 250 MSS.) ; it is open daily, except Thurs. and holidays, 1-5

and 7.30-9.30 ; in June, July, and Aug. 1-6 only.

The Esplanade (PI. D, 3, 4) is a beautiful promenade, 550 yds.

long; on the E. lie the gardens laid out on the old Champ -de-

Mars. Near the pond is a Marsyas, in marble, by J. Villeneuve.

— The Ximes railway skirts the E. side of the gardeus ; it separates

them from the Citadel, erected like the forts of Alais and Nimes to

keep the Protestants in check. To the S. are the Gave de Palavas
(see below) and the Place de la Comedie (p. 299).

From Montpellier to Castres and Montcmban, see R. 15; to Beziers
via Paulhau or Meze. see p. 107.

From Moxtpellier to Palavas, T'/y M., railway in 25 min. (1 fr. or
60 c.) from the Gare de Palavas (PI. D, 4).— The train passes between la-

goons separated from the sea by dunes. — Palavas (Grand-Hotel, L. or D.
3 fr. ; Hot. Fourrissou, etc. : Casino) is a favourite bathing-resort, with
a fine sandy beach, at the mouth of the canalized Lez. — To the S.W.,
21/2 M., on a strip of land between the sea and the Etang de VArnel,
once stood the town of Maguelone, the ancient JIagalona, founded,
it is said, by Phocasans, and long a prosperous seaport. Charles Martel
recaptured it from the Saracens and destroyed it in 737 (see p. 299).

It rose again from its ruins, but Louis XIII. razed it to the ground in

1633, saving the Eomanesque Cathedral of St-Pierre (12th cent.), recently
restored (keeper next door). Fine sculptures on the W. portal. It contains
interesting 16th cent, tombs, architectural fragments, and a few Roman
antiquities. Fine view from the roof.

From MosTPELLiER TO Le ViGAN (Aigoual), 57 M., railway in 8-31/3 hrs.

(10 fr. 40 c, 7 fr., 4 fr. 55 c). —We start from the P.L.M. station and
follow the Nimes line to Les Mazes (p. 298). — 8 M. Castries, with a
chateau and a park watered by an aqueduct 4 M. long.— 16 M. Boisseron,
also with a chateau. — At (18 M.) Sommieres we join the line from Ximes
to Le Vigan (p. 491).

From Moktpellier to Lodeve via Rabieux, 36 M., railway (narrow-
gauge to Rabieux) in 2 hrs. 40 to 3 hrs. 20 min. (5 fr. 25, 3 fr. 35 c,
3 fr.). We start from the Gare de Rabieux (PI. A, 5). From Montpellier
to Lodeve via Paulhan, see p. 112. — 2i/^ M. Celleneuve. Tramway from
Montpellier, see p. 299.— To the W. of (5 M.) St-Georges-d' Orques lies

Murviel-Ves-2IontveUier, with remains of the walls of the Roman Alti-

murium. — 20 M. Aniane (cafes-rest.; pop. 2139), an old tovrn that sprang
up round an abbey founded in 780 by St. Benedict of Aniane, rebuilt in

the 18th cent., andnow a reformatory.*^ To the X.E., 41/2 M., lies St-Guil-
hem-le-Desert (Hot. de France, plain), a village in a picturesque site,

enclosed by rocks, and near the Gorges de V Eeraidt. It has an inter-

esting Romanesque-Byzantine church of the 11th -12th cent, (handsome
altar), the chief relic of an abbey founded in 884. There are also remains
of the Cloisters (11th cent.), a double enclosing wall, two ruined castles,

grottoes, and a waterfall. — 221/2 M. Gigiiac (pop. 2563), with an old tower
and two churches. The church of Xotre-Dame, to the S., was perhaps
once a temple of Vesta. — 28V2 M. Rabieux, junction for Paulhan (p. 112).

— 36M. Lodeve (p. 112).

Beyond Montpellier the Cette line leaves the line to Castres

(R. 15) on the right. — 35^/3 M. Villetieuve-les-Maguelone. To
the left are the Sali?ies and Etang de Vic.— 43\/2 M. Frontignan
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(pop. 5174), famed for its muscatel wines, lies on the Etang
d'lngril, which the train crosses by an embankment, ^/^ M. long.

Farther on we skirt the Mediterranean. On the right is the Etang

de Thau (p. 108).

48 M. Cette.— ^Myfei. — Hotels. Grand-Hotel (PL a ; B, 2), 17 Quai
(k- Bosc, good, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 3i/-,, P. from 8, omn. ^/^ fr.

;

Hot. de Paris (formerly Hot. du Grand-Gralion), Rue des Hotes, corner

of the Q,uai de Bosc (PI. B, 3), same charges; Hot. Continental, E. side

(.f the Esplanade (PI. B, 3), R. from I1/2. L- or D. from 2V.2, P- ^^k fr.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 2, 3), Rue de la Poste.

Electkic Tramways (10-25 c). 1. From the Station (PI. B, 1) to the

(Jorniche (beyond PI. A, 5; pleasant trip).— 2. From the Station to the

Bourse (Grande -Rue; PI. B, 4). — 3. From I.es Halles (PL B, 3) to La
Peijrude (beyond PL C, 2). --4. From the Bourse to the Metairies (bevond
PL A, 1).

Steamers to Algiers and Oran via Port-Vendres (p. 190), once weekly.
To Balaruc-les-Bains and Weze, see p. 306.

British Vice-Consul, G. Negre, G Quai Samary (office-hours 10-12 and
2-4). — American Consular Agent, C. D. Hagelin, 2 Quai Koel-Guignon.

Cette (pop. 33,049), after Marseilles the most important French

seaport on the Mediterranean, lies at the foot of Mont St-Clair (the

Mons Setius of antiquity; p. 306), between the Etang de Thau and
the Mediterranean, Its prosperity dates only from 1666, when its

harbour was constructed under the direction of Riquet, as the ter-

minus of the Canal du Midi (p. 79). Cette imports timber, petroleum,

coal, and sulphur, and exports wine, spirits, and chemical products.

The fishermen's jousts held here on Aug. 25th are interesting.

The Av. Victor-Hugo leads from the station across the Canal
Lateral to a square, to the right of which is the Maate ^[vniclpal
(PI. B, 2), containing chiefly modern French paintings (adni. on Sun.

and Thurs. 11-4 or 11-5; other days, except Mon., on application;

catalogue 1 fr.).

The Av. Victor-Hugo leads to the Darse de la Peyrade (PI.

B, C, 2), which we cross by the Pont Neuf ; we then follow the Rue
du Pont-Neuf to the Rue Nationalc (PI. B, C, 3), one of the main
streets. To the left it leads towards the beach and the modest

Bains de Mer, with a Kursaal (PI. C, 3) ; to the right it goes to

the Canal de Cette (PI. B, 1-4), the continuation of the Canal du
Midi (p. 79), beyond which lies the old town. The long and hand-

some Quai de Bosc here leads N. to the Zoological Station (PI. A, 1)

of Montpellier Tniversity, and S. to the Ancien Bassin. •

The Ilarboitr, with the canals, is 110 acres in area. It consists

of the Ancien Bassin (PI. B, C, 4), constructed by Riquct, the

Avant-Port (PI. C, 4), and the Nouveau Bassin (PI. C, 3, 4). The
entrance is protected by the Mole St-Louis (PI. B, C, 4), with its

lighthouse 105 ft. high, the Jetee de Frontignan, and the Brise-

Lames^ or breakwater (PI. C, 5), nearly 1 M. long.

The Rue de I'Esplanade, in line with the Rue Natiouale, leads

W.. past the Esplanade, and ascends to the Sqtiare du Chdteau-
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fVEau (PI. B, 3), on the slope of Mont St-Clair (p. 305). To reach

the (Y2 hr-) top of the hill (590 ft.; *Panorama), with its semaphore

and chapel, we turn to the left from the square and pass to the right

of the College (PL A, B, 3). We may descend towards the sea by
the Rue Franklin (PL A, 3, 4), turn to the right above the Citadel

(PL B, 4), pass near the Phare de St-Clair (PL A, 4; 300 ft. high),

the light of which is visible for 30 M., and thus reach the fine

Route de la Corniche (sea-baths; tramway, see p. 305).
Drive round the hill ('tour de montagne'), in about 1 hr., 5 fr.

Branch-line to Monthazin-Gigean (8 M. ; p. 112), via Balaruc-les-Bains
(31/2 M., in 10 min. ; 65, 45, 30 c), 1 M. from the beach (see below), and
Balaruc-le-Vieux (41/;, M. ; other station, see p. 107). — Steamer three times
daily from the Quai de la Bordigue (PI. B, 1) to Balaruc-les-Bains
(1/., hr. ; 50, return 75 c), going on to Meze (p. 107). — Balaruc-les-Bains
(Gr.-H6t. des Thermes, open May-Oct., R. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 41/2,

P. from 8, omn. ^/^ fr.) is situated at the N.E. end of the Etang de Thau.
Its mineral waters, strongly charged with chlorates and soda (117°), are

used for paralysis, rheumatism, and scrofula.

From Cette to Tozdouse, see R. 14.
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Route Page
42. From Paris to Chamonix 312

a. Direct Route (Culoz, Bellegarde, Annemasse) . . 312
I. From Paris to Le Fayet-St-Gervais . . . 312

From Bourg to Lyons, 313 ; to Geneva via Mantua,
314. — From Virieu-le-Grand to Pressins, 315. —
Saleve, 316. — Mole, Pointe d'Andey, 317.— From
Cluse.s to Taninges and to Pralong, 317. — From Le
Fayet to the Col de Voza, 319; to Sixt, 321.

II. From Le Fayet-St-Gervais to Chamonix . . 321
b. Via Geneva 321

I. From Paris to Geneva (via Amberieu and Culoz) 321
Lake of Geneva, 323.

II. From Geneva to Chamonix 324
43. From Paris to Chamonix via Martigny .... 324

I. From Paris to Martigny via Pontarlier and Lau-

sanne 324
II. From Martigny to Chamonix via Salvan . , . 325

Buet, 327. — Glacier d'Argentiere, 328. — Cols des
Grands-Montets, du Mout-Dolent, du Chardonnet,
d'Argentiere, du Tour, 328.

III. From Martigny to Chamonix via the Tete-Noire 329
Pointe de Bovine, Col de Balme, 329.

44. From Paris to Chamonix via Annemasse, Sixt, and

the Col d'Anterne . 330
I. From Paris to Sixt 330

Fer-a-Cheval, Pic de Tanneverge, Pointe des Avau-
drues, Pointe Pelouse, 332.

II. From Sixt to Chamonix via the Cols d'Anterne

and du Brevent 333
45. From Paris to Evian-les-Bains and Martigny . . . 333

I. From Paris to Evian-les-Bains 333
From Thonon to St-Jeoire, to Taninges via the Col
des Gets, 334; to Samoens, to Champery via the Pas
de Chesery, and to Abondance and Morgins, 335.

II. From Evian-les-Bains to Martigny (Chamonix) 337
Pic de Blanchard, Dent d'Oche, Grammont, Cornettes
de Bise, 338. —From Champery to Morzine or to Sa-
moens, to Sixt over the Col de Sagcroux, 338.

46. From the Lake of Geneva to Nice via Briangon. Route

des Alpes 339
47. Chamonix and Mont Blanc 341

Montanvert, .344.- Jardin de Talefre, 345. — Cols du
Geant, de Triolet, de Talefre, de Pierre-Joseph, des
Hirondelles, .346. Mer de Glace, 346. — Chapeau,
Brevent, 347. — Flegere, Glacier des Bossons, 348.—

j

Plan do I'Aiguille, Pavilion de Pierre-Pointue, 349.

! -- Aiguillette de la Tour, Pierre-a-l'Echelle, Mont
I Blanc, 350.

Baedeker's Southern France. (3th Kdit. 20
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48. From Chamonix to Courmayeur via the Cols du Bon-

homme and de la Seigne. Tour du 3Iont-Blanc . . 351
Col de Voza, 352. — Cols de Tricot, de Miage, 353.

—

Mont Joly. 353.— Cols du Mont-Tondu, des Glaciers, de
FAllee-Bianehe, de Trelatete, 353. — From Les Chapieux
to Pre-St-Didier and to Bonneval-les-Bains, 354. — Ex-
cursions from Courmayeur: Col de Checouri, 356: Col
de PArp, Mont de la Saxe, Grande-Rochere, Grandes-
Jorasses, 357.— To Chamonix over the Col du Geant
and to Orsieres over the Col Ferret, 357; to Bourg
St-Maurice via the Little St. Bernard, 358.

49. From Paris to Aix-les-Bains aud Modaue .... 359
a. Via Dijou, St-Amour, Amberieu, and Culoz . . 359

From Chamberj- to the Grande-Chartreuse, 361. — From
St-Jean-de-Maurienne to St-Jean-d'Arves, 363. —From
Modane to Aussois, 363.— Dent Parrachee, Pointe de
I'Echelle, Rateau-d'Aussois, Pointe Renod, Aig. de
Peclet, Aig. and Dome de Polset. Mont Thabor, 364.

b. Via Macon, Lyons, and Culoz 365
50. Aix-les-Bains and Environs 365

Lac du Bourget, Abbey of Hauteeombe, Gorges du
Sierroz, 368.— Colline de Tresserve, Le Bourget, Bour-
deau. Col and Dent du Chat, La Chambotte, Col de
Cessens, Revard, 369. — Pont de I'Abime, Grotte de
Banges, Le Chatelard, 370. — From Aix-les-Bains to

Annecy and Geneva, 370.

51. Annecy and Environs 371
Lake of Annecy, 374. — Semuoz, Parmelan, 375.— Tour-
nette, 376.—From Annecy to Albertville, 376. — From
Annecy to Chamonix: by railway, 377; via Ugines and
Flumet,377; viaThones, the Col desAravis, andFlumet,
378. — From Thones to Faverges and to Le Grand-Bor-
nand, 379.

52. From Chambery to Bourg-St-Maurice via Albertville

aud Mofitiers (Tarentaise) 380
From Albertville to Beaufort, 381. — From Beaufort to

St-Gervais via the Col du Joly and to Les Chapieux,
381. — From Notre -Dame -de -Brian^on to St-Avre-la-
Chambre, 382.— Excursions from Moutiers : Mont Jovet,
Pointe de Creve-Tete, Cheval-Xoir, Grand-Perron des
Eucombres, 383. — Mont-Pourri, 384.

53. Upper Valley of the Isere 385

I. From Bourg-St-Maurice to Tignes and Val-d'Isere 385
From Ste-Foy to Valgrisanche, 386.— Pointe d'Arche-
boc, 386.

II. Excursions from Tignes and Val-d'Isere . . . 387
a. From Tignes 387

Grande-Sassiere, 387 ; to Rheme-Notre-Dame, to Bo-
zel over the Col du Palet, 388; Grand-Bee de Pra-
lognan, 388; Sommet de Belle-Cote, 389; to Peisey
over the Col de la Tourne or the Col du Palet, 389.

b. From Val-d'Isere 389
Rochers de Bellevarde and de Genepy, Pointe de la

Sana, 389; Tsanteleina, Pointe de Calabre, Roc del
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Fonte, Pointe de la Gralise, 390 ; Cime d'Oin, Grande
Aiguille Rousse, 391; to Bonneval over the Col
d'lseran, to Entre-deux-Eaux over the Col de la

Leisse, to Ceresole over the Col de la Galise, 391.

54. Valley of the Doron and Mouutaius of the Vanoise . 392
1. From Moutiers to Brides-les-Bains and Pralognan 392

Vallee des Allues. Croix de Verdon, Pointe du
Vallon, Dent de Villard, Rocher de la Loze, Aig.
da Fruit, 393. — Mont Bochor, Morion, 394.

II. Excursions from Pralognan 395
a. Ascents: Rocher de Villeneuve, Petit-Mont-Blauc,

Rocher de Plassas, Aig. de Mey, 395 ; Dent Portetta,
Dome de Chasseforet, Pointe de la Rechasse, Mont
Pelvoz, Pointe du Dard, 396 ; Grand-Marchet, Grande-
Casse, Graude-Motte, Pointes du Creux-Xoir and du
Vallonet, Grand-Bee de Pralognan, Pointe and Aig.
de la Gliere, 397 ; Aig. de Lepena and du Bochor,
Dome and Aig. de Polset, Ais-. de Peelet, Pointe
de TEchelle, 398.

b. Passes : To Termignon over the Col de la Vanoise,
398; Col de la Grande-Casse, 399; to Modane by the
Col de Chaviere or the Col d'Aussois, 400.

55. Upper Valley of the Arc 401
Dome de 1' Arpont, 401. — Mont-Cenis road, Grand-Roc-
Noir, Pointe de Vallonet, 402. — Croix de Don-Jean-
Maurice, Aig. de Mean-Martin, 403. — Pointes du
Chatelard, de Charbonel, d'Albaron, and du Grand-
Fond, 403. — Bessanese, Roche-Melon, 403. — From
Bessans to Lanzo Torinese, 404. — Excursions from
Bonneval: Pointe des Arses, Aig. Pers, Pelaou-Blanc,
Pointe de Mean-Martin, Levanna, 405; to Ceresole
over the Col du Casso, to Lanzo over the Col Girard,
405; Chalet des Evettes, Roc de Pareis, Pointe d'Al-
baron, Ciamarella, Mulinet, Col de Sea, 406.

56. From Lyons to Grenoble (Marseilles) 406
From St-Andre-le-Gaz to Chambery, 407.— From St-
Beron to St-Laurent-du-Pont, 407.— From Le Grand-
Lemps to Charavines, 407.— From Grenoble to Va-
lence, 414.

57. Excursions from Grenoble 415

I. Short Excursions 415
Mont Rachais, Jalla, La Tronche, St-Eynard, 415;
to Sassenage and Veurey, 415 ; to the Tour Sans-Venin,
St-Nizier, and the Moucherotte, 416.

II. Uriage and its Environs 4f7
Chartreuse de Prdmol, Cascade de I'Oursiere, Cham-
rousse,418; Belledonne, Grande-Lance deDomene,419.

III. The Grande-Chartreuse 419
Grand-Som, 422.— Charmant-Som, Chamechaude, 423.

IV. TheVercors. Gorges d'Engins, de la Bourne, and
de la Vernaison, The Goulets 423
Col de I'Arc, Grande-Moucherolle, 424.

20*
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58. From Grenoble to the Moimtaius, via La Mure . . 425

I. From Grenoble to La Mure. The Valbonnais and

Valjouifrey 425
From La Mure to Yizille via Latfrey. 426; to Le
Bourg-d'Oisans and to LaChapelle-en-Vaijouffrey,427.

11. From La Mure to Corps. La Salette and the Val-

gaudeniar 427
From Corps to Vevnes, 428. — Uraude-Tete de I'Obiou,

428. — From St-Disdier to St-Bonnet. 428. — From
Corps to Xotre-Dame-de-la-Salette and to La Chapelle-
en-Valgaudemar, 428.— Excursions from La Chapelle
and Le Clot-en-Valgandemar, 429.

III. From Corps to Gap. The Champsaur . . . 430
From Gap to Oreieres, 430. — Chaillol-le-Yieux, 430.

59. From Grenoble to Charaberv. to Chapareillan, and to

Allevard ! 431

I. From Grenoble to Chambery 431

II. From Grenoble to Chapareillan 432
Plateau des Petites-Roches, Dent de Crolles, 432.

III. Allevard and Environs 433
Chartreuse de St-Hugon. Sept-Laux, 434; Puy-Grris,

Grand-Charnier, Pic du Frene, Grands-Moulins, 435.

60. From Grenoble to Briaugon 435

a. By Road, via Le Bourg-d'Oisaus 435
Taillefer, 436. — FromRochetaillee-Allemont to St-Avre-
la-Chambre via the Col du Glandon. 43i).

b. By Railway 439
Grand-Veymont, Mont Aiguille, 440.— From Clelles to

La Mure, 440. — Grand-Ferrand, 441. — From Gap to Re-
mollon, 442. — From Prunieres to Bareelonnette, 442.

—

From Bareelonnette to Alios, to St-Paul and Maljasset,

443; to Larche, 444. — Mont St-Guillaume. 444. —From
Embrun to Condamine-Chatelard, 445. — Prorel, Grand-
Area, 44(1.— From BrianQon to Abries and to Oulx, 446;
to Bardonecchia, 447.

61. The Pelvoux Group and Environs 447

I. Excursions from Bourg-d'Oisans, Oz. and Allemont 448
Grandes-Rousses. 448; Pics de Belledonne, Grande-
Lance d'Allemont, Signal de Pregentil, Grand-Rochail,
449; to St-Christophe and La Berarde. 450.

II. Excursions from St-Christophe and La Berarde . 451
a. From St-Christophe: Glacier du Mont-de-Lans, Col

de la Lauze. 452; Aig. du Plat-de-la-Selle, Grande-
Roche de la Muzelle, Grande-Tete de Lauranoure,
Aig. du Canard and des Arias, Tete de TOurs. Pointes
Lemercier and Jeanne, Tete des Fetoules and de
I'Etret. Aig. and Pic d'Olan, 453; to La Chapelle-en-
Valgaudemar over the Col des Sellettes and to Le
Clot-en-Valgaudemar over the Col de la Muande, 454.

b. From La Berarde : Tete de la Maye and du Rouget,
Plaret, Tete de la Gandoliere, Rateau, 454; Meije,

Pave, Grande-Ruine, Pic Bourcet, Tete de Charriere,

Eerins, 455; Fifre, Pic Coolidge, Grande-Aig. de la
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Berardo. Rochor de I'Encoula, Cime de Clot-Cliatel,

Tete de Ch^ret, Pics du Says, Vaxivier, 456; Les
Rouies. Los Bans, 457 ; to Villar-d'Arene or La Grave,
over the Col du Clot-des-Cavales, the Breche de la

Meije, the Col du Pave, the Col des Aigles, the Col
des Chamois, the Col de la Gfrande-Ruine, the Breche
Giraud-Lezin, or the Col de la Casse-Deserte, 457;
to Ailefroide over the Col de la Temple, the Col de
la Coste-Rouge, the Col de I'Ailefroide, or the Col
duSele, 458; to Le Clot-eu-Valgaudemar over the Col
des Rouies, the Col du Chardon, or the Col du Says, 458.

III. Excursions from Vallouise and Ailefroide . . . 458
a. From Vallouise : Cime de la Condamine, Pointe de

I'Aigliere, 459; to the Valgaudemar over the Col du
Sellar or the Col du Loup, 459, 460.

Ij. From Ailefroide: Tete de la Draye, Pelvoux, 460;
Pic Sans-Nom, Ailefroide, Crete des Boeufs-Rouges,
461 ; to the Lac de I'Eychauda over the Col de Seguret-
Foran, 461 ; Pic de Neige-Cordier, 461; to La Berarde
over the Col de la Temple or the Col des Ecrins,
461, 462; to Villar-d'Arene over the Col de la Pyra-
mide, the Col du Glacier-Blanc, the Col Emile-Pic,
or the Col de la Roche-Faurio, 462.

IV. Excursions from La Grave and Villar-d'Arene . 4G2
Plateau d'Emparis, Signal de la Grave, Bee de I'Homme,
Chalet-Refuge de I'Alpe, Pics de Neige du Lautaret,
463; Pic Gaspard, Grande-Ruine, Aig. du Goleon, and
d'Arves, 464; to St-Christophe over the Col de la Lauze,
464; to La Berarde over the Col du Clot-des-Cavales
or the Breche de la Meije, 465; to Ailefroide over the
Col Emile-Pic or the Col du Glacier-Blanc, 465; to

St-Jeau-d'Arves over the Cols de I'lnferuel, tlie Col de
Martignare, or the Col de Loml)ard, 465, 466.

V. Excursions from Le Lautaret 466
Pyramide de Laurichard, Pics de Combeynot, Roche
du Grand-Galibier, La Part, 466; to St-Michel-de-Mau-
rienne over the Col du Galibier, 466.

VL Excursions from Le Monetier 467
To the Chalet-Refuge de I'Alpe over the Col d'Arsine,
467; Pic des Pres-les-Fonds, Lac do I'Eychauda, Dome
du Monetier, Montagne des Agneaux, 468; to Vallouise
over the Col de I'Eychauda, 468; to Valloire over the
Col de la Ponsonniere, 468; to Nevache over the Col
de Bufifere, 460.

62. Vallee du Guil. Queyras. Monte Vise 469
I. From Mont-Dauphin-Guillestre to Abries . . . 469

From Guillestre to St-Paul and to Maljasset, 469.—
From La Maison-du-Roi to Maljasset, 470. — Petit Col
duFromage, Col Agnel, Aiguillette, Grande- Aiguillette,
470. — Tete de Pelvas, Bric-Bouchet, Bric-Froid, 471.

II. From Abries to Monte Viso 471
Col Lacroix, Roche-Taillante, 471.— Col de la Traver-
sette, Monte Viso, Cime de la Lauzette, 472.

63. From Grenoble to Digne 472
Mont de la Baume, Signal de Luro, 473. —From Digne
to Barcclonnette, 471.
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42. From Paris to Chamonix.

a. Direct Route (Culoz, Bellegarde, Annemasse).

431 M. in 13 hrs. 15 min. (in summer) to 14 hrs. 50 min. ; 1st and 2nd cl-

;

lits-salons and restaurant-car, see Indicateur. Fares, see below and p. 321.

Eeturn-tickets, available for a fortnight, and entitling to the route via
Geneva, are issued at reduced rates in the season, and they may he
prolonged for another fortnight on payment of 10 % extra. -'—By " this
route the Swiss custom-house is avoided.

I. Prom Paris to Le Fayet-St-Gervais.

419 M,, Eaelway in 12-13V2 hrs. (77 fr. 70, 52 fr. 45, 34 fr. 20 c).
Trains start from the Gare de Lyon. —We may go also via Macon (p. 202),

or via Aix-les-Bains and Annecy (see pp. 359, 870, 377; express in summer),
or else via Nantiia (p. 314), a picturesque route, and 31 M. shorter, but
no through-carriages.

To (196 M.) Dijon (p. 201), see Baedeker's N. France. The
Lyons line (R. 30 a) diverges to the right. Our line runs S.E.,

parallel with the Canal de Bourgogne.— 215 M. St-Jean-de-Losne
(605 ft.; Hot. du Commerce), a small old town ^/^ M. to the left, ou

the right bank of the Saone. Branch-lines to (39 M.) Lons-le-

Saunier and (10 M.) Auxonne, see Baedeker's N. France.
"We cross the Saone below its junction with the Canal du

Bhone au Rhhi, and turn S.W.— 22170 M. Seurre (Hot. des Nego-
ciants, du Chapeau-Rouge), on the left bank of the Saone, also a sta-

tion on the Chalon and Auxonne line (p. 201).—We cross the Doubs.
— 233 M. St-Bonnet-en-Bresse, on the line from Dole to Chagny
(see Baedeker's N. France"}.— 250V2 ^^- Louhans (Buffet, good;

Hot. St-Martin; pop. 4454), on the SeiUe, on the line from Chalon
to Lons-le-Saunier (p. 202).

266 M. St-Amour (Hot. du Commerce, de I'Alliance), a small

and ancient town, the birthplace of the famous theologian Guillaumc
de St-Amour (d. 1272), is the junction for Besancon (see Baed-
ekei^'s N. France).— 2691/2 ^I- (^oligny, the birthplace of the

celebrated admiral, killed in the Massacre of St. Bartholomew (1572).— 277 M. St-Etienne-du-Bo'is. We join the lines from Macon and
Chalon (pp. 203, 202) on the right.

284' /o M. Bourg. _ iB«^e«. —Hotels. Hot. de VEurope (PI. a; 0, 1),

1 Place de la Grenette, well spoken of. R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. or D. 3,

P. from 91/.,. omn. 1 fr. : Hot. de France (PL b; D, 1), Place Bernard, E.
from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2- P- from 10. omn. 1 fr. ; Termimis-Hotel &
de la Paix (PI. c; A. 31, 19'Rue Alphonse-Baudin, opposite the station,

R. from 3, B. li.'^, L.'3i,/o, D. 41/2 fr-

Post & Telegraph Office "(PI. C, 2), Av. d' Alsace-Lorraine.
Baths, 3 Rue Voltaire, corner of the BouL Paul-Bert.
Tramway-Omnibus from the station (PL A. 3) through the town to

the Rue Charles-Robin (PL D. E, 1), at the N. end of the BouL de Brou.
Syxdicat d'Initiative. Librairie Poucheux. Rue Gambetta.

Bourg (790 ft.; pron. 'Bourk'; pop. 20,545), once the capital of

the Bresse, and now that of the department of the Ain, is pleasantly
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situated on the Reyssouze. It is the cliief .market for the esteemed

poultry of Bresse.

The Eue Alphonse-Baudin, and then the Av. d'Alsace-Lorraine

to the left, lead from the station into the town, but the direct route

to the (^4 hr.) Church of Brou, the chief sight, is straight on, by

the Rue Voltaire and Boul. Victor-Hugo.

The **Cliurch of Brou (PL E, 3; adm. 15 c), celebrated in

Matthew Arnold's poem, was built in 1511-36 by Margaret of

Austria, wife of Philibert II., le Beau, Duke of Savoy, in fulfil-

ment of a vow made by Margaret of Bourbon, her mother-in-law.

The principal Facade is considered a marvel of elegance, and the

Portal is richly sculptured.
The plain, but graceful Interior contains some masterpieces of carv-

ing and sculpture, notably the ornate Rood Loft, the Gothic *StaUs with
canopies, and, above all, the splendid *Torabs of the above-mentioned
prince and princesses, executed by Conrad and Thomas Meyt, partly from
designs of Michel Colombe and Perreal. The tomb in the middle is that
of Philibert (d. 1504), with two recumbent statues of the prince (one
representing him alive, the other dead), besides genii, twelve richly or-

namented pillars, and statuettes of sibyls. To the right is the elaborate
tomb of Margaret of Bourbon (d. 1483), with genii, saints, and mourners;
to the left that of Margaret of Austria (d. 1530). which vies with that oi-

lier husband. This also has two statues and is surmounted by a rich

canopy; on the cornice, as well as in various other parts of the church
(e.g. over the large holy-water basin at the entrance), is inscribed the
motto of the Austrian princess: 'Fortune infortune (persecutes) fort une'.

In the adjacent Chapel of the Virgin is a large Reredos in alabaster, of

the same date, with high-reliefs representing scenes from the life of the
Virgin. The statues at the sides are those of SS. Philip and Andrew.
The choir contains a modern marble altar, with fifteen gilded bronze
statuettes. The old stained-glass *Windoios also are interesting.

In front of the portal, on the ground, is traced an oval sundial, on
wliich, by placing himself over the letter of the current month, more or

less near the next, according to the day of the month, the visitor may
see the hour marked by his own shadow.

The adjacent building, once a convent, later a seminary, is to

be converted into a museum.
From the N. end of the Boul. de Brou the Rue Centrale leads

to the left to Notre-Dame (PI. C, D, 1), a Gothic church of the

16th century. The stalls, the stained glass in the 3rd chapel on

the left, the pulpit, and the organ-loft are interesting.— The Hotel

de Ville (PI. C, 1), in the centre of tlic town, contains the Musee
Lorln (PL 6), entered from the Rue Bichat. Among the pictures

are a Millet (No. 143) and a triptych (126. St. Jerome) by Wohlge-
muth (?). Among other objects of value is a credence in walnut (16th

cent.). — Bourg contains statues of Edgar Qxinet (1803-75; PL 4),

by Aime Millet, Bichat (1771-1802; PL 2), the eminent surgeon,

by David d'Angers, and Gen. Jouhert (1769-99; PL 3), by Aube.
13ranch-line to Beaanqon, see BaedeJcer\<t N. France; to Chalnn-sxr-

Saone, see p. 202; to Villefranche. see p. 203; to Mdcan, see p. 203.

From Boukg to Lyons, 11 M., railway in I'/V^Va 'irs. (7 fr. 35, 4 fr. 95,

3 fr. 25 c), across the marshy plateau of the Dombes. The slow trains run
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to the Gare de la Croix-Rousse (p. 238).- 12i/.j M. Marlieux-C'hdtiUon,
whence a branch-line diverges to (71/2 M.) C'hdtiUmi-sur-ChaJaromie,
reached more directly by the line from Bourg to Yillefranche (p. 203). —
41 M. Lyons (Gare d"e Perrache; p. 238).

From Bourg to Geneva via Xaxtua, 6IV2M.. in 3'/2-J: hrs. (11 fr.

10. 7 fr. 50, 4fr. 90 c.). This picturesque route is 31 M. shorter than
the main line via Culoz. but is not taken by the express-trains from
Bourg to Bellegarde. Best views on the right. — The train passes the
Church of Brou (p. 313), on the left, and ascends. —13Vo M. Shnandre-
siir-SHt-aji. After a tunnel comes the bold *Viachic de C'ize. over the
Gorge of the Ain. ~ 22^12 M. La C'li/se (Buvette; Hot. des Voyageurs),
on the Lal-e of Xantua {l^U M. long), the third among the lakes of the
French Jura. Branch-line to St-Claude and 3Iorez, see BaedeTyer's N.
France. ~2b M. M"antua (1570 ft.: Hot. de France, R. from 2i/,, B. 1.

L. 3, D. 31/2. P. from 10 fr.; Hot. du Lac. Perrouse, Rosset; Syndicat
d'Initiative ; pop. 2966) lies prettily at the S.E. end of the lake, among
hills. The interesting church of St-'jlichel (9th cent.) belonged to an abbey
founded in the 8th cent.; its curious nave expands towards the top. The
Monts d'Ain, culminating in the ^Signal des JIonts-d'Ain (3385 ft.;

2 hrs.: superb view), are often visited from Xantua. Another excursion
may be made to the Lac de Silan (see below) and the Lac Genin (151/2 ^^^•)-

Interesting roads lead from Xantua to (321/2 M.) C'idoz (p. 315), by the
Valromey ('Yallis Romanorum'), and to (20 M.) Haiderille (see below).

—

Beyond a tunnel, in which the line attains its highest level (1935 ft.),

we emerge on the bank of the Lac de Silan or Sylans (I1/4 M. long), on
which are large ice-houses. —SQi/o M. C'Tiarix-Lalleyriat, 1/3 M. to the X.
of which is the Cascade de Pisse-Vache. 80 ft. high. — 36V2M. ChdtiUon-
de-JIicTiaille (1510 ft. ; Hot. des Touristes), picturesquely situated on a

height to the right, above the confluence of the Semine and the Valserine.
— 40 M. Bellegarde, and thence to Geneva, see p. 322.

The main line runs S.E. to join the line from Lyons to Geneva
(p. 256). On the left we see the church of Brou.— 299^ '., M. Am-
hronay thoteli. with the ruins of a Benedictine abbey (14:th cent.).

304 M. Amberieu (810 ft.; Buffet; Hot. de la Gare, du Lion-

d'Or; pop. 4334), on the Albarine, at the foot of the Jura, is also

on the Lyons and. Geneva line (p. 256).
Branch-line via (31/2 M.) Lagnieu to (11 M.) Montalieii, in the Rhone

valley, with large quarries, and (23 M.) Soleymieu-Sahlonnieres (p. 256).
— From Lagnieu an omn. (50 e.) plies to (3Vo M.) La Balme-les-Grottes
(Modern-Hotel des Grottes. L. 3, D. 2^1-^ fr.), w'ith a fine stalactite grotto
(adm. 3 fr. : guide l^/.j fr.). Omn. from La Balme to Pont-de-Cheruv. see

p. 256.

Steam-tramway from Amberieu to (141/2 M.) Cerdon, to the S.E. of
which rises the Signal de VAvocat (3340 ft. ; view).

The train now enters the Jura by the pretty Vallee de VAl-
barine. Yiew^s to the left. Yineyards alternate with grand lime-

stone rocks.— 31072^^- St-Ramhert-en-Bugey (Hot. du Bugey),

with the ruined Chdteau de Coni'dlon. The valley contracts.

315 M. Tenay (1055 ft.; Hut. Clerc), at a beiid in the valley,

with spinning-mills and cement-works. Onm. to (8^2 ^^•- 2 fr.)

Hauteville (2755 ft.; Hot. des Touristes, du Commerce), a pictur-

esque health-resort, with a sanatorium for consumptives.— We
quit the Albarine valley and enter a lonely ravine. ^

—

319^/^ M. La
Burbanche. On the right rises the Molard de Don (4000 ft.).

—

Beyond (3231,2 M.) Ross'dlon we pass the Lahe of Pugieu. —
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ij27^/., M. Vii'ieu-le-G'rand (Hut. des N'oyageurs), with a ruined

castle of the Dukes of Savoy.
From Virieu-le-Gkaxd to Pressiks, 30 M. — 91/2M. Belley (910 ft.;

Hot. Pernollet, dii Bugey; pop. 6182), an old town, the seat of a bishopric,
is prettilj^ situated on a hill to the right. The Gothic Cathedral, of the
15th cent., was rebuilt in the 19th. Lamartine was educated at the College
here.— 231/.. M. Aoste (hotel), IV4 M. to the S.W. of St-Genix (p. 256; omu.
25 c), on the site of the Roman Augnsticm.-'iO M. Pressins (p. 407).

330 M. Artemare-St-Martin. Artemare (Hot. Beraud), with

pretty environs, lies 1^/4 M. to theN.— The train skirts, on the left,

the Grand-Colombier (5035 ft.; ascended from Artemare or Culoz

in 41/0 hrs.; view of the Alps). AVe then enter the valley of the

Rhone and obtain a fine view of the Jura.

335 M. Culoz (780 ft.; Buffet, good; Hot. de la Gare, L. or D.

2^/2 fr.; Hot. Reyssat), at the foot of the Grand-Colombier, on the

right bank of the Rhone. Line to Aix-les-Bains, see p. 359.

Our train ascends the Rhone valley to the N., on the right bank.
— 344 M. iSeyssel-Corbonod. Seyssel (Hot. Beau-Rivage) consists

of two parts, connected by a suspension-bridge, that on the left

bank being in Savoy. To Rumilly, see p. 371 ; to Annecy, see p. 374.
— 348 \.2 M. Pyrimont Beyond a short tunnel we sight the Credo
(see below), and then cross a viaduct over the Vezeronce, 120 ft.

high. Picturesque scenery.

3551/2 M. Bellegarde (1220 ft.; Buffet; Hot. de la Poste; Hot.

des Touristes, near the station; pop. 3953), near the confluence of

the Rhone and Valserine, with the French custom-house, where lug-

gage is examined on entering France, even from Savoy.
The Perte du Rhone is a chasm in which tlie river disappears for

about 70 yds. when the water is low (Nov. -Fell.). This part of the valley
is very picturesque. The street to the left of the hotels descends to the
(5 min.) bridge of the Valserine, 1/4 M. to the riglit of which is a bridge
across the Rhone, at its 'Perte'. Higlior up begins a conduit, 1/2 M. long,
at the end of which, below the bridge, are three turbines for supplying
power to the factories. We may visit also tlie Viaduc de la Valserine
(see below), near the station, aiid tlie Gorge of tliat stream, 85 ft. deep,
which forms a 'Perte', V4 M. in length, I1/4 M. from the viaduct.

The Credo (5275 ft. ; *View), to the N.E., is ascended in 4 hrs. from
Bellegarde, with a guide.

From Bellegarde to Nantua and Bonrg, see p. 314. — Branch-line to

(24 M.) Gex and (29 M.) Divonne (see Baedeker's Snitzerland).

Beyond Bellegarde we cross the Viaduc de la Valserine, 275 yds.

long and 170 ft. high, and then pass through the Tunnel du Oredo
(21/2 ^Jt-) aii<l the Defile de UEcluse, a gorge between the end of

the Jura and the Montague de Vuarhe (3435 ft.), by which the

Rhone leaves Switzerland.— Farther on, the Geneva line (p. 322)
diverges to the left.— 363 Va M. Valleiry (1550 ft.), whence the

Vuache (see above; 2 hrs.), a line point of view, may be ascended.
On the right rises the Saleve (p. 316).

3707.2 M. St-Julien-en-Genevois (1510 It.; Hut. du Cheval-
Blanc, L. or D. 27^ ir.), a village on the Aire. To the S.E., 1 M.,
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are the picturesque ruins of the Chdteau de Ternier (12th cent.).

The Pitons (see below) may be ascended in 3 hrs. Electric tram-

way to (6 M.) Geneva (p. 322) and motor-omn. to (21 M.) Annecy

(p.'371V— 3751/0 M. 5osse?/-Fe?/Her.
Veyrier, a Swiss village, and Bossey, a French village, are connected

with Geneva and Collonges (see below) by tramway.
From Veyrier to the Saleve. Electric railway from Veyrier in

1,2 lir. to (3 M.) Monnetier-Mairie, where it joins the line from Etrembieres
(see below), and in 1 hr. to Les Treise-Arbres (fare to Monnetier 95 c,
return IV2 fr. ; to Les Treize-Arbres 41/2 and 7fr.). — Or we may walk
from Veyrier by the Pas de VEchelle, below the electric railway, to

Monnetier-Eglise, in 50 min., partly by steps hewn in the rock, and mount
thence in zigzags to (IV.j hr.) Les Treize-Arbres (see belov/). — Other paths
ascend from Bossey (steep and rocky; 2 hrs.) and from CoUonges (superb
views; S^/^ hrs. to Les Treize-Arbres).

The line skirts the Saleve and reaches the Awe. Fine view of

the Alps to the right.— STSi/, M. Etrembieres-Saleve.
From Etrembieres to the Saleve. From Etrembieres (tramway to

Annemasse and Geneva, see below) an electric railway ascends to Mon-
vetier (in 27 min.) and Les Treize-Arbres (in I-I1/4 hr. ; fares as from
Veyrier, see above). We pass the old castle of Etrembieres, and ascend by
Bas-'Mornex (1.S95 ft.), Ba?(t-Mornex (2230 ft.), and 3Ionnetier-3Iairie,
where we join the Veyrier line (see above). — Mornex (*H6t. de I'Ecu-

de-Savoie, *H6t.-Pens. du Chateau, Hot. Beau-Site, Pens, des Glycines),

a charmincr summer resort on the S. slope of the Petit-Saleve.

—

Mon-
netier-Eglise (2335 ft.; Hot. du Pare & du Chateau, E. 2V2-4, B. II/4,

D. 3-31 .,. P. 6-7 fr.; *H6t. Trottet. E. 31/.,, B. I1/4. L- 3, D. 31/2- P- «-'' fi'-

;

Hot. du Belvedere, des Alpes), a station on the Veyrier line (see above),

lies in a gorge between the Petit and the Grand Saleve, and also offers

good summer-quarters. The Petit-SaVeve (2945 ft.) may be ascended hence
in 1/2 hr. (view). — From Monnetier-Mairie (2625 ft. : *H6t.-Pens. Belle-

vue, E. from 3, B. 1'/^. L. 3. D. 4. wine extra, P. from 6 fr.) the line

ascends the partly wooded slope to (Si/., M.) Les Treize-Arbres {Zl^b i\.\

butfet; hotel. D. 3, P. 8 fr.). *Splendid view, embracing Mont Blanc, the

Lake of Geneva, and the Jura, from a point 6 min. beyond the hotel.

The top of the *Grand-Saleve (CvH de Grange-Toiimier : 4280 ft.) is

reached on foot in 1/2 hr. ; the view thence includes the Lake of Annecy.
Les Pitons (4510 ft.), a prolongation of the Saleve to the S., may be
ascended in I1/4 hr. more.

3791/2 M. Annemasse (1430 ft.; *Buffet, E. 2V2, D. 3fr.;

Hot. Moderne, P. 7-10 fr.; Hot. de France, National; pop. 3334).

In the Place du Marche rises a bronze statue of Michael Servetvs,

a Spanish physician, burned at Geneva in 1553 for having written

against the doctrine of the Trinity.

Eailway to Geneva, see p. 324; to Evian, see pp. 333-386.— Tramways
to Samoens(Tp. 331) and to Bonneville (p. 317). see p. 330. —Ascent of the

Saleve, via (IV4 M.) Etrembieres, on the Geneva tramway, see above.

The train backs out, recrosses the Arve, and ascends to the S.E.

Fine view to the left, backed by Mont Blanc.— 3817-2 ^I- Monnetiey--

Mornex (1445 ft.). Mornex (see above) lies on the hill to the right;

on the left is the gorge of the Arve. The train crosses the Viaison
by a great viaduct (tine views), and then the Foron.— 385 M.
Reignier ('1675 ft.; Hot. du Mont-Blanc, de la Gare), to the right of

which, 1 M., lies Moussi/, with a curious chapel (10th or 11th cent.).
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38972 M- La Roche-sur-Foron (1905 ft.; Hot. de la Croix-

Blancbe, well spoken of, D. 3 fr.
;
pop. 3203), junction for Annecy

and Aix-les-Bains (p. 371). The little town, on a rock to the left,

has a church and ruined tower of the 12th century.

The train crosses the ravine of the Foron by a viaduct, and re-

turns to the Arve valley (views).— 394 M. St-Pierre-de-Rumilly

(1575 ft.; Hot. Beau-Sejour). Omn. tAvice daily in l^/g hr. to Le
Petit-Bornand (p. 379). "We then cross the Borne and the Arve.

39772^1- Bonneville (1475 ft.; Hot. des Negociants, Eest.

Rouge, L. 272J I)- 3 fr.
;
pop. 2155) lies picturesquely in a fertile

valley on the right bank of the Arve. To the S. rises the Pointe

d'Andey, to the N". a spur of the Mole. The old Chdteau de Bonne
is now a prison. On the left bank rises a column, 72 ft. high,

with a statue of King Charles Felix of Sardinia.
Tramway to Bonne (Annemasse), see p. 330. — Road to Le Grand-

Bornand. see p. 879.

The *M61e (6130 ft.1, an isolated coue to the N.E., is ascended in

.S'/2-4 lu-s. from Bonneville (guide 5 fr., unnecossary) by a bridle-path,

past (20 min.) UEpargvy, Les GaUinons, the couloir of the Perth/ds,
and the Grange a Berod (l''/4-2 hrs.), or via Reijret, the CoJ de Reyret
(3040 ft.\ and the Grange a Berod. A path leads thence to the Petit-

Mole (3/4 hr.: 4650 ft. ; chalet-aub.) and to the top in 3/4 hr. more. Splendid
panorama. "Ascent from St-Jeoire, see p. 331.

The Pointe d'Andey (6165 ft.), to the S., is ascended in 4-41/2 hrs.

via (1/4 hr.) Pontchy, 0^/4 hr.) Andey, and the (2V2 hrs.) Col de Dometaz
(.o580ft.); or we may drive to (51/4 M.) Brhon (33^00 ft. ; aub.), and \ralk

on to (1 hr.) Solaison, and to the top (beautiful view) in 3/^ hr. more.

The train follows the broad valley of the Arve and crosses the

Giffre.— 4:01 M. Marujnier (1560 ft.; Hot. de la Gare). Steam-

tramway to St-Jeoire, see p. 331.

405 M. Cluses (1590 ft.; Hot. National, P. 5-7fr.; Hot. de

rijnion, L. 270) ^- 3 fr.
;
pop. 2155), a small watch-making town.

From Cluses to Le Fayet by Road (section of the Route des Alpes
p. 339), skirting the raihvav: motor-omn. to Sallanches in 50 min. (4 fr.),

to Le Fmjet in 1 hr. 10 min. (6V2 fr.).

From Cluses to Taninoes (Sixt), 6 M., a section of the Route des
Alpes (p. 339). Motor-omn. in 1/2 hr. (21/2 fr.). The road leads over tJie

(41/2 M.) Col de Chdtillon (2830 ft.), near "the village of that name, with
a ruined castle and a hotel. Walkers ascend by the old road, to the
right 10 min. from Cluses, to the col in 1 hr. — Taninges, see p. 331.

From Cluses to Pbalong, 71/2 M. (hotel-omn., see below). After a

long bend to the TV. (short-cut on the left bank) the road ascends the
pretty Vcdlee dii Reposoir. — l^l.. M. Pralong (3200 ft. ; Hot. de la Pointc-
Percee) lies 1/1 br. below the old Chartreuse dtt Reposoir (3360 ft.), now
a hotel (R. 3-5, B. I1/4, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. 7-11, motor-omn. from Cluses 3 fr.).

The *Pomte Perc^e (9030 ft.), or j\font Fleury, ascended from
Pralong in 51/2 hrs., is one of the tinest points for viewing Mont Blanc (in-

dicator). It owes its name to an aperture near the top. (Guide 10 fr., not
indispensable.) Beyond the Chartreuse du Reposoir (see above) the path
crosses tlie Foron, ascends rapidly through woods, and passes near the
Chalets de Sommier-d''Aval. It crosses the Foron again and then leads to

the left to the Chalets de Sonimier<VAmont or Sommier-Dessius (milk and
fuel). Thence a path mounts in zigzags to the Col de la Roi/elletaz, and
soon joins th(> path from TiC Grand-Boniand Cp. 318) to the Refitge Saii-

vaqe (7380 ft.; fuel should be brought). This refuge, built by the C.A.F.,
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is 3/^ hr. from tlie eol and 31/2 hrs. from Pralong'. The ascent of 2 hrs.

more to the top is rather giddy at places. —We may descend in 4 hrs.

to Le Grand-Bornand or to La Clmaz (p. 379) bj- the path to the Chalet
du Planay (5480 ft.), whence the route to Le Grand-Bornand passes the
Chalets de Plattuy (quarters) and the hamlet of Les Troncs (where the
road becomes practicable for driving), while the path to La Clusaz leads
via the ChaJets de la Bombardelle and the hamlet of Paccaly. — Ascent
from Sallanches, see below.

From Pralong we may ascend also the Pointe d''Areu (see below ; 4 hrs.),

via the Chalets de Merij (5665 ft.; 2 hrs.); likewise the Pointe d'Almet
(7430 ft. ; 3 hrs.), via the Chalets de la Caronniere and de la Touti'ere.

From Pralong to Le Grand-Bornand, see p. 379.

The train passes through a tuimel under the Pointe de Chevran
(4030 ft.) and skirts the Arve, whose valley contracts. — Beyond
(4071/2 ^I-) Balme-Ardches (1625 ft.; cafe-rest.), in the rock to the

left, is the entrance to the stalactite Grotte de Balme, hardly

worth visiting {2^/., hrs. there and back; adm. 4 fr.).

4091,. M. Mayland (1660 ft.), at the foot of steep rocks.

We mav ascend via (10 miu.) Bellegarde. (1*/., hr.) La Colonnaz. and
(1 hr.) the Lac de Flaine (4660 ft.), to the (35 min.) Chalets Plaine-Joux
(5275 ft.

;
quarters). Thence up the Tete Pelonse (p. 332). in 3 hrs. : up the

Pointe de Colloney (see below), via the Chalets d'Ai/jon (6000 ft.), in 31/2 hrs.

Farther on, to the right, rise the Pointe d'Areu and Pointe

Percee. and on the left the Aiguille de Varan (see below).— 412 M.
Oex, The Cascade d'Arpenaz (165 ft. high), to the left, is im-

posing after rain. The valley expands. To the S.E. is revealed a

superb "^View of Mont Blanc, with its dazzling mantle of snow,

apparently quite near though 15 M. distant.

415 M. Sallanches (1790 ft. ; *Gr.-H6t. Michollin, R. 2-4, D. 3,

P. 77,-10 fr.; ^Hot. Beau-Sejour, at the station, E. 2-3, L. 21/2.

D. 3, P. 6-7 fr.; Hot. Bellevue, Devouassoud; pop. 2084), a small

industrial town. Omn. to Megeve, see p. 378; motor-omn. between

Evian and Albertville, see p. 339.
The view of the Mont Blanc group is still more extensive from the

heights around Sallanches, even from the 2Io^itagne de St-Roch, to the
X.W. — The Pointe Percee (p. 317) may be ascended from this side in

8-9 hrs. with guide (30 fr.). via the Chalets de Coeiir and the Col des Verts
(8430 ft.). —The Pointe d'Areu (8095ft. ;

6J/2 hrs-
;
guide 20 fr.) is ascended

via St-Roch and the Cascade and Chalets de Doran. — The Aiguille de
Varan or Varens f81G5 ft.: 7 hrs.; guide 15 fr.) is reached via Villy, Les
Jnillards. Le Bay. the (2 M.) Chalets de Varan (5040 ft.), and the (1 hr.)

Chalets de Barme-Rousse. — The Pointe de Colloney (8830 ft. ; 61/2 hrs.

;

guide 27 or 30 fr.) is rather difficult; we go down the right bank of the
Awe, then up the Nant-d^Arpenaz valley to (3^/4 hrs.) the Chalets de Vernn
(5300 ft.) and the Desert de Plate, with 'its 'lapiaz' (p. 376). Superb view.

417 M. Passij-Domanry. The village of Passij (2270 ft. ; Hot.

de Passy) is on the right bank of the Arve, 2 M. from the station,

at the foot of the Aiguille de Varan (see above). Two Eoman in-

scriptions are built into the wall of the church-tower.— On the

right rise the Mont d'Arlois (6000 ft.) and Mont Joly (p. 533).

. 419 M. Le Fayet-St-Gervais ( 1905 ft. ; buffet) is the terminus

of the main line. Change for the electric line to Chamonix (p. 321).
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To the village oi St-Gervais-les-Balns {\\oXQ\-om.\\. IV-jfr-, to be ordered
in advance) and to the Col deVoza by the Chemin de Fer du Mont-Blanc,
see below. — Motor-omn. to Thones, Evian, and Alberfville, see jJ- 339;
to Les Contamines, see p. 320.

St-Gervais-les-Bains, a commune of 2475 inhab., in the

ValUe de Montjoie, which is watered by the Bon-Nant, com-

prises Le Fayet, the Bains du Fayet-St-Gervais, Ys M. from the

station, and the village of St-Gervais-les-Bains, 2^-2 M- to the S.

Le Fayet. — Hotels : Hot. Terininiis & Meti'opole, 15th June to

15th Sept., E. 3-7, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 (wine extra), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des
AJpes, 1st June to 15th Oct., R. 3-6, B. 1, L. 3, D. .31/2 (wine extra), P.

from 8, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Paix, .June-Sept., L. 21/2, T>. 3 (wine extra),

P. 7-10, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. du Bon-Navt, whole year, L. 21/2, D- 3, P. 6-8 fr.

-Bains du Payet-St-Gervais. Hotels: *Gr.-H6t. de la Savoie, June-
Sept., R. 5-12, B. 11/2. L- -i- I>- 5 (wine extra), P. 13-20 fr.; Hot. des Bains,
R. 4-7, P. 9-13 fr.— St-Gervais-les-Bains. Hotels, open May-Oct.

:

*Hdt. Jfont-Joly Palace, with hydropathic, R. from i, L. 4, D. 5 (wine
extra). P. from 9 fr. ; *Grand-Hdtel, P. 8-15 fr. ; *Splendid Hotel, P. 8-

15 fr. ; Hot. du 2Iont-Blanc, P. 8-12 fr. ; Pens, de Geneve.
Ctuides (office at the Hotel de Ville). 1st cL, Ul. Jos. Broisat, Alph.

Estivin, Aug. Prosper Magnin, Ans. Lucien Martin, Cel. Denis Chapelland;
2nd cL, L. Fr. Broisat, Jos. Alex. Brunet, Ad. Alph. Chapelland, Alph.
Magnin, Jos. Theophile Perroud.

Anglican Church Service in summer at the Hot. du Mont-Joly.

The Bains du Fayet-St-Gervais (2000 ft. ; station on the Mont
Blanc tramway) lie in a park, at the mouth of a wooded ravine.

The Nouvel Etahlissement has been rebuilt in a sheltered site

since the catastrophe of 1892 (p. 351). The springs of Mey (108°)

and Gontard (102°) contain chlorates, sulphates, and lithia, that of

the Torrent (102°) contains chlorates and sulphur. The waters are

used for both bathing and drinking in the treatment of skin-diseases,

nervous affections, and dyspepsia. Season May 1st to Oct. 15th.

The Ancien Etahlissement, partly destroyed in 1892, and the Hotel

des Bains lie in the gorge, at the springs themselves. Beyond them
a bridge and a footpath lead to the Cascade des Bains.

The village of St-Gervais-les-Bains (2650 ft.; station on the

Chemin do Fer du Mont-Blanc), is a summer resort, occupying a

fine open site on the W. slope of the Prarion (p. 320). The carriage-

road to it (2^/0 M.) leads via Les Plagnes. Walkers reach it in

'/2 br. by following the tramway, or in 20 min. by a steep path to

the left of the old Etahlissement, passing the Cascade du Crepin
(50 c). The Pont du Diable, above the village, is a fine point of

view (p. 378). We may visit also the curious earth-pyramids known
as the Cheminees des Fees (20 niin. from the Hotel du Mont-Blanc).

*Chemin de Fer du Mont-Blanc from Le Fayot to (5 M.) the
Col de Voza, thrice daily in summer in 1 hr. 10 min. (10 fr. 95, return
16 fr. 35 c), to (7'/2 M.) Bionnassay in IV2 hr. (return 25 fr. 60 e.). —Views
to the right.

This rack-and-pinion railway, with steam-traction, starts from
the station of Le Fayet-St-Gervais (1905 ft.), stops at the Bains
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(1945 ft.), and then climbs rapidly through woods and orchards.

Fine view, looking back.— 1 M. Village of St-Gervais (2610 ft.).

We mount the slopes of the Prarion (gradient 24: 100). To the

right, on the opposite side of the valley, rises Mont Joly (p. 353).

—

23/^ M. Motivon (4520 ft.). Below, on the right, lies Bionnay
(see below). We then turn to the left (N.E.), high above the gorge

of Bionnassay (see below). A grand amphitheatre of mountains is

gradually revealed: the Aig. de Tricot, to the right of the glacier of

Bionnassay ; to the left the Aig. de Bionnassay and the Dome and Aig.

du Gonter.— 5 M. Col de Voza (5430 ft.; chalet-rest., L. 5 fr.,

wine extra ; hotel under construction), between Mont Lachat (p. 351)
on the S.E. and the Prarion (see belowj on the N. We continue past

the Hotel Bellevue (,p. 352j, where the view of the Chamonix valley

opens, to the (6 M.) station of Mont-Lachat (6890 ft.), and then by
tunnels through the rocks of the Roynes to (TYa ^1-) the terminus

at Bionnassay (8200 ft.;, 5 min. from the moraine of the Glacier
de Bionnassay^ with its beautiful seracs. Thence a bridle-path

(railway under construction; leads to (l^/o hr.) the Chalet- Hotel
de Tete-Rousse (p. 351).

Walkers may ascend to the Col de Yoza in 3 hrs. (guide-boards behind
the Hotel du Mont-Blanc and 2 min. beyond the church). The path leads
to the (21/2 hrs.) Pavilion du Prarion (6100 ft. ; chalet-hotel, R. 2, L.
li/2> IJ- 21/4 fr., plain but good; superb view). The Prarion (6455 ft.)

may be ascended from the Pavilion in V2 li^- (panorama).—We may like-

wise reach the Col de Voza in 3 hrs. by taking the Les Contamines road
to (3/4 hr.) Bionnay (see below), and then ascending the gorge to (2 M.)
Bionnassay (4365 ft.; railway, see above), where we turn to the left

(N.E.).—From the Col de Voza to Les Hotiches, see p. 352.

From the Col de Voza we may follow the Mont Blanc route (p. 352)
to the (i/a lir-) Hotel Bellevue (p. 352), and descend to Les Houches (p. 352)

;

or we may go on to (41/2 hrs. from the col
;
guide 15 fr.) the Chalet-

Hotel de Tete-Rousse, descending thence to the right, near a forester's
hut on Mont Lachat (p. 351), by a rocky path which also leads to Les
Houches. From the Tete-Rousse to Chamonix by this route, 51/2 hrs.

The Col de la Forclaz (5025 ft.; namesake, see p. 329; refuge;
guide useful, 6 fr.), between the Prarion (see above) and the Tete-Noire
de Montfort (5800 ft.) is ascended in 2i/o hrs. direct from Les Plagues
(p. 319), or from St-Grervais village by a path branching to the left from
the Prarion route (see above). Des.cent to Le Fouilly and Les Houches
(p. 352), IV2 hr.

From St-Gervais-les-Baiss to Les Coktamikes, through the VaUee
de Montjoie, 51/2 ^-j motor-omn. (1st July to 15th Sept.) three times daily
in 1/2 hr. (I1/2 fr.); from Le Fayet (p. 319), 8 M., in 50 min. (3 fr.).— 2 M.
Bionnay (3115 ft. ; see above), a hamlet near the confluence of the Bon-
Nant and the torrent of Bionnassay. — S1/2 M. Pont de la Gruvaz (3645 ft.;

*Chalet-Rest.), short of which we are joined by the path from Chamonix
(p. 352). From the bridge a footpath leads to the left to (25 min.) the
Cascades and the Gorges de la Gruvaz, with waterfalls formed by the
torrent flowing from the Glacier de Miage (carr. from St-Gervais in 2 hrs.).

To the Chalet-Hotel de Trelatete, see p. 353.
Mont Joly (p. 353) is easily scaled from St-Gervais iu 5 hrs., via Orcin

and the Granges and (31/2 hrs.) Pavilion du Mo?it-Joly (6570 ft.; bed 3-4,

B. I'/.j, L. 21/^, D. 31/2 fr., wine extra); thus far, a bridle-path. Descent
via St-Nicolas-de-Vt^roce (p. 352) to (3 hrs.) Les Contamines (p. 353).
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From Le Fayet to Sixt over the mountains (8-9 hrs., with guide),

interesting for mountaineers. The route leads by the Escaliers de Plate,

then via the Chalets and Desert de Plate ('lapiaz', p. 376), where we skirt

the Pointe de Plate (8385 ft.; 1 hr., guide 20 fr.; splendid view); then
over the Col de la Portettaz (7820 ft. ; view), between the Pointe and
the Signal de Plate (8125 ft. ; 1 hr. ; fine view). We descend to the Chalets
de Sales (6200 ft.) and through a grand ravine with the pretty Cascades
de la Pleureuse and dzi Rouget to Salvagny (p 333) and Sixt (p. 331).

H. From Le Fayet-St-Gervais to Chamonix.

The Electric Eailway (12 M., in 1 hr. to 1 hr. 10 min. ; 4 fr. 35

or 1 fr. 90 c, return 6 fr. 55 or 3 fr. 10 c.) crosses the Bon-Nant and

the Arve. Beyond (l^/^ M.) Cliedde (1965 ft.; Hot. National) we
pass large electro-chemical works. We recross the Arve and enter

the wooded valley of Le Chdtelard, with the (3 M.) first electric

power-station of the P.L.M. Co. (4000 h.p.) on the left. A little

farther on is (4^2 M.) Servoz (2665 ft.; Hot.-Cafe de la Gare).

A road to the left, crossing the Arve, leads to (1/4 hr.) the village

of Servoz (2680 ft. ; Hot. des Gorges de la Diosaz, L. or D. 3 f r. ; Hot.
de I'Europe, L. 21/2 fr.; Hot. de la Fougere), from which we may visit

(1 hr. there and back; omn. from station 50 c.) the *Grorges de la Diosaz
(adm. 1 fr. ; tickets at the Pavilion-Rest. Jardin, 20 min. from the station),

a grand ravine, through which the Diosaz, a torrent rising on the Buet,
dashes in line cascades. — From Servoz to Sixt (p. 331), via the Col du
Derochoir (7160 ft.) and the Chalets de Sales (see above), 71/2-8 hrs.

with guide, toilsome but interesting. A longer but easier route (8V4 hrs.)

leads over the Col d'Anter?ie (p. 333).

An ascent of about a mile brings us to the second electric power-

station (10,800 h.p., provided by a waterfall of 310 ft.). Up the

valley appear the Dome du Gouter and Aiguille du Midi on the

left. Beyond the (6 M.) short Tunnel de la Cascade we cross the

Arve by the imposing *Viaduc de Ste-Marie, 165 ft. high, below

the old Pont Ste-Marie.— 7 M. Les Houches (3215 ft.; Hot. des

Montees ; Hot. de la Gare, P. 4:^/^-6 fr.), opposite the village (p. 352).

— We now enter the valley of Chamonix. To the right we have a

magnificent view^ of Mont Blanc, with the Glaciers de la Griaz, de

Taconnaz, and des Bossons (p. 348). We cross the Arve.— 10 M.
Les Bossons (3320 ft.; Hot. des Families, de la Gare, de I'Aig. du

Midi, Britannia). The Arve is crossed twice more. — 12 M. Cha-
monix (p. 341). The village lies to the W.

b. Via Geneva.
432 M. Railway in 11 hrs. 50 to 17 hrs. 40 min.; no through-tickets

to Chamonix. Passengers must change stations at Geneva (from the Gare
de Cornavin to the Gare Eaux-Vives) at their own expense, except when
they have return -tickets (p. 312). Trains start from the Gare de Lyon.

I. From Paris to Geneva (via Amberieu and Culoz).

376 M. via St-Amour, 388V,2 M. via Macon. Express in 9 hrs. (by

the Savoy express, p. xiii) to 123/4 hrs. (66 fr. 75, 45 fr. 75, 29 fr. 80 c. ; or

70 fr., 47 fr. 25, 30 fr. 80 c). Wagons-lits and restaurant-cars, see Indicateur.
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From Paris to Geneva via Dijon, Fontarlier, and Lausanne, 3(>4'/2 M.,

in 10 hrs. 25 to 13 hrs. 5 min. (63 fr. 60, 43 fr. 25, 28 fr. 65 c).

To (355i/o M.) Bellegarde, see pp. 312-315. Beyond the Yia-

diic de la Yalserine and the Tunnel du Credo (p. 315) the line

diverges from that to Annemasse and Cluses and follows the right

bank of the Rhone. A view of the Alps is soon revealed to the

right. —-At (361 M.) Collonges-Fort-VEduse the Gex and Divonne

line diverges to the left (see Baedeker's Sicitzerland).— 364 M.

Pougny-Cliancy is the frontier-station. Chancy, on the left bank,

is in the canton of Geneva (tramway to Geneva).— 373 M. Vernier-

Meyrin, where we reach a smiling plain studded with villas.

376 M. Geneva f.— Stations. We arrive at the Gare de C'or-

navin, on the X. side of the town, V!-^ M. from the Gare des Eanx-Vives,
for Savoy, on the S.E. Omn. from station to station 50, at night 75 c.

;

luggage 30 c. for 30 kg. Tramway, see below. Porter for 15-50 kg. 75 c,
for 50-100 kg. 1 fr.

Hotels. Right bank: Bean-Rivage, National, Pai.r, Angleterre,
Bergues, Riissie (fc Continental, Bellevue, Richemond, all tirst-class, on
the quays, and with view of the Alps (R. from 3V2j ^^ or 5, L. 3V2-3j
D. 41/..-6 fr.). Internationa}. Suisse. Geneve, ^lonopole, Bristol, near the
station (R. 21/0-6, L. or D. 2Vo-4 fr.).— Left bank: mtropole (R. from 4,

L. 4, D. 5 fr.), Ecu (R. from 31/2. L- 4, D. 5 fr.). both with view of the

lake, first-class: Victoria, Pare, Touring & Balance, Europe, Lac (R.

21/2-7, L. or D. 3-4 fr.).

Restaurants. Nord, Geneve, Couronne, all on the Grand-Quai ; Du-
mont, Leon Julien, 78 and 38 Rue du Rhone; Poste, Rue du Mont-Blanc.

Cabs (bargain necessary). Per drive 1 or I1/2 fr. ;
per hour 21/2 fr.,

then 65 c. per 1/4 hr. ; luggage 50 c. — Also good Motor Cabs.
Electric Tramways. From the Place du Molard, on the left bank,

near the Pont du Mont-Blanc, to the Gare de Cornavin (Ariana, p. 323),

to the Gare des Eaur-Yiv'es, Annemasse (p. 316), and Etremhi'eres (Saleve
;

p. 316). and to C'arouge): from the Rue de CJucntepoulet, opposite the post
office, to Ariana (p. 323), Ferneij, and Ge:r: from the^;/ai de la Poste
to St-Julien (p. 315); from the C'ours de Rive to Veyrier (Saleve) and
Collonges (p. 316).

Steamers, see p. 323.

Tourist Agents, Thos. C'onk & Son, 90 Rue du Rhone.

Swiss Time is that of Central Europe (1 hr. in advance of French or

English time).

Geneva (1230 ft.; pop. 116,117, of whom -437o are foreign-

ers) is admirably situated on both banks of the Rhone, at its efflux

from the S.W. end of the Lake of Geneva.

From the Gare de Cornavin the broad Rue du Mout-Blanc leads

past the handsome Post Office and the English Church of the

Trinity, in the Gothic style, to the Po)it dii Mont-Blanc and the

Quai du ^Forit-Blanc The latter, extending X.E. from the bridge

on the right bank, affords a superb ^View of the Alps (indicator

opposite the Rue des Alpes). On the left side of the quay is the

sumptuous monument of Duke Charles 11. of Brunsicich (d. 1873),

who left his large fortune to the city. Farther along is the Pare

t For further details, see Baedeker's Switzerland.
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Mon-Bepos., with a splendid view.— Below the Pont du Mont-

Blanc is the lie Roitssemi, with a statue of Jean Jacques Eousseau

by Pradier, reached by the Pont des Bergues. Still lower is the

Pont de la Machine, with the electric power-station.

On the left bank, near the Pont du Mont-Blanc, is the Monument
National. Adjacent is the Promenade duLac, or Jardin Anglais,

where a fine relief of Mont Blanc is exhibited (50 c. ; free on Sun.).

On a height in the old town rises the Bomanesque Cathedral

of St- Pierre, dating from 1034, modified in the Gothic style in

the 12th-13th cent., and disfigured in the 18th with a Corinthian

portico. To the W. is the Hotel de Ville (16th cent.).

On the other side of the Hotel de Ville the Promenade de la

Treille descends to the right to the Place Neuve, with the Musee
Bath, the Theatre, and a statue of Gen. Dufour (d. 1875). Beyond
is the Promenade des Bastions, with the University buildings.

To the E. of the Bastions is the Palais Eynard, containing

natural history collections, and to the S.E. the Athenee, owned by
the Societe des Beaux-Arts. Farther on is the Boul. Helvetique,

which passes the new *Musee d'Art et d'Histoire. Close by are

the Observatory and the Bussian Chapel.

The *Lake of Geneva, or Lac Leman (1220 ft.), is a vast ex-

panse of deep-blue water, 45 M. long, 9 M. broad, and over 1000 ft.

deep in parts. The fertile N. bank rises in gentle slopes, while the

E. and S. banks are dominated by the Valais and Savoy Mts.,

which form a grand background. The N. part belongs to Switzer-

land; the S. bank, from Hermance to St-Gingolph, has been French

since the annexation of Savoy.
To the X.E., 11/4 M. from the Gare de Cornavin (tramways, see

p. 322), is the *Mus6e Ariana (free Sun. and Thurs. 10 to 4 or 6; on
other days, except Mon., 1 fr.), an art and industrial collection. Fine
view from the grounds. In the lower part of the grounds are the Botan-
ical Gardens, with an interesting Alpine section.

Steamers ply along both banks, from Geneva to Le Bouveret, afford-

ing a complete circular voyage. To Le Bouveret, by either bank, l-'/r

5 hrs. (fare 71/2 or 3 fr.). To Thonon in 1 hr. 50 to 2 hrs. 45 min. (3 fr.

60 or 1 fr. 80 cO; to Evian in 2 hrs. 25 min. to 3 hrs. (4 fr. 20 c. or 2 fr.).

— Eailway preferable from Thonon to Le Bouveret (pp. 336, 338).

Stations on the N. Bank: Belleviie, Versoix, Coppet, Celigny, Nijan,

Rolle., St-Prex, Morges (splendid view of Mont Blanc), St Sidj>ice, Ouchy
(for Lausanne, pp. 324, 333). PidJy, Lidrij, Cidhj (view of the Alps), Rivaz-
St-Saphoriv, Vevey (a spring and autumn resort, on the Simplon line,

p. 324), Clarens, Montreux (two favourite resorts), Territet-Chillon
(famed for its castle; funicular for GHon and the Rochers de Naije),

Villeneuve (at the end of the lake), Le Bouveret (p. 338). — Details in

Baedeker^s Sititzerland.

Stations on the S. Bank : Cologny, La Belotte, Bellerive, C'orsier,

Anieres, Hermance (French frontier), Toiig iies-Douvaine, Nernier. Yvoire
(with its old castle ; view of the Savoy Alps), Sciez, Anthy-Sechex, Tho-
non-les-Bains {Rives, p. 334), Amphion (p. 336), Evian-les-Bains
(p. 336), La Tour-Ronde, Meillerie (p. 338), St-Gingolph (Swiss frontier;

p. 338), Le Bouveret (p. 338).

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 21



324 R'>iite 43. LAUSANNE. From Paris
' Maps, pp. 309, 323.

From Geneva to Femey in the French Jura, see Baedeker's Switzer-

land; to Lyons, see p. 256; to Annecy and Aix-Ies-Bains, see pp. 371, 370;

to the Saleve and Les Voiro)is via Annemasse, see below and pp. 316, 333.

n. From Geneva to Chamonix.
55 M. Railavay to (43 M.) Le Fayet-St-Gervais in 2 hrs. 10 to 2 hrs.

50 min. (7 fr. 85, 5 fr. 30, 3 fr. 45 c.). IElectric Railway thence to (12 M.)
C'JiamoniT, see p. 321. Trains start from the Gare des Eaux-Vives Ly
French time (p. 322). i^o custom-house examination for travellers in this

part of the Haute-Savoie.

Soon after starting we see the Saleve on the right and the Jura

Mts. on the left.— 2^2 M. Chine., a large Genevese village, was

the birthplace of L. FaA^re (d. 1879), engineer of the St. Gotthard

tunnel. To the right rises Mont Blanc, between the conical Mole

(p. 317) and the double peaks of the Pointe d'Andey (p. 317). We
cross the Foron, the frontier of Savoy.

3^2 ^^- Annemasse. and thence to Chamonix. see pp. 316-318

and 321.

43. Prom Paris to Chamonix via Martigny.

I. From Paris to Martigny via Pontarlier and Lausanne.

3681/2 M. Railway in 10 hrs. 25 to 11 hrs. 50 min. (65 fr. 90, 44 fr.

95, 29 fr. 95 c). Simplon express, see p. xiii. The day-express has a

restaurant-car and the night-express wagon-lits. — Details, see Baedeker's

N. France and Sicitzerlaud.

To (196 M.) Dijon (p. 201), see Baedel-er's Northern France.

The Lyons line diverges to the right.— 215^ lU M. Auxonne. We
cross the Saone.

225 M. Dole (Buffet; Hot. de Lyon, de Geneve, etc.
;
pop. 16,294),

an interesting old town on the Doubs. — 245 M. Mouchard, on

the Lyons and Besancon line. We now enter the Jura Mts.—
259V/o M. Andelot. with beautiful woods.

289 M. Pontarlier (Buffet; H(M. de la Poste, de Paris; pop.

9439), on the Doubs. We next pass through the Defile de la Cluse.

— 298 M. Vallorbe, frontier-station (Swiss time, see p. 322).

327 M. Lausanne (Buffet; Hot. Cecil, Gibbon, Eicheniout,

Beau-Site, Beau-Sejour. etc., in the town; Hot. de Lausanne, Conti-

nental & de la Gure, de I'Europe, Eden, near the station; pop.

66,263), charmingly situated on a hill above the Lake of Geneva.

The station (1475 ft.) is below the town. Ouchy (p. 323), on the

lake, is connected with the town by funicular (8 min.). Xote at

Lausanne the fine Gothic Cathedral (ISih. cent.), with a good view

from the terrace (1735 ft.), and above it the old Chdteau Episco-

pal. In the Place de la Riponne, to the W., below the Cathedral,

is the handsome Palais de Bumine, containing the University

Offices, the Musee des Beaux-Arts, and the Library.
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to Chavwnix. MARTIGNY. •^•^- R^/de. 325

The train skirts the X. bank of the lake (conip. p. 323). Sta-

tions: Vevey, Montreux, Territet, Veytaitx-Chillon, Villeneuve.

We ascend the Rhone valley.— 356^2 ^^- Bex. We cross the

Rhone and join the line from Evian to Martiguy (comp. p. 339).

359 M. St-Maurice (1380 ft.; Buffet, D. 27.,^ -3 fr.; Hot. du

Simplon & Terminus, R. 21/2-^, ?• 7-9 fr.; Hot. des Alpes; pop.

2200), a picturesque old town, named after St. Maurice, chief of the

Thebau legion, which is said to have been martyred here in 302.

363 M. Evionnaz. Then, on the right, the ^Pissevache, a fall

of the Salanfe, 215 ft. high.

365^2 M. Vernayaz (1495 ft.; Gr.-Hot. des Gorges-du-Trient,

^/^ hr. from the station, P. 8-15 fr. ; Hot. de la Gare, etc.), a station

on the electric tramway to Chamonix (see below). The grand ^Gorges
du Trient, near the Grand-Hotel (where tickets of adm. are sold;

1 fr.), may be ascended for 1/2 M.
The tower of La Bdtiaz, the relic of an old chateau of the

Bishops of Sion, appears on a hill to the right, at the angle formed
here by the Rhone valley (adm. 50 c; fine view).

3681/2 M. Martigny (1565 ft.; *Gr.-H6t.Clerc, R.3-6,L. 31/2,

D. 41/2 fr- ; Hot. du Mont-Blanc ; Hot. National, good ; Hot. du Grancl-

St-Bernard, at the station, well spoken of; pop. 2500) is a busy

place in summer, being the starting-point of the electric railway

to Chamonix, of the route to Chamonix over the Col de la Forclaz,

and of routes over the Great St. Bernard and to the Val de Bagnes.
Simplon Railway and Great St. Bernard Pass, see Baedeker's Snitzer-

land.

II. From Martigny to Chamomx via Salvan.

23 M. Electric Railway (in summer only) in 2''/4-3V4 hrs. (15 fr.

35, 13 fr. 45, 9 fr. 75 c.): to Vallorcine by the Martigny-Chatelard Co.
(in 2-21/2 hrs.), and thence to Chamonix by theP. L. M. Co. (I-IV4 hr.).

—

Details as far as the frontier, see Baedeker' s Sivitzerland.

Martlyny (1540 ft.), see above. The cars go through the town,

turn to the right, and cross the Drance.— ^4 ^^- La Bdtiaz, at the

foot of the tower (see above). We then skirt the road. — 3 M.
Vernayaz (see above), near the Gorges du Trient. The line crosses

the Trient and ascends the hill (rack-and-pinion for I1/4 M.), afford-

ing fine views of the Rhone valley and the Dent de Morcles. It

then ascends to the rocky plateau of the Flan du Sourd ami to

.") M.) Salvan station (3075 ft.), at the N. end of the village.

Salvan (3035 ft. ; *Grand-H6tel, P. 6-10 fr. ; *H6t. Monrepos,

P. 5-8 fr.; *H6t.-Pens. des Gorges-du-Triege, P. 5-6 fr.; Hot.

Bellevue, P. 5-7 fr., good; Anglican church service in summer) is

a favourite summer resort and offers winter-sports also.

Excursions. To the Col de la Gueida (p. 326), 3^/4 hrs., passing
(20 min.) Les Mar^cottes (p. 32(j).— To the Alpe de Salanfe (6280 ft.;

*H6t.-Rest.), 31/2 hrs., past the hamlets of BioUei/ and Les Gratiyes, and
via the Col de la Matze (1215 ft.) and Van-d'cn-Huid (1130 ft.), wlience wo

21*
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may descend througli the ^Gorges du Dailley, formed by the Salanfo
(line waterfall). — To the *JIaijens de la C'revse or Creusaz (5790 ft.), 2V2-
.3 hrs.— To the Ltiimi (9140 ft.), 6 hrs.. via the Chalets and Col d'Eihane?/
(7965 ft.). — To the Dent du Midi (p. 338), 8 hrs., toilsome, via the Alpe
de Salanfe and the Col de Susanfe, where the Champery route is joined

(p. 339).— To the Toio' Sallieres (p. 338), 8 hrs., via Emanev (see above)
and the S.E. side, difficult.

The train ascends in windings. — 6 M. Les Marecottes
(3385 ft.~). Above the station, on the right, is the village ('3575 ft.

;

Hot.-Pens, des Marecottes, de I'Esperance, de TAvenir, Jolimont,

all quite good, P. from 4 or 5 fr.), a prettily situated summer resort.

The line now runs high above the Trient. Beyond a bridge across

the picturesque gorge of the Triege we come to the station of 1 7 M.)

Le Tretien, or Triquent (3485 ft.), above the village of that name
(3260 ft.; *Chalet de la Foret, P. 5 fr.; Hot. du Mont-Eose, well

spoken of, P. 4-6 fr. ; Hot. de la Dent-du-Midi, P. 4-5 fr.). The
grand '^Gorges du Triege, with their fine waterfalls (adm. 1 fr.;

7 min. from the village), deserve a visit.— The line passes through

galleries, at places sheer above the gorge of the Trient, to the station

of (91/2 M.) Finhaut-Gletroz (4025 ft.).

Finhaut. —Hotels. *Gr.-Hdt. Bristol, P. 7-15 fr. ; *Grand-H6tel de
Finhai't. *H6t. Bel-Oisean & Villa Victoria, *Beau-Spjour, du Mont-Blanc,
*Bea.u-Site, *Mont-Fie uri, du Glacier, *du Perron, *Croix-Federale, P. at

all these from 6 fr. ; Hot. des Alpes, P. 5-7 fr. — On the Chatelard road,

3/4 hr. to the S.AV. : *ndt. de Gietroz (4385 ft.), P. 6-9 fr.; *n6t. Eden,
P. from 6 fr.

AxctLican Church ('Church of the Transfiguration); services in

summer.

Finhaut, or Fins-Hauts (4060 ft.), charmingly situated, is a

favourite health resort. Fine view of the valley of the Trient, with

the Girlacier du Trient and the Aig. du Tour.
The *Col de la Gueula (6460 ft.), 21/4 hrs. to the W., afifords a

splendid view ; still finer is that from the *Six Jeur (6745 ft.), 20 min.
S.E. of the col. We may next go on to the (11/4 hr.) Cabane de Barberine
of the Swiss Alpine Club (6135 ft.), the starting-point for the ascents of

the Bel-Oiseau (8680 ft.: 2i/., hrs.), the FontaJiabran {8S10 it.; 2V2-3 hrs.),

the Finite (9320 ft. ; 31/2 hrs. f all three easy), the Pointe des Rosses (9735 ft.

;

31/2 hrs.), the Pic de Tanneverge (p. 332; "31/0-4 hrs., both trj'ing), the Mont
Ruan (p. 332: 41/2 hrs. ; not difficult for experts), and the Tonr Sallieres

(p. 338; by the S". arete, 41/2- 5 hrs., not difficult for experts). Over the

Col de Tanneverge to Sixt. see p. 332.

From Finhaut to the Tete-Xoire (p. 330), I1/4 hr.

We cross three torrents and descend. Fine view^ of the valley

of the Trient. with its glacier. "We descend through woods into the

valley of the Eau-Nolre.— 11 M. Le Chdtelard-Village (3705 ft.).

Passing the Restaurant de la Madeleine, where the road from

Martigny over the Tete-Xoire joins ours on the left (p. 330), we
next come to the Swiss frontier-station of (12 M.) Le Chatelard-
Trient (3670 ft.: Buffet, L. 27,-31/2 fr-; Hot. Suisse-du-Chatelard,

R. 272-31/2, P- 7-8 fr.). Pleasant walk (I74 hr. there and back) to

the Cascade de Barberine, 330 ft. high (adm. 1 fr.).

The line crosses the Eau-Xoire, which here forms the frontier,
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and then asceuds a rocky defile.— 1372 ^- Vallorcine (4140 ft.;

Hot. du Mont-Blauc, P. from 5 fr.; Hot. de la Gare-Iuteruationale,

plain), the first French station (change trains; no custom-house

examination; French time, see p. 322). — Farther up we pass, on

the right, an electric power-station, and then ascend rapidly on

the right bank of the Eau-Noire. Before us, to the left, rise the

Aiguille des Grrauds-Charmoz and its neighbours, then the Aiguilles

Verte and du Dru (p. 345).

15 M. Le Buet (4400 ft.; Hot. du Buet & de la Gare, well

spoken of, R. IV2-2V2, L. orD. 3, P. 473-6 fr.; Hot.Bellevue, 5 min.

from the station, D. 272 fi"-)-

The *Buet (1U,2U0 ft.) may be ascended in 6-6V2 hrs. (very interest-

ing and not difficult; guide from Chamouix 15, incl. a night at Pierre-

a-Berard 20 fr.). From the station we follow the Col des Montets route,

to the left, for a little way, and then, to the right, a path to (10 min.)

La Poyaz (4520 ft.), a hamlet at the mouth of the wild Vallt't de Bi^rard,

or upper Eau-Noire valley. The bridle-path follows the right bank,
passing (20 min.; to the right) the tine Cascade de Berard. Farther on,

we cross the torrent and mount the steep slopes of Motit Oreb (8680 ft.).

In 21/4 hrs. we reach the Hotel de la Pierre-d-Berard (about 6560 ft.

;

bed 3-4, B. 2, L. or D. 4 fr.). We ascend to the W. and then N.W., below
the Aigttille de Salenton (8760 ft.), to the Table auQlmntre, whence we
survey the valley of the Diosaz. Lastly a toilsome clamber over steep

slopes of debris, "partly covered with snow, \ip the S.W. arete, and past

an open stone hut {'^Cahane Pictet', 9975 ft.), to the (4 hrs.) snow-capped
summit. Magnificent view (indicator). In the foreground, behind the Aig.

Bourges, rises the Mont Blanc chain; farther off, to the left, appear the

Valaisian and Bernese Alps, the Dent du Midi, a corner of the Lake of

(ieneva, and the Jura. We may descend to Chamonix via the Diosaz valley

and the Col du Brevent (p. 333); to Sixt, see p. 333.

The Road to ARCiENTiERE (1 hr.
;
pleasant walk) ascends gradually from

Le Buet station, to the left, to the (20 min.) Col des Montets (4790 ft.),

which separates the basins of the Rhone and the Arve. Striking *View
of the Mont Blanc chain. We descend in '^U^r. to Trelechamp {4:Q,bQ it.;

Hot.-Pens, du Col-des-Montets), a village in a pretty site. We then descend
into the Arve valley in long zigzags, through sparse larch-woods, and in

25 min. reach Argentiere (see below).

The train turns to the S.E. and passes through the Tunnel
des Montets, I74 M. long, below the Col des Montets, beyond

which we obtain a superb ^'^View of the Mont Blanc chain.

—

I672 M. Montroc-le-Planet (4480 ft.; ^Hot.-Pens. Bel-Alp). We
cross the Arve and the Le Tour road (p. 330).

1772 M. Argentiere. — Hotels. *H6t. du Planet, in a line site

(4555 ft.), 20 min. above the village, open all the year, R. 3-6, L. 3, D. 4,

P. 8-121/2, omn. from Moutroc station IV2 fr. ; *H6t.-Pens. de la Couronne,
R. 21/2-1, B. 11/4, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. 7-10 fr.; *H6t. d 11 Mont-Blanc, R. 2i/o-3,

B. 11/4, D. 31/2, P. 7-9 fr. ; *H6t. dti Glacier & Termimts, R. 2-4, B. I1/4,

D. 4, P. 6-10 fr.; Hot. Bellevne & Terrasse, good, R. 21/2-3, D. 4, P. 6-9 fr.

;

Hot. dti Globe & de la Gare, well spoken of, R. 21/2-31/3, D. 3, P. 7-12 fr.

— Branch office of the Chamonix guides (p. 343).

Argentiere (4110 ft.), finely situated, is well adapted for some
stay. On the left the Glacier d'Argentiere descends between (right

and left; the Aiguille Verte and the Aiguille du Chardonnet.



328 lioide 43. ARGENTli^RE. From Paris
Map, 2). 343.

*Glacier d'Argenti^re. Bridle-path (guide needless; luulo and
attendant 16 fr.) from Argentiere to the (21/2 hrs.) Chalet-Hotel de Lognan
(G(395 ft.; bed 3Vo-i, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 fr.); footpath (guide desirable) from
the Hot. du Planet (p. 327) S. to the glacier, then ascending above its

right bank (-Mauvais Pas'; conip. p. 34(3) to (35 min.) a point opposite the
chalet-hotel, whence the glacier is crossed -n-ithout difficult}' (55 min. to

the hotel). About 1/2 hr. above we may survey the grand 'seracs' (ice-

avalanches often seen). In 1/4 hr. more the footpath ends (7675 ft.), and we
obtain a magnificent view of the level upper part of the glacier, almost
free from crevasses (2Ier de Glace d'Argentiere) and of the surrounding
Aiguilles. The view from the glacier itself (guide necessary; from Argen-
tiere, 12 fr.) is still finer. We may ascend farther to (8 hrs.) the Jardin
d'Argentiere (8805 ft.), a rocky islet at the foot of the Aig. d'Argentiere,

with fine flora. Higher up, ^/^hr., at the S. base of the Aiguille, is a

refuge of the C.A.F. (9260 ft.; guide 14 fr.) for the ascent of the Aig.
d'Argentiere, Tour-Xoir, etc. - On the way back we may descend from the

chalet-hotel, by the Chalets de Lognan and de la Pendant, to the Chapeau
path and (21/2 hrs.) Les Tines (see below).

ExcuRSioss from the Chalet-Hotel de Lognan. The difficult ascent

of the Aiguille du Chardonnet (12,545 ft. ; 7 hrs.
;

guide 65 fr.) was
first made by R. Fowler in imb.-Tha Aiguille d'Argentiere (12,800 ft.;

8 hrs.
;
guide 65 fr. ; difficult) was first ascended by A. Adams Reilly

and Ed. Whymper in 1864. — To the Montanvert (p. 344) over the Col des
Grands-Montets (10,635 ft. ; 8 hrs.

;
guide 30 fr.), laborious but very

interesting. The pass lies between the Petite Aiguille Verte (11,540 ft.)

and the Aiguille des Grands-Montets (10,815 ft. ; "/> hr. from the col, easy).

-To Courmaijeur (p. 356) over the Col du Mont-Dolent (11,450 ft.:

14 hrs. ; with guide; verj' difficult), between Mo)>t Dolent and the Aiguille
de Triolet (p. 358). Descent via the Glacier de Pre-de-Bar and the Petit

Col Ferret (8180 ft.). —To Orsikres over the Col du Chardonnet
(10,900 ft.; 12 hrs.; guide 50 fr.), stiff. We ascend the Glacier d'Argen-
tiere and the steep Glacier du Chardonnet to (51/2 hrs.) the col, between
the Aiguilles du Chardonnet and d'Argentiere; then descend abruptly bj'

the Glacier de Saleivaz to the (2 hrs.) Cabane de Saleinaz (8830 ft.)

aud (4 hrs.) Orsieres (see Baedeker's Svitzerland). — To Orsieres over the

Col d'Argentiere (11,535 ft. ; 12 hrs.; guide 60 fr.), very difficult. The
pass (fine view) lies between the Tour-Xoir (12,590 ft.) and the Aiguilles

Rouges du Dolent (12,075 ft.). Dangerous descent across the Glacier de
la Neuvac to the Chalets de la Fouly in the Val Ferret (p. 358).

From ARCiEKTiERE to Orsieres over the Col du Tour (10,770 ft.;

12-13 hrs.
;
guide 40 fr.), toilsome, but not difficult for experts. Road to

(13/4 M.) Le Tour (p. 330). We then ascend, to the right, the moraine of the

Glacier du Tour and the glacier itself to the col, between the Aiguille du
Tour (11,620 ft.) and the The Blanche (11,275 ft.), both easily climbed from
the pass. We descend to the neve of the Glacier du Trient, and then, to the

right, cross the Fenetre de Saleinaz (10,710 ft.) to the Cabane de Saleinac
(see above), or else cross the Col d' Orny (10,270 ft.; Cabane Dupuis), to

the left, to the Cabane d'Orny (8820 ft.), about 4 hrs. from Orsieres.

Ascent of the Buet, see p. 327 (to the Pierre-a-Berard. 3 hrs.).

The line descends the right bank of the Arve, through a wooded

defile, aud crosses the stream.— 20 M. Les Tines (3555 ft.; Hot.

Excelsior, P. 7-12 fr. ; Hot. de la Foret, P. G-10 fr. ; Hot. de la Gare

& de la Mer de Glace, P. 5-7 fr.). To the Chapeau, see p. 347.— The
line skirts the high-road. To the left is Les Bois (p. 347).

217., M. Les Praz-de-Chamonix (3470 ft.; *8plendid Hotel,

R. 2-7, b. 3^2, P. 6-9 fr.; -Gr.-Hot. Regina, R. 2V2-5, D. 31/2, P.

6-10 fr. ; Hot. *National, *Ohalet-des-Praz, de la Prairie, de la Gare)

is a summer and winter resort. To the Flegere. see p. 348.
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AVe cross the Arveyro7i (p. 347).— 23 M. Chamonix (p. 341).
The Road fkom Akoentikre to Chamonix {l^j^ hr.) passes, on the left,

the hridle-path to the Chalet-Hotel de Lognan (p. 328), and crosses the Arve
to (10 mill.) Les (Jhazalets, Grassonnet (Hot. du Grassoiinet, P. 5-7 fr.) and

(V4 hr.) Les lies. Farther on (5 inin.) a bridge crosses the Arve to La Joux.
(To the Flegere, see p. 348.) We next pass (10 min.) Le Lavancher (3905 ft.

;

Hot.-Pens. Beau-Sejour, 10 min. above the road, P. 41/2-6 fr.); to the Cha-
peau, see p. 347. The road descends through a wooded defile. At (10 min.)

Les Tines (p. 328) another path to the Chapeau diverges (p. 347). The
Glacier des Bois and the village of Les Bois (p. 347) are seen on the left.

Beyond (20 min.) Les Praz-de-C'hamonix (p. 328) we cross the Arve to

Le C'hable and (V2 hr.) Chamonix (p. 341).

III. From Martigny to Chamonix via the Tete-Noire.

EoAD. About 9 hrs. (41/2 to Le Chatelard, 41/4 more to Chamonix). Omn.
(3-4 pers.) in 8-9 hrs., 16 fr. each pers. and fee; carr. and pair (1-3 pers.)

40 fr. and fee of 5 fr. Walkers may forward their luggage by the Mes-
sageries (3 fr.). —No custom-house examination.

Martigny (1540 ft.), see p. 325. We first follow the Great St.

Bernard road through Martigny-Bourg and across the Drance.
— '/o hr. La Croix (steep short-cut to the right).— 74^^- ^^
Brocard. The new road, to the right, ascends through vineyards

and orchards in windings, which the old road cuts ott'.— 20 min.

Les Rapj}es. — 25 min. La Fontaine. — 10 min. Le Sergnieux

(2810 ft.).— 1/4 h^- ^^ Fay. The road makes a long bend to the

right, which is cut off by the bridle-path.— 40 min. Chalet de

Bcllevue. Fine view of the Rhone valley behind us.— Y^hr. Chalet

du Drapeau-Suisse (rest.); then the Pension Chalet de la Foret
(well spoken of). — 35 min. (4 hrs. from Martigny) Col de la

Forelaz, or Col de Trient (4995 ft. ; Hot. Gav-Descombes, good,

L. 21/,, D. 3, P. 41/2-5 fr.; Hot. de la Fougere", R. 2-2i/.^, L. 21/2,

P. 5-6 fr.). To the right, 2 min. from the col, we have a fine view

of the gorge of the Trient.
A level path leads to the left, from the col, to the (I1/2 hr.) Glacier

du Trient (5555 ft. at lower end), the northernmost glacier in tlie Mont
Blanc group.— To the S.E. of the col an interesting path leads to the

(2 hrs.) Chalets de Bovine, via La Giete and the N.E. flank of the *Pointe
de Bovine (7135 ft. ; superb view). Farther on, 20 min., we may descend
to (21/2 hrs.) Lac Champex (4825 ft.; see Baedeker's Switzerland).

From the Col be la Forclaz to Akgentiere via the Col de Balme,
5 hrs., interesting. Gruide 10 fr., unnecessary; horse to the Col de Balme
20 fr. (not advisable beyond, as the path is bad). — The path diverges from
the Trient road 1/4 hr. from the Col de la Forelaz. — 10 min. Sridge,
opposite the upper houses of Trient (p. 330). We ascend the pastures to

the left, in view of the Glacier du Trient. — 20 min. Bridge over the Nant-
Noir. After 200 paces on the right bank we mount to the left for 1 hr.

through the Foret de Magnin, and over grassy slopes with rhododendrons.
— 20 min. Chanton des Arolles (6225 ft.). —25 min. Chalets des Her-
bageres (6C.50 ft.). —1/2 br. *Col de Balme (7235 ft. ; Hot. Suisse, R. 2-3,

L. 3'/2) I^- 4 fr.), on the frontier, famed for its view of Mont Blanc, with
the Aiguilles du Tour, d'Argentiere, Verte, du Dru, des Charmoz, and
du Midi, and the Dome du Gofiter. The valley of Chamonix is seen as
far as the Col do Voza. To the right are the Buet, the Aiguilles Rouges,
and the Brevent. In the opposite direction, beyond the Col de la Furclaz,
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rise the Yalai.siau and the Bernese Alps. — The view is still more ex-

tensive from the *Croix de Fer, or Aigtalle de Balme (7690 ft.), V2 br.

N.E. of the inn.

The descent from the col on the French side is steep and rough.
The pastures are carpeted with rhododendrons, but are often marshy.
On the left (3/4 hr.) are the Chalets de CharamiUon (6270 ft.); then
(1/2 hr.) Le Tour (4795 ft.), where the road begins. To the left lies the
line Glacier du Tour. (To Orsieres over the Col du Tour, see p. 328.)
AVe cross the Biiisme, the effluent of the glacier, near the (20 min.) station
of 3Iontroc (p. 327), or pass below the Hotel du Planet (p. 327). Then
(V2 hr.) Argentiere (p. 327).

From the Col de la Forclaz the road descends iu bold windings.

View of the G-lacier du Trient and the Aig. du Tour, on the left.

— 1/2 lir. Trient (4280 ft.; *Gr.-H6t. Trient, P. 6-9 fr.; Hot.-Peus.

du Grlacier-de-Trient, P. o^/^-'t fr. ; Hot.-Pens, des Alpes), a village

in the broader part of the valley. Below it we cross the Trient.

— ^/2 hr. La Tete - Noire, a jutting rock on which stands the

Hotel de la Tete-Xoire (3965 ft.; P. 5-10 fr.). A belvedere, 2 min.

beyond, affords a fine survey of the sombre gorge of the Eau-Noire.

To the N.W. rises the Bel-Oiseau (p. 326), to the N.E. are the Dent
de Morcles and the Grand-Muveran.

A path to the left of the hotel descends abruptly to the (20 min.)
Gouffre de la Tete-Noire, a gloomy gorge with several waterfalls.
Ticket and guide at the hotel, 1 fr.

The road passes (10 min.) through a tunnel and descends the

wooded slopes.— 25 min. Bridge over the Eau-Noire, near the

Restaurant de la Madeleine.— 10 min. Le Chdtelard- Trient

station, and thence to Chamonix, see pp. 326-329.

44. Prom Paris to Chamonix via Anne-
masse, Sixt, and the Col d'Anterne.

I. From Paris to Sixt.

4101/2 M. Railway from Paris to Annemasse, 3791/2 M. by the direct

line, or 1 M. more going via Geneva. Steam Tramway from Annemasse
to Samoens, 271/2 M., in 3 hrs. (3 fr. 55 or 2 fr. 20 c). Omnibus from
Samoens to Sixt, 31/2 M., in 40 min. (1 fr.).

To (3791/2 ^^ Annemasse, see pp. 312-316. The tramway runs

through the town and turns to the E. (right).—-4^2 ^I- La Bergue
(1680 ft.), to the S.W. of the Voirons.

The Pralaire (4630 ft. ; view), the S. peak of the Voirons (p. 333),

is ascended in 2 hrs., via (40 min.) Lucinges and Les Gets.

51/2 M. Bonne (Hot. du Navire), on the Menoge, once fortified.

Branch-line to (8M.) Bonneville (p. 317).— 7 M. Font de Fillinges

(1785 ft.), at the confluence of the Menoge and Foron.
Omn. thrice daily, in I1/2 hr. (tramwav projected), to (41/2 M.) Boege

(2495 ft.; Hot. de la Balance, R. I1/2-3, D. 3 fr.j.Hot. de Savoie), the best
starting-point for ascending the Voirons (2 hrs.

; p. 333).

We ascend the valley of the Foron.— 10 M. Viuz-en-Sallaz. On
the left rises the Puinle des Brasses, on the right the Mole.
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121/2 M. St-Jeoire (1930 ft.; Hot.-Pens. du Mout-Blauc, at the

station, P. 5 fr. ; Hot. de la Courouue, des Alpes; pop. 1548), with

a statue of Sommeiller (1815-71), one of the engineers of the Mont-

Cenis tunnel. Near it is the Chdteau de la Flechere, at the foot

of the hill tu the left.

From St-Jeoire a steam-tramway (70 or 45 c.) runs via (1 M.) the Pont-
du-Risse (see below) and Le Breuillet to (41/2 M.) Marignier (p. 317).

Omu. from St-Jeoire up the valley of the Risse to (51/2 M.) 3Iegevette

(2870 ft. ; Aub. Decroux). Extensive Grottoes near the hamlet of La C'ulas,

20 min. from Megevette (guide at the aub.). From Megevette to Thonon,
see p. 334.

The Pointe des Brasses (4945 ft.) is easily ascended from St-Jeoire
in about 3 hrs.--The *M61e (6130 ft.; tine view; guide 5 fr. ; see p. 317)
takes 4 hrs., via the chalets of C'h.ar-d' en-Bas, Char-cren-Haut, L'Ecntieu
(small inn), and the C'6te-d-MeuIet. Ascent rather shorter by La Tour,
the Grange de Bovere, the Grange a Berod, and the Petit-Mole (p. 317).

13^2 ^I- Pont- du- Risse. AVe pass through a defile into the

pretty Vallee du Gi/fre, and ascend its left side. Beautiful view

to the right.— 17 M. Mieussy (2225 ft.; Hot. des Alpes), to the W.
of the Pointe de Marcelly (see below; 4^2 ln's., with guide). Up
the valley are seen the Buet and Mont Blanc.

21 M. Taninges (2105 ft.; Hot. de Paris, P. 6-10 fr., well

spoken of; Hot. du Bras-de-Fer, P. from 5 fr. ; Hot. des Balances),

a small industrial town, with the old Abbey of Melan, now a

school. To Cluses, over the Col du Chatillon, see p. 317.
A bridle-path (mule 6-7 fr.) ascends N.W. from Taninges to (3 hrs.)

Le Praz-de-Lys (5020 ft. ; *H6t. du Praz-de-Lys, P. 6-8 fr.), a health-

resort in a fine site, whence the Pointe de Marcelly (6585 ft.) is easily
ascended in 2 hrs. (with guide; superb view). — From Taninges via Les
Gets to St-Jean-d'Avlph and Thonan, see pp. 335, 334. Omn. daily
from Taninges to Morzine (p. 335) in 3V2 brs.

We continue to ascend the valley of the Giffre, via La Palud
and Jutteninge.— 25 1/2 M. Verchaix-Morillon (Hot. Morel).

271/2 M. Samoens (2280 ft.; Hot. Bellevue, R. 21/2-4, B. 1,

P.6-8fr. ; Hot. du Commerce, delaCroix-d'Or; Pens.LaFalconniere,
P. 6 fr.), at the foot of the Rochers de Criou (7380 ft.). Good view

from the chapel, 10 min. above the church. On a hill to the N.,

crowned with ruins, is the Alpine garden ot La Jaysinia, founded

by Mme. Cognacq-Jay in 1904.
Motor-omn. from the station to the Cantine du Fer-d-Cheval (p. 332)

and back, 3 fr.— To Thonon over the Col de Jouplane or the Col 4e la
Golese, 4 hrs., see p. 335. To Champery over the Col de la Golese and Col
de Coux, 7 hrs., see p. 338. To the Pointe des Avaudrues, see p. 332.

The SixT EoAD (omn., see p. 330) enters the Defile des Tines,

where the Giffre forms a deep gorge. AVhen the valley expands we
see on the right the Pointe de Sales (p. 332) and the Fointe des

Places (5005 ft.), and on the left the Pic de Tanneverge (p. 332).

31 M. Sixt (2485 ft.; Hot. du Fer-a-Cheval, in the old abbey,
R. 21/2-3, D. 3, P. 7 fr.), in a pretty site, having originally sprung
up around an abbey, is known also as Abbaye-de-Sixt.
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ExviKoss (2nd cl. guide, Jos. Baphet). A narrow road ascends on
The right bank of the Gitfre to (1 hr.) the C'antine du Fer-a-ChevaJ (L.

21/2 fr. ; omn. once or twice daily in 40 niin., return 1^/2 fr.; motor-onin.

from Samoens, see p. 331). Adjacent is a belvedere, with a fine view
of the Fer-a-Cheval. "SYe now follow a footpath, turning to the left a

little short of a (5 min.) stone cross, and passing a stone in memory of

the landslip of 1602, the wooded debris of which cover the floor of the

valley. "Where the path forks, we turn to the left again and soon reach

an open grassy spot in the centre of the *Fer-a-Clieval, a miniature
cirque. Grand cascades descend from the rocks around, numbering thirty

in spring when the snow is melting, but reduced in summer and autumn
to five or six. Opposite rise the Pic de Tanneverge (see below) and the

Finive (p. 326); to the right is the C'heral-Blanc (9320 ft.), to the left Mont
Ruan (see below). The path goes on, X., to the (1 hr.) Fond-de-la-C'omhe
(3275 ft.), at the head of the valley, with a waterfall of the Gitfre, issuing

from a great vault of snow.

The Collet d'Anterve (5900 ft. ; view) is SVa hrs. to the S., on the

Col d'Anterne route (p. 333); in a valley to the right is the Cascade du
Rouget (p. 321). Another fine point of view is the Croix de Commune
(6340 ft.), 3V2-i brs. E., by the Fer-a-Cheval path, and then S.E., past

the Chalets de Commune.
From Sixt to Le Fayet and Servos, see p. 321.

From Sixt to Champery over the Col de Sageroux, 5 hrs., see p. 339.

The col lies W. of Mont Kuan (two peaks, 9995 ft. and 10,100 ft.); ascent

rather difficult {-i-^^iz hrs. from the col, with guide), best from the Cabane
de Barberine (p. 326). Grand view, but barred on the E. by the Tour Sal-

lieres, and inferior to that from the Buet (p. 327).

The pyramidal Pic de Tanneverge or Tenneverge {^1^'i ft.; view),

at the head of the Sixt valley, may likewise be ascended from the

Col de Sageroux in 51/2-6 hrs. (with guide, rather difiicult), or better, in

21/2 hrs., from the Col de Tanneverge (8192 ft.; 7 hrs. from Sixt, but
no'night-quarters on the way). We may descend via the Col de Tanne-
verge to Sixt in 6 hrs. (dangerous when the rocks are iced), or to the

Cabane de Barberine (p. 326), 1 hr. to the E. ; in the latter case we mount
again to the Col de la Giieida (2 hrs.

; p. 326), whence we descend to

(I1/2 hr.) Finhant (p. 326).

The Pointe des Avaudrues (8765 ft. ; splendid view), to the W.
of the Fond-de-la-Combe (see above), is ascended from Sixt in 5-6 hrs.

(with guide). The route diverges from the path to the (3 hrs.) Chalets

de Salvadon (5285 ft.) a little short of the latter. More interesting, but

more difiioult. is the ascent from Samoens (p. 331) via the (21/2 hrs.) Chalets

de Foilly (5120 ft.), the Lac des Chambres (6790 ft.), and the Glacier
de Foilly. From the Salvadon chalets we may ascend also the Pointe
de Sambet (2 hrs. ; 7330 ft.).

The ascent of the *Pointe or T6te Pelouse (8120 ft. ; namesake,
see p. 380), to the S. of Sixt, is made in 6 hrs. via the (21/2 hrs.) Lac de Gers
(huts) and the (21/2 hrs.) Col de Plate. The top affords a splendid view
of Mont Blanc. The descent may be made to Le Fayet (p. 318) and St-

Gervais (p. 319), via the Desert de Plate and the Escaliers de Plate

(p. 321), or to Magland (p. 318). Guide from St-Gervais 20 fr.

The Pointe de Sales (8185 ft.) is easily ascended from the (4 hrs.

;

with guide) Chalets de Sales (p. 321), on the S.W. side, in 2 hrs.; the

ascent on the E. side is difficult.

The ascent of the *Buet (10.200 ft. ; 6-7 hrs.
;
guide not indispensable)

is specially interesting. Some 300 yds. beyond the Croix d'' Esprit (p. 333)

a bridle-path mounts in zigzags to the (2 hrs.) Chalet-Hotel du Buet (about

6560 ft. ; R. 3, D. 3V> fr.). "A path ascends thence by the Aretes du Ore-
nairon (8110 ft.) and' the N. arete to the (3 hrs.) summit (p. 327). Descent
to Pierre-a-Berard, 2 hrs., see p. 327.
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II. From Sixt to Chamonix via the Cols d'Anterne and
du Brevent.

201/2 M. (11 hrs.' walk). Bridle Path, affording one of the grandest

views of Mont Blanc. To lessen the fatigue, a night may be spent at the

Chalet-Hotel du Col-d'Anterne. Guide (18 fr.) needless in fine weather.

^ye cross the Giffre and ascend the Vallee des Fonds, to the S.,

iu view of the Pointe de Sales (p. 332). On the right are the pretty

Cascades du Gers and du Dechargeur. — 1/2 ^^^- Sahagny.—
3/4 hr. Croix d'Esprit, beyond which the Buet path diverges (see

p. 332). On the right is the Cascade du Rouget (p. 321). The Cha-

monix path, to the left, leads to (V4 hr.) the Chalets des Foiids

(4530 ft.; tavern), at the foot of the Buet. After 8 niin., beyond a

bridge, we mount to the right, in windings, to the (2 hrs.) Signal or

Bas du Col-d'Anterne (6811 ft.; 71/4 M. from Sixt). Then comes

an undulating plateau, where we pass the Lac d'Anterne (6695 ft.),

beyond which rises the Tete-d-VAne (9200 ft.). In 17.2 hr. we reach

the ^Col d'Anterne (7410 ft. ; about 51/2 hi'S- or 10 M. from Sixt),

where a superb view of Mont Blanc is suddenly revealed.

We descend to the left (path to the right to Servoz, p. 321) to

the (20 min.) Chalet-Hotel du Col-d'Anterne (6555 ft.; R. or L.

372 fi'.), near the Chalets de Motde, and into the valley of the

Diosaz, which should be crossed by the old bridge (1 hr. ; 5535 ft.).

AVe ascend, past the Chalets d'Arleve, to the (2^j^ hrs.) "^Col du
Brevent (7770 ft.), with a splendid view of Mont Blanc. Descent

via Planpraz (p. 347) to Chamonix, 2 lirs. more.

45. From Paris to Evian-les-Bains and
Martigny.

Vomp. the Map, p. 323.

I. From Paris to Evian-les-Bains.

404 M. Eailway in 8 hrs. nO (by the Savoy express, p. xiii) to 11 hrs.

50 min. (75 fr. 5, 50 fr. 70, 3.S fr. 5 0.; return-fares in summer, for 40 days,

112 fr. .50 0., 81 fr., 52 fr. 85 0.).

Travellers not overburdened with luggage will prefer the cheaper

route via (327 M.) Lausanne (p. 324), thence to Ouchy by funicular or cab,

and to Evian (5 M.) by steamer.

To (3797.^ M.) Annemasse, see pp. 312-316. — 3837-, M^ St-

Cergues.— 388^1o M. Bom-St-Didier.
The ascent of the *Voirons (4875 ft. ; Hot. de I'Ermitage, 200 ft. below

the top, amidst pine-woods, P. from 7 fr.'; *H6t. des Chalets, with mineral

spring, P. from 71/2 fr.) is made in 2-3 hrs., either on foot, by omii. (8 fr.

return), or l)y carr. (15-25 fr.). Charming walks. The view includes Mont
Blanc, the Lake of (Geneva, and the Jura. — On the W. slope, 1 hr. from
8t-Cergues (see above), is the *H'')tel de Montanhan (2955 ft. ; R. 2-4, L. 2'/.;,

D. 3 fr.), with a beautiful view.

394 M. Allinges-Mesinges (p. 334), near the Lake of Geneva.

3987.2 M. Thonon-les-Bains.^HoTELs.*G'r.-/?of.<///Pr/rc(Pl.a;
A, 3), in a' supi-rb site, open 15th ,Jun.' to 15th Sept., R. from (5, \i. 2, L. 4,
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D. 5 (wiue extra), P. 15-25, omn. I^/q fr. ; *Gr.-U6t. des Bains (PI. b ; A, 2),

Place de la Prefecture, open 15th June to 30th Sept., E. from 4, B. I1/2,

L. 31/2) D. 4 (wiue extra), P. from 9, omu. I-I1/2 fr.; *H6t. de France (PI. c;
B, 3), near the station, P. 8-10 fr. ; Hot. de VEurope (PI. d; B, 2), Place

du Chateau, E. 21/2-IO, B. 1, L. or D. 21/2 (wine extra), P. 8-10, omn.
1/2 fr.; Hot. Terminus & de Thonon (PI. e; B, 3), Place de la Gare, E.
21/2-6, B. 11/4, L. or D. 3, P. 71/2-I2 fr. ; Hot. de Paris (PI. g; B, 3), Place
des Arts, L. or D. 3 fr.; Hot. Belle-Eire (PL f ; B, 1), at Eives (see below).

Carriage in the town 21/2-3, to Eipaille 4. Amphion 5, Evian 8-10,

Les Allinges 8 fr. — Omxibuses to Bellevaux, Morzine, Evian, etc. — Motor
Omnibus to Evian and Le Favet, see p. 339.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 3j, 32 Grande-Eue.
Etablissemekt Thermal. Bath I-2V21 douche I1/2, buvette 10 fr. for

25 days.— Casino. Adm. 50 c.; concerts 1-2, theatre 2-3 fr.

Stndicat d'Initiative, 2 Place de THotel-de-Ville.

Tlionon-les-Bains (1400 ft.; pop. 7232), once the capital of

the Chablais aiid residence of the Counts and Dukes of Savoy, com-

prises the town, on a hill overlooking the Lake of Geneva, and the

picturesque fishing-village of Rives (PL B, 1, 2), on the bank below.

(Funicular 10-15 c, in connection with the steamers.) A little W.
of the railway station are the Etahlissement Thermal (PL A, 3),

the park, and the Casino. The waters (cold, containing bicarbonate

of soda, etc.) are beneficial in cases of kidney-disease. The church

of St-Hi/ppolyte (PL B, 2), of the 15th-18th cent., has a Roman-
esque crypt of the 11th. The Hotel de Ville (PL B, 2) contains the

small Olusee Chablaisieu' (apply to the concierge).

Excursions. — Steamer to Geneva, see p. 323.— About IV2 M. to the
N.E. is the Chateau de RipaiUe, the retreat of Victor Amadeus VIII.
of Savov (d. 1451), cardinal and antipope, now private property.— Xear
Les Alllnyes (1770 ft.), 3 M. to the S.AV. and s/^M. from the station (p. 333),

are the ruins of two 10th cent, castles (2335 ft.; ascent ^/^ hr. ; fine view).
The chapel, a resort of pilgrims, still contains 10th cent, frescoes in the apse.

From Thonos to St-Jeoike, 231;.> M. (omn. twice daily to Bellevaux
in 4 hrs., 2 fr. ; thence to St-Jeoire once daily in 21/2 hrs., 2 fr.). We
first ascend the Vallee de la Drance (see below).— 31/2 M. Armoy (2110 ft.).

Then a deep and picturesque gorge. — 7 M. C'hornere (2575 ft.), a hamlet
oiReyvroz, in the lateral valley of the 5;-ei-on.—8i/2 M. Fo?77?/ (2625 ft.).

— 13 M. Bellevaux (3000 ft. ; aub.), whence there is a path to Seytroux (see

below) over the Col de la Balme (4740 ft.), to the S. of the Xiffion, which
culminates in the Pointe d' Ireuse (6205 ft.). The road mounts to the (15 M.)
Col de Jamhaz (4265 ft.), and then descends to (18 M.) Megevette, in the
valley of the Eisse. Thence to St-Jeoire, see p. 331.

From Thoxos to Taninges via the Col des Gets, 301/2M.. a section of

the Eoute des Alpes (p. 339). Motor-omn. in 2 hrs. 10 min. (8^/2 fr.); omn. to

Morzine, see p. 335, and thence to Taninges next morning in 3 hrs. (2 fr.).

— The road ascends the prettA* Vallee de la Di'ance to (2 M.) the Pont
des Fra7igais, passes grottoes on the left, and leads through fine gorges.
— 7 M. Pont de Bioge (1770 ft.), near the confluence of the Drance and the

Brevon. "We follow the left bank of the Drance de Morzine, into which
the. Drance d'Abonda7ice falls from the left. — 91/2 M. Path to the left to

the (5 min.) entrance to the grand gorge of the Po7-it du Diable (1 fr.).—

91/2 M. Le Jotty (2265 ft. ; two inns), from which we may ascend the Billard
(6235 ft.; 31/2 iirs.; fine view; descent to Yailly, see above, 2 hrs.). — Xear
La Baume we cross the Drance by the (11 M.) Pont de Gfys (Hot. des Yoj'-

ageurs). Next, on the left, we pass Le Biot; on the right opens the valley
of Seytroux (route to the Col de la Balme, see above). We pass through
the gorge oi Les Tines (tunnel) to the ruined Abbey of Aulpti, founded in
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1094.— 151/2 M. St-Jean-d'Aulp]l (2595 ft. ; Hot. du Lion-d'Or, du Bras-
de-Fer, National). Among the interesting ascents whicli mav be made
hence the chief (rather difficult) is that of the Roc d'Evfe?' {18bO ft.;

41/2 hrs.). — 181/2 M. Pont des Plagnettes (2885 ft. ; aub.), short of wliich

two roads diverge to the left to tlie lake and village of Montriond (see

lielow).— The road returns to the left bank and ascends in windings
(leaving on the left the road to Morzine, see below). — 231/2 M. Les Gets
(Hot. du Commerce, National) is a small village near the Col des Gets
(8845 ft.). We descend through the picturesque gorge of the Arxiettaz to

the valley of the Foron and (301/2 M.) Taninges (p. 331).

From Thonos to Samoens. Omn. twice daily from Thonon to Morzine
in 51/2 hrs. (3 fr. 30 c). To the (I81/2M.) Pont des Plagnettes, see p. 334 and
above. To the S. of the bridge we turn to the left and ascend on the left

bank of the Drance de Morzine. [Another road, leaving the Taninges road
to the N. of the bridge, leads to Morzine on the right bank, past the village

of (191/2 M.) Montriond (3190 ft. ; Hot. du Chalet).] — 21 M. Morzine (3105 ft.

;

Hot. de la Poste; Hot. des Alpes, L. or D. 21/2, P. 5 fr. ; Hot. du Chablais),

finely situated, is a centre for excursions. (Omn. to Taninges, see p. 331.)

To the S.E. rises the Pointe de Ressachau (7135 ft. ; easy ascent of 31/2 hrs.),

to the E. of which are the Eautforts (8090 ft. ; 5 hrs.). To the S. are

the Pointe de Mons (6640 ft.) and the Pointe d'Angolon (6865 ft.), easy
and interesting ascents (3 and 4 hrs.).— Three routes lead from Morzine
to Samoens. First (interesting; guide needless) : through woods and pastures
to the (31/4 hrs.) Col de Jouplane (5635 ft.; 3/^ hr. to the W. of the
Pointe d'Angolon), a fine point of view; then, high above the valley of

the Valentine, down to (2 hrs.) Samoens (p. 331). Second (with guide):
by road up the Drance valley to (I1/2 hr.) La Moiiillette (4920 ft. ; Chalet-
Hotel des Mines-d'Or; Col de Coux, to the E., see p. 338); then path to

the Chalets de C'hardonniere at the head of the valley, and to the S.W.
to the Col de la Gol6se (.5480 ft.; 4 hrs. from Morzine; fine view);
descent via the Chalets des Chavannes to the hamlet of Les Allamands,
and by road thence througli tlie Giffre valley to (2 hrs.) Samoens. Third
(61/4 hrs.): over the (3^4 hrs.) Col d'Angolon (about 5740 ft. ; view), between
the first and second routes, and down to the (1/4 hr.) Chalets d'Angolon
and (50 min.) Les Allarnands (see above).

From Thonon (or Morzine) to Champery via the Pas de Chesery,
interesting. From the Pont des Plagnettes or from Montriond (see above)
we ascend in 1 hr. to the Lac de Montriond (3440 ft. ; Hot. du Lac,
P. 10-15 fr.), a fine sheet of water, witli precipitous banks. At the upper
end is the prettv Cascade d'Ardent, 98 ft. high. We ascend via (1 hr.) the

Chalets de Lyndaret to the (li/.^ hr.) Pas de Chesery (6580 ft.), between
the Pointe de Chesery (7380 ft.) and the Pointe de Mossettaz (7495 ft.),

both of which may be ascended from the pass (1 hr.). We descend to the

left (N.E.) to (13/4 hr.) Morgins (p. 336), through the wooded valley of the

Vieze de la Tine, or else to the right (S.E.) to Crosey and (21/2 hrs.) Cham-
pery (p. 338), via the Lac Vert and the Porte dii Lac-Vert. --Yvom Morzine
to Champery over the Col de Coux, see p. 338.

From Thonon to Abondance and Morgins, 171/2 and 27 M., omn.
to Abondance in 4 hrs. (21/2 fr.).— A little short of the (7 M.) Pont de
Bioge (p. 334) we ascend to the left through the valley of the Drance
d'Abondance and leave to the left Chevenoz and (11 M.) Vacheresse (2750 ft.).

We cross the stream several times. — 171/2 M. Abondance (3050 ft.; Hot.

des Alpes, P. 51/2-8 fr.), a prettily situated village, with an abbey founded
by St. Columban'in 595 and an interesting church and cloisters (13th cent.),

is a good centre for excursions. To the N.E. rise the *Coi-nettes de Bise
(8000 ft.), ascended in 51/2 hrs. via La Chapelle (p. 336) and (to the right)

the Chalet de la Callaz (6645 ft. ; superb view), I1/2 hr. from the top ; the
descent may be made to Vouvry (ascent thence, see p. 338). To the S.E.
is the Pointe de Grange (8000 ft. ; 6 hrs.), up the Vallee de Charmy, an
easier ascent. Fine view, but limited towards the lake. We may go up
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the same valley and across the Col de Bassachaux (about 5900 ft.) to

(6 hrs.) the Lac de Montriond (p. 335). — The valley expands. — 21 M. La
C'hapelle-d' Abo)tda)ice (3310 ft. ; Hot. du Mont-des-Cornettes). Then in

windings, through woods, to (24 M.) C'hdtel (3905 ft.; Hot. Bellevue) and
(241/2 M.) Vonne, on the Swiss frontier at the Pas de Morgins{i510 ft.). Then
down to (27 M.) Jforgins (4510 ft. : Cxr. -Hot. Victoria, des Bains, etc.), a small
watering-place 8 M. from Monthey (p. 338). See Baedeker^ s Sioitzerhind.

Larringes (p. 337) is 6 M. from Thonon, and Bernex (p. 337; omn. in

31/2 hrs., 2 fr.) is 6 M. beyond Larringes.

Beyond Thonon the railway crosses the Drance.
4021/.^ M. Amjihion-les-Bains (Hot. des Princes, Belle-Rive),

prettily situated near the lake, has three cold mineral springs.

Some of the steamers call here. Omn. to Evian (50 c).

404 M. Evian-les-Bains (buffet at the Hot. Terminus, see

below). The station, where the hotel-omnibuses are in waiting,

is 1/2 M;. from the town. Omn. 50, trunk 30 c— 404^/2 M. Bains-
cVEvian, a station close to the town.— Comp. the Plan, p. 334.

Hotels (mostly open in summer only). *Royal-Hotel (VI. a; B, C, 2, 3),

first-class, in a splendid site overlooking the town, E. 15-30, B. 2^/.-,, L. 7,

D. 10 (wine extra), board 17, omn. 3 fr. ; *Splendide-Hotel (PI. b ; B 2),

also in a fine site above the town, near the Buvette Cachat. E. 6-18, B. 2,

L. 5, D. 7 (wine extra), P. 12-30. omn. 11/2^1.; *Grand-H6tel d'Evian
(PL c; C, 1), near the lake, with garden, E. 8-25, B. li/->, L. 5, D. 7 (wine
extra), P. 12-28, omn. 1 fr. ; *Hdt. de VErmitage (PI. d; C, 3), dietetic,

in a lofty site above the Eoval (1635 ft.). E. 8-30. B. 2, L. 6, D. 7, P.
from -lOir. — Hot. Fonhonne (?\. e; B, 1), Place du Port. E. 4-10, B. IV4,
L. 31/2- D- 41/0 (wine extra). P. 10-18, omn. 1 fr. ; *H6t. Beau-Site & du
Lac (PL f ; B,'l), E. .5-10, B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. 14-20, omu.
1 fr. ; Hot. du Casino, ou the quav, with cafe-rest. : *Hdt. de Paris &
Beaurivage (PL h; B. 1), on the quay, E. 4-12, B. IV2, L. 31/2, !>• <tV2 (wine
extra), P. 10-20, omn. 2 fr. ; Hot. Jloderne (PL i; C, 1), Av. des Grottes,
B. 4-12. B. 11/.. L. 4, D. 41/2 (Avine extra), P. 8-14, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Con-
tinental & de'la Paix (PL k; B, 1), E. 3-6, B. I1/4, L. 21/2, D- 3 (wine
extra), P. 7-13, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. du Nord (PL 1; B 1), open the whole year,
E. 3-10, B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 (wine extra), P. 8-14, omn. li/.> fr. ; Hot. des
Alpes (PL m; B, 1), well spoken of. P. 7-10 fr. ; Hot. du Helder (PL n;
B, 1), open the whole year, E. 3-7, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4, P. 8-12 fr. ; Hot.
Terminus, opposite the main station, open the whole year, P. 6-10 fr.

;

Hot. des Etrangers (PL 0; A, 1), open the whole year, E. from 21/2! B. 1,

L. or D. 21/2 fr. ; Hot. du Le'vian, 2 Eue Rationale, P. from 8 fr.— Villas
and LoDGiNCis, apply to the Agence Eviannaise, 41 Eue Rationale.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL B, 1), Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville.

Buvette Cachat, 15 fr. for the season.— Etablissement Thermal
(1st May to 15th Oct.). Bath Vl-^-i, douche IV2-4V2, piscine 2-31/2 fr. The
bath-house may be visited 12-2 p.m.- Casino & Theatre (June-Sept.).

Adm. to the Casino and Source Cachat 1 fr., after 7 p.m. 2 fr.; subscription
for the Casino 30, incl. Source Cachat 35 fr. ; theatre 3-4 fr.

Cabs. Per hour, 1-3 pers., 3 fr. (at uight 4 fr.); per drive 1V2-^ fr- (at

night 21/2-3 fr.); trunks 50 c. each. There are also Motor Cabs. — Carriage
to Amphion and back 5, with two horses 8 fr. ; Eipaille 8 or 14; Thonon
and back by Eipaille 12 or 20; Les Allinges and Larringes 15 or 25; Bernex
18 or 28; Le Bouveret 20 or 26; Abondance 25 or 40 fr.— Motor Car
to Thonon 30; Geneva, Montreux, or Abondance 100; Vevey 130; Lausanne
or Morgins 160; trip round the lake, 200; to Annecy or Samoeus 200; Sixt
230; Chamonix or Aix-les-Baius in 1 day 250, in 2 days 300 fr. Apply to the
Societe des Garages, Av. du Port, which sometimes organizes excursions
in 'cars alpins'. Excursions are. also organized daily in the season by the
Syndicat d'Initiative.
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Funicular every 1/4 hr- to the Buvette Cachat 10 c. (return 15 c), to the

Splendide-Hotel 20 and 30 c, to the Eoyal-Hotel 30 and 45 c, and to the

Hot. de I'Ermitage 40 and 60 c.

Steamers i:o'~Geneva and to Le Bonveret, along the S. bank, see p. 323
;

also to Oiichy (p. 323), and thence to stations on the X. bank.
Syndicat d'Ikitiative, at the Hotel de Ville (PI. B, 1).

Parc des Sports (tennis, golf, etc.), 3/4 M. to the S.W. of the town,

and 1/4 M. from the station. Lawn-tennis at the Jardin Anglais also (see

h(i\o^).-~ Pigeon Shooting at Xeuvecelle (beyond PI. B, 3).

Anglican Church Services in summer at the Splendide-Hotel.

Email (1225-1545 ft.; pop. 3271) is prettily situated on the

S. bank of the Lake of Geneva. Its mineral springs render it an

important watering-place, patronized chiefly by the French. Season

from May 15th to Oct. 15th.

A little above the station is the new Source des Dues de Savoie.

No. 19 in the Rue Nationale, which intersects Evian from E. to W.
half-way up its hill, is ih.Q Buvette Cachat (PL B, 1), a handsome

hall where the waters are drunk.

On the bank of the lake runs the pleasant Quai Baron-de-

Blonaij, with the Etablissement des Bains (PL B, 1), well fitted

up (1902). The waters (53\/2°) are slightly alkaline and contain

bicarbonate of soda and magnesia; they are used in the treatment

of gout, dyspepsia, and liver and kidney affections. There are

four springs, the chief being the Source Cachat, famed both for its

therapeutic properties and as a table-water. Adjoining is the new

station of the Funicidaire, which has recently been extended up

the hill to a point near the Hotel de I'Ermitage.

Near the bath-house is the new Casino-Theatre (PL B, 1). At

the E. end of the quay are the harbour and the Jardin Anglais

(PL C, 1). Still farther E. is Le Chdtelet, a bath-house with a

spring of its own (1907).
Excursions. To Onchy (p. 323), and other delightful steamer trips

on the Lake of Geneva, see Baedeker's Snitzerland . —^Fine points of view

are the Rond-Point (14(30 ft.), »U M- to the E., on the Abondance road

(beyond Pi. 0, 2), and Maraiche (1525 ft.), 1/4 M. farther. — The Chateau
de Larringes (2655 ft. ; 10th cent.), 3 M. to the S. l)y tramway from the

Av. des Vallees (PI. A, 1,2), or 7 M. by road, has been converted into a

hotel (P. from 5 fr.); tine view from the tower (adm. 60 c). — To the S.E.

of Evian, 8V2 M., is Bei-nex (3100 ft.; hot. -pens.); thence a fatiguing but

very interesting ascent of the Dent d'Oche (p. 338), in 41/2-5 hrs. — To
Thmion, 6M., motor-omn. in 1/2 hr- (2V2 fr-) a"<l o'""- twice daily in 1 hr.

(60 c.); to the Chateau de RipaiUe, 51/2 M. ; to Abondance, 17 M., motor-

omn. twice daily in 21/2 hrs. (3 or 4fr.); to thaVallee de la Dvancg and

routes leading into the Giffre vallev (Samoens, Sixt), see pp. 334-336 and

Maps pp. 323, 317; to Le Fayet, AibertviUe, Chambery, Brianqon, Nice,

etc. (Route des Alpes), see E. 46.

n. From Evian-les-Bains to Martigny (Chamonix).

m M. Raii.wav in 2-3'/4 brs. (6 fr. 55, 4 fr. 55, 3 fr. 15 c.). To
Chamonix, 61 M., in 6'/4-63/4 hrs. (21 fr. 90 c, 18 fr., 12 fr. 90 c.). — From
Evian to Chamonix via Annemasse, 87V2 M., in i^U-b^l-^ hrs. (15 fr. 90,

It fr. 70, 6 fr. 1)5 c).
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1/2 M. Bains-d'Evian (p. 336). We pass, on the left, the old

Chdteau deBlonay.— 8 M. Meillerie fHot. Duniont, de la Couronne,

both plain), in a charming site, with limestone quarries. The
steamboats call here and at the two following stations.

101/2 M. St-Gingolph (Hot. -Pens. Suisse, R. 3-4, B. V/^,

L. 3, P. 6V2-8fr., Hot. du Lac, R. 2-5, P. 6-71/2 f^., both good;

Hot. des Tilleuls, de France; Pens. Les Serves, with large grounds
and a mineral spring, P. from 12 fr.) lies half in France and half

in Switzerland, the boundary being the Morge. Near it is the

Grotte de Viviers, visited by boat.

Pleasant walk up the Morge in l^U hr. to Novel (3100 ft. ; Hot. de
la Dent-d'Oche, du Grraramont, both plain but good), a small French
village, from which, with a guide, we may ascend the Pic de Blan-
ch.ard. (4640 ft. ; superb view) in 2 hrs. ; descent by the right bank of the
Morge.— The Dent d'Oche (7985 ft.), farther on in the same direction,

takes 51/2 brs. from Novel (guide 15 fr.), via (1/2 hr.) Les Granges and
(21/2 hrs.) the Chalets d'Oche (rustic quarters), on the S. side. The top
(2 hrs.) is reached thence by a steep path. Eefuge projected. Grand
panorama. We may descend via Bernex (p. 337). — The '*Graniinont
(7145 ft.) is easily ascended from St-Gingolph in 4 hrs., via the Chalets
de Fritaz and de la Chaumeny. Superb view. The ascent from Novel
(4 lirs.

;
guide 13 fr.) is stifPer. Ascent from Vouvry, see below. — A

bridle-path leads from Novel to (71/2 hrs.) Youvry (see below), rounding
the Grammont to the W. and S., and passing Les Granges (see above)
and the lakelets of Lovenex and Tanay (see below).

141/2 M. Le Bouveret (Buffet; Hot. de I'Aiglon, P. 8-15 fr.;

Hot. de la Tour, P. 7 fr.; Hot. Terminus; Hot. de la Foret, Vs M. to

the W., well situated, open May-Oct., P. 8-12 fr.) lies at the head

of the Lake of Geneva, about 1/2 ^^- from the influx of the Rhone.
The line (now Swiss; time, see p. 322) ascends the Rhone valley,

described in Baedeker's Sivitzerland .
— 181/2 M. Vouvrtj (Hot.-

Pens. de Youvry).
The Gravimont (see above) is ascended in 6-51/2 brs. via Mieo: (aub.)

and Tanay (4660 ft. ; Hot. du Lac-Tanay. P. 4-7 fr.), at the W. end of Lake
Tanay, and I1/2-2 hrs. from the top. — The ascent of the *Cornettes de
Bise (8000 ft.), on the frontier, takes 6-6V2 hrs. via Miex (see above),
the Col de Vemaz (5970 ft.; 41/2 hrs.), and (1/2 hr.) the Chalet de la Callus
(p. 335).

25 M. Monthey (Hot. du Cerf, des Postes).
To the S.W. of" Monthey lies the beautiful *Val d'llUez, watered

by the Vieze. near the head of which lies Champ^ry (3450 ft. ; Hot. de
la Dent-du-Midi, Croix-Federale, de Champery, du Pare, des Alpes, Berra),

8 M. from Monthey (electric tramway in I1/4 hr.. 5 fr. 40 or 3 fr. 35 c).

Excursions : Galerie Defago (1/2 hr. ; view) : Chalets d'Ayei'ue (4715 ft.

;

l'/4 hr.); *Croix de Culet (6450 ft. ; 21/2-3 hrs'.); *Dent du 3Iidi (10,695 ft.

;

7-8 hrs.; stiff); Tour SalUeres (10,585 ft.; 10-11 hrs.; difficult); Dents
Blanches (9100 ft.; 71/2 hrs.); etc. See Baedeker's Siritzerland.

From Champery to Morzine or to Samoexs, 5 or 71/0 hrs. The
bridle-path ascends the valley to (3 hrs.) the Col de Coux (6310 ft. ; aub.),

and descends into the valley of the Drance. The path to Morzine (p. 335)
leads to the right; that to Samoens (41/2 hrs. from the col; p. 331) ascends
to the left over (li/o hr.) the Col de la Gol'ese (p. 335).

. From Champery to Sixt over the Col de Sageroux, 10 hrs., stiff,

for adepts only (guide 20 fr.). We descend the Galerie Defago path, pass
the saw-mill on the right, cross (20 min.) a stone bridge, and (5 min.)
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another of wood (avoiding the path to the left). Passing the electric

works, we diverge (8 min.) to the left and ascend to the (IV4 hr.) Chalets

de Boiiaveau (5105 ft. ; P. 5 fr.). We ascend thence graduallj-, skirting

steep rocks, to the (^,'4 hr.) Pas cVEncel (6105 ft.), beyond which we must
climb with caution. A little farther on, the path to the Col de Susanfe

(p. 326) diverges to the left. We ascend slowly over the pastures of the

Alpe de Susanfe, on the left bank of the brook, cross the brook (1/2 hr.),

and then mount the rocks to the (1 hr.) Col de Sageroux (7915 ft.), a

sharp arete on the frontier, between 2iont Sageroiio: (8816 ft. ; right) and
Mont Ruan (p. 332 ; left). We descend in 3/4 hr. to the Refuge de la Vogeallaz
(6115 ft.), the (1/2 hr.) Chalets de Boray, and (1/2 br.) the Fond-de-la-Combe
(p. 332), skirting a precipice. Lastly to Sixt, 2 hrs. more, see p, 332.

The railway crosses the Vieze at Monthey, nears the Rhone,

and joins the Simplon line (p. 325). — 28Y2 ^^- St-Maurice, and

thence to Martigny and Chamonix, see pp. 325 et seq.

46. Prom the Lake of Geneva to Nice via
Briangon. Route des Alpes.

Covip. the Maps, pp. 323, 317.

MoTOK Omnibus of the P.L.M. Co. from 1st July to 15th Sept. in

4 sections; tickets combining railway and motor may be obtained at the
company's offices (e.g. 179 Piccadilly, London) and from the Syndicats
d'Initiafive. The railway connections are usually good. Circular tickets

(valid for 45 days) from Evian by the Route des Alpes to Nice, and back
via Marseilles and Lyons or Grenoble, 1st cl. 200, 2nd cl. 180 fr. ; from
Paris via Evian and the Route des Alpes to Nice, and back via Lyons (or

vice versa), 1st cl. 280, 2nd cl. 240 fr. — Only 10 kg. (22 lb.) of hand-luggage
is allowed; other luggage should be sent on by railway as 'bagages non
accompagnes' (cheap tariff). Warm clothing should bo worn.

The Route des Alpes^ opened in 1911, is a magnificent high-

way running from the banks of the Lake of Geneva through the

Savoy Mts., the French Alps, and the Alpes Mari times to the coast

of the Mediterranean. Several important sections (Col d'Iseran, Col

fie la Cayolle, pp. 340, 341 j are still under construction; the con-

nection is meanwhile supplied by the Mont-Cenis railway (p. 340).

Section I. From Evian to Le Fayet (Chamonix).

bl^l2 M. Motor-omn. in 4 hrs. 20 min. (20 fr.).

Evian-les-Bains, see p. 336. We skirt the bank of the Lake of

Geneva as far as (6'/2^I-) Thonon (p. 333), where we diverge S.E.

into the picturesque valley of the Drance (details, see p. 334).

—

22 M. St-Jean-d'Aulph (p. 335). —30 M. Col des Gets (3845 ft.).

— 37 M. Taidi/ges (p. 331), a station on the steam-tramway from

Samoens to Anncmas.se (Geneva).— We then cross the (39^^^!.)
Col de Chdtillon (2830 ft.; p. 317) to Clnses (p. 317), on the Ge-
neva to Le Fayet line. -We next ascend the Arve valley (details,

see p. 318; view of ]\[ont Blanc), via (4672 ^^•) Magland and

(5372 M.) Sallauches to (5772 M.) Le Fayet (p. 318). Electric

railway thence to Chamonix, see p. 321.
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Section II. Feom Le Fayet to BRiAxgox.

Two alternative routes. A (via Aix-les-Bains and Grenoble; 3 days):
to Thones. 35 M., motor-omn. in 33/4 or 51/0 hrs. (16 fr.); thence to Annecy,
131/2 -^1-5 steam-tramway in 70-80 min. (2 fr. or 1 fr. iS c); thence to Aix-
les-Bains, 25 M., railway in 50-65 min. (4 fr. 50 c, 3fr., Ifr. 95 c.); thence
to Grenoble, 49 M.. motor-omn. in 8 hrs. (25 fr.); thence to Brianqon,
l'S^I.2 M.. motor-omn. in 10 hrs. (26 fr. 80 c).

B (via St-Jean-de-Maurienne; 2 days): to AlbeHvUle, 29 M., motor-
omn. in 2 hrs. 55 min. (14 fr.); thence to St-Jean-de-Maurienne, 431/2 M.,
railway in 31/4-6 hrs. (7 fr. 40 c. 5 fr., 3fr. 50 c.): thence to Briancon,
51 M., motor-omn. in 91/.^ hrs. (311/4 fr.).

A. From Le Fayet we descend the valley of the Arly (details,

see p. 378), past (3 M.) St-Gervals-lts-Bains (p. 319) and the

(9^2 ^I-) pretty summer resort of Megeve, to (15^/2 M.) Flumet
(p. 378), where we diverge X.W. (details, see p. 380), crossing the

(23 M.) Col des Arav'is (4915 ft.; p. 380), with a wonderful view
of Mont Blanc, to (27 M.) La Clusaz and (35 M.) Thones (p. 379).— Hence we take the steam-tramway (details, see pp. 379, 378) to

(13Y2 M-) Annecy (p. 371). on its beautiful lake.— Then by rail-

way to (25 M.) Aix-les-Bains (comp. pp. 371, 370).— We next

take the motor-omn. again, and, after passing through (10 M.)

Chambery (p. 359), cross the Massif de la Gh'ande-Chartreuse

by the Route des Trois-Cols (Cols du Frene, du Cucherou, and de

Porte). Details, see pp. 361, 422, 423. We pass (251/2 M.) St-Pierre-

d'Entremont (p. 407) and (331/2 '^'^) St-Piei^re-de-Chartreuse

(p. 422), Avhence the Grande-Chartreuse (p. 421) may easily be

visited. We then descend, via (40^/2 M.) Le Sappey (p. 423), to

(49 M.) Grenoble (p. 408).— The Briancon motor-omn. (details,

see pp. 417, 435-439) follows the tramway, past (8 M.) the pretty

summer resort of Uriage (p. 417) and up the valley of the Bo-
manche to (3OY2 ^I-) Le Bourg-d'Oisans (p. 437). We continue

to ascend the valley, with fine views of the Pelvoux group, to

(47 M.) La Gh^ave (p. 438). We soon diverge from the valley and

ascend to (54 M.) the Col du Lautaret (6800 ft.; p. 4381, whence

we descend the Guisane valley, past (63 M.) Le Monetier-les-Bains

(p. 439), to (731/2 ^I-> Brianpon (p. 445).

B. From Le Fayet to (I51/2M.) Flumet, see above. The motor-

omn. continues along the Arly valley to (231/2 M.) Ugines (p. 377)

and (29 M.) Alberiville (p. 380).— Hence we take the train for

(431/2 M.) St-Jean-de-Maurienne, via (15 M.) St-Piei^re-d'Albigny

(comp. pp. 380, 361. 362).— The Briancon motor-omn. ascends (de-

tails, see pp. 363, 467, 466) via (71/..M.) St-Michel-de-Maurienne
and (I81/2 M.) Valloire to (28 M.) the Col du Galibier (8725 ft.),

whence we descend to (35 M.) the Col du Lautaret and (42 M.)

La Grave, where we join Route A.
The Route des Alpes, when completed, will run from Albertville via

Moiitiers (171/.2 M.
; p. 382), Bourg-St-Maiirice (35 M. ; p. 385). the Col

d'Iseran (591/2 M. ; p. 391), Benmnff (76i/., M.
; p. 403). and Modane (991/2 M.

;

p. 363) to St-Michel-de-Maurienne (1091/2 M.; p. 363).
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Section III. From Brianqox to Barcelonnette.

74 M. Motor-omn. in 11 hrs, (40 fr. 20 c.) ; to Aiguilles in 3 hrs. 35 min.

(18 fr.); thence to Barcelonnette in 5 hrs. 25 min. (29 fr. 80 c).

Details as far as Arvieux, see p. 446. — 6 M. Cervieres.—
1272 ^i- Col (Thoard (7835 ft.; splendid panorama).—We next

cross the stony Casse Desei^te to (I872 ^^•) Arvieux, beyond which

a road diverges to the left (E.) through the picturesque Guil valley

for Chateau-Queyras, Abries, and the Monte Yiso (see p. 446 and

R. 62). We follow this road as far as (28 M.) Aiguilles (p. 471),

where a stop of 2 hrs. is made; returning along the same road and

leaving the Briaugon road on the right (details, see p. 470), we proceed

past (36 M.) La Cluipelue and (41 ^l.) La Maison-du-Roi to (44 M.)

Guillestre (p. 469). About 2 M. to the N.W., at Mont-Dauphin, is

a station on the line from Briangou to Gap and Grenoble (p. 445).

We ascend the Chagne valley (details, see p. 469) over the

(551/2 M.) Col de Vars (6940 ft.) to St-Paul-sur- Uhaye (p. 443). We
then descend the valley of the Ubaye (details, see p. 443) to (66 M.)

Condamine-Chdtelard and (74 M.) Barcelonnette (p. 442).

Section IV. From Barcelonnette to Nice.

104 M. Motor-omn. in 11 hrs. (52 fr. 60 c). — To Beauvezer,!! fr. 35 c.

;

thence to Annot 9 fr. 75, to Puget-Theniers, 16 fr. 5, to Nice 35 fr. 25 c.

The Eoute des Alpes, when completed, will run from Barcelonnette
via the (17 M.) Col de la Cayolle (7715 ft.

; p. 580), UuUlaumes (85 M. ; p. 579),

and the *Gorges de Dallas to (47 M.) Pont-de-ti ueijdan and (51 M.) Pntre-
vaux (p. 579).

We ascend the Bachelard valley (details, see p. 443) to the

(121/2 M.) Col d'Alios (7380 ft.; panorama); then down the pretty

valley of the Verdon to (17 M.) La Foux and (22 M.) Alios (p. 443).

— We proceed down the valley (details, see p. 580) to (271/2 ^^)

Colmars and (301/2 ^0 Beauvezen^, a pretty summer resort. —
Beyond (34 M.) Thorame-Haute we leave the St-Andre road and
diverge to the left (details, see p. 580) via (40 M.) La Colle-St-

Michel to (451/2 M.) Meailles and (47 M.) Le Fugeret, stations on

the narrow-gauge line from Digne to Nice.— 51 M. Annot (p. 580).

Thence via (57 M.) Entrevaux, (64 M.) Puget-Theniers, (691/2 M.)

Touet-de-Beuil, etc., to (104 M.) Nice, see pp. 580-578.

47. Charaonix and Mont Blanc.
Hotels. Rooms should be secured beforehand in July and Aug. and

Itetween 20th Dec. and 10th Feb. ; wine is mostly not included in the
charges for meals. Omn. meet the trains (1 fr., incl. 66 lb. of luggage).
Visitors' tax 20 c. daily. *ar.-II6t. t'achat & du Mont-Blanc (PI. a; A, 3),

R. 4-10, B. IV2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; *ar.-H6t. Royal & de Saussure
(PI. rs; A, B, 3), R. 4-10, B. IV;., L. 3'/a, D. 5, P. from 10 f r. ; *ar.-Hdt.
(Jouttet & du Pare (PI. cp; A, 3), frequented by the English, R. 4-10,
B. 1'/.,, L. 3Vv!, D. 5, P. 10-18 fr.; Hot. d'Angleterre (PI. ag; A, 2), R. 4-8,
H. I'/a, L. 4, D. 5, P. 10-16 fr.; *Savoy Palace Hotel (PI. c; A, 2), R. 4-15,
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B. l'/2, I^- i, D. 5. P. 15-25 fr. ; *Gi:-H6t. des Alpes (PI. b ; A, 3), R. from -1,

B. IVn' L. SV-it i>. 41/2. P- from 10 fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. Metropole & Victoria
(PI. mv; A, 2), R. 3-8,tB.Jli/2- L.'SVa,'^!). 5, P. 8-15 fr.; *Gr.-H6t. Beau-
Rivage & des Anglais (PI. ba; A, B, 3), frequented by the English, R. 4-8,

B, 11/2^ L. 4. D. 5, P. 10-15 fr. ; "^Hot. de la Poste (PI. p ; A, 3), R. 3-6, B. I1/2,

L. 3, D 4.' P. 10-13 fr.; Hot. Beaulieu (PL x; A, 2), R. 3-8, B. I1/2, L. 3,

D. 4, P. 8-12 fr.

;

*n6t.-Petis. de la

2Ier-de-Glace (PI.

e; A, 1), R. 3-5, B.

11/2, L. 31/2^ r). 4, P.

-12 fr.; *H6t. de
France, de V Union
&Termim(s(?\. d;
A. 3). R.3-G. B.li/.,,

L. 3. D. 31/0, P. 8-

12 fr.; Hot. Claret
& de Belgiqi/e (be-

yond PI. A, 3), Rue
Xationale. R. from
2. B. 11/4, L. 3, D.
31/2 (incl. wine), P.

from 7 fr.; *Tour-
ing- Hotel & d/i

Lonvre{Fl.z;A,2).
R. 3-8, B. 11/4, L. 3,

D. 3V>. P. 7-12 fr.;

*H6t'Beau - Site &
C'ontinental(P\.\>c;

A,3^, R.3-6, B.IV2.
L. 3. D. 4, P. 8-12

fr. ; *H6t.-Pens. de
la Croix-Blanche&
Si7nond{Vl.g; A,2),

R. 21/.-5. B. 11/2' L.

3, D. 31/2, P- 8-14

fr. ; *Hdt. de Paris
(Pl.f; A,3), P. 8-12

fr. ; Hot. de VEu-
rope (PI. i; A, 2).

R. 2-6. B. 11/2, L.3,

D. 31/2- P- 7-14 fr.

;

*Hdt. Bellevue (PI.

q; A, 2), R. 21/2-5,

B. IVo- L. 3, D. 31/0,

P. 7-12 fr.; Hot.
Central (PI. h; A,
2), R. 2-4. B. 11/4. 1-

21/2. !>• 3V2> P- 7-10

fr. ; *H6t. Suisse
(PI. 1; A, 3), P. 8-

12 fr. ; *H6t. des
AUobroges, S.E. of

the village, beyond
the railway, R. 2V2-

8. P. 7-12 fr. ; *H6t. Belvedere (PI. v; A. 1). R. 21/2-5, B. I1/.2, L. 31/2, D. 4,

P. 7-12 fr, ; *Hdt. de la Paix (PI. n; A, 2). R. from 2, B. I1/4, L. 21/2? D- 3,

P. 7-9 fr.; Hot. Breton, Rue Nationale, R. 2-6, B. I1/4. L. 21/3-3, D. 31/2-5,

P. 7-10 fr.; Hot.-Rest. du Fin-Bee (PI. fb; A, 3), Rue Xationale, R. 2-3,

B. 1, D. 3 (iucl. wine), P. 6-8 fr. ; Hot.-Pem. Balmat (PL k; A, 2), R. 21/^-4,

B. 1, L. 2. D. 21/0. P. 6-9 fr.; Hot. d-e C'Tiamonix (PL 0; A, 2), R. 2-6,

B. 11/4, L. 3, D. 4. P. 7-13 fr.— Near the station: Carlton Hotel(Pl. r; B, 2),





5^-'^^/^.;

\ 7 P ^

I. I 'f,iS ,/t

:,,5; vg "&

3i ^ eV

M



^^otes. CHAMOMX. 47.Ro?fte. 343

R. from 31/21 B. IV2, L. 31/2, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.; *H6t. de VUnivers & de
Geneve {Fl. ug; B, 2), R. 2-8, B. I1/4, L. 21/3, D. 3, P. 7-10 fr.; *H6t. des
Etrangers (PI. t; B. 2, 3), R. 2V2-4, B. I1/4. L. 3, D. 31/0, P. 8-12 fr. ; Inter-
national Hotel & de la Gave (PI. w; B, 2), well spoken of. L. 2Vo. D. 31/21

P. 7-9 fr.; Hot. -Rest, du Xord(?\. y: B. 2). R. 21/2-1, B. I1/4, L. 2i/.^-3. D. 31/.^.

P. 7-10 fr.; Hot. -Pens, du Chemin-de-Fer (PI. u; B, 2), R. 2i/.,, B. li/.^ fr.

Three new hotels, the JIajestic Palace (PI. ma; A. 3), the Chamonix
Palace (PI. ch; A, B, 2). and the Hot. Beau-Sejonr & Richemond (PI. ri;
A, 3), are to be opened in 1914.

Hotels open in winter: Couttet, Savoy, des Alpes, Beau-Rivage, du
Nord. Beau-Site. Croix-Blanche, de Paris, Suisse, Belvedere, Claret, Carl-
ton, de la Paix, Breton, Balmat, de Chamonix, des Etrangers, and Inter-
national. The others are mostly open May-Oct. only.

Cafes-Restaurants. Cafe de la Terrasse (PL m; A, 2, 3), on the
Arve, well spoken of; Hot. de VUnivers: Anglo-American Bar. at the
Hot. de rUnion; Brasserie de la C'onronne, opposite the Hot. Suisse;
Brass. Bavaria, at the Carlton Hotel; Brass, da Xord, Brass. Schuler.
Av. de la (jure. —Patisserie des Alpes, opposite the post office.

Casino Municipal (PI. A, B. l), in the Bois du Bouehet (p. 344), with
cafe, theatre, and card-room. Adm. to the park 25 c, to park and casino 1 fr.

Baths (PL 1; B, 1). near the Casino Municipal.
Post & Telegraph Office (PL 7; A, 2), Rue Xationale. ~ C'/^^H^/.s^

Money Changer, Inquiry Office, and Guides Office, all in the Rue de
I'Eglise. — Collection of Paintings hv M. Loppe (PL 2, B2; small fee;
closed 12-1.30), near the station. —i?e//e/' of Mont Blanc (PL 8; A, 3),
adm. 1 ix. Alpineurn (cinematograph of Mont Blanc), adm. 1-3 fr. —

-

Historical Alpine Museum, Rue Xationale (PL fi, A3; adm. 50 c.), with
souvenirs of the first ascents of Mont Blanc, etc.

English Church (PL B, 2), with regular services during the season.
Guides. A guide is unnecessary for the Montanvert, Flegere, Bre-

vent, Plan de I'Aiguille, and Pierre Pointue. Glacier des Bossons, see

p. 348; Mer de Glace, see p. 346. — The Chamonix guides form a society
under a Guide-Chef, who assigns them to applicants in rotation; but
members of Alpine clubs and ladies may clioose their own guides. Full
pay must be given for an ordinary tour half completed but cut short at the
traveller's desire; when less than lialf completed two-thirds of the tariff

must be paid. The guides are not bound to carry baggage. — Tlie follow-
ing are recommended for difficult expeditions: Alph. Simond. Jos.. Camille,
and Alf. Ravanel, Jos. Arist. Simond, Ed. Payot, Jos. Demarchi, Fr.
Mugnier, Leon Claret-Tournier, J. A. Devouassoud, Jules Burnet. Cam.
Simond, L. Favret, Fj. Couttet, Jos. and Ern. Simond, Hubert Charlet,
Ern. Ravanel. Jos. Couttet. Jules and Alf. Balmat, Jos. and Paul Cachat.
Several of tliem are also 'guides skieurs'.

Horses and Mules. The charges are the same as for a guide, and
as much more for the attendant. One attendant suffices for two horses.

Excursions. Those who spend one day only at Chamonix should
take the railway to the Montanvert (p. 344), cross the Mer de Glace
(p. 346) to the Chapeaii (p. 347) and Les Tines, and thence (or from Cha-
monix) ascend the Flegere (p. 348). Or, from the Montanvert, go on to the
Plan de VAiguille (p. 349), and return direct to Chamonix. The ascent
of the Brevent (p. 347) takes nearly a whole day. (rood walkers may
descend to Planpraz and then ascend the Flegere (afternoon light best).

The best map of the Mont Blanc chain is that by Barbey, Imfeld,
and Kurz (1:50,000; 3rd ed.. 1910; 10 fr.). MM. Joseph and Henri Vallot
are preparing a new map (1:20,000), one sheet of which, showing the
immediate environs of Chamonix, was published in 1907 (li/j, fr.).

The *Valley of Chamonix (pop. 4800), 14 M. long, watered
by the Arve, descends (N.E. to S.W.) from the Col de Balnie to

r.os Houches. It is bounded on the S.E. by the Mont Blanc chain,

with its huge ice-cataracts, the Glacier des Bossons, Mer de Glace.
22*
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and the Glaciers d'Argeutiere aud du Tour, and on the N.W. by the

Aiguilles Rouges and the Brevent. The vallej" was first occupied by

a Benedictine priory in 1091, under the name of Campus Munitus
('Chamouix'), and was known in the middle ages as 'Le Prieure', but

it remained unexplored until the 18th cent., when it was visited by

the English travellers Pococke and Windham (1741) and the Gene-

vese naturalists De Saussure (1760; and Bourrit (1769).

The village of Chamonix (3390 ft.; pop. 866), lying on both

banks of the Arve, is a mountaineering centre of the first rank, and

is frequented also for winter-sports. Opposite the station is the

English Church (PI. B, 2), the churchyard of which contains the

tombs of Ed. Whymper (d. 1911) and other mountaineers. The Av.

de la Gare crosses the Arve to the Rue Xationale. About 100 paces

short of the bridge we may turn to the left to the De Saussure
Monument (PI. 5 ; A, 3), a bronze group representing De Saussure

(1740-99), with Balmat, his guide (p. 350). Crossing the bridge,

we soon reach the intersection of the Hue Nationale, the main
street, and the Rue de I'Eglise, which leads N.W to the Church.
On the right is the Mairie (PI. 3; A, 2). In front of the church is

a granite boulder with a medallion of Balmat (PI. 4; A, 2).

Walks. To the (10 min.) Casino Municipal (PI. A, B, 1), in the Bois
du Bouchet, on the left bank of the Arve. — To the Source of the Arveyron
(p. 347; 2 hrs. there and back): from the Casino cross the railway and
follow the path to the left, throiigh woods, to the slope of the hill; then
turn to the left, cross the bridge at the guide-post, and ascend on the right

bank. — To Les Gaillands and the Glacier des Bossons. see p. 348.— To
the Cascade du Dard, see p. 349.— To the Cascade de Blaitiere (3995 ft.

;

adm. 50 c.), 1/2 1"". E. of Chamonix; the path diverges to the right from
the Montanvert bridle-path (see below). — To the Gorges de la Diosaz,
by the electric railway to Servoz, see p. 321.

The *Montanvert, or Montenvers (6265 U.), a height on the

E. of the valley, is visited for the view of trhe Mer de Glace, and

also as a starting-point for ascents. The RACK-AND-PiyiON Rail-

way (3 M. long; ascent in 50 min.; 12 fr. 50 or 8 fr. 25 c., return

17 fr. 10 c. or 12fr.) starts from the Gare de Montanvert (PI. B, 2, 3;

foot-bridge from the Place de la Gare). The line ascends gradually

at first, and then more rapidly (gradient 15 to 20 : 100). At (1 M.)

Les Planards (4200 ft.) we overlook the Chamonix valley on the

right. We then ascend the right bank of the Torrent du Grepon,
pass through a curved tunnel, and mount the wooded slope (N.E.)

to (2 M.) Le Caillet (5350 ft.). Then two viaducts (views) and a

curve to the S., where we suddenly sight the Mer de Glace and the

Aig. du Dru. The cars pass the hotel and stop, a little farther on,

at (3 M.) the station of Montanvert (6280 ft.).

The Bridle Path (21/2 hrs.; guide unnecessary) turns to the right from
the station, and again to the right near the Hotel du Chemin-de-Fer (PI. u;
B, 2); it then crosses the railway and turns to the left (to the right to the
Cascade de Blaitiere, see above). At the (V4 hr.) first house of Les Mouilles
(.3400 ft.) we ascend to the right and cross the Montanvert railway ; we
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again turn to the right after 1/4 lir., pass 'the (10 min.) Chalets des Planards
(3965 ft. ; rfmts.), aud cross the line again. Beyond (40 min.) the Chalet du
Caillet (4895 ft. ; rfmts.) we leave the patli to Les Bois (p. 347) to the left

and ascend to the (I1/4 hr.) Hotel du Montanvert.

The Hotel du Montanvert (E. 4, B. iVa, L. 4, D. 5, P. 10-12 fr.)

commauds a striking *View (iudicator), marred a little by the sta-

tion. The Mer de Glace, an immense basin of ice, 41/2 M. long and

1/^-11/4 M. broad, is formed by the union of the Glaciers du Geant
or du Tacul, de Leschaux, and de Talefre. Opposite rises the

imposing Aig. du Dru; to the left are the snow-clad Aig. Verte and

the Aig. a Bochard; to the right is the Aig. du Moine; farther off

are the Grandes-Jorasses, Mont Mallet, aud Aig. du Geant; to the

extreme right are the Aig. des Grands-Charmoz and de Blaitiere.

From the Montanvert to the (2V4 hrs.) Plari de VAiguille, see p. 349.

The *Jardin de Talefre (9145 ft.; 4-5 hrs.; for experts only; guide
18, or incl. night at the Montanvert 22 fr.) is a triangular rock rising in

the middle of the Glacier de Talefre, and walled in by moraines. From
the Montanvert we first skirt the rocks of Les Fonts (6325 ft.; iron rods),

to the right. At the (V2 hr.) Angle we take to the Mer de Glace, with its

glacier mills (above, on the left, is the Eefuge de la Charpoiia, see below),
and then ascend the moraines of the Glaciers du Tacul, de Leschaux, and
de Talefre, to the toot of the Coiivercle. This we scale by a steep path,
partly cut in the rocks of the Egralets (wire cables); then, above the
Seracs de Talefre, we skirt the foot of the Aig. du Moine (p. 346), passing
a little below the Refuge du Couvercle of the O.A.F. (8850 ft. ; 2-21/2 hrs.

from the Angle), till we are opposite the rock of the Jardin. Lastly we
ascend the Glacier de Talefre to the foot of the rock (IV2-2 hrs.). Around
a spring in this oasis Alpine flowers bloom in July and August. We
are here within a superb hemicycle of snowy peaks:" the Aig. du Moine,
the Aig. Yerte, the Droites, the Courtes, the Aig. de Triolet, de Talfefre,

etc. —We descend to the (3/4 hr.) Pierre-d-Beranger (8050 ft.), to the E.
of the seracs, and return to the Montanvert in about 3 hrs. more.

Ascents, (l) In the Aiguilles de Chamonix group (S. of the Montan-
vert, as far as to the Col du Midi). 'Tha Aigidlle deVM {mZO iX.; rather
difficult; guide 20 fr.) is ascended from above the huts of Blaitiere-Dessus

(p. 349) by crossing iha Glacier des Nantillons and mounting a (21/2 hrs.)

couloir to the (40 min.) Col de la Buche (9110 ft.); thence, to the left, a

clamber of V2 hr. to the top. Descent from the col to the Montanvert by
the Glacier de la Thendia, l^/o hr.- The ascent of the Aiguille des Petits-

Charmoz (9405 ft.
; guide 20 fr."), 20 min. S. of the Col de la Buche, involves

a stiffer clamber. —Aiginlle des Grands-Charmoz (11,305 ft. ; very difficult

;

guide 80 fr.), by the Glacier des Nantillons (first ascent by A. F. Mummery
in 1881; the spur called Aiguille de la Rexnthlique, 10,845 ft., by H. E.
Beaujard in I'iQl). - Aiguille de Grepon, or 'Grand Diable' (11^425 ft.;

extremely difficult; guide 200 fr.), by the Glacier des Nantillons and tlie

N. arete, one of the most famous climbs in the Alps (first ascent by A.
F. Mummery in 18S1).- Aiguille de Blaitiere (11,555 ft.; guide 80 fr.), by
the E. arete, a most difficult climb over ice and rocks (first ascent by E.
R. Whitwell in 1S74). —Aiguille du Plan (12,0.50 ft. ; difficult; guide 60 fr.),

by the Glacier du Plan and the S.W. arete. Dent du Reqtnn (11,225 ft.

;

extremely difficult; guide 150 fr.; first ascent liv A. F. Mummery in 1903),
by the S.W. face. -The Aiguille du Midi (12,60.5 ft. : guide 60 fr. ; difficult;

aerial railway from the Pierre-Pointue being built, see p. 349) may be
ascended by the Glacier du G^ant and the Vallee Blanche. Grand view.

(2) In the Aiguille Verte group (E. of the Montanvert, as far as the
Col des Courtes). From the Refuge de la Charpoiia (9320 ft.). 31/2 hrs.
from the Montanvert (p. 344): Grand Dru (12,315 ft.; very difficult; guide
90 fr.; first ascent by C. T. Dent aud J. W. Hartley in 1878), by the S.
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fs.ce.— Petit Dm. or Pointe C'harlet (12,240 ft. ; extremely difficult; guide
130 fr. : first ascent by J. E. Charlet-Straton in 1879), by the S.W. face.

— Aiguille Sans-Xom (13.065 ft.; extremely difficult; first ascent by the

Duke of the Abruzzi in 1898), by the S. face and the W. arete. — From
the Refuge d/i Couvercle (p. 345): Aiguille du Maine (11,195 ft.; difficult,

but very interesting; guide 50 fr. ; first ascent by Miss I. Straton and
Miss E. Lewis Lloyd in 1871), by the S. face. — Aiguille Verte (13,520 ft.;

very difficult; falling stones; guide 100 fr.; first ascent by E. Whymper
in 1865), by the Glacier de Talefre and the long 'Whymper couloir' to

the arete between the Aig. Verte and Les Droites. then left to the (7-8 hrs.)

summit. — Xe.s Droites (13.125 ft.; very difficult), by the W. face.— Les
Courtes (12,650 ft.; difficult), by the W. face (rock-crystals).

(3) In the Orandes-Jorasses chain (from the Aig. de Triolet to the
Tour Ronde). Aiguille de Tnolet (12.715 ft.; very difficult), over the
Glaciers de Talefre and des Courtes, better from the Cabane de Triolet

(p. Sb8).— Mont Mallet (13,090 ft. ; difficult), over the Glaciers de Lesehaux
and du l^ont-'Siallet. — Aiguille du Tacul (11,300ft.; 6-7 hrs.; rather

difficult; guide 35 fr.), with a magnificent view.— Aiguille du Geant VlmA

Tour-Ronde, see the Col du Geant (p. 357).

Cols. — From Chamonix to Courmateur over the Col du Geakt,
11-12 hrs. (in 2 days), trying, but very interesting, and for adepts not
difficult (guide 60, porter 40 fr.). From the Montanvert (p. 344; where it

is usual to sleep, or in the reverse direction at the Refuge-Hotel Torino,

p. 357) we ascend the Mer de Glace and the Glacier du Tacul or du
Geant (crevasses). ^Ve pass the Mont-Blanc du Tacul (p. 351) on the
right, and the Aig. du Geant (p. 357) on the left, and in 7-8 hrs. reach
the Col du Gr^ant (11,055 ft.; shelter-hut; p. 357). We descend to the

(5 min.) Refuge-Hotel Torino (p. 357), and over steep rocks to the Pavilion
du Mnnt-Fretij (p. 357) and (3 hrs.) Courmayeur (p. 356). — Other passes
from Chamonix to Courmayeur (all very difficult, for adepts only): Col
de Triolet (12,110 ft. ; guide 60 fr.), at the upper (S.E.) end of the Glacier
de Talefre, between the Aiguille dt Triolet (see above) and the Punta
Isabella (12.340 ft.); the Col de Talefre (11,6.S0 ft.; guide 50 fr.), also at

the head of the Glacier de Talefre, but farther W.. to the E. of the Aiguille
de Talefre: Col de Pierre-Joseph (11,485 ft.

;
guide 60 fr.), S. of the Aig.

de Talefre; Col des Hirondelles (11,330 ft.; guide 80 fr.), between
the Petites and the Grandes Jorasses. — Col de Miage, see p. 353; Col dn
Mont-Dolent, see p. 328.— To Orsieres via the Col du Cliardonnet, the

Col d'' Argentiere, or the Col du Tour, see p. 328.

To the Glacier d'Argentiere via the Col des Grand-Montets, see

p. 328. -To the Glacier des Bossons over the Col du Midi (11,693 ft.),

very difficult and dangerous.

From the Montanvert it is usual to cross the Mer de Glace to

the (11/4-11/2 hr.) Chapeau, nearly opposite. On the edge of the

glacier, below the hotel, is the 'Pierre aux Anglais', with the names
of Pococke and Windham. From the station a path descends in 6 min.

to the glacier. The passage presents no difficulty (12-15 min.; guide

from the Montanvert, unnecessar}' for the sure-footed, 5 fr., to the

Chapeau 8 fr.; woollen socks to draw over shoes 1 fr.). On the op-

posite side we ascend over debris to the (5 min.) top of the right lat-

eral moraine (5990 ft.; rfmts.), then descend by a path to the left,

crossing a bridge near the Cascade du Nant-Blanc^ and lastly by
the 'Mauvals Pas', where the path is hewn in steps and provided

with a rail, to the (40 min.) Chapeau. Guides for this excursion in

the reverse direction are not always to be had at the Chapeau; if

required, they should be brought from Le Lavancher (6fr. : p. 347).



Brevent. CHAMOXIX. 47 . Route. 347
Ifajp, p. 343.

The *Chapeau (5255 ft.; chalet-rest., L. S^/, fi'-)? ^ projecting

rock N.E. of the Mer de Glace, at the base of the Aiguille a Bo-
chard (8755 ft.), though much lower than the Montanvert, affords

a good survey of the seracs of the glacier and the valley of Chamo-
nix. In the background rise Mont Mallet and the Aig. du Geant;

to the right, the Aig. des Grands-Charmoz, de Blaitiere, and du

Plan, the Bosses du Dromadaire, and the Dome and Aig. du Gouter.

A bridle-path descends the moraine from the Chapeau, in view

of the Mer de Glace and the Aig. du Dru, and then through a pine-

wood to (40 min.) the Hotel Beau-Sejour (p. 329). Here it di-

vides: to the right to (10 min.) Le Lavancher (p. 329), to the left to

(20 min.) Les Tines (p. 328). The route to the Flegere crosses the

Arve and the railway opposite the Hotel de la Gare, then leads to

the left through woods to (20 min.) the foot of the zigzag path

coming from Les Praz (p. 348). A shorter path, rough and unfit for

riding, diverges (20 min. from the Chapeau) to the left from the

path to Les Tines, and descends the moraine (passing on the left

the Source of the Arveyron, which issues from the Mer de Glace)

to Les Bois and (40 min.) Les Praz (p. 328).

The *Brevent (8285 ft.), the S.W. offshoot of the Aig. Rouges,

affords a view similar to that from the Flegere (p. 348), but still

grander (good indicator). Mont Blanc is here fully revealed; to

the X.E., beyond the Flegere, we see the Bernese Alps, to the S.W.
the Dauphine Alps. The bridle-path (4-4^0 hrs.; guide needless;

mule and man 20 fr.) diverges to the right at the Hotel Beau-Site

(PI. be; A, 3); after 5 min. we turn to the left (path to the right to

Planpraz, see below), passing the houses of Les Mossoiix, and ascend

through woods to the (l^/o hr.) Plan-Lachat {b\^h ft.; rfmts.), with

an admirable view; then in zigzags to the (P/^hr.) Pavilion de Bel-

Achat (7065 ft.; rest., bed 2^/.,, B. 2, L. 3'/.3 fr.); and lastly, pass-

ing near the sombre Utile Lac du Brevejit, to the (l^/^hr.) summit
(rest., bed 3-37-2, B- 2, L. or D. 4 fr.).

Walkers often prefer the steeper path via Planpraz, which begins
7 min. above the church of Chamonix, near the houses of La Molaz (to the

left, the route by the Plan-Laehat, see above). It ascends at tirst through
woods to the (IV4-IV2 hr.) Plan des C'hablettes (aOlO it.; small rest. ; view
of Mont Blanc), then without shade, but with a splendid view, to (IVj hr.)

Planpraz (6765 ft. ; hot.-rest., bed 3, B. 2, L. 4 fr.), to which point riding
is practicable (mule and man 16 fr. ; the bridle-path goes on to the Col
(lu Brevent, the Col d'Anterne, and Sixt, p. 333). We mount steeply to

the left, and through the Cheminee (8040 ft.) to the (IV4 hr.) summit. Iron
bars and steps assist climbers. Guide (10 fr.) unnecessary.

The Brevent may also be combined with the Flegere (guide 13 fr.,

unnecessary). Descending from the Flegere, we follow a well-defined, but
badly kept path diverging to the right 20 min. below the restaurant, and
undulating along tiie hillside, in full view of Mont Blanc. Half-way (1 hr.)

we pass, on the left, tlie tliree Chalets de C'harlanoz (5945 ft.), and in

1 hr. more reach the Hotel de Planpraz (see above). Thence a path leads
to the (1'/-. lir.) Lac de Corn// (7170 ft.), over the Pas de Cornn (78% ft.),

between the Aig. Pourrie and tiie Aig. de Charlanoz.
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The *Flegere (6160 ft.; S^/g-S hrs.; guide iinuecessary ; mule

and man 14 fr.), to the N. of Chamonix, is a buttress of the Aig.

de la Floria, a peak of the Aig. Kouges, The bridle-path (shaded

in the afternoon) diverges to the left from the Argentiere road

(p. 329 1, near the Chalet Vallot, the last house in Chamonix; near

the Hotel Belvedere (PI. v; A, 1) it leads to the right (stony at first)

into the wood, passing the (10 min.) electric works (3705 ft.), and

ascends gradually until it joins the bridle-path from Les Praz (see

below), 1/4 ^^- below the (IV2 l^r.) Chalet du Praz-des-Violaz
(5035 ft.; rfmts.). Then, mostly through woods, to (1 hr.) the Croia:

de laFlegere (small hot.-pens., R. 3V2-4, D. 4, P. 9-10 fr.).

From Les Praz-de-Chamonix (p. 828) to the Flegere there are two
routes: the footpath, which diverges from the road a little W. of the
Arve bridge and joins the bridle-path from Chamonix (see above) in 20 min.

;

or the bridle-path, which turns to the left by the last house m Les
Praz, 40 min. from Chamonix, crosses the Arve, and mounts in zigzags
on a grassy and stony slope. After 50 min. we enter the wood to the
right, and in 1/2 ^^- niore reach the Praz-de-Violaz.

The line *View embraces the Mont Blanc chain, from the Col de Balme
to beyond the Glacier des Bossons. Opposite us lies the basin of the Mer
de Glace, enclosed by fantastic aiguilles : to the left, the Aig. du Dru and
the Aig. Verte; to the right, the Aig. des Grands-Charmoz, de Blaitiere,

du Plan, and du Midi. Moiit Blanc is distinctly seen, but is less striking
than the nearer peaks. The jagged pinnacles of the Aig. Rouges, K. of
the Flegere, present a singular appearance. As the evening-light is best,

it is worth while spending the night here.

From the Flegere we may visit (2 hrs.) the little Lac Blanc, on the
E. slope of the Belvedere (see below). Climbers may ascend the Aiguille
de la Giiire (9355 ft.

;
guide 15 fr.) in S^/o hrs. ; the Aiguille de la Floria

(9475 ft.
;
guide 20 fr.) in 4 hrs. ; and the *Belvtdere (9730 ft.

;
guide 20 fr.).

the highest of the Aig. Rouges, in 5 hrs. — From the Flegere a steep and
stony path descends to Argentiere, via (1 hr.) La Joi/x (p. 329). — To Plan-
praz (Brevent). see p. 347.

To the ^Glacier des Bossons, an interesting walk (3 hrs.

there and back). We may go by electric railway to (2 M.) Les Bos-

sons (p. 321) or follow tlie Le Fayet road (motor-omn.) to (25 min.i

Les Gaillands (Hot.-Pens, au Miroir-du-JMont-Blanc, with cafe-

rest., P. 5-7 fr.), beyond which, on the road, are two small lakes.

We then cross the Arve by the (10 min.) Font de Peralotaz (Hot.

du Dome & du Pont, Hot.-Pens, du Panorama), and ascend to the left

by a good footpath, nearly opposite the station of Les Bossons. After

10 min. we pass two chalets (rfmts.), and beyond them, where the

path forks, we ascend to the left to the (35 min.) Pavilion des

Bossons (4260 ft.; rest.), on the left moraine of the huge glacier,

backed by the Mont-Blanc du Tacul, and on the left by the Aig.

du Midi fp. 345) and uu Plan (12,050 ft.). We descend to a grotto

hewn in the ice (adm. 1 fr.), and cross the glacier (guide, hardly

needed, 2, socks 1 fr.) to the (i/o hr.) right moraine, with the Chalet
du Serrot ('4455 ft.; rfmts.). We now descend over debris and
through woods, crossing two torrents, to the Cascade du Dard
(p. 349 1, and return thence to (1 hr.) Chamonix.
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From the Pavilion des Bossons (p. 348) a bridle-path, skirting the
left bank of the Grlaeier des Bossons, and then winding through fine

woods, leads to (I1/2 hr.) the Chalet des Pyramides (6215 ft.; L. 31/2 fr.,

wine extra). From this point we may (with guide) cross the upper pla-

teau of the glacier in 35 min., and reach the Chalet du Serrot (p. 348), on
the right bank, in 35 min. more. — From the Chalet des Pyramides a path,
continuing the bridle-path mentioned above, ascends on the left bank to

(13/4 hr.) the top of the Montague de la Cote (8495 ft.), whence we may
reach (l^/^ hr.) the Grands-Millets, via La Jouctiou (p. 350).

Another attractive excursion is to the *Plan de TAiguille
(7225 ft.; 3-374 hrs.; guide unnecessary; mule and man 18, incl.

return by the Montanvert 24 fr.). We follow the left bank of the

Arve, pass under the railway, and go via the hamlets of Le Praz-
Condult and Les Barats (taking the upper road, to the left) to

(20 min.) Les Tissours. We then ascend to the left, and by a

refreshment-hut again to the left (guide-post; path to the right

to the Pierre-Poiutue, see below). The good bridle-path leads

through woods, affording line glimpses of the Chamonix valley and

(farther up) of the Glacier des Bossons, the Aig. and Dome du
Grouter, Mont Blanc, and the Aig. du Midi. Beyond the (IY2 ^^•)

Chalet du Trois (5545 ft.; rfmts.) we ascend over pastures to the

(IY4 hr.) Chalet-Restaurant du, Flan-de-VAiguille (L. 372 fr.).

From this point a footpath ascends a stony tract, commanding a

grand view of the whole Mont Blanc chain and of the Tarentaise

Mts. beyond the Col de Yoza. In 25 min. we reach the little Lac
du Plan-de-VAiguille (7545 ft.), at tlie foot of the huge moraine

of the Glacier de Blaitiire, backed by the Aig. du Midi, du Plan,

and de Blaitiere.

From the Plan de I'Aiguille to the Pierre-Pointut, see p. 350 ; but
better in the reverse direction.

From the Plan de I'Aiguille a good bridle-path ('Chemin Henri-

Vallot'; views) leads N.E. below the Glaciers de Blaitiere and des

Nantillons, undulating along the hillside. It runs above the Chalets

de Blaitiere-Dessus as far as the (IY4 hr.) Signal des Charmoz
(7235 ft.), opposite the Aig. du Dru (p. 345), and then descends in

zigzags, with a splendid view^ of the Mer de (llace (p. 346), to the

(72 hr.) Montanvert (p. 344).

The ^Pavilion de Pierre-Pointue (6750 it.; 27.^-3 hrs.;

guide needless; mule and man 16 fr.; is another favourite poi»t.

An aerial railway is being constructed to the top of the Aig. du Midi

(p. 345), via the Pierre-Pointue. Beyond (20 min.) Les Tissours

(see above) we keep straight on (to the left to tiie Plan de TAiguille,

see above), and ascend through woods on the right bank of the tor-

rent to the fine (35 min.) Cascade du Dard (4045 ft.; chalet-rest.).

We then cross the stony bed of tlie Xant des Pelerins, and ascend
in zigzags, passing (10 min.) a chalet (rfmts.), and leaving the path
to the (ilacier des Bossons to the right (p. 348). We continue to

mount tlie right Ihink of tlie wild valley of the Torrent des Pdlcrijis,
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and reach (35 min.) the Chalet de la Para (4790 ft. ; rfmts.). Lastly

an ascent through Avoods and pastures to the (l^/g hr.) Pavilion de

Pierre-Polntue (K. 3-4, B. IV2, L. 31/3 fr.), on the brink of the

Glacier des Bossons, with its beautiful seracs. Opposite, apparently

quite near, rise Mont Blanc, the Dome and Aig. du G-onter, etc.;

the view td the X. and W. also is superb.
The Aiguillette de la Tour (7460 ft.) commands a fine view of

the Glacier des Bossons (1 hr.
;
guide desirable, 10 fr. from Chamonix

;

ascend to the left by the Pavilion). — The Pierre-a-1'Echelle (7950 ft.)

is another fine point (1 hr.
;

guide, unnecessary for experts, 10 fr. from
Chamonix). The narrow path (route to Mont Blanc, see below) rounds
a rock to the right, near the Pavilion, and ascends to the brink of the
Glacier des Bossons (danger from falling stones). Admirable view of the
crevassed glacier, backed by the Grands-Midets (see below). 21/2 hrs. distant
(a grand glacier-route; guide 20 fr.). — From the Pierre-Pointue good climb-
ers may cross the crevassed Glacier des P'elerins and its moraine to the
Plan de VAigidlle (p. 349; 2 hrs.; guide necessary, from Chamonix 12 fr.).

"Mont Blanc (15.780 ft.), the monarch of the Alps (Monte

Rosa 15.215 ft., Finsteraarhorn 14,025 ft., Ortler 12,810 ft.; Pic

de Xethou in the Pyrenees 11,170 ft.; Elbruz in the Caucasus

18,470 ft.; Aconcagua in the Andes 22,825 ft.; Mount Everest

29,000 ft.), has been since 1860 the boundary between France and

Italy. It was ascended for the first time in 1786 by Dr. Paccard
with the guide Jacques Balmat (p. 344). In 1787 the ascent was
made by the naturalist H. B. de Saussure, with eighteen guides; in

1825 by Dr. E. Clarke and Captain Sherwill, and in 1827 by Mr.
Auldjo. The ascent, though very fatiguing, offers no serious dif-

ficulties to adepts, but should not be attempted in foggy or stormy
weather, as fatal accidents have often occurred. The view from the

summit is extremely grand, but owing to the distance all objects

appear indistinct; even in the clearest weather we can descry only

the general outlines of the landscape, the Savoy Alps, the Jura, and
the Swiss, Graian, Cottian, and Dauphine Alps. (Panorama by X.

Imfeld, 1905; 5 fr.)

For the ascent from Chamonix (about 16 hrs.) a guide costs 100 fr.

and a porter 50 fr. (two guides are advisable for the inexperienced); if

the summit is not reached, 20 -fr. must be paid as far as the Grands-
Mulets (or 30 fr. in two days), 50 to the Grand-Plateau, and 70 to the
Bosses du Dromadaire. On the first day we ascend by the Pierre-Pointue
(p. 849) and the Glacier des Bossoj^s. with its labyrinth of crevasses
called La Jonction, to the (7-8 hrs.) G-rands-Mulets (10,010 ft.), at the
W. foot of which is the Chalet-Hotel des Grands-JIulefs (14 beds at 8,

B. 3, L. 4, D. 6, wine 4 fr.
;
provisions for Mont Blanc 4 fr. ; D. for guide

21/2 fr.). When descending from Mont Blanc the traveller should go on to

the (21/2 hrs.) Pierre-Pointue or to (2 hrs. more) Chamonix. — On the second
day (starting at 1 or 2 a.m.) we ascend bv the Petit-Plateau (11,925 ft.)

to the (4 hrs.) Grand-Plateau (12,880 ft.) and thence to the right (the usual
route) to the Col du Dome, to the left of the Dome du Gofder, and to the
(IV2 hr.) Rocher des Bosses (14,310 ft.), on which lie the Observatoire Vallot
(no adni.) and the Refuge Vallot. Lastly we mount by the Bosses du
Dromadaire (14,800 ft. and 14.885 ft.) and the Rocher de la Tournette
(15.345 ft.) to the (IV2-2 hrs.) summit. Here, from 1893 to 1909. stood the
observatory of J. Jaussen, an astronomer of Paris (1824-1907). but this
has been replaced by a small refuge-hut. Another route (3-4 hrs. : more
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difficult) is to the left from the Grand-Plateau, by the Corridor, the Mnr
de la Cote, the Rochers Rouges, and the Petits-Mulets (15,380 ft.)-

From St-Gervais (p. 319) the ascent of Mont Blanc. 13-14 hrs., is

more varied. We ascend by the Chemin de Fer du Mont-Blanc to (I'/o hr.)

Bionnassay (p. 820) and walk up in 2 hrs. (railway under construction)

by the saddle of Mont Lachat (6940 ft.) and over the Glacier de Tete-

Romse (no crevasses) to the Chalet-Hotel de Tdte-Rousse (10,390 ft.

;

16 beds at 6, B. 21/2, L- 5 fr.), with a grand though limited view. In 1892

a mud-torrent burst forth from the Tete-Rousse glacier and descended to

the (9V-2 M.) Arve in 32 min., destroying parts of Bionnay (p. 320), Le
Fayet (p. 318). and the Bains de St-Gervais (p. 319), and burying about
175 persons. A visit may be paid to the tunnels in the Glacier de Tete-
Rousse, made to prevent a recurrence of such catastrophes (apply to over-

seer).— Starting as early as possible, in order to escape falling stones,

we mount along the E. side of a long couloir to (3-3V2 hrs.) the little

shelter-hut (12,525 ft.), 5 min. below the Aiguille du Goiiter (see below),
and thence by the Dome du Gouter to the (3 hrs.) Refuge Vcdlot (p. 350).

--Or the ascent may be made from Ohamonix thus: electric railway in

20 min. (on foot in I1/2 hr.) to Les Houches (p. 352), then ascend to the

left by a path a little below Lavouot (p. 352), past Le Planet, to the
forester's hut on Mont Lachat (p. 320), and thence to the (6-7 hrs.) Chcdet-
Hotel de Tete-Rousse (see above).

From Courmayeur (p. 356) the ascent of Mont Blanc takes about
14 hrs. (guide to Chamonix 100, porter 50 fr.). From the Lac de Combal
(p. 355) we cross the Glacier de Miage to the (71/2 hrs.) Cabane du Dome
of the Italian Alpine Club (10,235 ft.), at the foot of the Aiguilles Grises
(10,655 ft.); then cross the Glacier and Col du Dome to the (5-7 hrs.)

Refuge Vallot (p. 350) and the (IV2 'ir.) summit. - Another route (much
more difficult and not devoid of danger) leads from the Lac de Combal
across the Glaciers de Miage and du Mont-Blanc to the (71/2 hrs.) Refuge
Quintino Sella (11,055 ft.), at the foot of the Rocher du Mu)d-Blanc,
whence the top is reached in 7-8 hrs. -The ascent by the Glaciers du
Brouillard and du Fresnaij and also the direct ascent by the Glacier de
la Brenva are very difficult and dangerous, but are somewhat facilitated

by the Cabane du Chdtelet (9020 ft.), on the plateau of Chatelet, 4 hrs.

from the Cantine de la Visaille (p. 356). - From tue Col du Geant
(p. 346) the ascent takes 7Vo-8 hrs. (difficult; no fixed taritf). We cross

the Glacier du Geant and the Vcdlee Blanche to the (2V2 hrs.) hut on
the Aig. du Midi (p. 345); then mount the ice-slopes of the Mont-Blanc
du Tacid (13.935 ft.) and Mont-Maudit (14.650 ft.) to the Rochers Rouges
(see above) and to (5-6 hrs.) the top. -The Aiguille du (to«<<;?- (12,680 ft.

;

3 hrs.
;
guide from Chamonix 40 fr. ; shelter- hut, see above) and the *D6ine

du GrOMer (14,120 ft. ; 5 hrs.
;
guide 60 fr.) may be ascended from the

Tete-Rousse or the Grands-Mulets without difficulty.

From Chamonix to Sii't via the Cols du Brt^cent and d^Anterne (much
preferable reversed), see p. 333. Over the Buet. see j). 327.

48. From Chamonix to Courmayeur via
the Cols du Bonhomme and de la Seigne.

Tour du Mont-Blanc.
CoiiijK thr Maji, }i. 348.

Bridle Path, good as far as the Col de la Croix-du-Bonhomme, tol-

erable to the Col des Fours, and bad thence to Les Mottets. Three days:
1st, via the Hotel Bellevue, or via the Col de Voza, to Les Contamines,
6 hrs. (or to Nant-Borrant. 7-V4 hrs.); 2nd, from Nant-Borraiit. via the Col
des Fours, to Les Motti-ts, 6-6V2 hrs. (or via Les Chapieux, 7 Ins.); 3rd.

to Courmavcur, 6"/., Ins. Or lictli-r. (iniitting tlie Hotel H.'lii'VUf, go in
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the afternoon via St-Gervais to Les Contamines (carr. from Le Fayet station

10-12 fr.). sleep there, walk to Les Mottets next day and to Courmayeur
on the third. — Guide (not needed by good walkers in fine weather, but

desirable over the Col des Fours) from Chamonix to Courmayeur in two
days 24. in three days 36 fr. ; return-fee 24 fr. extra; from Les Contamines
to* the Col du Bonhomme 7, to the Col des Fours 8, to Les Mottets
10-12 fr. ; if taken to the Col du Bonhomme only he should be required

to go to the Croix, the culminating point (p. 354). The C.A.F. has,

however, erected guide-posts at doubtful points. Mule from Xant-Borrant
to the Croix du Bonhomme. 8 fr.

The so-called *Tour du Mont-Blanc is an easy and interesting

expedition. To complete the circuit we may go to Martigny over the Col

Ferret (p. 358) or the Great St. Bernard. A longer, but most interesting

round is from Courmayeur to Aosta, and thence via Chatillon and the

Co] St-Theodule to Zerinatt. This circuit is less striking when reversed.

See Baedekers Switzerland. — Passports are often asked for by the

French and Italian custom-house officers. — The Tarentaise may be com-
bined with this route by driving from Les Chapieux to Bourg-St-Maurice
(see p. 354).

We go by electric railway (p. 321) in 20 min. to (5 M.) Les
Houches ; the village (Vo M.) is on the left bank of the Arve (foot-

path near the Arve bridge). Walkers follow the Le Fayet road to

(11/4 hr.) La Griaz, turn to the left opposite the Restaurant de la

Grare, and cross the Nant de Griaz to (74 br.) Les Houches (Rest,

des Glaciers, plain). Beyond the church and a brook (2 niin.
;
guide-

post) a tolerable path ascends to the left, via (40 min.) Lavouet
(short of which, to the left, is the path to the Tete-Rousse. p. 351),

partly through woods, to the (lY* hr.) - Hotel-Pension Bellevue
(5845 ft.; R. 3, B. li/^, L. 31/2, D- ^, ?• '-10 fr.), on the N.W.
shoulder of Mont Lachat (p. 351). Superb *View (best by evening-

light) of the Chamonix valley and the Mont Blanc range.

Another path (bad after rain), diverging to the left 8 min. beyond Les
Houches and 2 min. after the first bridge, ascends in 2 hrs. to the Col
de Voza (5425 ft.; Chemin de Fer du Mont-Blanc, see p. 320), 20 min.
W. of the Hotel Bellevue. Descent to (H/4 hr.) Biotmay, see p. 320.'

From the Hotel Bellevue to the Chalet-Hotel de Tete-Rousse, see pp. 320,

351; to St-Gervais, via the Col de Voza and Pavilion du Prariou, see p. 320.

From the Hotel Bellevue Ave descend S., over pastures (Aig.

de Bionnassay, p. 353, on the left) and through woods. We pass

below the Chalets du Planey] cross the torrent issuing from the

Glacier de Bionnassay (path to tlie right to St-Gervais), and reach

the Chalets de la Pierre. The tolerable bridle-path next leads on

the left bank to (1^4 hr.) Le Champel, where w^e descend to the

left, near a fountain, by a steep path. Fine view of the wooded and

well cultivated Vallee de Montjoie, bounded on the W. by Mont
Joly (p. 353), and backed by the Aiguille de la Penaz (8820 ft.).

To the E., above the green slopes, rise several of the W. snow-

peaks of the Mont Blanc group (Aig. de Tricot, de Trelatete, etc.).

Beyond (8 min.) La Vilhtte the path joins (6 min.) the road from

St-Gervais to Les Contamines (p. 320), which we follow. To the

right, on the slope of Mont Joly, stands the handsome church of

St-Nicolas-de-Veroce (1727). Pont de la Gruvaz, etc., see p. 320.
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The road then leads ou the right bank of the Bon-Nant to Tresse,

La Chapelle, and (1 hr.)—
Les Contamines (3810 ft.; Hot.-Pens. de la Berangere, June-

Sept., good, R. 2-3, B. IV2, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. eVg-Sfr.; Hot. de

rUniou, da Bonhomme, both unpretending), a large village with a

handsome church. Motoi'-omn. to St-Gervais, see p. 320.

Instead of descending into the Bionnassay valley, we may ascend, to

the right at the end of the Ulacier de Bionnassay (p. 352), to the Chalets de
Tricot (6055 ft.) and (21/2-3 hrs. from the Hot. Bellevue) the Col de Tricot
(6950 ft.), between the Pointes de Tricot (9285 ft.

;
guide from St-Gervais

15 fr.) and Mont Vorassay (7545 ft.
;
guide 11 fr.). We then descend to the

Chalets de Miage (5115 ft.), where we obtain a striking view, S.E., of

the Glacier de Miage, the Dome de Miage, the Col de Miage, and the Aig.

de Bionnassay (see below), and follow the left bank of the torrent to

Tresse, on the road to Les Contamines (21/2 hrs.; see above; guide from
Chamonix 15 fr.). — A route, not difficult for adepts, leads to Courmayeur
(p. 356; 10-11 hrs. from the Chalets de Miage; guide from Chamonix 60,

from St-Gervais 50 fr.) over the Col de Miage (11,015 ft.), with the

Refuge Charles-Dnrier of the C.A.F., to the S.W. of the Aiguille de
Bionnassay (13,295 ft.; 6-8 hrs., difficult; guide from St-Gervais 80 fr.).

*Mont Joly (8285 ft.) is ascended from Les Contamines via St-

Nicolas-de-Veroce (p. 352) without difficulty in 4 hrs. (guide 6 fr.). We
pass the (2 hrs.) Pavilion du Mont-Joly (6570 ft.), by which the path from
St-Gervais also ascends (p. 320). The view of Mont Blanc from the top is

quite ditferent from the views from the Flegere and the Brevent. Instead

of harmonious curves, the range here presents broken lines and majestic

needles. The summit itself is not visible, but only the second Bosse du
Dromadaire (p. 350). Ascent from Mdgeve, see p. 378.

About 300 yds. above the bridge over the Armancette (see below),

20 min. from Les Contamines, a good bridle-path ascends to the left, via

the hamlet of Cognon and the Plan-Champ (5035 ft.), to (21/2 hrs.) the

*0halet-H6tel de Tr^latdte (6450 ft. ; 28 beds at 31/2, B. H/2, L. or D.
3-31/2? wine extra, P. 8-10 fr.), a favourite goal of excursionists from St-

Gervais (p. 319). We may ascend also by a steeper path from Nant-Borrant

(p. 354; IV2 hr.). A good survey of the *Glacier de Trelatete, 4Vu M. long,

with its beautiful seracs, is obtained from the old moraine S. of the hotel.

A path hewn in the rock (iron bars) leads to the Mauvais Pas de Trelatete

(7025 ft.), which affords a still better view. From the hotel experts may
ascend the Aiguille de Beranger (11,235 ft.

;
guide from St-Gervais 25 fr.),

the Mont Tondu (10,485 ft.; guide 30 fr.), and the Dome de Miage
(12,050 ft.

;
guide 50 fr.). — We may now go direct from the hotel to

(7 hrs.) Les Mottets, or to the (8V2 hrs.) Col de la Seigne, over the Col
du Mont-Tondu (9500 ft.; for adepts only; guide 30 fr.). We climb
the slopes ou the right of the Glacier de Trelatete by the Mauvais Pas
(see above) and over the glacier itself, to the col, lying between Mo7it

Tandu (see above; right) and the Pointe de la Lanchette (10,080 ft.). Fine
view from a height on the left. We descend to the right, by the Glacter
de la Lanchette, to Les Mottets (p. 355), or to the left, over steep rocks

and the Glacier des Glaciers, to the Col de la Seigne (p. 355). —Over the

Col des Glaciers rio,i65 ft.), the Col de I'All^e-Blanche (11,690 ft.),

or the Col de Tr61at6te (11,475 ft.), on the W. of the Aig. de Trelat§te

(p. 355), to the Glacier de VAUee-Blanche and the Lac de Combal (p. 355),

all three difficult (guide 80 fr.).

Beyond Les Contamines the road crosses the Armancette, de-

scends towards the Bon-Nant, and follows its right bank nearly to

Nant-Borrant, affording a fine view of tlie valley as far as the peaks

of the Bonhomme. The valley contracts, and the road ends at (74 hr.)
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the bridge crossing- to the pilgrimage-chapel of Notre-Dame-de-
la-Gorge (3970 ft.; chalet-rest.). Thence a steep, paved bridle-

path ascends, passing many traces of glacier-striation; then through

pleasant woods, past two waterfalls, and across the (Vohr.) gorge

of the Bon-Xant, to the (10 min.) Chalets de Nant-Borrant
(4785 ft.; chalet-hot., good, R. 3-4, D. 3 fr., wine extra). We cross

the wooden bridge, and ascend on the left bank. High up on the left

are the seracs of the great Glacier de Trelatete. Behind lies the

valley as far as the Aig. de Yaran (p. 318).

We next reach (50 niin.) the Chalet de la Balme (5595 ft.;

plain aub.), at the head of the Yallee de Montjoie. Guide needless

thus far; farther on, he may be dispensed with in fine weather.

The path, indicated by stakes, ascends steep, stony slopes,

passing a waterfall, on the left, and another near the (^/g hr.) Pla?i

Jovety with its huts. (To Les Mottets over the Col d'Enclave, see

p. 355.) Then (1/2 hr.) the Plati des Dames (6705 ft.), where a

party of ladies is said to have perished in a storm. At the end of

the valley (20 min.) the path ascends to the right, and (25 rain.)

reaches the Col du Bonhomme (7640 ft.; shelter-hut), whence
we look down into the desolate valley of the Gitte.

A bridle-path descends, past the lonely Chalet de la Sauce, and along
the left bank of the brook, to (2 hrs.) La'Gitte (5490 ft.) and to Beaufort
(p. 381; 31/2 hrs. more). Guide to La Gitte advisable.

Two curious rocks here, the Eochers du Bonhomme (8525 ft.)

and de la Bonnefemme, resemble ruined castles. Beyond the hut

we mount the rocky slope to the left to (^/^ hr.) the Col de la

Croix-du-BonhonirQe (8125 ft.; shelter-hut), where a splendid

view of the Tarentaise Alps is obtained, with the fine snow-pyramid

of Mont-Pourri (p. 384). The route to Les Mottets divides here.

We may either go direct over the Col des Fours, to the left (see

below), or via Les Chapieux, to which (l^/^ hr.) the path descends

straight on. partly over rocky debris.

Les Chapieux (5090ft.; Hot. du Soleil, plain but good), an

old village in the Val des Glaciers, l^/^ hr. below Les Mottets

(p. 355).
From Les Chapieux to Pre-St-Didier over the Little St. Bernai'd

(11 hrs.), preferable to the Col de la Seigne in doubtful weather. To Bourg-
St-Maurice, see below; thence to Pre-St-Didier, see pp. 359. 358.

From Les Chapieux to Beai(f<>rt (Albertville), see p. 381.

From Les Chapieux toBosxeval-les-Bains (Bourg-St-Maurice),b^!2^L
We descend the vallev of the Torrent des Glaciers, through a detile between
the Clavetta (8610 ft.') on the left and the Terrasse (9480 ft.) on the right,

to (2 M.) Le Crey (4790 ft.) and (51/2 M.) Bonneval (p. 385).

The direct route to Les Mottets from the Croix du Bonhomme
(see above) ascends to the left, across snow (guide advisable for

the inexperienced), to the (35 min.) Col des Fours (8735 ft.;

shelter-hut). About 1/4 hr. S.E. of the col rises the Tete Sud des

Fours (8910 ft.j, and 25 min. to the X. is the Cime des Fours
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(9040 ft.), with a splendid *View. Then a steep descent from the

col over slate-detritus. We cross the torrent, mount a little, and

descend again. When the path forks we keep to the right and cross

pastures to (IV2 hr.) the Chalets du Tuff (657 o ft.) and the (Y2 hr.)

Chalets de la Ville, where we join the path from Les Chapieux

on the right (p. 354). We descend to the right, cross the bridge

(5845 ft.), and ascend the left bank to (72 hr.) Les Mottets
(6120 ft.; Mme. Fort's inn, mediocre, R. 3-4V2, B. IV2, L. 31/2, D-

4 fr., wine extra; mule to the Col de la Seigne 10 fr.), at the head

of the Val des Glaciers. To the N.E. rises the Aig. des Glaciers

(see below), with the Glacier des Glaciers.
To Les Contamines over the Col du Mont-Tondu, see p. 353. — Another

route to Les Mottets (6 hrs. from Xant-Borrant ; fatiguing and not advis-
able) leads from the Plan Jovet (p. 354) over the Col d'Enclave (8765 ft.),

between Mont Tondu and the Tete d'Enclave (9355 ft.; guide from St-

Grervais 20 fr.), passing the Lac Jovet (7125 ft.).

A bridle-path (mule, see above) ascends hence in zigzags to the

(1^/^ hr.) Col de la Seigne (8245 ft.; shelter-hut), the frontier

between France and Italy. Magnificent view of the Allee Blanche,
an Alpine valley several miles long, bounded on the left by the

tremendous precipices of the Mont Blanc chain.

Immediately to the left of the pass rise the Aiguille des Glaciers
(12,515 ft. ; guide from St-Clervais 50 fr.) and the Aiguilles de TrelatMe
(12,770-12,865 ft. ; guide 70 fr.), then the imposing snowy dome of Mont
Blanc, with the huge buttresses of the Mont du Brouillard (13,295 ft.), the
bold Aiguilles Blanche and Noire de Peteret (13,480 ft. and 12,380 ft. ; the
former first ascended by H. Seymour King in 1885). Farther to the right,

in the background, appear the Great St. Bernard Mts. and behind them
Mont Velan, the Grand-C'ombin, etc. Below lies the Lac de Combal (see

below). Behind we have the picturesque Tarentaise Mts., which seem
insignificant compared with the giants on the E.

A path leads S.E. from the Col de la Seigne to the Glacier du Breuil,
whence we may ascend the Pointe Lechaud (10,260 ft.; 8 hrs.), a magni-
ficent point of view. Rough paths descend thence to (3 hrs.) Les Mottets
(see above) via the Col du Breuil (9520 ft.) and the Col de VOueillon
(8870 ft.). — Another path leads from the Col de la Seigne to the (1 hr.)

Col des Chavannes (8550 ft.), whence we descend the Vallon des Cha-
vannes to (21/4 hrs.) Pont-Serrand (p. 358), on the Little St. Bernard road.
— The Pointe Lechaud (see above) also may be ascended from the Col
des Chavannes, by the N.E. arete, in 2 hrs.

We descend from the Col de la Seigne over snow, debris, and
pastures to the (1/2 hr.) upper Chalets de VAllee-Blanche (7235 ft.)

and to the (25 min.) lower chalets (7135 ft.; 2 beds), at the eiid of

a small plateau. We round the hill to the right, cross a brook, and
descend to a second plateau, with a splendid view of the Glacier
de VAllee-Blanrhe, dominated by the Aig. de Trelatete (see above).

At the end of this plateau {^1^ hr.) lies the green Lac de Combal
(6365 ft.), bounded on the N. by the huge moraine of the Glacier
de Miaye. Near a sluice at the lower end of the lake (10 min.)

we cross the Doire, and descend the moraine through a wild ravine,

filled with debris. After 40 min. the Doire is again crossed, and
the valley, now called Val Veni, expands. We pass (5 miu.) the
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the Cantine de la Visaille (5425 ft.), where the path becomes a

carriage-road. Superb view of the Jorasses, Dent du Geant, etc. (To

the Cabane du Chatelet, see p. 351.)

The road descends through pastures and a wood, passing (lOmin.)

the Cantine du Miage and (35 min.) the Hotel-Pension de Purtud
(4895 ft.; R. 2-4, P. 7-8 fr.). Beyond (20 min.) the Restaurant
de Notre-Dame-du-Berrier or de-Guerison (4710 ft.), a little

below the exit from the wood, we survey the fine Glacier de la

Brenva (p. 351). (Path to a grotto in the glacier, 20 min.; adm.
1 fr.) On the left are the Aig. de Peteret (p. 355), with the snowy
dome of Mont Blanc; on the right, the Pavilion du Mont-Frety

(p. 357) and the notched Dent du Geant (p. 357). The road next

ounds (5 min.) a rock near the chapel of Notre-Dame-du-Berrier
(4710 ft.). A road to the left leads to Entreves (p. 357), which
we see below, at the mouth of the Val Ferret. We now descend to

the Doire, which unites here with the Doire du Yal Ferret and takes

the name of Dora Baltea. We cross the stream opposite the little

sulphur-baths of La Saxe {\/^ hr.; 4045 ft.), pass the (i/^ hr.) Hotel

du Mont-Blanc (see below), and in 10 min. more reach—
Courmayeur. — Hotels. *Gr.-Hdt. Royal Bertolini (June-Sept.),

with garden, R. .3-10, B. I1/2, L. 31/2, D- 5, P- 12-20 fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. de VAvge,
R. 3-5, B. Vj.,, L. 31/2^ D. 5, P. 10-14 fr. ; *H6t. de V Union (June-Oct.). R.
3-4, B. 11/2, L. 3, D. 4, P. 9-12 fr. ; *H6t. du Mont-Blanc (May-Oct), R.
21/2-6, B. 11/2, L- 3, D. 4, P. 10-12 fr. ; *H6t. Savoye, R. 2-3, B. IV4, L. 21/2,

D. 31/2, P- '^-8 fr.—Rest. Blotto; Cafe du Mont-Blanc.
VoiTURETTEs. To the Glacier de la Brenva 8, to the Cantine de la

Visaille 15, to La Yachey 14, to Gruetta 16 fr.

Guides: K. Berthod; Lorenzo Bertholier; Alessio, Enrico, and Giuseppe
Brocherel; Fab., Gius., Lor., and Ugo Croux; Al. Fenoillet; Ed. and Sam.
Clarey; Luigi Mussillon; Ces. Oilier; Gius. and Lor. Petigax; Al. Proment;
Sim. Quaizier; Lor. Revel; Ad. and Enr. Rey ; Lor. Truchet. Application
for a guide is made to the Guide-Chef, but an arrangement should be
made also with the guides themselves as to routes and fees.

Anglican Church Service in summer.

Courmayeur (4015 ft.), a large Italian village, with mineral

springs (bicarbonate of soda and lime), is superbly situated at the

head of the Aosta valley, and is a favourite resort of the Italians.

Though higher than Chamonix, its climate is warmer and the vege-

tation richer. Mont Blanc is concealed by Mont Chetif (see below),

but is seen from the Pre-St-Didier road, 10 min. S. (p. 358).
Excursions. Pleasant walk from the church, to the left, to (25 min.)

the Plan Garret (4595 ft.; rfmts.), with an Alpine garden, and to the
Erraitage (20 min.; 4790 ft.), returning via Villair (p. 357). — Opposite
Courmayeur, to the W., lies the village of Dolonne, where we obtain
a splendid view of the precipices of the Jorasses (p. 357), with their glacier.

An interesting walk is to cross by the (10 min.) Pont de la Doire to the
village, to descend from its X. end to the Doire by a shady path, and
to return by the left bank (V2 hr.). —A bridle-path leads W. from Dolonne
to the (21/2 hrs.) Col de Ch^couri (6430 ft.), to the S.W. of the 2Iont
Chetif, or Pain de Sucre (7670 ft.; ascended from the path without diffi-

culty in 1 hr.; guide 6 fr.). The col affords a superb view of Mont Blanc.
We return bv the Val Veni (p. 355). — To the S.W. of Dolonne a bridle-



Mont-Blanc. COURMAYEUR. 4S. Route. 357
Map, p. 343.

path ascends by the alpes (pastures) of Aijelle, Arp Infirieur, and Arp
Superiet/r to the (41/2 hrs.) Col de I'Arp (8280 ft.), between, left and
right, the Crammont (p. 358) and the Tete d'Arp (9020 ft. ; steep ascent

of 3/^ hr., with guide; grand view of Mont Blanc). We may descend from
the col to La Thuile (p. 358), or go on, farther W., to the (3/^ hr.) Col
d'Yoitla (8620 ft.), and then descend to (li/., hr.) the Lac de Combal (p. 355).
— From the Chalets d''Aip Superieur, 21/2 hrs. from Courmayeur, we may
scale the Tete de Crammont by the X. side (2 hrs. ; with guide), but the
ascent from Pre-St-Didier is preferable (p. 358).

The *Mont de la Saxe (7735 ft.; 3 hrs.; guide 4fr., needless) af-

fords a complete view of the S. part of the Mont Blanc range, from the
Col de la Seigne to the Col Ferret. A bridle-path ascends from Cour-
mayeur, via (1/4 hr.) Villair and the (2 hrs.) Chalets du Pre (6675 ft.), to

the' (1 hr.) summit. The descent may be made via the Chalets de Leuchi
(6305 ft.) into the Val Ferret (see below). —From Villair (with guide) we
may visit the (1^/4 hr.) Trou des Romains (5895 ft.), a labyrinth of artificial

grottoes, said to have been Roman mines.

The ascent of the Grande-Rochere (10,925 ft. ; 6-7 hrs. from Cour-
mayeur; guide 20 fr.) is fatiguing, but very interesting. A bridle-path
ascends via Villair (see above) to the Chalets de Chapy or Sapin, and
then over grassy slopes to the (3 hrs.) Col de Sapin, E. of the Tete Bernarde
(8305 ft.), where we have a superb view. "We then descend into a valley
above the Alpe de Secheron, and mount again to the right to the (l^/o hr.)

Col del Battaglione Aosta, or Col de Chavibare (9580 ft.), between, right
and left, the Aiguille de Chambave (10,110 ft.) and the (I1/2 hr.) Grande-
Rochere. The *View from the top is very grand and extensive.

Ascent of Mont Blanc, see p. 351. — The Grandes-Jorasses (E. peak,
13,805 ft.; W. peak, 13,735 ft.; the former first ascended bv H. Walker in

1868, the latter by E. Whymper in 1865; 12-13 hrs.; guide 70 fr.) are diffi-

cult and exposed to avalanches. We ascend the right bank of the Doire,
passing Entreves (see below) and the Chalets de Mai/en (4945 ft.), and then
through woods, over grassy slopes, glacier, and rocks (very toilsome; rope
attached to the rock), to the (6'/2 hrs.) small Cahane des Grandes-Jorasses
(9200 ft.) of the Italian Alpine Club; thence we reach, in 4 hrs. more,
either the E. summit to the right by the Glacier de Planpansiere and
the (2 hrs.) Rocher du Reposoir, or the W. summit straight on.

To Chamonix over the Col du G^fcANx (comp. p. 346), 13 hrs. (guide
40-50, porter 25-30 ft-.

;
guide to the col and back, 15-20 fr.). Bridle-path

by Entreves (see below) to the (2'/2 hrs.) Pavilion die Mont-Freti/ (7105 ft.

;

*Aub. ; splendid view
;
guide 6 fr., needless). Then a stitf climb of 3-3V2 hrs.

to the *Ref/<ge- Hotel Torino of the Italian Alpine Club (10,900 ft.; adm.
1, bed 4 fr.), 10 min. below the Col du G6ant, or Colle del Gigante
(11,055 ft. ; shelter). Right and left of the col rise the Aiguilles Marbrees
(11,600 ft.; guide from Courmayeur 20 fr.) and the Grand-Flambeau
(11,675 ft.). Grand view. — Descent, 5-6 hrs., by the Glacier du Geant
or du Tacul (p. 346), to the Montanvert. — Ascents from the col: to the
W. the Ronde, or Aiguille de Toule (11,595 ft.; 2'/2 hrs. ; easv), and the
Tour-Ro7ule (12,440 ft.; 31/2 hrs.. by the E. ar6te ; not difficult for alpin-
ists). To the N.E. the Aiguille or Dent du G^ant (13,165 ft.; first

ascent by the brothers Sella in 1882), a diffitult climb of 4 iirs., for thorough
experts only (guide from Courmayeur 70, from Chamonix 100 fr.); we
ascend the glacier to (3 Ins.) the foot of the Aiguille, 490 ft. high, and
with the aid of ropes attached to the rock clamber to (1 hr.) the top (small
statue of the Virgin in aluminium).

To Orsieres over the Col Ferret, 10V2 hrs. ; road to beyond Gruetta
(voiturette, see p. 356), then bridle-path (guide 14 fr., needless). The road
goes via La Saxe (p. 356) and (35 min.) Entreves (aub.), then up the right
bank of the Doire into tlie Val Ferret or Feri-ex, past the Chalets de
la Palii, du Pont, and de Prd Sec (53.50 ft.). We cross the stream near
(IV4 hr.) La Vachey (5385 ft.

;
quarters), and go on to the Chalets de

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. '23
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Ferache, and (3/4 hr.) Gruetta (5785 ft.). The narrow road ends near some
chalets, 3/4 hr. farther on. On the left is the Glacier de Triolet and above,
on the Monts Rouges (10,740 ft.), is the Cahane de Triolet of the Italian
Alpine Club (8480 ft. ; 6 hrs. from Courmayeur), starting-point for the
Aiguille de Triolet (12,695 ft. ; 7 hrs., difficult and dangerous

;
guide 55 fr.),

the Aiyiiille de Tcdefre (12,265 ft. : 6-7 hrs.
;
guide 50 fr.), and the Cols

de Triolet, de Tcdefre, de Pierre-Josejjh, etc. (p. 346). Our path nears
the moraine of the Glacier du Pre-de-Bar and follows it nearly to the

(1/2 hr.) head of the valley. To the right are the Chalets du Pre-de-Bar
(6760 ft.), starting-point for the ascent oi Mont Dolent (12,545 ft.; 7 hrs.;

for experts onlv
;
guide 40 fr.). It then zigzags up to the right to (1/2 hr.)

the Chalets de 'Tremaille (7430 ft. ; milk). Then (1 hr.) the Col Ferret
(8345 ft.), on the Italian-Swiss frontier, with a splendid view of the Val
Ferret, the S. part of the Mont Blanc group, and the Jorasses, Aig. du
Geant, and Allee-Blanche. [The Petit Col Ferret (8180 ft.), to the X., at

the foot of Mont Grepillon, is shorter, but more toilsome and less interest-

ing.] We descend to (1 hr.) the Chalets de la Peidaz (6800 ft.), cross the
Drance, and (V2 hr.) join the Col de Fenetre path (leading in 4 hrs. to

the Great St. Bernard hospice). Then, to the left, comes the (V2 hr.)

hamlet of Ferret (5600 ft. ; Chalet-Pens, du Val-Ferret, fair, R. 2, D. 2-3 fr.).

Next, a good cart-road down the Val Ferret Sejjtentrional to La Foidy
(1/2 tr.; 5230 ft.), La Seiloz (V-hr.; 4910 ft.), and Praz-de-Fort (IVihr.;
3775 ft.). Thence to the Cahane de Saleinaz (p. 328), 5 hrs. Lastly to

Ville-d'Issert, Som-la-Proz, and Orsieres (I1/4 hr. ; see Baedeker^ s Switzer-
land). Diligence thence to Martigny (p. 325).

To Bourg-St-Maurice via the Little St. Bernard, 36 M. (a walk of

10 hrs. by short-cuts). Omn. to the hospice, daily in summer, in 6 hrs.

(6fr.); motor-omn. from the hospice to Bourg-St-Maurice every afternoon
during the season in 40 min. (10 fr.), going on to Moiitiers-Salins (p. 382).
— The road descends in windings to the Doire and enters a wooded gorge
on its left bank. Walkers prefer the shady road on the right bank. At
(21/2 M.) Palesiet/o:- we cross the river.

3 M. Pre-St-Didier (32.50 ft.; *H6t. des Thermes & Univers, E. 3-5,

L. 31/2, I>- 41/2, P. 9-12 fr.: *H6t. de Loudres), a village with baths, is

the best starting-point for the *Crainmont (8980 ft.; 5 hrs., easy; guide
8 fr., needless; mule to near the top 12 fr. ; superb view of Mont Blanc).

We go by the Little St. Bernard road (20 min. by a short-cut) to a point

1/4 hr. above the first tunnel, then by a zigzag path to the right past (2 hrs.)

Chanton to (21/2 hrs. the top (5 min. below which is the abandoned
Capanna De Sanssure of the Italian Alpine Club). Another path ascends
from Elevaz (see below), and joins the above at Chanton.

We diverge to the right from the road to (20 M.) Aosta (motor-omn.
thrice daily; see Baedeker'' s Siritzerland or N. Italy) and ascend via

Elevaz (two tunnels), crossing the Thuile at La Balme. — At (81/2 ^L)
La Thuile (4730ft.; Hot. Jacquemod, National; Italian custom-house;
guide. Maur. Bognier), the Rom. Ariolicnm, we sight the great glacier

of the Rutor. The Tete du Rutor (11,435 ft. ; 71/2 hrs.
;
guide 40 f r.

;

superb *View) is ascended by a path leading past the (2 hrs.) *Cascades
of the Rutor, and then, to the left, to the Refugio Sayita Margherita
(11/2 hr.), near the Lago del Rutor. A height (8085 ft.) 5 min. S.W. affords

a splendid *View. We next mount the Glacier du Rutor to the (31/2 hrs.)

C'abane Defey (10,990 ft.), on the Col du Rutor, 1/2 hr. from the top. —
Beyond La Thuile the road ascends, passing (12 M.) Pont-Sei-rand (5415 ft.

;

Vallon des Chavaunes, see p. 355), the (141/2 M.) Cantine des Eauj-Rousses
(6740 ft.), and the pretty Lac de Verney, to the Col du Petit-St-Bernard
(7180 ft.). About 1/2 M. beyond the pass is the frontier, where we pass
from Italy into Savoy, marked bv a bronze statue of St. Bernard. On
the Italian side is the (I51/2 M.) Hospice (7035 ft.), founded, like that of

the Great St. Bernard, by St. Bernard of Menthon (p. 374) in the 10th cent.,

and occupied since 1752 by monks of the Italian order of SS. Maurice and
Lazarus. Poor travellers are lodged here gratuitously; for others, 1st cl.
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tariff, R. 5, B. 3/4, L. or D. 4 fr. ; 2nd cl. R. 3 fr., B, 60 c, L. or D. IV2 fr.

The hospice has a post office, an observatory, and an Alpine garden.
Near it, on French territorj^, is the Chalet-Hotel Lancebranlette (P. from
8 fr.). The Col de Traversette (7895 ft.), 1 hr. S., the Mont Valaisan or

Chardonney (9455 ft.), 2 hrs. S.E., the Belvedere (8670 ft.), I1/2 hr. X.E.,
and the Lancehranlette (9625 ft.), 3 hrs. W. hj an easy bridle-path, all

afford admirable views of the Mont Blanc chain. — The road now descends,
overlooking the beautiful upper vallev of the Isfere and the Tarentaise
Mts., past the (251/2 M.) Hotel Belvedere (4660 ft. ; R. from 3, L. or D. 31/2.

P. from 7 fr., well spoken of). The long bends of the road are cut off by
an old Roman road, to the right. — 34 Si. Seez (2965 ft.), on the road to

Tignes (p. 385).— 36 M. Bourg-St-Manrice (p. 385).

49. From Paris to Aix-les-Bains and
Modane.

a. Via Dijon, St-Amour, Amberieu, and Culoz.

Comp. the JTcq), p. 370.

From Paris to Aix-les-Bains, 348^/2 M., railway in 7 hrs. 45 min.
(by the Savoy express, p. xiii) to 9 hrs. 35 min. (65 fr. 15 c, 44 fr., 28 fr.

75 c). Trains start from the G-are de Lyon; but the Peninsular express,
coming from Calais, joins the P.L.M. line" at VUleneuve-St-Georges, 9V2 M.
from the G-are de Lyon (see the Indicateur).— From Aix-les-Bains to
Modane {Turin), 10^/2 M., railway in 2 hrs. 25 to 4 hrs. 30 minutes. Trains
de luxe, see p. xiii.

To (335 M.) Culoz, see pp. 312-315. The Aix line leaves the

Geneva Hue to the left, turns to the S.E., and crosses the Rhone.

—

Beyond (3391/2 M.) Chindrieitx (Hot.-Rest. Tarut) we reach the

*Lac du Bourget (760 ft.), 11 M. long, 2 M. broad, and 475 ft.

deep. The lake is drained from its N.W. end iuto the Rhone by
the Canal de Savieres, 2^/2 M. long. To the right, on a hill pro-

jecting into the lake, is the old CMteaii de Chdtillon, V4 hr. from
Chiudrieux station. The train skirts the beautiful blue lake,

abounding in fish, and extolled by Lamartine. To the W. rise the

Abbey of Hautecombe (p. 368) and the Dent du Chat (p. 369).

3481/.^ M. Aix-les-Bains (buffet; p. 365). -

Beyond Aix the wooded hill of Tresserve conceals the Lac du
Bourget. Fine view to the left.— 3 M. Le Viviers, 2 M. to the E.
of Le Bourget (p. 369). The line to 8t-Andre-le-Gaz (p. 407)
diverges to the right; on the left is the Dent du Nivolet (p. 361).

9 M. Chambery. -^Buffet, L. 3, D. 4 fr. - Hotels. *Hdt. de France
(PI. a; B, 3), 5 Quai Nozin, near the Boulevards, good, R. from 4, B. VI.,,

L. 4, D. 41/2, oiiin. 1 fr. : Hot. des Princes (PI. e; B, 4), R. from 4, B. l'/.",

L. 3V2, D- 4 f r. ; Hot. Terminus (PI. c; A, 3), opposite the station, good,
R. from 4, B. l'/2, L- ^1/2, !>• 4 fr. ; Hot. de la Poste & Metropole (PI. b ; B,4),
9 Rue d'ltalie, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Commerce (PI. d

;

B, 4), 8 Rue Vieille-Monnaie, R. 2-3, L. or D. 2Vo fr. ; Hot. de la Croix-
Blanche, 39 Place d'ltalie (PI. C, 4), plain but good, R. 2, L. or D. 21/2 fr.

Cabs. Per drive, witli one liorse 3/4, two horses 1, at night (10-6) 1

and 11/4 fr.
;
per hour 2 or 3, at night 2'/2 or 3'/2 fr. - (iaraoe. J. Salamo,

Rue St-Antoino. - Tramways to Cludletf and CJiignin-les-MarcJie.<t, to Le
Bourget, to La Motte-Servolex, and to St-Cassin, see p. 361.

23*
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Post & Telegkaph Office (PI. B, 4), Boul. de la Colonne. — Stndicat
d'Initiative (PI. 7; B, 4), Place Octogone.

—

Baths, 17 Rue d'ltalie.

Chambery (885 ft.; pop. 22,958), on the Leysse, formerly the

capital of Savoy, is now that of a department formed out of the

duchy ceded to France, along with Nice, in 1860. It is also the

seat of an archbishop. Chambery is both an intellectual and an indus-

trial centre, with an academy and silk-gauze and other factories.

From the station (PI. A, B, 3) the Rue Sommeiller leads to the

left to the bridge, beyond which are the boulevards extending to

the theatre. By the bridge rises the Monument du Centenaire
(PI. 2; B, 3), recalling the first annexation of Savoy to France in

1792. The Rue St-Antoine leads hence straight on to the church
of Notre-Dame (PI. B, 4; 17th cent.). Farther on in the boulevard
rises an elephant-fountain (PI. 1 ; B, 4), with a statue of Gen. de
Boigne (d. 1830; see below), who acquired a large fortune in India

and bequeathed part of it to the town.— The Rue De Boigne, flanked

with arcades, passes near the Hotel deVille (PL B, 4; right) and
the Cathedral of St-Francois (PI. B, 4 ; left), of the 12th-15th cent.,

with cloisters to the left of the entrance. At the end of the street,

in front of the chateau, is a monument (PI. 4; A, 4) to Joseph and
Xavier de Maistre (1754-1821 and 1763-1852), by E. Dubois.
The old Archeveche (PI. B, 4) now contains a Musde Savoyard.

The Cliatea-u (PL A, 4) was founded in the 13th cent., but three

towers, a block next the town, and the Sainte-Chapelle (16th cent.;

fine Gothic apse) are the only old parts. Visitors may ascend the

W. tower (fee; fine view). At the top of the approach from the

Rue du Lycee, near this tower, is the Portail St-Dominique (PL

6; A, 4), removed from a 15th cent, convent. Behind the chateau

is a Botanical Garden, with a small natural history museum (PL

5 ; A, 5).— AVe may return towards the station by the Rue du Lyc6e
and the Palais de Justice (PL A, 3). Behind the latter is a Jardin
Public, with a statue oiAnt. Favre (1557-1624), the jurist (p. 373).

In the Place du Palais-de-Justice is the Mus6e (PL A, B, 3;

open to strangers daily from 9 on application to the concierge).

On the ground-floor are relics from lake-dwellings in the Lac du

Bourget, a relief-plan of the French Alps, plaster casts, etc. ; the

first floor contains the library (open on week-days, except Mon.,

9-12 and 2-5), the second a picture-gallery of little interest.

The Environs of Chambery are charming. To the S., Les Charmettes
(beyond PL C, 5; 1 hr. there and back; carr. 21/2 fr. ; adm. 1/2 fr.), a country-
house, little altered since it was the abode of Rousseau and Mme. de Warens
(1736-40). "We may return via the Fontaine St-Martin (PI. C, 5; view).

On a height, 25 min. N.E. of the station, is the church of Mmenc
(PI. B, 2), containing the tomb of Gen. de Boigne (see above). The crypt,
partly Carlovingian, was built on the ruins of a temple of the Roman
Lemincum. Mme. de Warens is said to be buried in the cemetery. Fine
views from the (Jalvaire (PI. B, 2), to the N., and from the Pare and
Colline de Limenc (1 hr.).
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Other walks: To the Buisson-Bond, a pretty park 20 min. E.; the

Cascades de Jacob, V2 hr. S.W. (tramway to St-Cassin, see below); the

chapel of St-Saturnin, IV4 hr. X.: the Bout dn Monde, a gorge of the

Doria, 1 hr. N.E., at the foot of 3[ont Pennay (4500 ft.), with a waterfall.

To the S.E. of Chambery (31A2 M.; tramway from the station in

35 min., 40 c.) are the baths of Challes-les-Eaux (1075 ft.; Hot. dii

Chateau & Grand-Hotel, beyond the baths, P. 9-15 fr.; Hot. Chateaubriand,

de France, du Centre, de I'Europe, all in the village; Hot. des Bains,

opposite the Etablissement). The cold springs, impregnated with sulphur,

are beneficial in cases of scrofula, skin-diseases, tuberculosis, and maladies

of the respiratory and the digestive organs. In a park are the Etablisse-

ment (bath 2, buvette 10 fr.) and the Casino (adm. IV2 fr.). — The tramway
goes on to Chiqnin-les-Marches (V4 hr. ; see below).

Tramway from the station to (7 M.) Le Bom-get (p. 369). — Another
tramway runs to St-Cassin, 21/2 M. to the S.W., and to La Motte-Servolex
(hotels and cafes), 3 M. to the JST.W.

The ascent of the Dent du Nivolet (5095 ft. ; fine view) takes

41/2-5 hrs., incl. a drive of 3 hrs. to Les Deserts. Shorter (4 hrs.) but
steeper ascent via Lovettaz, on the "W. On the summit is a huge cross.

—

Cascade de Couz, see p. 407.

From Chambery to Lyons via St-Andri-le-Gaz, see pp. 407, 406; via

Cidoz and Amberieu, see pp. 359, 315, 314, 256; to Grenoble, see E. 591;
to Albertville, etc.. seep. 380. — Motor-omn. to Aix-les-Bains and Grenoble
(Route des Alpcs), see p. 422.

From Chambery to the Grande-Chartreuse. (1) Via Les Echelles;
motor-omn. as far as (171/2 M.) St-Laurent-du-Pont, see p. 370; thence to

the monastery, see p. 420. '—(2) Via St-Beron, 141/2 M- from Chambery by
railway; tramway from St-Beron to St-Laurent-du-Pont, see p. 407; thence
as above. — (3) Via the Col du Frene (Route des Alpes, see p. 340). Road
to Bdlecombette, Savon, the tunnel of the Pas de la Fosse, Pavilion
BeUeviie, and the (91/2 M.) Col du Frene (nH20 ft. ; namesake, seep. 370);

then to (121/.^ M.) Entreraont-le-Vieux and (15i/q M.) St-Pierre-d'Entremont
(p. 407), and across the (20i/.^ M.) Col du Cucheron (3545 ft.) to (221/2 M.)
St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse, where we reach the Le Sappey road (p. 422).

Lastly to the (251/2 M.) monastery (p. 421).

Beyond Chambery, on the right, rises Mont Granier (p. 433).

— 15 M. (from Aix-les-Bains) Chignin-les-Marches. Tramway to

Chambery, see above; omn. to Chapareillan, see p. 433. On the

left is the ruined Chateau de Chignin.

17^2 M. Montmelian (920 ft.; Buffet; H6t. Chavez, Berthier),

a little town on the hillside, 1/4 hr. to the right, with a ruined castle.

Line to Grenoble, see R. 591.—-Fine view of the A-^alley of the here,

which the train ascends.— 20 M. Cruet.

24 M. St-Pierre-d'Alhigny (970 ft.; H6t. de la Gare, Central),

junction for Albertville (p. 380). The town (1340 ft.; pop. 2746) is

11/4 M. to the N". ; to the N.E. (50 min.), on a bold rock, stands

the picturesque ruined Chdteau de Miolans, a state-prison in the

1 6th-18th cent., partly restored. To the S. of the station is (1^/4 hr.)

the village of Colse (Hot. -Rest. Manipoud), with mineral springs

(cure for goitre). To Le Chatelard via the Col du Frene, see p. 370.

We turn to the right, cross the Isere, and pass through a

curved tunnel.— 277^ M. Chamousset (Hot. Christin, Taborin'i,

to the left, lies at the confluence of the Is^re and the Arc. Omii.

to La Rochette, see p. 433.
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The train now ascends the Maurienne, the narrow and pic-

turesque valley of the Arc, with busy factories and mines.

321/2 M. Aiguehelle (1065 ft.; Hot. de I'Union, de la Poste).

The Chdteau de Charbonniere, on a rock to the right, was the cradle

of the Counts of Savoy. On the same side, on the wooded slope, is

an iron-mine, with its cable-tramway and its furnaces conspicuous

at night. Higher up is the Fort de Montg'dhert (4510 ft.), opposite

those of Alton and Montperche on the other side of the valley.

On our left rise the Grand-Arc and the Bellachat (p. 381) ; be-

tween which lies the Col de Basmont leading to the Tarentaise

(Cevins, p. 381). We cross the river.— 3872^1- Epierre (Hot.

Audreys), with a ruined castle and granite quarries. We see on the

right the conical Grand-Miceau (8815 ft.) and the Pic du Frene

(p. 435).— 461/2^- St-Avre-la-Chambre (Hot. Jay). To the Taren-

taise over the Col de la Madeleine, see p. 382; to Rochetaillee-

Allemont over the Col du Glandon, see p. 437.-— We round the

Grand-Chatelard (see below), and recross the Arc.

53 M. St-Jean-de-Maurienne (1895 ft.; Hot. St-Georges, R.

2-4, L. or D. 3, P. from 7 fr.; Hot. de I'Europe, de la Gare; pop.

3327), 1/2 ^^' to the right, at the foot of the Grand-Chatelard, was

once the capital of the Maurienne. It is now the seat of a bishop.

At the top of the street leading up to it is a statue of Dr. Fodere
(1764-1836), the 'creator of legal medicine'. Opposite is the Eue
Neuve, flanked with arcades, leading to the Cathedral (12th and

15th cent.), with its large square tower. It contains 43 Gothic

^Stalls (15th cent.\ a Gothic ^Tabernacle in alabaster, and the tombs

of two bishops (15th and 16th cent.). On the N. of the church are

fine Cloisters (15th cent.), with alabaster arcades. (Apply at

the Mairie.)
Near the statiou, on the right bank, lies Echaillon, with mineral

springs (95") containing sulphates, soda, and magnesia.

Ascents. The Cheval-Xoir (9300 ft.; p. 383), 9 hrs. N.E., is ascend-

ed via the (31/2 hrs.) Pas de Roche, or Col de la Platiere, also called Col
du Bonnet d/i Pretre (about 65fi0- ft.) from a square rock I1/4 hr. on
this side of it, and via La Sau.sse and (2 hrs.) Deux-Nants (p. 883). —The
Grand-Perron des Encomhres (9275 ft.; p. 383; 61/2-7 hrs.) rises to the

E. ; we take the Modane road as far as (3V4 M.) St-Jidien, then a path
to Tourmenti(^ {i2bb ft.) and (6 hrs.) a chalet of the C.A.F., and reach the

top in 1/2 lir. more. We may ascend it also from St-Michel (p. 363) in 6 hrs.,

via the (4 hrs.) Col des' Encomhres (p. 383). —The Grand-Chatelard
(7045 ft.), 4 hrs. X.W., is reached via the Plan-du-ViUa?'d, Sous-la-C7'oio.',

(1 hr.) L'Eglise, Le Cruet, Iruil, and (IV2 br.) the Chalets de la Balme
or du SaiJey (5125 ft.). — The Pointe de V Ouillo7i (199() ft.), to the W., is

ascended by a bridle-path, passing Fontcouverte, La Rochette, the bridge
of the I'essuire, Les Comborsieres, and the Plan de la Guerre. Alter-
native descent via the Col du Glandon (p. 437).

From St-Jean-de-Maurienne to La Grave, via St-Jean-d'Arves and over
the. mountains, see pp. 363, 465, 466.

Motor-onin. to St-Michel-de-Maurienne, the Col dn Galibier, and
Brianqon (Route des Alpes), see p. 340.

Motor-omn. to Rochetaillee-Allemont and Grenoble, see pp. 435, 436.
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From St-Jean-de-Mauriesne to St-Jean-d'Arves, 16 M., a picturesque
route through the valley of the Arvan. An omn. plies dailv to (14 M.

;

4 fr.) St-Sorlin-cVArves^ passing (121/2 M.) Le Cluaahon, 1 M. to the W.
of La Tour, the chief hamlet of St-Jean-d'Arves (about 5080 ft. ; Hot.
Arlaud, Grand, both rustic, P. 6 fr. ; 1st cl. guide, B. Alex), a good centre
for excursions to the Aig. d'Arves (p. 464) and the Grandes-Rousses
(p. 448). Ascents : Puy-Gris (p. 435

;
guide 16-19 fr.) ; Rocher-Blanc (p. 434;

guide 13 fr.); Aiguilles cVArves (p. 464; guide to the Aig. Septentrionale
22-28, Centrale 30-38, Meridiouale 50 fr.). To (11-12 hrs.) La Grave, see
pp. 465, 466 and Map, p. 437. About 1 hr. above St-Sorlin-d'Arves (see
above), 20 min. from the Chalets de la Balme, is the Refuge Cesar-Diirand
of the C.A.F. (7150 ft.; keys, see p. 448), for the ascent of the Grandes-
Rousses, on the E. side, and of the Etendard (p. 449; 6 hrs.; guide 15 fr.).— The carriage-road is to be continued W. of St-Sorlin, by the Col de la

Croix-de-Fer, to the Col du Glandon (Allemont); see p. 437.

We cross the Arvan, a tributary of the Arc. The yalley con-

tracts to a defile. On the left rise the Grand-Perron des Enconibres

(p. 362) and Mont Brequin (10,480 ft.). On the right is the Fort
du Telegraphe (to the Galibier and Le Lautaret, see pp. 467, 466).

60 M. St-Michel-de-Maurienne (2330 ft.; Hot. des Alpes,

R. 21/0-4, L. 21'.,. D. 3. P. 5-7 fr.; Hot. Terminus, E. 2-5, L. 2V/„
D. 3, P. 5-8 fr.; Hot. Moderne, R. from 3, L. 3 fr.; Hot. de la Gare";

pop. 2480) consists of two industrial villages. To the Cols du Ga-
libier and du Lautaret (Route des Alpes), see pp. 467, 466. Grand-
Perron des Eucombres, see pp. 362, 383. Mont Thabor, see p. 364.— The line ascends.— 667, M. La Praz (3140 ft.).

7OV/2 ^^- Modane (Buffet, L. 4 fr.; Hot. International & Ter-
minus, good, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. or D. 3, P. 9-10 fr. ; Savoy Hotel,
R. from 2, B. V/^, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- 7-lOfr.; Hot. de la Poste, du
Commerce, des Voyageurs; 2nd cl. guide, Jos. F.Taburt; pop. 3260)
is the last French station. The town, 1/4 hr. from the station, lies

in a basin shut in by high mountains, except on the W. The station,

with the French and Italian custom-houses, is at Les Founieaux
(3525 ft.), a village (with paper-mills, etc.) sometimes called Mo-
dane-Gare. In 1906 the upper part of the village was swept away
by the torrent of Charmaix. The Mont-Cenls Tunnel (7^4 M. long)

begins near the station, but 240 ft. above it, so that the train has

to make a circuit of 3 M. to reach the entrance.
From Modane to (66 M.) Turin, see Baedeker's N. Italy. Central

European time, see p. 322. •

Excursions. A short stay may be spent in walking or driving
to the Cascade de St-BenoH (see below). We may return via the Pont
du Nant and tlie Mont-Cenis road (p. 864). — The Fr^jus road leads S.W.
to (IVa hr.) the pilgrimage-chapel of Notre-Dame-de-Charmaix (4950 ft.),

said to date from the time of Charlemagne. Beautiful view.
To Pralngnan, via the Col de Chavieres or the Col d'Aussois, see p. 400.
To Latislehourg, Moiit-Cenis, and Bonneval-sur-Arc, see R. 55.

From Mouane to Aussois, 6 M. by road. "Wo cross the Arc and turn
to the right (route to the Col de Chavicre to tlie left, see p. 400). We
pass Le Bonrget, then Arrienx, below on the riglit, where Cliarles the
Bald is said to have been poisoned, and (IV4 hr.) tlie picturesque ^Cascade
(le ,St-BcnoH, consisting of two falls (330 ft. ami 230 ft.). The road skirts the
"Id Forts de V Esseillon (1975 ft.), constructed l»y Piedmont after 1815.
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(Short-cut to the left.) A road to the right descends to the Pont du
Dioble. and ascends on the other side to rejoin the Mout-Cenis road at

the Pont du Xant (SVa M. from Modane
; p. 401). About ^/^ hr. farther is

Aussois (1720 ft.; Aub. Damevin; guides, Ant. Damevin and Jos.

Lathoud). Rough path bj- the (21/2 hrs.) Chalets des Fonds (7655 ft.) to

(11/2 hr.) the Col d'A?/ssois (p. 400; 7 hrs. more to Pralognan). From the

Chalets des Fonds we may ascend in 2 hrs. to the Col du Rateau-d' Aussois
(see below), or in 2 hrs. to the Roche Chevriere (10,770 ft. ; *View),
E. of the Col d'Aussois.

The ascent of the Dent Parrach^e (12,180 ft.), the highest of the

Vanoise group, X.E. of Modane, takes about 10 hrs., with guide, prefer-

ably in June or July, while there is still snow. We drive to (6 M.) Aus-
sois (see above), then mount X. to the (2V2 hrs.) Chalets du Plan-Sec
(8470 ft. ;

quarters) or to the (21/2 hrs.) Chalets de la Fonrnache (quarters),

then X.E. by the (3 hrs.) Col de Labby or de VArpont and the S.W. arete to

the (21/2 hrs.) summit. The superb *View includes the entire Vanoise group
and also the MaurJenne, Tarentaise, and Haut-Dauphine Mts. The descent

may be made to (6 hrs.) Pralognan (p. .898) or to (5 hrs.) Termignon (p. 401).

— The Pointe de I'Echelle (11.260 ft.; p. 398; 6-61/2 hrs.; guide 25 fr.),

E. of the Col de Chaviere, is fatiguing, but not difficult for practised

climbers. We bear to the right, short of the col. to the (3 hrs.) Lac de
la Partie (8085 ft.), from which we reach (I1/4 hr.) a large snow-couloir,

taking 50 min. to ascend. Thence to the top in 1 hr. by the arete and E.

face. Another route (7 hrs.) mounts to the X.. beyond the first torrent

after the Pont de Loutraz (p. 400), past the (2 hrs.) Chalets de Lorgere
and the (1/2 l"".) Fontaine Froide, and towards the Aignille Doran
(10,005 ft.; 6-7 hrs. from Modane; very difficult; guide 50 fr.). At the

head of the valley we turn to the right towards the (2 hrs.) Col dn
Rdteau-d'Aussois {Col de la Masse on the Etat-Major map), between the

Rateau-d' Aussois (see below), on the S., and the Pointe de I'Echelle,

farther off to the X., the top of which is reached in 21/2 hrs. more.

Splendid *View.- The Rateau-d'Aussois (10,255 ft.; i/o from the Col

du Rateau; guide 15 fr.) also affords a fine panorama. —The Pointe
R^nod (11,065 ft.; guide 25 fr.) takes about 7 hrs. from Modane. We
follow the Col de Chaviere route (p. 400) to a point a little beyond Polset

fp. 400), descend to the left, and (31/4 hrs.) cross the stream; we then

have a fatiguing climb to the (I1/2 hr.) Glacier de Chaviere, up which
we reach (I1/4 hr.) a first peak and then the (1 hr.) summit. *Yiew of the

Dauphine Alps. — Aiguille de Peclet (11,700 ft.; 8V/2 hrs.; guide 25 fr.).

We follow the preceding route to the Glacier de Chaviere, which we
ascend X., in view of the S. peak; then an easy climb over debris on the

S. side to the S. peak, and in 1/2 hr. more to the X. peak (p. 398).

The Aiguille and Dome de Polset (11,595 ft. and 11,510 ft.; 8 and
81,2 hrs.

;
guide 25 fr.) are easy, but more toilsome than from Pralognan

(p. 398). To the Col de Chaviere,' 5 hrs., see p. 400; then up the arete

to the Glacier de Polset or de Chaviere: next an ascent over gently

sloping neve and loose rocks, easy but fatiguing, direct to the Dome
(about 3 hrs.); lastly. 1/0 hr. more to the Aiguille.

The *Mont Thabor (10,435 ft.; 8 hrs.; guide 30 fr.), an easy climb,

practicable for mules, takes a whole day. We ascend, S.W., the Frejus

military road through the (I1/2 br.) hamlet of Charmaix (aub.), with its

pilgrim"-shrine (p. 363), and up the Combe de la Grande-Monta'gne to (2 hrs.)

Le Lavoir. [The road goes on to the Col de Frejus (8370 ft. ; 41/2-5 hrs.

from Modane), S.W. of the Pointe de Frejus (9660 ft.), which we may
ascend from the col (1 hr.). From the col down to Bardonecchia (p. 447), foot-

path in 21/2 hrs.] — Our path diverges at Le Lavoir and continues to ascend

the Combe. After 1 hr. we leave on the left the path to the Col de la Yallee-

Etroite. [The Col de la ValUe-Etroite (8020 ft.), on the frontier, 10 min.
from the bifurcation, descends into the Vallee Etroite (p. 447), which
turns X.E. and ends at (31/0 hrs.) Bardonecchia.]—We next pass between
the curious Roche de Seru, or La Muande (9480 ft.), and the (V2 hr.)
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pretty Lac Peyron or Peyrot (8005 ft.), turn to the left across the (3/4-

1 hr.)' C'ol de la Muande (view), and join a path coming up the valley

and leading to a chapel near the summit. Mont Thabor is a magniticent

point of view for the frontier-region. The panorama includes the Pelvoux
group and notably the Ecrins. The chapel is a great pilgrim-resort, espe-

cially on the Sun. 'after St. Bartholomew's Day (24th Aug.). — To the N. of

Mont Thabor, separated from it by an abyss, towers the Pic du TTiabor

(10,515 ft.), of which the ascent is more difficult. —We may descend the

Vallee Etroite to Melezet and Bardonecchia, or we may cross the Col du
Vallon, the Col des Thures. or the Col de VEchelle (p. 447) to Nevache
(p. 447).— An easy descent from Mont Thabor leads S. to (6hrs.) NH-ache
(p. 447), and thence to Briancon (p. 445); another, IST.W., to (4 hrs.) Val-
meinier, a village 51/2 ^f- to the S. of St-Michel-de-Maurienne (p. 363).

b. Via Macon, Lyons, and Culoz.

From Paris to Lyons, 318 M., see p. 201. — From Lyons to Modane,
1471/2 M., railway in 5 hrs. 26 to 7 hrs. 15 min. (26fr. 65 c., 18 fr., llfr.SOc).

From Paris to Lyons via Macon, see R. 30 a; thence to Am-
herieu, see p. 256. From Amberieu, where we join the preceding

route, to Culoz and Modane, see pp. 314, 315 and R. 49a.

50. Aix-les-Bains and Environs.
Hotels, mostly closed in winter (comp. p. 866). Luncheon usually

at 12, dinner at 6.30 or 7. Omn. I-21/2 fr-

Of the highest class: *Regina Hotel Bernascon (PI. rb; C, 5), Boul.
de la Roche-du-Roi. S. of the n;irk. R. from 7. B. 2, L. 5, D. 8 (wine extra),

P. from 18 fr.; *H6t. Splendidc-Royal & ExceUior (PI. se; C, 4), Rue
Georges-Premier, two houses well situated above the town, R. from 7,

B. 2, L. 41/2. r>. 61/., P. from 14 fr. ; *H6t. Mirabeau (PI. d; C, 2), Boul.
des Cotes, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8 (wine extra), P. from 18 f r. ; *H6t.
de VEurope & Villa Victoria (PI. ev; B, 3), Rue du Casino, R. from 7. L. 4,

D. 6, P. from 14 fr.; *Grand-Hdtel d'Aix (PI. f ; B, 3), Place du Revard,
opposite the park, R. from 8, B. li/.^, L. 4-5, D. 5-6, P. from I61/2 fr.

;

*Gr.-H6t. Astoria & de VAi-c Romain (PI. a: B, 3). opposite the Etablisse-
ment, R. from 8, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8 (wine extra), P. from 15 fr.; *Hdt. d' Al-
bion (PI. e; C, 4), on the hill above the park, R. from 6, B. 13/4, L. 5, D.
from 6, P. from 15 fr. ; *H6t. Beausite (PI. b; C, 4), 7 Boul. de la Roclie-
du-Roi, also above the park, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6 (Avine extra), P.
from 14 fr.; Hot. Bristol & Vemit (PI. bv: B, 2, 3), 2 Av. Victoria; Gr.-H6t.
du Nord & Grande-Bi-etagne (PI. ng; B, 3), Rue du Casino, R. from 5,

B. li/i, L. 41/2, D. 5 (wine extra). P. from 12 fr.; *Gr.-Hdt. du Louvre &
Savoy Hotel (PI. Is; B, 4), 19 Av. de la Gare, R. from 5, B. IV-,, L. 4,

D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. Lamartine (PI. 1; B, 3), Place du
Revard; Hot. Mi^tropole (PI. m; B, 3). 25 Rue du Casino, R. from 4, B. li/.*,

L. .31/2, D. 41/.,, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. Mercedes (PI. i; A, 4), Rue Garrod,
R. from 4, B. II/4, L. 31/.,, D. 41/2, P. from 10 f r. ; International Palace
Hotel (PI. ip; A, 3), 33 Av. de la Gare, R. from 4, B. li/.^, L. 4 or 5,

D. 5 or 6 (wine extra). P. from 10 or 12 fr. ; Hot. Terminus (PI. t; A, 3),

Boul. de la Gare, R. from 4, B. li/.^, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 8 fr.

First and second class: Hot. dea Bergues <€• New York Hotel (9\.hn;
B. 4), 11 Av. de la Gare, R. from 4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 9fr.;
Hot. du Pavilion (PI. p; A, 3, 4), opposite the station. R. from 31/.^, B. li/^,

L. 4 or 5, D. 5 or 6 (wine extra), P. from 11 fr.; Hot. Beausejovr (PI. k;
C, 3), Boul. Berthollet, B. I'/a, L. 31/2. !>• 4'/', P- f'om 9 fr. ; Hot. Cosmo-
politain (PI. c; A, 3, 4), Av. de la Gare, R. from 5, B. Vj., L. 4, D. 5,

P. from 10 fr.; Hot. des Avibassadeurs & Gaillard (PI. ga;" B, 3), 2 Rue
Daquin, R. from 3'/2, B. I'/a, L. 3, D. 31/., (wine extra), P. from 8fr.;
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Hot. de Paris (PI. u; B, 3), 9 Rue Daquin, R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4,

P. from 101/2 fr-; Sot. des Iles-Britanniq nes (PI. ib: C, 3), R. from 3,

B. IV4, L. 3. D. 4, P. from IOV2 fr., Hot. de VEtahlissevient-Thermal
(PI. et; C. 3), R. from 3i/->, B. li/o, L. 3V2-4, D. 41/2-5, P. from IO1/2 fr.,

both X. of the Etablissement; Hoi. Richemond (PI. r; C, 3), Hot. Chabert
& des Bains-Romains (PI. o; C, 3), both S. of the Etablissement; Hot. de
la Poste (meuble: PI. q. B 3). 14 Place Carnot, good. R. from 31/.,. B. IVgfr.;
Hot. du Pare (PI. s: B, 4), 28 Rue de Chamberv, R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. 31/2,

D. 4. P. from 8 fr.; Hot. de Beaidien (PI. h; A, 3, 4), Av. de la Gare, P.
from 9fr.; Hot. de Geneve (PI. v; B, 3), 1 Rue du Casino, R. from 21/2.

B. 3/4, L. 3, D. 31/2, P. from 7 fr.; Hot. des Bains (meuble; PI. w, B 3),

R. from 3 fr. ; Hot. Continental (P\. g; B. 4), 2 Rue de Chamberv, R. from
21/.,, B. 1. L. 21/.^. D. 31/.^, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. de la Cloche (PL x; A, 3),

27 Boul. de la Gare, R. from 4, B. 1, L. 3. D. 4 fr. ; Hot. de Marlioz (Pl.y;
B, 5). 9 Av. de Marlioz; Hot. des Deux-JIondes (PI. dm; A. 4), Av. Marie;
Hot. de la Paix & Windsor (PI. pw; A, 3), 17 Rue Davat. R. from 3,

B. 11/,, L. 31/2, D. 31/2. P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. Germain & Chdteaii-Durieux
(PI. g'd; B, 2), 3 Boul. des Cotes. R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3. D. 4 (wine extra),

P. from 8i/2fr.; Hot. Gallia & Beaiisejour. Boul. de Chantemerle; Hot.
de Rnssie & des Colonies (PI. re: B, 2), 52-54 Rue de Geneve. R. from 3,

B. 11/2. L. 3, D. 31/2 (^vine extra).' P! from 8 fr. ; Hot.-Pens. Folliet & de
France (PI. ff: B, 2). 4 Rue Lamartine; Hot. du Centre (PI. z; B, 4), Place
du Revard. opposite the park, well spoken of. R. from 3. B. 1. L. 2i/o,

D. 3, P. from 8fr.; Hot. de V Union & de BtUevue, 82 Rue de Geneve;
Hot. Wagram & dc^ Alpes, Rue Lamartine; Hot. de la Regence, Av. de la

Gare; Hot. de la Couronne. Rue Centrale. R. 3. L. 3, D. 4fT. — At Tres-
serve (p. 369): Hot.-Pens. du Bois-Lamartine . quiet and good.

Open the whole year: Regina, Mirabeau, Albion, International Palace,

Pavilion, Cosmopoli'tain, Ambassadeurs, Cloche, Russie, Couronne. and
several small hotels near the station.

Villas, Pessioks. and Fursished Rooms also abound. House-agents:
Jlermoz. Rue Davat: Balozet. Rue Centrale; Gaime, Rue des Bains.

Restaurants. At the Hotels Splendide-Roijal (L. 6, D. 8 fr.), Europe
(L. 6. D. 8 fr.), Louvre, Pavilion (L. 4, D. 5-6 fr. ; in the Taverne 21/2 and
3 fr.), Cloche, etc. ; also at the Grand-Cercle and Villa des Fleurs (p. 367);

Xicota's, Rue du Casino: Philijjps', Av. des Fleurs ; London House, Av.
Victoria, D. 5 fr. ; Rest.de la Renaissance, Brasserie Russe (L. 21/.2, D.
3 fr.), both in the Av. de la Gare.— At the Grand-Port (p. 368): BeauUeu
aL-ad. Beau-Rivage. to the right of the tramway terminus; Belles-Rives, to

the left (D. 4 fr.). — Cafes. Grand-Cafe, Place Carnot; Cafe du Centre,

Place du Revard; etc. — Cokfectioxer. Rumpjehnayer, 10 Av. Marie.

Etablissement Thermal (closed 11 -2 and after 5 p.m.). Baths,
douches, etc., i/o-S fr. ; chair to bath and back 2-31/2 fr.: drinking-water
5-10 c. per glass (subscription 5-6 fr.). — Adm. to the Grottoes (6-11 and
1-5.30) 50 c. : during illumination (Mon. 2-5) 1 fr.

Cabs in the town, per drive, 1-2 pers. I1/2-21/2 fr., 3-4 pers. 2-31/2 fr.

;

per hour 3 and 41/2 fr. ; at night (10-6) one-half more; trunk 50 c.

Garages. Majestic. Av. de la Gare ; Moderne, Av. de Marlioz

;

Eurojje. Rue du Temple; A. Domenge, Place du Commerce; American
Garage, Rue Cabias. — Excursiox Motors daily from the Place du Revard.
Place Caruot. Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville. and Cook's office. Details and
fares are given in the programmes.

Motor Omnibuses. From the Place du Revard (PL B, 3, 4): to the

Grand-Port (bevond PL A, 1: p. 368); to the Petit-Port (bevond PL A, 2);

to Marlioz (beyond PL B, 5: p. 368).— From the Hotel de Ville (PL B. 3)

to the Pont de Pier-re and Gresy-Cascade (beyond PL B, 1 ; p. 368). —
Rack-and-Pixiox Railway to the Revard, see p. 369.

Casinos. Grand-Cercle and Villa des Fleurs; adm. 2. from 16th

April to 31st May 1 fr. ; season-ticket for both 30 fr.

Post & Telegraph. Office (PL B, 3), 7 Rue Davat.
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Banks. Credit Lyonnais, Society Generale, 8 and 12 Place Carnot;
Comptoir d'Escompte, Rue du Casino. — Stndicat d'Initiative, at the

Hotel de Ville. - Tocrist Agencies. Comp. des Wagons-Lits, Sq. du
Teraple-de-Diane : Hamburg-American Line. Place Carnot; Thos. Cook
& Son, 90 Rue du Rhone.

Anglican Cliurch. {St. SwithiTi's; PI. B, 2), Rue du Temple ; chaplain,

Rev. John E. Kent; services in summer at 8, 10.30, and 5.

—

Scottish
Presbyterian Service in Mav and June (at 10.30) at the Asile Evangeliqne,
Boul. du Pare (PI. B, 3).

Golf Links at Marlioz (see p. 368). — Lawn Tennis at Marlioz and
in the park (PI. B, 4).

Aix-les-Bains (800 ft.
;
pop. 8934) is well situated, 1^4 ^i- fi'om

the Lac du Bourget, in a plain environed by mountains, and has a

mild climate, the mean temperature being 50°. It owes its fame to

its warm sulphur springs, called by the Romans Aqiise Domitiaiise,

afterwards Gratianas. Neglected in the middle ages, Aix began to

be frequented again in the 17th cent., and is now a fashionable

watering-place, with over 35,000 visitors annually. The season lasts

from April to Oct., and is at its height from July 1st to Sept. 15th.

The Av. de la Grare leads to the Place du Revard (PI. B, 3, 4),

near the Park (PL B, C, 4), the chief ])romenade of the town. To
the left diverge the Rue du Casino, the main street, and, a little

higher up, the Rue Centrale, leading to the Place Carnot (PL B, 3).

The Rue des Bains ascends thence to the Etablissement Thermal
(PL C, 3), a modern and well-organized bath-house, open all the

year round. It is supplied by two copious springs, the Fontaine

St-Paul, or Eau d'Alun (117°)^ and the Eau de Soufre (115°). The
treatment, chiefly for rheumatism and skin-diseases, consists in

douches, massage, and baths. The Eau des Deux-Reines (p. 369)
and the Eau de St-Simon (p. 368) are used for drinking also.

Ahove the Etablissement, to the right, is the entrance to the Grotte
St-Faul (PLC, 3; adm., see p. 366), a long subterranean gallery. — To
the S. of the park is the Institiit Zander, for 'mecanotherapie'.

In front of the Etablissement rises the Arch of Campanus
(PL B, 3), 30 ft. high and 22 ft. wide, the monumental gateway of

a burial-place of the 3rd or 4th cent., erected by a certain L. Poni-

peius Campanus to his family.

The Hotel de Ville (PI. B, 3), close by, once the chateau of

the Marquis d'Aix (16th cent.), with a handsome staircase, contains

the small Musee Lepic, a collection of antiquities, chiefly relics

from the lake-dwellings of the Lac du Bourget, Roman inscriptions,

and faience (open daily, 9-11 and 1-4; 25 c). Part of it occupies

the remains of a temple of Diana or Venus.
The Grand-Cercle (PL B, 3; p. 366), founded in 1824, is a

richly ornamented building, dating from the days of public gam-
bling. Play still goes on, but among members only; fetes and con-

certs are also given here. The Villa des Fleurs (PL A, 3; p. 366),
a club similar to, and now amalgamated with the Grand-t'erde,
has a beautiful gardou.
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In the Av. du Lac (PL A, 1) are the new Hospital and Sana-
torium, built and presented to the town by Mr. Pierpont Morgan.

To the S. of Aix, on the shady Chambery road, lies (1 M.) Marlioz
(omn.. see p. 366), with a beautiful park and three cold sulphurous springs,
used for drinking and inhaling, and thus supplementing the Aix springs,
which are little used for drinking The Etalalissement is closed from 11

to 1.30.— To the W. of the road are a race-course and golf-links. — About
1/3 M. beyond the omnibus terminus is the Chanmiere Savoyarde, or model
of a Savoy cottage, artistically fitted up. — We may drive also to Marlioz
by the Boul. de la Roche-du-Roi (carr. 2-3 fr. ; view).

Excursions from Aix-les-Bains.

The Lae du Bourget (p. 359), 2 M. to the W. of the town,

is reached by motor-omn. (p. 366) to the Grand-Port or Port
Puer, (rest., see p. 366; bath 75 c). Steamers make the circuit of

the lake several times daily in summer (3 fr. return).

In fine weather trips are made also to Boiirdeai/, Le Bourget (v. 869;
3 fr.), and to C'hanaz (cafe-rest.), on the left bank of the Rhone, by the
Canal de Savieres (p. 359; 3 or 4 fr.).

Boat (with two rowers; bargain necessary): 1st hr. 3, 2nd hr. 21/2, 3rd
hr. 2 fr. ; to Hautecombe (6 pers.) 9 fr. ; Bourdeau 5 fr. ; Le Bourget 8 fr.,

We may also drive to the abbey (21/4 hrs.), rounding the lake via
Chatillon (p. 359), the bridge over the Canal de Savieres, and Conjvx.

The Cistercian *Abbey ofHautecombe, rising picturesquely

on the X.W. bank of the lake, contains an interesting chapel, which

was the burial-place of the Princes of Savoy from the 12th cent,

till 1778, when the Superga near Turin was chosen for that pur-

pose. It was partly destroyed during the French Revolution, but

rebuilt in 1824-43'by King Charles Felix (d. 1831) and his widow,

Maria Christina of Naples (d. 1849), both of whom are buried here.

The chapel, the possession of which was secured to Italy by the

treaty ceding Savoy to France in 1860, is lavishly decorated and

contains upwards of 300 statues, besides reliefs and paintings.

Visitors are hurried through under the conduct of a monk (fee).

The royal apartments, which may be visited also, are very plain. A
little beyond the chapel is the. Cafe Yiannay. The entrance gateway,

on the N"., dates from the late 15th century. The Fontaine des

Merveilles, an intermittent spring, is 1/4 hr. from the abbey.
From Hautecombe we may go via Grateloup to the (2 hrs.) Col du

Chat (p. 369) and over it to the Le Bourget road.

The Gorges du Sierroz, l^/^ M. from Aix by the G-eneva

road, passing the Source de St-Simon (p. 367), are interesting.

Motor-omn. (p. 366) to the Pont de Pierre, at the entrance to the

gorge (going on to Gresy-Cascade). From the bridge a steam-launch

takes us to the other end (^/^M. ; l^/g fr.), where there is a gallery

above the torrent (adm. 1 fr.). We may go on to the mill and the

Cascade de Gresy (rest.; station, see p. 371). The omnibus ter-

minus is at Gresy-Cascade, 5 min. from the fall. The village of

Grresy-sur-Aix is 1 M. to the E., on the other side of the valley.

—

Gorges du Fier, see p. 371.
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The Colline de Tresserve (1180 ft.), S.W. of Aix, on the

lake, offers pleasant walks and views. On this hill, 1/2 hr. from Aix,

is the village of Tresserve, with an observatory (adm. 50 c), the

beautiful park of Queen Victoria (hotel, see p. 366), and the 'Bois

Lamartine' (no adm.). Drive round the hill 7-10 fr.

Le Bourget, Bourdeau, and the Col du Chat are usually

visited by carr. (20-25 fr.; excursion-motors daily, there and back

in 4 hrs., see p. 366).— The village of Le Bourget (785 ft.; London
Hotel, P. from 6 fr.; H6t. Giuet) lies at the S. end of the lake, at the

influx of the Leysse, 5^/2 M. from Aix (via Tresserve and the bank

of the lake), and 1^4 ^i- i^om Le Yiviers station (p. 359; tramway
to Chamb6ry, see p. 359). It has a ruined castle and a church in

the transitional and Gothic styles. The choir contains superb

13th cent, reliefs; the remains of the Gothic cloisters date from

the 14th cent.; the crypt, borne by mutilated antique columns, is

partly Carlovingian.— Bourdeau, or Bordeau (Rest. Foechat),

2^/2 M. farther, to the right of the road to the col, also has a mediaeval

castle (view). Boat, seep. 368; carr. 16-20 fr.— The Hotel-Pension

de la Dent-du-Chat (about 1970 ft.; R. from 3, L. or D. 2 fr.),

about 4^/2 M. from Le Bourget, is reached by a fine road winding

up to the W. of Bourdeau, and lies nearly opposite Aix. About
10 min. farther is the Col du Chat (2095 ft.; *View), on the long

narrow hill that separates the Lac du Bourget from the Rhone valley.

The Dent du Chat (4595 ft.), the chief peak uear the col, though not
the summit of the ^Io7itagne du Chat (4910 ft.), may be ascended from the

col in 3-31/2 hrs., but better direct from Le Bourget (3 hrs.). Road from
Le Bourget to the hamlet of Petit-Caton; then a zigzag track passing
above Le Bourget and ascending to the right to a (1-V4 hr.) spring. The top
is reached in 1 hr. more with the help of iron rods. *View, including
Mont Blanc; below us, on the W., lies the Rhone valley.

La Chambotte (Chalet-Rest. Lansard), 11 M. to the N. of Aix
(carr. as for the Col du Chat), lies at the N. end of the ridge of

Mont Gigot or de Corsuet (2765 ft.; hot.-rest.), a splendid point of

view. The road goes via the Pont de Pierre (p. 368), La Biolle,

and (7 M.) St-Ge^^main, passing on the right the ruins of Mont-
falcon and the Col de Cessens road (see below). From La Chambotte
we may descend to Chindrieux station and visit Chdtillon (p. 359).

The Col de Cessens (2795 ft. ; Rest, des Tours-de-C6sar), with

a grand view of Mont Blanc, is about 1 hr. from St-Germaiu (see

above). The Tours de Cessens or de Cesar are shapeless ruins.

The *Revard, or Grand-Revard (5070 ft.), part of the

Montagne de la Cluse (5145 ft.), rising above Aix on the S.E., is

ascended by a rack-and-pinion railway (6 M,), starting from a station

above the park (p. 367 ; ascent 1^/4 hr,, descent 1 hr. 5 min.; return-

fare 7, by the first morning-train 5 fr,). A clear day is essential for

the view.— 11/4 M. Mouxy (1350 ft.),— 2V2 M. Pugny (1890 ft,),

with the Source des Deux-Rcines (p, 367) and the Sanatorium-
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Hotel Pugny-Corbieres (2035 ft.; first-class).— 4 M. Pre-Japert

(3425 ft.). The line turns S. (view to the right), and we soon reach

the plateau of the Bevard (Grand-Hotel, with chalet-rest., R. from

3, B. V/.2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.~). The *Yiew is superb, especially

towards the Alps, with Mont Blanc rising like a gigantic wall of

snow. The tower offers no better view (adm. 50 c). Pleasant walks

may be taken on the plateau. The Revard is also visited for winter-

sports. The higher hill to the S., with a cross, is the Dent du Nivolet

(p. 361 ; 21/2 hrs.). Descent to Chambery (p. 359), about 4 hrs.

Walkers "may ascend the Revard via Mouxy (p. 369), Mentens, and a

path across the (3 hrs.) Col dn Perttdset (4615 ft.) to the top (1 hr. more).

Pont de rAbime, Grotte de Banges, and Le Chatelard.

—

Motor-omn. from Ais (Hot. de la Cloche, p. 366) to Le Chatelard in 21/4 hrs.

(return 6 fr.). Excursion-motors, see p. 366. — The road leads X.E. through
the Sierroz valley (Gresy, p. 368), then across the Bai/ges, or Beaiiges (about

3280 ft.), a picturesque rocky plateau, furrowed with ravines and relieved

v/ith rich pastures, a region to which the Revard (p. 369) and the Semnoz
(p. 375) also belong. The" (91/2 M.) Pant de VAhime is a suspension-bridge

over the gorge of the Cheran, 72 yds. long and 315 ft. high (rest.). The
road to it diverges to the left from the main road at La Ti'oppaz (Cnsy).

The Pont de Banges, 31/2 M. beyond La Troppaz, is a stone bridge across

the Cheran (cascades). From Jilartinod (aub.), 1/2 M. farther on, we may
ascend in 1/4 hr. to the Grotte de Banges (uninteresting). Beyond Martinod
is (I1/4 M.) the Pont de la Charniat or de f Etrier, where the Semnoz
road goes to the left (see below). By a mill near it is the Grotte du Pre-
Rouge, more interesting than that of Banges, but not easy of access. -

Lastlv, 18 M. from Aix, Le Chatelard ('2500 ft. ; Hot. de I'Harmouie,

P. from 41/2 fr. ; Hot. Alpin, R. I1/2-2, D. 21/2, P- 5-7 fr. ; Hot. de la

Poste), a little town in the heart of the Bauges, on a height skirted

bv the Cheran and crowned with a ruin (view). Excursions to the Trelod

(p. 377; 41/2 hrs., with guide). Semnoz (p. 375), Colombier (6725 ft. ; 3 hrs.),

etc. — The road goes on from Le Chatelard to (3 M.) Ecole (inn), the (8V-2M.)

*Coldu Frene (3135 ft.; hotel, P. from 51/., fr.), with a noted view of the

Isere valley, and (V2 br-) St-Pierre-d'Albigny (p. 361).

The Semnoz (p. 375) is visited from Aix by following the road to Le
Chatelard (motor-omn.. see above) as far as "the (141/2^.) Po7it de la

Charniat (see above), whence v.-e proceed to the left to (SVs M.) Leschanx
(p. 375). Fine view of the Lake of Annecy.

The Grrande-Ch.artreuse (p. 421) mav be visited by motor-omn.
(1st Julv to 15th Sept.: 32 M. in 2i/., hrs.; 12*, there and back 20 fr.; stay

of 8 hrs!). The route thither is via Chamberij {S^I.^M. ; p. 359), the Cascade
de Conz (p. 407), Les Echelles (22i/., M.

; p. 407), and St-Laurent-du-Po^it

(26 M.
; p. 420). The return (42 M' in 31/0 hrs. ; 14 fr.) is made via St-

Pierre-de- Chartreuse (21/2 M.
; p. 422), Si-Pierre-d' Entreviont (101/2 M.

;

p. 407), Les Echelles (18 M.
; p. 407), and thence as on the outward journey.

Motor-omn. from Aix-les-Bains to Grenoble via St-Pierre-de-Char-
tretise (Route des Alpes). see p. 340.

For the excursion to the Val du Fier (p. 371) circular tickets are

issued, incl. railway to Rumillv. brake from Rumilly to Seyssel, and rail-

way back to Aix (9 fr. 25, 7 ff. 15. 5 fr. 60 c).

From Aix-les-Bains to Annecy and Geneva, 62 M., railway
in 3 hrs. 45 to 4 hrs. 5 min. (11 fr. 35, 7 fr. 65 c, 5 fr.). Views to the right.

The journey may be broken at Lovaguy for a visit to the Gorges du Fier

(p. 371). If 'this "route be taken in the opposite direction there is a custom-
house examination on arrival at any station beyond Evires.— From 20th

June to 15th Sept. this journev may be made as far as (29 M.) Annecy by
the motor-omn. of the P. L. M! Co. (2 hrs. 20 min. ; 10, return 16 fr.), run-

ning via the Pont de V Abinie (9 M. ; see above) and the Col de Leschavx
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(2IV2M. ; p. 375), and returning (26V2 M., in 3 hrs. ; same fare) via the
Gorges du Fier (51/2 M. ; sei» below).

We leave the Culoz line (p. 359) on the left. The train runs at first

to the N., through \\\&' Sierroz valley. — 3 M. Gresy-^itr-Aix, with its

waterfall (p. 368) and old tower (80 ft.'; view, 50 c.).- 8 M. Athens (Hot.

de France). To the right is the Seninoz (p. 375); then, through a gap,
appear the Parmelan and Tournette (p. 376).

13 M. Rumilly (1135 ft. ; Hot. de la Poste, E. 2, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Com-
merce, D. 2-3 fr. ; Hot. du Cheval-Blanc, at the station; pop. 4147), a little

town of Roman origin, lies on the C'heran. Interesting excursion to the
N.W., by the Seyssel road, into the Val du Fier, the lower part of the
Fier valley; its most picturesque part is between (6 M.) St-Andre {BLOt.-

Rest. du Club-Alpin) and the Fortes du Fier, 21/2 M. farther on. Omn.
in summer from Rumilly in 21/4 hrs. to (10^12 M.) Seyssel (p-315; 2V2fr.);
motor-omn., see p. 374.

We cross the Cheran and turn E. into the pretty valley of the Fier.
On the left, a ruined castle. — 171/2 M. 2Iarcellaz-HanteiiUe. We enter
the romantic DeftU du Fier. On the left rises the Chdteav de Montrottier
(14th -16th cent.; shown in the absence of the owner). — 21 M. Loragny-
Gorges-du-Fier (rest, at the station, L. 2V2 fr- ; chalet-rest, at the entrance
to the gorge, L. 3-3V2 fr.) is the station for the *Gorges du. Fier (adm.
1 fr.), a grand ravine 10 min. W., well worth seeing.— Beyond Lovagny
we have a fine view, to the right, of the Parmelan, Semnoz, and Tournette.

25 M. Annecy (see below), to the right. French custom-house (see

below). [From Aknecy to Geneva by Road: motor-omn. twice daily, in

23/4 hrs. (3 fr. 60, return 5 fr. 90 c), to (21 M.) St-Jidien (p. 315), and
thence tramway to (6 M.) Geneva (p. 322). The chief sight is the *Pont
de la Caille, a suspension-bridge, 210 yds. long and 480 ft. high, across
the gorge of the Usses. Near it is La Caille (Hot.-Pens, do I'Etablisse-
ment), with sulphur-springs; omn. to Groisy-le-Plot-la-Caille (see below).]

The Geneva line turns N. into the valley of the Filliere.— HI M.
St-Martin-Churvonnex (1865 ft.). Ascent of the Parmelan, see p. 376.

—

From (35 M.) Groisy-le-PIot-la-<Jaille (2150 ft.) an omn. runs twice daily
to Thorens (Hot.-Pens, de Savoic), 4 M. to the E.. with a chateau; another
to (31/2 M.) La Caille (see above), to the W. — Bevond the Viadvc d'Evires
(160 ft. high), at (39 M.) Evires, the line reaches i'ts highest point (2515 ft.

;

custom-house, see p. 370). — We descend by a tunnel, and a great bend of

5 M. to the E., into the Arve valley (views). -45 M. St-Laiirent. Superb
*View to the riglit, backed by Mont Blanc.— - 48^2 M. La Roche, and thence
to Geneva, see pp. 317, 316, 824.

From Aix-les-Bains to Geneva via Cidoz, 54'/2 M., railway in 2-3 hrs.

(9 fr. 95, 6 fr. 70, 4 fr. 40 c.), see pp. 359, 315, 322.

51. Annecy and Environs.
Akkival. By railway, or hy motor-omn. from St-Julien, see above;

by tramway from Thones, see p. 378; by the lake, see p. 374. — Luggage
from Iteyond Evires (see p. 370) is exainincMl here. — Omn. from the station
to the steamer 40 c.; hotel-omn. 50 c. (luggage extra).

Hot?:ls. tmperial Palace, by the lake, at the E. end of the Av.
Eugene-Sue, with a park, open ApVil-Oct., R. 7-20, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7 (wine
extra), P. 15-60, omn. 2»/2 f r. ; Grand-Hotel & JJot. d'Angleterre (PI. a;
A, 1), 9 Rue Royale. well spoken of, R. from 31/2, B. l'/2, L- S'/a, I>- 41/2

(wine extra), P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. Verdun (PI. b; B, 1), Place du Theatre,
well spoken of, R. 4-15, B. I'/j, L- ^Va, I>- 41/2 (wine extra), P. 9-22, omn.
1 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. du jMoiit-Blavc {VI. c; A, 1), 6-8 Rue Vaugelas, well spoken
of, R. from 4, B. IV4, L. S'/j, I^- 4 (wine extra), P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. des
Ne'gociants (Pi. e; A, 1), 5 Rue Rovale, well spoken of, R. from 2V2, L- or
D. 3, P. from 81/2 fr. ; Hot. du Commerce (PI. d; A, 1, 2), 13 Rue Royale,
R. from 2, B. 1, L. 2'/2, !>• 3 fr. ; Hot. de la Gare (PI. g; A, 1), L. 2'/a,

Babuekek's Soutliorn France. 6th Edit.



372 Route 51. ANNECY.

D. 3 fr.. Hoi. Terminus (PI. f ; A, 1\ L. 3 fr., both opposite the station;

Hot. Bellevne, Place au Bois CPl. B. 2;. plain but good, B. 3/^, L. or D. 21/2-

3 ix.^ Hot. Beau-Rivage. at Le Grenier (coinp. Map), well situated on the

lake, 11/4 M. to the S.E. of the town (motor-boat from the Quai de la Tour-
nette 20 c), R- 4-8, B. I1/4, L. or D. 4, P. 10-14 fr.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. A, 1), 18 Rue Eoyale.
Cabs. With one horse, per drive V-j^, per hour 3 fr. ; with two horses

S and 4 fr. ; each addit. 1/9 hr. 1 or I1/2 fr. Special tariff outside the town.
Lake STEAJrERS, see p. 374,—Eowiue Boat ^/^-i fr. per hour, 4 fr.

per dav. — Motor Boat 4 fr. per hour.

Baths: hot, 34 Rue Yaugelas (PI. A, 1); cold, in the lake (PI. B, 2).

Stkdicat d'Ikitiatite (PI. B, 1), 1 Rue du Paquier. — Motor Omni-

buses, see p. 374.

AnnecAj (1470 ft.
;
pop. 15,622), an old-fashioned town, formerly

the capital of the County of Genevois, belonged, after 1401, to the
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Dukes of Savoy and then to the Kings of Sardinia, who ceded it to

France in 1860. It is now the chief town of the department of

Haute-Savole and the seat of a bishopric. It is beautifully situated

en the Lake of Annecy (p. 374), and is a pleasant place for some

stay. The picturesque old part of the tow-n is intersected by canals,

and several streets have arcades and vaulted passages.

The Eue de la Gare (PL A, 1) leads to the Rue Eoyale, where

we turn to the left. On the right is the curious Eomanesque leaning

tower of Notre-Dame-de-Liesse, with its pepper-box turrets. The
Rue Royale is continued by the Eue du Paquier, No. 15 in which

is the Hotel de Sales (17th'cent.). ji
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The Promenade du Paquier (PL B, 1), with its splendid

old trees, affords charming views of the lake and the Tournette.

At the entrance stands the monument of Eugene Sue (1804-57),

with 'a figure of the Wandering Jew (1907). To the right is the

Theatre, with a cafe; towards the middle of the grounds, on the

left, is the handsome Prefecture, in front of which rises a statue

of Sommeiller (1815-71), one of the engineers of the Mont-Cenis

Tunnel (p. 363). Farther on, near the lake, is a view-indicator.

The Rue Guillaume-Fichet diverges from the Rue de la Prefecture

(PI. B, 1) to a HaraSi or stud-farm (adm. 1 to 5 or 6).

Beyond the Canal du Vasse lies the Jardin Public (PI. B, 1, 2),

with a statue of BerthoUet (p. 375). Opposite is the He des Cygnes.

At the other end of the garden, near the Hotel de Ville, is a monu-
ment of President Carriot, once an engineer at Annecy.

The Hotel de Ville (PI. B, 2) contains the Library and a

Musee (open Sun., Tues., Wed., and Thurs. 9-12 and 1.30-4, and

in July-Sept, daily, except Mon. and Sat., 9-12 and 2-5), chiefly

illustrating the history, art, and industry of Savoy. — The church of

St-Maurice (PL B, 2), in the adjoining square, was founded in

1422 by Card, de Brogny, president of the Council of Constance.

The spacious nave contains a Descent from the Cross attr. to Pourbus

the Elder (1548). Fine sculptured pulpit of the 17th century.

From the exit of St-Maurice the street to the left leads to the

church of St-Francois, or Sainte-Source (Pl.B, 2), built in 1643-8,

but now secularized. Mme. de Warens (p. 360) abjured Protestantism

here in 1726. In the canal, nearly opposite, is the Palais de VIsle,

the old fortified mansion of the Counts of Genevois, built in the

13th cent, and now containing a small Musee Lapidaire (fee).

The Passage de Pile leads to the E. end of the Rue J. -J.-Rousseau,

by which, to the left, we reach the Cathedral of St-Pierre-es-Liens

(PL A, 2), founded in 1523, where Rousseau was once a chorister.

The former Eveche, adjoining, is now a school. We follow the Rue
J.-J.-Rousseau (No. 15, the Maison Lambert) to the Rue de la

Republique, which leads S. to the curious Rue Ste-Claire (PL A, 2),

flanked with arcades. No. 18 is the Maison Favre, once the seat

of the literary Academic Florimontaue, founded in 1606 {'2S years

before the Academic Frangaise) by St. Francis of Sales and Aftt.

Favre (p. 360). The street leads to the right to the Porte Ste-Claire

(15th cent.), short of which the Cote St-Maurice ascends to the Castle

(PL A, B, 2), with its square machicolated towers (14th-16th cent.),

now barracks. (Apply at the Caserne Decoux, PL B 1.) We may
descend, rounding the castle to the right, by the Faubourg Perri^re,

whose houses have wooden galleries and outside-stairs.

A convent to the S. of the town is the temporary resting-place

of the remains of St. Francis of Sales (d. 1622) and SL Johanna of

Chantal (d. 1641).
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Excursions from Annecy.
The Syndicat d'Initiative (p. 372) organizes (20th June to 30th Sept.)

excursions in motor-cars to the Gorges (In Fier (p. 371; 31/2 fr. return),

the Pont de la Caille (p. 371; 41/2^1-.), Thorens {^. 371; 41/2 fr.). the C'ret

duMaure (p. 375; 31/., ft.), the Val dit Fier (p. 371; 10 fr.), the Tournette
(p. 376; 10 fr.), La C'hambotte (p. 369; 10 fr.), etc. 'Cars alpins' also to

the Gorges du Fier and Po7it de la Caille (3 and 31/2 fr.). Circular ex-
cursion for v;hole day (18 fr. 45, 17 fr. 75 c.) : by railway to Ugines (p. 377),

by motor-omn. to Flumet (p. 378; luncheon), by motor-omn. over the Col
des Aravis to Thones (see pp. 380, 379). and back by tramway to Annecy
(see pp.379, 378). A similar excursion (15 fr.) is made bytramway to
Thones, and thence by motor-car to the Col des Aravis, Flumet, TJgines,
Serraval (p. 379), Thones, and back by tramway to Annecy.

Motor-omn. twice daily (4 fr. 40 c.) to Seyssel (p. 315), via Rumilly and
the Val du Fier (p. 371).

To Thones, see pp. 378. 379: to Aix-les-Bains, see pp. 371, 370; to

St-Jidien (Geneva), see p. 371.

Trip on the Lake. Steamers 12 times daily to the end of the lake in

1 hr. (I1/2 or 1 fr.); round the lake in 2-2i,/o hrs. (3 or 2 fr. ; ticket available
5 days). Restaurant on board (L. 3 fr., wine extra).

Cycle Excursion round the lake (231/2 M.), starting by the W. bank.

The *Lake of Annecy (1465 ft.), 9 M. long, 3/4-2 M. wide,

and 215 ft. deep, is enclosed by meadows, vineyards, and pretty

villages and villas, with a fine background of mountains. On the

left rise the Dents de Lanfon and the abrupt Tournette; on the

right the long range of the Semnoz.— The steamer, starting from

the pier in the Canal du Thiou (PL B, 2), near the Jardin Public,

steers across the lake to Chavoire (Pens. Villa du Belvedere, Hot.-

Pens. Brunet), then to Veyrler-du-Lac (Hot. du Mont-Baron, de

la Tournette). at the foot of the Yeyrier, with its caves {^j^ hr.).

The Mont-Baron (4265 ft.), the highest point of the Jloi^tagne de
Yeyrier, may be ascended in 21/2 hrs. by a path over the Col du Rampon
or des Contrehandiers (l^/o hr.). Splendid view.

From Veyrier we cross to Sevrier (p. 375), or go on direct to

Menthon-St-Bernard (1580 ft.; *Palace Hotel, 16th May to

31st Oct., E. 3-6, B. IV2, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. des

Bains, L. 2^/5, D. 3, P. from 6 fr. ; Hot. Beau-Sejour, P. from 5 fr.

;

Hot. des Glaieuls, P. from 6 fr.), a prettily situated village, a little

way from the lake, and sheltered on the N. On the bank are sulphur

baths and Roman remains. On a hill, 1V4^- to the E., is the old

Chdteau, where St. Bernard of Menthon, founder of the hospices on

the Great and Little St. Bernard, was born in 923. On the Hoc de

Chere (2110 ft.), between Menthon and Talloires, is the tomb of

H. Taine (1828-93), critic and historian.— The steamer goes on to

Talloires or crosses to St-Jorioz (p. 377).

Talloires (1570 ft.; Hot. Beau-Site, R. 3-6, B. IV4, L. 31/2,

D. 4, P. 7-12 fr.; Hot. de I'Abbaye, P. 7-9 fr.; Hot. Bellevue, open
the whole year, L. 2\/.,, D. 3 fr.j, the largest village on the lake, is

prettily situated and well sheltered from N. and E. winds by the

Tournette (ascent, see p. 376) and other hills. The old Benedictine
Abbey, founded in the 11th cent, and rebuilt in the 17th, is now a
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hotel (see p. 374). Berthollet (1748-1822), the chemist, was born

here. Charming view from the church of St-Germain, 40 min.

above the village. Road to the Col de la Forclaz, see p. 376.

—

Talloires, the finest point on the lake, lies at the entrance to a bay

hidden from Annecy by the Roc de Chere and the headland opposite.

On the latter lies Duingt (Hot. de I'Union; p. 377), a very pictur-

esque place, with a modern chateau. The steamer sometimes calls

at Bredaiinaz, then at Lathuile (5 min. from the station, p. 377).

To the Semnoz. We follow the road along the W. bank to

(3 M.) Sevrier, which may be reached also by railway (pp. 376,

377) or steamer (p. 374), then take the road to the right to the

(IO72M.J Col de Leschaux (2965 ft.; aub.), on the S.E. side, where

the steep and rough ascent (2-2^/4 hrs.) begins.
Carr. from Annecy to the col 12-15fr. ; motor-omn. (.S fr.) daily to

(IQi/oM.) Leschaux (3050 ft.; Hot.-Rest. de la Poste, L. or D. 2'/o fr.).

Excursion-ticket of the Syndicat d' Initiative (p. 372), incl. motor-drive to

Leschaux and hotel-accommodation, ISVj, fr. ; motor-drive and luncheon
only 8 fr. Horse or mule from Leschaux to the top 5 fr. We may reach
Leschaux also via St-Jorioz (p. 377). — From Aix-les-Baius to the Semnoz,
see p. 370.

The Cr6t du Maure (2570 ft.), the N. end of the Semnoz, S. of

AnnecV; offers shadv walks and charming views. Road to (IV4 hr.) the
Grande-Jeanne (2400 ft.), with a chalet-rest. (L. 21/2, I). 3 fr.); at the

(1 hr.) top is an observatory. Shady path thence (red arrows), via. Les
Pnisots, to (3 hrs.) the Cret de Chatillon (see below; guide useful). A
path, 1 hr. shorter, but steep and shadeless, ascends from Annecy via Ste-

C'atkerine, to the Cret de Chatillon.

The ^Semnoz (5590 ft.), a mountain with woods and pastures,

extends S. of Annecy, and W. of the lake, for about 10 M. About
12 min. before reaching the highest point, the Cret de Chdtlllon

(marked by a cross), we pass a good hotel (R. 3^^, L.
3Y._,,

D. 4,

P. from 121/2 fr. ; telephone), and near it a disused observatory.

Though not very high, the Semnoz is a famous point of view. The
panorama includes, from left to right, beginning on the N., the

Lakes of Geneva and Annecy, the Parmelan, Tournette, Mont Blanc,

the Dauphine Alps, Lac du Bourget, and the Jura.

To the Parmelan, another interesting excursion, bv a good

path. Chalet-hotel of the C.A.F. (bed 2, B. 1, L. or D. 4 fr.).

The finest route is via Dingy (reached by the Thones tramway,
1 fr. or 75 c; see p. 378) and La Blonnltre (2955 ft.), 3^2 M.
farther, 2^1.^-^ hrs. from the top (guide unnecessary from this side).

At the end of La Blonniere we turn to the left, descend to a brook,

and then ascend to the (V2 hr.) first plateau (3705 ft.; chalets).

A path through pines, to the right (line viewsi, brings us to the

('/4 hr.) Chalet Chapuls (4035 ft.) and (i/y hr.j the foot of the bold

rocks which inake the Parmelan look like a gigantic fortress. (Near
this point we join one of the paths coming up from Villaz, p. 376.)

We next ('/^ hr.) leave the Fetit-Montoir path on the left ('/.^ hr.

longer) and climb the Grand-Montoir by a zigzag path (' '._, hr.),

Baeuekek's Southern Franco, fith Edit. 24
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with steps and iron bars. In ^/^ hr. from the Grand-Montoir we
come to the chalet-hotel (p. 375), and in ^/^ hr. more to the summit
of the *Parm.elarL (6085 ft.), a grand, strange-looking mountain,

and one of the finest points of view in this region. No less strange

is the rocky plateau from which it rises. The panorama is similar

to that from the Semnoz, but more extensive, and Mont Blanc is

suddenly revealed as we reach the top. The plateau is a great chaos

of bare, crevassed rocks called 'lapiaz', of curious shapes, fringed

with pines, and containing ice-caverns.
The ascent of the Parmelan is made also via Naves, 50 min. N.E. of

Sio'-les-Bois (tramway, see p. 378); the path diverges to the right, on the
N. of the village, and ascends by the Chalet t'hapnis (p. 375) to the
top in 3 hrs. — Another route leads via Villaz (2315 ft.; Hot. -Rest, du
Chateau-de-Bonnatrait), about 1 hr. S.E. of St-Martin-Charvonnex (station,

see p. 371), whence the top is reached in 3 hrs. by the Grand-Montoir,
or in 31/2 Ills, by the Chalet de Disonche.

To the Tournette, an easy ascent, 6 hrs. from Talloires (p. 374),

Tliones (p. 379), or Giez (p. 377). Guide 10 fr., unnecessary.— From Tal-
loires (p. 374), whence the ascent is steepest, shortest, and most interest-

ing, we mount at tirst E. to St-Germain (p. 375); then, via the hamlets
of La Pirras, Verel, and La Sauphaz (road thus far), to the Col du
Najitet {4100 ft.). Thence, S., to the Chalets du Nantet or du Carabinier
and the Chalet du Loo or de V Haut (4510 ft.), 3 hrs. from Talloires. (The
Chalet du Loo may be reached more directly by a path diverging from
the Col de la Forclaz road, to the left beyond Rovagny, near a saw-
mill; see below.) We next mount to (1 hr.) the new Refuge de Blonay-
Dufour (5905 ft. ; 20 beds) and the Arpeiron, W. of the Vallee de Moiit-

rernont, at the foot of the sheer rocks of the Tournette, 1300-1600 ft.

high, up which a path climbs to the Fauteuil (see below). — From Giez

(p. 377) we go N. to (1/4 hr.) Vesonne, (I'/i hr.) Montmin (3430 ft.
;
quarters;

road thus.far), and the Chalets de Lars (quarters), whence a path mounts
in zigzags to the Fauteuil. It is preferable, however, to ascend from
Montmin to (11/2 hr.) the Chalet du Loo, and there join the path de-

scribed above. From Talloires also we may ascend to (3 hrs.) Montmin
via the Col de la Forclaz {S115 ft.; rest.; beautiful view of the lake).

—

From Thones (p. 379; guide advisable) we first follow the Faverges road
to (50 min.) Belchavip, on this side of the col; then ascend S.W. to

(about 21/2 hrs.) the Refuge du Rosairy (30 beds), where the toilsome part

of the ascent (2-21/2 hrs.) begins. The last part is made by iron ladders

to the Fauteuil. — Lastly, we may start from Morette station (p. 379)

and ascend via 2Iontremont (driving thus far from Thones) and the

(41/2 hrs.) Rochers de Montremont (dangerous path; guide necessary). — The
*Tournette (7735 ft.), a superb mountain, the chief in this region, rising

conspicuously from the Lac d'Annecy S.E. of the town, presents, like the

Parmelan, immense walls of rock with a plateau, from which rises a huge
rock, 100 ft. high and apparently inaccessible. This is the Fauteuil,
which can be ascended only by a chimney, with iron ladders fixed to the

rock. The view is still more extensive than from the Semnoz or Parmelan.
The Tournette, being almost opposite Mont Blanc, affords a detailed view
of it. Sunrise and sunset seen from this mountain are magnificent.

From Annecy to Albertville, 28V9 M., railway in about I1/2 hr.

(5 fr. 15, 3 fr. .50, 2 fr. 25 c). Views to the left. Or we may take the
steamer to Lathuile (see p. 375), and join the railway there.

The train diverges to the left from the Aix-les-Bains line (p. 37 1),

passes under the Cret du Maure (p. 375), and emerges on the W.
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bank of the lake. Charming views of the lake, the Veyrier, the

Tournette, and Menthon with its chateau.— 4:^j^M. Sevrier {14:7 5 ft.;

hotel; p. 374).— 6M. St-Jorioz (1515 ft.; hotel; p. 374).— 8 M.
Duingt (1490 ft.

; p. 375). Beyond the next timnel we overlook the

S. bay of the lake. Opposite rises the wooded hill of Verthier.—
101/2 ^I- Lathuile (1495 ft.

; p. 375), at the head of the lake. We now
ascend the broad valley of the Eau-Morte. — IS^/g M. Doussard
(1535 ft. ; Hot.-Pens. des Touristes, P. 5-7 fr. ; Hot.-Rest. de la Gare).

To the S. rises the Ctiarbon, culminating in the Banc-Plat (6285 ft.)

and the Trelod (7170 ft.). The ascent of the latter, on the E. side, takes
61/2 hrs., that of the former, on the W., 41/2 hrs., or the two may be com-
bined. —Ascent of the Trelod from Le Chatelard, see p. 370.

141/2 M. Giez (1580 ft.). Ascent of the Tournette, see p. 376.

16 M. Faverges (1665 ft.; Hot. de Geneve, good, E. 21/2-5, L.

or D. 3, P. 6-10 fr.; Hot. des Alpes; pop. 2318), with an old chateau
converted into a silk factory. Mont Blanc is visible in clear weather.

Road to Thones, see p. 379; to Frontenex (Albertville) over the

Col de Tamie, see p. 380.
About 40 min. from the station are the Cascades and Grottes de

Seythenex, lighted by electricity (adm. 1 fr.).

The line turns N.E. and quits the Eau-Morte valley.— Near us

rises the Charvin (p. 379), ascended in 6 hrs. from (I81/2 M.)

Marlens (1515 ft.). The valley contracts. We skirt the Chaise and
the De7it de Cons (6785 ft.). — 23 M. Les Fontaines-d'Ugines
(1350 ft.; Hot. Carrin). The little town of Ugines, with a ruined

castle and large foundries, lies on a hill 20 min. to the N. Road
to Le Fayet (Route des Alpes), see below.—We recross the Chaise,

which soon falls into the Ai4y, and then follow the latter.— 25 M.
Marthod (1245 ft.).— 281/2 M. Albertville (p. 380).

From Annecy to Chamonix.

a. By Railway.
65 M., in 31/4 hrs. (by the express in summer) to 4^4 hrs. (13 fr. 85,

8 fr. 35, 6 fr. 10 c). Change at La Roche (except by the express) and at
Le Fayet.

To (231/2 M.) La Roche, see p. 371. Thence to (53 M.) Le
Fayet, see pp. 317, 318, and to (65 M.) Chamonix, see p. 321.

b. Via Ugines and Flumet.
59 M. From 1st July to 15th Sept., combined service by steamer,

railway, motor-omn., and electric railway, in about 8 hrs. (22 fr. 45 or
19 fr. 45 c). The circular tickets of the P".L.M. Co. include steamer and
motor-omnibus. Steamer to Lathuile, see pp.374, 375; then railway to
Ugines, see above (or from Annecy to Ugines direct by railway). Motor-
omn. (coming from Albertville, see p. 340) from Ugines to Le Fayet station
(24 M. ; 12 fr.). From Le Fayet to Chamonix, see p. 321.

To (23 M.) Les Fontaines-d' Ugines, see above. The road to

Le Fayet, a section of the Route des Alpes (p. 340), then descends
into the picturesque gorge of the Arly.

2\*
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311,2 M. Flumet (3010 ft. ; Hot. du Mont-Blanc, L. or D. 21/2-3,

P. 6-8 fr.; Hot. des Balances, P. 5-7 fr.), with a ruined castle.

Custom-house for travellers in the reverse direction. Road to the

Col des Aravis, see p. 380 (circular trip, see p. 374 1.—We continue

to ascend the Arly valley. Mont Blanc comes into sight on the

right, and the Buet at the head of the vallev.

38 M. Megeve (3690 ft.; Hot. du Soleil-d'Or, good, L. 21/2,

D. 3. P. 6-8 fr.; Hot. du Panorama, P. 7-10 fr.; -Hot. du Mont-
Blanc, P. 5-7 fr.) is suitable for some stay and is a good centre for

excursions. Mont Joly (p. 353: guide unnecessary; mule 6 fr.), to

the S.E.. may be ascended from here in -4 hrs.

Our road crosses the Col de Megeve (3625 ft.) and (2 M.) diverges

to the right from the Sallanches road.

The road to (10 M.) SaUauches (omn. in li/^ hr. : p. 318) leads via

(5 M.) Combloi/x (Hot. du Mont-Blanc), nearing which we have a .superb

*View of the upper Arve valley and Mont Blanc.

We now obtain a striking *Yiew of the Arve valley, Sallanches,

the Aig. de Varan, the Pointe du Colloney, and Mont Blanc.

—

43\ o M. Le Freney. Farther on, we cross the Pont du Viable,

200 ft. above the gorge of the Bon-Xant, in which, to the left, lie

the Bains du Fayet-St-Gervais (p. 319).— 441/2 M. St-Gervais-les-

Bains (p. 319). from which we descend in a long curve to (47 M.)

Le Fayet. Electric railway to Chamonix. see p. 321.

c. Via Thokes, the Col des Aravis, axd Flumet.

591/2 ^1- From 1st July to 15th Sept. this section of the Eoute des
Alpes (p. 340) is traversed by steam-tramway, motor-omn., and electric

railway in SV'., brs. (22 fr. 45 or 19 fr. 45 c). Tramway and motor-omn.
are included in the P.L.M. circular tickets. From Annecy to (ISi/., M.)
Thones, steam-trannvay in 1 hr. 10 to 1 hr. 20 min. (2 fr. or 1 fr. 45 c.

;

return 3 fr. 60 or 2 fr. 60 c). Motor-omn. thence to Le Fayet station

(.371/2 M.; 16 fr.). From Le Fayet to Chamonix. see p. 321.

As far as AJed' (p. 379) there is an alternative road (8 M.) via (4i/.^ M.)
Veyrier (p. 374) and the (6i/.^ M.) Co? de Bluffy (2080 ft.).

The tramway starts from the corner of the Rue de la Gare and

Rue Vaugelas (PL A, 1).— At (3i/, M.) Annecy-le-Vieux, with its

Romanesque tower of the early 12th cent., there is a foundry, where

the 'Savoyarde' at the Sacre-Coeur of Montmartre, the largest bell

in France, was cast.— 41/3 M. Sur-les-Bois (1930 ft.; ascent of

the Parmelan, see p. 376). Fine views of the Parmelan (left) and of

the Tournette and Dents de Lanfon (5520 ft.; right). We descend

into the valley of the Fier through a picturesque defile between

the Montagne de Veyrier ip. 374; right) and the Montagne de

Lachat (left).— 7 M. Dingy- Parmelan (1705 ft.), at the Pont

St-Clair, II/4 M. from Dingy- St-Clair (Paradis-Hotel, L. or D. 3,

P. from 5 fr.), a starting-point for the Parmelan (see p. 375).
Near the Pout St-Clair. on the road to Naves (p. 376: 21/2 M.), which

follows an old Eomau road, is an inscription on the rock (1st cent. A.D.):
'L. Tincius Paculus pervium fecit', doubtless a landowner who made or
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improved the road. — To the S. (right) of the tramway station begins a

good path to (31/2 hrs.) Veyrier, via the Col du Rampon (p. 374; view).

The valley expands. On the right is the road to the Col de

Bluffy (p. 378).— 91/2 M. Alex (1780 ft.), with an old chateau. On
the right, by the next halt, is a path to the Cascade de la Belle-

Inconnue. Farther on we cross the Fier near another w^aterfall

(on the left).— 12 M. Morette. Ascent of the Tournette, see p. 376.

13\/o M. Thones (2054 ft.; Grand-Hotel, well spoken of, E.

from 21/2, L. or D. 3, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. du Fier, P. from 8 fr.;

Hot. de la Paix, du Commerce; pop. 2789), an industrial town at

the confluence of the Fier and the Xom^ is a summer resort and a

good centre for excursions and winter-sports. In the Place Avet is

a statue of Joseph Avet (d. 1871), who founded the hospice to the

E. of th€ town. The Grande Place is bordered with arcades.
Ascent of the Tournette, see p. 376; of the t'liarrin, see below.— To

Talloires (p. 374), over the Col du Xantet (p. 37t)), 41/2-5 hrs.

From Thones TO Faverges. 12 M. (omn. to Manigod and Serraval).

—

At (11/4 M.) Les Clefs (Cafe-Rest, de la Tournette) we leave the Fier valley.
To the left, at the head of the valley, the chief village in whicli is Manigod
(3070 ft. ; Hot. du Grand-Carre, du Mont-Cliarvin), rises tlie Charvin, or

Grand-Carre (7920 ft.; view), the easy ascent of whicli, interesting for
botanists, is made from Thones (6V2-7 hrs.), from Serraval (see below),
or from Marlens (p. 377; fi hrs.).- The Faverges road ascends the valley
of the Petit-Fier, to the right of which rises the Tournette (ascent, see

p. 376). — 3 M. Col du Marais or de Serraval, near which is a ruined
castle. — At (6 M.) Serraval (247.5 ft.) we cross a bridge 165 ft. high. We
descend in windings through the Di^filesdu Desoti and rfe.s Combes, which
are furrowed by the Chaise. — 12 M. Faverges (p. 377).

From Thones to Le Grand-Bornand, 8 M., motor-omn. twice (in sum-
mer thrice) daily (l'/2 fr.). — To (.5 M.) St-Jean-de-Sixt, see below. The
road to Le Grand-Bornand, leaving that to Pont-des-Etroits on the left

(see below), descends to tlie Itridge of ^'iUaret and tlien ascends the valley
of the Borne. -S M. Le Grand-Bornand (30.55 ft.; Hot. de la Victoire,
R. 21/2-3, P. 5-7 fr.; Hot. de la Croix-St-Maurice, du Commerce, P. from
5 fr.), a large village, rebuilt since a fire in 1891, is noted for its 're-

blochons' (cheeses) and is a good centre for botanists and tourists. Ascent
of the Pointe Percee (91/2-IO hrs.), see p. 317. - Down the valley (2 M.) lies

Pont-des-Etroits, where the road to Bonneville (12'/2 M.
; p. 317) enters a

detile of the Borne called Les Etroits. Farther on is (2V2 M- fi'om Pont-
des-Etroits) A'/(f/-e»io»^ (Hot. de France; guides), with an old abbey-church;
then (5 M.) Le Petit-Bornand (Hot. des JBalances), the Gorge of the Borne,
and (10 M.) St-Pierre-de-R/nmlli/ (p. 317). From Le Grand-Bornand we
may cross (3 hrs.) the Col des Annes (5610 ft.), to the N.E., and reach
the old Chartreuse du Reposoir and Pralong (51/4 hrs.

; p. 317).

The Le Fayet road (Route des Alpes; motor-omn., see p. 378)
ascends the Xom valley, N.E., skirting the RocJier de Lachat
(665;) ft.).— 16 M. Les ViUards-sur-Thones (2485 ft.; cafe-rest.),

with pretty chalets.— I8V2 M. St-Jean-de-Sixt (3320 ft.; Hot.

Beau-Sejuur, Beau-Rivage), situated on a plateau. The road to Le
Grand-Bornand diverges to the left (see above).— We follow the

Norn valley, which turns S. and contracts to a tine gorge.— 21 1/2 M.
La Clusaz (3410 ft.; Hot. du Lion-d'Or. P. from 6 f r. ; Hot! des

Aravis, Nouvel-Hotel), a summer resort. To the Pointe Percee, see
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p. 318. — The road makes a long bend (short-cuts). — 26 M.
*Col des Aravis (4915 ft. ; chalet-hotel, in summer, L. 31/2, D.

2V2fr.), between the Rocher de VEtale (8145 ft.; right) and the

Porte des Aravis (7650 ft. ; left). The view of the Mont Blanc range

is superb. The col is about the centre of the Chaine des Aravis or

du Beposoir, which begins N.E. of Faverges and extends to the

Arve valley, S. of Cluses (p. 317). Its chief other peaks are the

Charvin (7920 ft.; p. 379), S. of the col, and the Rocher de la

Balmaz (8700 ft.), Tete Pelouse (8470 ft.), Pointe Percee (9030 ft.

;

p. 317), and Pointe d'Areu (8095 ft.), to the N. We descend by a

picturesque winding road.— 30 M. La Giettaz (3640 ft.; Aub. du
Soleil-d'Or, Villa Jeanne-d'Arc), whence a track to the left crosses

the Col de Jaillet to (4 hrs.) Sallanches fp. 318). Our road leads S.

through the valley of the Arondine, which here forms a wild gorge.

— 33 M. Flumet, and thence to Chamonix, see p. 378.

52. Prom Chambery to Bourg-St-Maurice
via Albertville and Moutiers (Tarentaise).

Comp. the 3Iaps, pp. 370, 309.

651/2 M. From Chambery to Moiitiers, 48 M., in 2 hrs. 10 to 2 hrs. 50 min.
(8 fr. 60, 5 fr. 80, 3 fr. 80 c). Through-carriage on the night-express from
Paris.— From Moutiers to Bourg-St-Maurice, 171/2 M., in IV2 hi'- (3 fr. 15,

2 fr. 10, 1 fr. 40 c).

Chambery^ see p. 359. Thence to (15 M.) St-Pierre-d'Albigny,

see p. 361. The Albertville line ascends on the right bank of the

Isere. High up on the other bank, at the confluence of the Isere and

the Arc, is the fort of Montpei^chet (3570 ft.).— 2IV2M. Gresy-
sur-Isere (1230 ft.), where Roman antiquities have been found. On
the left is Montailleur, with an old castle and an isolated tower on

a hill.— 251/2 ^I- Frontenex (1045 ft.; Hot. du Commerce). To the

left is the Montague de la Sambuy (7230 ft.).

Road to (11 M.) Faverges (p. 377), over the (5 M.) Col de TaviU
(2980 ft.; fine view). About 1/2 hr. beyond are i\).& Abhaye de Tamie,
founded in 1132, now Trappist, and the Gorge de Tamii (aub.); also a

fine fall of the Eau-Morte.

3OV2 M- Albertville (1105 ft.; Hot. Million, well spoken of,

R. 3-5, L. or D. 3, P. 71/2-9 fr.; Hot. & Buffet de la Gare, R. 3-6,

L. or D. 3, P. 8-10 fr.; Hot. de la Balance; Syndicat d'Initiative,

35 Rue Gambetta; pop. 6276), a pleasant town on the Arly, a little

above its confluence with the Isere, was so named in 1845 in honour

of King Charles Albert. It consists of two parts: L'Hopital, on the

right bank, and Conflans, on a hill on the left bank.

UHopital, the principal part, is intersected, to the left of the

station, by the Av. Victor-Hugo, continued by the Rue de la Re-
publique. On the right of the former rises a Monument to the

warriors of 1870-71. From the latter the Rue Gambetta leads to
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the right and crosses the Arly to Conflans (1385 ft.). This pictur-

esque old quarter, with its tortuous streets, contains a Convent of

the 12th cent., in the Grand' Place (now barracks), and an interesting

Gateway at the farther end of the town. The Church has a finely

carved wooden pulpit and a curious font.

The Environs are attractive, but some of the hills are fortified and
inaccessible. Favourite ascents : the Belle-Etoile (6055 ft. ; 5 hrs.). the
Dent de Cons (6785 ft.; 6 hrs.), the Samhuy (7230 ft.; p. 380; 6-7 hrs,), the

Pointe de Chanrionde (7515 ft. ; 6-7 hrs.), the Grand-Arc (8165 ft. ; 8-9 hrs.),

the Bellachat (8165 ft. ; 7-8 hrs.), the Roche-Pourrie (6710 ft. ; 5 hrs.), the
Mirantin (8085 ft.; 6-7 hrs.), and the Grand-Mont (8850 ft.; 9-10 hrs.).

From Albertville to Annecy, see pp. 377, 376.

Motor-omn. from Albertville to Le Fayet and Evian (Route des Alpes),
see pp. 340, 339.

From Albertville to Beaufort, 12 M., motor-omn. twice (from 1st July
to 15th Sept. thrice) daily in 1-1^/4 hr. (2 fr. 40 c), going on thence in summer
once daily in I1/4 hr. to (191/2 M.) Roselend (see below; 7 fr. from Albert-
ville); carr. 15-25 fr. (to Ariches or Hauteluce 20-30 fr.). — We cross the
Arly, turn to the left below Conflans, and ascend, to the right, the pretty
valley of the Doron de Beaufort. —We pass (2 M.) Venthoii, (5 M.) Queige,
and (91/2 M.) ViUard-stir-Doron. Mont Blanc is seen to the left, beyond the
second bridge. -12 M. Beaufort (2485 ft.; Hot. du Mont-Blanc, P. from
5 fr. ; Hot. du Cheval-Blanc; pop. 2208), pleasantly situated on the Doron,
at the convergence of three valleys, is a good centre for excursions and
winter-sports. The castle which gives the town its name is perched on
a height (3270 ft.) at the mouth of the Hauteluce valley (see below). — From
Beaufort to St-Gervais via the Col du Joly, 10 hrs., with guide.
Road to (31/2 M.) Hauteluce (3785 ft. ; Hot. du Mont-Blanc, P. 5 fr.), 2 hrs.

S.W. of the pretty Lac de la Girotte (5695 ft.), and (1 hr.) Belleville

(3775 ft.; Hot. du Mont-Joly, P. 6fr.); then a bridle-path, indistinct in

places, to the (21/4 hrs.) Col du Joly (6560 ft.), on the S. of Mont Joly
(p. 353). View of Mont Blanc. Descent to Les Contamines, see p. 353.- -

From Beaufort to the Col du Bonhomme, through the ValUe de la Gitte,

see p. 354. To Aime, see p. 384. — From Beaufort to Les Chapieux
(Bourg-St-Maurice) , 5 hrs. The first part of the route (motor-omn., see
above) leads through the superb upper valley of the Doron to (71/2 M.)
Roselend (4855 ft. ; Hot. du Mont-Blanc, plain but gt)od). We then follow
the telegraph-poles over the (2 hrs.) Col du Cormet de Roselend (6495 ft.).

Les Chapieux, and thence to Bonneval-les-Bains (Bourg-St-Maurice), see

p. 354.

The railway crosses the Arly and ascends the Isere valley. View
to the right.— 36 M. La Bdthie (1185 ft.), above which, on the

left, is a ruined castle of the Archbishops of Tarentaise. To the

right, farther on, are the ruins of Esserts-Blay. At the head of

the valley on the right, between, right and left, the Grand-Arc
and the Bellachat (see above), is the Col de Basmont (5270 ft.),

leading to the Maurienne (Aiguebelle, 6 hrs. from Cevins ; see below).

Opposite (N.E.) rises the Tournette (8050 ft. ; namesake, see p. 376).

— 38V2 ^^- Cevins (1255 ft.; aub.).

Here begins the Tarentaise, the southern part of Savoy, which in-

cludes the upper valley of the Isere and the valley of the Doron de
Salins, its tributary. These rivers rise among the highest mountains in

France after the Mont Blanc and Pelvoux ranges, and they descend be-
tween three chains clothed with pastures and woods. The Tarentaise
thus presents both Alpine scenery of the highest rank and softer cliarms
in which other regions, such as the Dauphinti Alps, are deficient. Its
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mountains fonu part of the Graian Alps, which extend to the plains of

Piedmont between the Dora Riparia (p. 446) and the Dora Baltea (p. 356).

Many of the women (Tarines) still wear their national costume, including
the 'frontiere', a head-dress recalling the portraits of Mary Queen of Scots.

This interesting region is less visited than it desejves.

Beyoud C'evius the valley contracts. To the left are the ruined

Chateau de Briancon, the knights of which were the terror of

the country in the 10th cent., and the Cascade de la Glaise.—
43 M. Notre-Dame-de-Briangon (1390 ft.; Hot. de la Gare), at

the confluence of the Celliers torrent and the Isere.

From Notre-Dame-de-Briak90n to St-Avre-la-Chambre, 7-8 hrs.

We ascend the Celliers valley via (1 hr.) Bonneval-les-Granges and (2 hrs.)

Celliers (4520 ft.) to (1 hr.)"'the Col de la Madeleine (6510 ft.), between
(right and left) the Gros-Villaii (882U ft.) and the Cheval-Noir (p. 383).

Fine view. Descent via (31/2 hrs.) St-Martin-sny-la-Chamhre (2045 ft.) to

St-Avre-la-Chambre (p. 362).

On the left are Petit-Cceur, with a ruined castle, and Grand-
Cceur. The valley again expands. On the right is the valley of

the Morel, through which there is another route to the Col de la

Madeleine.— 46^/2 M. Aiguehlanche (Hot. Perret). On the right is

the confluence of the Isere and the Doron de Salins.

48 M. Moidiers-Salins (1570 ft.), the station for Moutiers
^Hot. de la Couronne, well spoken of, R. 3-5, L. or D. 3, P. 8-10 fr.

;

Hot. Terminus, opposite the station, good, L. or D. 3, P. G^o-lOfr.

;

Hot. Bertoli, Moderne; pop. 2550), on the Isere, the ancient Daren-
tasia, once the capital of the Tarentaise, and now the seat of a

bishopric originating in a 5th cent, monastery. The treasury of

the Cathedral contains an abbot's staff' and other objects once

owned by St. Peter II., Archbishop of Tarentaise (12th cent.), a

jewel-casket (12th cent.), and a reliquary (early 13th cent.).

To obtain a good view of the town we go by tramway to Salins (p. 392),

cross a wooden bridge to the right at the S." end of the village, mount
the hill in zigzags (20 min.). and join the road which brings us back to

Moutiers in 1/., hr. more.
From Moutiers-Salins to Bourg-St-Maxrice (p. 385) there is a pictur-

esque road (17 M.), leading along the right bank of the Isere and passing-

most of the stations of the railway-route (pp. 384, 385); motor-omn. from
10th July to 15th Sept. in 1 hr. 10 min. (8 fr.), going on to the Little St.

Bernard (p. 358).

From Moiitiers to Salins, Brides, Pralognan, etc., see R. 54.

Ascents. Guides and porters tariffed by the C.A.F., Tarentaise
section, at Pralognan, Champagny, Peisey, Brides, and Val-d'Isere.

Mont Jovet. The ascent, made also from Brides-les-Bains (p. 392)
and Bozel (p. 393), is one of the finest and easiest in the Tarentaise
(C hrs.; 10 hrs. there and back). The guide-posts are useful, but it is safer
to take a guide (8 fr. ; mule and man 12 fr.). The bridle-path diverges
to the left from the old Brides road, IV4 M. from the Moutiers bridge.
Passing (2 hrs.) Feissons-sur-Salins (4200 ft.), we reach (i/o hr.) the Croix
de Feissons (4510 ft.), which may be reached also direct by a shady path
beginning at the end of the Rue de I'Electricite, behind" the Palais de
Justice. Fine views of the valley and of Mont Blanc. We now follow
for *'/4 hr. a good path across a large clearing and then through the wood
of Plan-Sapcy. We diverge to the right through clearings, mount X.E.
by the arete of Comhelouve, and then over pastures to the foot of the
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Jovet. About 5 hrs. from Moutiers we reach the Plan de VAiguaz
(7380 ft.), with a good spring, at the foot of the Grande-Cote (8155 ft.),

and in les8 than 3/4 hr. more the Chalet-Hotel du Mont-Jovet of the C.A.F.
(about 7775 ft. ; 1st July to 20th Sept. ; bed 21/2, L. 31/2. D- ^1/2, wine extra,

P. from 8 fr. : telephone). We climb to the summit in 25 minutes.

*Mont Jovet or Jouvet (8375 ft.) is one of the grandest points of view
in the Tarentaise, owing to its isolated position between the Isere and
Doron valleys. The chief features of the superb panorama (indicator) are,

to the N., Mont Blanc and the Grandes-Jorasses; to the X.E., the Grand-
Combin, and in the distance the Grand-Cornier, Dent Blanche, and Dent
d'Herens; to the E., Mont-Pourri and Sommet de Belle-Cote; to the S.E.,

the Aig. de la Grande-Motte, Grande-Casse, Grand-Bee, and Dome de Chasse-

foret; to the S., the Aig. de Polset, du Fruit, and de Peclet; to the S.W.,
the Ecrins, Meije, Pic Bavle, and Etendard. —We may descend to Aime
(p. 384), in 31/2 hrs., via the Col du Jovet (7995 ft.), on the N.W. arete;

then, past the little Lac de Jovet on the left, by the Vallee des Frasses to

the Chalets Prajoiirdan, and down to the left to Mongesin (4930 ft.) and

Longefoii, where the road begins. — Descent to Bozel (p. 393), 4 hrs.

The *Pointe de Creve-Tdte (7700 ft. ; 5i,V6 hrs., with guide; bridle-

path to within 10 min. of the top), to the S.W., is likewise ascended from
Moutiers. The route is either via the (H/4 hr.) Pre de Dagand or via

(2 hrs.) Le Puits, to the left, beyond the Doron; then via the Col de la

Ci-oix-de-la-Coche (2V2 hrs. from Moutiers), the (V2 hr.) Col de la Grande-
Coche (tine woods), the (V2 hr.) Pas de Pierre-Larron, and a wooded
slope leading S. to the (1 hr.) Arete de Longechat (about 6890 ft.), by which
the top is easily reached in 1 hr. more. The summit is the upper end of

the mountain which rises S. of Aigueblanche, between the Morel and
Doron valleys; it affords also a very tine view of the Tarentaise, notably
of the Isere and Doron valleys, Mont Blanc, the Vanoise range, and (to

the E.) Mont-Pourri. — The Pointe de Creve-Tete may be reached also by
the Col de la Madeleine route (see below) to Les Avanchej'S, and thence
to (IV2 hr.) the Pas de Pierre-Larron (see above).

The *Cheval-Noir (9.800 ft.), farther S.W., a still finer point, is

usually ascended (about 7 hrs. ; with guide) from the valley of Belleville,

S.W. of Moutiers. We cross the Doron bridge and ascend via (51/2 M.)
Villarly (3630 ft.; aub.) to CV4 M-) St-Jean-de-Belleville (3775 ft.; Aub.
Bermond). We then mount W., via (1 hr.) Denx-Nants (4790 ft.; path
from St-Jean-de-Maurienne, see p. 362) and (1 hr.) the Chalet d'OrgeiHil
(5855 ft.), in the valley of that name, whence we climb by the S.E. arete

to the top in 21/2-2^/4 hrs.—A longer ascent (91/2 hrs. from Moutiers) is by
the (7 hrs.) Col de la Madeleine {'p. 382; better for the descent). This col

is reached via Aigueblanche {^j.^hr.; p. .382), Doucy {r^U\\r.; 3060 ft.),

Les Granges (40 min. ; 4215 ft.). La Croix-de-Chaniemerle (20 min.), Les
Echappaiix (V2 hr. ; 4965 ft.), and Le Biolaij (50 min.; 4290 ft.), in the
valley of Celliers, where we join the track at (40 min.) Le Eoset, 1^/4 hr.

from the col. — Another route, a little shorter, leads from Aigueblanche
via (V2 hr.) Le Bois and (50 min.) Les Avanchers (3610 ft.) into the valley
of the Morel: then W., via (2 hrs.) Pierre-Fort (5635 ft.) and (I1/4 hrt)

Riondet (7065 ft.), to (IV4 hr.) the col (p. 382). From the col we reach the
top in 2^)., hrs. by rounding the S. crest.

The Grand-Perron des Encombres (9275ft.; fine panorama;
.5-1/4 hrs.; guide 12 fr.), farther S., in the chain adjoining the valley of the
Arc, is ascended from St- Martiii-de- Belleville (4530 ft. ; auberges), in the
valley of Belleville (see above), l-l'/4 hr. above St-Jean. We ascend a
valley to the right, passing Gitamelon (2'/2 hrs. ; 5895 ft.), Genouillet
(V2 hr.), and Case-Blaiwhe (V2 hr.), to (IV4 hr.) the Refuge de la Saitsse
or Saus.<iaz of the C.A.F. (7370 fr.), V4 hr. from the Col des Encombres
(7665 ft.), a pass between (right and left) the Grand-Perron and the
Collet-Blanc, or Col de Lachemonde (8820 ft.). The top is reached in

IV4 hr. more. From the col we may descend to (3V2-4 hrs.) St-Michel-de-
Manrienne (p. 863).
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Beyond Montiers-Salius the new liue to Bourg-St-Maurice, inter-

esting on account of its engineering and scenery, soon enters the

spiral Tunnel de la Boucle, 1532 yds. long.— 51^2 ^^- Plombieres-
St-Marcel (1815 ft.), with the ruins of an archiepiscopal chateau.

We next cross by means of a five-arched viaduct to the left

bank of the Isere, whose valley is no less striking here than below
Moutiers. Farther on we avoid the Detroit du Ceix or Sieix by
passing through a tunnel over a mile long, at the exit of which we
recross to the right bank of the river, which we follow as far as

Aime.— 54 M. Centron, a village whose name recalls the Gallic

tribe of the Ceutroues.

57 ]M. Aime (2135 ft.; Hot. des Alpes, R. 2V2, P- 0-8 fr.; Hot.

de la Gare), the Roman Axima, where many antiquities have been
found. In the direction of the Isere is the church of St-Martin
(11th cent.), built of antique materials (keys at the Hot. des Alpes).

A track, in part practicable for carriages, leads N". to (7 hrs.) Beau-
fort (p. 381). It ascends to the (3 hrs.) Cormet or Col d'Areches (about
6560 ft.), on the N. of the Cret du Rey (8820 ft.). View to the N. The
road then descends to Areches (3565 ft. ; Hot. Viallet), a small summer
resort, 3 M. from Beaufort.

Ascent of Mont Jovet. see p. 383. — The 3Iont St-Jacques (7895 ft.;

5 hrs. ; easy and interesting), to the S.E., the Cret du Bey (see above;
61/2 hrs.), to the N.E., the Pierre-Menta (8910 ft.; 7 hrs.), with its enorm-
ous monolith, to the N., and the Roigjiais (9845 ft.), E. of the last-named,
are likewise ascended from Aime.

Beyond Aime we again cross to the left bank.— 61^.2 ^I- Landry
(2440 ft.), a pretty village at the mouth of the beautiful Vallee de

Peisey (see below). To the right are the superb glaciers of Mont-
Pourri (see below).

About 11/4 hr. S. of Landry (omn.) lies Peisey (4265 ft. ; Hot. du Mont-
Thuria, P. from 6 fr.), with old lead and silver mines. Second-class guide,

Jean Roux.
To the E. of Peisey rises Mont-Pourri (12,430 ft.; guide 85-40 fr.), one

of the chief peaks of the Tarentaise, striking in itself, in its situation,

and in the view it commands. The previous night is usually spent at

the (23/4 hrs.) Chalets de la Sevoliere (p. 385) or at the (31/2 hrs.) Chalets
de la Plague (p. 385). We then climb the rocks on the S. face ('Che-

min Poccard', or 'Pas de I'Echelle'), and lastly the S.W. arete and the

Epaule to (7 hrs.) the top. —We may ascend from Peisey also via the

(2 hrs.) Chalets des Rossets or d'Entre-deux-Xants (6865 ft.
;

quarters),

the Col de la Chale (8115 ft.; view), and the (2 hrs.) disused Refuge du
Mont-Pourri (8695 ft.), 330 ft. above the Lac Merlou and 51/2 hrs. from
Bourg-St-Maurice (p. 385). In 25 min. more we reach the Grand-Col, or

Col du Mont-PourH (9635 ft.; to the Chalets de Thuria, see p. 386),

between the Aig. Roiige and du St-Esprit (see below and p. 385); then
mount the Glacier du Col (crevassed), cross the Col des Roches or de
Thuria and the Glacier des Roches, and thus reach the Epaule (see

above). From the Grand-Col to the top 4-41/2 hrs.— Another route is

from the Chalets de la Sevoliere (or from the Chalets des Rossets, cross-

ing the arete of the Lanchettes at its W. end) direct to the Glacier des 1

Roches; then up its crevassed slope to the N.E. slopes of the Epaule'*
(5 hrs. from the chalets to the top).— First-rate climbers may ascend
(guide 60 fr.) via the Bovie de la Sache (see below) and the S. arete, or

via Mont ThuHa (11,860ft.) and the X. arete. -The Aiguille Rouge 1
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(10,620 ft.) is ascended from the Chalets de I'Arc (p. 386) in 21/2 hrs., or

from the old refuge (p. 384), by the W. face, in IV2 hr. ; the Aiguille du
St-Esprit (11,130 ft.; guide 25 fr.) from the old refuge, up bj' the Col du
Mont-Pourri and the N. arete, in 8 hrs. ; the Dome de la Sache (11,845 ft.

;

guide 25 fr.) from the Chalets de la Plagne (see below) in 41/2 hrs., or

from the Granges des Marais (p. 387), up the S. face, in 4^/4 hrs.

The valley of Peisey forks beyond the village. By the route to the
left we pass (50 min.) Nancroit (Hot. des Grlaeiers, plain) and reach (10 min.)

the old lead-mines and (10 min.) Lanches. A bridle-path to the left

ascends thence to (2^/4 M. from Peisey) the Chalets de la Sevoliere (7085 ft.

;

quarters); it then leads round Mo^it VAliet or (Eillette (10,220 ft.; guide
35 fr.), the highest point of the X.E. arete of the Aignille du Midi de
Peisey (11,025 ft.; guide 18 fr., with descent to Champagny 25 fr., see

p. 389), to the (21/4 hrs.) Chalets de la Plagne (6890 ft. ; often closed).

We may go on to the (l^'o-^ hrs.) Col du Palet (p. 388), by a rough path,
leaving on the right the (20 min.) Lac de la Plagne (7070 ft.) and on the
left the path to the Col de la Tourne (p. 389). — To the right we may
cross, in 5 hrs., the (3 hrs.) Col de Frette or de la Thiaupe (8215 ft.), to

La Chiserette, in the Champagny valley (p. 389).

6372 ^i- Hauteville-Gondon (2545 ft.), near the fine woods of

Malgovert.—We cross the Isere.

651/2 ^^- Bourg-St-Maurice, or Le Bourg (2675 ft.; Hot.

des Voyageurs, good, R. 3-4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3i/,>, P. 8-9 fr.; Nouvel-
Hotel; pop. 3096), the ancient Bergintrum, is a busy place, being

near the frontier and on the road to the Little St. Bernard. The
Church, on the left, has a Greek portal and an isolated tower.

To Cownnayeur over the Little St. Bernard, see pp. 359, 358.

To the N. of Bourg-St-Maurice is (3V2 M. ; carr. 6-10 fr.) Bonneval-
les-Bains (3555 ft.; Hot. des Bains), on the left bank of the Chapieux
torrent, with a mineral spring (100°) and a small bath-house. The waters
resemble those of St-Gervais and Aix. From Bonneval to (51/2 M. ; carr.

from Bourg-St-Maurice 12-20 fr.) Les Chapieiix, see p. 354.

From Bourg-St-Maurice we may ascend the pretty valley of the Nant
de Pissevieille to (41/4 hrs.) the Chalets de VArc (7125 ft.; quarters) and
(IV4 hr.) the old Refuge du Mont-Pourri (p. 384).

53. Upper Valley of the Isere.

I. From Bourg-St-Maurice to Tignes and Val-d*Is6re.

Motor Omnibus daily from 10th July to 15th Sept. to Tignes (16 ^M.,

in 2 hrs.; 10 fr.) nadVal-d'Istre (20 M., in 2 hrs. 50 min.; 12 fr.). Omnibus
in the morning, in summer, to Tignes (51/4 hrs. ; 5 fr.), another in the
afternoon to Ste-Foy only (2 hrs. 5 min.; IV^fr.); the Tignes omn. often
goes on to Val-d'Is6re (7 fr.). Mule and man from Ste-Foy to Val-d'Isere,
10 f r. ; from Bourg-St-Maurice 12-15 fr. Passport, see p. 352.

From Bourg-St-Maurice (see above) to (2 M.) Seez (2965 ft.)

we follow the Little St. Bernard route (p. 359), turning then to

the right. The snow-peaks at the head of the valley come in sight.

— 3 M. Longefoy. We reach the bank of the Isere. Opposite ap-

pears Ste-Foy; to the right is the church of Villaroger. At Le
Champet we cross the Nant de St-Claude, which has a fine fall
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above the bridge. The road ascends in windings. To the right

towers Mont-Pourri.

7 M. Ste-Foy-Tarentaise (3450 ft.; Hot. du Mont-Pourri,

plain but good, P. 7-8 fr.; Hot. du Mont-Blauc; Hut. du Mont-Iseran,

D. 2^/0, P. from 6 fr.), picturesquely situated above the right bank
of the Isere.

An attractive walk is to (25 ruin.) Villaroyer (3610 ft.), on the left

bank, with its old church. Behind the Hot. du Mont-Iseran the road
descends to the left to the (10 niin.) bridge across the wild cataracts of

the Isere, and beyond it att'ords picturesque views of the Ste-Foy vallev.
— From Villaroger to the Chalets de Thiiria (6150 ft.), 21/4 hrs.""; to the
Col du Mont-Pourri (p. 384), 3 hrs. more. We may ascend also to the col

via Pre-Dessus. the tine Foret de Ronaz, the (3 hrs.) Chalets de VArc,
and the old Refuge du Mont-Pourri (p. 384).

From Ste-Foy we may visit the (91/2 M.) Col du Petit-St-Bernard
(31/2-4 hrs.

; p. 358). We pass the hamlets of (25 min.) Les Masm-es (to the
Col du Mont, see below), where the Xant de St-Claude (p. 385) is crossed,
Le Miroir, and Le Chdtelard, mounting steeply to the last angle of the
zigzags.

From Ste-Foy to Valgrisakche (Italy), 7 hrs., bridle-path from Les
Masures (see above) up the Xant de St-Claude and Mercuel valleys to

(41/2 lirs.) the Col du Mont (8635 ft.), between (left) the Bee de VAne
(10,560 ft. ; easily ascended from the col in 1^/2 hr.) and (right) the Pointe
d'Archeboc (see below). AVe descend in 2 hrs. to Fornet (5680 ft.; small
inn), the highest hamlet in the Val Grisanche (see Baedeker^s N. Itcdij).

At La Crau (I1/4 hr. from Ste-Foy) another path continues up the
Xant de St-Claude valley, leaving the Col du Mont path to the right, to

the (21/4 hrs.) Chalets de la Sassiere or Sachere (6690 ft.), whence the
Tete du Rutor (11,435 ft.; guide 30 fr. ; fairly easy; see p. 358) may be
ascended in 61/2-7 hrs., by the Glacier and (5 hrs.) Col de I'Aveniet (about
10,595 ft.), then by the Glacier and (I1/4 hr.) Col du Rutor (shelter-hut,

see p. 358), and to the top in i/.> hr. more.

The Pointe d'Archeboc, or Mont Ormelune (10,770 ft.), is easily
ascended in S^ .2-6 hrs. from Ste-Foy fguide 20 fr.). Good path at first, through
woods, above the Tignes road. Above La Thuille (see below) it enters the
valley of the Ruisseau des Clous, the last hamlet in which is Le Plan
(7250 ft.), 4 hrs. from Ste-Foy. Thence we go N.E., past the LacsVerdet.

The "^ Valley of tlie here contracts and becomes grander.

We pass Villard. On the opposite bank are seen the long white

streaks formed by torrents from the glaciers of Mont-Pourri.

91/2 M, La Thuille (4175 ft.; Hot. Grasson, Borrel, both

plain). The road, skirting vast pine-forests, runs high above the

Isere.— IOI/2 M. Z/a i?ei/, with fine waterfalls. High up on the

opposite bank is La Gurra (5215 ft.), with its tower, backed by

the glacier.— 12^/2 M. La Balme, with a fall of the Xant Cruet.

The road leads through a pine-forest and descends. Behind us is

Mont Blanc; in front lie the glaciers at the head of the valley.

141/2 M. Les Brevieres (5160 ft.; Hot. du Col-de-la-Chasse), a

hamlet amidst pastures, where the road nears the river. To the

Graude-Sassiere, see p. 387.
The road again ascends and passes through a grand *Ravine,

beyond which it crosses the stream and enters a grassy basin.
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16 M. Tignes (5445 ft.; Hot. Veuve Revial, plain, E. 2, P.

from 6 fr.), a lace-making village at the confluence of the Isere

with a torrent descending from the Lac de Tignes (p. 388). Opposite

is a fine fall of the Ruisseau de la Sassiere.

The road next crosses the river and ascends, leaving on the

left the hamlet of Francliet with its rocks (p. 390). Beyond a

wild gorge we pass the hamlets of Daille, Le Crey, and Ulle.

20 M. Val-d'Isere ^6065 ft.
;
good inns of J. B. Moris, R. from

21/2, L. 3, D. 31/,, P. 7-10 fr., and D. Moris, R. 2-31/2, L- 3, D. 31/2,

P. 7-9 fr.), a small village and a favourite excursion-centre.

n. Excursions from Tignes and Val-d'Isere.

Guides. First-^'lass: Fred. Rond (skieur). Second-class (the first three

skieurs): Jos. Mangard fils, Pierre Rond, Jean Mangard, and C. Mattis,

all of Val-d'Isere.

a. From Tigxes.

To the N.W. are the (IVa hr.) Granges des Marais (7125 ft.), from which
the Dome de la Sache is ascended in 43/4 hrs. (p. 385).

To the Lac de Tignes, a pleasant little excursion, 2 hrs. there and
back, by a path, steep but easy to find; see p. .389.

Ascent of the Graxde-Sassiere, highly interesting, but laborious

(6V2 hrs.
;

guide, 25 fr., and provisions necessary). The night is usually
spent at the highest Chalets des Sales or dii Said (7535 ft.), 2 hrs. from
Tignes. We ascend steeply to the right of the torrent, and after 1 hr.

sight the summit of the Grande-Sassiere, while behind rises the huge
snow-mantle of the Grande-Motte. A little higher up we pass a large

waterfall, and then, to the right, we see the white Tsanteleina (p. 390).

From the chalets the route is, W., to the arete by which the ascent is

usually made (the usual descent is by the debris on the S.W. side). We
come first to (i/, hr.) a small plateau, opposite Mout-Pourri, and then ascend

steep stony slopes to the (VU hr.) arete (9720 ft.), where we again sight

the Aiguille. After 1 hr. we climb a small chimney, then (10 min.) an-

other, rather difficult, up to the arete (view of Mont Blanc); lastly (1/4 hr.)

we cross the glacier (10,755 ft.; free from danger) and clamber up the

steep slaty rocks to the (1 hr.) summit. The *Aiguille de la Grande-
Sassiere '(12,325 ft.) is the liighest peak but two of the Tarentaise (Grande-

Casse 12,670 ft.; Mont-Pourri 12,430 ft.), and is the least difficult to ascend.

The view is extensive and superb. To the X. appear Mont Blanc, the

Grand-Combin, the Matterhorn, Monte Rosa, and, in the distance, the

glaciers of the Bernese Oberland. At our feet lie the lonely defile* of

the Val Grisanche and Val de Rheme and the great glaciers of the fron-

tier. To the E. are the Grand-Paradis, the Grivola, and the plains of

Lombardy. To the S.E., beyond the range separating the valleys of the

Isere and the Arc, the whole horizon is bounded by glaciers, from which
rise many peaks over 10,000 ft. high, from the Levanna to the Roche-
Melon and to Monte Viso in the distance. To the S.W., where sparkles

the Lac de Tignes, are the Grande-Motte, the Grande-Casse, the Vauoise
glaciers, Mont Thabor, and the Dauphine Alps; nearer is Mont-Pourri,

The Grande-Sassiere may be ascended from Les Brevi'eres (p. 386), in

5 hr.s., via C'henal-Dessons, Chenal-Dessus, and the Chalet de Balmot.
The descent may be made this way (3 instead of 4 \\xs.).-~ Passage dn
Dome and Col de la Bailletta (Val-d'Isere), see p. 390. -To the (Jratide-

MoUe, via the Lac de Tignes and Col de la Leisse, see pp. 388, 391, 397.
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To RHEsrE-XoTRE-DAME (Aostu) , 71/2 hrs. (guide 25 fr.). From the

Chalets des Sales (p. 387) we continue to skirt the torrent to the (21/2 hrs.)

Lac de la Sassiere (8025 ft.), a gloomy tarn fed by the Glacier de la

Goletta or de Rheme. We then ascend to the left by the glacier to the

(IV2 br.) Col de la Goletta (10,050 ft. ; wrongly called Col de Rheme; comp.
p. 390), between (left and right) the Pointe de la Traversiere (10,960 ft.)

and the Pointe de la Goletta (10,795 ft. ; 1/2 br. from the col; splendid view).
Grand view, looking back, of the Grande-Motte and Grande-Casse ; on the
right, the Grand-Paradis, etc. The panorama is more extensive from the
Grande-Parei (11,895 ft.), 1 br. from the col (steep, but not difficult). We
descend from the col to (I1/4 br.) the Chalets de Soches and follow the
\a.Ue\ to {2^!i hrs.) Eheme-Xotre-I)a7ne (Rest. Grande-Rousse; quarters at

the cure's). Thence to Aosta, see Baedeker's N. Italy.

To BozEL (Pralognan, Moutiers) over the Col du Palet,

8 hrs, (9 hrs. back), one of the finest routes in the Tarentaise (guide

unnecessary; mule and man from Tignes 8-9, from Val-d'Is6re

12 fr.). The path (road to the Lac de Tignes under construction)

ascends rapidly, W. of Tignes, along the torrent which descends

from its lake through a picturesque ravine. Near the top of the

hill the Col de la Tourne path (p. 389) diverges to the right. In

l74hr.we reach the Lac de Tignes (6850ft.), a pretty lake abound-

ing in fish, and fed by the glacier of the Grande-Motte (p. 397),

which rises boldly to the S. Fine view of the Grande-Sassiere and

the Tsanteleina. The path passes to the right of the lake, leaving

on the left the paths to Val-d'Isere and the Col de la Leisse (2 hrs.;

p. 391), and then ascends to the right in a great bend. To the left

rises the Grande-Balme (9470 ft.), and farther W. are the Bochers
de Framecou (9910 ft.). The Col du Palet (8720 ft.; 21/2 hrs.

from Tignes; lies between these Eochers and the Rochers de Char-
donet (9435 ft,; on the right). To the right is the valley of Peisey

(p. 384), with its little lakes, overtopped on the right by Mont-

Pourri (p. 384) and on the left by the abrupt peak of the Aliet

(p. 385j and the Sommet de Belle -Cote (p. 389). We go on to

the left to the head of the valley of Champagny. *Superb view:

left to right, the Rochers de Pramecou, the Grande-Casse with its

glaciers, the Pointes de Lepena and de la Gliere, and the Grand-

Bee de Pralognan. The path, very steep most of the way, descends

to the (IV2 hr,) Chalets de LaPlagne (6660 ft.), near the Lac
de la Gliere, the source of the Torrent de Premou, or Doron de

Champagny, which we now follow. We pass through another

ravine (^/^ hr.) and lastly descend by zigzags (^4 hr,). Opposite

rises the Grand-Bee (see below). Numerous torrents descend from
the glaciers, and farther on are two fine cascades on the right.

We cross the torrent several times and pass Le Jonay, or Laison-
nay (1/4 hr. ; 5145 ft.), Frihuge (^/^ hr.), and Champagny-le-Haut,
or Le Bois (1/4 hr.; 4855 ft.; Hot", des Gorges, P. 6-7 fr,; 2nd cl.

guides, Michel Ruflaer-Lanche and Jean Tavel).
The Grand-Bee de Pralognan (11,165 ft.), to the S.. is ascended

hence in yi/^ brs. (guide 20-25 fr. ; with difficult descent to Pralognan
50 fr.). We ascend to the village of Le Jonay (see above), and thence
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direct to the (3^2 hrs.) Glacier de la Becca-31otta ; we climb a rocky ridge

in the centre of it to the (2 hrs.) second summit, whence in a few min.,

to the W., we reach the top. The panorama is very extensive towards
Savoy, where it is unimpeded, and also embraces the great peaks of the

Maurienne and Dauphin^, Monte Viso, Grand-Paradis, etc.

The Sommet de Belle-Cote (11,225 ft.), to the N., is ascended in

5-6 hrs., by the (2i/o hrs.) Chalet de I'Ecurie (7545 ft.), the Glade?- de la

Thiaiipe, and the S. or the W. arete (3-4 hrs.). Splendid view from the

top. Guide 15, with descent to Peisey (p. 384) 20 fr.

Beyond Champagny-le-Haut we reach (10 min.) La Chiserette

(4760 ft.), where we join the path from the Vallee de Peisey over

the Col de Frette (p. 385). The bridle-path becomes a road and

threads the striking Gorge de Champagny, high above the torrent.

Farther on, we have a hue view of the valley and of that of the

Doron, backed by the Pointe de Creve-Tete (p. 383). In ^/^ hr. we
reach Le Planay, a hamlet of Champagny, the birthplace of Pierre

de Tarentaise, afterwards Pope Innocent V. (1276).
Walkers bound for Pralognan diverge here by a path to the left

of the chapel, cross the torrent, and descend the left bank to rejoin the
road at the top of the zigzags leading down to Le Villard (40 min.; p. 393).

From (5 min.) Champagny-le-Bas (about 3935 ft.) the road runs

at some height on the right of the valley, and then, leaving on the

left a direct path to Le Villard (p. 393), descends rapidly to the

Pralognan road and (1 hr.) Bozel (p. 393).

From Tignes to Peisey, over the Col de la Tourne or the Col du
Palet, 7-71/2 hrs. (guide 15 fr.). The path is as above to the Lac des
Tignes or to the Col du Palet. The Col de la Tourne (about 8530 ft.),

between (right and left) the Rochers Rouges (9875 ft.) and the Rochers
de C'hardonet (p. 388), is more fatiguing but more interesting than the

Palet route. The two paths soon unite on the other side and descend
between Mont-Pourri and the Aiguille du Midi, etc. (p. 385).

b. From Val-d'Isere.

To THE Lac de Tignes, 3 hrs., bridle-path via (25 min.) Daille (p. 387),

where we cross the Isere, Les Etroits, the pretty Comhe de la Thotfviire
(on the left, the Rochers de Bellevarde, see below), and the (IV4 hr.)

Chalets and {^U hr.) Pas de la Thouviere (7390 ft.), where we have a view
extending to Mont Blanc. A shorter path ascends through woods from
the bridge of Le C'rey (p. 387), N.W., joining the Daille path above Les
Etroits. From the Pas de la Thouviere we descend in V2 ^'^- to the Lac
de Tignes (p. 388).

The *Roch.ers de Bellevarde (9295 ft.; guide useful, 10 fr.) are

ascended in 21/2 hrs. by the Col de Fresse route (see below), from which
we diverge to the left, or else via Le Jozeray.

The *Rochers de Genepy (10,360 ft.; 5 hrs.; guide 10 fr.;

not difficult) are ascended by the Combe de la Thouviere and the

(21/2 hrs.) Col de Fresse (8495 ft.) ; then, S., up to the slaty summit.

Splendid view, from Mont Blanc to the Dauphine Alps.

*Pointe de la Sana (11,320 ft.; 5 hrs.; guide 20 fr.). We
ascend the Comhe dit Charvet, S., then S.W., to (3^4 hrs.) the

Glacier de la Barme-de-l'Ours, at the foot of the precipices of

the Sana; we then mount the glacier, W. to E., to a col (10,205 ft.)
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E. of the peak, to which we ascend over snowy slopes. Superb

panorama, notably of the Tarentaise and the Mont Blanc chain.

Easy descent, S.W., to (31/2 hrs.) Entre-deux-Eaux (p. 399). The
ascent may be made also from the Col de la Kocheure (p. 391).

*Grande-Sassiere (p. 387), •''/4 hr. longer than from Tignes. We
ere down the Tignes road to a point below the gorge, and then ascend to

Franchet (6150 ft.
; p. 387), Les Sales (p. 387), etc.

The ascent of the *Tsantelema (11,830 ft.), the Pointe de Bazel of

the French maps (namesake, see below% X.E., is made in about 61/2 hrs.

on the S. side (for adepts only; guide 20 fr.). It is still more difficult

on the W. side, and 31/2 hrs. longer. We ascend the A'alley to (35 min.)
Le Fornet (6350 ft.), then X. through meadows, leaving to the left, farther
on, the Col de la Bailletta path (see below). We next mount to the (13/4 hr.)

Plateau du Quart (about 8365 ft.), then to a terrace with a lake, and,
bearing to the E., reach the (I1/3 hr.) Glacier du Quart (about 9775 ft.).

Crossing this glacier, and skirting the right (X.) side of a rocky barrier,

we reach the (^/^ hr.) Glacier de Quart-Dessus, where it is usual to keep
to the right side. This brings us to (about 5 hrs. in all) an upper plateau
on a level with the Col Bobba (11,275 ft.), between (X.) the Tsanteleina
and (S.) the C'iyne de Quart-Dessus (11.400 ft.). We then cross a chasm
to the W. arete, join the W. route (see below), and mount by the arete

to the top. This route is preferable to that by the Col Bobba (see above).
*View. ranging from the Jungfrau on the X. to Monte Viso on the S.

The Col de la Bailletta (9365 ft.), mentioned above, about 3 hrs. from
Le Fornet. leads to the Sassiere valley, the (IV2 hr.) Lac du Santet or

Sautet (9120 ft.), and the (3/^ hr.) Lac de la Sassiere (p. 388). This is the
route for the ascent of the Tsanteleina on the W. side. —Another col,

a more direct way from Yal-d'Isere to the Sassiere valley, is the Passage
du Dome (about 9185 ft.), at the head of the valley running X. from the
village. Eight and left rise the Pointe du Front (9725 ft.) and the Dome
(9950 ft. ; 4 hrs. ; difficult), a curious tapering rock, and the Rochers de
Franchet (9245 ft.) and the Pointe de Picheru (9700 ft. ; splendid view).

To THE PoixTE DE Calabre akd Roc DEL FoxTE, X. of the Source
of the Isere, 51/4 and 51/0 hrs., via the Col de Rheme (guide 18 fr.). The
route leads via (35 min.) Le Fornet (see above) and (1 hr.) the Chalets de
St-Charles (6795 ft.), where we quit the valley and ascend to (21/2 hrs.)

the Col de Rheme (10,045 ft. ; namesake, see" p. 388), on the frontier,

between the two peaks. Beyond are vast glaciers, across which we may
go on to (about 3 hrs.) the Chalets de Soches and Rheme-Xotre-Dame
(p. 388). — The Pointe de Calabre or de Bazel, according to the natives
the highest point (11,295 ft.), rises to the left of the col, and may easily

be ascended in I1/4 hr. The Roc -del Fonte, the Pointe de Calabre of the
French maps (11,035 ft.), to the right of the col, takes I1/2 hr. to ascend.
Both peaks command extensive views.

To THE PoisTE DE LA Galise, about 6 hrs. (for adepts only; guide
18 fr.). To the (1 hr. 35 min.) Chalets de St-Churles, see above. The path
then leads through the Gorge de JIaljwsset to the (1 hr.) Prariond (7455 ft.

;

chalet-refuge). We next bear to the left, by moraines and a small gla-

cier, to the (2-2>/4 hrs.) Col de la Galise, or' Passo di Galisia (9905 ft.),

on the frontier, affording line views E. and W. (to Ceresole, see p. 391).

Tlie summit of the *Polnte de la Galise (10,975 ft.; splendid *View),
to the X.E., is reached in Vjo hr. more by descending a little, then mount-
ing a couloir, rocks, and a snowy slope.

To THE CiME d'OiK AKD THE GkaSDE AiGUILLE RoUSSE, WITH DESCENT
TO Bonxeval, 9^2 hrs., a fine route (no difficulty; guide 20 fr.). To the
(21/2 hrs.) Prariond, see above. Then up towards the Sources de V Isere,
by a moraine and grassy slopes to the right of the Glacier du Col-de-la-
Vache, and across" the*(lV2 hr.) upper part of the glacier (easy) to the
left, to the (1 hr.) Col de la Vache. or Passo delta Vacco. on the frontier,

I
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from which we view the pretty Lac Cleii'u (7350 ft. ; N.E.). From the

col we may mount by a slaty arete in 35 min. to the top of the Cirae
d'Oin (10,750 ft.; S.). To the S.B., in Italy, rises the C'ivie dii Carre
(10,860 ft.); and S.W., on French soil, is the Grande Aiguille Bousse
(11,425 ft.). The latter is scaled in I1/2 hr. by descending to the (V* hr.)

glacier, and then ascending an arete, on the S., to (1/2 hr.) the Col dn
Boiiquetln (about 10,825 ft.), B. of the Aiguille; thence another arete

leads to the (^/^ hr.) top. The *View embraces the frontier chain from
the Tarentaise to the Maurienne, including the Matterhorn and Monte
Rosa, the Dauphine Alps, etc.— The Petite Aiguille Rousse (11,265 ft.)

lies fully 1/2 hr. W. of the G-rande Aiguille. From the latter we return

to the (20 min.) depression between the two, pass (V4 hr.) between the

Grande Aiguille and the Aigtiille de Gontiere (10,475 ft.), and descend S.

to the (1 hr.) Chalets de Lechans (p. 405) and (2 hrs.) Bonneval (p. 404).

To Bonneval over the Col d'Iseran, about 5 hrs. ; bridle-path,

easy and interesting (guide 10 fr., needless in fine weather; mule

to the col 8, to Bonneval 15 fr.). We ascend the Isere valley to

(10 rain.) Laissenant (6120 ft.); the path then mounts steeply to

the right, partly through woods, crosses two torrents, and reaches

(l^l^hr.) the entrance of a broad depression, marked with a pyramid
of stones and rising gradually to {^j^ hr.) the col. The path is marked
with heaps of stones. Behind us rises Mont-Pourri in the background

;

then the Grande-Motte and the Grande-Casse, nearer, to the left

of the Isere valley; to the right rise the Grande-Sassiere and the

Tsanteleina. The Col d'Iseran (9085 ft.; refuge), 2^/2 brs. from

Val-d'Isere, is the chief pass between the upper valleys of the

Isere and the Arc. It aftords a superb *View of the wild valley

of Bonneval and the peaks and glaciers around it. The view is still

more extensive from the Signal du Mont-Iseran (10,630 ft. ; toil-

some), 11/2 hr. N.E. of the col. We descend by the Vallon de la

Lenta, with a still finer *View of the glaciers and peaks from the

Levanna to the Roche -Melon, notably of the Pointe d'Albarou

opposite. There are three rapid descents, the last being the steepest.

We cross the torrent twice (fine fall a little short of the second

bridge). To the right rises the Pelaou-Blanc (p. 405), to the left

the Pointe des Arses (p. 405). We then turn to the right and descend

to BonJieval (2^2 hrs. from the col; ascent 3 hrs., see p. 404).

To Entre-deux-Eaux over the Col de la Leisse, 6V2-7 hrs. (guide
15 fr.). From the (21/2 hrs.) Col de Fresse (p. 389) we ascend S.W. to the

(1 hr.) Col de la Leisse (9120 ft.), E. of the Grande-Motte glacier. The
descent is gradual into the Vallon de la Leisse; on the right rises the
Grande-Motte (p. 397), which may be scaled from this side (guide 25 fr.);

on the left is the Pointe de la Sana (p. 389). The valley, dominated
farther on by tlie Grande-Casse (p. 397), unites above Entre-deux-Eaux
with that descending from the Col de la Vanoise (p. 399). — Over the
Col de la Rocheuke, also 6V2-7 hrs., with guide. We ascend the Combe
du Charvet (p. 389), and then a patch of nevd, to the (4V2 hrs.) Col de la

Rocheure, or Col des Quecees de Tignes (9645 ft.), E. of the Pointe de la
Sana (p. 889; ascended from the col in 1^/4 hr.). Easy descent by the Vallon
de la Rocheure to Entre-deux-Eaux (p. 899).

To Obbbsolb over the Ool de la Galise, about 9 hrs., fatiguing
(guide 80 fr.). To the (41/3 hrs.) Col de la Galise, see p. 390. Wo de-
scend to the left to (2 hrs.) the Chalets de Cerrii (7850 ft.), leaving on

Haeukkkr's Southern France. 6tli Edit. 25
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the left a path to the Val Savaranche over the Col de Nivolet (8665 ft.),

and follow the valley of the Oreo to (23/^ hrs.) Ceresole Reale (4905-5290 ft.;

*Grand-H6tel, R. from 31/2, L- 3, D. 41/2 fr.; Hot. Blanchetti, plainer;

guides), an Italian village with chalybeate springs , on the N. of the

Levanna range (p. 405); see Baedeker's Northern Italy.

54. Valley of the Doron and Mountains
of the Vanoise.
Comp. the Map, p. 383.

I. From Moutiers to Bride s-les-Bains and Pralognan.

17 M. Electric Tramway to (31/2 M.) Srides-les-Bains 15 (in July and
Aug. 17) times daily, iu V2 br. (75 or 50 c). Hotel-omn. also meet the trains

at Moiitiers. — Motor Omnibus from Moutiers to Pralognan, via Brides-les-

Bains and Bezel, once or twice daily in summer in 2^/4 hrs. (8 fr., from
Brides 6V2 fr.). Excursions iu July and Aug. 4 times weekly. — Omnibus
from Brides to Bezel, once daily, in I1/2 hr.

MoiUiers, see j). 382. The road crosses the Isere and ascends

at first on the right bank of the Doron de Salins.

IV4 M. Salins (1615 ft.; Hot. des Bains, first-class, K. from 3,

L. 3, D. 4, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des Thermes-Salins, Savoie) is a

village with baths supplied by two springs (95°j, strongly charged

with chloride of sodium, and chiefly used in the treatment of uterine

maladies, scrofula, anaemia, and chlorosis. Many bathers reside at

Moutiers. The baths have the same management and tariff as those

of Brides (see below).

We turn E., leave the pretty Vallee de Belleville on the right,

cross the Doron, and ascend rapidly above the ravine. Superb

view of the X. glaciers of the Yauoise and of the Grrand-Bec de

Pralognan (p. 388). Nearer rises the Dent de Yillard.— 2i/.j M.
Villard-Lurin, above, on the right.

31/2 M. Brides-les-Bains.— Hotels. *Gr.-H6t. des Thermes,
R. from 4, B. 1 1/0 , L. 3, D. 4, P. from 11 fr.; *Grand-H6tel, R. from 4,

B. IV2, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 9 fr.; Gr.-Hot. des Baignei/rs, R. from 4, L. 3,

D. 4 ("wine extra), P. from 9 fr. ; Savoy Hotel, L. or D. 3, P. from 7 or

8 f r. ; Hot. de la Vanoise, open the whole year, R. from 3, P. from 8 fr.

— Villas and Lodgings.
Etablissement. Buvette for three weeks 20, bath I1/2-21/2, douche

11/2-4 fr.— Casino (by the park). Season 6 fr. ; seat at the theatre 2-3 fr.

Guides, about 8 fr. per day, with mule 13 fr. Guides of 2nd cl., Ant.
Blanc-Tailleur, Vine. Fraissard.

Carriages : to Les Allues 20-25, to Bozel 15, to Pralognan 30-35 fr.

Anglican Church (St. Martin's) in the park.

Brides-les-Bains (1870 ft.) is a pretty village, finely situated.

The water (95"^), which contains sulphate of lime and chloride

of sodium, is used for both bathing and drinking, and is laxative

and purgative. It is valuable in the treatment of liver-affections,

diabetes, obesity, etc. The Etablissement is in a small park, ad-
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joiuiug the Hotel des TJieriiies. The spring is beyond it, on the

bank of the torrent. Season from May 15th to Sept. 30th.

ExcuRsioxs. To the Bois de Cythere, V2 hr- there and back, by the
road opposite the Hotel des Buigneurs and a path to the left.— To Salins,
by a path along the Doron (1 hr.), branching off the road by the tramway
depot. —J/o;?f Joret (p. 383) is ascended in 61/., hrs. by the Moutiers route

(p. 382) or in 5 hrs. via (4V-2 M.) Bozel (see below), La (Jour (4 M. ; 5015 ft.),

and the Vallon des Reijs, to the N.W., through which the chalet-hotel
is reached in I'/o hr. from La Cour.

Vallee des Allues. From the village of Les Alines (3700 ft. ; Chalet-
Rest. Micol), 4'/.2 M. from Brides, a good bridle-path ascends the valley
to (1 hr.) MifSsiUoji, whence we may ascend the Rocher de la Loze (see

below) in S-S'/o hrs., via Morel and the Chalet de Burgiti, and the Croix
de Verdon, or Dent de Biirghi (9005 ft. : about 4 hrs.

;
guide 12 fr.), the

highest peak on the left side of the valley. — About 21/2 hrs. from Mussillon
lie the Chalets dn Fruit (6725 ft.), from which the Aiguille du Fruit (see

below) is ascended in 4 hrs. (difficult; guide 25 fr.). — Beyond the Chalets
du Fruit we reach (3/4 hr.) the Chalets du Saut (7065 ft.), picturesquely
situated. To the W. rises the Pointe or Croix du Vallon (9695 ft.

;

guide 12 fr.), an easy and interesting ascent of 2'/o hrs. from the Chalets
de Gehroidaz, ^/^ hr. to the right of the Chalets du Saut.— The path
to the left at the Chalets du Saut leads to two cols: one route diverges
to the left, farther on, to the (I1/2 hr.) Col de Chanrouge (8325 ft.), and
descends to (5 hrs.) Pralognan, past the X. side of the Petit Mont-Blanc;
the other goes straight on to (2-3 hrs.) the Col Rouge (8975 ft.), and de-

scends to (8 hrs.) Pralognan via the Chalets de Ritort (p. 400). *Grrand view
of the glaciers of La Vanoise.

Beyond Brides the road follows the left bank, past Vignotan,
La Perriere, St-Jean, and Le Carrey, and crosses the torrent near

Bozel. On a hill to the right, 41/2 M. from Brides, is the pretty

village of St-Bon (3595 ft.; Hot. Cnrtet), much visited from Brides

8 M. Bozel (2615 ft.; Hot. des Alpes, L. 2V2, I>- 3, P. from

5 fr. ; Hot. Aruaud, R. 2, L. or D. 27,5 P- from 6 fr. ; Hot. Marie-
Thomas), picturesquely situated, is a good centre for excursions.

Ascent of Mont Jovet, see p. 383. —To Tignes, via Champagny and
the Col du Palet, see pp. 389, 388. -The Dent de Villard (7495ft.;

4V2 hrs., easy), a wooded height to the S.E., is ascended tlirough the valley
to the S., past Les Moulins and Montcliarvet, and then to the £. --The
Rocher de la Loze (8310 ft. ; 5 hrs., easy; guide 10 fr.). to the S.W.,
is ascended via (^1^ hr.) St-Bon (see above), Le Praz (4145 ft.; !/> lir-)<

Le Bioleij (I'/.j Jir-), and, W., the (1 hr.) Col de la Loze, with its" little

lake; to the top I1/4 hr. more (splendid view). We may descend W. by
the Vallee des Allues (see above). — The Aiguille du Fruit (10,010 ft.

;

8 hrs., difficult; guide 30 fr.) is ascended via St-Bon (3/4 hr. ; see above),
the Chalets de la Grande-Val (31/2 hrs.; 7125 ft.), where we sleep, ^e
(1 hr.) highest of the Lacs du Merlet (8030 ft.), and (2'/4 hrs.) a breach
in the chief arete. Lastly, a toilsome climb of Va hr. Grand panorama. We
may descend by the (V2 hr.) breach and the (IV2 hr.) Chalets du Fruit (see

above) to (21/2 hrs.) Les Allues (see above).

We now skirt the wooded range culminating in the Dent de

Villard (see above) on the right, and leave on the left the Cham-
pagny road (p. 389).— 10 M. Le Villard (2935 ft.), at the con-

fluence of the Doron and the Premou torrent.— The road winds up
rapidly to a height of 3620 ft., with the Gorge de Ballendaz, or

delaBallande, far below. On the bank are several curious fissures,

now spoiled bv a carbide factory. A path descends to the right of

25*
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the bridge, and ascends agaiu to Le Planay (see belowj. Fine views

towards Bozel, aud of the Vauoise glaciers iu front.

121/2 M. Le Planay (guides, see p. 395). Looking back, we see

Mont Jovet (p. 383). To the left, above the road, lies Chamberanger.
On the left also rises the Pointe cle la Vuzelle (8460 ft. ; 5 hrs.

from Pralognan, guide 20 fr.).— 14 M. La Novaz (3975 ft.), on

the right, at the foot of the Rocher de Yilleueuve (p. 395). After

crossing the torrent 1/2 M. farther, iu a small ravine, we again sight

the glaciers. On the right, above the road, is La Croix ; on the

same side rise the Dent Portetta aud the Rocher de Plassas (p. 395).

We pass the hamlets of Les Granges aud Darhellay on the left,

Le Plan and L'Eglise on the road, and then Le Barioz.

17 M. Pralognan-la-Vauoise (4670 ft. ; *H6t. de Pralognan,

at Le Barioz, R. frum 2^/2, B. l^/,, L. or D. 3^/2, wine extra, P.

from 6 fr. ; Hot. du Dome-de-Chasseforet, between Le Barioz and

L'EgHse, good, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des Glaciers, near the church,

open the whole year, P. from 7^/2 fr.; Hot. de la Vanoise, at Le
Barioz, P. 7-9 fr.), a commune of nine hamlets, lies in a broad

basin at the confluence of the Doron and the Gliere, overlooked on

the S.E. by the Grand and the Petit Marchet (8400 ft. and 8430 ft.),

rocky buttresses of the Vanoise. Being near the Col de la Vanoise

(p. 399) and Col de Chaviere (p. 400), Pralognan is the best centre

for excursions in the Tarentaise.
If unequal to any great ascent, the traveller should at least visit

the Cascade de la Fraiche (see below), ascend towards the Col de la

Vanoise to beyond La Gliere (p. .898), for the sake of the view of the
Grande-Casse, and climb Mont Bochor (see below), in order to see up the
valley to the Col de Chaviere (p. 400). — A fine point of view maj' be
reached by going in the direction of the Petit-Mont-Blanc (p. 395) to (10 min.)
the Fond de C'hoUiere. and then mounting the nearest height on the right.

To the right is the glacier of the Arcellin ; in front, the Grande-Casse ; to

the left, the double Pointe de la Gliere.

Cascade de la Fraiche (25 min.). We take the path to the right
of the chapel, cross the pastures to the left, skirt a brook and (10 min.)
cross a torrent, ascend to the left into the wood, cross (10 min.) a second
torrent, then turn to the left to .(5 min.) a bench opposite the waterfall.
The path we have just left mounts rapidly, crosses (25 min.) the Gliere,

and joins the Col de la Vanoise route at (10 min.) Fontanette (p. 398).

*Mont Bochor or Bochard (66-15 ft. : 13/4-2 hrs. X.E.). TTe mount
the zigzag path opposite the Hotel du D6me-de-Chasseforet to the Bois des
Flottes, leave (1/4 hr.) on the right a path to Fontanette (see below), and then
('/4 hr.) ascend by a good path to the right. When in sight of the chalets of

Fontanette, we mount (40 min.) a path to the left. Passing the Chalets de
Bochor, we reach the top in 50 minutes. Fine view of the valley of Chaviere,
with the Aig. de Polset and de Peclet (p. 398). We may descend straight
to Fontanette and join the La Vanoise path 50 yds. above the last chalet

(V2 hr.). A path to the right, 2 min. below the chalets, leads to the Bois
des Flottes and (1/2 tr.) the path by which we ascended.

The Morion, or Montrond (about 7710 ft. ; 2V4 hrs. to the E.), may be
ascended on mule-back. We follow the Vanoise route to (IV2 br.) the Chalets
de la Gliere (p. 398), then turn to the right. Splendid view, notably of
the cirque and glaciers of the Arcellin.

To the Gorge de Ballendaz, see above and p. 893: carr. 6 fr,
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II. Excursions from Pralognan.
Guides. First-class (the first six skieurs) : Jos. Ant., Greg., Jean

Maur., and Alb. Favre, Aug. and Jean Amiez; Seraphin Gromier (of Le
Planay). Second-class (the first two skieurs): Vict. Max. Favre, Jean
Louis Vion, Jules Marc, and Napoleon Favre, Jean Bapt. Vion; Jos. Fran^-.

and Leon Gromier, the latter skieur (both of Le Planay).

a. Ascents.

The Rocher de Villeneuve (7225 it.; 3 hrs. N.W.; guide

8-10 fr., unnecessary) presents no diiBculty. Tlie patli diverges to

the left from the Bozel road at Le Plan (p. 394), leaves on the left

the road to the Col de Chaviere (p. 400), and ascends to the right

along the wall. We next enter the Foret de la Bossaz (turning to

the left after 6 min.), and pass through a gorge above La Croix

(p. 394); "we then ascend in zigzags in the Foret de Jettet-Mont,

and skirt, to the left, the margin of another gorge. Then from

(21/4 hrs.) the Granges de Montcharvet we mount a steep grassy

slope (to V2 hr.) the top, which rises abruptly from the Doron
valley. *View. We may descend direct to La Croix, on the Bozel

road, through one or other of the gorges, but the paths are steep

and shadeless.

The Petit-Mont-Blanc (8785 ft.; 31/0-^ hrs.; guide 10 fr.,

not indispensable), to the right of the entrance to the upper Doron
valley, is another easy ascent. Early start advisable, to avoid the

heat.— (1) The Footpath (3^2 ^^rs.) branches to the right from

the Col de Chaviere route 200 yds. above (^/^ hr.) Les Planes

(p. 400), just beyond the brook. We have a very steep ascent

through scrub, and in zigzags over pastures (splendid view), to the

(1 hr.) Chalets des Saulces. The ascent is more gradual to a

(7^ hr.) gorge, where it again becomes steep. We come out (^/^ hr.)

on a grassy cirque, with the Col des Saulces (see below) in front and

a small lake at the foot of the Rocher de Plassas (see below) on the

right, and then mount to the left direct to the (^/^ hr.) top.— (2)

Bridle Path (4 hrs.) by the Col de Chaviere route to (1 hr. 40 min.)

the Chalet de Fontaine (p. 400). Here we take the path to the

right (W.) towards a stony slope, and then ascend in zigzags over

grass to (1 hr. 10 min.) the Chalet du Mdne. The indistinct path

next leads to the (Y2 hr.) Col du Mdne (8317 ft.), whence a good

path mounts the arete to the (1/2 br.) top. The *View embraces

Mont Blanc, the Grande-Casse, the glaciers of La Vanoise and Ge-

nepy, Aig. du Fruit, etc.— We may descend, W., via the Vallee

de la Roslere to St-Bon and Bozel (3-4 hrs.; p. 393).

The Kocher de Plassas (9385 ft.) and the Aiguille de Mey, or

Sommet N. de Fla.ssias (93.S0 ft.), two singularly shaped peaks N. of the
Petit-Mont-Blanc, take 4 and 5V2-6V2 '^rs. respectively (guide 12 and 35-

40 fr.). The former is reached by the (23/4 hrs.) Col des Sendees (7805 ft.),

and then by a somewhat difficult arete. *View more extensive than from the
Petit-Mont-Blanc. The second peak is reached from the first in l'/2-2'/2 hi*"-

by the argte and partly along the W. slope (very giddy; for experts only).
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Tbe usual descent (3-3V2 ^I'S.) is by a narrow cornice and the Br'tche

PnHeUa. Scenery of the wildest gi-audeur.

The Dent Portetta (8620 ft. ; about 4 hrs.
;
guide 10 fr.) is ascended

by its E. flank; in 3 hrs. we reach the entrance of a striking ravine.

Then to the rigrht, up steep slopes, to the top. *View quite as fine as from
the Petit-Mont-Blanc.

The Ascent of the Dome de Chassefoeet (7-8 hrs.; guide 18-

25, with descent to Termiguon 35 fr.) is an easy and superb glacier

excursion. It is best to spend the previous night at the (3 hrs.)

Chalet-Hotel Felix-Faure or at the (4 hrs.) Refuge des Lacs.

—

From the chalet-hotel (p. 399) we ascend S. to the ice-plateau of

the Yanoise, upon which we mount to (4-5 hrs.) the top, leaving

on the left the Poiutes de la Rechasse and du Pelvoz, and on the

right the snowy dome of the Pointe du Dard (see below).—Another

route is by the Col de Chaviere path to the (1 hr.) Chalets de

Prioux (p.' 400), and then to the left (E.) to the (IV2-2 lirs.) Cha-
lets des y'a7its (7250 ft.), and past the disused Refuge des Nants

(8200 ft.) to the (IV2 tr.) JRefuge des Lacs (about 8530 ft. ; in-

habited), near two small lakes. [The refuge may be reached, with

guide, also from Pralognau via the Pas de VAne (p. 397) and the

Combe de Flars, in 3 hrs.] The route keeps on, S.E., to (1/4 hr.)

a small plateau forming a col (8990 ft.); it then turns E., up the

Glacier de Chasseforet, to the (1V2-- ^^^•) arete (10,990 ft.), and

bearing to the S. ascends the glacier in 1^/^ hr. to the summit.

—

The *D6me de Chasseforet (11,800 ft.) rises in the centre of

the Yanoise group, whose glaciers are over l^/^ M. long and at

places 4 M. in breadth, but is surpassed in height by the Dent
Parrachee (p. 364) at the S. end (12,180 ft.). *Panorama left to

right, beginning at the N. : Mont Blanc, Grand-Combin, Monte
Rosa, Mont-Pourri, Grande-Sassiere, Tsanteleina, Grivola, Grand-

Paradis, Grand-Bee, Aig. de la Gliere, Grande-Casse, Aig. Pers,

and the peaks E. of the Arc valley, from the Levanna to the Roche-

Melon; Monte Yiso, Mont d'Ambin, Thabor. Dent Parrachee, Aig.

de Polset and de Peclet, Pelvoux, Ecrins, Meije, Grand es-Rousses,
Kelledonue, and Sept-Laux.

The descent from the Dome to Termignon (4V2-5 hrs.) is tiresome.

In 2-21/2 hrs. we reach the Gh-anges de VArpont (7270 ft.), from which a

pleasant path reaches, below Le Yillard, the (l-l^/o hr.) Col de la Vanoise
route (see p. 399).

*Pointe de la Rechasse (10,575 ft. ; 6 hrs.
;
guide 12-15 fr.), near

the X.E. end of the ice-mantle of the Vanoise, easy and interesting. To
the Col de In Vanoise (3 hrs.), see pp. 398, 399; we then ascend the loose

rocks to the S.. cross the Glacier de la Rechasse, and reach (3 hrs.) the

top by the W. arete. Ciraud view, notably of the Vanoise glacier.

Mont Pelvoz (10,740 ft.; 71/2 hrs., easy; guide 14-lG fr.), S.W. of the

Pointe de la Rechasse, with similar view. — The W. arete of Mont Pelvoz,
projecting into the Vanoise glacier N. of the Dome de Chasseforet, ends in

the Petit-Pelvoz (10,715 ft.), called Pointe du Bar on the Etat-Major map.
— The Pointe du Dard or Bar is really a peak (10,560 ft.) rising from
tbe glacier X. of the Petit-Pelvoz, and may be ascended (guide 10-15 fr.)

in 6 hrs. via the (3 hrs.) Chalet-Hotel Fclix-Faure (p. 399) and the glacier.
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G-rand-Marchet (E. peak; 4 hrs., fairly easy; guide 12 fr.; central

peak 8400 ft.), a bold rock doiniuating Pralognan on the S.E. We first

make a detour and skirt the Foret des Marchets, then mount in steps to

the Pas de I'Ane, the (21/4 hrs.) Chalets d/i Grand-2Iarchet, in a grand

cirque, and tlie Col du Dard or di( Grand-Marchet, and lastly through

a chimney to the top. View limited towards the S.E.

To THE Ctrande-Casse (5-7 hrs. from the Chalet-Hotel Felis-Faure;

good guides necessary, 35-40 fr. each), fit for tried experts only. First

ascent in 1860, by W. Mathews. We first ascend the Glacier des Grands-
Conloirs, requiring great care, to (21/4 hrs.) its third plateau; then by
the Grande-Pente to (31/4 hrs.) a giddy arete, leading to the (i/r^/4 I""-)

top. Or we may ascend from the Col de la Yanoise by an arete above the

Lac Eond, striking the glacier after 2 hrs. The ascent via the Col de la

Grande-Casse (p. 399) and the X. side is much more difiicult (6-7 hrs.

from the chalet-hotel; guide 60-70 fr.). The G-rande-Casse (12,670 ft.),

the highest peak in the Tarentaise and S. Savoy, rises K.E. of the

Vanoise and directly above the Leisse valley. The immense panorama
embraces Mont Blanc, the Bernese Alps, Monte Rosa, Monte Viso, the

Maritime Alps, and the Auvergne and Jura Mts.

To THE GrRANDE-MoTTE (guidc 35, with desccnt to Tignes 45 fr.),

61/2 hrs. from Entre-deux-Eaux by the old route, 1 hr. less by the new,
one of the grandest ascents in this region, and fairly easy, first made
by Messrs. Blanford, Cuthbert, and Eowsell in 1864. It may be made also

on the Tignes side, by the Col de la Leisse, but is more fatiguing. The
old route goes E. to' the (.SV4-BV2 hrs.) Col de la Leisse (p. 391), and
then up the glacier and snow-slopes to the (3 hrs.) top. The new route,

shorter, and preferable when the snow on the E. side is in bad coudition,

ascends the S. slope. It leaves the route to the col, reaches (1=^/4 hr.) a

green height below the S. buttress, and then ascends (21/4 hrs.) this

buttress, whence the summit is gained in 20 min. more. The Grande-
Motte (12,020 ft.) is the last great peak on the N.E. of the Vanoise
range, and affords a grand view N. as far as Mont Blanc; nearer rise

the mountains on the frontier with their glaciers, the Graude-Sassiere,
the Tsanteleina, etc.; to the left, Mont-Pourri and the Peisey valley;

S., the Arc valley, Monte Viso, Mont d'Ambin, Thabor, etc.

Pointe du Creux-Noir (10,425 ft.; 5 hrs. from Pralognan, 3 hrs.

from the Chalet-Hotel Felix-Faure; guide 14-16 fr.), to the left (X.E.) of

the ascent to the Col de la Vanoise. To the (IVa hr.) Chalets de la Gliere,

see p. 398. About 40 min. farther on a bridle-path to the left leads to the

(50 min.) Glacier d/tVallonet or dft Patinoir ; from the plateau we mount
to (1 hr.) the Col duVallonet, a deep gap N. of the Pointe du Creux-Noir,
and to the top in V/o hr. more. *View. — Behind this Pointe rises the
Pointe duVallonet (10,970 ft. ; 51/2 hrs. from Pralognan, 3V2 hrs. from
the chalet-hotel

;
g:uide 14-16 fr.). From the plateau of the Glacier du

Vallonet a stiff climb over debris brings us to (I-IV4 hr.) the E. arete,

up which in 50 min. we reach the top. *View still more extensive, in-

cluding Mont Blanc — The N.W. arete, rocky and very abrupt at first,

later snow-clad, leads then('e to the (IVz-Shrs.l Grand-Beo de Pralognan
(11,165 ft.; guide 50-90 fr.), a most difficult ascent. Descent by the N".

arete to Champagny in 4 hrs. (p. 388), or l)y tlie W. arete to Cbamberanger
(p. 394) and Pralognan in 6-9 hrs.

Pointe and Aiguille de la Gliere (11,110 ft. and 10,870 ft.; 6-7 hrs.

from Pralognan, about 4 lirs. from tlie chalet-hotel, difiicult; guide 35 and
30 fr.), N. of the Col de la Vanoise. Beyond tlie (2 hrs.) Lac des Vaches
(p. .S98) we turn to the left and ascend to a liollow by which (1/2 hr.) we
reach the foot of the small glacier between the two peaks, near a dried-up
lake. We then make for (V.2 hr.) a depression to the right of the lake,
where we join the path from the chalet-hotel. We ascend (1 hr.) over
rocks and snow to ('/4 hr.) the Col de la Glibre (about 10,.385 ft.), whence
the Pointe is reached in less than 1 lir. To reach the Aiguille we cross
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the fissure V4 br. short of the col, and clamber by a rocky couloir to the

(50 min.) narrow summit. *View ranging from the Matterhorn to the

Ecrins. Another way up, 4 hrs. from the chalet-hotel, passes over the

foot of the Glacier de la Grande-Casse and the rocks on the S. face of

the Aiguille, and joins the above route by the dried-up lake.

The Aiguille de L6p6na (11,265 ft. ; guides 100 fr. each), immediately
ISr. of the Col de la Grande-Casse (p. 399), first ascended in 1900 by
H. Mettrier, is fit only for adepts with good guides. A very early start

should be made, so as to avoid falling stones in the couloir.

The Aiguille du Bochor (9500 ft. ; 4 hrs. : with guide), above Mont
Bochor (p. 394), is an interesting climb for alpinists. Splendid view.

Dome and Aiguille de Polset (11,510 ft. and 11.595 ft.; 8-9 hrs.

from Pralognan, about 4 hrs. from the'Eefuge de Peclet-Polset, where the

night is ordinarily spent
;
guide 20, with descent to Modane 30 fr.). To

(31/0 hrs.) the Chalet de Plancoulour, see p. 400. "We then ascend to the

right to (1 hr.) the little Lac Blanc (8.200 ft.), on the S. side of which is

the new Refttge de Pi^cJet-PoUet of the C.A.F. (open 15th June to 80th

Sept.; telephone). Thence we mount grassy slopes, W., towards the Col
dii Sonfre. Instead of crossing the col we turn S., passing the base and
the E. side of a high rock-arete between the Glacier de Gehronlaz and
that of the Lac-Blavc, or E. branch of the Gebroulaz. We mount the

latter towards the gap between (E. and "W.) the Dome and the Aiguille, and
thence in 1/2 hr. scale either peak.— The Aiguille de P^clet (11,700 ft.;

guide 25 fr.) takes 1/2 hr. more. We ascend, as above, to the end of the

rock-arete, cross to the W. the whole breadth of the Glacier de Gebroulaz,
and then, S. of a large patch of snow, scramble up a couloir to the arete,

which leads S. to the northernmost or highest point (p. 364).— The Polset
and Peclet, being the westernmost peaks of the Tarentaise, afford the best

view of the Dauphine Mts. : Grandes-Eousses, Aig. d'Arves, Meije, Ecrins,

Pelvous. Ailefroide, etc. ; the Vanoise and other peaks also are well seen.

Ascent from Modane, see p. 364.

Pointe de I'Echelle (11,260 ft. ; 4-5 hrs. from the Chalets de Ritort,

p. 400; guide 35 fr.). We ascend along the N.E. base of the Glacier de

la Masse to the (2-21/2 hrs.) Col du CrH-de-la-Roiia (about 10,335 ft.) and
then follow the arete towards the S. Best descent via the Lac de la

Partie and the Col de Chaviere (p. 400).

Ascent of the Dent Parrachee (p. 364), via the Chalets de Ritort (p. 400),

difficult (8 hrs.
;
guide 35, with descent to Termignon or Modane 45 fr.).

b. Passes.

To Termignon over the Col de la Yanoise, about 8 hrs., a

good bridle-path, the most frequented pass between the valleys of

the Doron and the Arc (Maurienne). Guide (20, to Entre-deux-Eaux

10 fr.) needless in fine weather. Mule to the col 8, to Termignon
20 fr. We ascend to the left at Le Barioz, passing (1/2 hi"-) the

hamlet of Fontanette (Cascade de la Fraiche and Mont Bochor,

see p. 394) and (1 hr.) the Chalets de la Gliere (about 6645 ft.).

In front, to the right, rises the Aig. de la Vanoise (see below).

From the Chalets de la Gliere a path ascends to the right to (1/2 br.)

an opening between (right and left) the Morion (p. 394; 10 min.) and the

Aiguille de la Vanoise (9225 ft.; guide 10 fr.). We skirt the base of the

latter, pass the disused Refuge de la Vanoise (8155 ft.), near the Cuvette
des Assiettes (often dry), and rejoin the Col de la Yanoise path.

In 40 min. from the chalets we leave on the left the Patiuoir

path (guide-post
; p. 397) and then reach (5 min.) the Lac des Vaches

(7620 ft.; nearly dry). In front we see, left to right, the Aig. de la

I



from PraJognan. ('OL DE LA VANOISE. 54. Route. 399
3/op, p. 36-3.

Gli«he, Pointe de Lepena, Col de la Clraude-Oasse, aud the Graude-

(Jasse itself. We. next reach (^4 hr.) the iiioraiue of the Grande-

Casse glacier, and ascend it for 15-20 min., passing on the left the

Lac Long (8135 ft.). Then an almost level walk to (^4 hr.) the

Col de ia Vanoise (8290 ft.), with the Chalet-Hotel Fellx-

Faure (good; open 15th June to 30th Sept.; bed 2V2-3, B. l^/^,

L. or D. 21/2-37-2? wine extra, P. 8 fr.; telephone), 3 hrs. from Pra-

lognau and 5 from Termignon, situated on a desolate plateau at the

end of Lac Long, amidst bare or ice-clad peaks. The path descends a

little, skirts two small lakes, and becomes indistinct at the source of

the torrent descending towards Termignon (guide-posts aud stakes).

To the right rises the Pointe de la Rechasse (p. 396). Farther on

we see the Leisse valley on the left (p. 391), to the left of which

rise the Grande-Casse and Grande-Motte (p. 397). Facing us is

the Bocher duCol (10,505 ft.); farther on, between two glaciers,

rises the Pointe du Vallonet (10,370; namesake, see p. 397). In

3/4 hr. from the col we sight Entre-deux-Eaux, at the end of the

plateau, where the torrent is lost among the rocks, and descend by
zigzags to (V2 hr.) the Pont de la Croix- Vie (6890 ft.).—^Near it

lies Entre-devx-Eaux (7090 ft.; Chalet-Hotel Marcelin-Richard;

aub. of Yeuve Richard), a group of chalets on the right, 4^4 hrs.

from Pralognan. Col de la Leisse and ascent of the Grande-Motte,

see p. 391.— The Termignon path passes the end of the Vallon de

la Bocheure and crosses its brook (25 min.; 6710 ft.), leaving on

the right the ravine of the Doron de Yillard (not easy to descend). To
the right rises the Dome de Chasseforet (p. 396). We ascend, past

the (Y2 hr.) Chapelle St-Barthelemy and the (20 min.) Fontaine
Froide, to (10 min.) the Plan du Lac (7820 ft.), with its lakelet.

Then (25 min.) a steep descent, in view of the Chalets de Chaviere.

In 10 min. more we come to pines again, enter a line gorge, and at

last (20 min.) sight Termignon. At (7^ hr.) the Chapelle St-Antoine
we may descend by a good path to the left, through a wood,to (40 min.)

Termignon fp. 401). The old path (2/4 hr.) leads via (V/4 hr.) Le
Villard and past (10 min.) a fine cascade on the right.

To Val-cV Isere, over the Col de la Vanoise and the Col de la Leisse,
or over the Col de la Rocheure (about 12 hrs.), see above and p. .S91.

The Col de la Grande-Casse (about 10,170 ft. ; 5'/., Ins.
;
guide 12-

15 fr.) is a superb and easy glacior-pass. From the (H hrs.) Chalet-
Hotel Felix-Faure (see above) we ascen(f the high moraine at the N.W. end
of Lac Long (see above), and then the Glacier de la (ircDiih-Casse, towards
the left side, at the foot of the precipices of the Aig. de la Oliere. The
(2V2 hrs.) col lies between (left and right) the Aig. de Lepena (p. 398) and
the Grande-Cusse (p. 397). Superb *View, especially from the Glacier
de Lepena, 200 yds. beyond the col, whence the whole of the Mont Blanc
chain is visible. Return to tlie chalet-liotel in I'/r^ hrs.; or to Pralognan
liy the valley of Champagny (p. 3«8), in about C lirs. (guide 25 fr.).--From
Pralognan to Tigites, Val-d Isere, or Peisey, over the Cols de la Grande-
Casse and du Palet (p. 388). about 10 hrs. (guide 30 fr.), a fine route,
better tiiis way than reversed.



400 Route 54. COL DE THA^IERE. ^Io]>. p. 3S3.

To Tignes (Val-d'Isere) by the valley of Cliauipagny and the Col dii

Palet, about 10 his., see pp. 389, 388.

To Modane. — (1) Over the Coi. de Chaviere (9-10, in the reverse
direction lU-11. to the col .o^/.jhrs.; guide, unnecessary in fine weather,
20 fr.). Eoud for light A'ehioles to (I1/2 hr.) a point beyond the second
bridge ; later a path, very indistinct beyond the col. We ascend the
Doron de Bozel A'alley and soon have a fine view. Behind rises the X.
part of the Yanoise group, with the Grande-Casse; then, to the left, we
see the glaciers at the foot of the Dome de Chasseforet. At (Vo hr.) Les
Planes (52-10 ft.) the path to the Petit-Mont-Blanc (p. 395) and the Col de
Chanrouge (p. 393) goes to the right. Then (1/2 hr.) the Chalets de Prioux
(5665 ft.), where the Dome de Chasseforet path (p. 396) diverges to the
left. We cross the torrent twice, and then (1/4 hr. beyond the second
bridge) pass the Chatet de Fontaine, a few paces bevond which the
bridle-path to the Petit-Mont-Blanc diverges to the riglit (p. 395). The
path now ascends to a small plateau with the (1 hr.) Chalets de la Motte
(6335 ft.: fine view, to the left, of the Glacier du Genepy and the peaks
around it). The col, to the left of the snowy dome of the Polset, now
comes into view. We leave to the left (i/., hr.) the bridge and Chalets de
Ritort (6475 ft.), beyond which is the Col d'Aussoispath (see below). Farther
on, to the right, is the CoJ Rouge (p. 393). The path becomes faint, espe-
cially beyond the (1 hr.) Chalet de Pkincoulour (7265 ft.), whence the
Aig. de Polset (p. 398) may be ascended; but on mounting the next
height we sight the beacon on the col. Beyond the second height we reach
the (3/4 hr.) snow, and Mont Blanc is now visible. Lastly, a toilsome climb
over rock and snow to (1 hr.) the Col de Chaviere (about 9185 ft.

;

51/2 brs. from Pralognan), a Rap in the arete between the Dome de Polset
(p. 398) and the Pointe de I'Echelle (p. 398). To the S. are seen Mont
Thabor, Monte Viso, and the Dauphine Alps.— The descent is at first

steep and rough, but we soon come to pastures and bear to the right
towards the valley, already seen from the col. We avoid descending too
far. The path is struck again, I1/2 hr. from the col, on a level with the
last of the four fine cascades descending on the right from the Glacier
de Chaviere. At the end of this glacier is the Pointe Renod (p. 364).
We next skirt precipitous rocks, pass below the first pines, and turn to

the left to (3/4 hr.) Polset (5935 ft.). Then begins a long descent through
woods, at times very rough and steep. After 25 min. we see the rail-

way-works at the entrance to the Mont-Cenis Tunnel, the Fort du Sappey
above it, and Modane, still 1 hr. distant. In 35-40 min. we leave the
wood, then (1/4 hr.) cross the torrent, and beyond (10 min.) Loutraz and
(5 min.) UArc (on the left) pass under the railway. Those who do not
wish to stop at Modane (p. 363) go direct to the (20 min.) station along
the line to the right.

(2) Over the Col d'Aussois (5 hrs. to the col, 10-11 hrs. to Modane;
guide 25 fr.). uninteresting. To the (21/2 hrs.) Chalets de Ritort, see above.
We cross the Doron and ascend. S.E., on the bank of the Glacier de
Bosoire torrent, to the (40 min.) Chalets Inferieurs de Rosoire, and then
over pastures to the (i/o hr.) ruined Chalets Superieurs. We cross the
torrent 20 min. higher up, and then, turning S. farther on, reach (1-

IV2 hr.) the Col d'Aussois (about 9680 ft.), between the Tete d'Aussois
(10,355 ft. ; left) and the Pointe Matter (9960 ft. ; right). Thence to

Modane (6 hrs.
; p. 363), via the (I1/2 br.) Chalets des Fonds and (2 hrs.)

Aussois, see p. 364.

To Les Allues (Brides-les-Bains) over the Col Rouge. 9 hrs., see above
and p. 393.
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55. Upper Valley of the Arc.
Conip. the Mapfi, })p. 30^, 383.

From Modane to Bonneval-sur-Arc. 28 M., by road; inotor-omii. 2-3

times daily in 1 lir. 50 min. to Lanslehonrg (3-5 fr.), thence once daily in

summer to Bonneval in 2 hrs. (Ifr.); also once daily from Modane to Mont-
Cenis (see p. 402).

This part of the MauHenne (p. 362) contains grand mountains on the
frontier heyond Lanslebourg, but is far less smiling than the Tarentaise.
There are no glaciers on this S. side of the dividing range, like those of

the Vauoise on the N. side, and none appear on the slopes to our right

until we approach the head of the valley. Carriages and mules at Modane
and Lanslebourg (tixed tariff).

Modane, see p. 363. The road ascends near the left bank. To

the left rises the Rateau-d'Aussois (p. 364), and in front the Petit-

Mont-Cenis (see below).— 21/0 M. Villarodin (4070 ft.). To the left

are the waterfall of St-Benoit (p. 363) and the Dent Parrachee

(p. 364). Then a defile commanded by the Forts de I'Esseillon

(p. 363).— 31/2 M. Pont da Nant. To the left, below, is the Pont

du Diable (p. 364).
The Aiguille de Scolette, or Pierre-Mtniie (11,500 ft.), on the

frontier, to the S., may be ascended in 7 hrs. (with guide), via V Hortiere
and An Vallon. Superb view.

The valley widens. We leave Bramans (Hot. des Glaciers,

V. 5 fr. ; 2nd cl. guides, Ser. Richard, A. J. Favre, the latter skienr)

(III the right and cross the Buisseau de St-Pierre.
Through the ravine of this brook, which is grand in places liiglier up,

we ascend past the chapel of Notre-Datne-de-Delivrance (5110 ft.) to (3 hrs.)

Le Planais (Aub. du Mont-Ccnis). Thence we may visit the Col du Petit-

Mont-Cenis (7220 ft.), the Col de Clapier (8175 ft.), the Col d'Ambin
(9365 ft.), and the Col d' FAache or d'Etiache (9230 ft.), X.W. of the fine

Rognosa d'EtacJie (11,120 ft.). We mav ascend also \he Signal de Clerij,

or Mo7ite GiKsalet (10,895 ft.), the Roche d'Ambin (11,095 ft.), the Dent^
d'Ambin (11.095 ft.. 11,075 ft., and 10,970 ft., ditficuH), etc.- Near tlie

Glacier de VAgnel is the Rifugio Lvigi Vaccarone (about 8860 ft.).

7 M. Le Veniey (Hot. du Soleil). We cross the Arc— 10 M.

SolUeres. The Chalets de Moiit-Froid (7475 ft.), 3 hrs. S.E., on

the slope of the Mont-Froid (9300 ft.), afford a fine view.

11 M. Termignon (4200 ft.; Hot. du Lion-d'Or, good, R. 2-3,

L. 21/2, D- 3, P. 5-7 fr.; Hot. de la Vanoise, P. 6-7 fr.), at the con-

fluence of the Arc and the Doron. The church, with a curious octag-

onal tower, contains three richly gilded altars in the Italian taste.

E.xcuKsioNs. To Pralogvan, over the Col de la Vanoise (fully 4 hrs.

to Entre-deux-Eaux; best in the reverse direction), see pp. 399, 398; or via

tlie Dome de ChasHcforH (see p. 396), but the ascent is less easy on this

side and is onlv tit for good walkers with al)le guides.
The Dome de I'Arpont (11,875 ft.), S.W. of the Dome de Chasse-

foret, is Msc'iidcd in 6V4-7 lirs. via the (IV-j br.) Chalets d 11 Mont to the
X.W., tlu'u by an arete to the W., the (2Va lir«-) Glacier de I'Arpont
(crevasses), and tlie N. side of the peak. *View more extensive than
from the Dome de Chasseforet (p. 396). Descent to the Chalet-Hotel F61ix-
Faure in 3 lirs., or to Pralognan, via the Refuge des Lacs (p. 396), in 5 hrs.

The road ;iscends, and tlien descends into a wooded ravine. Fine

view of the Dent Parrachee (p. 364; behind us.



402 lioute 55. LANSLEBOURG. t'^i'^?- Valley
Maps, pp. 3S3, 309.

10^/2 M. Lanslebourg (4585 ft.: Hot. Valloire, good, R. 3-5,

L. or D. 3, P. 10 fr.; Hot. de TEurope, plaiu, R. V%-2^/2, L. or

D. 2^/2, P. 6-7 fr.), a village in decadence since the opening of the

Mont-Cenis tunnel. French custom-house.
The Mont-Cenis Road, made in 1803-11 by Xapoleon I., ascends

from Lanslebourg to the (9 M.) hospice and descends thence to (14 M.)
Susa. Motor-onin. from Modane to (2I1/2 M.) Mont-Cenis daily in 3 hrs.

(back in 21/4 hrs.), 10 fr. ; thence motor-onin. to (14 M.) Susa in IV2 hr-

(back in 2 hrs.). The road ascends in six great zigzags, across pastures
(short-cut by the telegraph saves 3/^ hr.). Fine views of the Peclet,

Vanoise, and Levanna. Along the road are ranged 23 refuges, as a violent
gale ('la Lombarde') sometimes blows here. The highest point of the road
(6860 ft.; tine view) is at the 5th refuge, 25 min. beyond the last zigzag;

the frontier is between this refuge and the next. Farther on, to the right,

is the Lac du Mont-Cenis (6275 ft.), IV4 M. long and 1/2 ^'^- broad, from
which issues the Cenischia, or C'enise. On the left, facing the lake, are

the Hotel de la Poste (E. 3-5, L. 31/2, D. 41/2, P- 8-10 fr.) and the Hotel du
Lac. Xear the S.E. end of the lake, 9 M. from Lanslebourg, and 10 min.
beyond the tv\-o inns, is the old Hospice du Mont-Cenis (6315 ft.),

founded by Louis le Debonnaire (d. 840), rebuilt by Xapoleon I., and now
barracks. Adjacent are the Grand-Hotel Ospisio (well spoken of) and a
hospice for the poor. The Pointe de Eonce, or P/mta Roiicia (11,815 U.;
6 hrs.), via the Pas du Chapeau (5 hrs.; 11,285 ft.), and eveu the Roche-
Melon (p. 403) may be ascended from here. — Beyond (11 M.) La Grande-
Croix, or Gran Croce (6070 ft. ; inn), is a fine' fall of the Cenise. The
road descends verv rapidlv (fine views; short-cuts). — 141/2 M. Bard
(4920 ft.; Ital. custom-house). —17 M. Molaretto (3820 ft.; Alb. Gravier).
— 20M. Giaglione, or Jaillon (2530 ft.). — 23 M. Susa (1625 ft.; Hot. du
Soleil). See Baedeker's Northern Italy.

From Lanslebourg we may scale the Grand-Roc-Noir (11,615 ft.)

and the Pointe de Vallonet (11,700 ft.): to the former 6 hrs., 1 hr. more
to the latter, fatiguing but not very difficult. We leave the road at (20 min.)
Les Champs, before Lanslevillard (see below), and ascend X. between two
valleys, then by the S.E. face to the foot of the Grand-Roc-Xoir, E. ; lastly

a scramble of V4 hr. —The Pointe de Vallonet rises farther X.; from the
base of the peak we follow a snow-arete E., and descend a little to the
X. towards the Pointe, scaled in 1/2 hr. more. Fine view. — In returning
we may join the route from Bouneval to La Magdeleine (see below), 2^/2 hrs.

from the base of the Grand-Roc-Xoir; in this case we pass the adjoining
small triangular glacier and (I1/2 hr.) the Chalets de la Fesse.

The Bonneval road, which leaves the Mont-Cenis road by the

bridge at Lanslebourg, also crosses the Arc farther on and soon

recrosses it. — 171/2 M. Lanslevillard (4855 ft.; aub.), with the

chapel of St-Sebastien, containing ancient mural paintings. A steep

zigzag ascent brings us in sight of the peaks and glaciers at the

head of the valley. On the left are rocks rising to 2600 ft. in height.

These form the back of some half-dozen glaciers descending towards
the Rocheure valley (p. 399) and overtopped by the Pointe du
Grand-Vallon (10,590 ft.), the Grand-Roc-Noir, the Pointe de
Vallonet (see above), the Pointes du Chdtelard, and the Croix de
Don-Jean-Maurice (p. 403). On the right, above a long glacier,

rises the Pointe de Ponce (see above). A path on the left bank also

leads to Bessans. The road leaves the torrent and for a time is

separated from it by a hill, beyond which we reach a grassy basin
and pass the hamlets of Le Mas, La Magdeleine, and La Chalpe.



of the Arc. POINTE D'ALBAKON. r^o. Route. 403
Maps, pp. 383, 309.

23 M. Bessans ^5645 ft. ; Hot. Cimaz, E. 1 V2-2V2, L. 3, D. 23/^,

P. 5-7 fr.; 2nd cl. guide, J. A. Clappier), on the left bank, to which

the road crosses. The Church contains carved altars and statuettes

by Clapier (18th cent.). The Chaj^elle St-Antoine is adorned with

16th cent, frescoes and has a fine ceiling of painted wood.
ExcL'RsioKs. To the Croix de Don-Jean-Maurice (10,300 ft.;

41/2 hrs.). The path diverges to the left from the Bonneval road, ascends
the slopes, and crosses the Glacier de Jfean-Jiartin, ^,'4 hr. from the sum-
mit, marked by three crosses.— Aiguille de Mean-Martin (10,785 ft.;

51/4 hrs. ; Pointe of that name, see p. 405). Same route to the (3V2 trs.)

glacier, then W. towards (3/4 hr.) a col (10,185 ft.), to the left of the peak,
which is scaled in 3/4 hr. more. Descent in about 31/2 hrs. to Val-d'Isfere

(p. 387).— Pointes du Chatelard (11,030 ft., 11,265 ft., and 11,495 ft.),

about 7 hrs., also by (3^4 hrs.) the Glacier de Mean-Martin. Crossing
the glacier, X.E. to S.W., we ascend to (about 1 hr.) the Col de Vefrette
(10,500 ft.), X. of the lowest Pointe, which is ascended in 3/4 hr., by the
arete. We descend "W. to scale {^j^ hr.) the second Pointe, and lastly we
mount a snow-slope to the (1/2 hr.) third Pointe, the highest on this side

of the valley, except the Grand-Roc-Xoir (p. 402). The line *View is open
on all sides (same from all three peaks). "We may descend to (3V4 J^'S-)

Entre-deux-Eaux (p. 399), by the Glacier de Vefrette and the (IV2 ln"-)

Rocheure valley; or to (2'/2 hrs.) Lanslebourg (p. 402), via the Chalets
de la Fesse (p. 402); or to (about 5 hrs.) Bonneval (p. 404), returning by
the glacier to the (1 hr.) Col de Vefrette, recrossing the (1 hr.) Glacier
de Mean-Martin, following S. the left bank of the Vallon, and lastly

going X.E. via the Chalet.^ des Roches (7390 ft.).

*Pointe de Charbonel (12,335 ft.), 5-6 hrs., with guide, from one
or other of the following night-quarters: Vincendieres (about 5900 ft.) or

Averole (6675 ft.), both in the smiling Vallee cVAverole, 1 or 1^1^ hr. S.E.
of Bessans; Chalets de Pierre-Grosse (6760 ft.), de Giaffa (6770 ft.), and
de VArselle (7095 ft.), all in the drearj' Vallee de Rihon, 1 hr. 10, 1 h. 30,

and 1 hr. 50 min. S. of Bessans. This Pointe, the highest in the Maurienne,
affords an exceptionally tine *Panorama of the Dauphini and Savoy Alps,
Grau Paradiso, etc.

*Pointe d'Albaron (12,010 ft.), Pointe de Chalanson on the Etat-
Major map, 71/2-8 hrs., fairly easy (guide 20 fr.). We ascend the ValUe
d'Av4role (see above), cross the torrent at (Va lir-) La Gouhiz (5745 ft.),

and (10 rain.), mount to the left to (40 min.) a height marked by a cross

(about 6760 ft.; view). Then to (V4 hr.) the Granges dii Laii, and up
a valley to the X.E., crossing the (1 lir.) Grand-Fond torrent (waterfall),

and on to the (3/4 hr.) moraine of the Grand-Fond glacier (about 8725 ft.

;

splendid view). We next ascend to the left of the Oiiillarse (10,960 ft.),

to (1 hr.) the great Glacier du Grand-Fond, S.W. of the Pointe, the top
of which we reach in 3 hrs. *Panorama, similar to that from the Pointe
de Charbonel. We may descend to the Chalet des Evettes (Bonneval, p. 406)
or to the Rifugio Gastaldi (p. 404). — The Pointe du Grand-Fond
(11,225 ft.), the Albaron of the Etat-Major map (comp. above), is ascended
in 6V2 hrs., by the ValUe d'Avirole and the Granges du Lau (see above),
then Ijy the (21/2 hrs.) Chalets de Parse and the left side of the peak.

The Bessanese (11,800 ft.) is ascended in 8 hrs. (guide 25 fr.) by (1 hr.

50 min.) Averole and the S. side, which is reached also from the Rifugio
Gastaldi (p. 404). A fine ascent, difficult by the X. arete (guide 40 fr.).

Roche-Melon (11,640 ft.), 71/2 ln^-, with guide. We ascend by the
chalets of the Ribon valley (see above) to (3 hrs.) the foot of the Glacier de
Roche-Melon, and to the top in 41/2 hrs. more. The *Panorama is superb,
revealing a new view of the Italian side of the Alps. A little chapel
here is visited by pilgrims on Aug. 5th.- Easy descent to (5 hrs.) Stisa

(p. 402); the bridle-path begins at the Ca or Casa d'Asti (9300 ft.), with
a refuge of the Italian Alpine Club.



404 Route oo. BONNEVAL. TJpper Valley
J/aj^-s-, p±j. 3it3, 809.

Fhom Bessaks to Lahzo ToRiNESE (Turin) ^ 15-16 hrs., via. the Col du
Collerin, Col d'Arnes, or Col de I'Autaret (easiest), all to the E., on the

frontier. Guide necessary. Through the Vallee d'Averole to the (1 hr.

50 min.) hamlet of Averole (p. 403) the path to these three passes is

the same. We then ascend X.E., in S^/a hrs., to the Col du Collerin
(10,625 ft.), S. of 2Iont Collerin (11,360 ft.), amidst glaciers. We de-

scend by the Piano della Mussa (5740 ft. ; Alb. Broggi) to (5 hrs.) Balvie
(4785 ft.; Alb. Reale, Belvedere; guides), in the St /ira cfAla Vallei/, whence
a road leads to (3 hrs.) Lanzo Torinese (see below; omn., motor-omn. in

summer), via (1 hr.) Ala di Stnra (3545 ft. ; Grand-Hotel, Alb. Bruneri

;

guide) and Ceres (2310 ft. ; Alb. di Ceres, d'ltalia). --The Col de I'Autaret
(10,115 ft.), 3 hrs. S.E. by the Vallon de la Lomharde, is crossed by a

path practicable for mules in part. We descend from it through the
Malciaussia Valley, with the Roche-Melon (p. 403) on the W., to (5 hrs.)

Usseglio (4100 ft.; Alb. Cibrario, del Rocciamelone; guides), whence a
road (omn.; motor-omn. in summer) leads via Leraie (3150 ft.; Alb. della

Stella, San Michele) to (3 hrs.) Viu (2575 ft. ; Alb. di Viii, Corona Reale)
and to (5 hrs.) Lanzo Torinese (1770 ft. ; Hot. de la Poste, de Turin, de
I'Europe), a little town connected by railway with (20 M.) Turin (see

Baedeker's X. Italy). From Lanzo to Bonnecal via the Col Girard, see

pp. 406, 405. — The Col d'Arnes, or Colle Arnas (9960 ft.), S. of the Pointe
d'Arnes (10,860 ft.), lies to the E., up the Averole valley, 4 hrs. from the
hamlet. We pass the Chalet du Plan-du-Pre and the chapel of Xoti'e-

Dame-de-VArselle. [Thence we may ascend S., by the Glacier de Baotinet,
to the Col de la Valletta (about 10,335 ft.), and descend to the Rifugio
di Pera Ciaval of the Italian Alpine Club (8465 ft.), between Jilont Lera
(11,005 ft.) and the Croce Rossa (11,705 ft.).] We next cross a corner of

the Glacier d'Arnes, then the (1/2 hr.) Col de la Rossa, or Collarin Arnas
(9355 ft.), and descend past the Lac de la Rossa to (41/2 hrs.) Usseglio,
where we join the preceding route. From the Col d'Arnes we may go to

the left X.E. to (I1/2 hr.) the C}'ot du Ciaussine, with the Rifugio Gastaldi
of the Italian Alpine Club (8690 ft.), a starting-point for the ascents of

the Pointe d'Albaron (p. 403), the Ciamarella {\). 406; guide from Balme
15-20 fr.), the Bessanese (p. 40i5; guide 25 fr.), etc. From the refuge a good
bridle-path leads to the Piano della Mussa and Balme (see above).

The Bonneval road keeps to the left bauk of the Arc. Beyond
Bessaus it passes the end of the Averole valley, where the Pointe

de Charbonel I'p. 403) rises grandlv on the right. Farther on, to

the left, is the Rocher du Chdtel^ ov Bee-Bond (6065 ft.). We
pass a waterfall and the Pointe de Mean-Martin (p. 405),

28 M. Bonneval-sur-Are (6020 ft. ; Chalet-Hotel du Club

Alpin, V4 M. to the E. of the village, R. 21/0, L. or D. 31/2, P. from

8 fr. ; telephone) lies in a small basin, which grows a little barley

and rye, but where the winter is very severe.

Guides (1st cl.): J. J. Blanc, -le Greffier' ; Jean Marie and Pierre Jos.

Blanc (both skieurs); J. J. Culet. Fees 6-10 fr. per day; mule and man
8-10 fr.

To Val-d'Isere via the Col d'Iseran (S-SV^ hrs.), see p. 391. Mule to

the col 8, to Val-d'Isere 15 fr. Coming from the vallej' we take a path
ascending to the left between the houses of Bonneval and forking outside
the village. We turn to the right. From the chalet-hotel we follow a

narrow path across the lields to a bridge, a little to the left of wliich

we join the route to the col. Farther on, at the end of the gorge, we
mount steep grass-slopes on the right bank of the main torrent. In
descending we turn to the left by the large pyramid (p. 391), leaving to

the right the line of pyramids which mark the winter route. — To Val-
d'Jsere via the Col du Bouquetin (p. 391) and the Glaciers des Sources
de risere (p. 890), a superb walk of 10-12 hrs., with a guide.
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Excursions from Bonneval.
Pointe des Arses (10,510 ft.), ubout 4 hrs. X., easy. We follow

the Col d'lseran route (p. 404) for 1 hr., then turn to the right over
l)astures and debris; or go by the right bank of the Arc and the (2 hrs.)
Plateau des Laiizes (86(55 ft.). This plateau at least should he visited
for the superb *View, notably of the glaciers on the Italian frontier. —
The OidUe-Noire (11,025 ft.), N. of the Pointe des Arses, is another fine
and fairly easy ascent (see below).

Aiguille "Pers (11,.S20 ft.), farther off, to the right of the Col d'lseran,
6 hrs. The route is the Col d'lseran path as far as (21/4 hrs.) the last
ascent; then by the Lenta valley (p. 391) to the (13/^ hr.) Col Pers (9890 ft.

:

view). Thence E. to (3/4 hr.) a peak of 10,885 ft. and (1/2 br.) another of
11,150 ft., both easily climbed. The top is reached in i/., hr. more (*View).
We may descend to (2^/4 hrs.) the Chalets de Lechans (see below), bv the
Glacier On Grand- PissaiUas and the (^/^ hr.) Col de V 11 ille- Noire
(10,690 ft.), X. of the peak of that name (see above).

Pelaou-Blanc (10,290 ft.), the chief peak W. of the Lenta vallev
(p. 391), 5 hrs., witli guide. We follow the Col d'lseran route (p. 404)
to the (21/2 hrs.) second bridge, and turn S.W. to the (V2 hr.) glacier on
the E. side of the peak. We ascend the glacier to (I-II/4 hr.) the Col
des Fours (9800 ft.), and thence to the top (N.) in 1/2 hr. Descent to Val-
d'lsere, 3'/2 hrs.

Pointe de M6an-Martin (10,960 ft.; Aiguille of that name, see
p. 403), 3V2-4: hrs. W., via the Col de la Pointe-des-Roches (9150 ft.),

interesting, and not ditficult for experts.

Pointes du Ch^telard (p. 403), 6V4 hrs. We ascond to the left
from the Col d'lseran route to the {^0 min.) Chalets des Roches (1^90 ft.);

then by the Crorge du Vallon, the (2^/4 hrs.) Glacier de Mean-Martin,
and the (1 hr.) Col de Vefrette, etc., as on the ascent from Bessans.

The Mulinet, or Cime Martellot (11,380 ft.), a rocky peak seen from
Bonneval to the right of the Arc valley, is ascended in 7 hrs., via (1 hr.)

L'Ecot (see below), the (3/4 hr.) Ouille de Trikves, and the (3V4hrs.) Glacier
du Mulinet. The last may be reached also from the Chalet des Evettes
(p. 406). The immense *Panorama includes the Italian plain and most of
the great peaks of Dauphine and Savoy.

The Levanna, which heads the Arc valley to the E., on the frontier,
is one of the tiuest points of view in this region. It has four peaks:
Levanna Centrale (11,940 ft.), Leccuina Occidentale (11,835 ft.), Levanna
Orientcde (11,695 ft.), And Leranneita (11,280 ft.; on the left, at the head
of the Source de I'Arc glacier). The Levaniia Occidentcde (71/2 hrs. ; with
guide; view) is easy for adepts. We ascend the Arc valley via (1 hr.)

L'Ecot (6715 ft.) to (3/4 hr.) the Granges de la Duis (7090 ft.), near the
source of the Arc (see below), and (l'/4 hr.) the Chalets de Lechans
(7840 ft.), where we may sleep. (Ascent of the Aig. Eousses, see p. 391.)
We next ascend N., then E., to the (2V2 hrs.) glacier, cross it straight
on (3/4 hr.), and lastly scale the W. buttress to (IV4 hr.) the top. We
may descend to Ceresole (p. 392), past the Refuge de la Jjevanna of the
Italian Alpine Club (about 9190 ft.). - The Levanna Orientale is reached
in 2 hrs. from the Col Perduto or Pers (10,635 ft.), on its N. side; the
Ijevanna Centrale in 5 hrs. from the Granges de la Duis (see above) by
the glacier and the S. face.

FitoM Bonneval to Ckrf.sole over the Coi. uu Cauro (9 hrs.). We
follow the Levanna Occidentale path to beyond the Chcdets de Lechans
fsec above), whence a stiff climb of l'/2 hr. N. brings us to the Col du
Carre (10,505 ft.). Descent 4'/2 hrs., including 1 hr, on the crevassed
Glacier du Carro. Ceresole, see p. 892.

From Bonneval, to Lanzo over the Col Giraru, about 13 hrs., with
guide. We ascend to the (13/4 hr.) Granges de la Duis (see above), then
turn E. to (Va hr,) the Source Infdrieure de VArc (7180 ft.). After 8 hrs.
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more in the same direction, latterly over the Glacier cle la Source-de-
VArc, we reach the Col de Girard (10,120 ft.), between (left and right)

the Levanna Orientale and the Mulinet, on the frontier, 51/2 hrs. from
Bonneval. Descending S.E., we leave on the right the (21/2 hrs.) little

Rifugio della Gura of the Italian Alpine Club (7315 ft.), and next reach

(11/2 hr.) Forno Alpi Graie (4020 ft. ; Hot. Francesia), on the Stura della
Gura, which we follow (omn. in summer) to C'hialamherto (inns) and-

(about 31/2 hrs.) Lanzo (p. 404). —Via the Col de Sea, see below.

From Boxxeval to the Chalet des Evettes {2^U ^^'S. E.).

From the chalet-hotel we cross the Lenta, leave the L'Ecot path

(p. 405), and cross the Arc. We ascend on the bank of the torrent

to a point opposite L'Ecot, and follow the bridle-path over the Col
des Evettes to the Chalet des Evettes (8625 ft.; July-Sept.;

telephone) of the C.A.F., finely situated on the S. slope of the Roc
de Pareis (see below;, and above the Lacs and Glacier des Evettes.

The Becula forms a fine fall, ^/4 hr. from the chalet.

The Roc de Pareis (8730 ft.), 10 min. from the chalet, ali'ords

a grand view of the frontier glaciers.— The Ouille du Midi (10,030 ft.

;

2 hrs. S.W.) is easy, and commands an even better view.

The *Pointe d'Albaron ^2,010 ft.; p. 403) is ascended from the
chalet, in 4V2-5 hrs., by the left bank of the Glacier des Evettes and the

(21/4 hrs.) Col du Gre'ffler (10,210 ft.; view). Or we may ascend direct

from Bonneval (7 hrs.), following the torrent of the Vallonet.

The Ciamarella (12,060 ft.), 6 hrs. from the chalet, beyond the fron-

tier, a grand ascent. We may descend to the Eifugio Gastaldi (p. 404).

To the Mulinet, see p. 405.

From the Chalet des Evettes to Laxzo (10-11 hrs.), over the (2 hrs.)

Col de Sea (10,155 ft.), between the Pointe de Sea (10,590 ft.) and the
Pointe Trmini (10,970 ft.); then down by the Glacier de Sea to (5 hrs.)

Forno (see above).— From the Chalet des Evettes to the Rifugio Gastaldi
(p. 404), via the Col Tonini, 5 hrs.

56. Prom Lyons to Grenoble (Marseilles).

75 M. Railway in 2V2-4 hrs. (13 fr. 55, 9 fr. 15, 5 fr. 95 c), from the
Gare de Perrache (p. 238), a pleasanter route to Marseilles (comp. R. 70)

in summer than through the Rhone valley (R. 66), but 47 M. longer. Best
views to the left.

Lyons, see p. 238, The train crosses the Ehone.

26 M. Bourgoin (835 ft.; Buvette; Hot. Cesar & du Pare;

pop. 6790), the Bergusium of the Konians, an industrial town on

the Bourhre. Close by is Jallieu (pop. 4118), with factories.

351/2 M. La Tour-du-Pin (1110 ft.; Grand-Hotel, L. or D.

8 fr. ; Hot. de France; pop. 4032), with factories, on the hillside

to the left. Nos. 62 and 74, Eue d'ltalie. are interesting old houses.

The sacristy of the modern church of Xotre-Dame contains a large

triptych of 1551, attr. to Jacob Binck of Cologne. A little above

the church is a Calvary with a Virgin in bronze (fine view). Steam-
tramway to Les Avenieres (11 M.; p. 256).

40 M. St-Andre-le-Gaz or le-Gua ('gue'; Buffet; Hot. des

Voyageurs).
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From St-Andre-le-Gtaz to Chambekt, 261/^ M., in about 1 hr. 20 min.
(4 fr. 80, 3 fr. 25, 2 fr. 10 c.). — 5V2 ^I- Pressins, on tlie line from Virieu-
le-Grand via Beliey (p. 315). The view of the Grande-Chartreuse range, on
the right, improves, the chief peak being the Dent de Crolles (p. 432), a long
white plateau ending abruptly. — 8 M. Le Pont-de-Beauvoisin (Hot. du
Cours), on the Guiers, or Gzders-Vif. Steam-tramways to St-Beron and
to Bonpertuis. see below.— 12 M. St-B^ron (1055 ft.; Hot. des Touristes,
des Gorges-de-Chailles). Steam-tramway down the Guiers valley to (4i/o M.)
Le Pont-de-Beauvoisin (see above) and (io M.) St-Genix-d'Aoste (p. 256)" To
St-Laurent-du-Pont, see below. —15 M. Lepin-Lac-cVAig iieheJc.tte (1240 ft.

;

Hot. Grimonet, des Touristes, Vallet), near the beautiful blue LrtC(Z'^?gr«e-

belette. About 41/2 M. to the S. are the small baths of La Bauche (Grand-
Hotel, P. from 7 fr.), with chalybeate springs. — ITVa M. Aigiiehelette (Hot.
Beau-Sejour, du Mont-Lepine). Then the Tunnel de I'Epine, nearly 2 M.
long. — WSl. St-Cassin-la-Cascade (1315 ft.), with the Cascade de Couz.
160 ft. high, on the right, farther on. We descend rapidly past vine-clad
slopes on the left: on the other side of the valley rises the Dent duNivolet,
with its cross (p. 361). After a wide sweep to the X.W. we join the Aix-
les-Bains line (p. 359). — 261/2 M. C'havibery (p. 359).

From St-Bkron to St-Laurbnt-du-Pont (Grande-Chartreuse, Voi-
ron), 10 M., steam-tramway in '^j^-l hr. (1 fr. 50 or 90 c). — The cars run
through the Gorges de CJiaiUes, with cliffs 500-650 ft. high, to (.31/2 M.)
Chailles.—G M. Les Echellss (1270 ft.; Hot. -Pens. Durand, good, R.
from 21/2, Tj- or D. 3, P. 7-8 fr.), a summer resort, 2V2 M. from which the
Chambery road leads through a tunnel, while the old road passes through a

defile formerly traversed only by steps ('echelles'). In this defile, 25 min.
from the station (carr. there and back 1 fr.), are the two interesting Grottes
des Eckelles (keeper at the entrance to the tunnel, 1 fr.). Close by is

a chalet-hotel, and at the other end is the village of St-Christophe-la-
Grotte. La Bauche (see above) is 3V2 M. from Les Echelles station.

[Omn. from Les Echelles twice daily, in l^/^ hr., to (71/2 M.) St-Pierre-
d'Entremont (Hot. Mollard), by the deep gorge of the Grand-Frou. To the
Grande-Chartreuse over the Col de la Ruchere, see p. 422; to the Grande-
Chartreuse over the Col du Cucheron and to Chambery (Route des Alpes),
see p. 361. To the S.E. we may visit, via St-Meme (guide iMonnet), the
picturesque Cascade du Guiers (IV2 hr.), and go thence by a curious patli

to a series of fine grottoes, below which rises the Source du Guiers-Vif
(21/4 hrs.).]— 7 M. Entre-deux-Guiers (Hot. du Commerce). — 10 M. St-

Laurent-du-Pont (p. 420).

44^2 ^I- Virieu-sur-Bourhre (Hot. Brochier), to the left, with

a castle (14th -17th cent.) containing valuable tapestry (15th-

17th cent.). Farther on is the Chdteau du PupetUre, on the left.

— 53 M. Le Grand-Lemps (Hot. LacToix).
Steam-tramway to (8V2 M.) La Cote-St-Andre (p. 495).

From Le Grand-Lemps to Charavines, 9V2 M., steam-tramway in

about 1 hr. (1 fr. 10 or 75 c), continuing that from Vienne (p. 494). —51/2 M.
La Ravignhouse (p. 408). Then the picturesque gorge of the Fure, v^^ich
drains the Lac de Paladru and supplies .50 factories. -7 M. Bonpertuis,
connected by a tramway with Le Pont-de-Beauvoisin (16 M.; see above)
through the pretty AinanValley. — 91/2 M. Ch.aravines-les-Bains(1675ft.

;

Hot. du Commerce, de la Poste, des Bains, du Lac, du Nord; Hot. des
Vannes, P. from 5 fr.), a busy factory centre (silk, paper, etc.), V4 M. from
the more residential Pa<7«^iereon tlie lake. Tramway to Voiron, see p. 408;
omn. to Virieu, see above. The Lac de Paladru (1625 ft.), 3'/., M. long
and 3/4 M. wide, on the plateau of Terres-Froides, has picturesque wooded
banks (fishing and bathing). Omn. to (4 M.) Paladru (Hot. Laurencin,
Cuaz), at the other end of tlie lake. About 2 M. to the N. of Pagotifere is

the ruined C'Tiartreuse de la Sr/lve-Benite, in a picturesque site. Near it

rises (1/3 hr.) the Grande-Terre-de-Farnoux (2660 ft.; view).

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit.
'
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Fine Adew to the left of the Grande-Chartreuse Mts. ; then of

the Belledonne chain.

53 M. Rives (Buvette; Hot. de laPoste; pop. 3156), IV* M. to

the S., on the Fure, has noted steel-works and paper-mills. Line

to St-Rambert-d'Albon, see p. 495.

Then a viaduct. The scenery improves.

591/2 M. Voiron (950 ft.; Hot. de la Poste, du Commerce;
pop. 12,503), on the Morge, a busy town, noted for its silk and

paper mills, has a handsome modern church (St-Br^ino) . On a

height (2410 ft.) above the town is a colossal copper statue of Notre-

Dame-de-Vouise, crowning a tower (view; key at the Mairie).

Tramway to St-Laurent-du-Pont and St-Ber<yn (Grande-Chartreuse),
see pp. 420. 407.

Steam-tramway (1 fr. 25 or 90 c.) to (IO1/2 M.) Charavines (p. 407), via

(71/2 M.) La Ravignhouse, on the Le Grand-Lemps line (p. 407).

631/2 ^I- Molrans (Buvette; Hot. de Paris; pop. 3805), an old

town prettily situated on the Morge, was the ancient Morginum.
Line to Valence, see p. 414.

We ascend the Isere valley, with the Grande-Chartreuse range

on the left, and opposite a group ending in the Bee de VEchaillon

(quarries). Fine views.

67 M. Voreppe (Hot. du Petit-Paris), 2/3 M. to the N. Road to

the Col de la Placette (St-Laurent-du-Pont, Grande -Chartreuse),

see p. 421. Tramway from Grenoble, see p. 409.
A bridle-path to the E., ou the left bank of the Roise, leads to the

(2 hrs.) old Convent of Chalais (3085 ft.), now private property, in

a beautiful site overlooking the Isere valley. (Rfmts. at the forester's,

close by.) From the convent we may ascend the Grande - Aiguille
(3595 ft.), in 1 hr., by the pilgrims' path. Beautiful views.

711/2 M. St-Egreve-St-Rohert. Fine view, on the left, of

the Pinea and Chamechaude (p. 423). To the left, near the line,

is the Neron (p. 415). "We cross the here above its junction with

the Drac. To the left appear the forts of Grenoble (p. 415); on

the right is the artillery range. Opposite rise superb mountains.

75 M. Grenoble (buffet). •

Grenoble.

Hotels (charges raised in summer). *Grand- Hotel {Y\. di', E, 3), Rue
de la Republique, with rest., R. from 31/.^, B. I1/2, L- ^^Ir^, D- 4-5, P. from
11, omn. 1 fr.; *E6t. Moderne (PL b; D, 3), Rue Felix-Poulat, R. from 5,

B. 11/-.. L. 4, D. 5, P. from 141/2, omn. 1 h. — H6t. deV Europe {V\. c; D, E, 3),

Place Grenette, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 141/2) omn.
1 fr. ; Hot. Lesdiguieres, 198 Cours St-Andre (bevond PI. B. 6; tramAvay
No. 5). in a prettv situation, R. 3-6. B. 1, L. 31/- D."4i/.2, P. 7-10 fr. ; Central-
Hotel (PI. d; D, 3), Rue Montorge, R. 3-5, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3Vo, P. from
91/2, omn. 3/^ fr. — At the station: Hot. de Savoie (PI. f; B, 3), R. 3-5,
B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 9i/., fr.; Hot. Suisse & de Bordeaux (PI. g; B, 3),

well spoken of, R. from 3, 13. 1. L. 2i/2-3, D. 3-31/2, P- from 7 fr.

Hotels Meubles. Hot. d''Angleterre (PI. e; D, 4), 5 Place Victor-
Hugo, Avith rest., R. from 3; Touring-Hotel. 26 Av. d' Alsace-Lorraine
(PI. B, C, 4), well spoken of, R. from 31/2. B. I1/4 fr.; Hot. de Montjiellier,

I
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Notes. GRENOBLE. 56. Route. 409

2 Rue des Augustins. E. 21/0-31/2, B. 3/^ fr. — Xear the station: Nouvel-

Hotel (PI. h; A, 2), 8 Rue Emile-Gueymard, R. from 2V2, B. 1 fr. ; Hot.

Terminus (PI. i; B, 3), 10 Place de la Gate, R. 3-6, B. 1 fr.

Pensions. Mme. L. Monier. 8 Rue Voltaire (PI. F, 3; 160-200 fr.), witli

(Icpendance Villa Belle-Alpe, at La Troche; Attx Armes DmipMnoises,
8 Rue Condorcet (PI. 0,5; 160 fr. per month), with dependance Villa

Belledonne, at La Tronche, 50 Route de Chapareillan (165-180 fr.); Villa

du Bon-Accneil, 41 Boul. Gambetta (PI. D, 5, 6; 130-150fr.); Mme. Rimidet,

3 Rue Vauban (PI. D, 4; 140-150 fr.); Mvie. Charbonnier, 1 Rue Vaucanson
(PI. F, 3; 150-180 fr.); M. Jnles Delatje, 2 Rue Montorge (PI. D, 3; 128-

148 fr.); 3Im.e. Sayn, 31 Rue Thiers (PL C, 4, 5; 130-180 fr.); Jf/?e. C'roc:et,

Villa des Tilleuls, La Tronche (from 160 fr.).

Restaurants. Grand-Hotel, Hot. Moderne, etc. ; Monnet, 8-10 Place

Grenette. L. 3, D. 31/0 fr. ; Lafayette, 5 Rue Lafayette, L. 21/2. D. 31/2 fr.;

Victor-Hugo, at the Hot. d'Angleterre, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. — Cafes-Brasseries.

Taverne des Dauphins, at the Hot. Moderne; Brass.-Rest. dtt Rliin, Place

Grenette; Brass, de Strasbourg, 15 Av. d' Alsace-Lorraine.

Cabs. For 1-3 pers., per drive 1, per hour 2 fr. ; 4 pers., I1/4 or 21/2 fr.

;

at night (11-6) 1/9-^/4 fr. extra. Trunk 25 c. — Motor Cabs (stands in thePlaces

Victor-Hugo and Grenelle). Tariff: I1/4 fr. for 1200 m., then 20 c. per

400 m.; outside the town 70 c. per km.; at night 1 fr. extra; trunk 25 c.

Garages. Debon & Chaumard, 18-20 Rue Genissieu; Vial, 12 Boul.

de I'Esplanade ; RepjelUn, 10 Place Grenelle.

Electric Tramways. From the Place Grenette (PI. E, 3): 1. To the

Gave du P.-L.-M. (PI. A, 3, 4; 10 c); 2. To the Cemetery (PI. H, 2; 10 c);

3. To La Tronche (beyond PI. F, 1; p. 415; 15 c.) and the Croix de Mont-

fleury (p. 415; 20 c); 4. To Voreppe (beyond PI. B, 1; p. 408; 65 c), with

a branch to La Monta (p. 419; 40 c); 5. To the Pont-de-Claix (beyond

PI. B, 6; p. 439; 45 c), where the line forks, right to Claix (55 c.) and left

to Varces and Fif (p. 439; 85 c); 6. To Eybens (beyond PI. F, 5, 6 ; p. 417;

30 c). — From the Rue Frlix-Potdat (PI. D, 3): 7. To Seyssinet (p. 416;

35 c.) and Seyssins (50 c); 8. To Sassenage (beyond PI. A, 4; p. 415; 30 c.)

and Veurey (p. 416; 75 c).

Tramways and Omnibuses to Uriage, the Grande- Chartreuse, the

Gorges d'Engins, de la Bourne, and de la Vernaison (Goulets), Chapa-
reillan, Vizille, Le Bourg-d'Oisans, Brian§on, St-Jean-de-Maurienue, etc.,

see Routes 57, 60. -Electric Tramway to Froges, see p. 431.

Post «& Telegraph Office (PI. 8; E, 4), Place Vaucanson.

Banks. Societe Generale, 2 Rue de la Liberte; Credit Lyonnais,
3 Place Victor-Hugo; Comptoir d'Escompte, 2 Av. d' Alsace-Lorraine.

Baths. Bains des Dauphins, 7 Rue Montorge ; 3Todernes, 7 Rue
Docteur-Mazet; Lesdiguieres, 27 Rue Lesdiguieres.

—

Swimming Bath
(PI. D, 5), 48 Boul. Gambetta, adm. 20 c.

Consuls. British Vice-Consul, J. Leicis, l'''^ Rue Lafayette (office-

hours 10-12 and 2-5). — American Consul, vacat.

University. Special lectures for foreign students both in vacation

(July-Oct.) and during term. Apply to the president of the 'Comity de
Patronage des Etudiants etrangers'.

Theatre (PI. 10; E, 2), Rue Hector-Berlioz, closed in summer.—
Casino-Kursaal, 4 Rue Expilly, near the Rue Vicat (PI. E, 4).

Syndicat d'Initiative, 2 Rue Montorge (PI. D, 3).— Club Alpin
Franqais (Section de I'lsere), at the Chambre de Commerce (PI. C, 3);

S0C16TE des Touristes du Dauphin^;, Boul. Edouard-Rey.

Grenoble (695 ft.
;
pop. 77,438), the former capital of the Dau-

phine, and now that of the department of the Isere, is the seat of a

bishop and of a university. The Isere divides it into two unequal

parts, that on the right hank being small. It is a fortress of the

first class, defended bv a complete enceinte and a series of detached
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forts. Its unique position, at the junctiou of the Isere and Drac
valleys, with a superb environment of peaks 10,000 ft. high, renders

it one of the chief tourist-centres in France.
Grenoble, the ancient Cularo of the Allobroges, was called by the

Romans Gratianopolis in honour of the Emp. Gratian (375-383), who found-
ed the bishopric. In the middle ages the city passed through many hands,
but was chiefly ruled by the bishops. It was next owned by their rivals,

tlie Counts of Albou, who took the title of Dauphin du Viennois (see p. 493),
and who ceded their possessions to France in 1349, on condition that these
should always be the appanage of the king's eldest son. From 1369 to 1501
Grenoble was a seat of the Inquisition for the persecution of the Wal-
densians. It was the scene of the most sanguinary religious wars of the
16th cent., but prospered under its Calvinist governors Baron des Adrets
and Due de Lesdiguieres (p. 430). The staple products are the cement (see

p. 415) invented by Vicat (1786-1861) and kid-gloves, improved by Xavier
Joiivin (1800-44), and now made bv 5000 hands in the town and 24,000 in

the district (800.000 dozen pairs, valued at 30,000,000 fr., in 1912). The
manufacture of paper and electrical fittings is also important.

From the station (PI. A, 3, 4) the tramway follows the Av. Felix-

Viallet (formerly Av. de la Gare) and crosses the handsome Cours

St-Audre (140 ft. in width) and the Boul. Gambetta. On the right,

between these two streets, is the Chamber of Commerce (PLC, 3).

with a Musee (open daily, except Mon., 2-4). The Av. Felix-Viallet

leads to the Jardin de Ville (see below).— Walkers follow the Av.

de I'Alsace-Lorraine, across the two streets just named, to the Place
Victor-Hugo (PL D^ 4), with its statue of Hector Berlioz (p. 495).

The Rue Felix-Poulat {Fl.T), 4,3) leads thence N.E. to the small

Place Grenette (PI. D, E, 3), the heart of the town, with a dolphin

fountain.

An arched passage to the left of the fountain, at the beginning

of the Rue 3Iontorge, leads to the Jardin de Ville (PLD, E, 2, 3^,

with a band-stand and a bronze statue of the 'Torrent' by Basset.

This was formerly the garden of the mansion of the Due de Les-

diguieres, part of which is now the Hotel de Ville (PL 5 ; E, 2, 3).

An inscription on the building recalls a meeting which foreshadowed

the Revolution of 1789. The Hercules in front of it (by J. Richier,

about 1620) bears the features of the Duke.
To the N". of the garden is the Quai de la Republique (p. 411);

to the E. is the Place St-Andre (PL E, 2), with a statue of Bayard
(1476-1524; p. 432). The illustrious chevalier died at Romaguano,
not at Rebecq, as stated by the inscription, and the words it attri-

butes to him are apocrj^phal. The church of St-Andre, founded
in 1220, was originally the chapel of the Dauphins' palace; its

Gothic tower was completed in 1298. To the left of the choir is

the tomb of Bayard (17th cent.).

The Palais de Justice (PL 7 : E, 2), N. of the Place St-Audre,

once the seat of the Parlement du Dauphine, is the most interesting

building at Grenoble, The entrance and vestibule of the Cour
d'Appel are late Gothic (15th cent.V The apse of the chapel

abutting ou the Place is partly Renaissance i^early 16th cent.), and

I
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the chief fagade is a fine example of tlie early French Reuaissauce

(Louis XII.). Part of the edifice was rebuilt in 1890-97.
The portal on the right (fee to concierge) leads to the Trihnnal Civil.

The second of the two rooms on the 1st floor, formerly the Cour des
Comptes, contains superb *Wood-carving by Paul Jude, a (German sculptor
(early 16th cent.). — On the 1st floor of the Cour d'Appel (left portal,

different concierge) are tlie Salle des Assises, the Salle des Pas-Perdits
(with a statue of Justice by L. Convers, 1897), the Salle des Audiences
Solennelles, and the first Chambre de la Cow, all with fine wainscoting
and ceilings after Jean Lepaulre (1688).

The N. fagade of the Palais faces the Quai de la Repuhlique
(PL D, E, 2), which, like the other quays and the bridges, affords

a splendid view. On the opposite bank, in front of the Bastille,

rises the graceful tower of the convent of Ste-Marie-d'en-Haut
(PI. D, E, 1, 2). To the left of the exit from the Jardin de Yille

rises the 'Gallic scout', a statue by Irvoy. The suspension-bridge

on the right (PL E, 2) leads to the Fontaine du Lion, by Sappey.

Farther N.E., at the end of the Pont de la Citadelle, is the statue

iif Xavier Jouvin (p. 410).

A little way up the river, on the same bank, is the churcli of

f^t-Laurent {V\.Y^1\ apply to the sacristan, 7 Rue St-Laurent),

dating chiefly from the 11th century. Its *Crypt, of the 6th cent. (?),

is in the form of a cross with rounded ends, and is borne by 2H
columns, with interesting capitals.

We cross the Pont de la Citadelle. On the left is the Purle de

I'lle-Verte, leading to the pretty Promenade de V lle-Verte (Pi.

i''-!!, 1-3). From the bridge the Place Lavalette and the Rue Frau-

gois-Taulier lead to the Cathedral of Notre-Dame (PL F, 2, 3),

a heavy building of tlie llth-15th cent., with a modern portal. To
the right in the choir is a beautiful stone *Tabernacle (1455-7),

45 ft. in height, bereft of its statues. Adjacent is a fine Gothic

door, and opposite is a bishop's tomb (1407). In the apse are gilt

reliefs of scenes from the life of the Virgin (18th cent.).

In the old Evech6, to the left of the Cathedral, is the Annexe de Trks-
Cloitres de V UniversiU (PI. 12 j P, 2), containing the institutes of geology
and phonetics and reading-rooms for foreign students. One of the rooms
contains a MtfS^e Alpin (apply to concierge). ~ The Rue Tr^'s-Cloitres leads
to the old chapel of Ste-Marie-d'en-Bas, now occupied by the small Miisi>e

Historique Dauphinois (PI. F, 3).

In the Place Notre-Dame rises the Centenary Monument oftlie

lievolution, a pretty fountain, with a group of the three estates

(1897), The 2^onr de Clerieux, opposite the Cathedral, commands
a fine view, including Mont Blanc (o])en 8-7

; 35 c). In the centre

of the new town, a little S. of the Cathedral, is the handsome Plane
de la Constitution (VI. F, 4). On the 8. side is the Hotel de la

Prefecture. Opposite is the University (PL 11), founded in 1339,
comprising faculties of law, mathematics, natural science, philo-

sophy, and medicine (60 professors, 15 lecturers, and 1156 students).

On Iho Iv side of the square is Ihc *Miisee (PI. 2; F, 4),
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foimded iu 1798. In summer (1st June to 15th Oct.) it is open
9-12 and 1.30-5, except holidays, but on Mon. and Tues. 1.30-5

only; adm. Sun. free, week-days 1 fr. (each additional pereon 50 c).

In winter it is open 9-12 and 1.30-4, except Mon. and holidays, on

Tues. 1.30-4 only; adm. free. The rooms on the upper floors are

open on Sun. and Thurs. only. The picture-gallery contains many
fine works and several of foremost rank. Catalogue (1911) 1 fr.,

illus. 3 fr.; 'Musee de Grenoble', by Gen. de Beylie (1909), 10 fr.

The Vestibule is adorned with allegorical paintings by Blanc-Fon-
taine and Rahoult, both of Grenoble, and several sculptures.

Picture Gallery.— Room I. Old French School. To the left: Rigaud,
100. Due de Xoailles, 99. Saint-Simon, Bishop of Metz: 36. C7. Lorrain,
Sea-piece; 119. French Sch. of 17th Cent., Lesdiguieres (p. 410); 71. 3Ime.
Vigee-Lebrnn, Portr. of a lady. — 73. Le Sueur, Family of Tobias and
the angel Raphael; Fr. Desportes, 26. Stag at bay, 27. Flowers, fruit, and
animals. — 15. 16. Bourguignon, Cavalry fights; 92. Pater, "Women bath-
ing; 10. Callet, Louis XYI. ; 69. LargiUiere, Portr. of a lady; *35. C'l.

Lorraln, Morning effect; *107. Fr. de Troy, Portrait; 116. Watteau, Land-
scape; 109. L. M. Vanloo, Louis XV. — 106. Tournieres, Ch. de Beauharnais,
Grovernor of Canada (1748); 12. Sch. of C'louet, Admiral Coligny.

Room II. Italian, Spanish, German, and Dutch Schools. To the left:

507. Marco Fahnezzano,a.o\\ Family; *537. Perughio, St. Sebastian, with
St. Apollonia, wing of a large altar-piece painted ca. 1502 for Sant'Agostino
at Perugia, other parts of which are now at Lyons (p. 249), Toulouse (p. 85),

etc.; 490. Luca Giordano (r"), Bacchante; *465. P. Veronese, Jesus heal-

ing the woman with an issue of blood; 461. A. Bronzitio, Portrait; 462.

Bugiardini, Michael Angelo; 466. P. Veronese, Risen Christ appearing
to Mary Magdalene; *496. Bernardino Licinio, Madonna and Child, with
SS. John the Baptist, Jerome, and James (1532), one of the rare authen-
ticated works of this Bergamasque master; 468. C'analetto, View of Ve-
nice; 521. Tintoretto, Madonna with saints and donor; *493. Fr. Guardi,
The Doge of Venice carried by gondoliers in the Piazza of St. Mark;
Zurharan, 560. Adoration of the Shepherds (1638), 561. Adoration of the
Magi; 555. Murillo, Young Cistercian monk. — 559. Znrharan, Annun-
ciation; *556. Rihera, Martyrdom of St. Bartholomew; 672. Honthorst,
The disciples at Emmaus; 689. Rembrandt (f), Head of an old man; 571.

L. C'ranach the Younger (r^), Judith. — *663. G. van den Eeckhout, Portrait

(1644); 597. PTi. de L'hampaigne, Portr. of himself; 612. Corn. Janssens
van Ceulen, Portr. of a lady; 698. TT". va7i de Velde the Younger, Prince of

Orange embarking; 659. F. Bol, Portr. of a lady; 624. Sni/ders, Dog and
cat; 664. G. van den Eeckhotd, Portr. of a governor of the E. Indies (1669);

600. G. de Crayer, Martyrdom of St. Catharine; 670. Hobbevia, Landscape,
an early work (1659); **621. Eubens, St. Gregory with saints, painted at

Rome in 1608 for the Chiesa Xuova, placed in the church of St-Michel at

Antwerp in 1610, and carried off thence by Xapoleon I. : 596. Ph. de Cham-
paigne, Abbot of St-Cyran (1643); 692. Sal. van Ruysdael, Sea-piece (1633);
599. G. de Crayer, Virgin with St. Elizabeth of Hungary; Ph. de Chavi-
paigne, 595. John the Baptist, 593. Louis XIV. conferring the Order of

tbe Holy Ghost on his brother (1665); 614. Van der jleulen, Louis XIV.
crossing the Pont-X^euf at Paris.— Jordaens, 608. Adoration of the Shep-
herds, 609. Sleep of Antiope (1650); 625. Snyders, Parrots and other birds.
— In the middle of the room, a Gallo-Roman mosaic representing Hylas
and the Xymphs, from Ste-Colombe (p. 477), and two large Sevres vases.

Room III. Modern Paintings. To the left: 229. Detaille, Battle of

Champigny (fragment; 1882); 308. Kareux, Chemin du Petit-Semiuaire
(near Grenoble); 415 (above the door), Rochegrosse, Death of Caesar;
247. Fantin-Latour (of Grenoble, 1836-1904), Portr. of himself; 366. Alph.
de Neuville, Battle of Rezonville (fragment; 1882); 407. Ravier, Rising

I
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sun; 314. Harx>ignies, Landscape; 427. H. Scheffer, Arrest of Charlotte
Corday; 317. E. Hebert (of Cfrenoble, 1817-1908), Portr. of himself; 198.
Broidllet, Wounded peasant; 253. £. Faure, Negress; 133. Achard, View
from St-Egreve (p. 408); 246. Fantin-Latoiir, Anniversary of Berlioz

(p. 495); 298. L. Guetal, Lac de I'Eychauda (p. 468).

Room IV. To the left : 309. Hareux, The Eomanche at Livet (p. 436)

;

423. Roybet, Fool of Henri III.; 330. Henner, Portr. of his mother; 207.

Gr. C'ourbet, Waterfall. —320. Hebert, Christ revealing the destinies of

France (designed for the Pantheon).— 211 . JDebeUe, Napoleon entering Gre-
noble in 1815; 227. Delacroix, St. George; 157. Bastien-Lepage, Mile.
Xoupp. — Adjacent is the Exhibition Hall of the Library (see below).

Sculpture, in rooms parallel to the above, returning towards the
vestibule.— Room I. To the left: 47. Etcheto, Francois Villon; 85. Rodin,
Youth; H. Ding, 37. Muse of Berlioz, 38. Gratianopolis; 51. E. Fremiet,
Cat and kittens; 18. Chaplain, Medals and plaquettes; 11. Basset, The
torrent (p. 410; reduced); 83. Rambaud, Bayard when a child (p. 432).
Also, in this and the next room, drawings, water-colours, and pastels.

—

Room II. To the left: 26. Vital-t'oimu, Melancholy. To the right: 84.

Rambaud, Death of Berlioz; 33. Desprez, Innocence; 78. Montague, Mother
about to bathe her child. In the centre: 82. Pradier, Phryne; 55. A.
J. Gardet, Archer; 70. Marcellin, Cyparissus; 60. Husson, Haydee.—
Room III. Antique, mediaeval, and Renaissance sculptures. To the right:
*146. Italian School of 18th t'eut., Benedict XIV. ; terracotta statuettes,
two from Tanagra (4th cent. B.C.), one from Myrina (3rd cent. B.C.); 192.
Roman lady (late 1st cent. A.D.); 202. Head of a woman (Greek; 4th cent.
B.C.); *201. Stele (Greek; 5th cent. B.C.); 128. St. Roch, in wood (end of
15th cent.); 118. Virgin and Child, in wood (12th cent.).

The Library, in the right wing of the building, contains 400,000 vols.,

10,000 MSS., and 623 incunabula; in theological works it is one of the
richest libraries in the provinces. The Exhibition Hall is decorated with
allegorical paintings by Rahoult and Blanc-Fontaine. The glass cases
contain MSS., incunabula, rich bindings, seals, and coins. Note in Case 77
(1st on right), the Catholicon, printed in 1460 by Gutenberg at Mayence;
Case 93, curious portrait of Joan of Arc (1485). Above are busts of Dau-
phinois celebrities, notably *Barnave by Hoiidon, and Lesdiguieres by
Richier (1610). At the end is a relief of the environs of Grenoble. Then,
in the centre, a Merovingian helmet (early 6th cent.), and below it the
Croissant de la Buisse, a prehistoric relic; bronzes, incl. a tine Aphrodite
(Greek; 4th cent. B.C.); vases, statuettes, and Sevres vases.

On the first floor are collections of mineralogy, industrial art, etc.,
on the second floor drawings and engravings.

The Jardin des Plantes (PL F, Gr, 4, 5), a little to the left,

behind the Prefecture, comprises a botauical garden, a shady pro-
menade, and a small collection of animals. Entrance in the Rue
Dolomieu. The Museum, by the entrance, is open daily, 11-4 (ex-

cept Men.). The ground and 1st flours contain zoological collec-

tions. On the 2nd floor, to the right, are the mineralogical, geo-
logical, and palseontological collections ; to the left are the botanical.

In the Place Vaucanson, W. of the Place de la Constitution,

rises a statue of Jacques Vaucanson (PI. E, 4), the mechanician
(1709-82). On the S.W. is the Post & Telegra^jk Office (PI. 8 ; E, 4)

;

beyond is the Square des Postes, with a monument to Doudart
de Lagree (1823-68), explorer of the Mekong.

Near the Porte de France, on the site of the old forts, is the pretty
'Jardin des Dauphins (PI. C, 2; adm. 50 c; beautiful view), containing
an equestrian statue of Philis de la Charce by Dan. de Campagne.
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From G^renoble to Chambery (Aix-les-Baius), C'hajmreillan, and Alle-
vard, see R. 59; to Brianqon, see R. 60; to St-Jean-de-Maurienne, see

pp. 435-437 ; to Gap, via La Mure, see R. 58 ; to Digne, see R. 63 ; to

Marseilles, see R. 70.

Fkom Ctrknoble to Valence, 6I1/2 M., railway in 2-23/4 hrs. (11 fr. 10,

7 fr. 50, 4 fr. 90 c). Views on the left. —To (ir/o M.) Moirans, see p. 408.
^17 M. TuUins-Ftires. Tullins (Central-Hotel; pop. 4578j is an industrial
town. Fures (Hot. Mathieu). a little watering-place, 1 M. to the N.E.,
has a spring containing bicarbonate of soda (59°). Walnuts abound in this

region.— 23 M. L'Albenc (Hot. des Voyageurs). Superb road thence via
St-Gervais, the Gorges de la Drevenne (-Route des Ecouges'), and the
Vol de Rameyere (3525 ft.) to (151/4 M.) La Balvie-de-Rencurel (p. 425;
carr. 30-35 fr.). —251/2 M. Vinay [Hot. Moderne). To the IST.W. (omn.) lies

the pilgrim-resort of Notre-Dame-de-l' Osier.

321/2 M. St-Marcellin (920 f t. ; Hot. du Petit-Paris, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.

;

Hot. de France; pop. 3348). Behind the church, with its Romanesque
tower, is the pretty Promenade de Joud. Steam-tramway to (72i/2 M.)
Monplaisir (tramway to Lyons, Xo. 18, see p. 240), via (17 M.) Roybon,
(30 M.) La Cote-St-Andre (p. 495), and (44 M.) 8t-Jean-de-Bournay (p. 494).

Circular trip by motor-omn. daily (1st July to 15th Sept.; 23 fr.) from
St-Marcellin to Pont-en-Royans (p. 425), the Goulets, Les Barraques, La
Chapelle-en-Vercors, the Foret de Lente (see below), St-Jean-de-Royans
(see below), and back to St-Marcellin. Between St-Marcellin and Pont-
de-Royans are (1 hr.) the picturesque ruins of the Chateau de Beauvoir,
once a favourite residence of the Dauphins. Omn. twice daily from St-

Marcellin to (71/2 M.; 11/4 hr.; 75 c.) St-Antoine (Hot. des Voyageurs),
with an ancient abbey. The ^Church is a superb building of the 13th-
15th cent., with a finely sculptured portal and interesting interior (high-

altar of 1667^ Aubusson tapestry of the 17th cent., mural paintings in the
2nd chapel to the left, reliquaries of the 16th-17th cent., paintings, etc.).

331/2 M. St-Hilaire-St-Nazaire (Hot. Marchand). Omn. four or five

times daily to (71/2 M., in Ihr. ; 85 c.) Pont-en-Royans (p. 425), passing
(11/4 M.) St-Nazaire-en-Royans (see below). Omn. also to (7 M.) St-Jean-
en-Royans (see below).

49 M. Romans (Hot. Touvart, at the station; Hot. de I'Europe; pop.

17,201), an industrial town, with large boot-factories, well situated on
the Isere, grew up in the 9th cent, around an abbey, of which the fine

church of St-Barnard, with its sculptuied portal and Romanesque tower
and nave, is a relic. Many old houses. On the opposite bank lies Bourg-
de-Peage, whence a steam-tramway runs to Valence (see pp. 497, 496).

Tramway from Romans to Tain and St-Donat, see p. 495. From Romans a

steam-tramway runs in 2i/, hrs., via (11 M.) St-Kazaire-en-Royans (Grand-
Hotel), with siik-factories, a ruined castle, and a grotto, and (17 M.) St-
Jean-en-Royans (Hot. du Royans; omn. to St-Hilaire-St-Nazaire, see

above; road to Crest, see p. 497), to (23 M.) Pont-en-Royans (p. 425).

[Fkom ST-JEAK-E^--RoTANS to the Foret de Lexte, a most interesting

excursion (omn. meets first train in summer, 4 fr. return; motor-omn.,
see above; carr. 20 fr. for the day). The road ascends to the left outside

the village. After 5 M. it forks. The old road to the right crosses the

Col de VEcharasson (3740 ft.; view). The new *Ronte de Combe-Laval,
to the left, is hewn in the rocks of the Cirque de Combe-Laval. After
two more tunnels we reach the Hotel Faravelon and the Foret de Lente
(12,500 acres). At the ('/2 M. farther) Croix des Autarets we rejoin the
Echarasson road, and next reach the Chalet-Hotel of the C.A.F. (3545 ft.:

R. 31/2, B. 1, L. or D. 31/2 fr. ; telephone), 91/2 M. fi-om St-Jean, an admir-
able centre for walks. Carriages return to (12 M.) St-Jean via the Col de
la Portette, with its splendid beech-wood, the Tunnel de Fiannier, the
Col de la Croix, and the Bouvante road.]

- The Valence line crosses the river. — 56' /2 M. St-Marcel-les-Valenct.
We descend into the Rhone vallev and join the Lyons line (R. 66). -
6IV2 M. Valtncc (p. 495).
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57. Excursions from Grenoble.

I. Short Excursions.

To the X. of the town rises Mont Rachais (3470 ft.; see inset

map on Plan, p. 409), a superb point of view, but occupied in great

part by Fort Robot (PL C, D, 2) and by the Fort de la Bastille

higher up (no adm.). It is worth while, however, to ascend to the

entrance of Fort Rabot i^^/^ hr. from the Quai Perriere), passing to the

left of the convent of Ste-Marie-d'en-Haut (p. 411).— The 'Chemin

de la Bastille' ascends to the left from the Quai des Allobroges, be-

hind No. 7) 8 reached by tramway Xo. 3; p. 409), passing (^y^ hr.) a

small cafe. A path to the left leads hence in 20 min. to a ^Belvedere

(1870 ft.; superb view). The main path next mounts to (^A, hr.) the

arete of the Jalla (2135 ft.), up which we may climb, passing

(2/4 hr.) the Ferme RepelUn, to the (25 min.) top of Mont Rachais

(3 hrs. from Grenoble). The quarries of the Jalla yield the clay of

which cement is made in the kilns at the Porte de France (PI. B, C, 2

;

comp. p. 410).— The X. peak of Mont Rachais (3305 ft.) may be

reached by road from the Col de Vence in ^j^ hr. (p. 423).
To the W. of Mont Rachais rises the Neron^ or Neiron (4282 ft.; line

view), misnamed 'Casque de Xeron'. The ascent, once dangerous, has now,
through the opening of a new path, been rendered romparatively easy for
those not subject to giddiness.

On the right bank of the Isere, 1 M. to the N.E. of Grenoble,

is La Tronche (tramway, see pp. 409, 432; pop. 2922), an in-

dustrial village, whose church contains a Madonna by E. Hebert
(d. 1908). Pleasant walk thence by the Le Sappey road, past the

foot of the old Couverit de Montfleunj, and leaving on the right the

hamlet of Bouqueron, with its picturesque chateau, to (3 M. from
Grenoble) C'orenc (Cafe de la Corne-d'Or), an admirable point of

view. From the Croix-de-Montfleury tramway terminus (No. 3)

we may walk to Bouqueron direct, via Montfleury and a short-cut

avoiding the Corenc bend. (From Croix-de-Mont to the Col de

Wnce 11/2 hr., to Le Sappey 1 hr. more; see p. 423.)

Above Corenc rises the fortiHed St-Eynard i_44G0 ft. ; no adm.).

We may ascend from the Le Sappey road to a gallery (4100 i^.),

where we enjoy the best view in the neighbourhood of Grenoble.

To Sassenaoe and Veuuey, 31/2 and QV^M., electric tramway (No. 8;
p. 409) in 26 or 54 min. -The excursion to Sassenage and the (jorges du
Furon takes 3-4 hrs. or more.

From the Rue Felix-Poulat (PL D, 3) the cars run via the Place
Victor-Hugo and Cours Berriat to the Drac. Beyond the river they
stop at SavevU, Lcs Balmes, and Fontaine.

31/j; M. Sassenage (Hot. Girerd, Faure) is prettily situated
at the fool of an iilinii.t hilL On the lijj-hf is a 17th eeiil. ehfiteau.
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containing valuable pictures, tapestry, etc. (shown in the owner's

absence). In the church, which has an 11th cent, tower, is the tonih

of the Due de Lesdiguieres (p. 430).

The Gorges du Furon, a ravine between sheer rocks, with

several waterfalls, are visited from Sassenage. To explore the

Grottoes (adm. 2, each pers. extra ^/^ fr.), a guide is necessary

(office in the Place St-Pierre). The visit (toilsome at any time, and

impossible when the torrent is high) takes Vj^-'^ hrs. The Furon,
higher up, forms several other wild ravines (p. 424).

From Sassenage the tramway goes on to (7 M.) Noyarey and

(9^/2 M.) Vearey (Hot. de la Rive), a village 1^/4 M. from Voreppe
station fp. 408).

The Pyramide de la Buf (5340 ft.) is a splendid point of view
(ascent from Veurey 6 hrs.). Road to (13/4 hr.) L'dte-Maillet (2325 ft.);

then by a path S. to tlie houses of Les Galens; next N.W., and later S.

over pastures to the (SVa lirs.) Pas de la Cle (4955 ft.); lastly E. (red

marks), to the (1 hr.) top. Those with steady heads may descend to

(33/4 hrs.) Xoyarey (see above).

To THE Tour Sans-Ykxix, St-Xizier, and the Moucherotte, 10-12 hrs.,

or, if we turn back at the Tour Sans-Yenin, 5-6 hrs., a charming excursion,
which may be combined with the preceding.

We may reach the pretty village of Seyssinet (855 ft. ; cafes)

either by tramway (Xo. 7, p. 409 ; being prolonged to St-Nizier and

Lans) or by omnibus, starting from 30 Rue du Lycee. A winding

road (short-cut to the right of the church), with fine views, ascends

from the village to (\.o hr.) the Chateau de Beauregard 1 1360 ft.;

18th cent.), in a superb site. At the upper end of the park is a

picturesque ravine called the Desert de J.-J. Bousseau (key kept

at the chateau). From the chateau we may either follow the high-

road to the Tour Sans-Venin, or ascend to the tower by a short-cut

diverging a little before the entrance to the Desert. The latter

route leads past (1 hr.) a group of houses (Rest. Canaple) and an

old chapel to the *Tour Sans-Venin (2135 ft.), the relic of a

mediaeval fortress. Splendid panorama. A little higher up is the

hamlet of Pariset. We may descend N., via the Bois de Vouillant,

the Ferme Giraud (rfnits.), and the curious defile of the Coup-de-

Sahre, to (l^/g hr.) Fontaine (tramway, see p. 415).

From Pariset (see above; the road ascends to St-Nizier (3840 ft.

;

Hot. du Moucherotte, Geymond; guides), a village on a plateau at the

foot of the Trois-Pucelies (p. 417), a buttress of the Moucherotte.

This point may also be reached in l^/o hr. by a path direct from

the Rest. Canaple (see above). The road goes on to Lans and Vil-

lard-de-Lans( tramway being made; p. 424).— The Moucherotte is

easily ascended from St-Xizier in '2^ji-^ hrs. ; the path (guide-posts)

mounts to the S., beyond the church, and through a cheminee

(1^/4 hr.) to a spring, from which we ascend the pastures to the



from Grenoble. URIAGE. 57. Route. 417
Mai), P- ^^5.

top. The ^Moucherotte, or Pic cVAlyle (6255 ft.), an isolated

peak, very abrupt ou the X. and E., is one of the grandest points of

view near Grenoble. The view embraces the peaks bordering the

Isere and Drac valleys, the Grande-Chartreuse group, a great part

of the Haut-Dauphine, Maurienne, and Tarentaise Mts., and (through

the Graisivaudan gap) Mont Blanc. — From the lower end of St-

Nizier a steep but picturesque path (guide-posts) leads N.W., down
the Pas da Cure (cheminee), to (l^o ^^i-) Engins (p. 424).

The Trois-Pucelles, precipitous rocks visible from Grenoble, really

four in number, are difficult to scale. The Grosse-Pucelle (5085 ft.) is

the highest; the others are the Grande-Pi/celle, the Pucelle de St-Nizier
(W.), and the Petite-PuceUe (E.).

From Grenoble to Eybens (Hot. Fleury), a pretty village with an
old chateau, 31/2 M. to the S., we go by tramway (p. 409) from the Place
Grenette, past La Bajafiere (beyond PI. F, 5, 6).

n. Uriage and its Environs.

From Grenoble to URiAfiE, 8 M., bv the Le Bourg-d'Oisans electric

tramway (p. 435) in '^U-l hr. (1 or ^U ir.) return 1 fr. 50 or 1 fr. 10 c.);

from 1st July to 30th Sept. also motor-omn. 5 times daily in 1/2 ^ir- from
the Place Grenette (PI. E, 3; 1 fr.).— The tram-cars start from the Gare
dii P.-L.-M. (PI. A, 3, 4) or the Square den Pastes (PI. D, 4); they stop

also at the Places de la Constitution and MalakolT. — Fine views. - 41 /.^ M.
Gieres, near the P.L.M. station. Branch-lino to Froges. see p. 431. Our
car turns S. into the deep valley of the Sonnant. — 8 M. Uriage, station

near the Casino. We may return to Grenoble via ViziUe (p. 435).

Hotels. (rraiid-Hotel, Hot. dii C'ercle. Ancien-llotel, Hot. des Bains,
all under tlie Etablissement ; Hot-Rest. Monnet, in the court of the Eta-
blissement, R. from 7, B. l',^, L. 5, I). 7 (wine extra), P. from 14 fr.

;

Hot.-Rest. Central, L. 2V>. D. 5 fr., Hot. dii Globe, K. from 3, L. 3'/.^,

D. 4, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. du Rocher, B. 1, L. S'/.., D- 4, P. from 8 f r.

:

Hot. de Paris, Hot. C'habert, two hotels meubles, opposite the park; Hot.
dii Midi, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. des Ke.yociants, L. or D. 3, P. from 7 fr.

;

Hot. du Pare & du Nord, above the park; Hot. de VEurojte; Hot. des
Alberges; etc.- Loixunus and Villas to let.

Restaurants. Rest, du C'ercle, tirst-class, L. 3 or 4, D. S'/a or 5 f r.

;

also at MonneVs and other hotels.

Etablissement. Bath lV4-3'/4 fr- 5 douche ^l.2-2^l2 t'r. ; buvette 10 c. per
glass, 8 fr. for season. Concerts twice daily in the park. — Casino (15th

June to 15th Sept.). Adni. 1, incl. theatre 3-5 fr.
;

per montli 10 and
10-00 fr. For the rooms of the Cercle an introduction is necessary.

Cab, 3 fr. per hour. To the Chateau d' Uriage 3 or4V2) return 4V2or .5*/2fr.

Post & Tklegkaph Office, adjoining the Casino. — Syndicat ij'Ini-

tiative.
GriDKs: Fr. and Jos. Henri Boujard, at St-Martin-d'Uriage (p. 418).

Tariff: G-8 fr. per day; porter 5-(» fr. ; return from a distance 2-4 fr.

—

Horse or mule VI2, donkey 1 fr. per hour, and 50 c. more for attendant.
Special tariff for various excursions, see pp. 418 et seq.

Uriage (1360 ft.), a village noted for its mineral waters, lies in

a pretty dale, shut in by wooded hills, with the old chateau (p. 418)
of the Comte de St-Ferriol, the owner of the baths, and numerons
charniing villas. The well-(jrganize(i Ktablisseinent (25th May to

5th Oct.), in a park to the left from llie Ira in way slat ion. is supplied



418 Route 57. OHAMEOUSSE. Krarrsimis
Map, p. 415.

by an abundant spring iuipreguated with chloride of sodium and

sulphur (80°). The water, known to the Romans, is highly tonic

and purgative; it specially suits delicate persons and children, and

is much used as a cure for nervous and cutaneous diseases. Close

by is the Casino (p. 417). Near the Hotel du Rocher is the small

Chapel, with several pictures by old masters. The avenue skirting

the park leads to i^lO min.) the Pare des Alheryes.

"Walks. The (10-15 min.) Chateau d'Uriage (1665 ft.) is open to

the public on Fri., 2-4, and on other days when the family is absent. It

dates from the 13th-16th cent., but is modernized. It contains some line

old tapestry, Roman antiquities, and a natural history collection.

Pleasant walks, rides, or drives also in the Valley of Vaulnaveys to

the Chateau deViziUe (5i;.> M.
; p. 4.86); to ViUene/tve, '^U hr. X.W. of

Uriage, and Herbeys, an old chateau of the Bishops of Grenoble, I1/4 hr.

S.W., whence we may ascend the Montagyie des Qnatre-Seignenrs (3085 ft.;

top occupied by a fort"), descending to Gieres (p. 431); to St-Martin-cV Uriaye
(see below) and C'ombeloup (3220 ft. ; descent to Gieres) ; lastly, ascent of

the Oolline de Bellevue, or Signal de 2Iontchahoud (2410 ft.). These ex-

cursions take 21/0-4 hrs. each. Mule 6, donkey 4, attendant 3 fr.

Excursions. — To the Chartreuse de Premol, 2V4 hrs., by a cart-

road with fine views (mule 6, donkey 4, man 3 fr.). We diverge to the
left from the Vizille road, short of the Pare des Alberges (see above),
opposite the Hotel Basset, and ascend to (1/4 hr.) St-Georges, pass (1/2 hr.)

Belmont, (1/2 hr.) Le Gna, the (20 miu.) Croix de Premol (about 2600 ft.),

and through a wood, and reach (1/2 hr.) the ruined Cliartreuse de
Premol (3595 ft.), in a delightful solitude. (Rfmts. at the forester's.)

To THE Cascade de l'Oursiere, 31/2 hrs. (mule 8, donkey 6 fr.). We
ascend past the chateau to (1/2 hr.) St-Ma)-tin-d' Uriage (Hot. des Touristes),

Les Bonnets, {^U hr.) La Grivolee, and the (i/o hr.) Chalet des Seiglieres

(3580 ft.; aub.). Then through a wood, where (1/2 br.) we turn to the

right, and in about li/4hr. more we reach the Chalet de V Oursiere (4855 ft.;

open July-Oct. ; L. 21/2, D- 31/2, wine extra), at the foot of the ^Cascade
de rOursiere, a copious fall of about 325 ft. in several leaps, pictur-

esquely framed with rocks and pines.

To THE Croix de Chamrousse, 6-Q>^I-,, 10 hrs. there and back (guide

6 or 9 fr.). Several routes, the best a bridle-path (mule 10, donkey 8, with
return via the Oursiere 2 fr. more; man 6-7 fr.). We pass the (21/4 hrs.)

Chartreuse de Premol (see above) and ascend to (21/2 hrs.) the Roche-Be-
ranger {Q\00 it.; chalet-aub.), with an Alpine garden. To the Croix (see

below) IV2 hr. more. From the chalet we may descend, with a guide, to

Sechilienne or Riouperoux (p. 436),— A longer route, bad at places, passes
the (31/2 hrs.) Cascade de V Oursiere (see above) and ascends by (1/2 hr.)

the Prairie de V Oursiere (5295 ft.), above the waterfall, and past the

(1/2 hr.) ruined Chalet de VEchaillon (6020 ft.), the three Lacs Robert (1 hr.),

and the (V2 br.) Col des Trois-Fontaines (,7120 ft.), 1/2 hr. short of the

Croix (guide-posts). The *Cliaiiirousse (7400 ft.), crowned with a large

cross, reveals an immense panorama, broken on the X.E. by the Croix de
Belledonne. About 2 hrs. W. of the Chamrousse (3^/4 hrs. from Uriage)
is the Chalet du Recoin of the C.A.F. (5350 ft.), for winter-sports. — If we
descend by the second route, we reach in 1 hr., just beyond the Chalet de
I'Echaillon, a path leading down to the Oursiere in 40 min., and past Lakes
Longet and Claret to the Chalet-Hotel de la Pra (p. 419) in I1/2 br.

The AscEST of the Croix de Belledosse is one of the easiest and
most famous excursions among the Dauphine Alps. To the Chalet-Hotel
de la Pra 5-6 hrs., thence to the top 3-^/4 hrs.^nore. Guide advisable,

8, 12, or 15 fr. for 1, 11/2; or 2 days; one guide suffices for 4 persons.
Mule to tlie chalet-hotel 14 fr., and 8 fr. to the attendant. To the Cascade
dnil Prairie de r Oursiere (i hrs.), see above Then, leaving on the right
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the Chamrousse path, we ascend the left bank of the Domenon to (IV4 hr.)
the Col de V Oursiere (6465 ft.), and over pastures to (3/4 hr.) the Chalet-
Hotel de la Pra (7040 ft. ; July-Oct. ; bed from 21/2, B. IV4, L. or D. 21/2 fr.,

wine extra; telephone) of the C.A.F., an excellent starting-point for ex-
cursions in the Belledonne group. To Revel, see p. 431; to L'Echaillon and
the Chamrousse, see p. 418.— Near it are the pretty Z,rtcs Claret. Longet,
Me?-lat, etc. To the W. (50 miu.) rises the Colon (7850 ft.; splendid view),
visible from the park of IJriage. Then 1/4 hr. to the Col de la Pra (7300 ft.),

where we join the Eevel route (p. 431). We next mount to the (IV2 hr.)

Lacs Domenon (about 7870 ft.), often frozen, and the snow-region between
the Grande-Lanziere (right) and the Grande-Lance de Domene (see below;
left). Between the latter and the Croix de Belledonne is the Col de Frejj-
dane (see below), which we leave on tlie left. We mount the 'grand neve'
to (11/2 hr.) the Col de Belledonne (about 9180 ft. ; route from Allemont,
see p. 449), and reach the Croix de Belledonne (9555 ft.) in 1/2 br. more.
*.Splendid view, notably of the Grandes-Rousses and the Pelvoux.

The Grand-Pic de Belledonne (9780 ft.) commands a still wider
panorama, but is tit for experts only (4V2-5 hrs. from La Pra; guide 17-

20 fr.). The usual ascent is by the Col de Freijdane {-Ahowi %S%0 it.; see
above), the upper plateau of the Glacier de Freydane, and the Col de la
Balmette, at the foot of the N. arete of the G-rand-Pic. We then climb
part of this arete and up a cheminee at the top of the great E. couloir
(route from Allemont, see p. 449), which we cross (aided by two ropes),
and lastly reach the top through the Trapon, an aperture" in the rock.
Another way up is via the Croix de Belledonne and the Pic Central
de Belledonne (9640 ft.), but this 'traversee des trois pics', though
facilitated by wire-ropes, is much more difficult (6-7 hrs. from La Pra;
guide 30 fr.).

From the Col de Freydane or the Col de la Balmette we may descend,
with a guide, across tlu? Glacier de Freydane (see above) to (1 hr.) the
Lac Blanc; we then go down the valley 'of the Vorze, the effluent of the
lake, to the Habert dti Pleyneij (4435 ft.), below the Cascades de Botdon,
and to (21/2 hrs.) the hamlet of La Gorge (2460 ft.). Road thence to (1 M.)
St-JIury (p. 431) and (31/2 M. more) Lancey station (p. 431).— To the E.
of the Habert de Pleyney, 3 hrs. from St-Mury, and near the Habert de
la Pierre, is the Refuge Jean-Collet (6760 ft.).' Thence are ascended the
Rocher de VHomme (9125 ft.) and the Sommet Colomb (8840 ft.).

A superb view is afforded by the *Grande-Ijance de Domene
(9230 ft.), easily ascended from La' Pra in 21/2-2^/4 brs. (guide 12 fr.). — The
Grande-Lance d'Allemont (p. 149 ;

guide 20 fr.), more difficult, takes 6V2 brs.

lU. The Grande-Chartreuse.

The easiest route is by train to Voiron, by tramway thence to St-

Laurent-du-Pont, and by motor-omu. to the monastery; back via Le Sappey.
Circular tickets fur this tour are obtained at the station or at the Syndicat
d'Initiative (p. 409; June-Sept.; 12 fr. 90, 11 fr. 95, 10 fr. 65 c. ; available
for 15 days). Those who do not wish to return to Grenoble may go via
Le Sappey and come back via St-Laurent to Voiron station.

Walkers may reach the Chartreuse in 7-8 hrs. from Grenoble. By
road to (41/2 M.) La Monta (Hot. des Terrasses; V2 hr. by tramway No. 4,

see p. 409), Proveysieu.r (C^I.^'M.; aub.; pretty site), and (IV2 hr. from La
Monta) the Pont du Giia (2065 ft.), at the entrance of I'omaray (Aub. Pra);
then by bridle-path to the (2 hrs.) Col de la Charmette (4200 ft.;

rfmts. at the forester's). To the E. rises tiie Charuiant-Som (2 hrs.;

p. 423). We descend to (1/2 hr.) tlio ruined Habert de Tenaison, beyond
which we cross a brook. Where the path forks we go to the right to the
(•'/4 hr.) Col de la Cochette (about 4590 ft.) and the (3/4 hr.) Habert
Malamille; or we may go to tlie left (leaving a path to the left to the Pont



420 Route 57. ST-LAUREXT-DU-PONT. Excursions
Map, p. 415.

St-Pierre, see below) to the Pas des Sangles, sheer above the Guiers
valley, and the Habert Malamille. Xext (1/2 hr.) come the Hahert Valomhre
and the (1/4 hr.) Pont de la Tannerie, and lastly, to the left, the (1/2 hr.)

Courrerie (p. 422) and the (1/2 hr.) Grande-Chartreuse, or, to the right,

St-Pierre-de-CTiartreuse (p. 422).

Tramway from St-Beron to St-Laurent, see p. 407.

1. Fkom Grenoble to the Grasde-Chaktreuse via Voiron and St-
Laurent-du-Pont. — Train to Voiron, 151/2 M., in i/2-^'4 hr. (2 fr. 80, 1 fr. 90,

1 fr. 25 c). Then steam-tramway to St-Laurent-d u-Po7it, 11 M., in 1 hr.

(fares from Grenoble 4fr.85, 3fr.90, 2fr.45 c). Bead thence to the Grande-
C'hartreuse, 5i/2ii-) hy motor-omn. (June-Sept.) 2 or 3 times daily in 40 min.
(31/2) return 6 fr.). Motor-omn. also from St-Laurent to St-Pierre-de-Char-
treme (p. 422), 7 M., 3 or 4 times daily (June -Sept.) in 40 min. (31/^,

return 6 fr.).

From Grenoble to (lo^/o M.) Voiron, see p. 408. The tram-

way, partly following the St-Laurent road, starts from the station,

crosses the line, and ascends in windings (views).— 5 M. St-Eti-

enne-de-Crossey. Then the Gorges du Crossey, V/^M. long.

—

71/2 M. Pont-de-Demay. To the Col de la Placette, see p. 421.

11 M. St-Laurent-du-Pont ^1345 ft.; Hot. de la Gare, R.

21/2-4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/,, P. from 8 fr.; Hot. de I'Europe, des

Voyageurs, des Deux-Mondes; pop. 2773), in a pretty valley on the

Guiers-Mort, has a modern church, built by the Carthusians, with

14th cent, stalls from the old Chartreuse de Curiere (2^/^ M. to the

S.). Then, on the left, a Hosjntal, also built by the Carthusians.
Tramway to St-Beron, see p. 407.— Motor-6mn. from Grenoble via,

the Col de la' Placette, see p. 421. — Motor-omn. to St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse,
see above; to Aix-les-Bains via Les Echelles and Chamhery, see p. 370.

The road to the (S^/a M.) Chartreuse, which well repays walkers

(21/2 hrs.), turns to the right and ascends the picturesque Vallee

du Guiers-Mort.

11/4 M. (from St-Laurent) Fourvoirie. At the old distillery

here (now let to a company) the Carthusians made their famous

'Grande-Chartreuse' liqueur from aromatic plants, a rich source of

revenue, chiefly spent in charitable objects. The monks have trans-

ferred their distillery to Tarragona in Spain, and sell their liqueur

under the name of 'Liqueur des Peres-Chartreux'. As the name
Fourvoirie indicates (forata via, 'a gap'), the valley is so narrow
that it was impassable until the 16th cent., when the Carthusians

made a road, since widened. The picturesque *Gorge beyond is the

beginning of the Desert, once the domain of the monks, but now,
like the convent, owned by the State.— Beyond (3 M.) Pont St-

Bruno, 138 ft. high, we observe a picturesque old bridge in ruins.

AVe ascend high above the Guiers. On the right rises the rock called

(Eillette. or Aiguillette. Beyond the last we sight the Grand-Som,
with its cross (p. 422).— 41/2 ^^- La Croix-Verte. We leave on
the right the Pont St-Pierre, leading to St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse

(about I1/.2 M.; p. 422). Lastly we ascend in windings, and from
the last bend we sight the monastery, to the left.
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2. From Gtkenoble to the Grande-Chartreuse via the Col. de la
Placette akd St-Laurent-du-Pont. — By road, 251/2 M.; motor -omn.
(starting from 10 Place G-renette) from 15th June to 30th Sept., once or

twice daily in 2 hrs. (10 fr.). The cars stop 31/2 or 4 hrs. at the monastery
and return via Le Sappey (p. 423) in 2 hrs. (8fr. ; circular fare 15 fr.).

The road leads to Vor^eppe (8^/2 M.; p. 408; tramway, see

p. 409), leaves the Isere, and ascends the Placette dale in windings

(fine views). To the right lies the pretty village of Pommiers.—
131/2 M. Col de la Placette (1955 ft.).

To the E. we may follow a bridle-path over the Pas de la Misericorde
to (31/2 hrs.) the Chalet de la Grande-Vache, and thence easily ascend, in

1 hr., the Grande-St(re (6310 ft.), a splendid point of view (indicator).

From the col we descend rapidly, and reach the Voiron road

and tramway near the (16 M.) Pont-de-Demay (p. 420). — 20 M.
St-Laurent-du-Pont, and thence to the monastery, see p. 420.

The Grande-Chartreuse (3205 ft.), a monastery founded by

St. Bruno in 1084, became the cradle of a widely spread order,

whence it gained the title of 'Grande', and its prior was the superior

of the whole order. On the passing of the Association Law of 1901
the nine other houses of the order in France accepted dissolution,

but the mother-house applied for state recognition. This, however,

was refused, and the monks, expelled in April, 1903, removed to

the Certosa of Farneta, near Lucca, in Italy. The monastery, which
has been burnt down several times and was rebuilt for the last

time in 1676, now ranks as a 'national monument', but now sadly

lacks the life and interest of the old monastic times.

The entrance is on the N". Opposite the chief portal is the

Hotellerie St-Bruno (R. 31/2-4, B. l^/^, L. 4, D. 31/2, P. 9 fr.),

formerly the hostelry for women, who were not admitted to the

monastery. Hotels at St-Pierre, see p. 422.

Visitors are shown round every half-hour (fee). The cloister is

240 yds. long and 25 yds. wide. The chief points of interest are the

chapter-house, with a statue of St. Bruno by Foyatier, the church,

the sumptuous Chapelle St-Louis, the prior's parlour, the empty
library, the refectories, the prior's cell and a monk's cell, and lastly

the cemetery, in which the monks were buried face downwards,
without a coffin. Each grave is marked by a wooden cross without

inscription, but the graves of the superiors have stone crosses.

The Cell of a Carthusian monk is really a small two-storied house,
with two rooms on each floor. On the ground-floor are the wood-shed
and the work-room, the latter having a carpenter's bench and a lathe.

Upstairs are a kitchen and a room serving as bedroom, refectory, oratory,
and study. The bed occupies a curtained alcove. Each house has also a
small garden, which the inmate cultivated and in which lie took the air.

The monks, who wore white gowns, and wlio numliered about forty,
never quitted their cells, except for the daily and nightly services, and
once a week to walk in the 'Dissert' (p. 420). They even took their meals
in their cells, except on Sundays anci certain feast-days, and they were
forbidden to talk without the prior's permission. There were also about
a hundred lay-brethren, who were robed in brown.
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A road to the X., nearly opposite the monastery, leads to (40 min.)
Notre-Dame-de-Casalibus ('of the huts'), a chapel built in 1452 on the
site of the iirst convent, destroyed by a landslip in 1132. A little bevond
it is the Chapelle St-Bruno (3905 ft.), rebuilt in the 17th cent, on the
site of the original chapel of the saint. The keys of the chapels may be
obtained at the convent.

To the N. of the Chapelle St-Bruno a bridle-path ascends to the (1 hr.)

Col de la Ruchere (4660 ft. ; view), and then descends to RuchJere (3410 ft.),

whence a cart-track leads to the road from Les Echelles to St-Pierre-
d'Entremont, joining it near the Frou tunnel (I'/i hr.

; p. 407).

From the Grande-Chartreuse the ascent of the Grand-Som takes i^]., hrs.

(guide 3 fr., but hardly needed, as the path is indicated by notice-boards;
mule to the Chalet de Bovinaut 5 fr.). The route is via Xotre-Dame-de-
Casalibus (see above) and the (21/4 hrs.) Col de Bovinant (5945 ft.), 1^'^ hr.

from the top. Ascent fatiguing but not dangerous. The Grand-Som
(6670 ft.) ranks fourth amongst the Grande-Chartreuse peaks, but is only
a little lower than the other three: Lance de Jlalissard (6760 ft.), Devt
de Crolles (6780 ft. : p. 432), and Pic de Chamechande (6845 ft. : p. 423).

*View very extensive: E. are the Savoy Alps, including Mont Blanc;
S.E. the Sept-Laux, the Belledonne, Taillefer, and Vercors ranges; N.
the Lac du Bourget and the Jura; N.W. Lyons and the Lyonuais plains;
W. the Forez and Ardeche Mts. "We may descend E., via (21/4 hrs.)

Chamassot, to (3/4 hr.) St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse (see below).

3. Fkom the Grandi'>Chartreuse to Gkenoble via St-Piekre-de
Chartreuse asd Le Sappey. — Eoad, 18 M. ; motor-omn. (down only),

see p. 421; between St-Pierre and Grenoble there is another motor-omn.
service from June to Sept. once or twice dailv in both directions in

2»/4 hrs. (71/2 fr. each way).
Motor-omn. (Route des Alpos, see p. 340) daily (15th June to 15th

Sept.) in both diirections from Grenoble to Le Sappey, St-Pierre-dc-

Chartreiise (2 hrs. : 7 fr.), the Grande-Chartreuse (41/4 hrs. ; 8 fr.), St-

Pierre-d'' Entremoiit (p. 407), Chambery (p. 359; 8 hrs. 20 min. ; 18 fr.). and
Aix-les-Bains (p. 365; 8 hrs. 50 rnin.; 23 fr.).

The Le Sappey road leads to the left of that to 8t-Laureut-du-

Pont, and (1 M.) passes near the Courrerie, once the residence of

the 'Dom Courrier', the estate-overseer of the monastery, and later

the farm-offices. We soon join the road ascending from the Pont

St-Pierre (p. 420), and cross the Gruiers-Mort, where the Porte de

VEnclos or du Grand-Logls once marked the limit of the Desert

on this side. (Xew hotel now building here.)— 2 M. Hotel du
Desert &du Grand-Som rabout 2625 ft.; R. 3-6, B. 17^, L. 4,

D. 4, P. from 9 fr., well spoken of), at La Diat.

St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse (3115 ft.; Hot. Victoria, good, R.

3-6, L. 3i/-2< I^- -^ fi'-; Hot. du Nord, Paquet), in a pretty wooded

valley, 1/4 lir. to the left, above the road, a favourite summer resort.

It possesses an interesting Alpine garden. Motor-omn. from St-

Laurent-du-Pont, see p. 420.
Numerous excursions. From Perquelin, ^U br. E., we may visit the

Cascade du Gifiers (25 min. X.E.), the Fontaine Noire (50 min. S.E.),

and the Source du Guiers-Mort (20 min. farther), issuing from a grotto.

—A bridle-path, diverging from the high-road at La Diat (see above),

ascends S.TV. to (31/2 hrs.) the Charmant-Som (p. 423).— To the Grand-
Som, 4 hrs., see above. To the Dent de Crolles, 4 hrs., via the Col des

Ayes (St-Pancrasse), see p. 433. Habert Valombre (II/4 hr.), Pas de
Sangles (20 min.), etc., see p. 420.
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The Grenoble road (Route des Alpes, p. 340) now ascends the

valley of St-Hugues, and then leaves it in several windings. Fine

retrospect of the Grand-Som. In front rises the Chamechaude (see

below).— 7^/2 M. Col de Porte (4440 ft.), in a wood, between the

Chamechaude (left) and the Pinea (right; see below).
The Pinea (5835 ft.) is easilj' ascended from the col in IV2 hi"-? via

the Habert de Porte (4436 ft.) and" then to the left. The bridle-path goes
on to the right to the Habert de Charmant-Som (23/^ hrs. from the col

;

5435 ft.), where it leaves the Col de la Charmette path (1 hr. ; p. 419) and
ascends to the right to tlie top of the (1/2 hr-) Charmaiit-Soin (6140 ft.

;

*View ; indicator), which may be reached also direct from St-Pierre (see

p. 422). —The Chamechaude (6845 ft.; less easy; guide useful; *Pau-
orama), the highest of the Chartreuse peaks, takes 3 hrs. from the Col de
Porte. Coming from Grenoble, we go to the right beyond (31/2 hrs.)

Sarcenas (see below), by a path ascending N.E. to a chalet (1 hr. 10 min.),

whence the top (view-indicator) is reached in 3/^ hr. by the N.W. face.

Descent, if desired, by the S.E. rocks in 21/2 hrs. (two ropes) to the

pastures of the Emeindra and Le Sappey (see below).

We descend rapidly to (S^g ^I-) Sarcenas. On leaving the wood
we sight the Dauphine Alps, beyond the Isere.

10 M. Le Sappey (3280 ft. ; Hot. des Touristes, R. from 2,

L. or D. 2V2-3V2, P- 6-8 fr. ; Hot. du Dauphine, du St-Eynard), in

the middle of a grassy basin, is both a summer and a winter resort.

Pleasant walk to the pastures of the Emeindra (I1/2 hr.). Thence to

the Col de la Faita (20 min. ; 4595 ft.) and down to (2 hrs.) St-Ismier
(p. 432). — Ascent of the Chamechaude, see above.

The road descends into the Vence valley and then ascends a

hue wooded ravine.— 13^/2 M. Col de Vence (2460 ft.; two rest.),

between the St-Eynard and Mont Rachais (p. 415). A road diverg-

ing W. skirts Mont Rachais and leads to Grenoble via the Col de

Clementiere (2135 ft.). We now reach the most interesting part of

the route. We have a superb *View of the Isere and Drac valleys,

the Haut-Dauphine Mts., and even of Mont Blanc to the left.

—

15 M. Corenc. Thence to Grenoble, see p. 415.

IV. The Vercors. Gorges d'Engins, de la Bourne, and
de la Vernaison. The Goulets.

A favourite excursion. Road from Grenoble to Villard-de-Lans, 20 M.

;

thence to Pont-en-Roi/ami, 15 M. (or 221/.2 M- incl. detour by the Goulets);
and thence to (IOV2 M-) St-MarceJlin station or (71/2 M.) St-Hilaire-St-
Nazaire (p. 414), on the Grenoble and Valence line. Travellers from
Valence mav atop at St-Hilaire-St-Nazaire, take the omn. to Ponf-en-
Royans, and make the 'Tour des Goulets' mentioned below.

Motor-omn. of the P.L.M. Co. (15th June to 15th Sept.) from Grenoble
(10 Place Grenette) to Villard-de-Lans (IV2 hr.; 6 fr. 40 c), La Bahne-
de-Rencurel (2 hr. 20 min. ; 8 fr. 80 c), and Pont-en-Roijans (2V2 hrs. ; 13 fr.

20 c); back via Les Barraques (3/4 hr.; 2 fr. 20 c. ; 21/4 hrs.' wait), St-

Martin-en-Vercors (3'/4 hrs.; 3 fr. 20 c), and Villard-de-Lans (41/4 hrs.;

6 fr. 60 c.). Circular ticket 20 fr. -- Omn. between Pont-en-Royans and
ISt-IIilaire-St-Nazaire station (p. 414). — Omn. also from Villard-dc-Lans
to Pout-en-Royans via La Balme-de-Rencurel, in 8 hrs. (back in 4 hrs.;

2'/2 fr.). - Another omn. plies twice daily from Grenoble to Villard-de-Lans
(5, back in 8 hrs.; 3 fr.).

The Syndicat d' Initiative of Pont-cn-Royans (p. 425) organizes (lOtli

H.vkdbker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 27
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July to 15th Sept.) a 'Tour des Groulets', through the Grands-Goulets and
back to Pont-en-Royans via the Pont de Goule-^N'oire and the Vallee de la

Bourne (drive of 8I/2 hrs. ; 4 fr.). — Circular trip from St-Marcellin through
the Groulets and the Foret de Lente. see p. 414.

Walkers go ty tramway to Sassenage (p. 415) and thence by the old

road to (1 hr.) the Portes-d' Engins and'(l hr.) Engins; or direct from
G-renoble to Engins via the Pas du Cure (p. 417); or to ViUaj-d-de-Lans
by the St-Xizier and Lans road (see p. 416 and below), or via Claix and
the Col de I'Arc (see p. 439 and below).

Electric line now being made from Grenoble to Villard-de-Lans, via
St-Xizier and Lans.

To (31/2 ^'^) Sassenage, see p. 415. The Villard-de-Lans road,

turning to the left, ascends a hill 31/2 M. long (short-cut). Beauti-

ful *Views. Below lies St-Egreve fp. 408), backed by the Xerou
I'p. 415). We reach the Passage des Portes-d^Engins, a defile

in which the Furon forms a cascade. (The gorges mentioned on

p. 416 are lower down.)— 11 M. Engins (aub.), whence a path

leads via the Pas du Cure to St-Xizier (see p. 417). We here enter

the picturesque Gorges d'Engins, 1^4 ^I- long, and then tra-

verse extensive pastures.— From (16 M.) Les Vernes a road leads

via Lans (Hot. Achard, Ravaud, Colomb ; omn. to Autrans, see

below), a village 1/2 ^- to the left, to (5 M.) St-Nizier (p. 416). At
the head of the valley to the left rise the bare Montagnes de
Lans, dominated by the Moucherolle (see below). From Lans to

the Col de I'Arc, see below. 2^/2 lirs.— 15^2 ^f- JaAime. Road to

the right to Autrans and Meaudre (see below).— 17 M. Les Ey-
mards (3300 ft.\ near the source of the Bourne (on the right).

20 M. Villard-de-Lans (3420 ft. ; Hot. de Paris, R. from 21/2,

L. or D. 31/2, P- 8 fr. ; Hot. du Pare, de la Poste, Dauphinois; guide,

Victor Marchand), both a summer and a winter resort.

To the E., 40min.. is the pretty- Fontaine de la Dtds or du Petit-

Vauclme. To the X.X.W., 6 M. (omn.'), lie Meaudre (3320 ft. : Hot. Martin,
des Yoyageurs), and 4 M. farther, Atdrans (3430 ft.: Hot. Romagnier,
Eepellin, Bernard; omn. in summer to Lans, see above, 6 M., IV2 fr-)-

Good bridle-path to Claix (p. 4.39), 61/2 brs., over the (21/2 hrs.) Col
de I'Arc (5720 ft. : famous view). Still finer view from the Pic St-

Micliel (6360 ft.), X. of the col, easily ascended in 1/2 t"'- Descent through
the woods and nastures of the Plateau de St-Ange to (3^/4 hrs.) Claix.

The Grande-Moucherolle, or Grand-Arc (7510 ft.), the highest

of the Lans range after the Grand-Veymont (p. 440), is ascended in 5 hrs.

(guide 8 fr. ; way easily missed in the 'lapiaz') by the (3/4 hr.) Scierie

Jarrand, the (2"hrs.) Fontaine de VOide, and the (l^/g hr.) Col de la

Moucherolle. between the two peaks of the Moucherolle. The higher, E.,

is scaled from the col in 3/^ hr. ; sheer below lies the Gresse valley.

Superb ^Panorama. — Ascent on the E. side, from Vif, see p. 439.

The Pont-en-Royans road (road to the right to Meaudre, see

above) descends in a long bend (short-cut) to the Bourne valley.

About 23/4 M. beyond Villard begin the *Gorges de la Bourne,
a picturesque rocky ravine. The road, partly hev^m in the rock, runs

hi^h above the torrent, which forms numerous little cascades. The
second bridge, 51/2 M. from Villard, is the Pont de GouU-Noire,
where the Bourne is joined by an even larger torrent
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The direct road to Pont-en-Royans (omn., see p. 423) continues to de-

scend tlie valley. —28 M. (from Cxrenoble) La Bcdme-de-Rencurel (2295 ft.;

Hot. Belle, Callet, des Voyageurs ; 'Route des Ecouges', see p. 414). We
soon pass through a Second Gorge, as grand as the first, but shorter, ending
in a cirque of rocks with a waterfall 1300 ft. high. At the foot of the fall

is the grand stalactite Grotte de BourniUon (I1/2 hr. from Choranche; guide
necessary). — 321/2 M. Choranche (7.55 ft.), adjoined by Chartreiix-les-Bains

(Hot. Continental, R. from 21/2, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.), with sulphur-springs.

Omn. to Pont-eu-Royans (25 c). Interesting grottoes in the neighbourhood.
— 35 M. Pont-en-Royans (see below).

The 'Route des Goulets', diverging to the left before the Pont

de Goule-N'oire, ascends to (30 M.) St-Julien-en-Vercors (2975 ft.),

and then descends to (32 M.) St-Martin-en-Vercors (2560 ft.;

Hot. Girard).— 341/2 M- Les Barraques (2090 ft.; Hot. du Midi.

L. or D. 3 fr.; Hot. Raoul & des Grands-Goulets, Grenoblois), a

hamlet above the Grands-Goulets.
About 4 M. to the S. is La C'hapeUe-en-Vercors (3100 ft. ; Hot. Bellier,

des Voyageurs; omn. to St-Martin and Pont-de-Royans), whence the road
goes on to Die (omn., see p. 497). To the Foret de Lente (p. 414), 21/2 hrs.

The *Gorges de la Vernaison are as grand as those of the

Bourne. The first, the Grands-G-oulets (I1/.2 M. long), begin a

little below Les Baraques. The road is carried through tunnels and
galleries 250 ft. above the torrent. Then the little Vallee d^Echevis,

be3^ond which (31/2 M. from the Grands-Goulets) we pass through

the Petits-Goulets by five tunnels, 400-500 ft. above the

Vernaison.— 40^/2 M. Ste-Eulalie.

42V2M. Pont-en-Koyans (950 ft. ; Hot. Bonnard, R. from 2 V2,
L. 3, D. 31/0, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. Villard, des Maronniers; Syndicat

d'Initiative, Grande-Rue), a picturesquely situated little town, at

the confluence of the Bourne and the Vernaison, dominated by a

ruined castle.

Carriage to St-Eilaire-St-Nazaire station (p. 414) 6-10 fr. ; to Villard-
de-Lans or the Grands-Gotdets 20-25 fr. ; to DAlhenc (p. 414), via La
Balme-de-Rencurel and the 'Route des Ecouges' (see above), 30-35 fr. ; to

the Foret de Lente (p. 414), 25-30 fr. — Car Alpin to the Ecouges^ (see

above and p. 414), Sun. and Thurs. from lOth July to 10th Sept., 5 fr.

Tramway to Romans, see p. 414; omn. to St-Hilaire, see p. 414.

We descend to (491/2 M.) St-MarcelUn (p. 414), in the Isere

valley.

58. From Grenoble to the Mountains,
via La Mure.

I. From Grenoble to La Mure. The Valbonnais
and Valjouffrey.

31 M. Railway in 2^iyi^l:, hrs. (5 fr. 60, 3 fr. 80, 2 fr. 50 c). -Circular
tickets to La Mure are issued by the Syndicat d'Initiative (p. 409), incl.

drive back via Laffrey and Vizille (see p. 426); fares 9, 7, or 6fr.— The
line is to be continued to Corps and Gap.

To (12 M.) St-Gcoryes-de-Cominiers, see p. 439. Change trains

;

best views to the rigl»t. The *Ligne de la Mure, a narrow-gauge
27*
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electric line, traverses a most picturesque district, with valuable

coal-mines, and is of great structural interest. It ascends rapidly

in windings. On the right are the Yeynes line and the Drac.
17 ^l. Notre-Dame-de-Commiers (1570 ft.), with a priory of

1545. Superb *Vievvs of the Drac valley, the Lans range (Grande-

Moucherolle), Mont Aiguille (p. 440) in the distance, and behind

us the Grande-Chartreuse group. Next comes the ^Viaduc de la

Bivoire, 980 ft. above the valley. "We quit the Drac valley.

221/oM. LaMotte-les-Baiiis(2315 ft.; Gr.-H6t. du Chateau.

P. from' 9 fr.; Hot. du Bois: Hot. des Bains, E. from 2^/^, B. 1.

L. 21/2, D. 31/2 fr.), a hamlet enclosed by lofty mountains. On a

hill in the middle of the valley is the well-organized Etablisse-

ment, occupying a 14th cent, chateau, restored and enlarged. The

waters (142°), impregnated Avith chloride of sodium and bromides,

are used in the treatment of rheumatism and uterine, lymphatic, and

other maladies. Season June 1st to Sept. 20th.

The Springs, on the bank of the Drac, are worth seeing. A path

descends to them from the Etahlissement in 1/2 hr., crossing a small tor-

rent, and ascending on the left bank. The water is pumped up with the,

aid of a waterfall 425 ft. high. — The Monteynard, or Signal de Notre-

Dame-de-Vaulx (5620 ft.; 3V2-4 hrs.), and the Seneirpi (5815 ft.; 3V2-4 hrs.)

are fine points of view.

The next part of the railway is the most noteworthy for its

engineering. We cross the ravine of Vaulx by a curved viaduct,

skirt the cirque of La Motte (fine view), and cross two viaducts

one above the other in the ravine of Loidla, separated by a tunnel.

Another long bend and a curved tunnel bring us to (26 M.) La
Motte- d'Aveillans (2845 ft.V with its anthracite-mines.

Branch-line to (2 M.) Notre-Dame-de-Vaidx., also with anthracite-

mines. — Omn. thence to Laf['rey (see below; in 40 min. ; 1 fr.).

We reach the highest point on the line (3035 ft.).

31 M. La Mure (2895 ft. ; Hot. du Nord, good, E. from 3, B. 1
1/2,

L. orD. 3V2fr-; Hot. Marron, at the station; pop. 3595), a busy little

town, makes nails, paeking-canvas, marble-work, etc. In 1580 the

Protestants of La Mure, aidedby their wives, heroically sustained

a siege of two months, which ended with an honourable capitulation.

Mont St-Simon (3980 ft.), 1 hr. X.W., affords a good view.

From La Mure to Vizille via Laffret, 13 M., motor-omn, once

dailv in June-Sept, (twice in July-Sept.), in I1/4-IV2 hr. (4fr.).— The road

crosses the Plateau de la Matheysine. — 3 M. Pier?-e-C7!«M. We pass the

Lac de Pierre-CMtel, the Lac de Petichet (beyond the Seidl de la Maihey-
sine, 3110 ft.), and the Grand Imc de LaffreiJ (2 M. long). — 8 M. Laffrey
(3035 ft.; Hot. Charlais, Humblot), prettily situated, on the Grenoble and

Corps road. It was here that Napoleon I., on his return from Elba, met
the troops sent against him. To the X.E. is the little Lac Jlort. Pleasant

walk to La Morte, 31/4 hrs. E., at the foot of the Taillefer (p. 436). — Our
road descends very rapidly to the Romanehe valley. Below lie the factories

of St-Pierre-de-Mesage and Vizille. Opposite rises the Grande-Chartreuse
range. — 121/2 M. Vizille (p. 435).

From La Mure to Mens and Clelles, see p. 440.
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The Valbormais and the Valjoufifrey.

The valley of the Bonne, an affluent of the Drac, is called the Vcd-
bonnais in its lower part, between La Mure and Entraigues, and the
Valjoiiffrey higher up, and is noteworthy for its vegetation and scenery.
It is headed by mountains adjoining the Pelvoux and offering ascents of

great interest.

From La Mure to Lb Bourg-d'Oisans, 281/2 M., omn. twice daily to Le
P^rier in 31/4 brs. (2V2 fr.).—We follow the Gap road to the (3 M.) Pont-
Haut (see below), and then the Bonne valley, E., to (8 M.) Valbonnais
(2675 ft.; Hot. Charles), with a 17th cent, chateau, at the foot of the Quaro
(8565 ft.). — Prom (11 M.) Entraigues (2790 ft.; Hot. Chautard, plain) we
ascend the valley of the Malsanne, a tributary of the Bonne. To La
Salette, see p. 428; to La t'hapelle-en-Valjoiiffrey, see below. — The Le
Bourg-d'Oisans road ascends X.; on the E. rises the Pic Vert (8460 ft.).

—

141/2 M. Le Perier (2905 ft. ; Hot. des Alpinistes, well spoken of, L. or D,
3 fr. ; Hot. Coste), a summer resort with a ruined tower, '^j^ hr. E. of

which lies the hamlet of Oonfolant-le-Bas, with a pretty waterfall. — 17 M.
La C'halp. To the "VV. rises the Pointe de Lannet (9135 ft.). — From the
(2OV2 M.) Col d'Ornon (4495 ft.), between the Pic du Col d' Ornon (9435 ft.)

and the Taillefer (p. 436), the road descends to the valley of the Lignarre,
leaving 0/'«07i (Aub. Berlioux: to the Taillefer, 51/2 brs., see p. 436) on
the left.— 26V2M. La Paiite (p. 437), 2 M. from Le Bourg-d'Oisans.

From La Mure to La Ohapelle-en-Valjouffrey, 151/2 M. ; omn. to

Entraigues, see above; carr. thence to La Ohapelle 4 fr. Carr. from En-
traigues to Le Desert must be ordered beforehand from the Aub. Cros
(see below). — From Entraigues (see above) the road continues to ascend the
Bonne valley to the E. — 13 M. Graynolet. Path to La Salette, see p. 428.
— 151/2 M. La Chapelle-en-Valjouffrey (3215 ft.; Hot. Gruibert, plain;
guides, C. Bernard and P. Gaillard), where the Beranger joins the Bonne.
Between the two valleys rises the Pic Turbat-de-Valsenestre (9050 ft.).

About 11/4 hr. from La Chapelle is Valsenestre (4195 ft. ; Aub. Blanc-
Vial, clean; guide, L. M. Blanc). Thence we may reach Confolant and
Le Perier (see above) via the Lac Laharre (7865 ft.) and the Vol de la
Romaiou, between the Tete de C'hetives (8205 ft. ; view

;
guide 12 fr.) and

the Tete de Lauvitel (p. 450); or we may cross the Breche de Valsenestre
(8640 ft.) or the Vol de la Muzelle (about 8200 ft.

; p. 450) to the Veneon
valley; or, lastly, reach Le Desert-en-Valjoufi'rey in 31/2 hrs. via the easy
iJol des Marmes (about 7550 ft.). To the E. of the col is the Aiguille
des Maiines, or Pic de Valsenestre (10,030 ft.; difficult; guide 15-20 fr.).

Ascent of tlie Grande-Roche de la Muzelle (p. 453 ; difficult; guide 20-28 fr.),

71/4 hrs. from Valsenestre.
From La ('hapelle our road continues up the Bonne valley to (4 M.)

/>e Disert-en-ValjoufJrey (4215 ft.; Aub. Cros, R. I1/2-2, P. 7 fr.
;

guide,
L. Rousset). Beyond it we obtain a grand view of the Souffles and the
Olan (see below and p. 429),

From Le Desert to St-Christophe via the (61/2 hrs.) Col de la Mariande
(difficult; guide 20 fr.), see p. 453.-- To La Chapelle-cn-Vahjaudeimir
(p. 429), via the Col de la Vaurze (about 8530 ft. ; 8:74 hrs.

;
guide 8 fr.),

or via the Col de Turbat-de-V Olan (8860 ft.; 9 hrs., less easy; guide 12 fr.),

at the head of the valley, near the Aig. and Pic d'Olan (pp. 453, 429). To
the Pic Turbat-de-V Olan, see p. 429. — The ascent of tlie I'ic des Softfftes
(central peak, 10,170 ft.), E., is difficult (guide 20-28 fr. ; view).

n. Prom La Mure to Corps. La Salette and the
Valgaudemar.

151/2 M. Omuiius twice daily in 3 lirs. (21/2 fr.); electric railway under
construction.

The Corps road winds down, and the old road descends direct,

into the Bonne valley.— 3 M. Pont- fhint (aub.), a Roman bridge.
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We cross the Bonue, leave the Valbonuais road on the left, and

ascend to the fertile plateau of Beaumont To the right are the

Obiou (see below) and other peaks of the Devoluy (p. 441), beyond
which rises Mont Aiguille (p. 440).— 71/2 M. La Salle (Hot. des

Voyageurs). The road, high above the Drao, descends, crosses the

gorge of La Salette, and ascends to the right. (To the left, before

the bridge, diverges the path to La Salette, see below.)

1572 ^- Corps ^3155 ft.; Hot. du Palais, fair, K. 1-3, L. '2^1.-,,

D. 3 fr.; Hot. de la Postei. on a terrace overlooking the Drac.
Road to Mens, see p. 440.

From Corps to Vkynbs, 27 M. The road descends, "W., towards
the Drac, crosses it by the Pont du Sautet, and ascends S., leaving
Pellafol (.S045ft. ; inns; guide) to the left.— 6 M. La Postei-le.— Beyond
the C'luse de la Baunie comes (91/2 M.) St-Disdier (3330 ft.; aub.). Road
to St-Bonnet, see below. Ahoxe Grand-Villars, 21/2 ^1- to the S.W., rises

the E. slope of the Giaud-Ferrand (p. 441), where a number of 'avens',

or 'chouruns' (chasms engulfing a stream), have been explored.

—

IS^j.i'M.

Agnieres, whence the Grand-Ferrand (p. 441; 5hrs.; not very difficult)

may be ascended. — 151/2 M. Col d'Agnieres (4720 ft.; quarters). — 18 M.
La C'luse (4110 ft.), with a ruined castle. — 27 M. Veynes (p. 441).

From Pellafol or La Posterle (see above) we may ascend (with guide;
6 hrs.) the Grande-Tete de FObiou (9165 ft. ; steep, but not difficult;

superb view), the chief peak of the Devoluy (p. 441). We may descend
on the S.W. in 4i/.> hrs. to Treminis ;H6t. des Alpes: guide); omn. thence
to (71/2 M.) St-Maurice-en-Trieves (p. 440; 2brs.; I1/2 fr-)-

From St-Disdier to St-Bosnet, 141/2 M., by road. —We pass through
the picturesque Etroits de la Souloise, and join the Agnieres road (see

above). — 31/2 M. St-Efienne-en-Devoluy (4145 ft.; aub.). whence the Pic de
Bure (p. 441) mav be ascended in 51/., hrs. — 7 M. Col du Xoyer (5425 ft.;

refuge). — 141/2 M. St-Bonnet (p. 430)."

La Salette and the Valgauderaar.

From Corps to Xotre-Dame-de-la-Salette, 51/2 M., omn. in 2'/2 hrs.

(4, descent 21/2 fr. ; mule 4 fr. ; carr. 12-15, descent 10 fr.). Rack-and-pinion
railway projected. — The road, steep and bad at places, ascends the Vallon
de la Salette to (3 M.) the village of La Salette. Then a steep ascent to

the cirque where the shrine lies. Walkers reach it in 3 hrs. by a path to

the left beyond the Salette bridge on the La Mure road (see above), passing
the hamlet 'of St-JuUen (3935 ft.). Notre-Dame-de-la-Salette (5940 ft.),

a church and two 'hostels' (one for each sex), lies on a small plateau among
grassy hills. Here, according to their story, the Virgin appeared in 184(3

and spoke to a boy and girl of 11 and 15. At first it was believed to be
a hoax, but the Bishop of G-renoble declared it to have 'every appearance
of truth'. Pilgrims soon flocked to the spot from every quarter, and they
still come in great numbers, especially on 19th Sept., the date of the
alleged appearance. The Church, built in 1852-61, is lavishly decorated
with the gifts of the devotees. In front are groups of statues represent-
ing the scenes in the story. By one of these is the Fountain to which
the tears of the Virgin are said to have given rise. Its water is ex-
ported like that of Lourdes. Near it is a hill with a cross, where we
get an interesting view of the Devoluy. To the left rises the Gargas
(7260 ft.; easy ascent, I1/2 hr.). To theright or to the left of it we may
cross the Col de Gargas or the Col d'HtiHiire to the (2-21/2 hrs.) Bonne
valley, striking it at Gragnolet or at a point lower down, 1/2 hr. from
Entraigues (p. 427).

From Corps to La Chapelle-en-Valgaudemar, about 16 M., by road.
Omn. in summer in 4 hrs. (6, return 9fr.). — To the (41/2 M.) Pont de la
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Trlnite, see p. 430. We diverge to the left and ascend the Valgmidemar,
the fertile valley of the Severaisse. — 6 M. St-Firmin (2955 ft.; Hot.
Valentin). At the head of the valley rises the Pic d'Olan (see below).
— lOV'jM. St-Maurice. Farther on, to the right, is a road to Chauffayer
and Gap (p. 430). — 131/2 M. Villard-Loubiere. At the head of a dale to the
N. is seen the Pic des Souffles (p. 427). We next pass Les Anch-ieux, sunless
during 100 days in the year. — 16 M. La Chapelle-en-Valgaudemar
(3575 ft.; Hot. du Mont-Olan, Gueydan; telephone), a good centre for ascents
(see below). — The road ascends the valley to (1/2 hr.) Le C'asset; then a

bridle-path via the Cascade du C'asset (left), Le Bourg (right), and the
Rif-du-Sap, to (IV2 hr.) Le Clot-en-Valgaudemar (4800 ft. ; Refuge-
Hotel Xavier-Blanc of the C.A.F., bed 1, L. or D. 3 fr.), another excursion-
centre (see below).

Excursions from La Chapelle-en-Valgaudemar (see above). Guides
(both 2ndcl.): J. Vincent, at Navettes (see below); M. Catelau (skit'ur),

at La Chapelle. To the Oides, or Marmites du Diable, V2 hr. S. ; Cas-
cade de Cassefroi.de, '^U hr. N.; Lac Petarel, 21/2 hrs. S.W. (6925 ft; with
guide). — To Le Desert-en-Valjou/freij via the Col de Vaurze or the Col de
Turhat, see p. 427 ; to St-Christophe-en-Oisans via the Col des Selletles,

see p. 454.— Pic Turbat-de-rOlan (9940 ft.), 6''/4 hrs., 1 hr. from the
Col de Turbat (p. 427); or via the Col de Colomp (about 8860 ft.), in the
S. arete, S.E. of the Lac Lantier. Splendid view from the top. — The
Pic d'Olan (11,740 ft. ; 9 hrs.

;
guide 40-50 fr.), a difficult ascent, is almost

as famous as the Meije and Ecrins. The easiest way is via the Combe
Froide, the Glacier d^ Olan, and a long couloir on the S.E. face, to a gap
(about 11,480 ft.) between the Ciine Nord or Cime Coolidge (11,740 ft. ; first

ascended by Rev. W. A. B. Coolidge in 1877) and the Cime Sud or Cime
Pendlebtiry (about 11,725 ft. ; first ascended by R. Pendlebury in 1875). An-
other route is via the Combe du Clot, the Glacier du Clot, and the S.W.
face to the Cime Sud or (S. of it) to the Epaule (11,515 ft.). The descent
to La Lavey (p. 454) is for experts only. — The Aiguille des Merges
(9860 ft.; 6V2hrs.; guide 11 fr.), easy, is ascended via (U I^hr.) Navettes,
to the S. ; then, E., over the (41/2 hr.) Col de Morges (about 9020 ft.).—
Pics de Parieres (S. peak, or Tete de Clax)hoHse, about 10,025 ft.;

7 hrs.; fairly easy; guide 11 fr.) are ascended via Navettes (see above),
then S.E. by the (61/2 hrs.) Col de Parieres (9515 ft.), and over the glacier
on the S. of the Pic de Parieres (9660 ft.), the lower peak, and up the
S. arete (1/2 hr.). To the S. of the col (V4 hr.) are the Lacs de CrupiUouze.
— To Champoleon (p. 430) over the Col de La?q)lat (8990 ft. ; view), 8-9 hrs.,

steep but not difficult, or via the Corabe de Navett-es and the Col de Val-
Estrete or Estrhche (8595 ft.; 8 hrs.; guide 8 fr.), less interesting.

Excursions from Le Clot-en-Valgaudemar (see above). To St-

Christophe-en-Oisans, lOi/a hrs., via the Col de la Muande, see p. 454; to

La Berarde, ^'^4 or 81/4 hrs., via the Col des Ronies, Col du Chardon,
or Col du Says, see p. 458. — To Les Rouies (11,775 ft.; 7 hrs.; not
difficult; guide 20 fr.), via the Col des Rouies, see pp. 458, 457. — The
Pics du Says (11,065 and 11,185 ft.; 8-9 hrs.; guide 22 fr.) are reached
from the Col du Says (10,290 ft.; p. 458) by descending to the glacis and
then mounting E. (as from La Berarde). —Mont Gioberney (10,990 ft.),

see p. 456. — To Vallonise (10-11 hrs.) via the Col du Scllar or the Col du
Loup-en-Valgaudemar, see pp. 459, 460. The Pic des Aupillous is ascended
from the former col, and the Pics Jocelme and de Boniwisin from the latter

(p. 459 ;
guide 20 or 26 fr.). — Pic de Verdonne or de Chabourn6ou

(10,905 ft.; 4 hrs. S.E.; not difficult; guide 15 fr. ; fine panorama), via the
(21/2 hrs.) Col de Verdonne (about 10,170 ft.). — The Sirac (11,285 ft.;

61/2 hrs. S. ; for adepts only; guide 20 fr.) is a majestic peak rising W.
of the Col de Verdonne, with a superb view. --To Champoleon (p. 430;
toilsome

;
guide 8 fr.) in 7 hrs., via the Combe de Chaboumeou, the (2'V4 hrs.)

Lac de Vallonpierre (7470 ft.), and the (1 hr.) Col de Vallonpierre (about
8595 ft.), W. of the Sirac.
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m. From Corps to Gap. The Champsaur.

23 M. Omnibus daily in 51/2 hrs. (5 fr.). Electric railway being built.

The Gap road descends into the Drac valley.— 41/2 M. Pont de

la Trinite (2535 ft.), over the Severaisse, before which the Valgau-

demar road diverges to the left (see p. 429).— 7 M. Chauffayei'

(2990 ft.). We cross the Drac.— 13V., M. Les Barraques (Hot.

du Champ-d'Or, Modern-Hotel).
On the opposite bank (bridge) lies St-Bonnet (3355 ft.; Hot. des

Alpes, Felix-Paraj, the birthplace of the Due de Lesdiguieres (1543-1626),

the leader of the Calvinists of this region, who in 1622 changed sides and
fought against theiu in order to gain the rank of Constable. From St-

Bonnet to St-Dlsdier, see p. 428; to the Champsaur, see below. The ascent

of the Chaillol-le-Vieux (see below) may be made from St-Bonnet in 7^/4 hrs.,

via the Refuge de Chaillol (5840 ft.; "3:^4 hrs.), the Col de la Venasque
(5 hrs.), etc. (see below).

Our road ascends, leaving the Drac valley, through which a

road leads to the Champsaur (see below).— 15 M. Brutinel (change

horses).— 1874^1- Col Bayard (4090 ft.; aub.-refuge, with tele-

phone), with a view of the Chaillol, Autane, and Aiguille de Glaize

(7030 ft.).— 183/4 M. Chauvet (4050 ft.). The road descends rap-

idly in zigzags. To the left diverges the Col de la Manse road (see

below).— 23 M. Gaj) ip. 441).
The Champsaur ('campus auri', field of gold) is the once fertile

upper valley of the Drac, now laid waste by the destruction of its woods.
Interesting excursions from the head of the valley, but very hot in sum-
mer. When coming from Corps we follow a road to the left, V4M.
beyond Brutinel (see above), which (3Va ^^) joins the road from Gap to

the Champsaur. Another road leads from St-Bonnet (see above) to the

Champsaur by the right bank (61/2 M.).

From Gap to Orcieres, 20^1.^ M., omn. in 5 hrs. (3 fr.), via tlie Pont des

Corbieres, where those bound for Champoleon alight.— 21/2 M. We diverge

to the right from the Corps road.— 6 M. Col de la 3Ianse (4160 ft.; Refuge
National). — 91/2 M. Pont-de-Frappe, junction of the road from Brutinel

(see above).— 11 M. La Plaine, junction of the St-Bonnet road (see above).
— 141/2 M. Potit-d?/- Fosse (3675 ft.: aub.), where we cross the Drac. To
the left are castle-ruins and an aqueduct.— leV'., ^I- Pcnit des Corbieres.
The Champoleon road diverges to the left. —We may drive on to (2OV2 -^'-O

Orcieres (4600 ft.; Hot. de la Poste, plain), but it offers little attraction.

The pretty Lacs des Esfaris (about 8200 ft'.; mule 5 fr.) are 31/2 hrs. X.E.
Champoleon, or Les Borels-en-Chavipole'on (4160 ft.; two inns; guides,

J. Vincent and Borel), 21/2 M. to the X. of the Pont des Corbieres, is

connected witli the Valgaudemar ])y the cols mentioned on p. 429. It is

the best starting-point for the Cliaillol-le-Vieux (10,375 ft.), the chief

peak S. of the Pelvoux svstem. Ascent (7 hrs.) bv a mule-track, over
the (41/4 hrs.) Col de la Venasque (about 8370 ft.) and (11/4 hr.) Col de
Rebeyron (8910 ft.). Superb *Panorama of the Dauphine Alps. Descent to

St-Bonnet (see above), 51/2 hrs.; or, with guide, to (41/2-5 hrs.) La Cha-
pelle-en-Valgaudemar (p. 429), \\k (N.) the (2 hrs.) Col de Londeni'ere or

du Sellon and the (3/4 hr.) Combe des Xavettes: or, longer, over the Col
f9515 ft.) and Glacier de Mancros^ to Navettes (p. 429). A military road,
long and uninteresting, leads from Champoleon to Vallouise (p. 459),

over the Col de la Cavale (about 8990ft.) and Col du Ha?it-Martin.—
The Soleille-Baetif (8355 ft.), S.W. of Champoleon, has some curious
rocks, known as the Demoiselles, on its slopes.
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59. From Grenoble to Chambery, to
Chapareillan, and to AUevard.

Oomp. the 2Iap, p. 415.

I. From Grenoble to Chambery.
381/2 M. Railway in 1-13/4 hr. (7 fr. 5, 4 fr. 75, 3 fr. 10 c.)- Views on the

left.— Electric Tramway from the Square des Postes (PL D, 4) as far as

Froges (131/2 M. ; see below) in 64-67 min. (1 fr. 60, 1 fr. 15 c.) via (41/2 M.)
Gieres, (71/2 ^I-) Doviene, (IO1/2 ^^O Lancey, and (121/2 M.) Brignoud.—
Motor Omxibus to Chambery^ via St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse, see p. 422.

Grenoble, see p. 408. The line ascends a beautiful part of the

Isere valley known as the Vallee du Graisivaudan ('pagus Gra-

tianopolitanus'). Fine views.

3^/4 M. Gieres. Tramway to Uriage, see p 417.—We approach

the meandering Isere.— 7 M. Domene (720 ft.; Hot. des Arts), a

paper-making town, with the ruins of an 11th cent, abbey.
To the S.E., 11/2 hr., is Revel (2075 ft.; Hot. de Belledonne, de la Pra;

guide, Fr. Eymard), whence the Croix de Belledonne (9555 ft.; p. 419)
is ascended in 8V2-9 hrs. (best to sleep at La Pra). "\Ve pass (I1/2 hr.) Frey-
dieres (3690 ft.; aub.), then through pine-woods to the (IV4 hr.) Pr4
Reymo7id, at the foot of the Petite and Grande Lance de Domene (p. 419),
the (3/4 hr.) Chalet du Mercier, and the (3/4 hr.) pretty Lac du L'rozet

(6455 ft.). Thence to the (3/4 hr.) t'ol de la Pra (7800 ft.; near the chalet-
hotel), where we join the Uriage path (p. 419), 31/2 trs. from the top.

10 M. Lancey (Hot. de I'lsere, R. 2, L. or D. 2V2 fr-
;
guide),

with a large paper-mill and electric works (worth seeing). Roads
to (172 111'-) La Combe-de-Lancey (w^hence we may ascend the

(Jroix de Belledonne in 7 hrs., joining the Revel path at the Pre
Reymond),.and to (31/2 M.) St-Mury-Monteymond and (1 M. far-

ther) La Gorge (to the Grand-Pic 9, to the Croix 91/2 hrs.; see

p. 419)r— On the right, farther on, is the Chdteau de Vorz (16th

cent.).— 121/2 ^i- Brignoud. On the left rises the Dent de C'rolles

(p. 432); behind it is the Grande-(Jhartreuse. About 1 M. to the

N.N^.E. lies Froges, with aluminium-works, the terminus of an

electric tramway to Grenoble (see above).
From B)ignoud we may walk to Le Rivier-d'Allemont (p. 437; 61/2-

7 lirs.) via (1 hr.) Laval (2000 ft.; Hot. Mangournet. Rev) and the (4 hrs.)

Pas de la Coche (6495 ft. ; view
;
guide 6 fr.). From the" col, a path (guide

advisable) follows the slope to the left (N.N.E., then E.), passing below
the Dent de la Prat (8610 ft.), to (3 hrs.) the Col de la Yache (8395 it.)

and (1/2 hr.) the Chalet-Hotel des Sept-Laux (p. 4.34).

16 M. Tencln (780 ft.; Hot. du Graisivaudan), on the right,

witii an 18th cent, chateau. Behind it is the Desert, a fine gorge
with a waterfall.

From Tencin a road leads to (41/2 M. ; omn. IV4 fi-) Theys (2020 ft.;

Hot. Moreynas-Ferrier, R. 2, L. orD.Sfr.; guides), a little town, whence
we may go, S.E., in hi/.^ hrs. to the «ept-Laux (p. 434), via (3 hrs.) the
Ool du Merdaret (6040 ft.; fine view) and the (2 hrs.) Chalet de Gleyzin,
where the Allevard path is joined (p. 434). To the N. from Theys we
may cross to Allevard (p. 433) via tlie Col de Bariot (3455 ft.), in 4 hrs.

I81/2 M. Goncelin (795 ft. ; Hoi. Bayard ; cafe-rest, at the station).

Omn. to Allevard (see p. 433) and loLe Touvet (p. 433; 25 c).

—
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221/2 M. Le Cheylas-la-Buissiere. Then, on the right, the Chdteau
Bayard, the birthplace of the knight "saus peur et sans reproche'

(p. 410). Farther on, to the left, is Fort Barraux, commanding
the Isere valley, a frontier defence before the annexation of Savoy.

Charles Emmanuel, Duke of Savoy, built it in defiance of Lesdi-

guieres (p. -430), who seized it in 1598 as soon as it was finished.

251/2 M. Pontcharra-sur-Breda (835 ft.; Nouvel-Hotel, L. or

D. 3 fr.; Hot. de la Gare, L. or D. 2^/2 fr.). The village, 1 M. from
the station, is reached by the Allevard tramway (p. 433), On the

Breda bridge is a statue of Bayard as a boy. On a hill near it rises

a new memorial Toiver on the site of the castle in which St. Hugh
of Lincoln (1135-1200) was born. Omn. to Chapareillan, see p. 433.

We cross the Breda. On the W. is the Grauier (p. 433), on the

N. the Dent du Xivolet (p. 361). — 28V2 M. Ste-Helene-du-Lac.
The village, on a lake, is 2 M. to the right.— We cross the Isere;

good view of the valley and of Mont Blanc.— 3OY2 ^I- Montmelian,
on the Chambery and Modane line (p. 361).— 33 M. Chignin-les-

Marclies (p. 361). We have a last glimpse of the Granier on the

left. — 3872 M. Chambery (p. 359).

II. From Grenoble to Chapareillan.

26 M. Electric Tramway iu 21/4-21/0 liis. (3 fr. 5 or 2 fr. 45 c). Circular
tickets, allowing return bv railwav from Chignin-les-Marches (see above and
p. 4.S1), 10 fr. SO, 8 fr. 85," 5 fr. 60 c— This line, on the right bank of the
Vallee du Graisivaudan (p. 431), overlooks the plain and the Isere, and
affords a splendid survey of the Belledonne and Sept-Laux groups. At
places the view extends to the Vanoise glaciers and Mont Blanc.

Grenoble, see p. 408. The cars start from the P.L.M. station

(PL A, 3,4) and call at the Place Xotre-Dame (PL F, 2). We cross

the Isere by the Pont de Vile- Verte.— 1^/4 M. La Tronche (p. 415).

To the left are the convent of Moutfleury, Bouqueron, and the St-

Eyuard (p. 415). — 5 M. Montbonnot- St- Martin.— 7 M. St-Ismier

(1060 ft. ; Hot. de la Gare;. To the Emeindra via the Col de la Faita,

see p. 423; road to St-Pancrasse, see below.— 8 M. St-Nazaire. —
IOV2M. Crolles, dominated by the Dent de Crolles (see below).

—

141/2 M. La Terrasse (800 ft.; Hot. du Pont).
From St-Ismier (see above), or from La Terrasse, we may visit the

Plateau des Petites-Roches. Omn. in summer on the odd days of

the mouth from St-Ismier to La Terrasse, and back next day (7-9 hrs., incl.

halt for luncheon at St-Hilaire or St-Bernard); circular ticket from
Grrenoble 7-8fr. — From Les Eyvies, 1^/4 M. from St-Ismier or St-Nazaire,
the picturesque *Road winds up to a forest, skirts a lofty wall of rock
(splendid views), and reaches (2 hrs.) Les Mennieres (aub.), where it turns
E., and then (1/4 hr.) St-Pancrasse (3215 ft. ; Aub. Dubois; guide, Fr. Du-
bois fils). The road now crosses the plateau, backed by the precipices
of the Dent de Crolles, and passes St-Hilaire (3020 ft. ; "Hot. Touruoud)
and St-Bernard (2890 ft. ; Hot. Varvat, Pelloux), where the road forks : to

La Terrasse (8 M. from St-Pancrasse) and to Le Touvet (91/2 M. ; p. 433).

From St-Pancrasse (see above) we may ascend the Dent de Crolles
(6780 ft. ; 31/2-4 hrs.

;
guide useful, 5 fr. ; *Panorama). At (1,4 hr.) Les Men-
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uiijies (p. 432) we mouut from the auberge, to the right, to the upper
houses, and then to the (IV2 hr.) Haberts des Ayes (4905 ft.), not far from
the Col des Ayes (see below); then E., across several clefts in the limestone
rock, we reach the top in 13/4 hr. more. The ascent via the Ty-ou du
Glaz (5440 ft.), a curious, very cold cavern, is V2 Iir. longer. — From St-

Pancrasse to St-Pierre-de-Chartreuse (31/2 '""s.
; p. 422), bridle-path across

the Col du Coq (about 4590 ft.) or the Col des Ayes (5085 ft.); guide 6-9 fr.

171/2 M. Le Toiwet (900 ft.; Hot. du araud-St-Jacqaes) lies at

the foot of the Haut-du-SeuU, or Aup-du-Scieu (5960 ft.; 5 hrs.;

notice-boards) and IY2 ^^- to the X.W. of Gouceliu (onm., see p. 431).

To St-Pancrasse, see p. 432.-2372 ^^- Barraux (Hot. des Voya-

geurs), 2 M. to the W. of Poiitcharra (p. 432).

26 M. Chapareillan (935 ft. ; Hot. du Commerce, des Arts &
des Touristes, du Clraisivaudan; guide). Omn. to (47-2 M.) Poiit-

charra (p. 432) and to (S^/g M.) Chiguin-les-Marches (see p. 361).
The ascent of the Granier (6360 ft.), the northernmost peak of

the G-rande-Chartreuse range, takes 5-5V2 hrs- (with guide). Superb view,
especially E., of the Savoy Alps.

III. AUevard and Environs.

From Grenoble TO Allevard. Railway to (25V2M.)Po?2fc7i«rra(R. 591;
35-70 rain. ; 4 fr. 60, 3 fr. 10 c, 2 fr.), and tramway thence to (91/2 M.) AUe-
vard (51-56 min.; 1 fr. 40 or 85 c). — The first tramway station is (1 M.)
Pontcharra-Ville (p. 432). We follow the picturesque ValUe du Breda.
— 5 M. Detrier. Branch-line to La Rochette (Hot. Falquet), 2 M. to the
X.E., whence an omn. runs to (91/2 ^I-) Chamousset (p. 361). — 7 M. La Cha-
pelle-dii-Bard. To the Chartreuse de St-Hugon, see p. 434. — 91/2 M. AUevard.
— AUevard may be reached also by omn. from Goncelm (7 M.

; p. 431).

Hotels. In the park of the Etal)lissement: Splendid Hotel, open
June-Sept,, R. from 5, B. IV2, L- 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12, omn.
lV2fi'-; (xr.-Hot. du Pare, open June-Sept., R. from 3, B. 1, L. or D. 3,

P. from 71/2, oran. 1/2 fr. ; Gr.-H6t. du Louvre, P. from 8 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. des
Plantas, P, from 7 fr. — Hot. de France & des Alpes, P. from 9 fr.; Hot.
du Commerce, Rue des Fosses, P. from 6 fr. ; Hot. du Dauphine, Av. des
Bains, open from 1st June to 15th Oct., R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. or D. 21/2)

P. 6-8, omn. 1 f r. ; Hot. Continental & du Chalet, Rue de la Croix-Blanche,
R. from 2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. 7-10, omn. 1/., fr. ; Hot. Victoriu-Bellevue,
Av. de la Plauta, open from 15th May to 15th Oct., L. or D. 21/2, P- 5-6V2 fr-

— Many Villas and Furnished Houses.
Etablissement. Subscription for mineral water 14, bath IVrSVa f''.,

douche 1 fr. 5 to 2 fr, 50 c.

Casino. Subscription for 21 days 25, fortnight 20, 10 days 15 fr.

Guides. Fr. David, of AUevard; Jean S(iraphin Baroz fils and Jean
Rey, of La Ferriere (p. 4.34). —Tariff (3 rates, the lowest for the easiest
excursions, comp. p. -448). Rate I: Per day, guide 7, porter 5 f r. ; IV2 day,
11 and 7 fr.; 2 days, 14 and 9 fr. Rate II: Per day, 10 and 6 fr.; IV2 day,
13 and 8 fr.; 2 days, 16 and 10 fr. Rate III: Per day or IV2 day, 15 and
10 fr. ; 2 days, 18 and 12 fr. Return-fees 2-7 fr.

Carriages, Hokses, Donkeys, see bills. Saddle-horse about 3, donkey
1 fr. per hour.

Syndicat d'Initiative, Rue des Bains.

AUevard (1560 ft.; pop. 2715), on the left bank of the Breda,
ill a charming valley, has a well-managed Etablissement. The
sulphur spring (62°) is used for baths, drinking, and especially for

inhalation in the treatment of diseases of the respiratory organs.
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Adjacent is a pleasant park, with a casino. The old town is a

manufacturing place, with iron-works supplied by the mines around.

On the right bank is an 18th cent. Chdteau, in a beautiful park.

Walks (guide-boards and arrows). To the (V4 lir.) Bout dn MoJide,

the head of the Breda gorge, a little above the foiindries (V2 fr. toll), a

wooded ravine with a waterfall. —To the "W. to (1/4 hr.) La Bdtie, a

ruined mediaeval castle (view) reached by the Cotard road, diverging from
the Av. de la Planta. — To the (20 min.) Tour du Treuil (10th cent.).— To
(11/2 hr.) La Taillat (4460 ft. ; view), to the S., with the chief iron-mines.
— The view from the (2^/4-31/2 brs.) .Bra^He-i^cntwe (4040 ft.; chalet-rest.),

between the Allevard and Graisivaudan valleys, is shut out by trees. The
descent may be made by 'ramasse' or sledge (1/2 br.; 4 fr. for 2 pers.).

Excursions. To the Chartrecse de St-Hcgok, 3 hrs. N.E., by
road (carr. 20 fr.), or 21/2 brs. by bridle-path. The road leads via (1 hr.)

La C'hapelle-d u-Bard (tramway, see p. 433) and (^/4 hr.) Le Pont-de-Bens

;

the bridle-path via (1 hr. 20 min.) Montgaren (splendid view) and (1/2 hr.)

Beauvoi?-. The two routes unite above (2V2 or 2 hrs.) the Font du Liable,
260 ft. above the Bens. In 1/2 hr. more we reach the Chartreuse
de St-Hugon (2715 ft.; aub.), founded lower down in 1175 and rebuilt

liere in 1675. Little of the once extensive buildings is now left.

To the Chalet-Hotel, des Sept-Lavx, about 9 hrs. S.
;
guide (tariff I)

unnecessary Road as far as (8^/2 M.) Le Curtillard (motor-omn. twice daily

in 1 hr.; 5,' there and back 8 fr.). On foot, 31/2 brs. to Le Curtillard and
51/2 hrs. more to the chalet-hotel.— The road ascends through beautiful woods.
To Pinsot (two inns), 41/2 M. by road, or I1/4 hr. by a path on the left bank.
Fine view of the Puy-Gris. Then, 3 M. farther, La Ferri'ere (2980 ft. ; Hot.
Tavel, plain: guides, see p. 433), and 1/2^1- beyond it, Le Grand-TMervoz
(Hot. Baroz; telephone: guides; mule to the Sept-Laux 12, to Le Rivier

26 fr.). — 8V2 M. Le Curtillard (3250 ft. ; Hot. des Bains, R. 2, L. 3, D. 1/2,

P. 5-7 fr.), with mineral baths. The Breda valley ends farther on in lofty

mountains, nota))ly the Belle-Etoile opposite, and the MauciUon (7710 ft.),

theRocher-Blanc des Sept-Laux (see below), and the Rocher-Bad oil (9565 ft.),

to the left. — The road crosses the Breda and goes on to (1/2 hr.) Le Fond-
de-France (3390 ft.), passing on the left the paths leading to the Cascade
du Pisson or d?! Fond-de-France (3/4 hr. from Le Curtillard). A bridle-path

(marked) now ascends through woods to (2 hrs.) the Chalet du Gleyzin
(5280 ft.), and there joins the path from Theys (p. 431). We cross the

effluent of the Lac Noir (short-cut to the right), pass the Chalet des Deusc-

Ruisseaux (6485 ft.), and reach the (2 hrs.) Lmc de la JJotte (7055 ft.;

left), Lac Carre (7025 ft. : right), and Lac Cotepen (7055 ft. ; right). Next,
a little to the left, is the Lac Blanc (7470 ft.); then (1 hr.) the Lac du Cos
(7160 ft.), with the Chalet-Hotel des Sept-Laux on its W. bank (open
1st July to 28th Sept.). Tlie Montagne des Sept-Laux (formerly

Montague Abimee) is a plateau with -seven lakes' encircled by rocky peaks.
The highest of these is the Rocher-Blanc des Sept-Laux (9615 ft.; *View-),

E. of Lac Blanc, ascended thence in 21/2 hrs. (guide from Allevard, tariff II;

from the Sept-Laux 5fr.). — The Pi/ramide-Lnaccessible {9o6o ft.) takes
3 hrs. (difficult; guide, tariff III). — The Pic de la Belle-Etoile (8930 ft.),

W. of the chalet-liotel, takes 1^/4 hr. only.— Beyond the inn a bridle-path

leads to (5 min.) the Col des Sept-Laux (7200 ft.), and descends past the

Iaics JejilaHj de la Come, and de la Sagne (6890 ft.), and then in zigzags
(in view of the Belledonno peaks) to the Col du Glandon road, above
(21/2 lirs.) Le Rivier-d''Allemont (p. 437).

To the Put-Gris, about 9 hrs. S.E., with guide (tariff III). Ascent
rather difficult by the old route via Pinsot and the Covibe de Gleyzin,
at. least from the Col de Comberousse (8750 ft.) to the (1 hr.) top; but
easy via Le Curtillard and the Combe de Valloire. The latter route
ascends the Combe de Valloire from Le Curtillard (see above) to (I1/2 hr.)

the Chalets de la Petite -Valloire (about 5185 ft.) and (3/4 hr.) those of
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the Grande -Vcdloi re (6025 ft.), the little Lac Blanc, the (l^/^ hr. ; left) Lac
Noir (about 7545 ft.), and the (1/2 hr.) Lac Glace (8560 ft.), in sight of the
sharply defined Puy-Gris, to the right. Then N.E. to the (1 hr.) Ool de
Valloire (9050 ft.) and the (3/4 hr.) Selle du Pmj-Gris (9115 ft.), and up
the Glacier du Puij-Gris or de Vleraus on the S. slope, skirting the foot
of the rocks, to an easy couloir; lastly up the arete to (15-20 min.) the
top. The Puy-Gris (9550 ft.) affords a splendid *Panorania, extending
N.E. and E. to Mont Blanc and the great Tarentaise peaks, S. and S.E. to

the peaks of Haut-Dauphine, X.W. to the Chartreuse, etc.

AscEST OF THE Ctrakd-Charnier, 7 hrs. E., with guide (tariff II). The
route is up the Breda valley to (1/4 hr.) ies Patassieres; then E., up the
Veyton valley; we avoid (•^/4 hr.) the first bridge (route to Pinsot, see

p. 434); but we cross the stream three times farther on. At (21/4 hrs. from
Allevard) the saw -mill of La C'hevrette (3650 ft.) we leave on the right
a path to (73/4 hrs.) La CTiamhre (p. 362) over (33/4 hrs.) the Ool de Merlet
(7525 ft.). Our route ascends in 2^/2 hrs. to the t'ol des Plagnes, at the
foot of the Petit-Charnier (6970 ft.); lastly a toilsome climb of 21/4 hrs.

to the top of the Grand-Charnier (8410 ft.), one of the chief peaks in

the range between the Isere and Arc vallej-. Extensive view. — Another
way up is direct from Allevard via the pastures of Le Collet.

The Pic du Prgne (9225 ft.) takes about 71;., hrs. (guide, tariff III),

via the (21/2-3 hrs.) Chartreuse de St-Hugon (p. 4.S4) and the (3 hrs.) Col
du Frene or de la Pierre (7875 ft.), then to the right, up the arete. Stone
signal on the top. Superb view. The peak close by, to the W., is the
Pic du Clocher-du-Frene (9175 ft.).

— "We maj- descend from the col via
Les CMrettes (4565 ft.) to La Chambre station (p. 362).

The Pic des Grands-Moulins (8190 ft.) takes about 7 hrs. (guide,
tariff II), via the (2i/2-3 hrs.) Chartreuse, the (2i/o hrs.) Chalets de la Mon-
tague d'Arvillard, and the (1 hr.) Col de la Fraiche (7155 ft.). Magnificent
view. — From the col down to La Chambre (p. 362), 4 hrs.

60. Prom Grenoble to Brianpon.

a. By Road, via Le Bourg-d'Oisans.
711/2 M. Eailway to Jurrie-Vizille, 81/2 M. in about 20 min. (1 fr. 55,

1 fr. 5. 70 c). Tramway thence, electric to Vizille and steam to Le Bourg-
d'Oisans, four times daily, 22 M. in 21/4-3 hrs. (3 fr. 90 or 2 fr. 90 c). Or
we may go bv tramway all the wav from Grenoble to Le Bourg-d'Oisans,
via Uriage (p.'417) and Vizille : .34 M. in 31/4-33/4 hrs. (4 fr. 65 or 3 fr. 35 c).—Motor Omnibus of the P.L.M. Co. (Route des Alpes, p. 340) from Grenoble
to (731/2 M.) Briancon once daily from 15th June to 30th Sept. in 10 hrs.,

incl. 3 hrs.' stay at La Grave "(back in 91/4 hrs.; fare 26 fr. 80 c), via
Le Bourg-d'Oisans (331/2 M.. in 31/2 hrs.; 10 fr. 80 c). La Grave (5 hrs.;
17 fr. 30 c), and Le Lautaret (8 hrs. 40 min.; 20 fr. 5 c); from 1st July
to 15th Sept. also additional service, stopping for the night at La Grave.
There are also during the season other motor-omn. services between
various points on this route. Omn. twice daily all the year round. •

Motor-omn. from Grenoble to St-Jean-de-Slattrienne. see p. 436.
Circular Tour. With the aid of the motor-omn. mentioned above and

on p. 446, a splendid excursion may be thus made from Grenoble to

Briangon, then to Oulx via Mont-Genevre., and back by train via Modane
and Montm^lian (see pp. 363-361, 432, 431).

Grenoble, see p. 408. To (8^2 M.) Jarrie- Vizille by railway,

see p. 439. The electric cars, in connection with the trains, ascend

a ravine of the Roniauche valley.

lOy. M. Vizille (920 ft.; Hot. Miard, L. 3 fr.; pop. 4102), an

industrial town on the HomancJie, was the Roman Vigilia, an im-
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portaut station on the military road between Italy and Vienne. The
large Chdteau (open in summer on Sun. and Thurs., 2.30 to 5.30;

adm. 1 fr.), on the site of a castle of the Dauphins, was built in 1611

by Lesdiguieres (p. 430), enlarged in the 18th cent., and restored

after two fires in the 19th century. In 1788 the deputies of the

three Estates of Dauphine held a famous meeting here, and heralded

the Revolution by demanding a national assembly. In front of the

chateau rises the Monument du Centenaire, with a statue of Im-
mortality (1888). Above the main portal is a statue of Lesdiguieres,

by J. Richier (1622). Omn. to Laffrey and La Mure, see p. 426.

151/2 M. Sechilienne (1180 ft.; Buffet and Hot. de la Gare).

The station is at the hamlet of L^lsle. The village (Hot. du Petit-

Versaillesi, with a chateau, is 1/4 hr. to the left of the station.

The Taillefer (9385 ft.), S.E., is ascended in S hrs. (guide 8-12 fr., at

La Morte). From L'Isle (see above) we cross the Romanche and ascend
S.W. to (20 min.) St-Barthelemy-de-SechiUenne (176uft.; cafes); then to

the left(E.) up a zigzag path to (li/2hr.) the houses oi Belle-Lat/ze (Slid ft.),

the farm of Bruijat ^4165 ft.), and (1 hr.) the hamlet of La Morte (4425 ft.;

chalet-hotel), to which another path comes up from Laffrey (p. 426). Then
X., through woods, to the Pre del- Dames, up the Cote des Sallieres, and
E. to the old Jfine de Broiiffier (argentiferous galena) and (31/2 hrs. from
La Morte) the Arete de Bronffier (7545 ft.). Lastly IV2 br. to the top.

Superb *View of the great peaks of this part of Dauphine, and even of

the Savoy Mts. as far as Mont Blanc. A col connects the Taillefer with
the (3/4 hr.) Pyramide, on the N.E. — We may descend N.W. to the

(31/2 hrs.) Chalets du PoursoUet (5495 ft.), and then through a fine gorge
to (13/4 hr.) Gavet (see below); or N.E., by the col just named, to the

plateau of the Lac Fourchu, E. of Poursollet, and either to Gavet or to

Onlles and La Paute, near Le Bourg-d'Oisans (p. 437), or to Omon (p. 427).

Beyond L'Isle the tramway enters the Gorge de Livet, often

devastated by the Romanche. We cross the torrent. — 18 M. Gavet.

To the Taillefer, see above. Farther on are large chemical works.

— 201/2 M. Riouperoux, with a paper-mill.
Bridle-path (red marks) to the (3 hrs. N.) Baraqne de VArselle (about

5250 ft.). Then, to the right, by the (I1/4 hr.) Lac Achard (about 6230 ft.)

to the (IV4 hr.) top of the Chamrousse (p. 418).

.221/2 M. Livet (2130 ft.; aub.), where we cross the Romanche,
lies at the foot of the Grand-Galbert (8415 ft.). Large electric

works. The gorge becomes wilder; in front rise the Grandes-

Rousses (p. 448), to the left the Belledonne (p. 449), to the right the

Taillefer (see above) and, nearer, the Cime de Cornillon (8185 ft.).

We cross the torrent; on the left is the Cascade de Baton. Farther

on we have a fine view of the Combe d'Olle, between the Belle-

donne range (left) and the Grandes-Rousses (right), and of the huge

glaciers of the latter, backed by the Etendard (p. 449).

267^ M. Rochetaillee-Allemo7it (23^5 ft.; aub.), near the hamlet

of Les Grandes-Sables, 2 M. to the S.W. of Allemont (p. 448).
From Rochetaill6e-Allemont to St-Jean-de-Maukienne via the

GoL DE LA Croix-de-Fer, 361/2 M. ; motor-omn. from Grenoble (p. 408)

from Ist July to 15th Sept. in 10 hrs. 10 min. (261/2 fr. ; to the Col du
Glandon, where a stop of 21/4 hrs. is made for luncheon, 17 fr. 85 c). —The
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road crosses the Romanche and the Eazi d^ OUe and ascends the pretty
Combe d' Olle (p. 436).— 2 M. La Fonderie-d'AlIemo7it (p. 448). Road to

the right to Oz {^U hr; p. 448).— 8 M, Le Rivier-d'AUemant (4190 ft.; Hot.
Moulin). Path to Brignoud over the Pas de la Coche, see p. 431 ; to Allevard
via the Sept-Laux, see p. 434. Farther on we pass the Cascade de Ma^tpas
and enter the defile. — 17 M. Col du Glandon (6400 ft.: chalet-hotel of

the C.A.F.\ with a superh view of Mont Blanc. Grand view also from the
Pointe de V Onillon (7990 ft.;, li/, hr. E. To the X.W. rise the Aiguilles
de I'Argenti^re (for experts only, with good guides): from W. to E.,

the Pointe de Marcien (9540 ft.), Pointe Michel (9570 ft.), Poirde Baroz
(9580 ft.), Pointe Vierge (9515 ft.), Pointe Dulong-de-Rosnay (9575 ft.),

Pointe de St-Phalle (9520 ft.), Pointe d' Olle (9465 ft.), and Pointe Reynier
(9080 ft.).— From the col our road turns S.E., leaving the road to La
Chambre (see below) on the left, and after Vg hr. it reaches the (I81/2 M.)
Col de la Croix-de-Fer (6765 ft.), with a splendid view of the glacier

of the Mont-de-Lans and the Meije, to the right, and of the Aig. d'Arves
opposite. From this col the Refuge Cesar-Durand (p. 863) is I1/4 hr. distant.
— The road then descends in three large windings into the valley of the
Arvan, in which lies (221/;. M.) St-Sorlin-d''Arves. Thence to St-Jean- de-

Maurienne, see p. 363.

From Rochetaillee-Allemont to St-Avre-la-Chambke via the Col
DU GLAJiDON, 3OV2 M., omn. from 1st July to 15th Sept. in 10 hrs. (12 fr.;

to the col, where it stops 3 hrs. for luncheon, 6 fr.); motor-omn. as far

as the Col du Glandon, sec p. 436. — To the (17 M.) Col du Glandon,
see p. 436 and above. The road forks here, our route descending to tl.e

left into the ValUe des Vilkrrds. ~23\'2 M. St-Colomban-des-Villards
(3620 ft.; Hot. du Glandon, de la Poste), a large village and rustic summer
resort.— 30Va M. St-Avre-la-Chambre (p. 362).

The cars turn S. ; in front rises the N.W. part of the Pelvoux,

with the Glacier du Mont-de-Lans (p. 452).— 2872 M. La Paute-
Ornon (p. 427). The Taillefer may be scaled from tins side, via

Guiles (4500 ft.), or l^ettor via Oruon (see p. 427).

3OV2M. Le Bourg-d'Oisans (2360 ft.; Hot. Oberland, well

spoken of, R. 21/2-IO, B. IV2, L. 31/2, I>- 4, P. 7-12 fr. ; Grand-Hotel,

R. from 3, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. 8-10 fr. ; Hot. Ramel, L. or D. 2^/2 fr.;

pop. 2624), the chief place in the Oisans district, inhabited in

Roman times by the Uceni, lies in a plain about 9 M. by 1^4 M.,

where the Romanche receives several affluents from the Pelvoux and

the Grandes-Rousses. This was once the site of the Lac St-Lau-
rent, which burst its barriers in 1219, devastating the whole valley.

Le Bourg is an admirable centre for excursions in the Pelvoux

<i:roup (see p. 448). To La Mure via the Col d'Ornon, see p. 427.

The road continues to ascend the Romanche valley and crosses

the stream. Road to Huez, see p. 448. Behind rises the Belledonne,

in front the Pied-Montet (p. 450).

331/2 M. Pont St-Guillerme (2435 ft.), at Le Clapier. The road

up the Veneon valley (p. 450) diverges to the right. The Romanche
valley becomes a wild gorge at the Ranipe des Commeres. The
houses of A'liris, apparently inaccessible, are seen high up on the

right bank.— 35 M. La Rivoire.
A road to the rigiit leads past (V4 hr.) di Roman Gateway hewn in

the rock to (3 M.) Mont-de-Lam (p. 438).

35'/o M. Le Garcin. Superb *View down the valley; tlien
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(1/2 M. farther) a very striking *View. up the Talley, of the Gorge
de VInfernetj the finest part of the route.

371/2^1- Le Freney-d'Oisans (3095 ft. ; Hot. de I'Europe, plain).

Pic de VEtendard, see p. 449. — To Ve7iosc over the Col de VAlpe,
see p. 450.— From Le Freney we may go via (1 hr.) Mont-de-Lans {A20Z ft.;

aub.; glacier, see p. 452) and the (11/4 hr.) Chalets de JliUorsol (6815 ft.)

to the (51/4 hrs.) Eefnge dn Lac-Noir (p. 452). — To the left of the La
Grave road, farther on, is (2 M.) Jlizoen (3300 ft.), a splendid point of

view; thence to the Grandes-Rovsses and St-Jean-d'Arves, see p. 449.

We enter a third narrow ravine, still wilder than the others.

To the left is the Mizoen road (see above). The gorge expands, and
we sight the towering Grand-Pic of the Meije in front.— 40 M. Le
Dauphin (3280 ft.). We cross the Romanche and enter the Combe
de Malaval, worn in the slate-rock. To the left, 2 M. farther, is

the C-ascade de la Plsse. 650 ft. high ; on the right, the Glacier

du Mont-de-Lans (p. 452), Avith its cascades. On the right are

talc-vrorks ; on the left an old lead-mine. To the right soon appear

the Bee and Pic de I'Homme, spurs of the Meije, then the Glacier

de Tabuchet.— 46 M. Les Freaux (4555 ft.). To the right, just

beyond, towers the Meije, with its glaciers. On the left is the Saut
dela Pucelle, a waterfall of 260 ft.

47 M. La Grave (about 4900 ft.; Hot. de la Meije, R. 3-6,

B. 11/4, L. 31/2. D. 4, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des Alpes, good, R. from 3,

B. 1, L. 3. D. "372 fr.), a large village, S. of which towers the Meije

(p. 455). Excursions, see p. 462.

Beyond two tunnels a short-cut follows the telegraph to the right.

49 M. Villar-d'Arene (5415 ft.; Hot. Albert, plain). Excur-

sions, see p. 462.— The road leaves the Romanche and ascends to

the left (short-cuts to the right). Fine view of the Meije to the right.

We cross meadows and ascend to the col, facing the head of the Ro-
manche valley, which turns S. Splendid view : in front, the Ecrins

(p. 455); to the right, the Roche-Meane (p. 464) and Montague des

Agneaux (p. 468) ; left, the Pic de Xeige-Cordier (p. 461). Behind

us, the Grandes-Rousses (p. 448). Short-cut to the left.

54 M. Col du Lautaret (6800 ft.), the highest point on the

route, is a favourite Alpine station, a summer and winter resort.

The Grand-Hotel des Glaciers (R. from 3, B. IV^, L. S^/^, I>- 4, P.

8-10 fr.) comprises two large chalets and an old hospice (post, tele-

graph, and telephone office). Adjacent is anAlpine garden of Grenoble

University. The site is desolate and the view limited, though very

fine towards the W. and S.W., embracing the peaks named above

and their glaciers, notably the Meije aretes, Pic Gaspard, and Gla-

cier de I'Homme. About 5 min. W. is a still finer point of view

(indicator). Rich flora in the pastures around. Road to St-Michel-

de-Maurienne, and excursions, see pp. 466. 467.

The Briangon road now descends into the Guisahe valley, with

the Pic de Rochebrune (p. 446) long in view. The view behind us

i
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is still striking. To the left is the Graud-Galibier (p. 466), to the

right are the Pics de Combeyuot (p. 466). The road to the Galibier

(p. 467) diverges to the left, 1^/^ M. from the col. The next two tun-

nels protect the road from landslips.— 59 M. Le Lauzet (5535 ft.;

Rest, de Pont-de-l'Alpe, with rooms). To Valloire xia, the Col de la

Ponsonniere, see p. 468. To the right are the Montagne des Agneaux
and the beautiful Glacier du Casset (p. 468).— 59i/oM. Les Bous-
sardes, v^ith LeFontenil on the right.— 61 M. Le Casset (4970 ft.).

To the right rises the Pic des Pres-les-Fonds (p. 468).

63 M. Le Monetier-les-Bains (4900 ft. ; Hot. de I'Europe

& des Bains, L. or D. 3, P. 6-8 fr.; Hot. Alliey, P. 5-7 fr.), on the

left bank of the Guisane, with two springs containing sulphur and
lime, and a modest Etablissement. Excursions, see p. 467.

The road gradually descends the fertile and populous valley of

the Guisane.— 64^2 M. Les Guibertes (4690 ft.). Looking back, we
have a curious view of the Doigt de la Meije (p. 455).— 68 M.
Chantemerle (4440 ft.).— 69 M. St-Chaffrey (4330 ft.). Ascent

of the Grand-Area, see p. 446.— Tl^/i M. Briangon (p. 445).

b. By RailTvay.

1351/2 M. Eailway iu 63/4-73/4 hrs. (24 fr. 40, 1« fr. 45, 10 fr. 75 c).

Grenoble, see p. 408. This railway, also the Marseilles line

as far as (687.2 M.) Veynes, is interesting on account of its engineer-

ing and scenery. It first ascends the Drac valley. Fine view, to

the left, of the Belledonne range and the peaks on the left bank of

the Romanche. Behind us is seen the Grande-Chartreuse group,

dominated, right and left of the St-Eynard, by the Dent de Crolles

and the Pic de Chamechaude. To the right of the line rises the

Moucherotte (p. 417).

5 M. Pont-de-Claix (Rest. Grattier) owes its name to a hog-

backed bridge over the Drac, built in 1611. Tramway, see p. 409
— At Jarrie, to the left, farther on, is the 15th cent. Chdteau de

Bonrepos. Beyond a tunnel is the confluence of the Drac and the

Romanche.— 87.2 M. Jarrie- Vizille, 2 M. from Vizille (reached by
the Le Bourg-d'Oisans tramway, p. 435). We cross the Romanche.
To the left, a tower (12th-13th cent.).— 12 M. St-Georges-de-

(7o?nmiers (1035 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs). Line to La Mure, see R. 58.

We cross the broad Drac, near a suspension-bridge.— 13 M.

Vif (Hot. du Nord), 1 M. to the right. Tramway, see p. 409.
The Grande-Moucherolle (7510 ft.; 6V2 hrs.; p. 424) is ascended

from Vif (with guide) via (1 hr.; omn.) Les Saillants, Pr^lenfrey (IV2 'ir-j

quarters), and the Vol des Deux-8oeurs.--Yvova. Vif to Villard-de-Lans
(p. 424), via the Col de I'Arc, 5 hrs.

Now comes the most striking part of the *Line, which ascends

rapidly in two loops. At the end of the first we see, far below us

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 28
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to the left, the viaduct, Vif, the Drac, and St-Georges. '^View of

the mountains also. We return to the Drac valley. High up, oppos-

ite, is the La Mure line (E. 58). We leave the valley by the second

loop, and, beyond a tunnel, we have the same splendid view to the

right as wb previously had to the left. Beyond the next viaduct the

Grande-2\Ioucherolle (p. 424) rises on the right, and then the Grand-

Veymont (see below).

27 M. Le Monestier-de-ClermorLt (2775 ft.; Hot. du Lion-

d'Or, de la MoucheroUe), a summer and winter resort, with a mineral

spring, lies in a grassy and pine-clad dale.

Road to (8 M.; omn.) Gresse (two inns), whence the Grand-Veymont
(see below) is ascended in 4 hrs. — Another road (omn.) leads S.E., via the
Col du Fan, the Po7it de Brian (415 ft. above the Ebron), and Oriol (with
mineral springs), to (12 M.) Mens (see below).

Beyond the next tunnel we have a glimpse, to the right, of Mont
Aiguille (see below). To the left lies the broad furrowed plateau

of the Trieves, backed by the Devoluy Mts. (p. 441).— 30 M. St-

Michel-les-Fortes (2685 ft.), l^/g M- to the E. of the village (Hot.

du Soleil-Levant, des Touristes).

Guides: Eug. Chabot, P. Chomat, A.Dumas, Cas. Joubert, S. Maurice.
The Grand-Veymont (7695 ft.), tlie highest peak of the Vercors, is easily
ascended in 4^/2-5 hrs. (guide 6-7 fr.), via the dale of the Fellas (W.), Frey-
chinet, and the Col de la Fouille (about 8170 ft.); then, X., to the top
in 11/2 hr. more. Extensive view, notably of the Grande-Moucherolle and
Mont Aiguille. We may descend S.E., past Fellas and Tresanne, to Clelles

station (see below), or to Gresse (see above).
The ascent of Mont Aiguille (6880 ft.; 5 hrs.; guide 20 fr.; rope

necessary), a huge mass of limestone rock, with precipitous sides and a

sloping grassy plateau on the top, was first made by Aut. de Ville in 1492.

The C.A.F. has provided ropes at the ditiicult points, but a steady head
and a sure foot are still indispensable. Striking view.

Beyond St-Michel there are numerous tunnels and viaducts, and

the line ascends in loops. Fine views, notably of Mont Aiguille to

the right.— 851/2 ^f- Clelles-Mens (2725 ft.; Hot. de la Gare).

Clelles lies 1 M. to the E., on the Mens road (see below).
3Iont Aiguille (see above) is ascended hence in 51/2 hrs.

From Clelles to La Mure,' 20 M., omn. three times daily to Mens
(2 hrs.; 1^/2 fr.), and once daily in summer from Mens to La Mure (21/2 hrs.;

13/4fr.).—8V2M. Mens (2620 ft.; Hot. du Liou-d'Or, Joubert), a little

town, with a school for Protestant teachers. Road E. to (19^/2 M.) Corps
(La Salette, p. 428). To the E. rises the Chdtel, or Bonnet de Calvin
(6370 ft.; 4 hrs.; tine panorama). Road to Le Monestier-de-Clermont, see

above. To the S.E. rises the Obiou (p. 428; dangerous from this side).

—

The La Mure road runs N., then forms a great bend to the W. (short-cut
to the right).— 20 M. La Mure (p. 426).

From Clelles to Chdtillon-en-Diois, see p. 497.

More tunnels and viaducts.— 41^/2 M. St-Maurice-en-Trieves
(3220 ft.; Buffet; Hot. des Voyageurs). To Treminis and the Obiou,

see p. 428. The Trieves ends in a wooded gorge. ^46^/2 M. Col
de la Croix-Haute-Lalley (3825 ft.), the highest point on the

line.— 51 M. Lus-la-Croix-Haute (3325 ft.; HOt. du Touring-

Club, de la Poste). To Chatillon-en-Diois. see p. 497.— As we

i
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near the Devoluy the sceuery becomes more and more drear}-

owing to tlie havoc wrought by landslips and torrents since the

destruction of the timber. The chief peaks are the Obiou (9165 ft.),

the Grand-Ferrand (9060 ft.), and the Pic de Bure (8900 ft.).

To the Obiou aud Pic de Bure, see p. 428 and below.— The Grand-
Ferrand (9060 ft.) takes 8 hrs. from Liis. We ascend the VaUon du
Trahuech or de la Jarjatte to the Granges des Forets or to La Baraque
(about 4260 ft.; carr. in V-j^ hr.). Thence through woods, pastures, and
rocks to (2 hrs.) the little Lac de Ferrand (6400 ft.) and the (V2 br.)

Col de Charnier or de Ferrand (7150 ft.), on the right of the Petit-

Ferrand, or Tete de Lauzon (8510 ft.). We pass (1 hr.) between the
Ferrands, and reach the top after a^toilsome climb of l^U hr. Splendid
*View, especially X.E. to Mont Blanc, and of the Pelvoux to the E.

The train descends into the valley of the Buech.-— 06^/2 M.
St-Julien-en-Beaachene or Bochaine (302-5 ft. ; Hot. des Alpins,

Bermond). Good road to the (3 M. to the N.E.) ruined Chartreuse
de Durban (4070 ft.).— 64 M. Aspres-sur-Buech (2495 ft.; Hot.

Malaterre). To the right is the Die line. We next enter the valley

of the PeUt-Buech, leaving the Marseilles line on the right.

681/2 M. Veynes (2670 ft.; Buffet-Hotel Terminus, good, L. or

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Dousselin, de la Gare; pop. 2460), junction for Digno
and Marseilles (Routes 63, 70) and for Die and Livron (p. 497).

Prom Veynes to Corps, see p. 428.— Eoad S.E. to (about .3 hrs.)

Chdtillon-le-Desert (4335 ft.), whence we may ascend the Pic de Seiize
or Ceuse (6625 ft.; 23/,, hrs.). Fine view; rich flora. Descent to La
Roche-des-Arnauds (see below).

The Gap line continues to ascend the Petit-Buech valley; views
chiefly to the right. To the left rises the Pic de Bure, to the right

the Pic de Seiize (see above). —72 M. Montmaar, VJ^ M, to the

left, with an old chateau.

The Pic de Bure (8900 ft.; view) is ascended in 6-61/2 brs., with guide.

76 M. La Roche-des-Arnauds (3070 ft. ; hotel). To the left is

the Montague de Charance (6240 ft.), then the Chaillol-le-Vieu\

(p. 430).— 787-2 ^I- La Freissinouse. We cross a viaduct of two
stories, 170 ft. high, and descend rapidly. Fine views to the right.

841/2 M. Gap (2425 ft. ; Buvette; Hot. des Negociants, R. from 2,

L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 8V2 fr.; Hot. du Nord, R. from 2V2, L. 3,

D. 31/2? P- fi'om 8 fr. ; Syndicat d'Initiative, 43 Rue Carnot;

pop. 10,647), the Vapincum of the Romans, lies on 'the Luye, a

tributary of the Durance. It suffered much in the Religious Wars,
was ravaged by the plague in 1630, and burned down by Victor

Amadeus II. of Savoy in 1692. The Av. de la Gare leads to the Av.

d'Embrun and the Pepiniere, a public garden, with the Musee
Departernental (Sun. and Thurs. 2-5, in winter 1-4).

The Av. d'Embrun next leads to the Place Ladoucette, with a

statue of Ladoucette (d. 1848), prefect of the Hautes-Alpes. The
Rue Carnot, to the left, skirts the old town, passing the Post (Jffire

(No. 26;. The Rue de TOdeon, farther on to the right, leads to tiie

9ft*
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old Eveche (now military offices) and the modernized Cathedral,

with fine marble columns.
The Puy-yiaure (2965 ft.), Va lir. X., affords a good survej- of the town.
Motor-omu., in Julj--Sept., daily in 3 hrs. (7, return 13 fr.) to Pruni'eres

and Barcelonnette (see below). — From Gap to Corps (La Salette), La
Mm-e, etc., see R. 58; to Orcieres, see p. 430.

To the S. (81/2 M. ; omn. in I1/4 hv., 1 fr. 60 c. : carr. 10-20 fr. ; or on foot,

via Chateauvieus, ei,'., M.), on the road to (35 M.) Sisteron (p. 473), is Tallard
(Hot. des Negociants), on the right bank ot the Durance, -R-ith a picturesque
ruined *C'astle (15th-16th cent.), burnt down in 1692, but well preserved
in part. Custodian on the right of the entrance.

From Gap to Remoli.on, 121/2 M., omn. daily in 21/2 hrs. (1^/2 fr.).

— 91/0 M. Valserres. We then (IV/M.) join the road through the Durance
valley^ 5 M. to the E. of Tallard (see above).— 121/2 M. BemoUon (2215 ft.;

Hot. Barneaud). Near the church are a number of curious earth-pyramids
•eolonnes coirtees'), known as Monjoujes, or Demoiselles. In the dale of

the torrent of Vallauria, behind the village of The'/is, 21/2 M. from Remollon,
is a still more remarkable group of these pyramids, the so-called Salle

de Bal des Monjoujes.

90 M. La Bdtie- Neuve-le-Laus (^2805 ft.). At La Bdtie-

Neuve (Hot. du Siecle) is a ruined chateau of the Bishops of Gap.

Omn. in 17-2 ^r. (IV2 fr.) to Xotre-Dame-du-Laus, a pilgrim-resort

in a valley to the S., where the Virgin is said to have appeared in

1664.— 94^2 M. Chorges (2815 ft.; Hot. des Alpes), an ancient

village, once the capital of the Caturiyes.
To the N.E., 51/2 hrs., is the Roc de Chabrieres (7890 ft.). At its N.W.

base is a curious 'lapiaz' (p. 376), the Oucane de Chabrieres (with guide).

We descend rapidly, with the Durance on the right.— 99 M.
Prunieres (2415 ft. ; hotel). Omn. to (IO72 M.) Remollon (see above)

;

motor-omn. to Seyue, see p. 474; to Gap, see above. Continuation

of the Briancon line, see p. 444.

From Prunieres to Barcelonnette, 251/., M. omn. daily in 4 hrs.

(31/2 fr.); motor-omn.. in July-Sept., twice daily in 2 hrs. 50 min. (5, return

9 fr.). Railway being built.

The road enters the Vallee de VUhaye at (8 M.) Ubaye (Hot.

Derbez). — 13 M. Le Lauzet (Hot. Miolan, de France).— 18 V2 M.

Revel, opposite Meolans. with a fine 'marmite de geants'.

25 Y2 ^^- Barcelonnette (3715 ft.; Hot. du Nord, des Alpes,

both good, L. 2V2, D. 3 fr.; Hot. du Cheval-Blanc, plain; Syndicat

d'Initiative; pop. 2532), in a pretty valley on the right bank of

the Ubaye, was founded in 1231 by Raymond Berenger, Count of

Provence, of the house of Barcelona. Alternately owned by Savoy

and France, it was finally acquired by the latter at the Peace of

Utrecht (1713) in exchange for Casteldelfino (p. 470). Probably

no town suffered so much in the frontier wars as Barcelonnette.

Many of the inhabitants descend to the plains in winter to carry

on various crafts, and others emigrate to Mexico or elsewhere in

America. The Tour Cardinalis is of the 15th cent.; the fountain

has a bust by David d'Angers. There are several liandsome houses

on the E. side, where is also the small Masee Chahrand.
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Around are picturesque mountains, as yet little known, but offering

tiue excursions, lu the chain which separates the Ubaye valley from that
of the Durance, N., are the Grand-Berard (9995 ft.; 6 hrs.), the highest
peak, opposite Barcelonuette; to the right, the Tete de Crottes, or Petit-

Vlausis (9635 ft.); on the left, the Tete dii Petit-Parpailloix, or Grande-
Eperviere (9480 ft.); behind, the Grand-C'omhal (p. 445), etc. In the
N.E. chain, beyond which is Larche (p. 444), rise the Tete de Cugnrct
(9530 ft.), Tete du RoucTias-Grand (9970 ft.), etc.

From Barcelonnette a picturesque road leads through the Bachclard
valley, past Uvernet (see below) and Fours (5445 ft.), to the Col de la
Cayolle (p. 580). — To Digne, see p. 474. — To Briangmi or Nice by the
Route des Alpes, see p. 341.

From Barcelonnette to Allos (Cobnars, St-Andre-de-3Ieouilles),
22 M. (sliort-cuts for walkers); motor-omn. from 1st Julv to 15th Sept.
(to the Col d' Alios in P/4 hr., 7 fr. ; to Colmars 15 fr. 40 c.).— The road,
a section of the Route des Alpes (p. 341), ascends the valley of the Bache-
lard, an affluent of the Ubaye (to the left lies Uvernet)^ and winds high
above the Gorges de la Mahnie. The country is picturesque but almost
uninhabited.— From (7 M.) Les Agneliers-Bgs we may ascend \.hQ Roc de
la Grande-Seolane (9545 ft.; 4»,2 hrs. W. ; view; guide 4 fr.).— Xear the
(121/2 M.) Col de Valgelaye or d' Alios (7380 ft.) is a Refuge National;
striking view of the Seolane. Then a descent in windings to the valley
of the Verdon.— 151/2 ^I- Chalet-Refuge (6400 ft.). -- 17 M. La Foux (5445 ft.

:

aub.). — 22M. Alios (4675 ft.; Hot. du Midi or Pascal, well spoken of,

R. from 1, L. or D. 2V-i, P- from 5 fr.), an old village, once a fortified town,
S. of the Rochegrande (7915 ft.), is a summer resort. To Colmars and
Thorame-Haute, see p. 580. Grand excursion to (3 hrs. E.; guide 3'/^, mule
6 fr.) the Lac d'Alios (7340 ft. ; refuge, kev at fisherman's), dominated by
the Grande-Tour (9005 ft. ; IV2 hr.). To the N. rises Moiit Peld (10,015 ft.

;

3 hrs.). From the lake we may go over the Col de VEncomhrette and
down the valley of the Eijssanet, via Clignon-Haut and Clignon-Bas, to

(4 hrs.) Colmars (p. 580). To Esteng, see p. 579.

From Bakcelonnette to St-Pavl and Maljasset, 221/2 M., a section
of the Route des Alpes (p. .341); omn. in 2i/^ hrs. (2fr.). — 5M. Jausiers
(4060 ft.; Hot. Meyran), a pretty place. — 8 M. Cmidamine-Chatelard
(4290 ft.; hotel). Road to Embriin, see p. 445. Farther on is the Fort
Tournoux (5645 ft.), partly hewn in the rock.— 9 M. Gleizollcs. wliere the
Larche road diverges to the right (see p. 444).— 131/2 M. St-Paul-sur-
Ubaye (4825 ft.; Hot. des Etrangers, R. 2, L. or D. 3, P. 6 fr. ;

guide,
P. Agnel), with quarries of green marl)le. To the E. rise manv peaks of

10,000 ft. The Brec du Chamheyron (11,115 ft.) is ascended in'7i/..,-8 hrs.,

with guide, via the *Po7it du CMtelet, Fouillouze {2 hrs.; 6075 ft.), "and the
Col de la Gipviera (9575 ft.). To Guillestre, see p. 469.-- Beyond (1"V2M.)
St-Antoine the valley narrows. — 221/0 M. Maljasset (6265 ft.; Aub.
Andre) has quarries of green marble. "A little beyond it is the parish-
church of Mai/rin. To Guillestre and the Vallee dii Guil, see p. 469. To
the S. a path leads over the (21/2 hrs.) Col de JMary or de Maurin (871(i ft.")

to (21/0 hrs.) Saretto (p. 444). To the S.E. rises the Pninte Basse de Mary
(10,265 ft.; 31/2-4 hrs.; easy), an admirable point of view. The Aignilie
du Chambeyron (11,155 ft.; 7 hrs. S., view) is dilficult.

The path, continuing up the vallev, passes (1/4 lir.) Combe-Bremond,
the (1/4 hr.) Lac du Paroir or Prarouart (6715 ft.), Le Gd (1/4 hr.), and,
to the left (35 min.), Les Blavettes, and reaches the i'ol de Loiiget (8905 ft.

;

31/2 hrs. from Maljasset; refuge). Descent in 41/4 hrs. to Casteldelflno
(p. 470). Fine view of Monte Viso. To the left, on tlie Italian side of
the col, we may reach (I1/2 hr.) tlie Col Blanchet (p. 470), with a grand
view of the Pelvoux and Monte Viso. Descent to St-Veran, 2'/2 hrs., see

p. 470. To the N.E. of the Col de Longet rises the Tete des Toillies or
Touailles (10,430 ft.), or La Niera, a curious tower of dark green serpen-
tine, which experts may scale in 1 lir. To tlie riglit, 1/2 M. beyoiuf Le
'ia (see above), we may reach (I'/a hr.) tlie Cabane de Rubrcn {1120 ft.),
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whence we may scale the Qrav.d-Riihren or Rebrent (10,960 ft.; 3 his.;

superb *View). Still finer *View of Monte Viso and the plain from the

:\Io7it Salsa (10.910 ft.). 40 min. E. of the Grand-Eubren. The Pointe de
la Font-Sancte {-p. 469), 5 hrs. E. of Maljasset, is not difficult. To the

S.E. of Le Ga a path, ill-defined in part, leads over the Col de Lantaret
or de Chabriere (9425 ft.), in 8 hrs., to Casteldelfino (p. 470).

From Barcelonkette to Larche, IBM., omn. in 4 hrs. (2 ir.).— To
(9 M.) GleizoUes, see p. 443. Then a steep ascent, E., in the valley of

the tfhayette.— 12 M. Meyronnes [o^-ib f\.; Hot. .Jpan, des Alpes). To the

S. lies the Foret de la Sijlve. at the foot of the Tete du Eouchas-Grand
(p. 443); to the X. rise the Courbe (10,120 ft.) and the Ourse (10,050 ft.).

— 16 M. Larche (5570 ft. ; Hot. de la Paix). A path leads X.. passing near
the Batterie de Viraysse (9120 ft.), the highest inhabited spot in France,
to (31/2 brs.) the Col du Saidron (8820 ft.; refuge). Path less distinct on
the Italian side. We may descend to (21/2 hrs.) Saretto. then by a road
through the prettj' valley of the 3/«iiro to Pj-osso (3380 ft.; inn). — From
Larche to St-Etienne-de-Tinee (p. 578). 8V4hrs., by a rough path, diverg-
ing at (V2 -^l^O ^lalhoisset from the main road; then through the grassy
Vallee du Lauzaniei\ with its rich flora and two prettv lakes, and
across the Pas de la Cavale (8765 ft.), E. of the Encha.^traye (9695 ft.).

Beyond Larche the road ascends to the (3^/4 M.) Col de la Madeleine
(6550 ft. ; chapel), called also Col de VArgentiere on the French side and
Col de Larche on the Italian, famed for the passage of the French army
in 1515, before the Battle of Marignano. On the Italian side we may
descend (461/2M. ; omn.) bv a beautiful road to Ctmeo (see Baedeker's
K. Italy).— To the N.E. of the col rises the Pointe de la Signora (9120 ft.);

behind it lies the pretty dale of the Ormiaye, with the (2 hrs.) Col de
Riibnrent (8270 ft.), dominated on the X. by the beautiful Tete de Moyse
(10,205 ft.; 51/0 hrs. from Larche, not very difficult; superb view).

CoNTiyrATio>' OF THE Brianqon Line. Beyond Prunieres (p. 442)

we follow the right bank of the Durance.— IO21/2 M. Savines

(2515 ft.; Hot. Tavan; guides), on the left bank, at the foot of the

Grand-Morgon (7630 ft.; 6 hrs.. with guide). To the E. (5 M.) is a

12th cent, church, the sole relic of the Abbaye de Boscodon.

108 M. Embrun (2860 ft.; Hot. de France & Thouard, R. 2-

21/2, L- or D. 21/, fr.; Hot. Modane, L. or D. 3-3^/otr.; Hot. de la

Poste; Syndicat d'Initiative; pop. 3556), once fortified, stands on a

rock overlooking the Durance, at the foot of Mont St-Guillaume. It

was the Roman Ebrodunum. and under Hadrian the capital of the

Maritime Alps, later an archiepiscopal see. It was sacked several

times by the barbarians; in the middle ages it was often at variance

with its archbishops; in 1585 it was captured by Lesdiguieres, and

in 1692 retaken by Victor Amadeus II. of Savoy. Monument to the

poet Clovis Hugues (1852-1907). The Cathedral of Notre-Dame
(12th cent.) has a fine tower (restored), a 13th cent, facade, and

a curious N. portal with a porch of pink marble columns. In the

interior is a 15th cent, organ-case. In the sacristy are a Madonna,
presented by Louis XI., and ornaments of the 16th-18th centuries.

— The adjacent Tower is of the 11th century. A little farther on

is a terrace overlooking the Durance.
Mont St-Guillaume (8620 ft.). 51/2-6 hrs. X.W., is ascended by road

to (1 hr.) Caley'ere (about 3775 ft.), then by a bridle-path to the (41/2 hrs.)

Chapelle St-Gnillaume (8345 ft.). View from the (V4 br.) top inferior to
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that from the chapel.— The TSte de V Hivemet (9260 ft.), 61/2 hrs. from
Emb'run, is ascended via the (3 hrs.) Refuge de VAiguille (5815 ft.; keeper).

From Embrun to Condamine-Chatelard, 271/2 M., road steep and bad
in places, through the Vallec du C'revoifx.— 81/0 M. C'revoiix.— 16 M. Tunnel
du Parpailloii (about 8430 ft.), 500 yds. long, under the Col de Parpaillon
(about 9105 ft.), between the Grcmd-Combcd, or Lombard (9830 ft.; 3/4 hr.),

and the Grand-Parpaillon (9445ft.).—We then descend the Vollee du Par-
paillon to (271/2 M.) Condamine-Chdtelard (p. 443).

1151/2 ^i.'St-CUment To the N.E. (2 M.) are the small baths

of Plan-de-Phasy. We cross the Durance. View of Mont-Dauphin
to the right. To the left rises the Pointe de Fouran (8695 ft.).

II8V2 ^^- Mont-Dauphin-Guillestre (2935 ft.; Hot. de la

Gare). Mont-Daiqjhin is a village on a hill at the junction of the

Durance and Guil valleys, fortified by Vauban in 1693. View
of the Pelvoux. To Guillestre and the Vallee du Guil, see R. 62.

The Durance valley again contracts.— 1231/^ M. La Roche-de-
Rame (two inns), with chemical works.

To the N.E. is the (41/2 brs.) Lac de VAscension (7560 ft.), in a tine

cirque. To the left opens the Vallee de Freissi7iieres, where the persecuted
Waldensians long lived in dire misery. A road ascends vifi (I1/4 hr.)

Pallon to (2 hrs.) Freissinieres (3910 ft.; aub.), high above the Ahimes
de Confourenc, gorges of the Biaisse. We may ascend the Pic Felix-

Neff (10,510 ft.; 8 hrs. W., fairly easy, but stony), via (2 hrs.) the fine

Cascade de Dourmillouse, and the Tete de Va/disse (10,875 ft. ; 7 hrs. S.W.).

1271/2 M. L'Argentiere-la-Bessee (3200 ft.; Hot. Gerard,

at La Bessee-Basse; Hot. de I'ludustrie, de la Gare, both near the

station). Motor-omn. to Vallouise, see p. 458. UArgentiere, to the

left, owes its name to its mines. The church (15th cent.) has inter-

esting frescoes. At La Bessie, to the right, are aluminium-works.

The line ascends rapidlv through a rocky defile. Glimpses of

the Pelvoux to the left.— 132Vo M. Prelles (3780 ft.; p. 458).

1351/2 M. Briangon. —The Station (restaurant) is at Ste-Catherine
(3950 ft.), 20 min. from the upper town. Omu. 50 c. each pers. or trunk.

Hotels. Grand-Hotel, half-w.iy up, R. from 31/4, B. IV4, L. 3V2, D- ^Va,
P. from 10, omn. Va^r-! Terminus-Hotel & Buffet, well spoken of, R. from 3,

L. 3 or 4, D. 4. P. from 81/2 fr. ; Hot. Modeii^e, Place Ste-Catherine; Hot.
de la Paix, in the upper town, plain, R. 2»/2, li. 21/2, D- 3 fr.

Post & Telegraph Office, Place des Remparts.— Syndicat d' Ini-

tiative, at the Hotel de Ville.

Briangon (4335 ft.
;
pop. 7888), the Roman Brigantio, a fortress

of the first class, lies picturesquely above the confluence of the

Guisane and Durance. The streets, with their runnels of clear

water called 'gargouilles', are narrow and often too steep for car-

riages. The Haute Ville, nearly 400 ft. above the station, has a

triple enceinte of walls, and the heights around are crowned with

twelve forts (cameras forbidden). Those on the left bank are con-

nected with the town by the bold *Pont d'Asfeld, built in 1734
and consisting of a single span, 130 ft. wide and 185 ft. high. Fine

view from the bridge and also froni the Place de la Paix, reached

from the station by tlie Av. de la Gare, Av. de la R6publique, and

Porte d'Enibrun.
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ExcuRsioKS. To the Pont Bdldy (see helow), 1 br. on foot (carr.

5-10 fr.)--- A road, S.W. from the station, ascends to (31/2 M.) Puy-St-Pierre

(5115 ft.; view; carr. 5-10 fr.). Path thence to {^^j^'iirs.) Notre-Dmne-des-
Neiges (7535 ft.), a pilgrimage-shrine; then 1 hr. more to the top of the

Prorel (8440 ft.; view).— To the N. (5 M.; carr. 15-20 fr.) rises the Croix
de Toulouse (6475 ft.; view; indicator), above the Salettes redoubt. Still

higher is the (2 hrs. more) Signal de St-Ohuffrey (8430 ft.; giddy path).

The *Grand-Ar6a (9410 ft.), aST.W., offers a superb panorama. We
follow the Col de Granon road (to the right from the Le Lautaret road,

1/2 M. beyond St-Chaffrey, p. 439) to the ChajJeUe St-Joseph (7035 ft.

;

21/2 hrs.' drive), and then a narrow path to the (21/2 hi's.) top.

From BrianQon by the Route des Alpes to Grenoble or St-Jean-de-

dlavrienne. or to Barcelonnette (Nice), see pp. 340, 341.

From Briancon to Vallouise, see p. 458.

Froji BRIAK90N TO Abries, 28 M.; motor-omu. as far as Aiguilles (Route

dv^s Alpes), see p. 341 ; thence to Abries in 1/4 hr. (V4 fr.) by the motor-

omn. coming from Guillestre (see p. 469). — We cross the Durance by the

Pont de Ste-Catherine, and ascend in windings (short-cuts). [A road to

the right, beyond the bridge, leads to (2 M.) Villar-St-Pancroce (4090 ft.),

whence a path leads to Chateau-Queyras, 71/2 hrs. from Briangon, crossing

the Col des Ayes (8200 ft.), and rejoining the road at Brunissard (see below).]

The third bend of our road passes through Fond-Christiane and near the

Fort du Randouillet. About 300 yds. from the octroi-office a road to the

right crosses the Cerveyrette by the *Pont Baldy or de la Mort, 260 ft.

high. Our road ascends the valley of the Cerveyrette to (6 M.) Cervieres
(5315 ft.; aub.; guides); excursions, see below. Fine view of the Areas
range (p, 461). The road now turns S. (short-cut) to (1/2 hr.) Le Laus
(5675 ft.), the (1 hr.) Chalets d'Izoard, a (20 min.) Refvge National (aub.;

7545 ft.), amid great forests, and the (121/2 M.) Col d'Izoard or /coword
(7835 ft,), between the Arx^elin (8525 ft,; left) and the Clot de la Cime
(8970 ft,; right),— 16 M, Brmiissard (5855 ft.; see above), in the valley

of the Riviere.— \1 M. La Chalp, home of the devoted Protestant pastor

Felix Neff Cd. 1829).— About 21/2 M. beyond (171/2 M.) Arvieux we join

the road from Mont-Dauphin-Gui'llestre (Route des Alpes, see p. 341) and
reach (2OV2 M.) Chdteau-Qneyras (p. 470). Thence via (241/2 M.) Aiguilles

to Abries, see pp. 470, 471.

[From Cervieres (see above) we may go on, up the Cerveyrette valley,

to (2^/4 hrs.) Les Fonds (6760 ft.), and then cross the Col de Peas to

Chateau-Queyras, or go straight on, by the Cnl de Jlahif. to Abries.

From Cervieres good climbers may scale the Pic de Rochebrune
(10,905 ft.; 5 hrs.; guide 9-12 fr.), via (1/0 hr.) Le Laus (see above), then
to the left via the (li/ohr.) Fontaine des Ovles (7380 ft.) and (1 hr.) the

Col des Portes (9185 ft."); lastly, with caution, over loose rocks, across a

cornice, and up a cheminee to (li/2-2 hrs.) the top. Superb *Yiew of the

Alps and the Italian plains. — The ascent mav be made also from the

Col d'Izoard (see above), across the Col Perdn (8200 ft.), down to the N.W.
end of the Casse des Ovles, then to the right, up to the (21/2 hrs.) Col

des Portes. — Descent, if preferred, S., by the Az\e of Souliers, to (3 hre.

from the col) Chateau-Queyras (p. 470).]

From Briak^on to Oulx, I81/2 M. by road. Motor-omn. from 1st July
to 15th Sept. twice daily in 2 hrs. (8fr.); omn. daily in 5 hrs. (5fr.):

carr. 20-40 fr. — We diverge to the right from the Le Lautaret road,

and follow the Durance valley, N.E., to (2 M.) La Vachette, cross the

river, and ascend in zigzags (steep short-cut). — 7^1. Mont-Genevre
(6100 ft.; hotel, R. from 2, L. or D. 3 fr.; guide, Fel. Rignon), the Roman
Moris Janus, is a village on the col of that name, which is one of the
safest passes in the Alps, l)eing open to the S. and sheltered from N.
winds. This was the route taken by many armies in remote times, but the
present road dates only from 1802, as the obelisk a little farther on records.
— The road then descends into the valley of i\ie Doire Ripjaire, or Dora
Riparia, skirting on the left the Chahe'rton (10,290 ft.), an isolated rock
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crowned with an Italian fort. — 8M. C7af?eres(5800ft. ; Alb. del Club Alpino),
with the Italian custom-house.— 121/2 M. C'esanne (4410 ft. ; Alb. del Chaber-
ton), in a pretty and fertile district. To Abries via the Col des Turres and
La Montette, see p. 471. — IS^/g M. Oidx (see Baedeker's X. Italy).

From Brian^os to Bardonecchia (Modaiie), b^j^ hrs. via the Col de
I'Echelle. or 7 hrs. via Xevache. Omn. to Nevache in 3 hrs. (3fr.^; to

Plampinet in 2 hrs. (2 fr.). Carr. to Plampinet 10-20, to Nevache 14-25,

to the Col de I'Echelle 25-35 fr. — The Xevache road diverges to the left

from the Mont-Genevre route at (2 M.) La Vachette (p. 446) and soon
enters the valley of the Clairee. — S'^jo M. Plavxpinet (4855 ft.; aub.), a

hamlet of Xevache. — 10 M. Robion (5255 ft.), where the road to the
Col de I'Echelle Csee below) diverges to the right. ("Walkers join that
road bv a good short-cut, 500 yds. short of Robion.)

N^vache (5385 ft.; Hot. Mouthon or de Xevache, P. 8 fr. ; Aub.
Faure; guide, CI. Roux). the centre of which is 1/2 hr- beyond Robion,
consists of scattered hamlets, the chief haing Ville-Basse and Ville-Ha fde
(with a 15th cent, church).— Path from Lacrru, the third hamlet, to Le
Monetier via the Col de Buffere, see p. 469.— Excursions from Xevache
to the Cascade de Fontcouverte, IV2 hr. W. ; then, 2:^/4 hrs. farther, to

the head of the valley of the Clairee (see Map, p. 437) and the Col des
RochiUes (8040 ft.); ascent, from the col, of W^q Aigmile Noire {MQO ii.;

1/2 hr.; rather difficult); on the other side we may descend to {V-U hr.) the
Galibier road (p. 467). —We may ascend also the Grand-Area (p. 446;
41/2 hrs., with guide). — Mont Thabor (p. 364; 7-8 hrs.; easy; guide 6 fr.)

is reached by the Col des Rochilles route and via the Col de Laval or
des Muandes (9190 ft.), or else via the Col da Vallrm (8615 ft.), whence
we have a deep descent into the Yallee Etroite (see below). — The bridle-
path across the (2 hrs.) Col des Thttres from Xevache to the Yallee Etroite
and Bardonecchia is 1 hr. longer, but more picturesque than the Col de
I'Echelle route. From the former col a path ascends the Aiguille Rouge.,
or Punta Rossa (8365 ft.; view).

The Col de I'Echelle, or Colle della Scala (5875 ft.), IV2 hr. from
Plampinet (see above) or l'/4 hr. from Xevache, is a grassy dale flanked
with pine-woods. Road and telegraph end at the French douane. Beyond
the frontier we descend by steps into the (^/^ hr.) pretty Valb'e FAroite,
or Valle Strctta (Mont Thabor, see p. 364). Down the valley we pass
(1/2 hr.) Melezet and (V2 hr.) reach Bardonecchia (p. 365). See Baedeker's
N. Italy. Italian time is 1 hr. in advance of French time.

61. The Pelvoux Group and Environs.
Tlie Pelvoux Group (Massif du Pelwux), so called from Mont

Pelvoux (p. 460), one of its best-known peaks though not the highest, is

the most rugged and desolate in the Alps; Whymper even called it the
most sublime. It is composed chiefly of gneiss and rose-coloured granite,
bordered with a broad zone of crystalline schists, and is bounded by the
upper valleys of the Romanche, Drac, and Durance. The main chain,
the Ecrins (p. 455) and the Meije (p. 455), forms a kind of horse-shoe
round the Yeneon valley, with ramifications, such as the Aiguille du Plat,
the Sf^guret-Foro7i, the Pelvoux, and the Sirac. In point of altitude this

group yields only to Mont Blanc, Monte Rosa, the Grand-Combin, and the
Bernese Alps, while its glaciers are surpassed only in these groups and in

some of the chains in the Engadine and Tyrol. Ascents of the hrst rank
abound, that of the Meije being the ni )st difficult.

Some information is here added regarding the neighbours of the Pel-
voux group, such as the Grandes-Rousses, the GoUmi, \\\o Aigvilles d'Arves,
and the Galibier, to the X. of the Romanche valley.

The chief centres for ascents are Le Bourg-d' Oisana (Allemont, Oz,
see p. 448), St-Christophe-ev-Oisans and La Bt'rarde, in the Y^n^on
valley (p. 451), Vallouisc (p. 459), Adcfroidc (p. 460), La Grave (p. 462),
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Villar-d'Arene (p. 4fi2) , Le Lmitaret (p. 466), Le Monetier-les-Bains

(p. 467), and La Chapelie-en-Valgaudemar (p. 429).

The Hotels and Ixxs are improving. The Club Alpin FranQais and the

Societe des Touristes dn Duuphine have contributed greatly to this progress,

and have done much to facilitate excursions, by erecting guide-posts,

refuges, and chalet-hotels.

Good Guides, generally 6-15 fr. per day, porter 5-10 fr. ; their food,

or an equivalent of 2i/2-4 ft"., is extra. The society has divided the ex-

cursions into classes, beginning with the easiest, and ending with 'courses

extraordinaires'. When the traveller does not return to the starting-point a

return-fee is due (see tariff, shown on demand). For most of the excursions
mentioned below a guide is necessary or at least useful. As guides are not

numerous, it is often best to seciu-e one beforehand. Provisions, an ice-

axe, and a rope are generally required.

Mules at the chief centres, 10-12 fr. per day, 5-8 fr. per half-day,

attendant included (see tariff).

The best map of the Pelvoux Group is by Henri Dukamel (1909:

5 fr.), four sheets on a scale of 1 : 100,000 and a general map (1 : 250,000)'.

Detailed account in 'The Central Alps of the Dauphiny', by Cuolidgey
DnhameJ, and Pernn (2nd ed., London, 1905; 7s. M.).

I. Excursions from Bourg-d'Oisans, Oz, and Alleraont.

Le Bourg-d'Oisans (p. 437) is the starting-poiut for the Pel-

voux group and for the Grandes-Rousses ; but, after our first ex-

cursion, we may, with some sacrifice of comfort, descend to Oz
(2725 ft. ; Aub." Martin) or to Allemont (about 2625 ft. ; H6t.

Leydier, well spoken of, Manin, Perratone, all at La Eonderie). Or
we may reach these villages by the route mentioned on p. 437.

—

From Allemont to St-Jean-de-Maurienne or to St-Avre-la-Chambre,

see pp. 436, 437; to the Sept-Laux. see p. 434.
Guides. Pierre Ginet, Pierre Alex. Ginet ills, and Fr. Michel, of Alle-

mont; Nic. Moliere, of Le Bessev-d'Oz. — Tariff: Rate I (see above): 1

dav, guide 6, porter 5 fr. ; I1/2 dav,"9 and 8 fr. : 2 days, 11 and 10 fr. Rate II

:

1 day 8 and 5 fr. ; IV^ dav, 11 and 8 fr. ; 2 davs, 15 and 11 fr. Rate III:

1 or 11/2 day, 16 and 11 f r. ; 2 days, 19 and 14 fr.; 2V2 days, 23 and 17 fr.

From Le Bourg-d'Oisans 2 fr. extra. Return-fee 2-7 fr.

Keys for the Refuges de la Fare and Cesar-Durand (pp. 449, 363) are

to be had from the guides or at the Mairies of Oz, Allemont, St-Jean-

d'Arves, and St-Sorlin-d'Arves.

Various excursions maybe made among the Grandes-Rousses,
starting from Le Bourg-d'Oisans, or better from Oz, where the

view is finer and the Refuge de la Fare (p. 449) nearer. These

peaks form an isolated chain, N.E. of Le Bourg-d'Oisans, and owe
their name to the reddish ferruginous limestone on their "W. flank.

On both sides there are considerable glaciers. The chief peaks are

the Etendard and the Pic Bayle (p. 449).
From Le Bourg-d'Oisass we may drive to Huez. We follow the

Briancon road, turn to the left beyond the first bridge, near the electric

works' (1/4 hr. distant, the fine Cascade de Sarennes, 130 ft. high), and
ascend in windings to (1 hr.) La Garde (3220 ft.; aub.; view) and (IV2 br.)

Huez (1910 ft.; Hot. des Grandes-Rousses; two inns). Cart-track thence
to tlie (1/2 hr.) Chalets de VAlpe and (1/3 hr.) the Ruines de Brandes
(5905 ft.; remains of huts and mines). On a height near is the Tour du
Prince-Ladre, a relic of the castle of the governor of a town of convicts
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employed in the lead and copper mines, of importance about the 13th cent,
under the Dauphins. A little farther on are anthracite-mines, where the path
ends. Turning to the left v/e soon reach (13/4-21/2 hrs. from the Chalets de
I'Alpe) the Lac Blanc {SSGO ft.), fed by the glaciers of the Grandes-Rousses.
Splendid view.— The Herpie (9825 ft.; vast panorama), one of the nearest
peaks of the Grandes-Rousses, is easily ascended from the lake in I1/2 hr.

(guide, tariif II, p. 448).— To the M. of the lake are the Petites-Ronsses
(9280 ft.). The Lac de la Fare (refuge, see below) is 11/., hr. X.

From Oz it is 41/2 hrs.' walk to the Refuge de la Fare, via (50 min.)
Le Besseii (3610 ft. ; mineral spring), the (IV4 hr.) Plan dii Seye (4725 ft.),

and the "(1 hr.) Chalet de VAlpette (6315 ft.). The Refuge de la Fare
(7550 ft.; keys, see p. 448) is 1/2 lir. on this side of the Lac de la Fare,
at the foot of the Grandes-Rousses glacier.— The Pic Bayle, or Pic Sud
(11,380 ft.; 33/4-4 hrs.), nearest the lake, presents no difficulty (guide,
tariff III). "We ascend E. to the Col de la Pyramide (11,000 ft.), S. of
the peak, then mount the S.W. arete to the top. Splendid *View. —
The *Etendard, or Pic Xord (n,385 ft.; 4 hrs. from the refuge; guide,
tariff III) is fairlv easv also. We mount by the N.AV. arete, or better
by the (3 hrs.) Col de la CocheUe (9875 ft.) and the N. face. The *Pan-
orama is superb. We may descend by the E. arete and the Col des Qnirlies
(about 9840 ft.; beyond which rises the Grand-Sauvage, 10,600 ft.); then
S.E., by the Glacier des Qnirlies, down the Vallee du Ferrand, past
the Chcdets Auher and (3V4 hrs.) Gourand, via Perron, Clavans-d'' en-Haut
(4574 ft.; inn), Clavans-d' en-Bas, and (H/4 hr.) J//2oe« (p. 438), to (3/4 hr.)

Le Freney (p. 438); about 6 hrs. in all. Or we may turn to the N.E. at

the foot of the Glacier des Quirlies and cross the Col de la Valette
(7380 ft.) to St-Jean-d'Arves (6 hrs.

; p. 363). Or, at the foot of the arete,
we may go to the right, via the Glacier de St-Sorlin, to the Refuge
Cesar-Durand (p. 363).

The Pics de Belledonne may be ascended from Allemont,

Oz, or Le Bourjr-d'Oisans, the night being spent at the Refuge de

Belledonne (see below).
These peaks are more usually ascended from Uriage and the Chalet

de la Pra (see pp. 418, 419). — The *Croix de Belledonne (9555 ft.) takes

5-5V2 brs. from Allemont (guide, tariff II). We follow the Col du Glandon
route nearly to the brook of Le Mollard (about 1 hr.), tlien ascend a patli

to the left, past Le Mollard, to (2 hrs.) the Refuge de Belledonne (7105 ft.),

near the Lac de Belledonne (view). Then a steep snow-couloir to (1 V^-^ hrs.)

the Col de Belledonne, where we join the route from La Pra (p. 419), 1/2 lir.

from the top. An easier way up is by the Vallee du Baton and the Col
de la Grande-Lance-d'Allemont.— The Grand-Pic de Belledonne (9780 ft.

;

3 hrs.; difficult; guide, tariff III), ascended from the refuge by the left

side of the large couloir on the E. face (see p. 419). — The Grande-Lance
d'Allemont (9330 ft.; 51/2 hrs.; guide, tariff III), W. of Allemont, pre-
sents no serious difficulty. We ascend for 31/4 hrs. over pastures and a

small glacier to the Col de la Portette; ^U hr. more to the foot of the p^k,
and IV4 hr. to the top, by couloirs on the W. and N. sides. Glorious
Panorama, finer than from the Belledonne. Descent N.W. to the (2^/4 hrs.)

Chalet de la Pra (p. 419), or S. to Livet (p. 436; 41/2 hrs.). The descent
to Livet is by the (12/4 hr.) Col de la Portette, then past the old silver-
mines of (3/4 hr.) Chalanches and the (IV4 hr.) Cascade du Baton.

We may ascend also via Le Rivier-d'Allemmit (p. 437), the Sejyt-Lnux
(p. 434), or the Aiguilles de V Argentihrc (p. 437).

To the Signal de Pr^gentil (6380 ft.; view), W. of Le Bourg-
d'Oisans, and back, 71/4 lirs.: to the S. via La Gardette (4230 ft.; gold-
mine) and (2V2 lirs.) VUlard-Notre-Dume (5085 ft.); tlien N.W. via (IV4 hr.)

Yillard-Reymmid (auli.) to (1 lir.) the top; descent to Le Bourg-d'Oisans
in 21/2 hrs.— From Villard-Notre-Dame the Grand-Rochail, culminating
in the lie de Malhaubtrt (10,070 ft.; guide 12 fr.), is scale<i in 5 hrs., via
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the (2 hrs.) C'abane dn Loson. the (3/4 hr.) W. end of the Glacier de Villard-

Notre-Dame, and the (21/4 hrs.) Col dn Rochait (10,005 ft.).

To the Lac Lanvitel, see below.— To the Taillefer, see p. 43fj.

From Le Boukg-d'Oisaxs to St-Cheistophe and La Berarde,

12^0 and lO^/g M., 5 and 8Y9 hrs.' walk up the valley of the Yeneon,

which falls into the Eonianche higher up. Carriage-road, diverging

from the La Grave road beyond ('3 M.) Pont St-Guillerme (p. 43?)

and ending at Champhorent; then a bridle-path to La Berarde (road

under construction).

Omn. from Le Bourg-d'Oisuus, 1st July to 15th Sept., meeting the first

morning cars, to St-Christophe iu 4 hrs. (5fr.); motor-omn. to Le Bourg-
d'Arud in 1 hr. (3 fr.). Mule from St-Christophe to La Berarde 10 fr.

Bridle-path on the left bank, saving 1/2 hr.. but not alwaj's practicable,

via Les Gauchoirs (see below), joining the road at Les Ougiers.

The *Vallee du Veneon, one of the most beautiful in Dauphiue,

runs far up into the Pelvoux group and affords splendid views.

Looking back from its entrance we have a fine glimpse of the Belle-

donne (p. 449). Facing us, beyond the bridge, rises the Grand-

Rochail (p. 449), with the glacier of Villard-Notre-Dame. "We

skirt the Pied-Montet (7670 ft.) on the left.— 6 M. Les Ovgiers,

a hamlet with a bridge over the Yeneon, where the road is joined

by the bridle-path from Le Bourg-d'Oisans (see above).

About 1/0 ^I- to the W. is Les Gauchoirs (2780 ft.), a hamlet on the

left bank, near a torrent descending from the Lac Lauvitel or Lovitel
(4905 ft.), a charming little lake, I1/2 hr. S.. containing salmon-trout. To
the N.E. is a Befvge (view of the Grandes-Eousses). A path skirts its E.
bank. To the S. (3\'4 hrs. from the refuge) rises the Breche de Volsenestre
(8640 ft.), between the Clapier du Peyron (10,405 ft.; difficult) and the

Tete de Lauvitel (9535 ft.), a rough pass leading to (3 hrs.) Ydlsevtstre

(p. 427). Less trying is the Breche de Lauvitel, a little to the W. of the

Yalsenestre pass.

Farther on, to the right, appears the Bocher du Perron, or

Aiguille de Venose (9230 ft.), between the valleys of Lac Lauvitel

(see above) and the Pisse.— 8 M. Venose (3440 ft.; Aub. Martin;

guide, L. J. Rochette), in a charming site to the left, trades in

plants gathered among the mountains. Opposite rises the Roche de

la Muzelle (p. 453). On the right is the Cascade de la Pisse.
From Venose an easv path (famous flora) leads via the (IV2 hr.)

Chalets de VAlpe de Venose (5290 ft.) and the (i/, hr.) Col de I'Alpe
(5445 ft.) to (3/4 hr.) Monf-de-Lans and (i/.^ hr.) Le Freiiey (p. 438).

8V2 M. Le Bourg-d'Arnd (3215 ft.; Hot. de la Muzelle; guide,

A. B. Turc), a hamlet of Yenosc.
The Vallon de la Pisse, with (31/4 hrs.i the pretty Lac de la 3Inzelle,

ascends S. to the (1^/4 hr.) Col de la Muzelle (82"00 ft.), between the

Clapier du Peyron (see above) and the Qrande-Roche de la Muzelle (p. 453).

Fine view. Steep descent to (2 hrs.) Yalsenestre (p. 427).

The road crosses the Yeneon and ascends to the Clajner de

St-Christophe, a chaos of rocks fallen from the Soreiller (7650 ft.).

In 5 min. more we cross the stream to the Plan du Lac (3580 ft.),

once a lake, and skirt its right bank. Facing us is the superb

Chaine des Fetoules (p. 453). On the right is the fine Cascade de
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VEnchdtraj between the Soreiller and the Aiguille de VEnchdtra
(8445 ft.). High up on the other side is the hamlet of that name
(p. 453).—We next ascend a steep slope, in sight of the Tete de

Laurauoure, the Aig. du Canard, and the Aig. des Arias (p. 453).

At the (^/o hr.) top St-Christophe comes into view.— About 10 min,

farther on vv^e cross the "^Pont du Diahle, and (10 min.) reach—
121/2 M. St-Christophe-en-Oisans (4825 ft. ; Hot. des Ecrins

;

post, telegraph, aud telephone), a village at the foot of the Aig.

du Plat-de-la-Selle (p. 453), a good centre for Alpine excursions

(see below). In the cemetery are buried four victims of the Meije

(p. 455).

The road to La Berarde (walk of 3^/2 hrs.) ascends in view of

ihe Fetoules (p. 453). To the right lie La Bernardiere and (^o hr.)

Pre-Clot. After 7 min. we descend to the right. Below us lies Le
Clot, at the end of the valley of the Mariande; lower still is the

waterfall, and high up is the glacier of that name. Fine view behind

us. We pass (20 min.) a small mill, below Champ-Ebran, and

(7 min.) leave on the right the Lavey path (see below). Just below

(8 min.) Champhorent we descend to the right, looking up the

Lavey valley (with the Glacier and Col des Sellettes and the Pointe

du Vallou on the left, the Aig. d'Olan on the right, and a water-

fall below). In 35 min. appears the grand Ecrins (p. 455), at the

head of the valley (right and left, the Pic Lory and Dome de Neige).

We cross two torrents. Then (V2 hr.) Les Etages (5235 ft.), a

hamlet at the mouth of the Vallon des Etages. Behind us rises tlie

Lauranoure (p. 453). Farther on we see the Ailefroide (p. 461) on

the right. We cross the Torrent des Etangons and (^/^ hr.) reach—
191/2 M. La Berarde (5625 ft.), the last hamlet, with a good

Chalet-Hotel (June-Sept.; R. 2-3, bed in the dormitory l^/o, B. V/.^,

L. 2^/4, D. 31/2? wine extra, P. 7-8 fr. ; telephone), an excellent

centre for excursions in the Pelvoux aud Meije groups. At the head
of the valley rises the Ailefroide on the left, and on the right lies

the Glacier de la Pilatte (p. 458).

II. Excursions from St-Christophe and La Berarde.

As St-Christopht! and La Berarde are not far apart, they have

several excursious in common, especially those via the (3 or S^Jo hrs.)

Refage de la Lavey (5840 ft.), in tlie Lavey valley.

Guides. 1st class: at St-Christophe, Maximin, Casimir, Joseph, and
D4vo?iassoml Gaspard (sons of Pierre Gaspard, p. 455; the second and last

skieurs), Christ. Roderon, and P. C. E. Turc; at La Berarde, Hipx>. and
J. B. Rodier, P. Richard flls; at Le Puy, Jos. Turc, the 'Zouave' ; at Les
Etages, Christ. Turc. 2nd class: at St-Christophe, Christ. Eipnard and
Alex. Gaspard; at La Berarde, J. B. Rodier flls (skieur), Jules Em. and
Pierre Rndicr, Pierre Turc; at Los iOtafrcs, Christ. Turc flls and Jos. Et.
Turc- 'V\Riyy. Rate 1 (see p. 4 IS): '/.. day, guide 4, porter 4 fr.: 1 day,
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8-12 and 8 fr. Rate II : 1 day, 15 and 10 fr. : IV2 day, 23 and 15 f r. ; 2 days,

30 and 20 fr. Rate Ilia: 1 dav, 18 and li fr. Rate Illb: 1 day, 22 and
12 fr.; 11/0 dav, 28 and 18fr.;'2 days, 32 and 22 fr. Rate IV a: I1/2 day,

30 and 20 fr. Rate IVb: I1/2 day, 40 and 25 fr.; 2 days, 50 and 30 fr. To
the Ecrins and back, 60 and 35 fr.; with descent on the other side, 80 and
45 fr.; with descent by the wall of the Glacier Xoir, 150 and 100 fr. Pic

Occidental of the Meije, S. face. 80 and 45 fr.; Pic Occidental, via the

aretes and Pic Central, 130 and 70 fr.; reduction if summit not reached.

Return-fees 4-10 fr.

a. From St-Christophe.

Besides the Refuge de la Lavey (p. 451) there are two others near
St-Ohristophe : the Refuge du Lac-Noir, 41/2 -5 hrs. X., and the Refuge
de la Selle, 4 hrs. X.E. (see below).

*T0 THE GrLACIER DU MoNT-DE-LaNS AND COL DE LA LaUZE
VIA THE Lac Noir, returning via La Selle (about 12 hrs.; tariff II).

The excursion is facilitated by sleeping at one of the refuges, pre-

ferably that of the Lac Xoir. It is 1 hr. shorter if we return the

same way, but the passage of the glacier is trying in the afternoon.

The bridle-path ascends via (20 min.) Les Pres, crosses (^4 hr.)

the Diable, and leads up the Vallon de la Selle. After y^ hr.,

5 min, short of the Chalets de la Selle (6000 ft.), we take a path

to the left and ascend in steep zigzags by the EscaUers de la

Mura. After 1/2 ^r. we turn to the left to the brook of La Mura.

and mount to the right to the arete and (3\/o hrs. from St-Christophe)

the Breche de la Mura (about 9350 it.), N.E. of the Tete du
Toura (9575 ft.; 2/4 hr. from the refuge; easy; tariff II). Then in

1/2 hr. more to the Refuge du Lac-Noir (9250 ft.), 1/4 hr. E. of

the Lac Noir (9185 ft.). — Another ascent to the refuge, 1 hr.

longer, and cumbered with loose rocks, is by a path branching to

the left from the bridle-path, 5 min. beyond the Diable bridge,

past Le Puys, and across the Breche du Grand-Creux (about

9350 ft.), between the Tete du Toura and the Diable (9425 ft.).—

From the refuge we ascend N.E., past the foot of the Jandri
(10,800 ft.; IV2 tr.; easy), to (-40 min.) the vast -Glacier du
Mont-de-IiarLS, the largest in Dauphine, 4^/2 by 2 M., cross it

without difficulty (view), and in about 3 hrs. reach the *Col de la

Lauze (11,625 ft.), a slight depression to the W. of the Pic de la

Grave (12,040 ft.; V-l^-2 hrs. from the col; difficult). Vast pano-

rama, especially from the Signal a little higher. From N". to N.E.

we survey the Belledonne, Mont Blanc, and Monte Rosa; from N.E.

to S. we overlook a superb *Cirque of glaciers.— Descent, by a

steep and trying couloir, to the (2 hrs., ascent 3 hrs.) Refuge de

la Selle (8815 ft.), on the bank of the Glacier de la Selle, beyond

which rises the Plaret (p. 454). Then a rapid descent into (1 hr.)

th€ Vallon de la Selle, where we regain the bridle-path mentioned

above. (From the Refuge de la Selle to St-Christophe 3 hrs. ; in the

reverse direction 4 hrs.)
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*Aigiiille du Plat-de-la-Selle (11,800 ft.; 51/2-6V2 hrs. N.E.; no
serious difficulty; taritflllb). We ascend steep slopes to the (2V2-3 hrs.)

Glacier du Plat, cross it to (IV2-2 Ins.) the S.W. arete of the Plat, near
the Tete du Graou (10,405 ft.; fairly easy; tariff Illb), and climb the arete
to (I1/2 hr.) the top. The panorama is one of the most interesting in the
Dauphiue Alps.

Grande-Rocke de la Muzelle (11,355 ft.; about 8 hrs. S.W.;
difficult; tariff Illb). We pass (21/2 hrs.) UEncMtra (4660 ft.; see p. 451),
where we may sleep, and ascend the ravine of the Pisse to the (31/4 hrs.)

Glacier du Vallon (7065 ft.). Then over rocks and glacier, N.W., to the
(I1/2 hr.) foot of the Roche, and by couloirs to the N.E. crest, which we
climb to the (1 hr.) top. The Roche, a striking peak, the W. outpost of
the Pelvoux, affords one of the finest *Pauoramas in the Oisans region.

Grande-Tete de Lauranoure (10,960 ft.; 41/2 hrs. S.W. ; not easy;
tariff Illb). We cross the Vention to the S., pass the (1 hr.) Chalets de
VAlpe du Pin (5945 ft.), ascend pastures to the W. end of the (1^/4 hr.)

Glacier du Pierroux (9435 ft.), cross it, and scale the W. peak in 2 hrs.
more. Superb *View.

Aiguille or Bee du Canard (10,715 ft.; 71/2-8 hrs. S.; not easy;
tariff' Illb). We ascend by (3 hrs.) the Refuge de la Lavey (p. 451), E.
of the peak. Near view of the main chain.

Aiguille des Arias (11,155 ft.; T^/.^-S hrs. S.; rather difficult; tariff

IV b). From the (1 hr.) Alpe du Pin (see. above) we turn S.E. into the
(1 hr.) Combe de la Mariande, follow the left bank to the Glacier de
la Mariande. ascend to the head of the glacier, and climb a snow-couloir
to the (1^/4 hr.) Col des Arias (about 10,170 ft.), W. of the Aiguille.
Beyond a natural bridge we descend a little to the Glacier du Grand-
Vallon, and turn N.E. to scale the peak by the other slope. We cross
(1/2 hr.) a fissure, climb steep rocks, and gain the (V4 hr.) S.W. arete,
1 hr. below the top. View finer than from the Bee du Canard.— From
the top of the Glacier de la Mariande we mav ascend S.W. to the {^U hr.)
Col de la Mariande (about 10.170 ft.; difficult; tariff Illb), and descend
in 4-41/2 hrs. to Le Desert-en-Valjon/ireij (p. 427).

Tete de POurs (9990 ft.; 51/2 hrs. S.E.; easy; tariff II). We ascend
the Vallon de la Lavey, turn to the left into a ravine, and mount rocks
and the Glacier de VOiirs to the (41/2 hrs.) Co/ de V Ours (9840 ft.), V2 I'r.

from the top. Fine view.— The Pointe Lemercier (10,580 ft.), S. of
the col, is ascended in 20 min. (tariff Ilia).— The Pointe Jeanne
(10,645 ft. ; tariff' Ilia) is ascended in 1/2 hr. from the Col du Cronzet (about
10,170 ft.), reached by the Lavey valley and the Glacier des Fi'toides
(5 hrs. from St-Christophe). We may descend E., by the (2 hrs.) Vallon
des Etages, and then N. to (I-IV2 hr.) Les Stages (p. 451) and La
B4rarde (p. 451).

*T6te des F^toules (11,370 ft.; 5-5V4 hrs. from the Refuge de la

Lavey; easy, oxr-ept at one point on the arote; tariff Illb). We ascend
E. to the (21/a hrs.) crevassed Glacier des FHoules ; then, left, by the
rocks and the moraines of the right bank, and over nevtf, to the (lV2'*r-)
Col des FUoules (10,335 ft.), N. of the (1 hr.) summit, which is reached
by the arete above the Glacier du Vallon. Fine *Panorama.

T6te de PEtret (11,690 ft.; 5-5'/2 hrs. from the Refuge de la Lavey;
not easy; tariff Illb), a little farther S., ascended by the (2V4 hrs.)
Glacier and (I1/2 It.) Col de la Lavey (10,925 ft.).— Aiguille d'Olan
(11,100 ft.; difficult; tariff IV a), to the right at the end of the valley.
It is ascended in 5 hrs. from the refuge, by the (3 lirs.) Glacier des
Sellettes, steep rocks, and a couloir. View limited. — Pic d'Olan (C'nn«
Nord or Cime Coolidge, 11,740 ft.; very difficult; guide from St-Christophe
60, with descent to La Cliapelle 70, porter 85 fr.), farther S., 71/2 hrs. from
the refuge via the (4 hrs.) Col or Br^che d'Olan (9720 ft.), the Glacier
des Sellettes, the X. arete, and the N.E. face; preferable from La Oha-
pelle-en-Valgaudemar (p. 429).
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To La Chapelle-es-Valgaudemar over the Col, des Sellbttes, 12-

12V2 hrs., difficult, especially if the crevasses are not bridged by snow
(tariff Illb). Ascent via La Lavey and the Glacier des Sellettes (p. 453)

to the (8-81/2 hrs.) Col des Sellettes (10,500 ft.), between the Pic d'Olan

and the Cime du Vallon (11,215 ft.; i/o-'/^ hr. from the col). Descent via

the Glacier d'Olan and Combe Froide to La Chapelle (p. 429).

To Le Clot-en-Valgaudemar over the Col de la Muasde, 10-10i/2hrs.,

fairly easy, when there is snow (tariff II). In 7-71/2 hrs., via La Lavey and
the Glacier du Fond-de-la-Muande. we reach the Col de la Muande
(10,035 ft.), S.E. of the glacier. Descent S.E. to (3 hrs.) Le Clot (p. 429).

Other ascents from St-Christophe (Meije, etc.), see those from La
Berarde mentioned below and those from La Grave (p. 462).

b. From La Berarde.

Three refuges are available near La Berarde: the Refuge du Cai'relet

(6790 ft.), IV2 br. S.E., in the Veneon valley; the Refuge du Chdtelleret

(7380 ft.), 2 hrs. X., in the lonely Etan^ons valley; and the Refuge du
Promonioire (10,335 ft.), 5 hrs. N. (see p. 455). — Guides and tariffs,

see pp. 451, 452. — Excursions common to both centres, see above.

*Tete de la Maye (8255 ft.), 21/4 hrs. N.W. (tariff I, guide

not indispensable). From the chalet-hotel we descend the St-

Christophe path, cross the Etangons stream (p. 451), and ascend

its valley. (To the Col du Clot-des-Cavales and Refuge du Chatel-

leret, see p. 455.) A path to the left, 25 min. from the bridge,

ascends in steep zigzags and steps to the rounded rocky summit.

*View (N.) of the Meije, with its jagged crest; E. the Pic Bourcet

and Ecrins; S. the Ailefroide, Glacier de la Pilatte, and Grande-

Aiguille; W. the Grande-Roche de la Muzelle and Tete du Rouget.

To the Rouget, see below.
Another easy excursion is to the *Glacier de la Pilatte (p. 457; tariff I),

3/4 hr. from theEefuge du Carrelet. Torrents often difficult to cross iu

the evening. — A visit may be made also to the Glacier du Chardon, IV2-

2 hrs. from La Berarde, to the W. of the Tete de Cheret (p. 456).

Tete dvi Houget OT Roujet (11,225 ft.; 7 hrs., not easy; tariff IVb).
Ascent via tlie (21/4 hrs.) Tete de la Maye (see above), the (1 hr.) Tete de
VAure (8885 ft.), and the Roche Blanche (9340 ft.), buttresses of the peak.
— Farther off, on the same crest, rises the Pic Geny {11,215 it.; *View).

*Plaret (11,715 ft.; 51/2-6 hrs., no serious difficulty; tariff Illa).

Ascent by the right bank of the Vallon des Etanqons and (3 hrs.) the

Glacier du Plaret, bearing to the left. Another route (V2 hr. longer; shaded

in the morning) is by Les Etages (p. 451), the Combe d'Amont, a small

glacier, and a couloir, S.W. of the top. *Panorama.

Tete de la Gandoliere (11,645 ft.; 7-8 hrs.; no serious difficulty,

except at the rocks near the top ; tariff' Illb). As above to the Glacier du
Plaret, then N. Another ascent takes 4 hrs. from Le Chdtelleret, by the

(IV2 br.) Glacier de la Gandoliere and the arete S. of it. ^Panorama. —
This chain is crossed farther ]S1. by the Cols de la Gandoliere {10,245 ft.), de
la Selle (about 10,170 ft.), and du Replat (about 11,100 ft.) to (4 hrs.) the

Refuge de la Selle (p. 452). The Tetes du Replat (11,260 and 11,330 ft.)

each take 1/2 lir. from the Col du Replat.

Bateau (12,495 ft.; 7-71/2 hrs.; difficult; tariff IVa). Past (2 hrs.)

the Refuge du Chdtelleret to the (31/2 hrs.) S.E. arete, leading to (I1/2 hr.)

the E. arete, then up a narrow arete on the S. slope to (1/2 hr.) the top.

Ascent from the Refuge du Promontoir.e (p. 455), 3 hrs. View very ex-

tensive. Descent by the E. arete very hazardous. On that side La Grave
is reached in about 6 hrs., but it is better to ascend thence (8 hrs.).
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The *Meije, or Meidje (13,065 ft.), the 'Aiguille du Midi' as

seeu from La Grave, is the highest peak of the Pelvoux group after

the Ecrins. Adjoining it are two slightly lower peaks, the Pic
Oriental [12,830 it.; p. 463), black on the La Berarde side but

dazzling white towards La Grave, and the Pic Central, or Doigt
de Dieu (13,040 ft.), 'so fragile in appearance compared with the

other peaks that it looks as though the first gust of wind would carry

it away, and leaning towards the Glacier des Etan^-ons in a way that

makes one both wonder and shudder' (Coolidge). These are con-

nected with the Grand-Ptc, or Pic Occidental (13,065 ft.), by an

indented arete (see beloAv). E. Boileau de Castelnau was the first

who reached the top, in 1877, by the S. side, with P. Gaspard pere

and fils as guides. The vast panorama is similar to that from the

Ecrins (see below).
The ascent of the Meije, noted for its difficulties, is fit only for the

most proficient climbers. Guides, see p. 451. The previous night is spent
at the Refuge du Promontoire; ascent of the Grand-Pic 7 hrs., thence to

the Pic Central 4 hrs., then down to La Grave in 4 hrs. more. By the

Col du Clot-des-Cavales path (p. 457) we ascend to the (2 lirs.) Refuge
dn C'Mtelleret (7380 ft.); then up the moraine and the easy Glacier des
Etanqons to (3 hrs.) the Refuge du Promontoire (10,335 ft.). An arete

and a chimney bring us to the Campevient des Demo'seJles, near the foot

of the Grand-Cotdoir or Couloir Duhamel. The difficult rock-climbing
now begins. The couloir leads to (I'/.j-S hrs. from the refuge) a platform,

the site of the Pyramide Duhamel (about 11,480 ft.). Then E. to (Va hr.)

the (Jampanent de Castelnau., a small terrace on the Grande-Muraille, a

most formidable precipice with three very awkward places, the Dos d^Ane,
Dalle des A?drichiens, and Pas du Chat. We next cross (2 hrs.) the

fairly easy Glacier Carvf' (12,295 ft.) to (1 hr.) the Breche du Glacier-
Carr4. Lastly a clamber of 2V2 hrs. up the rocks, less difficult, except
at the Cheval Rouge and the Chapeau du Capucin, within the last

few yards. — Descent the same way needs still more caution than the

ascent. Preferable to descend to La Grave (8 hrs.): by the N.E. precipice

to the Breche Zsigrnondj/, and across the four teeth of the arete (cable;

a dizzy point) to the Pic Central (see al)0ve); then to the Rocher de
VAigle (11,315 ft.; p. 463) and down to La Grave (see p. 463).

Pav6 (12,570 ft.; difficult; tariff Illb), S.E. of the Pic Oriental,

6V2 hrs. from the Chdtelleret. To the (4','4 hrs.) Col du Pave, see p. 457.

Then up a snow-slope W. {^1^ hr.), a cliimney on the right, and the (IV2 hr.)

S. arete. View most imposing, notably of the graceful Pic Central.

Q-rande-Ruine (Polnte Brevoort, 12,355 ft. ; 8-9 hrs. ; tariff II, with
descent on the other side Illb), S. of the Pav^; ascent by the Col de la

Casse-Deserte {n,olb h.). See p. 464. — Pic Bourcet (12,130 ft.; g»ide

60, porter 35 fr.), the S. peak of the Grande-Ruine, 91/2 hrs., by the same
col, a first-class climb over loose rocks. From the col to the top, about
3'/2 hrs.

T6te de Charri^re (11,295 ft. ; 4'/2 hrs. ; tariff III b). We ascend the

{VI2 hr.) Vallon de la Bonne-Pierre: then N.E. and X. to the (l'/.^ hr.)

Glacier and (IV4 hr.) Breche de Charriere (10,700 ft.); lastly, to the left,

a stiif climb of 1 hr. to the top. Descent from the Broclie to the Refuge de
VAlpe (4 hrs.; p. 4(;3). — Roche d'AIvau (11,595 ft.), X. of the Glacier

de la Bonne-Fierro, difficult and stony (5V4 hrs. from La Berarde).

The *Barre des Ecrins, or Les Ecrins (13,450 ft.), is the

highest peak of the Pelvoux and the whole Dauphin6. It forms a

beautiful pyramid, with a very sharp arete, ice-clad to the summit

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 29
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on the N. side, and rising in a precipitous wall of rock, 394:0 ft.

high, from the Glacier Xoir (p. 462) on the S. The superb view

embraces a large part of S.E. France and of the Western Alps as far

as Monte Rosa. The peak was first scaled in 1864 by A. W. Moore,

H. Walker, and E. Whymper.
Alpinists with steady head and sure foot will find no very serious diffi-

culty in the ascent (8-9 hrs. from the Refuge du C'arrelet; guides, see

p. 451). From the {Vj.> hr.) Refuge du Carreltf (p. 454) we follow the Col
de la Temple route (p. 458; path under construction) for 1/2 hr. ; then, N.E.,
mount the left bank of the (1 hr.) Glacier du Vallon-dc-la-Pilatte to the

(2 hrs.) (Jol des Avolanches (11.515 ft.). The climbing now begins, up
couloirs, and past a difficult point (1 hr.: cable), to the Rocher Blanc. We
next cross the arete to the {V!., hr.) small Glacier des Ecrins, where we
pass above a tremendous precipice ; then up a couloir to the arete between
the Pic Lory (see below) and (2 hrs. from the foot of the glacier) the summit
of the Ecrins.— Descending by the N.W. arete, we pass the Pic Lory
(13,395 ft.), leave the arete between that peak and tne Dome de Neige
des Ecrins, or Pic de la Berarde (13,060 ft.), and reach the (31/2 hrs.)

Col des Ecrins (p. 462). Lastly, down to La Berarde via the dilapidated

Refnge de la Bonne-Pierre, or to Ailefroide (Vallouise; see p. 462).

Fifre (12,075 ft.; 6 hrs. from the Eefuge du Carrelet; trying; tariff III b),

the nearest peak S. of the Ecrins, ascended by the (31/.2 hrs.) L'ol des Ava-
lanches (see above) and the W. arete (V2 hr.). Splendid *Yiew, especially
of the S. side of the Ecrins and the incomparable cirque of the Glacier Noir.

Pic Coolidge (12,325 ft.; 5 hrs. from the Carrelet; fairly easy;
tariff Illb), by the (31/2 hrs.) Col de la Temple (p. 458) and the S. arete.

Grand view of the Ecrins.

Grande-Aiguille de la Berarde (11,210 ft.; 5 hrs.; tariff Illb),
S.W. of La Berarde: ascent easy, but steep, rocky, and monotonous.
Superb view, notably E., towards Ailefroide. —Rocher de TEncoula
(11,610 ft.; 7 hrs.; fairly easy; tariff Illb), ascended by the Vallon des
Etages to the (6 hrs.) Col deVEncoida (11,170 ft.), thence by a chimney-
to the top. ^Panorama. Descent E., to the Veneon valley.

Cime de Clot-Chatel (11,730 ft.; e'/ghrs.; toilsome; tariff Illb).
Same route as the last, prolonged to (2 hrs.) the Glacier du Vallon-des-
Etages; then, left, to (^,'4 hr.) a promontory, and by it to (I1/2 hr.) the foot
of the rocky crest, which we climb to the top in 2 hrs. more. Another
striking *Panorama. Descent E., if preferred.

T^te de Cheret (10,365 ft.; 51/2 hrs.; not very difficult; tariff II).

Ascent by the Col du Says route (p. 458) to the foot of the (3 hrs.) Glacier
du Scqjs ; then N.W. to {^U hr.) the small Glacier de Baverjat, which
we ascend to the (3/4 hr.) Col de Cheret (about 10,205 ft.), between the
Pic Nord du Says and the Tete de Cheret; lastly (1/2 hr.) to the top by a

snow-couloir on the S. face. *Superb survey of the Pelvoux. We may
descend from the col, X.W., to the Glacier' du Petit-Chard on. and join

the Col du Chardon route (p. 458; 3 hrs. to La Berarde).— Pics du Says
(Sommet Sud, 11,185 ft.; Sommet Xord, 11,065 ft.; 6 hrs., rather difficult).

Ascent bj' the Col du Says route to the (31/.2 hrs.) middle of the Glacier du
Sai/s (p. 458); then up the N.W. arm of the glacier to (1/2 hr.) the foot of the
Sovimet Sud, and up a snow-couloir in 3/_j hr. to the N. arete, which leads
to the top in 1 hr. more (or we may scale the rocks to the S. arete and
climb to the top in IV2 hr.). The Sommet Xord is ascended in 1^/4 hr.

from the Col de Chrret (see above). *Panorama still finer than from the
Teie de Cheret. — Mont Gioberney (10,990 ft.; easy), 3/4 hr. S.E. of the
Col du Says (p. 458).

The Vaxivier (10,865 ft.; 5 hrs.) is difficult. The N. base is reached
in 3'/2 hrs. by the Glacier du Chardon (p. 458), where for 1 hr. we climb
a steep snow-couloir. We then clamber up the rough W. argte.

j
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Les Rouies (11,775 ft.; no difficulty; tariff III), 1 hr. W. of the
Col des Rouies (p. 458). *Panorama especially striking towards the Ecrins.

Descent S. towards the Col de la Muaude, then X.W. via the Glacier du
Fond-de-la-Muande to (6V2 hrs.) .St-Christophe (see p. 454).

Les Bans (12,040 ft.; 6-61/., hrs. from the Carrelet, very difficult;

descent nearly as long; guide 60, porter 35 fr.). We follow the Col du
Sele route (p. 458) to (2 hrs.) the upper plateau of the Glacier de la

Pilatte (p. 458); then across crevasses to (2 hrs.) the Col des Bans (about
11,090 ft.), E. of which are two Cols de la Pilatte (about 11,055 and
11,025 ft.), all three being difficult passes to Vallouise. From the Col des
Bans we climb the rocks on the X.E. slope, a snowy crest, ice-slopes,

and the difficult E. arete to (2 hrs.) the top. Splendid view.

To Villar-d'Arene or La Grave.—.The cols given here are

those more easily crossed from the La Berarde side. When the route
passes the Ref/fge du Chdtelleret (p. 455) or the Chalet-Refi'ge de VAlpe
(p. 463) it is 2 hrs. shorter if begun at the former, and li/o hr. shorter if

ended at the latter. Those who descend from the Refuge de I'Alpe to

Villar-d'Arene may go on by road to (i/u lir.) La Grave.

*OvEK THE Col du Clot-des-Cavales (9^/2-10 hrs.; tariff II),

best before July, longer but less tiring in the reverse direction

(p. 465). The path ascends the Etangons valley, leaves on the left

the paths to the Tete de la Maye (p. 4.5-4) and the Chatellerct (p. 455),

and leads E. over rocks; then X., up a couloir, to the (5 hrs.; 3 hrs.

from the Chatelleret) Col da Clot-des-Cavales (10,260 ft. ; view

of the Meije), above the glacier of that name. The last part of the

ascent is difficult, as the path is in a very bad condition. We de-

scend, E., by the glacier (care needed) and a path to the (2^/4 i)rs.)

Refuge de VAlpe (p. 463).
Via the Breche de la Meije (ll,015ft.; 10-11 hrs.. 5-6 hrs. from

the Refuge du Promontoire : tariff III b). This grand, but rather difficult

pass is shorter and easier from this side than from La Grave (see p. 465).

From the (5 hrs.) Refuge du Promontoire (p. 455) we ascend to the Glacier
des Etanqons and up steep rocks to the (1 hr.) Breche, between tho
Rateau (p. 454; W.) and the Pic du Glacier-Carre (12,665 ft.; E.). Grand
view of the Meije. — Via the Col du Pav6 (11,465 ft.; 10-11 hrs.;

tariff III b), one of the grandest, but not easiest passes in the Pelvoux.
From the Chdtelleret we go X. to the Glacier des Etanc^ons (p. 455), at

the foot of the stupendous wall of the Meije, and mount its rather steep
and crevassed X.E. part; then bear E. to (4V.i hrs.) the Col du Pave, which
crosses the snowy ridge extending from the S. base of the Pave (p. 455).

Striking view of the Meije. Descent by a snow-couloir S.E. to the (l'/.^ hr.)

moraine of the Glacier du Clot-des-Cavales and the (1 hr.) Refuge de
VAlpe (p. 463). — The Col des Aigles (10,565 ft.) and Col des Chamois
(10,335 ft.), S. of the Col du Pave (each 10-11 hrs.; tariff III b\ botli lead
to the Glacier du Clot-des-Cacales and the Refuge de VAlpe [p. 463),

but are neither easy nor attractive. —The Col de la Grande-Ruine
(10,.S00ft.; 10-10'/., hrs.; tariff II) is unattractive. We ascend the Vallon
des Etanr^ons to the (l'/.^ hr.) torrent from the Grande-Kuiiie (p. 464;; tlien

N.E. to the (2 hrs.) moraine on the right bank of the glacier, N.W. of the
Grande-Ruine; lastly over rocks to the (2 hrs.) col. Descent to the (1 hr.)

Glacier du Clot-des-Cavales, here much crevassed, and the (1 hr.) Refuge de
VAlpe (p. 463). -More difficult is the Brdche Giraud-L6zin (11,805 ft.;

15-16 hrs.; tariff" III b). Same route as the last to the (3'/.^ hrs.) moraine;
then to the right over the crevassed glacier to(l'/4 hr.) a couloir; tlien a

difficult rock-climb (3-4 hrs.) to the Breche, X. of tiie Grande-Ruine (p. 46-1).

Descent by the (=Vi hr.) Glacier de la PIate-des- Agnenux and its left side

to til.- (2</', hrs.) Refuge de VAlp^. — Wk the *Col de la Casse-D^serte
21i^
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(11,515 ft.; 111/2-12 brs.; fairly easy; tariff lllb). Same route as the last

to the (31/2 hrs.) top of the moraiue; then on the glacier (crevasses),

bearing to the right, and up a snow-couloir to the (2i/._, brs.) col, between
the Grande-Ruine (p. 464) and Pic Bourcet (p. 455). Descent to the (1 hr.)

Glacier de la Flate-des-Agneaux and the (2 hrs.) Refuge de VAlpe, etc.

To Ailefroide fFaZZom'sej. _ Over the Col de la Temple (9-

91/2 brs.; tariff II), the easiest route from this side; path projected. From
(11/2 hr.) the Carrelet (p. 454) we cross the torrent of La Pilatte and ascend
the valley in zigzags for 1/2 hr.; then, leaving on the left the Ecrins
route, we turn to the right (S.) towards the Glader de la Temple, reach
it (2 hrs.) near the top, and ascend it (crevasses) E. to the (1 hr.) Col de
la Temple (10,770 ft.), between the Pic Coolidge (p. 456; X.) and Pic de
la Temple (10,875 ft.; 1/2 hr. S. of the col). Splendid view; in front rises

the Pelvoux, beyond the great Glacier Noir, by which we descend (41/2 brs.)

to the Refuge Cezanne (see pp. 462, 461).— Over the Col de la Coste-
RouGE (about 6 hrs.; tariff II), shorter but stiffer than the last, endangered
at places by falling stones. From (IV2 br.) the Carrelet v^'e go S.E. to the
(11/2-1^/4 hr.) Glacier de la Coste-Rouge and cross it to the (1 hr.) Col de la
Goste-Bouge (10,340 ft.), S. of the Pic de la Temple (see above). We
descend by a snow-couloir to the (1/2 br.) Glacier Noir, joining the last

route 2-21/2 hrs. from the Refuge Cezanne.— Over the Col de l'Ailefroide
(81/2-9 hrs. from the Carrelet, stiff; tariff II). We follow the Col du Sele
route (see below) to (I1/4 hr.) the first plateau of the Glacier de la Pilatte;
then E. bv the Glacier du Coin to (21/2 hrs.) a steep rocky wall, which
we climb" to the (1 hr.) Col de PAileft'oide (10,815 ft.), N. of the
Pointe du Sele (see below). We descend by the (I1/4 hr.) Glacier du Sele,
where there is a large fissure, and the lonely Vallon de la Sapeni'ere to

the (11/2 hr.) old Refuge Pniseitx and (I1/4 hr.) Ailefroide (see pp. 461, 460).
Reversed, this route is more difficult.— Over the Col du Sele (about
8 brs. from the Carrelet; fairly easy; tariff' II). We ascend the right bank
of the Veneon to the (-^4 hr.) grand "^Glacier de la Pilatte (p. 454), ascend
it to (11/4 hr.) its upper plateau, and then turn S.E. and E. (finallv across
rocks) to the (21/2 hrs) Col du Sel6 (10,885 ft.), between the Pointe dti

Sele (11,425 ft.; I1/4 hr. from the col) and the Crete des Bceufs-Ro?tges
(11,330 ft.; 11/2 hr.; p. 461). We descend by the Glacier du Sele (often
crevassed) and over interminable debris to (31/2 hrs.) Ailefroide (p. 460).
Admirable view of the Bans (p. 457).— Over the Col des Ecrins, see p. 462.

To Le Clot-en-Valgaudemar (p. 429). —Over the Col des
Rouies (10,825 ft.; 10-11 hrs.: toilsome; tariff III). We ascend by the
Glaciers du Chardori (p. 454) and des Rouies to the (51/2 hrs.) col (grand
view), at the head of the Lavey valley (p. 451), between the Vaxivier
(p. 456) and tlie Rouies (p. 457; fine ascent). — Over the Col du Chardon
(10,145 ft.; 71/2-8 hrs.; tariff" II). Ascent also by the Glacier du Char-
do?i, then to the left, by the Glacier du Pttit-Chardon, to the (5 hrs.)

col, between the Pics du Says (p. 456; left) and the E. peak of the
Vaxivier (p. 456; right).— Over the Col du Says (10,290 ft.; 9 hrs.;
trying; tariff II). The route is that of the Col du Sele (see above), via the
(11/2 hr.) Carrelet, to the (I1/2 hr.) first plateau of the Glacier de la Pilatte,
at the foot of the Glacier du Sags; then up the latter to (21/4 hrs.) the
col (fine view of Ailefroide), S. of the Pics du Says (p. 456).

III. Excursions from Valiouise and Ailefroide.

a. From Yallouise.

From Bria>cos (p. 445) to Vallouise, 13 M., b}' road, motor-omn.
(ist July-15th Sept.) daily in I1/4 hr. (51/4 fr.) via (41/2 M.) Prelles (p. 445)
and (10 M.) Lts Vigneaux (p. 459).

From L'Argentiere-la-Bessee Statios (p. 445) to Vallouise, 6 M.,
motor-omn. (1st July -15th Sept.) daily in 35 min. (23/^ fr.). The road
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crosses the Durance and ascends N.; on the right are remains of the
Muraille des Vandois (probably of the Lesdiguieres period; p. 430). I1/4 M.
La Bdthie; then up the Seuil de la Bdthie (3445 ft.), N.W., to the fertile

valley of the Gijronde. We pass (I1/4 M. farther) below the village of Les
Vigneavx (3685 ft.). On the right tower the rocks of the Tete d'Amout
(see below). Views of the Pelvoux and Ailefroide; then, to the left, of

the Bans, Bonvoisin, and Areas. We cross the Ctiji- to (6 M.) Vallouise.
The onin. goes on to (20 min.) Le Poet (see below).

Vallouise, or Yllle -Vallouise (3805 ft.; Hot. des Ecrins,

du Pelvoux; Hot. d'Ailefroide, at Le Poet, good, E. 2-21/2, B. IV4,
L. 3, D. 3^2, P. 6 fr.), in a fertile dale, is a good centre for excur-

sions. The Waldensians once settled here were entirely exter-

minated in the massacre of 1480. The valley was repeopled under

Louis XII., to whom it owes its name. Church of 1532.
Guides. 1st class: P. Ant. Bar7ieond, at Les Claux; J. P. Engil-

herge (skieur), at St-Antoiue; Euy.Estienne, Denis Longis, P.A.Reymond
pere, all three skieurs. at Les Claux. 2nd class: Jos. Ant. Estienne (skieiir),

at Les Claux: Jos. Vict. Gamier, at Puy-Aillaud ; Ferd. Zeph. Reymond
and P. Ant. Reymond flls, both skieurs, at Les Claux.— Tariff. Rate I

(see p. 448): V2 day, guide 4, porter 4fr.; 1 day, 8 and 6 fr. Rate II a:

1 day, 10 and 8 fr.; IV2 dav, 15 and 12 fr. Rate lib: 1 day, 15 and
10 fr.; 11/2 day, 22 and 14 fr.; 2 davs, 27 and 18 fr. Rate III: 1 or I1/2 dav,
25 and 15 fr.; 2 days, 32 and 20 fr.; 21/2 days, 38 and 24 fr. Rate IV:
IV2 day, 35 and 20 fr.; 2 days, 40 aud 24 fr. Ascent of the Ecrins 50 and
30 fr. Return-fee 3-10 fr.

Walks. To Puy-Aillaud, 2 M. to the N.W. (cart-track; view),

with descent to Les Claux (p. 460). To the Col de la Fousterde

(5625 ft.), 2 hrs. S.E.; bridle-path via Puy-St-Viucent (see below;

line view) ; descent to I/Argenti^re-la-Bessee (p. 445), V/^ hr.

Cime de la Condamine (9635 it. ; 6 hrs. N.
;
guide, tariff II a).

From (20 min.; Le Poiit a path leads X.P]., up the Coul torrent, and
over the S. shoulder to the top. *View of the Pelvoux, Briangon,

Monte Viso, and Mont Blanc. We may descend N. to the Col de
la Pisse and (S'/o hrs.) Les Claux (p. 460), or via the Col de I'Ey-

chauda (p. 468) to (4 hrs.) Le Monetier.
Similar views from the Pic de Monthrison (9270 ft.; 51/2 hrs. E.;

awkward near the top) and the T^^fe d'Aniont (9230 ft.; 4V2brs.; easy).

Pointe de I'Aigliere or EyyUere (10,910 ft.; 6-6V2 hrs.

S.W.; fairly easy; tariff lib). We pass (V4 hr.) Puy-St-Vincevt
and ascend a pretty dale past the Grranges de Narreyi'oux to the

(47.2 hrs.) Col de VAigliere (10,525 ft.); then N.E. to the top'in

1/2 hr. more. Another way up is by the (5 hrs.) Col d'Entraigues
(9600 ft.); then IV2 hr. to the top,\liflricu]t. *View. We may de-

scend N.W. from the latter col, by the Selle valley, to (A}1^ hrs.)

the Chalets d' E?itraigues (5280 ft.), 2 hrs. from Vallouise.
From VAi.Lori>E to the Valgaudemak. The Col du Sellar (10,065 ft.

;

tariff II b), readied in 6Va hrs. via the Vallon dos Bans, connects Val-
louise with the Valgaudomar. Wo descend to Le Clot (p. 429), 9 hrs. from
Vallouise. This pass is trying, but not diflicult until late in summer.
The col lies between tlic Pic de Bonvoisin (ii,(580 ft.; S.E.) and the
Pic de.s Aupillous (11,505 ft.; N.). dlHicull ascents (tariff III), the
former 2'/.. Iirs. from the Col du l^oup (p. lUO), the latter (friable rocks)
3'/2 brs. from tlio Col du Sellar. Superb * View.— The Pic Jocelme
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(11,505 ft.), N.W. of the Pic Bouvoisin, is difficult also. (Another Jocelme,
11.762 ft., X. of the Pic des Aupillous.)— The Col du Loup-du-Val-
gaudemar (10,210 ft.; lOVg-H hrs. to Le Clot; tariff lib), not difficult

from this side, is farther S.— To Champoleon, see p. 430.

To Lt Monetier (6V2 hrs.), over the (41/2-^^/4 hrs.) Col de VEychauda,
and to the- (41/2 hrs.) Lac de VEychauda, see p. 468.

b. From Ailefroide.

Ailefi'oide (4955 ft.; chalet-hotel, plain, R. 2V2-3, B. I1/4, L.

or D. 3^2: wine extra, P. 7-8 fr.), 2 hrs. above Vallouise, is an-

other excursion-centre. Road from Vallouise via (20 min.) Le Poet
(hotel, see p. 459), Le Sarret, St-Aiitoine {^/^ hr. ; Hot. du Glacier-

Blanc, R. from 2, D. 3 fr.; Hot. du Club-Alpin), and (1 hr.) Les
Claux (view of Mont Pelvoux; Vallee de I'Eychauda, to the right,

see p. 468). Cart-track (road projected) thence to (1 hr.) Ailefroide

(also a rough bridle-path on the opposite bank). The hamlet lies in

a pretty triangular basin of fields and pastures, at the junction of

the Vallons de la Sapenitre (or de Celse-Niere) and de St-Piei^re.

To the S.W. rise the Crete des Boeufs-Rouges (p. 461); X.E. the

peaks of the Clouzis ^p. 461); S.E. the Tete d'Amont (p. 459).
The following refuges are on this side of the mountains : the Refuge

Ahel-Lemercier (8935 ft.; p. 461), 4 hrs. from Ailefroide, S.E. of the
Pelvoux: the Refuge Cezanne (6070 ft.; p. 461), I'/o hr. from Ailefroide,

in the St-Pierre valley; the Refuge Tuckett (8215 ft.; p. 462), 2i/., hrs.

farther up, on the moraine of the Glacier Blanc; and the Refuge Erneat-
Caron (10,500 ft.: p. 462), 23/^ hrs. beyond, on a rocky islet of the glacier.

Guides and Tariff, see p. 459.

Tourists who shun difficult excursions should at least visit the splendid
* Glacier Blanc (to the upper plateau 5 hrs.

; p. 462). The Col des Ecrhis
(p. 462) is easily reached thence (3 hrs.), the other side alone being-

difficult. From the col we behold one of the finest glacier-cirques among
the Alps, and survey the entire Ecrins.— The Col Emile-Pic also may
be climbed in 3 hrs. '(p. 462) without serious difficulty, the opposite side

only (p. 465) being hazardous. The view thence is still finer.

The Tete de la Draye (about 7380 ft.; tariff I), the last spur

of the Areas range, E., is easily ascended in 2 hrs. by a goat-track,

diverging to the left, a little below Ailefroide, on the opposite bank,

then turning N. to a couloir. After ^4 hr. we leave the path and

ascend due E., along a ravine bordered with bilberries and rhodo-

dendrons. Lastly, below the precipices, Ave turn S. and mount to

the top. *View of the Pelvoux, Grlacier Blanc, etc.

The *Pelvoiix (12,945 ft.), which has given its name to the

whole range, consists of the Pointe Puiseux (12,945 ft.), the

P^jramideDurand (12,895 ft.), and the Petit-Pelvonx (12,345 ft.),

the first two being known as the 'Grand-Pelvoux'. The *Yiew em-
braces an immense horizon, including the chief peaks of the range

and most of the W. and central Alps, sloping down to S. Provence.
The ascent is usually made from the (4 hrs.) Refuge Ahel-Lemercier

(p. 461), by one of two routes, neither of them very difficult for prac-
tised climbers. (Tariff III; with descent on the other side, tariff IV.) We
ascend the Vallon de la Sapeniere (see above; 1/2 hr. to the left is the
Cascade de Clapliouse). The bridle-path ends IV2 hr. farther on. We
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then ascend to the right to the (1 hr.) old Refuge Puiseux (7315 ft.)? and
next reach the (2 hrs.) Refuge Abel-Lemercier (8935 ft.)- *View, notably of

Monte Viso, and glorious sunsets. — The older route to the top (d'/a hrs.)

leads to (1/2 hr.), and mounts (1/2 hr.) the small crevassed Glacier dn flat-
de-VHomme, in a couloir. A stiff climb up the Rochers-Rouges (falling

stones) brings us to (21/2-3 hrs.) a plateau of ice and ueve between the
peaks of the Pelvoux, which we ascend to (1/2 hr.) the highest of them.
— The second route, I-I1/2 hr. shorter, avoiding the Crlacier du Clot-de-
I'Homme, ascends to the E. of it to the Cotdoir Tiickett, by which, or up
the rocks on the right bank, we reach the foot of the Petit-Pelvoux.—
A good route when snow is abundant is by (V2 hr.) the foot of the Glacier
du Clot-de-l'Homme, the (1 hr.) Glacier Sans-Xom, and (25 min.) the broad
snowy C'otdoir Voolidge, S.W. of the Pointe Puiseux, IV2-2 hrs. higher.

Pic Sans-Nom or Salvador-Guillemin (12,845 ft.; 41/2 hrs. from
the Refuge Lemercier ; difficult; tariff III). AV. of the Pelvoux. As above
to (11/2 hr.) the Glacier Sajis-Xom, which we ascend W. to (i/o hr.) the
foot of the peak. Then up a snow-couloir and steep rocks to the W. arete,

by which we climb to the top. Superb view.

L'Ailefroide, or Alefroide {Cime Quest, 12,965 ft.; 9 hrs.: rather
difficult; tariff III). We ascend W. to the (3 hrs.) Glacier du Sel^, then
N.W. to the (IV4 hr.) Glacier de VAilefroide, which we cross to the
(2 hrs.) S.S.E. arete; then up this arete to (1 hr.) a snowy shoulder, I1/4 hr.
from the top. Fine view of Monte Viso. Ascent by the W. slope very
difficult (guide from La Berarde 80fr.).— The time L'eyitrale (12,880ft.)
and Cime E.^t (12,645 ft.), 8 hrs., are less attractive.

Crdte des Bosxifa-Ilonges {Sommet Est, 11,255 ft.; Sommet Quest,
11,330 ft^; 6-7 hrs.; not very difficult; tariff lib). The E. peak is ascended
by the Vallon de la Sapeni^re to the (3 hrs.) Glacier du Sele and Glacier
des Bee ufs-Rouges, to the left, and the Vol des Bceufs-Rouges (about
10,825 ft.); then 20 min. to the top. The W. peak is scaled in IV2 hr. from
the Col du SeU (p. 458). Splendid view.

To THE Lac de l'Eychauua over the Col de Seouret-Foran, 71/2 hrs.
from the Refuge Cezanne (see below), difficult (tariff" lib). We cross the
bridge at Le Banc (see below) and ascend N.N.W. by the ravine of the Rif
and a snow-couloir to (51/2 hrs.) the Col de S^guret-Foran (1T),845 ft.);

then descend on the right side of the glacier of that name to the (2 hrs.)
Lac de V Eychauda (p. 468). The Pic du Rif (11,410 ft.; 1/2 hr. S.E.)
may be scaled from the col. --The Pic des Areas, or Tete de Metal
(11,420 ft.), 10 min. S. of the latter, is ascended by the snowy crest.
Fine view. Difficult descent by the Glaciers de Seguret-Foran and de
Seguret-d'Avant to Chambran (p. 468). — The Clocher de Clouzis
(11,115 ft.), a curious peak farther S., is very difficult (tariff IV).

The Ecrins (13,450 ft.), N. face, is ascended in 5'/2 hrs. from the
Refuge Ernest-Caron (p. 462) or in 8 hrs. from the Refuge Tuckett (p. 462),
very difficult and trying, more so than from La Berarde (see p. 455; tariff',

see p. 459). Route by the Glacier Blanc to the (2 hrs.) foot of the Ecrins,
where the real ascent begins. Then (2 hrs.) a great fissure, which we
cross by a snow-bridge, and a steep ice-slope where steps have to be cut;
we next round some small black rocks, and near the top reach a tremendous
arete above the Glacier Xoir, by which we climb to the (3 hrs ) top.

Pic de Neige-Cordier (ll,855 ft.; S'/a hrs. from the Refuge Tuckett,
p. 462; rather ditHcult; tariff III). Ascent to (3 hrs.) tlie Col Emile-Pic
(p. 462); then V2 hr. N.E. to the top. Rocks near the top, awkward to descend.

To La Berarde. — Over the Col de la Temple (see also p. 458;
91/2-10 hrs., or from the Refuge Cezanne 8-8V2 lirs.; tariff II b), one of the
finest passes in Dauphin^, without serious difficulty. We ascend, N.W.,
the Vallmi de St-Pierre, cross the stream, recross it at Le Banc, and reach
the (IVz hr.) Refuge Ci'zanne (6070 ft.; open in summer), at the end of
the Pr^ de Madame-Carle, with the Pointe de la Grande-Sagne (12,400 ft.)
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rising N.W. of it. We next mount a disagreeable moraine to the (IV2 hr.)

Glade?- Noir, at the foot of the wall of the Ecrins, 3900 ft. high. Ascending
the glacier, difficult rocks, and a chimney, we reach the (31/2 hrs.) Col de
la Temple (10,770 ft.; fine view; path projected); descent to the (3 hrs.)

Refuge du Varrelet, see p. 458.— Over the Col des Ecrins (12 hrs., 5 from
the Refuge Ernest-Caron, 71/2 from the Refuge Tuckett; easy as far as the

col, seep. 460; tariff III). From the (I1/2 hr.) i?ef?;gre C'e'smiJie (p. 461) we
ascend on the right bank of the Glacier Blanc, then cross it to the (21/2 hrs.)

Refuge Tuckett (8215 ft.), grandly situated near a little lake by the glacier.

"We ascend over loose rocks and the left bank of the glacier, and cross

the superb upper plateau of the ^Glacier Blanc to a rocky islet with the

(23,4 hrs.) Refuge Ernest-Caron (10,500 ft.). In IV4 hr. more we reach the

Col des Ecrins (11,025 ft.; view, see p. 460), a gap in the rocky arete

between the Dome de Neige des Ecrins (p. 456) and the Roche-Faurio
(see below). We descend a steep snow-couloir and rocks to the Glacier
de la Bonne-Pierre, cross it and follow the right moraine to the (2V2 hrs.)

ruined Refuge de la Bonne-Pierre (8430 ft.); lastly, we follow a path,

joining that 'in the Vallon des Etan^ons, to (i^/^ hr.) La Berarde (p. 451).

— Over the Vol de la Coste-Rouge, the C'oldu Sele, or the Col de V Aile-

froide, see p. 458.

To Villar-d'Arene (La Grave).— Over the Col de la Pyra-
mide (10,665 ft. ; 6-7 hrs. from the Refuge Tuckett to the Refuge de 1' Alpe).

Easy ascent to the col (with its natural pyramid and small lake), where
the view is picturesque, but the descent by couloirs, often in bad condition,

is fit for experts only with a good guide.— Over the Col du Glacier-
Blane (10,855 ft.: 6 hrs. from the Refuge Tuckett to the Alpe; tariff lib),

better reversed (see p. 465).— Over the Col Emile-Pic (11,420 ft. ; 71/2 hrs.

from the Refuge Tuckett to the Alpe; diflicult; tariff lib). Attractive route

to the col (see p. 460), but descent difficult ; better reversed. From the refuge

a rapid ascent over the upper plateau of the Glacier Blanc (see above),

across two fissures, and up a couloir to (3 hrs.) the col, where the *View
is superb. Then down the steep Glacier de la Plate-des-Agneaux to the

Chalet-Refuge de V Alx>e (p. 463).— Over the Col de la Roche-Faurio
(11,385 ft.; 8-9 hrs. from the Refuge Tuckett to the Alpe; tariff III). Easy
ascent via the Uefuge Ernest-Caron (see above) to i,3-4 hrs.) the col.

Splendid view of the Ecrins. The Col des Ecrins is I1/4 hr. from- this

col. Descent very difficult, exposed to falling stones, to (about 5 hrs.)

the Refuge de I'Alpe (p. 463).— Ascent of the Roche-Faurio (12,240 ft.;

tariff III), not difficult, from the upper Glacier Blanc over snow -slopes

to the S. arete, near the top (3 hrs. from the Refuge Caron, 5 hrs. from the

Refuge Tuckett). *View of the Ecrins.
To Le Monetier via the Col Tuckett or the Col Jean-Gauthier, see p. 468.

rv. Excursions from La Grave and Villar-d'Arene.

La Ch^ave (p. 438) is an admirable centre for tourists, lying

on a main road, near the finest parts of the Dauphine Alps, and in

full view of the imposing Meije.— Villar-d'Arene (p. 438), though

less finely situated, has the advantage of being about 500 ft. higher

and 2 M. nearer the Refuge de I'Alpe.

On this side, at the base of the Pelvoux, are the Refuge Evariste-

Chancel (8230 ft.; p. 465), 3 hrs. from La Grave, and the Chalet-Refuge
de I'Alpe (6955 ft.; p. 463), 31/4 hrs. from La Grave, 21/2 hrs. from Villar-

d'Arene; bridle-path to both.
. Guides (all of La Grave). 1st class: Prosper A. J. Faure (skieur),

Ant. Ad. and L. Aug. Mathonnet (the former skieur), Fr. Hipp., Th^oph.,
and Florentin Pic (the last skieur), and Jos. Savoye. 2nd class: Leon
Ed. Pic (skieur). — Tariff. Rate I (see p. 448): V2 day, guide 4, porter
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4 fr.; 1 day, 8 and 6 fr. ; IV2 day, 12 and 10 fr.; 2 days, 16 and 12 fr.

Rate Ila: 1 day, 12 and 8 fr,; I1/2 day, 18 and 12 fr.; 2 days, 24 and 16 fr.

Rate lib: 1 day, 15 and 10 fr.; IV2 day, 23 and 15 fr. Rate Ilia : 1 day,
18 and 12 fr.; I1/2 dav, 25 and 16 fr. ; 2 days, 30 and 20 fr. Rate Illb

:

1 day, 22 and 12 fr. ; I1/2 day, 28 and 18 fr. ; 2 davs. 32 and 22 fr. Rate IVa :

1 or 11/2 day, 30 and 20 fr.; 2 days, 38 and 26 fr. ;
2i/., days, 45 and 30 fr.

Rate IVb:' 11/2 day, 40 and 25 fr.; 2 days, 50 and 3o'fr. Meije Centrale,
Aig. Meridionale d'Arves, and Pic Bourcet, 50 and 80 fr.: Ecrins (X. face),

80 and 45 fr.: Ecrins, with descent on the other side, 90 and 50 fr. ; Meije
Occidentale, via the Breche de la Meije and Refuge du Promontoire, 152 and
82 fr.; Pic Central and the aretes, 130 and 70 fr. Reduction if summit not
reached. Return-fee 3-8 fr.

The ^Plateau d'Emparis or de Paris, 21/2-8 hrs. N.W., is

a superb point of view, especially for the Meije and its glaciers.

The bridle-path (mule 6-12 fr.) ascends X.. by the church, to (^/^ hr.)

Les Terrasses and to (i/g hr.) Le Chazelet. Farther on, it descends

to the left, crosses the Gua, and ascends in zigzags past the (l^/^ hr.)

Chalets de Clot-Baffin to the chalet (7020 ft.; rfmts.).

The Signal de la Grave (8040 ft.), 31/2 brs. N., is reached by the
Col Lombard route to (a/4 hr.) Ventelon (p. 466), and then by the pastures.
Fine view of the glaciers.— An easy and pleasant walk is by the Romanche
bridge to the iine Cascade de la Meije (V4 hr. S.), or, keeping to the left,

to the (3/4 hr.) Chalets de Chcdvachere (dairy), whence a good path leads
to the foot of the Glacier de la Meije (1 hr.; mule and man 5 fr.).

The Bee de I'Homme (11.340 ft.; 61/2 hrs. from La Grave or Villar-
d'Arene; rather difficult; tariff III a) is ascended via the (31/2 hrs.) Fie de
VHomme (9530 ft.) and the X. arete. Splendid view of the Meije.

Meije (p. 455). Tariff, see above. Grand-Pic, or Pic Occidental:
via the Breche de la Meije and Refuge du Proviontoire (pp. 465, 457, 455),
or by the aretes (see below).— Pic Central: bv the right bank of the
Glacier de Tabuchet to (6 hrs.) the Rocher de TAiyle {11,Bib ft.; shelter-
hut); to the top 3-4 hrs. more. From the Pic Central to the Grand-Pic
3-4 hrs. more, very difficult (first achieved in 1885 by E. and 0. Zsig-
mondy and Purtscheller). — Pic Oriental (3V2 brs. from the Rocher de
I'Aigle; tariff" IVa): without groat difficulty, by the upper Glacier de
Tabuchet and tlie X.E. arete. Splendid view of the Pic Central.

To the Chalet-Refuge de I'Alpe, 27., hrs. from Villa r-

d'Arene by a bridle-path on the right bank of the Komanche (guide-

posts). A steep place more than half-way up is called the Fas
de VAne-a-Falque (5890 ft.); beyond, to the left, diverges the

Le Lautaret path (p. 466). The refuge (6955 ft.; bed Vj^, L. or

D. 3^2 fr.), at the head of the Romanche valley, near the Lac J^air,

is a good starting-point for excursions in the Pelvoux.
The Source de la Romanche (IV2 l""-) is readied bv following for

20 min. the Clot-des-Cavales path (p. 465), then to the left to the Lac de
VEtoile, at the end of the Glacier de la Plate-des-Agneaici', in a grand
cirque: right to left, the Roche-Meane (p. 464), the (hande-Ruiue (p. 464),
Pic Bourcet (p. 455), Tete d(! Charriere (p. 455), Roclie d'Alvau (p. 455),
Roche-Faurio (p. 462), and Pic de Xeigo-Cordier (p. 461).

Pics de Neige du Lautaret, or the Pichettes, W. of the refuge.
Cime Orieidale, or Pointe Xerot (11,605 ft.; 51/2 hrs.; rather difficult;

tariff III a): by tlie Clot-des-Cavalos route (p. 465) to the Pichettes torrent;
then up its course to the left bank of tlie (41/2 brs.) Glacier des Pichettes,
and up the S. arete to (1 hr.) the top. Splendid view. — C'nne Centrale
(11,495 ft.; tariffllla): to the (5 brs.) Co/ r^^s i^/'c^e^es (about 11,115 ft.)

;
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then i/jhr. more. — Ciine Occidentale (11,550 ft.; tariff IV a): up the glacier

and difficult couloirs (falling stones), about 6 hrs.

Pic Gaspard (12,735 ft.; 61/2-71/2 brs.; tariff IV b), very difficult,

owing to the nature of the rock.— Pare', see p. 455.

Grande-Ruine (central peak, Pointe Brevoort, 12,355 ft.; 6-61/2 hrs.

fairly easy, especially if there is snow; tariff Illb). We ascend the Ro-
nianche valley, leave it beyond the Clot-des-Cavales valley, and turn to

the left between a huge moraine and the Eoche-Meane (see below). We
round this peak, then ascend to the left of the Glacier de la Casse-Deserte,
towards the (31/2 hrs.) Col de la Casse-Deserte (p. 455), short of which
we take to the Glacier Superieitr de la Plate-des-Agneaux (crevassed),

mount it to the (1^/^ hr.) foot of the S.E. arete, and then the arete itself

to the (11/4 hr.) summit. The *View is superb. We may descend to La
Berarde by the Col de la Casse-Deserte (3 hrs.; see p. 455). — The Roctie-
Meane (12,140 ft.; tariff IV a), X.E., very difficult, is ascended in 21/2 hrs.

from the Glacier Sup^rieur de la Plate-des-Agneaux.

*Aiguille du Goleon (11,250 ft.; 6^/4 hrs. N. from La Grave,

easy but tiring; tariff Ila). Two routes. The first is by the Col

Lombard path to Pramelier (p. -466), then by a path to the left, past

the Chalets de Puy-Garnier, to a grassy kuoll, which we ascend

to the foot of the peak, a curious pyramid of calcareous rock. Instead

of ascending direct, it is better to turn to the right and climb the

steep broken rocks to the S.E. arete, which we follow nearly to the

top (2-3 hrs. from the foot).— The second route leads N. to the

Col de Martignare (p. 466), whence we turn E. and ascend by a

couloir and loose rocks, rather trying at the end. On the summit
stands a large signal, and a little below it is a ruined hut. The
^View is one of the grandest in the Pelvoux. The Meije is especi-

ally imposing. The proud Aig. Meridionale d"Arves, the Grandes-

Rousses, Mont Blanc, and Monte Viso are distinctly visible. To the

X. stretches the Glacier Lombard, beyond which rise the Aig. de

la Saussaz (see below) and the Col Lombard (p. 466).

The Aiguilles d'Arves, or Trois (Eilloyis (aiguillons), a range of

three superb pinnacles of hard conglomerate rock, may be ascended from
La Grave by the Col Lombard route in 6V2-IO hrs., but only by first-rate

climbers (tariff Ilia for Aig. Septentrionale, IVa for Aig. Centrale; special

tariff for Aig. Meridionale, see p. 463). They all afford superb views. The
Aiguille Septentrirmale, Petit-Jean, or Foii'rchn (10,990 ft.), takes I'/o hr.

of climbing from the Col des xViguilles-d'Arves (p. 466); there is no very
serious difficulty except for the ascent of the higher pinnacle. Another
way up is from the Col des Sarrasins (about 10.170 ft.).— The Aiguille
Centrale, Gros-Jean, or Pointu (11,525 ft.), the most difficult on the whole,
takes 2^/4 hrs. from base to summit. — The Aiguille Jleridionale, Jean-
Jean, or Gros-Ro7id (11,530 ft.; first ascent in 1878 by the Rev. W. A. B.
Coolidge with the guides Aimer; 2 hrs. from the Col Lombard), attracts

champion climbers from every quarter. Xear the top we pass the foot
of a wall of rock and then scale it with the aid of a rope ; lastly comes
the Mai/vais Pas, crossing a fissure or 'cascade petrifiee'. — The two
Aiguilles de la Saussaz (10,840 and 10,895 ft.), S. of the Col Lombard, are

ascended thence in 3 hrs. (tariff Ila).

**To St-Christophe over the Col de la Lauze (Glacier

du Mont-de-La?isj, O^/g-lO hrs. from La Grave, v^-ith descent via

the Lac Xoir; or ibi/g-H brs. via the Sella valley. The glacier
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presents little or no difficulty as far as the col or even on the Lac

Noir route. Tariff lib. To the (^/4 hr.) Chalets de Chalvachere,

see p. 463. We continue to ascend S.W., through larch-forest, to

the Chalets de Puy-Vacher, and, leaving to the left the pretty lake

of that name (7825 ft.), to the (3 hrs.) Chalet-Refuge Evariste-

Chancel (8230 ft. ; bed 2, L. or D. 4 fr.), where the bridle-path ends.

Then up loose rocks, still S.W., leaving the Glacier du Lac on the

left, to the (11/4 hr.) Col du Lac (about 9680 ft.); or else we may
ascend S,, over the Glacier du Vallon, to the (1 hr.) Col des JRuil-

lants (10,550 ft.), at the foot of i\v& Rdteau (p. 454; 8^/2 hrs. from

La Grave; tariff lYa). Lastly, we ascend the upper part of the

Glacier de la Girose (crevassed) to the (1^2 '^r.) '^Col de la Lauze
(11,625 ft.; p. 452).

From the Refuge Evariste-Chancel we may ascend, S.W., the Peyrou-
d'Aval (about 8860 ft. ; 1 hr.), steep, but not difficult; or, S.E., the Peyrou-
(Z'^m(wi< (9390 ft. ; 2 hrs.; view), likewise without difficulty. From the

refuge we may descend to the Chalets de Chalvachere (3 hrs.; see above),

by the C'oZ de Pacave (about 9850 ft.), S.W. of the Peyrou-d'Amont (fairly

easy; view of tlie Meije glaciers).

To La Berarde. — Over the Col du Clot-des-Cavales, about
9 hrs. from the Befuge de I'Alpe (p. 463), easier than in the reverse direction

(p. 457), but rather longer. Tariff lib.
Over the Breche de la Meije, IO-IOV2 hrs. from La Grave, rather

difficult at first, especially near the end of summer. Tariff III b. We ascend
through the Vallon de Chalvachere, S., to the Glacier de la Meije, N.W.
of the Pic Occidental, and (2 hrs.) Les Enfetchores (7545 ft.), a rocky arete

in the glacier. Scaling it (8 hrs.), and crossing a fissure, we reach the
(13/4-2 hrs.) Breche de la Meije (11,015 ft.; p. 457). Descent to La Bdrarde
via the 0^/4 hr.) Refuge du Promontoire, see pp. 457, 455. — Other cols, see

p. 457.

To Ailefroide (yallouise). — OvER the Col Emile-Pic, 9-io hrs.

from the Refuge de I'Alpe (p. 463), easy enough for alpinists, unless too

late in summer. Tariff III a. From the Glacier de la Plate-des-Agncaux
(lV2br.; p. 463) we mount broken rocks, E., to the right bank of the

(IV2 hr.) Glacier des Agneaux and to the (2-3 hrs.) Col Emile-Pic
(11,420 ft.), S.W. of tlie Pic de Neige-Cordier (p. 461). Beyond the col we
obtain a glorious *View of the Glacier Blanc and the Ecrins. The Refuge
Ernest-Caron (p. 462) is 1 hr. S.W. of the col. Descent (p. 462) to the
Glacier Blanc ^! 2 \\T., then to the Refuge Tuckett I-IV4 hr., to the Refuge
Cezanne 2 hrs., to Ailefroide 1/2 hr., and to Vallouise l^U hr. — Oveij tue
Col du Glacier-Blakc (10,855 ft.), 8-9 hrs. from the Refuge de TAlpe
(p. 463), difficult at first, over the Glacier d'Arsine (p. 468; tariff Ilia).
Descent by the superb Glacier Blanc to the Refuge 2'uckett, see p. 462.

From the col we may ascend, in 20 min., the ^Pic signale. 33.55' (11,005 ft.),

with a splendid *Vie\v.

To St-Jean-d'Arves Over the Col de l'Infernet, 8 hrs.

from La Grave, road and mule-tracks; guide useful as far as the col;

tariff I. "We ascend to (3/4 hr.) Le t'hazelet (path to the Plateau d'Emparis to

the left, and to the Col de Martignare to the right, see pp. 463, 466); then
N.W. via Les RiveU, tlie (l^/^ iir.) Baraques des Salomons, and the (V2 hr.)

Baraques de la Bvlfe (6400 ft.). The Col de l'Infernet (8825 ft.) is a

slight depression, 4V2 brs. from La Grave, E. of the Pic du Mas-de-la-
Grave (9920 ft.; l'/2hr.; easy). *View very striking. Tlio path descends
N. to (2>/2 hrs.) Eidraigues, and then ascends to (IV4 hr.) St-Jean-d'Arves
(p. .863). — Over THE OoL de MARTioNAitE, 73/4 hrs., mulo-tra'^ks except on
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the col; tariff I. From (3/4 hr.) Le C'haselet (p. 463) we ascend N. by
La C'hal and the right side of a valley headed by the (31/4 hr.) Col de
Martignare (about 8530 ft.; view), W. of the Aig. du Goleon and de la

Saussaz (p. iM). We descend to the right (view), and below the (1 hr.)

Granges de la Saussaz join the preceding route.— Over the Col Lombard,
10 hrs., path except on the col; tariff II a. The path diverges from the

Le Lautaret road bevoud the first tunnel and passes Ventelon (about ^/^ hr.

;

p. 463), Les Hieres "(1/4 hr. ; 5805 ft.), and Pramelie?- (1/2 tr. ; 6070 ft.). It

then enters a wild valley to the left. In front are the Aig. d'Arves.
Farther on we cross the lower Glacier Lombard (easy), and pass the

(2 hrs.) ruins of the Refuge du Lyon-Repuhlicain (about 7870 ft.) to the

(21/4 hrs.) Col Lombard (10,120 ft.), 5^/4 hrs. from La Grave, between,
S. and X., the Aig. de la Saussaz and d'Arves (p. 464). This pass was
crossed by Marshal cTe Yillars and his troops in 1708. Descent to the

(IV2 hr.) Chalets du Rieu-Blanc (7350 ft.), and ascent thence to (2^/4 hrs.)

the Col des Aiguilles-d'Arves (about 10,335 ft.), between the Aig. Centrale
and Septentrionale (p. 464). We descend past several chalets to (I1/2 hr-)

the ValUe de VArvette, where we join the two preceding routes.

V. Excursions from. Le Lautaret.

The Col du Lautaret (p. 438) may serve as a base for several

of the La Grave (p. 462) and Le Mouetier (p. 467) excursions.

Guides are obtained from one of these centres (same tariffs).— The
Chalet-Refuge de VAlpe (p. 463), the only refuge near Le Lautaret, is reached
in 2 hrs. by the 'Sentier des Crevasses', rather giddy at places, which
rounds the Pyramide de Laurichard (see below) and joins the path from
Tillar-d'Arene above the Pas de I'Ane-a-Falque (p. 463).— Excursions from
the refuge, common to Le Lautaret and La Grave : Pic de Xeige du Lauta-
ret, Pic Gaspcu'd, Grande-Ruine, to La Berarde over the Col du Clot-des-

Cavales, and to Ailefroide over the Cols Emile-Pic and du Glacier-Blanc.

Pyramide de Laurichard (9105 ft.; 21/2 hrs., easy; guide useful).

We ascend, S.W.. the valley of the Le Lautaret torrent to the (2 hrs.) Col
de Laurichard (8725 ft.), and to the top in V2 hr. by the S. arete. Fine
view. AVe may descend to the Refuge de VAljje (p. 463) in I1/2 hr.

Pics de Com.beynot {Sommet Centred, 10,350 ft.; Sommet Est,

10,320 ft.). S. of the Col, 33/4 hrs. , without difficulty; tariff II a. We
ascend S. to a (1 hr.) ridge, which we follow to (20 min.) the foot of the

peak; then ascend, W., a steep snow-slope to the (2 hrs.) Breche de Com-
heynot (9515 ft.). The central peak may be scaled thence in 1/4 hr. and
the E. peak in 35 min. *Panorama, extending to Mont Blanc. The cirque

in front is formed by the Pelvoux range, with the great glaciers of

Arsiue, Plate-des-Agneaux, and Clot-des-Cavales. From the Breche we
may descend S.E. to the pretty little Lac de Comheijnot (8385 ft.), and
at (21/2 hrs.) Le Fontenil (p. 439) join the Briangon road.

RoctLe du Grand-Galibier (10,635 ft.), E. of the route to the col

of that name; 41/0 hrs., easy; tariff Ila. We ascend X., by a path cut-

ting off the zigzags of the road, to {^1^ hr.) La JIandette (p. 467); then,

right, to the S.E. arete, which we climb to the left to the top. Superb
*Yiew.— The Roche du Petit-Galibier (9285 ft.), W. of the route, whence
it is scaled in 50 min., affords another tine view.

La Part, or Pic des Trois-Eveches (10,235 ft.), 4-41/2 hrs., no difficulty;

tariff Ila. Up the valley of the Torrent de Roche-Xoire, X., from the head
of which we ascend the crest to one peak (10,160 ft.), then to the higher.
Splendid ^Panorama. The peak marks the point where the bishoprics of

Grenoble, Gap, and St-Jean-de-Maurienne meet.

To St- Michel -de-Mauriexne ovek the Col du Galibieb,

26^2 M.; motor-omn. (1st July-1.5th Sept.) in 3 hrs. 35 min., back
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in 5 brs. 5 min. (16 fr. 40 c). This section of the Route des Alpes

(p. 340), the direct route between the Dauphine Alps and Savoy,

is one of the highest roads in Europe. It branches to the left from

the Briangon road IV4 M. from Le Lautaret and ascends, N., in steep

zigzags. We pass the chalet of (21/2 M.) La Mandette (p. 466).

Splendid view. Beyond a blockhouse we pass through (5 M. from

Le Lautaret) a tunnel (8385 ft.), 415 yds. long, W. of the Col du
Galibier (8725 ft.), between the Petit and the Grand Galibier

(p. 466). View still finer from the col itself, over which runs the old

road (recommended to walkers; good view-indicator).— Passing the

Chalets and then the Granges du Galibier, we descend to the

(91/2 M.) Pont de l'Achat (7035 ft. ; refuge) and cross the Valloirette.

Paths to the Col de la Ponsonniere and Col des Rochilles, see pp. 469,

468, and 447. To the E. rises the limestone crest of the JRochers

de la Grande-Fare (9740 ft.). Descending the valley we see the

Aig. d'Arves (p. 464) up the second valley to the left.— 12^/2 M.
Bonnemiit (about 5580 ft.). — l^^U M. Les Verneys (aub.). —
151/., M. Valloire (4605 ft.; Gr.-H6t. de Valloire & du Galibier,

R. from 2V2, B. 1, L. or D. 31/2, ?• fi'om 7 f r. ; Hot. des Alpes;

guide, F. J. Maguin), a large, finely situated village an?l a summer
resort. (Omn. to St-Michel 4 fr.)

From Valloire we may reach La Grave (about IOV2 hrs.) viS, the Col
du GoUon (9i50 ft. ; view). We cross the Valloirette, 20 min. S. of Bonne-
uuit (see above), and ascend the dale of the Gol^on by a rough path,
past Les Losettes, to the (6 hrs.) col. Easy descent over pastures.— Ascents
from Valloire (guide, see above): Pointe de la Grande-C'hible (9635 ft.;

41/2 hrs. W.; easy; view); Aiguille de VEpoissetir (10,635 ft.; 51/2 hrs.

S.W. ; splendid view, especially of the Aig. d'Arves).

About 3^2 M. farther we pass the Fort du Telegraphe (5250 ft.

;

no adm.). Beyond a tunnel the road descends in windings; to the

right, at the first bend, are several 'colonnes coifFees' (p. 442). The
old road, to the left, Y2 ^^- Ijeyond the tunnel, is much shorter.

Superb view of the Arc valley, with St-Michel below us, backed

by the Grand-Perron des Encombres (p. 383). The road descends

through woods and crosses the Neuvadie, the Arc, and the railway.

— 261/2M. St-Micliel-de-Maurienne (p. 363).

VT. Excursions from Le Mondtier.

Le Monetier-les-Bains (p. 439) is a centre for excursions in

the S^gu7'et-Faran, an offshoot of the Pelvoux.
GnoEs' Tariff. Rate I (see p. 448): 1/2 (^av, guide 5, porter 4 fr.

;

1 day, 8 and 6 fr. Rate II: 1 day, 12 and 8fr."; IV2 day, 18 and 12 fr.;

2 days, 22 and 15 Ir. Rate III : 1 day, 16 and 10 fr. ; l'/2 ilay, 22 and 14 fr.

;

2 days, 27 and 18 fr. Return-fee 3-7 fr.

To the Fics de Comheynot and the Grand-Galibier, see p. 466.

To THE Chalet-Refuge de l'Alpe over the Col d'Arsine

(5 lirs.
;
guide needless; mule to the col 12 fr.), a rough mule-track,

but the shortest way to tlie Meije and Ecrins. We follow the Le
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Lautaret road to (Y2 ^^•) Le Casset (p. 439) aud asceud the valley

of the Petit-Tahuc to the left, skirting (right aud leftj the Mon-
tague clu Yallon and the Montague de Ste-Marguerite (^8500 ft.).

On the left we sight the Glacier da Casset, backed by the Montague

des Agueaux (see below). Beyond the (l\/2 hr.) Lac de la Douche

(5805 ft.) we have a steep ascent to a cirque, with three lakelets

and the (IV2 br-) Chalets d'Arshie (7180 ft.). The path turns S.W.,

towards the large Glacier d^Arsine, dominated by the Montague

des Agneaux (left) and the Pic de Xeige-Cordier (p. 461; right), and

ascends to (Yo hr.) the Col d'Arsine (7875 ft.), whence we descend,

N.W., to (1 hr.) the Refuge de VAlpe (p. 463).

Pic des Pr6s-le.s-ForLds (11,035 ft. ; 6 hrs. S.W. ; fairly easy), the

highest peak visible from Le Moiietier. We ascend, S., to the (1 hr.) huts

of Les Grangettes, in the pretty Vallon du Tahnc, then to the right over

pastures and debris to tlie (IV2 ^^•) Olaciei' des Pr4s-les-Fonds, which we
mount to the X. arete, a little below the (£1/4 hrs.) Col des Pres-les-Fond8

(10.500 ft.). Thence I1/2 hr. to the top. We may descend by the W.
arete to the Col du Casset (about 10,760 ft.), and by the Glacier du
Momtier to the (1 hr.) Vallon du Tabue, I1/4 hr. from Le Monetier.

To THE Lac de l'Eychauda (41/.2 hrs., fairly easy; tariff I). To Les
Grangettes. 1 hr., see above. Then to the left (S.) up to the (2^/4 hrs.) Col
des Grangettes (8720 ft.), or, more E., to the (3 hrs.) Col de Montagnolle,
or Pas de VYret (about 8940 ft.), between the Rocher de Montagnolle
(9335 ft. ; right) and the Rocher de V Yret (9360 ft. ; left). We descend in

1/2 hr. to the Lac de rEychauda (8450 ft.), 1/2 M. long by 1/4 M. broad,

in a wild region. The lake washes the base of the Glacier de Seguret-

Foran and often contains floating ice. Skirting the left bank of the Torrent
de VEychaiida, through a gorge flanked on the X.E. by the Rocher de

I'Yret (see above), we join in 1 lir. the path from Le Monetier to Yallouise

(see below). — Col de St^guret-Foran, see p. 461.

Dome du Monetier (about 10,500 ft.; 7 hrs., not difficult; tariff III).

Ascent bv the Vallon du Tabuc. Fine view.—Montagne des Agneaux
or des Ti-ois-Sceurs (12.020 ft.; 6i/o-7 hrs., not very difficult; guide 27 fr.).

About 6 hrs. to the Col Tuckett (about 11,480 ft.), S.E. of the peak, above

the Glacier du Monetier: then a climb of 1/2 hr. to the top. Superb *View
of the Ecrins.— The Col Tuckett aud Col Jeaii-Gaidhier (about 10,660 ft.;

tariff III), farther S.E., two difficult passes, lead to Yallouise via the

Refuge Tuckett (p. 462).

To Yallouise over the Col de l'Eychauda (6^2 lirs,, mule-

track; tariff I; mule 10 fr. to the col). We ascend the valley of the

Torrent de Corvaria, parallel to the Vallon du Tabuc on the E,

On the left rises the Croix de la Cucvmelle (8850 ft.), a fine

view-point (1 hr. from the Col de l'Eychauda). The (3 hrs.) Col
de l'Eychauda or de Yallouise (8025 ft.) lies between the Croix

de la Cucumelle and the Roches des Neyzets (9030 ft.). We de-

scend into the Vallon de l'Eychauda and pass Rieou-la-Selle,

Fourchier, Charnhran (5580 ft.), Les Chotdi&res, and (21/2 hrs.)

Les Claux, ^j^ hr. from Yallouise (p. 459).
To Valloire over the Col de la Ponsoxxiere (7 hrs. ; tariff I). We

follow the Le Lautaret road to (4 M.) Le Latizet (p. 439), and then ascend
on the left bank of the Rif to the Chalets de VAlp, the Lac, and the

(3 hrs.) Col de la Ponsonniere, between the Pic de la Ponsonniere
(9925 ft.) and Roche du Grajid-Galihier (p. 466) on the left, and the

Pic de la Monliniere (10,045 ft.) on the right. Descent of 1 hr., by the
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Chalets des Mottes, to the Pont de VAchat (p. 467), on the road to Val-
Ioire{]^. 467). — Beyond the col we may digress, 1 hr. N.E., to the pretty
Lac des Cerces (about 7710 ft.), and thence scale the Pointe des Verces
(10,435 ft. ; 21/2 hrs. from the lake).

To Xevache over the Col de Buffers (4V2-5 hrs. ; bridle-path
;
guide

needless; mule to the col 12 fr.), unattractive. We follow the Briangon
road to Les Guibertes (p. 439). At (V2 hr.) Le Freyssijiet, a little beyond
it, we ascend to a house above on the left. In I1/4 hr. we reach Pny-
Freyssinet (left), and in II/4 hr. more the Col de Buffere (7975 ft.),

between rocky peaks. During the ascent there is a fine view of the Pelvoux
behind us, but on the other side we see nothing but bare peaks. We
descend to the (2/4 hr.) Chalets de Buffere and, by a rough path, to (3/4 hr.)

the valley of the Clairee; beyond it lies Lacou, a hamlet of Nevache,
the main parts of which are 10-20 min. lower (p. 447).

Ascent of the Grand-Area, via St-Chaffrey, see pp. 439, 44(5.

62. Vallee du Guii. Queyras. Monte Viso.

I. From Mont-Dauphin-Guillestre to Abries.
22 M. Motor-omu. from 15th June to 30th Sept. twice daily, in 21/4 hrs.

(« fr.); to Chdtean-Qiteyras in 1 hr. 35 min. (6 fr.).— Motor-omn. to Aiguilles,

Arvieux, and Brianqon (Route des Alpes), see pp. 341, 446.

Mont-Dauphin-Guillestre station, see p. 445. — 2 M. Guil-

lestre (3115 ft.; Hot. Inibert, good), an ancient little town. The
church (16th cent.) has a porch like that of Enibrun (p. 444).

Near the town, on the heights behind Vallouise (p. 459), are several
fine points of view. — On the banks of tlie Guil, 20 min. from the town, to

the left of the Abries road, is the Charri^re, or Rue des Masques, a

curious natural corridor formed by a huge fallen rock.

From Guillestre to St-Paul-sur-Ubaye, 17 M., a section of the Route
des Alpes (p. 341), motor-omn. in 2'V4 hrs. The road, the easiest route from
the (xuil valley to that of tlie Ubaye, enters the valley of the Chagne, S.E.,
passing Fa7'S (6 M. ; 5445 ft. ; aub.j. Then by the (10V..M. ) Refuge National
(telephone) and the (12 M.) Col de Vars (6940 ft.) 'into the Ubaye valley
and to (17 M.) St-Paul (p. 443).

From Guillestre to Maljasset over the Col des Houbrts, 10 hrs.,

fatiguing, but attractive: up the Chagne valley (see above), then to the
left up that of the Rioubel to (3 hrs.) the deserted hamlet of Kscreins
(about 6040 ft.), beyond which a guide is required. The Col des Eouerts
(about 9020 ft.) is 3 hrs. farther (E.); descent N.E. to (1^/4 hr.) Maljasset
(p. 443).— The ascent of the Pointe de la Font-Sancte (11,055 ft.

;

view), the chief peak of the Queyras, is made from Escreins, rather diffi-

cult at one point (7-8 hrs. ; with guide; superb *Panorama).

The Vallee du Guil, the chief artery of the Queyras, be-

comes very interesting V /^ M. from Guillestre. The old road, the

'Route de la Viste', ascends to a great height, the Pelvou.\ rising

grandly behind. The new road leads direct to the *Combe du
Queyras, a wild defile between lofty rocks, through which the

road is carried by means of embankments and tunnels. Opposite

rises the Crete de Catinat, with the Roc Saphie (8055 ft.).

572^1- La Maison-du-Roi (3445 ft.; aub.), so called from a

royal privilege once granted to the innkeeper, lies at the mouth of

the pretty Combe de Ceillac, watered by the Cristillan.
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From La Maison-di>Roi to Maljasset, visl the Col de Girardin
(53/4 hrs.) or the Col de Tronchet (5 brs.)- Guide hardly needed in fine

weather. We pass (5 M.) Ceillac (5350 ft. ; aub.; route to Chateau-Queyras
via the Col du Fromage, see below). Then to the right, up the Melezet
valley, to CV4-I hr.) St-Claude (5905 ft.), where the routes separate. The
path to the right ascends past the (2^/4 hrs.) Lac Ste-Anne (7935 ft.;

chapel), X.E. of the Font-Sancte (p. 469), to the (I1/4 hr.) Col de Girardin
(8855 ft.), 1 hr. above 2Ialjasset (p. 443). — The path by the other valley
leads past a fine waterfall to (21/2 hrs.) the Col de Tronchet (8745 ft.),

11/4 hr. from Mcdjasset (p. 443).

The road crosses the stream several times.— 10 M. Le Veyer.
— 10^/2 M. La Chapelue. Then a defile, beyond which the road

winds up to a small col overlooking the Combe d'Arvieux, where
the road to Briancon over the Col d'Izoard descends (p. 446; Route

des Alpes).

141/2 M. Chateau-Queyras (4395 ft.; Hot. Puy-Cot, des

Voyageurs), with its old Castle on a hill, is most picturesquely

situated. In the background rises the Bric-Bouchet (p. 471).
The Sommet Bucher (7415 ft.). 3 hrs. S.E., is ascended by a military

road (view). To the right is the fine Vcdlee de Brainousse, by which
one may ride in 6 hrs. to Ceillac (see above). The path crosses the Petit
Col du Fromage (7445 ft.), reached also in 1 hr. from Molines (see

below). Aiiniiiable *View : to the N. are the MameUes (8590 and 8930 ft.),

two limestone pinnacles (for experts only; lV2hr.; guide 12 or 18 fr.); to

the S. the Chaine de Ceillac, witli the Savme (10,510 ft.) and the Henvieres
(10,730 ft.), with steep glaciers.

From Chateau-Queyras to Briancon, see p. 446.

The road again skirts the GuiL— 16 M. Ville-Vieille (4520 ft.;

Hot. Meyer, plain), at the mouth of the valley of the Aigue-Agnelle,

or Aigue-Blanche.
A road ascends here to (3V2 M.) Molines-en-Qii.eyras (about 5740 ft.;

aub.). Downstream, on the opposite bank, is a group of 'colonnes coiffees'

(p. 442). of which, however, only one has remained intact. Behind us
rises the Pic de Rochebrune (p. 416). The Petit Col du Fromage and the
Mamelles, S.AV. of Molines, are hidden. The road forks at Molines. To the
right is (31/2 M.) St-Veran (6560 ft.; Hot. Fine, plain; guide, see p. 471), the
highest village in France; then over either the Col de St-Veran (9330 ft.)

or the Col Blanchet (9545 ft.) to (8 or 81/2 hrs.) Casteldelfino (see below).
To the S.W. of the latter col rises the Tete des Toillies (p. 443), S.E.
of which is the Col de la Noire (about 8860 ft.), 4^/4 hrs. from St-Yeran,
the usual pass from this side to (31/2 hrs.) Maljasset (p. 443). — C'oZ de
I^onget, see p. 443.

A path to the left bevond Molines ascends via Pierre-Grosse and
(1 hr.) Fongillarde (6430 ft".; aub.) to (2i/t hrs.) the Col Agnel (about
8850 ft.), 1/2 hr. short of which is an old refuge, now a gendarmerie station.

The col lies S.W. of the Pain-de-Sucre (see below). We descend the Varaita
valley, in view of Monte Yiso, to (41/4 hrs.) Casteldelfino, or Chateau-
Dauphin (4255 ft.; Hot. de France), a little town exchanged with Piedmont
in 1713 for Barcelonnette (p. 442). We may return into France via the
Col de Valante, whence Monte Viso may be scaled (p. 472). — The
Aiguillette, or Pain-de-Sucre (10,505 ft.), to the X.E. of the Col Agnel,
may be ascended in 2 hrs. (easy; view). — Farther otf is the Pic Asti
(10,395 ft.), whose crumbling rocks make the ascent difiicult.— The Grande-
Aiguillette (10,815 ft.; 3 hrs.; fairly easy; view) also is ascended from
the Col Agnel. — Farther off (3 hrs.) is the Col de Valante (p. 472). —From
the Col Agnel we may return to the Vallee du Guil via the (i/.^ hr.) Col
Vieux (8985 ft.) and the Vallon de Foreant
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181/2 M. Aiguilles (4755 ft.; Graud-Hotel, Hot. du Commerce)
is a thriving village, whose inhabitants often seek their fortune in

America. Motor-onm. to Briancon and Barcelonnette (Route des

Alpes), see p. 341, 446.

22 M. Abries (5090 ft., Grand-Hotel, R. 5-8, B. 11/4, L. 31/2,

D. 4, wine extra, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. de la Poste. du Mont-Viso,

plainer!, the principal place in the upper part of the Guil valley

and a summer resort, has a fine Romanesque church and an old

covered market. On the N. slope is a Calvary. Fine larch-forests.

GoDES. Ant. Yeritier, of Abries: Abr. Isnel, of St-Veran (p. 470);
Ant. Albert (skieur), of Ristolas (see below).

The Vallon du Bouchet ascends N. , then E., to (1 hr.) Le Roiix
(5795 ft.), and forms the pretty Combe de Valjvevei/re. At the Chalets
de Valpreveyre (6100 ft.). 3i/> M. from Abries, the smiling Yalloii d' Urine
diverges S.E. to the CoJ d' Urine (8.S25 ft.). From this side is made the
fatiguing, but easy ascent of the conical T6te de Pelvas, or Faravas,
or Brie d' Urine {96S5 h.; 51/., hrs. from Abries: guide 8 or 11 fr. ; superb
*View). Or we mav ascend it in 5 hrs. by the (2'/., hrs.) Collette de Jdy,
S.E. of the Jihi m\b ft.^. — At the head of the Bouchet valley, on the
frontier, rises the Bric-Bouchet, or Fointe Boucier (9940 ft. ; 51/0 lirs.

from Abries; difficult; guide 12 or 1 8fr.). The route is via Valpreveyre
and the (5 hrs.) Fassette (94.S5 ft.).— From Le Roux (see above) we may
ascend X., via (V2 hr.) La Mo7itette (6075 ft.), at the head of another valley
running E. to the Col St-Martin or d''Ahriis (8695 ft.). The ascent thence
of the Bric-Froid, or Fointe Ramiere (10,860 ft.), on the frontier, is easy
enough (6 hrs. from Abries; guide 8 or 11 fr.; *View). — A path leads
from La Montette N.W. over the (31/4 brs.) Col des Turres (9220 ft.) to

TurreSf Bousson, and (5 hrs.) Cesanne (p. 447).

n. From Abries to Monte Viso.
The road goes on, S.E., through the Vallee du (Tui^ for 3 M. beyond

L'Echalp (see below), leading to several cols crossed by paths.

The road leads to (2 M.) Ristolas (5360 ft.), La Monta (1 1/2 M.

;

5445 ft.; aub.), and (1 M.) L'Echalp (5560 ft.).

From a point between La Monta and L'Echalp a path leads N.E. to

the Col Lacroix (3V2 Its. from Abries; 7610 ft.), near which there is an
old refuge, now a gendarmerie station (7545 ft.). Grand view of Monte
Viso and the Val Pellice. Descent in IV4 hr. to the Albergo Ciabotta del
Frd (5685 ft.) and (2i/o hrs.) the little town of Bobbio Fellice (2400 ft.

;

Hot. Flora, good), on the Pellice, in the chief of the Vaudois Valleys,
which Waldensian immigrants from France have occupied for 600 years.
Torre Fellice (1695 ft.; Hot.-Pens. Bel-Air, good; pop. 4016), 6 M. from
Bobliio (omn.; railway projected), is connected by railway with (lO^/j M.)
Finerolo and (34 M.) Turin. See Baedeker's N.' Italy.

Another path, S.W. of L'Echalp, ascends tlie opposite slope to the
Alpe de la M6dille (about 6330 ft. ; 2Vv! hrs. from Ahries; mule 6-10 fr.),

pastures framed with larches and pines, witli superb views of Monte Viso
and the Roche-Taillante. The same path (guide-post) goes on to the(i:V4 hr.)

Lac Egourg^on and (1 hr.) Lac Foreant. From the former climbers may
ascend the curious Roche-Taillante (10,500 ft.; 2'/^ hrs., not difficult;

guide 12 or 18 fr.), whose W. slope is covered with huge slabs of schist.

The road ends 3 M. farther up the Vallee du Guil. The path

to the Travcrsetle diverges to the left, 4 hrs. from Abries.
About 1 hr. from the fork is the Bergerie du Grand-Vallon (7780 ft.);

then (Viihr.) the Rrpuje Ballif-Viso (8115 ft.; keeper), and (I'/a hr.) the
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Col de la Traversette (9680 ft. : rich flora), on the N. of -which is a

tunnel bored in 1478-80.— To the X.W. rises the Pic de la Traverse
(9760 ft.; ascent, free from danger. li/>-2 hrs. from the refuge: guide from
Abries 8-14 fr.). To the X.E. is the Granero (10,400 ft.; 3 4-I hr. from
the col, easy). The Meidassa (10,185 ft.: V-'.y hr. from the col, still easier)

affords nearly the same splendid *View of Monte Yiso and the plains of

Piedmont, especially in the early morning.— From the col v\e descend on
the Italian side, passing near the Source of the Pu, to the (2 hrs.) Piati
del Re (6625 ft. ; Alb. Alpino ; to Monte Yiso, see below), the Pian Jlelze

(5780 ft.: Alb. della Regina), and, passing the beautiful Caverna del Rio
2Iartino (4955 ft. : 3 ^ hr. from Crissolo

;
guide 5 fr.), to the village of Cris-

solo, or Crussol (4375 ft.; Alb. della Corona, del Gallo
;

guides). Omn.
twice daily in summer to (6M.) Paesana; tramway thence to (41/2M.) Barge;
railway thence to Pinerolo and Turin (371/2 M.). See Baedeker's N. Italy.

The path to the head of the Guil valley crosses the Col de

Yalante (9170 ft.), 4 hrs. from the fork, and descends to (3V4 hrs.)

Casteldelfino q). 470). To the left of the col is the Punta Gastaldi

(10,725 ft.; IV2 hr., difficult; guide from Abries 18 or 22 fr.) ; to

the right is the Cime de la Lauzette (see below). Farther off are the

Petit-Mont-Viso, or Yisolotto 1 11.000 ft.), and Monte Yiso itself.

*Monte Viso (12,600 ft.), on Italian territory, the Mons Vesulus of

Pliny and Virgil, the highest of the Cottian Alps', first ascended by W.
Mathews and J. W. Jacomb in 1861, is very difficult by the N.E. or N.W.
face, but fairly easy on the S. or E. side (guide 25-35 fr.). Its isolated

position and its enormous walls of rock give it a most striking appearance.
From Crissolo (see above) the bridle-path ascends to the (i/* hr.) Pian del Re
(see above) and the (4 hrs.) Rifugio-Albergo Quinti7io Sella of the Italian

Alpine Club (8695 ft. ; open in summer). E. of the Lac Grand du Mont
Viso. We then cross the (1 hr.) Passo delle Sagnette (9760 ft.) to the

(1/2 hr.) old Rifugio Quintino Sella (9845 ft.), in the Val delle Forciolline

:

lastly up couloirs and over loose rooks to the top in 31/2 hrs. The superb
*Panorama embraces Mont Blanc and Monte Rosa, the Dauphine Alps,
the plains of the Po, the Mediterranean, etc., but is rarely clear except
very early in the morning.

Grand view of Monte Viso from the Cime de la Lauzette, or Pointe
Joanne (9955 ft.). "W. of the Col de Valante (see above). The ascent, difficult

on this side, is easy from the Guil valley: we mount towards the Col
de la Lauzette or de Soiistre (9625 ft.), on the slope opposite the Col de
Valante, then bear to the left on the snow to the X. C'^ hr. : guide from
Abries 8-14 fr.).

63. From Grenoble to Digne.
123 M. RAI1.WAY in 7-81/4 hrs. (22 fr. 15, 14 fr. 95, 9 fr. 75 c).

From Grenoble to (681/2 M.) Yeynes (change trains), see

pp. 439-441. The train runs back 2^/2 M. to the Buech valley, and

descends.— 721/, M. Pont-de-Chahestan. Fine view to the right.

To the left is the village of La BtUie-MontsaUon.
17^12^1.. Serres (2200ft.; Hot. des Yoyageurs), a small town

on a steep rock above the Buech. ^— The scenery becomes more
southern in character. Almond-trees and olives appear.— 87 M.
Laragne (Hot. Moderne). Fine views, farther on, of the snowy
peaks of the Pelvoux.— 91V2 M. Mison (2000 ft.). The Buech is

crossed bv a loftv curved viaduct, near the Durance (to the left).

I
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99 M. Sisteron (1580 ft.; Touring-Hotel, opposite the station,

R. from 21/2, L- 3, D. Si/^ fr.; Hot. Yassail, des Acacias; pop. 3575),

the ancient Segustero, lies picturesquely at the confluence of the

Buech and Durance, dominated b)^ its grand old Citadel. The town

was fortified by Urban Y. in 1364, to which period its towers

belong. The church of Notre-Dame dates from the llth-12th cen-

turies. Sisteron has a large trade in almonds.
Extensive view from the Mollard, 3/4 hr. E. — The Mont de la

Baume (3770 ft.) is scaled in 2 hrs. by a steep path. To the N. of it a

road leads N.E., through the defile of Pierre-Ecrite (Roman inscription)

to (81/2 M.) St-Geniez and (16 M.) Feissal. To the S. of St-Geniez is (1/2 hr.)

the Rocher de Drornan, with vestiges of a Celtic camp (view).— The
Signal de Lure (5995 ft.; 7 hrs., fatiguing; with guide), the highest
point of a long isolated ridge, S.W. of Sisteron. commands an immense
view. We follow a road, to the right of the Marseilles road, to the valley
of the Jabron, cross the river (51/2 M.), and ascend via the Pos de la Combe
(1 hr.), Pas des Partes (1 hr.), and Jas de Madame (V2hr.; forester's

house), through beautiful pine-woods, to (2 hrs.) the top.

The train descends the right bank of the Durance. Views to

the left.— 106^/2 M. Chdieau-Arnoux-Volonne. On the opposite

bank (suspension-bridge) lies Volonne, above which is a ruined

11th cent, castle.

109^2 M- St-Auban (1390 ft.), at the confluence of the Durance
and Bleone. We leave the Marseilles line (R. 70; change trains).

The Digne branch ascends the right bank of the Bleone.—

•

112 M. Mcdijai. Far away, to the right, rises the Montagne de

St-Michel-de-Cousson (p. 580). On our left is the Chdteau de

Fontenelles. The valley is headed bv a cirque of mountains nearly

10,000 ft. high.

123 M. Digne (1955 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Remusat, good, R. 2-4,

B. 1, L. 2V2, !>• 3, P. 6-10 fr.; Hot. Boyer-Mistre, du Grand-

Paris; Syndicat d'Initiative, 58 Boul. Gassendi; pop. 7317), the

Roman Dinia, capital of the department of the Basses-Alpes, lies

picturesquely on the Bleone. The town suflered terribly in the Reli-

gious Wars and from the plague of 1629. The P.L.M. and Sud

stations are on the right bank. We cross the Bleone, near the

influx of the Eaux-Chaudes (see below), to the fine Boul. Gassendi,

which passes a square adorned with a statue of Gassendi (1592-

1655), philosopher and mathematician. On a hill beyond is the

Cathedral of St-Jer6me, mainly of the 15th cent., with a modern
Gothic portal. Farther on, to the right of the boulevard, is the

Musee of natural history and paintings. At the end of the boulevard,

on the right, is a handsome foimtain. Beyond, on tlie left, is the

Romanesque cliurch of Notre-Dame-du-Boury (12th-13th cent.),

with a fine nave, retaining traces of frescoes (15th-16th cent.). It

is now the cemetery chapel (apply to keeper).
To the E., in the valley of the Eaux-Chaudes, is (2 M. ; omn. 50 c.)

a small EtahJ issnnent Thei'mal, with copious sulphur-springs (95-111°)
used ill the treat inciit of rheumatism, ])aralyRis, et(^
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The Basses-Alpes are less interesting than the Alps of Savoy and
Dauphine, while the summers are hot and the inns often poor. The hills

are mostly bare and furrowed with gorges, but here and there are spots

of striking beauty.
From Digue to Annot and Nice, see p. 578: to Cavaillon (Avignon),

see p. 519.

From Digse to Bakcelonnette, 52 M., omn. at night in II1/2 hrs.

(8 fr.); also motor-omn., by dav. to Sevne {2'^!^ hrs. ; 6 fr.). The road ascends
the valley of the Bleone. —91/2 M. La Javie (2665 ft. ; two inns). — 141/2 M.
Pied-du-Lahouret (good aub.). To the W. rises 3Iont BJayeul (7190 ft.;

view). We then cross the Vol de Labourct (3990 ft.; fine new plantations).
— 18 M. Pont de Verdaches. Road to the left to Verdaches and (5 M.)
Barles (rest.), whence we may visit (3 hrs., there and back) the pretty C7?/es

or Gorges de Barles (through which a new road leads to Digne, about 5 hrs.

from Barles). — 221/2 M. Col de Maure (4425 ft.). — 26 M. Seyne-les-Alpes
(4140 ft.; Hot. des Trois-Rois), an old little town, prettily situated at

the foot of the Montague de la Blanche {^Q^biX.; replanted), with a 12th
cent. Romanesque church. — 28i/.) M. Selonnet. The road forks. To the

right we may cross the Col St-Jean and join the Gap road near (40 M.)
Le Lauzet (p. -442); to the left we descend the fine Gorges dii Rabious to

Prunieres (p. 442; motor-omn. from Seyne in 2 hrs.. .S'/.^fr.), in the Durance
valley. From Prunieres or Le Lauzet to Barcelonnette, see p. 442.
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64. From Lyons (Paris) to Nimes 477

a. Via Tarascon (Left Bank of the Rhone) . . . 477

b. Via Le Teil and Remoulins (Right Bank of the

Rhone) . 477
From Le Pouzin to Privas (Coiion), 478. — From Re-
moulins to Uzes and to Tarascon, 480.

c. Via Le Teil and Alais. The Vivarais. Vals-les-

Bains 481
From Vogue to Largentiere (Tanargue); to Vals-les-
Bains and Lalevade-d'Ardt-che-Prades, 481. — From
Ruoms to Vallon, 483. — Gorge of the Ardeche, Pont
d'Arc, 483. — Les Vans, Bois de Paiolive, Les Fu-
mades, 484. — From St-Julien-les-Fumades to Uzes,
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St-Jean-du-Gard, 485.

65. Nimes and Environs 485
From Nimes to Le Vigan and to Aigues-Mortes, 491,

66. From Lyons to Marseilles by the Rhone Valley . . 492
From Vienne to Le Grand-Lemps, 494. — From St-Ram-
bert to Rives, 49.5. - From St-Vallier to Le Graud-
Serre, 495. — Ruines de Crussol, 496. — From Valence
to Bourg-de-Peage, 496. — From Livron to Privas and
to Veynes, 497. — From Mont^limar to Dieulefit. 498.
— From Pierrflatte to Nyous, 498.— From Orange to

Carpentras and L'lsle-sur-la-Sorgue, and to Le Buis-
les-Baronnies, 500. — From Tarascon to St-Remy
(Orgon), 501. — From Miramas to Port-de-Bouc, 502.

—

From Rognac to Aix, 502. -From Pas-des-Lanciers to

Martigues, 502.

67. Avignon and Environs 503
Villeneuvo-les-Avignon, 510. — From Avignon to Or-
gon and to the Fontaine de Vaucluse, 511; to Car-
pentras and Mont Ventoux, 512.

68. Aries and Environs 5^3
From Aries to Salon, 516; to Lunel (Aigues-Mortes,
Montpellier), 517; to St-Louis-du-Rhone and to Les
Saintes-Maries, 518.

69. From Avignon to Aix (Marseilles) via Pertuis . , 518
From Cavaillon to Digne and to Miramas (Marseilles),

519. - Gorge du Regalon, 519.

70. From Grenoble (Lyons) to Marseilles 520
Grt5oulx-les-Bains, Riez, Moustiers-Ste-Marie, 520.

—

From Meyrargues to Draguignan (Grasse, Nice), 521.
— Montagne de Ste-Victoire, 525. From Gardanne
to Carnoules (Nice), 525.

Babubkbr'b Southern France. 6th Edit. 31
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Route Page

71. Marseilles 526
Chateau d'lf, 534. — From Marseilles to Aix and to

Rognac, 535.

72. From Marseilles to Ventimiglia 535
Camoi'DS-les-Bains, 535.— From Aubagne or Auriol to

the Sainte-Baume, 535. — The Calanqnes, La Ciotat,
536. — Montrieux-le-Jeune, 537. — From Les Arcs to

Draguignan, 537. — From Draguignan to Castellane
and to Grasse ("Nice), 538. — Valescure, 540.— Corniche
d'Or, Esterel, 541. — Excursions from Le Trayas, 542.
— Cap d'Antibes, 543.— From Cagnes to Vence and

j

to Grasse, 543. — St-Jean-Cap-Ferrat, 545. — Valley
of the Roia, 546.

|

73. Toulon 546
I

Excursions from Toulon, 549.

74. From Toulon to Hyeres and St-Raphael .... 550

I. From Toulon to Hyeres 550
Excursions from Hyeres (Costebelle, Salins-d'Hyeres,
Peninsula of Giens, Iles-d'Hyeres), 552, 553.

II. From Hyeres to St-Raphael by the Coast . . 553
Montagues des Maures, 553. — St-Tropez, Cogolin, 554.

75. Cannes and Environs 555
lies de Lerins, 560.— From Cannes to Grasse, 561.

—

St-Cezaire, 562. — From Grasse to Thorenc, 562.

76. Nice and Environs 563

77. Excursions from Nice 574

I. From Nice to Mentone 574
a. By the Grande-Corniche, 574.

b. By the Petite-Corniche, 575.

II. From Nice to Grasse 576
Gorges du Loup, 577.

III. From Nice to Annot and Digne 578
Mont Vial, 578. — From La Tinee to St-Sauveur-sur-
Tin^e, 578. — St-Etienne-de-Tin^e, 578. — Gorges du
Cians, 579. — From Pont-de-Gueydan to Guillaumes,
579. — From Thorame-Haute to" Alios, 580. — From
Barreme to Castellane, 580.

IV. From Nice to St-Martin-Vesubie 581
Excursions from Roquebilliere and from St-Martin-
Vesubie, 581.

y. From Nice to Tenda (Cuneo) 582
Contes, 582.— Peira-Cava, 583.

78. Monaco and Monte Carlo. Mentone 584

I. Monaco 584

II. Monte Carlo and Beausoleil 586
From Monte Carlo to La Turbie and to the Golf
Course, 589.

III. Mentone and Environs 589
From Mentone to Sospel, 594.
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64. Prom Lyons (Paris) to Nimes.

a. Via Tarascon (Left Bank of the Rhone).

174 M. Railway in 3 hrs. 35 min. (by the Barcelona express, p. xiii)

to 7 hrs. 40 min. (31 fr. 35, 21 fr. 15, 13 fr. 80 c.). — From Paris to Nimes,
via Tarascon, 492 M., in 10 hrs. 25 min. (by the Barcelona express) to

16 hrs. 5 min. (88 fr. 70, 59 fr. 85, 39 fr. 5 c). The direct line from Paris to

Nimes, thongh not the quickest, goes via Clermont-Ferrand (R. 40).

From Lyons to (156Yij M.) Tarascon, see R. 66. We pass below

the town and cross the Rhone by a fine viaduct.

ISS^/o M. Beaucaire (Hot. du Grand-Jardin, du Glacier; pop.

8488), a trading town, has a ruined Chdteau of the 13th-14th cent.,

dismantled by Richelieu in 1632, the keep of which affords a fine

*View (fee). The Romanesque chapel of St-Louis is interesting

also. The famous Fair (21st-28th July), founded in 1217, has lost

its importance. The Canal de Beaucaire, 31 M. long, connects

the Rhone with the Mediterranean near Aigues-Mortes (p. 491).

The train crosses the canal, leaving on the right the line to

Remoulins, Uzes, etc. (p. 480). To the left is the Croix Couverte,

a curious triangular building of the 15th century.— 171 M. Gh^e-

zan, junction for the line on the right bank (p. 481).— 174 M.
Nimes (p. 485).

b. Via Le Teil and Remoulins (Right Bank ofthe Rhone).

174 M. Railway in 7 hrs. 40 min. (fares as above). Views to the left.

From Lyons to (131/2 M.) Giv(rrs, see pp. 260, 261.

2OV2 ^I- Ste-Colombe-les-Vienne, connected with Vieune

(p. 492) by a suspension-bridge. The Church contains several old

pictures and (to the left of the choir; a charming marble *Group,
the Education of the Virgin (15th cent.). Adjacent, by the river,

is the tower of Philippe de Valois (p. 494), Many Roman anti-

quities have been found here.

24 M. Ampuis, with the famous vineyard of the Cote-Rotie.—

-

2772^1- Condriea (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 2041), noted for its

embroidery, lies on a hill to the right, with a ruined castle.— 31 ^L
Chavanay (Hot. de I'Amitie). Omu. to Mont Pilat, see p. 265.

—

33 M. St-Pierre-de-Boeuf. On the left are seen the Alps.— At

(38 M.) Serrieres the Rhone is spanned by a suspension-bridge.

—

4OY2 ^I- Peyraud (buffet), also on the St-Rambert and Firrainy

line (p. 266).— 441/2 M. Andance.— b'i^/^ M. Vion. To the right

diverges the line to Le Cheylard (p. 478), We cross the Doiix.

58 M. Tournon (Hot. de la Poste & de I'Assurance, good, R.

from 2, B. 1, L. or D. 3, omn. 1/2 fr.; Hot. de la Gare; pop. 4719),
in a picturesque site, with its two mediaeval towers, one of them
crowned with a statue of the Virgin, is connected with Tain (p. 495)

31*
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by two bridges. The Rue Thiers passes the Lycee, founded in 1542

by Card, de Tournon (1489-1562). To the left of the bridge is the

old Gothic Chdteau, now containing the town-hall, law-courts, and

prison. Behind is the church of St-Julien (14th cent.), with several

good pictures.

Branch-line to (33 M.) Le (Jheylard, on the line from Dunieres to La
Youlte-sur-Ehone (p. 266), via (201/2 M.) Lamastre (Hot. du Commerce,
du Midi; pop. 3G63), in a pretty site, with si Ik-mills,_ 41/2 M. to the W.
of which is Desaignes (Hot. Agier), with mineral springs and mediaeval

remains. Omn. from Lamastre in summer to Lalouvesc (p. 266).

66 M. St-Peray (Hot. de la Gare, du Nord), noted for its white

sparkling wines. Valence (p. 495) lies on the opposite bank (3 M.

;

niotor-omn., see p. 495).
Tramway I0 (191/2 M.) Vemom: (1770 ft.; Hot. du Xord), in the Ar-

deche Mts. Omn. thence to St-Fortunat (8 M.
; p. 266).

We ci-oss the Mialan. On a steep hill to the right is the ruined

Chateau de Crussol (p. 496).— 70 M. Soyoiis, at the foot of a rock

Avith a leaning tower.— 721/.^ M. Charmes-St-Georges-les-Bams.

Charmes, wilh its old castle, is on the right. St-Georges-les-Bains

(hot.-pens.), 2 M. to the W., has a chalybeate spring (77°). To the

left, in the background, rises the abrupt Rochecourbe (5225 ft.).

— 75 M. Beauchastel. We cross the Erieux.

1^^1.2 M. La Voulte-sur-Rhone (Buffet; Hot. de la Poste;

pop. 2760), with an old castle.

Narrow-gauge line to (67i/o M.) D?mieres, via Le Cheylard and Tence,

see p. 266. —To Livron or to Friras, see p. 497.

8IY2 ^^- Le Pouzin (Hot. du Commerce), a small industrial

town on the right. Blast-furnaces to the left of the station.

Steam-tramway to St-Paid-le-Jeune (6I1/2 M.
; p. 484), via Privas

(10 M. ; see below'), Vesseaux (25 M.
; p. 479), Atibenas (301/2 M. ; p. 482)>

Joyeicse (44 M.; p. 481), and Les Vans (531/2 M. ; p. 484).

From Le Pouzin to Privas, 13 M., railway (continuation of the line

from Livion, sre p. 497) in about 35 miu. (2 fr. 35, 1 fr. 55, 1 fr. 5 c). —We
cross a high viaduct, with fine views right and left. — 71/2 M. Chomerac
(Hot. du Louvre).— 91/2 M. AUssas. We return to the Ouvcze, which we
left at L(! Pouzin, and cross it. — 13 M. Privas (960 ft.; Hot. de la Croix-

d'Or, L. or D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Louvre; pop. 7290), capital of the department
of the Ard'eche, lies picturesquely on the slope of Mont Toidon (1400 ft.

;

view), at the junction of three valleys. It was a strong fortress in the

16th cent., but was razed to the ground in 1629 by Louis XIII. and
Richelieu for having headed the Calvinists in the Yivarais. Busy silk-

factories and iron-mines. The bridge across the Ouveze dates from the

13th centurv. Omn. to Les Ollieres. see p. 266; tramway, see above.

To the S.W. of Privas is the Coiron, an offshoot of the Cevenues,
bounded on tlie S. by the Ardeche valley. It is a curious mass of granite

and limestone, covered by prehistoric volcanoes with a layer of lava

and puzzolanu, 300-400 ft. thick and deeply seamed with ravines. It is

intersected by two main roads, one leading N.W. to Le Puj^, the other

S.W. to Aubcnas. The road to (56 M.) Le Pjiy (p. 273) passes (6 M.) the

Roc de Gonrdon (3480 ft.), the (151/2 M.) Signal du Champ -de -Mars
(4415 ft.), two tood points of view, and (44 M.) Le Moimstier (p. 278).

About 11/2 hr. from the Signal (17 M. from Privas) is Mezilhac (3775 ft.;

Aub. Laffont), whence a road leads S., through the picturesque Yolane
valley, to Antraigues (91/2 M.; p. 482) and Vals (131/2 M.; p. 482).— The
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Aubenas road (tramway, see p. 478) diverges from the Le Puy road a little

short of the Roc de Gourdon and crosses (71/2 M.) the Col de VEscrinet
(2600 ft.) to (141/2 M.) Vesseaux (aub.) and (191/2 M.) Aubenas (p. 482).

89 M. Cruas, on the right, with the picturesque ruius of a

fortified abbey, whose church, of 970, has a 9th cent, crypt.

—

94 M. Rochemaure (Hot. Cavard), with a large ruiued castle. To

the W., 1^/4 M., is the extinct volcano of Chenavari, with a basal-

tic causeway, called the Pave des Geants.

97 M. Le Teil (235 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Terminus, du Commerce

;

pop. 6091), with a ruined castle, on the right. Large lime and cement

works. The road to (3 M.) Monteliniar (p. 498 ; omn.) crosses a sus-

pension-bridge. Line to Alais, see p. 481.

102^/.2 M. Viviers (Hot. Allignol, near tlie station; Hot. des

Voyageurs, du Louvre; pop. 3459), a picturesque old town, the

former capital of the Vivarais (p. 481), is the seat of a bishop. The
Cathedral of St-Vincent, on a steep rock above the Rhone, stands

within an old fortified enclosure. The crenellated octagonal tower,

on a square base, was built in 1120, but restored in the 14th

century. Fine view friun the Esplanade, N". of the Cathedral. Viviers

contains several quaint old houses, notably Ihe Maison des Tetes

or de la Noe (16th cent.). Lime, cement, and tile works. Sus-

pension-bridge leading to Chateauneuf-du-R,h6ne (1^/4 M.; p. 498).

— 107 M. St-Montant, opposite Douzere (]). 498).

110V2M.Bourg-St-Andeol(225ft.;H6t.Moderae;pop.4195)
has a 12th cent. Romanesque church (fine antique sarcophagus) and

remains of medieval fortifications. A fountain in the Champ-de-
Mars recalls Dona Vierna, a benefactress of the town in the 13th

century. Suspension-bridge leading to (3 M.) Pierrelatte (p. 498).

— Beyond (115^2 M-) St-Just- St-Mareel we cross the Ardeche.
120 M. Pont-St-Esprit (195 ft.; Hot. de I'Europe & de la

Poste, du Commerce; pop. 4685), to the left. A stone bridge over

the Rhone, forming an angle in the middle, 920 yds. long, was built

in 1265-1307 by the ^Freres Pontifes'; it leads to (3 M.) BoUt^ne

station (p. 498). The Citadel (1595-1627) and the churches of

St-Saturnin and St-l^lsprit are likewise interesting.

On the opposite bank appears Mondragon, with its rained

castle (p. 498). The line leaves the river. On a hill to the left is the

ruined Chdteau de Gicoji.— 123 M. Venejan. We cross the Ceze.

'i27^/.^ M. Bagnols-sur-Ceze (Hot. du Louvre; pop. 4445) is the

centre of a small coal-field. The Hotel de Ville contains the Musee
Leon-Alegre.— 133^/2 ^^- L\-irdoise. Line to Alais, see p. 485.

136 M. St-Genies-Montfauron (110 ft.). Montfaucon^ near

the Rhone, has a fine old chateau.— 138*/2 ^^- Roquemaure, with
its ruined castle, lies to the left. Suspension -bridge. The ruined

castles of Lhers and Chateauneuf-Calcernier (p. 500) are seen on
the left bank.— 145 M. Villeneuve-Pujaut. To the left is Ville-

neuve-les-Aviguon (p. 510), with the old fort of St-Andr6.
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Ma2y, p. 477.

146 M. Pont-d^Avignon (hot. -rest, at the bridge), 1 M. from
Aviguon (omn., see p. 503).— 153 M. Aramon (Hot. duMidi), noted

for its vines. Suspension -bridge leading to Barbentane (p. 501).

The line enters the valley of the Gard^ or Gardo/i.

161 M. Remoulins (Buffet; Hot. du Nord, E. 2, L. 2^^, D-

3 fr.). To reach the Pont du Gard, 2 M. to the W. (20 min.'s drive;

omn. there and back 2, carr. 4 fr.), we cross the bridge and follow

the Lafoux road to the right (p. 481). On the right bank, below

the bridge, is the good Hot.-Rest. Labourel-Serviere (R. from 2,

L. or D. 3 fr.).

The **Pont du Gard, spanning the Gard at a bend of the

valley, is one of the grandest Roman structures in existence. It

forms part of an aqueduct, 25^/9 M. long, conducting the water of

the Eure and Airon from Uzes (see below) to Nimes, and attributed

without reason to Vipsanius Agrippa, son-in-law of Augustus

(B.C. 19). The bridge is 295 yds. long and 160 ft. high, and con-

sists of three tiers of arches, each tier being narrower than the one

below it. The first two tiers have respectively 6 and 11 arches,

some of them 24 yds. in span; the third has 35 smaller arches. The
whole is admirably constructed of large stones, without cement, ex-

cept for the conduit on the top. The projecting stones doubtless

supported platforms. The bridge was damaged during the bar-

barian invasions in the 5th cent., but was restored in 1855-8. We
may ascend to the top from the right bank, or by a staircase at the

other end, and thus obtain a better idea of its dimensions. The
bridge flanking the aqueduct on the E. dates from 1747. A road to

the right, on the left bank, leads to Pont-du-Gard station (see below).
From Remouliss to Uzes, 121/2 M., railway, n 35 inia. (2 fr. 25,

1 fr. 50 c, 1 fr.), at first up the Gard vallev, with a view of the Pont
du Gard to the left. — 3 M. Pont-du-Gard (Terminus-Hotel. R. 21/2-5, L.

or D. 21/2 fr.), 1 M. from the aqueduct. — 121/2 M. Uzes (Hot. Bechard,
L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.; pop. 4804), a picturesque old town (Ucetia), '^UM. from
the station (omn. 20 c). The prettj- boulevard leads to the right to the

Cathedral of St-TModorit (ITth^lSth cent.). The charming *Toiir Fene-
strelle (12th cent.), a relic of an earlier church destroyed in 1611, rises in

seven stories, each with arcades. The old Eveche (17th cent.) is now the

Sous -Prefecture and court-house. Around it is a pleasant promenade
on the S. margin of which is a small pavilion where Racine is said to

have written his Thebai'de (1661-2). At the end of the grounds is a statue

oi Admiral Br ueys, who fell at Aboukir in 1798. We then ascend to the

left to the Hotel de Ville (18th cent.; fine court), through which we reach

the Dnche, or ducal palace, of the llth-16th cent., but restored in the 19th.

The chief features are the keep (12th cent.), the Gothic chapel, and the

remains of a tower (14th cent.). Permission may be obtained to visit the

interior (less interesting). Close by, in a private house, is a 6th cent, crypt,

restored in 1877. A vaulted passage leads to the Tonr de V Horloge
(14th cent.). Farther on are the Places Dampmartin and de la Republique,
bordered with old arcades. From Uzes to St-Jidien-les-Fuinades (Xoziferes,

Alais), see p. 484; to Niraes by road, see p. 491.

From Remoulins to Tarascok, 13 M., railway in 40-50 min. (2 fr. 35,

I fr. 60. 1 fr. 5 c.).— Beyond (7 M.) (Jomps we join the Nimes line.

—

II M. Beaucaire (p. 477).— 13 M. Tarascon (p. 501).
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161^2 ^- Lafoux-les-Baiiis, with a hydropathic, 2 M. from

the Pont du Gard, which is reached by a shady road, to the left

of the station.— 171^2 ^- Gr^zan, where we join the Tarascon

line (p. 477).

174M. JVimes (p.485).

c. Vi& Le Teil and Alais. The Vivarais. Vals-les-Bains.

1891/2 M. Railway in 9 hrs. 50 to 11 hrs. 5 min. (34 fr. 5, 23 fr., 17 fr.5c.).

The Vivarais, a picturesque region, now chiefly within the Ardeche
department, has of late been opened up by new railways and other con-

veyances. It forms the E. rampart of the Cevennes, sloping down to the

Rhone, while some of its hills rise to a height of 5000 ft. Its central

point is the Mezenc (p. 278), and at the S. end of the range Vals (p. 482)

is the chief starting-point for excursions. Otfshoots from the Vivarais
Mts. are, N.E., the Boutieres, E. the Voiron (p. 478), and S. the Tanargue
(see below). The periodical inundations caused by the torrents is due to

the thinning of the mountain forests.

From Lyons to (97 M.) Le Teil, see pp. 477-479. We turn N.W.
towards the Vivarais, and ascend rapidly.— 102'/2 ^I- Auhignas-
Alba. Alba, or Aps (Hot. de la Poste), 1 M. to the S., is the an-

cient Alba Augusta, where many antiquities have been found.

On the left are the ruins of its mediaeval castle. — 107 M. St-

Jean-le-Centenier (1005 ft.). On the road to Privas (p. 478), 2 M.

to the N., is Mo7itbruji, with grottoes and an ancient crater.— The
train descends the pretty valley of the Oladuegne.— llO^'a M.
ViUeneuve-de-Berg (960 ft. ; Hot. du Nord), a little town 2 M. to the

S.W. (omn.), was the birthplace of Olivier de Serres (1539-1619),

who introduced the mulberry into France.— We cross the Auzon
and the Vals line (see below).— 114^2 ^I- Vogue (buffet). The
picturesque village, with a ruined chateau of the Vogue family,

lies 1 M. to the N. Continuation of the Nimes line, see p. 483.
From Vogu6 to Largentiere, 11 M., railway in 37-44 min. (2 fr., 1 fr.

35, 90 c). — To (3 M.) St-Sernin, see below. Our line branches off to the W. —
8V2 M. Uzer-Joyetise, 4V2 M. to the N.E. of the little town of Joyeuse (Hot.

Malignon), with its old castle. Steam-tramway to Le Pouzin and Les Vans,
see p. 478. Omn. to Ruoms, see p. 483; to Largentiere, see below. — 11 M.
Largentiere (675 ft.; Hot. de I'Europe, de France; pop. 2165), pictur-

esquely situated, with its old Chateau and the Tour Argentiere (13th cent.),

takes its name from its old silver-mines. Many old houses. Omn. to Joyen^e
(see above; 1 fr.), Aubeiuis (see p. 482), Ruoms (see p. 483), and twice
daily to {lA^U M.) Valgorge (Hot. Jouve), in the Baume valley. To the
N. rises the Tanargue, a ramification of the Cevennes, at the E. end
of which rises the Gi'and-l'anargue (4730 ft. ; fine view). About 4 hrs.

W. is the Signal de t'oucoulude (4750 ft.). Road from Valgorge, via jS^-

Laurent-les-Bains (16 M.
; p. 296), to La Bastide station (2IV2 ^1- ; P- 296).

Prom Vogu^ to Vals-les-Bains and Lalevade-d'Ardeche-
Prades, 12 M., in 40-50 min. (2 fr. 15, 1 fr. 46, 95 c). To Vals, 9V2 M.,
in 32-41 min. (1 fr. 70, 1 fr. 15, 75 c.). — From Lyons to Vals, 122V2 M.,
in 6-8 hrs. (22 fr. 10, 14 fr. 90, 9 fr. 70 c).

We cross the Auzon and then the Ardeche.— 3 M. St-Sernin,

junction for Largentiere (see above).
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7 M. Aubenas (Hot. de I'UnioQ, du Nord & de St-Laureut,

de la Gare; pop. 7206), on a hill to the left, is a centre of the

silk industry. The Church, with its 15th cent, tower, contains the

tomb of Marshal d'Ornano (1581-1626). The massive Chateau
(13th-16th cent.), flanked with round towers, and dominated by a

square keep (view), is now the Hotel de Ville. In the neighbour-

hood are several quaint old houses. The chapel of the old College,

built in 1575, contains damaged mural paintings and three fine

altar-pieces in carved wood (apply to the concierge of the chateau").

Electric tramway (25 c.) to Vcds (see below).— Steam-tramway to Le
Po?izin and Les Vans, see p. 478. — Motor-omn. twice daily to (15i/^M.

;

21/2 fr.) Mayres (p. 483), and four times daily to (12V2 M. ; 2 fr.) Montpezat
(p. 483). — Omn. daily to (81/^ M.) Largentiere (p. 481).

97, M. Vals-les-Bains-Labegude, 1 M. to the S. of Vals (omn.

or tramway).

Vals-les-Bains.— Hotels (mostly in summer only). On the left

bank: Gr.-Hot. des Bains, R. from 5, B. V-j^. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra),

P. from 10 fr.; Gr.-Hot. Continental & de Russie, B. 3-5, B. s/^, L. 3,

D. 31/2, P- 7-9. omn. 1 fr.; Hot. de Lyon; Hot. de Paris, R. 3-4, B. »U,
L. 3, D. 4, P. 7-9, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. des Delicieuses, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot.
dela Favorite. In the town: Hot. Durayid. open the whole year, R. 3-5,

B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/a, P. 7-10 fr.; Hot. Robert, R. 21/2-31/0, L. 21/2, D. 3,

P. 6-7, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Poste, open the whole year, L. 21/2, D- 3,

P. from 6fr. ; Hot. dv Louvre; Hot. de VEurope. At the station: Hot.
. Terminus, P. from 7 fr.

Etablissements. Bath 1-3, douche 3/^-3 fr.— Casino. Adm. to the
park 1/2) theatre 1-3 fr.— Electric Tramway to the station ^.nA. Anhenas
(see above).— Stndicat d'Initiative, at the entrance to the park.

Vals (795 ft.; pop. 4414), in the narrow valley of the Volane,

is famed for its cold mineral springs (54-57°), some of them rich

in bicarbonate of soda, others containing sulphur, arsenic, and iron.

They are used as a cure for gastric and liver complaints, gravel, and

gout. The springs number over a hundred, and 12 million bottles

are exported annually. Season from May 15th to Oct. 1st.

The chief springs, the baths, and most of the hotels are on the

left bank. The Source de la Madeleine contains about Y4 oz. of bi-

carbonate of soda per quart (for diabetes and gout); the adjoining

Source Precieuse is alkaline and charged with carbonic acid gas

(for dyspepsia and liver-complaints). Close by is the interm.ittent

sulphurous *Source Firmin, which sends up a jet 25 ft. high every

21/2 hrs. The Ch^and-Etablissement, with the Sources Souvei^aine

and Alexandre, is the chief bath-house. Among the other springs

may be mentioned the Source Dominique (for chlorosis and

ansemia), while another important bath-house is the Etahlissement

Du2)lan. The town itself, on the right bank, is nniuteresting.

Omn. three times daily from the station to (41/2 M.) Antraigues (1540 ft.

;

Hot. de rUnion), up the "valley, where the Volane flows between superb
columns of basalt. Road to Mezilhac, see p. 478. From Antraigues we may
ascend the (Joupe d'Aizac (2670 ft. ; 1 hr. S.W.), with a curious crater.

Motor-omn. from Vals to (32V2 M.) Le CJieylard (p. 266) three times
a week from 10th July to 20th Sept., in 3 hrs., via Antraigues (see
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p. 482), Mezilh/xc (p. 478), and Domas (p. 266); fare T'/g* return 12 fr.

Also to the Lac d'Issarles (p. 278) 2-3 times a week (1st July to 23rd
Sept.), in 5 hrs. (15, return 20 fr.).

Beyond Vals we coutiniie to ascend the Ard^che valley.— 12 M.
Lalevade-d'Ardeche-Prades, two villages with coal-mines.

To the W. of the station (5 M. ; omn.) lies Neyrac (Hot. des Bains,

etc.), with mineral springs and two bath-houses. — Farther on (2 M.) is

Thtteyts (aub.), built on columnar basalt, near the Pave des Geants, the
finest basaltic causeway in the Vivarais. It skirts a stream flowing E.,

below a bridge of two stories, called the Po7it du Diable, or G?(enled^Enfer,
with a waterfall of 330 ft., almost dry in summer. The Pav^ is 250 ft. high
at the Escalier du Roi, the end on the left bank of the Ardeche. — The
road goes on to Mayres (6 M. ; hotel), 12 1/2 M. from Lalevade-d'Ardeche-
Prades station. Motor-omn. to Aubenas, see p. 482.

To the N.W. of the station a road leads past La Gravenne (2770 ft.;

view), an extinct volcano, to (8 M.) UTontjyezat (2030 ft. ; hotel ; motor-omn.
to Aubenas, see p. 482), whence we may ascend the Sue du Pal (4610 ft.),

another extinct volcano, with a superb crater.

Continuation of the Nimes Line. We descend the Ardeche

valley.— 1221/2^1- Buoms-Vallon. Ruoms (Hot. Theodore), a

small town, consists of a new quarter and a curious old quarter,

with relics of fortifications and towers converted into houses.

Above Ruoms the Ardeche forms the fine Defile de Ruoms; farther

up, towards Largentiere (p. 481). is the fine Vallee de la Ligne.
Omn. to Lai-gentih'C (8 M. ; 1 fr. ; p. 481); to Joijeuse (8'/2 M. ; IV2 fr.;

p. 481). Carr. to the Bois de Paiolive (p. 484), from 12 fr.

From Ruoms to Vallon, 51/2 M. by omn. (75 c); carr. to Vallon and
the Pont d'Arc, from 8 fr. return. Excursions every Thurs. in summer,
12 fr., incl. boat down the Ardeche and drive to St-Just-St-Marcel station.
— The little town of Vallon (Hot. du Pont-d'Arc, R. 3-4, L. or D. 3 fr.

;

pop. 2111) lies S.E. of Ruoms and 1/2 ^I- from the Ardeche. It was the

birthplace of Aug. Sabatier, the theologian (1839-1901). Prehistoric caves
on the bank of the IMe (IV4-2 M.

;
guide, Fred. Eldin; adni. 1 fr.).

The *Gorge of the Ardeche is very interesting down to St-Martin
(see below); it is flanked with picturesque rocks containing numerous
grottoes. The greater part, below the Pont d'Arc, can be explored by
boat only, but it is better to walk or drive (about 1 hr.) to a point V2 ^•
below the bridge. We pass Vieux-Valloji, with its ruined castle, cross

the Ibie, and reach the Ardeche, where the road is hewn in the abrupt
rocks. Striking view of the beautiful valley. The *Pont d'Arc (3 M.
from Vallon), one of the grandest natural bridges known, consists of a

great mass of limestone, 215 ft. in height, wliich has fallen across this

stream, and through wliich the water has worn an archwuy 110 ft. high
and 195 ft. wide (the Natural Bridge of Virginia being 215 ft. high and
100 ft. wide). It is dangerous to cross. The finest view of it is obtained
from a point a little downstream. Near the Pont are two auberges, where
a boat is hired for the voyage down to St-Martin-d' Ardeche (4-8 hrs.;

boat for 1-4 pers. 30 fr.). The stream meanders between rocks 300 1000 ft.

high, and forms many exciting, but not dangerous rapids. — Below the
rock of Oastel-Vieil, and 6 hrs. from Vallon, is the curious Grotte de St-

Afarcel-d' Ardeche, on the left bank, 130 ft. above the water. It is the
old bed of a subterranean river, and contains stalactites and stalagmites.
(Adm. on previous application to M. Monteil at the inn of St-Martin;
visit of 3 hrs.; adm. 4 fr., and 1 fr. for each pers. extra.)— Near St-Martin,
on the right, lies Aiyueze, a picturesque spot, with an old manor-house.

St-Martin-d' Ardeche (Hot. des Touristes, R. I'/a, L- or D. 2V2-3, I'- 5-6 fr.).
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on tbe right bank, is 31/2 M. from St-Just-St-Marcel (p. 479), and 51/2 M.
from Pont-St-Esprit (p. 479).

Bevoud Ruoms we cross the Ardeche and ascend the valley of

the C/iassezac— 136 1/2 M. St-Paul-le-Jeune (835 ft.; aub.).

Steam-tramway to (8 M.) Les Vans (Hot. Dardaillon, du Cheval-Blanc),

an ancient little town, to the N., with an interesting church and old

houses, the birthplace of Oilier, the surgeon (1825-1900). Steam-tramway
to Le Pouzin, see p. 478. Road to Yillefort, see p. 297.— From Les Vans
or St-Paul we may visit the *Bois de Paiolive (guide, M. Aubert; 3-5 f r.

;

provisions needed, as the excursion takes nearly a whole day). This

wood, 3 M. long and 2 M. broad, intersected by the deep gorge of the

Chassezac, is strewn with isolated rocks of exceedingly picturesque

appearance, worn into fantastic shapes. The most striking points are the

Bois de Gagniet. the ChapeUe St-Eug'ene de Cornillou, and the Corniches
du Chassezac. The grotto of Gleyzasse and others are pointed out also.

140 M. Gagnieres. We cross the Gagniet^es and the C^ze. To

the left is the ruined Chdteau de Castillon.— 14172^^- Rohiac,

with a ruined castle.

Branch-line to (3 M.) Besseges (Hot. du Commerce; pop. 8030), on

the Ceze, the centre of a great coal-field, rich in fossils.

We enter the Ceze valley, very picturesque at places. To the

right is the Chdteau de Montalet.

1471/2 ^^- St-Ambroix (495 ft.; Hot. Perin, du Luxembourg;

pop. 3494), an industrial town in a picturesque site, with a ruined

castle on a rock and a modern chapel bearing a statue of the Virgin.

—

We leave the valley.— 15O1/2M. St-JuUen-les-Fumades (buffet).

To the S.E. is (3 M. ; motor^-omn. from the station) Les Fumades
(Crr.-Hot. des Bains, Hot. Diane, Hot. Romain, all open the whole year,

P. from 8V2J 7, or fr.), with three bath-houses. The sulphurous and
bituminous waters (53°-57''; 11 springs) are used for skin and chest dis-

eases. Roman antiquities have been found near the springs. A pretty

walk is, E., to the Defile de VArgensole, a stream descending from the

wooded and rocky cirque of the Serve du Bouquet (2070 ft.), with the

pilgrim-resort Guido7i du Bouquet (31/2 hrs. from Les Fumades). We may
descend, S.E., to (1 hr.) Brovzet-les-Alais (p. 485), and take train to Alais.

From St-Julien-les-Fumades to Uzes, 231/2 ^1- by railway. — At
(51/2 M.) C'elas we cross the Alais and L'Ardoise line (p. 485). — 12V2 M.

Euzet-les-Bains (hotel), with three sulphurous and ferruginous springs.

— 21 M. Montaren, with an old castle.— 23i/^ M. Uzes (p. 480). — In the

other direction this line runs to (7 M.) Le Martinet^ with antimony mines.

153^2 ^I- Salindres, with chemical works and a castle-ruin.

We join the line from Clermont to Ximes (R. 40).

159 M. Alais (445 ft.; Buffet; Hot. du Luxembourg & du

Louvre; Grand-Hotel, L. 2V2, D. 3 fr.; Riche-Hotel, opposite the

station, R. from 3, L. or D. 3'fr.; pop. 29,831) is a thriving town,

on the Gardon, in the centre of a large coal-field, with a brisk trade

in silk, iron, glass, bricks, and tiles. It was a stronghold of the Cal-

vinists in 1567 and 1575, and in 1629 was captured by Louis XIII.

On the right of the Av. de la Clare is the Place St-S6bastien, with a

statue of the chemist J. B. Dumas (1800-84). Steps ascend thence

to the foot of the old Citadel. In the Bosquet, or public garden,

is a bust of La Fare-Alais (1791-1846), poet of the C6vennes.
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Lower dowu, on the left, is a monument to Pasteur (1822-90), who
first distinguished himself by studying the maladies of the silk-

worm at Alais. The Hotel de Ville (18th cent.), in the adjoining

square, contains the library. A street nearly opposite, to the left,

leads to the church of St-Jean, once the cathedral, rebuilt in 1678,

with a Gothic porch under the tower. The old Eveche, in the square

to the left of the choir, is now a museum (Sun. and Thurs., 1 to 4

or 5). In the Place de la Republique, to the S.E., on the Gardon,

is a monument of Floi^ian (1755-94), the novelist.

Railway to Uzes (p. 480), 25 M. via Nozieres (see below), 32 M. via

St-JuUen-Jes-Fiimades (p. 484).

From Alais to L'Ardoise, 86V2 M., railway in 2-3 hrs. (6 fr. 60,

4 fr. 45, 2 fr. 90 c).— 41/2 M. Mejannes-Mons. We then pass under the

Uzes line (p. 484).— 6 M. Celas, station on both lines.— 91/3 M. Brouzet-
les-Alais. To the left is the .Serre du Bouquet (p. 484), where we enter

a defile of the Alauzene. — 36'/.^ M. L'Ardoise (p. 479).

From Alais to Qi'issac (LeVigan), 191/2 M., diverging from the Nimes
line at (6V2 M.) Mas-des-Gardies (see below). — IOV2 M. Lezan, junction for

St-Jean-du-Gard (see below). — 191/2 M. Quissac (p. 491).

From Alais to St-Jean-du-Gard, 231/2 M., diverging from the above
line at Le'^o??. —15 M. Anduze (Hot. Fesquet, du Lion-d'Or; pop. 3324),

with a ruined castle. In the town are another castle built by Yauban and
an ancient tower. The Pare des Cordeliers, witli a bust of the poetess
Clara d'Anduze, is pretty. Famous pottery. — 231/2 M- St-Jean-du-Gard,
whence we may visit, N.W., the Carlovingiau church of Notre-Dame-de-
ValUe-Franqaise, and, E., the Grotte de Trabvc. Eoad to Florae, see p. 295.

165^2 M. Mas-des-Gardies, junction for Quissac (see above).

— 171 M. Boucoiran^ with a 12th cent. keep.— 172 M. Nozieres

(buvette), junction for (12 M.) Uzes (p. 480).— 177 M. Fons (325 ft.).

To the N.E., 51/2 M., is Dions, with a great 'aven', an abyss 230 ft.

deep.— 18372 ^I- Mas-de-Fonge. Farther on, to the right, is the

Tour Magne (p. 488), on a hill pierced by a tunnel. We join the

lines from^ Lyons via Tarascon and Le Teil (Routes 64 a, 64 b), and

are backed into the station.— 189^/2 M. Nimes (buffet).

65. Nimes and Environs.
Stations. Ga?-e des Voyayetirs (VI. E, 5; restaurant), on tlie S.E, of

the town, for the lines to Paris and Clermont-Ferrand (Routes 32, 40),

Lyons (R. 64). and Montpellier and Cette (R. 41).— Gare de la Camargue
(beyond PI. B, 5: see p. 491), at the end of tlie Rue de Montpellier.

Hotels. Hot. du Lnocembourq (PI. a; E, 4), Place de I'Esplanade,
B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 13 fr. ; Hot. du Midi & de la Postc (PI. b ; E, 3),

Sq. de la Couronne, good, R. from 2i/._,, B. 1 or IV2, L- 3, D. 31/2. P- trom 9,

omn. from 1/2 fi- ! Gr.-Hdt. Mauivet' {VI. c; C, 3), 23 Boul. Victor-Hugo;
Hot. du C'heval-Bhmc & des ArenesiVX. d; D, 4), Place des Arenes, commer-
cial, R. from 3, B. IV2, L- 3, D. 31/2, P- from 10, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. d' Europe
& de Provence (PI. e; E, 3j, Sq. de la Couronne, R. from 2V2, B. 1, L. 2V2,
D. 3, P. from 8, omn. 1/4 fr. ; Hot. de V Univers, Place des Ar6nes, L. or
D. 21/2, P. 6V2 fr. ; Hot. de France, 4 Boul. des Arenes, R. from 2, L. or
li. 3, P. from 7fr.; Hot. Menant, Boul. Amiral-Courbet: Hotel de Fa-
mine, Boul. de rF]splanado, plain, R. from 2, I., or D. 2 fr.
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Restaukakts: *Dnra?id, corner of Boul. de I'Esplanade and Boul.
Amiral-Courbet (PI. D, 3,4), L. or D. 5 fr. ; Cafe des Fleurs, near the

station, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.; Rest, de la Grille, Rue de I'Etoile (PI. C, 3).

Cabs (1-4 pers.). Per drive 1 fr. (I1/4 fr. if sent for), per hour 2 fr.

:

at night li/.^ and 3 fr.

Electric Traw:vvays (fare 10 c, with transfer 15 c). 1. From the

Station {Vl. E, 5), via the boulevards, back to the station. — 2. From the
Boulevard de la Republique (beyond Pl.B, 5) to Le Mas Mathieu (beyond
PI. Cf, 2, 3), via the Esplanade. ~ 3. From the Avenve de la Plateforme
(PI. A, 2) to the Chalet (beyond PI. U, 1), via the old town.— 4. From the
Station (PI. E, 5) to the Jardin de la Fontaine (PI. B, 2), via. the Boul.
de la Republique. — Tramway-omnibuses in other directions.

Garages. Carli, Boul. des Arenes; Coiilange, Boul. Amiral-Courbet.
Post & Telegraph Office (PI. E, 3), 11 Sq. de la Couronne (new

building to be constructed on the Esplanade, P1.D4).
Theatres. Grand-Theatre (PI. C, 2, 3), Place de la Comedie (i/g-^ fr.);

Casino, or Theatre d'Ete (PI. D, 5), near the station (May-Oct.); Eden-
Theatre (PI. B, C, 3), Rue (}QA\Vi.— Arenes, see p. 487.

Bakks. Credit Lyonnais, Comptoir d' Escompte, 32 and 15 Boul.
Victor-Hugo; Socie'te Ge'nerale, 10 Place Salamandre.

Baths. Aumemiier, 2 Rue Godin (PL C, 3) and 3 Rue Bridaine (PI.

D, 4); Bains dzi Louvre, Sq. de la Couronne and 6 Rue Monjardin (PI. E, 4);

Berard (PI. F, 3), 36 Rue Xotre-Dame, with swimming-basin.
Stndicat d'Initiative, 2 Rue Bigot.

Nimes, or Nlmes (150 ft.; pop. 80,437), capital of the depart-

meut of the Gard, the seat of a bishopric and of a Calvinistic con-

sistory, lies at the S. end of a chain of hills adjoining the Cevenues.

It contains more monuments of antiquity than any other town in

France. It is also an important industrial centre, chiefly for silk-

goods, and trades largely in wine and spirits.

Nemausus, capital of the Volcx Arecomici, submitted to the Romans
in 121 B.C. and became one of their chief colonies in Gaul. They took a

delight in embellishing it; it had its capitol, temples to Augustus and
Apollo, basilica, theatre, circus, amphitheatre, therms, an aqueduct (of

which the Pont du Gard. p. 480, is a relic), extensive ramparts, a forum,
and a Campus Martius. Cliristianity was tirst taught here in the 4th cent,

by St. Baudilus. In 407 the town was pillaged by the Vandals; for some
time it belonged to the Visigoths, then to the Saracens, and in 737 was
sacked by Charles Martel. At length, in 1185, it came into the posses-

sion of the Counts of Toulouse. Three-fourths of its inhabitants having
embraced Calvinism, it sutfered much in the Religious "Wars, down to

1704, when the Camisard insurrection, provoked by the Revo<"ation of the
Edict of Xantes (1685), was rigorously quelled. The political passions of

its people were no less ardent than their religious convictions, and the
reaction of 1815 was carried farther at Nimes than at Toulouse, Avignon,
or Marseilles. — Nimes was the birthplace of the rhetorician Domitius
Afer (d. 59), Jean Nicot (1530-1610), who introduced tobacco into France,
Fr. Guizot (1787-1874), the statesman and historian, Jean Reboul (1796-

1864), the poet, Alphonse Daudet (1840-97; p. 489), and Gaston Boissier

(1823-1908), the historian.

The station (PI. E, 5) stands on a viaduct, at the foot of which
is a bust of P. Talahot (1800-55), recalling the opening of the

first railway in this district (1837). The Av. Feucheres, with the

Hotel de la Prefecture (PL E, 4, 5), leads thence to the handsome
Esplanade (PI. D, 4), with the Arenes on the left (p. 487). In the

centre is a fountain, with allegorical statues by Pradier (1848).

Beyond is the modern Palais de Justice (PI. D, 4), with a Corinthian
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colonnade. On the right is the modern church of Stes-Perpetue-et-

Felicite (PL E, 4~).

Farther on is the Square de la Couronne (PL E, 3), with gardens

and a basin, from which rises a statue of Alphonse Daudet (p. 486),

by Falguicre. To the left of the Esplanade is the Square Charles-

Mourier, with a bronze bust of Paul Soleillet (1842-86), the explor-

er, a native of Nimes.

The ancient *Arenes (PL C, D, 4) forms an ellipse of 145 by

115 yds., 70 ft. in height. It is smaller than those of Rome, Capua,

Verona, and even Aries (p. 514), but is externally in better preser-

vation than any.
It is built of limestone blocks of 6-10 ft. cube, perfectly adjusted

without mortar, in Roman style. The exterior presents two stories, each
of 60 arches, the lower with huge square buttresses, the upper with Doric
columns, while above is an attic with 120 consoles with holes for the
masts of the awning which shaded the amphitheatre. There were four
outer gateways, at the ends of the axes, the chief being on the X.W.; but
visitors now enter by the S.W. gateway, opposite the Palais de Justice
(fee). The masonry is 100-105 ft. thick. There were 34 tiers of seats,

rising in four sections (mseuiana), the lowest being reserved for persons
of rank, the second for knights, the third for plebeians, and the fourth
for slaves. Over 20,000 spectators could be seated, while 124 exits ensured
the rapid clearance of the building. The rain was conducted from the
tiers and passages into aqueducts at the bottom. The building dates from
the lst-2nd cent. A.D. ; it was converted into a fortress ('castrum arenarum')
in the middle ages, and afterwards occupied by dwelling-liouses, which were
removed in 1809. The work of restoration has been going on since 1813.

Bullfights are held here on Sun. in summer (seats IV2-2O fr.). Besides
those in the Spanisli style, less sanguinary pastimes, known as Courses
Provengales and Landaises, also take place. Among these are the Courses
Litres, at which any one may, at his own risk, try to snatch a knot of

ribbon from the bull's forehead, and the Ferrades, in which the object
is to trip up the bull with a trident and brand him on the haunch.—
Lyrical and dramatic performances also are given every summer.

To the X.W., through the Boul. Victor-Hugo, is seen the Tour
Magne (p. 488). On the left is the Lijcee (PL C, 3, 4), formerly a

hospital. On tlie same side is St-Paul (PL C, 3), a modern church,

containing line frescoes by Hipp, and Paul Flandrin.

The **Maison Carree (PL C, 2, 3), one of the finest and
best-preserved Roman temples in existence, forms a rectangle of

29 by 15 yds., with thirty Corinthian columns 29 ft. high, twenty

of which are engaged in the walls of the cella. It is thus a

pseudoperipteral temple, prostyle and hexastyle, having disengaged
columns in front only. The columns are fluted and are crowned
with capitals of admirable workmanship. The entablature also

shows exquisite taste. From the marks of the nails that fastened

the metal inscription to the pediment, it was deduced in the 18th

cent, that the temple was erected about the year 1 A.D. and ded-

icated to Caius and Lucius Caesar, grandsons of Augustus. It

probably stood in the forum, with other buildings, whose founda-
tions are still extant. Successively used as a church, a warehouse,
and a stable, this magnificent building was carefully restored in
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1824, and converted into a museum. Around it lie fragments of the

pediment of the XympliEeum of the Fontaine and other relics.

Mus^e des Antiques (open daily, 9 to 12 and 1.30 to 4 or 5).

On each side of the entrance is a 'dolium', holding about 160 gallons

each. Opposite the entrance is the bronze *Head of a youth (Greek), found
in the Yistre (see below); on either side is a bronze vase. Behind
these are an antique mosaic pavement, the 'Venus of Nimes', several

statuettes more or less perfect (Venus, Apollo with a quiver, (rreek female
dancer, etc.). The glass cases contain a rich *Collection of medals. Other
cases, by the right wall, contain fine painted vases, fragments of sculp-

ture, and glass; by the left wall, glasses, bronzes, and work in iron and
bone. In the second large cabinet on the left are a statuette of the Crallic

Jupiter, and an early Greek vase-handle (found in Italy).

The Theatre (PL C, 2, 3), on the other side of the boulevard,

is a heavy building of 1803, serving as a foil to the Maison Carree.

Beyond this is the Boul. Alphonse-Daudet. On the left we pass

the Place d'Assas, with the fine Monument des Enfaiits du Gard,
who fell in 1870-71, by A. Mercie. Farther on, to the right, is a

square with a statue of the Emperar Antoninus Pius (86-161;

PL C, 2), son of a native of Nimes. On the right also is the Place

de la Bouquerie, with a bust of the painter C. F. Jalabert (1819-

1901). Farther on is the Boul. Gambetta (PL C-E, 2), bounding the

old town.

Turning to the left from the Square Antonin, on this side of a

canal, we come in 5 min. to the *Jardin de la Fontaine (PL

B, 2), at the end of the broad Boul. de la Eepublique. It owes its

name to the Fontaine de Nimes, rising at the foot of the hill and

falling into the Yistre. The grounds, laid out in the old French

style, contain three basins, partly on ancient foundations, but

restored and adorned in the 18th cent, with statues and vases. On
the right is a group, 'Vers I'Amour', by Escouba; on the left, a

monument to the architect Eevoil (1822-1900). Higher up, on the

right, are monuments to the poets Lazare (1865-1903), Rehoid

(1796-1864), and Bigot (1825-97).

The so-called Temple of. Diana or Hemausus (PL A, 2;

small cafe-rest.), to the left of the Fontaine, was probably con-

nected with the Thermse, built in 25 B.C., of which there are

remains close by. The fagade has three arcades. The interior

(apply at the entrance of the Jardin, on the right; fee) consists of

a rectangular hall, 50 by 30 ft., and two passages; the hall has a

stone vaulting, partly fallen in, and twelve niches for bas-reliefs

and statues. The remains of buildings behind belonged to a Gallo-

Roman quarter of the town, whose paved street besides the founda-

tions of houses is still recognizable. They are seen from the path

ascending on the left.

Behind the Fontaine rises Mont d'Haussez, or Mont Cavaliei'

(375 ft.), with rich vegetation and pleasant avenues. On the top is

the octagonal Tour Magne (PL B, 1), a grand Roman ruin, 118 ft.
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high (restored in 1843). It was probably a watch-tower, and was
included within the Roman ramparts. A staircase of 140 steps

leads to the top (460 ft.). *View, N.E. as far as Mont Ventoux, S.

to Aigues-Mortes, and S.W. to the Canigou. The keeper lives in the

red house, a little lower down (fee).

The pretty Protestant Cemetery, containing a statue of Immortality
by Pradier (near the wall to the right), is reached by the Av. de la Plate-

forme (PI. A, 2), and the road to the right skirting the torrent of the

Cadereau. About 1/4 br. from the cemetery is the Grotte des Fees, with
stalactites, the secret meeting-place of the Protestants in the 17th and
18th centuries. — To the E. of Mont Cavalier, near an old Fort (now a

prison), is the Chateau d'Eau Antique (PI. C, 1), a circular reservoir

('castellum divisorium'), discovered in 1844, whence the water from the
Pont du Gard (p. 480) issued from ten apertures to supply the town.

Returning to the Place de la Comedie (PL C, 2, 3), we follow the

Rue de I'Horloge, to the right of the Maison Carree, to the Tour
de i'Um'lofje (PI. D, 3; 18th cent.). A little farther E. is the

Cathedral of Notre-Dame-et-St-Castor (PI. D, 3), still

partly obstructed by houses. It is said to have been built in the

10th 1 1th cent, on the ruins of a temple of Augustus, but has been

repeatedly rebuilt and restored. The fagade, surmounted by a square

tower whose upper part is Gothic, has a curious frieze (11th-

12th cent ), with scenes from the Book of Genesis.
The Interior, restored in the 19th cent., consists of a broad Roman-

esque nave, with small chapels at the sides, between the pillars, and fine

galleries above, extending round the choir. In the 1st chapel to the left.

Baptism of Christ, by Sigalan; in the 3rd to the left, Death of St. Louis,
by Doze; in the 3rd on the right, Holy Family, by Dose, and a mutilated
Christian sarcophagus (4th cent.) for an altar.

The form.er Eveche (PL D, 3), adjoining the Cathedral, now
contains the Ecole des Beaux-Arts and the Academy of Nimes.
Among the old houses in this quarter are 9 Rue St-Castor (16th

cent.), 1 Rue de la Madeleine (Maison Romane), 11 and 15 Rue
des Marchands, 16 and 3 Rue Doree.— The Rue St-Castor leads to

the Gh'and-Temjyle (PL E, 3) and the Boul. Amiral-Courbet. To
the N. of the Temple is the Porte d'Auguste (PL E, 2), a four-

arched gateway of the Roman fortifications, built, according to the

inscription, in 15 B.C., under Augustus. Near it is the church of

St-Baudile (PL E, 2), rebuilt in 1870-75.— In the Boul. Gambetta,
running hence towards the W., is the house (No. 20) where Al-

phonse Daudet was born, now the Bourse du Commerce (tablet).

On the right of the boulevard, towards the Esplanade, are the

Galerie Jules-Salles, with statues of Painting and Music, and the

old Lycee, once a Jesuit college, with a chapel on the other side,

and now containing various Collections (open Sun. and Thurs., 1 to

4 or 5; strangers admitted at any time; entrance at the back,

Grande-Rue).
The court and cloisters contain a *Mus6e Lapidaire (catalogue of

1893, 5 fr., lent by custodian). In the cloisters, on the right, Gallic in-

scriptions, the oldest being in Greek characters; small Gallic monuments
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with a wheel as emblem of the sun-god; inscriptions and Gallo-Roman
antiquities in chronological order, mosaics and sculptures. Then objects

found in a Gallo-Roman tomb, incl. an alabaster urn. We next observe
a 5th cent, tomb, with a skeleton. — On the first floor, to the left, a Col-
lection of Casts and Models of works of art and buildings in Provence,
models in cork of ancient buildings. To the right, and in the two upper
stories, is the Natural History Collection.

The Public Library (110,000 vols., 700 MSS.) also is housed in the old

college (No. 19). Adm. daily, 9-12 and 2-6; also Tues. and Fri. 8-10 p.m.,
except in July and August.

The handsome Musee de Peiuture et Sculpture (PI. D, 5),

10 Rue Cite-Foulc, S. of the Areues, includes the pictures collected

by Mr. Gower and purchased by the town in 1875. (Adm. daily,

except Tues. and Sat., 10-12 and 2-4; strangers admitted at other

times on applying to the custodian; catalogue of 1913.)
Grousd Floor. Large hall, with an *Antique Jlosaic, Marriage of

Admetus and Alcestis. Paintings, right to left: 59. P. Delaroche, Crom-
well by the coffin of Charles I. (1831); 86. Godeby, Venice; 34. M. Michel,
Pyrenean landscape. — 50. P. Colin (of Ximes), Pond at Gueville; 8. Bar-
bier (of Ximes), Study of a woman; 18. P. A. Besnard. Invasion in the
middle ages; 183. Jos. Verriet, Women bathing; 118. 117. Largilliere, Mar-
shals Berwick and Villars ; 52. J. B. Corveille, St. Genevieve ; 112. Lagrenee,
Mars and Venus (sketch); *131. C. Vanloo, Portr. of himself; 27. Fr. Boucher,
Landscape; 196. French School of 17th Cent., Turenne; 130. Vajiloo, Portr.

of his mother; 26. Boucher, Training a dog; 156. H. Rigaud, Portr. of a

councillor; 140. Xatoire (of Nimes), Antony and Cleopatra; 119. Largilliere,

Portr. of a magistrate; 190. S. Vouet, St." Paul. —125. Le -B?7/«, St. John;
Renaud le Viem: (of Ximes; d. 1690), 152. John the Baptist in prison,

153. Herod and John the Baptist, 154. Beheading of John the Baptist;

115. A. La Haye, Jardin de la Fontaine (p. 488); 172. Fr. Schommer, Edith
finding the body of Harold; 67. E. A. Duez, End of October; 157. Roll,

Heads of an Alsatian and a Lorraine woman. — 42. Carolus-Diiran, Reader;
102. Jourdan, Gaston Boissier; 121. Lavastre, Environs of Nimes.

Around the hall are four small rooms. Room I (to the right). Sculp-

tures : Marble busts by Irvoy, Pradier, and Bosc; model of the fountain

(p. 486) by Pradier; Lejjere, Lyssia; Pradier, 39. Bronze bust of the

poet Reboul, *37. Light poetry. — Room II (Salle de Chazelle-Chusclan).
^Engravings; also Sevres porcelain and rich bindings.— Room III (beyond
the staircase). Pastels and drawings. — Room IV. Sculptures: 47. Schcene-

werk, Child and swan; 27. Ft. Leroux, Young m other ; Vidcdihlind sculptor,

of Ximes), 50. Dying stag, 51. Bull (bronze); 19. Franceschi, Awakening;
in the centre, Injalbert. Hippomenes. — Staircase: 8. Briant, Bust of the

painter Sigalon (1788-1837).

First Floor. Room I (on the right). J. F. de Troy, 177. Paralytic,

178. Reaper asleep; 168, 167. Sigalon, Portraits; IB. Barbier, Portrait.—
Room II (on the left ; Gower Collection). Small Butch and Flemish pictures :

355. D. Teniers, Woman spinning; 357. Vcoi de Velde, Sea-piece and land-

scape; 314. Backhuysen, Sea-piece; Ph. Koninck, 338. Interior of tavern;

334. E. van Heemskerk, Head of an old woman; 335. P. de Hooch, Lace-

maker; 316. Nic. Berghem, Landscape; 323. A Cvyp, Shepherd and tiock;

352. Jan Steen, Woman holding a glass. —Room III (on the left). Modern
pictures.— Room IV (above the entrance). Italian schools. — Room V (Collec-

tion Salles-Wagner). Copies by Salles and his wife, Mme. Salles- Wagner. —
Room VI. Copies; 277. J. D. de Heem, Fruit Con copper); 286. P. Xeeffs the

Elder, Interior of cathedral. -Room VII. Old copies and modern works.

The Rue Bourdaloue, X. of the Musee, leads W. to the Place

Montcalm, in w-hich is the so-called Parte de Finance (PI. C, 4),

the Roman Porta Hispaniensis, consisting of a single arch.

I
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From Nimes to Uzes (p. 480), interesting excursion by motor-omn. via
the mediaeval Pont St-Nicola^, in the pretty VaUee du Gardo)i.- To the

Pont du Gard, see p. 480; better by railway than by road (I3V2 M.). -

From Nimes to Marseilles via Tarascon and Aries, see Routes 64 a, 66;
to Montpellier and C'ette, see R. 41 ; to Clermont-Ferrand, see R. 40.

From Nimes (Gare de la Camargue; p. 485) we may go direct in 80 min.
to (2OV2 M.) Arles-Trinquetaille (p. 513) by (51/2 M.) Bouillargues (p. 518);
but, as the stations are inconvenient at both places, especially for tra-

vellers with luggage, it is better to take the main line, by Tarascon (see

p. 477 and pp. 501. 502).

From Nimes to Le Vigax CTournemire), 58 M., railwav in 31/4-3V2 Irs.

(10 fr. 40. 7 fr. 5, 4 fr. 60 c.).--- Beyond (2 M.) St-Cesalre (p. 298) we
cross the fertile plain of the Vaunage. We leave the line to Luuel and
Montpellier (p. 298). — 181/2 M. Somviieres (biitfet; hotels), an old town
on the Vido?i7'le, with remains of a Roman bridge (under the present
bridge) and a picturesq^ue ruined castle. Lines to Lunel and to Mont-
pellier, see pp. 298, 304.— 31 M. Qidssac (Butfet; Hot. des Cevennes).
Line to Alais, see p. 485. — 35 M. Sauve (340 ft.), with an old castle.

—

40 M. St-Hlppolyte-du-Fort (575 ft.; Hot. du Cheval-Blanc; pop. 3950).
with remains of fortifications. To the N.E., 5 M., are the well-preserved
ruins of the Chateau de Fressac— lS^j^^'i- Ganges (600 ft.; Hot. de la

Croix-Blanche; pop. 4575), V2 ^I- to the S.W., the ancient Jyunticnm, has
busy silk and cotton industries. Road to Le Vigan, see p. 286. To the
S.E., 21/2 M., is the Grotte des Demoiselles or des F4es, with superb stalac-

tites. Adm. 5 fr. ; torches, Bengal lights, etc., 10 fr. more. — 51i/.> M. Sumhie
(685 ft.; Hot. Rose), with silk-factories. — 541/2 M. Pont-d'Ha'ault. Omu.
to Valleraugue (8 M.

; p. 286); carr. to the Aigoual, see p. 286. Nearing
Le Vigan, we see a curious old bridge and a small aqueduct on the left.

— 58 M. Le Vigan (p. 286).

From Nimes to Aigues-Mortes, 25 M., railway in 11/4-2 hrs.

(4 fr. 50 c, 3 fr., 1 fr. 95 c).

2 M. St-C^saire (see above).— 13i/., M. Vaiivert. At Vestrie,

about 3 M. to the X., a monument commemorates the famous Marquis

de Montcalm, born at the neighbouring Chateau de Candiac in 1712,

who fell at Quebec (1759).— IS^/a M. Le Cailar, 17 M. Aimargues
(aub.), both on the Aries and Lunel line (p. 518).— On the left is

the Tour Carhonnlere (13th cent.).

25 M. Aigues-Mortes (Hot. St-Loiiis, R. from 2V2, B- 1,

L. 3, J). 31/2? P- 9-10, omn. Y2 f^.; Hot. du Luxembourg, similar

charges; Hot. Fayu, plain; pop. 3900) lies near a number of ponds
and marshes ('aquse mortuae'), the chief of which is the Etancj de
la Ville, and on four canals, connecting it with the sea {8^/2 M.),

the Rhone (Beaucaire; p. 477), and the salt lagoons. It was founded

in 1246 by St. Louis, who, thinking it a good outlet towards the

Mediterranean, bought the land from the Abbey of Psalmodi. He
embarked here for his two Crusades in 1248 and 1270. In 1267-9

he began, and in 1270-75 his son, Philip the Bold, completed the

**Fortiflcations, one of the greatest curiosities in France, perhaps

superior even to those of Carcassonne (p. 102) and Avignon (p. 504),

being uniform in style and all of one date. The enceinte forms a

rectangle of 600 by 330yds., with embattled walls, 25-33 ft. high,

Ofteen towers, square or round, and ten gates. The embrasures

Babdbicbk's Southern Franco. 0th Edit. 32
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alone were altered later to suit fire-arms, aud the moat was filled

up. At the JST.W. angle, near the Parte de la Gardette, by which

we enter the town, rises the Tour de Constance, begun by St. Louis

;

with the watch-turret on the top, it is 180 ft. high and 65-70 ft. in

diameter; its walls are 20 ft. thick. The defensive arrangements

are ingenious. It served, after the Revocation of the Edict of

Nantes, as a prison for Protestants, some of whom languished here

down to 1767. The Tour des Bourguignons, to the S.E., served

as a tomb for the Burgundians who seized the town in 1421, but

were massacred by the royal troops and thrown into this tower, their

bodies being covered with salt as a safeguard against the plague.

Leave to visit the towers and ramparts (about ^/^ hr.) is obtained

from the custodian (near the Porte de la Gardette, to the left; fee).

In the chief square rises a statue of aS'^. Louis, by Pradier

(184:9). Farther on, to the left, near the Porte des Cordeliers, is

the Chapelle des Penitents-Gris, with a richly decorated altar.

The vineyards arouud are planted ou a sandy soil, which is able to

absorb and retain sufficient moisture to drown the phylloxera.

From Aigues-Mortes to Les Saintes-2Iaries (p. 518), 20 M., through the

Camargue; carr. 20-30 fr.

From Aigues-Mortes the train goes on to (31/2 M.) Le GroA(-du-Boi
(Hot. Bellevue, Icard), a sea-bathing place. Steamer in summer.

66. Prom Lyons to Marseilles by the
Rhone Valley.

2171/2 M. Railway in 4 hrs. 10 to 15 hrs. 10 min. (39 fr. 30, 26 fr. 55,

17 fr, 35 c). From Lyons to Avignon, 143 M., in 2 hrs. 35 to 8 hrs. 25 min.

(25 fr. 85, 17 fr. 50, I'j fr. 40 c.). — The route from Lyons to Marseilles via

Grenoble (comp. Routes 56, 70) is pleasant in summer. — To Pont-d'Avignon
(p. 480), by the right bank of the Rhone, 146 M., in 6 hrs. 25 to 8 hrs.

45 min. (26 fr. 40, 17 fr. 85, 11 fr. 70 c). See R. 64b.
The steamboat-service on the Rhone from Lyons to Avignon (81/2)

back in 14 hrs. ; 19 fr. 55 or 13 fr. 60 c ) is to be resumed on 1st May, 1914.

Lyons (Gare de Perrache), see p. 238. We cross the Rhone and

follow its left bank.— From (13 M.) Chasse a junction-line crosses

the Rhone to Givors (p. 261).— 18 M. Estressin (see below).

191/2 M. Vienne.— Hotels. Hot. du Nord (PI. a; 0, 2), Place de

Miremont, R. from 31/2, B. I1/4. L. 31/2- D- 3, P. from 9, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de
la Poste (PI. b ; C, 2), 15 Cours Romestang, R. from 3. L. or D. 3, omn. 1/2 fi'-

Restaurant. Pyramide, near the Aiguille (p. 494), L. or D. from 2V2 fr-

Cabs. Per drive I1/4- per hour 2 fr. ; at night 2 and 3 fr.— Tramways
(15 c.) from the station to Estressin (see above) and to Pont-Eveqne.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. 6; C, 2), 49 Rue Victor-Hugo. —Baths.
Servanin, 16 Quai du Rhone (PI. B, 1).

Vienne (530 ft.; pop. 24,711) lies picturesquely at the con-

fluence of the Rhone and the Gere, on the slopes of several hills

and in the valleys between them.
Vienne was the Roman Vienna AUobrogum, a flourishing colony, and

under the Empire was the capital of the Viennoise, one of the seventeen
provinces of Gaul. As a cradle of Christianity, it was the seat of a line of
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archbishops, who held the title of Primate of Gaul down to the Eevolution.
Guy of Burgundy, one of these prelates, became Pope Calixtus II. (1119-24),

Vienne was also the capital of the first and second kingdoms of Burgundy
(413-534 and S79-933). It afterwards fell to the rank of chief town of a

county, and was governed bj^ its archbishops until it was ceded in 1450

to Louis, dauphin of the Viennois, afterwards Louis XI. of France (comp.

p. 410). Several church councils have been held at Vienne, in particular

that of 1311-12, at which Clement V. abolished the Order of Templars.
The town suffered severely in the Religious Wars, and in 1561 was sacked
by the Huguenots under Baron des Adrets. — Vienne is now a busy in-

dustrial place, with tanneries, paper-mills, iron and copper works, glass-

works, and notably cloth-factories, dating from 1721 and employing 7000
hands, who produce goods vv'orth 20 million fra.ncs annually. Early fruits,

chiefly cherries, apricots, and peaches, are grown in the environs.

Leaving the station (PI. B, C, 2), we follow, to the right,, the

Cours Romestang to the Place de Miremont, in which is the Musee-
Bibliotheque (PL C, 2; entrance to the right), containing modern
paintings and a few antiquities. (Adm. Thurs. and Sun., 10-12

and 2 to 4 or 5 ; on other days, fee.)

The Cathedral of St-Maurice (PL B, 1,2), to the left, is a fine

Gothic church of the 12th-16th centuries. The facade, towards the

Rhone, with its three portals, large window, and two flamboyant

towers, is imposing, but the stone is sadly weather-worn.
The Interior consists of nave and aisles with lateral chapels, but

without transepts or ambulatory. The aisles end in straight walls; the
right aisle has a fine window (16th or 17th cent.). The greater part of

the nave is borne by fluted pilasters, with capitals representing great
personages (12th cent.); the choir, the first bays next the facade, and the
vaulting are of the 13th-14th centuries. Above the arcades of the nave
and the choir runs a triforium-gallery. Right and left of the main portal
are the sarcophagi of St. Leoniuus (7th cent.) and Ayraar, Archbishop of

Embrun (d. 1245). The choir contains an altar in green marble and the
tombs of two 18th cent, archbishops, all by Slodtz. By the side-entrance
to the right aisle is a fine, but mutilated group of the Adoration of the
Shepherds (end of 13th cent.); a similar group is Herod and the Magi,
between the 6th and 7th chapels of the left aisle. Above the side-portal
of the left aisle are the signs of the zodiac.

In the Place St-Paul (PL B, 1), N. of the Cathedral, is a 15th

cent, chapel-portal, much mutilated. From the E. side of the square

the Rue du Doyenne and (left) the Rue Clementine lead to the Place

du Palais and the *Temple of Augustus and Livia (PL 8 ; B, C, 1),

built about 41 A.D. under the Emp. Claudius. It resembles the

Maison Carree at Nimes (p. 487), but is less well preserved. The
form is pseudoperipteral; it measures 90 by 50 ft., and is 57 ft.

high. The facade has six fluted columns; there are five others on

each side, followed by engaged pilasters. It was converted into a

church and sadly disfigured in the middle ages, but was restored

in 1854-65. Around lie fragments of ancient buildings.

From the N. side of the square the Rue de la Chaiue leads E. to

the Hotel de Ville, in front of which rises a statue of Fr. Ponsard
(PL 7; C, 1), the dramatic poet (1814-67). A little farther E.. is

the Rue des Orfi^vres, which leads to the right, past No. 7, a Renais-

sance house, and No. 11, with a handsome 15th cent, court, to the

32*
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Arc de Triomphe (PL 1 ; C. 1), a relic of the colonnade enclosing

the ancient forum.

A little X.E. rises St-Andre-le-Haut (18th cent.), once the

chapel of the College (PL C, 1). To the right is the elegant Porte

de VAmbulance (PL 5; D, 1), of 1665. a relic of an old convent.

Hence we may asr-end the Pipet (825 ft.), once the site of a Eoman
Citadel and Amphitheatre (apply at 14 Rue Pipet). On the top now rise

the church ;of Xotre-Dame-de-la-Salette and a colossal figure of the Virgin.

To the X. of the Temple of Augustus the Rue des Clercs (inter-

esting old courts at N"os. 12-18) leads to the uniinished church of

St-Andre-le-Bas (PL B, 1). of 1152, with a beautiful tower and

arcaded wall. Just beyond is the confluence of the Gere and the

Rhone. Among the many factories in the dale of the Gere are

several where old woollen stuffs and refuse are made into cloth

('laine renaissance'). From the quay we have a view of the ruined

Chateau de la Bdtie (13th cent, i on Mont Salomon (855 ft.).

We now follow the Quai du Rhone (PL B, A, 1, 2) to the sus-

pension-bridge to Ste-Colombe (p. 477). The square Tour de

Philippe-de- Valois (PL A, 1), seen from the bridge, to the right, was

built in 1343 to defend the old Roman bridge, destroyed in 1651.

Farther down the quay the tower of St-Pierre (PL B, 2) appears

on the left. This is one of the earliest Romanesque churches in

France. The porch, tower, and apse are of the 12th cent., but the

side-walls are much older, dating perhaps from the 5th cent., when

the church was first built. The walls are supported in the interior

by arcades in two stories with antique marble columns. The church,

well restored, now contains a Musee Lapidaire, open at the same

hours as the Musee (p. 493). Entrance on the X. side.

At the S. end of the Quai du Rhone is the Jardin Public (PL

A, B, 2), with various fragments of sculpture. In the centre is a

monument to Michael Servetus (p. 316), who wrote his 'Christian-

ismi Restitutio' at Vienne.

To the S. of the Jardin (10 min. ; or 20 min. S.W. of the station)

we reach the Aiguille (beyond PL B, 2), an antique pyramid 80 ft.

high, which once adorned the centre of the 'spina', or longitudinal

wall, of a circus whose site has been traced. It appears to date

from the 4th cent. A.D.; an old legend called it 'Pilate's Tomb'.

The interior is hollow; the square base is pierced with four arches.

At the angles are columns with unfinished sculpture.

Steam-tramway from Yienne to (33 M.) Le Grand-Lemps (Chara-

vines; p. 407), via (15 M.) St-Jean-de-Bournay (Ko\. duXord; pop. 3174),

with factories of silk and trimmings, also on the tramway from Lyons
to La C6te-St-Andre and St-Marcellin (p. 414).

Leaving Vienne, the train passes the Aiguille, on the right (see

above). On both banks of the Rhone are hills with orchards and

vineyards.— 22^/2 M. Vaugris. Opposite are the Chateau d'Ampuis

and the Cote-Rotie (p. 477).— 26^/2^. Les Boches-de-Condrieu,
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where the mulberry thrives.— 821/2 ^I- Le P^age-de-Roussillon.

At the Chdteau de Roussillonj iu 1564, Charles IX. confirmed the

edict making the year begin on Jan. 1st.

3772 M. St-Ramhert-d'Alhon (buffet; Hot. de la Tete-d'Or).

To Annonay, Firminy (St-Etienne, St-Just-sur-Loire), see pp. 266, 265.

From St-Rambert to Rives (Grenoble) , 35 M., railway in li/a-l^/^ hr.

(6 fr. 25, 4 fr. 25, 2 fr. 75 c). The line crosses an uninteresting plain, but
affords a fine view of the Alps. — 13 M. Beaurepaire (845 ft.; Hot. de la

Poste). Omn. to (21/4 hrs.) Le Grand-Serre (see below).— 23 M. La C'ote-

St-Andrd (1140 ft.). The town (Hot. de I'Europe; pop. 3378), 3 M. to the
left, was the birthplace of Berlioz, the composer (1803-69). Tramway to

Monplaisir and St-Marcellin, seep. 414; to Le Grand-Lemps, seep. 408.

—

We join the Lyons line. — 35 M. Rives (p. 408).

4IY2 ^I- Andancette. On the opposite bank lies Andance

(p. 477).—45^2 ^^- St-ValUer (Hot. des Voyageurs, de la Poste;

pop. 4363), with a Gothic chateau and porcelain factories.

From St-Vallier to Le Grand-Serre, 191/2 M., steam-tramway
through the valley of the Galaure, which (3 M.) forms the Passe de
RocTietailUe, a gorge dominated by a ruined chateau of the Dauphins. —
3V2 M. St-Uz'e, with potteries. — 131/2 ^I- Hauterives, with potteries and
paper-mills. — 191/2 ^I- Le Grand-Serre (Hot. Echinard), a small walled
town, with a 13th cent, church. Omn. to Beaurepaire (see above).

On the left is the so-called chateau of Pilate.— 49 M. Ser'ves-

Erome, with extensive ruins.

54 M. Tain (405 ft.; Hot. de I'Ermitage; pop. 3062), opposite

Tournon (p. 477), lies at the foot of the Ermitage hill, on which

the famous Hermitage wines are grown. In the Place de I'Hotel-

de-Ville is an ancient sacrificial altar (184 A.D.).

Steam-tramway to (11 M. to tlic E.) Romans (p. 414), via (7 M.) C'lMenr,
where a branch diverges for St-Donat.

Farther on, to the left, are seen the Alps, and even Mont Blanc.

— 6OY2 M. La Roche-de-Glun. We cross the Isdre.

66 M. Valence.— Plan, see p. 493. — ^w^'ei. — Hotels. Hot. du
Louvre & de la Poste (PI. b; B, 4). 17 Av. Victor-Hugo, R. from 4, B. IV2,
L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 9, omn. 1/2 fr- 5 Sot. dela Croix-d' Or (PI. a; B, 4),

Place de la R^publique; Hot. de France (PI. c; C, 4), 7 Boul. Bancel, R.
from 21/2, L. 3, D. 8V2, omn. 1/2 fr-; Sot. de V Europe (PI. d; D, 4), Place
Madier-de-Montjau, R. 2V2-4, B. 1, L. 21/2, 1>- 3, P. 8-IOV2, omn. V2 fr.

;

Hot. de la Tete-d'Or (PI. e; D, 4), Place Madier-de-Montjau; Hot. de
Paris (PI. f; C, 5), at the station, R. from 3fr.; Hot. des Voyageurs,
30 Av. Fdlix-Faure, near the station, plain, R. IV2, L. or D. 2 ^r. ; Hot.
des Negociants, 27 Av. F^lix-Faure, near the station.

Restaurants. Cafe de la Bourse, Champ-de-Mars; Glacier, 16 Boul.
Bancel; Brasserie Georges, Place de la R^publique.

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. B, 4), Champ-de-Mars. — Banks. Credit
Lyminais, 4 Place de la R^publique; Societe Generale, 23 Boul. Bancel.

Cabs. Per drive 1, per hour 1'/.^ fr.; at night (10 to G or 7) I'/a or

21/4 fr.; with two horses IV4 or 2 fr.''(at night 2 or 3 fr.); trunk 25 c—
Motor Omnibuses and Cars-Ripert to (2^/4 M.) St-Peray (p. 478), from
the Rue Sauniere (PI. B, 4), every jVa hr. (25 c). - Steam Tramway to

Bourg-de-P^age and Pont-en-Royaus, see pp. 496, 497, 414.

Baths. Serve, 5 Av. Victor-Hugo; Veyrier, Rue Digonnct.

Syndicatd'Initiative, 3 Cite Cliabert, corner of Boul. Bancel (PLC, 4).
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Valence (^405 it.; pop. 28,706;, the Komaii Valeniia, capital

of the department of the Drome and seat of a bishop, lies pic-

turesquely on the left bank of the Rhone.
Once the capital of the SegoveUanni, and of some note in the Roman

period, it was sacked by the barbarians in 430, by the Saracens in 735,

and by the Northmen in 860. The bishopric was founded in the 4th cent.,

and the bishops ruled the town for centuries. In 1493 the Yalentinois
was erected into a duchy for Ca?sar Borgia; in 1548-66 Diane de Poitiers

was the titular duchess. Among eminent natives were Joubert, the phy-
sician (1529-83), Gen. Championnet (see below), and Em. Augier (see below).

The At. Felix-Faure, opposite the station (PI. C, 5), and the

Av. Yictor-Hugo, to the right, lead to the handsome Place de la

Republique, with the imposing monument of Emile Aiigier (PI. 1,

B C 4; 1820-89), by the Duchesse d'Uzes; around the statue of the

dramatist are figures of the town of Valence, Ancient Poetry, Mo-
dern Comedy, the Rhone, and the Drome.

To the left is the Champ-de-Mars, with monuments to Gen.

Championnet (PL 3, B 4; 1762-1800), who took the kingdom of

Xaples in 1798, and to the poet Louis CTallet (PL 4, B 5 ; 1835-98).

Below is the Pare Jouvet (PL A, 4, 5), with four large Roman altars.

—A little N.W. of the Pare Jouvet, in the old Eveche (PL B,4),

is the Musee (open Sun. and Thurs. 1-4; at other times for a fee,

but closed in Aug. and Sept.), containing Roman antiquities, paint-

ings, and sculptures.

The Cathedral of St-Apollinaire (PL B , 4), adjoining the

Musee, an interesting church in the Auvergne-Romanesque style,

was consecrated in 1095 by Pope Urban II., but has been frequently

restored. The columns of the porch have finely carved capitals.

The nave has round-arch vaulting, the aisles groined. The choir

contains a monument to Pius YL, who died in exile in the citadel

(1799), with his bust by Le Laboureur.

Facing the left side-portal of the Cathedral is the Pendentif
(V\. B, 4), a curious burial-chapel (1546). Beyond it, 7 Rue
Perollerie, is the Maisoji Dupre-Latour (PL 7; B, 4), of 1522,

with a fine staircase and Renaissance reliefs (ring; fee). No. 57

in the G-rand' Rue, parallel to the Rue Perollerie, is the Maison des

Tetes (PL 8; B, 4), of 1530, with a dilapidated facade and interest-

ing corridor and court (adm. free). The Grand' Rue leads N. to the

church of St-Jean-Baptiste (PL C, 3), rebuilt in the 19th cent, in

the Romanesque style. It has a fine organ-loft and old paintings.

To the S. of Valence. I1/4 M.. is Banmes-les-Bains (P. from 9, omn.
11/2 fr.), for the 'thermo-resinous' treatment of arthritis.

Interesting excursion to the Ruines de Crussol (1055 ft.), a 12th
cent, castle, on a hill on the right bank of the Rhone opposite Valence.
We take the St-Peray motor-omn., alight just short of the village, and
walk up in ^U br., passing the Chateau de Beauregard (caf^-rest.).

From Valence to Grenoble, see p. 414.

Steam-tramway to (17 M.) Crest (p. 497) from the P.L.M. station.

From Valence to Bourg-de-Peage (Romans, Pont -en- Royans),
17';._, M.. steam-tramway in 2-21/4 hrs. (2 fr. 30. 1 fr. 75 c); or by railway,
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121/2 M., in 30-50 min. (2 fr. 25, 1 fr. 50 c, 1 fr. ; see p. 414).— The tram-
way starts from the P.L.M. station.— 7 M. C'habeuil (Hot. Lespinasse;
pop. 3090), with factories. Omn. to (5 M.) Pejjrus; then by road to

(8 M.) La Vacherie (see below) and (91/2 M.) the Gorges cTOmbleze (see

below); carr. from Peyrus to the gorge 20 fr.— 171/2 M- Bourg-de-Peage
(p. 414).— 181/2 M. Romans, and thence to Pont-en-Royans, see p. 414.

76^2 M- Livron (Buffet; Hot. des Voyageurs, de I'Univers;

pop. 3905), on a hill above the Drome, was successfully defended

by the Huguenots against Henri III. in 1574. Ruined castle.

From Livron to Privas, 20 M., branch-line crossing the Rhone.^
3 M. La Votdte-sur-Rhone (p. 478). We join the Lyons and Nimes line.
— 7 M. Le Po2/zin. and thence to Privas, see p. 478.

From Livros to Yeymes (Briancon, Digne), 721/2 M., railway in

3V4-51/4 hrs. (13 fr. 10, 8 fr. 85, 5 fr. 75 c.).— This line ascends the Drome
valley. — 11 M. Crest (610 ft.; Xouvel-Hotel, Hot. de France; pop. 5536),
a manufacturing town on the right bank of the Drome. A huge square keep
(12th cent.) is now the only relic of its castle, demolislied by Richelieu
in 1627-33. Tramway to Valence, see p. 496. Omn. to (81/2 M.) Saon, with
a ruined abbey (9th cent.), near the picturesque Foret de Saou, with the
Roche-Co la-be (5225 ft.; fine panorama). Omn. also to (14 M.) Plan-de-Baix
(aub.), whence we may visit the Gorges d' Omhleze, or go on to (221/2 M.)
IjU Vacherie (3205 ft.;' see above), Leoncel (241/2 M.), with a 12th cent,
abbey-church, and (351/., M.) St-Jean-en-Roijans (p. 414).

201/2 M. Saillans (HSt. Plumel), when(;e'a road loads to (22 M.) Dieideflt
(p. 498). — 25 M. Vercheny, at the foot of the Roc de Barry (3(i60 ft.).—
331/2 M. Die (Hot. St-Domingue, dos Alpes

;
pop. 3797), on the right bank

of the Drome, was the Roman Dea Vocontioriim, dedicated to Cybele, and
one of their chief colonies on tiie road from Milan to Vienne. A relic of

the ancient town is the Porte St-MarceL erected in honour of Marius,
but disfigured in the middle ages. The Cathedral of Notre-Dame (11th
cent.) retains little of the original church save the fine porch with its

antique columns. The esplanade near the Hotel de Ville (which contains
a Gallo-Roman mosaic) has a bust of the Countess of Die. a 12th cent,
poetess, beloved by a troubadour of Orange. MM. de Fontgalland and Cham-
brier, Place de la Republique, have fine collections of Roman antiquities.
To the S.E. are (1 M. ; omn.) the 'thermo-resiuous' baths of Martoiiret and
(2 M.) SaiUere-les-Bains. We may walk or ride, via (1-^/4 hr.) Valcroissant,
with its old Cistercian abbey, to the top of Mont Glandasse (6710 ft.;

4 hrs.; view). A road leads N. from Die to (24 M. ; omn.) La ChapeUe-en-
Vercors (p. 425).

38 M. Pont-de-Quart-Chdtillon (1460 ft.). Steam-tramwav to (5 M.)
Chdtillon-en-Diois (1900 ft.; Hot. des Alpes), at the foot of "Mont Glan-
dasse (see above). A road leads from Chatillon to (22V2 ^0 Clelles-Mens
(p. 440); another to (18 M.) Liis-la-Croix-Haute (p. 440).— 46 M. Luc-en-
Diois (1905 ft.; Hot. Nal, du Levant), an ancient town ('Incus'). Then
the Rochers du Claps, relics of a landslip in 1442, which dammed up
the Drome and formed two lakes.- Beyond (491/2 M.) Lesches-Beaitiuont
(2110 ft.) we leave the Drome valley.— 541/2 M. Beaurih-es (2450 ft.). The
train ascends towards the Col de Cabre (3870 ft.), piercing it by a tunnel,
21/4 M. long.— 61 M. LaBeaume (2895 ft.). We descend to the Buech valley.
-At {%ii^l.i^i.) Aspres-sur-Bu'ech (p. 441) we join the Grenoble line.--

721/2 M. Veynes (p. 441).

Beyond Livron we cross the Drome, with a line view to the left.

Mulberry-trees abound. The scenery tiikes on a more southern

character. The niountiiins are bare; the fields, fertile in spring,

are parched in summer and autumn; the piercing mistral (p. 500)
often prevails. Silk-worm culture has Ijeen carried on here since

1494. 86 '/.^ M. La Coucourde-CondiUar, on the Rhone.
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93 M. Montelimar (Buffet; Hot. de la Poste, R. from 3, B. 1,

L. 3. D. 31/2 fr.; Hot. des Princes, R. from 21/2, B- 1, i-- ^Va-
D. 3 fr.; H6t. de France & Terminus, du Pare; pop. 13,281), an

ancient and prosperous town, lies ou a hillside topped by an old

castle, now a prison. Montelimar is noted for its 'nougat'.

Roads lead to (3 M.) Eochemanre (p. 479) and (3 M.) Le^Teil (p. 479).

From Mont:6limar to Dieulefit, 18 M., steam-tramway through the

valley of the Jabron. — 91,'a M. La Begude-de-Mazenc. with the chateau of

Emile Loubet, President of the Republic in 1899-1906. — 18 M. Dieulefit
(1275 ft.; Hot. du Midi, du Levant; pop. 3604). in a pretty site, near a

tine ravine of the Jabron, has two mineral springs, potteries, and cloth-

factories.

We cross the Eouhion and the JReaille.— 99 M. Chdteauneuf-

du-Rhone, with old ramparts. Fine view of Viviers to the right

(p. 479; omn. 25 c.).-— 102 M. Donzere, vrith an 11th cent, church

and old houses. To the E.N.E., 91/2 M., is the monastery of La
Trappe cVAiyuehelle, founded in 1137 (no adm.).—To the left, on

a hill, appears La Garde-Adhemar, wnth an interesting Roman-
esque church with double apse (11th cent.).— lOG^/g M. Pierrelatte

(Hot. du Palais, de la Gare; pop. 3246) takes its name from a rock

Cpetra lata') said to have been brought here by a giant. Opposite

lies Bourg-St-Andeol (p. 479; omn. 30 c).

From Pierrelatte to Xtoks, 26 M., railway in 13/4-2 hrs. (4 fr. 70,

3 fr. 20, 2 fr. 5 c.). — 41/2 M. St-Paid-Trois-CMteaiix (Hot. du Louvre), a

decayed little town, of some importance as the Roman Tricastrnm, with

a Romanesque cathedral (12th-13th cent.). This was the birthplace of

Mgr. Sibour, Archbishop of Paris (assassinated in 1857). Far away to the

right is Mont Ventoux (p. 513).— 12 M. Lhamaret-Grignan. Grignan (Hot.

des Touristes). 3 M. to the X. (steam-tramway 40 c), is a small town with
remains (under restoration in 1913) of the superb 16th cent. Chateau of the

Counts of Griguau, one of whom married Mme. de Sevigne's daughter in 1669.

Fine view from the terrace. The picture-gallery contains portraits of Mme.
de Sevignd and her daughter, by P. Mignard. Mme. de Sevigne died here

in 1696 and was buried in the neighbouring church. — 171/.2 M. Valreas
(755 ft.; Hot. Blanc, de France; pop. 5416), which suffered much in the

Religious "Wars, has an old clock-tower, remains of ramparts, and a church

of the 12th-14th cent.; its great industrv is the making of cardboard-boxes.
— 221/2 ^1- Veiiterol-Rousset (1350 ft.). Olive-trees abound.— 26 M. Nyons
(890 ft.; Hot. Colombet, Pascal; pop. 3507), an old industrial town
on the Etjgties, is noted for its olive-oil, fruit, truffles, and essence of

lavender. The Tour Randonne (13th cent.; now a chapel) is a relic of

the old ramparts. The Place Carnot is bordered with 14th cent, arcades.

Omn. to (10 M.) Vaison (p. 500) and (27 M.) Carpentras (p. 512).

1131/2 M. BolUne-la-Croism^e (150 ft.). Bollene (pop. 6069;

omn.), 21/2 M. to the E., retains part of its 14th cent, fortifications

and a 15th cent, tower, relic of a priory.

Omn. from the station to (1/2 hr.) Pont-St-Esprit (p. 479). The road
to Nyons {2o^l-i M.; see above) passes (71/2 M.) Suze-la-Rousse, with a fine

16th cent, chateau.

116 M. Mondragon, 1191/2^^- Moriias, both with ruined castles.

— Olives now appear.— 121 M. Piolenc. We enter the fertile plain

of Orange, and cross the Eygues. Far away to the left ries Mont

Ventoux (p. 513).
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1251/2 M. Orange. — Hotels. Hot. de la Paste & des Princes,
7-8 Av. de I'Arc-de-Triomphe, well spoken of, E. from 3, B. l^j^, L. 3,

D. 31/2, omn. 1 fr.; Hot. du Nord, 17 Av. de rArc-de-Triomphe; Hot.
de VEurope and Hot. du Louvre & Terminus, both near the station, plain
but good, L. 2, D. 21/2 fr.

Post & Telegraph Offick, 15 Rue de la Republique. — Tramway-
Omnibus from the station to the Cours St-Martin (10 c). —Baths. Bains
de VAvenue, 5 Faubourg de Pourtoules.

Orange (150 ft.; pop. 11,087) is situated ou tlie Meyne.
To the ancient importance of the colony of Arausio Seczindanorum

the arch and the theatre still bear witness. The town is said to have
been sacked in the 3rd cent, by Chrocus, King of the Vandals. In the
middle ages it became the capital of a county, and in 1282 that of an
independent principality, which fell to the Count of Xassau in 1531, and
continued subject to the house of Nassau-Orange until the death of

William III. of England in 1702. It was burned down by the Catholics
in 1562 and captured by Louis XIV. in 1660. At length, by the Peace
of Utrecht (1713), it was annexed to France.

The fine Av. de la Grare leads to the right to the Pont Neuf.

At the end rises a statue of the victorious Samson. Beyond the

bridge, straight on, lies the Place de la Republique, near the Hotel

de Ville (N.W.) and the Roman theatre (S.E.) ; we, however, visit

the triumphal arch first. After crossing the Meyne we take the

Boul. de la Meyne to the right, then recross the stream by the

second of the next bridges, and follow the Av. de I'Arc-de-Triomphe.

The ^Triumphal Arch (64 by 28 ft., and 611/2^. high) lies

to the N., on the Lyons road, and is the finest monument of the

kind in France. It consists of three arches (the middle arch larger

than the others), all with superb coff"ered vaulting. The outward

side, the best preserved, though much dilapidated, presents four

fluted Corinthian columns, the two inner bearing a triangular

pediment. The archivolts and attic are richly decorated. The attic

in particular is adorned with reliefs of battles, with numerous
figures, lifelike, but small and difficult to distinguish. On the sides

appear trophies and captives. From the name of Sacrovir, ou one

of the shields (to the right, next the town), it has been inferred

that the arch was erected after the defeat of this chieftain of the

..Edui, in A.D. 25; this inference seems confirmed by traces uf an
inscription to Tiberius on the architrave. Used as a stronghold in

the middle ages, the arch has been restored since 1825.
*

Retracing our steps, and going straight on by the Rue Victor-

Hugo, we pass near the church of Notre-Dame, built in 1083-

1126, but altered later. A little beyond it is the Hotel de Ville,

of 1671, restored in 1888, but with its original tower. In the

Place de I'Hotel -de -Ville is a modern statue of Count Raim-
baud 11. , killed at the siege of Antiocli in 1099. The Rue Grande-
Fusterie, or the Rue Caristie, leads hence to the theatre, preceded
by a group, by InjaJhert (1899), of Ancient and Modern Art.

The *Koman Theatre, dating from about the 2ud cent. A.D.,

dominates the town with its huge fa(;ade. The wall of the side next
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the town, adorned with blind arcades onl}-, is 121 ft. high, 338 ft.

long, and 13 ft. thick, and was probably once preceded by a lower

building for the use of the actors. We enter by a small door to the

right (fee), and notice the three doorways used by the actors and a

large niche for a statue of the Emperor. The amphitheatre is backed

by a hill, in which the hemicycle, seated for 7000 spectators, was
excavated. The lowest tier of seats bears the inscription 'equites'.

Since 1894 the building has been restored as a 'theatre national',

in which performances are given every August, notably by the Co-

medie Frangaise, on a temporary wooden stage. The acoustics are

admirable. The left wing contains a small Musee of fragments and

inscriptions found at Orange. In the main part of the building is

a bust of Aug. Caristie (1787-1862), a student of the antiquities

of Orange. To the right of the theatre are the remains of a huge

Circus. On the hill above the amphitheatre are a statue of the

Virgin and the ruins of a Chateau of the Princes of Orange, built

in 1621 of Eoman materials, and destroyed in 1673 by Louis XIV.
Interesting survey of the interior of the theatre and *View of the

plain of Orange, bounded on the E. by Mont Ventoux (p. 513).
From Orange to Carpentras and L'Isle-slr-la-Sorgue, 23^/2 M.,

railway in 1 hr. 53 to 2 hrs. .SO min. (4 fr. 2.5, 2 fr. 85, 1 fr. 85 c.).— 81/2 M.
Sarrians-Montmirail. On the ri{?ht lies Sarrians. a small town with
remains of ramparts. To the N.E. (41/2 M. ; oran. in the season) are the

baths of Montmirail (hotel), with springs containing iron, sulphur, and
salt (purgative), prettily situated at the foot of grand rocks (Dentelles
de MontmiraUj.— 131/2 M. Carpentras (p. 512). — 17i/'._, M. Pernes (pop.

3930), with a 12th cent, church, an old castle (now a school), three gates
and other remains of fortifications, and the Tour Ferrande, with 13th cent,

frescoes.— 231/2 M. U Isle-sur-Ja-Sorgue (p. 511).

From Orange to Le Buis-les-Baronnies, 31 M., narrow-gauge line

in 21/4-21/2 hrs. (3 fr. 80 or 2 fr. 45 c).— 171/2 M. VaisonVHot. du Commerce

;

pop. 3062), on the Oiiveze, has a Roman Theatre. The Diadumenos in

the British Museum was found here. It was the seat of a bishop until

the end of the 18th cent.; its former Cathedral dates from the 6th or

7th cent, to the 13th. The cloisters (llth-13th cent.) now contain an archi-

tectural museum. The church of <SY-'9?/e/tii«,' dedicated to a former bishop,

has a triangular apse (13th cent.). Vaison has also a Roman bridge, old

ramparts, and a castle of 1195. Omn. to (10 M.) Nyons (p. 498) and to

(11 M.) Carx^entras (p. 512). — 20 M. Makuicene-Crestet. From Malaucene
(Hot. Fabre, L. or D. 21/2 fr.), 41/2 M. to the S., Mont Ventoux may easily

be ascended (p. 413). — 251/2 M. MoUans-Propiac. To the X., I1/4 M., are

the little baths of Propiac (hotel), with springs containing sulphates and
magnesia. — 31 M. Le Bzds-les-Baronnies (Hot. du Luxembourg).

The train now crosses the plain, a long way from the Ehone.

The Mistral, a bitter N.W. wind, which often blows here and on

the Riviera in winter and spring, is at least beneficial in purifying

the air. Cypresses are planted for protection against it.

1301/2 M. Courthezon (pop. 3157) has 14th cent, ramparts and

a modern chateau. On a hill to the right, towards the Rhone, lies

(32/4 M. from Bedarrides) Chdfeauneuf-Calcernier, or Chdteau-
neuf-du-PajJe, with the ruins of a papal castle. ^— 134 M. Bedar-
rides (pop. 2130), at the confluence of the Ouveze and tlie Soi'gue.
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l36i/o M. Morgues (pop. 4:307), with factories. Line to Carpentras,

see u. 512.— 139 M. Le Pontet. We again approach the Rhone.

143 M. Avignon (buffet; p. 503).

The train crosses the Durance^ near its confiueuce with the

Rhone.

—

-I-IG^/qM. Barhentane. The village, on a rock 2 M. to the

right, has a line 14th cent, tower. Bridge across the Rhone leading

to Aramon (p. 480). Line to Orgon, see p. 511.— I5O1/2 ^- Gra-
veson, 174 M. to the left, has a church of 1198. The village of

Maillane, birthplace and residence of the Provengal poet Frederic
Mistral (b. 1830; p. 504\ lies 21/2 M. to the S.E. of the station.

1567-2 M. Tarascon (Buffet; Terminus-Hotel, R. 2-3, L. 21/3,

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Louvre & de la Poste, des Empereurs; pop. 8631),

immortalized in Daudet's satirical romance, lies on the Rhone, op-

posite Beaucaire (p. 477). It is said to derive its name from the

Tarasque, a monster which ravaged the country in the 1st cent. A.D.

and was slain by St, Martha (p. 518). The Cours National, to the

right from the station, continued by the Av. de la Republique,

leads to the bridge, whence we follow the Rue Pasteur to the right.

The church of Ste-Marthe, founded in the 12th cent, and partly

rebuilt in 1376-1449, has a line Romanesque S. portal. It contains

paintings by Vien, Parrocel, Vanloo, and Ann. Caracci. In the crypt

is the tomb of St. Martha (restored). The grand Gothic Chdteau
(14th-15th cent.), completed and inhabited by King Rene of Anjou

(p. 521), has been restored, but it is now a prison, and shown only

by leave of the Sous-Prefet of Aries.
From Tarascou to Nimes, see R. 64 a; to Remoulins, see p. 480.
From Tarascon to St-R^imy (Orgon), 91/2 M., railway in 40-50 min.

(1 fr. 1.5, 8.5 c), skirting the Alpines, or Alpilles, a chain of hills between
the Rhone and the Durance.- 91/2 M. St-Remy (Hot. de Provence, good,
R. 3, B. 1, L. .S, D. 31/2 fr-; pop- 6174), is a pleasant town with fine boule-
vards. Roumanille, the Provencal poet (p. 504), and Michael Nostradamus
(p. 519) were born here. The church, a modern building, has a Gothic
belfrj' of 1330. Following the Boul. Marceau to the left beyond the church,
the Boul. Victor-Hugo again to the loft, and the Av. Pasteur to the right,
we reach (1 M.) the Plateau des Antiquites (V2 l""- from the station), a tine

point of view. Here, at the foot of the Alpines, lay the Roman town of

Glani/m Livii, destroyed by the Visigoths in 480. One relic of it is a well-
proportioned Tritnnphal Arch, with sculptured cott'ercd vaulting. The archi-

volt is enriched with a garland ot leaves and fruit; and right and left fire

reliefs representing captives. Close by is a mausoleum, better preserved,
called the *Tomb of the Jidii, from the inscription on the architrave. It

is 60 ft. high, and consists of three stories: a square base, with reliefs

above (hunting-scene and battles); a rich arrangement of porticos and
fluted half-columns; lastly a small round temple with ten fluted Corinth-
ian columns, containing two draped statues with modern heads. Both
monuments seem to date from the beginning of the Christian era. Walkers
may go on to Les Baux (p. 517) by the Maussanne road (5 M.

; p. 517):
but carriages must return to St-Remy and take a longer route (6M.) be-

ginning at the churcli (carr. 10 fr. ; to Aries 20 fr.). Maillane (see above)
lies 4 M. to the N.W. of St-R^my (carr. there and back 7 fr.). Tramway
and motor-onin. from St-R^my to Avignon, see p. 503.- The continuation
of the railway to Oryon joins the Barhentane line (p. 511) at (IS'/a M-
from Tarascon) Plan-d' Orynn.
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The Aries line skirts the Rhone, with the Alpines (p. 501) on

the left.— 1591/2 M. Sego7inaux. To the left are seen the ruins of

Montmajour (p. 516).

1641/2 M. Aries (buffet; p. 513).

Beyond (170 M.) RapMle we enter the Plaine de la Crau., the

ancient Campus Lapideus or Cravus, 75 sq. M. in area, bounded
on the W. by the Rhone, N. by the Alpines, E. by lagoons, and S.

by the sea. It is covered with shingle, probably brought down by
the Durance from Alpine glaciers, and is sterile, except where

watered by irrigation-canals, the chief of which is the Canal de

Craponne (p. 519). The line is sheltered from the mistral (p. 500)

by cypresses.— 185 M. Miramas (buffet; hotels). Line to Ca-

vaillon, see p. 519.
From Miramas to Port-de-Bouc (MarUgues), 16 M., railway in 55 miu.

to 1 hr. 40 min. (2 fr. 65 c, 2 fr., 1 fr. 45 c.). — 6 M. Istres ('Ostrea' ; Hot.
de France; pop. 3810) lies S. of the Etang de V Olivier, near the Etang
de Berre (see below), and at the mouths of two irrigation-canals. Large
soda-works.— 91/2 M. Lavaldtec, on the Etang de LavaJduc. — 13 M. Fos-
sur-Mer (hotel), 2 M. to the W., near the Etang de VEstomac (Greek
'stoma', mouth), owes its name to the 'Fossa; Marianse', dug in 104 B.C.

by Marius during his campaign against the Teutones, to connect the lagoons
to the W. — 16 M. Port-de-Bouc (Hot. de France; steamer to Marseilles,

see p. 527), with a small harbour, lies on the Golfe de Eos, near the

mouths of the Bouc and Aries canal and the Etang de Caronte. To
the E. are large salt-works. Martigiies (see below) is 41/0 M. to the E.
(omn. 50 c).

188 M. St-Chamas (Hot. Bosio) lies near the N.W. end of the

Etang de Berre, a salt-lake I31/2 by 4-8V2 ^I-, which it has been

proposed to convert into a naval port. The large powder-mill be-

longs to the state. To the S.E. (1/4 hr.) the Toulouhre is spanned

by the Pont Flavien, a fine bridge of the time of Augustus, with

a small Corinthian arch at each end. The train crosses the river

by a viaduct, whence the Roman bridge is seen to the right.

—

197 M. Berre (Hot. des Colonies, du Luxembourg), 1^/4 M. from

the station.— 2OI1/2 M. Rognac (buffet). Omn. to Berre (V2 fr-)-

From Rognac to Aix, 16 M.,' railway in l-lVo br. (2 fr. 90, 1 fr. 95, 1 fr.

30c.). —To the right, near (41/.2 M.) Velanx, is a castle-ruin. — At (I'-li'M.)

Roquefavour (Hot.-Rest. Arqufer) is the Aqueduc de Roquefavour,
a marvel of modern architecture (1842-7; length 430 yds., height 270 ft.),

in three stories. It forms part of the Canal de Marseille, 57 M. long,

which brings water from the Durance to Marseilles.-— 16 M. Aix {^. b21).

Rognac and the four following stations are also on the Eigne de
V Estaque (p. 535), a local line from Marseilles.

Beyond (204 M.) VitroUes we leave the Etang de Berre.— 207 M.

Pas-des-Lanciers ('Pas de I'Encie'; Hot. de la Gare).

From Pas-des-Lanciers to Martioues, 12 M., railway in ^/^-i hr.

(1 fr. 45, 1 fr. lOc). — At (91/2 M.) La JiEede are seen the 'Trois-Frtjres',

three curious rocks in the Etang de Berre. — 12 M. Martigues (Modern
Hotel, Hot. du Cours

;
pop. 7450), a decayed town, once the capital of a

principality, lies at the junction of the Etangs de Berre and de Caronte
(see above). Its harbour is connected with Port-de-Bouc (see above) by
the latter lagoon. Martigues, the 'Venice of Provence', is a favourite
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resort of painters. It contains the small 'Musee Ziem'. Omn. to Port-de-
Bouc, see p. 502. St-Mitre, 4 M. to the N.E., has fortifications attributed

to the Saracens.

We pass through the Tunnel de la Nerte (nearly 8 M. long);

then between wild rocks, soon obtaining a fine glimpse of the

Mediterranean and the gulf of Marseilles, with its rocky islands.

—

211 M. L'Estaque (p. 535).— 214V/.^ M. St-Louis-les-Aygalades.

Numerous country-houses; around us a southern landscape enclosed

bv mountains, with the greatest seaport of France in the foreground.

2171/2 M. Marseilles (p. 526).

67. Avignon and Environs.
Stations. Grande Gare (PI. B, 4), for the Marseilles line; Gare dn

Pont-cVAvignon (beyond PI. B, 1), on the right bank, for the Nimes line

(p. 480; omn.).

Hotels. *Gr.-H6t. deVEurope (PI. ae; C, 1, 2), 12 Place Crillon, an
old-established family hotel, E. from 5, B. 1'/.., L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra),

omn. 1/2 fr. — Gra7id-Hdtel d'Avignon (PL a: C, 3). 24 Rue de la Repub-
lique; Hot. Crillon (PI. d; B, .S), 4.S Cours de la Republique, with garden,
R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3V2> P- from 10, omn. 1/2 f r- 5 I^ot. dii Louvre
(PI. b; C, 2), 23 Rue St-Agricol (with Templars' old chapter-house as

dining-room), good, R. from 3, B. IV.., L. 3, D. 31/2? P- from 10 fr.—
H6t. Terminus, 44 Cours de la Republique, with rest.; Eot. du Cours,
36 Cours de la Republique, plain but good. — 3foder« Hotel (meublo; PI. c,

C 2), 7 Rue de la Republique, R. from 3, B. I-IV4 fr-

Restaurants at the hotels. Also Rest. Lance, 28 Rue Bancasse,
D. 31/2 fr-; Cafe des Ndgociants, 13 Rue de la Republique, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.;

Rich-Tavern, 2 Rue Viala; Tav. Alsacienne, 3-5 Rue de la Republique,
L. or D. 21/2 fr. ; Brass, du Cog-d' Or, 15 Rue de la Republique. Avignon
has a bad reputation for its drinking-water.

Cabs. Per drive 3/4-I fr. ; to Pont-d' Avignon station li/4fr.
; per hour

1 fr. 60 c. ; at night 50c. extra. — (tarage. Mathieu, Boul. St-Roch.

Electric Tramways. From the Hotel de Ville (PI. C, 2): 1. To
Sorgues (beyond PI. F, 3; p. 501), via St-Vdran, to the N.E. (ruined mon-
astery), and Le Pontet; 2. To St-Ruf, to the S. (beyond PI. C, 4; ruined
abbey); 3. To Monclar, to the S.W. (beyond PI. B. 4). From the Place
Carnot (PI. D, 2): 4. To Les Rotondes (beyond PI. F, 3); 5. To Sorgues
(beyond PI. F, 3; p. 501). Fare in the town 10, with transfer 15 c.—
Horse Tramways. 1. P'rom the Station (PI. B, 4) to CMteaurenard
(p. 511) and St-R^.viy (p. 501). 8 times daily; 2. From the Place de V Hotel

-

de-Ville (PI. C, 2) to Montfavet (p. 511), 4 or 5 times daily (30 c).

Motor Omnibuses. 1. To St-Remy (151/2 M.
; p. 501), via Chdt&au-

renard (6 M.
; p. 511), 4 times daily, in IV2 hr. (1 fr. 20 c.; to Chateau-

renard, 13 times daily in 40 min., 40 c); 2. To CaipeiJtras, see p. 512.
— Omnibuses. From the Hotel de Ville (PI. C, 2) to the Gare du Pont-
d^Avignon (beyond PI. B, 1 ; p. 480; 10 c.) and Villeneuve-les-Avignon
(p. 510; in 25inin.; 15 c.), every V2 hr.

Post & Telegraph Offices (PI. B, C, 3 and D, 3), Cours de la Rdpub-
lique and Place Pie. - Syndicat d'Initiative, 12 Place Crillon.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, Comptoir d'Escompte, Soci^A6 G^.n4rale,
12, 26, and 9 Rue do la R(5publique. — Baths. Poste, 18 Rue de la Repub-
lique ; Place-Pie, Rue d'Amphoux (PI. D, 8). — Bookseller. J. Ronmanille,
17 Rue St-Agricol (Ndo-Proven^-ale literature).

Anglican Ohukcu (services Oct. -June), entered from 20'>'» Rue do la

R6publique.
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Avignon (60 ft.
;
pop. 49,304), capital of the department of the

Vaucluse?Ln^ seat of an archbishopric, has lost most of its former

importance. It lies on the left bank of the Ehone. at the foot of a

rock 190 ft. high, on whose S. slope are the old palace of the popes

and the cathedral. These buildings and the old fortifications give

the town a very picturesque appearance. The mistral (p. 500) is

sometimes trying here, but the saying, 'Avenio ventosa, cum vento

fastidiosa, sine vento venenosa', is exaggerated.
Avignon, the aucieut Avennio or Avenio, the important capital of

the G-allic C'avares, became a thriving colony under the Komans, but
retains hardly a trace of their buildings. Its greatest period of prosperity

was from 1309 to 1377. during which time it was the residence of seven
popes, from Clement V. to Gregory XI.. and had a population of 80.000.

Papal nuncios resided here down to 1791. Avhen it was annexed to France,

along with the Comtat-Venaissin (p. 512). Avignon was then divided be-

tween two parties, one favourable, the other opposed to the annexation:
and the assassination of one of the former party was followed by a

massacre of their opponents, who had been arrested by order of the

notorious Jourdan, nickns'aed Coupe-Tetes. In 1815 the royalist reaction-

aries committed excesses in their turn, to which Marshal Brune, among
others, fell a victim.

From the 14th to the 18th cent. Avignon was the centre of a school

of art whose works are met with in all the churches. Among its chief

masters were Enguerrand C'haronton (of Laon; ca. 1450); Nic. Frovient
(flourished 1461-82), influenced bv the Flemish school ; Simon de Chalons
(flourished 1543-85); Nic. Jlignard (of Troyes : 1606-68), or 'Mignard
d' Avignon'; his hrother Pierre Mignairl (1612-95); Reynand Levieiix (of

Nimes ; 1625-98), these three being pupils of the Caracci ; Pierre Parrocel
(1670-1739); Jos.Vemet (1712-89), painter of sea-pieces. The skill of the

sculptors is chiefly displayed in the tombstones of the 14th-16th centuries.

In recent times Avignon has become the chief seat of the Felibrige,

a society founded in 1854 by the poets Mistral fp. 501), RonmaniUe
(1818-91; ^.b01)y Avhanel (1829-86), and others, to promote the revival

of Provengal literature and language (the mediaaval 'Langue d'Oc'). The
members are called 'Felibres', a term, discovered by Mistral in an old poem,
meaning 'doctor of the law'.

Comp. 'Avignon', by Thomas Okey. in the 'Mediaeval Towns' series

(London, 1911).

In the square in front of the station (PL B, 2) is a statue of

Fhil. de Girard (1775-1845), inventor of a flax-spinning machine.

The *Ilaniparts, skirting the boulevards and the railway, S.

of the town, 3 M. in length, were built in 1350-68 by Innocent VI.

and Urban V., altered in 1489, and of late largely restored. They

present an interesting example of mediaeval fortifications. There

were once ten gates, but the Porte d'Imbert (PI. D, 4) was demolished

in 1896, and the Porte de I'Oulle (PI. C, 1) in 1900. The enceinte

retains its 39 tovrers and machicolated battlements. The ravelins

outside the gates and other outworks, as well as the moat, have

almost all disappeared, except on the N.E. Several openings have

also been made to make way for new streets. The best-preserved

part is near the Porte St-Lazare (PI. F, 3).

The modern Porte, Cours, and Rue de la Republique, the main
arteries of traffic, lead to the centre of the town. Near the end of
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the Cours, to the right, at the corner of the Rue Joseph-Vernet,

is the Post & Tekgrajih Office (PI. B, 3). Adjacent, in the Bene-

dictine church of St-Martial (begun in 1383), is the Temple Pro-
testant (PI. C, 3). Behind the church is the small Square St-

Martial, with a group of Wrestlers (1894), a bust oiRequien (1788-

1851), founder of the Museum (p. 509), and monuments to Perdi-

guier, deputy in 1848, and the 'felibre' Jouse Roumanille (p. 504).
We may turn to the right and folloAV the Rues Joseph-Vernet, des

Lices, and des Teinturiers, S.E., to the C'hajieUe des Penitents-Gris (PL
D, 4), with pictures by X. Mignard and P. Parrocel, badly lighted. Ad-
jacent are the picturesque water-wheels on the Sorgue.

Beyond the post office the Rue de la Republique passes the

Lycee (PL C, 3), on the right, once a Jesuit college, whose chapel

(open only during mass at 7 a.m.) contains a fine Visitation by
N. Mignard. The Rue Prevot, to the right, leads to the Place St-

Didier, with its statue of the felibre Theod. Aubanel (p. 504).

The ancient collegiate church of St-Didier ( PI. C, 3), rebuilt

in 1358, contains, over the 2nd arcade on the left, a little Gothic

pulpit in stone. In the 1st chapel on the right is a fine relief of

the Bearing of the Cross, by Francesco Laurana (1481). Right

and left of the apse are John the Baptist and St. Bruno, from the

old Chartreuse of Villeneuve (p. 511). Paintings by Sauvan, P.
Parrocel, and Simon de Chdlons.— No. 7, Rue de la Masse, farther

E., is the Renaissance Hotel Crillon (early 17th cent.), with win-

dows crowned with garlands and medallions and a fine door.

In the Place Principale, N.E. of St-Didier, is the old Chapelle

des Penitents-Blancs (PI. C, 3), founded in 930, but rebuilt in the'

15th cent., containing valuable paintings by Simon de Chalons, P.

and N. Mignard, and P. and Ch. Parrocel. The Place du Change
leads thence, N.W., to the Place de VHotel-de-Ville or de VJhrrhxje

(PL C, 2), the centre of the town, a favourite resort on fine evenings.

The Monument du Centenaire, at the X. end of the Place, recalls

the union of Avignon and the Comtat-Venaissin with France. The
modern Tfotel de Ville has a tower built in 1353-63 (best seen from

the back), with a clock and a 15th cent, 'jaquemart'. Adjacent is

the modern Theatre, adorned with statues ofCorneille and Moliere.

A little to the N.E., in the Place du Palais, rises the old

*Palace of the Popes (PL D, 2), with its battlements, machi-

colations, and lofty walls 13 ft. thick, a castle rather than a palace.

It was built on various plans in 1335-65. The episcopal palace

having been extended by John XXII., the buildings round the N.

court were erected by Benedict XII., in particular the Tour de la

Campane, the Tour de Trouillas (completed by Clement VI.), the

Tour de la Glaciere, and the l^our St-Jean, besides the Tour
des Anges (S,). Part of these buildings now contain the archives

of the department. Lastly, Clement VI. erected theW. part with its

present faeade, the large S. block containing the Salle de TAudience
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aud the Grande Chapelle, and the Tour St-Laurent. Most of

the decorations date from the same pontificate. The antipope Bene-
dict XIII. sustained a siege here in 1398-1403. The palace was used
as barracks from 1822 to 1906, but is now undergoing careful

restoration.

TaurdBla

AVa^nertDebesXeipng

Interiok (50 c). We enter the Cour d'Honneur. Opposite and to the
left are the buildings of Benedict XII., to the right is the S. block erected
hy Clement VI. On the ground-floor is the great Salle de VAudience (57 by
18 yds.), once adorned with sumptuous frescoes by an Italian artist, of
which (in the last bay, X. aisle) 19 Old Testament figures and a sibyl
alone remain. A staircase ascends' to the Grande Chapelle, 65 ft. high,
with a rich doorway. Adjacent, in the Tour St-Laurent, was a robing-
room.— The Tour de la Garde-Rohe (1342-3) contains a room on the 3rd
floor with frescoes (hunting aud fishing), probably by Italian artists (2nd
half of the 14th cent.). — The adjoining Tour des Anges contained the
treasury, the bedroom of Benedict XII., and the library.— The Tour St-
Jean contains two little chapels, one above the other. ' The lower, that
of John the Baptist, has remains of frescoes (Italian; 14th cent.); the upper
is adorned with scenes from the life of St. Martial bj- Matteo Giovanetti
of Viterbo. — Next, "W., is a wing of the Consistoire and the large dining-
hall ('salle brulee'), at the end of which are the kitchen and the Tour
de la Glaciere.— Lastly, at the X.E. end, is the To?/r de Trouillas (grand
view), erroneously said to have been the prison of Rienzi in 1352.

. Opposite the palace, on the W. side of the Place, is the old

Hotel des Monnaies (PL C, 2), built iu 1610, now the Conservatoire.

The curious facade is adorned with two huge garlands on the first

story and a large shield on the second. The windows look inwards.
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At the end of the square is the Petit-Seminaire (PI. D, 1), once the

archbishop's palace (1315). In front rises a statue of Crillon

(1541-1615). the 'brave Crillon' of Henri IV.

The Cathedral, or Notre -Dame -des-Doms ('dominorum'

;

PI. D, 2), on the rock to the N, of the palace, is a massive and

sombre Ptomanesque church, said to have been founded in the

4th cent., but built in the 12th, and often restored and in part

rebuilt. The tower, rebuilt in 1425, is crowned with a statue

of the Virgin (1859). The frescoes in the porch, by Simone Martini

(d. 1345), are almost obliterated.

The Interior is richly decorated. The galleries (1672) of the nave
have rich marble balustrades. In the large chapel to the left are the
supposed tomb of Benedict XII. (d. 1342) and frescoes by Eug. Deveria.
The 3rd chapel on the right (1671) contains a St. Peter, by Puget, and
a Madonna by Pradier. The lantern at the entrance to the choir also

shows traces of paintings, and in the choir is the papal throne, in marble
(end of 12th cent., partly restored). The chief sight is the Tomb of
Pope John XXII. (Jacques d'Euse

; p. 92), a masterpiece of 14th cent.

Gothic, mutilated during the Revolution and l)adly restored. It is now
in a closed chapel (fee), to the right of the choir, near the sacristy.

The pope's statue has been replaced by the recumbent figure of a bishop
under a rich Gothic canopy. Many paintings by Levieux, the Mignards,
and P. Parrocel. Note an Assumption, by P. Miguard, in the last-named
chapel, and a St. Rufus, by P. Parrocel, in the apse.

Belnud the Cathedral is the fine Promenade du Rocher
des Doms (Pl.D, 1), extending to the verge of a plateau descend-

ing abruptly, about 200 ft., to the Rhone. On that side rises a bronze

statue of Jean Althen, a Persian who introduced madder into this

district in'1766. The root was largely used in dyeing the French
red military trousers, and was a source of wealth to the community,
until it was superseded by the cheaper alizarin dyes in 1871. Near
it, to the left, are a bust of the felibre Fells Gras (1844-1901) and

a monument to the painter PawZ >S'a^;^ (1853-1908), by Charpentier,

by whom also is the bronze Venus in the pond. Splendid *Vie\vs

of the Rhone, the Cevennes, and the Alps, with Mont Ventoux in the

foreground.
The famous Pont d'Avignon or St-Benezet (PI. D, 1), immortalized

in the childish catch, 'Sur le pont d' Avignon, tout le monde y danse en
rond', is visible from the promenade, to the left. It was built across tlie

Rhone in 1177-85, under the direction of St. Beu^zet, and was often restoced,
but has been in ruins since 16G9. On one of tlie piers stands tlie chaiJel

of St-B(5nczet, in two stories, rebuilt in 1231-7, with a second upper apse
added in 1513. The bridge, which formerly ended at the Tour de Philippe-
le-Bel on the opposite l)ank (p. 510), is reached througli a small house in

the Boulevard de la Ligne. Fine view. — Farther down is a suspension-
bridge (p. 510).

To the S.E. of the promenade the Escalier de Ste-Anne (PI. D, 2)

leads to the Rue Banasterie, at the top of which is the Chapelle
des Penitents-Noh's (PI. E, 1, 2), an order founded in 158H. It con-

tains line wainscoting, in which arc framed 26 paintings by Levieux,
N. Mignard, P. Parrocel, etc. The Rue des Trois-Colonibes (PI. E, 2)

leads hence to the Place des Cannes, in which, to the left, rises the
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church of St-Symphorien (PL E, 2, 3), with a tine font and good
l)ictures by Guilhermi, N. Mignard, Sauvan, and P, Parrocel. We
may next visit, in the Eue Carreterie. the old Clocher des Augustins
(PL E, 3), opposite which is the tine portal fl6th cent.) of an old

church now used as a stable. The Raes Porta il-Matheron and Carnot

lead to the Place Carnot.

To the N". of the square is St-Pierre (PL D, 2), a Gothic church

of 1358, with a fine fagade of 1512. modified in 1854. On the pier

is a good Madonna (late 17th cent.). The doors are finely carved in

Avalnut: St. Michael fighting against Lucifer, St. Jerome, and the

Annunciation, by Ant. Volard (1551).
The IxTERios has two naves, with lateral chapels. The organ-loft,

in stone, is florid Gothic. Pulpit of the late 15th cent., with six pretty
statuettes, partly perhaps from the tomb of John XXII. (p. 507). Thir-
teen pictures bj' P. Parrocel, seven in the nave and six in the adjoining
f'hapels, ten of them being scenes from the life of St. Anthony of Padua.
In the 2nd chapel on the left: N. Jlignard, SS. Barbara and Margaret.
The 4th chapel on the left contains a marble reredos bv Imbert Boachon
(1525). On the font, iu the left nave, is a relief (Baptism of Christ).
On the 1st pillar to the left, Adoration of the Shepherds, by Simon of
Chalons; on the 2nd, Immaculate Conception, by N. Mignard. At the
end of the right nave. Holy Sepulchre and brucifix (15th cent.). Rich
17th cent, stalls in the choir'

The Rue des Marchands leads to the Place de I'Hotel-de-Ville,

beyond which the Rue St-Agricol leads to St-Agricol (PL C, 2),

an ancient church, rebuilt by John XXII. in 1321, and restored in

the 15th cent., with facade of the latter date. The low^er stories of

the tower are of 154:5, the upper part is of the 18th century.
Interior. At the entrance is a 16th cent, b^nitier. The 3rd chapel

on the right contains a Virgin by Coyzevox (1720) and St. Elizabeth and
Joha the Baptist by Pern. In the 4th chapel on the right are a Holy
Family, by Trevisani and an Assumption by Bourguignon (?). At the
end of the right aisle is the "Tomb of the Doni", a reredos by Ivibert
Boachon (1525). In the choir: Descent of the Holy Ghost, by Guilhermi
(16th cent.); at the end, St. Bernard praying, by P. Parrocel. On a pillar

between the 3rd and 4th chapels on the left, Notre Dame de Piti^, by
N. Mignard. On a pillar between the 2nd and Srd chapels, Xativity,
by the same.

The Rue St-Agricol joins the Rue Joseph-Yernet, opposite the

Oratoire (PL B, C, 2), a chapel built in 1714-41, containing an

Adoration of the Shepherds, by N. Mignard. (When closed, apply

at St-Agricol.)

The *Musee Calvet (PL B, 2, 3), in the handsome H6tel de

Villeneuve, of 1742, a little to the S.W. in the same street, owes
its name to Dr. Calvet (1728-1810), whose valuable collections were

added to those already owned by the town. It is open on Sun., 1-4;

on other days 9-11.30 and 1-5, for a fee. Catalogue (1909), 2 fr.

Ground Floor.

—

Vestibule. Roman Antiquities found at Vaison
(p. 500), etc. To the left, statue of a Gallic chief, mutilated statue of a

Gallic warrior with shield, headless figure of Venus; to the right, cast
of the Diadumenos from Vaison (see p. 500), headless figure of the Gallic
Jupiter, bust of Dr. Calvet.— Room I, on the right of the vestibule. Byl



3Iusee Calvet. AVIGNON". '?"• Route. 509

the entrance, Grallic sculptures, iucl. 'Le Lion", found at Noves (p. 511).

Modern French sculptures; modern paintings by P. Grivolas.— At the

end, on the left: a Small Room containing votive altars, fragment of

*AUic Tonib Relief (3rd cent. B.C.), decree of Demosthenes, and Egyptian
antiquities.— Room II, next the court. Mediseval and Renaissance sculp-

tures, many from buildings in the environs. To the left: Statuetfes of

apostles in marble; head of Clement VII.; SS. Lazarus and Martha, in

gilded stone (15th cent.); Gothic tomb of "Card, de Brancas; cast of the

Bearing of the Cross by Fr. Laurana (p. 505); St. Helena and the Virgin
with angels, two reliefs (Italian, 15th cent.); chimney-piece (16th cent.).

At the end, chimney-piece from the guard-room of the Hotel Crillon

(p. 505). On the right, as we return: Tomb of Gaspard de Simiane, by
Michel Peru; then a *Relief of Justice, Fortitude, and Temperance, from
the tomb of Marshal de Chabannes, who fell at Pavia (1525); *Fragments
of the tomb of Card, de La Grange (d. 1402); statue of Urban V., in a

Gothic tomb.
To the left, at the end of the vestibule, is the Mmiicipal Lihrary,

with 140,000 vols., 814 incunabula, and 4400 MSS. Among the MSS. are a

prayer-book of St. Pierre de Luxembourg, Bishop of Metz (d. 1387), a psalter

of Marshal de Boucicaut, and the missal of the antipope Clement VII.
At the end of the garden, to tlie left, is the Salle des Illustrations

Vancliidennes, containing portraits and busts. In the centre, a large

antique mosaic from Vaison. — Next, the Museum Requien (see p. 505),

a natural history collection.

At the foot of the staircase, two Roman altars and two sepulchral
monuments from Vaison. — On the staircase, a bust of P. Parrocel (p. 504),
by Bastet (1«90).

First Floor.— Gallery. 1st Bay, on the right: 596. G. van den
Eeckhout, Crucifixion; Jan Brueghel the Elder, 588. The Elements, 587.

Fire. — On the other side. Early Artists of Avignon, S. Fountain of

blood, 9. Adoration of the Child. 3. Ecstasy of St. Pierre de Luxembourg
(see above), 426. Portr. of Charles the Bold; Simon de Chdlans, *37i.

Adoration of the Sheplierds (1548), ;J72. Descent from the Cross (1550);
589. Fh. de Champaigne, Portrait; 373. Simon de Chalons (?), St. Jerome;
870. Simon de Chalons, Child Jesus playing (1543; his earliest known
work); 275, 276. Le Nain, Portraits; *11. Nic. Froment (?), St. Sitfrein

(p. 512; ca. 1470); 10. School of Nic. Froment, St. Michael the Archangel
and the Annunciation (ca. 1500).

2nd Bay, on the right: 645. 2'eniers the Younger, Interior; 636. J. van
Ruysdael, Landscape; 591. Craesbeeck, Toper and Death; 625. Van der
Ne'er, Moonlight; *599. Fr. Floris, Croesus and Solon; 620. Mierevelt,
Portrait; 624. P. Neeffs the Elder, Church interior; 661. Holbein, or Psendo-
Amherger, Portrait; 539-.541. Salv. Rosa, Landscapes; 533. Piazzetta,
Bubbles; 542. Sassoferrato, Virgin and Child; 548. Al. Turchi, Christ at

the house of Simon the Pharisee; 503. Guercino, Death of St. Jerome;
512. Ann. Caracci, Polyphemus and Galatea; 514. Lod. Caracci, Pieta;
547. Al. Turchi, Marriage at Cana; 523. Jacobello del Fiore, Madonna«and
Child; 555. School of Giotto, Coronation of the Virgin. Thorvaldsen. Bast
of Horace Vernet. Left side, French paintings: Nic. Mignard, *296.

Dead Christ, 295. Fed. Sforza, vice-legate, placing Avignon under tlie care
of St. Pierre de Luxembourg (see above); 303. P. Mignard, Mme. de Mon-
tespan and her son; St^b. Bourdon, 78. Baptism of Clirist, 81. Portr. of

himself; 519-522. G. Poussin (Dughct), Landscajjes; P. Parrocel, 323,
Annunciation, 321. St. Francis of Assisi; 183-185. J. A. Grimou, Portraits;
*258. Largilli'cre, Portrait; 154. Duplesxis, Lassone, the physician; 130.
J. L. David, Deatli of Joseph Bara (sketeh); 347. Regnault, Bacchante;
422. Mme.Vigc'e-Lebrun, Mme. Grassini, the singer; 348. Regnault, Edu-
cation of Achilles; 170. Gerard, Queen Hortense as a cliild.

3rd Bay, to tlie left: Sea-pieces and landscapes by Jos. Vernet (p. 504);
OarleVernet, 894. Cossack, 395. Carnival at Rome; drawings by Mantegna
and Jos. Vernet; right, two Italian Renaissance chests.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 33
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4th Bay. Modern works: right, 172. Gericault, Head of a womtui: 105.

CTiasseriatt , Xymph asleep; P. Vayson, 388. Return from market, 387.

Shepherd and "the sea, 389. The prodigal son. At the end : 116. C'orot,

Italian landscape; left, 171. Gericault, Battle of Xazareth (1799); 22.5.

Th. Gudin, Entrance to the harbour of Le Havre (1834); Hor.Vernet,
417, 418. Mazeppa, 419. Jos. Vernet tied to a mast watching a storm; 124,

Dcmhigny, Landscape.
Room I, at the entrance" to the gallery. Modern paintings; ivory

*Crucitix, 271/2 in- high, with two extra arms, by GuiUerrain (1659);
curiosities, enamels, medals, ivories, Italian faience, miniatures, bindings
(16th-19th cent.), etc. —Room II. Egyptian, Greek, and Roman antiquities,

glass, small bronzes, terracottas, medifeval objects, on the right (Case V,
Bust of a child, by Desiderio da Settignanoi')\ in the centre, vases,
kitchen-utensils, bronze lamp (from Apt); ancient medals, small modern
sculptures.— Room III. Medals; small ethnographical collection, incl. a

Buddha with 46 arms from Tongking; Chinese articles.

The Cimetiere de St-Veran, ^2 ^^- ^^om the town (beyond PL
F, 4), contains a fine monument by Charpentier, The Sentinel of the

Dead (1899). John Stuart Mill 1 1806-73) is buried here ; the house

in which he lived in 1858-73 adjoins the cemetery, and a bronze

bust has been erected in the neighbouring gardens (1911).

Villeneuve-le s-Avignon.
Omn., see p. 503 (preferable to drive or walk). We cross the sus-

pension-bridge, the He de Plot (PI. A. B, 1), and a new stone bridge to

the right bank.

Villeneuve-les-Avignon (pop. 2709) was a thriving place under

the Avignon popes (1309-77), when it was the residence of prelates,

and also later, as a royal fortress on the frontier of Provence. Of

these days it still possesses a few relics. On the river-bank, opposite

the Pont St-Benezet (p. 507), are the Tour de Philippe-le-Bel( 1307)

and other remains of the old fortifications.

Wotre-Dame, in the Grande-Kue, a collegiate church of 1333,

with a lofty square crenellated tower, contains good pictures.

Interior Tbest light in the afternoon). Left side: 2nd chapel, remains
of tomb of Card. Arnaud de Via. founder of the church; 3rd chapel, St.

Bruno kneeling before the Virgin, by A'. Jlignard ; 5th chapel. Visitation,

by Ph. de Chavipaigne, and Annunciation, by Guercino. Right side: 4th

chapel, *Marriage of St. Catharine, by N. 3Iig?iard, and Holy Family, by
R. Levieux.—In the choir, ^Crucifixion, by Leviettx, and St. Bruno, by
N. Mignard. Handsome seat in white marble. In the sacristy (apply to

sacristan, Place du Chapitre), a famous ivory *Virgin (14th cent.).

The Hospice, in the arcaded street opposite the S. portal of

the church, once a convent, is open 9-12 and 1 to 4, 5, or 6 (alms).

The chapel contains the *Tomh of Innocent VI. (d. 1362), brought from
the Chartreuse (p. 511), resembling the tomb of John XXII. (p. 507).

On the first floor is a small Musee. Room I: 33. Leviei(x,Ch.T\si bewept
by angels; 34. Simon de Chalons, Entombment (1552); *36. E. Charonton
(p. 504), Coronation of the Virgin (1453); 65. A'. 2Iignard, Annunciation
(copy of a lost picture by Guido); 72. Ph. de Champaigne (fj, Crucifixion;

91. X. Mignard, Jesus among the doctors (1649); 96. Ch. Bourgeois,
Francis I. at the Fontaine de Vaucluse ; 100. Levieux, Crucifixion. Room II

:

Pictures, engravings, sculptures; in a case, fine marble mask, said to be
that of Jeanne de Laval (p. 524).

Beyond the church, to the right, we ascend to *Fort St-Andre,
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whose fine euceiute is flanked with towers (late 13th cent.). Good
view from the twin towers at the entrance, rebuilt at the end of the

14th century.— Farther on, to the right of the Grande-Eue, is the

ruined Chartreuse du Val-de-Benedlction, founded in 1356 by

Innocent VI., partly inhabited. (Fee to custodian, left of the en-

trance.) Note the portal (1659), the cloisters and corridors (now

lanes), the church and chapel of Innocent VI. (p. 510), with remains

of frescoes, the fountain of St. John, etc.

Fkom Avignon to Orgon, 21 M., branch-line. — 3V> M. Barbentcme
(p. 501).— 8 M. C'Mteaurcnard-Provence (pop. 8638), in apretty site, with
a brisk trade in fruit. Tramway and motor-omn. to Avignon, see p. 503.

—

IOV2 ^1- ^^oves (pop. 2494), with old ramparts, the supposed birthplace of

Petrarch's Laura. — 18 M. Plan-d' Organ, on the Tarascon line (p. 501).—
21 M. Organ (p. 519).

From Avignon to Lyons and JTarseilles, see R. 66; to Aix. see E. 69;
to Digue, see pp. 518, 519.

Excursions from Avignon.
To the Pont de Gard and Nimes, see pp. 480, 481.

From Avignon to the Fontaine de Vaucluse. — Railway in

45-55 min. to (15 M.) UIsU-sur-la-Sorgiie (2 fr. 70, 1 fr. 80, 1 fr. 20 c); omn,
thence (IV2 fr. return ; carr. 3-4 fr.) to (41/2 M.) the village of VaucUise,
10 min. from the fountain. Vaucluse is naturally and historically attractive,

but the spring is only interesting when the water overflows from the
grotto, which it rarely does in summer or autumn.

A pleasant excursion (luggage should be sent on to Aries, or carriage
hired at St-Remy) may be made as follows: railway to Vaitch/se (see

below); then railway to Cavaillon, Orgon (pp. 518, 519), and St-Remy
(p. 501); walk or drive by the Alpines to Les Baux (pp. 501, 517) and
Paradou; lastly railway to Montmajoitr and Aries (see pp. 517, 516).

The train runs E.— 3^2 ^I- Montfavet (tramway, see p. 503),

with a fine crenellated church.— 10 M. Gadagne. On a hill, far

to the left, is the ruined Chateau de Thouzon.— 12 M. Le Thor
(pop. 2662), on the Sorgue, with a fine Romanesque church (end of

12th cent.) and old ramparts. To the N., on the road to Bedarrides

(p. 500), is (I1/4 M.) the stalactite grotto of Thouzon {^j., fr.).

15 M. L'lsle-sur-la-Sorgue (Hot. St-Martin & Dongier, de

Petrarque-et-Laure; pop. 6062), an industrial town, with blanket

and carpet factories, has a pretty promenade, the Cours Salviati,

on an arm of the Sorgue, to the right from the station. The Church
(17th cent.) contains pictures by R. Levieux, N. and P. Migfiard,

Sauvan, P. Parrocel, and S. Vouet.
From L'lsle-sur-la-Sorgue to Carjyenti'us and Orange, see p. 500; to

Pertuis, Volx, etc., see Routes 69, 70.

The road to Vaucluse (4^/2 M.) turns to the left at the end of

the Cours Salviati, leaves the Carpentras road on the left, and
then passes under an aqueduct to Vaucluse ('vallis clausa'; Hot.

Petrarque-et-Lanre, R. 3, L. or D. 4 fr.; Hot. Bon).

The *Fontaine de Vaucluse, immortalized by Petrarch, is

10 min. from tlie vilhige. The spring, 'chiare, fresche, e dolci acqne',

the source of the Soi'yue, rising in a grand cirque of rocks 650 ft.

33*
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high, gushes forth from a cavern (25-30 ft. wide) when the water
is high, but at other times it issues lower down in streamlets. We
climb up the rocks at the mouth of the cavern, the reservoir in

-which is 65 ft. deep. It is probably fed by an underground stream.

Its volume sometimes attains 150 tons per second, when it presents

a grand spectacle, and lower down it is used for driving paper-mills.

Petrarch retired to this spot in 1337, near the chateau of Card, dc

Cabassole, the ruins of which are seen on the hill opposite.
The rock above the spring may be scaled in IV2 hr. (tine view). The

'avens' or pits into which the water filters are seen here.

Prom Avignon to Carpentras, 17 M., railway in about 1 hr.

(3 fr., 2 fr. 5. 1 fr. .85 c). Motor-omn. twice daily, from the Tav. Alsacienne,
in 50 miu. (I1/2 ^r.).

To (6 M.) Sorgues^ see p. 501.— O^/o M. Entraigues, with

two old towers to the right.— 13\/^, M. Monteux (pop. -4146), with

fine gateways in its old ramparts.

17 M. Carpentras (Hot. de I'Univers & d'Orieut. good, R.

from 2, L. 2^1^, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. du Gours, same charges; Hot. de la

Poste; pop. 11,390), ainanufacturing town on the Auzon, the ancient

Carpenioracte, was once important as the capital of the Comtat-
Yenaissin (p. 504) and is still the seat of the departmental court of

assizes. Extensive trade in fruit, caramels, and preserves. The Av.

d 'Avignon, to the right of the station, leads to the Hotel-Dien
(pretty chapel), in front of which is a statue of Card. Malachie
d'luguimbert (1687-1757), its founder

The Rue de la Republique leads to the left to the church of

St-Siffrein, once the cathedral, rebuilt in the Gothic style in 1405-

1519, with a modern tower. By the S. portal is a curious sculp-

ture known as the 'boule des rats'.

IsTEKiOR. In the choir are 17th cent, galleries; under that on the left

is a fine triptych on a gold ground (15th cent.). Round the apse are Italian

paintings from the life of St. Siffrein, Bishop of Carpentras (555-570). The
apse has 15th cent, glass. The gallery above the S. porch is used for

the exhibition of the Saint-Clou, or Saint-Mors. the bit of Constantine's
bridle made of one or two nails from the Cross, and presented to him by
St. Helena. The gallery over the main entrance is adorned with four paint-
ings richly framed. Higher up is a small gallery reserved, it is said,

for the executioner. The Chapel of the Virgin (2nd on the left), richly
decorated, has a picture by Mignard (1640). To the left of the choir we
pass through the sacristv to the remains of the Old Church, with its

13th cent, dome. — The festival of St. Siffrein is held on 26th and 27th
Xov., with special music, composed in part by Carpentrasso (Elzear Genet;
d. 1535), choir-master at the Sistine Chapel.

Adjoining the church is the Palais de Justice, the old Eveche

(1640). The hall of the assizes contains paintings of the school of

Mignard. In the court is a Roman Triumphal Arch (17 by 15 ft.,

and^ 33 ft. high), of the 1st cent. A.D., with decorations like that of

Orange (p. 499), but without frieze or attic. Farther on, the Rue de

I'Eveche leads to the Porte d'Orange, with a crenellated 14th cent,

tower, 120 ft. high, containing remains of a staircase.
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To the W. of St-Siffreiii, 11 Boul. du Musee, is the Mus^e (open

Sun. 2-4; at other times ring in the court, on the left). It contains

a small gallery of pictures (chiefly modern), a collection of anti-

quities, and a library of 75,000 vols, and 2154 MSS.
The hydropathic establishmeut of St-Didier, in an old chateau, with

II beautiful park, lie 41/2 ^I- to the S.

From Carpentras to Orange and V Isle-stir-la-Sorgue, see p. 500. -

Oran. twice daily to (17 M.) Vnison (p. 500). Thence to Nyons, see p. 498.

Mont Ventoux or Ventoiir (62S0 ft.) is usually ascended from
Bedoin (Hot. du Mont-Ventoux, plain, R. 11/2^ L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.), 9V2 M. to

the X.E. of Carpentras, or from Jfalaucene (p. 500). 10 M. to the X.

—

Omn. thrice daily to Bedoin 1, carr. with 4 seats 7 fr. Thence to the
(13^/2 M.) top and back, carr. with 4 seats 20 fr. (up in (> hrs., down in 2);
•jardiniere' with one seat 14 fr. Carr. from Carpentras to the top 40-45,

private motor-car 75 fr. — Omn. to Malauceue in 2 hrs., IV4 fr- Thence a

narrow road ascends to the top (12 M. ; carr. 15 fr.). — This peak with its

long crest, isolated except on the E., affords a superb *Pauorama. As its

name indicates, it is subject to violent gales. On the barren summit, often
snow-capped, are an observatory, a small hotel (June-Sept.; R. 3-5, 1>. 1,

]j. or D. 1 fr.), and a chapel, visited by pilgrims on Sept. 14th.

68. Aries and Environs.
.Stations, llrande Gare (beyond PI. E, 1; butlet), on the main line;

dare de FonfcieiUe, for the Salon line (p. 51t>), 7 min. from the Porte de
la Cavalerie (beyond PI. E, 1); (jure de la Camargue (beyond PI. A, 2),

for St-Louis-du-Rhone (p. 518), Les Saintes-Maries (p. 518), and Nimes
(see p. 491). Omn. from the Grande dare to the (lare de la Camargue 25 c.

Hotels. Hot. da Nord (PI. i) ; C, 3), Place du Forum, well spoken
of, R. from 3, B. IV4, L. 3, D. 4, omn. '/2 fr- ; Bot- du Forum (PI. a;

C, 3), adjacent, well spoken of, R. from 3, B. I'/g, L. 31/0, D. 4 fr. ; Hot.-
Rest. Can-el, .30 Rue Amedee-Pichot, Avell spoken of, R. 2-2V.2. I-i- or D. 2'/2 fi'-

(Jabs. Per drive 1, pi-r hour 2 fr.; at night IV2 or 2^2 fr.

Post & Tkleukaimi Office (PI. D, 8), Place de la Republique.
SvNDiCAT d'Initiative, 35 Place de la Republique.

Aries (pop. 31,010) lies on the left bank of the Khone, near Ihe

point where the river divides to form the He de la Camargue (p. 517).

On the right bank is the suburb of Trinquetallle, connected with
Aries by an iron bridge (PI. B, 2).

Aries, the ancient Arelate, the origin of which is unknown, was a
rival of Marseilles under Julius Csesar. It was soon embellished with
many new buildings and was called 'the Gallic Rome'. Constantinsy who
often resided here, built a stone bridge (PI. D, 1) to connect the town with
the commercial quarter on the right bank. The population at that period
is said to have numbered 100,000. Christianity was proliably taught here
by Trophimus, a disciple of St. Paul. Under Honorius the prefect of
Gaul resided at Aries. The town remained independent for a time after
the barbaric invasions; it then became the capital of a kingdom (879),
which in the 11th cent, embraced the wliole region between the Rhino,
the Saone, the Rhono, the Mediterranean, and the Alps, and formed part
of the Germanic empire. In 1150-1251 Aries was a republic. Submitting
at length to Charles d'Anjou, it shared the fortunes of Provence, whicii
was annexed to France; in 1481. Aries has a harbour of some importance,
although 27 M. from the mouth of the Rhone. Tlie women are famed for
their beauty (Greek type) and tiieir pretty costume, with its 'chapellu'
(white fichu) and black velvet head-dress.



514 Route 68. ARLES. St-Trophime.

From the Gfrande Gare or the Gare de Fontvieilie we reach the

town by the Jardin and Porte de la Cavalerie (PI. E, 1). Xear

this point, to the X. and E., Aries retains part of its old Ramparts,
ijordered with pleasant boulevards. The streets of the old town are

narrow and tortuous. The Eue Yoltaire (PI. E, 1, 2) leads straight

to the Arenes, passing the Fontaine Pichot (PI. E, 1), a monument
to Amedee Pichot (1796-1877), the author, v\ho was the first to

translate Byron's works into French,

The Arenes (PL E, 3), a Roman amphitheatre built probably

in the 1st or 2nd cent, of our era, one of the largest in France, but

less perfect than that of Ximes (p. 487), is built of large Mocks of

stone without mortar. It held 26,000 spectators. Its greater axis

is 149, the shorter 118 yds. long. The two stories of 60 arcades,

the lower Doric, the upper Corinthian, have lost their attic. In

the 8th cent, the amphitheatre was converted into a fortress, three

of whose towers are still standing. Fine view from the W. tower.

The entrance to the amphitheatre is on the X. side. Apply to the

custodian, 6 Roud-Puint-des-Arenes (fee). Bull-fights are held here

in summer (see p. 487).

To the E. of the Arenes is the church of Kotre-Dame-la-Major
(PI. E, F, 3), where the church-council of 453 met. The present

church, of 1152, has been much altered.

To the S.W. of the Arenes rises the 'Tour des Cordeliers', a

little beyond which is the Roman Theatre (PL D, E, 3), begun

perhaps under Augustus, but not finished till the 3rd century. From
the 5th cent, onwards it was used as a quarry for the building of

churches and notably of the cloisters of St-Trophime. On the stage

once rose a colonnade, of which two columns, one of Affricano, the

other of Carrara marble, remain. The grooves for the lowering of

the curtain are still visible. The theatre. was richly decorated, and

many works of art found here are now in the Musee (p. 515). The

Venus of Aries, now in the Louvre, was unearthed here in 1651.

Beyond the theatre is the Jardin Public (PL D, E, 4), with a

Xiobe^in marble (1903). The Rue de la Calade (PLD, 3) leads from

the X.W. corner of the theatre to the Hotel de Ville (1673-5), with

a clock-tower of 1547, crowned with a figure of Mars (1555). The

flat vaulting of the vestibule is peculiar. On the landing of the

first floor is a cast of the Yenus of Aries (see above).

In the Place de la Republique (PL D, 3) rises a Roman Obelisk,

in blue porphyry from the Esterel (p. 541). It was once the 'meta'

of an ancient*^ circus, S.W. of the town (PL A, 4). The base is a

modern fountain, with four lions. Total height 65 ft., obelisk 50 ft.

The old cathedral of *St-Tropliime (PL D, 3), is said to have

been founded on the ruins of the Roman pratorium, but was rebuilt

in 1152-80; the choir was added in 1430, and in the 19th cent, the

whole church was restored. It is in the Romanesque style, with
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nave, aisles, and transept, and a tower over the crossing. The rich

^Portal (12th cent.) is borne by six columns, resting in part on

lions, between which are statues of apostles. Between the pilasters

are other statues, among which are St. Trophimus on the left and

St. Stephen on the right. Above runs a richly sculptured frieze

:

to the left are the Elect, with the Apostles in the centre; on the

right are the Condemned. In the tympanum is Christ, with the

attributes of the Evangelists; in the archivolt are cherubim.
The Interior is plain. The font, to the left, stands on the marble front

of an old Christian sarcophagus. The walls are hung with old tapestry.
Over the chancel-arch is a Stoning of St. Stephen, by Fins&nius of Bruges
(d. 1617), a pupil of Caravaggio; the chapel on the right contains an
Adoration of the Magi, by the same, and the mutilated tomb of an arch-

bishop (1630). The dark chapel to the right of the apse contains a Holy
Sepulchre (IHth cent.); an early-Christian sarcophagus serves as an altar,

with a mediaeval one on each side. Farther on is an 18th cent, railing.

The chapel next the transept contains another Christian sarcophagus,
under a large relief of the Assumption. On the W. wall of the left

transept is a painting of the Council of Aries, presided over by St. Csesarius
(15th cent.).

Steps to the right of the choir, beyond the sacristy, lead to the

*Cloiste7^s (fee), with four arcades, 60 and 55 ft. long, of various

periods; The N. and E. sides (12th-13th cent.) are Romanesque,
the W. and S. (1380 and 1505) are Grothic. Even in the Grothic parts

there are coupled marble colonnettes with ornate capitals, fluted

pilasters, and statues. On the S. is an exit to tlie Rue du Cloitre.

The *Musee Lapidaire (P1.C,D,3), in the old church of Ste-

Aune (1619-29), opposite St-Trophime, is especially rich in antique

and Christian sarcophagi, brought from the Aliscamps (p. 516).

Adm. daily 8-12 and 1 to 5 or 6, Sun. 10-12.

Left Aisle. At the entrance, a column from the harbour, furrowed
by cables, with an inscription to the Emp. Constantine. — Bay 1. Medea
with her children; Olive-harvest, from a sarcophagus.— Bay 2. Sarco-
phagus of Junius Messianus (4th cent.).— Bay 3. *Early Christian Sarco-
phagi, incl. that of the priest Concordius, with Christ, the Apostles, and
tlie Holy Women; also representations of the Washing of feet, the Good
Shepherd, Christ before Pilate, and the Passage of the Ited Sea.— Be-
tween Bays 3 and 4, Head of a child (Marcellus?). — Bay 4. To the left,

Christ and the apostles (headless); above, lid of the sarcophagus of Hydria
Tertulla and her daughter Axia; sarcophagus known as that of the praying
man (de I'Orante) or of Moses; on the right, tombs, with portrait-heads
of the deceased, known as those of the chaste Susanna (below) and Jonali

(above).— Between Bays 4 and 5, Dancing girl (mutilated).— Bay 5. Sarco-
phagus with the Miracle of the loaves, with lid from that of St. Hilary,
Bishop of Aries (429-449); in the centre, part of an altar, with Apollo in front,

from the theatre.— To the left of the choir, *Jdeal Female Head ('Livia';

4th cent.), on an altar to Cybele (copy of an antique, perliaps by Praxiteles).

Choir. Small altar of Apollo (not Lodu), with swans and a wreath of

laurels and pahns; in the glass cases, antique vases, glass, bronzes, medals,
jewels, and terracottas (including six Roman bugles); large gold bead in

the case to the left.

RioHT Aisle. Bay 6 (left, as we return). The god Mithras (headless),
encircled by a serpent, with the signs of the zodiac; tlie original pedestal
of the obelisk (p. 514). Bay 7. Left, sarcophagus witli raising of Jairns's
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daughter; opposite, huntiug-sceues (2nd cent.); in the centre, colossal statue
of Augustus.— Bays 8-10. Eoman and Christian sarcophagi and fragments.

Xave. Eight, sarcophagus with musical instruments; *Cornelia
Jacaena, last on the right; *r)eath of Hippolytus, at the end; also cippi;

leaden pipes from a Roman aqueduct. Eight and left, Xwo figures of

Silenus, from the theatre. In the centre, a fine mosaic (Rape of Europa).

The "^Museon Arlaten (PI. C, 3; open 8 or 8.30 to 12 and

1 to 4.30 or 6, Sun. 1 to 4.30 or 5; adm. 50 c), founded in 1897 on

the initiative of Mistral (p. 504), was installed in 1909, with the aid

of his Jfobel prize, in the old Palais de Laval (15th cent.), now called

Palais da Felibrige, in the Rue de la Republique. It contains an

ethnographical collection illustrating Provencal customs, industries,

costumes, traditions, etc., with inscriptions in the Provencal lan-

guage. In the courtyard are the remains of a Roman basilica.

The Place du Forum (PI. C, D, 3), a little N. of the Hotel de

Yille, the ancient Roman forum, and still the centre of the town, is

adorned with a statue of Mistral (p. 504). To the left of the Hotel

du Xord are two Corinthian columns vsith remains of a pediment.

The so-called Palais de Cotistantine (PL D, 2), or 'La Trouille',

near the Rhone, shut in by houses on the N., but visible from the

quay, belongs to the ancient Thermae (^now being excavated). In the

old Grand-Prieure, close by, is the Musee Reattu (PL D, 2; apply

to concierge ), a small gallery of pictures by old and modern masters,

iucluding Reattu of Aries (1760-1833), its founder.

To the E. is the Gothic church of St-Antolne (PL D, 2), rebuilt

in 1647. The choir contains a large carved screen (17th cent.); to

the right of the entrance is a metal font, borne by four oxen.

The Aliseamps, or Champs-Elysees (beyond PL E, 4), once

the Roman burial-ground, a little way S. of the tov.'u, were con-

secrated for Christian sepulture, according to tradition, by St.

Trophimus. In the middle ages this cemetery enjoyed such fame

that bodies were brought to it from great distances, and it is

mentioned by Dante in his Inferno (ix. 112j; it was afterwards

neglected, the monuments were destroyed and scattered, and the

ground parcelled out. The remaining sarcophagi have, however,

been collected, and most of them ranged along the Allee des Tom-
heaux. They are numerous, but plain, the finest being now in the

museum and the Cathedral. At the entrance is a small chapel,

with a relic of the old gate. Near the middle, on the right, is the

Monument des Consuls, victims of the plague in 1720. At the

end is the ruined Romanesque church of St-Ho?iorat, rebuilt early

in the 13th cent., restored in the 17th, but left unfinished.
From Akles to Salon, 28i/o M., narrow-gauge line (Gare de Fontvi-

eille, p. 513) in 2 hrs. 10 to 2 hrs.'sS miu. (3 fr. 45, 2 fr. 50 c). Motor-omn.
thrice weekly to Montmajour and Les Baux ^5 fr. there and back); carr. to

Montmajour 6, to Les Baux 15-25 fr.— 21/2 M. Montmajour. On a hill,

6 min. from the station, rise the ruins of the famous *Abbey, founded in

the 10th cent., hut rebuilt in the 12th-14th. and partly in the 18th. The
custodian (adjoining the church, to tbe leit ; fee) show.* the church, the
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large Crypt, and the fine Eomanesque cloisters (12tli cent.; chapels of 14th
and 15th); then the large square tower (1369; 85ft. high; fine view). A
little lower is the Chax^elle St-Pierre (10th or 11th cent.), partly under-
ground, the traditional retreat of St. Trophimus. Some 200 yds. E. is the
C'hapelle de Ste-C'roix (I2th-13th cent.), with its four little apses and
square upper story crowned with a lantern, near which are several sarco-
phagi hewn in the rock.— 51/2 M, Fontvieille, to the right, with au old
tower and large quarries. Near it is the mill from which Daudet dated
his 'Lettres de mon Moulin' (1866).

91/2 M. Paradou, 21/2 M. to the S.W. of Les Baux, which may be
visited also from Maussanne (see below). Les Baux (Prov. Li Bmis, 'the
rocks' ; Hot. de la Heine-Jeanne, well spoken of, R. 2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.

;

Hot. des Baux et Monte Carlo; guide to the town and castle 3, to the en-
virons about 10 fr.; pop. 300) was in the 12th-13th cent, the capital of a
barony, one of the most powerful in Provence, whose lords owned 79 towns
and castles. Gruillaume des Baux became King of Aries, and Jaume de Baux
was titular Emperor of Constantinople. The town began to decline in the
14th cent., after the surrender of Provence to Charles of Aujou (p. 513); the
castle was dismantled by Louis XI., and w;is finally destroyed by Richelieu
in 1632. The chief interest of Les Baux consists in the striking character of

the *Ruins, with their chequered history and their picturesque site. The
wild *Val d'Enfer is thought by Mistral to have suggested to Dante his de-
scription of the Inferno. In a commanding site rises the ruined C'Mteau
Seigneurial, dating partly from the 11th cent., whore in the 12th and 13tli

cent, was held one of the most famous 'Courts of Love' in Provence. The
castle itself and many of the houses, some of which have Renaissance facades,
are partly hewn in the rock. The Church (chiefly 12th cent.) is transitional
and Gothic. Adjacent is the Maisvii des Porcelets, Marquises of Maillane
(now a school). Near it is a small Musee Lapidaire (adni. free). A little

lower, in the outbuildings of the old Hotel de Manville, is tlie former
Temple Protes^a?i^ (Renaissance; 1571), with the motto 'Post tenebras lux'.
Higher, to the right of the castle, is the old church of St-Chmde. Still higher
is a square, whence we have a fine view of the Rhone delta.— At the foot
of the hill on the opposite (S.) side are two Stelae hewn in the rock. The
chief is popularly called 'Tremai^' (the three Maries; comp. p. 518), but
is really a votive altar of Marius (wlio was once encamped here), with
his wife Julia and the prophetess Martha. On the N.E. side of the hill

is the charming Pavilion de la Reine-Jeanne, and about '/4 In- beyond
is the Grotte des Fees. Opposite the Pavilion is the Val d'Enfer (see
above), to which Val"'- should be devoted. — Beyond Les Baux the road goes
on, through the Alpines, to (6 M.) St-Remy (p. 501); short-cut to the right,
beyond the ruius, to a farm on the Maussanne and St-R^my road.

IOV2 ^I- Maussanne, 21/2 M. from Los Baux, 5 M. from St-Remy (p. 501).— 23>/2 M. Eygui'eres (Hot. Payan; pop. 2091), junction for (4 M.) Lamanou
(p. 519) and (29 M.) Meyrargues (p. 521). U Homme-Negre (1615 ft.), the
highest point of the Alpines (p. 501), is 21/2 hrs. X.W.— 28>/2M. Salon (p. 519).

FuoM Arles to Lunel (Aigues-Mortes, MontpelUer) , 28 M., railway
in about IV2 hr. (5 fr. 5, 3 fr. 40, 2 fr. 20 c.).-- We cross the Grand-Rhone,
or main arm, and the N. end of the lie de la Camargue (300 sq. M. in
area), the flat delta of the Rhone, formed by alluvial deposits. It is partly
occupied by marslios and lagoons (the largest Etang deVaccaris, 46 sq. M.)
and by arid plains. Drainage and rechimation are actively carried on;
some parts are planted with vines, in others there are pastures, over
which roam flocks and herds of half-wild sheep, cattle, and horses. The
fauna and flora are interesting and varied. The dunes are partly planted
with tamarisks and stone-pines; the beaver and the flamingo are occa-
sionally seen. The whole region has a marked individuality of its own,
and is especially attractive in spring; but in summer and autumn it is

infested with mosquitoes and malarious. The Camargue is crossed by tlio

lines to Les Saintes-Marios and to the salt-works at (iiraud (see p. "518).

7'/2 M. La Camarguf. Wo cross tiie Petif-Rftn/tr and the Beauoairo
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Canal (p. 477). — 11 M. St-Gilles-du-Gard (Hot. du Globe; pop. 6258)

owes its origin to an abbey, founded by St. Gilles or St. ^gidius (d. 721)

on the site of a colony of Massiliau Phocfeans. Pope Clement IV.
(d. 1268) was born here. The Church has a 12th cent. *Portal, lavishly
decorated with marble and stone reliefs, of great delicacy but much
mutilated, recalling in style the portal of St-Trophime. The rest of the

oluirch. restored in the 17th cent., comprises a large crypt, with aisles,

built in 1129-59, and a sacristy belonging to the original church. Behind
the church is a tower containing a spiral staircase, called the Vis de St-

GiUes, and near it, W., is a Romanesque house, recently restored. Branch-
line to (91/2 M.) BoniUargnes, on the line from Nimes to Aries (p. 491).
— 221/2 M. Le C'ailar (p. 491). — 24 M. Aimargnes, junction for Aigues-
Mortes (p. 491).— 28 M. Lirnel (p. 298).

From Arles to St-Louis-dc-Ehoke, 251/2 M., railway in about I1/2 hr.

(4 fr. 60, 3 fr. 10 c, 2fr.).— This line crosses the Canal de Bone, and
follows the left bank of the Grand-Ehone through a marshy plain, be-

tween the Camargue (p. 517) and tlie Crau (p. 502}. To the right is the
Salin-de-Giraud (see below). — 251,2 M. St-Louis-du-ilhoiie (Hot. St-

Louis
;
pop. 2702), a village of recent origin, has a good harbour at the

mouth of the Rhone, the deposits of which are so great, that a tower,
built in 1737 on the shore, is now 41/0 M. inland while four signal-towers
on the river have similarly been rendered useglBS since Roman times.

From Arles to Les Saixtes-Maries, 231/2 IM., local railway across
the Camargue (p. 517) in about I1/2 hr. (3 fr. 90, 2 fr. 35 c). Return-ticket
on Sun. and Thurs. in the bathing season I1/2 fr. — Starting from the
(rare de la Camargue (p. 513), this line runs W. of the Etang de Yaccares
(p. 517) and skirts the Pttit-Rhune. A branch-line diverges for the (231/2 M.)
SaUn-de'Gij-aud. — 2o^lo^[. Les Saintes-Maries (Hot. de la Plage, de
la Poste), a small and once prosperous town on the coast, formerly on
an island in the Rhoue, owes its name to Mary of Bethany, Mary, the
mother of James, and Mary Magdalene, who, according to tradition,

landed here with Martha (p. 501), Sarah their servant, Lazarus (p. 528),

and St. Maximinus (p. 525). The Church (10th cent.), rebuilt in 1144, was
restored by King Rene in 1449; with its small windows, battlements
(view), and tower, it resembles a fortress. It contains the relics of the
Urst two of the above-mentioned saints and, in the crypt, those of Sarah.
In the centre of the church is a fountain, said to have welled forth at

the arrival of the saints. On 24th and 25th May the church is the object
of one of the most ancient and popular pilgrimages in Provence, and on
the Saturday and Sunday after 22nd Oct. there is another of less impor-
tance. Many gipsies come here in honour of the black servant Sarah.
Wireless telegraph station by the shore. To Aignes-Mortes, see p. 492.

From Aries to Lyons and Marseilles, see R. 66; to Nimes, see p. 491.

69. Prom Avignon to Aix (Marseilles)

via Pertuis.

68 M. Railway in 4i,2-5V4 hrs. (12 fr. 15, 8 fr. 20, 5 fr. 40 c). Views
to the left; beyond Cavaillon to the right.

From Avignon to (15 M.) L'Isle-sur-la-Sorgue, see p. 511.

Then, far to the left, we see the rocky cirque of the Fontaine de

Vaucluse (p. 511).

2OV2 M. Cavaillon ( 245 ft. ; Buffet ; Hot. Moderue, R. from 27,,
L. 3, D. 3^/0 fr.; pop. 9416), the Eoman Cahellio, with remains of

a triumphal arch, has an old cathedral, now St-Veran, consecrated
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by Irmoceiit IV. iu 1251, with cloisters of that date to the right

ol" the choir. Melons abound here.

From Cavaillon to Digne, 781/2 M., railway in 53/4-G hrs. (14 fr. 20,

9 fr. 55, 6 fr. 30 c. ; from Avignon, 991/2 M. in about 71/2 hrs., fares 18 fr. 90,

12 fr. 5, 7 fr. 95 c). — The line ascends, N.E., the valley of the Coulon. —
41/2 M. Rohion (315 ft.), 21/2 M. to the N.E. of Taillades, with its old
chateau and the pretty source of the Boulon. — 7 M. Maubec, 5 M. to the
N.E. of which (omn.) is Gardes, with a 16th cent, chateau, now the Hotel
de Ville, and 2 M. farther the Ahbaye de Senanque (12th cent.).— 11 M.
GouU-Lumieres, v,-ith a pilgrimage-church. — 13 M. Bonnieiix, 3 M. to

the S., has mediaeval ramparts and an old church (12th and 15th cent.).

Farther on, to the left, we see the Pont Julien, a well-preserved Roman
l)ridge over the Coulon, perhaps older than the time of Julian. — 20 M.
Apt (750 ft. ; Hot. du Louvre; pop. 6336), on the Coulon, the ancient
Apta Julia, is noted for its ochres and its sweetmeats. The church of

Ste-Anne, of 1315-30, altered in the 18th cent., stands on two line crypts
of the 11th, containing sarcophagi, pagan altars, and Carlovingian sculp-
tures. In the choir are paintings by Delpech (18th cent.); iu the nave,
Holy Family, by N. ^lignard (1634), and a Byzantine painting on wood
(John the Baptist; 15th cent.). From Auriheau, 5 M. to the S., we may
ascend (IV2 hr.) the Grr4$d-L/(beroti (3(;90 ft.), the highest peak between
the Coulon and Durance valleys. — 32'/2 M. C'ereste, with two Roman
bridges and remains of ramparts. —36 M. ReiUanne, with ruins and an
interesting church. We cross the Largiie several times.— 40 M. Lincel-
St-Martiii, station for St-M(irtin-les-Eaux (two small pensions). — 44 M.
St-Maime-Dauphin, junction for (41/2 M.) Forcalquier (Hot. Lardeyret,
des Lices; pop. 3004), a decayed little town, named after an ancient 'furnus
calcarius' (lime-kiln), witli a church (llth-17th cent.) and a Gothic foun-
tain (1481). -We enter the Durance valley. —49 M. F(>fe (p. 520). Thence
to St-Auban, see p. 520; from St-Auhan to IHgne, see p. 473.

From Cavaillon to Miramas (Marseilles), 22V2 M., railway in 1 hr.

10 to 1 hr. 35 min. (4 fr. 5, 2 fr. 70, 1 fr. 75c.). — 2V2 M. C'heval-Bkutc (see

below). The line turns S. and crosses llie Durance. — 31/2 M. Orgon
(Hot. de Londves), a small town with a ruined castle and remains of
ramparts. Lines to Avignon and Tarascon, see pp. 511, 501. — IOV2M.
Lamanon, on the line from Eyguieres to Meyrargues (p. 517). — 15 M.
Salon (Grand-Hotel, L. 3, D. SVafr.; Hot. de la Poste; pop. 11,019),
whicli suffered severely from the earthquake of 1909, was the birth-
place of Adam de Craponne (1519-59), the engineer of the tirst irrigation-
canals in the Crau (p. 502). The church of 8t-Laurent (14th cent.) contains
the tomb of Nostradamus, the astrologer (1503-66; see p. 501). Line
to Aries, see pp. 517, 516. Another line runs to (2OV2 M-) La Calade
(p. 521), through the scene of the serious earthquake of 11th June, 1909,
which destroyed many villages and caused a loss of sixty lives. — 221/2 M.
Miramas (p. 502).

The train nears the Durance and ascends its right bank.

—

23 M. Cheval-Blanc (see above). On hills to the right arc two
mined castles.— 301/2 M. M&rindol.

To the W., 2 M., is the picturesque Gorge du Regalon, part of wliich
is a chasm, 330 ft. deep, barely wide enough for a passage.

Sl^l^U.Lauris, with a 16th cent, chateau.— 40^2 M. Cadenet
(Hot. du Commerce; pop. 2703), dominated by a castle in ruins.

Tlie church contains a line antique basin, used as a I'ont. This was
the birthplace of Felicien David (1810-7G), the composer, and ol'

Andre Etienne (1774-1838), the heroic 'Drummer of Arcole'.

48 M. Pertuis (buft'et), and thence to .Aix, see pp. 520, f)2\.
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70. Prom Grenoble (Lyons) to Marseilles.
Comp. the Maj), p. 477

.

194 M. Railway in 9V4-IO3/4 hrs. (34 fr. 15, 23 fr. 5, 15 fr. 5 c). From
Greuoble to Aix, 17IV2 M., in 83/4-91/4 hrs. (30 fr. 90, 20 fr. 85, 13 fr. (50 c);
thence to Marseilles, 221/2 M., in 55-80 min. (3 fr. 25, 2 fr. 20, 1 fr. 45 c).
—From Lyons to Marseilles (comp. R. 56), 269 M.. in 13-14 hrs. (47 fr. 70,

32 fr. 20 c, 21 fr.).

From Grenoble to (lOQi/o M.) St-Auban, see pp. 439-441 and

472, 473. We leave the Digne line on the left and still descend

on the right bank of the Durance. Opposite rise the curious

"Aiguilles or Penitents des Mees, pinnacles of rock uearl}' 500 ft.

high, visited from (11 272 ^I-) Peyruis-les-Mees. To the S. of the

station. 3^2 ^^-5 i^ Gatiagobie, with a ruined priory of the 9th cent,

and a church with a portal of the 12th.— 125^/2 ^1^- Volx. Lines

to Avignon via Apt and to Forcalquier, see pp. 519, 518.

130 M. Manosque (1085 ft.; Hot. Pascal, R. 2-5, L. 3, D.

3\/.2 fr. ; Hot. do Versailles
;
pop. 4853), a trading town, at the foot of

the Mont d'Or, with its old signal-tower, has remains of old ram-

parts, notably the Parte Saunerie (14th cent.), nearest the station,

and the Parte Soubeyi^an, at the X.W. end of the old town. The
transitional church of St-Sauveur has an iron spire; Notre-Dame
contains a statue of the Virgin of the 10th or 11th century.

Omn. dailv to (141/2, by direct road 8M. ; 2 fr.) Gr^oulx-les-Bains
(Hot. de TEtaJDlisseraent, R. from 3, B. li/.^, L. or D. 3, P. from 11 fr.

;

Hot. du Grand-Jardin, P. 7 fr. ; Hot. Xcgre, Reille, in the town), prettily
situated on the Verdun. The waters (98^), containing chlorates, sulphates,
bromides, and iodides, are good for skin-diseases and rheumatism. Fine
large park. Season May 15th to Sept. 15th. The village, 1/3 M. to the
£., is dominated by a chateau, built by the Templars in the 13th cen-
tury. Near it are grottoes, once inhabited. — About 13 M. to the ]S\E. of

Greoulx (omn. from Manosque 4 fr.) lies Riez (Hot. des Alpes, rustic),

the Roman Albece Reiorum, with four Corinthian columns and other
Roman remains. The Terajjle, an old baptistery, a curious rotunda with
eight antique columns, perhaps of the (Jth or 7th cent., was badly restored in

1818. — About 81/2M. farther on in the same direction (omn.) is Moustiers-
Ste-Marie (Hot. du Belvedere), noted in the 17th-18th cent, for its faience,

situated at the foot of lofty rocks, between which a gilded star is suspended
by an iron chain, a votive offering by an ancient knight. Under it is

the curious chapel of Xot7'e-Dame-de-jBeauvoir.~ A road leads S. by the
Pont d^Aiguines, over the Verdon, to (6 M.) Les Salles (good aub.), then
(1 hr. W.) to the superb Fontaine des SorjJS or de VEveque (1300 ft.), with
the ruins of a Roman bridge and of a villa of the Bishops of Riez.-
Road to Pont-de-Soleils (p. 538), via (12 M.) La Palnd (Hot. Turrel).

We again near the pretty Durance. — 1421/0 M. Mirabeau
(785 ft.), with the chateau of the Mirabeau family. Omn. to (13^2 ^0
Greoulx (see above).

1511/2 M. Pertuis (640ft.; Buffet; Hot. de Provence, duCours;
pop. 4973), junction for Cavaillou and Avignon (R. 69), has two old

towers (13th-14th cent.) and a church with good sculptures.
To the N.E. (3 M. ; omn.) lies La Tonr-d^Aigues, which has a grand

ruined chateau in the Renaissance style, with a mediaeval keep.
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The train now returns on the same line for ly, M. and then

crosses the Durance.— 155V2 ^^- Meyraryues (675 ft.; Buffet;

Hot. Terminus), junction for Eyguieres (p. 517), with a tine old

chateau, VUM. to the left.

From Mevrakgces to Draguignan (Grasse, Nice), 61 M., iiariow-

aauge liue in 4-43/4 hrs. (8 fr. 25, 6 fr. 5 c). Hilly country, interesting
at places. — 261/oM. BurjoU (995 ft.; Hot. du Pont-d'Or; pop. 2194), with
factories and tanneries, and pretty cascades near it. — 42^2 M. Snlernes
(795 ft. : pop. 2511), producing terracotta tiles. To the right is a ruined
chateau (12th cent.). At ViUecroze, 21/2 M. to the N.E., are a pretty
waterfall and several grottoes, one of which was converted in the middle
ages into a fortress with a chapel. — 51 M. Lorgues (780 ft.; Hot. de la

Poste; pop. 3062) has large brick-works, a fountain of the 15th cent., and
a gateway of the 14th. Olive-trees are now abundant. — 61 M. Dragiiianan
(p. 537).

157 M. Reclavier. To the left is the Montague de Ste-Yictoire

(p. 525).— 163 M. Venelles. To the left are the arches of the Canal
d'Aix or du Verdon.— 1 64^/2 ^1- J^cl Calade, junction for Salon

(p. 519).— 1711/2 M. Aix (good buffet).

Aix.

Omnibus to the town 30, trunk 30 c.

Hotels. Hot. Negre-Coste (PI. a; D, 3), 33 Cours Mirabeau. good,
K. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 3iA> (wine extra), P. from 8, omn. 1/4 fr^ ; Hot.
de la Mule-Noire (PI. b; E, 3)," Rue Lacepede, R. from 21/2, D. 3 fr.; H61

.

de France (PI. c; C, 3), 63 Rue Espariat, R. from 2, L. 2»/.j, D. 3, P. from 7,

omn. 1/2". ; Gr.-Hot. Sextiiis & EtabHs^ement Thervud (PI. B, C. 1), R. from 2,

B. 1, L. 3, D. 31/2, P- 8 fr.; Hot. du Palais (PI. d; E, 2), Rue Chastel.
Baths at the Etablissement ^l^-l fr.

Post & Telegraph Office (Pl.D, 3), Rue du Lycee.— Sykdicat d'In-
iTiATivE, 15 Rue Thiers.

The Churches are usually closed 12-3.

Aix, or Aix-en-Provence (580 ft.; pop. 29,836), the old capital

of Provence, is the seat of an archbishop and a university.
Aqiise Sextiie, the oldest Roman colony in ftaul, owed its name jointly

to its thermal waters (p. 525) and the Consul Sextius Calvinus, by whom
it was colonized in 123 B.C. In 102 Marius defeated the Teutones in the
vicinity (p. 525). Little now remains of the monuments which embellished
Aix before the barbaric invasions. From these it recovered slowly and
then became the capital of Provence, with a refined court where the
Provencal language was fostered. It was annexed to the French crown
in 1481. In 1536 it was taken by Charles V., who proclaimed himself
King of Aries and Provence, but had to evacuate it two months later.

Aix suffered from religious strife in the 16th and 18th centuries. It is

noted for its olive-oil and its cakes.

From the station (PI. C, 4) the Av. Victor-Hugo leads N. to the

Place (PI. C, 3) and Fontaine de la Botonde, with statues of Just-

ice, Agriculture, and Art. Here, to the E., flanked with figures of

Industry and Art, begins the Cours Mirabeau (PI. C-E, 3), a shady
promenade between the old and the new town, with three other foun-

tains, the Fontaine des Neuf-Canon^, the Fontaine Chaude, with

mineral water, and a third with a statue of King Rene (by David
d'Angers), the friend of the troubadours (1409-80).
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From the Fontaine Chaude the Rue du Quatre-Septembre. pass-

ing the Fontaine des Quatre-Dauphins (1667), leads S. to the

Boul. du Roi-Rene, where, a little to the left, is the large Museum
(PL E, 4) of natural history, opened in 1905. (Adni. free Sun. and
Thurs. 2-5, in winter 1-4; at other times, fee.)

The Rue Cardinale leads E. from the last-named fountain to

St-Jeaii-de-Malte (PI. E, 3, 4), a fine Gothic church of 1234-64,
vdth a lofty stone tower (14th- 15th cent.).

Interior. The 1st, 3rd, and 4th chapels on the left contain sculptures
by Chr. Veyrier, a pupil of Puget. The 4th also has two paintings by
E. Levieux. In the left transept is the *Tomb of Alphonse 11.^ Count
of Provence (d. 1209). with his statue and those of his son and grand-
daughter; the monument was destroyed in 1793, but restored in 1826.

Picture here by Levieux. Pictures in the right transept by Jonvenet,
and in the 4th chapel on the right by Finsonins (p. 515).

The adjoining building, the old Commandery of St. John, now
contains the *Musee (PI. E, 4), founded in 1821, a collection of

sculptures, antiquities, and pictures. Adm. on Sun. and Thurs.,

12-4; to strangers on other days also. Catalogue of the sculptures,

antiquities, etc. (1882), 21/2 fr."; of the pictures, etc. (1900), li/, fr.

Grround Floor. In the Vestibule are Antiqve Sculptvres. Right
side, 305-.S07. Gallic stelae with reliefs; 298. Christian sarcophagus; 268.

Torso of Apollo. End-wall, Egyptian antiquities. — Left side, *209. Per-
sian Warrior, School of Pergamos, antique copy of one of the statues
erected at Athens by Attains I. in 239 B.C.; 297. Sarcophagus with pass-
age of the Eed Sea.— End-wall, 276. Sign of a vetinerary surgeon; 259.

Double hermes with Greek portraits.

Parallel Gallery. Casts. Also pictures (192. Unknoivn Master,
Siege of Aix by the Due d'Epernon in 1593); screen with the Fete-Dieu,
a festival introduced by King Eene in 1462; sculptures, coins, etc.

Gallery I. on the left. Sculptures. 64. King Rene, by David
d'Angers, model of the statue at Angers.— Gallery II, on the left. 812.

Ravius, Fisherman; 743. Al. Charpentier, Young mother (relief); 815,
814. Tr?/2j7ieme, Mirabeau (model), Reverie; Buret, Xeapolitan fisherman.

First Floor. To the left of the staircase: Cabinet (I), with engrav-
ings and faience. — Room II. Granet Bequest: Right. 84. Hedouin, Reapers
(1852); 21. Brascasmt, Argus and lo (1827); 5S.'Dubufe, Prisoners of

Ghillon; 82. Guillemot. King Rene signing a pardon; 163. Sigv.ol, Curse
of Noah; below, fine Greek relief and small antiques; 119. Liiminais,
Maternal affection; 185. Watelet, Old quays at Lyons; 87. Ingres, Zeus
and Thetis (1811); below, bust of woman (Italian relief of 15th cent.);

53. J. L. David. Portr. of a boy; 63. Feyen-Perrin, Parisienne at Cancale.
In the centre, bronzes, small antiques, terracottas, etc.

—

Room III. Modern
pictures. Right, 138. B. Ponson, Gulf of Bandol; iS. Coste, The harbour
awakes; 126. Moutte, Port of Marseilles; 171. Tmjyheme, Dictation; 754.

Bust of Vanloo, by G. C'oquelin. Also ivories.

Room lY. Rostan Donation: Pictures hj Drolling, P. Flandrin, and
Deveria: at the end, Eijyp. Flandrin, Portr. of Dr. Rostan (1790-1866);
also miniatures, statuettes, etc. — Rooms V and YI. Pictures and drawings
by F. M. Granet (of Aix; 1775-1849). Also, in R. Y, 359. P. de HoocK,
Interior: 362. Inares, Man's head: 363. J. Jordaens. Return of Ulvsses;
391. Flemish School of 16th Ceyit.', Adoration of the Magi (triptych); 339.

L. Cogniet, Granet; 368. X. Mignard, Mars and Yenus; 780. Bust of

Granet. In R. YI, centre of right wall, *360. Ingres. Granet.
We return to R. Ill, and to the right enter the Gallery (YII) of

drawings, mostly by J. A. Constantin. To the left, a mummy. Opposite
are the rooms of the ancient paintings, the most valuable in the gallery.
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Room VIII. French. Right, 95. Laryilliere, Xaiad; 18. Bourdon,
The halt; 240. Ph. de Champaigne, Bishop of Toul (1648); 234. J. van
Breda, Brittle of Leuze (1691); 142. P. Pugct, Portr. of himself; 96.

Largilliere, Portrait; lll.Vanloo, Ladj' gardener. — 79. Grenze, Triiimph
of Galatea; 127. Bros. Le Nain, Soldiers at cards; 188. School of Fontaine-
bleaii, Peace; 179. J. Vernet, Landscape. — 94. Largilliere, Portr. of two
ladies: *154, 153. Rigaiid, Gaspard de Gueidan; *612. Qnentin de la

ro?/r,' Marshal Villars (1743); Rigand, 152. Gaspard de Gueidan, 156.

Portr. of a soldier; *98. Largilliere. Lady as Flora (1730).— 155. Rigaud,
Portrait (1713).— Sculptures : *776, *777. Houdon, Cagliostro and the Bailli

de Suflfren (1786).

Room IX. German, Dutch, Flemish. Right, Landscapes.— 319. A.
vander Neer,^ioon?.h\n&; 318, 317, 316, 314. P. Xeeffs, Church interiors;

373. Terhurg (f), Prescription; 239. Ph. de Chawipaigne, Pompone de
Bellievre; 374. Terhurg (?), Singing-lesson; 315. P. Neeff's, Church interior;

362. J. Steen, Adoration of the shepherds; 368. J. Livens, Joseph's coat;

281. M. van Hellemont, Family concert. —890. P. Wouverman, Landscape;
387. 6r. van Wittel, View of Rome.— 346. Rubens, Portr. of a woman;
303. Metsu (9), Music-lesson; 336. Vaii Ravesteyv, Portr. of a woman;
334. F. Poiirhus the Younger, Portrait; 253. G. Dou, Hermit praying:
295. Th. de Keijser, Portrait (1626); 337. Rembrandt, Portr. of hiiuself

(ca. 1659); *300. Master of Flemalle, Virgin. St. Peter, St. Augustine, and
a prior (ca. 1430); 283. School of Holbein, Sir Thos. More; 248. C'ugp,
Portr. of a woman (1649); 296. Th. de Ket/ser, Burgomaster; 345. Rubens,
Portrait. — 765. Bust of Baron de Fabregoules, founder of the Musee (1867).

Room X. Italian. Right, 443. C'aravaggio. Salome; 471. Jfaratta,
Adoration of the Magi; 474. Bassano, Pilgrims of Emraaus; 446. Guercino,
Vision of St. Theresa. — 477 (at the end), Preti Calabrese, Martyrdom of

St. Catharine of Alexandria ; 444. C'aravaggio, St. Paul the hermit. —
461. Ciina da Conegliano {9), Madonna and Child; 453. Boltrafpo (?),

Adoration of the Child.— Ann. Caracci, Death of St. Joseph.— *609. P.
Puget, Bust of Louis XIV. when a youth (?); glass case with miniatures;
1080. Sphinx in bronze.

From the Musee the Rue Cardiuale and then the Rue d'ltalie

lead to the Place Forbin (PI. E, 3), at the E. eud of the Cours

Mirabeau, Thence the Rue Thiers leads N. to the modern Palais
de Justice (PI. D, 2), on the site of a Roman mausoleum aud the

palace of the Counts of Provence. On the N., in the Place des

Precheurs (PI. D, E, 2;, rises a nne Fountain (1761), with medal-

lions of Sextius Calvinus (p. 521), Charles III. , last sovereign

Count of Provence, Louis XV., and Louis XVIIL, last titular count.

The handsome church of the Madeleine (PI. E, 2), of 1703,

has a modern Renaissance facade.
Iktekior. In the last chapel on the left is an Annunciation ©f tlie

French School (15th cent.). Left transept. Angel presenting the Child
Jesus with the instruments of his Passion, by Vanloo; Mary Magdalene,
by M. Serre. Right transept, above the altar. Visitation, by R. Levieux.
At the end of the nave, a statue of the Virgin, by Chastel.

The Rue des Arts-et-Metiers leads N.E. from the church to the

boulevards and the Fontaine St-Louis, beyond which is the well-

equipped Ecole des Arts et Metiers (PI. F, 2, 1). Opposite is tbe

public Jardin Ramhaud.
At the end of the Boul. St-Louis is the Fontaine Granet, with

a bust of the painter (p. 522) on an antique column. The ]5oul.

Nntre-Dame leads thence W., passing near the Cathedral (left) and
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the curious monument of Joseph Spo fPl. C. \\. erected by himself

in 1792.

The "Cathedral of St-Sauveur PI. C. li. in the N. quarter

of the old town, a church of very early origin, dates in its present

form from the 11th cent.; the choir is of 1285; one aisle was
added in the 14th cent., and another to the N. of it in the 17th.

so that the original nave is now the S. aisle. The superb *Doors
('1505-8) of the Gothic Portal are protected by shutters, which are

opened by the sacristan (last door on the right, before the choin.

The reliefs represent prophets and sibyls, in niches adorned with

garlands and fruits. The Toicer, 210 ft. high, dates from 1323-1425.
Interior. To the right is an octagonal Baptistery (6th cent.), said to

occupy the site of a temple of Apollo, but rebuilt in 1577. It contains
eight antique columns, six in green marble and two in granite, and the
Seven Sacraments, paintings by Aix artists (1821-49). In the nave, on
the left, the Doubting Thomas, by Finsonius (1613). On the right two
triptychs (closed): *The Burning Bush, with King Eene, Queen Jeanne
de Laval, and saints, and an Annunciation in grisaille outside, executed
for King Rene by Xic. Frcment in 1475-6. The other, by an unknown
master, consists of four small pictures of the 14th cent., scenes from the
Passion (outside modern). In the choir. Flemish tapestry of 1511, with
scenes from the life of Christ and the Virgin and portraits of ladies
of the English court, originally destined for Canterbury Cathedral. In
the chapel of St-Mitre, behind tlie high-altar, are the fine sarcophagus of

the saint (5th ceut.) and over the altar the Miracle of St. Mitrus, on wood
CSchool of Xic. Froment). On the high-altar, below, is the Raising of
Lazarus, a relief by Veyrier. In the 1st chapel of the left aisle (1482) is

the altar of St. Anne, from the Grands-Carmes: in the centre, the Virgin,
the Child, and St. Anne: on the right, St. Martha and the Tarasque
(p. 501); on the left, St. Maurice. The 4th chapel, same aisle, contains
an Adoration of the Magi, of the School of Perngino.

Adjoining the Cathedral on the S. are small Romanesque Cloisters

aud the old Archeveche (PI. C, D. 1 ; apply to concierge ; fee), contain-

ing several works of art and interesting Beauvais tapestry. Xear it

is the Chapelle de la Misericorde, with good paintings and a mira-

culous Virgin.

Opposite the Cathedral is, the University (Faciilte de Droit:

PL C, 1); in front (1895) is a bust of Fabri de Peiresc (1580-16371.

a patron of letters, art, and science.

We return to the centre of the town by the Eue Graston-de-

Saporta, leading to the Hotel de Ville (PL C, 2), of 1652-68. with

its clock-tower of 1510. In the court is a statue of Mirabeau, by
Fr. Trupheme, and on the staircase one of Marshal Villars, by
Xic. Coustou. The Blbliotheque Mejanes, founded in the I8th cent.,

contains 160,000 vols, and 1351 MSS.. including King Rene's Book
of Hours, illuminated by himself, and a missal of 1422. Adm.
daily, except Sun. and Mon., 9-11 and 1-5; in winter 1-4 and 8-10:

closed Aug. 15th to Oct. 15th.

In the same square are the Halle aux Grains and a fountain

of 1755, crowned with an antique column.
From the Hotel de Ville the Rue des Cordeliers leads W. to
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the Cours Sextius, at the X. eud of which is the well-organized

Etablissement Thermal (^Pl. B, C, 1;. Of the Romau baths the

fouiidatious only are left. The waters (93-97°}, slightly charged

with bicarbonate of soda, are useful in cases of rheumatism, nervous

maladies, dyspepsia, etc. In the garden is the octagonal Tour de

Toureluco (14th cent.), a relic of the old ramparts, now a reservoir.

In the Cours Sextius, to the right as we return, is the church

of St-Jeaji-BapUste (PI. B, 2; 17th cent.). In the Rue Espariat,

E. of the Place de la Rotonde, is the church of St-Esprit, or

St-Jerome (^Pl. C, 3; 18th cent.;, with a triptych (1505) attr. to

Francia. Opposite rises a tower of 1494.
From Aix to Avignon, see R. 69; to Rognac (Aqueduc de Roquefavour,

Marseilles), see p. 502. To JIarseiUes by tramway, see p. 535.

To the E. of Ais. 31,2 ^v is Le Tholonet (good aub.), with a modern
chateau and two barrages ^one Roman), forming the 'Petite Mer'.— The
ascent of the Montagne de Ste-Victoire (3315 ft.), the name of whicli
recalls the victory of Marius (see below), is made either from Vauvenargues
(8V2 M. to the N.E.), or direct from (71/., ^0 Les Vabassols, whence a
bridle-path ascends to the old monastery. Higher up is the (1/2 br.) Croix
de Provence (3105 ft. ; view), E. of which is the Roc, the highest point.

Beyond Aix the Marseilles line crosses the Arc by a long viaduct.

Fine views.— I78I/2M. Gardanne (Buffet; Hot. True; pop. 4242),
centre of a coal-district.

From Gtardanne to Oarsoules (Nice), 49 M., railway in 21/4-23/4 hrs.

(8 fr. 85, 5 fr. 95, 3 fr. 90 c).— 5 M. La Barque, junction for Aubagne
(p. 535).— 121/2^1- Trets, important under the Romans and in the middle
ages, with ramparts of the 12th -13th cent, and an old castle. — 15 M.
Potirrieres ("Campi Putridi'), scene of the victory of Marius, B.C. 102.-
23 M. St-Maximin (Hot. du Var, de France; "pop. 2514) contains the
finest (fothic *C'hurch in Provence (13th-15th cent.), built over a much
older crypt. It contains a large *Reredos, 94 stalls (end of 17th cent.),

and many old paintings, iucl. a 16th cent, altar-piece. In the crypt are
four interesting sarcophagi (4th cent.?), including that of St. Maximinus
(p. 518), one of the first apostles in this region. In the sacristy is shown
the cope of St. Louis of Anjou, Bishop of Toulouse (d. 1297). To the S.W.
(71/2 ^1- ; omn. 50 c.) is Xans (hotels;, whence a road ascends to the (5 M.)
Sainte-Baume (carr. from St-Maximin at least 20 fr.

; p. 535). Omu. also
from St-Maximin to St-Zacharie (12 M.

; p. 535). — 26V2 M. Tuurrts (aub.),
with the grand ruined *t'hdteau de Valbelle.— BD 'M. Brignoles (Hot.
Fabre-de-Piffard, de la Cloche-d'Or; pop. 4541), once the summer residence
of the Counts of Provence, whose chateau is now tlie Sous-Prefecture.
Near it is a 13th cent, house. Omu. to Meouues (p. 537).— 41^2 M. Forcal-
qneiret-Gareoult , with extensive castle-ruins. — 46 M. Besse (Hot. Gonnet),
^/4 M. to the left, on a small lake. — 49 M. C'arnoules (p. 537).

181 M. Sirniane has a castle with a 13th cent. keep.— 185 M.
Septetnes, with chemical works. We cross the Marseilles Canal.

—

1871/2 ^i- St-Atitoine. We sight the Mediterranean to the right.— 191 M^ Ste-Mart/ie, nearing which we see on the left a modern
tower crowned with a statue of the Virgin.

194 M. Marseilles (p. 526).
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stations. Gure St-Charles (PI. F, 2), the most important, with a buf-
fet and a hotel (see below ; departure-platform on the right;; GareduPrado
(PI. H, 1), for the S.E. quarters, with branch from La Blancarde (p. 535);
Gai-e du Vieiix-Port (PI. B, C, 5), Gare Maritime (PI. C, 1, 2), and Gave
d'Ai'enc, farther on, goods-stations.— Hotel-omnibuses 3/4-11/2 fr. Cabs, see

p. 527. There are also Omnibus de Famille (office, 17 Rue Grignan).

Hotels. First-class: *Gr.-Hdt. du Louvre & de la Paix (PI. a; E, 4),
3 Rue Xoailles, R. from 4, B. IV2, L- ^i/.^, D. 6 fr., with a dependance,
Palace Hotel & Rest, de la Reserve (S. of the town; see below); Gr.-H6t.
de Xoailles & Metropole (PI. c; E.4), 22-24 Rue Xoailles, R. from 4, B. 1V.>,

L. 4, D. 6 fr. (wine extra); *Gra)id-Hdtel i.Pl. b; F, 4), 26-28 Rue Xoailles,

R. from 41/2. B. li;.„ L. 4, D. 6 fr. ; *Regina-H6tel (PI. f ; D, 3), Place Sadi-
Carnot, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 6 fr.; Hot. Bristol [Fl. w; E, 4), 19-23

Rue Caunebiere, with the Rest.de VUnivers, R. from 5, B. V^jiix. -Gr.-
Hot. Beauvau, 4 Rue Beauvau (PI. D, £, 4, 5), R. 3-9, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 3 or

4 fr. ; Hot. de Geneve (PL m; D,4), 3 Rue des Templiers. good, R. from 4,

B. 11/2, L- 3; D- 4, P. from 11 fr.; Hot. du Petit-Louvre (PL d; E,4;, 16-18

Rue Cannebiere; Hot. de Castille & de Luxembourg (Pi. e; E, 5), Rue St-

Ferreol, corner of Rue Jeune-Anacharsis, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4 fr.;

Hot. des Phoceens (PL i; E,4). 4-6 Rue Thubaneau, with the good Rest.
Isnard, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4 fr.; Hot. de Rome & de St-Pierre (PL 1;

E, 4), 7-11 Cours St-Louis, frequented bj' the clergy, well spoken of. R.
from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. d^^h.; Hot. Continental ^PL j ; D,4), 6 Rue Beau-
vau, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 3, D. 3Vij) P- from s^j.^h-.; Hot. de Provence
(PL q; E, 4), 12 Cours Belsunce, with rest., R. from 3, B. 1, L. 21/2, D-
3fr.; Hot. Universel (PL r; E, 3), 28'^'^- 30 Cours Belsunce, with rest.,

L. 2-21/2, D. 21/5, fr.; Hot. de la Valifornie & Colonial, 42-44 Cours BeL
sunce, with rest., R. 2-4, L. 21/2, D. 2 fr.

Near the Clare St-Charles: '^Hot. de Russde & d'Angleterre. 31 Boul.
d'Athenes (PL E,3), R. from 4, B. I1/4. L. 3, D. 4 fr. (wine extra); Hot. de
Bordeaux & d' Orient (PL k ; E, 3), 11-13 Boul. d'Athenes, variously judged

;

Hot. Lafayette, 9 AUees des Capucines, corner of Rue Lafayette (PL F, 3),

R. from 2, B. 1, L. or D. 21/2 fr.

Hotels Meubles. *Terminus-Hdtel (PL g; F, 2;, at the Gare St-Charles,

R. from 5, B. I1/2, L- or D 31/2 fr.; Grand-Xou eel-Hotel iPl. u; F, 4), 10

Boul. du Musee, good, R. from 4, B. I1/2 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. du Commerce <fc des
Xegociants (PLp; E, 4), 33 Cours Belsunce, R. from 3. B. Ifr.; Modern
Hotel (PL s; D,4), 50 Rue Cannebiere, weU sjjoken of, R. from 3, B. ifr.;

Hot. Riche & du Vingti'eme-Si'ecle (PL v; E, 4), 1 Rue Cannebiere, R.
from 3, B. IVafr.; Touring-Hotel (Pl.t; E, 4), 28 a Cours Belsunce, R.
fromi 3, B. 1 fr. ; Hot. de la Poste (PL 0; E, 3), corner of Rue Colbert and
Rue d'Aix, good, R. from 2i/o fr.; Hdt. des Princes (PL h; E, 4), 12 Place

de la Bourse, R. from 2V2 fr.; Hot. de Paris (PL n; D, 3), 15 Rue Colbert.

Restaurants. *La Reserve (see above; -Palais de la Bouillabaisse'),

Chemin de la Corniche (p. 534), first-class, with superb view; Roucas-
Blanc, Chemin de la Corniche, good, L. 4, D. 5 h.—'^Isnard (see above);

Provence (see above), good; Basso-Bregaillon, 3-5 Quai de la Fraternite

(shell-fish, 'bouillabaisse'); Mistral, 7 Quai de la Fraternite, L. 21/2,

D. 3fr.; Pascal, 27 Place Thiers; B)-ass. de Strasbourg, 11 Place de la

Bourse; Brass, de Munich, 17 Rue Paradis; Au Rosbif, 7 Place de la

Bourse, good (Duval style); Californie (see above); Paris, 26 Rue des

Recollettes, plain but good.— As oil is largely used instead of butter,

the Provencal cuisine will not always appeal to the palate of strangers.

The speciality of Marseilles is the Bouillabaisse (Prov. bouiabaisso),

extolled by Thackeray, a kind of thick soup, made of fish borled in oil,

flavoured with laurel-leaves, onions, garlic, and tomatoes, and coloured
with satfron. The soup is poured on slices of bread, and the fish served
separately. Brandade is a kind of cod-fish stew; A'ioli is a mayonnaise
with oil and garlic. Oysters and unboiled drinking-water should be avoided.
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The chief Cafes are in the Rues Cannebiere and Noailles.

Cabs. With 1 horse, per drive li/g; per hour 2V.> fr. ; with 2 horses

2Va or 3 fr.; trunk 25 c; if the cab is sent for, 50 c. per drive extra. The
taritf applies to every jjlace within the limits of the annexed Plan, except

to places beyond the Boul. Notre-Dauie and de la Corderie. The tariff should

be asked for. — Motor Cabs. Up to 800 m. 1 fr., for every 400 m. more 20 c.

Electric Tramways (fare 10, outside the town 10-15 c). From
the Gave St-Charles (PI. F, 2) to the Allees de Meilhan (PI. F, -1) or to

the Place Castellane \^i. F, 7). — From the fours St-Louis (PI. E, 4)

via the Rue de Rome and the Prado to the Corniche (p. 533), and back
via Endoume and the Boul. de la Corderie (15 c.).— From the Jardin
Zoologique (PI. H, I, 2) via the Cours du Chapitre, Quai de la Fraternite,

and Rue Breteuil to the Boulevard Vauban (PI. D, E, 7).— From the fours
du Chapitre (PI. F, 3) via the Rue de Rome, Cours Pierre-Puget, and Boul.

Notre-Dame to the Boulevard Vauban (PI. D, E, 7). — From the Jardin
Zoologique (PL H, I, 2) via the Boul. de Longchamp and Boul. des Dames
to the Place de la Joliette (PI. C, 2).— From the Place de la JoUette

(PI. C, 2) via the Rue de la Repubiique and the Rue Breteuil to the

Boulevard Vauban (PL E, D, 7).— Lines to the environs, see p. 534.

Local Steamboats. 'Bateaux-mouches' across ihft Vieux-Port b q.\

from the Vieux-Port to the Pharo (PL A, 5) 15 c.; from La Joliette to

the Bains des Catalans 15 c. From the Vieux-Port to the Chateau d'lf

(p. 534), in calm weather, 1-3 fr. return. From the Quai de la Fraternite

(PL D, 4, 5) once daily to Sausset (p. 535; 21/4 fr.). To Port-de-Bouc (p. 502),

daily, 2V2 ^r. —Rowing Boat across the Vieux-Port, 1 pers. 40 c, each
pers. more 15 c; to or from a vessel in the harbour 20 and 10 c; trunk
50 c, hand-bag 10 c; per hour 1 fr., each pers. more 25 c.

Steam.boat Lines. Peninsular & Oriental (Estrine & Cie., 18 Rue
Colbert), to Loudon and Port Said; Xorth German Lloyd (W. Carr, 16 Rue
Beauvau), to Naples, Genoa, Constantinople, Alexandria, etc.; Gervian
E. African Line (W. Carr), to Southampton, Tangier, Naples, and Port
Said; Bibbij (Watson & Parker, 8 Rue Beauvau), to Liverpool, Port
Said, etc.; British India (Cr. Budd, 8 Rue Beauvau), to Plymouth, Genoa,
Port Said, etc.; Rotterdara Lloyd (Ruys & Co., 29 Rue de la Republique),
to Southampton, Port Said, and India; Messageries 2Iaritivtes (3 Place
Sadi-Carnot), to Naples, Constantinople, Alexandria, Port Said, etc. ; Ge-
nerale Transatlantique (9 Quai de la Joliette), to N. Africa, Malta, etc.

;

Navigation Mixte (54 Rue Cannebiere), to N. Africa, Palermo, etc. ; Char-
geurs Reunis (Worms & Cie., 28 Rue Grignau), to Dunkirk, Genoa, and
Naples; Fraissinet (5 Rue Beauvau), to Ajaccio or Bastia (see p. 595),

and Leghorn; Pacquet (4 Place Sadi-Carnot), to Oran, Tangier, etc.

Tourist Agents. Thos. Cook & Son, ll^'s Rue Noailles; Lubin,
14 Rue des Feuillants; Voyages Univeraels, 16 Rue Cannebiere; etc.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL D, 3), Rue Colbert; also at the Gare
St-Charles, Bourse, 55 Allees des Capuciues, Place St-Ferreol, etc.

Theatres (closed in summer). Grand-Theatre (PL E, 5), Place
Ernest-Reyer (,1/2-6 fr.); Gymnase (PL F, 4), 4 Rue du Theatre-FrauQais
(65 c. to 51/2 fr.). —Cafes-Concerts. Varietes-Cas'inu (PL E, 4; VU'6 fr.).

Rue Noailles; Alcazar (PL E, 3; 1 fr. 10 c. to 5 fr.), 42 Cours Belsunce;
Palais de Cristal (PL F, 4; same prices), 32 Allees de Meilhan; Palace-
Casino de la Plage (p. 534; in summer, IV2-4 fr.). - Modern Cinema, 55-57

Rue St-Ferreol.

Baths. Maures Hamraam, 14 Allees de Meilhan; Castellane, 172 Rue
deRome; Bains des Allees, 64 Allees de Meilhan; Grand-Bains de Mar-
seille, 13 Rue de la Republique; Phoceens, 27 Rue Paradis.— Sea Baths,
on the Chemin de la Corniche. Bains des Catalans, in the bay of that
name (PL A, 5, 6; p. 534; 20-60 c; steamboat, see above); Bains du
Boucas-Bkmc and du Prado (see Plan, p. 533).

Physicians. Dr. Ed. Hawthoim, 286 Rue Paradis; Dr. P. Gouin
(speaks English), 82 Rue Sylvabelle; Dr. Rodocanachi (speaks English),
25 Rue de T'Arsenal.

34*
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Banks. Credit Lyojiuais, 25 Eue St-Ferreol (PI. E, 4, 5); Societe

Generale, 24 Rue Xoailles; Comptoir d"Escompte, 1 Place St-Ferreol;

Societe JlarseiUcdse, 63 Rue F&T&iis. —American Express Co., 9 Rue
Beauvau.

Consuls. British Coxsi-i.-Ctekeral, ?I. C. Gurney, 8 Rue des Princes

;

office-hours 10-12 (in summer 9-1) and 3-5 ; open Sat. morning only.— Ameri-
CAX Consul-Gtexeral. a. Gaulin, 10 Cours Pierre-Puget (10-12 and 2-4).

English and American Church (^4//, Saints' ; PI. E, 6), 4 Rue
de Belloi; services at 8, IC-'JO, and 3.30; chaplain, Rev. B. Movtratj, in

Boul. Rivet.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 2 Rue Paradis.

Marseilles (pop. 550,619), capital of the department of the

BoacJies-du-Bhone and head-quarters of the 15th army-corps, is

the chief seaport and the second city of France. It has a Faculty

of Science and is the seat of a bishop. It is superbly situated on

a bay of the Gulf of Lions, backed by limestone hills. Though

the oldest town in \Y. Europe, Marseilles has neither classical nor

medifeval remains of importance.
Marseilles, Lat. JLassUia., Gr. jrassaUa, was founded about 600 B.C.

by Phocaeans, on the site of a village of the Salyes. It was occupied by
the Carthaginians in 535, after the naval battle of Aleria (p. 597), which
compelled the Phocseans to seek refuge in S. Italy, but it was recaptured

by the latter about 480. Ere long the Massilians became masters of the sea.

They founded new colonies, such as Nice, Antibes, La Ciotat, and St-Gfilles,

and "they explored part of the coasts of Africa and even of N. Europe. In

153 and 125 B.C.. when menaced by hostile tribes, ^Nlassilia invoked the aid

of Rome, but retained her independence until, having sided with Pompey,
she was besieged and captured by Julius Caesar in 49 B.C. Under the

Empire Massilia had several famous schools. Christianity was introduced

by St. Victor in the 3rd cent., or even, according to the legend, by the

risen Lazarus (p. 518). The town was sacked by the Visigoths and the

Burgundians and destroyed by the Saracens, but having recovered from
these disasters it became part of the Kingdom of Aries, being governed

by a viscount and the bishop. In 1218 it became independent, but having
been conquered by Charles of Anjou about 1250, it fell under the sway
of the Counts of Provence, who ruled over it until their dominions were
annexed to France in 1481. It had been sacked by Alphonso of Aragon
in 1423, but successfully resisted the Constable Bourbon in 1524. On
several other occasions the citizens showed their spirit, as in refusing to

recognize Henri IV. until 1596, and also during the war of the Fronde.

It was therefore deprived of its privileges by Louis XIV. in 1660. In

1720-21 a terrible pestilence carried off 40,000 of the inhabitants (comp.

p. 529). In 1793 the citizens sided with the Girondists and suffered fear-

fully under the Terror.— The Jlarseillaise, the republican battle-hymn,

composed by Rouget de I'lsle at Strasbourg in 1792, is said to derive its

name from the Marseillais who sang it when taking part in the attack on

the Tuileries. —Among other celebrities, Thiers (1797-1877) was born at

Marseilles.
The prosperity of Marseilles as a seaport was greatly increased by the

conquest of Algiers (1830) and the construction of the Suez Canal (1869),

and in 1912 the total tonnage of vessels trading with it was I8V2 mil-

lions, but it has formidable rivals in Trieste and Genoa. The imports
in 1912 amounted to 4,527,327 tons, and the exports to 2,855,173. The chief

imports are coal, cereals (from Russia, N. Africa, Turkey, India, and N.
America), oil-seed, hides, leather, wool, sugar from Reunion and Java,
coffee from Brazil, pepper, cocoa, sheep from Algeria, and other live-stock.

The exports are largely the products of local industry: flour, oil, soap,

tiles, nautical requisites.
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Marseilles is divided into four great quarters by two luaiii

arteries, crossing each other at the Cours St-Louis (PI. E, 4), the

chief focus of traffic. Theuce diverge, S.W. the Rue Cannebiere,

N.E. the Rue Noailles, S.E. the Rue de Rome, and X.W. the Cours

Belsuuce, the last three being prolonged under different names.

The *Cannebiere (PL D, E, 4), the name of which is derived

from the Greek 'cannabis' (hemp; hence rope-walk), leads from

the Cours St-Louis to the Yieux-Port and is the chief boast of

the citizens: 'Si Paris avait une Cannebiere, ce serait un petit

Marseille'. It is reached from the Gare St-Charles (PL F, 2) by
the Boul. d'Athenes, BouL Dugommier, and Rue Noailles.

The Bourse (PLD, E,4; business hours 11-12 and 4-6), on

the N.W. side of the Cannebiere, erected in 1852-60, is preceded

by a Corinthian portico and adorned with fine sculptures. On the

first floor is the superb Chamber of Commerce. This wealthy

society, dating from 1650, organized the African Company, estab-

lished the first consulates, and waged war against the Algerian

pirates. In recent times it has built the Bourse at a cost of nine

million francs, and completed the harbour. In the Place de la

Bourse (PL E, 4), is a monument of Pierre Puget (p. 531).

A few paces W. lies the *Vieux-Port (PL C, D, 4, 5), the

Lakyclon of the Phocseans, a basin of about 70 acres, now used

by small craft only, and enlivened by the busy 'mouches' (p. 527).

Its quays present an interesting scene (beware of pickpockets). The
entrance is protected by two forts: S. the Fort d'Entrecasteaux
(PL B, 5), built by Vauban for Louis XIV., and N. the Foi't

Grasse-TiUy (PL B, 4), whose tower bears an inscription recalling

the 2500th anniversary (1899) of the town's foundation. A canal

connects the Vieux-Port with the Bassin de la Joliette (p. 530).

On a hill to the S.E. is seen Notre-Dame-de-la-Garde (p. 533).

The mouth of the Vieux-Port is crossed by a Transporter
Bridge (PL B, 4, 5), with its moving platform suspended some 10 ft.

above the water (passage in 2min.; 5 c). Fine view from the N.
tower (245 ft.; lift 60, up and down 75 c).

On the Quai du Port, on the N. side of the Vieux-Port, rises the

Hotel de Ville (PI. C, 4), of 1663-83, adorned with good sculptures.

At the E. end of the same quay is the Sant6, or Health Office

(PL B, C, 4), the hall of which contains the Musee de la Covsig7ie,

five paintings and a marble relief relating to the plague.

To the N. of the Vieux-Port lies the old town, with its laby-

rinth of narrow streets, thronged with the denizens of the port,

many of whom are Italians (one-fifth of the population). The busy
and picturesque scene is witnessed on the way to the Cathedral,

•specially near the Halles au Poisson. In the 19th cent, several

great thoroughfares were carried through this quarter, notably the

handsome Rue de la Rejmblique (PI. D, C, 4-2), ^/^ M. long.
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The -Cathedi-al of Ste-Marie-Majeure (PL B, C, 3), or

'La Mqior', on a terrace to the N.W. of the old tovn, overlooking

the Bassin de la Joliette, is a sumptuous nco-Byzautine church, the

largest built in the 19th cent., and is lavishly adorned with marble

and mosaics. The material is white and dark green stone, recalling

the Italian churches. Length 153 yds.; height of dome 200 ft. It

was erected in 1852-93 by Vaudoyer, Esperandieu, and Revoil,

but is still unfinished; it has cost over 16 million francs and is to

cost 6 millions more. The interior, consisting of a nave with aisles

and galleries, is very imposing. Adjacent, on the right, are relics

of the Old Cathedral of St-Lazare, on the site of a temple of

Diana (shown by sacristan; fee). In the left aisle is the fine monu-

ment of St. Lazarus, by Fr. Laurana and Thomas of Como (1481),

and to the left of the high-altar is a line Holy Sepulchre, in faience,

by Luca della Robbia.

To the S.E., in front of the old Eveche (PI. C, 3 ; now a police-

oflBce), is a bronze statue of Bishop Belsunce (1671-1755), com-

memorating his heroism during the great plague of 1720 (p. 528).

The Bassin de la Joliette (PL A, B, 2, 3), preceded by the

Avant-Port Sud, is the southernmost of the basins constructed

since 1850, and is 57 acres in area. It is here that most of the large

steamers are berthed. Farther X.. beyond the Gave Maritime

(PL C, 1, 2), are other large docks, flanked with quays and ware-

houses. It is worth while to take a walk on the Jetee, a breakwater

23/4 M. long, which has cost over 50 million francs.

From the Bassin de la Joliette the Boul. des Dames leads to

the Place d'Aix (PL D, 3). The Triumphal Arch, in the centre,

was erected in 1825-32 in memory of the Duke of Angouleme's

Adctory at the Trocadero near Cadiz (1823), but was decorated,

after 1848, with reliefs by David d'Angers and Ramey, represent-

ing the victories of Xapoleou I., and now bears the inscription:

'A la Republique. Marseille reconnaissante'.— The Rue d'Aix

descends thence to the busy C'ours Belsunce (PL E, 3, 4). To the

right, where these streets meet, the old town is pierced by the Rue

Colbert, with the Hotel des Postes (PL D, 3; 1889-91).

The Cours Belsunce, ending at the Cours St-Louis (p. 529),

where the two great arteries of the city cross each other, is prolonged

to the S.E. by the Rue de Rome (p. 532i. We turn to the left into

the Rue Noailles. No. 5 is the Imtitut Colonial (open daily,

except Mon., 9-12 and 2-5). From the end of the Rue Noailles the

BouL Dugommier. leading to the Gare St-Charles (p. 526). branches

to the left, and the Boul.'du Musee (PL F. 4), with the Lycee, the

Ecole des Beaux-Arts, and the Public Library, to the right. The

library (open daily, except Sun. and holidays, 9-12. 2 to 4 or 5, and

7 or 8 to 10; closed in Aug.) contains 120,000 vols., 1707 MSS.,

143 incunabula, aud a fine collection of Marseilles coins.
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The Rue Noailles is continued N.W. by the fine Allees de

Meilhan (PI. F, 4), which pass the Faculte des Sciences (PL F, 3)

and lead to the square in front of St-Vincent-de-Paul, with the

Monument des Mobiles des Bouclies-du-Rhone, by J. Turcan

(1894), in memory of natives of the department who fell in Algeria

in 1871. The church of St-Vincent-de-Paul (PI. F, 3), on the

site of a church of the Augustinians, erected by Reybaud and

Pougnet in the Gothic style of the 13th cent., with a handsome
facade and two towers, dominates a great part of the town. Near
it, to the left, is the Cours du Chapitre (PL F, G, 3), in line with

the Boulevard de Longchamp (PL G, H, 3, 2), ascending to the

palace, nearly 1 M. from the Rue Noailles.

The *Palais de Longchamp (PL H, 2), built in 1862-9

by Esperandieu, is a grand edifice in the Renaissance style. In

the centre is a triumphal arch, connected by Ionic colonnades with

two large side-buildings containing the museums. A bassin in front,

whence a cascade descends over steps, contains a colossal group,

by Cavelier, representing the Durance between the Vine and Wheat,
on a chariot drawn by four bulls. The friezes of the arch and of

the museums are likewise by Cavelier. Right and left are Tritons

and Genii by Lequesne. The animals at the entrance to the garden

are by Barye. The roof of the colonnades affords a superb view.

The Mtis6e des Beaux-Arts, in the building to the left, is

open daily, except Mon. and Fri., 9-12 and 2-5 in summer, 9-12

and 2-4 in winter (Oct.-March); closed 20th-30th April, 20th-31st

July, and 20th-31st October.

Ground Floor. The Central, Ctallert contains modern sculptures.
Right: 971. Allar, Hecuha and Polvdorus (bronze relief); 985. Carrier-
Belleme, Psyche. Left: 10.S6. Croi'si/, Foundation of Marseilles; 1072.

Icard, The foolish virgins: 976. Alloiiard. Heloise at tlie Paraclete;
Vignon, Daphne; 1048. E. DelapJanche, Child on a tortoise (l)ronze);

1059. Fj-ere, Oriental singer; 1097. Poitevin, Child with marhles (lironze):

1131. Ramns, First thousrhts of love. Between the windows are busts
10.54. A. Efey, Death of Hyacinthus (bronze).

Room on the Right (of the entrance). Casts. Right wall, Barthnlome,
*Model of the Monument aux Morts (Pere-Lachaise, Paris).

Room on the Left, at the end of the flallery, devoted to Pierre
Piiget (1622-94: p. 529), sculptor and painter, contains originals and copies.
Originals: 1104, 1105. Faun, unfinished painting; 1108. Louis XW. on
horseback; 1109. Salvator Mundi.

The Cakinets to the left and right contain paintings and drawings
by Puget.

First Floor.— Staircase. *Marseille8, a Grreek colony, and Mar-
seilles, Gate of the East, mural paintings by Puvis de C'havannef^ (1869).
Decorative sculptures. In front of the entrance to the galleries, 1049.
Delaplanche. II Pecoraro (bronze).

Centrai> Room. Left: 582. De Troy, The letter. Right: 184, 185.
Blain de Foiitenaii, Flowers and fruit; between them, 164. Duplessis,
Portr. of Blain; portraits by Rigaiid, Gros, Dnparc, Greuze, etc.; 583.
De Troy, Plague in 1720 (p. 528)!— 902. Sir Ant. More, Portr. of a noble;
924. J. van Ruysdael, Landscape (damaged). — 9.30. Segherfi, King David;
•^'00 (above), Van Mol, Adoration of the Shepherds; Rubens, 915. Adora-
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tion of the Shepherds, 916. Resurrection, *914. Boar-hunt (ca. 1615; ani-

mals by P. de Vos ? ; presented by Xapoleon I.) ; 909. Ponrhns the Yotinger,

Philip "William of Orange ; 868. De Crayer. Man between Virtue and Vice

;

864. Ph. de Chamnaiyne, Apotheosis of Mary Magdalene ; 943. 5o?, King
of Poland; 933. Van Veen, Paul on the way to Damascus; 932. D. Teniers,
Apes; ^&'i. Ph.de C'Tiarnpaigne, \ss\u\\-^X\on; I'M. JTaj-atta. Card. Cibo ; 753.

Tintoretto, Doge Morosini; 802. Botticelli, Madonna and Child; 841. Zur-
baran, St. Francis; *788. Penigino, Holy Family with saints; 839. Ribera,
Tavern scene; 836. Pereda (Spanish; d. 1669). Descent from the Cross.
^*361. Nattier, Duchess of Chateauroux; Jlignard, Young lady; 574.

Tocque, Comte de St-Florentin; 191. i^y'«gfo??or(:?. Allegory of Marseilles

;

124. Coypel, Intercepted letter; 582. De Troy, Reader, (jlass cases with
faience.

First Room ox the Left (of the entrance"). Modern pictures. Right,
47. Boucher, Boat-load of grass. —*430. J. F. JliUet, Mother and child

(1860); 478. Regnault, Judith and Holofernes: 628. F. Ziem, Quai St-Jean.
^78. Clement, Fred. Mistral; 75. Chaplin, The dream; 135. Daubigny,
Coast-scene at Villerville: 453 (above). P. de Chavannes. Return from the
chase (1859). — 244. Hebert. Portrait; 488. Ribot, Oboe-player; 108. Courbet,
Stag by the water; Corot, 100. Ash-tree, 99. View in the Tyrol; 627. Ziem,
Entrance to the Vieux-Port. — 968. Stevens, Ash-Wednesday. — Second
Room on the Left. 384. Oudry, Dog-Sght; drawings by Paris de Cha-
vannes: 362. Xattier.Yenus and Cupid ; 287. Largilliere, Captain of the
guard under Louis XV. ; 622. Watteau, Promenade.

Room on the Right (at the end of the gallery). Provengal School.

Right, 593. Vayson, Bulls of the Camargue. — 555. Simon, Sheep at pasture.
— 106. Coste, Morning at the new port of Marseilles; 490-494. Ricard,
Portraits; 5. Allegre, Port of Marseilles; 352. Mo/dte, Unloading wheat;
238. G/dndon. Arrival of fishermen at the Quai St-Jean. — 553. Silbert,

St. Marinus of Dalmatia; 68. Casile, Quay at Avignon. In the centre,

Foiicon, Venus leaving the bath, statuette.

The Natural History Museum, in the building to the right,

is open at the same hours as the Musee des Beaux-Arts. The rooms

and the staircase are decorated with encaustic paintings of ante-

diluvian animals, Provence scenery, etc.

Behind the palace lies a small Jardin Public, at the end of

which is the mouth of the town-aqueduct (p. 502). To the left is

a column with a bust of Lamartine. On the right is a small Zoo-
logical Garden (PI. H, I, 2; adm. free), a pretty promenade.

The Rue de Rome (PL E, F, 4-6), leading S.E. from the Cours

St-Louis (p. 529), is the main artery of the S. quarters. On the

right, to the W. of the Place de Rome, rises the Prefecture
(PL E, 6\ facing the Place St-Ferreol, a sumptuous building in

the Renaissance style (1861-7). The street terminates at the Place
Castellane, containing a monumental Fountain, by A. Allar (1911),

with a marble figure of Marseilles (26 ft. high) and figures of the

Sea, the Rhone, the Source, and the Torrent.

A little to the W. of the Place de Rome, at the beginning of the

Cours Pierre-Puget, is the pretty Fontaine Estrangin, with sculp-

tures by A. Allar. The shady Cours Pierre-Puget leads through

the fashionable quarter to the promenade of that name (p. 533).

On the right is a square with a statue (){ Berryer (1790-1868
1,

advocate and statesman.
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The Palais de Justice (PL D, 5), in the same square, is by

Martiu (1858-62). The pediment of the Ionic portico contains

reliefs representing Justice. The Salle des Pas-Perdus is adorned

with figures of Solon, Justinian, Charlemagne, and Napoleon I.

The Promenade Plerre-Puget (PL C, D, 6), laid out on one of

the reservoirs of the aqueduct (pp. 502, 532), is adorned with an

antique column bearing a bust of Puget. Higher up is a statue of

Abbe Dassy (1808-88), founder of the Blind Asylum close by.

Fine view of the harbour.

On the N. the Promenade is skirted by the Boulevard de la

Corderie (PL D-B, 5-6; tramway, see p. 527), on the N. side of

which rises the church of St-Victor (PL C, 6), a relic of a powerful

abbey founded by St. Cassianus (d. ca. 440), and several times

rebuilt, for the last time in the 13th cent., when it was fortified

with crenellated towers. The crypt (adm. on application) contains

old tombs.

To the KW. are the Pont Transbordeur (p. 529), the Fort

d'Entrecasteaux (p. 529), and on a rocky promontory the Chateau
du Pharo (PL A, 5), presented to the town by the ex-Empress
Eugenie, and now the Ecole de Medicine. Garden open to the

public. The present Phare, or lighthouse, is farther out (PL A, 4).

The best view of the city and environs is obtained from the

church of *Notre-Dame-de-la-Garde (PL D, 7 ; 530 ft.), situ-

ated on a bare and fortified hill to the S. of the Vieux-Port, and

a great landmark for sailors.

Ascenseur (PI. D, 7) from the Rue Cherchell to a point 300 yds. from
the church. (Fare up 60, down 30, return 80 c. ; on Sun., and before 9 a.m.,

40. 20, 50 c.) Tickets iucl. lift are issued on the tramways (p. 527; up 70
or 50 c, there and back 1 fr. or 70 c).— Steps ascend tho. S. end of the
Boul. Gazzino (PI. D, 6, 7).

Notre-Dame-de-la-Garde, a mediaeval sanctuary, has been re-

placed by a fine modern church in the neo-Byzantine style, designed

by Esperandieu (1864). Over the facade rises a belfry, 150 ft.

high, crowned, with a colossal statue of the Virgin. The interior,

with lateral chapels, is adorned with mosaics. On the high-altar

is a silver figure of the Virgin under a bronze-gilt canopy, above

which is a sailing-vessel in mosaic. The walls and vaulting are

covered with the votive offerings of sailors. In the crypt is a Mater
Dolorosa by Oarpeaux. The terrace affords a splendid *View of

the city, harbour, and environs. The mistral is sometimes very

trying here. ,

The Chemiii du Roucas-Blanc descends S.W. from Notre-Dame
to (40 min.) the *Cheniiii de la Corniche (PL A, 6; small PL
A-C, 1-4; tramway, see p. 527), which begins a little beyond the

F'ort d'Entrecasteaux and follows the coast, partly hewn in the rock,

to (472 M.) a point beyond the Prado (p. 534). This road, which is

shadeless and pleasant in cool weather only, affords superb *Views
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of the bay. with the islands of If, Eatonneau, and Pomegues (see

below). It passes the Anse cZes Catalans (Pl.A, 5, 6; baths, see

p. 527) and the Batterie d'Endoume (small PL A, 1), where we
may visit the aquarium of the Laboratoire de Zoologie Marine. We
next come to the old Reserve Roubion (small PI. B, 2; Palace Hotel

and Rest, de la Reserve, see p. 526), the Roucas-Blanc (small

Pl.B, C, 2; baths, seep. 527), and the Promenade du Prado (Rest.

Palace Casino de la Plage; baths, see p. 527).

The Prado (PL F, 7; small PI. E, 1-3, D, 3, 4; tramway, see

p. 527), like the Chemin de la Corniche, is a favourite walk, espe-

cially on summer evenings and on Sun. afternoons in winter. It is

a beautiful avenue, 2 M. long, leading from the Place Castellane,

at the end of the Rue de Rome, to the {^j^ M.) Rond-Point du Prado,

and thence to the right to the (1^/4 M.) coast, where it joins the

Chemin de la Corniche.

Near this, to the left, is the *Farc Borely (small PL D,4), a

well-stocked botanical garden, with fine trees and a race-course.

The Chateau Borely, built in the 18th cent., contains an im-

portant Musee d'Archeologie (open Sun. and Thurs., 2 to 4 or 6;

on other days, except on race-days, for a fee). Entrance at the back.
GrROUND Floor. Rooms I-III contain Greek and Roman sculptures

and inscriptions, several of them found at Marseilles; tomhs in the form
of temples; school-boy's tablets (Xos. 64-67); in R. II, Attic tomb-relief
(No. 96).— Rooms V-YIII. Egyptian antiquities, sarcophagi, sculptures,
inscriptions, statuettes, vases, amulets, Grseco-Egj'ptian antiquities.

First Floor. Antique glass, vases, terracottas, antiquities from
Cyprus, prehistoric relics; mediaeval and modern works of art, eccles-

iastical objects, etc. : Chinese and Indian curiosities.

Excursions. Steamer from the Vieux-Port (see p. 527) to the famous
Chateau d'lf, on the islet of that name (2 M. to the W.). The castle,

described by Dumas in his 'Monte Cristo', is a keep built in 1529, once
used as a state -prison. Its chief dungeons are shown (1 fr.). incl. those
of Mirabeau and Louis-Philippe-Egalite. Fine view of the bay. (Small
cafe.)— To the W. are the fortified islands of Ratonneau and Powegnes,
connected by an embankment; adjacent is the Port du Friot/l, where
vessels undergo quarantine. The Romans called this group of islets

'Insulse Phcenices', from an ancient Phoenician settlement. Farther away,
S.W., is the islet of Le PJanier, with a large lighthouse.

From the Boul. Dugommier (PI. E, F, 3, 4) Tramways run X.E.: to

(51/2 M.) Chdteau-Gombert, whence we may visit (2 M. ; omn. 20 c.) the large

Grotte de la Loubiere (845 ft.). — To (SVs M.) La Pose: thence omn. to

(2 M.) Les Olives, 3/4 M. from which are the stalactite Grottes Monnard
(50 c.). — To (7 M.) AUanch, with Roman walls and an old church, and
(8 M.) Le Logis-Neuf; thence an ascent of 2 hrs. to Xotre-Davxe-des-Anges
(1890 ft. ; hotel-sanatorium), at the foot of the PUon du Poi, an isolated

rock (23.S0 ft. ; ditiicult climb of V" hr. ; view).— From the Cours St-Louis
(PI. E, 4) and the Square de la Bourse (PI. D, 3, 4), S.E., to Mazargues,
with a chateau where Charles IV. of Spain was imprisoned in 1811.

—

From the Gare de Noailles (PI. E. F, 4) to Anbagne (p. 535; 40 c), via
La Pomme, St-Marcel, and St-Menet; to Camo'ins-les-Bains (p. 535; 15 c),
via St-Pierre, La Pomme, and La Yaientine.

From Marseilles to Lyons (Paris) by the PJione Valley, see R. 66: via
Aix and Grenoble, see Routes 70, 56.- To To?don. Nice, and Vevtimiglia,
see R. 72.
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From Marseilles to Air (p. 521), IS'/aM., electric tramway in 1^/4 hr.

(I1/2 or 1 fr.), hourly from the Qiiai de la Fraternite (PI. D, 4).

From Marseilles to Rognac. 17V2M., by the local iyig'??^ de VEstaqi^e,
starting from the Grare St-Charles.— 41/2 M. St-Lovis-les-Aygalades, also

on the main line (p. 503). near the prettv Vallee des Aygalades.— 7 M.
L'Estaque (Hot. Chateau-Fallet, L. 4, D. 5 fr. ; Hot. des Baius-de-Mer,
with the Eest. Mistral: Hot. de la Falaise), on the coast, a favourite sea-

bathing resort, birthplace of Pierre Puget (p. 531). Motor-omn. thence twice
daily to (IIV2 M. ; 2 fr.) Sausset (Hot. Beau-Rivage, Phion-Girard), a seaside
and winter resort, reached also by steamer from Marseilles (see p. 527).
— 171/2 M. Rognac (p. 502).

Excursions to the Sainte-Bcwme, Cassis, La C'iotat, see E. 72.

72. Prom Marseilles to Ventimlglia.
1611/, M. Eailway in 53/4-91/4 hrs. (29 fr. 30, 19 fr. 85 c. 13 fr.).— To

Toulon, 411/2 M., in 1-2 hrs. (7 fr. 50. 5 fr. 5. 3 fr. 30 c); to Cannes. 1201/2M..
in 33/4-63/4 hrs. (21 fr. 75, 14 fr. 65, 9 fr. 55 c): to Nice, 140 M., in 4-8 hrs.

(25 fr. 20 c, 17 fr., 11 fr. 10 c): to Mo7iaco, 149 M.. in 5-81/2 hrs. (26 fr. 90.

18 fr. 15, 11 fr. 85 c.) ; to 3Ientone, 154'/2 M., in 51/4-9 hrs. (27 fr. 90, 18 fr. 80,
12 fr. 25 c). - Views to the right.— Trains de luxe from Paris to the Eiviera,
via Lyons and Marseilles, see p. xiii and the Indicateur. The 'Cote-d'Azur
Express' from Paris (in winter only) reaches Nice (6751/2 M.) in 14 hrs.

(24 hrs. from London).
Steamers (far preferable to the railway on account of the splendid

views of the coast) of the Fraissinet Cie. (p. 527) on Fri. to Toulon (8 or
6 fr. : also by the Corsica boat, p. 595) and Nice (15 or 10 fr.); on Mon. to

Nice; on Wed. to Nice and Genoa (30 fr., incl. food); on Sun. to Genoa.
— Hamburg-American line, see p. 567.

The line, at first a little inland, traverses an uudulatino;

country. Notre-Danie-de-la-Garde is seen to the right.— 2^I^M.
La Blancardc, junction for the Gare du Prado (p. 526).— 4V2 M.
La Pomme, on the Huveaune.— 5^2 ^- St-Marcel.— We cross

the Canal de Marseille (p. 502).— 7^/^M. St-Menet.
To the N., 21/2 M., is Camoins-les-Balns (400 ft.: Hot. de I'Etab-

lissement), a summer resort with lime and sulphur springs (for rheumatism
and skin-diseases). Tramway to Marseilles, see p. 534. The Croix de
Garlaban (2125 ft.), 3^/^ lirs/X.E., is a splendid point of view.

107^ M. Aubagne (Buffet; Hot. du Cours; pop. 9774), in a

fertile plain, once a lake, has many potteries. Tramway to Mar-
seilles, see p. 534.

Branch-line via (6 M.) Anriol and (lOVy M.) Valdonne, with lignite
mines, to (191/2 M.) La Barque (p. 525).

From Aubagne or Auriol to the Sainte-Batme, a pleasant excursion
in^ spring or autumn. From vVubagne omn. daily (in 4 hrs.: 5 fr.) to the
Hotellerie de la Sainte-Baume ; motor-omn. in summer (6 fr.). From Auriol
omn. to (51/2 M. ; ^0 c.) St-Zacharie (Hot. du Lion-d'Or): then 8 M. by a
rough road (carr. 10-15 fr.) to tlio Hotellerie de la Sainte-Bau7ne (2135 ft.),

on the Plan-d'Aups, ^U hr. below the grotto. The E. part of the plateau is

(•lotlied with a superb *Forest, interesting to botanists and intersected
by good paths. To the E. rises a huge isolated rock, in which is the
Sainte-Baume, the grotto to which Mary Magtlalenc (p. 518) is said to
have retired to end her days. It has been converted into a chapel and
is now a pilgrim-resort, especially on Whit-Sunday, Corpus Christi, and
22nd July. Descending from the grotto, we find (5 min.) a path ascending
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to the (20-25 min.) crest of the hill and, to the right, to (10 min.) the
St-Pilon, a rock with a small chapel (3260 ft.; immense panorama; view-
indicator). Keeping to the left, we mav mount the arete to the Joug de
VAiyle (3685 ft.) and the Pointe des 'Begtdnes (3785 ft.; *View), the
culminating point of the chain, 1^/4 hr. from the hotel.

17 M. Cassis (425 ft.), statiou for the (2 M. ; onin.) small port

of that name ('Carsicis Portus'; Hot. Cendrillon, Lieutaud), with a

riiined castle. Excellent white wine.
Very noteworthy are the *Calanqiies, narrow creeks hollowed out

in the limestone rocks. From the W. end of the harbour we walk to

the (20 min.) calanque of Port-JUoit. We follow its bank, W., and cross

a small col to Port-Pin. or else go on to the ruined battery of Pointe-
Cacdn (I1/4 hr. ; *View). Farther W. is the calanque of En-Vaii, the finest

of them all (boat from Cassis, to be recommended in calm weather only,
5-7 fr. ; 3 hrs. there and back). — From Cassis we may walk to La Ciotat
in 2Vo hrs. over the (1 hr.) Pas de la CoUe. or in 3-8V2 ^rs- by a rough
path along the crest of the Baon Canaille (1305 ft.).

We pass Ceyreste, on the left, and obtain a beautifnl view of

the Golfe des Lecques to the right.— 23 M. La Ciotat-Gare.
Branch-line, via (1/9 ^-'O Ceyreste, the ancient Citharista, with ancient

remains, to (3 M.) La" Ciotat (Hot. du Commerce, de I'Univers; pop.

9975), a seaport finely situated on a bay dominated by the curious Baous
de VAlgle (510 ft.), beyond which lies "the little lie Verte. The Prome-
nade de la Tasse is prolonged by the pretty road to Les Lecques. The
great dockyards of the Messageries Maritimes are open to visitors. Sea-

bathing on the X. of the town (rest.).

271/2 ^I- St-Cyr-la-Cadiere, station for (V/^ M.; omn.) Les
Lecques (Gr.-H6t. des Lecques, Hot. de la Plage), a sea-bathing

place. To the S., 1/2 M., are a few vestiges of Tauroeis, or Tau-
roentum, destroyed by Csesar.

311/2 ^i- Bandol (Hot. des Bains, outside the town, good; Hot.

Beau-Rivage), a small port and winter resort, on a pretty bay. Im-

mortelles largely cultivated. Far off, to the right, are seen Cap
Side and the lies des Emhiers.—S6 M. Ollioules-Sanary. Olli-

oules, see p. 549. Sanary, formerly St-Nazaire (Hot. de la Tour,

St-Nazaire, des Bains; Syndicat d'Initiative; pop. 3008), is a small

sea-bathing and winter resort, 1^/4 M. to the right.

381/2 M. La Seyne-Tamaris-sur-Mer, station for Tamaris
(3 M.

; p. 549 ; omn.) and (^/^ M. ; omn.) La Seyne (Hot. de la

Mediterranee
;
pop. 22,093), a seaport, with the large dockyards of

the Societe des Forges et Chantiers, which employ 4000 hands.

Steamer from Toulon, see p. 547 ; tramway to Toulon and Les Sa-

blettes, see p, 547; omn. to Pteynier, see p. 549.— On the left are

the two forts of St-Antoine, backed by Mont Faron (p. 549).

411/2 M. Toulon (buffet
;
p. 546). We leave the coast.— 461/2M.

La Garde, with the ruined Chateau St-Michel (1583) to the left.

481/2 M. La Pauline (rest.), junction for Hyeres (p. 550). To
the left is a modern chapel, with sculptures by Pradier,— 52 M.

SoUies-Pont, centre of the cherry-culture and beautiful in early

spring. On a hill lies Sollies-Ville, wnth a church on the site of a

temple of the sun.
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A road (omn.) ascends, N.W., the pretty valley of the Gapeau to

(6 M.) Le Martinet and (8 M.) 2Uounes (Hot. Trotobas), with its interesting
fhurch. Omn. to Brignoles (p. 525). From Le Martinet a road leads
through a beautiful forest to (21/4 M.) the modern Carthusian monastery
of Montrieux-le-Jeune, abandoned in 1901. The (1 M.) ruins of the
Old Monastery (11th cent.; hot.-rest.) are reached by returning to the
bridge and then turning to the left. To the S. of the new monastery are

(8 M.) the *AigiiiUes de Valbelle, curious dolomite rocks.

61 M. Pnget-Ville, amid olives, at the foot of a hill crowued
with a 12th cent, tower.— 63 V2 M. Carnovles (buflfet; hotel), junc-

tion for Gardanne (p. 525).— 651/2 M. Pignaiis (Hot. dii Lion-d'Or).

To the right, on a peak of the Montagnes des Mauros (p. 553), is the

(274 hrs.) hermitage of Notre-Dame-des-Anges (2555 ft. ; superb

view, wath indicator). We pass through cuttings in the red sand-

stone into a fertile plain.

75 M. Le Luc et Le Cannet (Hot. Terminus, plain). Le Luc
(Hot. du Pare, de la Poste) is a small town, 2 M. to the W., in a

pretty valley. On the Toulon road is a ruined church (13th cent.)

;

on the hill, ^|^ hr. X., is the 'Pigeonnier des Masques', a castle-

ruin (view).

In the plain, S.W. of Le Luc, 2 M. from the station, lies Pio/de-les-
Eanx, with sulphur and lime springs. — Excursions to Le C'annef-d/t-Liic,
on a hill 1 M. to tlie N. of the station, with ramparts and a 12th cent,
church (view); from the station to (I8V2 M. to the S.E.; omn. 21/4 fr.)

CogoUn, passing (12 M.) La Garde-Freinet (p. 554); to (6 M. to the X.) Le
Thoronet, with its Cistercian abbey (12th cent.), 2 M. farther on; to
Entraignes (IV2-2 hrs. ; see below), via Le Cannet or from the station by
a road farther E.

%\M..Vidauhan (Hot. de Provence, Continental, L. 2i/o, D. 3 fr.),

with the chapel of Ste-Brigitte on a red sandstone rock.
The road to Lorgues (p. 521; omn. thrice daily) ascends the Argens

valley to (3 M.) Entraigves. A little beyond a natural bridge crosses
to a little cafe, with a fine view of the Cascade de VArgens (55 yds.
wide, .83-60 ft. high). Lower down, the river passes through a curious
cleft in the rock, 160 yds. long. Two natural tunnels here form the
*Perte de 1'Argens. Between them is a chiluney (with another water-
fall), which may be descended by means of steps and ladders. Below the
lower bridge are other falls; on the right bank is the ancient under-
ground chapel of St-Michel-sons-Terre.

We nov; descend the beautiful valley of the Argens, the Roman
Argenteus, and cross it near the Chdteau d'Astros, with a castle-

ruin rising above it.

841/2 M. Les Arcs (205 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Bataillier), with a

market for cattle and cocoons.
From Les Akcs to Draguignan, 8 M., railway in V'^hr. (1 fr. 45, ifr.,

65 c.).— 51/2 M. r?-««s.— 8 M. Draguignan (590 ft.; Hot. Bertift, well
spoken of, R. from 21/2, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr. ; Hot. Feraud; Svndicat d'lnitia-
tive; pop. 9974), capital of the department of the Var (comp. p. 547), lies
at the foot of the Malmont (1995 ft.) and on the Nartuby. It was founded
in the 5th cent., but was unimportant until 1797. On arrival we cross the
Place du Champ-de-Mars to the fine Boul. de I'Esplanade. Oa the right
is the theatre; to the left are the AlUes d'Azemar, with superb plane-
trees. At the end of the boulevard rises the Prefecture. To the left of the
theatre runs the Rue de la Rdpublique; No. 9 contains the Musee-Biblio-
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theque (open daily, except Mon., 2-4; entrance in the Rue du Musee).
On the lett of the Castellane road, ^U M. to the N.W., is the Pierre de
la Fee, a fine dolmen. From Draguignan to Meijrargues, see p. 521.

Fkom Dkaguignan to Castellase, 38 M., omn. daily in 9 hrs. (7 fr.).

—

The road passes through (7 M.) Le Plan de (Jhdteaiidoiible and the gorges

of the Xartuby, above which the village is picturesquely perched on the

left.— 20 M. (Jomps (3090 ft.; Hot. Bain), with a castle-ruin and a 12th

cent, church. — From (3OV2 ^I-) Pont-de-Soleils a picturesque road diverges

to the left to La Palud and Moustiers-Ste-Marie (201/2 M. ; p. 520), atfording

tine views of the imposing ^Gorges du Verdon.— i'6 M. Castellane
(2370 ft.; Hot. du Levant, du Commerce; pop. 1519), with relics of medi-
aeval ramparts, lies at the foot of a bold rock, crowned with the chapel
of Xotre-Bame-du-Eoc. Motor-omn. to Grasse, see p. 561; railway to St-

Andre-de-Meouilles (p. 580) under construction.

From Draguignan to Grasse (Xicej, 40 M., in 3-31/4 hrs. (5 fr. 35,

3 fr. 95 c), by the narrow-gauge Chemin de Fer du Sud, continuing the

line from Meyrargues (p. 521). Station (buffet) adjoining the other. Pic-

turesque scenery; extensive views on the right. — 10 M. C'allas. To the

right, on a steep hill, lies Claviers. — 131/2 M. Claviers. Fine view from
the Chapelle de Ste-Anne (2050 ft.). The line soon reaches its highest

point (1340 ft.). — 23 M. Fayence (hotel), a picturesque place to the left,

near the Chateau du Puy and the village of Tourettes. — BeyoTiA. (31 M.)
Tanneron we cross the Siagne by a *Viaduct, 250 yds. long and 235 ft.

high, grandly situated. — 40 M. Grasse (buffet). The station (875 ft.) is

half-way up the hill, S.E. side, some way from the P.L.M. station (p. 561).

At (891/2 ^i-) Le Muy (Hot. Sennet, tolerable
;
pop. 3060), to the

left, is a tower from which the Provencals in 1536 shot the Spanish

poet Garcilaso de la Vega, whom they mistook for Charles V. On
the left rises the Colle de Rouet (1840 ft.).

Excursions. To the X., 6 M., is the Pont de Pennafort, in a pic-

turesque gorge (with chapel and waterfall). — To the S. of the station we
follow the Ste-Maxime road to the Argens bridge ; then a path upstream
to the Defile, des Bagaredes (3 hrs. there and back). — Beyond the bridge,

a road to the right leads to the (35 min.) chapel of Notre-Dame-de-la-
Roquette. Near it (guide useful) are the curious 'couloirs' of St-Trou,
Four des Fees, and Jeu-de-Ballon ; at a farm (V2 br.) we rejoin the road.

We may thence ascend (1 hr.) the Trois-Croix-'de-Roquebrune (1215 ft.

;

splendid view), an isolated red-sandstone hill.

98 M. Frejus (Hot. du Midi, R. 2, L. 21/2, B. 3 fr.; Hot.-Rest.

Troin; better quarters at St-Raphael; pop. 4002), the Roman Forum
Julii, possesses interesting Roman remains.

Its former importance is shown by its old enceinte, five times as large

as the present. The harbour, now filled up by alluvial deposits, was made
by Augustus, who sent to it most of the galleys taken from Antony at

Actium (B.C. 31) and founded a colony of veterans here. Frejus was the

birthplace of the poet Cornelius Gallus (B.C. 69-26), whom Ovid counted
first among the Eoman elegiac poets, Agricola, the general (39-93), Abbe
Sieyes (1748-1836), and the song-writer Desaugiers (1772-1827).

The Arenas, an amphitheatre dating probably from before the

time of Septimius Severus (193-211), is reached in 5 min. by turning

to the left by a fountain near the station. The axes measure 125

and 90 yds., and the building held about 9100 spectators. The
pillars and part of the gallery running round under the seats are

still preserved. Behind it, to the N., is a mound, from which are

seen relics of the Roman ramparts.



to VeJitimifjUa. FREJUS. ^'^- Route. 539

The town lies to the right of the exit from the station. The Rue

de la Liberte leads to the Place du Marche, with a bust of Desau-

giers (p. 538). Straight on is the Rue Sieyes, to the left the Rue

Rationale, and to the right the Rue Grisolle. The last, continued

by the Rue Montgolfier, leads across the railway to the site of the

ancient Harbour, which was connected by canals with the sea and

with the Argens, and measured 656 by 618 yds. Adjoining it rises

the Butte St-Antoine, the old CitadeUe du Couchant, W'here a

mound 20 ft. high w^as erected on a rock to shelter the harbour

from the N.W. wind. The Butte is ^/^ M. in circuit and retains a

great part of its foundations. Three of its tov/ers are still standing,

one of which was probably used as a lighthouse.

We round the mound to its N.E. angle, whence a path, passing

under the railway, leads to the Porte Daree (d'Oree, 'of the shore').

This ancient arch, now restored, was probably part of a colonnade.

Following a lane to the right, we come to the well-shaded Place

Paul-Vernet, once washed by the sea, whence we have a fine view

of the site of the old harbour. From the S.E. angle we observe,

beyond the railway, a kind of turret called the Lanterne d'Augusta,

but too low and massive to have been a lighthouse.

The Rue Rationale (Cannes road) skirts the coast to the N. of

the Place Paul-Vernet, passing to the S. of the scanty relics of the

Ancient Theatre and a tower of the old ramparts. It then passes

the ruins of the Aqueduct, with arches 60 ft. high, which brought

water from the Siagnole, 25 M. distant (p. 562). Near the tower

a street leads to the left to an open space with a fine view. Oppo-

site this street, beyond the vineyards, we see the ancient CitadeUe

du Levant, once the easternmost defence of the harbour. The thick

walls are supported by massive buttresses.

The Rue Rationale leads back to the centre of the town. To the

left, the Rue Fleury leads to the Cathedral of Notre-Dame-et-
St-Etienne, a Romanesque building (10th-12th cent.). The bap-

tistery, to the left of the portal, has eight antique columns ; beyond

the portal are old Gothic cloisters, with arches now built up. The
door is adorned with Reuaissauce carving, of 1530 (shown by sac-

ristan, at the entrance to the cloisters, on the left; fee). In the dark

interior are wood-carvings of the 16th cent, and a good painting

of the 15th (St. Martha and the Tarasque; comp. p. 501). Pretty

view from the tower (50 c).

The Rue Sieyes leads back to the Place du Marche, pa§sing on

the left an old house with a fine doorway (17th cent.). To the N.,

in the Rue Nationale, to the left of the Hotel de Ville (where we
apply for admission), is a small Musee des Antlquites containing

a fine head of Jupiter, sculptures, terracottas, bronzes, etc.

A Roman Bridge lies 20 min. E. of the Arenes, near the railway, on
the other side. The canal which it crossed is now silted up.- To the S.,

IV4 M., by the sea, is a new naval Aerodrome.
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From Frejus to Hyeres and St-Raphael by the Ligne du Sud, see

R. 74II. — Omu. to St-Raphael, from the Place du Marche, hourly (25 c).

Our train uow crosses the site of the ancient harbour of Frejus,

affording a glimpse of the Porte Doree and the aqueduct to the left,

and passing near the Lanterne d'Auguste on the right.

1001/2 ^f- St-Raphael.— The P.L.M. and Sud stations are ad-

jacent. — Hotels. Grand-Hotel, some wav from the sea, open 15th Nov.
to 15th May, R. from 5, B. 11/2- L- 31/2, D. 5, P. from 12. omn. li/., fr.;

Hot. Beau-Itivage. by the sea, open Nov.-May, R. from 5, B. 11/2, L. 4,

D. 5 (wine extra;. P. "from 12 fr. ; Hot. Continental & des Bains, by the

sea, R. from 4 or 5, B. li/.,, L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10 or 11 fr.

;

Hermitage Hotel, Ax. des Chevresfeuilles, open Xov.-June, R. 3-5. B. 1,

L. 3, D. 31,2' P- 8-10 fr.; Hot. Terminus & des Xegociants, near the sta-

tions, well spoken of, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Touring-Hotel
& di/ Commerce, at the harbour, well spoken of, R. from 4. B. 1. L. 2Vo.

D. 3 fr. ; Hot. de Paris, 22 Boul. Felix-Martin.
Cabs. Per drive 11/2? per hour 3 fr. ; at night 21/2 or 4 fr.— Ctarage.

Corniche d' Or, Rue Grounod.— Omsibus from tbe stations to Boulouris
and Le Dramont (p. 541); from the old town to Frejus (see above).

—

Motor Omnibus in 1/4 hr. to the Valescure golf-course (see below; IV2 fr-

return).

Bank. Agence Meindionale (Cook's agent), opposite tbe new church. —
Post & Telegraph Office, Rue Gounod, near the station. — Stndicat
d'Initiative. Place Carnot. — English Tea Rooms, Boul. Felix-Martin.

Sea Baths, opposite the Hot. Continental.

—

"Warm Baths, Bains de
la Siagnole, Rue du Progres. — Chemist. Mallet.

Anglican Church fSt. John's), Av. des Lierres. to ihe E. of the main
station; services (Nov.-May) at 8.30, 10.30 and 3.

St-Eaphael (pop. 5112), a small seaport on the Golfe de

Frejus, both a sea-bathing and a winter resort, is prettih" situated.

It is well sheltered by a hill from E. winds, but is exposed to the

mistral. Napoleon I. landed here on his return from Egypt in 1799,

and embarked here for Elba in 1814. From the Place Alphonse-

Karr, in front of the station, the Rue Alphonse-Karr leads to the

harbour, passing on the right the Rue Gambetta, which leads

through the old town, with its Church, once fortified against the

pirates. To the S. of the Place Alphonse-Karr runs the Boul. Felix-

Martin, E. of Avhich lies the new town, with its villas. The boulevard

leads past the modern church of Xotre-Dame-de-la-Victoire to the

Place du Casino, with a fragment of the Roman aqueduct (p. 539).

It then skirts the sea (fine views) and ends at the monument of

Alphonse Karr (1808-90), the author, where the Boul. du Touring-

Club-de-France begins (Corniche d'Or, see p. 541).

About 2 M. to "the N. (omn. 50 c.) lies Valescure (*Grand- Hotel,

open 15th Nov. to 31st May, R. from 6, B. 11,2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 12,

omn. 1 fr., Hot. des Anglais, both first-class), charmingly situated amidst

Eine-woods, a sheltered winter resort, admirable for those who wish to

e away from the sea. It has an Anglican church (services in winter at

8.30, 10.30, and 5) and a golf-course (12 holes; motor-omn., see above)
and is frequented mainly by English visitors.

From St-Raphael to Frejus and Hyeres by the Ligne du Sud, see

R. 74II. — An unfinished boulevard leads W. to (2 M.) the mouth of the

Argens (fine views). — To the N.E. of St-Raphael is (2/4 hr.) the Vallon des
LauHers-Eoses, worth seeing, especially in June.
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From 8t-Raphael to La Napoule (Cannes) by the **Corniche
d'Or or de V EsUrel, 19V2M., far preferable to the railway, especially
hetween Agay and Theoule (12V2 M.). This tine road, vying iu beauty
with tlie (Trande-Corniche (p. 574), was completed in 1903. (Carr. dear,

bargain advisable; motor-cars and brakes, see p. 557.)— The Est^rel is

an isolated group of volcanic hills (about 12V2 hy 9^2 M.), scarcely ex-

ceeding 2000 ft. in height. They are largely clothed with forests of cork
and pine and beautiful underwood. Wild boars and foxes are fairly

numerous, but the shooting is preserved. The best map is the Carte de
VEsUrel by E. A. Martel, published by the Touring-Club de France
(1:20,000; 1903; 21/2 fr.). — The coast-road, or Corniche d'Or, passing the
picturesque rocks called the Lion de Terre and Lion de Jler in the sea,

to the right, leads to (2 M.) Boidouris (see below) and (3 M.) Le Dramont
(omn., see p. 540), with quarries of blue porphyry. We then cross a little

col. Fine view; still better from the semaphore (460 ft.), 20 min. to

the right. To the W. lies the lie d'Or, with its tower. Skirting the
pretty Bale de Camp-Loyig, we next come to (5 M.) Agay (see below),
pass twice under the railway, and continue to follow the coast.— 71/2 M.
Anth6or, or Anteore (Hot. de la Corniche-d'Or, R. from 3, B. V-U, L. 4,

D. 41/2) P- from 8 fr.), in an open situation, with a beautiful view.

—

91/2 M. Pointe du Petit-Caneiret. Splendid view of the red cliffs of Cap
Roux (p. 542) and the massive Roc de St-BaHMlemy (635 ft.), with its

cave. Then the Cirque St-Barthelemy, with the islet of that name on
the right.— IO1/2 M. Pointe de V Ohservatoire. Superb view of Cannes, the
lies de Lerins, and the Alps. — 11 M. Reserve- Hotel (see below).— 12 M.
Le Trayas station (see below). We skirt two ravines, in view of several
pretty 'calanques' (p. 536) and the narrow peninsula of the Rocher Notre-
Dame. — 15 M. Col de V Esquillon (280 ft.), where, or better 5 min. to the
right (335 ft. ; view-indicator), we enjoy a beautiful panorama.—We descend
through woods to (171/2 M.) Theoule (p. 542) and (191/2 M.) La Napoule
(p. 542). To Cannes (51/2 M. farther), see p. 542.

The Mont Vinaigre (2030 ft. ; *View), the highest peak of the Esterel,
may be ascended from St-Raphael. Road to the forester's house of (8 M.)
Le Malpey, 1 hr. from the top (belvedere tower). Descent to Agay (see
below), or N., via the forester's house of La Duchesse and the Auherge
de V Esterel, to the terminus of the Cannes tramway (p. 560).

Beyond St-Raphael the line skirts the picturesque Esterel coast.

— 1021/2 M. Boidouris-sur-Mer , or La Boulerie (Grand-Hotel,

open Oct.-June, good, R. from 4, L. 31/2. D. 4, P. from 10 fr.; Hot.

Terminus & des Pins), more sheltered than St-Raphael.— 105i/o M.
Agay (Hot. des Roches-Rouges, open Oct.-May, R. from 5, B. 172,
L. 5, D. 6, P. from 12 f r. ; Hot. d'Agay, near the station, good, P.

from 71/., fr. ; Hot. de la Plage), probably the Agathon of Ptolemy,
a small winter resort, with a sheltered little harbour. To the E.

rises the jagged Rastel cVAgay (1015 ft.; 1 hr., toilsome). Ex-
cursion to the forester's house of Le Gratadis, through the Ravin
du Pet'tus, and past the rocks of Le Plgeonnier, to the (41/2 hrs.)

Aire de V Olivier (1225 ft.), whence a path leads to {^j^ hr.) Mont
Vinaigre (see above).— We cross the Agay and obtain a line tiew
of Cap Roux to the right.

112 M. Le Trayas (Reserve -Hotel, R. 5-12, L. 5, D. 6 fr.;

Esterel-Hotel & Grand-Hotel, open 15th Nov. to 15th May, R. from 4,

L. 4, D. 5, P. from lOYg fr.), in a romantic site, a good centre for

excursions in the Esterel, charming in spring and autumn.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 35
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ExcrRSioss. To (1/2 hr.) the Col des Lent'sques (870 ft.); thence
ascend (25 min.) the Pic d'AurSle (1035 ft.; *View); to the W. of the

col descend to (1/2 hr.) the wild ravine of *Mal-Infernet, IV4 M. long.

We may descend to Le Gratadis and (3 hrs. in all) Agay (p. 541). — From

-

the col another road leads X. to the forester's hut of Trois-Ternies (995 ft.),

La Duchesse, and the Aub. de I'Esterel (4 hrs. in all; p. 541). —The road
to (V4hr.) the Col de VEveque (540 ft.), diverging to the left from that

to the Col des Lentisques, is in part the Eoman Via Aureliana (to which
a path ascends direct from the Reserve-Hotel); it then descends to Agay
(21/2 hrs. in all). — From the Col de I'Eveque, or the Corniche road (5 min.
S. of the Reserve-Hotel), paths ascend through great 'clapiers' (broken
rocks) to the **Grand-Pic du. Cap Boux (1485 ft. ; about 2 hrs. from
the station), which commands the most superb view in the Esterel, em-
bracing the coast from St-Tropez to Bordighera, the Alpes Maritimes, and
even Corsica. (Small view-indicator.)

115 M. Theoule (Grand-Hotel, R. 3-5, P. from 8 fr.; Hot.-Rest.

des Roches-Roses), a finely situated winter resort and bathing-

place. View of Cannes, the lies de Lerins, and the Alps. Corniche

d'Or, see p. 541.

1151/2 M. La Napoule (Golf-Hotel, R. 3-4, P. 7-9 fr.; Hot. de

l'Esterel,''Pens. Bel-Air, P. at both from 6 fr.), backed by the hill

of St-Peyre (430 ft.; with ruined chapel; fine view). Excursions

to the Trois-Termes (see above) and (31/2 hrs.) Aub. de I'Esterel,

and to (41/4 hrs.) Mont Yinaigre (p. 541).—We cross the Miou and

the Siagne.— II872 ^I- La Bocca, junction for Grasse (p. 561).

Tramway to Cannes, see p. 557. To the left is the English quarter.

120^/2 M. Cannes (p. 555). The train then returns to the coast.

I241/.2 M. Golfe-Juaji-Vallattris, where a column recalls the

return of Napoleon I. from Elba in 1815. Golfe-Juan (Riviera

Hotel & Gr.-H6t. de la Plage; Hot. Central, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. du

Globe) is a small winter resort. Tramways to Cannes, Antibes,

and Yallauris, see p. 557. Vallauris (hotels; pop. 8030; carr. from

Cannes 12-18 fr.), ^/^ hr. N.W., is noted for its artistic pottery.

126 M. Juan-les-Pins (Graziella-H6tel, R. 4-5, L. 31/2, D.

41/2, P- 8-14 fr.; Grand-Hotel, P. from lO^/gfr.; Hot. Alexandra,

P. 8-12 fr.: Hot. Windsor, de la Pinede. de la Regence; Casino;

Syndicat d'Initiative), a winter resort and bathing-place, partly pro-

tected by the Cap d'Antibes from E. winds. Anglican church service.

1271/2 M. Antibes. —Hotels. *Grand-H6f^l du Cap (p. 543), open
15th Oct. to 15th June, R. from 5, B. ly^^ L- 5, D. 6V2 (wine extra),

P. from 12 fr.

—

*Gra?id-Hotel, Place Mace, closed in summer, R. from 5,

B. 11/2. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. Cosmopolitain,
Place Mace; Hot. National & a'Alsace. 44 Rue de la Republique; Hot.
des Jigles-d'Or, Rue Thuret, R. from 2i/m, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. 71/2 fr.

;

Hct. lermintis. near the station, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D- 3 fr.

Gabs. Per drive 1, outside the town IV2 fr- ; with two horses IV2 or

21/2 fr.; per hour 2 or 3 fr., at night 50 c. more. To the Cap d'Antibes,

4-5V2 fr. there and back.

Electric Tramway to Cannes, see p. 557; to Nice, in IV2 hr., every
two hours from the Place Mace; to the Ca]y a^Antihes, hourly from the
station and the Place Mace, in 20 min. (30 or 20 c).



to Ventimiglia. CAGNES. 72. Route. 543
Map, p. 541.

Post & Telegraph Office, Place Rationale. — Casino Municipal, at

the Grand-Hotel; adra. IVi-S fr. — Syndicat d'Initiative, Place Mace.
Anglican Church Services at the Grand-Hotel (Nov. -May ; 10. .SO and 3)

and at the Grand-Hdtel du Cap (Feb.-April; 10.30 and 3).

Antibes (pop. 12,198), the ancient AntipoUs, a small seaport

and a health-resort, is splendidly situated, but not quite sheltered

from E. winds. On the N". side of the bay rises Fort Beille, or

Fort Carre, built by Vauban. On this side also we have a superb

*View towards Nice. The town is dominated by the great square

tower of the church. The column in the Place Rationale, recalls

the repulse of the Austrian-Sardinian attack in 1815. The harbour

is protected by a pier 510 yds. long, built by Vauban.

The way from the station to the Cap d'Antibes is to the right,

by the Boul. du Cap, which crosses the site of the old fortifications,

a stony plateau, now partly occupied by the Place Mace.
The Cap d'Antibes, or Cap de la Garoupe, is a peninsula, 21/2 M.

long, between the bays of Juan and Nice, with a hotel and a colony of

villas. Its extremity is about I1/4 hr. from Antibes (tramway or carr.,

see p. 542; motor-car 8 fr.). On the right, as we near the halt of Les
Nielles, is the beautiful *Garden of the Villa Thnret, now state pro-
perty, open on Tues. and Fri. (8-6). From Les Nielles we may ascend the
Boul. Notre-Dame, to the left, to the top of the Garoupe (245 ft.), with
a chapel, lighthouse, semaphore, and restaurant. Splendid *View. Farther
on, at a tramway-halt, the main road forks: to the left to the *Villa
Eilenroc, with a beautiful garden (temporarily inaccessible) ; to the right

to the Grand-Hotel du Cap (p. 542; garden open to the public; view),
the tramway-terminus. To the W. of the hotel a boulevard leads X.,
along the Golfe Juan, to (3/4 hr.) Jitan-les-Pins (p. 542). — From the bifur-

cation mentioned above a narrow road leads N.E. to the *Baie de la

Garoupe. from the N. end of which a pretty road runs N. to (1 hr.)

Antibes.

Beyond Antibes the scenery is tame, but there is a fine view

to the right. To the left is an aerodrome. We cross the Brague
and the Loup, and leave the coast.— 1321/0 M. Cagnes (Hot.

Savournin, R. 2-4, P. TVo-S fr-; Hot. des Colonies, P. 5-7 fr.; Hot.

de rUnivers, at the station; pop. 5044), a winter resort, has a fine

old castle of the Grimaldis, containing a 17th cent, ceiling-painting

(Fall of Phaethon).
Villeneuve-Loubet (Hot. Beau-Site, dix Loup), IV2 M. on the way to

Grasse (electric railway, see below), has a fine 13th cent, chateau.
Pleasant walk from Cagnes to (3/4 hr.) the mouth of the Lozip (near

the Nice golf-course).— Omn. in summer to (41/0 M.) St-Donat (hotel, with
sliady grounds).— Electric tramway to Xice, see p. 567.

From Cagnes to Yence, 6 M., electric railway in 50 min. (85 or 65 c),
starting from the Gare de Cagnes-Sud-France, a little W. of the main
station, on the Antibes road. — To the right are the peaks of the Alpes
Maritimes, to the left the Chateau de Villeneuve.— IV4 M. Villeneuve-
Jonction, where the Grasse line diverges. — 31/2 M. La Coile (hotel).—
5 M. St-Paid-du-Var (580 ft.), a village on a hill to the right, with an
interesting church and well-preserved 16th cent, ramparts.—We cross the
gorge of the Malran by a lofty viaduct. — 6 M. Vence (p. 577).

From Cagnes to Grasse, 13V.> M., electric railway in 1 hr. 20 min.
(2 fr. 10, I fr. 40 c). — To Villeneuve-Jonction. see al)ove. — 2 M. Ville-

neiive-Loubet (see above). AVc cross tlie Loup and ascend the lonely

35^
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valley of the r Mc.—^^k M. St-Peire (1285 ft.). To the right are the
mountains beyo..d the Loup valley, to the left Chdteauneuf-de-Grasse
and the sea.— IOV2 M. C'hdteauneuf-Pre-du-Lac (1355 ft.), with a fine view
of the Loup valley. Thence to Grasse, see p. 577.

135 M. St-Laurent-du-Var, on the left. We now cross the

Va7', the frontier clown to the annexation of the County of Nice in

1860. To the right is the Nice race-course.— 136 M. Le Var.

140 M. Nice (buffet, L. 3, D. 4 fr.; p. 563). To Mentone by
tramw\iy (preferable to the railway), see p. 575.

The train passes under the Cimiez hill and crosses the Paillon.
— 141 M. Xice-jRiquie)^ (p. 563V Tunnel under the Montalban.

142i/\, M. Villefranche-sur-Mer (Hot.-Rest. de la Reserve,

well spoken of, Hot. de I'Univers, both on the quay; Rest, de la

Regence; pop. 4741), a naval station, sheltered by the w^ooded hills

of the peninsula of St-Jean and of Moutboron, has a famous road-

stead (1^/4 by iVi^I-; •260 ft. deep). To the S., beyond the bar-

racks, is the Russian Lahoratoire Zoologique, with an aquarium
(open Tues., Thurs., and Sat. 2-4; 1 fr.).

Tramw^ay to Xice, see p. 576. —Road to the Col des Quatre-Chemins
(p. 575: 1 hr. by short-cuts). —We may row to the bay oi Passable {15 c,
2 pers. 1 fr.\ where king Leopold 11. of Belgium had a villa, and walk
to St-Jean (20 min. E.).— From Villefranche station a path leads along the
shore, E., to the Pont St-Jean (p. 545).

144 M. Beaulieu. — See Inset-Plan opposite. — Hotels. *Hdt.
Bristol (PI. a), with rest, and park, English. R. 6-25. B. 2, L. 6, D. 8,

P. 18-30, omn. li/a fr. ; *H6t. Metropole (PI. b\ in an open site by the
sea, with rest, and garden. R. from 8, B. li/.j" L- 5. D. 6, P. fioni 18 fr.

;

"^Meyer's Victoria Hotel (PI. c\ R. from 5, B. li/., L. 4. D. 6 (wine extra),

P. from 12 fr.; *E6t. Royal (PI. d^. with rest., Clerman-R. from 5. B. li/«,

L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; *Empres>i Hotel (PI. e). R. from 4, B. li/«. L-
.31/2, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. des Anglais (PI. f). German, R. from 4,

B. 11/.., L. 31/2-4. D. 5-6, P. from 10 fr. ; Hermitage Hotel, Av. Melba,
R. 4-12, B. IV2, L- 4, D. 5, P. 8-15 fr. : Hot. Beaulieu (PI. g): Bond's
Hotel (PI. i), English. — Plainer: Rougefs Hotel Beausf'jour. 35 Boul.
Felix-Faure, R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 2i/., D. 3, P. from 7 fr. — At St-Jean-
Cap-Ferrat (p. 545): *Grand-Hdtel du C'ajy-Ferrat, at the S. end, R. from 10,

B. 11/2- L. 6. D. 7 (wine extra), P. from 18 fr. ; *Pano)-ama Palace, to

the X., R. from 5, B. IV2. L. 5, D. 6, P. from 15 fr.; Hot. Suisse, higher
up; Hot. du Pare St-Jean, near St-Hospice, open the whole year, R. 4-6,

B. 11/4, L. 31/2, D- 4, P. from 8 fr. : Hot.-Feus. Mont-Fleuri (PI. 1), near
tlie Pont St-Jean, well spoken of, P. from 8 fr.

Pessioxs. Pens. deLondres, Boul. Frauco-Russe. P. from 8 fr. ; Frisia,
near the quay, German, P. 8-12 fr. ; Villa Riva-Bella, near the Pont St-

Jean. P. 7-10 fr.

—

Villas to let; apply to Kurz. opposite the station.

Restai'raxts at the hotels ; Rest, de la Reserve, by the sea, first-class.

Post & Telegraph Office, near the Jardin Public.— Bank. Credit
Lyonnais, corner of the Av. de la Gare and Boul. Marinoni.

Cabs. With one horse, per drive 1, with two horses 1^ .>. at night I1/2

and 21/2 fr.
;
per hour 21/2 and 31/2, at night 3 and 4 fr. Tariff for excur-

sions ; by the new boulevard to Villefranche 8-10, to St-Hospice 6-8,
drive round the Cap Ferrat 8-10 fr. — Garages. Jtleunier, 57 Boul. Felix-

Faure; Fonta'nir, Impasse Tiranty.— Rowixcx Boats. First hour 3 fr.,

then 3/4 fr. per hour.- Tramway to Nice and Monte Carlo, see p. 576.

Physicl\n, Dr. .Tohnston-Lavis, VillaLavis, Boul. Marinoni.— Cheotst,
Grosgurin.
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Anglican Church (St. MichaeVs) ; services (Nov.-May) at 8.30, 10.45,

and 3 ; chaplain, Rev. B. P. Bouverie.

Bemdieu-sur-Met^ (pop. 1863), another great Aviuter resort,

much frequented by Englisli visitors, is finely situated at the foot

of rocky hills, on a broad bay bounded on the S.W. by the peninsula

of St-Jean. It is well sheltered from the mistral, but not from E.

winds. Mean Avinter temperature 50°. To the N. of the station is

the pretty Jardin Public, with a band-stand. The road following

the tramway to the right descends to the little harbour.

The beautiful *Boulevard Franco-Eusse ascends to the right from the
Jardin Public to the Moijenne-L'orniche road, now being constructed, and
the Col des Quatre-Chemins (p. 575): or we may ascend to it direct in

1 hr. by a path through the Vallon de la Muvtha. Another path, steep
and stony, ascends to the Grande-Corniche (p. 574) past the chapel of

St-Michel, near which is the Villa Olivula, with relics of a late-Roman
village (adm. 50 c).

The Tramway to St-Jean (35 c.) follows a fine new road, branching
from the Yillefranche road at tlie Pont St-Jean. Or we may walk to

(25 min.) St-Jean by the charming Promenade Maurice-Rouvier, skirting
the sea.— St-Jean-Cap-Ferrat (hotels, see p. 544) a small seaport, is

in great favour as a winter residence. To the E. of the harbour projects
the little peninsula of St-Huspice, where charming roads lead to (20 min.)
a 16th cent, tower, on which a huge statue of the Virgin (now placed
inside it) is to be set up. — The large peninsula of Cap Ferrat is intersected
by beautiful avenues affording superb views. Visitors are not admitted
to the fort at the top (440 ft.); but they may ascend by a path to a height
a little to the S., where the view is splendid. At the S. point of the cape
is a lighthouse. On the N.W. slope, 20 min. from St-Jean, is a d«5pendance
of the Jardin d' Acclimatation of Paris, with a monument to King Leopold II.

of Belgium (d. 1909), the former owner of the estate farther N.

145Y2 ^- Eze-sur-Mer (Hot. du Littoral, Terminus), in a shel-

tered bay. Steep ascent to the village, I72 hr. (p. 575).

1471/2 M. Cap-d'Ail-la- TurUe (*Eden Hotel, 3 min. above the

station, with terrace and garden, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, wine
extra, P. from 14 fr.; Radium Hotel, more E., R. from 6, P. from
12 fr.), of late years a frequented resort, in a sheltered site. From
the road ascending to the tramway station (p. 576) a fine boulevard,

bordered with villas, descends towards the sea, and then ascends

to the Eden Hotel. Farther E. is the Cap d'All. A road opposite

the Eden Hotel ascends in zigzags to La Turbie (p. 589) ; or we
may mount thither direct in l^/, hr. by a stony path.

Nearing Monaco, we have a fine view, to the right, of the rock

on which it stands. To the left is the cemetery.

149 M. Monaco (p. 584). Then a viaduct, with a fine view of

the town. Below, to the right, lies La Condamine ; to the left are

the Vallon des Gaumates (p. 585) and the La Turbie railway (p. 589).

15072 M. Monte Carlo (p. 586). To the right next appears
the Cap Martin, with its hotel; far off lies Bordighera, in Italy;

looking back, we see Monte Carlo, Monaco, the Tete de Chieu

(p. 589), and the hotel and tower of La Turbie on the hill. —
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1521/2 M. Cabhe-Boquebrune (pp. 575, 576). Tuunel under tiie

Cap Martin.

1541/2 ^I- Mentone (p. 589). The town lies to the right;

we pass under it by a tunnel.— 156 M. Menton-Garavan (p. 589).

The Torrent de St-Louis (p. 593), farther on, marks the frontier.

161V2M. Ventimiglia, Fr. Vintimille (Buffet, L. 3, D. 4fr.;

Hot. des Yoyageurs, R. from 2^/2 fr. ; Hot. Suisse & Terminus,

R. 21/2-31/2 fr.; Hot. de la Maison-Doree
;
pop. 3500), near the fron-

tier, the Roman Albium Intemelium, consists of the industrial new
town, between the station and the sea, and the picturesque old town
on a hill W. of the Roia. The Municipio, in the old town, contains

a small collection of Roman antiquities. The Cathedral, and the

small Romanesque church of San Michele (11th cent.), which has

columns with Roman inscriptions, are interesting. To the W.
(10 miu.) rises the picturesque Porta Canarda. —Ahoxe the old

town (20 min.) rises the ruined Genoese fortress of Sa7i Paolo
(535 ft.; view). Another fine point is the (1 hr.) ruined Castello

d'Appio (1130 ft.; see Plan, p. 589, G, 1). Central European time

is 1 hr. in advance of French time.
Motor Omsibus (in 2-3 his.: 5 fr. ; railway under construction) up

the *VaUei/ of the Roia to (16 M.) Breil and (30 M.) Tenda (p. 584).

Details, see Baedeker's Northern Italy.

Railway from Ventimiglia to (94 M.) Genoa via (3 M.) Bordiyhera,
(10 M.) San Remo, etc., see Baedeker's Northern Italy.

73. Toulon.
Stations. Gare dii F.-L.-M. (PI. E, 1; buffet, B. I1/2, L. 3, D. 4 fr.),

N. of the new town; Gare du Slid (PI. F, 5), near the Porte Neuve, S.E,,

for the Ligue du Sud.
Hotels. Grand-Hotel {F\. a; E, 2), Place de la Liberte. not far from

the station, R. from 4, B. li/.>, L. 4, D. 5 fr.; Hot. Victoria (PI. b; E,

r, 3), 27 Boul. de Strasbourg, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 fr.; Hot. du
Lotivre (PI. d; E, 3), 11 Rue Oorneille, R. from 2i/.., B. 1, L. 2V2, D. 3 fr.

;

Hot. de la Faix (PI. c; E, 3), 12 Place d'Amies, 'B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3 fr.

;

Hot. du Dauphinp (PI. g; E, 3), Rue des Trois-Dauphins, R. from 21/2 fr-;

Hot. de la Regence (PI. f; E, 2), Rue Rationale; Hot. du Nord (PI. e;

E, 3), 7 Place Puget; Hot. du Port (PI. h; D, 3), Quai de Cronstadt: Hot.
Terminus, opposite the main station, plain, R. from 2 fr.— Modern Hotel
(meubl^; PI. i. E 2), Av. Colbert, .corner of the Boul. de Strasbourg, R.
from 23/4 fr.

Cafes-Restaukaxts. Rest, des Neyociants, at the Hot. du Port, L. 2i/2>

D. 3 fr.; Brass, de la Rotonde, Brass, de 2Iunich, Grand-Cafe & Tav.
Alsacienne, 27. 44, and 15 Boul. de Strasbourg; Rest. Poesy, Place Puget.

Cabs. Per drive, 2 pers. IV4 fr., 4 pers. I1/2 fr-, at night (10-6) 1»/., or

2 fr.; per hour l^/^ or 2 fr., at night 21/2 or 3 fr. ; trunk 20 c.

Electric Tramways (10-30 c). 1. From La Valette, S.E. of Mont
Faron (p. 549; see inset-map), via the suburb of St-Jean-dn-Var {heyond.

PI. F, 3), Boul. de Strasbourg, and the suburb of Le Las, to Ollioules

(beyond PI. B, 1; p. 549). — 2. From the Gare du P.-L.-M. (PI. E, 1), via

the Av. Vauban, then skirting the Place d'Armes and the commercial
harbour, to Le Monrillon (p. 548), and via the Boul. du Littoral to the

Bains Ste-Helene (PI. F, 8). —3. From the Sous-Prefecture (PI. 11; E, 2)
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to tlie Cap Brun (beyond PI. F, 3; p. 549).— 4. From the Porte Notre-Dame
(PI. F, 3) to the FaubQurg St-Roch and the C'hemin dn Pet t-Bois (bevond
PI. C, 1). — 5. From the Porte Notre-Dame (PI. F, 3) to Les Sahlettes

(p. 549), via La Sei/ne (beyond PI. B, 1; p. 536). — From the Gare du
P.-L.-M. (PI. E, 1) to Hijeres (beyond PI. F, 3). see p. 550.

Steamboats. To La Seyne (p. 536), everv half- hour from the Quai
de Cronstadt (PI. D. E, 4), in 15 min. (15 or"lO c.).— To Tamaris, Les
Sablettes, and St-Mandrier (p. 549), from the same quay, hourly, in 18-

35 min. (15-25 c). — To the lies d'' Hyeres (p. 553), usually Tues., Thurs.,
and Sat., in 2-8 hrs. (to Porquerolles 21/2 or IVj, to Port-Cros 3 or 2 fr.).—
To Nice and Marseilles, see p. 535. — To Corsica- (Calvi or L'lle-Rousse),
see p. 595. — Small Boats, about 21/2 fr- per hour (bargain necessary).

Post & Telegraph Office (PL E, 2, 3), Rue Hippoiyte-Duprat, corner
of the Rue Henri-Pastonreau.

Casino (PI. E, 2), Boul. de Strasbourg.

—

Warm Baths, 13 Rue de
r Arsenal; 29 Rue Picot; 14 Rue Chevalier-Paul. — Sea Baths. Bains Ste-

Helene (80 c.), at Le Mourillon (PI. F, 8; p. 548; tramway No. 2, p. 546).

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, 3 Rue Racine; Societe Generale, 14 Place
d'Armes; ComjJtoir a'Escompte, 21 Boul. de Strasbourg.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 17 Rue de I'Arsenal.
British Vice-Conscl, P. Wilkiyison, 72 Boul. Grignan. Le Mourillon

(office-hours 10-12 and 2-4). — American Consular Agent, F. M. Mansfield,
Modern Hotel (10-12 and 2-4).

Toulon (pop. 104.582), a fortress of the first class, and the

chief iiaval station in France, is finely situated on a sheltered bay,

at the foot of Mont Faron (p. 549), and is enclosed by hills studded

with detached forts.

Toulon, the Greek Telonion and the Roman Telo Martins, is said to

have been founded by the Phoenicians, but its importance is entirely modern.
It was twice taken by Charles V. (1524 and 1536j; but having been fortified

by Henri IV., and also by Vauban under Louis XIV., it repelled the
attacks of the fleets of England and Holland and the army of Prince Eugene
in 1707. In 1793 it was given up by the Royalists to the British under
Admiral Hood, with their Spanish and Neapolitan allies. These were,
however, driven out after a six weeks' siege, at which Bonaparte, then
an artillery officer, first distinguished himself. Terrible reprisals followed.
The victors treated the citizens with great cruelty and transferred the
capital of the Var department to Grasse and then to Draguignan.

The Gare du P.-L.-M. (PI. E, 1) faces Place Vauban, with its

war monument. The Av. Vauban leads thence to the Boulevard de

Strasbourg (PL D-F, 1-3), which intersects the town from E. to

W. To the left of this boulevard is the Place de la Liberie

(PL E, 2), with a fountain in honour of the Revolution, by A. Allar

(1890).— The Theatre (PL E, 3), to the right, farther on, is

modern. To the S. lies the small Place Puyet (PL E, 3), with a

pretty fountain of 1780. The harbour is reached hence bv the Rue
d'Alger (p. 548).

To the S.E. runs the Cours Lafayette (PL F, E, 3, 4), to the

right of which the Rue Traverse -Cathedrale leads to Ste-Marie-
Majeure (PL E, 3, 4), formerly the cathedral, a Romanesque
edifice of the llth-12th cent., with a facade added in the 17th,

when the church was enlarged, and a belfry of the 18th.
Interior. The chapel to the right of the choir contains a reredos,

by pupils of Piiget (the two angels with censers, by Veyrier, 1682, are

noteworthy). To the left, under glass, is an Entombment of the Virgin,
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by Yerdiguier. In a niche over the chapel to the left of the choir is a gilded

Virgin, with angels, attr. to Ptiget; to the left, outside, is an Assumption
by P. Mignard. Massive pulpit by Huhac, of Toulon.

Xear the S. end of the Cours Lafayette is the Place Louis-Blanc,

with the church of St-Jean, or St-Francois-de-Pmde (PL E, 4

;

18th cent.). A little S.E. is the Porte Neuve (PL F, 5), near which

is the Gare du Sud (p. 546). Farther S. lies the large suburb of

Le Mourillon (tramway No. 2, p. 546). The tramway rounds this

suburb and then follows the fine Boulevard du Littoral, passing

the Bains Ste-Helene (PL F, 8; p. 547) and the Jardin des Plantes
(open in the afternoon; on Sun. all day). Footpath to the Port-

Mejan, see p. 549.

The Harbour has five basins. The Vieille Darse, to the E.,

the oldest, is now used chiefly for the supply of materials for the

fleet; the others, except the small Port Marchand, are reserved

for ships of war.
To the S. of these basins are the spacious and sheltered roadsteads, the

Petite and the Grmide Rode, connected by a broad strait between the
Pointe Pipady and the Fort de VAiguHlette, and protected by a Jetee

3/4 M. long. It was the capture of tliis fort that compelled the British to

beat a retreat in 1793. Farther off are Fort Balagmer and Fort Napo-
leon CPetit Gibraltar'), which also played their part in 1793. The Grande
Rade is bounded on the S., about 3 M. from Toulon, by the Cap C'epet.

jutting out E. from the peninsula of the Cap-Side (p. 549).

The Hotel de Ville ^Pl. 8; E, 4), in the Carre du Port, a

square in the centre of the handsome Quai de Cronstadt, has two

fine Atlaiites by Puget (1656-7). To the right is a double statue

of Janus and Jupiter, by Hubac. In front rises a colossal bronze

figure of the Genius of Navigation, by Daumas. A little N.W.
is the Rue d'Algei', the busiest street of old Toulon. Near it, to

the left, in the Place Gambetta, is the church of St-Piei^re (PL 6;

E, 3), with a pulpit and statues by Hubac.

At the AV. end of the quay is the Arsenal Maritime (PL A-D,
1-4; no adm. for foreigners), with its workshops, stores, and docks.

The gateway in the Kue de I'Arsenal (1738), recently restored, is

adorned with four marble monolith columns and statues of Mars
and Bellona. The naval harbour comprises three large basins, the

Darse Neuve or Vauhan, the Darse de Castigneau, and the Darse
Missiessy. The last-named was the scene of the terrible disasters

to ironclads in 1907 and 1911.

The Place d'Amies (PL D, E, 2, 3), with its fine plane-trees,

is the chief square of Toulon. On the W. is the Prefecture Mari-
time (PL 10), built in 1786-8. The Kue Courbet leads thence to

the Place St-Eoch (PL D, 2), whence the Av. Lazare-Carnot leads

to the pleasant Jardin de la Ville (PL D, 1. 2), at the W. end of

the Boul. de Strasbourg (p. 547). In the grounds are a church-door-

way (17th cent.), now framing a fountain. Behind the garden, to

the N., is the Hojntal Civil.
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The Musee-Biblioth^que (PI. D, 2), E. of the garden, is a

handsome building by G. AUar (1883-7). It is open daily, except

Sat. and Mon., 2-5 (in winter 1-4; to strangers at any time). On
the ground-tloor are sculptures by Puget and modern artists, on the

upper tloor a picture-gallery, vrith examples of Boucher, Largilliere.

L. David, Giraud, Protais, Feyeu-Perrin, J. P. Laurens, Carriere,

etc. The Library (55,000 vols.) also is on the upper floor.

The adjacent Boul. de Strasbourg leads to the end of the Av.

Vauban and then to the Place de la Liberie (p. 547).
From Toulon to MarseiUes, Nice, etc., see K. 72; to Hyeres and St-

Raphael, see E. 74.

Excursions. — To Tamaris, Les Sablettes, akd St-Mandbier, on
the peninsulas of Cap-Sicie and Cap-Cepet (p. 548). Steamer, see p. 547;
tramway (less attractive), No. 5, see p. 547. The steamer touches at (1/4 hr.)

Le Mantean, prettily situated, with the fine villa of Michel Pasha, direc-

tor of Turkish lighthouses and quays, and creator of Tamaris and Les
Sablettes.— Tamaris (Gr.-H6t. de Tamaris), so named from the tamarisks
fringing the shore, is a small winter resort, sheltered from the mistral,
but exposed to the E. Station, see p. 536. To the S. is Yalmer, with a

biological laboratory of Lyons University.— Les Sablettes (Grand-Hotel,
with ddpendance Hot. de la Plage) is a bathing-resort, delightfully situated
on the isthmus uniting the two peninsulas. Fine beach to the S., with
view of the 'Deux-Freres' reefs. —St-Mandrier (two small hot.-rest.)
consists mainly of a seamen's hospital, amidst pine and eucalyptus woods,
and adjoined by a beautiful botanical garden. Fine view from the road
to the S.E., above the cemetery.

To THE Cap Brun (*View), to the E. (tramway No. 3, p. 547), pass-
ing the Fort de hi 31algue (now a military prison). From the Port-
Mejan, E. of the cape, a path leads along the picturesque coast to Le
Mourillon (p. 548).

To THE Cap Sicie, 3/4 day, delightful in calm weather. Steamer to La
Seyne, see p. 547. Then by omn. (8 times daily) to (21/2 M.) Reynier
(Cafe des Arts). We next follow a cart-track, to the left of the church, and
(10 min.) turn to the left to the hamlet of JouyJas. Beyond it the road
ascends past a rifle-range to a ridge, which it follows to the pilgrimage-
chapel of Notre-Dame-de-la-Garde (1180 ft. ; 21/4 hrs. from Reynier).
Superb *Panorama; almost at our feet is the sea, and we survey the road-
stead of Toulon and the coast, from the lies d'Hyeres to Marseilles,
backed by the Alpes Maritimes. From the SemapJiore, 10 min. E., a narrow
path descends N.E., between two forts, to the Anse de Baoii-Rouge (2/4 hr.

;

small inn), whence the 'Chemin de Fabregas' leads in a/^ hr. to Les Sablettes
(see above).

From Reynier we may walk or drive to (1 hr.) Six-Fours, a decayed
little town on an isolate'd hill (700 ft.) to the N., once the site of 'six
forts'. The church (lOth and 17th cent.; key at the cure's, below) con-
tains a polyptych by Jean Cordonnier (1520), a Virgin in marble by Puget (?),
and other works of art. Fine view.

Mo7it Faron (1835 ft.), a hill to the N., is ascended by a road, but the
extensive view from it is marred by the forts.— From La Valette (tram-
way No. 1, p. 546) a road ascends the Condon. (2305 ft.: 2-3 hrs.), crowned
with a fort, from the S. and E. sides of which we have fine views.
Descent to (2 hrs.) Sollies-Pont (p. 536).

OUioules (Hot. Carbonnel; pop. 4201), 2 M. from the station (p. 536),
is reached also by tramway No. 1 (every half-hour; p. 546). It lies in a

pretty valley, dominated by a ruin (13th cent.). The Marseilles road
leads thence to (3 V4 M. ; carr. 6 fr.) Ste-Anne-d' Evenos, through the wild
Gorges d' OlliouJes, on tlie N.E. side of which is perched the village of
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Eveiios (cafe), with a modern fort and an old feudal castle on a basaltic

hill (1310 ft. : view). On the left, as we near Ste-Anne, are the curious
rocks called the Gres de Ste-Anne.

To the Chartreuse de Montrieux, see pp. 536, 537.

74. From Toulon to Hyeres and
St-Raphael.

I. From Toulon to Hyeres.
a. Bt the P.L.M. Railway, 13 M., in 1/2 br. (2 fr. 35, 1 fr, 60, 1 fr. 5 c).

Circular tickets, see p. 553.

Toulon, see p. 546. We leave the Nice line at (7 M.) La
Pauline (p. 536).— S^/., M. La Crau. To the right are the Mont
du Paradis (985 ft.) and the 2Iont des Oiseaux (p. 552) ; to the

left, the Maurettes (p. 552), S. of which lies Hyeres.

b. By the Ligne du Sud, narrow-gauge, 141/2 M. in 40-70 min. (1 fr. 80,
1 fr. 30 c), joining the St-Raphael line at Hyeres.

The train starts from the Gare du Sud (p. 546) and intersects

the suburb of St-Jean-dii-Var (l^/^ M. ; tramway, see p. 546).

—

8^2 ^I- Carqueiranne, at the foot of Mont du Paradis.— 10\/.2 M.
San Salvadour-Mont-des-Oiseaux (p. 552).— 11 M. UAlma-
narre (p. 552), where we leave the coast.— 12^/, M. Costebelle

(
p . 55 2) .

— 141 /o M. Hydres - Ville.

c. Bt the Electric Tramway, 12Vo M., in 1 hr. 20 min. (75 c), un-
interesting, leaving the P.L.M. station half-hourly, and going via St-Jean-
du-Var, La Pauline, and La Garde to the Av. Alphonse-Denis.

Hyeres.— Stations. The Gare du P.-L.-M. and the adjoining Gare
du Sud are 1/4 hr. S. of the centre of the town. Omn. 15 c, cab 1 fr.

The latter station is for passengers changing from one line to the other.

The chief station of the Ligne du Sud is at Hyeres-ViUe, E. of the town,
near the Grand-Casino. Hotel-omn. here also.

Hotels (open during the winter only if not otherwise stated). *Xonvel-
Hotel des Iles-d' Or & Grand-Hotel, near the W. end of the Av. des Iles-

d'Or, R. from 4. B. Vj.., L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10, omn. 1 fr. ; *H6t. Con-
tinental, Boul. Marie-Louise, with large garden, R. from i^j.,, B. I1/2, L. 4,

D. 5, P. from 9. omn. 1 fr.; *Gr.-Hdt. des Palmiers, below the Place
des Palmiers, R. from 4, B. li/._.. L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; *H6t. Chateau-
briand, Boul. Chateaubriand, 1/4 hr. N.E. from the centre of the town, with
park, English, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12, omn. 2 fr.;

*Golf Hotel, 20 min. from the town. 3 min. from the golf-course, with
large garden, R. from 4. B. li,'.,, L. Si/.,. D. 5, P. from 12, omn. 2 fr.

;

Grimm's Park Hotel, 16 Boul. des Palmiers, with garden, well spoken of,

R. from 4, B. li;._,, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12, omn. 1 h.— Hot. Metropole,
Rue d'Orient, near the Jardin Public, R. from 4, B. H/2, L- 3, D. 4, P. from
8 fr.; Hot. Victoria & des Ambassadeurs, 13 Av. des Iles-d'Or, well
spoken of. R. from 3. B. I1/2. L. 3, D. 4, P. from 9, omn. 1 fr.; *Hdt.
Regina-Hespe rides, Boul. Riondet, English, R. from 21/2. B. I1/2, L- 3, D. 4
(wine extra). P. from 7 or 8. omn. 2 fr.; Hot. Beau-Sejour, Boul. Al-
phonse-Denis, to the E., English, R. 2\l.^-4., B- I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 (wine
extraj, P. from 7, omn. 1 fr. ; *H6t. de Paj-is, 8 Av. Gambetta, open the
whole year. R. from 21/2, B. 1, L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 71/2, omn. 1/2 fr.;

*Hdt. Suisse & des Iles-d' Hyeres, Boul. des Palmiers, R. from 2, B. IV4,
L. 21/2, D. 3, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. d'Europe, 15 Av. des Iles-d'Or, R.
from 2»/2, B. I1/4. L. 21/2, D. 31/1;, P. from 6, omn. s'^fr.; Hot-Pens, des
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Eirunyers, Boul. St-Aiitoiue, P. from 7 fr. ; Hot.-Pens. Bruyiere, 10 Boul.
Biondet, P, 6-10 fr. ; Hot. Puyet, Av. Garabetta, plain, Hot. Ttrmimm,
near the stations, both open the whole year. — At Costebelle: Hot. de
VErmitage, Hot. d^Albion, Hot. de Vostebelle, all first-class, R. from 6, B. 2,

L. 4, D. 6, P. from 12, oran. 2 fr. ; Hot. Les Mimosas, P. from 7Va fr.

House Agents. V. Astier, 16-18 Boul. Gambetta; A. Fan's, 1, 4, and
6 Boul. des Palmiers; J. HooJc, 26 Place des Palraiers.

Casino. Boul. St-Autoine (adm. 1 fr. ; concerts, theatre, etc.).

Cabs. Per drive IV2) P«ir hour 2 fr., for 1-2 pers.; at night (6 or 7 p.m.
to 7 a.m.) 2 or 3 fr.; landau for 4 pers. 2 and 3, at night 3 and 31/2 fr.

To La Plage or Costebelle 4, to Carqueiranne 7, to Giens 10 fr. — Garages.
E. Pascal, Av. des Iles-d'Or; Grande-Remise, Av. Carnot; Rovsseau,
42 Av. Gambetta.

Omnibus six times daily from the Place Portalet to Costebelle (p. 552;
50 c), La Playe (p. 552; 50 c), etc.— Motor Omxibus five times daily from
the Av. Gambetta to Giens (p. 552 ; 75 c.) and La Tour-Fondue (p. 553 ; 1 fr.).

Post & Telegraph Office, 2 Av. des Palmiers. — Banks. Credit Lyon-
nais, next the post office; SociHe G^enerale, Av. des Palmiers; J. Hook
(Cook's agent; with English circulating library), 26 Place des Palmiers. —
Baths. Hammam, Av. Carnot.

British Vice-Consul, Jesse Hook, 26 Place des Palmiers.
Anglican Churches. St. PauVs, Av. Beauregard ; services (Oct.-May)

at 8, 10.30, and 3; chaplain, Rev. A. P. Cronyn. — All Saints', at Coste-
belle; services (Oct.-May) at 8, 10.30, and 3; chaplain, Rev. W. Back.

English Physician. Dr. Biden, Villa Marie-Marguerite, Av. Beau-
regard. - Nursing Institution, 60 Av. Gambetta. - Chemist. Powell,
40 Av. des Iles-d'Or.

Golf Courses (18 holes) at Gapeau, 2 M. to the E. of the town, and
at Costebelle.

—

Tea Rooms, Place des Palmiers.

Hyeres (50 ft.; pop. 21.339) lies 2i/o M. from the sea, at the

foot of a steep hill, sheltered from N. and N.E. winds, bnt not en-

tirely from the mistral. It is the oldest of the Riviera winter

resorts, and is now a quiet and pleasant place, being a little off

the busy beaten track. The climate is mild and dry, but somewhat
variable. The new town is sometimes called 'Hyeres-les-Palmiers'

from its wealth of palm-trees. Hyeres sends to Paris quantities of

flowers and early fruit, chiefly violets and strawberries.

From the P.L.M. station we reach the Neiv Town in 1/4 hr. by
the Av. de la Cxare and Boul. Gambetta, planted with palms and
casuarinas. We pass, on the right, the Rue Brest, leading to

Hyeres-Ville station (p. 550), the Boul. St-Antoine, leading to the

Clrand-Casino, and the pretty Boul. des Palmiers, with the Hotel

de Ville, and arrive, at the foot of a hill, at a cross-street, 1^/4 M.
long, called the Av. des Iles-d'Or to the left, and the Av. Alphonse-

Denis to the right. Ceyond lies the Old Toum.
Xear the middle of the Av. des Iles-d'Or is the Place des Pal-

i/ilers, with its fine palms and an obelisk in memory of Baron iStulz

(d. 1832), a German tailor who made a fortune in London, and a

benefactor of Hyeres. The Av. Alphonse-Denis leads E. to the Place
de la Bade, where the old Chateau Denis contains the Library
(open daily, except Thurs. and Sun., 9-11 and l--!) and a small

Musee, chiefly of natural history (open Sun. and Thurs. 1-5). Behind
is the pretty Jardin Public, formerly the Jardin Deuis.
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To the X.W. of the Place de la Rade is the Place de laRepuh-
lique, with a bronze statue of Masslllon (1663-1742), bishop and

preacher. To the right is the church of St- Louis, built in the

13th cent., but altered in 1822-40.— The Rue de la Republique,

then to the right the Rue Xassillon, ascend to the small Place

Massillon, with the Justice dePaix, once a chapel of the Templars,

and the Halles. Xext, in the same direction, we come to the church

of St-Paid. We may ascend thence in ^/\ hr. to a villa on the site

of the old Castle. Near the top of the hill is the ruined Enceinte,
with its ten towers (open 8-5; superb *View; fee).

From the end of the Boul. Gambetta, the Av. Olbius-Riquier

leads to the Jardin Olbius-Riquier, with its great eucalyptus and

palm trees. We may visit also the Etablissement du Crrand-Pin
(with its superb umbrella-pine), a branch of the Jardin d'Acclimata-

tioD in Paris; the Etablissement Huber, in the Av. Victoria; and

the Jardin de la Blocarde, on the St-Tropez road.

Excursions. — To the S. of Hyeres, I1/2 M. (oinn. and carr., see

p. 551), is Costebelle (hotels, see p. 551), a group of hotels and villas

on a hill (320 ft.), favoured by the English. There is a golf-course (p. 551)

and an Anglican church (p. 551). At the top is the old Ermitage. a chapel
crowned with a statue of the Virgin. Splendid view from the terrace

in front. To the W. lies the charming Yal de Costebelle; on the other
side rises the Mont des Oiaeaux (1005 ft.; li/ohr. ; view). Farther off,

to the S., is St-Pierre-des-Hofts (Lat. 'hortus'), with a chateau in a

13th cent, style; then, 1/3 M. from the Gulf of Giens, the ruined con-
vent of St-Pierre-d'Almana7-re {ATSth. ^al-msin3iT\ the lighthouse; station,

see p. 550); lastly, on the shore, near a bath-house, 31/2 ^I- fiom Hyeres,
are the scanty ruins of Pomponiana, a Gallo-Eoman town of which no
historic record exists. The Salins-Xeufs are only V4 hr. S.E.— On the
bay, 13/4 hr. TV., is the Etablissement de San Salvadour (station, see

p. 550), with a mineral spring, a hotel (R. from 7, P. from 15 fr.), and
a sanatorium for poor children.

From the castle at Hyeres (see above)*we may ascend (1^/2-2 hrs.) the

Fenouillet (960 ft. ; *View finer than from the castle), the highest point of

the Maurettes, a small chain separated from the Maures (p. 553) by the

Crapeau valley.

To THE Salixs-d'Hyeres, 5 M., by P.L.M. in V4 br. (90, 60,40 c.).—
At (21/2 M.) La Plage (La Plage Hotel, R. 21/4-4, L. 3. D. 31/2. P. 7-10 fr.)

we reach the coast. To the S.W. is the Pace t'ottrse. Near the station

is La Bicoqne, a villa with a garden and aquarium open to visitors. Sea-

bathing. — The Rade d'Hyeres, often used for the evolutions of the

Toulon squadron, is well sheltered, and has an area of 58 sq. M. and a

depth of 230 ft. — The Salins-d'Hyeres (rest.), or Vieux Sali7is,

1000 acres in extent, producing annually 8000-9000 tons of salt, are interest-

ing in summer only. The village lies E. from the station; near it is the

Port PothuaVj with a quay for vessels of war and a lighthouse.

To THE Peninsula of Giens {Salins-Neufs, 3 M.), by motor-omn. or

carr. (p. 551), a road leads S., passing E. of the Ermitage hill. The penin-

sula, 4i;2 M. long, is connected with the mainland by three narrow sandy
isthmuses, between which is the Etang des Pesquiers. At the nearer end
are the Salins-TsTeufs, 1340 acres in area, yielding about 14,000 tons of

salt per annum. On tlie peninsula, once an island, lies (7 M. from Hyeres)
the hamlet ot Giens (Hot. Audibert, L. 21/2, D- 3 fr. ; Hot. de la Tour-
Fondue), with a ruined castle (195 ft. ; view). A pleasant road leads "W.

to (a/4 hr.) the Cap d' Escampohariou ; another, S.E., past the Sanatorium
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Renee-Sahran for scrofulous children, to (IV4 M,) the old fort of Tour-
Fondue (raotor-omn. to Hyeres, see p. 551; sailing-boat to Porquerolles,

see below). To the S. of the peninsula is the small island of jRott&o?^c?,

with a lighthouse and a kangaroo-farm.

To THE Iles d'Hyeres, steamer from Toiilon (see p. 547), or sailing-

boat from the Tour -Fondue (see above) to Porquerolles (in ^U-^l<i hr.

;

1 fr.). — The lies d'Hyeres, the ancient Stoechodes Insulae, are Rouhavd
(see aboA-e), Porquerolles, Port-C'ros, and the lie dn Levant. They are

bordered with picturesque cliffs and clothed with rich vegetation. The
lie de Porquerolles is 5 M. long and IV4 M. broad. "We land near the

hamlet of that name (Hot. Gautier), with its old castle. Pretty walk S.

to the Phare (40min.; view), passing a wireless telegraph station; also

X.E. to the Cap des Mkdes (IV4 hr. ). —Por^-C'ros, abounding in game, has
a good harbour and two modest inns. Fine views from the Vigie (650 ft.)

and from the Piton de la Grande-Garde (680 ft.), the highest point.

n. From Hyeres to St-Raphael by the Coast.

501/2 ^I- Chemix de Fer DC SuD. narrow-gauge, in 31/4-4 hrs. (6 fr.

25, 4 fr. 60 c), starting from Hijeres-Ville (p. 550). Views mostly to the

right. — Circular tickets, valid for 15 days, are issued -by both companies
(P.L.M. and Sud) for the journey to Nice, either from Hyeres or from
Toulon, and back, going by the' coast to St-Baphael, and returning via

Carnoules, or vice versa (fares 29, 21, 14 fr.).

The train runs at first inland.— ^^L St-Klcolas-Maiivanve.

To the right are the Yieux-Salins, the roadstead, and the lies

d'Hyeres.— h^j^^i. La Londe-les-Maures, 2 M. from the lead

mines of Bormettes, with its chateau and small harbour, whence
a pleasant path leads past the chateaux of Leoube and Breganson
to Ccip Benat and (5-6 hrs.i Bormes.

The Montagnes des Maures, composed of granite, gneiss, and
schist, and rising to a height of 2555 ft., are well wooded with pines,
cork-oaks, and chestnut-trees. They are thinly peopled and little visited

by travellers, but they offer a good deal of tine scenery.

11 M. Bormes (Grand-Hotel & Pavilion de I'Orangerie, with

a large park, Oct. -June. good. P. from 8 or 10 fr. ; Hot. Bellevue;

pop. 2699), on a hill, well sheltered. In the Place de la Liberte

is a statue of 8t. Francis of Paola, who tended the plague-stricken

here in 1481. Several cork-factories. Jean Cazin, the painter

(1841-1901), is buried here. Above the town is a ruined castle

(view). Still finer view from the Chapelle Xotre-Dame (1025 ft.;

V2 hr. higher). Picturesque road to (lo^ /« M.) Collobrieres (p. 554),

through the Forit dn Dom.
121/2 M. Le Lavandou fHot. de la Mediterranee, good, P.

from 7 fr. ; Grand-Hotel, P. from 6 fr.), a small fishing-village tu

the right, in a picturesque site, so named from the lavender that

covers the hills around. Superlj *Coast-road.to Cavalaire (p. 554;
12 M.). From the sea rises the Fournigne ; to the S.W. is Cap
Benat, wath a castle and lighthouse.— IS^'g ^- St-Clair. To the

right are the lies d'Hyeres.— 15 M. La Fossette-Aiguebelle (Hot.-

Pens. du Domaine d'Aiguebelle, P. 8-9 fr.). Fine beach.— 17 M.
Cavaliere (Grand-Hotel), with a zoological laboratory of Grenoble
University, on a pretty bay. To the E. rises Ca}) Negre.
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231/2 M- Cavalaire (Graud-Hotel, P. from 6 fr.; Hot. de la

Plage), with a fine beach and small harbour, lies in a beautiful,

sheltered bay. Pretty walk, X., over the (l^/^ hr.) Peinier (1310 ft.

;

view) to Cogolin (see below).— 25 M. Pardigon, with an old villa

converted into a hotel (P. 6-8 fr.).— 27^2 ^^- La Croix-du-Var
(Grand-Hotel, Hot. d'Angleterre ; Sanatorium de Sylvabelle), a small

winter resort.— 29 M. Gassin, once fortified, on a hill to the right

(I1/4 hr. ; aub.; splendid view).— Sl^/o ^^- La Foux, near the Gulf
of St-Tropez. Eace-course on the right (races in July).

Steam-tramway in 22 miu., passing Bertaud, with its splendid um-
brella-pine, to (3 M. ; 65 or 35 c.) St-Tropez (Xouvel-Hotel Allegre, Hot.
Continental: pop. 3704), a small seaport and fortress on a broad *Bay,
the ancient Sinus Sambracitanns, opposite Ste-Maxime (see below ; sailing-
boat 50 c). The site is charming, but exposed to the mistral. Busy
trade in cork. Interesting Fete de la Bravade on 16th-18th May, in
memory of the repulse of a Spanish attack in 1637. St. Tropez, or' Tor-
petes, whose image graces the fete, is said to have been an officer of

Xero, converted by St. Paul and beheaded at Pisa in 66. On the quay
is a statue of BaiUi de Strff'ren (;i726-88), who defeated the British in

several naval fights. The Hotel de Ville contains pictures of the siege
of 1637. To the right of it is the curious old fishermen's quarter. The
church contains fine wood-carving and a bust of St. Tropez. To the S.W.
rises the (I1/4 hr.) hill of Bertagne (530 ft.) an admirable point of view.
— A road leads from Bertaud (see above) to the (6 M.) quaint old village
of RamatiieUe, affording a splendid *Yiew (finer still from the Mo/din
de Paillas, 1065 ft., 1/2 hr. W.). We may return \\& Cap (Jamarcd, with
its lighthouse.

Steam-tramway in 1/4 hr. to (3 M. ; 60 or 40 c.) Cogolin (Hot. Cauvet;
pop. 2157), with a Renaissance church and an ancient castle-tower. Sev-
eral stud-farms and cork-factories. — To the X. (2 M. : omn.) is (Trimaud
(William's Hotel), with a ruined castle of the Grimaldi familv. Omn. to
r7i/2 M.) La Cxarde-Freinet and (191/0M.1 Le Luc ;p. 537 1. — Beautiful road
direct to (8 M. from Cogolin) La" Garde-Freinet (1330 ft. ; Nouvel-
Hotel; pop. 1770), dominated by the ruins of the Frcurinet, once a Saracen
stronghold ('889-973). Cork-factories and silkworm culture.

Interesting excursion, AV. of Cogolin (carr. 20-30 fr.). through grand
oak and chestnut forests to the old Chartreuse de la Verne (1360 ft.

;

rfmts.). a ruin since the Revolution, with a fine 16th cent, doorway. We
may return via CoUohrieres (Hot. Blanc; 16 M. from Cogolin), with thirty

cork-factories, the most important in France. Road to Bormes, see p. 553.

Beyond La Foux the train skirts the bay.— 33 M. St-Pons-les-

Mures, 31/0 M. to the E. of Grimaud (see above).— Sl^j.^ M. Ste-

2Iaxime-Plan- de-la- Tour. Ste-Maxime (Grand-Hotel, Hot.

Grillon; villas to let), a small seaport, very pleasant both for

bathing and for winter quarters. Anglican church services in winter

at the Grand-Hotel. The Semaphore, ^/.2 hr. N., affords a splendid

view. Among the hills lies (6M. : omn. twice daily) Le Plan-
de-la-Tour (hotel), once a Saracen village.— 45^/2 M. St-Aygidf
(hotel; villas), in a pretty site. The train leaves the woods and
crosses the Etang de Yiilepey.— 481/2 M. Frejus (p. 538). The
station is 5 min. S.W. of the town, 10 min. from the other station.

To the left is the 'Lanterne d'Auguste' (p. 539).— 5OV2 ^I- St-

Raphael (p. 540).







555

75. Cannes and Environs.
station (PI. E, 4), for Marseilles and Nice (R. 72), and for Grasse

(p. 561), in the centre of the to\vu, 5 niin. from the sea. Cabs, see p. 557;

hotel niotor-onin. 1-2 fr.. luggage extra.

Hotels and Pensions, many of them excellent, with every modern
comfort, and open in winter only, except the houses mentioned on p. 556.

High charges, especially in Feb. and March; unless otherwise stated, the

prices are exclusive of wine.
S. Side, between the Railway and the Sea: *Carlton Hotel (PI.

F, 5), Promenade de la Croisette, R. with bath 25-50, B. 2, L. and D. a

la carte, omn. 2 fr. : *G)-a)id-Hotel (PI. F, 5), Prom, de la Croisette, R.
from 7, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6-7, P. from 17 fr. ; *Hdt. Gray & d' Albion (PI.

E, 5), Prom, de la Croisette and Rue d'Antibes, R. from 4, B. 11/21 L- 5)

D. 7, P. from 14 fr.; *Hdt. Beau-Pdvuge (PI. E. 5), Prom, de la Croisette,

R. from 7, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 12 fr. ; *H6t. Gonnet & de la Reine
(PI. F, 5), Prom, de la Croisette, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 5, D. 6, P. from
18 fr. ; *Roxjal Hotel (PI. F, 5), Prom, de la Croisette, R. from 5, B. IVsj,

L. 31/a, D. 41/2. P. from 10 fr. ; *H6t. Suisse (PI. F, 5), Rue du Cercle-

Nautique, frequented by Germans, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. .SV2< ^- ^'/a- ^•
12-18 fr. ; Hot. fosmopoHtain, 98 Rue d'Antibes, R. from 4, B. IV4, L.

SV-'. D- -1, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. du Luxembourg & Pens. Anne-Thei-ese,
106 Rue d'Antibes, R. 3-5, B. I1/2, L. 3, D. 4, P. 7-10 fr. ; Hot. Victoria
(PI. F, 5), Rue d'Antibes, R. from 3, B. Vj., L. 3, D. 4, P. from 10 fr.

Is THE Centre of the Town: ^Splendid Hotel, Allees de la Liberte
(PL E, 5), R. from 5, B. H/2, L. 4Vo, D. 51/2, P- from 14 fr. ; Hot. de V Uni-
vers, 2 Rue de la Gare, well spoken of, R. 4-6, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2 find,
wine), P. 10-12 fr. ; Hot. Terminus, 9 Rue de la Gare, good, R. 3-5, B. 1,

L. 3, D. 4 (incl. wine). P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. des Colonies & des Xegociants,
plain but good, R. from 3, B. H/4, L. 21/0, D. 3 (incl. wine), P. 81/2-9V2 fr-,

Hot. deLyon, R. from 21/2, B. 3/^, L. 21/2, D- 3 fr. (incl. wine), Hot. des
Etrangers, all three opposite the station.

W. Side, in the English Quarter (best sheltered): *Hdt. du Pare
(PI. C, 4; p. 559), R. from 8, B. 2, L. 4-5, D. 6-8. P. from 16 fr. ; *H6t.
Bellevue (PL C, 4), Chemin de la Croix-des-Gardes, R. from 8, B. 2, L. 5,

D. 7, P. from 15 fr. ; *H6t. des Palmiers & des Princes (PL D, 5), 53 Rue
de Frejus and Boul. Jean-Hibert, R. from 3, B. Vjo, L. 3, D. 5, P. from
9fr. ; *Gr.-H6t. du Pavilion (PL C, 5), 89 Route de Frejus, R. from 4,

B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. : Hot. Brighton d-. du Helder (PL C, 5),

Route de Frejus, well spoken of, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 3. D. 41/2. P- from
9 fr. ; Hot. de V Esterel (PL B, 5), Route de Frejus, R. from 4, B. IV2' L. 4,

D. 6, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot.-Pens. des Grangers, 76 Rue de Frejus. R. 3-4,

good, B. 11/4, L. 21/2, !>• 3. P. 7-10 fr. ; *Hdt. Beau-Site (PL B, 4), Route
de Frejus, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 12 or 15 fr. ; Hot.-Pens. de
la Tour (PL A, 4), R. from 31/2, B. II/2, L. 3, D. 31/2, ?• 10-13 fr.

X. Side (higher up; also sheltered): *Eosfs Hotel Continental (PL
D, 4), Route de Grasse, R. from 4, B. IV^, L. 4-5, D. 6-8, P. from 121/2 fr.

:

Hot. Beau- Lieu (PL D, 3), Chemin des Vallergues, R. from 4, B. IV2,
L. 31/2, I>- 5, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. Neva (PL D, 4), Rue do la Colline, R.
21/2-4, B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 3 (incl. wine), P. 8-10 fr. ; Pens. Joli-JTont, at Le
Petit-.Juas(PLD, E, 3), P. from 7 fr.— ^of . des Iles-Britanniques{V\. E, 4),

Boul. d'Alsace, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 12 fr. ; *H6t. Bristol
& Ceiitral (PL E, 4), Av. de St-Nicolas. R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 5, D. 6, P.
from 15 fr. ; Hot. de Paris (PL F, 4), Boul. d'Alsace, well spoken of, R.
from 3, B. I1/4, L. 21/2, D. 3 (incl. wine), P. from 7 fr. ; Villa Campestra
(PL E, 3), W. of the Boul. Carnot, frequented bv English and Americans,
P. 7-10 fr. ; Hot.-Pens. Carnot (PL E, 2), Boul. Carnot, P. from 8 fr. ; Hot.
Alexandra, Boul. Carnot, R. from 31/2, B. Vjo, L. 3. D. 31/3, P. 9-12 fr.;

Hot. de France (PL F, 4), 18 Boul. du Cannet^ R. from 4, B. II/4. L. 3i/„

D. 4, P. from 10 fr.: Hot. d'Alsace-Lorraine (PL E, 4), Rue d'Oxford,
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good, B. 11/4. L. 3, D. 4, P. from 11 fr. ; Pens. Villa de la Peyriere (PI. F, 4),

Boul. du Cannet, P. 6V2-7V2 fr- = Hot-Pens, de Geneve <£• d'Angleterre (PI.

F, 4% 14 Boul. du Cannet, P. 7-9 fr. : Hot.-Pens. St-Nicolas (PL E, 4),

Rue'd'Oxford, R. 2-3, B. 11/4- L. 21/^, D. 3 (incl. wine), P. 6-81/2 fr. ; Hoi.
d'Europe (PI. E. 3), Rue du Titien, R. 8-5, P. 7-10 fr. ; *H6t. Richevwnt
& de la Terrasse (PI. F, 3), Boul. du Cannet, R. from 3, B. li/,, L. 31/2?

D. 5. P. from 9 fr. ; *H6t. des Anglais (PI. F. 3). Chemin de Provence,
R. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 6. P. from 13 fr. ; Hot. de Provence (PL F, 2, 3),

Chemin de Provence, with a park. R. from 4. B. V'o-2. L. 4. D. 6, P. from
11 fr. : *H6t. du Paradis (PL F. 2), Boul. du Cannet, R. from 4, B. IV^, L.
31/.. D. 51/2, P. from 11 fv.: Hot. de HoUavde & de Russie (PL F. 2),''Av.

d'Oxford, well spoken of, R. from 5, B. 11/2? L. 31/2? D- 5, P. from 11 fr.

;

*H6t. du Prince-de-Galles & Riviera Palace (PL F, G, 2, 3), Chemin du
Prince-de-Galles, R. from 5, B. 11/2^ L. 4-5, D. 6-8, P. from 12 fr. ; Hot.-
Pens. Belvedere, Chemin du Prince-de-Galles, P. 7-10 fr. ; Pens. Villa la

Garde., Chemin de Vallauris.
At Le Casxet : *Gr.-Hdt. du Cannet & de la Grande-Bretagne (PL E, 1),

11
'4 M. to the X. of the station, at the end of the Boul. Carnot. sheltered,

R'. from 5, B. 11/2 or 2, L. 5, D. 7. P. from 14 fr. : Hot. Desanges. a little

higher, R. from 3, B. I1/4. L. 3, D. 4, P. from 10 fr. ; Stella Hotel, R.
from 3, B. li/.^. L. 31/2. D. 4, P. from 8 fr., and Hot.-Pens. Reine-des-Pres,
P. 8-10 fr., both at the tramway terminus; Villa JIargverite. P. 5-7 fr.

E. Sii>E (Boul. d' Alsace, Route d' Antibes, and side-streets) : *Hdt. Gallia
(PL G, 4), Boul. de Montfleurv. with winter-garden and theatre, R. from 6,

B. lVo-2,' L. 5 or 6, D. 7 or 8. P. from 18 fr. : "^Hot. Beau-Sejour (PL G, 4),

Rue de Turckheim, R. from 5, B. H/-,. L. 4, D. 6, P. from 14 fr. ; Hot.
Windsor (PL G, 4), close by, well spoken of, R. from 4, B. IVo, L. 31/2,

D. 5, P. from 12 fr. ; Winter Palace & Hot. St-Charles (PL G, 5). R. from 5,

B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 13 fr. ; Hot. Westminster (PL G, 5), Boul. d' Alsace,
R. from 2, L. 21/2, D- 3 (incl. wine), P. from 7 fr. ; Elysee-Palace (PL G, 5),

Route d'Antibes, with garden, suites of rooms only, from 70 fr. per day,
evervthing included; *Gr.-HGt. Jloitfleunj (PL G, 4), Chemin de Mont-
fleury, fine site, R. from 5, B. 2. L. 5-6, D. 6-8, P. from 14 fr. ; *H6t. de
la Californie (PL H. 5). Chemin de la Californie, in a fine site (330 ft.),

R. from 8, B. 2. L.' 5,' D. 7, P. from 16 fr. : Hot. Regina (PL G, 5),

Route d'Antibes, with garden, good, R. from 3, B. V-l^, L. 31/2^ D- i?

P. from 9 fr. : Hot. des Pins (PL H, 6, inset-map on the right: motor-omn..
see p. 557). Boul. Alexandre III. sheltered bv pine-woods, R. from 7, B. 2.

L. 4, D. 6, P. from 14 fr. ; *H6t'. J>Ietropole' 'aX Cannes-Eden, nearly half-

way to Golfe-Juan. English, first-class, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 5, D. 71/2,

P. from 15 fr. ; Little Savoij Hotel, farther S., towards the sea, R. from 5,

B. 11/2, L. 4, D. 5 fr.

Open the whole year: Hotels Belvedere, Brighton, Colonies, Etrangers.
Joli-Mont, Lyon, Royal, Terminus, Univers, Victoria, and several near
the station.

Furnished YrLLAS and Apartments are usually hired for the season
(Oct.-May) for 1200-2000 fr., and upwards. Agents": John Taylor & Son,
48-45 Rue de Frejus; Dubset, 2 Rue d'Antibes: 3Ioutoii, 7 Place des lies;

Agence des Hivemants, 1 Rue de la Gare: Cannes-A gence, 10 Promenade
de la Croisette; Caviglia, Boul. Carnot; etc.

Restaurants at the Hotels Gonnet, TJnivers, Terminus, Colonies,

Lyon, Splendid, Prince-de-Galles, etc.; *Rest. de la Resen-e (PL G, 6,

inset-map on the right). Promenade de la Croisette, first-class (fish and
oysters); Cafe-Rest, de la Presqu'ile (with rooms), at the end of the Pointe

de la Croisette; Taverne Royale, opposite the station, good; Rest, de
Chdteaudun, Place Gambetta, and Fahre, Rue Hoche, both pluin.

Caf^s. Cafe-Brasserie des AUees, near the Hotel de Ville (p. 558);

Nt^gociants, at the Hotel des Colonies (p. 555); Regenfs Bar, Rue St-

Kicolas; etc. — Brasseries. Brass, du Lion, Rue de la Foux (P1.E,4);
Maison Doree, Rue de la Gare; Taverne Royale. opposite the station;

Brass, de Geneve & de 3Iunich. Prom, de la Croisette.— Confectioners.
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*Rumpehnnijer, Promenade de la Croisette (PI. F, 5) and 70 Rue d'Antibes;
Maijfert, Rohr, N'tyre, Bnuge, 47, 51, 20, and 15 Rue d'Antibes; Anchor
Tea Rooms, Boul. Jean-Hibert, Enj^flish.

Cabs (ask for tari.f). There are four zones, indicated by posts. Within
the 1st zone (X. to the Rue du Titien, PI. E. 3: W. to the Boul. du Riou,
in the Riou, PI. C, 4; E. to the Rue de la Tour-Maubourg, PI. d, 5): with
one or two horses, for 1-3 pers. 1 fr., at night (rf-7 or 9-4) IVa fr. Within
the 2nd zone (about as far as the limits of the Plan), IV2 and 2^1^, per
hour 2Va and 3'/.2 fr. ; 3rd zone, 2 and 3 fr. ; 4th zone, 4 and 5 fr. : 25-50 c.

extra if sent for. Trunk 'M c. Special tari f for drives in the environs.
— There are also a few Motor Cabs (charges as at Nice, p. 566).

Garages. Auto-La?', Boul. Jean-Hibert, corner of the Q,uai St-Pierre
(PI. D, 5); Fanhard-Mich ell n, farther W., same boulevard; Lio?i (Peugeot),
8 Rue Bivouac (PI. E, 5); Garage Ventral, Rue Rostan (PI. F, 5); etc.—
Excursions in motor-cars or brakes are organized by the Vannes-Agence
(p. 556). Motor-car along the Corniche d'Or (p. 541) to St-Raphael and
Fr^jus, 18 fr. (incl. dinner). Seats should be booked the previous day.

Tramways. From the Hotel de Ville (PI. D. 5): 1. W. to La Bocca
(PL A, 5; p. 561; 20 or 10 c.) and Mandelieu (p. 560; 60 or 30 c.). — 2. Via
the Rue and Route d'Antibes (PI. E-H, 4, 5), Golfe-Juan (p. 542; 40 or 20 c),
and Juan-les-Pins (p. 542), to Antibes (p. 542; 80 or 40 c.). — 3. Via the
station (PI. E, 4) and Boul. Carnot to Le Vannet (beyond PI. E, 1; p. 559;
25 or 15 c). — 4. From Golfe-Juan (p. 542) to Vallauris (p. 542; 25 or 15 c).
— Motor Omnibuses from the Hotel de Ville to the I'ointe de la Croi-
sette (PI. Gr, H, s, inset-map on the right; p. 558), 13 times daily (30 c);
from the Casino Municipal to the Hotel des Pins (p. 556), 11 times daily.

Steamboat from the Quai St-Pierre (PI. D, 5) to the lies de Lerins
(p. 560) twice daily in the season ; to Ste-Marguerite in Vj br., to St-
Honorat in V^ hr- (2 or 8 fr.; for both islands 4 fr.).— Rowing Boat 3 fr.

per hour (bargain advisable).

Clubs. Uercle Nautique (PI. F, 5), Prom, de la Croisette; C'ercle
de Vdimes, Alldes de la Liberte. — Golf and Polo Clubs at Mandelieu
(p. 560); Lawn Tennis Club, Rue L.icour, Route d'Antibes. — Casino
Municipal (PI. E, 5), with theatre and concert-hall; adni. 1 fr., ticket
for a day 2 fr. — Concerts (and sometimes plays) at the Hot. Gallia
(p. 556) and the Casino de vannes, 5 Rue Bossu (PI. E, 5). — Other Amuse-
ments resemble those of Nice, on a smaller scale: Carnival, with pro-
cessions, battle of (lowers, etc.; Regattas (Feb.-March); Horse Races, at
Les Termes (p. 560). See The Cannes Fortnightlij Review (25 c).

Warm Baths. Thermes Mediterraneens (hydrotherapy), Route de
Grasse, next the Scottish Church (PI. E, 4); Bains de Notre-Dame,
15 Rue de la Foux. — Sea Baths. Grands Bains, near the Cercle Nau-
tique (75 c. ; warm 2 fr.); Bains de la Reserve, at the rest. (p. 556); Belle-
Plage (PI. C, 5), Boul. Jean-Hibert.

Post & Telegraph Office (PL E, 5), Rue Notre-Dame and Rue
Bivouac; from Nov. to April the telegraph otiice is open day and niglit.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, Soci^te Ginerale. Vomptoir d' Escoiajite,
and Banque Priv^e (late Cognet & Riddett), 33, 47, 58, and 36 Rue d'An-
tibes; John Taylor & Son, 43-45 Rue de Frejus; Banque Popidaire, Rue
de la Gare; Pei/tavin & Reg, Rue Bivouac.

Booksellers. Vial, Faist, Deane, and Segoyid, 34, 45, 93, and 59
Rue d'Antibes (the two tirst with lending libraries).

British Vice-Consul, John Taylor, 43 Rue de Frejus.
Tourist Agencies. I'hos. Cook <& Son, 3 Rue de la Gare; Johnson,

10 Promenade de la Croisette; Clark, 7 Rue F^lix-Faure; Sleeping Car
Co., 3 Rue d'Antibes; Hamburg-American Line, 17 Quai St-Pierre.—
Syndicat d'Initiative at the Hotel de Ville (PL D, 5).

Anglican Churches. St. PanVs (PL F, 3), Boul. du Cannet; services
(Nov. to Whit-Sunday) at 8, 10, 11, and 8; chaplain, Rev. T. P. David.
--Christ Church (PL C, 5), Route de Frejus; services (Nov.-May) at 8.80,

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 3(3
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11, and 5; chaplain, Canon Christie.— Holy Trinity (PI. F, 5), Rue
d'Oustinotf: services (Oct.-May) at 8.30, 10.45, and 3 ; chaplain, Jtiev.?:.R.

Broime. — St. George's (PI. H, 5), Chemin de la Califoruie ; services (Nov.-

April) at 8.30, 11, and 3; chaplain. Rei-. R. Tahourdin.—St. Andreiv's
(Scottish Presbyterian). 1 Route de Grasse (PI. E, 4); services (Nov.-May)
at 11 and 3; mmistor. Rev. P. W. Minto.

English Physicians. Br. Geo. Bright, Chalet Magali; Dr. Rich.
Bright, 11 '^'-^ Rue Hermann; Dr. Carr, 15 Rue Hermann; Dr. Ginner,
42 Rue de Frejus; Dr. Kent Gazet, 73 Rue d'Antibes; Dr. Sanders, Villa

Martha. — America>- Destists. Hiirlburt, Villa Benedicte; Smith, Boul.

de la Croisette.— Chemists. Brearley & Bascoid, Ricardou, Forest, Gii'aud,

and Saidnier. 11^'^% 40, 7, 18, and 32 Rue d'Antibes.

Climate. Cannes is protected on the N.W. by the Esterel (p. 541)

and on the N. and X.E. by other hills, but the beach is somewhat ex-

posed. It is thus at times, especially in spring, cooler and windier than

Mentone or San Remo, but its winter-climate is usually mild, equable,

and dry (mean temperature 49°). The warmest and most sheltered parts,

those on the X., including Le Canuet, are rapidly being built over. Good
beach for sea-bathing. A covered conduit supplies Cannes with good water
from the Loup, near Thoreuc (p. 562).

Cannes (pop. 29,656). picturesquely situated on the Golfe de

la Napoule, is a favourite and prosperous winter resort. The

beautiful coast, with the lies de Lerins near it, the luxuriant

vegetation, and its mild and equable climate are its great attrac-

tions, while most of the hotels and villas are in open situations,

surrounded with gardens.

The Rue de la Gare crosses the main thoroughfare of the town,

which is called to the E. (left) the Rue d'Antibes (PI. E, F, 5;

continued by the Route d'Antibes; tramway, see p. 557) and to the

W. (right) \.\\eRueFeUx-FaureiV\.J),^,b,-^), leading to the Alices

de la Liberte. The Rue Bossu, a little to the left, is the direct way
to the shore, passing the modern church of Notre-Dame-de-Bon-
Voijage (PI. E, 5).

The ^Promenade de la Croisette, beginning here, close

to the harbour, leads E., along the Eade de Cannes, to the Rest,

de la Reserve (PI. G, 6, inset-plan on the right), the favourite resort

of visitors, affording beautiful views of the Esterel hills. It is con-

tinued by the Boul. Eugene-Gazagnaire, which rounds the (1^2 ^^0

Pointe de la Croisette (PI. G, H, 6-8), and ends at the rocks at the

entrance to Golfe-Juan (p. 542).

At the W. end of the Promenade de la Croisette, on the left, near

the Jetee Albert-Edouard, rises the Casino Municipal (PI. E, 5),

opened in 1905. A statue of King Edivard VII., by Denys
Puech, was erected here in 1912. On the right is a square with

a bust of Pros;per Merim^e (d. at Cannes, 1870). Farther W.
are the Allees de la Liberte (PI. D, E, 5), forming a spacious

rectangle, where a flower-market is held every morning. Here rises

a marble statue of Lm^d Brongham (1778-1868), who made the

reputation of the town by settling here in 1834 (comp. p. 559).

At the W. end of the Allies is the Hotel de Ville (PI. D, 5), con-
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taining a Musie of antiquities and ethnography on the ground-

tioor, and on the second floor the Library, a small Mus^e des

Beaux-Arts, and a Natural History Cabinet (open on week-days,

9-12 and 2-5; closed in Aug.).

The Harbour (PI. D, E, 5) is unimportant except for yachts.

To the W. rises Mont Chevalier (PI. D, 5; 220 ft.), an eminence

on which lies the picturesque old quarter of Le Suquet, with re-

mains of an old castle, a parish-church of the 13th cent., and a tower

of the 11th (key at the pottery adjoining; adm. 50 c; magnificent

*View).

To the S. the *Boulevard Jean-Hibert (PL D-A, 5) lea d along

the coast, past La Bocca station (p. 561), to the picturesque mouth
of the Siagjie, which it crosses by a bridge to (2^/4 M. from La
Bocca) the village of La Napoule (see p. 560). Above it runs the

parallel Route de Frejus (PL C-A, 5), the beautiful villas in which
are mostly concealed by high walls and shrubs. We may visit the

superb *Grarden of the Hotel du Pare (PL C, 4 ; p. 555 ; formerly the

Chdteau Vallombrosa) and the Villa Larochefoucaidd (PL B, 5

;

Sun. and Thurs.). The oldest of all is the Villa Eleonore-Louise (PL

B,4), built by Lord Brougham in 1834. At the W. end of this quarter

ies La Bocca (station, PL A 5, see p. 542; tramway, see p. 557).

Environs of Cannes.

Le Cannet (330 ft.; hotels, see p. 556; pop. 4166; tramway,

see p. 557; cab 2^/2 fr.), 1^4 ^l^- to the N., is reached by the Boul.

Carnot (PL E, 4-1), and is both a favourite goal for walks and a

sheltered winter resort, adapted for invalids who cannot live near

the sea. Two picturesque towers of the 16th cent., one called the

Maison du Brigand. Yiew from the small Place Bellevue,— From
the tramway terminus a road ascends S.E. in windings (short-cuts)

to (^2 hr.) Le Pezou, consisting of two hills, the highest (890 ft.)

being wooded, while on the other, S.W., are a cafe and the Obser-

vatoire du Grand-Pin (PL H, 1; adm. 50 c. ; fine view; carr. from
Cannes 10 fr.).

Diverging from the Route de Frejus (see above) the Chemin
de la Croix-des-Gardes (PL C, B, 5-3) and the Boul. Leader (PL A,

4, 3) ascend the wooded hill of La Croix des Gardes (540 ft.

;

fine views; carr. 7 fr.).

Another good point of view is the hill of La Californie (PL

I, 4; carr. 10 fr.). The easiest ascent is via the Boul. and Ohemin
de Moutfleury (PL F-H, 4) and the Chemin de la Cava (Pl.G, H,

4, 5), which are in shade in the morning. We pass a fountain with

a statue of Prince Leopold (d. at Cannes, 1884), the youngest son

of Oneen Victoria. Lower down, below the Hotel de la Californie, is

iSt. George's Memorial Church, containing a replica of the prince's

tomb at Windsor. Short-cuts to the left, above the Castel Maggy
36*
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(PI. 'Chat.'; H, I, 4), near a reservoir. At the top is the Square du
Splendide- Panorama (765 ft.), with a cafe and 'Observatoire'

(50 c). The *View is one of the finest on the Riviera, embracing

Valla uris, Antibes, Nice, Grasse, and the Alpes Maritimes. We may
then follow the Chemin Superieur de la Californie (PL 1, 4), E. from

the reservoir, to Cannes- Eden. From the Observatoire we may
descend N. to Yallauris (p. 542), via theChapelle St-Antoine (650 ft.);

or we may return to the town by the Chemin de Yallauris (PI. H-F,

3, 4). A path from the chapel leads X., on the crest of the hill, to

Le Pezou (p. 559).

The *Iles de Lerins (see inset-map on the left), a favourite

goal for excursions, are reached by steamer from the Quai St-Pierre

(see p. 557), or by small boat from La Croisette to Ste-Marguerite

0/2 hr.; 1 fr.). In the He Ste-Marguerite (Rest, de la Reserve),

the nearer and larger, the Lero of Strabo, 47-2 ^L in circuit, is a

Fort of the 17th cent, (visitors admitted), where 'the Man with the

Iron Mask' (perhaps Mattioli, governor of the Duchy of Mantua)

was imprisoned by Louis XIV. in 1687-98. In 1873-4 Marshal

Bazaine also was confined here. Fine view of Cannes, the coast-line,

and the Alps. The island contains beautiful pine-woods.— The lie

de St-Honorat (Cafe-Rest, de Lerins), the Roman Lerina, 2 M. from

the coast, and separated by Le Frioul, a strait of 765 yds., from

the sister-islet, is only 2 M. in circuit, but is the more interesting

of the two. It contains the famous old Abhaye de Lerins, founded

by St. Honoratus in 410. and now occupied by Cistercian monks,

who have restored it and added an orphanage. Men only admitted

(daily except Sun.). The new church is a replica of the old i^llth

cent.). Near it are two old chapels and a tower (Chateau St-

Honarat), built in 1073-1190, where the monks used to take refuge

on the approach of pirates. To the E. of St-Honorat is the rocky

islet of St-Fe^rreol.
Beyond La Bocca (2 M. ; p. 561) the Mandelieu tramAvay (p. 557) stops

at (3 M.) St-Cassien. The old pilgrimage-t-hapel lies on a hill to the

left. "We next pass the race-eourse of Cannes and the hamlet of Les
Termes (3V2M.; rest.), whence we may ascend the -D?/c (1555 ft.; ^/o hr.

;

splendid view). Maridelieu lies about "^/4 M. up the valley. Beyond Les
Termes the line goes on to (5 M.) the bifurcation of the roads to Frejus
(to the right, p, 538) and La Xapoule (6 M. ; p. 542). Near the terminus are

an aerodrome and the grounds of the Cannes golf and polo clubs. Above
the bifurcation, on the right, is the Waldorf & New Uolf Hotel.

From Cannes to St-Eaphael by the (Jorniche d' Or, see p. 541.

To the N.W. of Cannes we may go via La Bocca (see above), the Chateau
Ganhondy (31/2 M.), and Pegomas (6 M.; inn) to (8 M.) Anribeau, near
which are the romantic Gorges de la Siagiie. A little below the village

diverges a road to (51/0 M.) Grasse (p. 561), passing below the pilgrimage-

chapel of Notre-Dame-de'Valcliise.
To theX.E.,3M„ isVallatiris (p. 542; tramway, see p. bbl).~Antihes,

see p. 542.
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From Cannes to Grasse.—By Eailway, 12V2M., in about 3/4 hr.

(2 fr. 25, 1 fr. 50 c, 1 fr. ; or, incl. funicular, 2 fr. 60, 1 fr. 75, 1 fr. 25 c).

Circular tickets, see p. 576. — By Road, IOV2 M. ; carr. there and back, for

3 pers., 18 fr.; tramway under construction.

The line diverges to the right from the Marseilles line at (2 M.)

La Bocca (p. 542) and ascends the valley of the Frayere. Views

to the left.— 6 M. Mougins, a village 2 M. to the E.— 71/2 M.

Mouans-Sartoux. To theN.E., 72 hr., is the Villa da Castellaras,

where we may visit the garden and enjoy the superb view from the

tower.— 9^2 M- Plan-de-Grasse.

121/2 M. Grasse. — Stations. The GareduF.-L.-M. is lV2M.by road
from the centre of the town (short-cut in 1/4 hr.). The funicular ascends
in 3 min. to the Place du Cours (35 or 25 c; trunk 20 c).— The Gare dv
Slid (pp. 538, 577 ; buffet) is half-way up, on the right, not far from the

Place Neuve.
Hotels. *Grand-H6tel, Av. Victoria, E. side, outside the town, with

garden, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6 (wine extra), P. from 12 fr. ; Hot.
Victoria, Av. Riou-Blanquet, S.W. of the Grand-Hotel, R. from 3, B. 1^/.^,

L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 8 fr. ; Splendid Hotel Bellevue, Av. Riou-
Blanquet, E. of the Hot. Victoria, R. 21/2-0, B. IV4, L. 3, D. 4 (wine extra),

P. from 8i/2fr.; Hot.-Pens. Bean-Soleil, Boul. Crouet, W. of the Gare
du Sud, with garden, R. from 3, B. 11/2- L- or D> 3 fr. (wine extra); Hot.
Muraour & de la Poste (with rest., see below), Hot. des Negociants, and
Hot. National, all in the Boul. du Jeu-de-Ballon.

Cafes-Restaurants. At the Casino (see below); Cafe de Grasse &
de la Poste (see above), good; Monte-Carlo, Boul. du Jeu-de-Ballon.

Post & Telegraph Office, Place Neuve. — Syndicat d'Initiative,
2 Av. Thiers.— Chemist. Parrot, Place de la Foux.

Cabs. Per drive 2, per hour 3 fr. ; at night 3 and 4 fr.; with two
horses 21/2 anfl 4, at night 31/2 a^nd 5 fr. Special tariff for excursions.

Tramway from the Gare du P.-L.-M. (8 times daily; 20 or 15 c.)

via the Cours and the upper town to Grasse-Ville ; from Grasse-Ville

(4 times daily ; in 34 min.) by the Corniche de Grasse to Magagnosc {^^j-i M.

;

p. 577), Chdt'eauneuf-Pre-du-Lac (3 M. ; p. 544), d.ndLeBar-sur-Lo?fp (b^j-iM. ;

p. 577).— Electric railway to Cagnes, see p. 543.

Motor Omnibus to Thorenc (p. 562) in 2-21/2 hrs. (7-8 fr.); to Castellane
(42 M.; p. 538) in 4 hrs. (9 fr.); to St-Cezaire (p. 562) in 2 hrs. (2 fr.).

Anglican Church (St. John^s), Av. Victoria, beyond the Grand-Hotel;
services (Oct.-May) at 8.30, 10.80, and 3; chaplain, Canon Home.

Grasse (700-1380 ft.; pop. 19,704), an old and thriving town,

in a picturesque site on the slope of the Boquevlgnon, open towards

the S. and sheltered from cold winds, is a winter resort for invalids

unable to live near the sea. As the mild climate encourages rich

vegetation, Grasse has become the chief centre in Provence for the

distillation of perfumes (see p. 562).

The promenade of the Cours (funicular, see above) affords fine

views. To the S.E. is the pretty Jardin Public, with a bust of

Fragonard. To the N., at the beginning of the Boul. Jeu-de-Ballon,

are the Casino Municipal and a square with a statue of the painter

J. H. Fragonard (1732-1806), a native ofGrasse. To the S.W.
of the Cours diverges the Boul. Victor-Hugo, in which rises the

new Hospital, whose chapel contains three of the earliest works of
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Rubens, parts of a triptych (Crowning with thorns, the Raising of

the Cross, and St. Helen finding the true Cross), painted at Rome
in 1602.

The Rue du Cours, to the N.E. of the Cours, continued by the

Rue Droite, intersects the old town. The Parish Church, an old

cathedral (12th-13th cent.), contains an Assumption, by Subleyras,

behind the high-altar. Adjacent is the Hotel de Ville, once the

Eveche, with an old tower (12th cent.). To the S. of the church, in

a square opposite the College, is a bust of the 'felibre' Bellaud de

la Bellaudiere, of Grasse (1532-88).

To the right, at the N. end of the Boul. du Jeu-de-Ballon, is a

curious spring, known as La Foux (Provencal for 'fountain'). The

Av. Thiers, Av. Victoria, and Corniche de Grasse, with villas and

gardens, lead thence round a ravine (fine views). Tramway to

Chateauneuf-Pre-du-Lac, see p. 561.
An idea of the importance of the 35 Perfumeries of Grasse is con-

veyed by the fact that over 60,000 acres are devoted to the flower-

culture, yielding annually 2000 tons of roses and 2500 tons of orange-

blossom. No less than 12 tons of roses are required to produce a litre of

essence (worth 2000-2500 fr.). Visitors are admitted to the perfumery
of Bruno-Court, in an old convent in the Rue des Cordeliers (preferably

on Tues. or Fri.), and to that of Jean Giraud tils, 25 Av. de Ste-Lorette

(apply at the warehouse, 2 Boul. du Jeu-de-Ballon).

To the W. of Grasse lies (10 M. ; motor-omn., see p. 561) St-Cezaire
(Hot. Reybaud), a quaint village, above the romantic gorge of the Siagne.
Near it are several dolmens and grottoes (notably the Grotte Dozol, IV4 M.
to the E. ; adm. 1 fr.). About 2 hrs. W., in a gorge, is the source of the

Siagnole, with remains of the Roman aqueduct which conducted the

water of the latter to Frejus (see p. 539). The same source now supplies

St-Raphael with water.

Railway to Dragidynan and Metjrargues, see pp. 538, 521; to Nice,

and excursion to the Gorges dn Loup, see R. 77 II.

From Grasse to Thorexc, 23 M., by road (motor-omn., see p. 561 ; carr.

and pair 25-30 fr.). — The road crosses the Plateau Napoleon (fine views)
and passes large marble-quarries. — 71/.2 ^I- St-YalUer-de-Thiey (2375 ft.:

Hot. du Nord; 2nd cl. guide, Andre Flory). Near it are the ruins of pre-

historic strongholds built of huge stones, notably the C'asteUaras de Ic

Malle, 11/4 hr. N.E., above the Thorene road; also curious rocks and the

Ponadieit. a natural bridge I1/4 hr. W. At St-Vallier the road to Castellane

and Digue diverges to the left.

23 M. Thorene (4100 ft. : Gr.-H6t. des Alpes, first-class, R. from
31/2, L. 4. D. 5. P. 7-12 fr.; Hot. de Thorene, P. from 7 fr.), a summer
resort, offers winter-sports also (casino, etc.). Near it is a fine pine-

forest. Bas-Thorenc (hotel) lies IV4 M. to the W. Excursions may be

made to (3 hrs.) Caitssols, a village in a basin enclosed by great limestone

plateaux, where a brook loses itself in a chasm: to (4 hrs. : with guide)

the top of the C'heiron (5835 ft.; extensive view), N. of which stretches

a vast forest; to St-Auhan (p. 578), about 3 hrs. N.W., with its grand
gorge, reached by the road across the Col de Bleine (4805 ft. ; aub.; view).
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76. Nice and Environs.
stations. 1. Gave dit P.-L.-M. (PL C, D, 2), Av. Thiers, on the line

from Marseilles to Ventimiglia (R. 72); 2. Gave de Eiquier (PI. H, 2), a

suburban station on the same line; 8. Gave du Slid (PI. C, D, 1), for the
lines to Grasse and Digiie (pp. 57fi. 578). — Omn. from the main station

30 c, trunk 25 c, hand-bag 10 c. Hotel-omn. 1-2 fr., luggage extra; also

motor-onin. of the hotel-syndicate. — Sleeping-Car Agency, 2 Av. Massena.

Hotels t) many of them excellent (charges raised during Carnival).
Unless otherwise stated, the prices are exclusive of wine. Except the
houses mentioned on p. 565 all the hotels are open in winter only.--
Pkomenade des Anglais (PI. A-D, 5, 4), all first-class: No. 1. *Hdt. Riihl
<£• des Anglais, R. from 8, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 18 fr. ; No. 7, Hot. Rivoir,
B. 2, L. 5, D. 6, P. from 12 fr. ; No. 9, Hot. du Ltiremhourg, good, R.
from 7, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6. P. from 15 fr. ; No. 23, Hot. Royal, R. with
bath from 20, B. 2, L. and D. a la carte ; No. 25, Hot. de la Mediterranee,
E. from 6, B. I1/2. L- 5. D. 7-8, P. from 20 fr. ; No. 27, Hot. Westminster,
not for passing travellers, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 14 fr. ; No. 31,

Hot. West-End, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 14 fr. ; No. 37,

*Hdt. Negresco. R. from 15. B. 21/2. L. and D. a la carte; No. 51, *Hdt.
St-Petershonrg, R. from 4, B. IV2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12fr. — By the
Jardin Public (PL D, E, 4): *H6t. de la Grande-Bretag ,ie, R. from 8,

B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 16 fr. ; *Gr.-Hdt. d'Angleterre, R. from 5, B. 2,

L. 5, D. 7, P. from 12 fr. ; Hot. Austria, frequented by Austrians, R.
from 5, B. I1/2, L. and D. at the Rest. Posada (p. 566); *Gr.-Hdt. de France,
R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 15 fr.

Rue Grimaldi (PL D, 3, 4): No. 4, Hot. Grimaldi, well spoken of,

R. from 3, B. II/2, L. 3, D. 41/2, P- from 9 fr. — Avenue F6lix-Faure
(PL E, F, 4, 3), both first-class: No. 10, *Grand-Hdtel, R. from 4, B. IV2,
L. 4, D. 6, P. from 13 fr.; No. 12, *Hdt. de la Paix, R. from 5, B. I1/2,

L. 5, D. 7, P. from 15 fr.

Boulevard Carabacel (PL F, 2): No. 14, Hot. Bristol, R. from 4,

B. 11/0, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; No. 28, *Hdt. de Xice (PL F, 2), shel-

tered, R. from 4, B. l^k, L. 5, D. 6, P. from 14 fr.; No. 24, *Hdt. Langham,
dependance of the Hermitage Hotel (p. 565), R. from 8, B. 11/2, L. 5,

D. 6, P. from 15 fr. ; No. 6, Hot. Palais-Royal & Frankfurterhof, R.
from 3, B. IVo. L. S1/2, !>• 4V2, P- from 8 fr.

;' No. 4, Gr.-H6t. de Paris,
R. from 5, B. I1/2, L- 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr. —Avenue Desambrois (PL
E, 2): No. 7. Hot. Carabacel, R. from 4, B. li/.., L. 3, 1). 4. P. from 9 fr.

— Boulevard Dubouchage (PL E, 2, 3): No. 25, *5di. d'Albion, R. from 3,

B. 11/.-, L. 3i/->, D. 41/2, P- from 9 fr. ; No. 26, Hot. du Pavilion; No. 34,

Gr.-Hot. des 'Bhnpereurs, R. from 3, B. l^j.,, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.—
Avenue Beauxieu (PL D, E, 2): No. 1, Hot. AUxandra, R. from 4, B. 2,

L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; No. 29, Hot. Lamartine, R. from 4, B. 1, L. 31/2,

D. 4 (incl. wine), P. from 10 fr. ; No. 36, Hot. de Suede & Vosmopolitain,
well spoken of, R. from 31/2 > B. I1/2, L. 3, D. 5, P. from 10 fr. ; No. 38,
corner of Av. de la Gare, New York Hotel.

Boulevard Victor-Hugo (PI. C, D, 3): No. 2, *Gr.-H6t. des Iles-

Britanniques, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 12 fr. ; No. 8, Hot.
3Ietropole, R. from 5, B. IV2, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 10 fr.; Nos. 9-11. Hot. de
Lisbonne, R. from 5, B. I1/2, L. 31/.. D. 41/2, P. from 9 or 12 fr.; No. 15,

Queen's Hotel, English, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L- 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr.;

No. 16, *Gr.-H6t. du Rhin, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L- 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr.

;

No. 17, Hot. Stanislas & Britannia, R. from 5, B. li/o, L. 3Vm D. 41/2,

P. from 10 fr.; No. 19i"8, Nouvel-Hotel (meuble), R. from 5, B. IV2 fr-

;

No. 20, Hot. du Louvre, R. from 5, B. 2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 14 fr. ; No. 33,
Hot. Victoria, R. from 5, B. IV4, L. 31/2, D- ^1/2, P- from 91/2 fr. ; No. 44,

t Alphabetical list, see the Index, p. 636.
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*Gr.-E6t. des Palmiers, German, R. from 4, B. l^U. L. 4, D. 6, P. from
12 fr.; No. 52, Hot. des Oravgers, E. from 4, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4, P. from
8 fr. ; No. 50, *Splendv:l Hotel, R. from 4. L. 4. D. 5. P. from 10 or 14 fr.

— Rue Emast-el (PI. D, 3) : Or.-Hot. Nice Pcdace. R. from 8. P. from 15 fr.

;

Concoroict Hotel. German, R. 5-10, B. 1'/-, L. 4, D. 5, P. 12-16 fr.— Rue
ALPHOK>E-KAnR (PI. D, 3): Nos. 2-6, *ralace Hotd. German, R. 6-20. B. 2,

L. 5, D. 7, P. 15-30 fr.— Rue GorsoD (PI. C. 3): No. 1, Hot. Gounod, P.
from lOfr. — Rue de la Paix (PI. C, D, 2, 3): No. 7, Hot. St-Georges:
No. 15, Hot. Gallia & Monopole, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from
10 fr.; No. 20. Hot. Scribe, R. with bath 6-20. B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from
14 fr.; No. 22, Ostew Hotel, R. from 31/.., B. li/-2- L. 3, D. 4, P. from 10 fr.

— Rue de Russie (Pl.D. 2, 3): No. 5, Hot. Stella, frequented bv Russians,
R. from 3. B. IV4, L. 3. D. 4. board 8fr.— Rue Rossim (Pi. D, C, 3):

No. 4. Hot. Interned mud. R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4, P. from 9fr.;
No. 12, Hot. tovtinenicd. R. from 4, B. IVa, L- 4-5, P. from 10 fr.— Place
MozAKT (PL C. D. 3): Hot.-Fens, du Tennis, frequented bv English and
Americans.— Rue Cotta (PI. C, D, 4, 3): No. 22, Edimrd' s'Palace Hotel;
No. 35, Hot. de Bade & O'Connor, B. li/>, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.

;

No. 41. Svn Hotel l.vrhon Palace. R. from 4, B. 1. L. 4, D. 5, P. from
10 fr.; No. 45, Hot. -Pern. Cotta, R. 3i/.r4Vi, B. I1/4, L. 2i/- D. 4, P. from
8fr. — Avenue des Fleurs (PI. B, 3): No. 11, *n6t. Astoria, R. from 7,

B. IV- L. 4, D. 5, P. from 12 fr. — Cbemin des Beaumettes (PI. A, B, 4):
Hot. Chateau des Beaumettes (PI. A, 4). R. from 4, B. 11/4. L- 31/2, D. 41/2,

P. from 10 fr. — Eue de Fkakce (PI. A-D, 5, 4): No. 5, Hot.-Pens. Tarelli,

R. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 3. D. 3, P. from 9 fr. ; No. 98. Hot. Belgravia, fre-

quented by Poles. R. from 3, B. IVa- L. 3. D. 4. P. from 8 fr.— Rue de
l'Hutel-des-Postes (PI. E. 3 j : No. 5, Williams' Hotel, American. R. 5-20,

B. 11/2- L. 5. D. 6 fr. (incl. wine).— Rue Pastokelli (PI. A. 3): Nos. 45-47.

Hot. de Eivoli & des Xi^gociants, R. from 4, B. H/2. L. 31/.,, D. 4 (incl.

wine). P. from 10 fr.; No. 39, Hot. Mont-FleuH. commercial, R. 2V2-3^'2'

L. 2. D. 21/.. (incl. wine), P. 7-71/2 fr.; No. 44, Hot. Rolland (meuble). R.
from 21/.. f r'. — Rue Aleerti (PI. E. 3): No. 19. Hot. o' Euroiye. R. from 3,

B. 11/4- L. 3. D. 31/-. (incl. wine), P. from 71/2 fr.; No. 22. Nouvel-Hotel du
Parc-'Rv-E Gioffkedo (PI. E. F. 3): No. 56. Balmoral Palace (meuble),
R. fiom 5. B. liAjfr.; No. 58. Gr.-Hot. Massena (meubl^).

Rue des Pokciiettes (PI. F, 4): Nos. 9-11, Hot. Su sse. German. R.
from 41/- B. Vj.,. L. 4. D. 5. P. from 12 fr.— Quai du Midi (PI. E, F. 4):

No. 1. Hot. des 'Princes & Bellevve. R. from 4, B. IV^, L. 4, D. 5. P. from
10 fr.; No. 19, Eot. Bcau-Ritage. R. from 5. B. li/.. L. 4, D. 5, P. from
12 fr.; Hot. du Vourx A du Palais (entrance at 30 Cours Saleva). R. 2»/.,-3,

B. 1. L. 21/2 (incl. wine), P. 61/2-8 fr.— Rue du Palais (PI. E, 4): No. 9,

Hoi. des Etraugers.

Near the Main Station (PI. C. D. 2): Terminus-Hotel, opposite, well
spoken of, R. from 4V>- B. Vj.,. L. 4i/>. D. 6, P. from 14 fr. ; Vecil-Hotel,

opposite. R. from 4. B'. 11/2- L- 41/2- !>• 6, P. from 14 fr. : Hot. de Berne,
corner of the Av. Thiers and Rue d'Angleterre, well spoken of, R. from
3, B. 11/4- L. 3. D. 4. P. fiom 9 fr.- Rue d'Amerique (PI. D, 2): No. 16.

Hot. du Jl di (meubl(5), R. 2i/,^-3V,- B. J1/4 fr. — Avenue Durante (Pl.D, 2):

No. 19. St. Ennin's Hotel, new ; No. 11. Hot.-Pens. Richmond d- de Russie,
R. fiom 4. B. 11/2- L. 3V-'. D. 41/2- P- from 9 fr.; No. 25, Hot. des Xa1io7is,

R. from 21/... B. V^. L. 3, D. 3J/9. P. 9-10 fr.; No. 18, Hot.-Pens. du
Glole <f- desVof/ageurs, well spoken of, R. from 21/2- B. 1, L. 2V2- D- S

(incl. wine), P, from eV-fr.; No. 26. Hot. d' Interlal'en & de Provence,
R. 2i/v-5. B. 1, L. 3. D.' 31/2 (incl. wine), P. from 8fr.— Rue Pacjanini
(PI. D'. 2, 3): Nos. 20-22. Hot. St-Gothard <& Btau-S>^jovr, R. from 4,

B. 11/4, L. 31/2- D- 4. P. from 10 fr. ; No. 31. Hot. Frank (meubld). R. 4-10,

B. 1 fr.- Rue de Belgique (Pl.D, 2): No. 2. Gr.-Hot. de VAveirue, R.
from 3. B. 1. L. 2'/2- D- 3 (incl. wine). P. 7i/.,-9 fr.; No. 6, Hot. Bovflls
& St-Fohis, R. from 3, B. 1. L. 3 (incl. wine). P. from 8fr.; No. 17, Hot.
de Brurelles. R. from 3. B. I1/4, L. 21/2- D- 3. P. from 8fr.- Avenue de la
Gare (Pj.D, E, 2, 3): No. 70, Gr.-Hot. de Koailles (meubl^), well spoken
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of, R. from 4, B. l'/^ fr.; No. 64, Hot. National, R. from 3i/2< B. IV2,
L. 3Va, D- 4, P. from 10 fr.; No. 9, Hot. de V Univers (meubl^), commercial,
R. from 3, B. l»/.j fr.— Avenue Malacssena (PI. D, 1) : No. 3, Hot. Franqais,
R. from 3, B. 1, L. or D. 3 (incl. wine). P. from 8fr.; No. 15, Hot. Vial &
Mirabeau: No. 26, Hot. Gambetta, R. .3-7, L. 21/21 D. 3, P. from 9fr;
No. 31, Hot. deVenise, R. from 5, B. IV2, L. 31/2- D- 4- P. from 10 fr.

Outside the Town (comp. Map, p. 572), mostly in open sites with
fine views (several with motor-omn.): *Riviera Palace, Boul. de Cimiez,
luxurious, with a beautiful park, R. from 10, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8, P. from
22 fr.; *Excehior Hotel Regina (395 ft.), Av. Victoria, near the Ar^nes
(p. 572). luxurious and aristooratic, with a park, R. from 6, B. 2, L. 5,

D. 7, P. from 16 fr. ;
* Winter Palace- below the Excelsior, R. from i.

B. 21/.,, L. 8, D. 10, board 16 fr. : *Majestic Palace (PI. E, 1, 2). B. 2.

L. 6-7, D. 7-12, board 13-18 fr.; Le Grand Palais, 2 Boul. de Cimiez;
^Hermitage Hotel (PI. F. 2), with a funicular to the Hot. Langham
(p. 563). R. from 10, B. 2, L. 6, D. 10, P from 24 fr.; Hot. Carlton, below
the Hermitage; *Hdt. Alhamhra, opposite the Riviera Palace, with garden,
R. from 6, B. 2. L. 5, D. 7, P. from 15 fr. • Gr.-Hot. de Cimiez, behind
the Excelsior, with a large garden, frequei.ted by English visitors, R.
from 5, B. Vj.,. L. 4, D. 6, P. from 12 or 16 fr. ; The English Hotel Chemin
de Ste-Therese (PI. E, 1), P. from 10 fr. ; *Hdt. JmpeHcd (PI. B, 1, 2), in

the Pare Imperial (p. 572), R. from 8, B. 2, L. 6. D. S. P. from 20 fr.; Hot.
Belvi^dere (PI. B, 2), Boul. du Cesarevitch, with hydropathic and garden,
R. from 4. L. 4, D. 5. P. from 10 fr.; Hot. du Tzareioitch (PI. B, 2), Boul.
du Cesarevitch. R. from 3, B. I1/4. L. 3. D. 4, P. from 10 fr.; Eden Hotel,
Chemin de la Mantega. near tjie Boul. Ciambetta. family hotel with garden.
P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. du Pare, at St-Barthelemy (p. 573), on a hill to the
N.W.. with a large garden, R. from 5, B. I1/2- L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.;

Hot. Righi-Palace (490 ft.). Chemin de Pessicart.— *3fontboron Palace,
on the Montboron (p. 576), ^U hr. E.. with garden. R. from 5, B. I1/2. L. 4,

D. 6, P. from 12, omn. 3fr. — To the W., in the Chemin de St-Antoine (see

p. 514), Villa de Repos St-Antoine (650 ft.), R. from 5. board 12 fr.

Open the whole year: most of the hotels near the main station; also
the Hotels Bade, Balmoral, Beau-Rivage, Cecil, Cotta, Cours, Eden,
Etrangers, Frank, Luxembourg, Massena. Mont-Fleuri, New York, Rhin,
Rivoir, Rivoli, tSt. Ermin's, Stella, and Victoria.

Pensions (almost all good). Gerzoff, 45 Promenade des Anglais, P.
from 11 fr. ; Paradis, 71 Promenade des Anglais, P. 8-16fr.; Anglaise,
11 Promenade des Anglais ; Rt/sse, 93 Promenade des Anglais (entrance at

169 Rue de France), open the whole year, German, P. 8 fr. ; Bavai'ia.
7 Promenade des Anglais and 11 Rue de France, open the whole year. Ger-
man, P. from 7 fr.; Bushy, 38 Rue Cotta, English. P. from 9 f r. ; Brice,
44 Rue Cotta; Funel, 8 Av. Durante, open the whole year, German, P.

from 10 fr. ; Ariglo-Ainericaine. 23 Rue d'Amerique, open the whole year,
P. 8-10 fr. ; Villa Daheim, 17 Av. Auber. German, P. from 8V2 fr. ; U Oasis,
23 Rue Gounod, open the whole year. P. from 7 fr. ; Covgres, 5 Rue du
Congres, P. from 7 f r. ; Gross, 48* Boul. Victor-Hugo, P. from 9 fr. ; Ca-
vallero, 3 Av. des Fleurs, open the whole year, German , P. from 6 fr.

;

Villa St-Pierre, 2 Av. des Fleurs. open the "whole year, English, P. from
8 f r. ; France, 33-35 Rue de France. P. from 9 fr. ; Miraviare, 163 Rue de
France, P. from 8 fr. ; Sollar, Chemin des Beaumettes, open the whole year,
P. 8-10 fr.; Arcades, 70 Av. Borriglione, P. from 7 fr.; Villa Louisa, 68
Boul. Carnot, frequented by Scandinavians, P. 8-10 f r. ; 3Ionplaisir, Av.
Monplaisir. Anglo-American, P. 8-12 fr. ; Midler, 26 Boul. Victor-Hugo,
P. from TV-, fr. ; Le Chcdet, 16 Boul. Carabacel, P. 8i/2-12fr.; Beansoleil,
19 Av. Desambrois, P. 8-15 fr.

Apartments to let are indicated by tickets. The rent of 1-2 fur-
nished rooms in the town, for the winter, is about 250-700 fr. ; suites are
let for 1000-5000 fr., villas for 3000-8000 fr. or more. Precautions as to

contract, see p. xix. — Agents: Jougla & Payen, 55 Rue Giotfredo; A.
Lattes, 10 Av. Felix-Faure; Rosanoff', 1 Rue de Longchamp.
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Restaurants. *X4gresco (p. 563), *Rest. du Casino -Municipal

(p. 568; tirst floor), *Regt. de la Regence, 8 Av. de la Grare, *Majestic

Falace (p. 565), all expensive and fashionable, a la carte; Rest. Riviera,

Place Massena; GriU-Roovi C'aressa. Rue Gamier, corner of the Av.
de la Grare. — Cafe' de Paris, 18 Av. de la Gare; BeUe-JIeunih-e, 8 Rue
Cotta. good. L. 4. D. 5 fr.; Edicard's (p. 564), 22 Rue Cotta; Rest, des

Bains de-la-PIage, Promenade des Anglais. — Less expensive: National,

5 Av. de la Gare. L. or D. 3 fr. ; Reynaud & des Gourmets, corner of the

Place Massena and Rue Gioffredo, L. 2V'2-3, D. 3-4 fr. (incl. -wine); Lyon,
56 Rue GioflFredo; Paris, 28 Rue d'Angleterre; Rest, de VAude, 5 Rue de

Belgique, L. I1/2-2, D. 2-21/2 fr. (incl. wine); Rest, des Palmiers, 5 Rue
d'ltalie; Botta, 7 Rue d'ltalie ; Rosbif, 1 Rue de la Paix; Boeuf a la 3Iode,

1 Rue Adelaide; Gritti, 5 Rue de Russie; Paste, 21 Rue de I'Hotel-des-

Postes. L. 2, D. 21/2^1. (incl. wine); Cave de Falicon, 1 Rue de la Caserne,

near the Boul. Mac-Mahon (wines of the country); Automat Restaurant,
47 Av. de la Gare. — Oysters, etc.: ^-Rest. de la Reserve {V\. H, 5), Boul.

de rimperatrice-de-Russie (bouillabaisse, p. 526), expensive; Posada, at

the Hot. Austria (p. 563); Faverio, Quai du Midi, moderate.

Confectioners. Rumj^elmayer, 26 Boul. Victor-Hugo ; Minar, 19 Av.
de la Gare; Guitton & Kactel,~n Av. de la Gare; Vogade and F^a, Place

Massena.— Afterxoox Tea at the confectioners'; at the Majestic and
Regina-Excelsior hotels (with music), etc.; British & American Tea
Rooms, 7 Jardin Public; Riviera Tea Rooms, 17 Rue de France.

Cabs (Voitures de Place).

Per drive within the town-limits,
marked by posts

Per drive within the banlieue .

Per hour in the town . . . .

Per hour outside the town . .

One-horse,
with 2 seats.

day
1.—
2.—
2.50

3.50

night
1.50

2.50
3.—
4.—

One-horse
coupe.

day
1.25

2.50
3.—
4.—

night
1.75
3.—
3.50

4.50

Two-horse,
2 or 4 seats.

day
2.—
4.—
5.—

night

- 7.—

After the first hour the fare is reckoned by the quarter-hour. If cab

be sent for from nearest stand 25 c, if from more remote stands, 50 c. extra.

Luggage up to 30 kg. (66 lbs.) 25 c. each trunk. Bargain necessary for

drives outside the town, unless the fare is fixed by tariff. Xight in winter

is from 7, in summer from 10 p.m., to 7 a.m.

Special Drives. To the Chateau and back, with stay of 1/2 hr., 4 fr.

;

coupe or landau 5, with two horses 8 fr. — To Ciraiez and round by Bran-
colar, or to St-Sylvestre via the Vallon Obscur, or to the Boul. de Montboron
via Riguier, or to the Citnetiere de Caucade, 5, 6, or 10 fr.— To the

Hippodrome via the Promeymde des Anglais, or round by Cimiez and St-

Pons. 7, 9, 12fr. — To Villefranche or La Trinit&Victor or the Grotte

St-Andre, with stay of 1/.^ hr., 8, 10, 15 fr.- To Isidore along the Var.

or to Fabron and St-Antoine, or along the Route Forestiere (Montboron),

with stay of V2 hr., 10, 12, 15 fr. — To Beaulieu, or to St-Jean, or to the

Mont-Gros, or to Gairaut and Cimiez, with stay of 1/2 hr., 12, 15, 20 fr.

—

To Falicon and St-Andr4, or to the Cap Ferrat, or to Cagnes, or to

St-Pancrace or St-Roman via La Madeleine, with stay of 1 hr.. 15, 18,

25fr. — To the Observatoire and Villefranche, or to Tourette-de-Levens,

or to St-Isidore and St-Antoine, or to Gairaut and St-Pancrace, v.ith

stav of 1 hr., 15, 20, 25fr.— To La Turbie and Le LagJiet, with stay

of 2hrs., 20, 25, 30fr. — To Monte Carlo via Villefranche, with stay of

2 hrs., 25, 30, 35 fr.— To Monte Carlo by the Grande-Corniche, or to the

Cap d'Antibes, 30, 35, 40fr.— To Mentone by the Grande-Corniche, or

to Cannes, with stay of 2 hrs., 35, 40, 45 fr.

Motor Cabs (with three seats; stand in the Place Massena, in

summer in the Boul. Victor-Hugo). Up to 600 m. (at night 450 m.) 1 fr.,

for every 266 m. (at night 200 m.) more 20 c.; trunk 50 c.— Beyond the

octroi-limits, up to 450 m. Ifr.; return-fee to the Place Massena, 75 c.

up to 1 km.
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Electric Tramways (in the town 10 or 15 c). 1- From St-Maurice
(beyond PI. D, 1), via the Place Mass^na (PI. E, 4), to the Port (PI. G, 4)

and Montboron (PI. H, 4; >S0 or 40 c.); also, during the season, to Ville-

franche in tlie afternoon (45 or 65 c.).— 2. From the Port (PI. Gr, 4), every
15-20 min., past the Gare du Sud to St-3Iavrice and St-Sylvestre (beyond
PI. D, 1).- 3. From the Gave du P.-L.-M. (PI. C, D, 2) to the Place Risso
(PI. G, 1) and the Octroi de Bon-Voyage (beyond PI. H, 1; to Coutes and
Beudejun, see p. 582). —4. From the Place JIassena (PI. E, 4) to the Poiit

Magnan (PI. A, 5) and Carras-t'alifornie. In the same direction, every
1/2-I hr., via the Gare du Var (30 or 50 c.) and the Hippodrome du Var,
to" St-Laurent and t'agnes (p. 543 ; 65 c. or 1 fr. 5 c.; to the Cap d' Antibes,
see p. 542; to La Madeleine, via the Pont Magnan, 15 or 20 c, see p. 574).
— 5. From the Gare de Riquier (PL H, 2), via the Port and the Gare du
P.-L.-M., to the Eue Cluvier and the Pare Impi^rial (PI. B, 2; 10-20 c.).—
6. From the Place Massena (PI. E, 4), via the Rue Gioffredo, to St-Pons
(beyond PI. G, 1; to Levens, see p. 572).— 7. From the Place 3Iassina
(PI. E, 4), via the Gare du Sud (PI. D, 1) and the Boul. Gambetta, back
to the Place Massena, and vice versa. — 8. From the Place Scdnzzo
(PI. H, 3), via the Gare du P.-L.-M. (PI. C, D, 2) and the Pont Magnan,
to (Jarras (beyond Pi. A, 5). — 9. From the Riie de V Hotel-des-Postes
(PI. E, 3), every 12-20 min., to (Jimiez (p. 572; 10-20 c.). — 10. From the
Place Massena (PI. E, 4) to St-Jean, Beaulieu, and Monte Carlo, see p. 575.

Omnibuses to various points from the Boul. Mac-Mahon, Place St-

FranQois, etc.

—

Motor Om.nibus to St-Antoine and St-Roman (p. 574;
11/2 fr.) 2-4 times daily from 34 Boul. Mac-Mahon; to Gairaut (p. 573;
1 fr.), 4 times daily in 3/4 hr. from the Sq. Massdna.

Garages. Comp. des Automobiles- Taxitnetres, 2 Eue de 1' Opera
(motor-ear 100-200 fr. per day; 'tour de Xice', for 3 pers., 15 fr.); Elysee
Auto-tar, 7 Promenade des Anglais; Auto-Palace, 4 Rue Meyerbeer;
Michelin-De Dion-Bouton, 14 Av. Felix-Faure; Panhard-Levassor, 35 Eue
de la Paix; Majestic, Boul. de Cimiez; Schneider, 5 Boul. Gambetta;
Touring-Car, 3 Rue de la Buffa.

Excursions by motor-car or brake to Mentone and San Remo by
the Grande-Corniche, to the Gorges du Loup and Grasse, and by the
Corniche d'Or to St-Raphael, etc., are organized by Avdoly, 4 Place
Massena, Cote-d'Azur E.rcursions. Av. des Phocdens, Thos. Cook & Son,
and Lubin (see below). Seats should he booked the day before.

Steamers. A saloon steamer of the Hamburg-American line (turbine
steamer 'Kaiser' or 'Konigin Luise' in 1914; agency, see p. 568) runs
from Feb. to April to Monaco, Mentone, San Remo, and Genoa; it starts

on Mon., Wed., and Fri. from the Quai de Lazaret at 9 a.m., leaves
Monaco at 10.5, Mentone at 10.50, and San Remo at 1 (Italian time), and
arrives at Genoa at 5.45 p.m. The return journey is made on Tues.,
Thurs., and Sat., the boat leaving Genoa at 10 a.m., San Remo at 2.30,

Mentone at 2.30 (French time), and Monaco at 3.15, and arriving at Nice
at 4.10 p.m. Fare from Nice to San Remo 61/2. to Genoa 25 fr. ; from
Monaco or Mentone to San Remo 5 fr. ; from Monaco to Genoa 23 f r. ; from
Mentone to Genoa 22 fr. Return fares at reduced rates. No tickets are
issued between Nice. Monaco, and Mentone. Trunk 2 fr. Restaurant on
board. —A similar service is projected by the new Comp. Fran^aise de
Tourisme Nautique (three times weekly from 15th Jan. to 15th June; in

71/2 hrs.); also a new service to from Cannes to Nice, Monaco, Bastia,
Ajaccio, and Tunis (in 30 hrs.).— Steamers of the Comp. Fraissinet (agency,
see p. 568) ply to Tendon and Marseilles (see p. 535) on Sat., to Marseilles
direct on Tues., and to Genoa on Fri.; to Corsica, see pp. 595, 596.

Post & Telegraph Office. Chief office (PL 8; F, 3), Place de la

Libert^ (open dav and night for telegrams). Branches: 3 Place Grimaldi
(PL 41; D, 4); 8 Place Garibaldi (PL 41; G, 3); 68 Av. de la Gare; 2 Eue
du Cours; at the Casino Municipal (p. 568); at the Riviera Palace (p. 565);
etc. — Parcels Office, near the main post office.

Tourist Agents. Thos. Cook <& Son, 13 Prom, des Anglais; Lubin,
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12 Av. F^lix-Faure; Johnson, 18 Rue de I'Hotel-des-Postes; Scott, 2 Place

Magenta; C'nnard Line, 11 Prom, des Anglais; Messageries Centrales,

2 Place Massena; Hamburg-American Line^Vrova. des Anglais; Dnchemin
(Messageries Maritimes), 12 Av. Felix-Faure; North German Lloyd, 14 Av.
Felix-Faure; t'omp. Fraissinet, 11 Place Cassini.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais (PI. 44; E, S), 15 Av. de la Gare; Caisse

de Credit (PL 45; E, 3), 1 Rue Gubernatis; Societe Generale, 64 Rue
Gioffredo; Comptoir d'Escompte, 3 Av.de la Gare.

Baths. Hammam de Nice {Twr'ki&h, etc.), 8 Rue de la BufFa ; PaZais

de V Hygiene, 4 Rue Adelaide (-with swimming basin); Baiv3 deV Opera,
8 Rue St-Franqois-de-Paule; Macarani, 5 Rue Macarani ; Parisiens, 20 Av.
de la Gare; Modernes, 23 Rue Pertinax. — Sea Bathing on the Promenade
des Anglais (PI. C,4. 5; 1 fr. ; steep shingly beach) and Boul. de I'lra-

peratrice-de-Russie (PI. H, 5).

Booksellers. Yisconti i- Galignani, 58 Rue Gioffredo and 17 Av.
de la Gare; Escofper, 3 Place Massena; Lihrairie Nouvelle, 14 Av. Felix-

Faure; Hohberg, 2 Rue Macarani; Nice Circulating Library, 12 Rue de

France.— English Newspapers. The Svjiss & Nice Times (15 c.); The
Anglo-American Gazette.

Casinos. Casino Municipal (PL E, 4; p. 570), Place Massena, with
winter-garden (concerts), restaurant, reading and gaming rooms, and
theatre; adm. 2, per month 20, per season 40 h. — Casino de la Jetee-

Promenade (PL D, 4, 5 ; p. 571 : closed in summer), with terrace, restaurant,

reading-room, and concert-hall; adm. 2, per week 10, season 58 fr.

Clubs. Cercle de la Mediterranee (PL 12 ; D, 4). 3 Prom, des Anglais
;

Grand-Cercle du Casino. Casino Municipal; Country Club, Hot. Imperial;

Automobile Club and Aero Club, 7 Prom, des Anglais: Club Nautique, 65

Prom, des Anglais; Cercle Artistique, 27 Boul. Dubouchage; Lawn Tennis
Club, Place Mozart; Golf Club, at Cagnes (p. 543); Club Alpin Frangais,
13 Av. de la Gare; Club du Palais-de- Glace, Pare Chambrun.

Theatres. Theatre de V Opera (PL 39: E. 4). Rue St-Fran?ois-de-

Paule (box 14-34, other seats 2-8 fr. ; evening dress in best seats on Tues.
and Thwrs,.).— Theatre du Casino (box 15-30, other seats 3-7 h.).— Theatre
de la Jet^e-Promenade (PL D. 4; seat 3-5 h.).— Theatre des Varietes
(PL 55; D, 3), Rue Emanuel (box 60, other seats B-9 h.).— 01ympia-Casino
(PL 47; E. 3). Av. de la Gare (for operettas, ballets, etc.; 2-30 fr.).—

Eldorado (PL 49; E, 3), 29 Rue Pastorelli (varietv shoAv; 11/4-41/2 fr.).

—

Kursaal (PL 40; E, 3), 2 Rue St-lVIichel: etc.

Palais de Glace, in the Pare Chambrun (p. 573), with an ice skating

rink; adm. 1 fr.— Roller Skatisg Rlnk, Sq. Gambetta.

The Carnival is held at Nice during twelve days before Lent and
also at mid-Lent. The amusements consist in the throwing of confetti

(and sometimes lumps of plaster, for protection against which masks are

used), in the Battle of Flowers on the Promenade des Anglais, in the

'veglioni', or masked balls, at the theatres, and in the formation of fan-

tastic processions. — Horse Races are held in Jan. at the Hippodrome
(p. 571). — Regattas in March or April.— Aviation Meetlkgs in April.

Syndicat d'Initiative, 7 Av.' de la Gare (PL E, 3, 4).— Chambee
DE Commerce Anglaise, 4 Av. Massena.

British Consul, J. W. Keogh, 95 Rue de France (office-hours 10-12).

— American Consul, W. D. Hunter, 52 Boul. Victor-Hugo (9.30-12).

Anglican Churches. Holy Trinity (PL 25; D, 4), Place Alziary;

services at 8, 10.30, 11.30, and 3 (5 in summer); chaplain. Rev. T. F. Buck-
ton.— Christ Church (PL 26; E, 2), 3»''s Av. Notre-Dame. Carabacel; ser-

vices (Oct.-May) at 8.30, 10.30, and 3.30; chaplain, Rev. S. C. C. Smith.
— Anglican services also (Septuagesima to Palm Sunday) at the Hotel

Regina, Cimiez (p. 512).— Amencan (PL 24; D, 3), 18 Boul. Victor-Hugo
servises at 8. .30, 10.30, and B. — Scottish Presbyterian (PL 27; D, 3), 18

Boul. Victor-Hugo; services (Xov.-May) at 10.30 and 4.30; minister, Rev.
A. F. A. Moir.
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English Physicians. Dr. Amy, 6 Boul. Victor-Hugo; Dr. Egerton
Brandt, i7 Kue Cotta ; Dr. Gilchrist, Villa Alhambra, Boul. cle Ciraiez ; Dr.
Ifort, 29 Boul. de Cinii.-z; Dr. Linn (American), 1 Rue Gallean. — English
Hospital. Victoria Memorial Hoiijiital, at Montboron (p. 576). — Dentists.
English : Shillcock, Place de la Liberie. American : Burnett-Helot, 25 Boul.
Victor-Hugo; Cowan, 62 Rue Gioffredo; Garcia, 5 Rue Gamier; Dr. Griiter,
5 Place Mass(5na— Chemists. Xicholls, 4 Av.Massena; Liotard, Steinmann,
2 and 14 Rue de France; Guillabert. Winter Palace, Boul. de Cimiez.

Climate. The bay of Nice is sheltered on the N., N.E., and N.W.
by the lower Maritime Alps, culminating in the Mont Chauve d'Aspremont
(p. 573), a natural screen, to which it is largely indebted for its mild
climate. The mean winter temperature is 48°, the summer 72°. Frost
and snow are rare. The broad, stony channel of the Paillon is rather
draughty, and the coast is exposed to E. and W. winds, but Nice is better
sheltered from the bitter mistral than many other places on the Riviera.
Thanks, moreover, to the surrounding hills, it is easy to tind inland
quarters free from wind and dust. The most sheltered quarters are
Carabacel, St-Barth^lemy, Montboron, Brancolar, and Cimiez. Sunset is

a critical time for delicate persons, who should always be w^ell provided
with wraps at that hour. The moment the sun disappears, the air becomes
damp and chilly, but gets drier and warmer 1-2 hours later. The rainiest
months are usually October and November, but on the whole the climate
is dry, warm, and bracing, while the town affords greater variety than
any other place on the Riviera. The water is generally good. The summers
are cooler than in many places farther north, but mosquitoes abound.

Living is expensive, almost all necessaries being considerably dearer
than in England. But Nice is a delightful, health-giving winter residence,
and not beyond the reach of persons with moderate means.

Xics^ Ital. Nizza (pop. 14:2,940), capital of the department of

the Alpes-Maritimes, and the seat of a bishop, is a favourite winter
resort of invalids and pleasure-seekers from all parts of Europe
(about 200,000 annually). The season begins in January, when the

races take place ; these are soon followed by the Carnival ; and in

April a great regatta and an aviation meeting are held.
Nice, the ancient Nicaea (Greek Nikaia, 'city of victory'), was founded

by Phocseans, about 350 B.C., on the site of an earlier Phoenician colony
and Ligurian fortress, which lay on the castle-hill. It prospered greatly
at first, but under the Romans was supplanted by Cimiez. At a later
period it was sacked several times by the barbarian hordes and the
Saracens ; and it suffered severely in the wars between the mediteval
rulers of Provence and N. Italy. It was more or less under the sway
of the Counts of Provence down to 1388, when it transferred its allegiance
to the Dukes of Savoy. In 1543 it was attacked by the French under
Francis I., aided by the Turkish admiral Khair-ed-Din Barbarossa, and
sustained a memorable siege. It was again taken by the French in 1600,
1691, 1706, and 1744. At its own request it was annexed to France in
1793; in 1814 the Countship of Nice was restored to Sardinia; and lastly,
in 1860, it was annexed to France together with Savoy. Nice was the
birthplace of the painter Carle Vanloo (1705-65), Marshal Mass^na (1758-
1817), and Garibaldi (1807-82).

Nice is beautifully situated on the Baie des Anges, facing S.,

at the mouth of the Paillon, a torrent whose broad and stony bed
is flanked with handsome quays, while the latter part of its course
is bridged over. On the left bank are the Riquier quarter and the

Old Toivn, with its narrow lanes. On the right bank lies the Ville

des Etrangers, extending W. to the Magnan torrent and N. to the

villa-quarters of St-Maurice, Brancolar, and St-Barthelemy.
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lu froat of the Gave du P.-L.-M. (PI. C, D, 2) runs the Avenue
Thiers, planted with eucalypti, leading to the left to the handsome
Avenue de la Gave (PI. D, E, 2, 3), which turns to the right,

passing the modern church of Notre-Dame (PI. 19; D, 2) and
ending at the Place Masseua.

Opposite the church the Av. Xotre-Dame leads to the Musee
Municipal (PL 7, E, 2; open on week-days, except Mon. and
holidays, 10-12 and 2-5.30, on Sun. 10-12 only)-

The Ground Floor contains antiquities and sculptures.— First Floor,
Salle Gambart, with musical instruments. To the left, Salle Brea: Pro-
vencal paintings (15th-l6th cent.). Salle Yanloo: J. B. Vcmloo, 264.

Louis XV., 265. Marie Lesczinska; 267. C. Vanloo, Theseus and the bull
of Marathon; 283. D. Ryckaert, The bleeding. Salle Trachel : Modern
pictures, tapestry, etc. --To the right of the Salle Gambart is the Salle
Jos. Felon. Then the Salle Felix Ziem: 439. BroinUet, Lessou by Dr.
Charcot; 447. P. Bertrand, EnA^irons of Hyeres ; 423. Lematte, Abduction
of Dejanira; 448. Boislecomte, Bonaparte at Xice; 430. Loir, Quay at

Puteaus; 345. Courbet, Saut du Doubs; 425. Lerolle, Jacob at Laban's;
Simpson, Queen Victoria and Prince Albert on board the 'Resolute'.
Lastly, Salle Chabal-Dussurgey: 343. Chahal- Dussurgey , Rose-bush;
Liiminais, 3i35. Exorcism, 356. During the war; A. Jlossa, 627. Faith,
628. Genius of Revenge; 615. Yon?-assoff, Lac de Fontanallaa; 402, 403.
Griltzner, Hunting scenes; 432. Bonnefoy, The right place.

Lower down, the Av. de la Gare crosses au important thorough-

fare formed by Boulevard Victor-Hugo (right) and Boulevard
Duhouchage (left), the latter leading to the Carabacel quarter.

The Av. de la Gare ends at the Place Massena (PL E, -4), one of the

chief centres of traflfic. The Kue Massena, to the right, leads into the

long Rue de France, where a marble cross on the right (PL 54;
D, 4) recalls the visit of Pope Paul III. in 1538, who negotiated an

armistice here between Charles V. and Francis I, A column oppo-

site recalls visits of Pope Pius VII. in 1809 and 1814.

On the E. of the Place Massena rises the Casino Municipal
(Pl.E, 4; p. 568), erected in 1883 over the bed of the Paillon.

Behind it is the Square Massena (PL E, F, 4), with a statue of

Marshal Massena (p. 569), by Carrier-Belleuse. Ou the N. of the

square runs the Av. Felix-Faure, leading on the right bank of the

Paillon to the Lycee (PL F, 3), the church of St-Jean-Baxjtiste
(PL 18; F, 3), and the Ecole d'Art Decoratif (PL 37; F, 3).— On
the left bank, reached by the Pont Vieux (16th cent.), the Pont
Garibaldi, or the Pont Barla (opened by Queen Victoria in 1899),

lies the Place Garibaldi (PL F, G, 3), adorned with a statue of

Garibaldi (p. 569), by Etex and Deloye.— Near it is the Natural
Histary Museum (PL 36; G, 3), 60 Boul. Risso (open on Tues.,

Thurs., Sat., 12-3), with a fine collection of models of fungi.

The Jardln Public (PL D, E, 4), adjoining the Place Massena,
and lying partly over the mouth of the Paillon, is prettily laid out.

Among the sculptures is the Monument du Centenaire (,P1. D, 4),

recalling the first union of Nice with France (1793).
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The *Promenade des Anglais (PI. A-D, 4, 5), founded by

English visitors in 1822-4 in order to provide work for the un-

employed, stretches to the W. along the coast, and is bordered

with large hotels and villas. At the E. end is the Jetee-Promenade

(PI. D, 4-5; see p. 568), opposite which is the Cercle de la Medi-
te)^7^anee (p. 568). Farther W. the Boul. Gambetta diverges to the

right. Beyond the mouth of the Magnan (PI. A, 5), 17* ^^- ^rom

the Jardin Public, the Promenade des Anglais leads past the quar-

ters of Ste-Helene (with a monument to the aviator Ferber, killed

in 1909) and Garros to the Champ d'Aviation and the Hip-
podrome, and rejoins the Route de France near the Pont du Var,

4^2 ^Jt- from the Place Massena. We may return by the Cagnes

tramway (No. 4; p. 567), passing Le Var station (p. 544) and an

Ostrich Farm (adm. 1 fr.).

The Quai du Midi (PI. E, F, 4) prolongs the Promenade des

Anglais E. of the Jardin Public, and leads to the fish -market.

Parallel with the quay runs the Rue St-Frangois-de-Paule (PI.

E, 4), in which, on the N. side, are the Mairie (PL 34; with a

marble group of Orestes and Athena in the court) and the church

of St-Francois-de-Paule (PI. 16; 18th cent.). On the S. side are

the Theatre de V Opera (PL 39), and the Library (PL 6; open
Tues.-8at. 10-12 and 2-5, except in Aug.), with 60,000 vols, and a

few Roman antiquities. In line with the Rue St-Frangois-de-Paule

runs the C'ours Saleya (PL F, 4), where the flower and vegetable

market is held in winter. To the left are the Prefecture (PL 38),

built in 1611-13, and restored in 1907, once the royal palace, and
the modern Palais de Justice (PL 33). In the old town, a little N.,

rises the Cathedral of Ste-Beparate (PL 15 ; F, 4), of the 17th

cent.; to the E., in the Rue Droite, is the Palais Lascaris, of the

same period, once owned by the Counts of Castellar (p. 594).

To the E, of the old town rises the Chateau, or castle-hill

(Pl.F, G, 4; 305 ft.), formerly crowned with a castle, which was
destroyed by the Duke of Berwick in 1706. Almost the only relic

of it is the Tour Bellanda (PL 42; F, 5), near the foot of the hill,

next the quay. Since 1827 the plateau at the top of the hill has

been planted with trees and contains a small zoological garden.

The easiest way up (20 min.) is by the Rue Segurane from the Place

Garibaldi (p. 570); other roads ascend on the N.W. and S.E. sides,

and on the S.W. side, near the tower, is the JMontee Lesage

(198 steps). On the S. side of the plateau is a battery (no adm.).

At the highest point, above an artificial cascade, is a terrace com-
manding a superb *View (indicator). On the N. side is the old

Cemetery, with a monument (1909) to Leon Gambetta (1838-82)

and the tombs of Garibaldi's mother, sister, and first wife.

On the E. side of the castle-hill lies the Harbour (PL G, H, 4, 5
;

tramways, see p. 567), called Port Lympia (limpida) from a brook
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whose mouth is farther E. It may be reached from the Quai du
Midi by the road rounding the S. slope of the castle-hill, the windy
corner of which is known as the Rauha-Capeu ('hat-robber'). In

the Place Bellevue (PL G, 5) is a statue of King Charles Felix,

who made Nice a free port. At the N. end of the harbour is the

Place Cassiui, with a bust of Carnot.
The beautiful villa-gardens of Nice are accessible only by leave of the

owners. In the Brancolar quarter, to the X., are the Villas Liserb and
Vcdrose. The Villa Kirchner (PI. H, 5), to the E.. on the Boul. de I'lm-
peratrice-de-Russie, and the Villa des Palmiers, on the Chemin de Fabron,
to the W., may likewise be mentioned.

To the X. of the main station is the Place Gambetta (PI. D, 1) with
a large statue of Gambetta, by L. Maiibert (1909). — Beyond the railway
embankment to the N.W. of the town lies the Pare I?iipe7-ial (PI. B, 2;
formerly Villa Bermond), with the Hotel Imperial (p. 565) and the C'ha-
pelle Riisse, built on the site of the house where the Tsarevitch Nicholas
died in 1865, and in front of it rises the large Russian Cathedral, the
only one existing outside Russia, a fine building completed in 1912.

Environs of Tfl'ice.

On a hill to the W. of the Paillon lies Cimiez, Ital. Cimella
(hotels, see p. 565 ; tramway No. 9, see p. 567), a favourite residential

suburb with numerous villas. We ascend to it from the Av. Desam-
brois (PI. E, 2) by the fine Boul. de Cimiez. It lies on the site of

the Roman Cemenelum, the only relics of which are the Arenes,
or amphitheatre (which the road passes), a square building called

a Temple of ApoUo, and baths. The first road to the right beyond
the Arenes leads to the old Monastery of Cimiez, erected in i543
on the site of a temple of Diana. The church contains two paint-

ings by Lod. Brea of Nice, a Crucifixion and a Descent from the

Cross (1512). In front of the garden of the Hotel Regina (p. 565)
is a monument to Queen Victoria, who often stayed there. Road
to St-Pons, see below.

From Nice to Levens, 13 M., electric railway from the Pla':e

Massena (p. 570) four times daily in I1/4 hr. (1 fr. 75, 1 fr. 10 c); to St-
Andre every IV2 hr. (40 or 25 c).

The line crosses the Paillou twice and follows tramway-line
No. 6 (p. 567). We pass under the two railway embankments. To
the left is a prison.— Farther on (27o M.) a fine road, with huge
olive-trees, ascends to the left to the monastery of Cimiez (see

above). Farther N. we pass the old Abbey of St-Pons, now the

Pasteur Hospital. Fine view. Farther on, to the left, are quarries

and a lunatic-asylum. The car ascends the pretty dale of the Paillon
de St-Andre.— 31/2 M. St-Andre (195 ft.; aub.), a village with a

picturesque chateau of 1687, now a school. A eucalyptus avenue
leads thence to (^4 hr.) the Gh'otte de St-Andre (adm. 50 c), a natural

bridge across the Paillon.— We next pass through a wild ravine,

cross the stream by the natural bridge, and then (5 M.) another
bridge, beyond which the Falicon road diverges to the left (p. 573)
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— 7^2 ^I- Tourette-Levens, a picturesque village on a rocky
hill (1455 ft.), with a 14th cent, castle (view). Bridle-path W. to

(1 hr.) Aspremont (see below), E. to Chateauneuf and Contes (p. 582).— The line returns to the Paillon valley, passes (81/2 M.) Le
Colombler and (11 M.) Ste-Claire, and crosses the pastures on
the watershed between the Paillon and the Var to (13 M.) Les
Traverses (Hot. Beau-Sejour; Cafe-Rest. Terminus), the present

terminus. The village of Levens lies on a rocky hill (1915 ft.),

^/^ M. to the W., crowned with a ruined castle. The Place Borriglione

at the S. end of the village affords a fine view towards the sea;

from the Chemin de la Colline near the cemetery, on the N., we
survey the wild gorge of the Vesubie and the peaks of the Alpes
Maritimes.

To the E. of Les Traverses a bridle-path, turning later to the N.,
ascends to the Castellard (3700 ft.). Toilsome ascent thence, throngh
woods, to (3 hrs.) Mont Ferion (4635 ft.; fine panorama). We may
then descend S.E. to (H/.2 hr.) C'oaraze (p. 582). — A fine route leads W.
from Les Traverses, past the remains of a Roman aqueduct and rounding
the picturesque village of La Roquette-siir-Var (1150 ft.), to (5 M.) St-
Martiyi-du-Var (p. 578). — Another attractive route, more to the S., de-
scends over a suspension-bridge, 260 ft., high, to St-Blaise (1010 ft. ; aub.),
and ascends gradually to (3 his.) As2}re7nont (1575 ft.; aub.).

Beyond Les Traverses the high-road runs high above the gorge
of the Vesubie, passes the hamlet of Duranus, pierces the Saut-
des-Francais (1670 ft.) by a tunnel, and lastly descends to ("211/2 M.)

St-Jean-la-Riviere (p. 581).

From the Place Gambetta (p. 572) the Av. Borriglione leads N.
via St-Barthelemy to St-Maurice (tramway No. 2, p. 567). From
the former of these suburbs the Av. Cyrille-Besset leads to the old

convent-church (with a 16th cent, altar-piece) and the Hotel du
Pare (p. 565), the grounds of which deserve a visit. From the

hotel we may go on to St-Sylvestre (see below). At St-Maurice is the

pretty *Parc Chambrun (adm. 1 fr.), containing the Palais de

Grlace (p. 568). From St-Maurice we may turn to the right via

the Av. des Acacias into the pretty Vallon des Fleurs, or we may
ascend by the Chemin de Brancolar to Cimiez (p. 572). The tram-
way goes on to (1^/2 ^i- from the Place Gambetta) St-Sylvestre
(aub.), short of which, at the Chapelle du Bay, diverges the road to

G-airaut (21/.2M. from the tra)nway; motor-omn., see p. 567). The
Canal de la Vesubie (p. 581), 20 M. long, supplying Nice with
water, has a reservoir and waterfall here. The road goes on N. to

the Chapelle St-Sebastien, where a military road diverges to the left

for the fortified 2Iout Chauve d'Aspremont (2780 ft.). To the right

the road leads to the picturesque village of Falicon (1005 ft. ; aub.),

2 M. from Gairaut. We may return via St-Andre (p. 572).

Stout shoes are needed in exploring the wild valleys among the

hills to the W. and N.W., such as the Vallon Obscur, a dark

Baedekeu's Southern France. 6th Edit. 37
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and damp ravine V* ^^- ^^om St-Sylvestre (p. 573; a child with

a plank should be engaged at the entrance), the Vallon de la

Mantega, reached by the Chemin de Pessicart (see below), and the

lateral ravines of the Vallon de Magnan, on whose left bank

runs a tramway (No. 4 ; p. 567). Beyond the Pont Magnan is (1^2 ^I-)

La Madeleine (railway station, see p. 576), a favourite Sunday

resort. At the 'Yallon des Etoiles' halt, ^2 ^^- short of the village,

opens a narrow cleft to the W. (fine heather in Oct. -Dec.) leading

to the (10 min.) Puits aux Etoiles, an abyss 115 ft. deep. Beyond

La Madeleine is a high bridge on the right leading to St-Pancrace

(see below), while the road ascends to the left in windings to (2 hrs.

from Nice) St-Roman (aub.; motor-omn., see p. 567; view).

These hills are intersected by a network of good roads, affording

beautiful views. The Chemiii de Pessicart, diverging to the

left from the Boul. Gambetta (PI. C, 1), ascends in 11/2 hr. to St-

Pancrace (aub.). The Chemin de Fabron, diverging to the N.

from the Rue de France, 1/2 M. to the S.W. of the Pont Magnan
(PI. A, 5; tramway No. 4, p. 567), leads past charming villas (soon

joining the pretty Chemin de la La7ite)'?ie, which comes up from

La Californie) to {V/^ hr.) St-Antoine (aub.; motor-omn., see

p. 567 ; view), from which a road leads to St-Isidore (p. 576). We
may return direct to Nice in 1 hr. by a road past the Villa de Repos

(p. 565); or we may go farther N. to the Chemin de Ginestieres,

and descend by it to the right {^j^ hr. longer).

On Mont Gros (1230 ft. ; *View), IV2 lir- ^-E., reached by the

Grande-Corniche (p. 575; shorter path from the Villa La Tour,

=^'4 hr.) is the well-equipped Observatory, founded by Raphael

Bischoffsheim, and constructed in 1881-7 by Ch. Gamier (adm.

Thurs. afternoon, 1 fr.). The Pavilion du Grand-Equatorial con-

tains the largest refractor in Europe (60 ft. long, with a 30-inch

lens), which alone cost 100,000 fr. The dome, 80 ft. in diameter,

floating in a bath of chloride of magnesium, and weighing 95 tons,

moves with perfect ease.

77. Excursions from Nice.

I. From Nice to Mentone.

a. By the Grande-Corniche, 191/2 M. (carr., motor-cars, and brakes,
see pp. 506, 567 j. As the drivers prefer the less picturesque coast-road,

it is well to stipulate expressly for the upper Grande-Corniche route.

Walkers should take train to Monte Carlo, and then to La Turbie (p. 589),

whence they may walk back to Xice or descend to Mentone. The ascent
to the Col des Quatre-Chemins by the Corniche with descent to the Col de
Yillefranche (p. 575), Villefranche, or Beaulieu, is a beautiful half-day's

excursion, but the pleasure of walking is sadly marred by motor-cars
and dust.
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The famous *^Eoute de la Grande-Corniche, between Nice

and Meutone, a part of the Genoa road constructed under Napo-

leon I., is one of the most beautiful roads in Europe. Starting from

the Place Risso (PI. G, 1; tramway No. 3, p. 567), it ascends past

the pretty Villa La Toui' and round Mont Gros, through rich vege-

tation. Superb views of the Paillon valley and the Alps. Beyond
the gateway on the right, leading to the observatory (p. 574), we
reach the (4^2 M.) Col des Quatre-Chemins (1075 ft. ; aub.), whence

a picturesque road descends, branching right and left to Villefranche

and Beaulieu (p. 544; 50 min,, or i/^ hr. by short-cuts).

The crest of Mont Vinaigrier (1215 ft.), 5 inin. S., affords splendid
*Yiews. Near it passes the old Corniche, a good bridle-path, by which we
may descend to the CoJ de ViUefranche and Nice (see p. 574). Another
road, diverging to the left (N.) from the Grande-Corniche, and affording

still finer views of the mountains, rejoins it at the Col d'Eze (see below).
— Mont Pacanaglia or Levse (1895 ft.), N.E., ascended by a path in 1 hr.,

has remains of prehistoric fortifications.

The road next ascends through a bleaker region. Fine view of

the peninsula of St-Jean (p. 545) on the right. The highest point

of the road (about 1740 ft.) affords another view of the snow-clad

Alps.— 8 M. Col d'Eze (1675 ft.; Aub. de la Drette), with a fort on

the left. A road on the right descends to fl M.) the picturesque old

village of Eze (aub.), on a rock (1400 ft.) crowned with a castle-

ruin. (To La Turbie by the direct road, 2^/2 M.; to the station,

see p. 545.) We next skirt the fortified Mont Camps de VAlle

(2310 ft.), and pass, on the left, the road to Le Laghet (p. 589).

11 M. La Turbie (p. 589). The road now descends, in full view

of the little principality of Monaco and the coast as far as Bordi-

ghera. We pass 'Ye Corniche Hotel' (small American inu ; fine view).

To the left diverges the road to Mont Agel (Monte Carlo golf-course,

p. 589), to the right the new road to Monte Carlo. Farther on,

above us to the left, is Cabbe-Boquebrune (pop. 3000; Hot. de la

Terrasse; stations, see pp. 546, 576), curiously situated among
broken conglomerate rocks, with an interesting ruined castle (adm.

25 c; tine view). Lastly we leave on the right the road to Monaco
and Cap Martin (p. 593).— 191/2 M. Mentone (p. 589).

b.^ By the Petite-Corniche, 18 M. (carr., see p. 566). Tramway
from Nice to Munte Carlo (No. 10; p. 567) every 1/2 Iir., in I1/4 hr. (1 fr. 90
or 1 fr. 20 c, return 2 fr. 85 or 1 fr. 80 c); from Monte Carlo to 3Ienton-
Garavan, every 1/2 h^., in 1 hr. 5 min. (1 fr. 20 or 70 c, return 1 fr. 80 or

1 fr. 5 c).

The *Petite-Corniche, or coast-road, completed in 1881, is

also more interesting than the railway. The tramway starts from

the Place Massena, runs through the Rue Gioffredo, through the

Square Garibaldi, and past the harbour, and ascends the Boul. Carnot

(PI. H, 4), which is bordered with fine villas and affords a splendid

view of Nice on the right. Beyond the Chdteau de Montboron
we stop at the station of (2 M.) Montbm^on (aub.; octroi).

37*
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The Boul. de Moiitboron leads to the left to the Gare de Riquier (p. 563).

From it, near the Hotel Montboron Palace (p. 565), the *Roide Forestiere,

to the right, ascends the wooded Montboron. It leads between a modern
battery (585 ft.) and the Fortde Jlontalban (730 ft. ; 16th cent.) to (^/4hr. from
the tramway) the Col deViUefranche, whence we may descend to the Place
Saluzzo (PI. H, 3) or to Villefranehe (p. 544). Splendid views all the way.

We next round the Cap de Montboron, with the Victoria Memo-
rial Hospital (p. 569) on the left, and enjoy a beautiful view of

the bay of Villefranehe, Cap Ferrat, Beaulieu, and Bordighera.

—

3^/2 M. Villefranehe (p. 544) lies on our right.— 5 M. Font-St-

Jean (p. 545).— 5^/2 M. Beaulieu (p. 544). A tunnel under the

Baus-Rous, or Cap Roux, brings us to the fine bay of Eze.

—

71/2 M. Eze-sur-Mer. To the right is the station (p. 545).— 91/2 M.
St-Laurent (aub.), on the bay of Mala. A road to the left ascends

to (37.2 M.) the village of Eze (p. 575).— To the left is the Monaco
reservoir. Our road leads past the Tete de Chien (p. 589) and

through two tunnels (view on the right).— 10 M. Cap-d'Ail. On
the right is the Eden Hotel (p. 545). A road to the right descends

to the station (p. 545). Below, on the right, appears the Cap d'Ail.

Then, on the left, the sumptuous Villa Mallet, near the hamlet of

8t-Antoine.— We pass the cemetery, the W. boundary of the princi-

pality, and then descend, leaving on the left the station, on the

light the town and harbour of Monaco (p. 584).— 12 M. La Con-
damiiw (p. 585).— Then a steep ascent to (13 M.) Monte Carlo
(station near the Casino, p. 586; change cars).

Beyond Monte Carlo the car crosses the bridge of St-Roman
and re-enters France. To the right is the Pare St-Roman (adm.

free). We pass between the Villa Varavilla, on a rock to the left,

and the Villa Vigie or Veglia, on the Pointe de la Vellle, on the

right.— 15 M. Cabbe-Roqaebrufie. To the right is the station, to

the left the village (p. 575). The high-road now ascends to the left

to join the Orande-Corniche (p. 575); we follow the Boul. du Cap-

Martin. To the left are the Hotel Riva-Bella (p. 593) and a small

Roman monument, the only relic of the military station of Lumone.
The tramway quits the road (line view to the left), forms a long

bend, and passes through a curved tunnel. We pass the station for

the Hotel du Cap-Martin (p. 593) and enter the Promenade du

Midi.— 18 M. Ment07ie (p. 589).'

II. From Nice to Grasse.

Via Cannes, 811/2^., see pp. 544-542 and 561.— By the Ligne du Sud,
301/2 M., in 21/2-31/4 hrs. (4 fr. 10 c, 3 fr.). Return-tickets (6 fr., 4 fr. 50 c.)

are available for 2 days, on either line.

The narrow-gauge Ligne du Sud runs through an interesting

hill-country. Xumerous viaducts and tunnels.— 2i/o M. La Made-
leine (p. 574).— 47-2 ^I- St-Isidore (p. 574). We descend into the
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valley of the Vav. To the left, 011 the other bank, is the castle of

La Gaude (see below).

8 M. Colomars (205 ft.; biifl'et; aub.), junction for Digne (see

p. 578). We cross the Var by the Font de Manda, 400 yds. long,

in two stories.—^13 M. St-Jeannet-la-Gaude (855 ft.). St-Jeaunet
(about 1500 ft.), lies IV4 M. to the N., at the foot of the huge Baou
de St-Jeannet (2630 ft.; ascent in 1^/2 hr.). La Gaude is 2 M.
to the S.; to the N.E. rises a ruined castle of the Templars.

—

Beyond a tunnel we cross the curious Gorge de la Cagne. View
to the left.

16 M. Vence (1065 ft.; Nouvel-Hotel Auzias, good, K. 2-4,

L. 21/2, D. 3, P. 7-9 fr.; Anglican church service; pop. 3498), the

ancient Viutium, has some remains of old ramparts and Eoman
buildings. The old Cathedral, maiuly of the 10th, 12t}i, and
15th cent., contains fine stalls and a lectern of the 15th cent., and
a sarcophagus of the 4th, used as an altar. On the old Eveche,

now a school, are Merovingian sculptures. Pretty walk along the

Grasse road to the (20 min.) ruincfd castle of St-Martin. Electric

railway to Cagnes, see p. 543.— 19 ^/g M. Tourrettes-sur-Loup

(1040 ft.), a village on a rock to the right, with old ramparts, has

a curious 'lapiaz' (p. 376), called the Mer des Rochers. The Mont
de Courmettes (4095 ft.) may be ascended thence (2^/2-3 hrs.).

—

We descend into the valley of the Loup and cross it by a lofty

viaduct.— 24 M. Le Loup (760 ft,), a station at the W. end of the

viaduct, 5 min. from the hamlet of Pont-du-Loup (Gr.-H6t. de la

Cascade, Hot.-Rest, de la Cascade; trout).

The picturesque *Gorges du Loup (motor-oum., see below), 2V2 M.
long, with curious rocks aud waterfalls, lie below the viaduct. A new
road, beginning at the bridge on the main road, leads high above the torrent
(to the left, below, the pilgriuiage-chapel of St-Ariwux) to the (1 hr.) tine

Cascade de Counnes, 230 ft. high. On the W. bank, high up, runs the
Canal dn Foidon, hewn in the rock, supplj-ing the electric works under
the viaduct and the town of Grasse; a little lower down is the new Canal
dn Loup, which supplies Cannes. Beyond the cascade (IV4 hr.) is the Said
dii Loup, a fall 80 ft. high (two rest.).

During the season a motor-omn. plies 2-4 times dailj* (8 fr.) from Pont-
du-Loup to the Saut du Loup, and thence to a bridge where four roads
meet. Then S.W. to Gottrdon (2485 ft.; aub.), a village situated on a steep
rock, with remains of fortifications and a well-preserved castle of the 12th
and 17th cent, (visitors usually admitted; beautiful view). We return by
the beautiful road to the S., via Chateauneuf-Pre-du-Lac (see below).

The line again ascends.— 25^2 M- Le Bar-sur-Loup (Hot. du

Commerce), in a picturesque site, with an old castle and a church

containing interesting sculptures and paintings (incl. a 'danse ma-
cabre', or dance of death, of the 15th cent.).— 28 M. Magaynosc-
Chdteauneuf (1235 ft.). To the right, above, is Chdteauneuf-
Pre-du-Lac (p. 544),— The train descends rapidly and crosses

two viaducts. View of Cannes to the left.— 30^/2 M, Grasse (Gare

du Sud; p, 561),



578 Route 77. ST. ETIENNE-DE-TIKEE. Excursions
Maps, pp. 541, t/77.

III. From Nice to Annot and Digne.

94 M. Narrow-Gauge Railway {Ligne du Sud; station, see p. 563)

in 6-71/4 hrs. (12 fr. 70, 9 fr. 30 c); to Annot, 481/2 M., in 3-31/2 hrs. (6 fr, 5,

4 fr. 45 c). The motor-omn. of the Route des Alpes (p. 341) may be used
as far as Annot (33/4 hrs. ; 251/2 fr.). — For excursions on the frontier between
France and Italy a passport is essential; cameras are forbidden.

To (8 M.) Colomars, see pp. 576, 577. The line and the high-

road (Route des Alpes, p. 341) continue to ascend the valley of the

Var.— 13 M. St-Martln-du-Var (385 ft.), with factories, opposite

the confluence of the Var and the EsMron, in a fertile basin between

steep cliffs. Eoad to Levens, see p. 573.

14^2 ^I- Pont-Charles-Albert (405 ft. ; aub.), near a long bridge.

Omnibus (electric railway under construction) to (31/0 M.) Gilette{dM\i.),

with picturesque ruins, and. (18 M.) Roqnesteron-Pnyet (Hot. Passeron,
good) in the beautiful valley of the Estdron. Roads thence to St-Auban
(p. 562) via (71/2 M.) Aiglun, grandly situated, and to Puget-TMniers
(p. 579) via Sigale, La Penne, and the Pas de St-Eaphael. An excursion
may be made from Gilette to Le Revest (1 hr. ; 2800 ft.) and by a rough
path to (21/2 hrs.) the top of Mont Vial (5090 ft.; superb view); ascent
also from Malaussene (see below), in 4 hrs., via tlie (21/2 hrs.) Col du
Vial (4045 ft.).

151/2 M, La Vesubie (455 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Drogoul, good).

Road to St-Martin-Vesubie, see p. 581.— We cross the Vesubie.

The Var valley contracts to a gorge, the *Clus du Ciaudan or

Chaudan, where there is scarcely room for road and railway

between the sheer cliffs (650-1300 ft. high).— 18 M. La Tinee

(525 ft.; buffet).

From La Tinee to St-Sauveur-sur-Tin:6e, 17 M., electric railway
thrice daily in 2-21/4 hrs. (2 fr. 35, 1 fr. 70 c.).--We follow the Digne line

to La Mescla (see below), cross the Var, and ascend the gorge of the
Tinee to the Fiisiliere de Baumanegra. a fortified bridge. We then mostly
follow the high-road, which is protected against landslides by galleries.
— 51/2 M. Tournefort, a little beyond which Rovssillon is seen above on
the right; opposite, to the left, is Bairols (2820 ft.j, on a narrow arete.
— 8 M. Pont-de-C'Ians. Road to the right (motor-omn. in summer from
La Tinee) to (21/2 M.) the summer resort of Clans (2245 ft.; Hot. de la

Tinee, very fair), a village surrounded by forests. — 141/2 M. ValdehJore-
Rimplas, station for (41/2 M.) La Bolline (3420 ft.), a summer resort.—
17 M. St-Sauveur-sur-Tin6e (1680 ft.; Hot. Richier, Wiart), with an
old church, in a narrow gorge.

From St-Sauveur a motor-omn. ascends the narrow valley of the
Tinee, which here forms the frontier, to (91/2 M.) Isola and (171/2 M.)
St-Etienne-de-Tin6e (3745 ft. ; Hot. de Rabuons, R. 11/2, L. or D. 3 fr.

;

Hot. des Voyageurs; guides, Ch. Galean and J. Gibellin), a large village

in a fine Alpine site. Path to the E., passing a fine waterfall, to the

Grand Lac de Rabuons. A little above the lake is the Refuge de Rabuons
of the C.A.F. (about 8335 ft. ; open July-Sept. ; bed 1 fr.), in a grand site.

Ascents (guide 10 fr.) of the Tenibres (9945 ft.) and the Grand Cimon de
Rabuons (9845 ft.). Splendid panoramas. — From St-Etienne-de-Tinee to

Larche, see p. 444.

We cross the Var and pass through a curved tunnel.— 20 M,
La Mescla (610 ft.), near the confluence of the Var and Tinee.

—

241/2 M. Malaussene-2fassoins (770 ft.). Ascent of Mont Vial,

see above.— The Var is recrossed. near a g-overument fish-breeding



from Nice. PUGET-THENIERS. 77. Route. 579
Jiop, p. 477.

establishnieut.— 301/2 ^I. Touet-de-Beuil (1065 ft.; Hot. Latty,

good), a picturesque village, backed by abrupt rocks. Waterfall

below the church.— We cross the Cians.— 31 M. Rigaud-le-
Clam (1100 ft.).

Omn. daily (motor-omn. in summer in 2^/4 hrs.) through the *Gorges
du Cians to (141/0 M.) Beuil. We pass Rigaud-le-Cians and then enter
the Gorges Inferieures., tianked with walls of cretaceous limestone,
1480 ft. high.— 31/0 M. Moulin de Rigaiid (hot. -rest.). To the left, above,
is the village of Rigatid. — 5i/.j M. Pradastie. Then the still wilder
Gorges Siiperieiires., with huge walls of red schist. — 141/2 M. Beuil
(4770 ft.; Hot. de Beuil, good; 1st cl. guide, M. Robion, skieur), prettily
situated on a wooded plateau, also visited for winter-sports. Road to

Guillaumes, see below. To the S. is the JToiinier, or Monnier, with its

two peaks. On the first (8995 ft.), easily ascended in 3 hrs., is an obser-
vatory connected with that of Nice (p. 574); the other (9245 ft.), 1/4 hr.

E., is not so easy.

Right and left are seen traces of the havoc wrought by torrents,

caused by the reckless felling of the woods.
36i/o M. Puget-Therders (1340 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Laugier,

L. or D. 3 fr. ; 2nd cl. guide, J. Baret; pop. 1166) lies in a fertile

little plain on the Var. Ruined castle and old ramparts, now laid

out as gardens. In front of the church is a monument to Aug.
Blanqui (1805-81), the socialist, a native of the town. Road to

Roquesteron, see p. 578.

Curious rocks on the right.— ^O^o ^f- Entrevaux (1570 ft.;

Hot. Chauvin, Raybaud), a little town with picturesque ramparts

(17th cent.), is entered by a drawbridge. On a rock rises the citadel

(2165 ft.).— We cross the Chalvagne.— 42 M. Plan-cFEntrevaux.
We then cross the Va'ire. — 44 M. Haul- Var-Pout-de-Gueydan
(1755 ft.; buffet).

From PorrT-DE-GuKTOAN to Gtuillaumes, 13 M., omn. in 3 hrs. (2 fr.).

Electric railway under construction. —We follow the Puget-Theniers road
to (25 min.) the *PoTit de Gneydan, and then turn to the left. — 5 M.
DaUds (aub.). To the W. (1 hr.) is the fine Grotte du Chat (guide at

the inn). We now enter the *Gorges de Daluis, 31/2 M. long. The
walls of red schist rise some 1300 ft. above the Var. On one side, half-

way up. the road is hewn in the rock, passing through nine tunnels.

—

13 M. G-uillaumes (2685 ft.; Hot. Monay, well spoken of, L. 3. D. 31/2 fr.

;

guide, Ferd. Robert), a little town dominated by a ruined castle.

A road runs E. through the Tudbi valley, past (41/2 M.) Peone (aub.),

whence we may scale the Monnier (see above; 3 hrs.; guide 10 fr.), and
over the (18 M.) Col de Vasson (5740 ft.), to (17 M.) Beuil (see above).
Just beyond the col is Le Quartier, with a club-house and restaurant
belonging to the Club des Sports d'Hiver (Cercle de la M^diterranee,
p. 568). Hotel being built. Motor-omn. from Haut-Var-Pont-de-6ueydan
claily in winter (12 fr.).

From Guillaumes another road ascends the Var valley, passing through
several tunnels in the dolomite rocks. After 2 M. we have a view, N.W.,
of the three Aiguilles de Pdens (8290 ft.). — 7 M. St-Martin-d' Entratmes
(3460 ft.; Hot. de Pelens, good), in a pretty site. Road over the Col des
Champs (6770 ft.) to Colmars (171/2 M. ; p. 580).— 11 M. Entraunes (4200 ft.

;

Hot. Liautaud). The road ceases about 2 hrs. farther on, at Esteng (2nd cl.

guide, C«5sar Blanc, skieur), a hamlet near the source of the Var (5905 ft.).

Paths lead from Esteng to the Lac d'Allos (p. 443), and over the Col de
Jalorgues (8295 ft.) to St-Etienne-de Tin^e (p. 578). Good path (road now
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making) from Esteng to the Coldela Cayolle (7715 ft.); then a new road
down the tine valloy of the Bachelard to Barcelonnette (p. 442; about
7 hrs. from Entraune's).

The train ascends the Yaire valley.— 46 M. St-Benoit. We
cross the Coulomp by a high viaduct.

4872 M. AmiotV2315 ft. ; Hot. Philipp, Grac, both good, R.

2-3 fr.; guide, Mar. Roccas; pop. 1109), a picturesque old town and

summer resort. Church and Hotel-Dieu of the 17th century. To

the E. are the old chapel of Veireville and remains of fortifications.

Turning to the left short of the station and passing under the em-
bankment, we may ascend a path S.E. (blue marks) to (1 hr.) the Chambrc
du Roi, a ravine with fine chestnut-trees. To the E. a footpath leads
to the plateau of the Baou de Moulieres (view). Thence X. along the
crest, through chestnut- woods, to a rock-arch, then back to Veireville
and Annot (3-4 hrs. in all).

Road to (171/2 ^1^0 St-Andre (see below), over the Col de Toutes-Aures
(3685 ft.); omn. daily in 31/2 hrs. (4 fr.).

The line crosses the Beite and ascends on the rocky slopes, high

above the Vaire. Xumerous tunnels, cuttings, and bridges.— 52 M.
Le Fugeret (2750 ft.). The line ascends in a great loop and passes

through a curved tunnel.— 547.2 M. JMeailles (3105 ft.). The village

lies high above the railway-line, on the edge of the plateau. We
cross the Vaire.—-5672^- Peyresq. The line reaches its highest

point (3330 ft.) in the tunnel by which it penetrates the watershed

between the Rhone and Var valleys. We cross the Ytrdon.
61 M. Thorame-Haute, near the pilgrimage-chapel of Xotre-

Dame-de-la-Fleur. The village (Hot. des Alpes) lies about 3 M. to

the N., in the Verdou valley.

From Thorame-Haute to Allos, 12i/., M.. by road (Route des Alpes;
motor-omn. in summer, seep. 341). — 8^/4 M. (from the village) Beuvvezer
(3775 ft.; Alp-Hotel. Hot. de Belvedere, both open in summer only; Hot.
de la Poste; Syndicat d'luitiative), visited in summer for the freshness
of its air.— 71/2 M. Colmars (4130 ft.; Hot. de France), with old ramparts,
lies on the left bank of the Verdon, near the site of a temple of Mars.
Of late it has been frequented as a summer resort.— 121/2 M. Allos (p. 443).

62 M. Aliolis-Argens (3135 ft.). The line crosses the Verdon
and beyond (65 M.) La Mure the Issole.— 667o M. St-Andre-des-
Aljjes or de-Meouilles (2980 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Trotabas), in a broad

basin. Branch-line to Castellane (p. 538) under construction,

74 M. Barreme (2245 ft. ; Hot. Abbesi, on the Asse.
An omnibus plies hence S.E. to (151/2 ^0 Castellane (p. 538), via

(31/2 M.) (S^gnes, the Sanitium of the Romans, now a village, with an ancient
Romanesque cathedral (tapestries).

77 M, Poil-Majastre. On the right are curious rocks.— 82 M.
Chabrieres, in the superb gorge of the Asse. — 86 M. Mezel
(2010 ft.). We then pass by a tunnel under the Montague de

St-Michel-de-Cousson (4975 ft.) to (89 M.) St-Jurson. We cross

the Bleone.

94 M. Digne (Gare du Sud; p. 473).
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IV. From Nice to St-Martin-Vesubie.

371/2 M. Railway to (IS'/.j M.) La Vesuhie in I-II/4 hr. (2 fr. 10, 1 fr.

55 c); then Electric Railway to (22 M.) St-Martin in 2>/2 lirs. (3 fr. 5,

2 fr. 20 c.). — Passport and cameras, see p. 578.

To (151/2 M.) La Vesubie, see p. 578. The electric railway

soon diverges to the right from the road and ascends the ^Gorge
de la Vesubie, 6 M. long, Hanked with rocks 650-1650 ft. high.

—

22 M. St-Jean-la-Rimere (Hot. du Midi), where the Levens road

diverges (p. 573). At a reservoir near St -Jean the Canal de la

Vesubie (p. 573) begins.
To the left lies (li/.^ hr.) the old town of Utelle (2625 ft. ; Hot. Passeron),

whence Mont Brec (5260 ft. ; view) may be scaled in 3 hrs. via the (1 hr).

Col du Gineste. Descent to (3 hrs.) Roquebilliere (see below). To the W. of
Utelle (3/4 hr.) is the pilgrim-shrine of Notre-Dame-des-Miracles (3850 ft.).

24 M. Le Suchet. The car leaves the road, crosses the Ve-
subie, and ascends to (27^2 ^^) Lantosque (1570 ft.; aub.) ; it then

recrosses the stream.— 297-2 M. La Bollene-V esubie. The village

(1635 ft.; Grand-Hotel, with grounds, R. 3-4, P. 7-9 fr.), a summer
resort, lies 37-2 M. to the right (omn. in summer), on a hill affording

fine views. — We cross the Gordolasque.— 31 M. Roquebilliere

(1896 ft.; Hot. des Alpes, des Etrangers).
On the hill to the E. (I1/4 M. ; omn. twice daily) lies Belvedere (2740 ft.

;

Hot. Coutiuental, Guigonis & Beau-Sejoiir; 2nd cl. guide, Cesar Gasiglia),
a little summer resort dominating the mouth of the Gordolasque valley.
A bridle-path leads up the valley to the (3 hrs.) hamlet of San Grato,
in Italian territory. Opposite is the pretty little Lac de la C'abane,
with the Hotel de St-Grat (5040 ft.

;
plain but good). Ascents thence of

the Ciri^e du Diable (4 hrs. S.E. ; 8815 ft.
;
guide 7 fr.) and the C'iine de la

Valette (3 hrs. N.W. ; 8195 ft.). From St-Grat the path goes on to (3 hrs.)
the Befuge Nice of the C.A.F. (7435 ft.; keys at the Hot. de St-Grat).
From the refuge we may ascend (3 hrs.) the Mont Clapier (9990 ft.;

superb view; guide from Belvedere 18 fr.). We may visit also the (1 hr.)

Lac Long (8380 ft.), with floating ice even in summer; and we may ascend
the Fointe de la Malddia (3 hrs.; 10,045 ft.; guide 18 fr.) and the Vima dei
Gelas (p. 582; guide 19 fr.).

32\;o M. Berthemont. To the E. (2^/2 M. ; omn. in summer) is

Befrtliemont-les-Bains (2725 ft.; Hot. des Bains, well spoken of,

P. 71/2-12 fr.; Hot. Beau-Sejour), which has six springs (three of

them warm), containing sulphur and soda (63-90°). — Farther on,

to the left, lies Venanson (see below).

371/2 M. St-Martin-Vesubie.— Hotels. *Gr.-H6t. Regina, R.
2-4, B. 1, L. 2, D. 31/2, P. from 7 fr.; Hot. Victoria, P. 8-9 fr.; Hot.
Terminus, P. 6-7 fr. ; Hot. des Anglais; Hot. de Londres ; Hot. Bellevue,
Hot. des Alpes. both open the whole year; Pension Anglo-Americaine. —
Cafe-Rest, de la Ri'gence.

St-Martin-Vesubie (3135 ft.; pop. 1909), on a hill at the con-
fluence of the Madone-de-Fenestre and the Boreon, is a favourite

summer resort. There is a cold sulphur-spring, I74 M. to the N.
Excursions (guides, 1st cl., L. Barel, J. B. Plent, M.Nafta. Jean Plent

i;skieur); 2nd cl., P. Guigo, Dom. Martin. H. J. Bernart). Beyond the Boreon
a'road ascends to (2 M.) Venanson (3775 ft.; aub.), where we obtain a line
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view. — From a second bridge, higher up, a bridle-path to the W. (road

being made) crosses the (lV-2 hr.) (Jol de St-Martin (4950 ft.) to (V2 hr.) St-

Dalmas-le-Plan and (2 hrs.) Valdehlore-Rimplas (p. 578).— Up the valley
of the Boreon a road leads to (I1/2 hr.) La Cerise, or Ciriegia (4825 ft.

;

Boreon Cascade Hotel, burned down in 1913), in Italy, where the Boreon
forms a fine fall, 115 ft. high. We may go on, up the fine wooded valley,

E.. by a bridle-path, passing the (2/4 hr.) waterfall of Peirestreccia. a small
lake,' and the Pas des Ladres (8020 ft.), to the (4 hrs.) Col de Fenestre;
or we may ascend X.W. through the (20 min.) Foret de SaUses to the Col
de SaUses (6625 ft.), and descend to the Pont de I Ingotf and (3 hrs.) the

Italian village of Motlieres (5175 ft. : aub.), in a side-valley of the Tinee,
about 5 hrs. from St-Sauveur (p. 578). From the Pont de I'Ingolf a path
ascends to the right to the pretty Lac Xoir (7695 ft. ; 21/2 hrs. from La
Cerise). From La Cerise we may reach the Baths of Valdieri (see

Baedeker^s N. Italy), either X.. in 5 hrs., over the Col di Ciriegia
(8370 ft.), or across the Col de Saleses and the Col de Fremamorta (8690 ft.),

a longer, but finer route. Lastly, many grand ascents may be made from
La Cerise, incl. the Piagif (7665 ft.; 2 hrs. S.E., easy; splendid view;
descent to St-Martin or to the Madone-de-Fenestre). the Punta delV
Argentera (about 10.800 ft.; 10 hrs. X.. toilsome and fit for experts only;
immense horizon

;
guide 20 fr.), the highest of the Maritime Alps, and the

Cime de GMlie (9845 ft.; 6 hrs.; guide 10fr.).-To the E. of St-Martin,

3 hrs., is the Madone-de-Fenestre (6245 ft.; hotel), a pilgrim-resort beyond
the frontier. We may ascend thence by a good path to (1^/4 hr.) the Col
de Fenestre (8105 ft. ;' refuge-hut; admirable view), and descend to Cuneo
(see Baedeker's N. Italy); or ascend the (41/2- 5 hrs.) Cima dei Gelas
(10.310 ft.; guide 15 fr.), toilsome but highly interesting. *View embracing
Corsica, Monte Rosa, and the plains of Piedmont.

V. From Nice to TemdiQ,^ (Cuneo).

531/2^1- Motor Omsibus once or twice daily from the Place St-Fran<joi9

(PI. F, 3') in 41/2 hrs. (10-12 fr.). Railway now being made. — Tramways
run part of the way, starting from the Place Garibaldi (PI. F, G, 3)

:

to Pointe-de-Contes every V-j., hr. (1 fr. 5, 60 c); to Drap every 3/4 hr. (70,

45 c); to Contes 1 fr. 25, 80 c. ; to Bendejun four times daily in IVt hr.

(1 fr. 50, 95 c); to La Grave-de-Peille four times daily in I1/4 hr. (1 fr. 50,

95 c.). — Passport and cameras, see p. 578.

The road and tramwav ascend on the left bank of the Paillon.

31/, M. La Trinite- Victor, 1^^ hr. from Le Laghet (p. 589).—
5 M. Drap.— 6 M. Pont-de-Peille. A road (tramway, see above)

ascends the main valley to the right, passing on the right Peillon

(1235 ft.), apicturesque village, and the old village of Pei7^e (2065 ft.),

and leading through (10 M.) La Grace-de-Peille (aub.) and a grand

gorge to (15 M.) L'Escarene (see below).— Our road goes on to

(71/2 ^1-) Pointe-de-Contes (aub.). We leave the tramway here and

ascend the Vallon de Blausasc to the Col de Nice (1235 ft.).

The tramway goes to the left from Pointe-de-Contes to Contes (Hot.

Moderne, de France), a picturesque village, 10 M. from Xice. To the E.

(1 hr.; bridle-path) lies the village of Berre-des-Alpes (2230 ft.; splendid

view). To the W. (3/4 hr. by short-cuts) is Chdteauneiif-de-Contes (1650 ft.

;

Hot. des Ruines), 20 min. below the ruins of the old village (2295 ft.

;

superb view). — Beyond Contes the tramway runs through a wooded ravine

to the (2 M.) Pont de Bendejun (855 ft.), 10 min. below the hamlet of

Bendejun. The road goes on to Coaraze (p. 578), 5 M. to the X. of Contes.

121/0 M. L'Escarene (1170 ft.; Hot. de Paris), an old village,
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with Gothic houses and a curious old bridge utilized in part for

dwellings.
To the N., 41/2 M., lies Lwc^ram (2185 ft. ; aub.), a quaint old village

with well-preserved fortifications and an old church. A military road,

often very dusty, leads thence in 4 lirs. across the Col de St-Roch (3250 ft.)

to (IOV2 M.) Peira-Cava (4865 ft. ; Hot. Bellevue & Victoria, P. 61/2-8 fr.

;

Hot. Faraut, Truchi, des Alpes), a summer resort, offering winter-sports
also, and affording a splendid view. All around lie beautiful pine-forests.

Brake from Pointe-de-Contes (p. 582) twice daily, in connection with the
tramway (from Nice 5, back 4fr.; motor-omn. from Nice 7, back 6 fr.). —

•

The road goes on to (2 hrs.) Turinl (5290 ft. ; Hot. Barraya) and (1 hr.) the
top of the fortified Aution (6825 ft. ; immense view). The French were
defeated here by the Austrians and Sardinians in 1793. Road to Le
Moulinet, see below.

13^2 ^- Touet-de-VEscartne. The scenery is now bleak. We
cross the (181/2 ^'^•) Col de Brmis (3290 ft.; aub.), and descend in

windings (iine view). From the Col St-Jean (1930 ft.), beneath

the fortified Mont Barhonnet i211b ft.), a road diverges to the

right to Castillon (p. 594).

26 M. Sospel, Ital. Sospello (1140ft.; Hot. de France, Tour-

ing-Club
;
pop. 3529), in the pretty valley of the Bevera, with its

dense olive-groves. The Mentone golf-course is situated here.

Electric railway to Mentone, see p. 594.
Road (omn. three times daily in 2 hrs., fare 1 fr. ; motor-omn. in

summer) up the valley, through a grand gorge and across a small col

(where a curious bridge leads to the pilgrimage-chapel of Notre-Dame-
de-la-Menonra), to (71/2 M.) Le Moidiriet (2565 ft.; Hot. Beau-S^jour, des
Alpes, good), surrounded by chestnut-woods. The road is being continued
to (21/2 brs.) Turini (see above).

The road now ascends to the Col de Brouis (about 2870 ft,;

aub.; fine view), then descends, leaving on the right Breil, Ital.

Breglio (Hot. de France), on the Roia. We next ascend the pic-

turesque valley of the Roia.—A little short of (39 M.) La Giandola
(985 ft.) the road to Ventimiglia (p. 546) diverges on the right.

—

On the steep rocks to the right lies the old village of Saorge
(1830 ft.), with a castle-ruin and an old monastery.— 43^2 ^1^-

Fontan (1425 ft. ; Hot. des Etrangers), with the French douane.

—

Near the (46 M.) Italian frontier we enter the narrow and imposing

*Gola di Gaudarena, or Clus de Bergue.

48 M. San Dalmazzo di Tenda, Fr. St-Dalmas-de-Tende
(2285 ft.; Hot. de St-Dalmas, P. 6-10 fr.), with the Italian dogana,

is situated amidst dense chestnut-groves, and has several country-

houses and a large convent-school for girls.

To the E., 2 M., lies Briga (2510 ft. ; Hot. de la Source), in the valley
of the Levenza, with a 16th cent, church. — About 21/0 M. up the valley
is the pilgrimage-church of Madonna del Fontan, with"l5th cent, frescoes.
— A road to the W. leads through the Vallane della Miniera to (2V2hrs.)
the lead and zinc mine of La Miniera, or Vallauria (4950 ft.; aub.),

which has been worked since ancient times. Farther up the valley are

the wild Valle delV Infeiiio, with its fourteen lakelets, and (3 hrs.) the
Meraviylie (7220 ft.), rocks of schist, on which are scratched rude draw-
ings of prehistoric origin.
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51 M. Tenda (2675 ft.; Alb. Nazionale, R. 2-5 fr., good; Alb.

SaA'oia), a picturesque little town at the foot of bold rocks, has a

ruined castle and an interesting church (16th cent.). At Tenda we
reach the railway to Cuneo and Turin (87^2 ^^-i' in ^-^ hrs.). The
railway and road pass through tunnels (5 M. and 2 M. long respect-

ively) beneath the Col di Tenda, which separates the Maritime
from the Ligurian Alps. The col itself (6145 ft.) is fortified and
inaccessible. Details, see Baedekei^'s Northeim Italy.

78. Monaco and Monte Carlo, Mentone.
I. Monaco.

Station (PI. A, 5) at La Condamine. Line to Marseilles, Nice, and
Ventimiglia, see R. 72. To Nice 1 fr. 80, 1 fr. 20, 80 c.; to Mentone
1 fr. 10, 75, 50 c.

Hotels (at La Condamine; mostly open the whole year). Bristol tfc

Majestic Hotels (PI. pd&b; B, 4. 5), Boiil. de la Condamine. R. 41/2-I2,

B. 11/2' L. 31/", r>. 41/.. (wine extra). P. 12-20, omn. Vjoh.; *H6t. Beau-
Sejour (PI. bs; B, 5)," IS'^i^ Rue St-Louis, R. from 3i/.m'B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 4,

P. from 9fr.; *ndt. de la Condamine (PI. c; B, 5). 1 Rue des Princes,
open Oct. -May, R. from SV^. B. IVa- L. 3. D. 4, P. from 9fr.; Hot.
des Etrangers (PI. e; B. 5), Rue Florestine, open Sept. to mid-June,
German, well spoken of, R. 3i/.2-y, B. I1/2, L. 31/2, P>- 4. P. from 10 fr.;

Hot. de la Paix (PI. d; B, 5), Rue des Princes, well spoken of; Hot.
Bellevue & Rives-d'Or (PI. br; B. 5), Rue Albert, German, R. from 3,

B. IV21 L- 3, D. 31/0. P. from 9fr.; Hot. d' Orient (PI. 0; B, 5), Boul. de
la Condamine, R. 3V-.-4. B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2- P- 9-12 fr. ; Hot. Bean-Site
(PL be; B, 6), 3 Rue du Port; Hot. d'Angleterre (PL a; B. 5), 10 Rue
Florestine, well spoken of, R. 3-6, B. 1, L. 21/2, P>- 3, P. 8-9 fr.; Hot.
de Milan, 17 Rue Florestine, P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. de Nice & Terminus
(PL nt; A, 6), Av. de la Gare, R. 3-5, B. I1/4, L. 3, D. 31/2. P. from 8 fr.

:

Hot. des Negociants (PL n; B, 6). Av. de la Gare.
Pensions. Anglaise, 3 Rue Albert, open Sept.-June, P. from 9 fr.

;

Suisse, 19 Rue Grimaldi, P. 9-12 fr.

Restaurants. Bristol & Majestic, see above; Criterion, Boul. de la

Condamine (with rooms), L. 21/2, D. 3 fr. ; Mediterranee, Boul. de la Con-
damine; Siecle, Av. de la Gare; Brass, de la Regence, Av. de la Gare.

Cabs. Within the principality, per drive I1/2, hour 3 fr.; at night
(12.30-7), 21/2 or 5 fr. For excursions outside the principality, ask for

tariff. To Nice and back, with stay of 3 hrs., 25 fr.

Tramways. 1. From the Casino (PL D, 3, 4) via the Boul. de la

Condamine to the Gare de Monaco (PL A. 5, 6) 10-20 c); 2. From the Gare
de Monaco to the Place de la Visitation (PL C, 6; 10-15 c); 3. From the
Casino to St-Roman (beyond PL D. 1), on the E. boundary (10 c.). — To
Mento)ie, from the Av. des Beaux-Arts, and to Nice, from the Casino,
see p. 575. — From the Place Fontaiue-St-Michel, above the Casino gar-

dens, to Beaiisoleil (Riviera Palace; see p. 587), every V2 hr. (50 c.).

Steamer to San Remo and Genoa, see p. 567; agency, 2 Boul. des
Moulins. Monte Carlo.

Post & Telegraph Office, Av. St-Martin (PL B, C, 6); at La Con-
damine, Rue Grimaldi, near the Place d'Armes. Postage to France the
same as within France, but Monaco stamps must be used.

Chemists. Glimmann, 22 Rue Grimaldi; Joiiard, 3 Rue Grimaldi;
Marsan, 1 Place d'Armes.

Syndicat d'Initiative, Palais du Gouvernement (p. 586).

—

Motor
Boat exhibition and races in April.
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For a stay of over a fortnight at Monaco a 'peiniis de s^jour' must
be obtained from the police (50 c.)-

British Vice-Consul, Physicians, and Anglican Church, see p. 588.

Monaco is the capital of tlie diminutive principality of that

name (pop. 22,956), -svhicli included Roquebruue (p. 575) and Men-
tone down to 1848. The name is derived from a temple of Melkarth

(Greek, Heracles Monoikos), founded here by the Phoenicians. This

little enclave in French territory, only 8 sq. M. in area, was
founded in 1348 by Charles I., of the Genoese family of Grimaldi,

to which belongs the reigning prince, Albert I. (b. 1848), who
succeeded in 1889. A bishopric was founded here in 1878. There
are no taxes, the whole cost of government being defrayed by the

'Societe des Bains de Mer' (p. 588).

Monaco proper (pop. 2247) is most picturesquely situated on
a bold rock (195 ft.) at the foot of the Tete de Chien (p. 589).

La Condamine (pop. 11,082), the new part of the town, an agree-

able health-resort in winter, lies on the bay below. The chief

thoroughfare is the Boulevard de la Condamine, leading along

the shore to Monte Carlo. The Harbonr, about 42 acres in area,

is well sheltered and is much frequented by yachts during the

season. To the N.\Y. opens the Yallon des Gaumates, a deep
gorge, at the entrance to which is the little church of Ste-Devote,
the patron-saint of Monaco.

The Av. de la Porte-Neuve (PI. B, C, 6), affording line views,

leads to the old town; "Walkers ascend direct by steps from the

Place d'Armes (PI. B, 6, 5) to the Place du Palais (PL B, 6),

which is adorned with old French cannons and a bust of Prince

Charles III. (d. 1889) and affords a superb ^View of the coast (finest

in the evening).

The Palace (PL B, 6), once a Genoese castle of the 13th cent.,

was enlarged by the Grimaldi about 1630 and decorated in the

Renaissance style. The sumptuous apartments, with their interest-

ing paintings, are shown (2-5 p.m.) in the prince's absence. Beau-
tiful garden.

The Cathedral of St-Nicholas (PL B, C, 6), to which the Rue
du Tribunal leads from the Place du Palais, is a grand Roman-
esque-Byzantine edifice, designed by Lenormand and completed in

1897. The burial-chapel of the princes contains an ancient wooden
crucifix and a Descent from the Cross by L. Brea (ca. 1520).

Opposite the Cathedral, to the W., is the Musee d'Anthropo-
logie (PL B, 6; adm. week-days, 10-12 and 1-4; 50 c).

This museum contains a systematically arranged collection of im-
portant prehistoric relics belonging to different periods of the stone
age. These were found in caves in the neighbourhood and include the
-palaeolithic finds from the well-known Grottes de Grimaldi near Mentone
(comp. p. 593). The latter consist of animal remains and human skeletons
of different races, including the most primitive negroid race yet known
CrHomme de Grimaldi') and a giant race (skeleton 61/4 ft. long). Among
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the other exhibits are Roman antiquities from La Turbie (p. 589), such as

the gold ornaments of a lady of the 3rd centurj-.

Adjoining the museum is the Tribunal, with a bust of Prince

Houorius II. (1609).

To the E. of the Cathedral lie the delightful Jardins de St-

Martin, overlooking the sea. Here, in the Av. St-Martiu, rises the

imposing *Mus^e Oceanographique (PLC, 6), founded by Prince

Albert in 1910. which has cost over 8 million francs. It is open

Nov.-Jun. 10-1 and 2-4, Feb.-May 10-1 and 2-5, and June-Oct.

10-12 and 2-5 (adm. 1 fr.). The collections are chiefly the yield of

the prince's explorations. The interesting aquarium in the base-

ment should be visited.

To the N., in the Place de la Visitation, are the Palais du
Gouvernement and the Institut International de la Paix.

II. Monte Carlo and Beausoleil.
Comp. the Plan, p. 585.

Station (PI. D, 4; buffet) near the Casino (lift 25, up and down 35 c).
Gare de La Turbie, see p. 589.

Hotels, open in winter only, except the houses mentioned on p. 587.

L^'nless the contrary is stated, charges are exclusive of wine. — At
Monte Carlo (expensive, especially from Jan. to March) : *H6t. M^tro-
pole (PI. m; D, 3), on a terrace, N.JE. of the Casino gardens, R. from 10,

B. 2, L. 7, D. 8V2-IO, P. from 25, omn. 2 fr. ; "^Hot de Paris (PI. p; C, D, 4),

Place du Casino; *Hermitage Hotel (PI. h; C. 4). Av. de la Costa; ^Grand-
Hotel (PI. g; C, 4). Rue de la Scala, R. from 10, B. 2. L. 7, D. 9. P. from
22 fr.; *H6t. des Anglais & St-James (PI. aj ; C, 3), Sq. du Casino. Gorman,
R. from 5, B. 13/4, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 15, omn. 2 fr.; Hot. Harter & de la

MMitei'vanee (PI. hm; D, 3), 120 Av. des Spelugues. German, R. from 5,

B. 11/0, L. 4, D. 6, P. from 16. omn. IV2 fr. ; Hot. du Prince-de-Galles
(PI. pg; B, 3), Boul. du Xord. R. from 8, B. 1^/4, L. 6, D. 8. P. from 16 fr.;

Hot. Victoria (PL v; B, 3). Boul. du Nord, R. from 8, B. 2. L. 5. D. 8,

P. from 20 fr. ; Rotjal Hotel <fc Hot. de Rome (PL rr ; B. 4), 11 Boul. Peirera,
R. from 4, B. 13/4, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 14 fr. ; Hot. Wiyidsor (PL w; B, 4),

Boul. du Nord and Boul. Peirera. English, R. from 8, B. 2, L. 5, D. 6,

P. from 18, omn. 2 fr.; ^Balmoral Palace (PL bp; C. 4), Av. de la Costa,
R. from 5. B. 2. L. 5, D. 6. P. from 14. omn. 2 fr. ; Hot. de Londres (PL 1;

C. 3), Boul. des Moulins, German, R. from 5. B. li/., L. 4. D. 5, P. from 14,

omn. Ifr.; Monte-Carlo Palace, Boul. des Moulins, R. from 6, B. 2,

L. 5, D. 6, P. from 16. omn. 2 fr. ; Alexandra Hotel (PL ah; C. D. 3),

Place de la Madone; Hot.-Rest, du Helder (PL f; D, 3), Av. de la Ma-
done, R. from 6. B. IV2, L. 5, D. 6, P. from 14, omn. 1 fr.; Savoy Hotel
(PL x; C, 3), Av. du Chateau-d'Eau. R. from 6, B. 2, L. 4. D. 6, P.
from 15 fr.; Hot. R4gina, Boul. des Moulins, German. R. from 5. B. 2,

L. 41/2, D. 6, P. from 12, omn. 2 fr. ; Rheinischer Hof & Sun Palace,
Boul. des Moulins, German, well spoken of. R. from 4, B. IV2' L- 4,

D. 5, P. 12-18, omn. 2fr.; Splendid Hotel (PL s; B, 3). 4 Av. de Roque-
ville, R. from 3, B. I1/2. L. 3, D. 4, P. from 9. omn. 1 fr. —Plainer:
Hot. des Colonies (PL i; C, 4), Av. de la Costa, well spoken of, R. from 5,

B. 11/2. L. 31/2, D. 41/2 (incl. wine), P. from 12 fr.; Hot. de Russie (V\. k;
C. 3), Av. de la Costa, German, well spoken of. R. 4-7, B. I1/2, L- 3V2,
D. 41/2, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. des Palmiers (PL q; C, 4), B. I'/a, L. 4. D. 5
(incl. wine), P. from 12 fr. ; Nouvel-Hotel du Louvre (PL nl; D, 2), 16 Boul.
des Moulins. well spoken of, R. from 5, B. li/o. L. 4. D. 5, P. from 14, omn.
1 fr. ; Hot. d'Albion & du Littoral (PL al; D" 2), Boul. des Moulins. well
spoken of, R. from 4. B. IV2. L- 31/2- D- 4, P. from 10, omn. lV4fr-;
Hot. Britannia. Boul. des Moulins, R. from 3, L. 3, D. 31/0, P. from 10,
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omn. 11/4 fr. ; Hot. de la Terrasse (PI. t ; D, 2), Boul. des Moulins. R. from 5,

B. IV2, L. 4, D. 5, P. from 11. omn. H/a fr.; Hot.-Pens. Lucie. 1 Rue des
Lilas, in the St-Michel quarter (PL C, 8). R. from 21/21 B. IV4, L. 2V2, !> 8

(iucl. wine), P. from 8 fr. ; Pens. Crystal-Palace, Boul. des Moulius, P.
10-15 fr.— Near the station: Hot. -Rest. Terminus & CosmopoUtain (PI. tc;

D, 3), R. from 4, B. I1/21 L- 31/2^ D- 4, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. cV Europe
(PI. u; D. 3), L. 3, D. 4 fr., Hot. National (PL na; D, 2), R. from 4, B.

IV4. L. 3, D. 3V->. P. from 9, omn. I1/2 fr-. Sot. des Gourmets (PL go;
D, 2), R. 2-6, B. 1' L. 21/2, D. 3 (incL wine). P. 7-10 fr.. all three in the Rue
du Portier.— In the Av. de Monte-Carlo; Hot. Beau-Riiaqe (PL z; B, 4),

R. from 8, B. 2, L. 5, D. 7, P. from 18 fr. ; Hot. des Princes (PL y; B, 4),

German, well spoken of. R. from 4, B. Vj.^. L. 4, D. 5, P. from 13. omn. 2 fr.

At Beausoleil, reached by the La Turbie railway (p. 589) and by
electric tramway (p. 584): *Riviera Palace {Fl. rp; C, 2), luxurious, with
superb view, R. from 15, B. 2, L. 6, D. 10, board 15, omn. 2^/2 fr. ; Hot.
Gallia, next to the Credit Lyonnais (PL C, 3), R. from 5, L. 4, D. 6, P.

from 12, omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. Suisse, Boul. du Midi, well spoken of, R. from 4,

B, 11/2- L. 3, D. 4, P. from 10, omn. 1 fr.

Open the whole year: Hot. de Paris, Londres, Colonies, Louvre, Albion
& Littoral, Lucie, Terminus. National, Europe, Gourmets, Gallia, and Suisse.

Flats and Lodgings abound. House Agents: Roiistan, 2 Boul. des
Moulins; Bremond, at the Hot. de Londres.

Restaurants. ^Hermitage (p. 586), L. 7, D. 15 fr., *Ciro^s, Galerie
Charles III, *iiest. de Paris, *Francais, at the Grand-Hotel (p. 586), all

with liigh charges; *Re, Boul. des Moulins; Freres-Provenqaux, at the
Hot. de Russie (p. 586); Aleo^andra (p. 586); Rest, du Covimerce, Princess,
Rest, du Littoral (hotel, see p. 586), Victoria, all in the Boul. des Moulins;
RocJier-de-Cancale, Boul. du Nord.

Caf^s. Riche, Galerie Charles III; Paris, Place du Casino; etc.

Confectioners: H. Ecl'enberg, behind the Hot. de Paris (p. 586);
Rumpelmayer, Av. des Fleurs; Scapini, 21 Boul. des Moulins; Pasquier,
Av. St-Michel; Haug, Villa Lamartine, Boul. du Xord.

Casino. The gaming-rooms are open the whole year (10 a.m. till

midnight; in summer till 11). Tickets are obtained gratis at the office,

to the left in the vestibule, on showing one's credentials. On Sun. and
holidays a passport is usually necessary. Minors are not admitted. Adm.
during the season to the new gaming-rooms, where also concerts are held
every afternoon and evening, by special ticket only (100 fr., per month
50 fr.). Plays in the evenings from Nov. to April, and matinees on Sun.
in Feb. and March (5-20 fr.). — Concerts and entertainments in the Casino
Municipal, at Beausoleil (PL C, 2; 2-5 fr.).

Art Exhibition at the Palais des Beaux-Arts (p. 588 ; open 9-5, from
15th Jan. to loth April; Ifr.); also concerts and plays.

Post & Telegraph. Oflace (PL C, 4), Av. de Monte-Carlo; also at the
Casino Municipal. Comp. p. 584.

Rack-and-Pinion Railway to La Turbie (p. 589), 9 times daily,

or 15-16 times during season, in 21 min. ; to Beausoleil 40 or 30 c. (down
20 or 15 c); to La Turbie 8 fr. 10 or 2 fr. 80 c. (down 1 fr. 55 or 1 fr. 15 c).

Motor Cabs (stand in the Av. des Beaux-Arts). Up to 1 km. 8 fr.,

then 1 fr. per km. ; if the cab be dismissed outside the principality, a

return-fee of 1 fr. per km. is charged. — Garages. Garage-Palace. Boul.
des Moulins; Sporting-Garage, Boul. de France, Beausoleil; Jaquin, Av.
des Citrouniers.

Banks. Credit Lyoyinais (PL C, 8), 2 Av. des Beaux-Arts (Cook's
agent), and at Beausoleil, near the Gare de la Turbie ; Comptoir d'Escompte,
Galerie Charles III (agent for Sleeping Car Co. and North German Lloyd);
Soci^t4 Generale, Boul. du Midi, and Banque Populaire de Menton, at

Beausoleil.
Baths. *Nouvel Etablissement Thermal (PL D, 4), below the Casino,

with sea-water and medicinal baths, luxuriously fitted up.— Sea Bathing
at Larvotto. E. of Les Moulius.
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Anglican Church. (St. Cyi^riaivs), Rue de la Source (PI. B, 3) ; ser-

vices (Nov.-May) at 8.30, 11, and 3; chaplain. Rev. R. Jamblin.

British Vice-Consul, C. J. Sim, Hot. Metropole.— Ekglish Library,
26 Boul. du Xord.

English Physicians. Dr. Andreics, Boul. Peirera; Dr. Blackuell,
Boul. du Nord; Dr. R. Fryce-JIitcheU, 7 Boul. Peirera; Dr. RrAla Rottse,

Winter Palace.

—

Dextist. J. Ash, Boul. du Xord. — Chemists. Grab, at

the Grand-Hotel: C'rnzel, 11 Boul. des Moulins; Delay, 2 Boul. d'ltalie;

Stohl, 27 Boul. des Moulins.

Golf Course (18 holes) on Mont Agel (see p. 589).

Cabs and Tramways, seep. 587; Permis de Sejour, see p. 585; News-
paper, see p. 591.

Monte Carlo (pop. 9627), beautifully situated in a sheltered

bay to the N. of Monaco, has a charming climate, but the chief

attraction is the Casino, with its gaming facilities and admirable

concerts, the property of the 'Societe Anonyme des Bains de Mer'.

The *Casino (PL D, 3, 4), built in 1878 after the designs of

Charles Gamier, stands on a hill overlooking the station and the

sea. The chief facade looks inland; the sea-front was rebuilt in

1903 and 1910. Above is a bronze figure of the 'Cote d'Azur', and

at the angles Day and Night. At the sides are statues of Music,

by Sarah Bernhardt, and Dancing, by Gustave Dore. The vestibule

(buffet) is adorned with landscapes by Jundt. The Salles de Jen
are on the left. Adjacent is the large Salon de Conversation, with

a mural painting by Gervais (Florentine Graces). The Salle du
Theatre, opposite, is richly decorated with paintings by Feyeu-

Perrin, G. Boulanger, Clairin, and Lix. Xew gaming-rooms, splen-

didly fitted up, are on the lower floor (adm., see p. 587). To the left

of the vestibule is the staircase leading to the Salles de Lecture
on the first floor.

The games played at the Casino are Roulette and Trente-et-Quarante,
the minimum and maximum stakes being 5 and 6000, 20 and 12,000 fr,

respectively.

The terrace behind the Casino, with its band-stand for summer
use and a bust of Hector Berlioz (1803-69), commands a splendid

"View. It is adjoined by the Tir aux Pigeons (PL D, 4), beyond
the railway, famous for its competitions ('grand prix' of 20,000 fr.

in Jan.). To the W. of the Casino, opposite the post office, is the

Sporting -Club (PL S.C), in the beautiful Av. de Monte-Carlo,

which descends to the Boul. de la Condamine (p. 585).

Charming *Gardens, with palms and exotic plants, surround the

Casino and extend to the Palais des Beaux-Arts (PL C, 3 ; ex-

hibition of pictures, etc., see p. 587). The grounds are prolonged

to the Boul. du Xord (PLB,C, 3), where a villa-quarter has sprung
up on the frontier of the principality. From the Boul. des Moulins
(PL C, 3, D, 3-1), just beyond the frontier-bridge, a road diverges

to the left for the stalactite Ghrotte de St-Boman (adm. 50 c.) and a

chalet-restaurant. The Boul. des Bas-Moulins (PL D, 3, 2) follows

the coast to Larvotto, whence a path leads to the Pointe de la Veille
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(p. 576). The Boul. de I'Ouest (PI. B, 4, A, 5), diverging to the S.

from the Boul. du Nord, crosses the Vallon des Gaumates (p. 585)

by a \daduct 150 ft. high, and leads to Monaco station.

Higher np, beyond the Boul. du Nord, lies the new French

town of Beausoleil (195-655 ft.; pop. 8231; hotels and casino,

see p. 587), with the Gare de la Turbie. From the Riviera Palace

Hotel (PI. rp; C, 2) a winding road, with fine views, ascends past

the foot of the Mont des Mules or Mitras (930 ft.; remains of

prehistoric walls) to the Grande-Corniche (p. 575; to La Turbie

2 hrs.). The steep old road, which starts from the Boul. de I'Ouest,

is shorter (1 hr.).

Rack- AND-Pixiox Railway to La Turbie, IV2 M- (see p. 587). The
(ra7-e de la Tvrhie (PI. C, 3), the lower terminus, is situated near the Boul.
du Nord, in French territory. Three stations : BeaiisoJeil (230 ft. ; see above),
LuBordina (720 ft. ; PI. A, 2), and La Corniche. The upper terminus (1540 ft.)

is a few min. from tlie village. La Turbie (1595 ft. ; Hot. -Rest, du Righi-
d'Hiver, above the station, high-class; Savoy Hotel, higher up; Hot. de
France, de Paris, in the village, plainer; pop. 1434), a very old village

on the Cirande-Corniche (p. 575), in the pass between the Tete de Chien
and the 3Iout de la Bataille (2060 ft.), enjoys a splendid *Yiew of Monaco
and the coast, from Montboron to Bordighera. The Tour d'Auguste is a

relic of the trophy (Tropaaa Avgu^ti) erected here bj' the Roman senate
in token of the subjection of the Alpine tribes and completed in 6 B.C.
The tower, fortified in the l(5th-17th cent., was restored in 1905-9. The
best A'iew is from the terrace near the tower, at the end of the Av. St-

Bernard. To the S. rises the Tete de Chien (1885 ft.), to the N. the Mont
Acjel (3770 ft.), both fortified.

From Moste Carlo to the Golf Course, motor-omn. every morning
in 1 hr., starting from the Casino (5 fr.). We diverge from the Grande-
Corniche a little E. of La Turbie (see p. 575) and ascend between rocks
(short-cnts) to the Col de VArvie (2475 ft.) and reach the grassy plateau
(2660 ft.) of the Monte Carlo Golf Course (good cafe-rest.). Extensive view.
The ascent hence of the road up Mont Agel is prohibited. — From the col

we may mount E. (fine views), bearing to the left, until the Mentone hills

are sighted. We may then descend, either to the left to Gorbio (p. 594),
or to the right to Roquebrune (p. 575), I1/2-2 hrs. in all. — About 500 yds.
W. of La Turbie a road diverges to the right from the Grande-Corniche
to (IV-j M.) Notre-Daine-de-Laghet (1115 ft.), once a Carmelite convent
and now a pilgrims' resort, especially on Trinity Sunday. — Descent from
La Turbie S. to Cap-d'Ail station, see p. 545.

m. Mentone and Environs.

Stations. Gare Principale (PL D, 4; hotel-omn. 1, luggage V-ifr-);

Menton-Gararan (PI. G, 2), for the E. bay.

Hotels and Pensions, many of them German, and mostly open in

winter only, escept the houses mentioned on p. 591. Charges are ex-
clusive of wine. — Ox the W. Bay. To the N. of the Rue Partouneaux
and Av. Felix-Faure. in an open site, but some way from the sea: *Gr.-
Hot. des Iles-Britanniques (PL a; D, 4). on the slope above the Carei
valley, R. from 5 or 6, B. I1/2. L. 4, D. 6, P. from 15 fr. ; *Gr.-E6t.
National (PI. b; E, 3), a little higher up, verv sheltered, R. from 10,

B. 2, L. 4-5, D. 6-8, P. from 15 fr.; *Gr.-Hdt. 'du Louvre (PL c; D, 4),

R. from 5, B. IV4, L. 4, D. 6, board 9fr.; Gr.-Hot. des Ambassadeurs
(PL d; E, 4), German, R. from 4, B. I1/2, L. 31/2. I>- 5, P. from 10 fr.;

Leubner's Grand-Hotel (Pl.e; E, 4), with dependance Gr.-Hot. Victoria &
des Princes, good, R. from 41/2- B. li/.,, L. 41/2, D- 6, P. from 12 fr. ; *Gr.-n6t.
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d' Orient & d'Angleterre (PL f ; E, 4), R. from 5, B. IV2, L. 4-6, D. 6, P. from
121/2^1".; *Gr.-H6t. de Russie & AUemag7ie (PL h; E, 4), German, B. I1/2.

L. 4, D. 5, P. from 10 fr.; *n6t. de Malte (PL k; E, 4), R. from 31/,,.

B. 11/27 L. 31/2, L>- 5. P. from 10 fr.; *H6t. de Turin (PL i; E, 4), R. from
3. B. IV2' L. 3. D. 41/2^ P. from 9 fr.; Hot. de Venise & Continental (PL 1;

E, 4), English, well spoken of, R. from 31/2, B. H/2. L. 4, D. 6, P. from
12 fr.; Hot. des Etrangers (PL se; E, 4), Rue Partouneaux, German,
R. from 21/2. B. 1, L. 21/2, D- 31/2 (inel. wine), P. from 8 fr. ; Hot. de
Geneve & d'Angleterre, Rue des Bains (PL E. 4) ; Pens. JFagali. 10 Rue
Yillarey, P. 8-lOfr.: Hot.-Rest. de la Poste. 16 Rue de la Republique,
plain. R. from 2, B. 1. L. 21/2, !>• 2V2-3 (incl. wine), P. 6-7 fr.-To the N.
of the station, in open, elevated sites (omn. during the season from the

Jardin Public 30 c): "Riviera Palace (PL rp; D, 3), R. from 4, B. 13/4,

L. 4. D. 6, P. from 12 fr.; "Winter Palace (PL wp; D, 3). R. from 6, B. 2,

L. 5. D. 7. P. from 20 f r. ; "Hot. JIont-Fleuri (PL m; D, 4), R. from 8, B.

VIo. L. 4, D. 6, P. from 15 fr. ; *Hdt. Wagner (PL r; D. 4). Av. de Sospel.

R.'from 31/0. B. 11/2- L. 3V'>, D. 5. P. from 10 fr. ; Hot. d' Albion, opposite
the Winter Palace, English^ R. 4-6, B. I1/2. L. 4. D. 5, P. 9-15, omn. li/2fr.—
In the Av. Felix-Faure and Rue St-Michel, in the centre of the town, but
mostly with S. rooms facing the sea: *H6t. Royal Westminster (PL n

;

E, 4), R. from 41/- B. 1^/4, L. 41/2, D. 6 fr. ; Hot. de Paris & 3Ietropole
(PL 0; E, 4), frequented bv French visitors. B. 11/2- L. 4, D. 5, P. from
10 fr.; *Regina Palace <£• Balmoral Hotel (PL g; E, 4), R. from 4, B. H/2,

L. 4. D. 5, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. des Colonies, opposite the Paris & Metro-
pole, R. from 3. B. I1/2. L. 3. D. 5. P. from 10 fr.; Gr.-Hot. de Menton
& du Midi (PL p; F. 4). R. from 4, B. li/o. L. 31/.,, D. 5. P. from 10 fr.;

Riviera Pension, Promenade du Midi, P. '81/2-13 fr.; Hot. -Pens, de Flo-
rence, Promenade du Midi, R. 3-4 fr. — In the Av. de la Gare, for passing
travellers: Hot. duParc (PL q: E. 4), well spoken of, R. from 31/2- B. I1/4.

L. 31/2. L>- 5, P. from 9 fr. ; Hot. d'Europe & Terminus (PL et; D, 4),

with rest.. R. from 31/2. B. li/^. L. 3. D. 4, P. from 9 fr.; Hot. St-Peters-
bourg : Hot. -Pens. Suisse & de la Gare, plain. R. 2V2-4 fr.; Hot. de Berne,
opposite the station; Xo. 19, Romano's Hotel. — Beyond the Jardin Public,

in the Av. Carnot and Av. de la Madoue : "Impericd Pcdace (PL ip; D, 5),

with large garden, R. from 8, with bath from 16, B. 2, L. 6, D. 8, P. (at

beginning and end of season onlv) from 16 fr. ; *H6t. Bristol (PL u; E, 4),

R. from 3, B. I1/2, L. 31/2. L>" 41/2 < P- from 10 fr.; Gr.-Hot. Astoria,
corner of Av. Carnot and Av. Edouard VII (PL D. 4. 5), German, to be
opened early in 1914, R. 31/2-IO, B. I1/2, L. 31/2. D. 5, P. 10-18 fr. ; Hot.
de Londres (PL s; D, 4. 5), German; Savoxj Hotel & St-Georges (PL t;

D. 5), R. from 5, B, I1/2. L. 4. D. 5, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. du Prince-de-
Galles, Promenade du Midi, frequented by English visitors, R. from 4,

B. 11/2, L. 4. D. 5. P. from 10 fr.; Hot. Rives-d'Azur. Promenade du Midi,
P. from 101/2 fr.; Hot. Carlton Pcdace, Promenade du Midi, R. 5-15, B. li/.^,

L. 4, B. 7, P. 12-25 fr. ; Hot. Excelsior, Av. Carnot, now being built;

Villa Floreal. in the Borigo valley, P. 1016fr.; Pens. Villa Paradis,
Boul. de la Madone, P. 6-81/0 fr.— In the Gorbio valley, sheltered: *Alex-
andra Hotel (PL v; C. 5), "on the hill-slope, with park, 20 min. from
the town, German. R. from 4. B. li/.^-, L. 4, D. 6, P. 121/^-20, omn. 21/2 fr.

;

"Sanatorium de Gorbio (about 650 ft.; PL A, 2), I1/4 hr. from the town,
no consumptives received, P. and medical attendance 20-28 fr.— On the
Annonciade hill (720 ft.; funicular, but no road; corap. p. 594): Hot.-PCiis.
Annonciata (PL B, 2). P. 11-20 fr.— By the sea, near the Cap Martin: Hot.
Victoria & de la Plage (PL B,4), German, R. 31/2-51/2. B. I1/4. L. 31/0. D. 4,

P. 9-12 fr. — On the Cap Martin, beautifully situated: "Gr.-Hot. du Cap-
Martin (PL B, 5), a high-class English hotel, with a fine park. R. from 10,

B. 11/.,. L. 6-7. D. 8. P. (Nov.-Jan. onlv) from 16, omn. 2 fr.; Hot. Riva-
Bella (PL A. 4; p. 593), 21/2 M. from Mentone, good, P. from 10, omn. 5 fr.

;

Pens. Roc-Fleuri, P. 10-12 fr.

On the E. Bay, 10-25 min. from the town, a favourite English quarter:
"Hotels Bellevue,' d'ltalie & Grande-Bretagjie (PL y, w, x; F, 3), in an
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open site, with a beautiful garden, E. from 5, B. 1V2> L. 4, D. 6, P. from

12V2- omn. 2 fr. ; *Gr.-Hdt. des Anglais (PI. z; F, 3), by the sea, R. from 5,

B. 11/2- L- 4, D. 6, P. from 12V2fr.; Hot. Garavan-Palace (PI. gp; G, 2),

R. from 5, B. li/j, L. 4. D. 6, P. from 12 fr.; Hot. St-Laids, under con-

struction. —Plainer: *Hdt. Becm-Rivage (Pl.br; G-, 2), R. from 4. B. IV2,

L. 31/.,, D. 41/2- P- from 10 fr.; *Grand-H6td (PI. gh; G, 2), R. from 4,

B. 11/2. L- 4- D- 5. P. from 10 fr.; *Hdt. Santa-Maria, Promenade de

Garavan, R. from 4, B. IV21 L. ,31/2- D. 41/2. P- from 9 fr. ; "^Hot. Beau-Site
& Britannia, Promenade de Garavan. English. R. from 3, L. 3, D. 31/2?

P. from 8 fr.; Pois. Wiener Heim, Promenade de Garavan, P. 8-12 fr.

Open the whole year: Hotels des Deux-Mondes, Florence, Loudres,
Menton, Poste, Regina, Riviera Pension, and Suisse & de la Gare.

Villas to let (about 300). Rents for the season 1000-15,000 fr. or

more. House Agents : Mentone British Agency, Villa Les Grottes, Garavan

;

Gust. Amarante, 21 Place St-Roch ; Tonin Amarante, 19 Av. Felix-Faure
;

Boglio (Anglo-American Estate Agency), 18 Av. F^lix-Faure; Ad. Gintz
15 Av. Felix-Faure; Biasca, 25 Av. de la Gare.— Apartments (see p. xix)

in the Av. Felix-Faure. Rue de la Republique. etc.

Restaurants. *Iles-Britanniqnes (p. 589). L. 5. D. 8 fr., *Riviera
Palace (p. 590), L. 6, D. 8 fr., * Winter Palace (p. 590), L. 6, D. 9 fr.. all

high-class; *Amiraiite, Promenade de Garavan; Pavilion de la Pointe-du-
Cap-JIartin (p. 593); Grill-Room, 13 Av. Felix-Faure; Cercle, Rue Ho-
norine, plain. — Confectioners. Perrimond-Rumpelmaijer. Eckenherg,
both near the Jardin Public; Giovanoli and Reich, Av. Felix-Faure; Ronzi
fr^res, Rue Honorine; British & American Tea Rooms, 1 Av. F^lix-Faure.

Cabs. Per drive within the town (1st zone) 1, with two horses IV2)

at night Vj^ or 2 fr. ; within the commune (2nd zone) IV2 or ^ (at night
2 or 21/2) fr.

; per hour 21/2 or 31/2 (at night 23/^ or 3^/4) fr. To the Gr.-

Hot. du Gap-Martin 3-4, villas at the Cap 4-5, Cap Martin and back 8-10,

Boul. de Garavan 4-6 fr. There and back, with stay of IV2-2 hrs. : Roque-
brune or Gorbio sanatorium 10-15, La Mortola 12-20, Castellar 14-20,

Gorbio 15-20, Monte Carlo 15-20 fr.— Donkeys. Per day 5, half-day 21/2 fr.

Tramways. From the Gare de Meyiton (PI. D, 4) to the Place St-

Roch (PI. E, 4; 10 c); from Garavan (PI. D, 2) to the Place St-Roch (10-

20 c), and thence to La Plage (Hot. Victoria; PI. B. 4; 15-30 c). To Monte
Carlo, Beaulieu, and Nice, see p. 575. To Sospel, see p. 594. — Omni-
buses from the Place Xationale to the valley of the Borigo, hourly (10 c.)

;

from the Place du Cap to Ventimiglia, six times daily (1 fr.).

Post & Telegraph Office (PI. 2; E, 4), 8 Rue Partouneaux. The
telegraph office is open day and night from Xoa\ to April. Branch-offices,

Promenade de Garavan and Av. de la Madone.
Casinos. Casino Municipal (PI. 12; E, 4), Av. Boyer (theatre, con-

certs, etc.; adm. 1, day-ticket 2fr.); Casino de Mento7i (PI. 11; E, 4),

Rue Villarey (2-3 fr.). — Carnival with processions, battle of flowers,

etc. ; regattas in spring.

Tourist Agents. Thos. Cook & Son, 22 Av. Felix-Faure (excursions
to Nice, San Remo, Sospel, etc.); Sleeping Car Co., Montee de la Gare;
P.L.M., 1 Rue St-Michel; Hamburg-American Line, 22 Av. Felix-Faure.

Banks. Credit Lyonnais, 27 Av. F^lix-Faure; Banque Poptdaire
de Menton and Societe Generale, 40 and 11 Rue Partouneaux; Comp.
Alg&rienne, Av. F^lix-Faure; Mentone British Agency, Villa Les Grottes,

Garavan.
Booksellers. Diemer, 29 Av. Carnot; Librairie Interncdionale,

llhis Av. de la Gare. —Newspapers. The Mentone & Monte Carlo Neics
(30 c. weekly); The Riviera Post (10 c).

Baths.' Lambert, on the E. bay (PI. F, 3); Hugou, Rue Partouneaux,
corner of the Rue des Bains (1 fr. 40 c. ; hot sea-water 2V2 fr-); Andre,
Promenade du Midi (PI. D, 5); Mediterranee, Rue du Castellar; at the
Hot. Victoria & de la Plage (p. 590).

Syndicat d'lnitiative, at the Casino Municipal.
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Anglican Ch.urch.es. St. John's (PI. 8; E, 4), Av. Carnot; services

(Oct. -May) at 8, 9.30, 10. .30, 11.30, and 3; chaplain, Rev. G. H. Sissons.—
Christ Church (PL 9; F, 3), Promenade de G-aravan; services (Oct.-May)
at 8, 10.30, and 3; chaplain, Canon Allison. — Scottish Presbtterias
Chcrcii (PI. 10; E, 4), Rue de la Republique; services (Nov.-May) at 10.30

and 3; minister. Rev. J. E. Somerville.
British Vice-Constil. H. H. Hill, Yilla Les Grottes, Garavan.
Physicians. Dr. CainpheU, Casa Rossa, Garavan; Dr. Rendall. Villa

Les Palmiers, Av. Felix-Faure; Dr. Samicaijs, Villa Flavie; Dr. Siordet,
Villa des CabroUes. — Nurses' Institute, Rue St-Michel.

—

Dextists.
Kerr. Av. de la &are; Mount, 27 Av. Felix-Faure. —Chemists. Lavergne,
Av. Felix-Faure; Bezos, Rue St-Michel; Oddo, Rue Partouneaux; Saucet,
20 Av. Carnot.

Clubs. Golf Club at Sospel (p. 583; motor-omn.); Laicn Tennis &
Croq^uet Cluh, Av. Carnot; Anglo-American Club. 17 Av. Felix-Faure.

Climate. Mentone is sheltered from the N. by a girdle of mountains

;

the E. bay in particular is protected by a wall of rocks stretching down
to the sea. A cool breeze, however, generally springs up about noon.
Between 1st Nov. and 30th April the rainy days average 43; snow rarely
falls. The W. bay is less sheltered than the E., but has a greater choice
of good quarters at some distance from the sea and of pleasant walks.

Mentone, Fr. Menton (pop. 18.001), once in the principality

of Monaco, but bought by France in 1861, is charmingly situated

on the Golfe de la Paix. The gulf comprises the Bale de VEst
or de Garavan, v.'ith the harbour, and the Baie de V Quest, separated

by a promontory, on which the older quarters are built. The luxuriant

vegetation consists of orange and lemon groves (yielding about

45 million lemons annually), interspersed with carob-trees, figs,

olives, etc. As a winter resort Mentone vies with Xice and Cannes,

offering quieter quarters, and specially suitable for persons with

delicate lungs. The visitors (chiefly English and German) average

15,000 annually.

From the station (PI. D, 4) we soon reach the pretty Jardins
du Caret, laid out on the bed of a torrent which has been covered

in dow^n to the sea. The gardens contain a Monument (PI. 3; E, 4)

recalling the union of Mentone with France. In the Av. Boyer, close

by. is the Casino Municipal (PL 12 ; E, 4), with a winter-garden,

restaurant, skating-rink, theatre, etc.

To the E. of the monument begins the Rue Partouneaux, in which

are the Post Office (PI. 2 ; E, 4) and a bust of Dr. Bennet (d. 1891),

who did much to bring Mentone into favour. This street leads to

the Avenue Felix-Faure (PI. E,4), which, with the Rue St-Michel

(see below), forms the main street of the new town. To the E. of the

post otfice the Rue de la Republique leads to the Place des Carmes.

On the N. side of the latter is the Musee (PI. E, F, 3; open daily,

except Mon., 10-4), containing engravings, a natural history collec-

tion, and objects found in the Grottes de Grimaldi (p. 593).

The Pue St-Michel (PL F, 4) leads through the lower part of

the old town to the harbour. Narrow streets to the left ascend to

the church of St-MicM (PL F, 3), of the 17th cent., largely rebuilt

since the earthquake of 1887.
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The *Promenade du Midi (PI. F-D, 4, 3), skirtiug the W.
bay, and affording mauy line views, is a favourite walk in winter

from 11 to 4 0' clock (motor-cars prohibited). It passes the Jardin
Public, partly laid out on the covered bed of the Carei (p. 592).

Farther W. is (^/^ M.) the Pont Elisabeth (PI. B, 3), across the

Gorbio, bearing an inscription in memory of the Empress Elizabeth

of Austria (d. 1898).

Along the E. bay runs the Promenade de Garavan (PI. F, Gr,

3-2, and C, D, 2), connected with the Promenade du Midi by the

Quai de Moutleon. It ends at the tramway terminus (p. 591), near

a fountain erected by Sir Thos. Hanbury (d. 1907; see below). The

Promenade St-Louis (PI. D, 2), to the right, leads across the torrent

of St-Louis to (^4 hr.) the Rest, des Rochers-Rouges, adjoining a

small Museum (adm. 1 fr.), with a few prehistoric remains found

in the grottoes of the Rochers-Rouges (PI. E, 2), better known as

the Grottes de Ghnmaldi, the chief finds being in the Anthropological

Museum at Monaco (p. 585).— The Ventimiglia road, to the left near

the fountain, ascends to the (V2 M.) Pont St-Louis (PI. E, 2), 215 ft.

above the little torrent of St-Louis, the boundary between France

and Italy. About ^/^^ M. farther, beyond the Italian dogana, is the

Hotel Garibaldi (PI. E, 2; fine view). The road next passes (^/^M.)

La Mortola (PL F, 2), where we visit the ^Giardino Hanbury
(Mou. and Fri. afternoons ; adm. 1 fr.), the late Sir Thomas Hanbury's

superb gardens, the most luxuriant on the Cote d'Azur, containing

about 5000 species of plants. Near the village-church, above the

gardens, a monument has been erected in memory of Sir Thomas
Hanbury's philanthropy.

Near the Pout St-Louis ends the *Boulevard de Garavan
(PI. G, D, 2), a delightful way back to the town, leading above the

E. bay to the old cemetery, and overlooking the beautiful coast.

A favourite drive from Mentone is to (2 M.) *Cap Martin
(PI. B, 4, 5; 1 hr. there and back; carr., see p. 591; tramway, see

p. 576). Walkers follow the Promenade du Midi and the road

skirting the E. side of the cape and passing through an artificial

ruin. The cape is still partly covered with pine -forest, with

luxurious undergrowth; at the S. end is the Grand-Hotel du Cap-
Martin (p. 590). The tramway station is to the N.W. of the hotel.

On the road-side is a monument recalling the visits of the Empress
Elizabeth. Near it is the Pavilion de la Pointe-du-Caj)-Martin
(cafe-rest. ; view). On the top of the cape (225 ft.) are a Semaphore
and the scanty ruins of a convent (11th cent.). To the W. is the Villa

Cyrnos (PI. B, 4), belonging to the ex-Empress Eugenie. A little

N.W. are the Hotel Riva-Bella (p. 590) and a small Roman monu-
ment (p. 576), with splendid olive-trees around. Higher up runs

the (Trande-Corniche (p. 575).
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Excursions.

The old Convent de VAnnonciade (PL B, 2 ; 720 ft. ; fine view;

is reached by a funicular (50, return 70 c), which starts from the

Sospel road, near the electric works. Hotel Annonciata, see p. 590.

Walkers mount in Y2 ^r. by a path to the left, just beyond the funi-

cular, or by another, less steep, starting from the ^Yinter Palace.

Beautiful excursion to (272hrs.) Ste-Agnes (2200ft.; HOt.-Rest.

Righi de Ste-Agnes, P. from 10 fr.; Hot. Victoria & Suisse, R. l^/o,

P. 6-7 fr.), a picturesque village overlooked by a ruin (2510 ft.;

view). The road ascends on the right bank of the Borigo (PI. B, 3, 2).

About 300 yds. beyond the railway a steep bridle-path to the left

mounts to the Col de Garde (1000 ft.) and thence to Ste-Agnes.

Descent via Gorhio (1^/2 hr.; 1425 ft.; cafes) and its picturesque

valley (41/2 M. more to Mentone), passing the Sanatorium (p. 590),

or to (1^2 hr. from Gorbio) Cabbe-Roquebrune station (p. 576).
From Ste-Agnes we may ascend the Pic de Bandon, or Aiguille

(4145 ft.; 21/2 lirs.; stiff; guide useful), \ik Xh.Q Collet de Bausson{-2^^{) t\..).

Superb *View from the top. Descent via Gorbio (see above) to Mentone, or

to Peille and La Grrave-de-Peille (p. 582), and thence by tramway to Nice.

To Castellar (1230 ft.; cafes; guide B. Palmaro), l^/^ hr., by
a road winding up the pretty valley of the Fossan, or Vallon de

Menton (short-cuts), or in 1^4 hr. by a bridle-path passing under

the railway at the back of the museum and offering line views.
To the N. of Castellar a path diverges to the left, and after 20 min.

ascends to the right to (21/2-8 hrs.) the Berceau, with its two peaks, the

Roc d' Ormea (3705 ft.; W.) and the C'ime de Eestaud, or Longoiru
(3755 ft.; E.). Glorious view of the sea, the coast, Corsica, and the Alpes
Maritimes. Still vaster is the panorama from the Grammont, or Gran-
mondo (4520 ft. ; 41/2 hrs. from Castellar

;
guide useful), beyond the frontier,

crowned with a large marble cross. We follow the above-mentioned path
straight on, leaving the Berceau path on the right, or we may ascend from
the Berceau in 2 hrs. (fatiguing).

Via the Hotel Garibaldi (p. 593), and to the left via C'iotti, or Mortoln
Superioi'e (1090 ft.), to 3[onte Bellenda (1780 ft. ; 3 hrs. ; view).

From Mentone to Sospel, 11 M., electric railway four times daily
in 11/2 hr. (1 fr. 40 c.).—We start from the Place St-Roch (PI. E, 4), and.
passing under the railway, follow the right bank of the Care'i. We pass
the electric works and the Moulin du Prince. — IV2 M. Villa Casei'ta
(PL C, 2; 1610 ft.; rest.). We ascend rapidly, in view of Castellar and the
Berceau (see above).— 3 M. Monti (610 ft.). Farther on, to the right, is

the Gourg de V Ora, a whirlpool with a small waterfalL We cross the
horseshoe-shaped Viaduc du Caramel. Yine view behind us. — 7 M. Castillon
(1855 ft.). The village (2315 ft.) lies 1/2 hr- to the left, on the Col de la
Gare (fine views). To the W., on a rock (2525 ft.), lies the old village,

deserted since the earthquake of 1887. To the Col St-Jean, see p. 583.—
We pass through a tunnel 1/2 M. long, and descend the pretty Merlanson
valley to (11 M.) Hospel (p. 583).

To Monte Carlo and Nice, see pp. 576-574, 546-544. Those driving
to Xice by the Grande-Corniche should see that the driver diverges to the
right a little short of the Hotel Bella-Riva (the road to the left being the
Petite-Corniche).— To T^e/i«i;/;?^Z/a by railway, see p. 546; by road (6 M.

;

carr. 12-20 fr. ; omn., see p. 591), less interesting beyond La Mortola.
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_

79. Ajaccio and Environs 598

80. From Ajaccio to Evisa via Cargese and Piana, and

back via the Col de Sevi 604
Porto, 605. — Foret d'Aitone, 606.— From Evisa to Gorte,

606.— Monte Cinto, 606.— Bains de Guagno, 607.

81. From Ajaccio to Bonifacio 607
Bastelica, 607. — From Santa-Maria-Siche to Zicavo, 608.

— Mont rincudine, 608.

82. From Ajaccio to Bastia 609
Col de Vizzavona, 610. — Monte Rotondo, 611. — From
Ponte Leccia to Orezza, 611.

83. From Bastia to L'lle-Rousse and Calvi 613

a. Via Ponte Leccia 613

b. Via St-Florent 613

84. From Bastia to Rogliauo and back, round the Cap

Corse Peninsula 614
From Santa Severa to Pino, 615.

85. From Bastia to Bonifacio 615
From Folelli to Piedicrooe-Orezza, 615. - From trhiso-

naccia to Ghisoni, 616.

Steamboats. The various steamship services are in the hands of

the Comp. Fraissinet (Marseilles office, see p. 527; agents at Nice, see

p. 568; at Leghorn, 9 Scali d'Azeglio). The Societu Marittima Italiana
(agent at Leghorn, 2 Piazza Micheli) also sends boats from Leghorn to

Bastia (see p. 596). As the time-tables are often altered, the traveller

should consult the 'Indicateur Officiel & Guide General de la Corse' (50 c.)

or the steamboat and tourist agents. The Comp. Fraissinet issues return-

tickets available for 90 days. Cabin-passengers are allowed 75 kg. (165 lbs.)

of luggage, 2nd cl. passengers 60 kg. (132 lbs.); bicycle 21/2, motor-cycle
15 fr. On the coasting lines the fares do not include food.

I. From the Mainland to Corsica.
a. From Marseilles to Ajaccio, 205 M., on Tues. afternoon (fast

boat) and Fri. noon; back on Wed. afternoon and Sat. evening (fast);

passage 12^/4-17 hrs. (fare 30 or 20 fr., incl. food).

b. From Marseilles to Bastia, 2-40 M., on Sun. morning and "Wed.
afternoon (fast); back on Mon. afternoon (fast) and Thurs. afternoon;
passage 15-20 hrs. (29^/2 or 191/2 fr-. iucl. food).

c. From ^L\.rseilles via Toulon to Calvi or L'Ile-Rousse (alter-

nately), 191 or 181 M., on Thurs. morning (from Toulon same afternoon), in

19-19-^4 hrs. (from Toulon 12-12^^4 hrs.); back on Mon. afternoon, in 20^/4 hrs.

(to Toulon 12-12S/4 hrs.). Fare (incl. food) to Calvi 38 or 26, from Toulon
.SO or 20 fr.; to L'Ile-Rousse 37 or 25 fr., from Toulon 29 or 19 fr.

d. From Nice to Ajaccio, 150 M., on Mon. evening (fast), back on
Thurs. evening (fast), in 91/4 hrs. (26 or 17 fr., without food).

e. From Nice to Calvi or L'Ile-Rousse (alternately), 109 or 112 M.,
on Wed. morning (fast) and Sun. morning; back on Tues. evening (fast)

and Sun. evening; passage in 63/4-9, or 7-93/4 hrs.; fare (incl. food) to

Calvi 30 or 20, to L'Ile-Rousse 29 or 19 fr.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit. 38
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f. Fkom Nice to Bastia, 142 M., Sat. evening (fast); back on Fri.
evening (fast); passage in S^/^ hrs. (251/2 or 161/2 fr., without food).

g. Fkom Lkghorn to Bastia, 73 M. t'orap. Fraissinet, Mon. morning
(fast). Wed. noon, and Fri. noon (fast); back on Sun. morning (fast), Tues.
morning, and Fri. morning (fast); passage in 41/0-61/2 hrs. (17 or 14 fr.,

without TooA). ~ Societa Marittima Italiana. Sun. morning (by steamer
leaving Genoa at Fri. midnight)

;
passage in 71/3 hrs. (15 fr. 85 or 11 fr. 40 c,

without food). Return, see p. 612.

H. Coasting Steamers.
a. From Ajaccio to Propriaxo, Wed. afternoon (fortnightly), Thurs.

noon (fast), and Sat. afternoon; back on Wed. morning, Thurs. morning
(fortnightly), and Sat. morning (fast); passage in 2-21/2 hrs. (6 or 5 fr.).

b. From Propriaxo to Bonifacio, Sun. noon; back on Tues. noon;
passage in 3 hrs. (51/2 or 41/2 fr.).

c. From Ajaccio to Calvi or L'Ile-Rousse (alternately), Tues. noon
(fast); superb views; back on Wed. evening (fast); passage in 4 hrs. 10
to 4 hrs. 45 min. (81/2 or 61/2 fr.).

d. From Ajaccio to Bastia, via Proxyriano, Bonifacio, and Porto
Yecchio, Sat. afternoon (fortnightly), in 32 hrs. ; back on Mon. morning
in 48 hrs.; 22 or 17 fr.

e. From Calvi to Bastia, via U IIe-Ro»sse, St-Florent, and Maci-
naggio, or From L'Ile-Rousse to Ajaccio, via Calvi and Sagone (altern-
ately), Fri. noon or afternoon, in 271/2 or 231/2 hrs. ; back on Sun. morning
in 27 hrs.; 21 or 17 fr,, 151/2 or 121/2 fr.

Passpoyt desirable for excursions in the interior. Sketching or pho-
tographing should be eschewed near any fortilied place. A week may
suflfice for Ajaccio, Vizzavona, Corte, and Bastia.

Corsica (French La Corse, Greek Kyrnos), lies between 43° and
41° 21' X. latitude, and between 6" 12' and 7° 13' E. longitude, 52 M. distant
from Italy and 112 M. from France, and separated from Sardinia by the
Strait of Bonifacio, 71/2 M. in width. Its area is 3367 sq. M., and its

population 288.820. A broad mountain-chain, composed chiefly of granite,
occupies almost the entire island. On the W. it rises abruptly from the
sea, forming bold promontories and deeply indented bays. On the E. side
a flat coast has been formed by alluvial deposits, especially between
Bastia and Solenzara. where it is studded with small lagoons. The great
height to which the mountains rise \,itliin a limited space (Monte d'Oro
7845 ft., Monte Rotondo 8610 ft., Mor^^e Cinto 8890 ft.) imparts a wild and
imposing character to tlie scenery. The greater part of the island is un-
cultivated. It still has superb forests of pine, beech, and evergreen oak,
but these, which once occupied nearly half of its area, are now to be found
among the mountains only. Chestnut-trees, yielding chestnut-flour, the
staple food of the mountaineers, and olive -groves are still abundant.
Many of the forests having been burned down , their place has been
taken by pastures and maccMe (Fr. maqins), or jungles of arbutus,
cistus, lentisk, and heath, affording pasture to the cattle and shelter to

brigands. The flora of the island shows no great variety, but includes
many species found nowhere else. In mineral wealth Corsica is far in-

ferior to Sardinia, but it possesses many mineral springs, such as those
of Orezza (p. 615), Guagno (p. 607), and Guitera (p. 608). Good wiues
(chiefly red, stronger and rougher than the French) are yielded by the
vineyards of Sari cVOrcino, Cargese, Chiavari , and other places on
the W. coast, and by those of Cap Corse; and honey, an article of

export, is produced by the bees which abound in the macchia; but the
cereals are quite inadequate for the wants of the population, while the
indolent character of the natives makes them averse to every kind of

industry. Corsica is one of the poorest departments of France, costing
about 19 million fr. per annum, but only yielding 6 millions in taxes.

In spite of advancing civilization, theislanders still retain many of
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the characteristics described by ancient writers. Their insatiable thirst

for revenge (vendetta), formerly one of the chief causes of the depopu-
lation of the island, has never been quite eradicated; but, as it exists

only among the Corsicans themselves, visitors to the island are as safe as in

any part of Europe. The Corsican is always armed, and he loves to take

the law into his own hands. Those wlio have slain an enemy flee to the

macchia, where they sometimes live for years, in fear of retaliation, as

banditi (proscribed). Tlie Corsican woman is mucli more industrious than
her husband, and the men look with disdain on the Italians from Tus-
cany ('Lucchesi' or 'Lucquois') who now do most of the field-work.

On the other hand the Corsicans are noted for their bravery, love of free-

dom, and hospitality. Their ballads, and especially their dirges (voceri),

which are of very ancient origin, biit falling into disuse, are full of

poetical pathos. Xative hospitality, which should be accepted when
offered, is entirely gratuitous, though often irksome.

The situation and climate of the island are Italian, as was also its

history down to 1769. Its later union with France was still more closely

cemented by its connection witli Xapoleon. It now forms the 86th de-

partment, the capital being Ajaccio. and is divided into 5 arrondissements

:

Ajaccio, Bastia, Calvi. Corte. and Sartene. The natives still speak an
Italian dialect, but French is generally understood.

The attractions of Corsica are its beautiful scenery and its interesting

historical associations, but it contains few antiquities or treasures of art.

The best seasons for visiting it are the spring, from about the end of

April, and the month of October. In summer the coast is malarious.
Ajaccio has of late become a winter resort.

The Bailways afford access to some of the most interesting places,

while others are reached by good roads. The old diligences, often dirty
and uncomfortable, are now being displaced by Motor Omnibuses (see

the 'Indicateur' ; seats should be secured the day before). For a party
a private motor-car had better be hired. Carriages with three or four
seats cost 10-15 fr. a day, but are generally dearer at Ajaccio (fee 2-3 fr.).

Few people walk; the Corsicans. like the Italians, ride whenever possible.

A Horse or Mule, with attendant, costs 6-10 fr. a day. The charge should
be carefully ascertained beforehand. Cyclists will find many of the roads
good and dustless, but mostly very sunny.

The Hotels (except at Ajaccio) are inexpensive, but often lack com-
fort and cleanliness. The charges are apt to rise where tourists abound.
Wine, for instance, formerly always included in the charge for a meal,
is now apt to be counted an extra, and drivers are entertained at the
hirer's expense. When a party intends to put up at a small inn, it is

advisable to order meals and engage rooms by telegraph.

History. Corsica, like its sister-island Sardinia, peopled by the same
race, never attained to high civilization. It is described by ancient au-
thors as being covered with a wild and impenetrable forest, of very evil
reputation. Its possession, however, was keenly contested by the "naval
powers. The Phocaeans, driven out of Asia by the Persians, founded the
town of Alalia (afterwards Aleria) on the E. coast, at the mouth of the
Tavignano, in 556 B. C. After a great naval battle in 536 they were
compelled by the allied Etruscans and Carthaginians to abandon their
colony and migrate to Italy, where they founded the town of Elea, or
Velia. The island then became subject to the Etruscans, and next to the
Carthaginians. It was occupied by the Romans in 238, but not finally
subdued till 162. Under Marius and Sulla the colonies of Mariana and
Aleria were founded on the E. coast, but both were destroyed later. The
island was frequently used as a place of banishment, as in the case of
the philosopher Seneca, who spent eight years here (41-49 A.D.). His account
of the people is far from flattering, and the Corsicans declare that 'Seneca
era un oirbone'. According to him: 'Prima est ulcisci lex, altera vivere
raptu, Tertia mentiri, quarta negare deos'. Strabo describes the Corsicans
as vindictive and untamable, while Diodorus praises their honesty.

38*
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After the fall of the Western Empire, Corsica frequently changed
masters: Vandals, Ostrogoths, Byzantines, Franks, and Saracens rapidly
succeeded one another. In 1070 the Pisans, and in 1300 the Genoese gained
possession of the island. The latter retained it till the 18th cent., but
their oppressive sway gave rise to a long series of conspiracies and
revolts, headed by bold and powerful adventurers, such as Arrigo della
Rocca, Vincentello d'Istria, and G-iampolo da Leca in the 14th and 15th
cent,, and Renuccio della Rocca and Sampiero di Bastelica in the 16th.
At length, in 1729, the disatfection to Genoa became more serious, though
the republic tried to crush it out with the aid of German troops. The last
of these adventurers was Theodor von Xeuhoff, a Westphalian baron, who
landed on 12th March, 1736, at Aleria, with a number of followers and
munitions of war. He was soon proclaimed King of Corsica as Theo-
dore I.; but his success was short-lived, and he was forced to quit the
island, as the Genoese were now assisted by the French. Theodore
returned twice to Corsica, but was ultimately compelled to seek an asj'luni

in London, where he died in obscurity in 1755. Meanwhile the Corsicans,
under the heroic Giampietro Gaffori (d. 1753), and, after 1755. under Pas-
quale Paoli (pp.610, 611; died at London in 1807), continued the struggle
so successfully that the Genoese lost the whole island except Bastia.
By the Treaty of Versailles in 1768 Genoa ceded Corsica to the French,
who, however, were still stoutly opposed by Paoli and other leaders, and
only became masters of the island in 1774. After the French Revolution
Paoli returned from England to Corsica, after an exile of 20 years, and
l)ecame president of the island. Internal dissensions having again sprung
up, Paoli invoked the aid of the British, who in 1794, under Hood, con-
quered the island. In 1796 they were compelled to abandon it, and since

then Corsica has belonged to France.

79. Ajaccio and Environs.
Arrival. As we steam into the blue bay of Ajaccio we obtain a

beautiful view of the town, backed by the Monte d'Oro and other lofty

peaks, often capped with snow. AVeather permitting, the steamers berth
at the quay; otherwise they anchor outside. (Landing or embarkation in

small boat 1 fr., incl. luggage.) The best way to get rid of importunate
boatmen and touts is to ask for the porter of the hotel selected. Luggage
is examined at the custom-house, Place des Palmiers. opposite the Hotel
de Ville. — The Station lies to the X. of the town, V4 br. from the Place
du Diamant (p. 601), and 20 min. from the chief hotels.

Hotels. In the Quartier des Etrangers, facing S., with baths and
gardens: *Grand-H6tel d'Ajaccio & Continental (PI. a), Conrs Grandval,
open Oct. -May, finely situated, with extensive grounds, R. from 5, B. l^/^,

L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra), P. from 10, omn. Vl.2h-. — *ScMceizerhof(?\. c),

Boul. des Etrangers, near the sea, R, from 4, B, I1/2, L. 3, D. 4 (wine
extra), P. 9-12, omn. l^/a fr. ; Hot.-Pens. des Etrangers, 26 Cours Grand-
val, rather out of the way, well spoken of, P. 7-10, omn. 1 fr. ; Pens.
tStalder, Boul. des Etrangers, P. from 8 fr. ; Highland Hotel, a family
pension, Route du Salario, P. froni 7 fr. — In the town, frequented by
French visitors and commercial travellers : Gr.-Hot. de France (PI. d).

Place du Diamant, good cuisine, R. from 3, B. I1/4, L- 21/2, B. 3, P.
from 8 fr. ; Gr.-Hot. Solferino, 8 Cours Napol6on, R. 2-5, L. 2-21/2, D.
21/2-3, P. 71/2-10 fr.; Hot. des Gourmets, 4 Cours Napoleon.— Apartmekts
from about 50 fr. per month, service extra (8-5 fr.). A few Villas to let

(1200-4000 fr. for the winter).

Post & Telegraph. Office (PI. 12), Rue Sergent-Casalonga.
Syndicat d'Initiative, 2 Cours Napoleon. — Tourist's Office, Place

des Palmiers.
Cabs (stand in the Place du Diamant). Per drive I1/2, at night (5-7)

2 fr.
;
per hour 2 fr.

;
per day 20 fr. - Carriages (at LucchinVs, 5 Place

du Diamant, etc.). To La Carrosaceia and back 3 fr. ; La Barbicaia 3,



K

y. ?

w

3i^t
\j/ 1

P
r-%j

If-

—. ? cm 'Si?'

& 1 '? J





Notes. AJACCIO. 79. Route. 599

Scudo 4, Fontaine du Salario 5, "Vignola or Castelluccio 6, Tour de la

Parata 10 (with stay of V2 hr-) or 20 "(whole day), Chateau de la Punta 15,

San Sebastiano or Calcatoggio 20, Cauro 20 (with return via Eccica and
Suarella 25), Chiavari 25 fr.

Garages. F. Persoglio, Cours Grandval; L. Serra, 19 Cours Napoleon.
Motor-cars for hire also at the Societe Corse-Avtomobiles, 2 Cours Napo-
leon, and at the Tourist's Office (p. 598).

Omnibus from the Place du Diamant to the Abattoirs 10, to the
Chapelle St-Joseph 15 c — Motor Omnibuses, see pp. 597, 604, 607.

Steamers to Marseilles, Nice, Propriano (Bonifacio, Porto Vecchio,
Bastia), Calvi, and L'lle-Rousse (direct, or via Sagone), see pp. 595, 596.

Agents of Comp. Fraissinet. Costa freres, 5 Boul. du Roi-Jerome. — Rowing
Boat. First hour 3, each hour more 2 fr.

Banks. Lanzi freres, 5 Boul. du Roi-Jerome; Societe de Banque &
de Commerce. Boul. dii Roi-Jerome. — Baths at the hotels; Bains Publics,
Boul. du Roi-Jerome (60 c.).— Photographer, L. Cardinali, 6 Cours Grand-
val; photographic materials at the chemists' shops. — Etablissement Hor-
TicoLE at La Carrosaccia (p. 603); fine grounds open in the afternoon.

Clubs. Cercle Litteraire, 6 Rue Cardinale; Cercle du Sport, Rue de
la Prefecture.

Festivals. On 17th Jan., festival at the Chapelle St-Antoine. During
the Carnival, processions, masquerades, and battles of flowers and confetti.

On 17th March, religious festival in the evening at the statue of Notre-
Dame-de-la-Misericorde (p. 600). On 18th March, procession. On 19th March,
festival at the Chapelle St-Joseph. On 12th-14th May, Foire de St-Pan-
crace (horses and mules). — Theatre (PI. 16), Cours Napoleon (open in

winter only).

—

Horse Races in Feb. and April, at the Hippodrome de
Vignetta.

British Consul, Hon. H. Dimdas, 7 Cours Grandval (office-hours 9-3).

Anglican Church (PI. 2; Holy Trinitij), Cours Grandval; services
(15th Nov. to 15th April) at 8. 10.30 and 3.

Climate. Ajaccio is admirably sheltered by lofty hills on the N.E.
and S.E., but it is somewhat exposed on the W. and S.W. sides. The
mean winter-temperature (52") is about 3° higher than that of the Riviera,
and more equable, and the air is drier. Ajaccio has the further advantage
of being less dusty, owing to the granitic nature of the soil.

Ajaccio (pop. 19,227) was founded by the Genoese in 1492,

and made the capital of the island in 1811 by Napoleon, at the

request of his mother Letitia. It is superbly situated on a broad

bay, which extends N. to the Caj) de la Pa7'ata, near the lies

Sanguinaires, and S. to the CajJO di Muro, while the background
is formed by imposing mountains. It is a quiet place, offering few

amusements, and its sole industry is the reception of visitors in

winter. The number of English residents has increased of late yars.

From the Harbour, and especially from the end of the pier

near the citadel, we obtain a charming view of the bay, the valley

of the Gravone, and the Monte d'Oro.

The Place des Palmiers^ with its double rows of beautiful

palms and plane-trees, adjoins the quay, and with its continuation,

the Avenue du Premier-Consul, separates the old town from the N.

quarter. It is adorned with a fountain, on which rises a marble
statue of Napoleon I., as Consul. To the N., at the corner of Boul.

du Roi-Jerome, is the Hotel de Ville (P\. 6), containing a small

'Musee Napoleonien' (adm. on application). TJie large room on the

first floor contains portraits of the Bonaparte family, busts of
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Xapoleon I., his mother, and Card. Fesch, by Canova, and a statue

of King Jerome by Bosio. Another room contains two large pictures:

the Battle of the Alma, by H. Vernet (1854), and the Landing of

the Allies in the Crimea, by Pils.

The Rue Fesch (see below) diverges to the right; to the left is

the Rue Xapoleon, at the corner of which is a house (No. 7 ; on the

lefti, with a niche (above) containing a figure of Notr e-Dame- de-

la-Miser icarde i^Corsican 'Madunuccia'), tutelary saint of the town

(comp. p. 599). No. 17, Rue Napoleon, is the modest mansion of

the Pozzo di Borgo, one of the great Corsican families.

Carlo Andrea Pozzo di Borgo (1768-1842), an early friend of Napo-
leon, became an adherent of Paoli. and the Emperor's bitter enemy. He
was afterwards a Russian councillor of state and ambassador.

The Rue St-Charles. the third to the right, leads from the Rue

Napoleon to the small Place Letizia, containing the Maison de
Napoleon (PI. 8), with an inscription recording that the Emperor

was born there on 15th Aug., 1769. The house contains a few

reminiscences of Napoleon and his mother. Adm. on application

to the concierge, who lives opposite (fee).

The family of Buonaparte appears to have emigrated in the 16th cent,

from Sarzana "in Tuscany, perhaps with the powerful Malaspinas. to Cor-

sica. Francesco Buonaparte, the first of the family who resided in Cor-

sica, died at Ajaccio in 1567. Napoleon's father, Carlo Maria Buonaparte
(1746-85). became an advocate at Ajaccio, his native town, but was soou

appointed by Paoli his secretary at Corte. After the battle of Ponte
Nuovo (p. 611), Carlo fled with "his young- wife Letitia Bamolino to the

Monte Rotondo. He afterwards returned, under French protection, to

Ajaccio, where Xapoleon was born. In 1777 Carlo was appointed deputy
for the noblesse of Corsica. At his father's death at Montpellier in 1785

Napoleon was 16 years of age. He had left school at Brieune in 1783,

and was then studying at the Ecole Militaire at Paris : but he often returned

to Corsica, residing chiefly at Les Milelli (p. 603). After tlie crisis of 1789,

Napoleon with his elder brother Joseph warmly espoused the popular cause

at Ajaccio. He repaired to Marseilles to welcome Paoli on his return

from exile, when the latter predicted that a great destiny was in store

for the youth. In 1791 Napoleon obtained command of one of the new
Corsican "battalions; but in 1792. Paoli, dissatisfied with his proceedings,

sent him to Bonifacio to join the expedition against Sardinia. This, however,
proved a failure, and in"l793 he narrowly escaped being slain by insurgents.

He then broke off his connection witli Paoli and was compelled to quit

Corsica with his famil}'. He revisited his native island for the last time

on 29th Sept., 1799. on his return from Egypt. Antommarchi, his phy-
sician, and the priest Vignale, his two faithful attendants during his exile

in St. Helena, were both Corsicans.

A little farther S. we come to the Rue du College, in which is

the Cathedral of St-Eiqjhrase (PL 1), of 1592-1603, where Na-

poleon was baptized in 1771 (font on the right of the entrance). The

street ends at the Place du Diamant (p. 601).

Near the middle of the Rue Fesch, which runs N.W. from the

Place des Palmiers, is the Palais Fesch (PI. 11), containing a

chapel, museum, and library. In the court rises a bronze statue of

Card. Fesch (half-brother of Napoleon's mother), who bequeathed

the collections to the town. In the right wing is the ChapeUe Fesch
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(open daily 8-9 a.m., also Thurs. and Sun. 12-4), built in 1855,

containing the tombs of Napoleon's mother (d. at Rome, 1836),

Card. Fesch (d. 1839). and other members of the Bonaparte family.

The Library, on the ground-floor of the left wing, contains

39,510 vols, and 206 MSS. (adm. daily 12-4, except Sun. and Fri.

and in Aug. and Sept.). The Mus^e on the first floor consists chiefly

of pictures collected by the Cardinal (open Sun. and Thurs. 12-4;

at other times, fee; catalogue 60 c).
Large Hall. Right to left: 68. Fr. Guardi(?), Architectural design.

-269, 270. Italian School of nth Cent., Portraits; 95. Basmno, Rustic
breakfast (copy) ; 159. School of Cai-acci, St. Jerome ; 285. Italian School
of ISth Cent., Still-life; 683. Phil. Boos. Landscape; 545. A. Leleux,
Ravelled skein; 547. P. Leroy, Gruitar-player (Egypt); *5. Caravaggio,
Young sculptor; 649. A. Pereda, Still-Iife; 542. Jollivet, Virgin enthroned,
with SS. Joseph and Simeon. — 612, 613. French School of 18th Cent.,
Spoils of the chase: 640. Winterhalter . Marshal Sebastiani; 88. Pasqiialini,
Card. Fesch.— 650. Pereda, Still-life ; 651. Ribera ff), Still-life ; 646. Maxado,
Portrait; 556. Rigo, Prince Xapoleon Bonaparte entering Constantinople
(Crimean war); 86b's. Pa)inini, Court of an Italian palace; 614. French
School of 17th Cent., Cavalry charge; 309. Italian School of 18th Cent.,
Portrait; 526. Clouet, Portr. of a lady; 51S. Italian School of 17th Cent.,
Portrait. —37. L. Caracci, St. Stephen.— In the centre, 820. Iselin, Bust
of Merimee. Glass case with memorials of Xapoleon.

Cabinet I, on the left. Engravings. — Cabinet II. Italian and Spanish
masters. Bronze mask of the features of Xapoleon. — Cabinet III. On
the left, 732. Flinck, Portr. of a woman (1646): Ziem, 565. Constantinople,
566. Venice.— Cabinet VII. Old Italian School. — Cabinets VIII-X, beyond
the corridor, contain works of less value.

The Rue Fesch leads into the Cours Napoleon, with its avenues
of orange-trees. On the right, before we come to the station, we
pass the Place Abbatucci, with a fine statue of Gen. Abbatucci,
who fell in the defence of Hiiningen in 1796. At the end of a short

street opposite is the Palais de Justice (PI. 10). Towards the S.

end of the Cours, on the W. side, are the church of St-Roch (PI. 4),

the Villa Sebastiani (PI. 7), with a fine park (fee), the Theatre
(PI. 16), and the handsome Prefecture (PI. 13).

In the Place du Dianiant or Bonaparte, the centre of traffic,

is an equestrian statue of Napoleon 1., with his four brothers, in

bronze, by Barye (1865). The monument is popularly known as the

inkstand. On the W. side of the square is the Military Hospital
(PI. 5), on the S. the old Grand-Seminaire (PI. 14).

From the W. side of the square run the two main streets of the

Quartier des Etrangers, the Cours G^'andval, planted with
plane-trees, and the Boul. Lantivy (p. 602). In the Cours, on the

left, are the old Petit-Seminaire (PL 15) and Eveche (PI. 9) ; on
the right are the Grand-Hotel (p. 598), the Chateau Conti, the

Anglican Church (PL 2), and an Ecole Normale for women. At
the end of the Cours, 10 miu. from the Place du Diamant, is the

large Place du Casone, used as a drilling-ground. On the W. side

is the so-called Grotte de Napoleon, where it is said that Napoleon
loved to sit when a child.
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The Boulevard Lantivy, skirting the sea, and affording fine

views, is much frequented of an afternoon. To the right diverges

the short Boul. des Etrangers. Farther on are the Hospice Eugenie,

the Phice Miot, the old Fort Miot, or Batterie du MaestreUo, and

on the right the Ecole Xormale. This boulevard is continued by

the Route de la Parata (see below).

Environs of Ajaccio.

One of the finest walks or drives (carr., see p. 599) is the

*Iloute du Salario, which begins at the Place du Casone (p. 601)

and winds up the olive-clad S. slope oi. Monte Salario. It passes,

on the left, the ChapeUe Peraldi (view), rounds the E. side of the

hill, past the Villa Belvedere, and ends near the {21/2 M.) Fontaine

du Salario, on the X. side. Delightful views all the way.
Some 70 yds. short of the Fontaine a steep path ascends in 20 min.

to the crest 'of the hill, whence we may either go E. to (15 min.) the

flat summit of Monte Salario (1020 ft.), which commands an extensive

view, from the Capo Tafonato to Monte Renoso; or we may go W.. through

dense macchia. partly burned down, and then through pine-woods, skirting

the S. slope of the"Finosa (1735 ft.). and enjoying a splendid view of

the bay and the lies Sanguinaires. Paths then descend (one after 1/4 hr.,

another 10 min. beyond) past Jlonte C'acalo (675 ft.) to the gas-works (1 hr.

;

see below). Or. passing a sheepfold, X.E. of Monte Cacalo. we may descend

to the Promenade des Pins (I1/4 hr. ; see below). It is preferable, however,

to follow the main path W., and to descend by a good winding path S.E.

to the Route de la Parata (1 hr. ; see below).

A path W. of the last bend of the Route du Salario leads down the

X. slope of the Finosa to the Penitencier St-Antoine (1/2 hr.
; p. 603).

Two gates at the first bend of the Route du Salario, close to the

Chapelle Peraldi (see above), lead into the sheltered Promenade
des Pins, where paths ascend half-way up the Salario, through

pretty macchia, affording fine views.

The *Route de la Parata, prolonging the Boul. Lantivy (see

above) beyond the Place Miot, is shadeless, but affords a charming

walk by the sea for S^/g ^I- (carr., see p. 599). It passes the Gas
Works and (1/2 ^I-) the Chapelle des Grecs, dating from 1632. The

gardens on the right contain many burial chapels, and the macchia

a number of humbler tombs, as the Corsicans have a preference for

private interment. Just beyond the path ascending to the Finosa

(see above) is the Cemetery, l^/, M. from the town. We next pass

the Restaiiraiit Bean-RivageaTid (21/2 M.) the garden of Barbicaia

on the hillside, amidst beautiful pines, and noted for its orange-trees.

On the left, farther on, is the Pavilion Ariadne (cafe). We next

pass (41/2 M.) Scudo, belonging to Count Pozzo di Borgo, with its

pretty, but neglected garden by the sea. The road then leads through

a barren region to (57, ^I-) Vignola, a lonely cottage. The road

ends at a narrow isthmus leading to the (8V2 ^O *Tour de la

Parata, an old Genoese fort on a wave-beaten rock 150 ft. high,

commanding a splendid sea-view.
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The lies Sanguinaires or Sagonaires (a name probably derived from
the ancient Sagone, p. 604), opposite La Parata, are of little interest. A boat
(ordered in advance from tlie lighthouse-keeper) may be taken to the (3/4 hr.)

large island. To go by boat from Ajaccio (6 hrs.) is hardly advisable.

The *Pointe de Pozzo-di-Borgo (2560 ft.), a hill to the

N.W. of Ajaccio, is a favourite goal of excursionists. The road

to it (7^2 M.; short-cuts; horse 5fr. ; carr., see p. 599) is at first

the Bastia road, passing the station and the abattoirs (omn., see

p. 599). We diverge to the left just before the Station des Tor-
pilleurs., pass the Haras, and ascend charming hills covered with

fruit-trees. A little to the left is the beautiful Pare de la Car-
rosaccia (p. 599). We pass under an aqueduct, over macchia
and through an olive-grove. Behind us lies the beautiful bay of

Ajaccio. We next pass the Jardin des Pretres and soon reach

(3 M.) the Col de Faccia-di-Campo (710 ft.), where we turn to

the left. We pass the Chapelle Funeraire of the Pozzo di Borgo
family (the 'Tombeau') and the Tours de Monticchi, the remains

of a 14th cent, chateau, and lastly ascend in windings to (7Y-2 ^I-)

the *Cli4teau de la Pxmta (about 2135 ft.), which was built in

1886-94 by Due Jerome de Pozzo di Borgo and his son Count
Charles (d. 1902j, with remains brought from the Tuileries at

Paris. One of the pavilions of Jean Bullant has been copied exactly.

Visitors admitted (fee; rfmts.).

The G-RAND Salon on the ground-floor contains a Eenaissance chimney-
piece arid portraits of Clement VII. (?) by Seb. del Piovibo (?), of P. Paoli
(painter unknown), of C. A. Pozzo di Borgo (p. 600) by Gerard, and of

Napoleon by David (1815). — The Dining Room contains another Renais-
sance chimney-piece, four pieces of tapestry, and paintings by Pordenone
(Faith, Hope, and Charity). — On the first floor, in a dark gallery, are
pictures by Giulio Romano (Adam und Eve), Padovanino, Salvator
Rosa, etc.

Splendid view from the terrace, ])ut much more extensive from the top
of the mountain (1 hr.

;
good bridle-patli)- Superb *Panorama: N.E., the

chief peaks of Corsica, as far as Monte Cinto and the Capo Tafonato; X.,
the gulfs of Lava and Sagone; S., Ajaccio and its gulf; S.W., the lies
Sanguinaires. To the W. the Pointe de Pozzo-di-Borgo is prolonged bv the
Pointe de Lisa (2590 ft.).

On the S. slope of the Pointe de Pozzo-di-Borgo is the old Penitencier
de CasteUnccio (about 590 ft.), now an agricultural school. Walkers had
better descend this waj- (fine views ; shade in the afternoon). From the
chateau we reach the road by going straight across the park; then, near
a reservoir, we descend by the old road (and conduit), to the right, to

the Ajaccio road, which leads to the right to the Peuitencier.— This point
is reached from the town by the road (41/2 ^t- ; carr., see p. 599) to the left

beyond the station, passing (S^/o M.) the old Penitencier St-Antolne. Or,
more attractive, we may ascend" to Caste! luccio direct in 3/4 hr., pBst the
Chapelle de Loreto, and by a path up the valley of St-Autoine. — From
CasteJluccio a path leads to (10 min.) Les MilelU, a country-seat delight-
fully situated, once owned by the Bonaparte family (p. 600).

To Catiro, 121/2 M. to the E. of Ajaccio, a charming excursion,

see p. 607 (carr., see p. 599).— Another interesting point is the

Col de Vizzavona (p. 610). We tahe the first train to ^'^izzavona,
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and ascend thence to the col in 2/4 hr. ; then descend to (2^2 trs.)

BoGognano (p. 610), and return to Ajaccio by the evening train.

From Ajaccio to C'alcatoggio, Cargese, Plana, Evisa, and Vico, see
R. 80; to Bonifacio, see R. 81; to Bastia, see R. 82; to Guitera and
Zicavo. see pp. 607, 608.

80. From Ajaccio to Evisa via Cargese and
Piana, and back via the Col de Sevi.

This superb excursion is most pleasantly made by motor-car (see

pp.597, 599) or by carriage (80 fr. ; bargain necessary). A motor-omn.
plies in the season to (32 M.) Vico (4 hrs. ; 7 fr. 50 or 5 fr. 80 c); to

Sagone in 2V2 brs. (5 fr. 50 or 4 fr. 30 c), whence another motor-omn. runs
to Piava (2 hrs. 20 min. ; 5 fr. or 4 fr. 20 c). Omn. from Vico to Evisa, in

connection with the motor-omn. (3 hrs. 20 min.; 2V2 tT.). Preferable to tele-

graph to the Hot. Gigli at Evisa for carr. (15 fr.) to meet the party at Vico.
The excursion will repay walkers also. Horse or mule 6-8 fr. per day.

1st day. To the Col de San Sebastiano, a drive of 2V2 brs. ; to Sagone
11/2 br. (luncheon), Cargese VI2 hr., Piana 2^/4 hrs. (start very early, and
try to reach Piana before sunset). — 2nd day. To Evisa i-4^l2 hrs.; visit

the Fo7-et cVA'itone in the afternoon.— 3rd day. To Cristinacce and the
Col de Sevi VI2 hr., Sagone 2 hrs. (luncheon). Col de San Sebastiano and
Ajaccio 4 hrs. — If four days are available, sleep the first day at Cargese,
the second at Piana, and reach Evisa on the third. In summer, instead of

returning via the Col de Sevi, choose the much finer route from Evisa to

Corte over the Col de Vergio (p. 606).

Ajaccio, see p. 598. We follow the Bastia road, past the

torpedo-station (p. 603) and the Chdteau Baciocchi, leaving on the

right the Sartene and Bonifacio road (R. 81). Scenery monotonous,

but a fine view of Monte d'Oro.— 4 M. Mezzavia. We soon leave

the Bastia road (R. 82) on the right, pass under the Ajaccio aqueduct,

and ascend N., among hills of red granite. On a hill to the right

lies Apjnetto.— 8 M. Col de Listincone (785 ft.). The road crosses

the Lava and sweeps round to the E. Beautiful view of the Pointe

de Pozzo-di-Borgo, the bay of Lava, and the Cap de Feno.

12 M. Col de San Sebastiano (1360 ft.; chapel and

tavern). Superb *View, extending N. as far as the Capo Tafo-

nato; grander still from the Punta Vida (1520 ft.; 10 min. W.),

whence we see the bays of Ajaccio, Lava, and Sagone.— 13^., M.
La Marignaninca (inn).— About 1/4 M. farther on, at the H6t.

des Touristes (R. 2, L. 2^0 fr.)^ a road ascends to the right to

(10 min.) Calcatoggio (1075 ft.).

From Calcatoggio a road (omn. to Sari d'Orcino in IV2 hr. ; 50 c.) crosses
the Cinarca, one of the most beautiful and fertile regions in Corsica, via

Sari d'Orcino (8 M. ; inn), famed for its wine, to (40 M.) Vico (p. 607).

We descend in windings to (17 M.) a bridge across the Liscia,

which falls into the beautiful Golfe de Sagone. To the right rises

the Genoese tower of Capigliolo. Passing behind the low dunes,

we come to the (2072 ^) mouth of the Liamone, which we cross.

23^^ M. Sagone (Hot. des Message ries), in an unhealthy plain,
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with a fine beach and a small harbour, was once the seat of a bishop.

To Vico and the Col de Sevi, see pp. 606, 607. Steamer, see p. 596.

The road rounds the bay, crossing several hills covered with

vines, olives, and fruit-trees. In the distance rises the Pointe de

Pozzo-di-Borgo.

32 M. Carg^se (Hot. de France, well spoken of, R. 2, L. or D.

2^2 fr-; Hot. Cyrnos, same charges; Syndicat d'Initiative), prettily

situated between the bays of Sagone and Pero, was founded in 1774

by the descendants of Greek refugees who had come from the Morea

to Corsica in 1676.

After a slight descent the road ascends in windings to the Col

de la Croix or de Lava (1635 ft.), beyond which we enjoy a

splendid view of the narrow ^Golfe de Porto, flanked with bold

red granite rocks. To the N.E., beyond the Calanche, peeps the top

of the Capo Tafonato (p. 606).

44 M. Plana (1435 ft.; Plana Hotel, E. 3, L. or D. 31/2 t'l"-;

Hot. des Etrangers, P. 71/2 fr-; Hot. des Calanches, R. 2, L. or D.

2Y2 fi"-) is a superbly situated village, 10 min. below the col.

—

We next round a ravine, at the mouth of which lies Ficaiola, a

fishing-village; then for about 1 M. pass through the famous

*Calanche di Plana, a group of granite rocks, some of them

1300 ft. high, which are especially fine at sunset. Among the rocks

are remains of a pine-forest, and at several points we obtain charm-

ing glimpses of the sea.— We descend in windings (short-cuts)

through a fine macchia. Below, on the left, lies Porto (see below).

The road turns E. and ascends on the left bank of the stream.

50 M. Maison de Cantonniers. Our road goes to the right.

The road to the left returns to the coast and follows it to (50 M.)
Calvi, a fine route, especially in the reverse direction; but there are no
public conveyances, as the omnibuses from Sagone do not go beyond
(I1/4 M.) Porto (two inns), a small seaport at the mouth of the Porto,

which exports timber. Good river and sea fishing. At tlie harbour is an
old Grenoese watch-tower. The road then ascends; farther on, it passes
through a small rocky gorge. — 91/2 M. Partinello (inn), a prettily situated

village. We next traverse a hilly region, picturesque, but almost unin-

habited. —141/2 M. *Col de la Croix (1220 ft.). Looking back, we have
a fine view of the bay of Porto; in front of us lies the Golfe de Girolata.
— 22 M. *Col de Parma or de Falmarello, another splendid point of view.
Then another descent towards the Golfe de Galeria and the valley of the

Favgo. — Galeria (inn, quite good), a small seaport, lies 31/2 M. to the left

of the road. We may visit thence the Foret de Filosorma. — .SO M. Pont
du Fango. The road becomes still more lonely, running at places near

the deeply indented and picturesque coast.— 50 M. Valvi (p. 613).

•The Evisa road ascends and runs high above the stream. It

then enters a narrow part of the valley enclosed by the granite

rocks of the Capo d^Orto (4285 ft.), Capo Magennole (4035 ft.),

and Capo alia Folmonaccia (5630 ft.). Fine olive and chestnut-

trees. On the N. slope, to the left, lies Ota (inn).

The valley of the Porto soon contracts to form a wonderful

cirque of rocks known as the *Syelanca, or Gorge de Parto, whicli
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the road rounds. To the right branches off a road to Chidazzo and
Marignana. We cross the Pont de Tavoletta (2005 ft.) and ascend
by a great loop (short-cut not recommended) to the Chapelle St-

Cyprien (2610 ft.), a superb point of view.

621/2 M. Evisa (2763 ft.; Hot. Gigli, good, R. IV2-2, D. 3 fr.),

an admirable centre for painters and botanists, is situated near a

beautiful chestnut-forest, in view of superb mountains.
The *Fordt d'Aitone, 4250 acres in area, one of the finest forests

in Corsica, lies 13/4 M. to the N.E. Interesting excursion through the
forest, with its huge Corsicau pines, to the (71/., M.) Col de Vergio (4805 ft.

;

carr. 12, horse 5 fr.). Thence to Corte, see below.

Fkom Evisa to Corte, 40 M. ; diligence only from Calacuccia on-
wards (31/2 hrs.; 21/2 fr.); provisions should be taken. We traverse the
forest of Aitone and cross the Col de Vergio (see above) to the *Fordt
de Valdoniello (10,500 acres), likewise containing some enormous trees.
We next come to the vallev of the Golo. with the pastures of Niolo. —
201/2 M. Albertacce (2855 ft.').

221/2 M. Calacuccia (2780 ft.; Hot. des Touristes, good, R. li/g-S, L.
or D. 3. P. 6-7 f r. : Hot. de France, R. 2, L. or D. 21/2 fr.). Ascent of
Monte Cinto (8890 ft.; 71/2 hrs., with guide; splendid view, but often
clouded), the highest peak in Corsica, toilsome, but not difficult. We
may spend the night at the (3 hrs.) chalets of Ascia (rugs should be
brought), or ascend from the Grotte des Anges (see below), N. E., over
the Col de la Crocetfa.— To the S.W. of Monte Cinto, W. of the Vers
valley, lie a magnificent group of peaks, which, owing to the lack of good
guides, can be ascended by first-rate climbers only. The best head-quarters
for ascents in this region is the (41/4 hrs.) Grotte des Anges. reached via
Albertacce (see above) and Calasima (3610 ft.). A supply of rugs and pro-
visions and a rope should be sent thither. The Paglia' Orba (8530 ft.),

a bold dark-red peak X.E. of the Capo Tafonato (see below), is ascended
from the cave in 6 hrs. via the Col de Foggiale (6440 ft.), over debris to
the S.W. precipices, and then to the left past large boulders to the arete
and the summit. The curious Capo Tafonato (7685 ft.) is pierced by a

huge natural doorway. To the X. of the Pagiia Orba rise the CajJO Uccello
(7530 ft.), the proud Capo Larghia (8270 ft.), and the Pmita Mintda
(8355 ft.; interesting panorama).

Beyond Calacuccia we pass through the *Scala di Santa Regina, a
grand gorge of the Golo. About half-way down, near the Pont de Santa
Regina, is a monument to the victims of a landslide in 1888. — At the
(311/2 M.) Ponte de Castirla, the road on the right bank descends to
Francardo station (p. 611); we turn to the right (S.). ascend through a
grove of evergreen-oaks, and pass below Castirla. -33 M. Col d' Ominanda
(2155 ft.).— 40 M. Corte (p. 610).

The Vico road ascends E, to the (631/0 M.) Fontaine de Cara-
cuto, near which the road to Corte through the forest of Aitone di-

verges (see above); it theu turns abruptly S.W., and descends the

S. slope of Monte SuaricrJone (4680 ft. ; short-cuts) to (65 M.)

Cristinacce (inn).— We cross the Porto and ascend in windings
(short-cuts) to the (697,. ^^0 Col de Sevi (3610 ft. ; splendid view).

Farther on we sight Guagno (p. 607) and Monte Kotondo; theu.

beyond the Chapelle St-Boch, appears Vico.— 741/2 M. Col de
St-Antoine-de-Vico (1625 ft.). The road descends W. into the

valley of Balogna, then into the Sagone valley, amidst macchia and
marshes to (82 M.) Sagone (p. 604).
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From the col a road descends E. into a deep valley, in which

lies (1 M.) Vico (about 1310 ft.; Hot. des Gourmets & de France,

K. 2, L. orD. 3 fr.), a little old town, prettily situated. To the S.

(1/4 iir.) is the old Convejit of St-Fra)icois (tine view).
Omn. (2 fr.), in connoction with the motor-omn. from Ajaccio (p. 604),

to the (7 M.) Bains de Guagno (1430 ft.; Hot. de I'Etablisseinent; Hot.
Continental, P. 6 fr.), one of the chief watering-places in Corsica, with
sulphur-springs (98-125'^). The village of Guagno (inn) lies 31/2 M. to the
E. To the Monte Rotondo, see p. 611.

From Vico to Sari d' Orcino and C'alcatoggio, better in the reverse
direction, see p. 604.

81. Prom Ajaccio to Bonifacio.
87 M. From Ajaccio to Sartene (where the night is spent), 53 M.,

motor-omn. daily in 6 hrs. (13 or IOV2 f^. ; to Cauro 3 fr. 10 or 2 fr. 50 c,
to Santa-Maria-Siche 5 or 4 fr., to Propriano 11 fr. or 8 fr. 90 c). Another
motor-omn. plies to Santa-Maria-Siche only, in 2 hrs. (4 or 3 fr.). — From
Sartene to Bonifacio, 34 M., motor-omn. in 2^/4 hrs. (9 or 7^/2 fr-); carr.

18 fr. — Steamboats, see p. 596.

Ajaccio, see p. 598. The road, mostly inland, is interesting in

part only. It diverges, 2 M. from Ajaccio, to the right from the

Bastia road and at first skirts the railway (R. 82; fine views).

—

Farther on, it crosses the line at Oampo di Loro station, and then

the Gravone, whose two arms enclose the Campo di Loro (p. 609).—We next cross the Prunelli at (7 M.) Pisciatella (two taverns;

good wine). A road to the right leads to {li^/o M.) Poi't deChiavari,
2 M. from which is an old Penitencier, now an agricultural insti-

tution.— Our road now enters (E.) the valley of the Mutoleggio.

Looking back, we soon have a splendid view of the bay of Ajaccio.

Beautiful macchia.— Beyond (11 M.) Barracone the road to Siia-

rella diverges to the left.

1272 M. Cauro (1235 ft.; Hot. de France, R. 2, L. 21/2,

D. 2^/4 fr.), a village amidst grand mountains, often visited from
Ajaccio (carr., see p. 599). Fine view from the (10 min.) cross

above the Chapelle St-Josej^h.
Omn., in connection with the motor-omn. from Ajaccio, through line

forest, in 3 hrs. (I'/gfr.), to (12 M.) Bastelica (2380 ft. ; Hot. des Etrangers,
de France; pop. 3938), prettily situated, birthplace of Sampiero (p. 598),
the patriotic foe of the Genoese, who caused him to be assassinated in 1567
(fine statue in the Place de I'Eglise, by Vital-Dubray, 1890). Easy ascent,
in summer, of Mo7ite Renoso (7735 ft.; 5 hrs., withguide), S. of the Col
de Vizzavona (p. 610).

171/2 M. Col de St-Georges (2550 ft.). A height 10 min. to

the E. commands a vast panorama. The road descends (view).

—

At the (20 M.) Moidin d'Apa (1995 ft.) the road to Zicavo diverges

to the left. The Sartene motor-omn. follows it as far as (IY4 M.)

Santa-Maria-Siche (1590 ft.; Hotel Continental, fair, D. 2 fr.),

a village near the ruined chateau of Sampiero (see above), and then

returns to the main road. Higher up is the ruined castle of the

Oruano family.
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From Saxta-Maria-Siche to Zicavo, 171/2 M., omn. daily in 5 hrs.

(3 fr.), meeting the motor-omn. from Ajaccio. — The road crosses the (7 M.)
Col de Granace (2715 ft. ; splendid view).— 131/2 M. Bains de G-uitera
(1435 ft. : Hot. de I'Etablissenient), on the Taravo. with springs containing
sulphur and soda (122°). — 171/0 M. Zicavo ('2295 ft.: Hot. Morazzani,
R. 11/2-2. L. or D. 21/2, P. 5-51;.., fr.: pop. 1633), charmingly situated.

The Mont I'lncudine (-anvir ; 7010 ft.) is easily ascended from Zicavo
in 5-6 hrs. (guide 6 fr. ; bridle-path to within 1/2 hr. of the top). Half-way
up there are chalets where the night may be spent by those who wish to
see the sunrise from the top. The *View is considered the tinest in
Corsica. Descent in 41/2 hrs.

Instead of returning from Zicavo the same way, we may follow the
road either S. to (371/2 M.) SaHme (see below), or X. to (50 M.) C'07-te

(p. 610; no omn.). The latter passes Ghisoni (p. 616), crosses the Col de
Soj-ba (4310 ft.), and reaches the railway at (36 M.) Viva7'io (p. 610).

21 M. Grosseto-Prugna (1445 ft.; aub.). The road descends

to the Taravo, crosses it, and ascends rapidly.— 30 M. Petreto-

Bicchisano (1350 ft.; inn), prettily situated.— 3672 ^I- Col or

Bocca Celaccia (1950 ft.; fine view). We now descend S.W. to

the Gulf of Valinco.— 39 M. Olmeto (1065 ft.; inn), the home of

Colomba, the heroine of Merimee's novel.

44^2 ^Jt- Propriano (Hot. Dupont, good, R. 2, L. or D. 2^/^ fr.

;

Hot. du Louvre, same charges; Hot. de France, L. 2^/^, D. 3 fr.;

Syndicat d'luitiative
;
pop. 2105) is a thriving little seaport on the

beautiful Gulf of Valinco. Steamers, see p. 596. To the E., 2 M.,

are the small baths of Baracci.— The road leaves the coast and

again ascends. On the left are two menhirs ("le Moine and la Re-
ligieuse'), and farther on is a dolmen, well preserved.

53 M. Sartene (980 ft. ; Hot. de Provence, good, R. 2, D. 21/2 fr.

;

Hot. Cesar & de I'Univers, good, R. 2, L. 27^, D. 3 fr.; Syndicat

d'Initiative
;
pop. 4746), in a very picturesque site. To Zicavo, see

above.— The road now ascends and descends in a fertile region,

ravaged, however, in summer by drought and malaria. — About

5Y2 ^I- from Sartene a road to the left leads to (2 M.) Giuncheto.—
As Ave near (67 M.) Roccapina we have an admirable view of the

gulf and of a rock known from its shape as the 'Lion of Roccapina'.

— 731/2 M. Pianottoli (inn).— 82V2 M. Col d'Arhia (420 ft.).

87 M. Bonifacio (Hot. de France, R. 2, L. or D. 272 fr.; Hot.

des Etrangers, R. 3, L. or D. 3 fr.; pop. 3660), an old town, seaport,

and fortress, in a most picturesque site, on a bold rocky peninsula.

210 ft. high and nearly 1 M. long, crowned with the citadel, but

with very narrow and dirty streets. It was founded in the 9th cent,

by Bonifacio, a Tuscan noble, after a naval victory over the Saracens.

It then came into the possession of the Pisans, and next into that

of the Genoese, who treated it with favour. In return, Bonifacio,

like Calvi, remained staunchly faithful to Genoa, as was proved in

1420 by its memorable defence against Alphonso I. of Aragon.

Charles V. visited Bonifacio after his unsuccessful attack on Algiers

in 1541. An interesting procession takes place here in Holy Week.
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From the harbour, at the foot of the promontory, we ascend to

the town, either by a flight of steps or by a street at the end of

the quay. The church of Ste-Marie-Majeure, in the centre of the

town, once a cathedral, is in the Pisan style. Farther on is the

old Citadel. The Torrione, a massive tower which once rose here,

was demolished in 1900. From its site the Escalier du JRoi-

d'Aragon (1-42 steps) descends to the sea. It is said to have been

hewn in the rock during the siege of 1420, without the knowledge

of the besieged (adm. by leave of the commandant). Not far off,

to the right, rises St-Dominique^ a fine Gothic church built by

the Templars, with an unfinished octagonal tower in the Pisan

style? Near the large barracks and the residence of the commandant
is a Well, 210 ft. deep and 10 ft. in diameter, with a spiral staircase

of 337 steps. Nearly opposite is the church of Ste-Marie-Madeleine.
Near the end of the peninsula, on the left, are a cemetery and the

church of St-Frangols. Behind these, lower down, is St-Antoine.

Charming view of the straits and of Sardinia, 6^0 ^^- distant.

Opposite us are the houses of Santa Teresa di Gallura and the

lighthouse on Cape Testa. To the left lies the island of La Madda-
lena, with its Italian naval station. Near Corsica are the reefs of

Lavezzi, with a lighthouse, where in 1855 the French frigate La
Semillante foundered with 773 men on board.

On the N. side of the entrance to the harbour is the Punta
della Madonetta, behind which are several Grottoes {-le Camere'),

accessible only by boat in calm weather (4-5 fr. ;
2-2i/2 fr. for the

Dragonetta only). Best light in the afternoon. The *Dragonetta,
the finest grotto, near the Punta di Dragonato, is not unlike the

famous Blue Grotto at Capri. The entrance is .16 ft. wide and

10 ft. high. The interior, 100 ft. high, with stalactites, has an

opening at the top. The beautiful blue water is 10-13 ft. deep.
From Bonifacio to Bastia, see R. 85. Steamers, see p. 596.

82. Prom Ajaccio to Bastia.
98 M. Railway (narrow-gauge) in 6-8 hrs. (17 fr. 80, 13 fr. .35, 9 fr. 75 c).

Views to the left. Tlie lirst morning-train stops for luncheon at Corte
(p. 610). Luggage up to 30 kg. (60 lb.), 60 kg., and 75 kg. free according
as tickets are 3rd, 2nd, or 1st class. No break of journey allowed.

—

Those who have already seen the interesting gorge through which the line

passes between Vizzavona and Vivario (p. 610) may alight at Bocognano
and walk to Vivario (no carr. ; horses at Bocognano only).

Ajaccio, see p. 598. At the start we have a fine view of the

Pointe de Pozzo-di-Borgo (left) and of the bay and town (right). The
line is bordered by hedges of eucalyptus and cactus. On the left

is the Chapelle St-Joseph, on the right the Fort d'Aspreto. We
cross the marshy and malarious Campo di Loro or delVOro,
lying between the two arms of the Gravone.— 372 M- Campo di
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broad and barren valley.— 8 M. Mezzana (185 ft.). We cross the

Gravone, and the scenery improves.— IS^/jM. Carbuccia (680ft.),

with chestnuts and evergreen oaks, and a fine view.— 22 M. Tavera.
The train runs high above the Gravone. Bridges, tunnels, and

cuttings, partly through chestnut-forests.

26 M. Bocognano (2205 ft.; Hot. des Voyageurs, good, R. 2-3,

L. 21/2, D- 3, P. 6-7 fr.; Hot. de I'Univers, plain, R. 2, L. or

D. 2^/2 fr.), backed on the N.E. by the steep slopes of Monte d'Oro.

The famous bandits Antonio and Jacomo Bonelli ('Bellacoscia') lived

in a den in the Pentica, 2^1^ hrs. from here, from 1848 to 1893.
From Bocognano the High Road to (13 M.) Vivakio ascends the shade-

less vallev of the Gravone to (51/2 M. ; 3 hrs.) the Col de Vizzavona,
or La Face (3810 ft.; Gr.-Hot. di; Monte-d'Oro, closed in 1913), amidst
wooded mountains, 2 M. above Yizzavona station (omn. 1 fr. ; walk of 1/2 hr.

by a shady path). Beyond the col the road descends, high above the valley
of the Vecchio (see below) and through the great *Foret de Vizzavono
(Corsican pines and line beeches), to Vivario (see below).

The Belvedere (4765 ft.), 3/^ hr. from the pass, affords a striking view
of Monte d'Oro (7845ft.; refuge projected). The ascent of the latter

(6 hrs.
;
guide 10 fr.) is fatiguing, but fairly easy in summer (rope and

rugs should be taken).

—

Monte Renoso (7735ft.) is best climbed from
Bastelica (p. 607).— From the col to GMsoni, see p. 616.

The train ascends in loops, skirting bare rocky hills, recrosses

the Gravone, and passes through a tunnel of 2^2 ^'^- under the Col

de Vizzavona.

311/2 M. Vizzavona (2970 ft.; Buffet; Grand-Hotel, well situ-

ated near the woods, E. from 3, B. IV4, L. 31/2, D. 4, P. from

9 fr.), a summer resort, ^/^ hr. below the col.

The train now descends the valley of the Vecchio.— 34 M.
Tattone (2630 ft.). To the left rises Monte Eotondo (p. 611). Grand

*Gorge to the left; striking view beyond the third tunnel.

38^2 M. Vivario, or Gatti di Vivario (2025 ft.; Buffet; Hot.

des Voyageurs, rustic, L. 2fr.
;
pop. 1010). In the village square

is a bronze copy of the famous statue of Diana with the hind (in

the Louvre). Road to Zicavo, see p. 608.—We cross the Yecchio

by a viaduct, 245 ft. high.— 42V2M. Vecchio (1560 ft.).— 451/2 M.

Venaco (1855 ft.), 2 M. to the S.E. of the small summer resort of

St-Pierre-de-Venaco (Hot. du Torrent, P. 5-7 fr.).— 47 M. Poggio-

Riventosa (1790 ft.).

52 M. Corte (1290 ft.; Buft^et, L. 21/2 fr.; Hot. Paoli, well

spoken of, R. 3-5, B. 1, L. 3, D. 4 fr.; Hot. du Nord & d'Europe,

R. 2-4, B. 3/4, L. 21/2, D. 31/2 fr.; Hot. Moderne, R. 1, L. IV2,

D. 2 fr. ; omn. into the town 50 c. ; Syndicat d'Initiative
;
pop. 5211),

an unassuming old town, in a picturesque site, on the Tavignano,
with a citadel crowning a rock at a height of 350 ft. above the

stream, was a keenly contested place in former wars. It was the

centre of the democratic government of Pasquale Paoli (pp. 598,

611), who founded a university, a printing-office, and a newspaper

here in 1764. A bronze statue of the patriot (1854) adorns the



to Bastia. CORTE. 82. Route. 611
Map, p. 597.

I^laoe Paoli; and his bedroom and study, with strong shutters, are

still shown at the old Palazzo di Carte (now a school), A statue

of Gaffori (p. 598) stands in front of his house (in a side-street to

the W.), which was heroically defended by the general's wife

against the Genoese in 1750. In the Place du Duc-de-Padoue, to

the X., rises a statue of Gen. Arrighl de Casanova, Duke of Padua

(1779-1853). Fine view of the Tavignano, with its tributary the

Restonica, a few min. S. of the Palazzo di Corte. Other views from

the heights to the X. of the town.
Environs (carr. 2 fr. per hour). Eoad for IV4 M. up the picturesque

valley oiWic Restonica (trout-stream), with its cascades and chestnut-woods,
flanked with lofty granite mountains. At the head of the valley rises the

snow-clad Monte Rotondo. — To the Ponte di Castirla and the Scala di

Santa Regina (see p. 606), returning to Francardo station (see below),

3 hrs., carr. 15 fr.— To Evisa via Calacuccia, see p. 606. — To (31 M.) Pont
du Tavignano (Aloria; p. 616) a road descends from Corte S.E. through
the Tavignano valley.

Monte Rotondo (8610 ft.) is best ascended from Corte in July or

Aug. (ascent 7-8 hrs., descent 6 hrs.; food and rugs necessary). Guides,
Jos. Valentini. Jos. Ordioni or Val. Pasquale, of Corte, 10 fr. per day; two
mules, about 20 fr. In order to be in time for the sunrise, it is usual to

spend a night near the Lac du Monte-Rotondo. —We ascend the valley of

the Restonica to the (2V4 hrs.) Pont de Timozzo (3590 ft.), and the gorge of

the Timozzo, with its pretty waterfalls, to the (IV/4 hr.) Bergeries de
Timozzo (about 4920 ft.; milk and cheese), where the mules are left.

Thence in IV4 hr., through a chaos of rocks, where we first sight tlie top,

to the Fontaine de Triggione (about 6100 ft.). We next come to the (V4 hr.)

Lac du Monte-Rotondo (6750 ft.), 2 hrs. from the top. The ascent now
becomes toilsome (snow, rocks, and debris). Immense panorama from
the summit. We survey the greater part of the island, resembling a vast
rocky relief-map. To the S. the view is obstructed by the Monte d'Oro.
We may descend on the S. via the Lac Bettianella (7480 ft.) and Col de
Manganella (5880 ft.) to (5-6 hrs.) the Bains de Guagno (p. 607).

The country now becomes bare and desolate. To the left rises

the snow-clad Monte Rotondo.—-58 M. Soveria (1500 ft.), with a

leaning tower.— GO^/o M. Omessa (1230 ft.). The line describes

a great curve to the W. (view of the Monte San Pietro, p. 615, on

the right) and crosses the Golo, the ancient Tuola, the largest

stream in Corsica, but almost dry in summer.— 64 M. Francardo
(875 ft.; Hot. Simoui, plain). To the Ponte di Castirla, Calacuccia,

and Evisa, see p. 606.—We now follow the left bank of the Golo.

69 M. Ponte Leccia (640 ft.; Buffet; Hot. Cyrnos, R. 2, L. 2,

D. 2^2 fr.), junction for Calvi (p. 613). Fine Genoese bridge.
From Ponte Leccia to Orezza, 20 M., an interesting route ; omn. to

Piedicroce in summer. — 9 M. Morosaglia (inn), home of Paoli (pp. 598,
610). His remains rest in the house where he was born.— 11 M. ^'Cot

de Prato (3195 ft.; inn; splendid view). Ascent of Monte San Pietro, see

pp. 616, 615. — We descend into the C'astagniccia, or 'land of chestnuts'.
— 18 M. Piedicroce d'' Orezza, and thence to Orezza, see p. 615.

The Bastia line descends the valley of the Golo.— 74 M. Ponte
Nuovo (540 ft.), where Paoli was finally defeated by the French
in 1769. The country becomes more fertile. Two tunnels.— 79^2 M-
Barchetta (320 ft.), with a tannin factory. Three tunnels.
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85 M. Casamozza (105 ft.; buffet), junction for Ghisonaccia

(.Bonifacio; R. 85). The line leaves the Golo and runs X.; flat coast,

with malarious lagoons.— 87 M. Lucciana.
At the mouth of the Golo, 3 M. to the E. of Lucciana, and 3Vo M.

from Casamozza. once lay Mariana, a Eoman colony founded by Marins,
vestiges of which are seen on the shore. Xear it are the ruins of a fine

chapel and of La Canonica, a basilica in the pure Lombard style.

91i/o M. Biguglia, capital of the island under the Pisans and
the Genoese. To St-Florent, through the defile of Laucone, see

p. 614.— 97 M. Lu])ino. Then a tunnel under the Fort Ste-Croix.

98 M. Bastia. — HoTKLs. Cijnws Palace Hotel, Place St-Nicolas,
good, R. from 4, B. li/.>. L. 4, D. 5 (wine extra). P. from 10, omn. 1 fr.

:

Hot. de France, 13 Boul. Paoli, R. from 3, B. 1, L. 3. D. 4, omn. 1 fr. ;

Hot. Lingenieur, Rue Salvator-Yiale, R. 3-5, B. IV4, LI 3. D. 4, P. 10-15,

omn. 1 fr. ; Hot. de Wnivers, 1 Av. Carnot. near the station. R. H;2. L. or

D. 2 fr.

Carriages. FUippL 11 Rue de I'Opera: etc. — Garage. Societe des
Autoiaohile^ dii Capj. — Cyclks. Piereschi, Boul. Paoli.

Basks. Greyori freres, Place de THotel-de-Yille; Fantaiizzi, Rue
Sampiero.— Post & TelectRaph Office. 35 Boul. Paoli.— Syndicat d'Ini-

TiATivE, 35 Boul. Paoli.

British Vice-Consl-x, W. F. Routley. 7 Rue du Xouveau-Port.

—

American Coksular Agent, S. Damiani. Rue Miot.
Steajiers. Comp. Fraissinet (agent. Place St-Xicholas) to Marseilles.

Nice, Leghorn, Calvi (L'lle-Rousse), and Ajaccio, see pp. 595, 596. —
Societa Marittima Italiaim (agent, 1 Rue du Xouveau-Port), to Leghorn,
Thurs. morning; to Porto Torres in Sardinia, Sun. evening.

Bastia (pop. 29,412), the largest town and busiest trading

place in the island, its capital down to 1811, was founded in 1380

by the Genoese and defended by a fortress ('bastion'). The station

is not far from the new harbour of St-Xicolas, N.E. of the town;

to the S. is the old harbour, adjoined by the old town, with its

narrow and populous streets. The Place St-Nicolas, by the new
harbour, is adorned with a statue of Xapoleon (1853). To the

S. of this square lies the Place de THotel-de-Yille, at the W. angle

of which is the old cathedral of St-Jean-Baptiste, containing a

number of tombs. To the S. of the old harbour are the Citadel and

the churches of Ste-Marie and Ste-Croix, the latter richly decor-

ated with marble. A little W. of the old harbour is the Lycee,

formerly a Jesuit college, containing a library (30,000 vols.). On
the way back to the station by the Eue de I'Opera, we pass the

Theatre, with a Musee of Roman antiquities, pictures, etc.

Beautiful walk on the coast to the N., where several hills

afford fine views. The islands of Monte Cristo, Elba, and Capraia

are visible.

Noteworthy among excursions from Bastia are those to the Col de

Teghime, the defile of Lancone, and the grottoes of Brando (p. 614).—
To' L'lle-Bousse and Calvi. see R. 83; to Rogliano and Cap Corse, see

R. 84; to Bonifacio, see R. 85.
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83. Prom Bastia to L'lle-Ronsse and Calvi.

a. Via Ponte Leccia.

76 M. Railway to ((51V-. M.) L'lle-Roi/sse in 41/2 Ins. (11 fr. 15,

8 fr. 30, 6 fr. 10 c); to Calvi" in 51/4 lirs. (13 fr. G5, 10 fr. 25, 7 fr. 45 c).

To (29 M.) Po7ite Leccia, see pp. 612, 611. The Calvi line

ascends the valley of the Asco to the N., then that of the Navaccia,
beyond which it again nears the coast. We next reach the fertile

region of the Balagna, with fine olive-groves.— 52 M. Belgodere

(1015 ft.; Hot. Ambrosiani), 1 hr. S.W. of the village, which has a

pretty site above the valley of the Regiiio. Mnlberry-trees abound,

being cultivated for the rearing of silk-worms. A road leads from

Belgodere to (26 M.) Calvi (carr. 15 fr.), through the Balagna.

6IV2 ^- L'lle-Rousse, or Isola Rossa (Hut. d'Europe, R.
2i/.^-4, L. or D. 2'l^-3, P. 71/2-9 fr.. Hot. de la Poste, R. 1, D. 21/2,

P. 41/2 fr., both good; pop. 1818), a clean and busy little town, was
founded in 1758 by Paoli (p. 598), whose bust adorns the beautiful

shady square. It owes its name to three islets of red granite in

front of the harbour. Fine views from the square and from the hill

of Santa Reparata, to the S., with its deserted church.
Steamers, see pp. 595, 596.

The train follows the coast to (66^/3 M.) Algaiola, a picturesque

old town, with granite-quarries. Under the Cenoese it was the forti-

fied centre of the Balagna (see above).— 72 M. Lumio. The village,

with its orange-groves and cactus-hedges, lies on a hill 2^2 ^f- to

the N.E., affording a fine survey of the valley.

75 M. Calvi (Hot. Christophe-Colomb, good, R. 2i/.,, L. 272,
D. 3 fr.; Hot. Colombani, plain, R. 1^/2, L- or D. 2 fr. ;' Syndicat

d'Initiative; pop. 2269), a very old town, was the capital of the is-

land under the Genoese, to whom it was loyally attached. In 1793-4,

after Paoli's defection, it was bravely, though unsuccessfully, de-

fended against the British, but was recaptured by the French a year

later. The harbour is unsafe, but is the nearest to the French coast.

To the S. of the modern lower town are the railway station, the Sous-

Prefecture, and the church. The fortified upper town, to the N., lies

on a tongue of land overlooking the harbour. A house in the Rue
Colombo claims to be the birthplace of Columbus, who was really a

native of Genoa. Charming view of the bay, with the Pointe de
Revellata, and of the rocky mountains of Calenzana to the S.E.

In calm weather a pleasant excursion (1/2 day) may be made by boat
to the Grotte des VeaKX-Marins, S.W. of the Pointe de Revellata, over
100 yds. in length and frequented by a herd of seals.— Road, S.E., through
the Ficarella valley to (13 M.) Xha' Maison Forestiere de Boirifato.

Steamers, see pp. 595, 596. — Road to Porto (Ajaccio), see p. 605.

b. Via St-Florent.
To St-Florent direct, 141/2 M. (omn. in 31/4 hrs. ; IV-jfr.); through the

defile of Lancone, 191/2 M. (omn. as far as Oletta, ISVa M.). From St-Florent
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to vile Eousse, 30 M.— Steamer, see p. 596.— Splendid excursion from
Bastia to St-Floient and back, going by the direct road, and returning
via Lancone (carr. 20-25 fr. ; L. should be carried or ordered at St-Florent
in advance).

Bastia, see p. 612. The pretty high-road ascends W., crosses

the Serra (see below) by the (6 M.) Col de Teghime (1800 ft.

:

splendid *View), and joins the road on the "W. side of the Cap Corse

peninsula at the (11 M.) Col de San Bernardino (p. 615).

The other road leaves the Ajaccio road short of Biguglia station

(p. 612), 6 M. to the S. of Bastia, and leads W. through 'the (10 M.)

"^Defile of Lancone, where it is hewn in the rock for nearly

1 M.— 11 M. Col de San Stefano (1180 ft.; inn), with a superb

view.— 121/.2M. Olmeta di Tuda (910 ft.). To the right, l^/oM.
farther, diverges the road up to (1 M.) Oletta (inn), a picturesque

callage.— About 41/0 M. farther on, we join the L'lle-Rousse road,

V2 M. from St-Florent.

14^2 or 19^/2 M. St-Florent, or Sayi Fiorenzo (Hot. d'Europe,

good, R. 1721 I^- or D. 2\''2 fr.), a small seaport commanded by a

citadel, is famous for its fish, largely sent to Nice. Steamer, see

p. 596. Near it once lay the mediseval town of Nehhio, whose inter-

esting cathedral of Santa Maria Assunta (12th cent.; restored),

on a hill, well repays a visit (key at the Hot. d'Europe). Near St-

Florent are several large dolmens, one of them in the shooting-range

near the L'lle-Rousse road.

The road to (30 M.) L'lle-Rousse crosses ihQ Aliso and traverses

the Desert des Agriates, a hilly tract of pasture and macchia.

—

l-l^oM. (from St-Florent) Col du Cerchio or de Lavezzo (1025 ft.).

We cross (19^/2 M.) a bridge over the Ostriconi, and (25 M.) another

over the Regino. We then enter the Balagna (p. 613).

30 M. L'lle-Fousse, and thence to Calvi, see p. 613.

84. From Bastia to Rogliano and back,
round the Cap Corse Peninsula.

From Bastia to Mcnsiglia. .SSi/., ^I^ motor-omn. in 33/4 hrs. (6 fr. 90.

4 fr. 75 c). Another motor-omn. runs to Xonza in 41/4 hrs. (8 fr. 75 c, 6 fr.),

via Liiri, Pino, and thence along the W. coast of the peninsula.— From
Canari to Bastia. 271/2 M., omn. m 6 hrs. (3 fr.).— Carriage for the whole
round, 45-50 fr. : 1st day, to Morsiglia (order dinner and bed in advance);
2nd day, to St-Florent; 3rd day, to Bastia.

The Peninsula of Cap Corse, well worth seeing, is 25 M. long

and 71/0-91/2 ^I- broad. Its backbone is the Serra range, culminating in

Monte Stello and the Cima della FoUice (4280 ft.). Beautiful valleys on
the E. and "W. flanks. The coast-road passes several old Pisan and Genoese
watch-towers, and affords picturesque views of Elba and Capraia.

Bastia, see p. 612. We leave the town near the new harbour

and skirt the sea. Most of the villages lie some way inland.

—

31/2 M. La Vasina. About 1 M. farther on, to the left, we may
visit the fine stalactite Grottes de Brando (adm. I1/2 fr.), amidst

pleasant gardens.— 6 M. Erbalunga (inn).
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16 M, Santa Severa (inn), at the mouth of the charming valley

of Luri, where grapes, oranges, and lemons thrive.

Road across the peninsula to (10 M.) Pino (see below; motoT-oma., see
p. 014), via (31/2 M.) Luri (inu; pop. 1600) and the (7 M.) Col de Ste-Lucie
(1335 ft.), near the ruined mediaeval 'Tower of Seneca' (splendid view).

23 M. Macinagglo (inn). Steamer, see p. 596.— The road now
leaves the coast.—^o^/o M. Rogliano, in a fertile valley, with its

chief hamlet, Campiano (Hot. Zerbi, good), on the hill to the left.

28»/^ M. Col ck St -Nicolas (985 ft.; fine view).— 291/2 M.
Botioella (inn), a hamlet of Ersa.—^30V2 M- Col de la Sei'ra

(1185 ft.). Superb *View of the W. coast, still more extensive from
a ruined mill higher up on the right. To the E. are seen Elba and
Capraia; N., Cap Corse, the ancient PromoTitorium Sacrum, off

which lies La Giraglia, witJi a lighthouse.

317^ ^i- Camera, a hamlet of Ceniuri, with a small harbour.

The rocky W. side of the peninsula is even finer than the E,

To the S. we obtain a striking ^View of the peaks in the interior.— 33^2 ^I- Pecorile (good inn), the chief hamlet of Morsiglia.—
39 M. Pino (inn). A convent near it, by the sea, contains a fine

statue of the Virgin (15th cent.), and in its chapel are an Angel of

the Resurrection, by Tadolini, and five pictures by Pollastrini.

Road to Santa Severa, see above.— 48^/2 M. Marlnca is the chief

hamlet of Caoiari (Aub. Simonetta), a group of a dozen hamlets,

with two interesting churches. To the E. rises the Cima della

Follice (p. 614:).— 52 M, Pont d'Albo (inn).— 551/2 M. Nonza
(plain inn), perched on a cliff, 480 ft. high. To the E. is Monte
JStello (p. 614). Fine view as we near the bay of St-Florent

64 M. Col de San Bernardino (235 ft.). Here we join the St-

Florent road (p. 614).

85. Prom Bastia to Bonifacio.
110 M. Rajlwat to (54 M.) Ghisonaccia in 33/4 hrs. (9 fr. 75, 7 fr. 30,

5 fr. 35 c); Motor Omnibus thence to (56 M.) Bonifacio in 5 hrs. (14 or
11 fr.). The motor-omn. goes on to (34 M.) Sartene (p. 608; 9 hrs. in all:
23 or ISi/a fr.).

From Bastia to (13 M.) Casamozza, see p. 612. The line con-
tinues to follow the desolate E. coast. We cross th« Golo (p. 611).— 16 M. Arena-Vescovato. Vescovato (inn), amid chestnut-woods

172 M. to the W. (omn. in ^/^ hr.; 50 c), is the chief place in the

fertile region of the Casinca.— 207o M. FolelU-Orezza.
From Fojlelli to Piedickoce-Orbzza, 141/2 M.. omn. in 5 hrs. (3 fr.),

meeting the morning-train. —We ascend the valley of the Fiuvi' Alto.—
131/2 M. Stazzona (Hot. du Casino, de la Paix), where most of the visitors
to Orezza livt?. Orezza, '^'n

M. distant, with two chalybeate springs (58"-),

in an unhealthy situation. Season July and August.— 15 M. Piedicroct
d' Orezza (2085 ft.; HGt. de France, P. 6'fr.). To Ponte Leccia, see p. 611.
Road to (12 M.) Pardimi (p. 616), with chalybeate springs; thence to
C'ervione, see p. 616. Monte San Pietro (5795 ft.; *View), S.W., is

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit.
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easily ascended from Piedicroce (41/.2-5 hrs. there and back). Bridle-path to

within 1/4 hr. of the top. It may be climbed also from the Col de Prato

(p. 611) in 21/4 hrs.

The train crosses the Fium' Alto and nears the sea.— 30 M.
Pninete-Cervione.

Prnnete (inn), 1/3 M. from the station, is a sea-bathing place.— C'ervione

(1070 ft.; inn; pop. IROO). 41/2 M. to the N.W. (oran. in 13/4 hr. ; 50 c), has
an interesting church. King Theodore (p. 598) lived here. Omn. in 3 hrs.

(V/otr.) to Valle d'AJesani (91/2 M.; inn), near Pardina (p. 615).

34 M. AUstro. The train i-uns inland.— 37^ ., M. Bravone. We
cross the malarious Plaine cFAleria.—^46 M. Pontdu Tavignano.
Road to the right to (31 M.) Cort* (p. 610).

46\ 2 M. Aleria, a commune, the chief hamlet of which lies

2 M. to 'the E. Theodor von Neuhoff and Paoli (p. 598) landed

near here in 1736 and 1755 respectively.— To the N., IV4 M., is

the Etamj de Diane, where ruins of ramparts, arches, and a circus

mark the site of the ancient Aleria. An islet in the lagoon, ^4 M.
in circuit, is formed of oyster-shells, the industry of Aleria having

once been to supply Rome with pickled oysters. To the S. is the

Etang del Sale, with an old Genoese fort.— 49^2 ^^- Pf'zzichello,

with cold sulphur-springs 1^/, M. to the N.

54 M. Ghisonaeeia (Hot. Costantini, at the station, rustic),

the present terminus, is 3 M. to the X.W. of the village.

From Ghisonaccia to Ghisoxi. IS''., ^I-- omn. in 43/4 hrs. (2 fr.), chiefly

up the valley of the Fiunv Orbo. Fine views. —Beyond (6 M.) P/«;rrt?o??<^

(inn) begins "the picturesque *Deple of Inzecca, 1/., M. long.— S^/a ^t- Defile

of the Strette, or Sant de la JIariee. IV4 M. long. Then a third detile with the

i,a-and rocks of the Kyrie Eleison and Christe Eleisfm (5195 ft.).— IS'/a ^^^

Ghisoni (2160 ft.; Hot. Eomani, R. 1, L. 2^j.,, D. 3 fr. ; Hot. Bernardini,

well spoken of. R. and D. Si'yfr.), picturesquely situated, is a good centre

for excursions. Path to the Col de Vizzavona (3 hrs., with guide; p. 610).

To Zicavo and Vivario, see p. 608.

The Motor Ojixibus to Bonifacio (railway projected) starts soon

after the arrival of the early train. Beyond the (oBi/o M.) village of

Ghisonaeeia (inn) we cross the Fium' Orbo, at the mouth of which

stretches a vast expanse of bracken.— 58 M. Migliaceiaro (inn).

— About 6 M. to the W. lies Pietrapola, with ten sulphur-springs

(111-136°; season in June).— 59V2 ^I- Casamozza, in the commune
otPrunelli.— 61 M. Vicchiseri. We cross the Travo; the scenery

improves.— 68 M. La Solenzara (Hot. Lusinchi).— 82^2 M. Ste-

Lucie-de-Porto-Vecchio (Hot. Bordenave, very fair).

921/2 M. Portx) Vecchio (Hot. de France. R. 2 fr.; pop. 3929),

a picturesque old town on a fine bay, the ancient Portus Syi'a-

cusanus, was founded by the CTcnoese. It is now a French naval

station. Malaria prevails here from June to October. Near the town

are the finest cork-oak forests in Corsica, and cork is its staple com-

modity. Steamer, see p. 596.

The road leaves the coast, traverses a desolate tract, and joins the

Sartene road V/^ M. from Bonifacio.— 110 M. Bonifacio (p. 608).
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Bious, Col de 134.— Artigues 139.

Biros. Vallee de 177.

Biscaou, Pic de 139.
|

Biscarosse 63.

Bise, Cornettes de 338. i

Bize 106.
I

Blaitiere, Aig. de 345.
j

Blanc, Le 11.

— , Giacier 462.

Blancarde, La 535.

Blanchard, Pic de 338. !

Blanche, Tete 328.
\

Blanquefort 57.

Blave 58.

Blesle 278.

Bleu. Lac (Bagneres)
Ifri.

— , Lac (Cauterets) 145.

Bleymard, Le 297.

Blonav-Dufour, Refuge
de 376.

Blond, Monts de 11.

Blouniere, La 375.

Bobba, Col 390.

Bobbio Pellice 471.

Bocage, the 35.

Bocca, La 542.

Bochor, Aig. du 398.

— , Mont 394.

Bocognano 610.

Boege 330.

Boeu 267.

Bceufs-Rouges, Crete
des 461.

Bois, Le 388.
— de-Cene 31.
— des-Charmes, Le 228.

— d'Oingt-Legny, Le
207.

Boisseron 304.

Boisset 282.

Bollene-la-Croisiere
498.

— Vesubie, La 581.

Bolline, La 578.

Bolquere-Eyne 193.

Bonaguil. Chateau de
72.

Bon-Encontre 74.

Bonhomme, Col du 354.

Bonifacio 608.

Bonnand, Aqueducts of

255.

Bonne 330.

Bonneval-les-Bains385.
— sur-Arc 404.

Bonneville 317.

Bonnieux 519.

Bonpertuis 407.

Bonson 266.

Bons-St-Didier 333.

Bonvoisin, Pic de 459.

Boo-Silhen 140.

Bordeaux 46.

Allies de Tourny 51.

Bastide, La 49.

Botanical Garden 51.

Cathedral 53.

Church of Xotre-'
Dame 51.

— Ste-Croix 55.

— Ste-Eulalie 54.

— St-Eloi 54.

— St-Michel 54.

— St-Paul 54.

— St-Seurin 52.

Clocher Pey-Berland
53.

Cours d' Alsace- Lor-
raine 50.

— Victor-Hugo 49.

Ecole des Beaux-Arts
55.

Facultes des Sciences

et des Lettres 54.

Fontaine des Trois-

Graces 50.

Grand Marche 54.

— Theatre 48. 50.

Grosse Cloche 54.

Harbour 49.

Hopital St-Andre 54.

Hotel de la Bourse 50.

— de la Douane 50.

— de Ville 52.

Institut Colonial 51.

Jardin Public 51.

Library 51.

Lycee 54.

Marche des Grands-
Hommes 51.

Monument to the Gi-
rondins 50.

Musee Bonie 54.

— de Peinture et de
Sculpture 52.

— du Vieux-Bor-
deaux 50.

Museum of Antiqui-
ties 51.

— of Natural History
51.

Palais de Justice 54.

~ Gallien 51.

Pare Anglais 51.

— Bordelais 55.

Place de la Comcdie
50.

— des QuinconcesSO.
— Gambetta 52.

Pont de Bordeaux 49.

Porte de Bourgogne
50.

— de Cailhau 50.
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Bordeaux

:

Porte de I'Hotel-de-
Ville 52.

— Dijeaux 52.

Prefecture 51.

Prison 54.

Rostral Columns 50.

Statue of Rosa Bon-
heur 51.

— Carnot 50.

— Gambetta 51.

— Montaigne 50.

— Montesquieu 50.

— Toumy 51.
— Vercingetorix 52.

Bordes, Las 172.
— de-Labach, Les 170.
— sur-Lez. Les 177.

Borels-en-Champol^on.
Les 430.

Bormes 55.3.

Borne 220.

Bort 258.

Bosost 172.

Bossey-Veyrier 316.

Bossons, Les 321.
—

, Glacier des 348.

Botieella 615.

Bouaye 31.

Boucau, Le 65.

Boiicharo 155.

Bouchet, Lac du 277.

Boucoiran 485.

Bouillouses, Reservoir
de 193.

Boulerie, La 541.

Bouleternere 190.

Boulogne-sur-Gesse 85.

Boulou, Le 195.

Boulouris-sur-Mer 541.
:

Bourn, Pic de 172.

Bouqueron 415.

Bourbon-Busset, Cha-
teau de 215.

i— I'Arcbambault 205.
}

Bourboule. La 231.

Bourcet, Pic 455. I

Bourdoau 369.
i

Bourdeilles 46.
j

Bouresse 4.

Bourg 312. I

Bourganeuf 260. !

Bourg-Argental 265. i

— d'Arud, Le 450.
— de-Peage 414.
— de-Thizy 208.
— d'Oisans. Le 437.
— d'Oueil 170.

Bourgeade 270.

Bourges 204.

Bourget, Le 369.

— , Lac du 359.

Bourgoin 406.

Bourg-Lastic-Messeix
270.

— Madame 194.
— St-And6ol 479.
— St-Maurice 385.
— sur-Gironde 23.

Bournazel, Chateau de
112.

Bourne, Gorges de la

424.

Bourriot-Bergonce 72.

Boussac 38.

Boussagues 287.

Boussardes, Les 439.

Boussens 131.

Bouveret, Le 338.

Bouzols.Chateau de 277.

Bovine. Pointe de 329.

Bovardville 31.

Boyne 292.

Bozel 393.

Bozouls 114.

Bram 100.

Bramabiau. the 294.

Bramans 401.

Bramatuero. Lacs de
147.

Brame-Farine, the 434.
Brantome 46.

Brassac (Ariege) 180.
— (Tarn) 109.
— les-Mines 219.

Brasses, Pointe des 331.

Bravone 616.

Brazato, Col de 140.

Brec, Mont 581.

Breche. Fausse 155.

Bredons 278.

Breil 583.
Brenne, the 38.

Brescou, lie de 108.

Bressuire 34.

Bretenoux 90.

Breton, Pertuis 25.

Breuil. Le 219.
— Barret .84.

Brevent. the 347.

— , Col du 333.

Brevierfs, Les 386.

Br6z6-St-Cyr-en-Bourg
17.

Brian^on 445.

~, Chateau de 382.

^, Mont 220.

Briantes 38.

Bric-Bouchet. the 471.
— Froid, the 471.

Brides-les-Bains 392.

Briga 583.

Brignais 207.

Brignoles 525.

Brignoud 431.

Brionne, La 260.

Brioude 219.

Brissac 33.

Brive 89.

Brives 278.

Broc-Beaurecoeuil 219.

Brou, Chateau de 3.

Brouage .30.

Brouillard, Mont du
.855.

Brouis, Col de 583.

Brouzet-les-Alais 485.

Bruges 57.

Bruniquel 97.

Brunissard 446.

Brutinel 430.

Bucher, Sommet 470.

Budeliere-Chambon
258.

Buet, Le 327.

Buf, Pyramide de la

416.

Buffere, Col de 469.

Bugarach. Pech de 185.

Bugue, Le 86.

Buis-les-Baronnies, Le
500.

Buisson, Le 86.

Bujaruelo 155.

Burat, Pales or Pic de
172.

Burbanche. La 314.

Bure, Pic de 441.

Bureau-St-Palais-sur-
Mer, Le 60.

Burg, Le 89.

Burguete 71.

Burlats 109.

Buron, Chateau de 218.

Burret 180.

Busseau-d'Ahun 260.

Busseol 218.

Busset 215.

Bussiere-Galant 43.

Buzan^ais 38.

Buzet 108.

Buzy 132.

Cabaliros, the 145.

Cabanasse, La 193.

Cabanes, Les 97.

Cabannes, Les 181.

Cabariot 31.

Cabb^-Roquebrune 575.

Cabessut 96.

Cabrunas 289.

Cacadogne, Pic de 236.
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Cadeac 130.

Cadenet 519.

Cadillac 55.

Cadonin 86.

Cadours 85.

Cagnes 543.

Cahors 91.

Cahuzao-sur-Vere 97.

Cailar. Le 491.

Caille, Pont de la 371.

Caiarc 96.

Caiabre. Pointe de 390.

Calacuccia 606.

Calade, La 521.

Calanques, the 536.

Calcatog-gio 604.

Caldauiccia 609.

Callas 538.

Calvi 613.

Calviac 56.

Calvignac 96.

Calypso 141.

Camargue. lie de la 517.

Camarsac 55.

Cambales, Breche de
147.

Cambasque, Vallee de
145.

Oambo-les-Bains 70.

Camera 615.

Camoins-les-Bains 535.

Campagnac 284.

Campagne-sur-Aude
185.

Campan 164.

— , Vallee de 164.

Campbieil, Pic, Port,

and Vallee de 153.

Campcardos. Picdel83.
Campiano 615.

Campions:, Montagne-de
152.

Camprieu 295.

Camprodon 198.

Canard, Aig. du 453.

Canaveilles 192.

Cand6, Chateau de 3.

Canet 189.

Canfranc 134.

Canigou, the 192.

Canillo 183.

Cannes 555.

Cannet, Le 559.
— du-Luc, Le 537.

Canourgne. La 289.

Cantal, Monts du 279.
— , Plomb du 279.
Cantenac 57.

Cantobre 285.

Capbreton 64.

Capcir, the 185.

Cap-d'Ail 545.

Capdenac 96.

Capendu 103.

Capoulet 180.

Capucin, Pic du 2.34.

Capvern 180.

Caran^a, Gorges de 192.

Carbonne 131.

Carbuccia 610.

Carcanieres, Bains de
185.

Carcans 61.

Carcassonne 101.

Carcenac-Peyrales 114.

Cargrese 605.

Carlitte, Col de 195.

— . Put de 182.

Carmaux 114.

Carnoules 537.

Caroux. Mont 111.

Carpentras 512.

Carqueiranne 550.

Carre, Pic 148..

Carrelet, Refuge du 454.

Cano, Col du 405.

Carte, Chateau de la 32.

Casamozza 612. 616.

Cascade, Col de la 156.

— , Pic de la 156.

Casse-Deserte, Col de
la 457.

Casset. Le 4.39.

Cassis 536.

Cassuejouls 282.

Casteill 191.

Casteilla, the 195.

Casteillou, Col de 186.

Castelbouc 290.

Castelflelflno 470.

Castelfranc 72.

Casteljaloux 72.

Casteliane 538.

Castellar 594.

Castelnau 57.

— , Chateau de 90.

Castelnaudary 100.

Castelnau-d'Azun, Cha-
teau de 138.

— Durban 177.
— de-Levis 97.

Castelnaud-et-Payrac
56.

Castel-Roussillon 189.

Castelsarrasin 75.

Castelvieil 168.

Castera-Verduzau 88.

Castet (Ariege) 177.
— (B.-Pyr.) 135.

Castillon (Alpes-Mar.)
594.

— (Ariege) 177.

Castillon (Gironde) 56.

— , Chateau de 484.

Castres 109.

Castries 304.

Catus 91.

Cannes 103.

Cauro 607.

Caussade 93.

Causses, the 287.

Caussols 562.

Cauterets 141.

Cauvalat, Bains do 286.

Cavaillon 518.

Cavalaire 554.

Cavalerie, La 285.

Cavaliere 553.

Cavignac 23.

Cayan, Plateau de 146.

Cayenne-de-Seudre, La
30.

Cazaubon 73.

Cazaux 61.

Caze,Chateaudela291.
Cazeaux-de-Larboust

168.

Cazoules 91.

Cecire, Pic do 170.

Ceillac 470.

Ceindre, Mont 255.

Celaccia. Col 608.

Celas 484.

Cellefrouin 12.

Celleneuve 304.

Celles 180.
— Villetoureix 15.

Celliers 382.

Cendre-Orcet, Le 218.

Cenevieres, Chateau de
96.

Centron 384.

Centuri 615.

Cerbere 190.

Cerbillona, the 148.

— , Col de 148.

Cerchio, Col du 614.

Cerdagne, the 193.

Cerdane, Tour 183.

Cerdon 314.

Ceres 404.

Ceresole Reale 392.

C^reste 519.

Ceret 195.

Cerise, La 582.

Cerisey,Cascadede 146.

Cerizay 34.

Cerons 71.

Cervieres 446.

Cervione 616.

I C^sar-Durand, RefiTge

j

363.

I

Cesanne 447.
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Cesseus, Col de 369.

Cestrede, Soum do liv».

Cette 305.

Ceuse, Pic de 441.

Cevins 381.

Ceyrat 231.

Cevreste 536.

Oeyssat, Col de 228.

Cezallier, the 259.

Cezanne, Refuge 461.

Cezy, Pic de 137.

Chabarrou. Pic and Lac
de 148.

Chabenet, Chateau de
39.

Chaberton, the 446.

Chabeuil 497.

Chabrieres 580.

— , Roc de 442.

Chaffaud, Grottes du 12.

Chagnv 201.

Chaillol-le-Vieux, the
430.

Cluiise, La 31.

— Dieu, La 221.

Chalabre 100.

Chalais 16.

— , Convent of 408.

Chalanches 449.

Chalanson. Pointe de
403.

Chaldette, La 283.

Challans 31.

Challes-les-Eaux 361.

Chalmazelle 267.

Chalon-sur-Saone 201.

Chalp. La (Htes-Alpes)
446.

— , La (Isere) 427.

Chains 15.

— , Chateau de 219.

Chalusset, Chateau de
88.

Chamalieres (Hte-
Loire) 273.

— (Puy-de-Domc) 226.

Chamaret 498.

Chambery 359.

Chambeyron. Aig. and
Brec de 443.

Chamblet-Neris 257.

Chambon 237.
— de-Tence 266.
— Feugerolles, Le 272.
— sur-Voueize 258.

Chambotte. La 369.

Chamechaude, the 423.

Chamois, Col des 457.

Chamonix 341.

Chamousset 361.

Champagne 266.

Cliampagny-le-Bas 389.
-- le-Haut 388.

Champdeniers 18.

Champdieu 267.

Champeix 219.

Champ^ry 338.

Champigny-sur-Veude
32.

Champillet-Urciers 38.

Champoleon 430.
Champ-St-Pere 24.

Champsaur, the 430.

Champs-de-Bort 258.

Chamrousse. the 418.

Chanac 283.

Chauat-la-Mouteyre
269.

Chanaz 368.

Chancelade 46.

Chancy 322.

Chaniers 22.

Chantelle 207.

Chantemerle 439.

Chanteuges 296.

Chantonuay 35.

Chapareillan 433.

Chapeau, the 347.

— , Pas du 402.

Chapelle- d'Abondauce,
La 336.

— du Bard, La 433.
— en-Valgaudemar, La

429.
— en-Valjouffrey. La

427.
— en-Vercors, La 425.
— Greneste. La 221.

Chapelue, La 470.

Chapieux, Les 354.

Chaponost 255.

Chapterie 11.

Chapus, Le 30.

Charavines-les-Bains
407.

Charbon, the 377.

Charbonel, Pointe de
403.

Charbonniere, Chateau
de 362.

Charbonuieres, Chateau
de 290.

— les-Bains 254.

Chardon, Col du 458.

Chardonnet, Aig. and
Col du 328.

Chareusac 278.

Charix-Lalleyriat 314.

Charlieu 206.

Charmaix 364.

Charmaut-Som, the 423.

Charmes 478.

Charmette, Col de la

419.

Charmettes, Los 360.

Charmoz, Aig. des 345.

Charolles 206.

Charpoua, Refuge de
la 345.

Ch arras 29.

Charriere 334.

— , Tete de 455.

Charroux 12.

Chartilly, Chateau de
205.

Chartreux-les-Bains
425.

Charvin, the 379.

Chassagne, Chateau de
205.

Chasse 492.

Chasseforet, Dome de
396.

Chasseneuil 4.

Chassenon 15.

Chasserades 296.

Chasteaux 91.

Chastel-Marlhac 259.

Chat. Col and Dent du
369.

— , Pas du 164.

Chataigneraie, La 34.

Chateau, Le 30.

— Arnoux 473.

Chateaubrun 39.

Chateau-Dauphin 470.
— Larcher 11.

— I'Eveque 43.

Chateaumeillant 38.

Chateauneuf 206.

— , Puy de 238.
— Calcernier 500.
— de-Contes 582.
— de-Grasse 544.
— du-Pape 500.
— du-Rhone 498.
— les-Bains 257.
— Pre-du-Lac 544.
— sur-Chareute 14.

— sur-Cher 258.

Chateauponsac 11.

Chateau-Queyras 470.

Chateaurenard-Pro-
vence 511.

Chateauroux 37.

Chateix, Puy de 227.

Chatel 336.

— , the 440.
— , Rocher du 404.

Chatelaillon 29.

Chatelard, Le (Hte-
Savoie) 370.

— , Pointes du 403.
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Chatelard-Trient. Le
326.

Chateldon 216.

Chatelguyon 217.

Chatellerault 4.

Chatelleret, Refuge du
454.

Chatillon, Chateau de
359.

— , Col de 317,
— d'Azergues 207.

— de-Mic'haille 314.
— en-Diois 497.
— le-Desert 441.
— sur-Chalaronne 203.
— sur-Indre 38.

— sur Sevre 10.

Chatre. La 38.

Chaud. La 220.

Chaudefour 237.
;

Chaudesaigues 283.
;

Chauffayer 430. I

Chaurionde, Pointe de
j

381.
j

Chausenque, Breche de
159.

I

Chauve d'Aspremont,
Mont 573.

Chauvet 430.

— , Lac 238.

Chauvigny 11.

Chavagnes-les-Redoux
35.

Chavanay 477.
j

Chavaniac, Chateau de i

220.

Chavannes, Col des355.
Chaviere, Col de 400.

Chavieres. Col de 259.
j

Chavoire 374. !

Chazelles-sur-Lyon I

255.

Chazeron, Chateau de !

217.

Checouri, Col de 356. !

Chedde 321. i

Chef-Boutonne 12.

Cheis, Le 219.
,

Chenavari, the 479.
I

Chene 324.

Chenonceaux 37.

Cheret, Tete de 456.

Cherveux 18.

Chesery, Pas de 335.

Chessy 207.

Chetif. Mont 356.

Cheval-Blanc 519.
— Noir. the 384.

Chevriere, Roche 364.
Cheylade 259.

Cheylard. Le 266.

Cheylas-la-Buissiere,
Le 432.

Chignin-les-Marches
361.

Chindrieux 359.

Chinon 32.

Chioula. Col de 182.

Chiroulet, Le 163.

Chiserette, La 389.

Cholet 10.

Chomerac 478.

Choranche 425.

Chorges 442.

Ciamarella, the 406.

Cians, Gorges du 579,

Cihoure 118.

Cier-de-Luchon 166.

Cimiez 572.

Cinq-Cours, Hourque
des 158.

Cintegahelle 179.

Cinto, Monte 606.

Ciotat, La 536.

Ciotti 594.

Ciriegla 582.

Ciutat, La 73.

Civray 12.

Cize, Viaduc de 314.

Clairac 72.

Clairavaux 260.

Clans 578.

Claphouse, Tete de 429.

Clapier, Le 437.

— , Mont 581.

Claux. Le 259.

Clavans 449.

Clavieres 447.

Claviers 538.

Clayette-Baudemont,
La 207.

Clefs. Les 379.

Clelles 440.

Clerieux 495.

Clermont-Ferrand 222.
— I'Herault 112.

Clery, Signal de 401.

Cliergue, Puy de 236.

Clion 38.

Clisson 24. .

Clot. Le 451.
— Chatel, Cime du 456.
— des-Cavales, Col du

457.
— en-Valgaudemar, Le

429.

Clouzeaux, Les 35.

Clouzis. Clocher de 461.

Cluny 206.

Clusaz, La 379,

Cluse, La (Ain) 314.

— (Hte-Savoie) 428.

Cluse. Montagne de la
369,'

Cluses 317,

Coarraze 573.
— Nav 125.

Cochette, Col de la 419.

Cognac 15.

Cogolin 554,

Coiron, the 478.

Coise 361.

Colavrac 73.

Coligny 312.

Colle. La 543.

Collerin, Col du 404.

Collet-de-Deze, Le 297.

Collioure 189.

CoUobrieres 554.

Colloney, Pointe de 318.

Collonges-Fontaines
203.

— Fort-1'Ecluse 322.

Colmars 580.

Colomars 577.

Colombieres 110,

Colombiers 22.

Colon, the 419,

Combal, Lac de 355,

Combe-de-Lancey, La
431.

Combeynot, Pic de 466.

Combloux 378.

Commentry 257.

Commequiers 32.

Comperi^, Col 186.

Comps (Gard) 480.
— (Var) 538.

Coudamine, La 585.

— , Cime de la 459.
— Chatelard 443.

Condat-en-F^niers 259.

Condom 73.

Condrieu 477.

Conduch^ 96.

Conference, He de la

119.

Conflans 381.

Confolens 15.

Conjux 368.

Conques 112.

Cons, Dent de 381.

Contamines, Les 353.

Contende, Pic de 133.

Contente. Col de 145.

Contes 582.

Cbolidge, Pic 456.

Corbieres, the 103.

Cordes 97.

Cordouan, Lighthouse
of 59.

Corenc 415.

Cormery 38.
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Corneilla-de-Conflent
191.

Corniche, Grande 575.

— , Moyenne 545.

— , Petite 575.
— d'Or 541.

Cornil 271.

Cornillon, Mont 272.

Coron^, Col, Lac, and
Pic 175.

Corps 428.

Correze 270.

Corsavy 197.

Corse, Cap 615.

Corsica 595.

Cortalets, Chalet-Hotel
des 191.

Corte 610.

Cosne-sur-CEil 206.

Costabonne, Pic de 198.

Costaros-Cayres 277.

Costebelle 552.

Costeilades 297.

Coste-Rouge, Col de la

458.

Coteau, Le 208.

Cote-Rotie, the 477.
— St-Andr6, La 495.

Coubon 277.

Coubre, La 60.

Coucoulude, Signal de
481.

Coucourde-Condillac,
La 497.

Coudes 218.

Coudon, the 549.

Couflens 178.
— de-Betmajou 178.

Couiza-Montazels 184.

Couldray-Salbart,
Chateau 18.

Conlombiers 10.

Coulonges-sxir-rAutize
34.

Coume-de-Bourg, Col
— de la 170.

Coumelie, the 153.

Cour, La 398.

Couret. the 163.

— , Pas de 170.

Courets, Col des 172.

Courmayeur 356.

Cournon 218.

Couronne, La 16.

Courpiere 221.

Cours 208.

Coursan 106.

Cours-les-Bains 71.

Courtes, Les 346.

Courth^zon 500.

Courty 216.

Coussac-Bonneval 89.

Coustouges 197.

Coutras 16.

Couvercle, Refuge du
845.

Couvertoirade, La 286.

Coux, Col de 338.

Couzan, Chateau de
267.

Couzans, Chateau de
259.

Couze 56.

Couzeix-Chaptelat 11.

Couzon 203.

Crabioules, Pic de 170.

Crammont, the 358.

Cransac 112.

Craponne-sur-Arzon
267.

Crau, La 550.

Crazannes, Chateau de
31.

Cr^do, the 815.

Cr^made, La 109.

Cremieu 256.

Cressat 260.

Crest 497.

Creux-Noir, Pointe du
397.

Creve-Tete, Pointe de
383.

Crevoux 445.

Grey, Le 354.

Creysse-Mouleydier56.
Crissolo 472.

Cristinacce 606.

Croix, Col de la 605.
— de-Chaubouret, Col

de la 264.
— de-Fer, Coldela437.
— de-Vie 32.
— du-Bonhomme, Col
de la 354.

— du-Collet, Col de la

265.
— du-Var, La 554.
— Haute, Col de la 440.
— Morand, Puy de la

236.
— St-Robert, Col de la

238.

Crolles, Dent de 432.
Croues, Tete de 443.
Crozant 39.

Cruas 479.

Crueize, Viaduc de la

283.

Crum, Som de 137.

Crussol 472.

— , Ruines de 496.

Cubzac-les-Ponts 23.

Cucumelle, Croix de la

468.

Culan 38.

Culaous, Col de 149.

Culasse, Cirque de la

194.

Culet, Le 173.
— , Croix de 838.

Culoz 315.

Curtillard, Le 434.

Cusset 215.

Cuze, Roc de 259.

Cuzeau, Roc de 236.

Cylindre, the 155.

— , Col du 156.

Dailley, Gorges du 326.

Daluis, Gorges de 579.

Dames, Plan des 354.

Dampierre, Chateau de
23.

Dard. Pointe du 396.

Dargilan, Grotto of 294.

Darsac 220.

Dauphin, Le 438.

Dax 63.

Decazeville 112.

Deols .88.

Desaignes 478.

D^sert-en -Valjouffrey,
Le 427.

Ddserts, Les 361.

D^trier 433.

Daroit, the 291.

Deux-Nants 383.

Devesset-St-Romain
266.

D^voluy, the 441.

Diable, Cime du 581.

Diane, Col de 236.

Die 497.

Dienne 279.

Dieulefit 498.

Digne 473.

Digoin 206.

Digonniere, La 264.

Dijon 201.

Dingy-St-Clair 378.

Dions 485.

Diosaz, Gorges de la

321.

Dissais 4.

Doizieux 265.

Dole 324.

Dolent, Mont 358.

Dolmen, Col du 295
Dolonne 356.

Domal, Le 289.

Donibes, the 313.
Dome, the 390.

— , Col du 350.
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Dome, Monts 227.

— , Puy de 228.

Domene 431.

Domevrat, Chateau de
220.'

Dompierre 25.
— siir-Besbre 20fi.

Don-Jean-Maurice.
Croix de 403.

Donnazac 97.

Donzenac 89.

Donzere 498.

Doran. Aig. 364.

Dorat. Le 11.

Dore. Monts 234.

Doruas 266.

Douch 111.

Doucv 383.

Done. Mont 278.

Douhet-Ecoyeux, Le 20.

Doussard 377.

Douzes, Les 294.

Dovet-la-Presle 205.

Dragonetta. the 609.

Draguignan 537.

Drance.Yallee de la 3.34.

Drap 582.

Draye. Tete de la 460.

Dreche. La 114.

Drevant 258.

Drignac-Ally 259.

Droltes, Les .846.

Dru. Grand 345.

— , Petit 346.

Drusreac 259.

Duingt 375.

Dunieres 265.

Durande, the 277.

Duras 55.

Durbize, Plateau de 238.

Durbon, Chartreuse de
441.

Durtol 228.
-- Xohaneut 269.

Dyanne, Col de 236.

Eaux-Bonnes 135.

Chaudes 138.

Eauze 73.

Ebeaupinais, Chateau
de V 17.

Ebreuil 256.

Echaillon 362.

Echappaux, Les 383.
Echelle, Col de 1' 447.
— , Pointe de 1' 398.
-^. Pont de r 150.
Echelles, the 39.
- . Les 407.

Echillais 30.

Echir^-St-Gelais 18.

Ecluse, Defile del' 315.

Ecole 370.

Ecot. L' 405.

Ecrins. Les 455.

— , Coi des 462.

Ecully-Demi-Lune 255.

Ecutieu, L' 331.

Eget 130.

Egletons 270.

Egliseneuve - d'Entrai-
gues 238.

Eguzon 39.

Elevaz 358.

Elne 189.

Embrun 444.

Emile-Pic, Col 462.

Emparis, Plateau d'

463.

Encamp 183.

Encausse 131.

Encel, Pas d' 339.

Enchatra. L' 451.

Enclave, Col d' 355.

Encombres, Col des 383.

Encoula. Bocher de 1'

456.

Enet, He d' 29.

Enf er, Cascade, Gouffre,

and Rue d' 171.

— , Pic d' 147.
— Val d' 517.

Engins. Gorges d' 424.

Entecade, Pic del' 175.

Entraigues (Isere) 427.
— (Savoie) 465.
— (Var) 537.
— (Yaucluse) 512.

Entraunes 579.

Entraygues 282.

Entre-deux-Eaux 399.

Guiers 407.

Mers 23.

Entremont 379.

Entrevaux 579.

Entreves 357.

Enveitg 183.

Epaisseur, Aig. de V
467.

Epierre 362.

Epis. Les 57.

Eraierne, Puy d' 237.

Eras'"-Taillades. Pic d'

137.

Erbaluno-a 614.

Erce 178.

Eriste, Pics d' 176.

Ernest-Carou, Refuge
462.

Ersa 615.

Escaldes, Las (Andorra)
183.

Escaldes. Les (Pvr.-

Orient.) 194.

Escalette, Pas de 1' 174.

Escarene, L' 582.

Escot 133.

Escoubous, Lac d' 159.

Escouloubre, Bains d'

185.

Escreins 469.

Escuret. Pic d' 132.

Esnandes 28.

Espadas, Pic de las 176.

Espade. Pic d' 160.

Espagne, Pont d' 146.

Espalion 114.

Espaly 277.

Esperaza 185.

Espere 91.

Espezel 185.

Espiadet 164.

Espinabell 198.

Espinasse 231.

Espingo, Lac d' 169.

Espinouse. Monts de 1'

110.

Espira-de-l'Agly 186.

Esquierry, Val d' 169.

Esquit, Pont d' 133.

Essertine 264.

Esserts-Blay 381.

Estables, Les 278.

Estaes, Lac d' 134.

Estagel 186.

Estaiug 114.

Estaque, L' 535.

Estaube, Val d' 152.

Estavar 193.

Estax. Pic d' 181.

Estene: 579.

Esterel. the 541.

Estibat. Pic d' 177.

Estom, Lac d' 149.
— Soubiran. Col d' 149.

Estressin 492.

Etages, Les 451.

Etan^ons, Glacier des
455.

Etendard, the 449.

Etrembieres 316.

Etret. Tete de 1' 453.

Etroits, Les 291.

Eugenie-les-Bains 63.

Euzet-les-Bains 484.

Evariste-Chancel, Re-
fuge 465.

Evaux 258.

Evenos 550.

Evettes, Chalet des 406.

Evian-les-Baiiis 336.

Evionnaz 325.

Evires 371.
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Evisa GOO.

Excideuil !«.

Eybens -417.

Evchaiula, Col and Lac
de r 468.

Eygliere, Pointe de 1'

459.

Eyguieres 517.

Eygurande-Merlines
270.

Eyines, Les 4.32.

Eymet 72.

Eymoutiers 12.

Eyne, Pic d' 19.3.

•Eyzies-de-Tayac,Les86.
Eze 575.
— sur-Mer 545.

Fabian 130.

Fabrezan 103.

Fache. the 147.

— , Col de la 147.

Facture 60.

Fades, Viaduc des 257.

Faisaus, He des 119.

Falgoux 259.

Falicon 573.

Fango, Pont du 605.

Fare, Refuge de la 449.

Faron, Mont 549.

Faugeres 287.

Faverges 377.

Fayence 538.

Fayet, Le 318.

Fay-le-Froid 277.

Feissons-sur-Salins382.
Fdlix-Faure, Chalet-
Hotel 399.

— Neff, Pic 445.

Felletin 260.

Fenelon, Chateau de56.
Fenestre, Col de 582.

Fenouillet, the 552.

Fer, Croix de 330.

.
— a-Cheval, the 332.

Feriou, Mont 573.

Ferrand, Puy 236.

Ferrat, Cap 545.

Ferret, Col 358.

— , Val 357.

Ferriere, La 434.

Ferrieres 109.

Ferriere-St-Mary 278.

Fert6-Reuilly. Chateau
de la 87.

Fetoules, Tete des 453.

Feugerolles, Chateau
de 272.

Feurs 209.

Fier, Gorges du 371.

— , Val du 371.

Fifre, the 456.

Figeac 96.

Figueras 195.

Figuier, Cap du 118.

Fillinges, Pont de 330.

Fillols 191.

Finhaut 326.

Finiels 297.

Finive, the 326.

Finosa, the 602.

Firmi 112.

Firminy 272.

Fix-St-Geneys 220.

Flegere, the .348.

Fleurance 87.

Fleurieux-Lozanne 255.

Florae 295.

Floria, Aig. de la 348.

Flotte, La 29.

Flumet 378.

Foce. La 610.

Foix 179.

Folelli-Orezza 615.

Fond-de-France, Le434.
— de-la-Combe 332.

Foiids, Vallee des 333.

Fonfreyde 231.

Fongillarde 470.

Fons 485.

Fouserannes, Locks of

107.

Fontaine-du-Berger, La
230.

Fontan 583.

Fontanabran, the 326.

Fontanas 228.

Fontanges 259.

Fontarabie 119.

Fontasse, La 109.

Font-de-1' Arbre.La 228.

Fonte, Roc del 390.

Fontenay-le-Comte 34.

Fontfrede, Pic de 180.

Fontgombault 4.

Fontpedrouse 192.

Font-Romeu 193.

Font-Sancte, Poiute de
la 469.

Fontvieille 517.

Forcalqueiret-Grareoult
525.

Forcalquier 519.

Forclaz, Col de la (near
St-Gervais) 320.

— , Col de la(uearMar-
tigny) 329.

— . Col de la (near Tal-
loires) 376.

Forez, Monts du 221.

Formigucres 185.

Fornet 386.

Fomo Alpi Graie 406.

Fos 172.
- sur-Mer 502.

Fosse, La 31.

Fossette-Aiguebellc,
La 553.

Fou, La 186.

— , Gorge de la 197.

Fouillouse, La 210.

Fouillouze 443.

Fouras 29.

Fourcanade, the 175.

Fourneaiix, Les 363.

Fours, Col des 354.

Fourvoirie 420.

Foux, La (B.-Alpes)
443.

—, La (Var) 554.

Fraiche, Cascade de la

394.

Fraisse, Le 111.

Fraisse-Unieux 272.

Fraissinet-de-Fourques
295.

Francardo 611.

France, Hospice de 173.

— , Roc de 196.

Franchet 387,

Francheville 255.

Franqui, La 187.

Fray-Miquel, Port de
183.

Freaux, Les 438.

Freissinieres 445.

Freissinouse, La 441.

Frdjus 538.

— , Col de 364.

Frene, Col du 370.

— , Pic du 435.

Fr^ney, Le 378.

Freney-d'Oisans, Lo
438.

Fresse, Col de 389.

Fresselines 39.

Freycenet-la-Tour 278.

Freydieres 431.

Freyssinet, Le 469.

Fribuge 388.

Froges 431.

Fromage, Petit Col du
470.

Fromental 39.

Fromentine 31.

Fronsac (Giroude) 16.

— (Hte-Garonne) 165.

Front, Pointe du 390.

Frontenex 380.

Frontignan 304.

Frugieres-le-Pin 220.

Fruit, Aig. du 393.

Fuenterrabia 119.
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Fugeret, Le 580.

Fumades, Les 484.

Fumel 72.

Fures 414.

Furon. Gorges du 416.

Gabas 139.

Gabian 112.

Gabietou, the 156.

Gabizos, Pic de 137.

Gadagne 511.

Gagnieres 484.

Gaillac 99.

Gaillands. Les 348.

Gairaut 573.

Galeria 605.

Galibier, Col du 467.

Galise, Pointe de la 390.

Gan 132.

Ganac 180.

Ganagobie 520.

Gandoliere, Tete de la

454.

Ganges 491.

Gannat 217.

Gap 441.

Garabit, Viaduc de 283.

Garbet, Lac de 178.

Garcin. Le 437.

Gard, Pont du 480.

Gardanne 525.

Garde, La (Isere) 448.

— , La (Var) 536.

— , Chateau de la 178.
— Adhemar, La 498.
— Freinet, La 554.
— Guerin, La 297.

Garganta, Pico de la

134.

Gargas, the 428.

— , Grotto of 130.

Gargilesse 39.

Garin 170.

Garmo Negro, Pic de
140.

Gaioupe, Cap de la 543.

Gars. Pic du 172.

Gaspard, Pic 464.
Gassin 554.

(rastaldi, Punta 472.

Gatine, the 18.

Gatuzieres 295.

Gaube, Lac and Pic de
146.

Gaude, La 577.

Gavarnie 153.
- -, Cascade de 154.
- . Cirque de 153.
- . Port de 155.
Gavet 436.

Gazost 140.

G^ant, Aig. and Col du
357.

Gedre 152.

G^la, the 152.

Gdlas, Cima dei 582.

Gelos 125.

G^los, Chateau de 135.

Gdmozac 22.

Gencay 10.

G^nepy, Rochers de
389.

Gen^touze. La 32.

Geneva 322.

— , Lake of 323.

Genolhac 297.

G6nv, Pic 454.

Ger. Pic de 137.

Gerbats, Pic 152.

Gerbier-de-Jonc, the
278.

Gerde 163.

Gergovie, Plateau de
230.

Gergj^ 201.

Gerzat 218.

Gesse 185.

Gets. Col des 335.

Ghilie, Cime de 582.

Ghisonnaccia 616.

Ghisoni 616.

Giaglione 402.

Giandola, La 583.

Giens 552.

Gieres 417.

Giettaz, La 380.

Gievres 36.

Giez 377.

Gignac 304.

Gigot, Mont 369.

Gilette 578.

Gilly-sur-Loire 206.

Gimel 271.

Gimont-Cahuzac 85.

Ginoles 185.

Giobernev, Mont 456.

Giraglia.'La 615.

Girard. Col de 406.

Girardin, Col de 470.

Giraud-Lezin. Breche
457.

Gisclard, Pont 192.

Gitamelon 383.

Giusalet. Monte 401.

Givors 261.

Givry 202.

Glace, Lac 154.

Glacier-Blanc, Col du
462.

Glaciers, Aig. des 355.

— , Col des 353.

— , Val des 354.

Glaire, Lacs and Vallee
de 159.

Glandasse, Mont 497.

Glandier 89.

Glandon. Col du 437.

Gleizolles 443.

Glere, Cirque and Col
de 174.

Glevade, La 109.

Gliere, Aig. de la 348.

— , Chalets de la 398.
— . Pointe de la 397.

Goldon. Aig. du 464.

— , Col du 467.

Golese, Col de la 335.

Goletta, Col de la 388.

Golfe-Juan 542.

Goncelin 431.

Gorbio 594.

Gordes 519.

Gorge. La 431.

Gorgutes, Lac de 174.

Got, Le 86.

Gouaux-de-Larbou st

170.
— de-Luchon 172.

Goulaz. La 403.

Goulets. the 425.

Goult-Lumiere 519.

Goupey. Pic de 137.

Gourdon (Alpes-Mar.)
577.

— (Lot) 91.

Gourgs-Blancs, Col and
Pic des 169.

Gourzy, Col de 137.

Gouter, Dome du 351.

Gragnague 100.

Gragnolet 427.

Graissesac 287.

Graisivaudan, Vallee
du 431.

Gramat 95.

— , Causse de 94.

Grammont, the (near

Mentone) 594.

— , the (near St-Gin-
golph) 338.

Grand-Arc. the (near
Albertville) 381.

, the (Lans) 424.
— Area, the 446.
— Barbat 145.
— Bee de Pralognan.

the 388.
— Berard, the 443.
— Bornand, Le 379.
— Brassac. Le 45.

— Charnier, the 435.
— Chatelard, the 362.
— Colombier, the 315.
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Grand-Combe, La 297.
- Croix, La 261.

Grande-Aiguille, the
408.
— Aiguillette, the 470.
— Casse, the 397.

. Col de la 399.
— Chartreuse 421.
— Chible, Pointe de la

467.
— Croix, La 402.
— Jeanne, the 375.
— Lance d'Allemont

449.

de Domene 419.
— Motte, the 397.
— Moucherolle, the

424.
— Parei, the 388.
— Rochere, the 357.
— Ruine. the 464.

, Col de la 457.
— Sassiere. Aig. de la

387.
— Seolane, Roc de la

443.
— Sure, the 421.

Grandes-Jorasses, the
357.

— Rousses, the 448.
— Sables, Les 436.

Grand-Ferrand, the 441.

— Fond, Pointe du 403.
— Galibier, Roche du

466.
— Gallargues 298.
— Lemps, Le 407.
— Lieu, Lac de 31.

j

— Luberon, the 519.
— Marchet, the 397.

I— Mont, the 381.
— Morgon, the 444.
— Perron des Encom-

bres, the 383.
— Pressigny, Le 3.

— Revard. the 369.
— Rochail, the 449.
— Roc-Noir, the 402.
— Rubren, the 443.
— Serre, Le 495.

Grands-Goulets, the
425.

— Montets, Col des 328,

— Moulins, Pic des 435
— Mulets, the 350.

Grand-Som, the 422.
— Suchet, the 229.
— Tanargue, the 481.
— Thiervoz, Le 434.
— Veymont 440.

Granero, the 472.

Grange, Chateau de la

219.

— , Pointe de 335.

Granier, the 433.

Granville, Cro de 85.

Graou, Tete du 453.

Graoues, Cirque des
172.

Grasse 561.

Grassonet 329.

Grau-du-Roi, Le 492.

Graulhet 114.

Grave, La 438.

— , Pic de la 452.

— , Pointe de 58.

— , Signal de la 463.
— d'Ambares, La 16.

— de-Peille, La 582.

Gravenoire, Puy de 230.

Graveson 501.

Greffier, Col du 406.

Gregonio, Col and Lac
de 175.

Grenoble 408.

Greoulx-les-Bains 520.

Grepon, Aig. de 345.

Gresse 440.

Gresy-sur-Aix 368.
— sur-Isere 380.

Greve, La 23.

Grezan 477.

Grezette, Chateau de 72.

Gr^zieux-le-Fromental
255.

Griguan 498.

Grimaud 554.

Griou, Puy 280.

Gripp 164.

Grivats, Les 215.

Groisy-le-Plot 371.

Gros, Mont 574.

— , Puy 232.

Grosseto-Prugna 608.

Gruissan-Tournebelle
187.

Grum, Som de 137.

Grust 149.

Gruvaz, Pontde la 320.

Guagno, Bains de 607.

Guchen 130.

Gudane, Chateau de 181.

Guerche. La 204.
— sur-Creuse, La 3.

Gueret 260.

Guery, Lac de 235.

Guethary 117.

Gueula, Col de la 326.

Guibertes, Les 439.

Guiche 120.

Guil, Vallde du 469.

Guillaumes 579.

Guilleatre 469.

Guitera, Bains de 608.

Guitres 16.

Gurra, La 386.

Gys, Pont de 384.

Haut-du-Seuil, the433.
Hautecombe, Abbey of

368.

Hautefage-Auradou 86.

Hautefort 43.

Hauteluce 381.

Hauterive (Allier) 215.
— (Lozere) 291.

Hauterives 495.
Hauteville 314.
— Gondon 385.

Hautforts, the 335.

Haut-Var 579.

Haye-Descartes, La 3.

Heas 152.

— , Vallee de 152.

Heches 130.

Hendaye 118.

Henry-Russell, Refuge
149.

Herbiers, Les 24.

Hdric, Gorges d' 111.

Herisson 258.

Herm, L' 180.

Herpie, the 449.
Hirondelles, Col des

346.

Hivernet, Tete del' 445.

Homme, Bee de 1' 463.
— Mort, Tuc de 1' 177.

Hopital, L' (Isere) 380.

— , L' (Tarn) 297.
— sous-Rochefort, L'

268.

Hospitalet, L' (Ariege)
182.

— , L' (Aveyron) 285.

— , L' (Lot) 94.

Hostens 71.

Houches, Les 321.

Houle, Col de la 148.

Hourat, the 135.

Hourgade, Pic de 170.

Hourquette, the 153.
— d'Ossoue, the 147.

Huez 448.

Hyeres 550.
— , lies d' 553.

— , Rade d' 552.

If, Chateau d' 534.

Ile-Barbe, the 254.
— Bouchard, L' 32.

— d'ElIe, L' 25.

— Rousse, L' 613.
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Ille 190.

llleou, Lac d' 145.

Illiez, Val d' 338.

Incudine, Mont 1' 608.

Infernet, Col de 1' 465.

Intermediaire, Pic 172,

Ireuse, Pointe d' 834.

Iriin 119.

Iseran, Col d' 391.

Iseuro 205.

Iseye, Col d' 133.

Isle-Jourdain, L' (Grers)

85.

, L' (Vienne) 12.

— Savary, Chateau de
r 38.

— sur-la-Sorgue, L' 511.

Isola 578.

Ispagnac 289.

Issarles, Lac d' 278.

Issoire 219.

Issoudun 37.

Istres 502.

Itxassou 70.

Izeste 135.

Izoard, Col d' 446.

Jaca 134.

.Jaizquibel 119.

Jalla, the 415.

Jallieu 406.

Jambaz, Col de 3.34.

Jandri, the 452.

Jarnac 14.

Jarrie 489.

Jasserie 264.

Jaume 424.

Jausiers 443.

Javie, La 474.

Javols 283.

Jean-Gauthier, Col 468.

Jeanne, Pointe 453.

Jer, Pic de 128.

Jeret, Val de 146.

Joanne, Pointe 472.

Job 221.

Jocelme. Pic 459.

Joly, Col du 881.

— , Mont 353.

Jonas, Grrottes de 219.

Jonay, Le 388.

Joncet 192.

Joncheres 296.

Jonte, Valine de la 294.

Jonzac 23.

Jotty, Le 334.

Jouannet-Chavagnes
38.

Joucou, Defile de 186.

Joue-les-Tours 32.

Jouel, Col de 191.

Jouplane, Col de 335.
j

Jovet, Mont 388.
|— Plan 854.

Joyeuse 481.

Joze 218.

Juan-les-Pins 542.

Juillac 43.

Junquera, La 195.

Juzet 168.

Kercabanac. Pont de
177.

Ker-Chalon 32.

Labarde 57.

Labarthe-Inard 131.

Labastide, Chateau de
192.

— Rouairoux 110.

Labenne 64.

Laberouat, Bains de 183.

Labigouer, Pic de 133.

Labouheyre 68.

Labouret, Col de 474.

Laboutarie 114.

Labrede 71.

Labroquere 165.

Labruguiere 110.

Lacanau 55.

— Ocean 55.

Lacapelle-Vieseamp
282.

Lacaune 109.

Lacave, Grottoes of 95.

Lachat. Rocher de 379.

Lac-Xoir, Refuge du
452.

Lacourt 177.

Lacourtensourt 77.

Lacrois. Col 471.

Lacrouzette 109.

Lacs, Refuge des 396.

Lafajole 186,

Lafarge 43.

Laffrey 426.

Lafont, Tour 180.

Lafoux-les-Bains 481.

Lagnieu 314.

Lagrasse 103.

Laguepie 97.

Laguiole 283.

Laid, Mont 187.

Laisonnay 388.

Lalevade-d'Ardeches
483.

Lalouvesc 266.

Laluque 63.

Lamalou-les-Bains 110.

Lamanon 519.

Lamarere, the 133.

Lamastre 478.

Lamativie 90.

Lamothe 61.

— Fenelon 91.

Lamure-sur-Azergues
207.

Lancebraniette, the 359.

Lancey 431.

Lancoue. Defile of 614.

Landes, the 60.

Landeyrat-Marcenat
259.'

Landos 277.

Landry 384.

Langeac 296.

Langlade 288.

Langogne 296.

Langoiran 55.

Langon 71.

Lannemezan 130.

Lanobre 259.

Lanoux, Lac 183.

Lans 424.

Lanslebourg 402.

Lanslevillard 402.

Lantosque 581.

Lanuejols 288.

Lanzo Torinese 404.

Lapalisse 207.

Lapalnie 187.

Lapevrouse 256.

Lapradelle 186.

Lapte 273.

Laquet, Col du 158.

Laqueuille 270.

Laragne 472.

Larch e 444.

Largentiere 481.

Laroche-Faugere 219.

Laroquebrou 90.

Laroque-Timbaut 86.

Laroquevieille 282.

Larrau 121.

Larrune 118.

Lartigues 164.

Laruus 135.

Larzac. the 285.

Lastours 103.

Lathuile 377.

Latour-d' Auvergue 232.

LattedeBazen, thel37.
Lauplat, Col de 429.

Lauranoure, Grande-
Tete de 453.

Laurichard, Pyramide
du 466.

Lauriere 89.

Lauris 519.

Lausanne 824.

Lautaret. Col du 438.

— , Pics de Xeige du 463.

Lautrec 114.
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Lauvitel, Lac de 450.

Lauze, Col de la 452.

Lauzes,Plateau des 405.

Lauzet, Le (B.-Alpes)
442.

— , Le (Htes-Alpes)
439.

— , Chateau de 216.

Lauzette, Col de la 472.

Laval 431.
- de-Cere 90.

Lavalduc 502.

Laval-du-Tarn 289.

Lavancher. Le 329.

Lavandou, Le 553.

Lavaudieu 220.

Lavaufranche 200.

Lavaur 108.

Lavausseau 10.

Lavelanet 180.

Lavey, Refuge dela451.
Lavezzo, CoUe di 614.

Lavigerie 279.

Lavilledieu 75.

Lavouet 352.

Lavoute-sur-Loire 273.

Layrac 87.

Laze, Som de 151.

Lechaud, Pointe 355.

Lecques, Les 536.

Lectoure 87.

Lege 24.

Leisse, Col de la 391.

Lembeye 125.

Lemenc 360.

Lemercier, Poiute 453.
Lemie 404.

Lempdes 278.

Lencloitre 33.

Lente, Foret de 414.
Leon 64.

Leoncel 497.
Lepena, Aig. de 398.

Lepiu 407.

Lerius, lies de 560.

"Les 172.

Lescar 121,

Leschaus 375.

— , Col de 375.

Lesches-Beaumont 497.

Lescun 183.

Lescure (Ariege) 177.
— (Tarn) 114.

Lesparre 57.

Lespiteau 131.

Lesponne 163.

Lestelle 126.

Letrade 258.

Leucate 187.

Leuse, Mout 575.

Levade, La 297.

Levunna, the 405.

Levant, He du 553.

Levens 573.

Levroux 38.

Lexos 97.

Leyment 256.

Lezan 485.

L^zignan 103.

Lezo-Renterio 119.

Lezoux 269.

Lheris, Col de 164.

-", Pene de 164.

Lhers 479.

Lhommaize 11.

Libourne 16.

Lignat, Chateau de 250.

Ligueil 38.

Liguge 11.

Limagne, the 217.

Limeuil 86.

Limoges 40.

Limonest 207.

Limoux 184.

Lincel 519.

Lioran, Le 279.

Lisle 45.
— sur-Tarn 100.

Lissac 220.

Listincone, Col de 604.

Litayrolles or Literola.
Yal de 176.

Livet 436.
Livron 497.

Lizieux, Pic de 266.

Llagone, La 186.

Llivia 194.

Llo 194.

Llosas Hut 175.

Loches 38.

Lodeve 112.

Lognan, Chalet-Hotel
de 328.

Lombard, Col 466.

Lombez 85.

Lombrives, Grotte de
181.

Londe-les-Maures, La
553.

Long. Pic 153.

Longefoy 385.

Lordat, Chateau de 181.

Lorette 261.

Lorgues 521.

Lormont 16.

Loro, Campo di 609.

Lothiers 38.

Loudun 33.

Louhans 312.

Loup, Le 577.
— du-Valgaudemar,

Col du 460.

Loupiac-St-Christophe
259.

Lourde-Rocheblave,
Refuge 154.

Lourdes 126.

, Lac de 128.

Loures-Barousse 165.

Louroux-de-Bouble 256.

Louvie-Juzon 135.

Lovagny 371.

Lovitel, Lac 450.

Lozanne 207.

Loze. Rocher de la

393.

Lozere, Mont 297.

Luaut 38.

Luc 296.

— , Le 537.
— en-Diois 497.

Lucciana 612.

Luceram 583.

Luchon 166.

— , Hospice de 173.

Lu§on 25.

Ludon 57.

Lugaus 114.

Luisin, the 32(>.

Lumio 613.

Lunas 287.

Lunel 298.

Lupino 612.

Lurde, Col de 137.

Lure, Signal de 473.

Luri 615.

Lus 440.

Lusignan 10.

Lussac-Ies-Chateaux
11.

Lustou, Pic de 130.

Lutour, Valley of 149.

Luxe 12.

Luxey 71.

Luz 150.

Luzaide 71.

Luzech 72.

Luzenac-Graranou 181.

Luzieres, Pont de 109.

Lyons 238.

Archeveche, Old 250.

Art Collections 245.

Botanical Gardens
254.

Brotteaux, Les 253.

Cathedral 251.

Church of the Re-
demption 254.

— Notre-Dame-de-
Fourviere 252.

— St-Bonaventure
244.
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Lyons

:

Church of St-Martin-
d'Ainay 242.

— St-Xizier 244.
— St-Paul 251.
— St-Pierre 250.

Cours ciu Midi 242.

Croix-Rousse, La 250.

Fontaine Bartholdi
245.
— des Jacobins 244.

Fourviere, Hill of

252.

Gruillotiere, La 253.

Hospice de la Charite
243.

Hotel de Ville 245.

, Old 244.
— Dieu 243.

Jardin des Plantes,
Old 250.

Libraries 244.

Lycee Ampere 244.

Maison Henri IV 251.

Manecanterie 251.

Martiniere 250.

Monument of Carnot
243.

— des Legions du
Rhone 254.

— of Kleberger 252.
— of the Republic

242.
— to the Victims of

the Siege of 1793
254.

Musee de la Propa-
gation de la Foi 243.

— des Tissus 244.

Palais de Justice 251.
— de la Bourse et du
Commerce 243.

— des Arts 245.
— des Expositions

251.
-- St-Pierre 245.

Pare de la Tete-d'Or
254.

Passage du Rosaire
253.

Place Bellecour 242.
— Carnot 242.
— de Choulans 253.
— de la Comedie 250.
— des Jacobins 244.
— des Terreaux 245.
— de Trion 253.
— St-Jean 250.

Pont de Guillotiere
253.

— de la Feuillee 251.

Lyons:
Pont de I'Hotel-Dieu

254.
— de rUniversite

253.
— de Tilsitt 250.
— du Midi 253.
— Lafayette 254.
— Morand 254.

Prefecture 254.

Protestant Church
254.

Rue de l'H6tel-de-
Ville 244.

— de la Republique
242.

Salle Rameau 250.

Statue of Ampere 242.
-- Blandan 250.

\— Burdeau 250.
\— Duphat 254.
|— Dupont 250.
\— Jacquard 250. I

— Jussieu 254.
j— Laprade 254.

— Louis XIV. 242.
— Mangini 254.
— Oilier 253.
— Suchet 250.

Theatre, Grand 250.
— des Celestins 244.

Tour Metallique 253.

University 253.

Zoological Gardens
254.

Lys, Cirque and Vallee
du 171.

M, Aig. de 1' 345.

Macau 57.

Machecoul 31.

Macinaggio 615.

Macon 202.

Madasse, Cirque de272.
Madeleine, La 574.

— , Col de la (Larche)
444.

*

(X.-D.-de-Bri-
anQon) 382.

— , Monts de la 208.

Madic 258.

Madieres 286.

Madone-de-Fenestre
582.

Magagnosc 577.

Magland 318.

Magnabaigt, Col Long
de 139.

Magnac-Touvre 15.

— Vicq 89.

Magnan, Vallon de 574.

Maguelone 304.

Mailhebiau, Signal de
283.

Maillane 501.

Maillezais 34.

Maison-du-Roi, La 469.

Maladetta, Pic de la 175.

Malaucene-Crestet 500.

Malaussene-Massoins
578.

Mal^dia, Pointe de la

581.

Malene, La 291.

Malibierne, Lacs and
Pics de 176.

—, Vallee de 175.

Malijai 473.

Mal-Infernet 542.

Maljasset 443.

Mallerouge, Col de 148.

Mallet, Mont 346.

Malzieu-Ville, Le 283.

Mamelles, the 470.

Mandailles 282.

Mandirac 187.

Manere, La 197.

Manigod 379.

Manosque 520.

Manyaques 197.

Manzat 217.

Marais, the 25.

— , Col du 379.

Marans 25.

Marbore, Casque, Tour,
Epaule, and Pic du
156.

Marbrees, Aig. 357.

Marc 181.

Marcadaou, Port de 147.

— , Valley of 146.

Marcadieu 130.

Marcellaz-Hauteville
371.

Marcelly, Pointe de 331.

Marcenais 16.

Marcenat 259.

Marcigny 207.

Marcilhac 95.

Marcillac 112.

Marcillat 257.

Marcillv-le-Pave 267.

Marcols" 266.

Marcorignan 103.

Mar^chale, La 58.

Marecottes, Les 326.

Marennes 30.

Margalide, Pic 176.

Margaux 57.!

Margeride, Montagnc
de la 282.
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Mariande, Col de la 453.

Mariebhiuque, Col de
133.

Marignac-St-Beat 166.

Marifjaanima, La 604.

Marignier 317.

Maiinea 615.

Maringues 218.

Marlens 377.

Marlieux 314.

Marlioz 368.

Marmagne 258.

Marmande 72.

Marmare, Col de 182.

Marines, Aig. des 427.

Maronne, Vallee de la

279.

Marsa 186.

Marsac 221.

]\rarsau 8.5.

Marseilles 526.

Allees de Meilhan
531.

Anse des Catalans
5.34.

Batterie d'Endoume
534.

Boul. de la Corderie
533.

— de Longc-hanip531.
Bourse 529.

Cannebiere 529.

Cathedral .530.

Chateau Borely 534.
— d'lf 534.
-— du Pharo 533.

Church of Notre-
Dame-de-la-Garde
533

— St-Victor 533.— St-Vincent-de-
Paul 531.

Cornii'he, Chemin de
la 533.

Cours Belsunce 530.
— du Chapitre 531.
— Pierre-Puget 532.
— St-Louis 529.

Docks 530.

Ecole des Beaux-
Arts 530.

Faculte des Sciences
531.

Fontaine Estrangin
532.

Fort d'Entrecasteaux
529.

— Ch-asse-Tillv 529.

Hotel de Ville 529.

Institut Colonial 530.

Marseilles

:

Jetee 530.

Joliette, La 5.30.

Library 530.

Lycee 530.

Monument des Mo-
biles 531.

Musee des Beaux-
Arts 531.

Museum, Natural
History 532.

Palais de Justice 533.
— de Longchainp 531.

Pare Borely 534.

Phare 533.

Place Castellane 532.

Pomegues 534.

Port du Frioul 534.

Post Oifice 530.

Prado 534.

Prefecture 532.

Promenade Pierre-

Puget 533.

Ratonneau 534.

Rue delaRepublique
529.

— de Rome 532.
— Noailles 530.

Sante 529.

Statue of Belsunce
530.

— Berryer 532.
- Dassy 533.
- Puget 529.

Transporter Bridge
529.

Triumphal Arch 530.

Vieux-Port 529.

Zoological Garden
532.

Marsilly 28.

Martel 56.

— , Causse de 90.

Martellot, Cime 405.

Marthod 377.

Martignare, Col de 466.

Martigny 325.

Martigues 502.

Martin, Cap 593.

Martinet, Le 484.

Martinod 370.

Martouiet 497.

Martrea-de-Riviere 131.

— de-Veyre, Les 218.
— Tolosane 131.

Marvejols 283.

Marv, Pointe Basse de
443.

--, Puy 280.

Mas-Cabardes 103.

Baedeker's Southern France. 6th Edit.

Mas-d'Azil, Le 131.
— de-la-Grave, Pic du

465.
- de-Ponge 485.
- des-Gardios 485.
- Saintes-Puelli's 100.

Massat 177.

Matha 14.

Maubec 519.

Mauberme, Pic de 177.

Maubert, Le 293.

Maudit, Pic 176.

Mauleou 121.

Maumusson, Pertuis de
30.

Maupas, Tuc de 172.

Maupuy. Signal de 260.

Maure, Cret du 375.

Maures, Montasnes des
553.

Maurettes, the 552.

Mauriac 259.

Maurienne, the 362.

Maurs 282.

Maussanne 517.

Mauvais Pas, the 346.

Mauzens 85.

Mauzun, Chateau de
269.

Muye, Tete de la 454.

Mayregne 170.

Mavres (Ai-deche) 482.
— (Puy-de-Dome) 221.

Mazamet 110.

Mazargues 534.

Mazeres-sur-Salat 176.

Mazes-le-Cres, Les 298.

Mazet 266.

Mazieres,Chateau de 39.

— St-Romans 20.

Meailles 580.

Mdan-Martin, Aig. de
403.

— , Pointe de 405.

Meaudre 424.

Mede, La 502.

Medille. Alpe de la 471.

Medoc. the 57.

Medous 163.

Megeve 378.

Megevette 331.

Meidassa, the 472.

Meije, the 455^
, Breche de la 457.

— , Glacier de la 463.

Meillant 258.

Meillerie 338.

Mejannes-Mons 485.

Mejean. Causse 294.

Melle 20.

Menat 257.

41
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Mende 284.

— , Causse de 281.

Menet 259.

Menigoute 18.

Mennetou-sur-Cher 36.

Mens 440.

Menthon-St-Bernaid
374.

Mentone 589.

Meolans 442.

Meounes 537.

Mercues 72.

Mercure, Mont 35.

Mer de Glace 346.

Merdogne, Chateau de
278.

Merens 182.

Merial 186.

Merindol 519.

Meschers 60.

Mescla, La 578.

Meursault 201.

Meximieux 256.

Mev, Aig. de 395.

Meva, Pic 146.

Meymac 270.

Meyrargues 521.

Mevronnes 44^1.

Meyrueis 294.

Meys 255.

Meze 107.

Mezel 580.

Mezenc, the 278.

Mezeriat 203.

Mezieres-en-Brenne 11.

Mezilhac 478.

Mezin 73.

Mezzana 610.

Mezzavia 604.

Miage, Col de 353.
— . Dome de 353.

Mialet 258.

Michel-Mont-Mercure
35.

Midi, Aig. du 345.

— , Canal du 79.

— . Col du 346.

— , Dent du 338.
— d'ArrenSjPicdu 138.

— de Bigorre, Pic du
158.

— d'Ossau. Pic du 139.

:Midon 266.

Miecaze 90.

Mieussv 331.

Miex 338.

Migliacciaro 616.

Miglos, Chateau de 180.

Mignaloux-Xouaille 10.

Millas 190.

Millau 284.

Millieres, Col de 191.

Milly 206.

Mimizan-les-Bains 63.

Mine, Pic de la 173.

Minerve 106.

Miniera, La 583.

Miolans, Chateau de
361.

Miouze-Rochefort. La
270.

Mir, Tour de 198.

Mirabal, Chateau de
178.

Mirabeau 520.

— , Salon de 235.

Miram as 502.

Mirambeau 23.

Miramont 72.

Mirande 88.

Mirantin, the 381.

Mirebeau 33.

Miremont, G-rotto of 85.

Mirepoix 179.

Miribel 256.

Mison 472.

Mitg-Aran 172.

Mizoen 438.

Modane 363.

Moeze 30.

Moine. Aig. du 346.

Moines, Col des 134.

Moingt 267.

Moirans 408.

Moissac 74.

Molaretto 402.

Mole, the 317.

Molines 290.
— en-Q,uevras 470.

Molitg. Baths of 190.

Mollans 500.

Mollieres 582.

Molompize 278.

Monaco 584.

Monastier, Le (Hte-

Loire) 278.

— , Le (Lozere) 284.

Moncontom- 33.

Moncoutant 34.

Mondarrais, Pic 70.

Mondragon 498.

Monedieres, the 271.

Monein 125.

Monestier-de-Cler-
mont, Le 440.

Monesties 114.

Monetier, Dome du
468.
— les-Bains, Le 439.

Monistrol-d'Allier 296.
— sur-Loire 273.

Monna, Le 294.

Monne, the (Arreau)
1&4.

— . the (Bagneres) 163.
— , the (Cauterets) 145.

Monnetier 316.

Monnier, the 579.

Monpazier 86.

Monpont 46.

Monsegu. Pic de 170.

MoBsempron-Libos 86.

Mons-la-Trivalle 110.

Mont, Col du 386.

Monta, La (Htes-
Alpes) 471.

— , La (Isere) 419.

Montagnolle, Col de 468.

Montaigu 24.

— , Pic de 163.

Montaigut-le-Blanc219.
Montailleur 380.

Montalba 196.

Montalet, Chateau de
484.

Montalieu 314.

Montalivet-les-Bains
57.

Montanvert. the 344.

Montaren 484.

Montarque, Tuc de 170.

Montauban (Hte-Gar.)
168.

— (Tarn-et-Gar.) 75.

Montaudou, Puy de 227.

Montaut-Betharram
126.

Mont-Baron 374.

Montbazin 112.

Montbazon 38.

Mont Blanc 350.

du Tacul 351.

Montbolo 196.

Montbonnot-St-Martin
432.

Montboron 575.

Montbrison 267.

— , Pic de 459.

Montbrun (Ardeche)
481.
— (Lozere) 290.

Montcalm, the 181.

Mont-Cenis, Hospice du
402.

Tunnel 363.

Montchaboud, Signal de
418.

Montcuq 93.

Montdardier 286.

Mont-Dauphin- Guil-
lestre 445.

— de-Lans 438.
— — , Glacier du 452.
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Mont-de-Marsan 63.
— Dolent, Col du 328.
— Dore, Le 233.

Monte Carlo 586.

Monteils 97.

Mont^limar 498.

Monteudre 23.

Montespan, Chateau de
131.

Montesquieu-Volvestre
131.

Montets, Col des 327.

Monteux 512.

Monteynard 426.

Montfaucon 266.

Montfavet 511.

Montferrand (Cxir.) 58.

— (Puy-de-D6me) 225.

Montferrat, the 148.

Montferrer 197.

Mont-Frety, Pavilion
de 357.

Montgaren 434.

Mont-Grenfevre 446.

Monthey 338.

Monti 594.

Montierchaume 37.

Montils 22.

Mont-Iseran, Signal du
391.

Montjoie, Vallee de
320.

Mont-Joly, Pavilion de
320.

— Louis 193.

Montlugon 257.

Montluel 256.

Montmajour 516.

Montmarault 207.

Montmaur 441.

Montmelian 361.

Montmin 376.

Montmirail 500.

Montmirat, Col de 288.

Montmorillon 11.

'Montne, the 170.

Monton, Puy de 218.

Montoncel, Puy de 268.

Montou, the 255.

Montpellier 298.
— le- Vieux 293.

Mont-Perdu, Col du 155.

Montpeyroux 218.

Montpezat 483.
— , Chateau de 131.
— de-Quercy 93.

Mont-Pourri, the 384.

Montrachet 201.

Montr^jeau 131.

Montr^sor 38.

Montreuil-Bellay 17.

Montrichard 36.

Montricoux 97.

Montrieux-le-Jeune537.
Montriond, Lac de 335.

Montroc-le-Planet 327.

Montrodeix, Chateau de
228.

Mortrond 209.

— , the 394.

Montrottier,Chateau de
371.

Montsalvy 282.

Montsegur, Chateau de
180.

MontsMaudits, the 175.

Mont-Tondu, Col du
353.

Montusson-Beychac 55.

Montvalent 94.

Montvalier, Pic du 177.

Morcenx 63.

Morestel 256.

Morette 379.

Merges, Aig. des 429.

Morgins 336.

Morion, the 394.

Morlaas 125.

Mornant 255.

Mornas 498.

Mornex 316.

Morosaglia 611.

Morsiglia 615.

Mortagne-sur-Gironde
22.

Morthemer, Chateau de
11.

Mortola, La 593.

Morzine 335.

Mosquera, La 183.

Mostuejouls 292.

Mothe-St-Heraye. La
10.

Motivon 320.

Motte-d'Aveillans, La
426.

— Feuilly, Chateau de
la 38.

— les-Bains, La 426.

Mottets, Les 355.

Mouans-Sartoux 561.

Mouchard 324.

Moucherotte, the 417.

Mougins 561.

Mouillette, La 335.

Mouillieres, Las 175.

Moulinet, Le 583.

Moulin-Neuf 100.

Moulins 204.

Moulis 177.

Moulleau, Le 62.

Mourfeze 112.

Mousquette 114.

Mou8sais-la-Bataille 4.

Moussy 316.

Moustd, Pic de 133.

Moustey 63.

Moustiers-Ste-Mari e

520.

Mouthiers-sur-Boeme
16.

Moutiers 382.
— les-Maufaits, Les 36.

Mouton-Rothschild 57.

Moux 103.

Moyse, Tete de 444.

Mozac 217.

Muande, Col de la 454.

Mulatiere, La 260.

Mulinet, the 405.

Munia, Pic de la 152.

Murat (Allier) 205.
— (Cantal) 278.
— sur-Vebre 109.

Murcens 96.

Mure, La (B.-Alpes)
580.

— , La (Isere) 426.

Muret 131.

Murols 237.

Murviel-les-Montpel-
lier 304.

Mussidan 46.

Mussillon 393.

Mussy-sous-Dun 207.

Muy, Le 538.

Muzelle, Col de la 450.

— , Roche de la 453.

Najac 97.

Nancroit 385.

Nant 285.
— Borrant, Chalets de

354.

Nantilly 17.

Nantua 314.

Naouas 63.

Napoule, La 542.

Narbonne 104.

Nasbinals 283.

Navacelles 286.

Navarosse 61.

Navarrenx 121.

Naves 376.

N"ay 126.

Nubias 180.

N^grepelisse 97.

Neige-Cordier, Pic de
461.

Neouvielle, Pic de 159.

N^rac 73.

N^r^, Pic de 151.

N^ris-les-Bains 257.

41*



636 INDEX.

Neroji. the 415.

Nestalas 141.

Xethou. Dome du 175.

— . Pic de 175.

Xets, Pic de 145.

Xeulous, the 189.

Xeussargues 278.

Xeuvic (Correze) 270.
— (Dordogne) 46.

Xeuville 10.

— sux-Saone 203.

Xevache 447.

Xevers 204.

Xexon 43.

Xeyrac 483.

Xiaux 180.

Nice 563.

Hotels:
Albion 563 cf.
Alexandra 563 c.

Alhambra 565 6.

Angleterre 563 a.

Astoria 564a.
Austria 563 a.

Avenue 564 c.

Bade & O'Connor
564a.

Balmoral Palace
564a.

Beau-Eivage 564 1>.

Belgravia 564 o.

Belvedere 565(7.

Berne 564 c.

Bonflls & St-Louis
564 c.

Bristol 563 c.

Bruxelles 564 c.

Carabacel 563 c.

Carlton 565 b.

Cecil 564 c.

Chateau des Beau-
mettes 564 a.

Cimiez 565 6.

Concordia 564 a.

Continental 564 a.

Cotta 564 «.

Cours & du Palais
5646.

Eden 565 6.

Edward's Palace
564a.

Empereurs 563 c.

English 565 6.

Etrangers 564 6.

Europe 564 a.

Excelsior H. Regina
565 6.

Xice:
Hutels

:

Francais 565 a.

France 563 a.

Frank 564 c.

Gallia & Monopole
564 a.

Cxauibetta 565a.
Crlobe & des Voya-
geurs 564 c.

Gounod 564 a.

Grand 563 6.

Grande-Bretagne
563 a.

Grand Palais 565 6.

Grimaldi 563 6.

Hermitage 565 6.

Iles-Britanniques
563 d.

Imperial 565 6.

luterlaken & de Pro-
vence 564 c.

International 564o.
Lamartine 5G3c.
Langham 563 c.

Lisbonne 563 d.

Louvre 563 rf.

Luxembourg 563 a.

Majestic Palace 565 6.

Massena 564a.
Mediterranee 563 a.

Metropole 563 d.

Midi 564 c.

Moutboron Palace
565 6.

Mont-Fleuri 564 a.

National 565 a.

Nations 564 c.

Negresco 563 a.

New York 563 c.

Nice 563 c.

— Palace 564 a.

Noailles 564 c.

Xouvel 563 d.

Grangers 564a.
Ostend 564 a.

Paix 563 6. •

Palace 564a.
Palais-Royal&Frank-

furterhof 563 c.

Palmiers 564 a.

Pare 565 6.

— . Xouvel-H. du
564 a.

Paris 563 c.

PaviUon 563 c.

Princes & Bellevue
564 6.

Nice

:

Hotels

:

Queen's 563 d.

Rhin 563 d.

Richmond & de
Russie 564 c.

Righi-Palace 565 6.

Riviera Palace 565 6.

Rivoir 563 a.

I

Rivoli & des Nego-

I

ciants 564 a.

I Rolland 564a.

I

Royal 563 a.

I

Ruhl & des Anglais
!

563 a.

!
St-Antoine 565 6.

;
St. Ermin's 564c.

;

St-Georges 564 a.

St-Gothard & Beau-
Sejour 564c.

St-Petersbourg 563 o.

I

Scribe 564 a.

I
Splendid 564 a.

I

Stanislas & Britannia

I

563 d.

1
Stella 564a.
Suede & Cosmopoli-

tain 563 c.

Suisse 564 6.

SunH. Luchon Palace
564 a.

Tarelli 564 a.

Tennis 564 a.

Terminus 564 c.

Tzarewitch 565 6.

LTnivers 565 a.

Yenise 565 a.

Vial & Mirabeau
565 a.

Victoria 563 d.

West-End 563 a.

Westminster 563 a.

Williams' 564a.
Winter Palace 565 6.

Nice, Refuge 581.

Nicole 72.

Nimes 485.
— le-Vieux 295.

Nions, Poiute de 335.

Niort 18.

— , Defile de 186.

Niversac 272.

;
Xivolet, Dent du .361.

I

Xizan, Le 71.

Noailles 91.

Nogaro 73.

I
Nohant-Vic 38.

t The italicized letters refer to the paragrs
to be found.

in which the hotel is
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Noir, Causse 293.

Noire, Aig. 447.

— , Col de la 470.

— , Montagne 103.

Noiretable 268.

Noirlac 258.

Noirmoutier, He de 31.

Noirtene 34.

Xontron 15.

Nonza 615.

Nore, Pic de 103.

Notre-Dame-de-Brian-
§on .382.

de-Commiers 426.
— de- la-Garde 549.
- de-Laghet 589.

de-la-Salette 428.

de-Marceille 184.

de-Natzy 233.

des-Anges 537.

de-Vaulx 426.

du-Laus 442.

Nouvelle, La 187.

Novaz, La 394.

Novel 338.

Noves 511.

Noyant-d'Allier 205.

Nozieres (Gard) 485.
— (Lozere) 288.

Nuces 113.

Nuria, Hermitage of

193.

Nyers 192.

Nyons 498.

Obiou, Grande-Tete de
1' 428.

Obscur, Vallon 573.

Oche, Dent d' 338.

Odeillo 193.

(Eillon, Cret de 1' 265.
Oex 318.

Oin, Cime d' 391.

Oiron 33.

Oisans, the 437.

.Oiseaux, Mont des 552.

Olan, Aig. 453.

-, Pic d' 429.

Olargues lio.

Ol^ron, He d' 30.

Oletta 614.

Olette 192.

Ollieres, Les 266.

Olliergues 221.

Ollioules 549.

Olmeta di Tuda r,lJ.

Olmeto 608.

Olonne 35.

Oloron-Ste-Marie 1:52.

Omessa 611.

Ominanda, Col d' (506.

Oncet, Lac d' 158.

Onglous, Les 108.

06 169.

— , Lac and Port d' 169.

— , Portillon d' 169.

Or. Mont d' 254.

Orange 499.

Orcieres 430.

Orcival 270.

Ordanche,Banne d' 232.

Ordesa 155.

Orezza 615.

Orgon 519.

Orgneil 72.

Orhv, Pic d' 121.

Oriol 440.

Ormea, Roc d' 594.

Ormeluue, Mont 386.

Ornon, Col d' 427.

Orny, Col d' 328.

Oro,' Monte d' 610.

Orredon, Lac d' 159.

Orsieres 328.

Orthez 121.

Ossau, Vallee d' 135.

Osse 133.

Osseja 194.

Osses 70.

Ossoue, Glacier d' 148.

— , Refuge d' 147.

Ossun 129.

Ouchy 324.

Oueil, Vallee d' 170.

Ougiers. Les 450.

Ouillarisse 133.

Ouilledu Midi, the 406.
- Noire, the 405.

Oullins 260.

Ouillon, Pointe de 1'

362.

Oulettes, Bassin, Cas-
cade, and Pas des 147.

Oullins 260.

Oulx 447.

Ourdiuse, Cirque d' 133.

Ours, Chateau de 1' 258.

. Tete de 1' 453.

, Tute de 1' 182.

Oursiere, Cascade de 1'

418.

Oust 178.

Oz 448.

Pacaiiaglia, Mont 575.

Packe, Refuge 159.

Padirac, Goutfre de 95.

Paglia Orba, the 606.

Pain-de-Sucre, the 470.

Paiolive, Bois de J84.

Paladru, Lac de 407.

Palalda 196.

Palas, Pic 139.

Palau-del-Vidre 189.

Palav as 304.

Pale. Col de la 198.

Palesieux 358.

Palet, Col du 388.

Palladuc 269.

Pallet, Le 24.

Pallice, La 28.

Palluau-sur-Indre 38.

Palme, He de la 203.

Palud, La 520.

Pambassibe, Col dul37.
Pamiers 179.

Panchot 112.

Panissieres 209.

Panticosa 140.

Paoul, Col de 176.

Paradou 517.

Parata, Tour de la 602.

Paray-le-Monial 206.

Parayrie-Beaudecamy,
La 109.

Parcoul-Medillac 16.

Pardigon 554.

Pareis, Roc de 406.

Parempuyre 57.

Parieres, Pics de 429.

Pariou, Puy de 229.

Parma. Col de 605.

Parmelan, the 376.

Parnac 72.

Parpaillon, Col du 445.
Parrachee, Dent 364.

Part, La 466.

Parthenay 18.

Partinello 605.

Pasajes 119.

Pas-de-Jeu 33.
— de Roland 70.

— des-Lanciers 502.

Passable 544.

Passage, Pic du 172.

Passy 318.

Pan 121.

Pauillac 57.

Paulhac,Chateau de 219,

Paulhan 112.

Pauline. La 536.

Paulois, Chateau de 31.

Paute, La 427.
— Ornon, La 437.

Pav6, the 4.55^

-, Col du 4.57.

Pavin, Lac 238.

Fayolle 164.

Peagc-de-Roussillon

,

Le 495.

Peclet, Aig. de 398.

Peeorile 615.

Pedroux, Pics 182.
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Pegomas 560.

P^gu^re, Pic 146.

Peille 582.

Peillon 582.

Peira Cava 583.

Peisey 384.

Pelaou-Blanc, the 405.

Pellafol 428.

Pellevoisin 11.

Pelouse, Pointe 332.
— . Tete 380.

P^lussin 265.

Pelvas, Tete de 471.

Pelvous the 480.
— Group, the 447.

Pelvoz, Mont 396.

Pena Blanca 173.
— Collarada 134.

Peue-Blauque. Pic de
160.

Penemedaa, the 137.

Pene-Nere, the 145.

Penne (Lot-et-Gar.) 86.
— (Tarn) 97.

Peone 579.

Perc^e, Pointe 317.

Perche. Col de la 193.

Perdigat, Chateau de 86.

Perdighero. Pic 170.

Perdrix, Cret de la 265.

Perdu, Mont 155.

Perier, Le 427.

Perigueux 43.

Perjuret. Col de 295.

Pernes 500.

Perpignan 187.

Perrier 219.

Pers. Aig. 405.

Perthus, Col du 195.

Pertuis 520.

Pertuiset, Le 272.

Pessac 60.

Peteret. Aig. de 355.

Petit-Bornand, Le 379.
— Charnier, the 435.
— Clausis. the 443.

Petites-Roches.Plateau
des 432.

Petit-Ferrand, the 441.
— Mont-Blanc, the 395.

Viso, the 472.
— Palais-et-Cornemps

46.
— Parpaillon. Tete du

443.
— St-Bernard, Col du

358.

Potit8-Goulets,the425.
Petit-Suchet, Puy du

229.

Petreto-Bicchisano 608.

Peyralade. Lac de 164.

Peyraud 266.

Peyre. La 163.

Peyreget, Pic de 139.

Peyrehorade 121.

Peyreleau 292.

Peyresq 580.

Peyrou-d'Amont, the
465.

— d'Aval, the 465.

Peyroux, Mont 215.

Peyruis-les-Mees 520.

Peyrus 497.

Pdzenas 107.

Pezou, Le 559.

Pia 189.

Piagu, the 582.

Piana 605.

Plan del Ee 472.
— Melze 472.

Piano della Mussa 404.

Pianottoli 608.

Pibrac 85.

Picade, Port de la 174.

Pieheru, Pointe de 390.

Pichettes. the 463.

Piedicroced'Orezza615.
Pierre-a-Beranger, the

345.
— a-1'Echelle 350.
— Butliere 89.

— Chattel 426.

Pierrefitte-Nestalas
141.

Pierre-Joseph, Col de
346.

Pierrelatte 498.

Pierre-Lvs, Defile of

185.
— Menta, the 384.
— Pointue, Pavilion de

349.
— sur-Haute, the 221.

Pietrapola 616.

Pignans 537.

Pilat. Mont 265.

Pilon du Roi. the 534.

Pimene, the 156.

Pinea. the 423.

Pinede. Pic de 154.

— , Vallee de 152.

Pino 615.

Pinsaguel 179.

Pinsot 4.34.

Pinzalone 616.

Piolenc 498.

Pioule-les-Eaux 537.

Pique. Pic de la 173.
— Longue, the 148.

Pisciatella 607.

Pise, La 298.

Placette, Col de la 421.

Plage, La 552.

Plagnettes, Pont des
335.

Plampinet 447.

Plan. Le 386.

—, Aig. du 345.

Planais, Le 401.

Planav. Le 389.

Plan-de-Baix 497.
— de-la-Tour, Le 554.
— d'Orgon 511.

Planes 192.

Planfoy 264.

Planpraz 347.

Plaret, the 454.

Plassac (Charente) 16.

— (Char.-Inf.) 23.

Plassas, Rocher de 395.

Plat-de-la-Selle, Aig.
du 453.

Plombieres-St-Marcel
384.

Poet, Le 459.

Poggio-Riventosa 610.

Poil-Majastre 580.

Pointe-de-Contes 582.

— de-Grave 58.

Poitiers 5.

Poleyraieux 255.

Polignac 277.

Polminhac 281.

Polset 400.

— , Aig. de 398.

Poniarav 419.

Pomas 184.

Pomme. La 535.

Pompadour 89.

Pons 22.

Ponsonniere. Col de la

468.

Pontacq 125.

Pontarlier 824.

Pont-Charles- Albert
578.

Pontcharra-sur-Breda
432.

Pont-d' Avignon 480.
— de-Beauvoisin. Le

407.
— de-Bens, Le 4,34.

— de-Beon 135.
— de-Chabestan 472.
— de-Cheruv-Tignieu

256.
— de-Claix 439.
— de-Clans 578.
— de-Demay 420.
— de-Dore 220.
— de-Guevdan 579,
— de-la-Taule 178,
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Pont-de-l'Enceiute 273.
— de-Lignon 273.
— de-Moutvert, Le297.
— de-Peille 582.
— de-Quart 497.
— des-Etroits 379.
— de-Soleils 538.
— d'H^rault 491.
— du-Casse 86.

— du-Chateau 269.
— dii-Gard 480.
— du-Loup 577.
— du-Eisse 331.

Ponte Leceia 611.

Pout-en-Royans 425.

Ponte Xuovo 611.

Pontet, Le 501.

Pontgibaud 269.

Pont-Haut 427.
— les-Bains 112.

Pontmoit 217.

Pont-Rousseau 31.

— St-Esprit 479.

Ponts-de-Ce, Les 33.

Pont-Serrand 358.

Porcherie, La 89.

Porquerolles, He de 553.

Port, Le 177.

Porta 183.

Portalet, Fort du 133.

Port-Bou 190.
— Cros 553.
— de-Bouc 502.
— de-Piles 3.

— d'06. Pic du 169.

Porte, Col de 423.

Porte 183.

Portes, Les 29.

Portet, Col de 177.
-- St-Simou 131.

Portetta, Dent 396.

Portettaz, Col de la 321.

Portillon, the 173.

--, Lac du 169.

Port-Joinville 32.

Porto 605.
— Vecchio 616.

Port-Ste-Marie 73.

— Vendres 190.

Posets, Pic 176.

Poueytrenous, Vallon
de 148.

Pougnadoires 291.

Pougny 322.

Pouilly-sous-Charlieu
207.

Poujastou, the 172.

Poule 207.

Poumero, the 175.

Pournel, Le 95.

Pourrieres 525.

Pourtalet, Col du 140.

Poussan 107.

Pouzac 160.

Pouzauges 34.

Pouzin, Le 478.

Pozzo-di-Borgo, Pointe
de 603.

Pra, Chalet-Hotel de la

419.

Pradastie 579.

Pradel, Col del 186.

Pradelles 277.
— Cabardes 103.

Prades (Ardeche) 483.
— (Aude) 180.

- (Lozere) 290.
— (Pyr.-Or.) 190.
— St-Julien 296.

Pragneres 152.

Pragon, Col 198.

Pralaire, the 330.

Pralognan-la-Vanoise
394.

Pralong 317.

Prarion, Pavilion du
320.

Pratlong, Refuge de
172.

Prato, Col de 611.

Prats-de-Mollo 197.

Praz, La 363.
— de-Chamonis, Les

328.
— de-Lys, Les 331.

Prazzo 444.

Prechacq 63.

Pregentil, Signal de 449.

Preignac 71.

Pre-Japert 370.

Premol, Chartreuse de
418.

Prends-t'y-Garde 235.

Pres, Les 452.

Pre-St-Didier 358.

Pr^s-les-Fonds, Pic des

468.

Pressins 407.

Preste-les-Bains, La
198.

Preuilly-sur-Claise 3.

Privas 478.

Proiuoutoire, Refuge du
454.

Propiac 500.

Propriano 608.

Prorel, the 446.

Proveysieux 419.

Prune-au-Pot, Chateau
de la 39.

Prunete 616.

Prunget 39.

Pniniferes 442.

Puget-Theniers 579.
— Ville 537.

Pugny 369.

Puigmal, the 194.

Puilaurens, Chateau de
186.

Puivert 180.

Puligny 201.

Punta, Chateau de la

603.

Pusignan 256.

Puy, Le 273.

Puybrun 90.

Puycerda 194.

Puy de Dome, the 22S.

, Petit 229.
— d'Issolud 94.

— Freyssinet 469.
— Gris, the 435.

Puyguilhem, Chateau
de 46.

Puy-Guillaume 216.

Puyniorens, Col de 183.

Puy-Notre-Dame, Le
33.

Puyoo 121.

Puv-St-Pierre 446.
— St-Vincent 459.

Puyvalador 185.

Puzzichello 616.

Pyramide, Col de la 462.
— Inaccessible 434.

Pyrenees, the 115.

Pyrenees, Route des 70,

168, 193.

Pyrimont 315.

Quairat, Pic 170.

Quartier, Le 579.

Quatre-Cheniins, Col
des 575.

• de-l'Oie, Les 24.
- Routes (Lot) 94.

(Puy-de-Dome)
228.

— Seigneurs, Mon-
tague des 418.

Quejeda de Pundillos
147.

Querigut 185.

Qu^roy-Pranzac, Le 15.

Queureilh, Le 235.

Queyrac 57.

Queyras, the 469.

Quezac 289.

Quillan 185.

Quince 33.

Quincieux 203.

Quinsac-Villara 46.
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Quintino Sella, Rifugio
472.

Quissac 491.

Babastens 100.
— de-Bigorre 88.

Rabiet, Col de 159.

Rabieiix 112.

Rabuons, Grand Cimon
de 578.

Raehais. Mont 415.

Rambert-Preignan 87.

Ramond. Souui de 155.

Rancie, Montasrne de
180.

Randan, Chateau de 215.

Randanne 231.

Raphele 502.

Rateau, the 4.54.

— d'Aussois, the 364.

Ratonneau. He 534.

Raiicoules-Brosssttes
266.

Ravignhouse, La 408.

Razac-sur-I'Isle 46.

Re, He de 29.

Realmont 114.

Rebentv. Yallev of the
186.

'

Reehasse, Pointe de la

396.

Reclavier 521.

Recoin, Chalet du 418.
j

Redoute. the 196.
,

Regny 208.

Reignier 316.

Reillaune 519. I

Remollon 442.

Remoulins 480.

Renardiere, La 209.

Rencluse, Chalet de la

175.

Rennes-les-Bains 184.

Renod, Pointe 3tU.

Renoso, Monte 607.

Rentieres 219.

Reole, La 72.

Replat. Tetes du 454.

Republique, Aig. de la

345.

Requiu, Dent du 345.

Ressachau, Pointe de
335.

Restaud, Cime de 594.

Restoniea. Vallev of

the 611.

Ketournac 273.

Reuillv 37.

Kevard, tlie 369.
Revel (B.-Alpes) 412.
— (Hte-Gar.) 100.

Revest. Le 578.

Rev. Cret du 384.

—,'La 386.

Reyvroz 334.

Rheme-Notre-Dame
388.

Rhone, Perte du 315.

Rhune, La 118,

Ria 190.

Ribas 194.

Ribaute-les-Lieuian
287.

Riberac 15.

Ribereta Hut 175.

Ricamarie, La 272.

Richelieu 32.

Rieux 131.

Riez 520.

—, Pic de 181.

Rif, Pic du 461.

Rigale, Tour de la !

15.
I

Rigat, Col 193.
|

Rigaud-le-Cians 579. |

Rigolet-Bas 235.

Rillieux 255.

Rimont 177.

Riols 110.

Riom 217.
— es-Montagne 259.

Rions 55.

Riotord 265.

Riou. Col de 145.

Rioumajou. Hospice de
130,

Riouperoux 436,

Rioutort, Col de 133.

Ripaille, Chateau de
334.

Ripoll 194.

Ris 216.

Riscle 63.

Ristolas 471.

Rivarennes 32.

Rive-de-Gier 261.

Riverie 256.

Rives 408.

Rivesaltes 187.

Rivier-d'Aliemont, Le
437.

Riviere 292.
— de-Mansac, La 272.

Rivoire, La 437.

, Yiaduc de la 426.

Roanne 208.

Robiac 484.

Robion (Htes-Alpes)
447.
— (Vaucluse) 519.

Rocamadour 94.

Roceapina 608.

Rochebaron, Chateau
de 272.

Rocheblave, Chateau
de 290.

Rochebonne, Chateau
de 266.

Rochebrune, Pic de 44*;.

Rochechouart 15.

Roche-de-Glun. La 49.").

— de-Rame. La 445.
— dos-Arnauds. La 441.
— Faurio 462.

Rochefort 29.— Montague 270.

Rochefoucauld. La 15.

Roche-Lambert, Cha-
teau de la 277.

Rochelle, La 25.

Rochemaure 479.

Roche-Meane, the 464.
— Melon, the 403.
— Posay. La 4.

— Pourrie, the 381.

Rocher-Blanc des Sept-
Laux, the 434.

RocheroUe. Chateau de
39.

^, Yiaduc de 39.

Rocbes-de-Condrieu,
Les 494.

Roche-sur-Foron, La
317.

— sur-Yon, La 24.
— Taillante, the 471.

Rochetaillee 264.
— AUemont 4.%.

Rochette, La 433.

Rodez 113.

Rogliano 615.

Rognac 502.

Rognon, Mont 230.

Roia, Yalley of the 54G.

Roignais, the 384.

Roland, Breche de 155.

Romagnat 230.

Romans 411.

Ronce. Pointe de 4(i2.

— les-Bains 23.

Roncevaux 71.

Ronde, the 357.

Roquebilliere 581.

Roque-Bouillac, Cha-
teau de la 112.

Roquebrune 575.

Roquefavour 502.

Roquelixade, Chateau
de 180.

Roquefort (Aveyion)
285.

- (Landes) 72.

— , Chateau de 131.
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Roquejalaiie 196.

Roqueuiaure 479.

Roque-Ste-Marguerite,
La 293.

Roques-Altes, the 2V)3.

RoquL'steion-Pu!?et 578.

Roquetaillade, Cha-
teau de 71.

Roquette-du-Var, La
573.

Rosairy, Refuge du 376.

Roselend .381.

Rosieres 273.

Rossa, Col de la 404.

Rosses, Pointe des 326.

Rossillon 314.

Rotoudo, Monte 611.

Roubaud 553.

Rouffiac 288.

Rougeae 220.

Rouget, Le 282.

— , Tete du 454.

Rouies, Les 456.
- Col des 458.

Rouillac 12.

Rouraazieres-Loubeit
15.

Roumigas, Val 140.

Rousse, Aig. 391.

Roussillon 578.

Roux, Grraiid-Pic du
Cap 542.

Rovan 58.

Royat 226.

Rozier, Le 292.

Ruan, Mont 332.

Ruchere 422.

Ruelle 15.

Rutfec 12.

Ruines 283.

Rumilly 371.

Ruoms 483.
Rasque, Pie de la 138.

Russell, Pic 176.

Rutor, Tete du 358.

Sabarat 131.

Sabinanigo 1.34.

Sablanceaux 29.

Sables-d'Olonne, Les
35.

Sablettes, Les 549.

Sablon, Le 261.

Sabres 63.

Saccourvielle 171.

.Sacrous, Pic 174.

Sageroux, Col de 339.

Sagone 604.

Saignes-Ydes 259.

Sailhaut, Chateau (!<>

260.

Saillagouse 191.

Saillan 219.

Saillans 497.

Saillant, Le 89.
—

, Pic 172.

Saillat 15.

Sailieus, Pont de 182.

Saillere-les-Bains 497.

Sail-les-Bains 208.
— sous-Couzan 267.

Saiu-Bel 255.

Saiucaize 204.

St-Atfrique 285.

St-Agnant 30.

St-Agreve 266.

St-Aignan 36.

St-Aignv 11.

8t-Albau 208.

St-x?Llvre-es-Montagne
219."

St-Amand, Cote 215.

St-Amandin 259.

St-Aiuand-Mont-Rond
258.
-- Tallende 230.

St-Auians-Soult 110.

St-Amant-de-Boise 12.

St-Ambroix 484.

St-Amour 312.

St-Andre (Alpes-Mar.)
572.

(Hte-Sav.) 371.

de-Cubzac 23.

des-Alpes 480.

le-Graz 406.

St-Angeau 12.

St-Antoine (Alpes-
Mar.) 574.

(B.-du-Rh.) .525.

(Htes-Alpes) 460.
— — (Isere) 414.

- — de-Gralamus, De-
file de 186.

St-Autonin 97.

St-Astiei- 46.

St-Auban (Alpes-Mar.)
562.

(B.-Alpes) 473.

St-Aubin-de-Beaubign^
10.

St-Aventin 168.

St-Avre-la-Chambre
362.

St-Aygulf 554.
St-Bartheleiny 573.

, Pic de 182.

de-Sechilienne
4.36.

St-Beat 172.

St-Benoit (Basscs-
Alpes) 580.

St-Benoit (Vienne) 11.

St-Bernard 432.

, Little 3.58.

St-Beron 407.

St-Bertrand-de-Com-
minges 165.

St-Blaise 573.
St-Bon 393.

St-Bonuet (Htes-
Alpes) 430.

(Puy-de-L6me)
218.

de-Rochefort 256.

en-Bresse 312.

le-Chateau 266.

Trougay 258.

St-Cassiu-la-Cascade
407.

St-Cerd 90.

St-Cergues 333.

St-Cernin 259.

St-Cesaire 298.

St-Cezaire 562.

St-Chaffrey 439.

St-Chamas 502.

St-Chamond 261.

St-Chelv-d'Apcher 283.

du-Tarn 291.

St-Chinian 108.

St-Christau 132.

St-Christoly 58.

St-Christophe-en-
Oisans 451.

St-Ciers-Lalaude 23.

sur-Grironde 23.

St-Cirq-la-Popie 96.

St-Clair (Lot) 91.

(Yar) 553.

St-Claud 12.

St-Claude 470.

St-Clemcnt 445.

St-Colomban-des-Yil-
lards 437.

St-Cyr-au-Mont-d'Or
255.

la-Cadiere 536.

St-Dalmas-de-Tende
583.

St-Denis 31.
• Catus 91.
- de-Pile 16.

les-Martel 94.

St-Desert 202.

St-Didier-la-f?^auve
265.

St-Disdier 428.

St-Donat (Alpes-Mar.)
543.

(Drome) 495.

Ste-Agn6s 594.

Ste-Anastasic 259.
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Sainte-Baume 535.

Ste-Catherine-de-Fier-
bois 3.

sous-Riverie 255.

Ste-Ceeile-d' Andorge
297.

Ste-Colombe-les-
Vienne 477.

Ste-Enimie 290.

Ste-Eulalie 425.

de-Cernon 285.

Ste-Foy 255.

la-Grrande 56.
• I'Argentiere 255.

Tarentaise 386.

Ste-G-enevieve 282.

St-Egreve-St-Robert
408.

Ste-Helene-du-Lac 432.

Ste-Livrade 72.

St-Elix 131.

St-Eloy 257.

Ste-Lucie 187.

de-Porto-Vecchio
616.

Ste-Marguerite, He 560.

Ste-Marie 164.

, Chateau de 150.

Ste-Marthe 525.

Ste-Maure 3.

Ste-Maxime 554.

St-Emilion 55.

Ste-Pazanne 31.

Saintes 20.

— Maries, Les 518.

St-Estephe 57.

St-Etienne (Cantal) 259.

(Loire) 261.

d'Albagnan 110.
— — de-Baigorry 70.

de-Crossey 420.

de-Tinee 578.

du-Bois 312.

du-Valdonues
288.

en-Devoluy 428.

Ste-Victoire, Montagne
de 525.

St-Eynard 415.

St-Ferreol, Bassin de
100.

St-Firmin 429.

St-Florent 614.

sur-Cher 258.

St-Flour 282.

St-Fortunat 266.

St-Frezal 289.

St-Front 86.

St-G-almier 209.

St-Ciaudens 131.

St-Gaultier 11.

St-Gengoux-le-
National 202.

St-Genies-Montfaucon
479.

St-Geniez-d'Olt 284.

St-Genix 256.

St-Genou 38.

St-Georges-d'Aurac
220.

de-Commiers 439.
• de-Didonne 59.

d'Orques 304.

en-Couzan 267.

les-Bains 478.

St-Germain-au-Mont-
d'Or 203.

des-Fosses 207.

du-Plain 202.

les-Belles 89.
— — I'Espinasse 208.

St-Gervais (Herault)
111.

(Puy-de-Dome)
257.

les-Bains 319.

St-Gilles-du-Gard 518.

sur-Vie 32.

St-Gingolph 338.

St-Girons 177.
— — en-Marensin 63.

St-Guilhem-le-Desert
304.

St-Guillaume, Mont
444.

St-Heand 264.

St-Hilaire (Aude) 184.

(Correze) 271.

(Isere) 432.

de-Brens 256.

St-Nazaire 414.

St-Hippolyte 217.

du-Fort 491.

St-Honorat, He de 560.

St-Hugon, Chartreuse
de 434.

St-Illide 259.

St-Isniier 432.

St-Jacques, Mont 384.

des-Blats 280.

St-Jean-Cap-Ferrat 545.

dAngely 20.

d'Arves 363.

d'Aulph 335.

de-Belleville 383.

de-Bournay 494.

de-Losne 312.

de-Luz 117.

de-Maurienne 362.
• de-Monts 31.

de-Sixt 379.

de-Verges 179.

St-Jean-du-Bruel 295.
— — du-Gard 485.

en-Royans 414.

la-Riviere 581.

le-Centenier 481.

St-Jeannet 577.

St-Jean-Pied-de-Port
70.

Pla-de-Corts 195.

St-Jeoire 331.

St-Jodard 209.

St-Jorioz 377.

St-Jouin-de-Marnes 33.

St-Juery 99.

St-Julien (Gironde) 57.

(Hte-Gar.) 131.
— — Boutieres 266.

Chapteuil 277.

des-Chazes 296.

en-Beauchfene
441.

en-Genevois 315
en-Vercors 425.

les-Fumades 484.

St-Junien 15.

St-Jurson 580.

St-Justin 158.

St-Just-St-Marcel 479.

sur-Loire 209.

St-Lary (Ariege) 177.

(Htes-Pyr.) 180.

St-Laurent (Alpes-
Mar.) 575.

(Hte-Sav.) 371.

de-Cerdans 197.

de-la-Pree 29.

de-la-Salanque
189.

d'Olt 284.

du-Pont 420.

du-Yar 544.

les-Bains 296.

St-Julien 57.

St-Laurs 34.

St-Ldonard 42.

St-Lizier 176.

St-Louis-du-Rhone 518.

Ies-Eygalades503.
St-Loup-sur-Thouet 18.

St-Macaire 71.

St-Maime-Dauphin 519.

St-Maixent 10.

sur-Vie 32.

St-Mamet 173.

St-Mandrier 549.

St-Marcel (B.-du-Rh.)
535.

(Indre) 39.

(Saone) 202.

les-Valence 414.

St-Marcellin 414.
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St-Mariens-St-Yzan 23.

St-Martial 114.

St-Martiu 208.

Charvonnex 371.

d'Ardeche 483.

de-Belleville 383.

de-Bouillac 112.

— de-Canigou 191.
— — d'Entraunes 579.

de-R^ 29.

de-Valamas 266.

d'Uriage 418.

du-Var 578.
— — en-Vercors 425.
— — Lars 12.

Lys 186.

les-Eaux 519.

sur-la-Chambre
382.

Valmeroux 259.

Vesubie 581.

St-Martory 131.

St-Maurice (Alpes-
Mar.) 573.

(Htes-Alpes) 429.

(Switzeiiand)325.
— — en-Trieves 440.

les-Chateaunenf
206.

St-Maximin 525.

St-Medard-de-Guizi-
eres 46.

St-Menet 535.

St-Menoux 205.

St-Mesmin 34.

St-Michel, Pic 424.
• de-Cuxa 190.

de-Maiirienne
363.

en-1'Herm 25.

les-Portes 440.
sur-Charente 14.

St-Mitre 503.

St-Montant 479.

St-Mury-Monteyiuond
431.

St-Nazaire 432.

en-Eovans 414.

St-Nectaire 237.

St-Nicolas-de-Veroce
.352.

Mauvanne 553.

Sl-Nizier 416.

St-Palais 121.

St-Pal-St-Romain 265.

St-Pancrasse 432,
St-Papoul 100.

St-Pardoux-la-Rivi^re
18.

St-Paul-de-Fenouillet
186.

St-Paul-d'Oueil 170.

du-Var 543.

St-Paulien 277.

St-Paul-le-Jeune 484.

les-Dax 64.

St-Autoine 180.
— — sur-Ubaye 443.

Trois-Chateaux
498.

St-Pe 126.

St-Peire 544.

St-P^ray 478.

St-Pe-St-Simon 73.

St-Pierre-d' Albigny
361.

d'Almanarre 552.

d'Aurillac 72.

de Boeiif 477.

de-Chartreuse
422.

d'Entremont 407.

de-Rumilly 317.

des-Champs 103.

des-Corps 3.

des-Horts 552.

de-Venaco 610.

le-Moutier 204.

St-Pons-de-Thomieres
110.

les-Mures 554.

St-Porchaire 20.

St-Pour§ain -sur-Sioule
207.

St-Prejet-du-Taru 292.

St-Rambert 204.

d'Albon 495.

en-Bugey 314.

sur-Loire 209.

St-Raphael 540.

St-Remy (B.-du-Rh.)
501.

en-Rollat 216.

sur-Durolle 268.

St-Roman 574.

St-Romain, Puy 218.

le-Puy 267.

St-Saturnin 230.

St-Sauves 230.

St-Sauveur (Htes-Pyr.)
150.

(Pyr. -Orient.) 198.

(He d'Yeu) 32.

de-Montagut 266.

de-Peyre 283.

des-Pourcils 294.

sur-Tinee 578.

en-Rue 265.

St-Savin (Htes-Pyr.)
141.

(Indre) 11.

St-Savinien 31.

St-Saviol 11.

St-S^bastien 39.

St-Sernin (Ardfeche)481.
— (Ariege) 178.

St-Seurin-d'Uzet 60.

St-Sever 63.

St-Sorlin-d'Arves 363.

Milly 206.

St-Sulpice 100.

Lauriere 39.

St-Sylvestre 573.

St-Symphorien 71.
— — sur-Coise 255.

St-Thurin 268.

St-Trojan-les-Bains 30.

St-Tropez 554.

St-Uze 495.

St-Vallier 495.

de-Thiey 562.

St-Varent 18.

St-Vaury 260.

St-Veran (Avevron) 285.

(Htes-Aipes) 470.

St -Victor - la - Riviere
238.

— — Thizy 208.

St-Vidal, Chateau de
220.

St -Vincent - de - Reins
208.

de-Tyrosse 64.

St-Vivien 57.

St-Yorre 216.

St-Yrieix 89.

St-Zacharie 535.

Salanfe, Alpe de 325.

Salanques, Las 175.

Salardu 173.

Salario, Monte 602.

Salau 178.

Salces 187.

Salechan 165.

Saleix, Port de 178.

Salent, Cabane de 148.

Salernes 521.

Salers 259.

Sales, Pointe de 332.

Salette, La 428.

Saleve, the 316.

Saigas 295.

Salies-de-Bearn 121.
^ du-Salat 176.

Salindres 484.

Salins (Cantal) 259.
— (Savoy) 392.
— d'Hyeres 552.

Sallanches 318.

Salle, La 428.

Salient 140.

Salles-et-Pratvieil 168.
— la-Source 113.
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Sallieres. Tour 338.

Salon 519.

— , the 137.

Salsa, Mont 444.

Salvador-Guillemin.
Pic 161.

Salvan 325.

Salvetat. La 110.

Sambet, Pointe de 332.

Sambuy, Montagne de
la 381.

Samoens 331.

Sana, Pointe de la 389.

Sanadoire, Roche 235.

San Antonio. Fort 134.

Sanarj- 536.

Sancoins 204.

Sancy, Puy de 236.

San Dalmazzo di Tenda
583.

Sangles, Pas des 420.

Sangninaires, lies 603.

Sanguinet 61.

San Julitin de Loria 184.
- Pietro. Monte 615.
— Salvadour 552.
— Sebastian 120.
— Sebastiano, Col de

604.

Sans-Nom, Aig. 346.

Pic 461.

SanStefano. Col de 614.

Sans-Venin, Tour 416.

Santa Coloma 184.
— Cristina 134.
— Maria-Sifhe 607.
— Severa 615.

Sanxay 10.

Saorge 583.

Saou 497.

Saoubiste, Pic de 139.

Saousat, Lac de 169.

Sappev. Le 423.

Saquet. Pic 182.

Sarcenas 423.

Sari d'Orcino 604.

Sarlat 56.

Sarlieves-Conrnon 218.

Sarradets, Pic des 1.54.

Sarrance 133.

Sarrancolin 130.

Sarriaus 500.

Sartene 608.

Sassenage 415.

Sassiere, Lac de la 388.

Sassis 150.

Sathouay 255.

Saubusse 64.

Saucede. Col de 138.

Sauflieres 286.

Saugues 296.

I

Saujon 2^.

Sauices. Col des 395.

Saulzet-le-Chaud 231.

Saumail. Col du 110.

Saurat 177.

Saussaz. Aig. do la 464.

Sausse. Cabanes de 147.

Sansset 535.

Saut-du-Loup, Le 219.

Sauternes 71.

SaUto 192.

Sauve 491.
— , La 55.

Sauvegarde, Pic de 173.

Sauvetat-du-Drot. La
55.

Sauveterre 288.
— de-Bearn 121.
— de-CTuyenne 55.
— la-Lemance 86.

Saverdun 179.

Savigne 12.

Savigny 255.

Savines 444.

Saxe. La 356.

— , Mont de la 357.

Sayet, Pic 139.

Says, Col du 458.

— ,' Pics du 456.

SazoR 149.

Seaffarels. Les 424.

Scolette. Aig. de 401.

Sea, Col de 406.

Sebe, Pic de la 148.

Sebers. Pont de 133.

Sechilienne 436.

Secondigny 18.

Seculejo, Lac de 169.

Sede, Col de la 152.

Seez 385.

Segala 100.

Segonnaux 502.

Segre, Pic de 194.

Seguret-Foran. Col de
461.

Seigne, Col de la 355.

Sell de la Baquo 169.

Seilhac 271.

Seix 178.

Sejourne. Viaduc 192.

Seie, Coi du 458.

Sellar. Col du 4.59.

Selle, Refuge de la 452.

Selles-sur-Cher 36.

Sellettes. Col des 4.54.

Sembadel 222.

Semene 272.

Semnoz, the 375.

Seneppi, the 426.

Senez 580.

Sentein 177.

Seo-de-Urgel, La 183.

Septemes 525.

Sept-Fonts 206.
— Laux. Montagne and

Chalet-Hotel des 434.
— Fonts 93.

Seidinya 192.

Serignan 107.

Serrat-d' en-Merle, the
196.

Serraval 379.

Serre, Col de la 170.

Serres (Ariege) 180.
— (Htes-Alpes) 472.

Serricres 477.

Sers 151.

Serves-Erome 495.

Servoz 321.

Seurre 312.

Seiize. Pic de 441.

Severac-le-ChiUeau 284.

Sevi. Col de 606.

Sevrier 377.

Seychalles-Moissat 269.

Seyne, La 5.36.

— les-Alpes 474.

Seyssel 315.

Seyssinet 416.

Sia, Pont de 152.

Sidobre, the 109.

Sierroz, Grorges du 368.

Sieste, Col de 133.

Sigean 104.

Sigournais 35.

Siniandre-sur-Suran
314.

Siniiane 525.

Simorre 85.

Sion 32.

Siorac-et-Fontrauffipr

86.

Sirac, the 429.

Siradan 165.

Sisteron 473.

Six-Fours 549.
— Jeur. the 326.

Sixt 331.

Sobe. Col de 1.39.

Sode 172.

Soldeu 183.

Soleille-Boeuf. the 430.

Solenzara, La 616.

Soleymieu-Sablon-
nieres 256.

Solignac 88.
— sur-Loire 277.

Sollieres 401.

Sollies-Pont 536.

Sommieres 491.

Somport, Le 134.

Sore 71.
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Sortfze 100.

Sorgeat 182.

Sorgues 501.

Sorlin 206.

Sos 7.3.

Sospel 58.S.

Soubise 30.

Souci, Pas de 292.

Soueix 178.

Souffles, Pic des i27.

Souillac 91.

Soulac-sur-Mer 57.

Soulan 177.

Soulievres, Cliatoau de
18.

Soulom 150.

Soulor, Col de 137.

Scum 140.

Souterraine, La 39.

Souvigny 205.

Soveria 611.

Soyons 478.

Spijoles, Pic de 169.

Stazzona 615.

Suberlache 133.

Sublime, Point 291.

Suchet, Le 581.

Sumene 491.

Snperbagneres 171.

Surgeres 10.

Sur-les-Bois 378.

Sury-le-Gomtal 267.

Susa 402.

Suze-la-Rousse 498.

Suzon, Col de 139.

— , Pont 133.

Table-des-Trois-Rois,
Pic de la 133.

Tache, Puy de la 236.

Tacul, Aig. du .346.

Taillades 519.

Taillat, La 434.

Taillebourg 20.

Taillefer, the 436.

Taillon, Col and Pic du
155.

Tain 495.

Tajeras, Pic de las 133.
Talefre, Aig. de 358.
— , Col de 346.
— , Jardin de .345.

Talizat 260.

Tallard 442.

Talloires 374.

Talmont (Charente-
Inf.) 60.

— (Vendue) 36.

Tamaris 549.

Tamie. Col de .380.

Tanargue, the 481.

Tan ay 338.

Taninges 331.

Tannoron 538.

Tannneveigc, Pic de
332.

Tanus, Viaduc de 114.

Tarare 208.

Tarascou (Ariege) 180.
— (B.-du-Rh.) 501.

Tarbes 129.

Tarbezon 182.

Taides, Viaduc do la

258.

Tardets-Soiholus 121.

Tareutaise, the 381.

Targassonne 193.

Tarn, Gorges of the
287.

Tartaret, the 237.

Tartas 63.

Tassin 207.

Tattone 610.

Taurinya 190.

Taussat 61.

Tausse, Pic de la 193.

Tavera 610.

Tech, Le 197.

Teghime, Col dc 614.

Teil, Le'479.
Teillet, Col du 164.

Tempetes. Pic des 176.

Temple, Col de la 458.

Tenay 314.

Tence 266.

Tencin 431.

Tenda 584.

Tenibres, the 578.

Tenon, the 232.

Tenneverge, Pic de 332.

Tercis 64.

Termignon 401.

Terrasse, La (Hte-

Loire) 278.

— , La (Isere) 432.

— , La (Loire) 210.
— sur-Dorlay, La 265.

Terrasson 272.

Terre-Noire 261.

Tessonnieres 97.

Teste, La 61.

Tete-a-l'Ane, the 333.
— Noire, La 330.
—^Rousse, Chalet-Hotel

de 35J.
Thabor, Mont 364.

Thedde 230.

Thedirac-Peyrilles 91.

Theix 231.

Th^oule 542.

Thermale, Route 137.

Th^see 36.

Th^us 442.

Theys 431.
Thezan 103.

Thiers 268.

Thiezac 280.

Thiolent, Lc 277.

Thiviers 43.

Thizy 208.

Thones 379.

Tbonon-les-Bains 333.

Thor, Le 511.

Thorame-Haute 580.

Thorenc 562.

Thorens 371.

Thoronet, Le 537.

Thou, Mont 255.

Thouars 17.

Thouviere, Pas de la

389.

Thues 192.

Thueyts 483.

Thuile, La 358.

Thuiles, Les 3.

Thuille, La 386.

Thuir 189.

Thynieres, Chateau de
258.

Tiffauees 10.

Tignes 387.

— , Lac de 388.

Tinee, La 578.

Tiues, Les 328.

Tocane-St-Apre 45.

ToiUies, Tete des 443.

Toirac 96.

Toudu, Mont 353.

Tonnay-Charente 31.

Tonneins 72.

Tonvic 221.

Torfou 10.

Torino, Refuge-Hotel
357.

Torla 155.

Torre PeHice 471.

Tortes, Col de 138.

Tone, Cabanes de 158.

Touet-de-Beuil 579.
— de-l'Escarene 583.

Toule, Aig. de 357.

Toulon 546.

Toulouse 77.

Academies 82.

Allee Lafav^te 79.

— St-Michel 83.

Boulingrin 83.

Canal de Brienne 82.

— du Midi 79.

Cathedral of St-

Etienne 83.

Capitole 80.
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Toulouse: i

Chateau d'Eau 82. |

Church of LaDalbade
83.

— La Daurade 81.

— the Cordeliers 81.

— the Jacobins 81.

— Notre-Dame-du-
Taur 80.

— St-Sernin 80.

Donjon 80.

Ecole des Beaux-Arts
82.

Grand-Rond 83.
— Seminaire 80.

Hospice St-Joseph-
de-la-Grave 82.

Hotel d'Ass^zat 82.

— Dieu-St-Jacques
82.

— Felzins 83.

— de Roquettes 83.
— St-Jean 83.
— du Vieux-Raisin

83.
— de Ville 80.

Jardin des Plantes
83.

— Royal 83.

Library 81.

Lycde 81.

Maison de Pierre 83.

Moulin du Bazacle
82.

— du Chateau 82.

Musee des Beaux-
Arts 84.
— St-Raymond 81.

Natural History Mu-
seum 83.

Obelisk 79.

Observatory 79.

Palais de Justice 83.
• Place du Salin 83.
— Lafayette 79.

Pont desAmidonniers
82.

— Neuf 82.

Porte de I'Esquille
80.

Statue of Cujas 83.
— Riquet 79.

— Yestrepain 85.

VeterinaryCollege79.

Toulouse, Croix de 446.

— , Aig. and Col du 328.

Tour, Aiguillette de la

350.

Toura, Tete du 452.
Tour-d'Aigues. La 520.

Tour-de-Carol, La 183.
— du-Pin, La 406.

Tourets, Pic de las 176.

Tourette-Levens 573.

Tourmalet. Col and Pic
du 160.

Tournabout, Pont de
158.

Tourne, Col de la 389.

Tournefort 578.

Tourne-Langoiran, Le
55.

Tournemire 285.

Tournette.the (Annecv)
376.

— ,the(Tarentaise)381.
Tournoel, Chateau de

217.

Tournon 477.
— St-Martin 4.

Tourchis 202.

Tourrettes-sur-Loup
577.

Tour-Ronde, the 357.
— sur-Orb, La 287.

Tourves 525.

Touvet. Le 433.

Tracens. Lac de 159.

Train, Cime du 231.

Tramezaigues 130.

Trans 537.

Traverse, Pic de la 472.

Traverses, Les 573.

Traversette, Colde359.
— , Col de la 472.

Trayas, Le 541.

Trebas 99.

Trebes 103.

Trebons 171.

Tredos 173.

Treignac 271.

Treize-Arbres. Les 316.

Trelatete, Aig. de 355.
— . Chalet-H6telde353.
— , Col de 353.

Trelechamp 327.

Tremblade, La 22.

Treminis 428.

Trept 256.

Tresse 353.

Tresserve. CoUine de
369.

Tretien, Le 326.

Trets 525.

Treuil, Tour du 434.

Treves 295.

Trevoux 203.

Tricherie. La 4.

Tricot, Col de 353.

Triege, Gorges du 326.

Trient 330.

Trient, Glacier du 329.
— , Gorges du 325.

Trieves, the 440.

Trimouille, La 11.

Trinite-Victor. La 582.

Trinquetaille 513.

Triolet, Aig. de 346.

— . Col de 346.

Triquent 326.

Trois-Cornes, the 39.

— Couronnes, the 119.

— Croix-de-Roque-
brune, the 538.

— Dents, Pic des 265.

— Eveches, Pic des 466.

— Pucelles, the 417.

Trompeloup 57.

Tronche, La 415.

Tronchet. Col de 470.

Troumouse, Cirque and
Pic de 152.

Tsanteleina. the 390.

Tuckett, Refuge 462.

Tuiliere, Roche 235.

Tulle 271.

Tullins 414.

Tupinier, Le 255.

Tuquerouye, Brechede
154.

Turbat-de-l'Olan, Col
de 427.

, Pic 429.

Turbie, La 589.

Turenne 94.

Turini 583.

Turmo Hut 176.

TJbaye 442.

Ugines 377.

Ur 183.

IJrcav 258.

Urdos 134.

— , Fort d' 133.

Urets. Port d' 177.

Uriage 417.

Urrugne 118.

L'ssac 89.

Ussat-les-Bains 181.

Usseglio 404.

Ussel 270.

Usson, Bains d' 185.

Ustou 178.

Utelle 581.

Uzer 481.

Tzerche 89.

Uzes 480.

Uzeste 71.

Uzious, Col and Lac d'

137.

Uzore. Mont d' 267.



INDEX. 647

Vabre 109.

Vaclie, Col de la 390.

Vacheresse 335.

Vacherie. La 497.

Vachettc, La 446.

Vachey, La 357.

Vailly 334.

Vaison 500.

Valaisaa, Mont 359.

Valante, Col de 472.

Valbenoite 264.

V'^albonnals 427.

Valcarlos 71.

Valcroissant 497.

Valdeblore-Rimplas
578.

Val-d'Isere 387.

Valdoniello, Foret de
606.

Valdonne 535.

YalenQay 36.

Valence 495.

Yalescure 540.

v^al-Estrete, Col de 429.

Valette, Cimedela 581.

Valeuil-Bourdeilles 46.

Valeyrac 58.

Valgaudemar 428.

Yalgorge 481.

Valgrisanche 386.

Valjouffrev, the 427.

Valla, La.^265.

Vallauris 542.

Valle d'Alesani 616.

Valleiry 315.

Valleraugue 286.

Vallespir, the 195.

Valloire 467.

Vallon 483.

— , Pointe du 393.— en-Sully 258.

Vallonet, Pointe du
(Arc) 402,

— , Pointe du (Pralo-
gnan) 397.

.Vallonpierre, Col de
429.

Vailorbe 324.

Vallorcine 327.

Vallouise 459.
— , Col de 468.

Valmeinier 365.

Valreas 498.

Valsenestre 427.

Valserres 442.

Vals-les-Bains 482.
Vanels, Les 295.

Vanoise, Aig. de la 398.
—, Col de la 399.
Vans, Les 484.

Var, Le 544.

Varan, Aig. de 318.

Varennes-snr-Allier
207.

Varetz 89.

Varilhes 179.

Vars 469.

— , Col de 469.

Vasina, La 614.

Vassiviere 238.

Vauclaire, Chartreuse
de 46.

Vaucluse, Fontaine de
511.

Vaudelnay, Le 33.

Vaudois Valleys 471.

Vaugneray 255.

Vaugris 494.

Vauriat, Le 269.

Vaurze, Col de la 427.

Vautisse, Tete de 328.

Vauvert 491.

Vaux-Nauzan 60.

Vaxivier, the 456.

Veauce, Chateau de 256.

Veauche 209.

V(5bron 295.

Vecchio 610.

V6frette, Col de 403.

Velaux 502.

Velay, Monts du 220.

Velluire 25.

Venaco 610.

.Venanson 581.

Venasque 175.

— , Bains de 175.

— , Col de la 430.

— , Port de 173.

Vence 577.

— , Col de 423.

Vendee, the 24.

Vendeix, Roche 232.

Venejan 479.

Venelles 521.

Veneon, Vallee du450.
Venose 450.

Ventadour, Chateau de
270.

Venterol-Rousset 498.

Ventimiglia 546.

Ventoux, Mont 513.

Verohaix-Morillon 331.

Verchenv 497.

Verdon,"Le 58.

— , Croix de 393.

Verdonne, Pic de 429.

Verdun, Mont 255.

Vergio, Col de 606.

Vergt 46.

Verjux 201.

Vernaison, Gorges de
la 425.

Vernayaz 325.

Verne, Chartreuse de la

554.

Vernet, Le 191.

Verney, Le 401.

Vernier-Meyrin 322.

Vernoux 478.

Verrieres 219.

Vers 96.

Vert, Lac 172.

Vertaizon 269.

Verte, Aig. 346.

— , Montagne 215.

Vertheuil 57.

Vertolaye 221.

Vertou 24.

Verzeille 184.

Vescovato 615.

Vesseaux 479.

Vestrie 491.

Vesubie, La 578.

Veurey 416.

Veynes 441.

Veyrier 316.
— du-Lac 374.

Vezeronce 256.

Vial, Mont 578.

Vias 108.

Vicchiseri 616.

Vicdessos 180.

Vic-en-Bigorre 88.

Vichy 210.

Vic-le-Comte 218.

Vico 607.

Vicq 256.

Vic-sur-Cere 281.

Vidalos, Tour de 140.

Vidauban 537.

Vieilleville 260.

Viella 172.

Vielle-Aure 130.

Vienne 492.

Vierzon 36.

Viescamp-sous-Jalles
282.

Vieux-Poitiers 4.

Vievola 584.

Vif 439.

Vigan, Le 286.

Vigeant, Le 12.

Vigen, Le 88.

Vigeois 89.

Vignemale, the 148.

— , Col du 147.
.

Vignes 284.

— , Les 292.

Vignols-St-Solve 89.

Villa Caserta 594.

Villandraut 71.

Villar-St-Pancrace 446
Villard, Le 393.
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Villard. Dent de 393.

Villa r-d'Arene 438.

Villard-de-Lans 424.
— Loubiere 429.
— Lurin 392.

- Xotre-Dame 449.

Villards-sur-Thones,
Les 379.

Villard-sur-Doron .S81.

Villarly 383.

Villaro"din.401.

Yillaroger 386.

Villars 210.

Villar-St-Panrra -e 146.

Villaz 376.

Villecelle ill.

ViUefort 297.

Yillefranche 203.
— d'Albigeois 99.
— d'AUier 205.
— de-Conflent 191.
— de-Lauragaais 100.
— de-Eouergae 96.
— du-Perigord 86.
— sur-Cher 36.
— sur-Mer 544.

Villemagne 111.

Yillemur 108.

Villenave 151.

Villeneuve, Rocher de
395.

— de-Berg 481.
— des-Escaldes 193.
— les-Avignon 510.
— les-Beziers 108.
— les-Magueloue 304.

Villeneuve-Loubet 543.— Pujaut 479.
— sur-Allier 204.— sur-Lot 72.

Yillenonvelle 100.

Yilleperdue 3.

Yillette. La 352.

Yilleurbaime 256.

Yillevert 203.

Yille-Yieille 470.

Yilliers 10.

Yinaigre, Mont 541.

Yinai^rier. Mout 575.

Vinay 414.

Yinca 190.

j
Yindrac 97.

j

Yion 477.

j
Yiricelles 255.

Yirieu-le-Grand 315.
— sur-Bourbre 4o7.

Yisaorin, the 134.

Yiscos, Pic de 145.

Yiso. Monte 472.

Yisolotto. the 172.

Yissac 220.

YitroUes 502.

Yiu 404.

j

Yiuz-en-Sallaz 330.

1 Yivarais, the 481.

I

Vivario 610.
I Yiverols 221.

! Yiviers 479.

:

", Le 359.

,
Yiviez 112.

Yivonne 11.

i Yix 25.

Yizille 435.

Yizzavona 610.

Yogeallaz. Refuge d'
la 339.

Yogue 481.

Yoiron 408.
i Yoirons, the 333.
Yoloune 473.

i
Yolvie 217.

; — Cratere 26'.t.

I

Yolx 520.

I
Yonne 336.

1 Yoreppe 408.

Yorey 273.

Yorz, Chateau de l.n.

N'ouille 10.

Youlte-sur-RhoD". La
478.

Yoavry 338.

Yoza, 'Col de 320.

Yiizelle, Pointe de la

394.

AVallon, Refuge 146.

Ychoux, 63.

Ydes 259.

Yeu, He d' 31.

Yssac-Li-Tourette i' i
-

,

Yssingeaux 273.

Ytrac 282.

Yzerou 255.

Yzeiire 205.

Zicavo 608.

Zsigmondy, Breche 455.
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